ENGINEERING SUPERCONDUCTIVITY

ENGINEERING SUPERCONDUCTIVITY

Peter J. Lee, Editor

Applied Superconductivity Center University of Wisconsin-Madison



This book is printed on acid-free paper. \otimes

Copyright © 2001 by John Wiley & Sons. All rights reserved.

Published simultaneously in Canada.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without either the prior written permission of the Publisher, or authorization through payment of the appropriate per-copy fee to the Copyright Clearance Center, 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, (978) 750-8400, fax (978) 750-4744. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 605 Third Avenue, New York, NY 10158-0012, (212) 850-6011, fax (212) 850-6008, E-Mail: PERMREQ@WILEY.COM.

For ordering and customer service, call 1-800-CALL-WILEY.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data:

Engineering superconductivity / Peter J. Lee, editor.
p. cm.
"A Wiley-Interscience publication."
Includes index.
ISBN 0-471-41116-7 (cloth : alk. paper)
1. High temperature superconductors—Industrial applications.
2. Superconductors—Industrial applications. I. Lee, Peter J.

TK7872.S8 E54 2001 621.3'5—dc21

00-068603

Printed in the United States of America.

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

CONTENTS

PREFACE

SUPERCONDUCTIVITY AND MAGNETISM

Historical Introduction
Magnetic Flux
Magnetic Levitation
Magnetic Materials
Magnetic Noise, Barkhausen Effect
Magnetic Refrigeration
Magnetic Resonance
Superconducting Magnets, Quench Protection
Superconductivity: Critical Current
Superconductivity: Electromagnets
Superconductivity: Electronics
Superconductivity: Hysteresis and Coupling Losses
Superconductivity: Microwave Technology
Superconductivity: Tunneling and Josephson Junctions
Superconductivity: Type I and II

SUPERCONDUCTORS

Introduction
A15 Superconductors
Cryogenic Stabilization
Forced Flow Conductor Manufacturing
HTS Film Growth
HTS Josephson Junction Development
HTS Processing: Bulk, Thin Film, and Wires
HTS Superconductors, Physical Structures, and
Role of Constituents
Nb-Ti Alloy Superconductors
Stability In Forced Flow
Stabilization Against Flux Jumps

vii	APPLICATIONS AND RELATED TECHNOLOGY	329
1	Introduction	329
	Capacitor Storage	330
1	Diagnostic Imaging	345
5	Frequency Converters and Mixers	363
22	Fusion Reactors	375
30	Gyrotron	394
41	Hall Effect Transducers	401
53	High-Energy Physics Particle Detector	
58	Magnets	412
64	Infrared Detector Arrays, Uncooled	424
91	Magnetic Sensors	434
107	Magnetic Separation	448
116	Magnetic Source Imaging	464
138	Magnets for Magnetic Resonance Analysis	
152	and Imaging	479
	Microwave Ferroelectric Devices	491
163	Peltier Effect	499
177	Power Quality	506
	SQUIDs	517
	Superconducting Cavity Resonators	528
187	Superconducting Cyclotrons and Compact	
	Synchrotron Light Sources	540
187	Superconducting Fault Current Limiters	544
188	Superconducting Filters and Passive Components	551
204	Superconducting Levitation	563
218	Superconducting Magnets for Fusion Reactors	568
240	Superconducting Magnets for Particle	
248	Accelerators and Storage Rings	577
260	Superconducting Transformers	596
	Temperature Sensors	602
280	Thermoelectric Conversion	623
295		
306		
317	INDEX	633

PREFACE

The beginning of the twenty-first century sees superconductor applications reaching important milestones (see Fig. 1). The first 900 MHz NMR has been constructed, with Nb₃Sn superconductor supplying the required field of 21 T. The tau neutrino has been identified at the Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory, near Chicago, using a 4 mi ring of Nb-Ti superconducting magnets. Commercially produced cryogen-free receiver subsystems are being installed at an accelerated pace in cellulartelephone base stations. Superconducting magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has become both an essential tool of medicine and a key to unlocking the mysteries of the human body. The remarkable flux sensitivity of superconducting quantum interference devices (SQUIDs) makes both non-invasive magnetic cardiography and even magnetic encephalography possible. Having once been a fascinating but not particularly useful toy of solid-state physicists, superconductors now make possible the most advanced experiments in chemistry, biochemistry, particle physics, and health sciences. They are also becoming a part of the fabric of modern-day life.

This volume looks at the application of superconductors from an engineering perspective. All articles were written by acknowledged experts in their fields for the 24-volume *Wiley Encyclopedia of Electrical and Electronics Engineering* (J. Webster, ed.) and have been updated where necessary by the authors for developments since 1999. Each article has been reviewed by two other experts to ensure that it is clear and precise. The end of each article concludes with references to the current literature. The fundamentals of superconducting behavior are outlined, and the properties and fabrication methods of commercially produced superconductors are explained. Comprehensive articles on the applications of superconductors cover the uses of superconductors as well as competing technologies.

The articles are organized into three sections:

1. Superconductivity and Magnetism Historical Introduction Magnetic Flux Magnetic Levitation Magnetic Materials Magnetic Noise, Barkhausen Effect Magnetic Refrigeration Magnetic Resonance Superconductivity: Critical Current Superconductivity: Electromagnets Superconductivity: Electronics

Superconductivity: Hysteresis and

Coupling Losses

Superconductivity: Magnets, Quench Protection

Superconductivity: Microwave Technology

Superconductivity: Tunneling and Josephson Junctions

Superconductivity: Type I and II

2. Superconductors

Introduction A15 Superconductors Cryogenic Stabilization Forced-Flow Conductor Manufacturing HTS Film Growth HTS Josephson Junction Development HTS Processing: Bulk, Thin Film, and Wires HTS Physical Structures and the Role of Constituents Nb-Alloy Superconductors Stability in Forced Flow Stabilization against Flux Jumps

3. Applications and Related Technology

Introduction

- Capacitor Storage
- **Diagnostic Imaging**
- **Frequency Converters and Mixers**
- Fusion Reactors
- Gyrotrons
 - Hall-Effect Transducers
 - **High-Energy Physics Particle-Detector Magnets**
 - Infrared Detector Arrays, Uncooled
 - Magnetic Sensors
 - Magnetic Separation
 - Magnetic Source Imaging
- Magnets for Magnetic Resonance Analysis and Imaging
- Microwave Ferroelectric Devices
- Peltier Effect
- Power Quality
- SQUIDs
- Superconducting Cavity Resonators
- Superconducting Cyclotrons and Compact Synchrotron Light Sources



Figure 1. Small- and large-scale superconductors and their applications. (a) $YBa_2Cu_3O_{7-\delta}$ -based microwave filter for (b) rack-mount front-end receiver subsystem for cellular telephone base stations (courtesy of Conductus, Inc.). (c) 136 kg Nb-47 wt% Ti alloy billets are destined for accelerator application. Each billet is 750 mm tall by 200 mm diameter (courtesy of Wah Chang). (d) A view of the superconducting magnets at Brookhaven National Laboratory's Relativistic Heavy Ion Collider (RHIC). The 1740 Nb-Ti-based magnets guide and focus gold particles along the collider's 4 km long tunnel at nearly the speed of light. (Courtesy of Brookhaven National Laboratory.)

Superconducting Fault-Current Limiters Superconducting Filters and Passive Components Superconducting Levitation Superconducting Magnets for Fusion Reactors Superconducting Magnets for Particle Accelerators and Storage Rings Superconducting Transformers Temperature Sensors Thermoelectric Conversion

CONTRIBUTORS

David E. Andrews Oxford Instruments, Inc., Carteret, NJ **Iltcho Angelov** Chalmers University of Technology, Göteborg, Sweden Daniël H. J. Baert University of Ghent, Belgium Athanassios Bardas State University of New York at Stony Brook Henry Blosser Michigan State University, East Lansing Heinrich J. Boenig Los Alamos National Laboratory, NM Punit Boolchand University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH Luca Bottura CERN, Geneva, Switzerland Pierluigi Bruzzone Centre de Recherches en Physique du Plasmas, Villigen, Switzerland **Thomas F. Budinger** University of California at Berkeley **Donald P. Butler** Southern Methodist University, Dallas, TX Zeynep Celik-Butler Southern Methodist University, Dallas, TX Kookrin Char Conductus, Inc., Sunnyvale, CA **Durga P. Choudhury** Northeastern University, Boston, MA **Terry S. Davies** University of the West of England, Bristol, England Alex de Lozanne The University of Texas at Austin Arnaud Devred Atomic Energy Commission at Saclay, Cedex, France **Reinhard Dietrich** Vacuumschmelze GmbH, Hanau, Germany F. J. Edeskuty Edeskuty Engineering, Los Alamos, NM Hal Edwards The University of Texas at Austin Halit Eren Curtin University of Technology, Perth, Australia **Robert L. Fagaly** Tristan Technologies, San Diego, CA D. K. Finnemore Iowa State University, Ames Martin G. Forrester Northrop Grumman Science and Technology Center, Pittsburgh, PA

Michael A. Green Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA Larry R. Grisham Princeton University, NJ M. S. Hämäläinen Helsinki University of Technology, Finland I. D. Hepburn University College, London John R. Hull Argonne National Laboratory, IL Brian D. Hunt NASA Jet Propulsion Laboratory, Pasadena, CA R. Lawrence lves Calabazas Creek Research Inc., Saratoga, CA K. Jagannadnam North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC Raghavan Jayakumar Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, Livermore, CA Colin M. Jefferson University of the West of England, Bristol Mark Jeffery University of California at Berkeley Swarn S. Kalsi American Superconductor Corporation, Westborough, MA R. Kalyanaraman North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC Erik L. Kollberg Chalmers University of Technology, Göteborg, Sweden D. Kumar University of Florida, Gainesville, FL Peter J. Lee University of Wisconsin-Madison César Luongo Bechtel, San Francisco, CA P. Maccioni Euratom-CEA Association, Cedex, France Vladimir Matijasevic Conductus, Inc., Sunnyvale, CA Mitsuhiro Motokawa Tohoku University, Sendai, Japan]. Narayan North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC J. T. Nenonen Helsinki University of Technology, Finland Qian Niu The University of Texas at Austin Hassan Nouri University of the West of England, Bristol, United Kingdom

x CONTRIBUTORS

S. Oktyabrsky North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC Hasan Padamsee Cornell University, Ithaca, NY Martha Pardavi-Horvath The George Washington University, Washington, DC D. P. Patel Naval Research Laboratory, Washington, DC Scott D. Peck Houston Advanced Research Center, The Woodlands, TX J. M. Pond Naval Research Laboratory, Washington, DC I. B. L. Rao Naval Research Laboratory, Washington, DC Christopher M. Rev DuPont Superconductivity, Wilmington, DE S. T. Ruggiero University of Notre Dame, Notre Dame, IN Lembit Salasoo General Electric Company, Schenectady, NY **Joel H. Schultz** Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge D. P. Sekulic University of Kentucky, Lexington Rajiv K. Singh University of Florida, Gainesville, FL

A. Smith University College London, England S. Sridhar Northeastern University, Boston, MA Guru Subramanyam University of Dayton, Dayton, OH Salvador H. Talisa Northrop Grumman Corporation, Baltimore, MD John Talvacchio Northrop Grumman Science and Technology Center, Pittsburgh, PA B. Turck Euratom-CEA Association, Cedex, France Robert B. van Dover Bell Labs, Lucent Technologies, Murray Hill, NJ William H. Warnes Oregon State University, Corvallis John E. C. Williams Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA Jan Zakrzewski Silesian Technology, University of Poland John C. Zeigler Houston Advanced Research Center, TX Herbert Zirath Chalmers University of Technology, Göteborg, Sweden

HISTORICAL INTRODUCTION

The Early Years of Superconductivity

In the early years of superconductivity, progress to application was slow and intermittent. On July 10, 1908, Heike Kamerlingh Onnes, professor of experimental physics at the University of Leiden (Holland), was able to liquefy helium for the first time. Not only was he able to determine a boiling point for helium, of 4.3 K (now more precisely 4.2 K), but he was also able to further reduce the temperature to 1.7 K by reducing the pressure on the helium bath.

He soon set about measuring the electrical resistance of metals in the new temperature regime. The resistance of metals is strongly dependent on temperature, and once the dependence has been accurately measured, the resistance can be used as a simple and convenient tool for low-temperature thermometry. The low-temperature behavior of metals was also seen as a tool to study electron theory (for instance by Albert Einstein, who had applied to be an assistant to Onnes in 1901, but had been rejected).

The Leiden group initially extended measurements on platinum wires into the liquid-helium range, and observed that their electrical resistance fell continuously with decreasing temperature to a minimum non-zero value. The minimum resistance decreased as the impurity level of the metal decreased. Looking for a material with a higher available purity, they showed that the resistance of high-purity gold fell to an even lower but measurable value. Seeking an even higher-purity metal, considerable effort was then expended distilling mercury. When the resulting high-purity mercury was tested, the electrical resistance fell steeply but continuously, as expected. At the boiling point of the helium (4.2 K), the resistance of the mercury wire had fallen to 500 times less than it had been at the melting point of the mercury.

What happened next came as a complete surprise. As the mercury wires were slowly cooled below 4.2 K, Gilles Holst (who had been an assistant to Leiden for two years and would later become the first director of the Philips Research Laboratories) measured a sudden and massive drop in the electrical resistance. As best as they could measure, in just a few hundredths of a degree, the resistance dropped to less than one millionth of the melting-point value, and eventually to a billionth of it. In 1912, Onnes termed the new electrical state that the mercury had entered the *superconductive* state.

Having worked so hard to purify the mercury, he was further surprised to find that adding gold and cadmium to the mercury did not stop it from entering the superconducting state. He also observed that very high currents could be passed through the mercury until a threshold current density was reached (as high as 1000 A/mm² at 2.45 K), at which point the mercury would return to the normal electrical state (1). This threshold value, which we now term the *critical current*, is perhaps the most important property for practical application.

In December 1912, he discovered that other metals, which could be made into wires at room temperature, could be made superconducting (2), namely tin (3.8 K) and lead (6 K, later raised to 7.2 K). The first two superconducting solenoids were quickly manufactured by G. J. Flim (1875–1900), the chief of the

Technical Department of the (Leiden) Cryogenic Department. At the Third International Congress of Refrigeration, held in Chicago in September 1913, Onnes predicted that superconductivity would enable the production of coils that could generate fields (100,000 G or 10 T) well in excess of that possible with conventional conductors (3). For comparison, the flux density between the poles of a horseshoe permanent magnet is 0.1 T.

Less accurately, he predicted that such a development should not be far away. He was about to discover a roadblock to high-field superconductivity. In a footnote to his Chicago address, he observed that a 0.05 T (500 G) field, developed in a simple superconducting solenoid, was sufficient to revert the superconductor to its normal state. By 1914, Leiden had produced curves of resistance as a function of applied field and had developed an empirical fit to the temperature dependence of the critical field H_c : $H_c(T) \approx H_{c0}[1-(T/T_c)^2]$. It seems surprising to us now that it was not until 1916 that the interdependence of critical current and critical field was shown from an analysis of the Leiden data by F. Silsbee of the National Bureau of Standards in America (4). For many years, it appeared that the low critical currents and the suppression of superconductivity with very small applied fields would make superconductors impractical for any application other than laboratory studies of solid-state physics.

Higher Critical Magnetic Fields and Critical Temperatures

Leiden enjoyed a monopoly of liquid-helium research until after the First World War. In 1923, a helium liquefier, based on the Leiden design, started operation at the University of Toronto. Four years later, a helium liquefier capable of 10 L/h was started at the Physikalisch-Technische Reichsanstalt (PTR) near Berlin under the direction of Walther Meissner. In successive years from 1928 to 1930, the PTR identified three important new superconductors: tantalum ($T_c = 4.4$ K), thorium ($T_c = 1.4$ K) and niobium ($T_c = 9.2$ K) (5). An alloy of niobium, Nb-47 wt% Ti, is now by far the most important commercial superconductor, with widespread use in magnets for magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) systems in hospitals as well as many other applications (see Ductile Superconductors). Nb-based technology is also the current standard for digital superconducting circuits (see Superconducting Electronics). Meissner's group would go on to find that most of the transition elements in groups IV and V were superconducting. In Fig. 1 we show a listing of the elemental superconductors with their locations in the periodic table.

In the same period a further important discovery came from the group of Wander Johannes de Haas, who became codirector of the Leiden laboratory in 1924 (with Willem Hendrik Keesom). It was found that a solid solution of 4% bismuth in gold was found to be superconducting at 1.9 K (6) despite neither of the components being superconducting at ambient pressure. A similar result was found later the same year when copper sulfide ($T_c = 1.1$ K) was examined by Meissner (7). This time an insulator (sulfur) had been combined with a very good normal conductor (Cu) to produce a superconductor. The Meissner group went on to find a large number of carbides and nitrides with high transition temperatures, in particular NbC ($T_c > 10$ K).



Figure 1. Elemental superconductors.

A further breakthrough occurred in 1929 when de Haas and Voogd found that the magnetic threshold for Bi_5Tl_3 at 3.4 K exceeded their available applied field of 0.53 T. The following year they were able to borrow a more powerful electromagnet and showed that they could maintain superconductivity in a eutectic Pb–Bi alloy at 2 K in an applied field of 1.9 T (8). Finally, Kamerlingh Onnes' dream of high-power superconducting magnets was possible. Unfortunately, the first attempts to make coils exploiting these results (at the Clarendon Laboratory in Oxford under Kurt Mendelssohn, by Keesom at Leiden, and by L. V. Shubnikov's group at the Kharkov Institute in the Ukraine) proved to be so disappointing that they did not inspire the necessary effort to resolve their limitations.

The Meissner Effect and Type II Superconductivity. In 1933 an important discovery was made by Meissner and his student Robert Ochsenfield, using cylinders of single-crystal and polycrystalline lead. Investigating the transition to the superconducting state in magnetic field, they found that whatever path was used to apply the field, magnetic flux was expelled from the interior below the critical field H_c (9). The path independence results from the thermodynamic reversibility of the superconducting transition. If field is applied when the superconductor is in the superconducting state, surface currents which counteract the external field are produced. Just two years later, the brothers Fritz and Heinz London developed a set of electrodynamic equations, now known as the London equations, which described the Meissner effect by supplementing Maxwell's equations (10). A consequence of these equations is the London penetration depth, $\lambda_{\rm L}$, which is the skin depth

that a magnetic field can penetrate into a type I superconductor. See the articles MAGNETIC NOISE, BARKHAUSEN EFFECT (under "Flux Pinning and Losses in Superconductors") in this section and HTS SUPERCONDUCTORS, PHYSICAL STRUCTURES, AND ROLE OF CONSTITUENTS (under "Common Features of High- T_c Superconductors") in the next section titled "Superconductors."

The same year as London and London's paper was published. the group of L. V. Shubnikov (Figure 2) at Kharkov showed that single crystals of PbTl₂ had two distinct critical fields (11). Up to a lower critical field (H_{c1}) , the flux is excluded; above that field the flux begins to penetrate and increases in its penetration until an upper critical field (H_{c2}) is reached, when the flux completely penetrates and superconductivity is extinguished. The superconductors that show this characteristic would come to be known as type II superconductors. This class includes all the technically useful superconductors, including all alloy and compound superconductors as well as the elements niobium, vanadium, and technetium. See SUPERCONDUCTIVITY: TYPE 1 AND II, and SUPERCONDUCTIVITY: CRITICAL CURRENT. Unfortunately, the importance of the work at Kharkov was not fully appreciated outside Soviet Union, as Shubnikov's group was caught up in one of Stalin's purges and Shubnikov himself died in prison in 1945. Only with his posthumous exoneration was it possible for his Soviet colleagues to openly acknowledge his contributions to their work.

Although the Second World War resulted in a hiatus in superconductor activity for most groups, there was one significant advance. In Germany, Ascherman and coworkers found that niobium nitride had a T_c of 15 K (12), the first time the liquid-helium region had been surpassed. [The boiling



Figure 2. Lev Vasil'evich Shubnikov, discoverer of type II superconductivity (courtesy of the Kharkov Institute of Science and Technology, Ukraine).

temperature for a cryogen can be fixed at any temperature between the triple point and the critical point by maintaining the corresponding system pressure. Above helium (which does not have a true triple point), the next cryogen is liquid hydrogen, which has a triple point of 13.80 K and a critical point of 32.98 K.J

Ginzburg, Landau, and Abrikosov

Despite the huge potential of superconductivity, the difficulty in obtaining liquefied helium had limited research on it to a handful of laboratories worldwide. However, just as the advances in cryogenics at the turn of the twentieth century had made the discovery of superconductivity possible, so had advances in cryogenic technology, particularly the commercialization of the Collins liquefier, broaden the availability of the superconducting state after the Second World War. 1950 saw the publication of Vitalii Ginzburg and Lev Landau's landmark modifications to the London equations (13). The resulting Ginzburg-Landau equations are described in the articles SUPERCONDUCTIVITY: TYPE I AND II and SUPERCONDUCTIVITY: CRITICAL CURRENT and in the article HTS SUPERCONDUCTORS, PHYSICAL STRUCTURES AND ROLE OF CONSTITUENTS in the next section titled "Superconductors." An important new material parameter, the coherence length ξ , was defined as the distance over which the density of the superconducting electrons decreases at a superconducting-normal

interface. The Ginzburg–Landau formulations were able to predict the conditions under which type I and type II behavior would occur using the parameter $\kappa = \lambda/\xi$. From this work came the now familiar flux-line lattice description of type II superconductors by Landau's student Aleksei Abrkosov, eventually published in 1957 (14). See Superconducting Critical Current. In type II superconductors, the flux tube has a radius λ with an internal normal core of radius ξ .

In 1953 Bernd Matthias at the Bell laboratories raised the T_c ceiling for superconductors to 17.86 K with NbN–NbC. That discovery was followed the same year by John Hulm's group at the University of Chicago with another 17 K superconductor V₃Si, but of a new crystal structure, A15, that would eventually supply a series of important superconductors. Another A15, Nb₃Sn, would be added the following year at Bell Labs, with a further increase in T_c to 18 K.

The Beginning of Engineering Superconductivity

It was not until 1954 that the first successful superconducting magnet was made (by G. B. Yntema at the University of Illinois), thereby ushering in the age of engineering superconductivity. Yntema used Nb wire, which had been shown (by D. Shoenberg at Cambridge University) to have a markedly better critical field than any of the other known superconductors. The resulting magnet produced a field of 0.71 T at 4.2 K. He also discovered that cold-working the strands markedly increased the current density that they could carry. It was beginning to be clear that critical current was, to a major extent, a property that could be increased independently of the intrinsic bulk properties H_{c2} and T_{c} . By August 1960 Stan Autler (at MIT Lincoln Laboratory) had produced a 2.5 T field at 4.2 K. Even more significantly, he had applied the persistent current in a solenoid to provide the magnetic field for a solid-state maser, perhaps the first application of superconductivity. A flurry of activity followed, focused on the high- T_c , high- H_{c2} A15 compound Nb₃Sn. Nb₃Sn, at that time, however, was difficult to fabricate into magnets because of its brittleness and because the simple elemental-powder-in-tube process required a 1000°C heat treatment. It was soon displaced by two ductile alloy superconductors, first Nb--Zr ($T_{\rm c} \approx 12$ K) and then Nb--Ti ($T_{\rm c} = 7$ K to 10 K).

Whereas the Ginzbug-Landau theory coupled with Abrikosov's work provided an enduring phenomenological description of superconductivity, it did not provide a microscopic description. That was to be supplied in 1957 when John Bardeen, Leon Cooper, and Robert Schrieffer of the University of Illinois at Urbana published their Nobel Prize-winning theory of superconductivity (15). The superconducting carriers of the phenomenological description are two electrons [Cooper pairs (16)] with equal or opposite spin and momentum. The coherence length is the size of the Cooper pair, and the order parameter is proportional to the electron energy gap, which itself is proportional to T_c. Three years later, Lev Gorkov showed how to unify the phenomenological and microscopic models and to incorporate strong magnetic fields (17). The key to Gorkov's description was a variation in the energy-gap parameter with position.

The next major theoretical advance came in 1962, from a graduate student at Cambridge University, Brian D. Josephson. He predicted that superconducting current would tunnel through a thin insulating layer, or *weak link*, separating two superconducting electrodes, and that a phase difference would be produced between the superconducting electrons in the two electrodes. The phase difference generates a voltage difference between the two electrodes. The Josephson effect, as it is now known, is the basis for superconducting electronic devices such as the Superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) and very high-precision voltage standards. It would earn Josephson a Nobel Prize.

High Field Magnets

Much of the theoretical development in the 1960s and 1970s was in the area of flux pinning. Increasing the critical current density in superconductors reduces costs, because less superconductor is required; it also makes it possible to operate magnets at higher magnetic fields. When current flows through a superconductor it produces a Lorentz force acting to move the flux lines. If the Lorentz force is allowed to move the fluxline lattice freely within the superconductor, then power is dissipated, and eventually the resulting heating may drive the superconductor normal. Introducing microstructural features, such as nonsuperconducting precipitates and grain boundaries, that pin the flux lines in place can, however, restrict movement of the flux-line lattice. Understanding the nature of flux pinning is key to understanding how to improve the critical current density in superconductors. The mechanisms and theory of flux-pinning are comprehensively reviewed in the corresponding sections below.

From the late 1960s onwards, the needs of the high-energy physics community propelled considerable advances in superconducting strand technology, initially for bubble-chamber and then for accelerator magnets. In March 1983, the first superconducting accelerator ring was completed at Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory. With 774 dipole magnets 6 m long and 210 quadrupole magnets covering a 4 mi circle, it exemplifies the progress that had been made. The key features were now in place: the superconducting strand was in the required form of a composite of fine (>30 μ m diameter) filaments in a high-purity, high-normal-conductivity Cu (or Al) matrix for stability (see Superconductors, Cryogenic Stabilization), and the strand was twisted in order to reduce filament coupling currents. Superconducting strands were cabled together to form a thick ribbonlike conductor. Increased understanding of the microstructural development of the superconductor and its role in flux pinning would further increase the critical current density, making possible the next generation of accelerators; see article "Nb-Alloy Superconductors." Four years later, the largest superconducting magnet yet was fabricated for the DELPHI project at the CERN particle accelerator laboratory. The 7.4 m long, 6.2 m diameter, 84 tonne magnet survived a 1600 km trip to CERN by road, ship, and barge.

In addition to magnet technology, the high-energy physics community also benefited from superconducting cavity technology (see Superconducting Cavity Resonators). When the Large Electron-Positron (LEP) Collider was initially run in 1989, with 128 conventional copper accelerating cavities, they provided enough energy to take the energy of each beam to 50 GeV. After upgrading with 272 superconducting cavities, the LEP ring was eventually able to reach 104 GeV per beam in April 2000.

In 1986, Alex Müller and Georg Bednorz, at the IBM Research Laboratory in Rüschlikon, Switzerland, made a ceramic perovskite of lanthanum, barium, copper, and oxygen that superconducted at 35 K (18). In fact, small amounts of this material were later found to be superconducting at 58 K due to lead impurities. The impact of this discovery can be gauged by the almost immediate awarding of the Nobel Prize to the two discoverers. The following year the research groups of Paul Chu at the Univesity of Houston and Maw-Kuen Wu at the University of Alabama at Huntsville substituted yttrium for lanthanum and produced a ceramic that superconducts at 92 K (19). Now in the space of a year the highest T_c had been raised from 23.2 K (for Nb₃Ge discovered in 1973 by John Gavaler) through 35 K to 92 K, well above the temperature of liquid nitrogen (77 K). A further huge jump in T_c came in 1988 from Allen Hermann and Z. Z. Sheng of the University of Arkansas with a 120 K Tl-Ca-Ba-Cu-O superconductor (20). In 1993 A. Schilling, M. Cantoni, J. D. Guo, and H. R. Ott from Zurich, Switzerland, measured a T_c of 133 K in HgBa₂Ca₂Cu₃O₈ (21). The partial substitution of thallium in this high- T_c mercurybased oxide by P. Dai and B. C. Chakoumakos (Oak Ridge National Laboratory), G. F. Sun and K. W. Wong (University of Kansas), and Y. Xin and D. F. Lu (Midwest Superconductivity Inc.) increased the T_c to 138 K for a nominal composition of of $Hg_{0.8}Tl_{0.2}Ba_2Ca_2Cu_3O_{8+\delta}$ (22).

We have come to expect continual advances in the high properties of both high-temperature superconductors (HTSs) and low-temperature superconductors (LTSs), and have yet to be disappointed. In the years since the discovery of the HTSs we have seen steady improvements in their current densities, on both the labortory and the industrial scale, as well as in the production piece lengths.

The advent of HTSs accelerated the application of LTSs as well. Not only was there a new market for LTS-based test facilities to measure the properties of new HTSs, but there was increased investment in refrigeration technology and renewed public interest. Crvocoolers now allow for the cryogen-free use of LTS-based magnets, increasing public acceptance of the technology for everyday use. HTSs in the form of current leads (there are now several commercial vendors) make large-scale LTS applications much more energy-efficient. HTSs also make new applications possible, such as microwave filters, and make old ideas, such as power transmission lines, more promising.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- H. Kamerlingh Onnes, Further experiments with liquid helium.
 H. On the electrical resistance of pure metals etc. VII. The potential difference necessary for the electric current through mercury below 4.19 K (continuation), Comm. Phys. Lab. Leiden, 133b, 29, 1913.
- H. Kamerlingh Onnes, Further experiments with liquid helium.
 H. On the electrical resistance of pure metals etc. (continued). VIII. The sudden disappearance of the ordinary resistance of tin, and the super-conductive state of lead, Comm. Phys. Lab. Leiden, 133d, 51, 1913.
- H. Kamerlingh Onnes, Report on the researches made in the Leiden cryogenics laboratory between the second and third international congress of refrigeration: Superconductivity, Comm. Phys. Lab. Leiden Suppl., 34b: 55-70, 1913.
- F. B. Silsbee, A note on electrical conduction in metals at low temperatures, Washington Acad. Sci. J. 6: 597-602, 1916.

- W. Meissner and H. Franz, Messungen mit Hilfe von flüssigen Helium. VIII. Supraleitfähigkeit von Niobium, *Physikalisch-*Technische Reichsanstalt Mitteleilung, 558-559, 1930.
- W. J. De Haas, E. van Aubel, and J. Voogd, A superconductor consisting of two nonsuperconductors, *Akad. Wetenschappen Amsterdam Proc.*, **32**: 730, 1929.
- W. Meissner, Messungen mit Hilfe vonflüssigem Helium. V. Suprleitfähigkeit von Kupfersulfid, Physikalisch-Technische Reichsanstalt Mitteilung, 571, 1929
- W. J. de Haas and J. Voogd, The influence of magnetic fields on supraconductors, Akad. Wetenschappen Amsterdam Proc. 33: 262– 270, 1930.
- 9. W. Meissner and R. Oschenfeld, Ein neuer Effect bei Eintritt der Supraleitfähigkeit, *Naturwiss.*, 21: 787–788, 1933.
- F. London and H. London, The electromagnetic equations of the supraconductor, Proc. Roy Soc. London Ser. A, 71-88, 1935.
- J. N. Rjabinin and L. V. Schubnikov, Magnetic properties and critical currents of superconducting alloys, *Phys. Z. Sowjetunion*, 6: 605-607, 1935.
- G. Aschermann et al., Supraleitfähige Verbindenungen mit extrem hohen Sprungtemperaturen (NbH und NbN), *Phys. Z.* 42: 349-60, 1941.
- V. L. Ginzburg and L. D. Landau, On the theory of superconductivity, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 20: 1064–1082, 1950.
- A. A. Abrikosov, On the magnetic properties of superconductors of the second group, Sov. Phys. JETP, 5: 1174–1182, 1957.
- J. Bardeen, L. N. Cooper, and J. R. Schreiffer, Theory of superconductivity, *Phys. Rev.*, 108: 1175–1204, 1957.
- L. N. Cooper, Bound electron pairs in a degenerate Fermi gas, *Phys. Rev.*, 104: 1189–1190, 1956.
- L. P. Gorkov, Theory of superconducting alloys in a strong magnetic field near the critical temperature, *Sov. Phys. JETP*, 10: 998-1004, 1960.
- G. Bednorz and K. A. Müller, Possible high T_c superconductivity in the Ba-La-Cu system, Z. Phys. B, 64: 189-197, 1986.
- M. K. Wu et al., Superconductivity at 93 K in a new mixed-phase Y– Ba-Cu-O compound system at ambient pressure, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 58: 908–910, 1987.
- Z. Z. Sheng and A. M. Hermann, 90 K Tl-Ba-Cu-O and 120 K Tl-Ca-Ba-Cu-O bulk superconductors, Proc. 1988 World Congress on Superconductivity, Singapore: World Scientific, pp. 365-376, 1988.
- M. Cantoni et al., Characterisation of superconducting Hg-Ba-Ca-Cu-oxides. Structural and physical aspects, *Physica C*, 215: (1-2): 11-18, 1993.
- 22. P. Dai et al., Synthesis and neutron powder diffraction study of the superconductor HgBa₂Ca₂Cu₃O_{8+ δ} by Tl substitution, *Physica C*, **243**(3–4): 201–206, 1995.
- G. Hammerl et al., Enhanced supercurrent density in polycrystalline YBa₂Cu₃O₇₋₈ at 77 K from calcium doping of grain boundaries, *Nature*, 407: 162-164, 2000.

Reading List

- In 1986 the Applied Superconductivity Conference celebrated the 75th Anniversary of the discovery of superconductivity with a symposium on the history of superconductivity. The symposium is published in full in *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 23: 354–415, 1986.
- A recent text that is both informative and entertaining is Per Fridtjof Dahl, Superconductivity: Its Historical Roots and Development from Mercury to the Ceramic Oxides.
- Classical and still excellent introductions to the phenomenon of superconductivity are:

- A. C. Rose-Innes and F. H. Rhoderick, Introduction to Superconductivity, Oxford, UK: Pergamon, 1969.
- M. Tinkham, Introduction to Superconductivity, New York: McGraw-Hill, 1975.
- T. P. Orlando and K. A. Delin, Foundations of Applied Superconductivity, Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley, 1991.
- A. M. Campbell and J. E. Evetts, Adv. Phys., 21: 199-428, 1972.

MAGNETIC FLUX

The magnetic flux is related to the number of magnetic lines of force crossing a given area. It is therefore analogous to the flux of a flowing quantity. The magnetic flux is defined as the integral of the product of an elemental area and the magnetic induction perpendicular to it. If the magnetic induction is constant over a given area, then the flux is the product of the magnetic induction and the area. The magnetic induction is referred to as the magnetic flux density, since it is the magnetic flux per unit area.

Since the flux represents the number of lines of force and the lines of force are fixed in a infinitely conducting medium, the flux is conserved in an ideal conducting medium. Finite high-conductivity media such as copper and high-temperature plasma conserve (enclosed) flux when an external field change occurs or the cross section is changed over a time short compared to the time scale in which the lines of force (and the magnetic field) can diffuse across the medium.

The magnetic flux is related to the energy stored in the magnetic field and represents the capability of a primary magnet to induce voltage in a coupled secondary circuit over a time duration. When a magnet current is changed the flux (magnetic induction) changes, and by Lenz's law (discussed later) it induces a voltage in a secondary circuit. The magnitude of the voltage depends upon the rate of change of flux. The duration over which this voltage can be maintained is thus proportional to the flux:

$$\Phi = \int (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot d\boldsymbol{S})$$

where the integral of the magnetic flux density B is over the area of interest S. Since the surface area vector is normal to the surface, the integral gives the flux that intersects the surface. If B is constant over S,

$$\Phi = BS$$

Since the flux density is related to the magnetic field intensity H by the relation $B = \mu_r \mu_0 H$, where μ_r is the relative permeability of the medium and μ_0 is the permeability of vacuum,

$$\Phi = \mu_0 \int (\mu_r \boldsymbol{H} \cdot d\boldsymbol{S})$$

The MKS unit for magnetic flux is Tesla = m^2 or Webers or volt-seconds.

Magnetic Flux and Vector Potential

The vector potential is a quantity closely related to flux and is defined as

$$\boldsymbol{B} = \operatorname{curl} \boldsymbol{A}$$

The flux is then given by

$$\Phi = \int (\operatorname{curl} \mathbf{A} \cdot d\mathbf{S})$$

Applying Stoke's theorem,

$$\Phi = \int (\boldsymbol{A} \cdot d\boldsymbol{l})$$

where the integral is over the closed loop enclosing the surface area of interest. Therefore the flux is the line integral of the vector potential around the perimeter of the area of interest. For example, for a coil which has only an azimuthal component A_{θ} , the flux enclosed by a circle of radius r is $2\pi r A_{\theta}$. The equation is commonly used to create flux plots (lines of force) by using constant-vector-potential lines and to calculate the flux enclosed by a given area, since many electromagnetic and magnetostatic problems are solved by solving for the vector potential.

Magnetic Flux and Inductance

The inductance L of an electrical circuit depicts the ability of the circuit to oppose a change of current in its own circuit or a mutually (magnetically) coupled circuit. More fundamentally it is the ability of a circuit to oppose the change in magnetic flux enclosed by the current circuit. The flux enclosed by a circuit is proportional to the current in the circuit or the circuit that is mutually coupled to it, and the proportionality constant is the self-inductance L or the mutual inductance M, or

$$\Phi = LI$$
 or $\Phi' = MI$

where I is the current in the circuit whose flux is of interest and I' is the current in the mutually coupled circuit. The mutual inductance of two circuits with self-inductance L_i and L_j is given by

$$M_{ij} = K(L_i L_j)^{1/2}$$

where *K* is the coupling coefficient. The mutual inductance may be positive or negative.

For a coil with N turns, the total inductance is given by

$$L_{\text{total}} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j=1}^{N} (L_i + M_{ij})$$

If the turns are identical and fully coupled (K = 1) to each other,

$$L_{\text{totel}} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} [L_i + (N-1)L_i] = N^2 L_i = N^2 \Phi / I$$

where Φ is the flux due to one turn when a current *I* passes through it. Since the flux Φ_N induced by *N* turns is $N\phi$,

$$L_{
m total} = N \Phi_N / I$$

Magnetic Energy Density

The volume permeated by a magnetic field stores energy and therefore any device which generates a magnetic field also stores energy. The energy density associated with the magnetic field of a region is given by

$$u = (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \boldsymbol{H})/8 = B^2/(8\mu_{\rm r}\mu_0)$$

so that the energy stored in a flux tube cylinder with a cross sectional area A (perpendicular to B) and length l is

$$E_{\rm f} = \Phi^2 l / (8\mu_{\rm r}\mu_0 A)$$

Lenz's Law and Flux Conservation

As stated previously, an electrical circuit such as a loop of wire or a metallic cylinder opposes a change in the flux enclosed by itself. A voltage is induced in the circuit in a direction such that the voltage can drive a current that opposes the change in the flux. Therefore Lenz's law states that the induced voltage is given by the time rate of change of the flux, that is,

$$V = -d\Phi/dt \tag{1}$$

The voltage drives a current I given by

$$V = L \, dI/dt + IR \tag{2}$$

where L and R are the inductance and resistance of the circuit. Equating Eqs. (1) and (2) and integrating over time,

$$LI + \Phi = \text{const} - \int (IRdt)$$

Now, the left-hand side is the total flux (sum of the initial flux and the induced flux). Therefore the flux is conserved if the electrical circuit has zero resistance, that is, for an ideal electrical circuit such as a loop of conductor or a cylinder with zero resistance, the flux enclosed by it does not change when the flux density (magnetic field) or the area enclosed by the circuit is changed (Fig. 1). Analogously, the flux enclosed by a circuit is conserved if the current or the inductance of the circuit is changed. However, in nonideal conductors with nonzero resistance the current induced by the changing flux would decay with a time constant of L/R and the flux would change with the same time constant.

In mutually coupled circuits Eq. (2) is modified to include voltage induced by the mutually inductance. Therefore for two circuits p and q,

$$V_p = L_p dI_p / dt + M_{pq} dI_q / dt + I_p R_p$$

and the same flux conservation concept would apply if the resistance is zero, that is,

$$L_p I_p + M_{pq} I_q + \Phi = \text{const when } R_p = 0$$

The currents induced for the conservation of flux are called diamagnetic (1) or eddy currents and in resistive conductors, such currents cause losses in the conductors when the field (flux) is changed.



Figure 1. Magnetic behavior of a "perfect" conductor. (a) and (b) Specimen becomes resistanceless in absence of field. (c) Magnetic field applied to resistanceless specimen. (d) Magnetic field removed. (e) and (f) Specimen becomes resistanceless in applied magnetic field. (g) Applied magnetic field removed (subscript 'a' refers to applied field) (Ref. 4).

It can be easily shown that a diamagnetic material placed inside a coil reduces the inductance of the coil (the total magnetic flux in the coil is reduced), while a paramagnetic and ferromagnetic material placed inside a coil increases its inductance.

Poynting Flux

When the magnetic field is not constant in time, by Maxwells Law

$$\operatorname{curl} oldsymbol{E} = -doldsymbol{B}/dt$$

Therefore, an electric field E is always associated with a time varying magnetic field. The medium therefore stores both electric and magnetic energy and this energy is, in general, time dependent and in addition, as the changing fields penetrate the volume, there may be energy dissipation in volume V due to resistive currents driven by the electric field at a rate given by

$$dE_{\rm dis}/dt = {
m Int}[\boldsymbol{J}\cdot\boldsymbol{E}] dV$$

where J is the current density in the volume. Maxwells Law can be written as

$$dE_{dis}/dt = \int [\boldsymbol{E} \cdot \operatorname{curl} \boldsymbol{H} - \boldsymbol{E} \cdot dD/dt] dV$$

where D is the electric displacement vector. Using vector identity and assuming linear properties, this can be written as

$$dE_{\rm dis}/dt = \int [\boldsymbol{J} \cdot \boldsymbol{E}] \, dV = -\int [du/dt + {\rm div}(\boldsymbol{E} \times \boldsymbol{H})]$$

where now the energy density of the region,

$$u = (\boldsymbol{E} \cdot \boldsymbol{D} + \boldsymbol{B} \cdot \boldsymbol{H})/2$$

In differential form this leads to the energy conservation equation

$$du/dt + \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{E} \times \boldsymbol{H}) + \boldsymbol{J} \cdot \boldsymbol{E} = 0$$

The first term represents the rate of change of the energy density, the term $S = (E \times H)$ represents energy flow in or out of the volume and the last term represents the energy dissipation. S is called the Poynting vector and is particularly relevant to electromagnetic fields and waves.

Flux Penetration and Diffusion

As stated in the previous sections, if a magnetic field is applied to (or changed on) the exterior of a material (the flux enclosed by the area of the material is changed), the material gets an induced voltage that drives diamagnetic currents opposing the change in flux. If the material has a finite resistance, the currents will then decay and the flux will penetrate into the material. The flux will penetrate diffusively much like the diffusion of heat over time. The following relations illustrate this phenomenon.

Maxwells law gives

$$\operatorname{curl} \boldsymbol{E} = -\partial \boldsymbol{B} / \partial t$$

$$\operatorname{curl} \boldsymbol{H} = \boldsymbol{J} + \frac{1}{\partial t}$$

and Ohm's law gives

$$\boldsymbol{E} = \rho \boldsymbol{J}$$

where E and J are the induced electric field and (eddy) current density, respectively, and ρ is the resistivity of the material. Therefore,

$$\operatorname{curl}(\rho/\mu)\operatorname{curl} \boldsymbol{B} = -\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{B}}{\partial t}$$

Since div $\boldsymbol{B} = \boldsymbol{0}$ and for uniform resistivity ρ ,

$$(\rho/\mu)\nabla^2 \boldsymbol{B} = \partial \boldsymbol{B}/\partial t$$

which is the equation for the diffusion of the flux into the material and $\rho/\mu_0 = D_m$ is the magnetic diffusion coefficient. The flux and the field diffuse into the material thickness of l in a time given by l^2/D_m .

If the conducting material is in motion such as a moving plasma, an additional induced electric (convective) field $v \times B$ is present. The net time rate of change of the magnetic field is given by

$$d\boldsymbol{B}/dt = (\rho/\mu)\nabla^2\boldsymbol{B} + \operatorname{curl}(\boldsymbol{v}\times\boldsymbol{B})$$

and in analogy with viscous flow, a "magnetic" Reynolds number can be defined as

$$R_{\rm M} = L v / D_{\rm m}$$

where L is the characteristic dimension of the flow. The magnetic Reynold's number can vary from a value much less than 1 for laboratory devices to values on the order of 100 for fusion plasmas, while for geophysical or astronomical conditions, $R_{\rm m}$ can be as high as 10^6 to 10^{10} . Therefore the flux can be diffused by the flow as it penetrates the conducting material. This convective flow can be a mechanism for converting one type of flux into another (see the section entitled "Flux Conversion").

FLUX LINE AND FLUX TUBE

The flux lines are directed lines of force (LOF) and lie in the direction that a north (mono-) pole would point to when placed in the magnetic field. The LOF is defined by the equation

$$dx/B_x = dy/B_y = dz/B_z$$

where B_x , B_y , and B_z are components of the flux density in the directions x, y, and z. The equation may be integrated to give surfaces of the type (2)

$$f(x, y, z) = a$$
$$g(x, y, z) = b$$

the intersection of which gives a specific line of force. In this case, the local unit vector of the LOF is given by

$$\boldsymbol{k} = \operatorname{grad} \boldsymbol{f} \operatorname{grad} \boldsymbol{g} / (|\operatorname{grad} \boldsymbol{f} \operatorname{grad} \boldsymbol{g}|^2)^{1/2}$$

which involves components of tensorial products. A tube of force is a collection or a group of lines of force. Since div B = 0, the flux in a tube is conserved as the lines of force diverge and converge. If a tube branches into a number of tubes, then the sum of fluxes remains the same.

Since the flux in a tube of force is conserved, the cross section of the tube of force traversing through materials of different permeability would be inversely proportional to the permeability (Fig. 2); however, continuity equations require this variation in cross section to be gradual.

A useful concept is the specific volume of a magnetic tube of force given by

$$U = dV/d\Phi$$



Figure 2. Spreading of field lines (LOF) in low permeability region for the same flux.

where now V is the volume of the tube and Φ is the flux enclosed by it.

Since the flux in a tube is conserved,

$$U = \int \int (dSdl) / (BdS)]$$

or

$$U = \int (dl/B)$$

where dS and dl are the cross sectional area and length of a volume element, B is the flux density, and the integral is over the whole tube.

FLUX AND FIELDS IN A TOROIDAL GEOMETRY

The toroidal geometry (Fig. 3) has applications especially to plasma-confinement devices, and the topology of the field and the constituent magnetic flux are of specific interest in such devices and astrophysics. In a toroidal geometry, a pure toroidal field (field lines going around the major circumference) or a pure poloidal field (field lines going around the minor circumference) would give closed field lines. In most plasmas of interest, both fields would be present and the toroidal and poloidal fluxes are also called longitudinal and azimuthal fluxes. The toroidal or azimuthal flux χ is the flux enclosed by the surface ϕ = const, where ϕ is the azimuthal angle around the major axis of the toroid. The poloidal or the longitudinal flux Φ is the flux enclosed by the surface $\theta = \text{const}$ (Fig. 4). If both fields are present, the lines of force go around helical paths around the torus. In general, a line of force starting at a certain poloidal angle will arrive at a different poloidal angle after one traverse or more around the major circumference. The rotational transform is defined as the change in angle averaged over a large number of transits around the major circumference:

$$\iota = \lim \sum_{\kappa=1}^n \iota_{\kappa}/n, \qquad n \to \infty$$

For a toroid with a toroidal current of I_{ϕ} and a uniform toroidal field of B_0 , the rotational transform at the minor radius r is given by

$$\iota = B_{\theta}(r) 2\pi R/r B_0$$
$$= 2\pi d\chi/d\Phi$$

where $B_{\theta}(r) = \mu_0 I_{\phi}/2\pi r$ is the poloidal field at minor radius r and R is the major radius. The quantity $q = 2\pi/\iota$ is known as the factor of safety in fusion-device terminology.



Figure 3. Toroidal geometry, R_0 is the major radius, Φ the azimuthal angle, γ the minor radius, and θ the poloidal angle.



Figure 4. Illustration of the poloidal and toroidal surface elements $d\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{F}}$ and $d\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{F}}$.

The surface on which the helical lines that close on themselves after a number of transits is called a rational surface.

MAGNETOMOTIVE FORCE AND RELUCTANCE

These terms are defined analogousy to electrical circuits. A magnetic circuit consists of flux threading the circuit, analogous to current. The flux is "driven" by the magnetomotive force (mmf) $E_{\rm M}$, and the flux Φ is limited by the reluctance, so that reluctance is analogous to resistance in an electrical circuit. In most applications the mmf can be defined as ampere-turns, that is, the product of the instantaneous current and the number of turns. The reluctance of a circuit element is given by

$$\Re = E_{\rm M}/\Phi$$

The reluctance of an element is related to the characteristics of the element by

$$\Re = L/\mu_{\rm r}\mu_0 A$$

where μ_r and μ_0 are the relative permeability of the circuit element material and the permeability of vacuum, respectively, and L and A are the length and cross-sectional area of the circuit element. Therefore materials with high permeability such as iron have low reluctance, and vacuum or air has high reluctance. The concept of reluctance can be used in magnetic circuits analogous to electric circuits. If the mmf is analogous to the emf (applied voltage), then flux is analogous to resistive current, and the reluctance is analogous to electrical resistance (with permeability being equivalent to electrical conductivity). For example, the flux generated by a coil with ampere turns NI and threading two adjacent (in series) volumes with reluctances R_1 and R_2 is given (in one dimensional approximation) by

$$\Phi = NI/(R_1 + R_2)$$

The magnetization in a material is given by

$$M = B - \mu_0 H = (\mu_r - 1)\mu_0 H$$

Thus low-reluctance materials also have high magnetization. For $\mu_{\tau} \gg 1$,

$$M \sim H(L/\Re A)$$

Ferromagnetic Materials and Shielding

Ferromagnetic materials (e.g., iron) have high permeability and therefore low reluctance. Therefore in magnetic devices, where the flux is to be linked effectively between two electrical circuits, e.g., transformers and motors, a ferromagnetic path is usually employed. Conversely, to shield regions from magnetic fields, a low reluctance magnetic path may be provided for the field so that the field lines prefer to pass through the ferromagnetic region rather than the region that has to be shielded. Such a shielding iron may cover the source or cover the region to be shielded.

DEMAGNETIZATION FACTOR

While the flux inside a perfect conductor is conserved, it must be remembered that the magnetic field intensity H is not. In fact, the field intensity inside the diamagnetic material can be shown to increase by a factor depending upon the geometry of the material, for the same conditions of field excitation, for example, magnetic current. (For paramagnetic and ferromagnetic materials, the field intensity decreases by some factor.) The demagnetization factor is 2 for a sphere and is 1.5 for a cylindrical cross section. This fact can be explained as follows. (For an alternate description, see Ref. 3 on the analogous characteristic of depolarizing factor.)

Consider a long solenoidal magnet (4) that produces a nearly uniform external field intensity H_e in the direction x at the center of the solenoid. Now if a sphere of diamagnetic material is placed at the center and the solenoidal field is established, the diamagnetic material will exclude this flux from inside and it can be shown (solution to the Laplace's equation) that the field lines will be as shown in Fig. 5. While the field intensity H'_{e} outside the sphere is unaffected far away from the sphere. the field intensity H_i is zero just outside of the sphere along the diameter parallel to the field direction, and near that region the external field intensity H'_e will be less than the value in the absence of the sphere. Therefore the field intensity H'_{e} outside the sphere will be less than or equal to the field intensity $H_{\rm e}$ in the absence of the sphere. Now, the $\int \boldsymbol{H} \cdot d\boldsymbol{l}$ along the closed path ABCDEFA gives (by Ampere's law) the total ampere turns in the solenoid, which was held constant when the sphere was placed. Therefore

$$\begin{aligned} &\int (\boldsymbol{H}_{i} \cdot d\boldsymbol{l})_{AB} + \int (\boldsymbol{H}_{e} \cdot d\boldsymbol{l})_{BC} + \int (\boldsymbol{H}_{e} \cdot d\boldsymbol{l})_{CDEF} + \int (\boldsymbol{H}_{e} \cdot d\boldsymbol{l})_{FA} \\ &= \int (\boldsymbol{H}_{i}' \cdot d\boldsymbol{l})_{AB} + \int (\boldsymbol{H}_{e}' \cdot d\boldsymbol{l})_{BC} + \int (\boldsymbol{H}_{e}' \cdot d\boldsymbol{l})_{CDEF} + \int (\boldsymbol{H}_{e}' \cdot d\boldsymbol{l})_{FA} \end{aligned}$$

Since, H'_e is less than or equal to H_e along *BC* and *FA* and the integral over *CDEF* is unaffected (too far away), $\int (H'_i \cdot dl)_{AB}$ is larger than $\int (H_i \cdot dl)_{AB}$ to preserve the sum of the integrals,



Figure 5. A diamagnetic sphere in a solenoid. The field strength at a point close to the sphere, such as X, is less than it would be if the sphere were absent, while the field strength at a point far away, such as Y, is essentially unchanged. The line integral of H around the broken line is independent of whether the sphere is present or not, so the field strength inside the sphere must exceed the applied field H_a (Ref. 4).

which essentially means that H'_e is larger than H_e along CD, that is, inside the sphere. This effect was first noted for paramagnetic and ferromagnetic materials for which the relative permeability is greater than 1, and therefore the field intensity inside the sphere would be less than the field in the absence of the sphere. Since this effect was first noted in such materials, the effect is considered to be a demagnetization and can be stated as

$$H_{\rm i} = H_{\rm a} - nI_{\rm m}$$

where H_i is the field intensity inside the object with magnetization I_m and H_a is the applied field intensity. The quantity nis called the demagnetization factor and depends on the geometry of the object. For spheres $n = \frac{1}{3}$ and for cylinders $n = \frac{1}{2}$. Clearly if the applied field is perpendicular to a thin cylindrical wire, because of the volume average, n = 0. It must be remembered that for paramagnetic and ferromagnetic materials, I_m is positive and the field intensity inside the material decreases, while in diamagnetic materials, I_m is negative and the field intensity inside the material increases. This demagnetization factor has important consequences for nonlinear magnetization and critical characteristics of materials such as iron and superconductors.

MAGNETIC HELICITY

The topology of magnetic surfaces and the complexity of the structure of the magnetic field can be described by a quantity known as magnetic helicity, which is defined as

$$H = \int (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \boldsymbol{A} dV)$$

where the integral is over the volume of interest. The magnetic helicity describes the linking of field lines and tubes of force. Considering the two linked tubes in Fig. 6, the helicity can be written as

$$H = \iint [d\mathbf{S} \cdot d\mathbf{l})(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{A})]$$



Figure 6. Linkage of flux tubes, tubes with cross sections 1 and 2 are threaded by flux Φ_1 and Φ_2 respectively.

where S is the cross section of tube 1 and l is the length of tube 1. Since *B* is approximately normal to *S*, this can be written as

$$\mathbf{H} = \phi(\mathbf{A} \cdot d\mathbf{l}) f(\mathbf{B} \cdot d\mathbf{S})$$

The surface integral is the flux Φ_1 enclosed by tube 1 while the line integral is the flux Φ_2 enclosed by tube 2. The linked system helicity is then equal to the sum of the two helicities equal to $2\Phi_1\Phi_2$. If the tubes are linked N times the helicity will be equal to $2N\Phi_1\Phi_2$. In many systems of interest, the helicity is conserved as the magnetic configuration evolves.

Flux Conversion

If the field configuration is confined in a closed, perfectly conducting and nonpermeable surface (the normal component of B and velocity of any conducting medium v are zero), then helicity is conserved. This means that in such a configuration, although individual fluxes of different tubes (components of flux density), for example, toroidal and poloidal fluxes, are not conserved independently, the product is conserved. The symmetry then permits conversion of one type of flux into another. Such flux conversions are observed in plasma devices and in geomagnetic phenomena (5–7). The presence of turbulent structures and coherent magnetic field fluctuations may provide a mechanism for the conversion of flux and geomagnetic phenomena (8).

A simple generation of flux conversion is illustrated by using the diffusion time for flux lines in a good conductor. Consider a magnetic field applied externally to a pair of conducting materials [Fig. 7(a)]. After a certain time, depending on the conductivity of the material, the flux will diffuse in the two conductors [Fig. 7(b)]. Now, if one of the conductors is moved fast compared to the diffusion time, the flux lines will be bent and appear as shown in Fig. 7(c) until the lines can redistribute themselves inside the conductor. It is clear that in this process, a portion of the magnetic field that was previously in the vertical direction has been converted into a horizontal field.

Dynamo Action and Geomagnetism

The fact that convective motion of conducting fluids can generate magnetic fields has been invoked in explaining spontaneous flux generation from seed magnetic flux and is considered to be the source of the dynamo action in the earth's core, which produces magnetic fields. In perfectly conducting fluids, the lines



Figure 7. Conversion of vertical field to horizontal field. (a) Field before penetrating two blocks of conductor. (b) Fields after penetration. (c) Fields after the lower conductor is moved—a horizontal component is created in the gap between the two conductors.

of force are frozen (see the section on plasma equilibrium and Ref. 9). While the earth's core is conducting, any generated magnetic field must have short decay time due to the finite resistivity of the earth's melted core. Therefore a continuous dynamo action is necessary to maintain this field. Such a dynamo action is caused by the correlation between velocity and field perturbations in the turbulent motion of the core (10,11). Two effects, the α effect and the ω effect, are invoked to explain the dynamo action (12).

The α effect is a direct result of the Faraday effect. Consider Ohm's law,

$$\boldsymbol{J} = \sigma \boldsymbol{E} + \sigma(\boldsymbol{v} \times \boldsymbol{B})$$

where the second term is due to the induced Faraday emf. If a turbulent system is present, so that $v = v_0 + v'$ and B = $B_0 + B'$, the average induced electric field $E = v_0 \times B_0 + v' \times B'$, since the averages of v' and B are zero in turbulent perturbations. Therefore an additional emf $E' = v' \times B'$ associated with the correlated velocity and magnetic fields occurs. In specific systems, this electric field can be written as $E' = \alpha B_0$, where α is a tensor in general. This electric field then has a component of current which maintains the dynamo action. Consider Fig. 8, where the turbulent velocity of the fluid can be resolved into an axial component v_2 and a rotational component v_1 . If the initial magnetic field is in the x direction, the v_1 component will produce an electric field $v_1 B_0$ and a current J_1 perpendicular to the y axis. This current will then produce a magnetic field ${\pmb B}$ in the y direction. An electric field $E' = v_2 B'$ will be produced in the x direction (parallel to the original magnetic field), as stated previously.

The ω effect is caused by convective effects illustrated in the preceding section. In the illustration shown in Fig. 9, a radial or poloidal field is convected by a toroidal flow. When a toroidal



Figure 8. Illustration of the α effect. Consider a right-handed helical velocity field depicted by $(v_1 \text{ and } v_2 \text{ in the presence of a field } B_0 \text{ aligned}$ along the x axis. This will produce current loops such as J_1 , lying in the x-z plane. Associated with the current loop J_1 , is a field B' aligned parallel to the y axis. This new field B' interacts with v_2 to produce an electric field parallel to the x axis.



Figure 9. Production of a toroidal magnetic field in the core. (a) An initial poloidal magnetic field passing through the Earth's core is shown on the left, and an initial cylindrical shear velocity field, T_1^Q , is shown on the right. (b) The interaction between the velocity and the magnetic field in (a) is shown at three successive times moving from left to right. The velocity field is only shown on the left by dotted lines. After one complete circuit two new toroidal magnetic field loops of opposite sign (T_2^Q) have been produced. After Ref. 9.

flow is impressed upon a poloidal field, the velocity field shears the magnetic field and produces a toroidal magnetic field such that the direction at the top and the bottom are opposite, preserving helicity (13). The dynamo is again due to the correlation between the turbulent velocity field and the turbulent magnetic field.

ELECTRICAL MACHINES

Transformers

Transformers essentially use Lenz's law. In transformers a "primary" coil is supplied with a time varying current and a "secondary" coil mutually coupled to the primary coil receives an induced voltage that can then be used to drive a current into another circuit (Fig. 10). This then permits isolating the secondary circuit electrically from the primary circuit while enabling the indirect use of the source that powers the primary circuit. In addition, the transformer permits the "stepping up or down" of the voltage, that is, the secondary voltage can be larger or smaller than the primary voltage by the ratio of the number of turns in the primary and secondary coils. In a transformer the secondary coil is made to link nearly all the flux due to the primary coil by placing the primary and secondary coils around iron, which provides a closed low-reluctance path for the magnetic flux. The changing current in the primary coil causes a change in the flux and the secondary coil receives an induced voltage that opposes this changing flux.

$$V_{\rm p} = N_{\rm p} \, d\Phi/dt$$

 $V_{\rm s} = -N_{\rm s} \, d\Phi/dt$



Figure 10. (a) Ideal transformer and load. (b) Component fluxes.

The negative sign indicates that the secondary coil opposes the change in flux caused by the primary coil

$$V_{
m s}/V_{
m p}=-N_{
m s}/N_{
m p}$$

Since the same flux is linked and the flux path is the same (the reluctance and the flux are equal in the primary and secondary circuits),

or

$$N_{\mathrm{s}}I_{\mathrm{s}} = N_{\mathrm{p}}I_{\mathrm{p}}\ I_{\mathrm{s}}/I_{\mathrm{p}} = N_{\mathrm{p}}/N_{\mathrm{s}}$$

$$V_{
m s}I_{
m s}=V_{
m p}I_{
m p}$$

However in a nonideal transformer (14), part of the voltage applied to the primary coil is expended in generating the flux in the core and part is expended for compensating for eddy currents in the coil and iron and losses in iron due to hysterisis. The flux generated in the core by the primary current links the secondary current as a mutual flux and the remaining current leaks out into the air (which is outside the iron core and there is no linkage with the secondary current) as leakage flux. Similarly the flux due to current in the secondary coil (under load conditions) also has two parts: mutual and leakage flux. As is evident from the terminology, the mutual flux of the primary and secondary coils are equal and the leakage flux is dependent on the core size and permeability—the larger the area and permeability, the smaller the fraction of leakage flux.

The mutual flux is subject to saturation effects in iron. The reduced permeability of the iron at high excitation currents (flux densities) causes a smaller increase in mutual flux for an increase in the current, and the induced voltage exhibits saturation. This increases the high-harmonic components in the secondary voltage. Since the leakage flux is in the air, it is proportional to the current.

The total primary and secondary flux can be written as

$$\Phi_{\rm tp} = N_{\rm p} \Phi_{\rm lp} + N_{\rm p} \Phi_{\rm m}$$

 $\Phi_{\rm ts} = N_{\rm s} \Phi_{\rm ls} + N_{\rm s} \Phi_{\rm m}$

where subscript 1 refers to the leakage flux and m refers to the mutual flux. Similarly the total voltage is also the sum of that induced by (or used in creating) the leakage flux and that induced by the mutual flux. The leakage flux

$$N_{
m p} \Phi_{
m lp} = N_{
m p}^2 I_{
m p}/\Re_{
m p}$$

 $N_{
m s} \Phi_{
m ls} = N_{
m s}^2 I_{
m s}/\Re_{
m s}$

where \Re_p and \Re_s are the reluctances of the primary and secondary leakage paths, respectively. The corresponding voltages associated with the leakage paths can be defined as

$$V_{
m lp} = L_{
m lp} dI_{
m p}/dt$$

 $V_{
m ls} = -L_{
m ls} dI_{
m s}/dt$

where $L_{\rm lp} = N_{\rm p}^2/\Re_{\rm p}$ and $L_{\rm ls} = N_{\rm s}^2/\Re_{\rm s}$ are the leakage inductances. Taking into account the resistance of the coils, $r_{\rm p}$ and $r_{\rm s}$, the total voltage is then given by

$$V_{\rm p} = E_{\rm p} + L_{\rm lp} dI_{\rm p}/dt + I_{\rm p}r_{\rm p}$$
$$V_{\rm s} = E_{\rm s} - L_{\rm ls} dI_{\rm s}/dt - I_{\rm s}r_{\rm s}$$

where $E_{\rm p}$ is the voltage inducing the mutual flux in the primary and $E_{\rm s}$ is the voltage induced by the mutual flux. In well-designed transformers, the leakage and resistive terms are usually negligible.

Since

$$V_{\rm p} = N_{\rm p} d\Phi_{\rm tp}/dt$$
$$\Phi_{\rm tp} = (1/N_{\rm p}) \int (V_{\rm p} dt)$$

For a sinusoidal voltage with a frequency $f = \omega/2\pi$, $V_{\rm p} = V_0 \sin(\omega t + \alpha)$

$$\Phi_{\rm tp} = (V_0/\omega N_{\rm p})\cos(\omega t + \alpha) + \Phi_0$$

where Φ_c is a transient flux that decays after switching on due to eddy currents and hysteresis losses. Therefore the flux induced in the transformer is inversely proportional to the frequency of the applied voltage and lags in phase angle by $\pi/2$.

An approximate equivalent circuit of the transformer can be constructed in a single circuit taking into account the mutual coupling, where the circuit consists of primary inductance and





resistance, the mutual coupling inductance and magnetization, the leakage flux, and the secondary impedance (inductance and resistance referred to the primary). Other nonideal effects such as saturation of the iron core, ac losses in the core, and eddy currents can be taken into account in such a circuit (15).

Dc Electric Generators

In a generator (Fig. 11 from Ref. 14), a coil of conductors on the armature (rotor) moves across the north and south magnetic poles (stator). If the coil has N_c turns and the poles generate a flux Φ , the coil will link a flux Φ under the north pole, then zero flux between poles, and a flux $-\Phi$ under the south pole. Therefore the voltage induced in the coil is

$$V_{\rm c} = \Delta \Phi / \Delta t$$

where $\Delta \Phi = 2N_c \Phi$ is the change in the flux seen by the coil and Δt is the time over which the flux change occurs. If the coil is rotating at a rate of *n* rotations per second and there are *p*

Figure 11. Schematic of a generator.

poles in the stator, then $\Delta t = 1/np$, so that

$$V_{\rm c} = 2N_{\rm c}pn\Phi$$

If C coils are connected in series and a are connected in parallel, the generated voltage is

$$V_{\rm g} = 2CN_{
m e}pn\Phi/a = K_{
m a}\Phi\omega$$

where ω is the angular frequency of rotation and $K_a = CN_c/\pi ap$ is known as the armature constant. As shown later, the voltage induced is alternating, and dc generators require so called commutators to change the brush polarity alternately to generate dc voltage.

Generalized ac Machines

Induced Voltage in an ac Generator. In ac motors and generators, a number of multipole excitation coils are placed in a stationary high permeability core and a set of secondary coils are placed in a rotary core. The secondary and the primary excitation coils are placed around a common axis and have a

14 MAGNETIC FLUX



Figure 12. Elementary two-pole ac machine with stator coil of N turns.

small gap. (A simple example of a two-pole ac machine is shown in Fig. 12.) At an arbitrary angle θ between the rotor and the stator with N turns, the flux linked by the stator is

$$N\Phi = N \int_{-\pi/2}^{\pi/2} [B_{\max}(\cos\theta) lr \, d\theta] = 2NB_{\max} lr$$

where l is the length of the rotor (normal to the figure) and r is the radius of the stator at the gap. For p poles, the flux is $(2/p)(2Nb_{\max}lr)$. If the rotor spins with an angular velocity ω , the flux links changes with time as

$$\Phi' = N\Phi\cos(\omega t)$$

The voltage induced due to the time variation of the flux is given by

$$e = -d\Phi'/dt = \omega N\Phi \sin(\omega t) - N\cos(\omega t) d\Phi/dt$$

If the flux produced by the coils is independent of time, the second term is zero, but it is clear that the generated voltage is alternating.

Rotating Magnetic Field. In three-phase ac machines (where three legs of the ac supply each have a phase difference of 120°), three sets of stator coils are connected to the three phases (Fig. 13), so that the currents in the coils are given by

$$I_{a} = I_{max} \cos(\omega t)$$
$$I_{b} = I_{max} \cos(\omega t - \pi/3)$$
$$I_{c} = I_{max} \cos(\omega t - 2\pi/3)$$

where $\omega = 2\pi f$ and f is the frequency of the ac supply. In such a case, the total instantaneous force on the armature at an arbitrary angle θ due to the three coils is proportional to the flux linked, which, in turn, is proportional to the current and is given by

$$\begin{split} \Phi(\theta, t) &= \Phi_{\max} \cos \theta \cos(\omega t) + \Phi_{\max} \cos \theta \cos(\omega t - \pi/3) \\ &+ \Phi_{\max} \cos \theta \cos(\omega t - 2\pi/3) \\ &= 1.5 \Phi_{\max} \cos(\theta - \omega t) \end{split}$$



Figure 13. Production of a rotating magnetic field by means of three currents.

which represents a traveling wave of flux (also an mmf or force in a motor, or induced emf in a generator). If at t = 0 the peak of the flux was at $\theta = \theta_0$, then in a time t_0 the peak moves to $\theta =$ $\theta_0 - \omega t$ and therefore the field appears to rotate in time. Figure 13 shows this rotation, where F is the force (proportional to the flux linked) experienced by the armature.

If the armature also rotates but with an angular velocity ω_a , the linkage is given by

$$\Phi(t) = 1.5 \Phi_{\max} \cos(\omega_{a} - \omega) t$$

so that when $\omega_{s} = \omega$, the linked flux appears to be a constant and the motor or generator is synchronous.

This description can also be represented by a coupled-circuit description (14) using the stator and rotor inductance and flux linkages and resistance of the coils. The circuit description then leads to a set of two differential equations with time derivatives of current. Solutions of these equations give the instantaneous values of current and magnetic energy in the machine. The derivative of this energy with respect to the mechanical angle gives the torque produced.

Sinusoidally Wound Stators. The windings are arranged in such a fashion that the number of turns in the excitation and primary coils is a sinusoidal function of the angle, that is

$$N_i = N_{i0}\sin(p\phi) = N_{i0}\sin(p\pi x/L)$$

where *i* refers to the excitation or the secondary coil, N_0 is the maximum number of turns, *p* is the number of pairs of poles, *x* is the position along the circumference, and *L* is total circumferential length. [If the coils are not arranged in a sinusoidal



Figure 14. Flux in the gap between the stator and the rotor. Most of the reflectance is in the gap since the stator and the rotor have high permeability iron path.

fashion and are as shown in Fig. 12, then the fundamental component is given by $N_i = (2/\pi)N_{i0}\sin(p\phi/2)$.]

Now if the field in the gap is H_g , the integral of the field around a closed loop enclosing a coil (see Fig. 14) has two legs of the loop in the iron core that contribute negligibly if the permeability is very high and has two legs that cross the gap. Because the field direction remains along the integration direction, these add and the integral

$$\int (\boldsymbol{H} \cdot \mathbf{d}\boldsymbol{x}) = 2H_{\mathrm{g}}g$$

where g is the gap. But, by Ampere's law, the integral is also equal to the total current (ampere turns enclosed), $IN_0 \sin(p\pi x/L)$. Therefore

$$H_{\rm g} = (IN_0/2g)\sin(p\pi x/L)$$

Now the flux coupled to the coil,

$$\Phi = l \left[\left(\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{dx} \right) = \left(\mu_0 l I N_0 / 2g \right) \left[\left[\sin(p\pi x/L) dx \right] \right] \right]$$

where l is the length of the coil (or the area under consideration). Over one length of the pole, p/L, the integral gives

$$\Phi_0 = (\mu_0 l I N_0 L / 2g p \pi) I N_0 G_g$$

where $G_{\rm g} = (\mu_0 l L/2gp\pi)$ is the gap permeance per pole (or is the inverse of the reluctance of the gap per pole).

Now, if the current is alternating and the rotor is in motion, at any instance the flux coupled to the coil is given by

$$\begin{split} \Phi &= I_0 N_0 G_g \sin(\omega t + f) \\ &= I N_0 G_g \sin(\omega t) \cos \phi + I N_0 G_g \cos(\omega t) \sin \phi \\ &= \Phi_x \sin(\omega t) + \Phi_y \cos(\omega t) \end{split}$$

where $\phi = p\pi x/L$ represents the angle or the spatial phase of the rotor at time *t*.

If we use the designations j and J to distinguish between and separately account for the rotational time dependence and





Figure 15. (a) Vector diagrams to illustrate spatial flux vector and (b) time vector diagram to illustrate geometrical meaning of the symmetrical component decomposition.

the angular position

$$\sin \phi = (e^{j\phi} - e^{-j\phi})/2J$$
$$\sin(\omega t) = (e^{j\omega t} - e^{-j\omega t})/2j$$

The above expression can be rewritten as

8

$$\Phi = \Phi_{\rm td} + \Phi_{\rm top} = (J\Phi_y - j\Phi_x)e^{j\omega t} + (J\Phi_y + j\Phi_x)e^{-j\omega t}$$

which represents two counterrotating components of flux, one direct and another opposite, that is, two components of flux with a phase difference of π . The two components are illustrated in Fig. 15.

The preceding description of the flux is useful in the design of devices such as sine-cosine transformers (SCT), remote and point control systems, tachogenerators, and servomotors.

CHARGED-PARTICLE MOTION IN A MAGNETIC FIELD

A charged particle is deflected from its original path by a magnetic field if it has a velocity component perpendicular to the magnetic field (that is, charged particles with velocity in the direction of the magnetic field do not experience a force). The particle moves in a direction perpendicular both to the initial velocity and the magnetic field. Since the motion is perpendicular to the magnetic field, no work is done by the magnetic field and the particle energy does not change. It can be seen then that the particle exercises circular motion around the field direction (flux lines), and if the particle has a parallel velocity (which remains unaffected by the field), the particle executes spiral motion. The radius of the circular motion is called the Larmor or gyro radius and the rotational frequency is called the Larmor or gyro frequency.

It can be shown that if the field varies slowly in space and in time, the flux enclosed by the charged particle is constant. This conservation of flux is true in an "adiabatic" sense and leads to other adiabatic constants of motion, which enable the development of magnetic traps for plasmas and particle beams as well as particle accelerators and particle detectors.

The equation of motion of the charged particle in an electric and a magnetic field is given by

$$d\boldsymbol{p}/dt = q(\boldsymbol{E} + \boldsymbol{v} \times \boldsymbol{B})$$

where $p = \gamma mv$ and m, v, γ , and q are the particle momentum, mass, velocity, relativistic factor and charge, respectively, and E and B are the electric and magnetic fields. The equation can be written in component form for E = 0 as (for simplicity shown only for the magnetic field in the z direction, i.e., $B = Be_r$).

$$dv_x/dt = (qB/\gamma m)v_y$$
$$dv_y/dt = -(qB/\gamma m)v_x$$
$$dv_z/dt = 0$$

which are the equations for circular or spiral orbits with the gyro frequency $\Omega_g = q B / \gamma m$. Solving the equations for displacements, one gets

$$x = (v_p / \Omega_g) \sin(\Omega_g t)$$
$$y = \pm (v_p / \Omega_g) \cos(\Omega_g t)$$

where the + or – sign corresponds to the positive or negative charge (which may be dropped if the gyrofrequency includes the sign of the charge) and $v_{\rm p} = (v_x^2 + v_y^2)^{1/2}$. Therefore $r_{\rm g} = v_{\rm p}/\Omega_{\rm g}$ is the Larmor radius. (For a full relativistic treatment of the charged particle motion, see Ref. 16.)

Motion in a Time-Varying Field

If a particle is performing gyro orbits in a time-varying magnetic field, the energy is not a constant, since there is an associated electric field given by

$$\operatorname{curl} \boldsymbol{B} = -\partial \boldsymbol{E} / \partial t$$

The energy gain is given by (2)

$$\Delta U_{\mathbf{p}} = \int (q \, d\mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{E})$$

where the integral is around the orbit and r is the displacement along the path of the orbit. For this approximately closed path,

the Stoke's theorem gives

$$\Delta U_{
m p} = \int ({
m q}\,dm{S}\cdot{
m curl}\,m{E}) \ \int (q\,dm{S}\cdot\partialm{B}/\partial{
m t}) \ \sim {
m q}\pi r_{
m g}^2\,dB/dt$$

For time scales much larger than the time period of the gyro motion,

$$dU_{
m p}/dt \sim \Omega_{
m g} \Delta U_{
m p}/2\pi = (q \, \Omega_{
m g} r_{
m g}^2/2) \, dB/dt$$

 $(1/U_{\rm p})dU_{\rm p}/dt = (1/B)dB/dt$

which gives

or

$$d\mu/dt = d(U_{\rm p}/B)/dt = 0$$

where μ is known as the magnetic moment of the particle, $\mu = q \Omega_{\rm g} r_{\rm g}^2/2$.

Substituting for Ω_g , $\mu = (q^2/2\pi m)(\pi r_g^2 B) = (q^2/2\pi m)\Phi_{\gamma}$, where Φ_{γ} is the flux enclosed by the circular orbit. Since $d\mu/dt = 0$, $d\Phi_{\gamma}/dt = 0$, the flux enclosed by the particle orbit is conserved if the rate of change of the magnetic field is adiabatic, that is, the change occurs over a period much larger than the gyro time period.

Motion in an Inhomogeneous Magnetic Field

The flux enclosed by a particle orbit also remains constant if the spatial variation of the magnetic field is adiabatic, that is, the scale length of variation is much larger than the gyro radius of the particle orbit. This can be shown simply by the fact that the situation is essentially same as for slow time variation of the field.

The magnetic field variation experienced by the charged particle as it moves in an inhomogeneous magnetic field with a velocity v is given by

$$dB/dr = v_r dB/dt$$

where v_r is the component of the velocity v in the direction r. Again, as shown before, in such a case, the magnetic moment is conserved and therefore the flux enclosed by the particle orbit is conserved.

Other adiabatic invariants such as the bounce invariant in trapped orbits and the line integral of the canonical angular momentum in a periodic motion (17) are also the result of flux conservation.

PLASMA EQUILIBRIUM AND FLUX SURFACES

The most common devices for nuclear fusion and plasma applications employ a toroidal geometry, where the plasma carries toroidal and poloidal currents (see the section entitled "Flux and Fields in Toroidal Geometry") and are confined by toroidal and poloidal fields. In such cases, the equilibrium is obtained as a balance between the Lorentz body force, which is generated by the interaction of the plasma current with the magnetic



Figure 16. (a) Disk-shaped surface through which the total (plasma plus coil) poloidal current I_p flows. (b) Washer-shaped surface through which the poloidal flux ψ_p passes.

field, and the pressure force due to gradients in pressure. Such a confinement scheme is used in the Z, theta, and screw pinches, tokamaks, spheromaks, stellarators, and compact toroids. In many of these applications the primary configuration of the plasma is axisymmetric (except for, e.g., helical devices), that is, the variation of the current, magnetic field, pressure, and plasma properties are small and only appear as perturbations. Plasmas in such toroidal geometries attain equilibria (position and shape of the plasma, conditions of magnetic field and plasma current profiles, etc.) based on the solution to the Grad-Shafranov equation. It can be shown that the poloidal flux [see Fig. 16(b)] is constant on specific surfaces. While it is obvious that in the absence of pressure, the surfaces of constant flux are concentric, they are not so when the plasma pressure is finite. Since the outermost flux surface is usually fixed by a flux-conserving boundary or by an external vertical field, this means that the center of the plasma is shifted from the minor axis of the toroid by the so-called Shafranov shift. An equilibrium pressure limit (the so-called equilibrium β limit, where β is the ratio of the plasma pressure to the pressure due to the magnetic field) is obtained when the shift exceeds the radius.

For the geometry shown in Fig. 3, the primary coordinates are the major radius R, the azimuthal angle ϕ around the major axis, and the vertical coordinate z. Additional coordinates are the minor radius r and the poloidal angle θ . We limit ourselves to axisymmetric equilibria so that $\partial/\partial \phi = 0$.

Maxwell's equations are

$$\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{B} = 0 \tag{3a}$$

$$\operatorname{curl} \boldsymbol{B} = \mu_0 \boldsymbol{J} \tag{3b}$$

and the plasma force balance equation is

$$\boldsymbol{J} \times \boldsymbol{B} = \operatorname{grad} \mathbf{p} \tag{3c}$$

where B is the magnetic field, J the current density and p the pressure. Expanding the first equation,

$$(1/R)(\partial/\partial R)(RB_{\rm R}) + (1/R)\partial B_{\phi}/\partial \phi + \partial B_{\rm Z}/\partial Z = 0$$

where the second term is zero due to axisymmetry. If we define a flux function ψ , such that

$$B_{\rm Z} = (1/R)\partial\psi/\partial R$$
$$B_{\rm R} = -(1/R)\partial\psi/\partial Z$$

then

$$\boldsymbol{B} = \boldsymbol{B}_{\phi} + \boldsymbol{B}_{p} = \boldsymbol{B}_{\phi} \boldsymbol{e}_{\phi} + (1/R) \operatorname{grad} \psi \times \boldsymbol{e}_{\phi}$$
(4)

The poloidal flux

$$\Phi_{\rm P} = \int (\boldsymbol{B}_{\rm P} \cdot \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{S}) = \int_{R_0}^R [2\pi R (1/R) (\partial \psi/\partial R) \, dR] = 2\pi \, \psi$$

so that the flux function is essentially equal to the poloidal flux except for a constant of 2π .

Now taking a scalar product of Eq. (3c) and (3b),

$$m{B} \cdot \operatorname{grad} p = 0$$

 $(B_{\phi}/R)(\partial p/\partial \phi) + (1/R)\operatorname{grad} \psi \times m{e}_{\phi} \cdot \operatorname{grad} p = 0$

The first term is zero by axisymmetry; therefore

$$\operatorname{grad} \psi \times \operatorname{grad} p \cdot \boldsymbol{e}_{\phi} = 0$$

which shows that the pressure is constant if ψ is constant or $p = p(\psi)$, that is, the flux surfaces are constant-pressure surfaces. This is an important result that says the solution of flux surfaces gives the plasma equilibrium.

Substituting the expression for B as in Eq. (4) in Maxwell's Eq. (3b) and using the axisymmetric condition,

$$\mu_0 \boldsymbol{J} = \operatorname{grad}(RB_{\phi}) \times \boldsymbol{e}_{\phi}/R - (1/R)[R(\partial/\partial R)(1/R)(\partial\psi/\partial R) + \partial^2\psi/\partial Z^2)\boldsymbol{e}_{\phi}$$

The total current density can be divided into poloidal and toroidal components

$$\mu_0 \boldsymbol{J} = \mu_0 \boldsymbol{J}_p + \mu_0 \boldsymbol{J}_\phi$$

$$\mu_0 \boldsymbol{J}_p = \operatorname{grad}(\boldsymbol{R}\boldsymbol{B}_\phi) \times \boldsymbol{e}_\phi \boldsymbol{R} \qquad (5)$$

$$\mu_0 \boldsymbol{J}_\phi = \Delta^* \psi / \boldsymbol{R}$$

where

$$\Delta^* \psi = R(\partial/\partial R)(1/R)(\partial \psi/\partial R) + \partial^2 \psi/\partial Z^2$$

The quantity RB_{ϕ} is designated $F(\psi)$, which can be shown to be proportional to the total poloidal plasma current enclosed by



Figure 17. Numerically computed equilibrium of the noncircular, high- β tokamak DIII-D located at GA Technologies. Shown are flux surface plots and midplane profiles. Courtesy J. Helton, GA Technologies.

the flux surface, $\psi(R, 0) = \text{const}$,

$$I_{\mathbf{p}} = \int (\boldsymbol{J}_{\mathbf{p}} \cdot d\boldsymbol{S}) = \int dR \int \{R \, df[\operatorname{grad}(R\boldsymbol{B}_{\phi}) \times \boldsymbol{e}_{\phi}]\boldsymbol{z}\}$$
$$= 2\pi \int (dR\partial F/\partial R) = 2\pi F(\psi)$$

Now taking a scalar product of Eq. (3c) with grad ψ

$$\operatorname{grad} \psi \cdot (\boldsymbol{J} \times \boldsymbol{B} - \operatorname{grad} p) = 0$$

which after using Eqs. (4) and (5) gives

$$\Delta^* \psi = -\mu_0 R^2 dp / d\psi - F dF / d\psi \tag{6}$$

where the property grad $p = dp/d\psi \cdot \text{grad } \psi$ is used.

Equation (6) is known as the Grad-Shafranov equation. With appropriate boundary conditions, the equation can be solved to obtain plasma position and equilibrium. The solution is obtained as the solution to the shapes and locations of different flux surfaces (surfaces of constant ψ), and since each flux surface has an associated pressure, the flux surfaces define the plasma shape and location. Figure 17 shows an example of the equilibrium for the Doublet IIID tokamak.

Additional discussions on the applications and solutions to the Grad–Shafranov equation can be found in Refs. 4 and 18.

SUPERCONDUCTORS AND MAGNETIC FLUX

Superconducting Properties

Superconductors are materials that have special properties below the so-called critical temperature, critical field, and critical current density. When such materials are superconducting, they have zero resistivity and in addition they exhibit the Meissner effect (19,20). Earlier it was shown that Maxwell's equations lead to the fact that perfect conductors with zero resistivity exclude flux when the magnetic field (flux) is increased from zero to some finite value. Such perfect conductors maintain the initial flux, and diamagnetic currents cancel any



Figure 18. Magnetic behaviour of a superconductor. (a) and (b) Specimen becomes resistanceless in absence of magnetic field. (c) Magnetic field applied to superconducting specimen. (d) Magnetic field removed. (e) and (f) Specimen becomes superconducting in applied magnetic field. (g) Applied magnetic field removed. B_a is the applied magnetic flux density (Ref. 4).

change in the flux. However, in 1933, Meissner and Ochsenfeld observed that superconductors that are in the Meissner regime (e.g., lead) exclude all flux whether it was initially present or not (see Fig. 18). This is a significant characteristic of superconductors that distinguishes them from perfect conductors. These so-called type I superconductors receive induced surface currents, called Meissner currents, in the presence of a magnetic field which cancel all the flux inside the superconductor volume, independent of whether the initial flux (flux prior to the material becoming superconductor) was zero or finite. Another way of stating this is that superconductors are not just diamagnetic materials but have a relative permeability μ_r that is equal to zero, so that the magnetization is equal and opposite to the applied magnetic induction, that is, $M = -\mu_0 H$.

The superconducting property arises from the fact that below the critical temperature and field, the free energy for such materials is lower in the superconducting state compared to the normal (nonsuperconducting) state. This is due to the formation of Cooper pairs of superconducting electrons, which, on average, do not lose any energy by collisions with the lattice ions. The density of superconducting electrons and the freeenergy gap at T = 0 and H = 0 are properties of the material. (See Ref. 21 for detailed references on energy-gap measurements.) As the temperature is raised, the free-energy gap is



Figure 19. Ellipsoid split into normal and superconducting laminae in a magnetic field.

reduced, and above the critical temperature the superconducting state has an unfavorable free energy, and therefore the material would be normal. As the magnetic field is increased, the total energy, which includes the energy due to magnetization, is increased until again at the critical field, the normal state with zero magnetization is favored and the material would be normal.

While the description of the field being excluded from the volume of the superconductor is reasonable, in reality the external field penetrates to a small depth, the so-called London penetration length $\lambda_{\rm L} = (m_e/\mu_0 n_{\rm s} e^{2})^{1/2}$, where *e* and *m_e* are the electron charge and mass and $n_{\rm s}$ is the density of superconducting electrons (20,22).

However, it must be noted that there is a class of alloy superconductors, known as type II superconductors, which are commonly used in electrical and magnetic applications, the flux (field) is allowed to penetrate into the superconductor above the thermodynamic critical field, while preserving the superconducting (zero resistance) property.

Intermediate State

As was noted in the section entitled "Demagnetization Factor," the field intensity in a diamagnetic material is higher than the applied field intensity. Since ideal superconductors exhibiting the Meissner effect have $I = -H_i$ $(M = -B_a)$

$$H_{\rm i} = H_{\rm a}/(1-n)$$

Now, since the superconductor would become normal at $H_i = H_c$ where H_c is the critical field intensity, this means that the applied field is less than the critical field. This is a paradoxical situation, since this means that as the material would become normal at $H_a < H_c$, which in turn would make I = 0 and we would have the material in a normal state for $H_a < H_c$. This is resolved by the realization of the fact that normal and superconducting regions coexist inside the material for $H_a > (1 - n)H_c$ (Fig. 19). The cross-sectional area of normal material is such that the average magnetization is such as to satisfy the boundary condition $H_i = H_a/(1 - n)$ for $H_i < H_c$ and $H_i = H_a$ for $H_a = H_c$. This condition is obtained if

$$H_{\rm i} = H_{\rm a} / [1 + n(f - 1)]$$

where f is the fraction of normal cross section. This state is known as the intermediate state in superconducting materials and is analogous to an equilibrium of solid and liquid phases of matter near transition conditions. For actual observations on the intermediate state see Refs. 23 and 24.



Figure 20. Negative surface energy; coherence range less than penetration depth. (Compare this with Fig. 6.9.) (a) Penetration depth and coherence range. (b) Contributions to free energy. (c) Total free energy.

Type II Superconductors

In a concept proposed by Pippard in 1953, the density of superelectrons cannot change abruptly and changes gradually only over a distance called the coherence length, that is, there cannot be a sharp boundary between normal and superconducting regions. The coherence length is a property of the material and if impurities are present, it is considerably reduced (by an order of 10 or more) to the geometric mean of the pure coherence length and the electron mean free path.

If the coherence length is shorter than the penetration length (see the section entitled "Superconducting Properties"), the formation of coexisting normal and superconducting zones is favored, since then the total free energy of the material is reduced because the surface energy of the boundaries between the normal and superconducting zones is negative for short coherence length (Fig. 20). For the Ginsburg-Landau constant $\kappa = \lambda/\xi > 0.71$, where λ is the penetration length and ξ is the coherence length, the material favors a mixed state of normal and superconducting regions over a fully normal state for applied fields greater than the thermodynamic critical field. Intrinsic superconductors, such as niobium, have $\kappa > 0.71$ (0.78 to 0.9) even without impurities, but alloys such as niobium-titanium have even higher values of κ .

Therefore in type II superconductors, once the applied field exceeds the thermodynamic (first) critical field, small zones of normal state are formed and the excess field lines are localized along these cores of normal zones, which have circulating currents on their surfaces that preserve the superconducting



Figure 21. Mixed state in applied magnetic field of strength just greater than H_{c1} . (a) Lattice of cores and associated vortices. (b) Variation with position of concentration of superelectrons. (c) Variation of flux density.

state of the regions outside the cores. Since the surface energy is negative, the formation of the smallest and maximum number of "flux" cores is favored to maximize the total surface area of such cores. Since the coherence length is small in such materials, there can be many fluxons that require sharp transition zones. The flux core is therefore of such a size as to give the minimum flux, that is, the flux of a so called "fluxon" or flux core, $\Phi_0 = 2.07 \times 10^{-15}$ W (25). The material acquires a lattice of fluxons as shown in Fig. 21. The number of fluxons depends on the amount of flux that needs to pass through the material. Because such fluxons are maintained by circular currents around the flux cores, the fluxons are also called vortices).

Under such conditions, the superconductor does not become normal until the fluxons with the transition regions fill up the area of cross section and the new critical field called H_{c2} is given by

$$H_{
m c2}\sim 1.41\kappa\,H_{
m c}$$

where H_c is the thermodynamic critical field at which the magnetic energy is equal to the difference between the free energy in the normal state and the superconducting state.

Flux Flow in Type II Superconductors. While the foregoing is true for a superconductor with no transport current (e.g., current from an external circuit), the amount of current the superconductor can carry in a magnetic field or the critical current requires additional considerations. When a superconducting fluxon lattice is also carrying current, the fluxons experience a Lorentz body force per unit volume of the conductor equal to the vector cross product of the current density and the magnetic field threading the fluxon (in most cases the applied field) (26–28). These forces would move the fluxons perpendicular to both the current density and the applied field, for example, in a wire with a transverse magnetic field, the fluxons would move



Figure 22. Variation of the flux-flow resistivity of a NbTa specimen with field at various constant reduced temperatures. (right to left---0, 30%, 50%, 60%, and 70% of the critical temperatures)

radially perpendicular to the field. But these vortices or fluxons are pinned by imperfections in the lattice. Such imperfections in the lattice may be created due to working of the metal or impurities in the metal. Therefore, the superconducting state will be maintained as long as the pinning force per unit volume is larger than the Lorentz force.

As the Lorentz force approaches and exceeds the pinning force, the flux cores start moving and there will be some viscous resistance to such motion. Such a resistance would require work to be performed and energy to be supplied. This power requirement would then manifest itself as an electrical resistance and an associated voltage drop. The critical pinning force is not a constant and increases from zero with field and then reduces again to drop to zero at the upper critical field. Figure 22 (29) shows the increase of the flux flow resistivity with increasing field (30). This is called flux flow, and in this regime the flux cores move with a velocity relative to the electrons carrying the transport current. Since the cores are carried forward (in the direction of the transport current) as well, the net motion of the cores is at an angle to the transport current, but in most cases the angle is close to 90°. The electric field induced by the motion is given by

$E = n_{\rm f} \Phi_0 v_{\rm f}$

where $n_{\rm f}$ is the number of fluxons and $v_{\rm f}$ is the velocity of the fluxons (the voltage is given by the product of the electric field and length along the current direction).

Superconducting applications require zero or infinitesimally small resistance and therefore the regime of flux flow is required to be as close to the critical current as possible. Therefore, most applications require a high n value, which is given by

$$E \sim (I/I_{\rm c})^n$$

where I is the transport current and I_c is the critical current.

Flux Penetration and Flux Jump in a Type II Superconductor. According to the critical state model, when a field is applied



Figure 23. (a) Screening currents induced to flow in a slab by a magnetic field parallel to the slab surface; (b) Magnetic field pattern across the slab showing the reduction of internal field by screening currents.

in the exterior of the superconductor, screening currents would be induced to exclude the field. The cross section (proportional thickness in the slab shown in Fig. 23) of the current flow is equal to the total current divided by the critical current of the specimen. The current density in the material is always equal to the critical current density. As the field is increased, so is the thickness of the current sheet and after current flows throughout the cross section of the material, the field is fully penetrated and then increases inside the material as the field is raised.

Unlike in normal conducting materials, the penetration of the field in the superconductor does not reverse when the field change direction is reversed. If a field has penetrated well inside the material during one direction of change (say the field is increased) and if the field change direction is reversed (say the field is decreased), the field inside the superconductor initially decreases on the edge of the superconductor while the field inside the superconductor remains unaffected. As the field change is continued further this reduction continues into the thickness. Figure 24 shows this phenomenon schematically. This behavior of the diamagnetism causes the superconductor magnetization to be hysteretic (31). The magnetization hysteresis for a typical superconductor is shown in Fig. 25.

Now the critical state can be unstable because if there is perturbation in the form of a temperature increase, the critical current density is reduced, which then causes the fields in the superconductor to redistribute requiring motion of flux in the superconductor. This flux motion generates heat, resulting in the further increase of temperature. The larger the sensitivity



Figure 24. (a) Field pattern within a superconducting slab subjected to large field change; (b) as the field is reduced; (c) when the field change penetrates to center of slab; (d) when the field reaches a minimum value before rising again.



Figure 25. Magnetization of a 361-filament NbTi/copper composite with a twist pitch of 25.4 mm, measured at (a) $0.0075 \text{ T} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$, (b) $0.0375 \text{ T} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$, (c) $0.075 \text{ T} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$, and (d) $0.15 \text{ T} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$.

of the critical current density to the temperature the larger the heat produced. The smaller the specific heat of the material, the larger the temperature increase for a given heat generated. Therefore, if conditions are unfavorable, the superconducting material will run away in temperature, resulting in the material quenching and the flux jumping inside the material. The condition beyond which such a flux jump would occur is given by

$$\mu_0 J_{\rm c}^2 a^2 / [3 \rho_{\rm m} C (T_{\rm c} - T_0)] < 1$$

where $\rho_{\rm m}$, $T_{\rm c}$, $J_{\rm c}$, C, and a are the density, critical temperature, critical current density, specific heat, and thickness of the superconductor, and T_0 is the bath (initial) temperature (32). The result of the flux jump is that filaments of a superconductor cannot be larger than a certain size and when a superconductor is made of a large number of superconducting filaments of wire, these must be twisted to cancel the diamagnetic currents over short distances (33).

Superconductor Performance under ac Conditions

When superconductors are operated under ac conditions (applied magnetic field and currents), the superconductor response is significantly different from that of a good conductor. There are two reasons for this difference: (a) the magnetization of the superconductor is hysteretic, (b) there are saturation effects due to the criticality with respect to magnetic field and superconducting current capability. In addition, since usual superconductors are composites of multiple superconducting filaments as well as normal stabilizing conductors like copper, there are coupling effects due to mutual inductance and cross conductance. The subject is wide, and details are strongly dependent upon the details of the superconductors and applications (34,35).

Under alternating magnetic field conditions, diamagnetic currents induce reverse magnetization, and since this magnetization is hysteritic, in a full cycle, an energy loss per unit volume of $\int [\mathbf{M} \cdot \mathbf{B}] d\mathbf{B}$ is incurred. This loss is similar to the hysteresis loss in ferromagnetic materials.

With an alternating magnetic field transverse to the superconductors, diamagnetic saddle currents flow similar to the

22 MAGNETIC LEVITATION

normal conductors, but these currents are not limited by conductivity but rather by the critical current. If the superconductor is a monofilament, large currents would mostly flow in the skin of the superconductor, and the superconductor would be unstable. In order to limit the current, the superconductor is made of several filaments, twisted together and separated by a conducting matrix, for example, of copper. The induced voltage is then limited by the twist length, and the currents are distributed over all the filaments. However, for cryogenic stability and stability against flux jump, the matrix has to be made of high conductivity material, and this leads to the fact that the filaments couple somewhat through the matrix. Thus currents flowing along the filaments cross over through the matrix, and such currents induce ac losses in the superconductors. Such ac losses have to be limited to prevent heating of the conductor and subsequent quenching (transition to normal state).

Another issue under alternating field and current conditions is that the filaments or a cable of superconductors are not exactly identical due to differences in superconducting characteristics, twist pitches and end effects, and therefore currents may not be shared equally. A strong nonuniform current distribution can result from very small differences. The superconductor performance under those conditions would be significantly poorer than the sum of the individual filaments or superconductors.

MEASUREMENT OF FLUX

It is usually only necessary to measure magnetic fields, magnetization, etc. However, in special cases where the measurement of flux is desired in a static field region, a good way is to place a coil and move it transverse to the field direction so that the coupled flux changes. The time integral of induced voltage then gives the change in flux over the amplitude of motion. In instances where the flux is changed over time, a stationary coil enclosing the flux can be used. It is also appropriate to use flux density probes such as "Hall" probes over the area of interest and integrate the flux density over the area.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- A. H. Morrish, Physical Principles of Magnetism. New York: Krieger, 1980.
- P. A. Sturrock, *Plasma Physics*, New York: Cambridge Univ. Press, 1994, pp. 19–25.
- J. A. Stratton, *Electromagnetic Theory*, New York: McGraw-Hill, 1941, p. 206.
- K. Miyamoto, Plasma Physics for Nuclear Fusion, Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1976.
- 5. H. A. B. Bodin and A. A. Newton, Nucl. Fusion, 20: 1255, 1980.
- 6. L. Woltjer, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 44: 489, 1958.
- 7. D. R. Wells and J. Norwood, Jr., J. Plasma Phys., 3: 21, 1969.
- A. Janos, Proc. 6th U.S. Symp. Compact Toroid Res., Princeton, NJ, 1984, pp. 97–102.
- 9. A. Janos et al., Princeton Plasma Physics Rep. No. PPPL-2214 (1985).
- 10. M. Steenbeck et al., Z. Naturforsch., 21a: 369-376, 1966.
- H. K. Moffatt, Magnetic Field Generation in Electrically Conducting Fluids, New York: Cambridge Univ. Press, 1978, p. 343.
- 12. R. T. Merrill et al., The Magnetic Field of the Earth, Vol. 63 of

International Geophysics Series, New York: Academic Press, 1996, pp. 317–320.

- E. N. Parker, Hydromagnetic dynamo models, Astrophys. J., 122: 293-314, 1955.
- G. McPherson, Introduction to Electrical Motors and Transformers, New York: Wiley, 1981.
- R. Lee, Electronic Transformers and Circuits, New York: Wiley, 1947.
- J. D. Jackson, Classical Electrodynamics, 2nd ed., New York: Wiley, 1975, pp. 571–612.
- H. P. Furth and M. N. Rosenbluth, Proc. Conf. Plasma Physics Controlled Nuclear Fusion, Vol. 1, Vienna: IAEA, 1962, p. 821.
- J. Freidberg, Ideal MHD Equilibrium and Stability, New York: Plenum, 1987.
- A. C. Rose-Innes and E. H. Rhoderick, Introduction to Superconductivity, New York; Pergamon, 1978, pp. 19-34.
- 20. P. G. de Gennes, Superconductivity of Metals and Alloys, New York: Benjamin, 1966, p. 4.
- D. H. Douglas, Jr. and L. M. Falicov, Low Temperature Physics, C. G. Gorter (ed.), Amsterdam: North-Holland, 1964.
- 22. A. L. Schawlow and G. Devlin, Phys. Rev., 113: 120-126, 1959.
- 23. W. de Sorbo, Phys. Rev. Lett., 4: 406-408, 1960.
- 24. A. L. Schawlow, Phys. Rev., 101: 573-579, 1956.
- 25. A. Abrikosov, Sov. Phys.-JETP, 5: 1174-1198, 1957.
- 26. C. P. Bean, Rev. Mod. Phys., 36, 31, 1964.
- 27. A. M. Campbell and J. E. Evetts, Adv. Phys., 21: 90, 1972.
- 28. P. W. Anderson, Phys. Rev. Lett., 9: 309-311, 1962.
- 29. Y. B. Kim et al., Phys. Rev., 139: 1163-1172, 1965.
- 30. E. J. Kramer, J. Appl. Phys., 44: 1360-1370, 1973.
- M. N. Wilson, Superconducting Magnets, Oxford: Clarendon, 1983, p. 162.
- 32. P. S. Swartz and C. P. Bean, J. Appl. Phys., 39: 4991, 1968.
- M. N. Wilson, Superconducting Magnets, Oxford: Clarendon, 1983, p. 135.
- W. J. Carr, Jr., Ac Loss and Macroscopic Theory of Superconductors, New York: Gordon and Breach, 1983.
- 35. Ref. 31, pp. 159-199.

RAGHAVAN JAYAKUMAR Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory

MAGNETIC LEVITATION

To see gravity defied by the use of magnetic levitation in any form usually brings a sense of magic to the observer. Although mention of magnetic levitation these days probably brings to mind either a small permanent magnet floating above a superconductor or a high-speed magnetically levitated (maglev) train flying above a metal guideway, accounts of magnetic levitation go back to at least the 11th century (1). As we will see, magnetic levitation is robust, in that nature has provided many different ways to achieve it.

MAGNETIC LEVITATION METHODS

Magnetic Forces

The basic forces involved in magnetic levitation are derived from the basic laws of electricity and magnetism. The first basic force is the force between magnetic poles. Although isolated magnetic poles are not known to exist in nature, they constitute a convenient model and are discussed in most elementary science texts. For a pair of magnetic poles, opposite poles attract, like poles repel, and the force between point poles is proportional to the inverse square of the distance between them.

The second basic force involved in magnetic levitation is the force that occurs when a conductor moves in a magnetic field. This force is derived from Faraday's law and Lenz's law, which teach that a changing magnetic flux produces a voltage in a circuit in such a way that it opposes the change in flux. This law is responsible for jumping rings and eddy currents (2).

The response of a material to magnetic fields also produces a magnetic levitation force. A diamagnetic material, such as graphite, aluminum, or a superconductor, will be repulsed by a magnetic pole, whereas a paramagnetic material, such as oxygen or water, will be attracted to a magnetic pole. Ferromagnetic materials, such as iron, are strongly attracted to magnetic poles.

Earnshaw's Theorem

Earnshaw's theorem is an important theorem that affects the static levitation of magnetic systems. The theorem is developed from the property of curl- and divergence-free fields that precludes the existence of local, detached, scalar-potential maxima or minima. According to this classical theorem, it is impossible to attain stable equilibrium in a system in which only inversesquare-law electrostatic or magnetostatic forces are acting (3). Braunbek deduced that electric or magnetic suspension is not possible when all materials have $\epsilon_r > 1$ or $\mu_r > 1$, but that it is possible when materials with $\epsilon_{
m r} < 1$ or $\mu_{
m r} < 1$ are introduced (where ϵ_r is the relative electrical permittivity and μ_r is the relative magnetic permeability) (4). Earnshaw's theorem is grasped intuitively by most people when they release a permanent magnet next to the ferromagnetic door of their refrigerator. The magnet either moves to stick to the door, or it falls on the floor; it does not hover in space near the point where it was released. Braunbek (4), and later Boerdijk (5), experimentally demonstrated the stable levitation of small pieces of bismuth and graphite (these are slightly diamagnetic materials with μ_r $< \approx 1$) in strong magnetic fields. Arkadiev (6) first reported the stable levitation of a strongly diamagnetic superconductor (μ_r \ll 1). However, it was not until the discovery of superconductors with critical temperatures (i.e., temperatures at which a material enters the superconducting state) above that of liquid nitrogen that passively stable levitation became a common laboratory occurrence. We note that Earnshaw's theorem only applies to conditions of static stability and does not apply to dynamic systems.

Levitation of Permanent Magnets

Although magnetic levitation of one permanent magnet by another is not stable according to Earnshaw's theorem, this arrangement is still useful if stability is provided by other means. A simple rendition of such a levitation, originally proposed by Evershed (7), is shown in Fig. 1. Here the levitated object, that is, the rotor, consists of a permanent magnet below which hangs a rigid rod with a point on the bottom. Each permanent magnet is magnetized, as shown by the dark arrow in Fig. 1, with its north pole down. The permanent magnet of the rotor experiences an attractive force toward the stationary permanent



Figure 1. Evershed bearing design, in which most of the weight is provided by attraction between permanent magnets, and the remaining weight and vertical stability are provided by a small mechanical bearing.

magnet immediately above it. This system is statically stable in the radial direction but unstable in the vertical direction. The gap between the two magnets is adjusted in such a manner that the attractive force between the pair of magnets is just less than 100% of the rotor weight, so that the rotor would tend to fall. The remainder of the weight is provided by the small mechanical bearing at the bottom, which supplies sufficient stiffness for vertical stability and some additional radial stability.

The Evershed design, either in the simple form shown in Fig. 1, or in some modification, is used in applications ranging from simple toys and watt-hour meters to high-speed centrifuges. This basic design may be combined with other magnetic levitation techniques and is often referred to as magnetic biasing.

Electromagnetic Levitation

Truly contact-free magnetic levitation can be attained by replacing the mechanical bearing in Fig. 1 with a small electromagnet and a feedback system, as shown in Fig. 2. As before, most of the levitation force is provided by the attractive force between the two permanent magnets. The coil in Fig. 2 is wired to magnetize the iron in the same sense that the permanent magnets are magnetized. Then, as in Fig. 1, when the coil is energized, the system is stable in the radial direction but unstable in the vertical direction. The feedback system consists of



Figure 2. Attractive levitation of a permanent magnet with feedback control of an electromagnet.



Figure 3. Repulsive levitation of an ac coil above a conducting sheet using method of images.

two sensors that detect the top and bottom edge of the levitated permanent magnet. For example, the sensors may be photocells that detect light from a light source to the left of the magnet. When light to the bottom sensor is obscured by the falling magnet, the current to the coil is turned on, and the attractive force increases. When light to the top sensor is obscured by the rising magnet, current to the coil is turned off, and the attractive force decreases. In such a manner, the magnet may be stably levitated.

This basic design forms the basis of most active magneticbearing concepts. As discussed in the applications section, the actual control algorithms and sensors may be more complicated then the simple system illustrated in Fig. 2.

Ac Levitation

The ability of electromagnetic forces to impart significant levitation forces through Faraday's law is well known from jumping-ring experiments (2) that are performed in many introductory physics classes. Consider the system shown in Fig. 3, in which a coil is stationed above a conducting plate. If the coil is energized with a pulse so that current flows as shown, by Faraday's law, eddy currents will be induced in the plate in such a way that magnetic flux is expelled from the plate. The effect of these eddy currents is that the coil will see its mirror image, as shown in Fig. 3, and the interaction between the coil and its image produces a repulsive levitation force. Because of the finite electrical conductivity of the plate, the eddy currents in the plate that arise from a current pulse in the coil will exponentially decay in time, as will the levitation force, after the pulse has ended. In the jumping ring experiment, the conducting plate consists of a ring that sits on top of the coil. When the coil is pulsed, the mutual repulsive force causes the ring to accelerate upward.

To provide a more continuous levitation force, it is necessary to provide another current pulse in the coil before the initial eddy currents have completely died away. This is most conveniently accomplished by supplying the coil with an alternating current. The general phenomenon can be quantitatively understood by considering an alternating magnetic field, $\boldsymbol{B} = B\boldsymbol{i}$ (where \boldsymbol{i} is the unit vector in the x direction and $\boldsymbol{B} = B_0 \exp(j\omega t)$ incident on the surface of a half space z > 0), with electrical conductivity σ and magnetic permeability μ , where j is the square root of -1, ω is the radial frequency, and t is time. One then must solve the magnetic diffusion equation

$$\partial^2 B / \partial z^2 = \mu \sigma \, \partial B / \partial t \tag{1}$$

The solution to Eq. (1) in the conducting half space is

$$B = B_0 \exp(-z/\delta) \exp[j(\omega t - z/\delta)]$$
(2)

where the skin depth δ is given by

$$\delta^2 = 2/\mu\sigma\omega$$

The current density J in the half space, given by Maxwell's equation $J = \nabla \times H$, is in the -y direction; its magnitude is given by

$$J = (B_0/\mu\delta)(1+j)\exp(-z/\delta)\exp[j(\omega t - z/\delta)]$$
(3)

Thus, we see that current density has the same exponential decay as the magnetic field but is phase-shifted by 45° . Here, the force per unit volume, given by $\mathbf{F} = \text{Re}\{\mathbf{J}\} \times \text{Re}\{\mathbf{B}\}$, is in the z direction and its magnitude is

$$F(z) = (B_0^2/\mu\delta)\exp(-2z/\delta)[1/2 - 2^{-1/2}\sin(2\omega t - 2z/\delta - \pi/4)]$$
(4)

The force consists of a time-independent part plus a sinusoidal part that is twice the applied frequency. The mean force on the plate is downward, as expected, with a corresponding force upward on an ac coil above the plate. The pressure P at the surface of the plate is given by

$$P = \int_0^\infty F(z) dz \tag{5}$$

$$P = (B_0^2/4\mu)[1 + \cos(2\omega t)]$$
(6)

The average levitation pressure is independent of frequency and proportional to the square of the applied magnetic field. To achieve a relatively constant levitation height, it is desirable that the period of the applied field $\tau = 2\pi/\omega$ be much smaller than the characteristic time of the mechanical motion. However, the frequency cannot be made arbitrarily high, because this type of levitation is associated with joule heating; the heating rate Q per unit volume is given by

$$Q = J^2 / \sigma \tag{7}$$

From Eq. (3), we surmise that the maximum heating rate occurs at the surface and is proportional to the frequency, with the total heating rate proportional to the square root of the frequency.

Electrodynamic Levitation

In electrodynamic levitation, a moving magnet (permanent magnet, electromagnet, or superconducting magnet) interacts with a conducting sheet or a set of coils to produce a levitation force. A drag force, typically much higher than that associated with ferromagnetic suspensions, is associated with the eddy currents. However, above some speed, the drag force decreases as unity divided by the square root of the velocity. The system is passively stable, that is, no feedback is required. The disadvantage is that there is a minimum speed below which the levitation force is not sufficient, so some mechanical support is needed on startup.

The subject of eddy currents is a separate article in this encyclopedia; hence, here we limit the discussion to eddy currents caused by a moving magnet. The phenomenon can be understood by applying the principle of images, as shown in Fig. 4. In



Figure 4. Maxwell's eddy current model applied to a magnet moving over a conducting plane: (a) low velocity; (b) high velocity. The vertical component of the induced images and the magnetic field due to the eddy currents are shown in each case.

the case of a plane conducting sheet, the imaginary system on the negative side of the sheet is not the simple image, positive or negative, of the real magnet on the positive side, but consists of a moving train of images (2,8–11). According to this model, when a magnet passes a point on the conducting plane, it induces first a "positive" image, then a "negative" image. These images propagate downward at a velocity R, which is proportional to the specific resistivity (and to the reciprocal thickness if the sheet is thin when compared with the skin depth). R is also the electrical resistance of a square portion of the conducting sheet; its value $R = \rho/2\pi h$ (ρ = resistivity, h = thickness) is independent of the size of the square. In electromagnetic units, R has the dimensions of velocity.

Two examples that apply Maxwell's model are shown in Fig. 4. In the first example, the velocity v of the magnet is $\langle R$. The positive image has moved down a distance Rdt = RL/v when the negative image appears at the same location. Then, as the two images move away head-to-tail, the induced field falls toward zero. Because of the eddy currents, the vertical component of magnetic field ΔB_z is in one direction near the leading edge of the moving magnet and the opposite direction at the trailing edge, which leads to the waveform shown at the right of the figure.

In the second example [Fig. 4(b)], the velocity is considerably greater than R. The positive image has moved only a small distance RL/v away when the negative image appears, and the two images nearly cancel each other thereafter. Now, the magnetic field due to the eddy currents ΔB_2 is predominantly in one direction, as shown in Fig. 4(b).

Reitz (12) solved Maxwell's equation for several types of moving magnets with the geometry shown in Fig. 4. In each case, he obtained a "wake of images," similar to those shown in



Figure 5. Velocity dependence of lift force $F_{\rm L}$ and drag force $F_{\rm D}$.

Fig. 4, moving into the plate with a velocity $w = 2\rho/\mu_0 h$, which is Maxwell's *R* expressed in rationalized mks units.

The force on a magnet moving over a nonmagnetic conducting plane can be conveniently resolved into two components: a lift force perpendicular to the plane and a drag force opposite to the direction of motion. At low velocity, the drag force is proportional to velocity v and considerably greater than the lift force, which is proportional to v^2 . As the velocity increases, however, the drag force reaches a maximum (referred to as the drag peak) and then decreases as $v^{-1/2}$. On the other hand, the lift force, which increases with v^2 at low velocity, overtakes the drag force as velocity increases and approaches an asymptotic value at high velocity, as shown in Fig. 5. The lift-to-drag ratio, which is of considerable practical importance, is given by $F_{\rm L}/F_{\rm D} = v/w$.

Qualitatively, these forces can be understood by considering the diffusion of magnetic flux into the conductor. When a magnet moves over a conductor, the flux tries to diffuse into the conductor. If the magnet is moving rapidly enough, the flux will not penetrate very far into the conductor, and the flux compression between the magnet and the conductor causes a lift force. The flux that does penetrate the conductor is dragged along by the moving magnet, and the force required to drag this flux along is equal to the drag force. At high speeds, less of the magnetic flux has time to penetrate the conductor. At high speed, the lift force that is a result of flux compression approaches an asymptotic limit, and the drag force approaches zero.

The lift force on a vertical dipole of moment m moving at velocity v at a height z_0 above a conducting plane can be shown to be (12)

$$F_{\rm L} = 3\mu_0 m^2 / 32\pi z_0^4 [1 - w(v^2 + w^2)^{-1/2}]$$
(8)

At high velocity, the lift force approaches the ideal lift from a single image: $3\mu_0 m^2/32\pi z_0^4$; at low velocity, the factor in the brackets is approximately equal to $v^2/2w^2$, so the lift force increases as v^2 .

The drag force, as already pointed out, is w/v times the lift force, so the drag force is proportional to v at low velocity. According to the thin-plate model that we have been discussing thus far, the drag force should fall off with 1/v as the lift force reaches its high-speed limit. However, at high velocity, penetration of the eddy currents and magnetic fields is limited to the skin depth, which is proportional to $v^{-1/2}$. As a first approximation, one might replace plate thickness by skin depth at high speed. The transition from thin-plate to skin-depth behavior



Figure 6. Null-flux geometry, showing full stationary null-flux coil and one half of levitated coil moving with velocity v and displacement from the symmetry plane by Δh .

should occur at about 30 m/s in a 1-cm-thick aluminum plate, for example.

One may improve on the basic system of a magnet moving over a conducting plate by using the null-flux-geometry system (13) shown in Fig. 6. When the moving magnet or coil is in the symmetry plane, no net flux threads the track loop so that lift and drag forces approach zero. Lift forces increase linearly and drag forces as the square of the (small) displacement Δh from the symmetry plane. The velocity dependence of null-flux systems is the same as that of the eddy current systems.

Levitation by Tuned Resonators

Several magnetic bearing concepts involve passive techniques. These concepts have the advantage of simplicity and the lack of a control system. One system achieves a stable stiffness characteristic by using an LC-circuit excited slightly off resonance (14). The LC-circuit is formed with the inductance of the electromagnetic bearing coil and a capacitor. The mechanical displacement of the rotor changes the inductance of the electromagnet. The *LC* circuit is operated near resonance and tuned in such a way that it approaches resonance as the rotor moves away from the electromagnet. This increases the current from the ac voltage source and thus pulls the rotor back to its nominal position. The low forces and stiffnesses of this system, coupled with the necessity for continuous ac energization of the coils, are disadvantages. The system is also subject to a low-frequency, negative-damping instability, and auxiliary damping is usually required for stability.

Miscellaneous Levitation Methods

The Levitron[®] is a toy, manufactured by Fascinations in Seattle. Washington, that consists of a spinning permanent magnet in the form of a top. The spinning magnet is repelled by a magnet of opposite polarity in a stationary base beneath the top. The levitation height is such that the top is statically stable in the vertical direction and unstable in the radial direction. As designed, the top is also statically unstable to rotation of the magnetic moment. The concept of the Levitron is similar to that of other passive magnetic bearing concepts, in that its stability is dynamical (1,15,16). It is distinguished from other passive magnetic bearing concepts in that its stability is the result of the tendency of its precession axis to align with the local field direction: that is, when the top moves radially away from equilibrium, the magnetic moment of the top will rotate so as to point in the direction of the magnetic field from the stationary magnet. This rotation of the moment adds a term to the potential energy of the system that is not present if the magnetic moment is decoupled from the radial excursion. There is a rotational frequency range for the dynamic stability. The

top must be spinning fast enough so the gyroscopic action prevents it from flipping over. However, if the top is spinning too fast, the gyroscopic action will maintain the direction of the moment vertical, and it cannot reorient fast enough to point in the direction of the magnetic field. If the top is able to precess several times around the field line during the time scale of a radial excursion, the system is said to be adiabatically stable. The same concept is used to trap cold neutrons and produce Bose-Einstein condensation (16). Under presently investigated conditions, the frequency range in which the top is stable is rather small, and the stability is rather fragile. It is not clear whether this concept would be useful in practical magnetic bearings.

Somewhat related to the Levitron levitation technique is the levitation of weakly diamagnetic materials in high magnetic fields. For example, a 16 T steady magnetic field has been used to levitate a living frog (17). The magnetic field induces a magnetic moment m in the diamagnetic material that is in the opposite direction to the applied field B, where the magnitude of the moment is given by

$$m = |\chi| VB/\mu_0$$

where χ is the susceptibility of the material (water, which constitutes the majority of the mass of most living creatures, is weakly diamagnetic with $\chi = -1.3 \times 10^{-6}$), V is the material volume, and μ_0 is the permeability of free space. The magnetic moment of the diamagnetic material interacts with the gradient of the applied magnetic field to produce a levitation force. The vertical component of this force against gravity is given by

$$F_2 = mdB/dz$$

For the levitation to be stable, the levitated object must be placed where the energy is a minimum. This is only possible with diamagnetic objects. Further, the levitation is stable because, like the Levitron, the magnetic moment of the diamagnetic object rotates with the applied magnetic field.

Another magnetic levitation technique that is dynamically stable is analogous to the strong-focussing technique used in particle accelerators (18). In this system the static stability of the magnetic system alternates as the levitated part rotates. During one portion of the rotation, the system is radially stable and vertically unstable. During the next portion of the rotation, the system is vertically stable and radially unstable. For some frequency ranges, such a system can be dynamically stable.

Magnitude of Levitation Pressure

The levitation pressure of a magnetic system is considerably smaller than that of most mechanical systems. Here, we consider two systems: two magnetized objects, such as a pair of permanent magnets or a permanent magnet and a ferromagnet; and a coil traveling at some velocity *v* over a conducting sheet.

The maximum magnetic pressure P between two magnetized objects of magnetization M_1 and M_2 occurs at zero gap between the two objects and is given by

$$P = M_1 M_2 / 2\mu_0$$

where $\mu_0 = 4\pi \times 10^{-7}$. As convenient reference, for $\mu_0 M_1 = \mu_0 M_2$ = 1.0 T, the pressure is 400 kPa. In a sintered NdFeB permanent magnet, *M* is typically between 1 and 1.5 T; ferromagnetic materials may achieve magnetizations up to about 2.5 T.

For a set of dc coils of alternating polarity of spatial period L moving at a height h over a conducting sheet, the maximum levitation pressure is given by the pressure of the image force and is

$$P_{\rm I} = (1/2\pi\,\mu_0) B_0^2 \exp(-4\pi\,h/L)$$

where B_0 is the rms (spatially averaged) value of the magnetic induction in the plane of the magnets. With a NbTi superconducting coil, B_0 can easily be 5 T.

APPLICATIONS

Levitation Melting

We have seen earlier that an ac coil may levitate over a conducting plate by means of eddy currents induced in the plate. If an ac coil is wound in approximately the shape shown in Fig. 7, it may support a conducting liquid. In the case shown in Fig. 7, the coil supports the sloping sides of the levitated liquid, but there is a "magnetic hole" at the bottom of the coil. The levitated liquid is prevented from leaving the magnetic trap through this hole by its own surface tension. The size of the melt is then determined by the surface tension, and levitation melters are usually only capable of supporting masses substantially less than 1 kg. Such levitators are often used to conduct reactions in which contamination of the sample with material from the crucible walls cannot be tolerated. In such a case, the original charge is often solid and the induction heating from the eddy currents melts the charge. Such devices are also used when a highly homogeneous final product is desired, because eddy currents cause significant stirring of a molten metal. The levitation melter is also used to accurately determine the surface tension of liquids, equilibria between liquid metals and gases, and thermal diffusion.

Efforts to increase the mass of molten material to be levitated have involved the use of a water-cooled copper jacket with thin vertical slots surrounded by a conventional solenoidal coil. Such a device, usually referred to as a cold crucible (19), can levitate kilogram quantities of molten metal. The shape of the metal that is levitated in cold crucibles is mostly spherical. Attempts to levitate low-aspect-ratio sheets of molten metal must accommodate the tendency of the free surface to undergo a Rayleigh-Taylor instability (20).



Figure 7. Typical construction of water-cooled coil system for levitation of molten metals. The upper coil is in series opposition to the lower coil. The molten metal assumes approximately the shape and position shown.

Electromagnetic Casting

The basic principles of electromagnetic levitation can be applied to create vertical walls of molten metal. These principles have been applied for many years in the moldless casting of aluminum ingots, in which the top of the ingot is surrounded by an electromagnetic fence and the molten metal is cooled from below. The ingot is moved downward and new molten metal is added to the top at the same rate as the metal solidifies. The advantage to this system is that the outer skin of the ingot is free of contamination and mold marks. Recently, similar principles have been applied to create electromagnetic edge dams for twin-roll casting of steel.

Maglev Transport

Maglev transport involves the levitation of vehicles by one of the magnetic levitation principles discussed earlier. There is then no mechanical contact between the vehicle to be transported and the guideway that directs its travel. This application has been considered primarily for high-speed transport of people via trains, where damage to the tracks by a high-speed wheel-on-steel-rail system can be significant. However, maglev transport as an application is also being applied in clean-room environments where electronic dimensions are becoming increasingly smaller and contamination caused by rubbing or rolling contact cannot be tolerated.

The history of maglev transport has been detailed in Ref. 2 and several of the reading list entries. As early as 1907 Robert Goddard, better known as the father of modern rocketry, but then a student at Worcester Polytechnic Institute, published a story in which many of the key features of a maglev transportation system were described. In 1912, a French engineer Emile Bachelet proposed a magnetically levitated vehicle for delivering mail. His vehicle was levitated by copper-wound electromagnets moving over a pair of aluminum strips. Because of the large power consumption, however, Bachelet's proposal was not taken very seriously, and the idea lay more or less dormant for half a century.

In 1963 J. R. Powell, a physicist at Brookhaven National Laboratory, suggested using superconducting magnets to levitate a train over a superconducting guideway. Powell and G. R. Danby proposed in 1967 a system that used a less expensive conducting guideway at room temperature. Later, they conceived the novel idea of a "null-flux" suspension system that would minimize the drag force and thus require much less propulsion power (13).

During the late 1960s, groups at the Stanford Research Institute and at Atomic International studied the feasibility of a Mach-10 rocket sled that employed magnetic levitation. The maglev principle was later applied to high-speed trains by Coffey et al. and Guderjahn. In 1972 the group at Stanford Research Institute constructed and demonstrated a vehicle that was levitated with superconducting magnets over a continuous 160-m-long aluminum guideway. The vehicle, weighing several hundred kilograms, demonstrated both passive and active electromagnetic damping of the vehicle's motion (21).

At about the same time, a team from MIT, Raytheon, and United Engineers designed the magneplane system, in which lightweight cylindrical vehicles, propelled by a synchronously traveling magnetic field, travel in a curved aluminum trough. One advantage of the curved trough is that the vehicle is free to assume the correct bank angle when negotiating curves, but the guideway itself is banked at only approximately the desired angle. The magneplane concept was tested with a 1/25-scale model system that used both permanent magnets and superconducting coils for levitation above a 116-m-long synchronized guideway.

Research groups at the Ford Motor Company Scientific Laboratories (12,22), the University of Toronto, and McGill University (23,24) carefully studied magnetic levitation and electromagnetic propulsion; although they did not construct test vehicles, these groups contributed immensely to our understanding of the basic physics and engineering principles involved. The initial research effort in the United States ended about 1975. Interest revived again around 1989, when four major conceptual designs were funded for several years by the federal government (25), after which government funding again disappeared.

Maglev systems have been studied in several other countries, most notably Japan, Germany, and the United Kingdom. The only maglev train ever in commercial service was a 600-mlong route in Birmingham, England that connected the airport to a conventional rail line. This service operated from 1984 to 1995. Its service was terminated mainly because of lack of parts in a one-of-a-kind technology.

Research in Germany and Japan has continued to the present, and full-scale vehicles have been tested in both countries. The two main maglev technologies that are being pursued at this time may be broadly classified as electromagnetic systems (EMSs), in which active feedback and electromagnets are used, and electrodynamic systems (EDSs), in which repulsive forces are generated by eddy currents that are induced in the guideway by the passage of a superconducting magnet.

EMSs depend on the attractive forces between electromagnets and a ferromagnetic (steel) guideway, as shown in Fig. 8. This system is under intensive investigation in Germany. The magnet-to-guideway spacing must be small (only a few centimeters at most), and this requires that the straightness tolerances of the guideway must be relatively small. On the other hand, it is possible to maintain magnetic suspension even when the vehicles are standing still, which is not true for EDSs. In the system shown in Fig. 8, a separate set of electromagnets provides horizontal guidance force, and the levitation magnets, acted on by a moving magnetic field from the guideway, provide the propulsion force. The German Transrapid TR-07 vehicle is designed to carry 200 passengers at a maximum speed of 500 km/h. The levitation height is 8 mm, and power consumption is estimated to be 43 MW at 400 km/h. A full-scale prototype



Figure 8. Schematic diagram of Transrapid maglev system (Germany).

of the Transrapid has run for many years on a 30 km test track in Emsland, Germany. Plans call for the Transrapid to enter commercial service in 2005 on a 292 km route that connects Hamburg to Berlin.

EDSs depend on repulsive forces between moving magnets and the eddy currents they induce in a conducting aluminum guideway or in conducting loops, as shown in Fig. 6. This system is being intensively investigated in Japan. The repulsive levitation force is inherently stable with distance, and comparatively large levitation heights (20 cm to 30 cm) are attainable by using superconducting magnets. Various guideway configurations, such as a flat horizontal conductor, a split L-shape conductor, and an array of short-circuit coils on the sidewalls. have been investigated. Each has its advantages and disadvantages. The proposed Japanese high-speed maglev system involves the use of interconnected figure-8 ("null-flux") coils on the sidewalls. The null-flux arrangement tends to reduce the magnetic drag force and thus the propulsion power needed. A prototype of this system has been operated for many years on a 7-km-long test track in Miyazaki, Japan. The Japanese currently plan to construct a commercial version that will operate between Tokyo and Osaka, with the first part of this route, a 42-km-long test track, in the Yamanashi prefecture. A threecar test train achieved the design speed of 550 km/h on this test track in December 1997.

Magnetic Bearings

In active magnetic bearings (AMB), the attractive force between an energized magnet and a ferromagnetic body acts to achieve levitation. Typically, the magnet is an electromagnet, and the rotor is a ferromagnet. Such a system is inherently unstable, so, depending on the position of the rotor, active feedback is used to modulate the field of the electromagnet.

For decades, AMBs have been used in industrial applications; recently they have been used in oilfree turbomolecular vacuum pumps, compressors for gas pipelines, machine spindles for cutting operations, x-ray tube rotating anodes, pumps for cryogenics, turbo expanders in air separation plants, momentum wheels for satellite applications, flywheel prototypes, and sensitive pressure gauges. The three principal advantages of an AMB are: (1) absence of lubrication oil (required in most mechanical bearings); (2) the ability to attain higher speeds without the heating caused by mechanical friction; and (3) the ability to change in real time the stiffness and damping of the bearing to meet operating requirements.

In the basic setup of an AMB, position signals from gap sensors are used by a controller/power amplifier to set the appropriate currents and voltages of the electromagnets in such a way that stable levitation is achieved. In the example of an iron rotor below a ferromagnet, if the rotor starts to fall so that the gap becomes too large, the current in the magnet is increased to increase the attractive force. Similarly, if the gap becomes too small, the current is decreased. Control becomes effective when the bearing is activated and does not require any motion to levitate.

An advantage of the AMB is that it can adapt to operating conditions and communicate with its environment. Within certain limits, the AMB can be set to operate with arbitrary stiffness and damping, and the gap between the rotor and electromagnet can be changed. A rigid rotor can be made to rotate about its principal axis without transmitting vibrations to the
foundation. By changing the stiffness and damping, the rotor is capable of easily crossing the critical speeds of the bearings. In addition, bending vibrations of an elastic rotor can be significantly reduced by an appropriately designed active control loop.

Analog controllers were used in early AMBs; however, the tendency now is toward digital controllers. The design of early AMB systems was usually based on proportional-integraldifferential (PID) control algorithms. Generally, the feedback law is chosen to be linear and is developed on the basis of the system linearized about the static equilibrium position. Recent investigations have shown that there is performance merit in the use of certain nonlinear feedback laws. Typically, switching amplifiers are used to power the coils. These amplifiers are basically transistor switches that connect the coils to a dc voltage. The transistors are either on or off and produce a square wave voltage on the coil, with the result that a sawtooth current is produced in the inductive load. By controlling the on and off times, most current wave forms can be produced in the coils. The disadvantage of the switching amplifiers is the oscillation in the current, which causes remagnetization loss in the magnetic bearing. However, the shorter the switching period, the weaker these oscillations.

Typically, a high-frequency carrier signal is used in the position sensor, which provides a linear signal versus the rotor location. Optical sensors, inductive displacement sensors, capacitance sensors, Hall effect sensors, and eddy current sensors are commonly used. The sensors must be contact free and capable of measuring a rotating surface. The surface quality of the rotor and the homogeneity of the material at the sensor will influence the measurements. A bad surface will produce noise disturbances, and geometry errors may cause disturbances in the rotational frequency or in multiples thereof. Training of the sensors while in place may alleviate some of these noise problems. In this technique, the rotor is rotated at some fixed speed, the surface is measured over many revolutions, and the average of the measurements for a given set of angles is stored in a computer memory so the sensor remembers the surface. The set of data serves as a background, which is subtracted from the measurement during regular operation.

A new type of AMB, currently under development, does not involve the use of sensors. Instead of the usual current amplifier, a voltage amplifier is used. The current in the amplifier is measured and a control algorithm can be developed so that the rotor can be stabilized from this measurement.

One of the fundamental limitations of an AMB is that the bearing force slew rate is limited because the magnet coils are inductive and the power supply to the driving amplifier has a maximum voltage. The slew rate limitation causes the bearing force to change more slowly than the control signal demands and thus introduces a phase lag. Another way to state this is that the inductance of the coils and the maximum voltage provide an upper limit to the stiffness of the system.

In principle, the current requirements of the coils of an AMB can be made arbitrarily small if the sensors have a high enough resolution and the sensor and power electronics are fast enough to respond. That is, less force is needed (and therefore less current) to return a rotor from a 1 μ m deviation from equilibrium than it does to return it from a 1 mm excursion. As sensors become faster and achieve greater resolution, and as power electronics become faster, one may expect that the losses in AMBs will decrease. At some point, the homogeneity of the rotor and

the magnet system will then provide the determining limit of these losses.

For a complete rotor, five degrees of freedom must be controlled. If magnetic biasing is used, the system can often be designed so just one degree of freedom need be controlled. Because an AMB typically provides stable stiffness in only one direction, it may be appropriate to design the magnetic bias with a rather large stiffness that provides stability in all directions but one. Then, only one AMB controller is required to stabilize against movement in the unstable direction.

In any of the bearing systems discussed in this section, considerable advantage in terms of reduced losses can be achieved by using a magnetic bias to take up most of the bearing load. (For example, see discussion of Fig. 1.) The rotational losses of a permanent magnet pair generally consist of eddy currents induced in one of the magnets by the azimuthal field inhomogeneity of the other. These losses are typically smaller than those associated with the bearing that makes up the stabilizing part of the system. Low-loss magnetic biasing can also be accomplished with a combination of permanent magnet and ferromagnet.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- T. B. Jones, M. Washizu, and R. Gans, Simple theory of the Levitron, J. Appl. Phys., 82: 883–888, 1997.
- T. D. Rossing and J. R. Hull, Magnetic levitation, Phys. Teacher, 29 (9): 552-562, 1991.
- 3. S. Earnshaw, On the nature of molecular forces which regulate the constitution of the luminiferous ether, *Trans. Cambridge Philos.* Soc., 7: 97-114, 1842.
- W. Braunbek, Freischwebende korper im elektrischen und magnetischen Feld, Zeit. Physik, 112: 753-763, 1939.
- A. H. Boerdijk, Technical aspects of levitation, *Philips Res. Rep.*, 11: 45-56, 1956.
- V. Arkadiev, Hovering of a magnet over a superconductor, J. Phys. USSR, 9: 148, 1945. V. Arkadiev, A floating magnet, Nature, 160: 330, 1947.
- 7. S. Evershed, A frictionless motor meter, J. Inst. Electr. Eng., 29: 743-796, 1900.
- J. C. Maxwell, A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism, Vol. 2, Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1891. Reprinted by Dover, New York 1954.
- J. C. Maxwell, On the induction of electric currents in an infinite plane sheet of uniform conductivity, *Proc. Roy. Soc. London A*, 20: 160–168, 1872.
- W. M. Saslow, How a superconductor supports a magnet, how magnetically 'soft' iron attracts a magnet, and eddy currents for the uninitiated, Am. J. Phys., 59: 16-25, 1991.
- W. M. Saslow, On Maxwell's theory of eddy currents in thin conducting sheets and applications to electromagnetic shielding and MAGLEV, Am. J. Phys. 60: 693-711, 1992.
- J. R. Reitz, Forces on moving magnets due to eddy currents, J. Appl. Phys., 41: 2067–2071, 1970.
- J. R. Powell and G. T. Danby, Magnetic suspension for levitated tracked vehicles, Cryogenics, 11: 192-204, 1971.
- 14. R. H. Frazier, P. J. Gilinson, Jr., and G. A. Oberbeck, Magnetic and Electric Suspensions, Cambridge: MIT Press, 1974.
- M. V. Berry, The LevitronTM: An adiabatic trap for spins, Proc. Roy. Soc. London A, 452: 1207–1220, 1996.
- M. D. Simon, L. O. Heflinger, and S. L. Ridgway, Spin stabilized magnetic levitation, Am. J. Phys., 65: 286-292, 1997.

30 MAGNETIC MATERIALS

- M. V. Berry and A. K. Geim, Of flying frogs and levitrons, *Eur. J. Phys.*, 18: 307-313, 1997.
- J. R. Hull, Efficiency of passive magnetic-confinement techniques for rapidly rotating rings, J. Appl. Phys., 58: 3594-3600, 1985.
- 19. H. Tadano et al., Levitational melting of several kilograms of metal with a cold crucible, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, **30**: 4740-4743, 1994.
- J. R. Hull, D. M. Rote, and T. Wiencek, Magnetohydrodynamic stability in the electromagnetic levitation of horizontal molten metal sheets, *Phys. Fluids A*, 1: 1069–1076, 1989.
- H. T. Coffey et al., Dynamic performance of the SRI maglev vehicle, IEEE Trans. Magn., 10: 451–457, 1974.
- R. H. Borcherts et al., Baseline specifications for a magnetically suspended high-speed vehicle, *Proc. IEEE*, 61: 569-578, 1973.
- D. L. Atherton and A. R. Eastham, Flat guidance schemes for magnetically levitated high-speed ground transport, J. Appl. Phys., 45: 1398-1405, 1974.
- D. L. Atherton and A. R. Eastham, Superconducting maglev and LSM development in Canada, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 11: 627-632, 1975.
- H. T. Coffey, U.S. Maglev: Status and Opportunity, *IEEE Trans.* Appl. Supercond., 3: 863–868, 1993.

Reading List

- H. Bleuler, A survey of magnetic levitation and magnetic bearing types, JSME Int. J. Ser. III., 35: 335-342, 1992.
- B. V. Jayawant, Electromagnetic suspension and levitation, Rep. Prog. Phys., 144: (1981). Also Electromagnetic suspension and levitation techniques, Proc. Roy. Soc. London A, 416: 245-320, 1988.
- E. R. Laithwaite (ed.), Transport without Wheels, London: Elek Science, 1977.
- F. C. Moon, Superconducting Levitation, New York: Wiley, 1994.
- W. A. Pheifer, Levitation melting: A survey of the state of the art, J. Met., 17: 487-493, 1965.
- R. G. Rhodes and B. E. Mulhall, Magnetic Levitation for Rail Transport, Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1981.
- T. D. Rossing and J. R. Hull, Magnetic levitation comes of age, *Quantum* 5 (4): 22–27 March/April, 1995.
- G. Schweitzer, H. Bleuler, and A. Traxler, Active Magnetic Bearings, Hochschulverlag AG an der ETH Zurich, 1994.

JOHN R. HULL Argonne National Laboratory

MAGNETIC MATERIALS

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Magnetic materials have been known since ancient times—for example, in 380 B.C.E. Plato wrote (1) of the "stone which Euripides calls a magnet," which we infer was Fe_3O_4 , now known as magnetite. The scientific quality of magnetism studies abruptly and dramatically jumped with the publication in 1600 by Gilbert of the classic text *De Magnete* (2). Quantitative measurements of magnetic materials were enabled by the 1820 discovery by Oersted that an electric current creates a magnetic field. In 1846 Faraday made systematic studies of the attraction and repulsion of materials in a gradient field and classified materials as *diamagnetic* if they are repelled by a region of increased flux density and *paramagnetic* if they are attracted. To this we add *ferromagnetic* (strongly magnetic, like iron) to form the set of three basic classes of magnetic response.

Since the early part of the twentieth century, magnetic materials have been the subject of deep and broad research and development due to their economic and scientific importance, and much of our knowledge is mature. Nevertheless, startling discoveries continue to be made, such as the discovery of Nd– Fe–B permanent magnets and the "giant magnetoresistance" effect in thin-film multilayers.

MAGNETIC FIELDS AND THE MAGNETIC RESPONSE OF MATERIALS

The magnetic properties of matter may be viewed as a response to an applied stimulus, namely the magnetic field strength H. The macroscopic response of a material is given by its magnetization, M, and the overall field is the sum of the two, called the magnetic induction B. In a vacuum the magnetization is strictly zero. For this article we adopt SI units, so we have B = $\mu_0 H$ in a vacuum, where B is measured in tesla (Wb/m²), H is measured in amperes per meter, and by definition $\mu_0 = 4\pi \times 10^{-7}$ H/m. The magnetic response adds directly to the applied field, giving $B = \mu_0 (H + M)$.

The issue of units in magnetism is perennially vexing. In the past, cgs (Gaussian) units have been commonly used by scientists working with magnetic materials. In that system, **B** is measured in gauss, **H** in Oersteds, and **M** in emu/cm³, where emu is short for the uninformative name electromagnetic unit. The constituitive relation in Gaussian units is $B = H + 4\pi M$. Important conversion factors to keep in mind are 10^4 Gauss = 1 T and 12.5 Oe = 1 kA/m. A definitive discussion of units and dimensions is given in the Appendix of Jackson's Classical Electrodynamics (3).

TYPES OF MAGNETIC MATERIALS: TAXONOMY

Basic Families

Two of the basic families of magnetic materials involve a highly linear response (i.e., $M = \chi H$, where χ is defined as the magnetic susceptibility). The main magnetic response of all materials is due to the magnetic moment of individual electrons, a property directly connected to their spin. The moment of a single electron is 1 Bohr magneton, $\mu_{\rm B} = 1.165 \times 10^{-29}$ Wb-m. Due to the Pauli principle, in many cases the electrons in an atom are precisely paired with oppositely directed spins, leading to an overall cancellation. Nevertheless, a magnetic response can be discerned in all materials, as observed by Faraday.

Diamagnetism

Diamagnets have a negative value for χ , that is, the induced moment is opposite to the applied field. The susceptibility is temperature independent and typically small (see Fig. 1). Diamagnetism is due to the effect of a magnetic field on orbital motion of paired electrons about the nucleus (superficially comparable to Lenz's law). The diamagnetic susceptibility of most materials is very small—in the vicinity of -1×10^{-5} . A tabulation of diamagnetic susceptibilities of various atoms, ions, and molecules is given by Carlin (4).



Figure 1. Schematic temperature dependence of the susceptibility of a diamagnet, paramagnet, ferromagnet, and antiferromagnet.

A large negative magnetic susceptibility is characteristic of only one class of materials (namely, superconductors). A Type I superconductor in the Meissner state exhibits complete exclusion of magnetic flux from the interior of the sample, M = -H, or B = 0. Superconductors can also exhibit partial flux penetration, $0 < B < \mu_0 H$. In both cases the spectacular observation of stable levitation is possible, something that cannot be achieved using only materials with $\chi > 0$ (as proven by Earnshaw's theorem). Note that stable levitation is possible even for bodies that are only weakly diamagnetic given a sufficiently large magnetic field gradient (5).

Paramagnetism

Paramagnets have a positive value for χ , that is, the induced moment is in the same direction as the applied field. Paramagnetism is chiefly due to the presence of unpaired electronseither an overall odd number of electrons or an unfilled inner shell. Nuclei can also show paramagnetism, though typically of an extremely small magnitude. The electron gas of a metal is also usually slightly paramagnetic, though exchange coupling can sometimes lead to ordering (e.g., ferromagnetism). Independent unpaired electrons give each atom or molecule a small permanent dipole moment, which tends to be aligned by an external magnetic field. Langevin showed that thermal energy disrupts this alignment, leading to a susceptibility $\chi =$ $Nm^2/3k_{\rm B}T$, where N is the density of dipoles, m is the moment of each dipole, $k_{\rm B}$ is the Boltzmann constant, and T is the absolute temperature. Curie and Weiss found that the temperature in this formula should be replaced by $T \rightarrow (T - T_c)$ for materials with an ordering temperature T_{c} (the "Curie temperature.") The paramagnetic susceptibility of a material can give important insights into its chemistry and physics, but it is an effect of limited engineering significance at present.

Ferromagnetism

Ferromagnetism is the spontaneous magnetic ordering of the magnetic moments of a material in the absence of an applied magnetic field. Nearly all technologically important magnetic materials exhibit some form of ferromagnetism. In such materials, the magnetic moments of electrons couple together, so that they respond collectively. In this manner it is possible for all of the magnetic moments in an entire sample to point in the same direction, potentially giving a very strong effect. The details of how the individual moments couple with each other can be understood in terms of quantum mechanics. There are three types of "exchange" interaction generally found:

- The first is direct exchange, in which an unpaired electron on one atom interacts with other unpaired electrons on atoms immediately adjacent via the Coulomb interaction. This is the strong mechanism that dominates in most metallic magnetic materials, such as Fe, Ni, Co, and their alloys. It results in a positive exchange energy, so the spins on adjacent atoms tend to align parallel.
- The second is indirect exchange, or superexchange, in which the moment of an unpaired electron on one atom polarizes the (paired) electron cloud of a second atom, which in turn interacts with the unpaired electron on a third atom. This is the mechanism that dominates in most oxide materials, such as ferrites. For example, in Fe₃O₄ the Fe ions (with unpaired electrons) interact through O ions (which have only paired electrons). Superexchange creates a negative exchange energy.
- Finally, there is the possibility of interaction between electrons that are not localized but can move freely as in a metal. This interaction, known as the RKKY interaction after its discoverers (Ruderman, Kittel, Kasuya, and Yoshida), is usually weaker than direct exchange. It plays an important role in the behavior known as giant magnetoresistance and can result in either a positive or negative exchange energy.

The main properties that characterize ferromagnetic materials are the Curie temperature, T_c , the saturation magnetization, M_s , the magnetic anisotropy energy, K, and the coercive field, H_c (see Fig. 2). The first two are intrinsic to a material. The third has both intrinsic and extrinsic factors. The last is extrinsic and depends on the form (microstructure, overall shape, etc.) of the material and will be discussed later.

• The exchange interaction that leads to ferromagnetism can be disrupted by thermal energy. At temperatures above T_c , the disruption is so great that the ferromagnetism ceases, and the material exhibits only paramagnetism. Thus T_c measures the magnitude of the exchange coupling energy. For example, the T_c of Fe is 770°C while for Co, $T_c = 1115^{\circ}$ C,



Figure 2. Schematic temperature dependence of the saturation magnetization, $M_{\rm s}$, for a ferromagnet.

and for Ni, $T_{\rm c} = 354^{\circ}{\rm C}$. The ferromagnetic transition is a second-order phase transition, which means that the order parameter (magnetization) increases continuously from zero as the temperature is lowered below $T_{\rm c}$.

- The saturation magnetization is the macroscopic magnetic moment of all of the spins averaged over the volume of the sample. Thus, in a material with many unpaired electrons per atom, M_s will be large (e.g., Fe with $\mu_0 M_s = 2.16 T$ at room temperature). Conversely, M_s will be much smaller in materials that also contain nonmagnetic atoms or ions (e.g., Fe₃O₄ with $\mu_0 M_s = 0.60 T$ at room temperature).
- The electron spins couple weakly to their orbital motion in a process known as spin-orbit coupling, a relativistic effect. As a result, the energy of the system depends on the orientation of the spins (i.e., the magnetization) with respect to the orbitals of the atoms (i.e., the orientation of the sample). This results in an intrinsic coupling of the magnetization to the crystal lattice. It leads to magnetic anisotropy-that is, the energy of the system depends on the orientation of the magnetization with respect to the sample. The direction along which the magnetic moment tends to lie is known as the easy axis. The magnitude of the anisotropy may be large, as in SmCo₅ permanent magnets that strongly resist demagnetization with $K \sim 10^7 \text{ J/m}^3$, or it may be quite small, as in the high-permeability materials $Ni_{0.8}Fe_{0.2}$ (Permalloy) or a—Fe_{0.80}P_{0.13}C_{0.07} (an amorphous alloy).
- Another source of anisotropy can arise from the shape of the specimen, or from the shape of individual grains within the specimen. This is a local magnetostatic effect, rather than an intrinsic effect, and is called shape anisotropy (see Fig. 3). It is an extremely important factor in any real application. Two extremes are illustrative: A long thin needle (i.e., an acicular particle) can be readily magnetized along its long axis but will require a large field to force the magnetization to be across a short axis. The magnitude of field required is $H_a = M_s/2$ (i.e., $H_a = 8.5 \times 10^5$ A/m for the case



Easy axis of magnetization



Hard axis of magnetization

Figure 3. Shape anisotropy quantitatively describes the observation that needles and plates are most easily magnetized along a long dimension.

of an Fe needle). A flat plate, on the other hand, will require twice that field, i.e., $H_a = M_s$ to magnetize it parallel to the normal.

- A third source of anisotropy is due to the magnetostriction of magnetic materials, coupled with stresses in the material. Magnetostriction is the change in dimensions of a sample when the magnetization is aligned along various crystallographic directions; it occurs as a response that minimizes the magnetocrystalline energy. Conversely, when a sample is strained along some crystallographic direction, this contributes to the magnetic anisotropy. This is called stress anisotropy. It can be an important effect in low-anisotropy materials that are highly strained, such as almost all thin films.
- The various magnetic anisotropies that may exist in a material all act simultaneously. The best way to analyze their cumulative effect is in terms of the anisotropy energy, which is the sum of all of the energies arising from individual anisotropies. The details of this analysis can be complex; see Bozorth or Brailsford, listed in the Reading List, for examples and guidance.

Useful magnetic materials almost inevitably consist mostly of Fe, Co, or Ni or a combination of these three elements, because these are the elements that are ferromagnetic at room temperature and above. A great variety of other elements may be added to form alloys or compounds with specific useful properties, but inevitably a large fraction of Fe, Co, or Ni will be present. When a nonmagnetic metal is alloyed with these elements, M_s and T_c generally decrease rapidly due to dilution. For example, Fig. 4(a) (Bozorth pp. 308–309) shows the effect of alloying Ni with Cu (which together form a continuous solid solution), showing the monotonic decrease in M_s with increasing Cu content. Other effects may occur, such as band-structure effects or the formation of compounds, which will alter the trends with alloying [e.g., formation of Fe₂Al, as shown schematically in Fig. 4(b)].

Alloying with rare-earth metals is often used in cases where a high intrinsic anisotropy is desired, such as in permanent magnets. The lanthanide rare-earth metals are all highly magnetic due to unpaired electrons in the 4 f-shell (inner) orbitals. The T_c of these materials is below room temperature because the exchange interaction between inner orbitals of adjacent atoms is small, but the intrinsic anisotropy is generally large because the spin-orbit interaction is largest in atoms with high atomic number (and therefore highly relativistic orbitals). Adding a small amount of a rare earth can dramatically increase the magnetocrystalline anisotropy of an Fe-, Co-, or Nibased compound, often with only a modest decrease in T_c and M_s . The modern "rare-earth" permanent magnetic materials use this effect, as in SmCo₅ and Nd₂Fe₁₄B.

Domains and M-H Loops

While positive exchange coupling tends to align all of the spins in the same direction, real materials generally exhibit this uniformly oriented state only if they are very small (<100 nm). Larger samples "demagnetize" by breaking up into magnetic domains. In each domain the local magnetic moments are uniformly aligned, usually along an easy axis. The directions of magnetization of the various domains can balance such that the overall magnetization is zero and the magnetostatic energy



(**b**)

Figure 4. (a) Saturation magnetization and T_c for Fe–Cu alloys, normalized to the values for pure Fe. The monotonic decrease is typical of systems that form a continuous solid solution. (b) Saturation magnetization of Fe–Al compositions, normalized to the value for pure Fe. The anomalous behavior near the composition Fe₃Al (25% Al) is due to the formation of the Fe₃Al phase.

is small. When an external field is applied along an easy axis, domains aligned with the field tend to grow, while those antialigned tend to shrink. At high enough field the sample will be forced into a single-domain state, and the saturation magnetization will be observed. The formation of domains implies the presence of domain walls—boundaries between adjacent domains—that have increased exchange and anisotropy energies due to misalignment of neighboring spins. The density and orientation of domains in a sample is partly determined by energy balance between the domain wall and magnetostatic terms, but is also strongly affected by nonequilibrium considerations such as domain wall nucleation and pinning. In general, the growth and shrinking of domains (i.e., the motion of domain walls) dissipates energy, so the M-H curve is hysteretic, as shown schematically in Fig. 5.

This hysteretic, sigmoidally shaped M-H curve is very typical of ferromagnetic materials. Four important parameters are immediately evident from examination of the M-H curve.

- First, the limiting magnetization is just M_s , the single most important measure of a ferromagnetic material.
- Second, the slope of the M-H curve at M = 0 is the smallsignal permeability $\mu(0)$, which measures the responsiveness of the magnetic material to an external field when it is close to its demagnetized state. This parameter is particularly important for soft magnetic materials, which use the magnetic material to obtain a flux multiplication by the factor $\mu(0)$. This parameter is determined partly by



Figure 5. Schematic M-H curve, showing saturation magnetization, M_s , remanent magnetization, M_r , coercive force, H_c , and initial permeability, $\mu(0)$ (defined for an initially demagnetized sample, i.e., with H = 0 and M = 0).

the magnetic anisotropy that is characteristic of the material but is also affected by factors that impede domainwall motion, such as physical grain structure, microscopic inclusions, dislocations, or magnitude of the magnetocrystalline anisotropy.

- Third, the magnetization observed at zero field (after the sample has been fully magnetized) is called the remanence, M_r . This is an important parameter for permanent magnets, as it measures the magnitude of M available when the material is isolated. Note that the "squareness ratio," M_r/M_s , is dominated by extrinsic aspects of the material, such as grain structure and defect, along with underlying anisotropies including the shape of the specimen.
- Fourth, the field required to reduce the external magnetization to zero (again, defined only after the sample has first been fully magnetized) is called the "intrinsic coercivity" or coercive field, H_c . At this field, the sample is in a multidomain state and the magnetizations from all of the various domains exactly cancel out. The coercive field is an important property for permanent magnets, as it measures the ability of a material to withstand the action of an external magnetic field, whether applied or self-generated. It is also determined mainly by extrinsic aspects of the material such as grain structure.

The interpretation of M-H loops can often involve subtle aspects of the loop, including directional properties, the approach to saturation, possible nonsigmoidal curving, discrete jumps (known as Barkhausen jumps), and so on. These may reflect coherent rotation of spins in a domain when the external field is not aligned with an easy axis or may be due to subtleties of domain wall motion. Development of superior magnetic materials often involves intensive research into these issues, but usually the designers of devices need only focus on a few properties.

Negative Exchange Interaction

The exchange interaction, as mentioned previously, need not be positive, inducing alignment of adjacent spins. When it is negative, adjacent spins will tend to align antiparallel. This can lead to a variety of behaviors depending on the structure of the material.



Figure 6. Antiferromagnetic structure of NiO, showing Ni atoms in the $(\overline{101})$ plane. The spins are aligned along $[11\overline{1}]$ directions as shown. The magnetic unit cell is twice the length of the crystallographic unit cell.

Antiferromagnetism

The simplest configuration that can be obtained with a negative exchange energy is antiferromagnetism, in which the spins on adjacent sites in a unit cell cancel to give no net magnetic moment. A simple example is NiO, which forms in the rock salt (NaCl) structure (see Fig. 6). The ordering temperature for antiferromagnetic materials is called the Néel temperature, $T_{\rm N}$, after the discoverer of antiferromagnetism, and is analogous to the Curie temperature of a ferromagnet. Above $T_{\rm N} = 250^{\circ}{\rm C}$, NiO is, of course, paramagnetic. In the antiferromagnetic state the susceptibility is not negative, as in the case of a diamagnet (which has no permanent dipoles) but is positive, small, and depends on the direction of the external field due to intrinsic magnetocrystalline anisotropy. The details of spin configurations and other properties of antiferromagnets can be very complicated. Antiferromagnetism is difficult to detect by conventional magnetic measurements. Neutron scattering measurements are typically required to confirm the existence of antiferromagnetism.

Antiferromagnetic materials have been known and understood since the work of Néel beginning in 1932, but there are presently no important applications of bulk antiferromagnetic materials. Thin films (~1 nm to 100 nm thick) of antiferromagnetic materials now play an important role in state-of-theart magnetic recording, specifically in magnetoresistive read heads. The antiferromagnetic thin films are used to magnetically bias the magnetoresisitive sensor using a phenomenon called exchange anisotropy: the surface interaction between a ferromagnetic and antiferromagnetic material in intimate contact (see Fig. 7). Since this is an interfacial phenomenon, its magnitude is only significant when the surface/volume ratio is high, as in a very thin film.

Ferrimagnetism

In a compound with two magnetic sublattices and antiferromagnetic coupling, the magnetic moments of each sublattice will generally not cancel exactly. Then the material will exhibit an overall magnetization that in many regards will appear exactly like that of a ferromagnet, with a hysteretic M-H loop, a coercivity, and a remanence. Such materials are called ferrimagnets, because the prototypical examples are ferrites. Some properties, such as the temperature dependence of the magnetization, can be radically different from those of ferromagnets. For example, the different temperature dependencies of the magnetization on two sublattices can sometimes lead to exact cancellation of the net magnetization at a particular temperature, called the compensation temperature, $T_{\rm comp}$ (often denoted T_{c} , which leads to confusion with the Curie temperature). At that temperature the material behaves as if it were an antiferromagnet.

While ferrimagnets behave in many ways like ferromagnets, the highest saturation flux density in ferrimagnets is typically only about 0.6 T, and they cost significantly more than iron or silicon iron. Their crucial advantage is that they are usually good insulators and therefore are useful at high frequencies



Figure 7. Schematic illustration of exchange anisotropy arising from interface coupling between an antiferromagnetic and ferromagnetic material. The schematic M-H loop indicates that the loop is offset in H and that with no external field there is only one stable state (namely, the saturated state). That is, at H = 0 there can be no domain structure.

due to low eddy-current losses. Three classes of ferrimagnetic materials are predominant in applications:

- Garnets have a generic formula of $R_3Fe_5O_{12}$, where R represents a lanthanoid (Sc, Y, or lanthanide rare earth). These compounds have a T_c around 275°C and a rather low saturation flux density at room temperature, $B_s = 0.18$ T. They have proven useful for bubble memories because high-quality single-crystal garnets can be prepared, and they continue to be used for UHF applications because they have particularly low losses in that frequency regime.
- Spinel ferrites are an especially large class of materials with a wide range of properties. The generic formula unit is AB_2O_4 , where A is a divalent ion and B is a trivalent ion, usually Fe³⁺. Most of the useful spinel ferrites are magnetically soft (that is, they have a low anisotropy energy and a high permeability). The prototypical spinel ferrite is Fe₃O₄, but Zn-substituted MnFe₂O₄ and NiFe₂O₄ are the soft ferrites used in most applications. Another extremely important ferrite is commonly used as a magnetic recording medium—namely, γ —Fe₂O₃, which is a modified spinel in which one in nine Fe sites is systematically vacant.
- Hexagonal ferrites are a much smaller class of materials, but this class includes the important ceramic permanent magnet materials. A typical formula unit for a hard hexagonal ferrite is BaFe₉O₁₂. These materials have a platelet-type growth habit with a very high uniaxial anisotropy and an easy axis normal to the platelet. This makes it difficult for the magnetization of a platelet to change, which accounts for the hard magnetic properties. The fact that these materials are insulating is often not an important issue since they are used to create a dc magnetic field.

When a magnetic dipole is aligned (e.g., by intrinsic anisotropy) along an axis and a radiofrequency (RF) field is applied perpendicular to that axis, the dipole does not respond simply by oscillating in the direction of the RF field, but it precesses around its axis in accordance with classical mechanics. The precession frequency is commonly expressed as $\omega = \gamma H_{an}$, where γ is the gyromagnetic constant [$\gamma = 35 \text{ kHz/(A/m)}$ for most materials] and H_{an} is the anisotropy field. If the RF field is at exactly this frequency, the dipole can readily absorb energy from the field (and convert it into heat via coupling to the lattice). This phenomenon is known as ferromagnetic resonance, FMR, though it is most important in insulating ferrimagnets where eddy currents do not already dominate the losses. Above the FMR frequency the magnetic material has a nonmagnetic response.

At very high frequencies the response of ferrimagnets is not dominated by domain-wall motion, which is sluggish, but by coherent rotation of the spins in the sample. Then the permeability is given simply by $\mu_c = B_s/H_{an}$, so $\omega_{FMR}\mu_c = \gamma B_s$. This equation, known as Snoek's law, says that for a given material, a higher FMR frequency can only be obtained at the cost of a correspondingly smaller permeability. It is a basic limitation to the use of ferrimagnetic materials at frequencies above about 10 MHz. Other issues, such as domain-wall resonances, may reduce the maximum frequency even further. Direction of applied field: --+



Figure 8. The spin-flop transition and metamagnetic transition in antiferromagnetic materials. The spin-flop transition only occurs in materials with relatively low magnetic anisotropy energy, K, binding the spins to the easy axis (in this case, the horizontal axis).

Metamagnetism

If a large enough magnetic field is applied to an antiferromagnet along an easy axis, the spins that are antialigned with the field will suddenly flip their orientation to achieve a lower energy state. That is, for a sufficiently high magnetic field, H, the magnetostatic energy $m \cdot H$ (where m is the dipole moment of an individual atom) will inevitably outweigh the exchange energy. In some antiferromagnetic materials this flipping can be observed with achievable magnetic fields; it is then called metamagnetism. Note that in principle all antiferromagnets will exhibit this behavior at high enough field—the distinction is only in whether the required field can be produced in the laboratory.

Antiferromagnets with a relatively low anisotropy energy can exhibit an intermediate state between the antiferromagnetic and metamagnetic states as the field is increased. In this case, application of the field along the easy axis will cause the spins to reorient perpendicular to the magnetic field, and still in an approximately antiferromagnetic configuration, as shown schematically in Fig. 8. This transition is called spin flopping.

Neither metamagnetism nor the spin-flop transition are of practical significance in bulk applications of magnetism. However, the metamagnetic transition is an essential feature of the phenomenon of giant magnetoresistance (GMR), which is observed in metallic thin-film ferromagnet/paramagnet multilayers (vide infra).

Spin Glass State

When a magnetic material has structural disorder, it is sometimes not possible for the exchange interaction among various neighbors to be satisfied, and no long-range orientational order (either ferromagnetic or antiferromagnetic) can be achieved. At low enough temperature such a "frustrated" material will achieve a quasi-ordered configuration in which the spins are static but aligned in random directions. This is the "spin glass" state. In a given sample, the magnetic properties are found to be history dependent: For example, the saturation magnetization depends on whether the sample was cooled in a magnetic field or in zero field. So-called spin glass materials should not be confused with the metallic glasses discussed later. The nature of the spin glass state has been a productive area of study for physicists for many years, but the phenomenon has no current engineering significance (6). A related concept is that of "geometrical frustration," which occurs in materials that have triangular site coordination and that therefore are frustrated even in a perfectly ordered material. These materials are presently being explored intensively by physicists, but also have no current engineering significance (7).

Double-Exchange Materials

Along with the exchange mechanisms listed previously, there is a fourth mechanism, double exchange, that is relevant only to a small class of materials. The prototype material is (La,Ca)MnO₃, a perovskite oxide, in which the Ca substituted for La acts as an electron donor. Electrons hopping from one Mn atom to another do not change their spin orientation during the hop, so the Mn atoms orient ferromagnetically. The most interesting property of these materials is observed in the paramagnetic state: In zero field the Mn spins are randomly oriented, inhibiting electron hopping and yielding a high resistivity. When the Mn spins are partially aligned by applying a large magnetic field, the hopping probability is enhanced, and the resistivity decreases dramatically. At an optimum temperature (near T_c), a resistivity decrease by a factor of 10^5 to 10^6 has been observed at a field of 4 MA/m, a result that has led the effect to be known as colossal magnetoresistance (CMR). The effect is colossal at low temperatures and for only a small temperature range, and it requires very large fields to be applied, so it has not proven useful for engineering applications at present.

Superparamagnetism

In small single-domain particles of ferromagnetic material, the magnetization tends to align along the easy axis, and the energy barrier required to move the magnetization is on the order of KV, where K is the anisotropy energy density and V is the volume of the particle. For the simple case of uniaxial anisotropy, $\Delta E = KV$. If the thermal energy $k_{\rm B}T$ is greater than this energy, then fluctuations in the orientation of the magnetization will lead to zero spontaneous magnetization and a response to an applied field that is analogous to the local moments of a normal paramagnetic material. The effect is seen, for example, in Co particles smaller than about 7.5 nm. The moment of a Co sphere of diameter 7.5 nm is roughly 20,000 times larger than the moment of single Co atom, so the effect is called superparamagnetism. While superparamagnetism is not technologically useful itself, it does represent an important limitation to the particle size of future magnetic recording media, and is therefore being intensively investigated.

Thin Films

Thin films of magnetic materials behave exactly like bulk magnetic materials in most respects, albeit in profoundly different regimes for some parameters. For example, thin films have a high demagnetization factor normal to the film and essentially zero demagnetization factor in the plane of the film. Thus it is generally very hard to magnetize a thin film normal to the plane but fairly easy to move the magnetization in the plane. A simple consideration such as this can have wide-ranging implications, from an increased FMR frequency to gross effects on the structure of domain walls (i.e., the transition from conventional Bloch walls to Néel walls as the film thickness is decreased below about 100 nm). Thin films also tend to have stresses that are extremely high compared to stresses in bulk materials—500 MPa values are not uncommon. These stresses couple to the magnetostriction of the material to create a stress anisotropy that can strongly influence the magnetic behavior.

Thin films are used in a wide variety of applications, the most important of which are as media in hard disks and magneto-optic disks, miniature electromagnets in hard disk write heads, and magnetoresistive sensors in hard disk read heads.

Thin films inherently possess a unique direction, the growth direction. This is usually the normal, although it can be oblique if the incident atomic flux used to grow the film arrives from an oblique angle. For some materials the growth direction directly leads to a large intrinsic uniaxial anisotropy. For example, in amorphous Tb-Fe one might expect that there would be no anisotropy at all. Instead, films grown with the incident Tb and Fe atoms arriving essentially perpendicular to the substrate exhibit a large intrinsic uniaxial anisotropy oriented along the normal, and with a sense that leads to a perpendicular easy axis. The anisotropy is sufficient to overcome demagnetization, so domains form in which the magnetization is oriented perpendicular to the film. Such materials are used in magneto-optic recording (vide infra) (8).

Some behaviors seen in thin films are either absent or not commonly observed in bulk magnetic materials. An important example is the phenomenon of so-called giant magnetoresistance in thin-film multilayers. These multilayers are typically formed by sequentially depositing metallic ferromagnetic and paramagnetic layers, each \sim 1 nm to 3 nm thick, using sputtering or evaporation in a high-vacuum chamber. Between two and a hundred layers might be built up in this way. The ferromagnetic layers couple with each other by the RKKY interaction through the paramagnetic metal, so depending on the thickness of the paramagnetic layer, the interlayer coupling may be antiferromagnetic or ferromagnetic. For example, a film consisting of 100 repeats of 1.0 nm-thick Co adjacent to 0.6 nmthick Cu exhibits an antiferromagnetic state at zero field: Even though each Co layer is individually ferromagnetic, alternate layers have oppositely directed magnetizations. When a moderate field, H, is applied, the magnetizations of all of the layers align with the external field, producing a metamagnetic transition.

Baibich et al. (9) discovered the most interesting aspect of the metamagnetic transition in metallic multilayers: the effect it has on the resistivity of the sample. The aligned state has a greatly reduced resistivity compared to the antialigned state. The magnetoresistance ratio $(R(H = 0) - R(H = H_s))/(R(H = H_s))$ can be as high as ~100% depending on the choice of materials. This is far greater than the highest normal magnetoresistance observed in any material at room temperature; hence the name giant magnetoresistance. It is attributed to spin-dependent scattering of electrons, which is enhanced when magnetizations of adjacent layers are antialigned. This effect is crucial for the highest-performance magnetic disk read heads being currently designed (vide infra) (10).

MAGNETIC MATERIALS USED IN APPLICATIONS

Useful magnetic materials are often divided into three categories:

- Soft magnets, in which the magnetization is readily changed with an external field, thereby providing a fluxmultiplying effect
- Hard magnets (permanent magnets), which have high coercive fields and which therefore resist demagnetization by stray fields including their own
- Magnet recording media, which combine aspects of softness and hardness

Soft Magnetic Materials

Soft magnetic materials are used in applications such as transformers and inductors. An obvious example would be the iron, known as electrical steel, used in transformers for inexpensive power supplies. At frequencies above about 10 kHz, eddy currents limit the use of metallic magnetic materials, so high-resistivity ferrites such as $(Mn,Zn)Fe_2O_4$ are used.

Permeability. An important property of soft magnetic materials is their relative permeability, nominally defined by $\mu_{\tau} = B/\mu_0 H$. Actually, since the B(H) curve is neither linear nor single valued, a large number of useful permeability parameters can be defined, such as the initial permeability, the maximum permeability, and the anhysteretic permeability. For simplicity, we will consider only the initial small-signal permeability, defined as $\mu(0) \equiv \partial B/\partial H|_{H=0}$. Values from $\mu(0) = 10$ (high-frequency ferrites) to $\mu(0) = 10,000$ (low-frequency inductors) are typically encountered in applications.

Power Devices. Probably the main use of magnetic materials at present, on a weight basis, is in power transformers. These can range from huge transformers used in substations, to miniature transformers used to convert line voltage to a level suitable for small consumer devices, to small ferrite transformers used in switching power supplies.

Low-frequency power applications almost inevitably employ low Si percentage Fe-Si alloys known as "silicon iron" or "electrical steel." This is because Fe is by far the cheapest magnetic material available. The coercive field of pure Fe is typically about 80 A/m. The addition of a small amount of Si to Fe lowers the anisotropy, resulting in lower losses and a coercive force of about 40 A/m. It also substantially increases the resistivity. which decreases eddy currents. Eddy currents in transformers are usually further reduced by lamination (i.e., using a stack of Fe-Si plates, each electrically insulated by a coating layer, rather than a single thick piece). The laminations are arranged so that eddy currents are interrupted by the presence of the insulator and forced to circulate only within each lamination (i.e., so that any ac magnetic flux is perpendicular to the normal). Properly designed, the thickness of each plate should be smaller than a skin depth, δ , given by $\delta = (2\rho/\omega\mu)^{1/2}$, where ρ is the resistivity, ω is the angular frequency of the ac magnetic field, and μ is the permeability. Note that the permeability can also be frequency dependent.

Improved varieties of silicon iron are prepared using specific sequences of forging (rolling) and annealing to obtain a grain-oriented microstructure. In such materials the crystallographic orientation of individual grains is forced to be aligned over the entire piece. The advantage is that materials with lower losses are obtained, though the material is also somewhat more expensive. At present, most power transformers utilize grain-oriented silicon iron. The highest-performance materials for low-frequency transformer applications are the metallic glasses, amorphous alloys of Fe and Co with one or more metalloid additions (usually B, C, Si, and P). These materials can have losses that are 10 times smaller than silicon iron and coercive fields below 0.5 A/m. But the saturation flux density is generally \sim 1.5 T, and the materials are substantially more expensive than silicon iron. These negative aspects of metallic glasses have precluded their widespread use.

Power supplies with low weight and volume are highly desirable for some electronic applications, and this can be achieved with the design called "switching" power supplies. An additional benefit is circuit versatility and flexibility, while the main tradeoffs are increased cost and design complexity. A switching power supply uses power electronics [typically Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistors (MOSFETs)] to chop and rectify power at high frequency, a power transformer or inductor to change the voltage, and control electronics to synchronize and control the system. The frequencies used range from about 50 kHz to a present upper limit of 1 MHz.

At these frequencies, metallic ferromagnets cannot be used as the desirable lamination thickness would be prohibitively small. Fortunately at such high frequencies, the energy that must be stored in the transformer or inductor is correspondingly small for a given power capacity ($E \sim P/\omega$, where E is the maximum stored energy, P is the maximum power, and ω is the angular frequency). Therefore, the cost of the magnetic part need not dominate, especially considering the cost of the electronics involved, so the use of relatively expensive but very high resistivity ferrites is feasible. In most cases an (Mn,Zn)Fe₂O₄ spinel ferrite is chosen as a compromise between saturation flux density, losses, resistivity, and cost. At the highest frequencies, (Ni,Zn)Fe₂O₄ may prove useful, as it has a higher resistivity and therefore is less susceptible to eddy current losses.

Motors and generators inevitably employ iron or silicon iron to act as a flux concentrator. The armature and stator are commonly constructed of grain-oriented silicon iron, though small motors often employ nonoriented silicon iron or metallic-glass materials. As in transformers, the ferromagnetic parts must be laminated to reduce eddy current losses.

inductors. Small-signal transformers and inductors are used in a variety of circuit applications, as in impedancematching and isolation transformers, antennas, and chokes. Signal-level devices do not have to carry substantial power, so they can be small and the cost of materials can easily be outweighed by performance considerations. Thus a wider variety of magnetic materials is used in these devices.

At audio frequencies and below, transformers and inductors were once commonly used for signal applications. For example, long-distance analog telephone circuits were balanced by the periodic addition of loading coils—inductors designed to match the large distributed capacitance of phone lines. A common choice for the magnetic core in those coils was Permalloy (Ni₈₀ Fe₂₀) or a related alloy, and the cores were formed by rolling a long tape into a toroidal core. However, in modern telecommunications systems the analog signals are quickly converted to digital signals at the central exchange and then transmitted by fiber-optic, satellite, or microwave relay. The need for loading coils is minimal. Similarly, the function of audiofrequency impedance-matching transformers and other inductive electronic components has largely been displaced by more elaborate but much cheaper integrated circuit designs. Low-frequency magnetics are used in modem isolation transformers to provide dc electrical isolation with audio coupling; these are made with either laminated metallic or solid ferrite cores.

At RF frequencies (50 kHz to 50 MHz) magnetic cores are widely used; for example, in antennas, RF transformers. chokes, and resonant circuits. The usual choices for magnetic cores are the spinels (Mn,Zn)Fe₂O₄ (up to about 1 MHz) and (Ni,Zn)Fe₂O₄ (up to about 10 MHz to 50 MHz). The manganese zinc ferrites are cheaper but have a resistivity typically less than 1000 Ω -cm. Eddy current losses limit their usefulness at high frequencies. The initial permeability is roughly 1000 to 3000. Nickel zinc ferrites can have resistivities as high as $10^5 \Omega$ cm and initial permeabilities on the order of 1000. Their upper frequency limit is dictated by the need to avoid FMR losses. Material designed for operation above about 10 MHz typically is prepared with moderate porosity to inhibit domain-wall motion and losses associated with domain-wall resonance. The permeability mechanism then is limited to that of coherent rotation of the spins, which implies a much smaller value ($\mu_{
m c} \sim M_{
m s}/H_{
m k} \sim$ 10 to 100).

Above about 50 MHz, magnetic materials are not commonly used in transformers and inductors, as Snoek's law demands that the permeability be uselessly small in order for the FMR frequency to be sufficiently greater than the frequency of operation. Snoek's law can be circumvented by the use of materials with a large biaxial anisotropy (e.g., the hexagonal magnetoplumbite-type ferrites) or by using thin films with a high saturation magnetization. At present, however, those approaches are not commercially important.

Write Heads. An important application of soft magnetic materials is in the recording heads used in tape and disk systems. Write heads essentially consist of an electromagnet with a toroidal magnetic core and a very small air gap (~ 100 nm to 300 nm). The flux that extends from the air gap, called the fringing field, is used to magnetize the magnetic medium passing nearby (see Fig. 9). In tape and floppy disk systems the magnetic medium is in actual contact with the head, while in hard



Figure 9. Schematic of a magnetic recording head. Recording is accomplished using the magnetic fringing field (i.e., the field that leaks from the gap).

disk systems the head flies aerodynamically over the spinning medium at a height of 25 nm to 75 nm. The maximum magnetic field available for magnetizing the medium is proportional to the saturation magnetization of the head material.

Originally the magnetic recording heads were made from laminated metal alloys, such as Permalloy or Sendust (an alloy of Fe, Si, and Al notable for being magnetically soft and physically very hard), but as recording densities and frequencies increased, an inevitable move was made to ferrite materials. Ferrite heads are made from cast pieces that are carefully polished to form a precise air gap and then are assembled with the driving coil. As recording densities have increased, media with higher coercivities are necessary, so head materials with high-saturation magnetization are needed. Unfortunately this is where the ferrites are most deficient, with maximum $B_{\rm s} \sim$ 0.6 T. One approach to obtain improved performance is to add a thin film of relatively high B_{\bullet} material (such as Permallov, B_{\bullet} = 0.9 T to 1.1 T) on the inside edge of the gap of each piece. The thin film acts as a flux concentrator and increases the fringing field significantly. This approach is called the metal-in-gap (MIG) design.

The highest-performance recording heads are constructed using thin films and photolithography. They have the advantage of great precision in layout, leading to extremely narrow pole tips, precise gap widths, and precise placement of the driving coils. Permalloy and related alloys are most commonly used at present, but soft amorphous alloys such as Co_{0.85}Nb_{0.08}Zr_{0.7} offer significant improvements with $B_{
m s}\sim 50\%$ greater than Permalloy. The resistivity of the amorphous alloys is in the range $\rho \sim 100 \ \mu\Omega$ -cm, about 5-fold higher than Permalloy, which reduces eddy current losses, allowing recording at higher frequencies. Further advantage can be obtained by using the recently developed nanocrystalline (grain size ~ 1 nm to 5 nm) alloys such as ${
m Fe_{0.92}Ta_{0.05}N_{0.03}},$ which have extremely high $B_{
m s}\sim$ 2.0 T and also have resistivities in the range of 100 $\mu\Omega$ -cm to 150 $\mu\Omega$ -cm. These materials are being vigorously developed for future generations of high-performance recording, especially hard disk drives.

Read Heads. The same magnetic structure that is used for magnetic recording can also be used for reading the recorded signal. The passage of recorded domains across the gap of the recording head will induce a small voltage on the driving coil, which is amplified and processed. Indeed, this inductive read head is the simplest and cheapest approach to magnetic recording. However, the signal level is very low and limits the performance of hard disk drives. The present generation of hard disk drives uses a separate magnetic structure (incorporated in a single read/write head) for reading the recorded magnetic signal. The sensor in this device is a magnetoresistive thin film made of Permalloy and biased with a dc current. External flux from the recording medium couples to the Permalloy film, rotating the magnetization with respect to the fixed direction of the dc current. This changes the resistance of the Permalloy (the so-called conventional or anisotropic magnetoresistance effect, AMR) and therefore the voltage developed across the device. The AMR effect is relatively small, about 5%, but is sufficient to deliver signal superior to that of an inductive head.

Superior performance can be obtained by incorporating materials that exhibit giant magnetoresistance. These can have responses that are about 10-fold higher than AMR materials. Socalled spin valves employ the same physical principle as GMR (namely, spin-dependent scattering) in a more highly controlled and responsive magnetic structure. The higher signal output of spin-valve read heads, in conjunction with careful redesign of the entire magnetic recording system (including media, head structure, electronics, signal processing, etc.), can lead to substantial increases in recording density.

Shields. Soft magnetic materials are also used to make magnetic shields, typically used to protect electronic components from magnetic interference or to contain the external field around a component that generates magnetic flux. An example of the former are shields for cathode-ray tubes, such as computer monitors, while an example of the latter are shields for speakers, such as "multimedia" speakers intended for placement close to a (unshielded) monitor. These shields are usually formed from Permalloy and related alloys. Often "Mumetal" is specified for these applications—this originally designated a particular Fe–Ni–Cu alloy but it is now used generically to refer to many high-permeability alloys. Note that RF shields (unlike dc magnetic shields) rely on eddy current screening and use high-conductivity paramagnetic metals such as Cu.

A related application is the use of materials that absorb RF energy. These are typically lossy ferrites and are used in the form of beads threaded on wires, where it is desired to suppress high-frequency signals. Manganese-zinc ferrites are generally used for this purpose, although nickel-zinc is used to obtain the highest cutoff frequencies. Lossy ferrites can also be used as an antiradar coating on military aircraft.

Hard (Permanent) Magnets

Permanent magnets are used in a wide variety of applications where a static magnetic field is desired. The dominant uses are in speakers and dc motors and as holding magnets. The field available from a given permanent magnet depends on the physical configuration but is limited to B_s , the saturation flux density in the optimum case. Specifically, for a toroidal part with a small air gap (see Fig. 10), the flux density in the gap will be B_s . For Fe this is $B_s = 2.15$ T, while for Fe_{0.6}Co_{0.4} it is $B_s = 2.43$ T (11, p. 190), the highest value for any known bulk material. In less optimum geometries, the available flux density can be greatly reduced, as determined by magnetostatics. For arbitrary-shaped parts, the usual approach is to employ finiteelement numerical calculations to infer the flux distribution.



Figure 10. Air gap in magnetic circuits. The gray regions represent permanent magnet material, with the direction of magnetization shown. The hatched region represents soft magnetic material, which is used to complete the magnetic circuit.

In general, where the design figure of merit is the flux available per unit volume of magnetic material, the corresponding figure of merit for the magnetic material is the energy product $(BH)_{\max}$ (i.e., the largest value measured at any point in the second quadrant [positive *B*, negative *H*] of the *B*-*H* curve). This is only a crude way to evaluate the usefulness of a material; nevertheless it is indicative and is commonly quoted by permanent magnet manufacturers. Four main types of permanent magnet materials are commonly used:

- Alnico, a class of Fe–Al–Ni–Co–Cu alloys. The properties of this material are entirely dependent on complex metallurgical processing and microstructural control. Commonly used Alnico materials have $(BH)_{\rm max} = 50 \times 10^3 \, {\rm J/m^3}$.
- Barium ferrite, typically BaO·(Fe₂O₃)₆, is the standard "ceramic" magnetic material. The typical value $(BH)_{max} = 25 \times 10^3 \text{ J/m}^3$ is smaller than that of Alnico, but the material is both lower density and cheaper to produce than Alnico and has almost entirely replaced Alnico in highly cost-sensitive applications. The high value of $(BH)_{max}$ in this and the following materials is due to the very high intrinsic anisotropy.
- Sm–Co is the standard high-performance "rare-earth" permanent magnet, with $(BH)_{max} = 160 \times 10^3 \, J/m^3$. The major disadvantage of this material is its cost.
- Nd-Fe-B, a more recent material, has an even higher value for $(BH)_{\rm max} = 320 \times 10^3 \, {\rm J/m^3}$ than Sm-Co, and it is less expensive. The major disadvantage of this material in some applications is that the $T_{\rm c}$ is somewhat low, $T_{\rm c} \sim 150^{\circ}{\rm C}$.

Loudspeakers have long been a dominant application for permanent magnetic materials. The permanent magnet is used to establish a magnetic field in an annular region in which the voice coil is mounted. When a current is driven through the voice coil, an axial force is produced, in accordance with the Lorentz relation, $F = ev \times B$, where F is the force on an electron, e is the charge on an electron, and v is the velocity of the electron. Motion of the voice coil is coupled to a speaker cone to move the air efficiently and thereby produce sound waves.

The energy product of a magnetic material is a good figure of merit for speaker applications, since for a given design, a higher-energy product will result in a higher flux density in the annular gap. Most loudspeakers are low-priced components, so the cost of the magnetic material is the other key factor. For this reason, barium-ferrite is the dominant material used. In some applications, such as high-performance earphones, the amount of magnetic material is small so materials cost is less critical. In the past, Sm-Co magnets have been used for these applications, though Nd-Fe-B magnets are now clearly the best overall choice.

The materials used for permanent magnets inevitably cost more than silicon iron, so large motors and generators always use soft magnetic materials wound with coils to create the required magnetic field. In small motors, the economics are dominated by the cost of fabrication: The small coils and fine tolerances needed for electromagnet motors outweigh the added cost of permanent magnetic materials. A vast number of small dc motors are produced for a very wide range of applications, from clock motors to the dozens of motors in modern automobiles used to drive windows, locks, seats, windshield wipers, and so on.

An economically important use of permanent magnets is in the low-tech application of holding magnets. These range from decorative magnets for holding notes to a refrigerator door to functional magnets for holding and sealing the refrigerator door shut to strong magnetic chucks for holding ferrous materials for machine-forming operations. In almost all cases cost is paramount, and barium ferrite is used. For some applications the ferrite powder is mixed with a polymer precursor, formed into a tape, and polymerized to form a flexible magnet, albeit with reduced net flux density and therefore reduced holding power.

Magnetic Recording Media—Intermediate Between Soft and Hard

Magnetic recording is a huge business, dominated by the hard disks and floppy disks pervasive in personal computers and by tape recording—audio, video, instrumentation, digital data storage, and so on. The media used in recording are magnetic materials that must have a relatively high coercive force so that they do not spontaneously demagnetize and lose information. But the coercive force cannot be much greater than about 100 kA/m because the leakage flux from the recording head is limited and must nevertheless be sufficient to saturate the medium.

The standard material used in tape and floppy-disk media is gamma iron oxide, γ -Fe₂O₃. It is moderately expensive to prepare (compared to conventional ferrites) because extremely reproducible and controllable properties are required. Acicular (needle-shaped) particles ~50 nm in diameter are prepared in order to obtain good recording characteristics. The coercivity of most tapes is about 20 kA/m to 30 kA/m. Recent highperformance formulations use cobalt-modified γ -Fe₂O₃, which has a thin cobalt-rich region on the surface of the particles. This material has an increased coercivity of about 50 kA/m and is routinely used for video tape. In the past, CrO₂ was used as a high-performance medium because it has a higher M_s than γ -Fe₂O₃ and can be prepared with a coercivity as high as 80 kA/m. However, it has a low T_c (only 130°C) and is relatively expensive, so it has been displaced by cobalt-modified γ -Fe₂O₃.

Hard disks used in digital recording are aluminum platters coated with paramagnetic Ni-P or Cr and then a recording medium such as Co-Cr. An extremely thin layer of C is usually then deposited along with an even smaller amount of lubricating fluid, in order to avoid catastrophic head contact with the medium ("head crashes"). The coercivity of hard disk media is in the range 60 kA/m to 100 kA/m, and the saturation magnetization is about 1000 kA/m.

For many years it was expected that magnetic bubble memory might find a role for data storage in computers. However, bubble memory is slow and expensive compared to hard disks and semiconductor random access memory (RAM). Its only advantages are that it is mechanically more robust than a harddisk system, and it is more radiation resistant than semiconductor RAM. Therefore, the only present use for bubble memory is in certain military applications.

Bubble memories store data in cylindrical domains, perpendicular to the surface, that are generated in liquid-phase epitaxy (LPE) grown garnet films. The films are designed to have a large uniaxial anisotropy perpendicular to the film plane and are chosen to meet a number of other criteria. The bubbles are moved around using a rotating external magnetic field created by a miniature electromagnet, and they are detected using a magnetoresistance bridge.

Finally, there is magneto-optic recording. In this scheme data are stored on a plastic disk coated with an amorphous metallic thin film such as Tb_{0.2}Fe_{0.8} or similar compositions doped with Dy and Co. They have a large uniaxial anisotropy, with an easy axis perpendicular to the plane of the film, so as with the garnet films designed for magnetic bubble applications, cylindrical domains are stable. Data are written by focusing a laser on the desired spot, which heats the films above its $T_{\rm ci} \sim 100 \delta {\rm C}$ to 150 $\delta {\rm C}$. If the film is exposed to a moderate magnetic field while it cools, the heated region will magnetize in the direction of the applied field. Thus alternating regions of, say, north-up and south-up can be written. The data are read with the same laser at lower power to avoid heating, using a polarizer to detect Faraday rotation (i.e., rotation of the polarization of light when it interacts with a magnetic material). This effect is known as Kerr rotation when it occurs on reflection from a metallic magnetic surface. The Kerr rotation in a magnetic material is in the opposite sense for regions magnetized north-up versus south-up. The maximum Kerr rotation in Tb-Fe films is rather small, $\sim 0.2^\circ$, which gives a low signal/noise ratio and correspondingly low data rate.

The data density in magneto-optic recording is comparable to that of a conventional CD-ROM but has the great advantage of being endlessly rewriteable. Magneto-optic drives are slower for writing data and more expensive than conventional hard drives, but they confer the advantage of cheap removable media and good archiveability and have found a small but significant market niche.

Miscellaneous

Along with the three conventional classes of applications for magnetic materials, there are a wide variety of specialized applications, too numerous to list exhaustively.

Nonreciprocal Materials. Some of the most interesting magnetic devices are based on the nonreciprocal propagation of UHF signals in insulating magnetic materials. The behavior is formally identical to the small optical Faraday rotation observed in some nonferromagnetic materials, but the effect in ferrites can be very large and is commonly used in microwave applications (for example in isolators and circulators).

The nonreciprocal phenomena are due to interaction of the incident radiation with the precessing electron spin (see MAG-NETIC RESONANCE). A particularly straightforward case arises when the incident microwaves are circularly polarized with a propagation vector parallel to the easy axis of the magnetic material and at a frequency equal to the natural precession frequency of the electron spins. Then, if the sense of the circular polarization is the same as that of the electron spin precession, energy is readily transferred to the spins and dissipated as loss. If the sense is opposite (corresponding to propagation in the opposite direction), then there is little interaction and the loss is minimized. It is easy to imagine an isolator based on the directionality of this phenomenon, though the practical design of this and other nonreciprocal microwave devices can be very complex. In general, a moderately large external biasing magnet is required to set the FMR frequency equal to the operating frequency (a larger field is required for a higher operating frequency).

Three classes of materials dominate the magnetic materials used for microwave applications. The figure of merit for microwave devices is usually proportional to $1/\Delta H$, where ΔH is the FMR linewidth.

- First, the garnet-structure ferrites exhibit the highest performance available because they have the lowest FMR linewidths: A typical value for polycrystalline ceramic yttrium iron garnet, YIG, is $\Delta H = 4000$ A/m. Single crystals with linewidths as low as 40 A/m have been reported. Single crystals are relatively expensive but are usually the best choice at low frequencies.
- Second, the spinel ferrites are useful in a number of cases. Nickel zinc ferrite is particularly useful at high powers because it has a higher T_c than garnets, and it is often used in the range above 10 GHz. Manganese-magnesium ferrites are used in the range of 5 GHz to 10 GHz because their lower saturation magnetization allows biasing at lower field.
- Third, the Z-type hexagonal ferrites have a hard axis normal to the basal plane, so the need for external biasing is reduced. They require expensive processing to produce oriented, high-quality ceramics. They are most useful for mm-wave applications.

In general, the key issues in developing materials for microwave applications are related to processing and microstructure control rather than exploring new compositions. Small grain size is important to minimize losses from domain-walk resonance, to maximize the resistivity, and to make stronger materials that resist the thermal stresses caused by high-power operation. Obtaining a high density is always important, but densification usually is accompanied by grain growth. The art of designing or choosing a microwave magnetic material is in balancing these conflicting requirements.

Ferrofluids. Ferrofluids are liquid suspensions of magnetic particles coated to avoid agglomeration. Typically the liquid is a hydrocarbon or silicone, and the magnetic particles are ferrites, but a wide range of combinations is possible. The behavior of ferrofluids is unique and scientifically interesting, and ferrofluids are commercially used for such diverse applications as gas-tight seals for rotary shafts, heat transfer agents for loud-speaker voice coils, and damping systems.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Plato, in The Dialogs of Plato, Trans. B. Jowett, Great Books of the Western World, Vol. 7, Chicago: Benton, 1952, p. 144.
- 2. W. Gilbert, *De Magnete*, P. F. Mottelay (trans.), Mineola, NY: Dover, 1958.
- 3. J. D. Jackson, Classical Electrodynamics, New York: Wiley, 1962.
- 4. R. L. Carlin, Magnetochemistry, Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1986, p. 3.
- E. H. Brandt, Science, 243: 349–355, 1989; and Physics World, 10 (4): 23–24, 1997.
- K. Binder and A. P. Young, Spin glasses: Experimental facts, theoretical concepts, and open questions, *Rev. Mod. Physics*, 58: 801– 976, 1986.
- 7. A. P. Ramirez, Ann. Rev. Mater. Sci., 24: 453-480, 1994.

- R. B. van Dover et al., Intrinsic anisotropy of Tb—Fe films prepared by magnetron co-sputtering, J. Appl. Phys., 57: 3897-3899, 1985.
- 9. M. N. Baibich et al., Phys. Rev. Lett., 61: 2472-2475, 1988.
- S. S. P. Parkin, Giant magnetoresistance in magnetic nanostructures, Ann. Rev. Mater. Sci., 25: 357-388, 1995.
- 11. R. M. Bozorth, Ferromagnetism, New York: Van Nostrand, 1951.

Reading List

- R. M. Bozorth, Ferromagnetism, New York: Van Nostrand, 1951.
- F. N. Bradley, Materials for Magnetic Functions, New York: Hayden, 1971.
- F. Brailsford, *Physical Principles of Magnetism*, New York: Van Nostrand, 1966.
- P. Campbell, Permanent Magnetic Materials and Their Applications, Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press, 1994.
- C-W. Chen, Soft Magnetic Materials, Amsterdam: North Holland, 1977, reprinted by Dover, New York, 1986.
- S. Chikazumi and S. H. Charap, Physics of Magnetism, Malabar, FL: Krieger, 1964.
- B. D. Cullity, Introduction to Magnetic Materials, Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley, 1972.
- D. Jiles, Introduction to Magnetism and Magnetic Materials, London: Chapman and Hall, 1991.
- M. M. Schieber, Experimental Magnetochemistry, New York: Wiley, 1967.
- J. Smit and H. P. J. Wijn, Ferrites, New York: Wiley, 1959.

ROBERT B. VAN DOVER Bell Labs, Lucent Technologies

MAGNETIC NOISE, BARKHAUSEN EFFECT

The change of the magnetic state of a ferro- or ferrimagnetic body under the effect of a slowly changing externally applied magnetic field is a complex process, involving reversible and irreversible changes of the magnetization. Due to irreversible magnetization processes, any change of the magnetic state is accompanied by losses, manifested in the presence of the magnetic hysteresis. The reason for the losses is that any real material has a defect structure, responsible for the details of the hysteresis loop. The magnetization changes discontinuously, by jumps from defect to defect, giving rise to magnetic noise, which can be made audible through a headphone. This process and the corresponding noise is named after its discoverer, H. Barkhausen (1919) as *Barkhausen jumps* and *Barkhausen noise*.

The magnetization process (M) of a ferromagnetic (or ferrimagnetic) body is represented by a nonlinear and multivalued function of the applied magnetic field (H), the magnetic hysteresis loop. Figure 1 shows the magnetic hysteresis loop of a magnetic composite of nanometer size iron particles embedded in a nonmagnetic ZnO matrix. At any given temperature the maximum attainable magnetization is called the saturation, or spontaneous magnetization, M_s . Reducing the magnetic field from saturation to H = 0 brings the magnetic body to the remanent state with the remanent magnetization (or remanence) of M_r . Further reducing the field in the negative direction down to the coercive field (coercivity), at $-H = -H_c$, the magnetization will be reduced to M = 0.



Figure 1. Magnetic hysteresis loop of a nanocomposite of iron in ZnO. M_s saturation magnetization, M_r remanent magnetization, H_c coercivity (M. Pardavi-Horvath, unpublished data).

The equilibrium state of the magnetization corresponds to the minimum of the free energy of the magnetic material. The most important contributions to the free energy are due to (1) the quantum mechanical exchange energy, responsible for the collective ordering of the individual spin magnetic moments of the electrons; (2) the magnetocrystalline anisotropy energy, favoring some crystalline directions for the magnetization direction with respect to others, giving rise to the easy and hard directions of magnetization; (3) magnetostrictive stresses, that is, the length change of a magnetic material in the presence of mechanical stress; (4) the Zeeman energy of the interaction with the externally applied magnetic field(s); (5) the magnetostatic energy due to the creation of internal and external demagnetizing fields, depending on the shape and size of the magnetic body; and (6) the energy of interaction of the magnetization with defects in the magnetic body. Due to (6) the details of the magnetization curve of two apparently similar pieces of the same magnetic material might differ substantially. In the absence of any applied magnetic field, the equilibrium state of a magnetic body would be that of zero magnetization. The existence of the remanent magnetization, the basis of the operation of any permanent magnet or magnetic recording device, is the result of the defect structure in the material, and/or shape and size distribution of the particles or grains. These features are controlled by the technology of manufacturing the material. However, any magnetic material can be brought to the M = 0 state in H = 0, by demagnetizing it. The most frequent process of demagnetization is to apply an ac magnetic field of an amplitude large enough to saturate the material, and slowly and gradually reduce the amplitude to zero.

In the demagnetized state the distribution of the magnetization inside of the magnetic body is nonuniform. The magnetic structure consists of domains, small regions of different magnetization direction (1). The vectorial sum of all of the domain magnetizations is zero in the absence of any applied magnetic field. The geometry and the size of the domain structure is governed by the interactions, delineated previously. The domain structure can be observed by a number of techniques, including magnetic force microscopy, Lorentz electron microscopy, or in polarized light, utilizing the magneto-optic Faraday or Kerr effects. In some cases the domain structure can be very simple, consisting of only two sets of domains, magnetized "up" and "down," as in the case of a 5 μ m thin, single crystalline ferri-



Figure 2. Magnetic domain structure in H = 0 applied magnetic field of a defect-free 5 μ m thin single crystalline yttrium iron garnet film. The magneto-optic contrast is due to the opposite direction of the magnetization in black-and-white domains with respect to the surface normal. The periodicity of the domain structure in 10 μ m (Microphotograph in polarized light).

magnetic garnet sample, a microphotograph of which, taken in polarized light via the magneto-optic Faraday effect, is shown in Fig. 2. The areas of dark and light contrast correspond to the directions of the magnetization perpendicular to the sample surface, directed "downward" and "upward," respectively. In H = 0 the two regions have equal volumes, such that the total magnetization M = 0. The boundary line between the domains is the domain wall (DW), where the direction of the magnetization is changing gradually between the two domains whose magnetization directions differ by 180°. The size and shape of the domains and the position of the DWs correspond to the minimum free energy configuration. In a flawless material the domain structure is very regular by crystal symmetry, as seen in Fig. 2 for a single crystal grown along the [111] crystalline direction. The threefold symmetry of that axis is evident.

Upon applying an external magnetic field to a previously demagnetized magnetic body, its magnetization follows the initial (virgin) magnetization curve. Assuming a perfectly homogeneous, flawless material without any preferred axis, the process of magnetization change might proceed reversibly, with no losses involved (1,2). In such a case, the field will exert a force on the domain magnetizations and increase the magnetizations of the domains lying near to the field direction by increasing their volume. This magnetization change happens via the motion of the DWs to new positions. This wall motion is reversible up to a certain magnetic field value and if the field is reduced to zero, the walls move back to their original position and M returns to zero $(M_r = 0)$ in H = 0. In an ideally perfect material this reversible wall motion would dominate the magnetization process up to magnetic field values near to saturation. Then the magnetization vectors of the remaining domains would start turning into the direction of the field, completing the magnetization process by rotation. This magnetization process is illustrated in Fig. 3. For a thin slab of a magnetic material, having an easy axis of the magnetization along the side of slab, the magnetic field is applied along this easy axis.

In any real material there are always microstructural defects: inclusions of foreign phases, voids, dislocations, inhomogeneous stresses, irregular surfaces and interfaces, grain boundaries, cracks, and so on, such that the free energy of the material is not uniform over the body, and the conditions for



Figure 3. Magnetization processes by wall motion and rotation. (a) Demagnetized state: H = 0, M = 0; (b) Irreversible wall motion: H > 0, domains having favorable magnetization direction with respect to the applied magnetic field are growing; (c) The magnetization in domains with unfavorable direction is rotating toward the magnetic field direction; (d) Saturation: domains disappeared, magnetization aligned with the applied field.

magnetization change will vary locally. The free energy might have local minima (or maxima) at some defects, where the DWs will be pinned. They can only move and increase (decrease) the magnetization when the magnetic field changes enough to provide a force sufficient to overcome the energy barriers between the defects. The domain wall will then discontinuously jump from one pinned position to another. The irreversible processes of discontinuous DW displacement are called Barkhausen jumps. In a macroscopic body, the defects are distributed more or less randomly in space and energy. When the magnetic field reaches the critical value for the irreversible DW motion of the weakest defect, $H = H_{cr}$, the wall will move until it reaches the next defect, where it will be pinned again. Upon increasing the field there might be another DW pinned at another defect, having a critical field equal to the applied field, and now that wall will jump to the next available energy minimum, and it will be pinned at the next defect. Depending on the density of the defects and the strength of the interaction between defects and DWs, it might happen that a wall will be pinned by many similar defects and it will move, breaking away from many defects simultaneously, giving rise to a large magnetization jump. Figure 4 shows these two different scenarios for Barkhausen jumps. Figure 5 shows strong DW pinning at inclusions in a garnet crystal, near magnetic saturation. The applied field is high enough to reduce the black domains to a very small area, but it is not enough to overcome H_{cr} of the inclusions.

A finite size ferromagnetic material is usually broken into many magnetic domains. Any material, including the demagnetized state, is not, in general, a unique state, as there is a very large number of possible domain arrangements summing to a particular M value. Consequently, the sequence of the Barkhausen jumps is probabilistic. Moreover, the critical field for a jump depends not only on the strength of the actual defect-DW interaction, but on the magnetic state of the



Figure 4. Magnetization change by irreversible wall motion: Barkhausen jumps of domain walls (lines) pinned at defects (dots). (a) Wall pinned at many defects, simultaneous breakaway with a large magnetization jump. (b) Domain wall motion by individual jumps from defect to defect. 1 is the original DW position in H = 0; 2 is the DW position in $H > H_{cr}$.

neighboring domains too. These domains, like small magnets, create their own magnetic fields at the site of their neighbors (magnetostatic, dipole fields). Depending on the direction of the magnetization of a given domain, it can help or prevent the externally applied magnetic field in supplying the energy for the jump. This energy, needed to overcome the barriers caused by the defects, results in hysteresis losses.

The discrete and irregular nature of the magnetization process causes hysteresis loss and noise in magnetic devices. To reduce these losses, the material should be uniform. The losses can be reduced, even in the presence of a large defect density, if the defects are uniformly distributed and/or they interact very weakly with the moving DWs. In this case the DWs are moving smoothly across the material, with no sudden jumps in the magnetization. The other limiting case is when the material has a very narrow distribution of defects yielding a rectangular hysteresis loop. In contrast, for a good permanent magnet very active and strong pinning centers have to be created to keep the magnetization.



Figure 5. Strong domain wall pinning at inclusions in an epitaxial garnet crystal in applied magnetic field near to saturation, where the magnetization $M = M_{\rm up} - M_{\rm down} \le M_{\rm s}$. The black stripe domains correspond to $M_{\rm down}$. Upon applying a magnetic field $H \gg H_c$, most of the walls disappear, only those pinned by the strongest defects (black dots) are left.

EQUILIBRIUM MAGNETIZATION DISTRIBUTION

Domains and Domain Walls

The equilibrium state of the macroscopic magnetization of any magnetic body is the state with minimum total free energy (1–5). The term in the free energy responsible for the existence of ordered magnetic states is the exchange interaction between the electrons' magnetic moments. The magnitude of the atomic magnetic moments is constant at a given temperature. The atomic magnetic moments are rendered parallel (antiparallel) to each other due to the exchange interaction, giving rise to ferromagnetic (antiferromagnetic, ferrimagnetic) order. The thermal energy tends to randomize the direction of the atomic magnetic moments, and at the Curie temperature, T_c , it overcomes the exchange energy, and there is no magnetic order above T_c . The magnitude of T_c is proportional to A, the exchange constant, characterizing the strength of the exchange interaction. For iron, $A = 1.49 \times 10^{-11}$ J/m.

The origin of magnetocrystalline anisotropy energy is the interaction between crystalline electric fields and atomic magnetic moments (spin-orbit coupling), rendering these moments parallel to certain, easy crystallographic directions. The simplest form of the magnetocrystalline anisotropy is the uniaxial anisotropy, with one easy axis. The anisotropy energy density can be characterized by a single anisotropy constant K_u . For the hexagonal, uniaxial cobalt at room temperature $K_u = 4.1 \times 10^5 \text{ J/m}^3$. For cubic crystals the anisotropy is weaker and characterized by two constants, K_1 and K_2 , where usually $K_2 \ll K_1$. For iron $K_1 = 4.8 \times 10^4 \text{ J/m}^3$.

In the absence of an applied magnetic field, the equilibrium state of the distribution of the atomic moments can be found from the minimalization of the total energy, that is, it is determined by the competition of the anisotropy and exchange energies, giving rise to the magnetic domain structure. The change of the magnetization direction between adjacent domains is not abrupt, because it would require a large investment of energy against the exchange energy. However, if the transition is very broad then many magnetic moments would be along unfavorable directions from the point of view of anisotropy energy. The result is the minimum energy situation with a formation of a DW of width:

$$\delta_{\rm w} = \pi \sqrt{A/K}$$

To create a DW, a new, magnetic surface has to be formed. This surface energy of the DW energy is given by:

$$\gamma_{\rm w} = 4\sqrt{AK}$$

There are other contributions to the free energy of a magnetized body, which have to be taken into account when calculating the distribution of the magnetization. These are the magnetostrictive stresses, the Zeeman energy of the interaction with applied magnetic field, and the magnetostatic energy due to production of demagnetizing fields, depending on the shape and size of the magnetic body.

The total magnetization of the body is the vector sum of the domain magnetizations, $\mathbf{M} = \Sigma \mathbf{m}_i \mathbf{v}_i$, where \mathbf{m}_i is the magnetization vector in each domain directed along ϕ_i with respect to field direction, and v_i is the volume of the *i*th domain. A magnetic material is saturated when all the atomic magnetization

vectors are parallel to the applied magnetic field $(e_i = \cos \phi_i = 0)$, that is, all the domain magnetizations are turned into the field direction $M = M_s$. (See Fig. 3.) Before saturation any change of the total magnetization can be described by:

$$\delta \boldsymbol{M} = \delta \sum \boldsymbol{m}_i v_i = \sum \boldsymbol{e}_i \delta |m_i| + \sum \boldsymbol{e}_i \delta v_i + \sum v_i |m_i| \delta \boldsymbol{e}_i$$

The first term is zero because the magnitude of the magnetic moments is constant; the second term describes the change of the volume of the domains via DW motion, and the third term is the contribution of the rotation of the magnetization angle ϕ_{i} , inside the domains to the change the magnetization.

DOMAIN WALL—DEFECT INTERACTION

Domain Wall Pinning Coercivity

The equilibrium magnetization distribution in any H field is expected to be determined by the minimum energy configuration, when all the contributing energies are taken into account. In a perfectly uniform material the DW energy is the same everywhere and the position and the distance between the DWs is uniform. However, real materials are not uniform. Material properties differ from point to point, and as a consequence, the material constants A and K are not constants, but they are functions of the position r: A(r) and K(r). The result is that at some sites the DW energy is locally lowered (or increased) and extra energy is needed to move the wall from that position, that is, to change the magnetization. In a one-dimensional case, the energy needed to move a DW of volume v ($v = hL\delta_w$, height h, length L, width δ_w , specific DW energy γ_w) by dx has to be compensated by the change of the total DW energy (5,6):

$$2HMdx = d(v\gamma_w)$$

= $\gamma_w dv + vd(\gamma_w) \simeq \gamma_w d(hL\delta_w) + vd\sqrt{A(x)K(x)}$

The critical field for the start of the motion of a given DW, that is, the first Barkhausen jump, is:

$$H_{\rm cr} = \frac{1}{2M_{\rm s}} \frac{d(v\gamma_{\rm w})}{dx}$$

For the whole material, the average critical field, that is, the coercive force of the start of the DW motion, for the case when the DW volume remains constant, is given by the rms value of the critical fields of all defects:

$$H_{
m c}=\overline{H_{
m cr}^2}^{1/2}=rac{1}{2\hbar LM_{
m s}}\overline{(d\gamma_{
m w}/dx)^2}^{1/2}$$

Thus the necessary condition for the occurrence of Barkhausen jumps is the presence of a gradient of the DW energy. Figure 6 shows a one-dimensional sketch of the energy landscape of a magnetic body, due to the gradient of the DW energy. The DW is located in an energy minimum, pinned by the defect. Upon reaching the critical field of interaction with a defect, the DW breaks away, jumping to a new metastable equilibrium position. The DW can freely move and the magnetization changes continuously if the defects along its path are weaker than the previous maximum in the gradient. The variation of the DW volume across the surface might have a significant contribution



Figure 6. One-dimensional variations of the DW energy landscape of a magnetic body due to the position dependence of anisotropy and exchange energies, caused by localized crystalline defects. Arrows denote the jump of the domain walls to the next position of equal energy.

to hysteresis losses due to surface roughness effects, as in the case of soft magnetic thin films in recording heads (6).

The change of the DW energy due to local variations of anisotrophy and exchange energy causes DW pinning at localized defects. These defects are responsible for Barkhausen jumps and hysteresis losses. During the magnetization process the energy from the applied magnetic field has to overcome the energy of interaction of the moving domain wall with defects in the magnetic body. Due to the statistical nature of the defect distribution, the magnetization curve of two apparently similar pieces of the same magnetic material might differ substantially. depending on the technology of production. Figure 7 is a measured hysteresis loop of 25 quasi-identical magnetic garnet particles. Each particle is seen to be magnetized at different fields, illustrating the distribution of critical fields (7). The mean value of the critical fields for DW motion is scaled with the coercivity of the material. However, for the macroscopic critical field, the coercivity is a statistical parameter, and it has a certain distribution and standard deviation. The standard deviation of the critical field distribution characterizes the spectrum of the



Figure 7. Measured hysteresis loop of 25 quasi-identical magnetic garnet particles, illustrating the sequence of Barkhausen jumps corresponding to the distribution of critical fields of individual particles. (From Ref. 8.)

defects based on the strength of DW-defect interaction. More accurate, statistical models, given in Ref. 5, take into account that the process of pinning/depinning takes place only over a distance of one domain width w_d , so there will be a $\ln(w_d/\delta_w)$ factor in all formulas for DW pinning. If the defect size is very small (10^{-7} m) compared to the DW width, then the moving DW averages out the defect potential, and there is no irreversible magnetization and hysteresis loss associated with a very fine microstructure. On the other hand, when the defects are very large compared to δ_w , then the energy associated with the inclusions will be reduced due to the presence of secondary domain structure and the associated discontinuous DW motion will be negligibly small and the irreversible magnetization losses will be reduced.

Inhomogeneous Stress Fields

One of the main contributors to Barkhausen noise is related to the stress sensitivity of magnetic materials. The magnetoelastic behavior is characterized by the magnetostrictive strain $\lambda = dl/l$, the relative shape and size change of a magnetized body upon change of the magnetization, or vice versa the change of magnetization upon deformation (1, 5). For single crystals the strain might be different in different crystallographic $\{hkl\}$ directions, with different λ_{hkl} . For polycrystalline materials the average value of λ is used. For most of the magnetic materials $\lambda \cong 10^{-5}$ to 10^{-6} . Elastic stresses σ couple to magnetostriction causing an effective stress-induced anisotropy of the material:

$$K_{\sigma}=-rac{3}{2}\lambda\sigma\cos^{2}\phi$$

where ϕ is the direction of the stress relative to the magnetization. The total anisotropy of the magnetic body is the sum of the magneto-crystalline and stress-induced parts: $K = K_u + K_\sigma$. Localized fluctuations of the internal stresses $\sigma(\mathbf{r})$ cause fluctuations in the DW energy through $K(\mathbf{r})$ and contribute to the coercivity, that is, to the critical fields for Barkhausen jumps.

If there are long range one-dimensional stress fluctuations $\sigma(\mathbf{x})$ in the material, with an average spatial periodicity (wavelength) A, large compared to the DW width, then the DW energy will fluctuate as

$$\gamma_{\rm w} = 4\sqrt{A[K_{\rm u} + (3/2)\lambda\sigma(x)]}$$

causing a critical field for the DW motion of:

$$H_{\rm er}^{\sigma} = \frac{3\lambda\sigma_{\rm w}(x)}{4M_{\rm s}}\frac{d\sigma(x)}{dx}$$

This is the basic equation of the stress theory of Barkhausen jumps and coercivity. If $\sigma(x)$ is known then H_{cr} can be calculated.

Assuming a quasi-sinusoidal stress field with an amplitude of $(\sigma_0 \pm \Delta \sigma/2)$ in the form of

$$\sigma(x) = \sigma_0 + \frac{\Delta\sigma}{2}\sin(2\pi x/\Lambda)$$



Figure 8. Repulsion of domain walls in a magnetic garnet material by the stress fields of triangular and hexagonal Ir inclusion, originating in the nonmagnetic substrate. The inclusion's stress field penetrates the magnetic layer and interacts with the domain walls. The sample is near saturation, only the thin black domain remains due to the very strong interaction with the stress field.

the critical field for the start of the DW motion is given by

$$H_{
m cr}^{\sigma}=prac{\lambda \overline{|\sigma_i|}}{2M_{
m s}}$$

where p depends on the ratio of σ_w/Λ . Although the usual effect of the stress fields of the defects is that the anisotropy of the material is locally reduced, thus creating an effective energy well for the DW, it was demonstrated that it is possible to have anisotropy barriers with locally higher DW energy, preventing the change of the magnetization very efficiently (8). Figure 8 shows such a case, where the stress field from an inclusion in the nonmagnetic substrate penetrates a magnetic crystal and the DWs are repulsed by both stress fields, preventing saturation of the magnetization at fields much higher than the theoretical saturation field.

Domain Wall Interaction with Dislocations

A special case of the stress effects on magnetization processes is due to the presence of dislocations (9,10,11,12,13,14). Plastic deformation produces defects, such as dislocations, stacking faults, and point defects, each associated with an internal stress field, which will affect the Barkhausen noise. For low deformation the number of dislocations increases linearly with shear stress τ , and depends on the material's shear modulus G and the magnitude of the Burgers vector b characterizing the dislocation. The moving DW interacts with the stress field of the dislocation, depending on the direction and the distance between them. The dislocation exerts a force f upon the DW according to its line element dI and the magnetostrictive stress tensor σ of the DW: $f = -dI \times \sigma b$. The calculation of this interaction for a general case is not trivial.

For a simple case of a 180° DW, lying in the x-y plane and a dislocation running parallel to the plane of the DW, the geometry shown in Fig. 9, the critical field is calculated in Ref. 10.



Figure 9. Geometry of the DW dislocation interaction. M_s saturation magnetization, δ_w DW width, V Burger's vector of the dislocation.

For the simple case of the change of the magnetization across the DW $\phi = \pi / \delta_w$, $\theta = 0$. The edge and screw components of the dislocations are $b\sin \alpha$ and $b\cos \alpha$. For an edge dislocation $\alpha = \omega = 90^{\circ}$, for a screw dislocation $\alpha = 0$. For a dislocation running parallel to the x axis $\epsilon = 0$. The angle between b and the z axis is ω . The component of the force f_z is given as

$$f_z = (3/2)Gb\lambda(\sin 2\phi \cos \alpha + 2\sin^2 \phi \sin \omega \sin \alpha)$$

The DW interacts with the dislocation only as long as the dislocation is inside of the wall, because $f_z = 0$ for $\phi = 0$, consequently, $f_{max} = (3/2) Gb\lambda$. To move the DW by dz, dW = f dz work should be performed. The energy necessary to get the whole DW over the single dislocation barrier is W = (3/2) $Gb\sigma_w\lambda$. The critical field for the DW motion from a single straight edge dislocation is:

$$H_{\rm er}^{\rm d} = (3/2M_{\rm s})Gb\lambda$$

For a dislocation density of $N \text{ m}^{-2} H_{cr}$ will be proportional to $N^{1/2}$, that is, the linear defect density.

In some cases the measured H_{cr} is much higher than the expected from the above equation. This is due to the fact that, depending on material parameters, the DW might be elastically deformed, that is, stretched between two dislocations before breaking free (1,5,15). Assuming that the amplitude of DW bulging is one-quarter of the distance between dislocations, the critical field for the DW jump is:

$$H_{
m cr}^{
m d}=\sqrt{2N}\gamma_{
m w}/M_{
m s}$$

Domain Wall Pinning at Inclusions and Voids

In developing new magnetic materials the control of the microstructure is of primary importance. Nonmagnetic grain boundaries are essential for magnetic recording media in decreasing the exchange coupling between grains; the properties of permanent magnets are defined through inclusions of phases with magnetic properties different from that of the matrix, while soft magnetic materials should be as homogenous as possible. In case of nonmagnetic inclusions or voids, the DW is pinned because the local DW energy is reduced by the missing volume when the DW includes the inclusion or void. At the same time, depending on the size of the defects, there will be free magnetic poles on the surface of the inclusions and voids, producing demagnetizing (stray) fields with a significant energy contribution (10,16,17,18,19).

Small inclusions, $d \ll \delta_{w^*}$ When a spherical inclusion of size d, volume $v = \pi d^3/6$, is located outside of the DW it behaves like a dipole, having a dipole energy of $W_D \approx (1/3) M_s^2 v$. If it is inside of the DW, then it behaves as a quadrupole, and $W_Q = W_D/2$. If the interaction depends only on the distance between the inclusion (or void) and DW, then $d\gamma_w/dx \approx d^3\gamma_w/\delta^2_w$, and the critical field for the start of the DW motion, due to the volume effect for $d \ll \delta_w$ is given by (10):

$$H_{\rm er}^{\rm i} = \frac{2.8\gamma_{\rm w}}{M_{\rm s}w} \left[\frac{d}{\delta_{\rm w}}\right]^{3/2} v^{1/2} \left[\ln\frac{2w}{\delta_{\rm w}}\right]^{1/2}$$

The contribution due to the demagnetizing field effects:

$$H_{
m cr}^{
m D} = rac{2.8 M_{
m s} d^{7/2}}{w \delta_{
m w}^{5/2}} v^{1/2} [\ln(2w/\delta_{
m w})]^{1/2}$$

The critical fields H_{cr}^i and H_{cr}^D are comparable when $d \approx \delta_w/4$.

Large Inclusions, $d \gg \delta_w$

For large inclusions there would be a very large demagnetizing field contribution due to the strong dependence on the size of the inclusions, which is disadvantageous from the point of view of energy minimalization. The consequence is that a wedgeshaped secondary domain structure is developed around large inclusions to dilute the density of free poles over a larger surface of the new DWs. The irreversible motion of the DW starts before it would be completely torn off the inclusion, at a field:

$$H_{\rm cr}^{\rm I} = \gamma_{\rm w} v^{2/3} / (2M_{\rm s}d)$$

The theory of inclusions was originally developed for spherical inclusions. The case of elliptical inclusions was treated in Refs. 18 and 19, showing that the strongest demagnetizing field effects are due to flat inclusions lying perpendicular to the plane of the DW. The critical field is for the case of extended planar inclusions, width d, including magnetic inclusions, H_{er} depends on the relative magnitude of the anisotropy and exchange constants of the two materials (A and A', and K and K'), and it is given in Ref. 20:

$$egin{aligned} H^{
m i}_{
m cr} &= rac{2Kd}{3^{3/2}M_{
m s}\delta_{
m w}}[A/A'-K'/K], & ext{for } d \ll \delta_{
m w} \ H^{
m i}_{
m cr} &= rac{KA'}{2M_{
m s}A}[A/A'-K'/K], & ext{for } d \gg \delta_{
m w} \end{aligned}$$

The calculation of critical fields can be solved analytically for simple cases only (21,22,23). Numerical methods of micromagnetism are very powerful in calculating the critical fields for DW pinning for any geometry and combination of defects. The most cumbersome part of the calculation, the magnetostatic fields due to the nonzero divergence of magnetization at the defects, can be handled easily by numerical methods. Details of the pinning process can be revealed by these methods, like the repulsion of the approaching DW by the dipole field of small inclusions in high magnetization materials (24,25). Figure 5 shows the domain structure of a garnet single crystal in $H \gg$ H_c , near to saturation, where the strongest defects keep the last DWs pinned (26,27,28).

IRREVERSIBLE MAGNETIZATION PROCESSES

In a ferromagnet with a domain structure irreversible magnetization takes place by DW motion, due to the sudden changes of the magnetization as the applied magnetic field reaches the critical field of depinning a DW from a defect, as given in the previous section. On reducing the size of the magnetic body down to the typical size of a single domain, no DW can be formed and, consequently, there is no DW motion, and no irreversible losses associated with it. However, there are still irreversible magnetization changes due to the sudden rotation of the magnetic moment of the single-domain particles at the switching field of the particle. The sequence of individual rotation events of particle magnetizations gives rise to the hysteresis loops of particulate materials, usually described by Preisach models (1,7,29). The energy barrier for magnetization switching is related to the effective anisotropy field of the particles: $H_{\rm cr}^{\rm rot} = 2 K_{\rm eff}/M_s$, a fairly large value. These irreversible wall motion or rotational magnetization processes are the cause for the hysteresis losses. The measure of the energy loss associated with the hysteresis can be determined from the area under the hysteresis loop:

$$W_{
m H}=\oint\limits_{
m loop \ area}HdM$$

The loss associated with an individual Barkhausen jump $dW_{\rm B}$ is determined in a similar way, by the area of the minor loop of one jump. Integrating over all individual jumps gives the total loss, $W_{\rm H}$.

The shape of the hysteresis loop is expected to be determined by the sequential events of depinning the DWs from the defects. or the sequence of the individual switching events of particles by rotation. The sequence would depend only on the strength of the interaction between a defect and a DW. In this case the shape of the hysteresis loop would be reproducible and no random noise would be associated with the magnetization process. At the absolute zero of temperature T = 0 K, with no interaction between the particles, this could be a valid assumption. However, the shape of the hysteresis loop and the associated losses are influenced by several other irreversible processes. First of all, at *finite temperatures* temperature fluctuations add a random noise to the magnetization process, randomly raising or decreasing the energy barriers what the moving DW should overcome in order to change the magnetization (30,31). Moreover, the height of the barrier, that is, the strength of the interaction between the DW and the defect, might depend on the temperature itself.

At any given temperature if one waits long enough there will be a finite probability that a temperature fluctuation appears, large enough to push the DW over the next barriers. This characteristic time delay between an instantaneous change in the applied field and the subsequent change of the magnetization is the magnetic aftereffect (4,30). The higher the temperature the more effective is the assistance of temperature fluctuations. The slower the change of the field, the more chance the DW has to jump over the energy barrier, waiting for the moment of the temperature fluctuation assisted decrease in the energy barrier. The critical field of the start of the DW motion at one given defect depends on the temperature and time: $H_{\rm cr} =$ $H_{\rm cr}(T, t)$. As a result, the faster the rate of change of the field, the larger the field needed to change the magnetization, that is, the coercivity H_c is increasing with frequency. The defect-DW interaction is influenced by the aftereffect, leading to an apparent frequency dependence.

Another effect that can't be neglected is the shape and size dependence of the magnetization curve. If a magnetic body of finite size is magnetized, free magnetic poles occur on the surface, producing demagnetizing field, H_d , which opposes the direction of the magnetization. The demagnetizing field is proportional to the magnetization, $H_d = -NM$, where N is the demagnetizing factor (1,2,32). When the magnetization changes in a small region of the body, the demagnetizing field changes too, and the slope of the hysteresis loops changes, depending on the demagnetizing factor and the permeability $\mu = dB/dH =$ $d(\mu_0 H + M)/dH$. This change causes an apparent change in the magnetization at a given applied field. A more serious problem is that the magnetic body is not homogeneously magnetized. The direction and the magnitude of the domain magnetizations vary, and the permeability is not a well-defined quantity. The effect of the sample's shape and size makes the comparison of experimental data very difficult.

Eddy current losses can't be neglected in the case of ac magnetization processes of metallic magnets. When the magnetization is changed in a conductor, eddy currents and, associated with it, a time-dependent magnetic induction B(t) is produced. Integrating B(t) over the sample surface, the change of the flux in time, that is, the voltage induced by the eddy current is obtained. Due to interference from this eddy-current induced signal, the measurement of the Barkhausen noise in metallic magnets is not a simple task (33).

BARKHAUSEN NOISE

Any discontinuous, sudden change of the magnetization in a slowly changing magnetic field, due to the irreversible breakaway of a DW from a pinning center or an irreversible act of rotation, induces a voltage spike in a coil surrounding the specimen. The sequence of these pulses is the Barkhausen noise. The pulses are characterized by their number in the applied field interval, magnitude of the induced voltage, width of the pulse, and the integrated voltage, the *jumpsum*. The change of the magnetization during one jump is related to the integral under the area of the resultant pulse. The steepest part of the hysteresis loop, around the coercivity H_c contains the largest number and highest amplitude pulses. The defect structure influences both mechanical and magnetic properties of the materials. The distribution of jump size, shape, duration, and the power spectrum of the Barkhausen noise is directly related to the microstructure of the magnetic material, and carries very important information for nondestructive testing. Figure 10 shows the applied magnetic field dependence of the Barkhausen noise data for a steel specimen in terms of pulse heights of the induced voltage, and the integrated voltage (jumpsum), which is related to the magnetization (33).

Stress Effects

The defect-DW interaction is very sensitive to the stress due to stress-induced anisotropy in materials with finite



Figure 10. Barkhausen jump statistics of a low carbon steel specimen, and the integrated jumpsum signal. The inset is the measured signal at higher magnification. (Courtesy of L. J. Swartzendruber, NIST, unpublished data.)

magnetostriction. Upon an application of stress the DW energy landscape and the critical field for individual DW jumps change and, as a result, the shape of the hysteresis loop and the permeability change with stress as well. After proper calibration, and over a wide range of stress, the Barkhausen noise can often be used as a measure of the strain state of the material (34,35).

In materials with strong uniaxial anisotropy, the equilibrium domain structure is relatively simple. In a stressed long wire or ribbon, domain magnetizations will be aligned along the long axis and the magnetization process is dominated by one huge Barkhausen jump. The hysteresis loop of such a material is nearly square. For a wire with large magnetostriction, $\lambda > 0$, under tensile stress σ along the axis, there is a stress-induced uniaxial anisotropy: $K_s = (3/2)\sigma\lambda$. The large change in magnetic induction upon changing the magnetic field will induce a large, narrow pulse of voltage in a coil wound around the sample, used in many sensors and devices. Stress can be induced in amorphous magnetostrictive wires during heat treatment, and can be used as inductors. Figures 11 and 12 show the effect of magnetostriction and mechanical stress on Barkhausen noise statistics upon magnetization of a highly magnetostrictive amorphous metallic ribbon in a free state and when the same ribbon is slightly stretched along its axis (36). The change of the Barkhausen jump spectrum from numerous small jumps to a very few huge jumps is evident. The integral of the jumps over the magnetic field gives a curve similar to the magnetization curve (37).

Temperature Dependence

The Barkhausen effect has a strong temperature dependence. The DW energy itself depends on the magnetic anisotropy, a strong function of temperature, leading to the increase of the DW energy and the coercivity on lowering the temperature. The energy of temperature fluctuations play a lesser role at low temperatures, and the characteristic time constant of the magnetic aftereffect is increasing with decreasing temperature. As the probability for a jump decreases, the DW has to wait longer for a kick from the thermal fluctuations, and the number of jumps in a given field and time interval decreases (33). On



Figure 11. Effect of magnetostriction and mechanical stress on Barkhausen noise statistics upon magnetization of a highly magnetostrictive amorphous metallic ribbon (a) Free ribbon; (b) Ribbon under weak tensile stress (M. Pardavi-Horvath, unpublished data).

the contrary, upon increasing the temperature the coercivity decreases, and due to strong thermal activation processes, it's easier for a DW to make a jump. At the same time the thermal energy becomes larger than some of the DW-defect interaction energies, many of the low energy defects are "turned off" and the width of the defect-DW interaction spectrum decreases too. The magnetic material becomes magnetically softer.

Statistics of Barkhausen Jumps

The statistics of Barkhausen jumps has been the topic of wide ranging investigations for many years. The static interaction of *one* defect with *one* domain wall is just the beginning of the theoretical treatment of the magnetization process of a magnetic material. In a real material, a very large number of statistically distributed defects interact with a large number of DWs, resulting in a complex Barkhausen noise behavior. The process depends on temperature, time, sample size, and shape (38,39). For the interpretation of the Barkhausen signal the



Figure 12. (a) Integrated signal of individual jumps for the sample in Fig. 12. 1 is the free ribbon; 2 is the ribbon under tensile stress. (b) Number of jumps for 1. (c) Number of jumps for 2. (M. Pardavi-Horvath, unpublished data.)

functional form of the energy landscape is needed. All these unknown parameters can be taken into account as fluctuations in the DW energy, and described by an ensemble of stochastic Langevin functions. The model generates both hysteresis loops and Barkhausen jump distributions, showing a power-law behavior for small jumps and a rapid cut-off at large jump sizes, in agreement with the experimental data (40,37,41). Unfortunately, along the hysteresis loop different types of magnetization processes take place. Therefore, the treatment is usually restricted to the constant permeability region around the coercivity. The assumption used in predicting the noise power spectrum (42) is that both dB/dH and dH/dt are constant. This approach was extended to the whole hysteresis loop assuming that the Barkhausen activity in terms of the jumpsum is proportional to the differential susceptibility, which can be determined from hysteresis models (43).

An important question is whether the individual jumps are correlated or not. For statistically independent jumps the theory predicts that the power density is constant at low frequencies and decays as $1/f^2$ at high frequencies. Some experimental data agree with this prediction, however, in some cases there is a maximum at low frequencies. The analysis of the Barkhausen noise signal characteristics, as autocorrelation, jump amplitude correlation, jump time and amplitude correlation, and power density show no evident deviation from random noise behavior. Evidently, a different mechanism is responsible for the low frequency losses (44).

The progress in nonlinear dynamics and chaos, relatively easily applicable to the behavior of domains and domain walls, leads to simple nonlinear models for DW dynamics, taking into account the viscous damping of the DW moving under the effect of a harmonic external force in the field of defects. It was shown that Barkhausen noise can be characterized by a low fractal dimension (45,46). Barkhausen jumps show the attributes of self-organized criticality, with the distribution of lifetimes and areas of discrete Barkhausen jumps following a power-law behavior (47,48).

Experimental Techniques

Modern Barkhausen spectrometers are based on the same principle of Faraday's law of induced electromotive force (emf), as used by Barkhausen in 1919. According to Faraday's law, whenever there is a magnetic flux change dB/dt there will be an induced voltage V, proportional to dB/dt and the number of turns of a measuring pickup coil. The difference is that the original amplifier is now substituted by a digital computer controlled data acquisition system and digital storage oscilloscope (33,44,49). Usually the size and the duration of Barkhausen pulses is measured and statistically registered. The results are frequency distributions. The entire sequence of Barkhausen pulses can be considered as a stochastic process and then the spectral density of the noise energy, related to the total irreversible magnetization reversal is measured (33,39). Figure 13 shows the block diagram of a typical apparatus. The equipment consists of a magnetizing system used to sweep the sample through the full hysteresis loop from negative saturation to positive saturation, at a frequency of typically 0.05 Hz; a Hall probe to measure the magnetic field; a surface coil to measure the induced voltage and/or another pick-up coil, surrounding the sample, for power spectrum measurements. The measurement is controlled and the data are analyzed by a digital computer. The bandwidth of the system is from 100 Hz up to 100 kHz. A discriminator is used to reject signals below a certain noise level. At each instant of time, t_n , the value of the magnetic field, H_n and the induced voltage is V_n measured. So the amplitude of jumps versus field, the integrated signal, the jumpsum, and the rate of the jumpsum can be determined. The jumpsum rate is qualitatively similar to the rms noise. Power density



Figure 13. Block diagram of Barkhausen noise measurement. (Courtesy of L. J. Swartzendruber, NIST.)

spectra and autocorrelation functions can also be obtained from the data. For a stationary random process, the power density spectrum is the Fourier transform of the autocorrelation function, $\Phi(t) = \langle V(t) \times V(t + \tau) \rangle$, so that statistical properties of the Barkhausen noise can be easily investigated by this technique (49).

A widely used method in studying the Barkhausen effect is to measure the power as a function of the frequency of cycling the field. This technique yields information about the intervals between jumps (33). The frequency of the Barkhausen jumps is related to the average DW velocity, and it contains information about the average time it takes for a moving DW to reach the next barrier through the average distance between defects.

Utilizing the optical activity of magnetic materials it is possible to identify individual defects, pinning mechanisms, and measure actual DW velocities. In transparent magnetic materials individual DW-defect interactions can be investigated via the magneto-optical Faraday-effect (26,27,28), as illustrated in Figs. 2, 6, 7, and 9. In metals, the Kerr effect offers a possibility to visualize the defect-DW interaction, as it was done for several metallic film magneto-optical recording media, in order to study the cause of media noise in readout (50). It was shown that the distance between pinning centers is about 0.4 μ m and the DW "waits" up to several seconds before the next jump. The pinning time decreases exponentially with increasing driving field.

Nondestructive Testing

When applicable the measurement of magnetic Barkhausen noise is a fast, reliable, and simple technique for nondestructive material evaluation, as compared to x-ray diffraction, ultrasound, and other more sophisticated measurements (49,51). The Barkhausen effect is especially well-suited for the study of steel, one of the most important structural materials. Commercial instruments to characterize materials based on Barkhausen noise are now available. The Barkhausen spectrum can be, for example, related to the grain size of the material, so it can be used for grain size measurement after cold-rolling (52). The stress sensitivity of the DW motion makes it very convenient to study residual stresses, using the Barkhausen emission under stress. Depending on the bandwidth of the measurement, either the surface or near subsurface layers can be tested (34). The Barkhausen emission test is used in the grinding industry to check the residual stress due to thermal damage and microhardness (53). Plastic deformation increases the dislocation density, an effect easily detected by the DW-dislocation interaction induced critical field increase. There is a possibility to use deformed thin wires of iron and iron-nickel alloys as strain gages in the 10^{-3} range with a sensitivity of $\pm 5\%$ (35).

Barkhausen noise plays an important role in magnetic recording. The head-to-medium velocities in hard drives may range from 1 to 50 m/s, with data frequencies from 100 kHz to 50 MHz; for tape systems the velocity might be as low as 25 mm/s at 1 Hz frequency. These parameters are very near to the range of Barkhausen noise. The main source of the medium and head noise is the Barkhausen noise. The nonuniformity of media leads to a localized, regular noise, superimposed on the random noise from magnetization switching processes. For particulate materials the noise is related to the shape, size, and orientation dispersion of the particles; for multigrain thin film media the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) depends on the microstructure, texture, and grain cluster size. In soft magnetic write-read head materials the DW pinning and the related hysteresis losses are the most important source of noise (50,54).

FLUX PINNING AND LOSSES IN SUPERCONDUCTORS

The basic parameters defining the transition from the superconducting to the normal state are the critical temperature T_{c} , critical magnetic field H_c , and critical current density J_c . Type II superconductors possess the highest possible critical parameters. Destruction of their bulk superconductivity occurs at the upper critical field H_{c2} . If no applied magnetic field is present, then J_c up to 10^{11} Am⁻² can be reached. High current density and small energy dissipation is the main reason for industrial applications of superconductors in magnets, electrical machinery, and power transmission lines. Ideal superconductors are lossless, however, using Type II superconductors for practical applications dissipative processes are of great importance. In Type I superconductors dissipation is negligible up to very high frequencies, where the electromagnetic field destroys the Cooper pairs, responsible for superconductivity. Losses in ideal Type II superconductors are associated with viscous motion of vortex lattices. Losses in the most important class of superconductors, the Type II nonideal superconductors, are due to magnetic hysteresis, similar to the case of ferromagnetic materials. In superconductors the irreversible motion of magnetic flux lines through pinning centers causes the hysteresis. The problem is more complicated in technical materials: superconducting cables are multifilament, multicore, twisted, stabilized composites where the coupling losses to the normal matrix play a significant role in dissipation (55).

Vortex Structure

Superconductors (SC) are characterized by the penetration depth of the weak magnetic field λ , the coherence length ξ ,

and the Ginzburg-Landau parameter $\kappa = \lambda/\xi$. Superconductors can be classified according to the magnitude of κ . Type I SCs have $\kappa < 1/\sqrt{2}$, and the external field is totally screened by diamagnetic supercurrents flowing in the penetration depth distance from the surface (Meissner effect). For Type II SCs $\kappa > 1/\sqrt{2}$. The N/S boundary is in equilibrium only in high applied magnetic field. A type II SC below the first critical field H_{c1} behaves as a Type I material. In a field of $H > H_{c1}$ it is energetically more favorable to break into the mixed state of alternating N and SC phases, consisting of thin, normal core vortex lines, parallel to the external field, with circulating paramagnetic supercurrents. Each vortex carries a quantum of flux $\phi_0 = hc/2e$, where h is the Planck constant, c is the light velocity and e is the electron charge. The size of a vortex is typically a few hundred nanometer. The vortex lattice is in some way analogous to the magnetic domain structure of ferromagnetic materials, as discussed previously. Upon increasing the applied magnetic field H, the number of vortices increases as the vortex lattice period becomes smaller. At $H = H_{c2} = \sqrt{2} \kappa H_c$ the vortex cores overlap and the material becomes a normal metal. H_{c2} of SC for practical applications is on the order of 10^{2} T.

Vortex Motion and Flux Jumps

Many technical applications of SC require high current densities and low losses, which can be accomplished by immobilizing the vortices by pinning them at defects. The vortices have a complex magnetic field around them, decaying exponentially within the distance λ . If the SC is placed in an applied field H, parallel to its surface, then supercurrents J_m will be generated by a vortex located at x_0 :

$$J_m = \lambda^{-1} H \exp(-x_0/\lambda)$$

and a repulsive Lorentz force will act on the vortex, $F_{\rm m} = J_{\rm m}\phi_0$. This force changes with the distance, thus changing the free energy of the vortex system. If there is an energy gradient, that is, a local change in the potential for the vortex motion, then the vortex can be pinned at the defect lowering the free energy of the system. There is an energy barrier to the penetration of vortices in and out of the SC at the boundary, and vortex motion into the SC can be prevented by surface treatment. Ideal Type II SCs are thermodynamically reversible if there are no defects in the material to act as pinning centers. But even in the absence of bulk pinning, there is always the surface, itself an irregularity, so there is no ideal SC. In the absence of pinning centers, the vortex lattice's motion is like a hydrodynamic flow in a viscous medium. Dissipation is due to the viscous damping process. The power necessary to move the vortices is $W_{\rm SC} = \rho_{\rm n} J_{\rm s}^2$, where $\rho_{\rm n}$ is the specific resistance. Because there are always thermal fluctuations, and J_{c} is decreasing with increasing T, any slight increase in the temperature decreases the critical current and, by preserving the total current, the current distribution has to change, and as a consequence, the magnetic field distribution generated by the current distribution is changes too. According to Maxwell's law whenever there is a flux change there will be an electric field, and this field does the work to move the vortices, that is, a flux jump is observed. Flux jump instabilities are very dangerous because they can transform the SC into the N state completely. Thermally activated flux flow is one of the main reasons for the low current density in new high-T_c SCs.

Another case of flux jumping occurs due to magnetic field fluctuations. As the applied field increases, critical shielding currents are induced to prevent the penetration of flux into the SC until a certain field H (or magnetic flux density associated with that field B) value, where flux jumps occur. For thin filaments the flux completely penetrates the material, and there is no flux jumps even for applied fields much greater than H. The constraint on the thickness d of the SC material is that:

$$\mu_0 J_{\rm c} d < B^* = [3\mu_0 S(T_{\rm c} - T)]^{1/2}$$

where S is the volume heat capacity of the material (56). The distribution of the induction is usually described by the Bean-London model of critical state, where the magnitude of the critical current is directly related to the gradient of the local induction $J_c = dB/dx$. A change in the penetration occurs only when the change in the external field exceeds the surface shielding fields created by shielding currents, according to Maxwell's equations. This picture of SC hysteresis losses is valid up to about 10³ Hz. In the Bean-London model the contribution of the vortex structure is not included. A complete analytical solution for the distribution of current and induction in hard SCs is still missing.

Nonideal Type If SCs

Real materials always have spatial inhomogeneities acting as pinning centers that prevent the penetration of flux into the SC upon increasing the applied field; or preventing the exclusion of flux upon decreasing field, giving rise to hysteresis and associated irreversible losses. There is a remanence flux frozen in the SC even in the absence of external field. In analogy with hard magnets, these nonideal Type II SCs are called *hard SCs.*

The pinning centers are similar to those in magnetic materials, preventing the motion of domain walls, such as: point defects of inclusions, voids, precipitates of second phase, line defects like dislocations, grain boundaries, twin boundaries, and so on. The bigger the difference between the properties of the defect and the SC the larger is the pinning effect, again similar to the case of the strong DW pinning for high DW energy gradient in ferromagnets.

There is no complete, exact theory of pinning in SCs, and the methods used to describe the vortex-defect interactions are very similar to those dealing with DW pinning. Strong pinning and high current density is achieved mostly by microstructural developments through technology of preparation, compositional modifications, and different treatments (for example, irradiation). In intermetallic SCs (Nb₃Sn, Nb₃Ge) the pinning centers are related to the fine grained structure on the order of a few nm, and precipitation of oxides or carbides at grain boundaries. In the high-T_c cuprate SCs vortex pinning is linked to the layered structure of the material, the vortices are interacting strongly within the layers (pancake vortices) and weakly between layers. As a result the electrical properties are highly anisotropic. The pancake vortices are very mobile. Increasing the interlayer coupling would make a more effective pinning with higher (and isotropic) current densities (57).

In an ideal SC the vortex structure is a regular twodimenisonal network. Due to the very inhomogeneous structure of the hard SCs, the vortex lattice is distorted, following the microstructural features, that is, the energy landscape of the material. For high defect densities and high current densities the vortex lattice becomes "amorphous", the lattice is "melted".

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Soshin Chikazumi and Stanley H. Charap, Physics of Magnetism, New York; Wiley, 1964.
- 2. Richard M. Bozorth, Ferromagnetism, New York: IEEE Press, 1993.
- Ami E. Berkowitz and Eckart Kneller (ed.), Magnetism and Metallurgy, New York: Academic Press, 1969.
- H. Kronmüller, Magnetisierunskurve der Ferromagnetika I. In Alfred Seeger (ed.), Moderne Probleme der Metallphysik, Vol. 2, Ch. 8, Berlin: Springer Verlag, 1966.
- H. Träuble, Magnetisierungshurve der Ferromagnetika II. In Alfred Seeger (ed.), Moderne Probleme der Metallphysik, Vol. 2, Ch. 9, Berlin: Springer Verlag, 1966.
- M. Pardavi-Horvath and Hyunkyu Kim, Surface roughness effects on the coercivity of thin film heads. J. Korean Magn. Soc., 5: 663– 666, 1995.
- M. Pardavi-Horvath, A simple experimental Preisach model system. In G. Hadjipanayis (ed.) Magnetic Hysteresis in Novel Magnetic Materials, Amsterdam: Kluwer Publ., 1997.
- J. A. Jatau, M. Pardavi-Horvath, and E. Della-Torre, Enhanced coercivity due to local anisotropy increase. J. Appl. Phys., 75: 6106-08, 1994.
- 9. H. Träuble, in Ref. 3, pp. 622-685.
- 10. H. Träuble, in Ref. 5, pp. 257-279.
- Martin Kersten, Über die Bedeutung der Versetzungsdichte für die Theorie der Koerzivkraft rekristallisierter Werkstoffe, Z. Angew Phys., 8: 496-502, 1956.
- K.-H. Pfeffer, Zur Theorie der Koerzitivfeldstärke und Anfangssusceptibilität, Phys. Stat. Sol., 21: 857–872, 1967.
- K.-H. Pfeffer, Wechselwirkung zwischen Versetzungen und ebenen Blochwänden mit starrem Magnetisierungsverlauf, *Phys. Stat.* Sol., 19: 735-750, 1967.
- K.-H. Pfeffer, Mikromagnetische Behandlung der Wechselwirkung zwischen versetzungen und ebenen Blochwänden, *Phys. Stat. Sol.*, 21: 837–856, 1967.
- 15. Horst-Dietrich Dietze, Theorie der Blochwandwölbung mit Streufeldeinfluss. Z. Phys., 149: 276-298, 1957.
- L. J. Dijkstra and C. Wert, Effect of inclusions on coercive force of iron, *Phys. Rev.*, **79**: 979–985, 1950.
- R. S. Tebble, The Barkhausen effect. Proc. Phys. Soc., London, B86: 1017-1032, 1995.
- E. Schwabe, Theoretische Betrachtungen über die Beeinflussung der ferromagnetischen Koerzivkraft durch Einschlüsse mit rotationellelliptischer Form, für den Fall, dass deren Abmessungen klein gegen die Dicke Blochwand sind, Ann. Physik, 11: 99-112, 1952.
- K. Schröder, Magnetisierung in der Umgebung unmagnetischer Einschlüsse in Ferromagnetika, Phys. Stat. Sol., 33: 819–830, 1969.
- D. I. Paul, Extended theory of the coercive force due to domain wall pinning, J. Appl. Phys., 53: 2362-2364, 1982.
- P. Gaunt, Ferromagnetic domain wall pinning by a random array of inhomogeneities, *Phil. Mag. B*, 48: 261-276, 1983.
- Xinhe Chien and P. Gaunt, The pinning force between a Bloch wall and a planar pinning site in MnAlC, J. Appl. Phys., 67: 2540-2542, 1990.
- Wolfgang Prause, Energy and coercive field of a porous ferromagnetic sample with Bloch walls. J. Magn. Magn. Mater., 10: 94-96, 1979.

- M. A. Golbazi et al., A study of coercivity in Ca-Ge substituted epitaxial garnets, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-23: 1945, 1987.
- E. Della Torre, C. M. Perlov, and M. Pardavi-Horvath, Comparison of coercivity calculations of anisotropy and exchange wells in magnetooptic media, J. Magn. Magn. Mater., 104-107: 303-304, 1992.
- M. Pardavi-Horvath, Defects and their avoidance in LPE of garnets, Progress in Crystal Growth and Characterization, 5: 175–220, 1982.
- M. Pardavi-Horvath, Coercivity of epitaxial magnetic garnet crystals, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-21: 1694, 1985.
- M. Pardavi-Horvath and P. E. Wigen, Defect and impurity related effects in substituted epitaxial YIG crystals, Advances in Magneto-Optics, J. Magn. Soc. Jpn., 11: S1, 161, 1987.
- Franz Preisach, Untersuchungen über den Barkhauseneffekt, Ann. Physik, 5: 737-799, 1929.
- Isaak D. Mayergoyz and Can E. Korman, Preisach model with stochastic input as a model for magnetic viscosity, J. Appl. Phys., 69: 2128-2134, 1991.
- I. D. Mayergoyz and G. Friedman, The Preisach model and hysteretic energy losses, J. Appl. Phys., 61: 3910-3912, 1987.
- Xiaohua Huang and M. Pardavi-Horvath, Local demagnetizing tensor calculation for rectangular and cylindrical shapes, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 32: 4180-4182, 1996.
- John C. McClure, Jr. and Klaus Schröder, The magnetic Barkhausen effect, CRC Critical Rev. Solid State Sci., 6: 45-83, 1976.
- 34. D. C. Jiles, P. Garikepati, and D. D. Palmer, Evaluation of residual stress in 300M steels using magnetization, Barkhausen effect and X-ray diffraction techniques. In Donald O. Thompson and Dale E. Chimenti (Eds.) Rev. Progr. Quantitative Nondestructive Evaluation, 8B: 2081–2087, Plenum Press: New York, 1989.
- A. H. Wafik, Effect of deformation on Barkhausen jumps of fine wires of iron, nickel and iron-nickel alloy, J. Magn. Magn. Mater., 42: 23-28, 1984.
- 36. M. Pardavi-Horvath, unpublished data.
- R. D. McMichael, L. J. Swartzendruber, and L. H. Bennett, Langevin approach to hysteresis and Barkhausen jump modeling in steel, J. Appl. Phys., 73: 5848-5850, 1993.
- Richard M. Bozorth, Barkhausen effect in iron, nickel and permalloy. I. Measurement of discontinuous change in magnetization, *Phys. Rev.*, 34: 772-784, 1929.
- U. Lieneweg and W. Grosse-Nobis, Distribution of size and duration of Barkhausen pulses and energy spectrum of Barkhausen noise investigated on 81% nickel-iron after heat treatment, *Int. J. Magn.*, 3: 11-16, 1972.
- B. Alessandro et al., Domain-wall dynamics and Barkhausen effect in metallic ferromagnetic materials, *I. Theory, J. Appl. Phys.*, 68: 2901–2907, 1990.
- F. Y. Hunt and R. D. McMichael, Analytical expression for Barkhausen jump size distributions, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 30: 4356– 4358, 1994.
- G. Bertotti, G. Durin, and A. Magni, Scaling aspects of domain wall dynamics and Barkhausen effect in ferromagnetic materials, J. Appl. Phys., 75: 5490-5492, 1994.
- D. C. Jiles, L. B. Sipahi, and G. Williams, Modeling of micromagnetic Barkhausen activity using a stochastic process extension to the theory of hysteresis, J. Appl. Phys., 73: 5830-5832, 1993.
- L. J. Swartzendruber et al., Barkhausen jump correlations in thin foils of Fe and Ni, J. Appl. Phys., 67: 5469-5471, 1990.
- B. Alessandro, G. Bertotti, and A. Montorsi, Phenomenology of Barkhausen effect in soft ferromagnetic materials, J. Physique, 49 (C8): 1907-1908.

- H. Yamazaki, Y. Iwamoto, and H. Maruyama, Fractal dimension analysis of the Barkhausen noise in Fe-Si and permalloy, J. Physique, 49 (C8): 1929-1930.
- 47. P. J. Cote and L. V. Meisel, Self-organized criticality and the Barkhausen effect. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **67**: 1334-1337, 1991.
- J. S. Urbach, R. C. Madison, and J. T. Markert, Reproducibility of magnetic avalanches in an Fe-Ni-Co magnet, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 75: 4964-4967, 1995.
- L. J. Swartzendruber and G. E. Hicho, Effect of sensor configuration on magnetic Barkhausen observations, *Res. Nondestr. Eval.*, 5: 41– 50, 1993.
- S. Gadetsky and M. Mansuripur, Barkhausen jumps during domain wall motion in thin magneto-optical films, J. Appl. Phys., 79: 5667– 5669, 1996.
- G. V. Lomaev, V. S. Malyshey, and A. P. Degterev, Review of the application of the Barkhausen effect in nondestructive inspection, *Sov. J. Nondestructive Testing*, **20**: 189-203, 1984.
- S. Titto, M. Otala, and S. Säynäjäkangas, Non-destructive magnetic measurement of steel grain size. *Non-Destructive Testing*, 9: 117-120, 1976.
- H. Gupta, M. Zhang, and A. P. Parakka, Barkhausen effect in ground steel, Acta Mater., 45: 1917-1921, 1997.
- 54. C. Denis Mee and Eric D. Daniel (eds.), *Magnetic Recording*, New York: McGraw-Hill, 1987.
- 55. V. Kovachev, Energy Dissipation in Superconducting Materials, Clarendon Press: Oxford, 1991.
- Lawrence Dresner, Stability of Superconductors, Plenum Press: New York, 1995.
- George W. Crabtree and David R. Nelson, Vortex physics in hightemperature superconductors, *Physics Today*, **38–45**: April 1997.

READING LIST

A rich source of up-to-date information on Barkhausen noise, magnetic domain wall pinning, and hysteresis losses are the issues of the J. Appl. Phys., and IEEE Trans. Magn., publishing the material of the annual conferences on magnetism. The IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond. is suggested as a source of current information on flux pinning in superconductors.

> MARTHA PARDAVI-HORVATH The George Washington University

MAGNETIC REFRIGERATION

The application and subsequent removal of a magnetic field causes cooling in certain materials-the magnetocaloric effect (or magnetic refrigeration). In the laboratory it is possible to pump over liquid helium and so provide considerable cooling power at \sim 1 K. For this reason magnetic refrigeration has usually been used to reach temperatures below 1 K. It is also the case that the high magnetic fields required are usually provided through superconducting magnets which must operate below \sim 5 K. There are two types of magnetic refrigerator, adiabatic demagnetization refrigerators (ADR) and nuclear demagnetization refrigerators. The ADR uses the interaction of electrons with an applied magnetic field whereas nuclear demagnetization uses the interactions of the nuclei. The temperature region of operation for an ADR depends on the magnetic material used. This can range from tens of Kelvin down to mK (1); whereas for a nuclear demagnetization refrigerator the region is 10 mK to

54 MAGNETIC REFRIGERATION

several microkelvin. Cooling power (the amount of energy that can be absorbed) decreases strongly with decreasing temperature. For an ADR cooling powers in the region of microwatts at low temperature can be obtained whereas for nuclear demagnetization it is nanowatts or less. Such low cooling powers from nuclear demagnetization refrigerators leads to extreme measures in order to avoid unwanted heat entering the system, for example, seismic isolation. The use of nuclear demagnetization refrigerators is therefore restricted to specialized low temperature research laboratories. For ADRs with their higher cooling power such extreme measures are not required, making such refrigerators easier to use in a more typical laboratory environment, so that they are the more common of the two.

Principle of Magnetic Refrigeration

A cooling process may be regarded to be an entropy reducing process. Since entropy (or degree of disorder) of a system at constant volume or constant pressure decreases with decreased temperature, cooling can be achieved within a medium via any process which results in the decrease of entropy of that medium. For example, the liquefaction of gases is achieved by the isothermal reduction of entropy through compression of a volume V_1 at temperature T_1 to a smaller volume V_2 generating heat, which is extracted by contact with a cold reservoir, followed by adiabatic or isentropic expansion which results in cooling of the gas to below T_1 . In the magnetic cooling process the disordered collection of magnetic dipoles associated with a particular ion within a medium (paramagnetic material) constitutes such a system described here. For such a material the application of a magnetic field causes alignment of the dipoles with the magnetic field and thus a reduction in entropy. The dipoles used are either electronic (electron cooling due to the electron spins) or nuclear (nuclear cooling due to the nuclear spins) depending on the required final temperature, millikelvin temperatures for electronic (ADRs) and microkelvin temperatures for nuclear demagnetization refrigerators. The principle of operation is the same the main difference being the starting temperature. For electron cooling starting temperatures of up to 20 K or more can be used whereas for nuclear cooling a starting temperature in the region of 0.01 to 0.02 K is needed in order for the magnetic interaction to dominate over the thermal energy.

Components of a Magnetic Refrigerator

An ADR is essentially composed of the following three items which need to be housed in a cryostat (2) to provide a bath temperature:

- 1. A paramagnetic material. This is suspended via low thermal conductivity supports within an enclosure at the bath temperature, usually pumped, liquid helium in laboratory systems. The paramagnetic material is integrated with a stage or platform, upon which the experimental items under investigation may be mounted.
- 2. A magnet. This may either be a permanent or superconducting magnet. The latter is usually used due to their ease of operation and compactness. It is housed within the liquid helium vessel and so sufficiently cooled for superconductivity.
- 3. A heat switch. This is used to make and break a high thermal conductivity path between the paramagnetic



----- Low thermal conductivity supports

Figure 1. Conventional ADR schematic. A paramagnetic material is shown in a pill arrangement with a stage where samples can be attached. The pill is housed in the bore of a superconducting magnet via low thermally conducting supports. The magnet is housed in a liquid helium container and the heat switch is used to cool the pill to the temperature of the liquid helium.

material and the cold bath (e.g., liquid helium). This is used in order to cool the paramagnetic material to the starting temperature and to extract the heat of magnetization. The form of this switch may be mechanical, gaseous, or superconducting (2).

A schematic of a "classical" ADR is shown in Fig. 1. Variations on the classical form arise due to requirements to (1)increase the low temperature hold time and (2) increase the bath temperature. Increasing the low temperature hold time can be achieved by reducing the parasitic heat leak through the supports by using a second higher temperature intermediate paramagnetic material. This intercepts the heat flow from the bath to the low temperature paramagnetic material. The intermediate material comprises a higher temperature paramagnetic material which has a high heat capacity, for example, gadolinium gallium garnet. The operation of the ADR is the same as the conventional form except the intermediate paramagnetic material will demagnetize to a temperature between that of the bath and the low temperature material. Such a refrigerator is commonly called a two stage ADR (3). Increasing the bath temperature without decreasing the hold time can be accomplished by using a second ADR to cool a classical or two stage ADR. It is essentially two ADRs in series, one configured for high temperatures and the other for low temperatures. The high temperature ADR is used to cool the low temperature ADR prior to the demagnetization of that stage. This effectively simulates a lower temperature bath for a conventional or two stage ADR. This kind of refrigerator has been called a double ADR (4).

A further variation of the classical ADR is the "hybrid". This consists of a conventional ADR coupled to a low temperature cryogenic stage provided by He³. The He³ stage is used to provide a temperature of 0.3 K reducing the parasitic heat load and providing a very low starting temperature for the paramagnetic material.

The composition of a nuclear demagnetization refrigerator is essentially the same as a conventional ADR except that its bath temperature must be in the region of 0.01 K. The bath is provided by either an ADR or, more typically, a He^3-He^4 dilution refrigerator (2,5).

HISTORY AND CURRENT STATUS OF MAGNETIC REFRIGERATORS

Cooling by affecting the electron spins was proposed by Debye (6) in 1926 and Giauque (7) in 1927. The first practical demonstration was by De Haas, Wiersma, and Kramers (8), Giauque and MacDougall (9) in 1933, and Kurti and Simon (10) in 1934. The nuclear demagnetization refrigerator was suggested by Gorter in 1934 and Kurti and Simon in 1935. However it was not until 1956 when Kurti et al. successfully obtained cooling from 12 mK to 20 μ K via the demagnetization of nuclear spins. Since those pioneering days numerous texts on magnetic refrigeration have been published and most low temperature physics books contain a chapter describing it. For further information see Refs. 2, 5, and 11.

The advent of dilution refrigerators in the 1960s saw the demise of ADRs because of the higher cooling power and continuous operation offered by dilution refrigeration. In recent years ADRs have become more popular due to the increased use of low temperatures (0.1 to 0.01 K) for the operation of detectors for astronomy and particle physics and the development of mechanical coolers to replace the use of liquid helium (12). In astronomy the need for better signal to noise leads to low temperature detectors (10 to 100 mK) and exotic telescope locations (Antarctica, on top of high mountains, and in space). X-ray astronomy can only be conducted by space-borne instrumentation due to the absorption of X rays by the earth's atmosphere. The cost and practicalities involved require low mass systems which are gravity independent and highly reliable. The use of a consumable cryogen in space-helium-limits the duration of missions. For infrared and optical astronomy space also has enormous advantages in the form of "seeing" and sky background.

The first demonstration of an ADR in space occurred with a sounding rocket flight in 1996 (13). This was a conventional ADR comprising a liquid helium cooled magnet and an ferric amonium alum (FAA) salt pill housed in a pumped liquid helium cryostat operating at 2 K. A similar ADR is under development (14) at the Goddard Space Flight Center for the Xray spectrometer (XRS) experiment due to fly on the Japanese ASTRO-E mission in 2000. Advances in miniaturizing ADRs and increasing their operating temperature range further are ongoing and brought about by real-use practicalities. Such development is being achieved through new materials (especially for thermal isolation), new magnet technology (low current), and high temperature paramagnetic materials. Until recently the superconducting magnet used to generate the magnetic field would have to be housed in the liquid helium bath. The advent of conduction cooled superconducting magnets, in which the magnet is cooled via conduction through the magnet housing, enables the ADR to be a unit which is simply attached to a cold plate. This enables the ADR to be connected to a mechanical cooler thereby eliminating the need for a liquid helium bath to cool the magnet and provide the bath temperature for the ADR. Cryogen-free operation could enable the ADR to become a general purpose instrument capable of autonomous computer control without the need for the user to have either cryogenic experience or special helium handling equipment.

THEORY

Certain paramagnetic materials are suitable for use as magnetic refrigerants. The magnetic ions of these materials have an interaction energy, ϵ with their crystalline environment and each other which is smaller than the average thermal energy kT. In such a situation each magnetic ion is relatively "free" resulting in a distribution of randomly oriented dipoles with 2J+ 1 degeneracy, where J is the angular momentum quantum number, that is, there are 2J + 1 possible orientations of the ions. This gives an $R \ln(2J+1)$ per mole contribution to the entropy of the material from the magnetic dipoles, where R is the gas constant. The entropy (S) of a paramagnetic material can be thought of comprising two components. One arises from the magnetic ion (e.g., chrome in chromium potassium alum, CPA) and is given the subscript m (S_m) . The other component arises from the rest of the molecule and is refer to as the lattice (S_{lattice}) . The total entropy is given by

$$S = S_{\rm m} + S_{
m lattice}$$

As the temperature of the paramagnetic material is reduced the lattice contribution to the entropy of the material reduces and a point is reached where the magnetic entropy given by $R \ln(2J+1)$ dominates. As the temperature decreases further the entropy will remain at the value given by $R \ln(2J + 1)$ until the thermal energy approaches the interaction energy ϵ at which point spontaneous ordering of the dipoles occurs, due to their own weak magnetic fields, and the entropy falls. When $\epsilon \sim k\theta$, where θ is the magnetic ordering temperature of the material (or Néel temperature), the entropy drops rapidly. At very low temperature the internal interactions between ions removes the degeneracy and the system resides in a singlet ground state of zero entropy. At a temperature greater than θ the entropy of the spin system of the magnetic ions can be reduced significantly if the interaction of the dipoles and the applied magnetic field is greater than the thermal excitation given by kT.

If the internal interaction energy is very low the magnet ions can be considered as free and the entropy (S) of a collection of magnetic ions can be given by Eq. 1. Figure 2 shows the typical form of the entropy curve as a function of temperature and applied magnetic field:

$$\frac{S(B,T)}{R} = \ln\left[\frac{\sinh(2J+1)x/2}{\sinh(x/2)}\right] + \frac{x}{2}\coth\left(\frac{x}{2}\right) - \frac{(2J+1)}{2}x\coth((2J+1)x/2)$$
(1)

where

$$x = g\beta B/kT \tag{2}$$

and

g = spectroscopic splitting factor

 β = Bohr magnetron

B =magnetic field (Gauss)

k = Boltzmann constant

T =temperature (K)

This equation is only valid if the ions are free and for high (>1 T) magnetic fields. For low magnetic fields additional terms which take into account the weak internal field have to be added. The zero magnetic field entropy curve is determined from

$$S = \int C/T dT$$

where

S = total entropy C = heat capacity T = temperature

A detailed account of paramagnetic theory as applied to magnetic refrigeration can be found in Ref. 11.

PARAMAGNETIC MATERIALS

The paramagnetic material "the refrigerant" is the core of the refrigerator. It determines the temperature to which cooling can be achieved and how much energy can be absorbed. Cooling over a wide temperature range is possible due to the varied materials available. These can be divided roughly into four temperature ranges (~10 to 40 mK, 40 to >100 mK, >0.3 K to 1 K, and >1 K). The substances widely used in these temperature ranges are detailed in Table 1. A detailed review of the first three temperature ranges can be found in Ref. 11 and for the fourth, high temperature range (15).

Refrigerant Construction (Salt Pill)

Traditionally, the refrigerant stages in an ADR have been called salt pills because in the early days all refrigerants were made from a "salt". Although other forms of paramagnetic refrigerant are now available the term salt pill has remained in common use and now, incorrectly, refers to the whole refrigerant assembly used in the ADR. The refrigerant materials commonly used and listed in Table 1 are hydrated salts (CMN, CPA, CCA, FAA, and MAS), garnets (O₁₂ compounds) or perovskites (AlO₃ compounds). Salt pills comprised of the following four components, (1) a stage, to which items can be attached for cooling, (2) A thermal bus connecting the stage to the paramagnetic material, (3) the paramagnetic material, and (4) a container for the paramagnetic material. The stage and thermal bus are made from high thermally conducting material, usually copper, and the container is either a high electrical resistivity material in order to minimize eddy current heating, for example, stainless steel, or fibre glass. Garnets and perovskites, which are very large dense crystals, can be bonded via an epoxy or low temperature cement to the thermal bus. In the case of hydrated salts the thermal bus comprises many hundreds of high thermally conducting (copper) wires attached to the stage and spreading into the salt enclosure. The hydrated salts are produced via an aqueous solution and the slow evaporation of the water. They fall into two categories, those that can be readily grown around copper wires and those that cannot. In the case where the salt will not grow around wires (CPA) small crystals have to be grown in a vessel (beaker) and then compressed along with the wires to form a solid mass which is then sealed in the pill enclosure. For the salts which will readily grow around wires (CMN, CCA, FAA, and MAS) the aqueous solution is allowed to evaporate from the enclosure which holds the wires and thermal bus. For CMN, where the orientation of the crystals to the magnetic field is important, seed crystals have to be cemented in place first with the correct orientation. The salts listed in Table 1 are all corrosive to copper and so if used this metal has to be plated with gold. A thickness of 30 to 50 μ m is usually sufficient. The hydrated salts have to be hermetically sealed within the enclosure in order to ensure that water of crystallization is not lost when exposed to vacuum. Such sealing can be achieved by the use of epoxy, for example, Stycast 2850.

MAGNETIC REFRIGERATOR OPERATION

The operation of a magnetic refrigerator requires the system to be at a temperature in which the lattice entropy does not dominate the paramagnetic material in order that the applied magnetic field can reduce the entropy of the material. The process of cooling can be separated into three stages. The first is isothermal magnetization of the paramagnetic material at a temperature T_1 , transferring the paramagnetic material from point A (Fig. 2) to point B. This process generates heat (magnetization energy) which has to be extracted to a heat sink at a temperature of T_1 , via a heat switch. The magnetization energy (Q Joules per mole) is given by

$$Q = \int T dS \tag{3}$$

Temperature Range	Material	Formation	J	g	T_n (K)
10-40 mK	Cerium magnesium nitrate (CMN)	$Ce_2Mg_3(NO_3)_{12} \cdot 24H_2O$	1/2	2	~0.01
40->100 mK	Chromic potassium alum (CPA)	$CrK(SO_4)_2 \cdot 12H_2O$	3/2	2	~0.01
	Cesium chromic alum (CCA)	CsCr(SO ₄) ₂ · 12 H ₂ O	3/2	2	~0.01
	Ferric ammonium alum (FAA)	$FeNH_4(SO_4)_2 \cdot 12H_2O$	4/2	2	~ 0.03
>0.3 K	Manganese ammonium sulfate (MAS)	$MnSO_4(NH_4)_2SO_4 \cdot 6H_2O$	5/2	2	~0.1
>1 K	Dysprosium gallium garnet (DGG)	$Dy_3Ga_5O_{12}$	1/2	8	~0.4
	Erbium orthoaluminate (ErOA)	\mathbf{ErAlO}_3	1/2	9	~ 0.6
	Ytterbium orthoaluminate (YbOA)	YbAlO ₃	1/3	7	~0.8
	Gadolinium gallium garnet (GGG)	$Gd_3Ga_3O_{12}$	7/2	2	~0.8
	Dysprosium aluminum garnet (DAG)	$Dy_3Al_5O_{12}$	1/2	11	~ 2.5
	Dysprosium orthoaluminate (DOA)	DyAlO ₃	1/2	14	~ 3.5
	Gadolinium orthoaluminate (GOA)	GdAlO ₃	7/2	2	~3.8

 Table 1. Magnetic Details of Some Paramagnetic Materials



Figure 2. Typical behavior of entropy with temperature and magnetic field, with the operational sequence of an ADR. The sequence starts at point A, proceeding to point B on application of the magnetic field (heat switch engaged). Cooling, transfer to point C, occurs with the partial removal of the magnetic field (heat switch open). The temperature is held (transferring from C to D over time) by further reduction of the magnetic field at the correct rate.

and since T is constant

$$Q = T_{\rm I}[S_{\rm A} - S_{\rm B}] \tag{4}$$

Adiabatic demagnetization forms the second stage in which the magnetic field is reduced to a value B_f which corresponds to the desired final temperature T_f . During this stage the entropy of the paramagnetic material remains constant, resulting in cooling as given by

$$\frac{(B_{\rm i}^2+b^2)^{1/2}}{T_{\rm i}} = \frac{(B_{\rm f}^2+b^2)^{1/2}}{T_{\rm f}} \tag{5}$$

where

 $B_i =$ Initial magnetic field

 $B_{\rm f} =$ Final magnetic field

b = Internal magnetic field associated with each magnetic ion

 $T_{\rm i} =$ Initial temperature

 $T_l = F$ in al temperature

The third stage can be effective in two ways, the first and most thermally efficient is isothermal demagnetization. This provides stability at T_f by reducing the magnetic field B from B_f to zero at a rate which counteracts the thermal input from the surrounding environment. The total amount of energy the paramagnetic material can be absorbed is given by Eq. (3) and Eq. (6) next, since T is constant,

$$Q = T_2[S_{\rm C} - S_{\rm D}] \tag{6}$$

The duration in seconds of operation at $T_{\rm f}$, called the hold time, is given by

Hold Time =
$$\frac{n T_{\rm f}[S_{\rm C} - S_{\rm D}]}{dQ_{\rm th}/dt}$$
(7)

where

n = Number of moles of magnetic ion $dQ_{\rm th}/dt =$ Total power into the paramagnetic material (e.g., parasitic heating)

Once the magnetic field reaches zero the whole process must be repeated (recycled) from stage 1. The second approach is for the magnetic field to be reduced to zero, completely demagnetizing the paramagnetic salt to a temperature of T_{\min} . A constant temperature above T_{\min} can be achieved by using a stage which is heated via a resistor and which has a weak thermal link to the paramagnetic material. The heater power needs to be reduced as the paramagnetic material warms under the parasitic load. Since the temperature of the paramagnetic material is not constant the energy which can be absorbed is given by Eq. (3) only. This process is less thermodynamically efficient to the isothermal process since heat is being added, however, it does not require active control of the magnetic field and therefore is simpler in some respects.

TEMPERATURE REGULATION

As previously stated the third stage of operation of an ADR, namely the holding of the final required temperature, can be achieved via demagnetizing at a rate to counteract the heat flowing into and thus warming up the salt pill. Temperature regulation is achieved via a computer controlled servo system in which the rate of reduction in magnetic field is controlled in order to maintain the temperature at the desired value. For superconducting magnets the magnetic field is proportional to current and thus it is the current that is controlled. The degree of stability is limited to the sensitivity of the thermometry and the step size in magnetic field/current. Temperature regulation of $\pm 1 \ \mu K$ is possible with room temperature resistance bridge phase sensitive detection (PSD) electronics and germanium thermometers. The thermometry readout is limited by the Johnson noise associated with the resistance bridge resistors. Cooling of these resistors to approximately 10 K should make it possible to achieve \sim a few hundred nanokelvin stability of an ADR when operated at a temperature of 0.1 K.

Magnetic Field Servo

Constant temperature is maintained by the reduction of electrical current (I) by a value dI every dt seconds. The value of dI/dt is determined by the servo algorithm based on how well the temperature is being maintained. With every new value of dI/dt the current is stepped down at the corresponding value of dI, (dt is kept constant) until the new value of dI/dt is calculated. Intervals of a minute or less are appropriate for most systems depending upon the application.

The current-temperature control equation (16) is:

$$dI_i/dt = (c/\Delta t)[(T_i - T_{\text{set}}) + (\Delta t/\tau)\sum(T_{i-j} - T_{\text{set}})]$$

where

i =Current value j =previous (i-1) value $dI_i/dt = i$ th current ramp rate $T_i = i$ th temperature $T_{i-j} = i$ -jth temperature $T_{set} =$ Servo temperature $\Delta t =$ time interval $\tau =$ system time constant $\Sigma =$ Sum over j=0 to i-1

c = system constant

SUMMARY

Millikelvin refrigeration is becoming necessary for many applications (astronomy, particle physics, material science, and biophysics). Adiabatic demagnetization refrigerators are seen as one of the most attractive ways of achieving such temperatures. Their compactness, ease of operation (turn key is a possibility since the process is purely electrical and cryogen free) and gravity independence gives many advantages over helium based apparatus. Cryogenic engineering advances now mean that an ADR can be a small bench top instrument rather than requiring a well equipped cryogenic laboratory. With this simplification and miniaturization of cryogenic instrumentation the user will no longer have to be an experienced cryogenic physicist which will open millikelvin refrigeration to a much broader community of scientists and engineers. Such an expansion process has not yet occurred with nuclear demagnetization refrigeration, however, with the constant development of lower operating temperature detectors and advances in cryogenic science and engineering it is probably only a matter of time.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- J. A. Barclay, Advances in Cryogenic Engineering, Vol. 33, New York: Plenum Press, 1988, p. 719.
- G. K. White, Experimental Techniques in Low-Temperature Physics, Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, 1989.
- C. Hagmann and P. L. Richards, Two-stage magnetic refrigerator for astronomical applications with reservoir temperatures above 4 K, *Cryogenics*, 34: 213-226, 1994.
- I. D. Hepburn et al., Submillimeter and Far-Infrared Space Instrumentation, Proc. 30th ESLAB., ESA SP-388, 1996.
- O. V. Lounasmaa, Experimental Principles and Methods below 1K, New York: Academic Press, 1974.
- 6. P. Debye, Ann. Phys., 81: 1154, 1926.
- W. F. Giauque, A thermodynamic treatment of certain magnetic effects. A proposed method of producing temperatures considerably below 1° absolute, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 49: 1864, 1927.
- W. J. De Haas, E. C. Wiersma, and H. A. Kramers, *Physica*, 1: 1, 1933.
- W. F. Giauque and D. P. MacDougall, Attainment of temperatures below 1° absolute by demagnetization of Gd₂(SO₄)₂·8H₂O, *Phys. Rev.*, 43: 768, 1933.
- N. Kurti and F. E. Simon, Production of very low temperatures by the magnetic method: supraconductivity of cadmium, *Nature* (London), 133: 907, 1934.
- R. P. Hudson, Principles and Applications of Magnetic Cooling, Amsterdam: North-Holland, series in Low Temperature Physics Vol. 2, 1972.
- S. F. Kral and J. A. Barclay, Applications of Cryogenic Technology, vol. 10, edited by J. P. Kelly, New York: Plenum Press, 1991.
- 13. D. McCammon et al., A sounding rocket payload for X-ray astron-

omy employing high resolution microcalorimeters, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A, **370**: 266-268, 1996.

- C. K. Stahle et al., Microcalorimetry arrays for high resolution soft X-ray spectroscopy, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A, 370: 173-176, 1996.
- M. D. Kuz'min and A. M. Tishin, Magnetic refrigerants for the 4.2K-20K region: garnets or perovskites, J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys., 24: 2039-2044, 1991.
- G. Bernstein et al., Automated temperature regulation system for adiabatic demagnetization refrigerators, Cryogenics, 31: 99-101, 1991.

I. D. HEPBURN University College London A. SMITH University College London

MAGNETIC RESONANCE

Consider a toy top on a table. If it is not rotating, it will immediately fall down because of gravity. If it is spun, however, it will rotate about the z direction keeping the angle θ constant as shown in Fig. 1. Now let a rod-shaped magnet (a nail with a small flywheel) in a magnetic field between the poles be the long axis R at an angle θ from the direction z of the field, as shown in Fig. 2(a). It will tend to align in parallel like a magnetic compass with the line of magnetic force. If one spins it about the long axis R, however, it will rotate about z, keeping θ constant as shown in Fig. 2(b). Both of these motions are called precession and are perpetual in the absence of friction. In this case, the toy top or the rod-shaped magnet has angular momentum, and the direction of force is perpendicular to the plane defined by R and z. This force is called torque. The precession occurs also on a microscopic scale. Consider a single free electron or a single proton in a uniform field H_0 along the z axis. It has a magnetic dipole moment μ_{e} or μ_{N} , respectively, which is considered to be a tiny magnet. In this case, one does not need to spin it because it has an angular momentum a priori, and the magnetic moment is caused by the rotation of the charged particle. Because of this angular momentum, it exhibits similar motion



Figure 1. Precession of a top.



Figure 2. Small iron rod (nail) in magnetic field. To avoid the gravitational effect, the long axis is along the horizontal direction.

in a magnetic field as earlier and as shown in Fig. 3. This motion is called Larmor precession. The frequency of the Larmor precession is derived from the following torque equation, which is similar to the case of a top:

$$\frac{d\mu}{dt} = \gamma[\mu \times \boldsymbol{H}] \tag{1}$$

where γ is a coefficient called the gyromagnetic ratio and μ is either μ_e or μ_N . **H** is the magnetic field described as **H** = (0, 0, H₀). Equation (1) can be solved easily. The z component of Eq. (1) is

$$\frac{d\mu_z}{dt} = 0 \tag{2}$$

Then one finds that μ_z , which is the z component of μ , is constant. The magnitude of μ_z depends on the initial condition and is unknown here. μ is also unknown but is given by $\cos \theta = \mu_z/|\mu|$. This is reasonable and easily understood by Fig. 3. The x and y components of Eq. (1) are described as

$$\frac{d\mu_x}{dt} = \gamma \mu_y H_0, \qquad \frac{d\mu_y}{dt} = -\gamma \mu_x H_0 \tag{3}$$

From these equations, one can obtain

$$\mu_z + i\mu_y \propto \exp(-i\gamma H_0 t) = \cos(\gamma H_0 t) - i\,\sin(\gamma H_0 t) \qquad (4)$$

This means that the magnetic moment rotates about the z axis in the direction of a right-handed screw for $\gamma < 0$ (in the case of an electron) or the opposite way for $\gamma > 0$ (in the case of a



Figure 3. Precession of a magnetic moment μ .

proton) with an angular frequency

$$\omega_0 = |\gamma| H_0 \tag{5}$$

where ω_0 is called the Larmor frequency. As will be explained later, γ is expressed as

$$\gamma = g \frac{\mu_0 e}{2m} \tag{6}$$

where g is the so-called g-value and equal to $g_e = 2.0023$ for an electron and $g_N = 2.7896$ for a proton. e and m are the charge, which is negative for electrons and positive for protons, and the mass of the particle, respectively. μ_0 is the permeability of vacuum. The frequencies are easily calculated using $\omega = 2\pi f$ and are approximately

$$f_0 = 28.0 \,\text{GHz}$$
 and $f_0 = 42.6 \,\text{MHz}$ at $B_0 = \mu_0 H_0 = 1 \,\text{T}$
(7)

for moments of electrons and protons, respectively. Notice that the mass of the nucleus depends on the atom and that the g of the other nucleus is different from that of the proton.

When an ac magnetic field (electromagnetic wave at radio frequency) perpendicular to the z-axis with amplitude h_{rf} whose frequency and polarization satisfy Eqs. (4) and (5) is applied, what is its effect on the magnetic moment? First, consider a magnetic moment without an ac field in a coordinate system x'y'z rotating about the z axis with ω_0 as shown in Fig. 4(a). The magnetic moment points to the fixed direction in the x'z





Figure 4. (a) Precession in the rotating coordinates x'y'z without $h_{\rm rf}$, (b) rotation of μ in the x'z-plane with $h_{\rm rf}$ and (c) trajectory of the top of μ .

plane keeping the angle θ constant and never moves in this coordinate system. When an ac field is applied, H in Eq. (1) must be replaced by $H = (h_{rf} \cos \omega_0 t, h_{rf} \sin \omega_0 t, H_0)$. The magnetic moment starts to rotate about the y' axis in the x'z plane as shown in Fig. 4(b) in the rotating coordinate system. θ is no longer constant in this case and changes as a function of time as $\theta = 2\pi f_r t + \theta_0$, where θ_0 is the initial angle and f_r is the repetition rate given by

$$2\pi f_{\rm r} = \gamma h_{\rm rf} \tag{8}$$

In a fixed coordinate system this means that first the precession is accelerated absorbing the electromagnetic wave power with increasing amplitude of μ_x and μ_y and with decreasing μ_z , and then with decreasing amplitude of μ_x and μ_y and with increasing μ_z toward the -z direction as shown in Fig. 4(c) as the trajectory of the top of the moment. As soon as μ completely points in the -z direction, it returns until μ points in the z direction emitting electromagnetic wave power this time. Neither absorption nor emission occurs on average. Usually f_r is much smaller than f_0 , so the real precession is not like that in Fig. 4(c), (i.e., f_0 is 10^4 times greater than 1 cycle of f_r). This phenomenon is called magnetic resonance in general and more directly electron spin resonance (ESR) or nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) depending on which moment is in question. Magnetic resonance occurs when the frequency of the ac field coincides with the Larmor frequency.

As mentioned earlier, the magnetic moment of an electron is caused by the angular momentum of the electron. If one calculates μ classically, assuming that an electron is a uniformly charged sphere with radius r rotating with angular frequency ω , then μ is obtained as

$$\mu = -\frac{\mu_0 e \omega r^2}{2} = -\frac{\mu_0 e}{2m_{\rm e}} L \tag{9}$$

where e and m_e are the charge and mass of an electron, respectively, and $L = m_e \omega r^2$ is the angular momentum of an electron. We now must introduce quantum mechanics. According to this theory, L must be given by $L = s\hbar$ using Planck's constant \hbar , where s is called the spin angular momentum quantmum number or simply the spin and s = 1/2. This means an angular momentum of an electron can be only $\hbar/2$ or $-\hbar/2$. From the theory of quantum mechanical electrodynamics, however, it has been shown that g_e must be multiplied by Eq. (9) for the magnetic moment of an electron μ_e and spin s is

$$\mu_{\rm e} = g_{\rm e} \mu_{\rm B} s \tag{10}$$

where

$$\mu_{\rm B} = -\frac{\mu_0 e \hbar}{2m_{\rm e}} = 1.165 \times 10^{-29} [{\rm Wb} \cdot {\rm m}] \tag{11}$$

is the unit of the magnetic moment of an electron and is called the Bohr magneton. The energy of the magnetic moment in a field is $-\mu_e H$, which is called Zeeman energy. Then the Hamiltonian described by the energy in quantum mechanics is written as

$$\mathbf{H} = -g_{\mathbf{e}}\mu_{\mathbf{B}}Hs\tag{12}$$



Figure 5. Schematic energy levels of a spin in magnetic field.

Because of s = 1/2 for an electron, only eigenstates of $\pm 1/2$ are allowed. The energy states are then shown in Fig. 5(a), and the energy difference between these two levels is

$$\Delta E = g_{\rm e} \mu_{\rm B} H \tag{13}$$

In an electromagnetic wave whose frequency satisfies $\hbar\omega = \Delta E$, the electron at the ground state is excited to the upper state absorbing the electromagnetic wave energy as shown in Fig. 5(b) and then immediately comes back to the ground state emitting an electromagnetic wave as shown in Fig. 5(b) because the transition probabilities of both transitions are identical. No energy dissipation occurs in this model. This phenomenon corresponds to that explained in Fig. 4. Equation (5) is also obtained from this argument. In the case of a proton, g_e and μ_B must be replaced by $g_N = 2.7896$ and

$$\mu_{\rm N} = \frac{\mu_0 e \hbar}{2m_{\rm p}} \tag{14}$$

where m_p is the mass of proton. In this case, $\gamma_N = -g_N \mu_N /\hbar$ is positive because the charge of the proton is positive. In the case of an electron in an atom, it has an orbital motion around the nucleus, and it also contributes to the magnetic moment. But it is not mentioned here for simplicity.

In real materials, the magnetic resonance phenomenon is more complicated because an electron or a nucleus is located in an atom or a molecule and is no longer free. In this case, we deal with the magnetic moment *m*, which is the average or sum of all moments on lattices in the material. Each magnetic moment in a material interacts with other moments on other lattices and with lattice vibrations (phonons). These interactions cause the relaxation phenomenon, which is another important aspect of magnetic resonance. Because of the relaxation, energy dissipation occurs in the resonance condition, and we can observe the magnetic resonance as the absorption of applied electromagnetic wave power. If a magnetic moment undergoes friction during precession, the amplitude of oscillation is supposed to damp and finally the moment becomes parallel to the



Figure 6. (a) *z* component of *m* increases up to m_0 in a time scale of T_1 . (b) All moments start simultaneously at t = 0, but they diffuse in a time scale of T_2 . m_1 , m_2 , ..., m_i are each moment.

z axis as shown in Fig. 6(a) instead of as shown in Fig. 3. In this case, m_z increases as a function of time t and reaches full length $m_0 = |m|$ finally. Assuming that the time rate is constant and defined as T_1 , one can rewrite the equation of motion given by Eq. (2) as

$$\frac{dm_z}{dt} = -\frac{m_0 - m_z}{T_1} \tag{15}$$

and obtain $m_0 - m_2 = \Delta m \exp(-t/T_1)$, where Δm is the initial difference. Because this damping comes from the interaction between spin motion and lattice vibration and then corresponds to direct dissipation of energy to the lattice, T_1 is called as "spinlattice relaxation time" or simply pronounced "tee-one." On the other hand, the x, y components of the averaged magnetic moment m_x and m_y have a finite magnitude when each magnetic moment starts to rotate about the z axis simultaneously at t = 0. However, because of interactions between magnetic moments (mainly magnetic dipole interaction), the local magnetic field acting on each magnetic moment and consequently the Larmor frequency varies from site to site in the material. Then the phase of precession of each magnetic moment randomly distributes, as shown in Fig. 6(b). This effect results in decay of the x, y components of the averaged magnetic moment m_r and $m_{\rm y}$, which finally becomes 0. The characteristic time of this decay is defined as T_2 , and this is considered to be faster than T_1 because T_2 also includes the energy dissipation effect in addition to the dephasing effect of precession. This effect modifies Eq. (3) as

$$\frac{dm_x}{dt} = \gamma m_y H_0 - \frac{m_x}{T_2}, \qquad \frac{dm_y}{dt} = \gamma m_x H_0 - \frac{m_y}{T_2} \qquad (16)$$

Equations (15) and (16) are called the Bloch equations. From these equations, one can easily obtain

$$m_{x} + im_{y} \propto \exp\left(-i\omega_{0}t - \frac{t}{T_{2}}\right)$$
$$= \left[\cos(\omega_{0}t) - i\,\sin(\omega_{0}t)\right]\exp\left(-\frac{1}{T_{2}}\right) \quad (17)$$

where $\omega_0 = \gamma H_0$ is used. T_2 is called the spin-spin relaxation time or simply "tee-two." This is the same as a damping oscillation. The general theory, which deals with the relaxation phenomenon more exactly, is difficult and more complicated. Because of these relaxation phenomena, the magnetic moment



Figure 7. Spectrum of damping oscillation is Lorentzian.

finally points to the z direction even if it starts to precess from some angle θ , and the magnitude of m is not kept constant during the precession because of the difference of T_1 and T_2 . When an ac field $h_{rf} e^{i\omega t}$ is applied perpendicularly to the z direction. the averaged magnetic moment m, which first points into the *z* direction starts to rotate at $\omega = \gamma H_0$ and θ increases. If $(\gamma h_{\rm rf} T_1 T_2)^2 \ll 1$ (usually this condition is valid for ESR), not like Fig. 4(c), the Larmor precession becomes stationary, and the tilting angle θ is small. If $(\gamma h_{\rm rf} T_1 T_2)^2 \gg 1$ (sometime this condition is valid for NMR), the Larmor precession is similar to Fig. 4(c). It is, however, complicated to solve the equation of motion precisely. It should be emphasized in this case that applied power of the ac field is absorbed at resonance condition by the spin system, and the absorbed power transmitted as lattice vibrations of the material via the relaxation mechanisms. This process results in temperature increase of the material. Resonance occurs not only exactly at $\omega = \nu H_0$ but also at frequencies near $\omega = \gamma H_0$. The distribution of the resonant frequency, namely response intensity or spectrum of the characteristic oscillation as a function of ω , is obtained by the Fourier transformation of Eq. (17) as

$$\frac{1(\omega) \propto \frac{1}{(\omega - \omega_0)^2 + \left(\frac{1}{T_0}\right)^2} \tag{18}$$

and it shows a Lorentzian line shape with a half width of $\Delta \omega = 1/T_2$ (or full half width $2/T_2$) as shown in Fig. 7. By sweeping frequency of the electromagnetic wave and by observing the power dissipation in the material as a function of frequency, one can see that magnetic resonance with a line shape of Fig. 7 occurs. The experimental method will be discussed later.

ELECTRON PARAMAGNETIC RESONANCE

To observe electron spin resonance, there must be isolated and independent electrons in the system. Namely, the materials we are considering must be composed of atoms or molecules that have magnetic moments. Every atom or molecule, however, does not necessarily have a magnetic moment. Electrons in an atom or in a molecule strongly couple with each other, and usually spin and orbital angular momenta are compensated by making pairs of electrons. For example, a hydrogen atom has only one electron, but it becomes a molecule when coupling with another hydrogen atom, and the angular moments of two electrons in a molecule are directly opposite as shown in Fig. 8. Then the molecule has no magnetic moment.



Figure 8. Electrons in hydrogen molecule moving opposite in an orbit with magnetic moments caused by spins, as indicated by arrows.

The helium atom has two electrons whose spin and orbital angular moments are also compensated. In this manner, the net magnetic moment for most atoms and molecules disappears as a result of pairing by the strong intraatomic or intramolecular electron correlation that cancels spins and orbits. For example, in the case of iron group atoms (i.e., Sc, Ti, V, Cr, Mn, Fe, Co, Ni, and Cu in the periodic table), spin and orbital angular moments of electrons are not compensated because of Hund's rule, which was a result of the quantum mechanics. This means that these atoms have an unpaired electron and have magnetic moments. Figure 9 shows the example of Mn²⁺ and Cu^{2+} . For compounds that have these atoms as divalent or trivalent jons, the magnetic moments are isolated, and ESR can be observed. These ions are called paramagnetic ions and the ESR concerning these ions is called electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR). The atoms belonging to the palladium group, platinum group, and rare earth group also have similar properties. In these ions, the orbital motion of electrons caused by orbital angular momentum creates a magnetic field acting on the magnetic moment caused by spin angular momentum or vise versa. So the orbital angular momentum and spin angular momentum are not completely independent. This effect is called spin-orbit coupling, and this interaction energy is of the order of 10⁻²¹ J. A paramagnetic ion in compounds is usually surrounded by negative ions called anions, which make a strong electric field called a crystalline field on the paramagnetic ion at the center. The energy of the crystalline field for an electron is on the order of 10^{-19} J. The electrons in the paramagnetic ion suffer electric fields from both the central nucleus and surrounding anions, and the motion of the electrons are no longer simple orbital motions. This effect gives rise to a reduction of orbital angular momentum, which is called quenching. Then the contribution of the orbital angular momentum to the magnetic moment is small and the magnetic moment μ per ion is usually



Figure 9. Electrons in 3d orbit in Mn^{2+} and Cu^{2+} ions.

expressed as

$$\mu = g\mu_{\rm B}S\tag{19}$$

where S is the total spin. This is, for example, S = 5/2 or S = 1/2 for our Mn^{2+} or Cu^{2+} ion, respectively, as easily is understood by Fig. 9. g is the so-called g-value, which reflects the effects of spin-orbit coupling and the crystalline field and is different from g_e depending on the material.

Paramagnetic ions in a crystal interact with each other by dipole interaction and exchange interaction. These interactions give rise to dephasing of Larmor precession, as mentioned previously, and result in the width of the absorption line as $1/T_2$. If the dipole interaction is dominant, the half width is approximately given by

$$\Delta \omega = 1/T_2 \cong \omega_{\rm d} \tag{20}$$

where ω_d is the sum of dipole interaction divided by \hbar . The sum is over all magnetic moments on the crystal lattice. If the exchange interaction is larger than the dipole interaction, the half width is approximately given by

$$\Delta \omega = 1/T_2 \cong \omega_d^2/\omega_e \tag{21}$$

where ω_e is the nearest neighbor exchange interaction divided by \hbar .

The unpaired electron is also realized in organic materials as the free radical, in semiconductors as the donor or acceptor impurity, and in color centers as some special molecules like O_2 or NO. By studying EPR, one can obtain microscopic information about materials via *g*-value and line width.

HOW TO OBSERVE EPR (EXPERIMENTAL METHOD)

A simple method to observe EPR is described here. The equipment necessary for this experiment is an oscillator, a detector, a cavity, and a magnet. The Larmor frequency of electron spin is in the microwave region at an easily available magnetic field, namely B = 0.1 to 1 T, as discussed, see Eqs. (5) and (7). The most popular way is to use X-band microwaves whose wave length is around 3 cm because the size of microwave components is moderate, and the resonance field is about 0.3 T. A Gunn oscillator with detector is now commercially available and most convenient for this purpose. This oscillator is commonly used for detection of speeding automobiles by policemen. Assemble the equipment as Fig. 10(a). The Gunn oscillator is connected with a short wave guide and terminated by a cavity. First, operate the Gunn oscillator and tune the cavity by moving a plunger so as to resonate at the oscillator frequency. A sample [A small amount of DPPH (α, α -diphenyl- β -pictyl hydrazyl) may be good as a test sample] is put in advance on the bottom of the cavity where the high-frequency magnetic field is strongest. Install the cavity between the poles of the magnet as shown in Fig. 10(b). A low-frequency ac (50 Hz or high) field of a few hundred microteslas must be superposed on the main dc field by modulation coils. Then sweep a magnetic field up to about 0.3 T. In this discussion, the absorption spectrum is given as a function of frequency at constant field. In the real experiment, however, changing frequency is so difficult that usually a magnetic field is swept at constant frequency. The detected



Figure 10. Experimental set-up to observe EPR.

signal through an amplifier is displayed on an oscilloscope as shown in Fig. 10(c). The resonance absorption line is obtained as a function of magnetic field and the half width of the resonance line must be converted by

$$\Delta H = \frac{\Delta \omega}{\gamma} \tag{22}$$

FERROMAGNETIC RESONANCE

In the case of ferromagnetic materials, all magnetic moments point to same direction below a certain temperature T_c because of the strong exchange interaction among magnetic moments. The transition temperature T_c is called the Curie temperature. At a temperature sufficiently below T_c , the average magnetic moment *m* saturates and the total magnetic moment *M* of the specimen is given by

$$M = Ng\mu_{\rm B}S\tag{23}$$

where N is the magnetic moment per unit volume in the specimen. The magnitude of M is comparable to the applied flux density $B_0 = \mu_0 H_0$, whereas in the case of paramagnetic materials, the averaged moment m is about 10^{-3} of the saturation moment at room temperature and at 1 T as a result of thermal fluctuation. Then the magnetic moments experience a field produced by themselves pointing in the opposite direction to the applied field. This field is called the demagnetizing field, and it must be taken into account when the equation of motion is solved. The field acting on the magnetic moment M including demagnetizing field is given for each direction as

$$H_x = -N_x M_x$$
, $H_y = -N_y M_y$, $H_z = H_0 - N_z M_z$ (24)

where Ns are the demagnetizing factor and $N_x + N_y + N_z = 1$ and H_0 is parallel to the *z* axis. From the equation of motion

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{M}}{\mathrm{d}t} = \gamma[\boldsymbol{M} \times \boldsymbol{H}] \tag{25}$$

one can obtain the resonance conditions as

$$\frac{\omega}{\gamma} = \sqrt{\{H_0 + (N_y - N_z)M_z\}\{H_0 + (N_x - N_z)M_z\}}$$
(26)

When the sample shape is spherical, $N_x = N_y = N_z = 1/3$, then

$$\frac{\omega}{\gamma} = H_0 \tag{27}$$

In the case of a thin disk, $N_x = 1$, $N_y = N_z = 0$ or $N_x = N_y = 0$, $N_z = 1$ for an applied field parallel or perpendicular to the disk surface, respectively. In the case of a thin rod, $N_x = N_y = 1/2$, $N_z = 0$ or $N_x = 0$, $N_y = N_z = 1/2$ for an applied field parallel or perpendicular to the rod, respectively. To observe the absorption of ferromagnetic resonance, there must be energy dissipation caused by the relaxation mechanism. Different from the case of paramagnetic resonance, however, the magnetic moments are tightly bound to each other, and no dephasing effect in the xyplane is expected. So we cannot define T_2 . Instead, the Landau-Lifshitz damping model is introduced for the ferromagnetic resonance. The equation of motion is described as

$$\frac{d\boldsymbol{M}}{dt} = \gamma[\boldsymbol{M} \times \boldsymbol{H}] - \lambda_{\rm L}[\boldsymbol{M} \times [\boldsymbol{M} \times \boldsymbol{H}]]$$
(28)

where λ_L is the Landau-Lifshitz damping factor. This means that the direction of the second term is perpendicular to the direction of M in the plane made by M and H_0 . Then the motion of the total magnetic moment M is a damping oscillation as shown in Fig. 11. In this case, the length of M is kept constant, whereas in the case of paramagnetic resonance, the relaxation times T_1 and T_2 are independent, and the length of



Figure 11. Direction of Landau-Lifshitz term and precession of ferromagnetic moment M.

the averaged moment m is not constant during the motion. The magnitude of λ is related to the interaction between the motion of magnetic moments and lattice vibration and then the energy of the Larmor precession is transferred to the lattice vibration via this mechanism. The line width of FMR is expressed using this damping factor as

$$\Delta H = \frac{MH_0}{\gamma} \lambda_{\rm L} \tag{29}$$

NUCLEAR MAGNETIC RESONANCE

In the case of nuclear spin, interactions with surrounding electrons, lattice vibration (phonon), other nuclear spins are weak, and a nuclear spin is considered to be almost isolated, which means that ν is almost constant and different from the case of EPR. The magnetic interactions with surrounding electrons can be replaced by the effective field $H_{\rm eft}$ which is included in Eqs. (1) and (5) as additional fields. Interactions also contribute to the change of relaxation time from that of free nucleus. Observing the shift of resonance frequency caused by this effective field and the change of relaxation time, one can obtain information about the microscopic behavior of materials. This is the reason why NMR is so useful as a probe to investigate properties of materials. Every nucleus does not necessarily have nuclear spin, and γ varies depending on the nucleus. All γ are listed in a standard table. NMR of copper nucleus is useful to investigate high $T_{\rm c}$ superconductors composed of copper oxide. Mn and Co nucleus are also important to study magnetic properties of materials composed of these atoms.

The most popular nucleus is the proton, which is the nucleus of hydrogen. All materials containing hydrogen show pro-



Figure 12. Schematic view of MRI.

ton NMR. Water is the best example. To investigate molecular structures of organic molecules, polymers, proteins, and other biological materials, the proton NMR is useful and is now being used widely. In these cases, the absorption spectra of proton NMR have a complicated structure as a result interactions with neighboring atoms. By analyzing the structure of spectra, one can determine the molecular structure like neighboring atoms and distance. Because the resolution increases with increasing resonance frequency, high-field and high-frequency MNR is more useful, and now frequencies higher than 750 MHz are available in fields above 17 T by using high homogeneous superconducting magnets.

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is well known as an important tool in finding tumors or other abnormal tissues in the human body. Every cell in organs contains hydrogen atoms and NMR is observable in any part of the body. But the shift or relaxation time varies depending on the organ. As shown in Fig. 12, a body is placed between the poles of a big magnet and h_{rf} is applied to it. The magnetic field has a gradient with respect to the position of the body, and the NMR is observed at only one point on the body. This gradient field is scanned, and the resonance point moves from head to foot. By analyzing the data by a computer, one can see the structure of the body. If the organ is abnormal, the density and relaxation times of NMR at the affected part are different from those at a normal part. This allows NMR to be used for diagnosis.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- A. Abragam, The Principle of Nuclear Magnetism, New York: Oxford, 1961.
- G. E. Pake, Paramagnetic Resonance. New York: W. A. Benjamin, 1962.
- C. P. Slichter, Principle of Magnetic Resonance. New York: Harper & Row, 1963.

MITSUHIRO MOTOKAWA Tohoku University

SUPERCONDUCTING MAGNETS, QUENCH PROTECTION

Superconducting magnets are subject to thermal instability, leading to the loss of superconductivity, known as quench, in which the critical values of field, temperature, and current density are exceeded and fail to recover. This phenomenon generally begins in a localized region of the coil, then spreads to the rest of the magnet or magnet system with a "quench propagation velocity." All magnets use some form of composite superconducting wire, in which superconducting filaments carry current in parallel with normal conductor, known as the stabilizer. The stabilizer has the dual purpose of preventing quench in the face of disturbances and of protecting the magnet from excessive temperatures and pressures when unwanted quenches occur. Following a quench, current rapidly transfers from the superconducting material to the stabilizer, since composites are always designed so that the resistance of the stabilizer is much less than that of the superconducting material in its normal state.
In the case of a quench, it is almost never possible to allow continued operation at constant current without unacceptable temperature rises in the magnets. The current must be reduced to zero and the stored energy in the magnet eliminated, either by absorbing the energy within the magnet or by dumping the energy externally. If the energy is dumped externally, it may be absorbed in either warm, generally room temperature, dump circuits, or in cold, generally liquid helium temperature, dump circuits. Some magnets have sufficient enthalpy in their stabilizer and magnetically coupled passive structures to absorb their own stored energy without excessive temperature or pressure rises. In fact, most magnets have sufficient energy, if the ratio of peak local heating to average global heating can be held to acceptably low levels. The peak/average ratio can be controlled by design either by activating internal resistive or inductive heaters or by rapidly dumping or heating all helium coolant in order to guarantee that large portions of the coil will heat up together. The other method of protecting magnets is to dump the magnet energy into an external resistor. This requires an absolutely reliable method of interrupting current flow from the power supply and diverting it into the dump resistor. Both methods require reliable and rapid detection of a quench.

The fundamental limit on protecting magnets against quench is the detection of that quench. This can be particularly difficult in the case of coils in an electromagnetically noisy environment, pulsed coils, and multicoil systems. It is also difficult when the coils are very conservatively stabilized, as is often the case for very large coil systems and buswork. Quench detection systems can be active or passive. Active systems usually involve some sort of balanced voltage bridge. The signal/noise ratios of voltage bridges can be improved by using cowound sensors and active cancellation. Passive systems use transformer-fed heaters to trigger superconducting switches or voltage thresholds to trigger cold diodes.

In order to size a magnet for protection, it is usually necessary to know something about the physics of quench propagation. Different physical theories are needed to predict the spread of quench in potted, pool-boiling, and cable-in-conduit superconductors (CICC). Because of the difficulties in predicting disturbances, initial quench zones, and quench propagation, a conservative design criterion is to assume that local hot spots are adiabatic and that all energy must be dumped externally. For internal quenching, the maximum time to heat a long quench zone with a cowound or surface heater has to be known.

The problem of magnet quench protection is a subset of the generic problem of magnet protection, (1) during normal operation, (2) off-normal conditions such as quench, and (3) faults, whether in the coil, bus, or power supply. The two most fatal flaws are mechanical rupture and electrical arcing. They are often preceded by excessive displacement and/or partial electrical discharges and leakage currents. Flaws that are sometime repairable can end a magnet's useful life when cracks cause leakage of helium under pressure, leakage current causes enough heat to quench the magnet, or displacements create unacceptable field errors. All of the structural design may be considered as part of the magnet protection design. This subject is too vast to be treated here, but should be discussed for specific applications in the articles on superconducting magnetic energy storage, motors/generators, fusion, and magnetic resonance imaging magnets. The design for electrical integrity will be discussed here, since it isn't discussed elsewhere and because the internal and external voltages during a quench dump are usually significantly higher than those during normal operation.

Finally, we briefly review the actual history of failures to protect magnets. Case histories provide a cautionary tale: this article can only go so far in helping to protect magnets, since most failures are caused by mental lapses that are frequently not design errors.

COIL PROTECTION CIRCUITS

When a superconducting magnet quenches, all of its magnetic energy is converted into heat. If a magnet has enough total mass to absorb the heat and is small enough to guarantee that a quench will propagate into a large fraction of the magnet, then no protection circuits are needed, except to disconnect the power supply, when the current isn't freely circulating. However, when the magnet is too large and stores too much energy to guarantee completely passive protection, some active measure must be taken. The main distinctions between the most commonly used coil protection circuits are whether the dump resistors are internal or external to the cryostat and whether the quench detection is triggered by active logic or passive breakdown of a switch. External dump resistors usually correspond to the design philosophy of saving the magnet by depositing almost all of the energy into a large, inexpensive structure at room temperature. Internal dump resistors are usually designed to lower the peak local to average heating of the magnet to a manageably low level.

External Dump

Neumeyer has recently reviewed the external quench protection circuits for superconducting magnets (1). He schematizes the basic external dump circuit as shown in Fig. 1. The magnet is represented by an inductance L, while the mutual inductance M, and the coupled inductance and resistance, L_i and R_i , represent the sum of all coupled magnets and passive conducting structures in the magnet system. The external dump circuit consists of a power supply, a closing switch CS, to shunt out the power supply during quench dump, an opening switch OS to interrupt magnet current, and a dump resistor $R(\Omega)$. The basic principle is that the dump resistor is much, much larger than the resistance of the magnet normal zone, so that almost all of the energy is deposited, at room temperature, in a resistor sized to safely absorb all of the magnet energy.

Leads to the dump resistor should generally be coaxial, in order to minimize the voltage overshoot, due to $L_{\text{leads}} dI/dt$.



Figure 1. Simple dump circuit schematic [Neumeyer et al. (1)].



Figure 2. Equivalent superconducting magnet quench dump circuits.

Several equivalent simple dump circuits may be used, as shown in Fig. 2. Under normal operation, they all have the same effect on the magnet. The tradeoffs are in cost versus reliability and in the specifics of the power supply and magnet grounding system. A magnet ground/interrupter switch configuration should be selected that allows the switch and magnet to float on a single short to the magnet case ground without drawing large fault currents.

Neumeyer represents a typical counterpulse interrupter with the circuit schematic shown in Fig. 3.

The operating coil current flows through the power supply (PS) and the normally closed switch. When a quench is detected, the counterpulse capacitor C is discharged by closing the switch DS, producing a current zero in OS. The inductor SR is a saturable reactor, which desaturates near current zero, decreasing the dI/dt. This helps to extinguish arcs or to restore voltage-holding capability in a solid-state switch. The key parameter, set by selecting the counterpulse capacitor, is the time during



Figure 3. Typical Artificial Zero Counterpulse Circuit [Neumeyer et al. (1)].

which current must be reversed and held near zero. This is on the order of 10 μ s for vacuum bottle interrupters, 5 μ s to 50 μ s for thyristors, and 50 μ s to 200 μ s for air-blast interrupters. The faster the interrupter clears, the less expensive the counterpulse circuit. For solid-state switches with antiparallel diodes, the energy stored in the commutating capacitor must be

$$\frac{1}{2}CV_{c}^{2} = \frac{1}{2}t_{\rm off}\frac{V(0)I(0)}{\sin\alpha}(\pi - 2\alpha)$$
(1)

where t_{off} is the specified time during which reverse voltage is maintained across the solid-state switch (s), α is the phase angle in radians when the switch current is zero, and V(0) = I(0) R.

The alternative to counterpulsed circuits are dc switches that can sustain a high enough voltage to force current zero without a resonant pulse. Here, the opening switch develops a high enough arc or resistive voltage to drive the device current close enough to zero to extinguish itself and shunt the current to a dump resistor. The most commonly used forced current zero devices are air-blast breakers and explosive switches. The airblast breakers use a blast of compressed air and rapidly parting contacts to create a very long, contorted arc with high-voltage and a high tendency to quench. The blast also cools and further constricts the arc. Explosive switches use a redundant number of explosive charges and small arcs with a moderately high voltage in each arc. Both types of switch can also be counterpulsed to increase the probability of current interruption. However, even in a forced-current zero circuit with no capacitor, an inductor is still needed as a snubber, in order to limit the dV/dtrise across the superconducting magnet, as discussed next.

Interrupters. In order to protect a superconducting magnet with an external dump resistor, an absolutely reliable current interruption switch is needed. Several current interruption switches have been used in magnet design for quench dump or other high voltage pulses. Whatever technology is selected, the interrupters will usually have two opening switches in series in order to provide adequate reliability. The dump strategy will then be either to open both series switches at once or to detect a failure to open in a nondestructive opening switch (e.g., a solid-state switch), then to open a more reliable but destructive switch (e.g., a series explosive switch). An interrupter may also include a switch to shunt conductor current during normal operations in order to reduce the steady-state ampacity requirement of the main interrupter. In this case, the high-current, inexpensive, normally closed mechanical switch transfers current into the quench dump interrupter after quench detection. The interrupter then carries the magnet current only as long as is needed to open and transfer its current to the external dump resistor.

Interrupting switch technologies include:

- 1. Thyristor breakers with counterpulse circuits
- 2. Mechanical breaker (air, air blast, vacuum, vacuum and magnetic field)
- 3. Explosively actuated breaker (fuse and fuseless)
- 4. Water cooled fuses (activated by water flow interruption)
- 5. Gate turn off (GTO) thyristor breaker
- 6. Insulated gate bipolar transistor (IGBT) switches
- 7. Superconducting switches

Turn-on switches that are used for the counterpulse circuit include:

- 1. Ignitrons
- 2. Thyristors
- 3. Vacuum switches

In the past, mechanical interrupters were favored for large magnets, because of the high power handling capabilities of a single device (e.g., up to 73 kA \times 24 kV in the JET air-blast interrupter (2). However, with mechanical interrupters, the inevitable electrode erosion by current interruption arcs tends to limit the number of reliable operations to $\sim 10^4$ operations with periodic maintenance every 10³ interruptions. The probability of failure (to interrupt current) in a mechanical interrupter has also been typically 10^{-3} to 10^{-4} at best, although this is clearly dependent on the specific design. For example, Yokota reported vacuum bottle tests in which there were five interruption failures in 10,000 interruptions with single bottles and no failures in 10,000 with two seriesed bottles (3). Clearly, any degree of reliability can be achieved with mechanical switches with adequate redundancy and maintenance. However, high-reliability requirements are usually met by the use of solid-state devices. Because they have no moving parts and are erosion-free, their lifetimes can easily exceed 10⁶ operations, limited only by thermal fatigue. While individual solid-state devices used to be limited to the range of $1 \text{ kV} \times 1 \text{ kA}$, it is now possible to purchase thyristors with ratings of 6 kA \times 6 kV. In the case of thyristor solid-state switches, the reliability of interruption will probably be set by the counterpulse circuit with the failure mechanism being either capacitor burnout or failure to close of the counterpulse circuit switch. The counterpulse circuit and its reliability limitations can be eliminated by the use of GTOs. They have always had less power-switching capability than normal thyristors, but are currently available with ratings of 3.3 kV \times (4 kA, turn-off, 1.2 kA, ss). A new technology, IGBTs, is beginning to



Figure 4. An arc-free current interrupter with pulse-rated solid-state components.

be used in high-power applications requiring fast switching, with device ratings up to 3 kV \times (1.2 kA, turn off \times 400 A, ss). IGBTs can be switched an order of magnitude faster than conventional thyristors, making them useful in switching converters that reduce the amount of filtering or voltage ripple on the magnets.

Explosive fuses are now capable of operating with very high reliability. They are inexpensive and incorporate redundancy in a single unit by including several in series explosive charges and arcs. They are frequently counterpulsed for further redundancy. Explosive fuses have the particular problem that they won't interrupt currents below a certain level. They are therefore most appropriately used in quasi-steady-state operations, in which low current quench is highly unlikely, or in those magnets that can guarantee passive internal absorption of the quench energy. They also favor applications where quench is highly unlikely, because they can only be used once.

A clever hybrid was proposed by Kuchinski to minimize the total cost of mechanical and solid-state interrupters (4), as shown in Fig. 4. This circuit allows all of the solid-state components to be pulse rated, while eliminating arcing in all of the mechanical components. S1 and S2, low-voltage mechanical switches, carry the magnet operating current. To interrupt, the thyristor T1 fires, suppressing any arcs, while S1 opens. T2 fires to initiate the counterpulse through T1 that turns it off. With D and T2 carrying magnet current with a low voltage drop, S2 opens. Then the vacuum switch is ignited to provide the reverse counterpulse through T2 to switch it off. All switches are interrupted and magnet current flows through the dump resistor.

Dump Resistors. The most common dump resistor is a meander of steel bars. Alternative dump resistor concepts include:

Dump Resistor	Advantages
Steel bars in air	Simplicity, cost, maintainability
Steel bars or ribbon in water (5)	Simplicity, energy density
Liquid rheostats (6)	Energy density, elimination of solid structure;
Voltage clamps (Zeners, MOVs, ZnO)	Disadvantage: negative temperature coefficient
	Faster dump for fixed peak voltage;
	Disadvantage: High cost/Joule



Figure 5. Series interleaf protection circuits [Dudarev et al. (8)].

The voltage across a linear resistor declines with the current. Since electrical integrity is limited by voltage, it would be more efficient to use a resistor that discharged at constant voltage. With a perfect voltage source, either the peak dump voltage could be lowered by one-third or the dump time could be improved one and a half times. This can be approximated by highly nonlinear resistors, such as Zener diodes, Metal Oxide Varistors (MOVs) or Zinc Oxide (ZnO) arresters (7). At very high energy levels, these are prohibitively expensive. An inexpensive alternative with a useful degree of nonlinearity is stainless steel, which has a resistance temperature coefficient of ~0.001/K. If the temperature of a stainless steel resistor is allowed to rise 500 K by the end of a dump, its resistance will have increased by 50%. With nickeliron alloys, the resistance can be quadrupled by the end of a pulse (1).

External Quench of Multiple Magnets. Both magnets and switches are limited in voltage and current. When a magnet system becomes too large, the dump circuit must subdivide into several parallel, series, or independent circuits. A particularly elegant circuit topology is that of the series interleaf, used in the tokamak systems T-15 and the Tokamak Fusion Test Reactor (TFTR), a normal magnet system. The series interleaf connection is shown in Fig. 5 (8).

This circuit has two advantages over independent or parallel protection circuits. With the interleaf, the voltage drops alternatively up and down, because of the alternation of superconducting inductors and external resistors, as shown in Fig. 6. This prevents high voltage from building up through the coil system, as it would do if there was only a single dump resistor. If the large coil system had simply been broken into the same number of independent or parallel dump circuits, there would be a possibility of unbalanced currents and forces, during a quench dump. With a floating power supply, the interleaf circuit also prevents unbalanced forces during a single ground fault.

Alternative options for dumping energy in a mutually coupled multicoil system are summarized in the table.

Dump Strategy Dump all coils in series	Advantages Simplicity, no unbalanced currents or forces even with single ground fault	Disadvantages High terminal voltage
Dump all coil in series interleaf	No unbalanced currents or forces even with single ground fault; low voltage	As many VCLs and dump circuits as interleafs
Dump all coils in parallel; dump all coils independently	Low voltage; independent control	Possibility of unbalanced currents and forces; large number of VCLs; least reliable for given component reliability
Dump faulted coil externally; other coils remain in persistent mode (ORNL EPR)	Smallest refrigeration requirement for recool	Overcurrents in persistent magnets when coupled to dump coil

Internal Dump

Magnets are dumped internally when it is desirable to eliminate helium loss through the vapor-cooled leads and when terminal voltages have to be severely limited, as with commercial products, such as MRI magnets, where users have to be in the same room as the magnet. The least aggressive action that is typically taken with a pool-boiling magnet is simply to disconnect the superconducting coil from the power-supply and allow its current to die down slowly as it freewheels through a superconducting switch or normal joint. This would be an appropriate response to a low liquid-level reading, in which an active dump might do more harm than good.

Cold dump resistors may still be either internal or external to the magnet. That is, a large fraction of the energy can be deposited into resistors or diodes that are outside of the magnet, but inside the cryostat. However, since there is now no benefit in refrigeration or cooldown requirements in removing energy from the magnet, it is almost always desirable to return as much of the heat as possible to the magnet, thereby creating longer quench zones and more uniform heat deposition with the magnet. This can be done by making the resistive element a heater, closely coupled to the outer layer of the magnet or cowound with the magnet superconductor.

Cold Dump Circuits. In a cold dump circuit, either the interrupter or the resistor or both will be inside the cryostat at the magnet temperature. Cold switches include superconducting switches and fuses, cold diodes, and cold transistors. Cold resistors include cowound, insulated normal metal, surface



Figure 6. Series interleaf circuit dump waveform [Dudarev et al. (8)].

heaters, and power dissipation in the switch itself. One benefit of having all elements of the dump circuit cold, when the switch is superconducting, is that the vapor-cooled leads can be detached, allowing current to circulate losslessly in the magnet. Cold heaters have two additional benefits, especially when they are cowound through the entire magnet. They can prevent hot spots by reducing the peak local/average heating, and they can also cancel the dI/dt voltage of the magnet with the resistive voltage, greatly reducing internal voltages in the coil. Both the thermal peaking factor and the internal voltage can be reduced by orders of magnitude from the external dump option in a well-designed internal dump circuit.

The disadvantage of a cold resistor is that all of the magnet energy is absorbed at cryogenic temperature, greatly increasing the time and cost for recool. Therefore, strings of accelerator magnets, which involve a very large number of magnets and training (see SUPERCONDUCTORS, STABILITY IN FORCED FLOW) quenches, use cold switches, but dump externally in order to achieve a large number of rapid cooldowns. CICC magnets and absolutely stable pool-boiling magnets are not supposed to quench. If they do, the engineering postmortem would generally take more time than cooldown, and recool is not a major consideration. The disadvantage of a cold switch is that the power-handling capability of an individual switch is much smaller than that of a warm switch. Above approximately 200 V \times 15 kA, cold-switching becomes impractical.

Cold switches can be triggered actively or passively. Cold diodes begin to conduct when a forward voltage higher than a threshold is applied. Cold transistors begin to conduct when a forward voltage higher than the turn-on voltage is applied to their base. The transistor gain allows them to be over an order of magnitude more sensitive than the diodes. Superconducting switches can be driven normal by external heaters or induction coils, coupled closely with the switch. These triggers may either be driven from a small, external power supply, or be driven passively by the magnetic induction of the quench itself.

A fully actively driven resistor doesn't actually require any switch. Usually, the entire magnet can be driven normal, by applying heat that is less than 1–2% of the magnet stored energy. A small external circuit can drive the current in a cowound resistor or a heating pad on the outer layer in order to ensure a large quench zone. A totally nonresistive method for creating a long quench in a large coil has also been proposed, in which helium would be rapidly drained from the cryostat (9). Advantages and disadvantages of each method are listed in the table.

Cold Dump Circuit	Advantages	Disadvantages
Metal strips	Low \$/kg; uniform heating easy	Extremely massive, bulky
Superconducting switches	Ideal for low energy coils with persistent currents	Much too expensive for large coils; both massive and high \$/kg
Superconducting fuses	Can develop higher voltage, faster dump than supercon- ducting switches	Much too expensive for large coils
Internal resistive heaters	Guarantee uniform heating of coil, without imposing high quench propagation velocities. High degree of redundancy can be designed in. No bulky dump structures outside coil	Extraction of leads from CICC must be leaktight, resistive drop must be low enough to prevent arcing within sensor
Fast helium drain to induce global quench	No bulky dump structures outside coil	Slower, less uniform heating of coil than resistive heater. Not applicable to CICC

It is our opinion that cowound, resistive heaters have the fewest theoretical limits in almost all cases. They will always achieve the least peaking in energy deposition and internal voltage. They can also be used in all applications as advanced quench detection sensors, as discussed below; and they can sometimes be used as structural backing elements.

Cold Switches. A typical cold switch is shown in Fig. 7. Here, by splitting a coil into two halves it is possible to apply a resistive dump voltage to both sides without opening the normally closed switch across the coil as a whole.

In this circuit, the magnets are charged through the power supply, which is then shunted through the normally closed switch, allowing current to circulate through the magnets. If a quench begins in either half of the center-tapped coil, the



Figure 7. A representative dump circuit using cold diodes.

voltage across the switch is zero, but the inductive voltage on the unquenched half is equal and opposite to the inductive and resistive voltage across the quenched half. Above the cold diode threshold of 10 V to 15 V, two of the four diodes begin conducting. The resistor is sized so that its voltage drop is much larger than the 1 V to 1.5 V forward drop across the diode, but small enough to satisfy Underwriter Laboratory safety limits, typically 100 V. The resistor itself might be a heater pad on the outer layer of the winding, inducing a longer quench zone and more uniform heat distribution in the coil.

In the circuit shown in Fig. 8, cold transistors are used, instead of cold diodes, in order to block high voltages during both charging and discharging of the magnet system. Kaerner (10) found that the only active devices blocking bipolar voltages at helium temperatures are NPT (non-punchthrough) IGBTs (Insulated Gate Bipolar Transistors). In 1995, a single device would carry 300 A at 5.9 K and block 1200 V. In this system,



Figure 8. Arrangement of cold bypass switches in toroidal SMES system [Kaerner et al. (10)].



Figure 9. Highly sensitive passive protection circuit: (1) Superconducting magnet, (2) Shunt resistor, (3) Superconducting switch, (4) Main switch heater, (5) Auxiliary switch heater, (6) Secondary winding, (7) Detachable current leads, (8) Current supply [Anashkin et al. (11)].

after quench is detected, the "weak" coil is shunted by the IGBT, the coil is rapidly dumped by internal heaters, then the rest of the coils are ramped down. With this scheme, only 1/n coils of the stored energy has to be dumped at helium temperatures, but there is only one set of vapor-cooled leads.

Probably the most commonly used cold switch is a normally closed superconducting switch. During coil charging, it is held normal by an actively driven heater. The heater is then turned off and frequently the charging leads are then disconnected to reduce losses. These can be used in conjunction with a cold transformer in order to lower the voltage threshold for passive dumping. Anashkin et al. designed a passive circuit that is capable of responding to very low rates of current decay (11). The circuit in Fig. 9 demonstrated a superconducting switch normal transition for a magnet field decay of 2×10^{-4} T/s.

The current decay due to a normal zone induces current in the secondary winding and auxiliary heater which drives the superconducting switch normal. Most of the magnet current is now forced through the shunt resistor. The shunt resistor can be placed either inside or outside the cryostat. An external resistor would be favored for applications with a large number of magnets or expected training quenches, such as accelerator rings, in which cooldown time and refrigeration requirement dominate. Internal placement is favored for very high performance magnets, where the resistor can also be used as a magnet heater to force uniform quench.

QUENCH DETECTION

Superconducting magnets have traditionally used relatively simple methods for detecting a quench. Voltage taps on the



Figure 10. Quench detection bridge circuit [Purcell et al. (12)].

surface of a winding are the most common, and changes in temperature, pressure, and flow have also been used, sometimes as supplements to voltage taps. These methods become inadequate when a magnet has to operate in a strongly pulsed field. The problem of induced noise voltage is exacerbated by large size and large transients in flow or temperature. In the future of large commercial systems, requiring high reliability, quench detection is likely to be the weak link in the magnet protection system. While series redundancy can provide arbitrarily high reliability in external protection circuits, it will require advanced concepts to guarantee high signal-noise ratio, rapid detection, along with leak-free and discharge-free quench detection under all operating conditions.

Voltage Sensors

Conventional Voltage-Taps and Bridges. The voltage across a coil or a section of a coil is measured by tapping into the external surface of the conductor through the insulation. This is commonly done at sections of the winding pack that are physically close to each other, in order to avoid unnecessary inductive pickup, but which may still have significant voltages between

them, such as the voltage across two layers or two pancakes. This method, being the crudest and most likely to be overwhelmed by inductive noise, is used with very slow-charging dc magnets. The signal-noise ratio of voltage taps is most frequently enhanced by the use of a bridge circuit to cancel out the inductive signal. Two nearly equal inductive signals, such as the inductance of two adjacent double pancakes or an external inductance with the same or proportional dI/dt as the coil are put in two arms of the bridge. An external resistance is then balanced against the coil section whose resistance is being measured, and the ramped superconductor signal is zeroed out. Any voltage should then be equal to the resistive drop across the magnet during a quench. A typical bridge circuit design by Purcell (12) is shown in Fig. 10.

Pick-Up Coils. If a coil is connected to a low transient impedance external circuit, it is possible to detect a quench by inductive pickups to an overall magnet change in current. An external dump circuit can then be triggered to accelerate the coil dump. A typical use of a pickup coil quench detector by Sutter (13) is shown in Fig. 11.

A variation on this technique is to place higher-order pickup coils around a superconductor as a multipole antenna (14). During a quench, circulating supercurrents will be suppressed more rapidly than overall current, causing a rapid collapse of diamagnetism in the conductor that can be detected by the antenna. Both techniques have the advantage of not interrupting the coil insulation.

Detection Circuits. The basic detection circuit by St. Lorant (15), shown in Fig. 12, would trigger a quench dump, based on a resistive voltage level that exceeds a preset threshold, typically 10 mV to 200 mV. In a bridge circuit, resistive voltages of either polarity must be expected. Low-pass filters prevent false positive signals due to ambient noise. The comparator is the quench detector itself. The rectifier allows either positive or negative voltages to be used as unipolar digital triggers. A



Figure 11. Use of pickup coil quench detector in the Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory's energy doubler magnet [D. F. Sutter et al. (13)].



Figure 12. Basic quench detection circuit block diagram [S. J. St. (Lorant) et al. (15)].

signal inhibit may be used to prevent quench triggers during coil ramping, and the Schmidt trigger creates a trigger pulse of fixed amplitude and duration.

Advanced Detection Techniques

In a large magnet, the terminal voltage during pulsing may be as high as 5 kV to 25 kV. The POLO coil set a world's record for CICC at 23 kV (16), while recent designs of large CICC coil systems, such as ITER (10 kV), TPX (7.5 kV), and NAVY SMES (10 kV) have specified voltages in this range, while the important pool-boiling Anchorage SMES system is being designed to withstand 4.2 kV. By contrast, a large number of quench simulations have shown that in order to hold hot-spot temperatures to 150 K, a quench must be detected at a threshold voltage of 0.2 V to 1.0 V (17.18). If, as in the TPX design (19), a desired value of signal/noise of 10:1 is specified, the quench detection sensors must be capable of reducing noise levels to $\sim 20 \text{ mV}$ to 100 mV. This implies that the voltage rejection capability of the quench detection system should be on the order of 100,000-500,000:1. Although this may seem optimistic, recent experiments at MIT, the Lawrence Livermore Laboratory, and the Ecole Polytechnique Federale de Lausanne have demonstrated the feasibility of such high levels of voltage noise rejection (17,20).

New techniques that promise the greatest cancellation of inductive noise and the highest signal/noise ratios include the use of internal sensors, digital differencing and signal processing, and fiberoptic temperature sensors.

Advanced Voltage Sensors. Several noise rejection techniques can be used simultaneously in order to obtain ultrahigh system noise rejection. Individual concepts that can be used include:

- 1. Cowinding an insulated voltage sensor with the CICC cable
- 2. Extracting voltage sensors at joints, but terminating them within the winding; thus subdividing the terminal voltages and localizing quench information, without exacerbating electrical integrity or leak tightness
- 3. Placing the cowound sensor in the part of the cable best calculated to reject transverse, longitudinal, and self-field



Figure 13. Placement of sensors within cable.

voltages. Placement of voltage taps in the center of the final stage subcable was favored by TPX, as shown in Fig. 13 (17)

- 4. Terminating the voltage sensor internally, further localizing and subdividing the winding into sections, and permitting another level of voltage differencing, such as simple differencing and central difference averaging. The two halves of the sensor form one solid wire that can be cabled and wound with the rest of the conductor. A method for forming an internal termination in a continuous sensor is shown in Fig. 14
- 5. Further signal processing, such as using integrated voltseconds, rather than simple voltage thresholds as detection criteria

These techniques are now described in more detail.

A cowound sensor has been used previously on the US-Dual-Purpose Coil (US-DPC) coil, where an insulated wire was wound along an edge of the conduit on the outside (21). A cowound, insulated aluminum strip in the B&W SMES coil is also being used as structural reinforcement. If the sensor is cabled on the inside of the conduit, as shown in Fig. 13, the degree of noise cancellation will improve by at least another order of magnitude. The ITER QUELL (Quench on Long Lengths) experiment demonstrated the cabling and extraction of voltage sensors on the surface of a cable, but inside the conduit, for a 100 m length of conductor. In the QUELL experiment, the rejection of transverse voltage was more than 400 times better than



Figure 14. Two-sided voltage sensor, showing internal termination between two halves.

that of conventional voltage taps (21). Two TPX experiments, one with a copper cable, the other with a NbTi cable, demonstrated cabling of sensors in different positions of a full-scale cable (17). Depending on the sensor position, noise rejection ranged from 600-60,000:1.

Extracting Voltage Sensors at Joints. Joint extraction from the ends of a continuous winding, while difficult, is much less intrusive than extraction every two layers or pancakes through the winding pack. The joints must already be accessible for servicing and capable of accommodating helium stubs and lines and instrumentation feedthroughs. The biggest problem with extracting voltage sensors at the joints is ensuring that they will not leak helium and that they won't be subject to electrical breakdown. The approach to preventing leaks is two-fold: (1) injecting a moderately sized seal area with a mineral-filled sealant, such as Stycast, with a good thermal match to the seal metal, and (2) designing the seal to be long, in compression, and mechanically redundant in terms of interrupting individual microcracks, and (3) made up of a separate, weldable piece that can be thermal shock tested or cycled before installation. A simple version of this joint was demonstrated at MIT that, after two cooldowns to nitrogen, was capable of holding 70 bars on one side and vacuum on the other (17).

Design against electrical breakdown is ensured by designing the CICC itself, so that there can never be 160 V across the voltage sensor. In this case, the sensor insulation will be below the Paschen minimum for helium, irrespective of uncertainties in helium pressure due to leaks or in stray transverse or longitudinal magnetic fields. Almost any large magnet will satisfy this design approach automatically. For example, a normal zone as long as 1 km with a stabilizer current density of 200 A/m² at an average field as high as 13 T, would have a resistive voltage of only 133 V between joints. Depending on the time needed for internal current dump, the current density can be lowered slightly, if needed, in order to compensate for resistivity rising with temperature. This should seldom be necessary.

The surface of the cable is not the best position for emulating the trajectory and therefore the flux linkage of a typical strand in a cable. The best job would be done by a sensor that was cabled into a first triplet, as though it were a strand. The second best position, identified so far, is to place the sensor in the center of the final stage of the cable, which is easier to cable and not vulnerable to conduit broaching or welding. Both positions are far superior to the center of the cable or a natural cabling valley on its surface. Equations for approximating the induced noise voltage for different types of field and sensor placement were derived by Martovetsky (22) and are summarized in Table 1.

Terminating the Voltage Sensor Internally. Internal termination of sensors localizes the signal by subdividing the winding into sections and permits another level of voltage differencing, such as simple differencing and central difference averaging. In TPX, the voltage sensors were terminated internally at 1/6, 1/3, 1/2, 2/3, 5/6, and completion of the distance through the winding pack, as shown in Fig. 15. Even before using differencing techniques, this should further reduce the noise voltage by

	Transverse Field	Self Field	Parallel Field
Wire in center	Grad-B $V = \frac{1}{2} \int_{a}^{L} \frac{\partial \dot{B}_{z}}{\partial r} r_{\text{last stage}}^{2} dl$	$V = \frac{\mu I r^2}{4\pi R^2} L$	$V = \int_{0}^{L} \dot{B}_{h} \sum_{n=1}^{4} \frac{\pi r_{subcable,n}^{2}}{l_{p,n}} dl$
	Geometry $N = d^2$		
	$V = \dot{B} \frac{1}{2}$		
Wire in valley	Grad-B	$V = \frac{\mu IL}{4\pi} - \frac{\mu IL}{12\pi}$	$V = \int^{L} \dot{B}_{\rm H} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{4} \frac{\pi r_{\rm subcahle,n}^{2} \pi r_{\rm cable}^{2}}{\pi r_{\rm cable}^{2}} \right) dt$
	$V = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^L \frac{\partial \dot{B}_z}{\partial r} r_{\text{last stage}}^2 dl$	$4\pi 12\pi$	$\int_0^{\infty} \int_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(l_{p,n} - l_{p,vable} \right)^{-1}$
	Geometry		
	$V = f(\text{Inhom}) \times \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^t \dot{B}_t r_{\text{cable}} dt$		
Wire in triplet	Grad-B	$V = f(Inhom) \times \mu L$	$V = \mathcal{L}(T_{\rm e}, h_{\rm even}) \int_{-\infty}^{L} \frac{4}{5} \frac{\pi r_{\rm subcable, e}^2}{2}$
	$V = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^L \frac{\partial \dot{B}_z}{\partial r} r_{\text{lastatage}}^2 dl$	$v = \gamma(\min(n) \times \frac{12\pi}{12\pi})$	$\mathbf{v} = f(\text{Innom}) \int_0^\infty B_1 \sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{I_{p,n}}{I_{p,n}} dn$
	Geometry		
	$V = f(\text{Inhom}) \times \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{a}^{L} \dot{B}_{l} r_{\text{istat stage}} dl$		
Wire in center	Grad-B	\dots (ult ult)	$r = \left(\frac{l}{r} \sum_{n=1}^{3} \pi r^{2} \text{subcable a } \right)$
of final stage	$V = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Phi}^{L} \frac{\partial \dot{B}_{z}}{\partial r} r_{\text{last stage}}^{2} dl$	$V = \left(\frac{12\pi}{12\pi} - \frac{16\pi}{16\pi}\right)$	$V = \int_0^{\infty} B_{ _{p,n}} \frac{1}{l_{p,n}} dl$
	Geometry		
	$V = f(\text{Inhom}) \times \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\theta}^{L} \dot{B}_{z} r_{\text{instance}} dl$		



Figure 15. Inexpensive voltage sensor concept.

another factor of six, in a way similar to putting voltage taps on each one of six double pancakes. Taking a simple difference between, say, the signal at 1/6 and 1/3 is frequently ineffective, since there may be a systematic gradient through the winding pack due to eddy currents being turned around by a break on one side of the winding pack, but not the other (23). However, central difference averaging, in which one-half the first and third sensor signal are subtracted from the middle sensor, as first proposed by Yeh and Shen (24), can be effective in canceling out gradients. For example, if voltages are measured across double pancakes, the threshold voltage across the first six pancakes would then be $0.5V_{1-2} - V_{3-4} + 0.5V_{5-6}$. In simulations of TPX, the degree of further cancellation using CDA was 5-20 (17). Internal termination has the additional benefit of localizing quench initiation and of following the sequence of quench propagation through a winding pack.

Using a sensor insulation that is compatible with inexpensive seam-welding of the steel capillary tube permits the redundant use of multiple voltage sensors in a cable. Fabrication of sensors with S-glass braid, as shown in Fig. 16, was demonstrated in the QUELL experiment and the ITER CS Model Coil. Some combination of Formvar, teflon, and/or kapton would be used for NbTi. Teflon would probably be most desirable, because of its ability to eliminate seams at modest temperature and pressure, thus eliminating tracking. XMPI Kapton, at higher temperature and pressure, should have even higher performance.

Further Signal Processing, Such as Using Integrated Volt-Seconds, Rather Than Simple Voltage Thresholds as Detection Criteria. This is particularly effective in screening out short disturbances, such as stick-slip, flux jumps, and plasma disruptions. In TPX simulations, an additional factor of 10–20 in signal/noise was achieved by using a volt-second window, instead of a voltage threshold (17). Further improvements in signal/noise ratio through signal processing have been proposed through the use of carrier signals and synchronous detectors.

In summary, although there is clearly a broad range of design specific signals and signal/noise ratios, the following rules of thumb might be used for preconceptual design of a voltage noise reduction system with the goals of achieving a signal/noise level improvement of $>10^5$ (i.e., 10 kV down to 100 mV): Split the winding pack into sections (5–10) × Place internal sensor in cable final stage (100–1000) × central difference



Figure 17. Fiber-optic sensor.

average $(5-10) \times$ filter, integrate, signal process $(5-10) = 10^4$ -10⁶. Two TPX noise injection experiments, one with copper, the other with NbTi cable, demonstrated transverse field noise rejections of up to 60,000 (17). The ITER QUELL coil had both conventional and cowound voltage taps on the outside of the cable in its natural valleys. In this experiment, the voltage rejection of the cowound sensor was 80 times better than that of the noninductive winding with a voltage rejection of 6:1 or 500:1 total. Another noise-rejection method used in ITER of differencing multiple in-hand windings was calculated to achieve noise rejection ratios of 300-400. A better way to normalize the results to design for all noise sources is to show that the V/(km-T/s) are $\ll 1$ for transverse field and $\ll 10$ for parallel and self-field, corresponding to $\ll 1 \text{ V}$ for 1 T/s over a kilometer. Placement of the sensor in the center of the final stage or in a triplet have, so far, met this goal in all experiments.

Advanced Fiberoptic Temperature Sensors. Conventional temperature sensors have a number of disadvantages: they cannot be inserted inside a cable-in-conduit, don't measure cable temperature directly, and have a significant time lag. Like conventional voltage taps, they can't give coverage to a winding without frequent penetration of the insulation system. Furthermore, thermocouples are insensitive at helium temperatures, while carbon glass resistors and resistance temperature detector (RTD) sensors are insensitive at quench temperatures. The use of fiber optic temperature sensors, protected by a steel capillary, as shown in Fig. 17, has several advantages over conventional sensors: (1) They can be inserted directly into the helium flow channel with a very short thermal time constant, (2) they are insensitive to pulsed magnetic fields (25), helium flow, and pressure, (3) they are very small ($<50 \ \mu$ m), so as many fibers as desired can be placed in a single steel can. (4) the length of a fiber between joints is practically unlimited, 50 km being a routine commercial length, and (5) they have great scientific potential in the use of signal processing to provide a complete profile of temperature and field versus length and time.

Fiberoptic temperature sensing works on the principle of measuring optical path length, taking advantage of the temperature dependence of the glass index of refraction. The change in phase from either effect is

$$\Delta \varphi = \frac{2\pi}{\lambda} [n\Delta L + \Delta nL] \tag{2}$$



Figure 16. Six internal voltage sensors, terminated at equal distances through cable.

where $\Delta \phi$ is the phase shift and *n* is the index of refraction.

The major problem with this technique is the rejection of path length changes due to mechanical strain in the glass. One strain-rejection technique is to decouple the glass from the conduit containing it, so that they don't share strain. At M.I.T., a fiber was inserted in a 1.0 mm stainless steel capillary

 Table 2. Sensitivity of Dual-Mode and Dual-Polarity Fiber to

 Temperature and Strain

Method (radians/m-K)		Strain Sensitivity (radians/m-e)
2 Polarities	1.2	$5 imes 10^3$
2 Modes	2.18	$55 imes10^3$
2 Colors	0.1	$0.5 imes10^3$

tube and several turns were wound on an 80 mm steel tube. The assembly was heated to 700°C, then cooled to 4 K without damage, thus demonstrating strain decoupling and the absence of a capstan multiplying effect on fiber tension (26). The QUELL experiment demonstrated that the relatively loose fit of a copper-clad fiber can reduce the strain-sharing by a factor of 10-100. However, mechanical strain was still a dominant effect, since the changes in index of refraction are <1%. It has been demonstrated by Smith that the mechanical strain and temperature-dependent signals can be almost totally decoupled by using two independent signals with different strain and temperature dependences (27). This can be accomplished by the use of polarization maintaining (PM) optical fiber, two color operation, or two mode operation. Each polarity, color, or mode has a different, calibrated ratio of strain and temperature dependence, so that the gain on one phase shift can be adjusted to 'tune out' the strain signal. This method has the additional benefit that it can also be used to measure the integrated conductor strain. Overall system cost-performance analysis indicates that two mode operation will probably be the most costeffective long-term solution. Typical sensitivities are shown in Table 2.

Glass-fiber must be clad in order to prevent the entrance of water during handling. Commercial acrylic fibers are adequate for NbTi, but will not survive Nb₃Sn, NbAl, or BSSCO heat treatments at >600°C. Although the surrounding steel can contain any spattering of the cladding, this solution is, at best, messy. Coatings of copper, gold, or graphite can protect the glass fiber and survive heat treatments. Unjacketed acrylic coatings should be used outside of the joint region, so that high-voltage cryostat feedthroughs won't be necessary.

The same design principles of internal termination applied to voltage sensors within a winding pack apply to fiber optic temperature sensors. If they are internally terminated by sputtering mirrors on polished cuts, as shown in Fig. 18, the integrated noise temperatures are reduced by the number of subdivisions, then reduced further by differencing techniques.

Subdivision also allows greater localization of quench events. In the special case of irradiated magnets, it also helps keep the signal attenuation manageable (<60 dB). The method for subdividing a fiber is to cut the fiber at the desired length, polish and silver the end. The fiber end is then a mirror and



Figure 18. Internal termination of fiber optic temperature sensor.



Figure 19. Temperature sensitivity of glass fibers.

the laser light signal returns to the splitter and detector to form the information-carrying half of a Michelson interferometer.

After converting phase shifts to voltages, the same signal processing concepts used for voltage sensors can also be used for fiber optics. Integrating the number of fringe shifts over a time window, such as one second, can achieve an order of magnitude improvement in signal-noise ratio. The signal-noise ratio of the fiber optic quench detector is naturally enhanced by the increase in sensitivity with rising temperature. Simulations of quench and disturbances in TPX showed minimum signal/noise ratios of 600:1 for quench detection within a second (26). This was both within design criteria and superior to internal voltage sensors. The temperature sensitivity of the fibers has been measured with and without cladding and can be characterized by an initial quadratically increasing fringe count according to the equation:

$$\int_{5}^{T} a \, dT = 1.75T^2 - 17.5T + 43.25; \, 5K < T < 9K$$
 (3)

The increasing sensitivity saturates at about 15 fringes/m-K, and then only increases to about 25 fringes/m-K at room temperature, as shown in Fig. 19.

If the fiber optic sensor is considered to be a lengthtemperature rise integral measurement, the sensitivity is 200 times higher at 30 K than at 5 K. Therefore, a global disturbance that raises the helium temperature throughout a 1 km winding from 5 K to 5.2 K will give a signal that is smaller than a quench that raises 1 m of conductor to 30 K.

For an unclad fiber, the sensitivity is almost exactly onetenth that of a clad fiber, the thermal strain of the plastic cladding acting as an amplifier of the temperature signal. The curves in Fig. 19 can be used for design of temperature sensors with NbTi; but fringes/m-K should be multiplied by 0.1 for design with Nb₃Sn.

Fiber optic sensors would use the same sort of prefabricated and pretested seal as the voltage sensors. However, a few inches of clearance would be needed between a joint and the initial position of the seal piece, in order to use a handheld field splicer. The optical fiber can then be coiled into the pocket of the seal piece.

Quench Detection Conclusions

1. Fiber optic temperature sensors and internal voltage sensors have been shown by simulation and experiment to improve signal/noise ratios in quench detection systems by several orders of magnitude.

- A leak-free method for extracting sensors has been demonstrated, and a redundant and replaceable sealing system has been designed.
- 3. A method for coil/sensor electrical design has been defined that is robust against arbitrary helium pressures and magnetic fields. Enormous safety margins are feasible with NbTi and fused teflon or kapton insulation.
- 4. Advanced quench detection sensors can also be used as scientific instruments, measuring the internal properties of CICC conductors.

MAGNET PROTECTION CRITERIA

Adiabatic Protection Criterion

A popular and conservative protection criterion is to assume that there is no heat transfer from the local hot spot where quench is initiated and that all Joule heating is absorbed by the stabilizer. In this case, the relation between the peak allowable hot spot temperature and the J^2t integral of the conductor stabilizer during a coil dump is a unique property of the stabilizer material, usually copper. The maximum allowable current density is then determined by the peak allowable hot spot temperature and the peak allowable terminal voltage for a coil dump. Typical values of peak temperature allowables are 80 K to 200 K. If a coil is completely supported in compression by external structure, as an accelerator coil in a large iron yoke, it is possible to design up to 450 K or the melting point of solder (28). A typical allowable terminal voltage for a poolboiling magnet is 1 kV to 3 kV, and 3 kV to 20 kV for a CICC magnet. However, as discussed in the section on electrical protection, the fundamental limits on voltage for both topologies are strong functions of specific design.

Irrespective of the coil temperature allowables, the selection of the peak terminal voltage fixes the minimum L/R dump time constant (s) at

$$\tau_D = \ge \frac{2W_m}{V_{\max}I_{\text{cond}}} \tag{4}$$

where W_m is the stored energy in the magnet (J), V_{max} is the peak allowable terminal voltage on dump (V), and I_{cond} is the conductor current (A). For a system dumping its energy into a linear external resistor with negligible resistive voltage within the coil system, the magnet current after switching is simply

$$I(t) = I_{op} \exp\left(-\frac{R_D t}{L_m}\right)$$
(5)

where R_d/L_m is the dump time constant τ (s).

Since a quench will not be detected immediately, there is also a delay time before any action is taken. This has sometimes been specified as 1-2 s as a design goal, but it is a function of the signal/noise ratio of the quench detection system, as explained in that section. The allowable current density in the copper then is fixed by the combination of delay plus dump time as

$$j_{0cu}^{2}\left(t_{\text{delay}} + \frac{\tau_{D}}{2}\right) = Z(T_{f}) \tag{6}$$

where t_{delay} is the maximum possible time delay (s), T_f is the final temperature at the end of dump (K), and $G(T_f)$ or, alternatively in some texts $Z(T_f)$, is a property, unique to each material or combination of materials, defined as

$$Z(T_f) = \int_{T_b}^{T_f} \frac{C(T)}{\rho(T)} dT$$
(7)

This integral can also be thought of as the J^2t integral of the current in the conductor during a dump, and is thus usually represented with the units $(A^2/m^4$ -s). An analytical approximation for $G(T_f)$ for copper from a bath temperature of 4.2 K is

$$Z(T_f) = \left(\frac{1363}{T_f + \frac{4173}{T_f + 47.89}}\right) \times 10^{16}$$
(8)

Another way of stating the design constraint, derived by Iwasa and Sinclair (29) defines $Z(T_f)$ as the integral from the detection temperature to the final temperature and models the presence of materials other than substrate by a correction factor *a*, which is the enthalpy change ratio of substrate/all other materials, which can be determined by table lookup or approximated as a volumetric ratio. The maximum allowable current density in the substrate is then

$$j_0 = \sqrt{\left(\frac{1+a}{a}\right) \frac{V_D I_0 Z(T_D, T_F)}{E_M}} \tag{9}$$

where V_D is the dump voltage (V), I_0 is the operating current (A), and E_m is the stored energy (J).

Iwasa's *a*-factor can be quickly estimated with a curve of volumetric specific enthalpies and the volumetric ratios of the different constituent materials in a design. The specific enthalpies of copper, aluminum, iron, nickel, niobium, titanium, tin, teflon, helium at 130 kg/m³ and helium at 150 kg/m³ are plotted from 4.5 K to 300 K in Fig. 20.

Copper and nickel are the two best materials above a maximum temperature of 100 K to 120 K. However, there is no more than a factor of two difference between the best and the worst metals. Copper is about 60% better than aluminum; but since aluminum is three times lighter than copper, it is twice as good as copper, if energy/mass is a more important consideration than energy/volume. Copper is clearly also the best material from an adiabatic J^2t criterion. Therefore, if the design is limited by the hot spot temperature in a given volume, copper is the material of choice.

The curves of $Z(T_f)$ versus $T(\mathbf{K})$ in Fig. 21 appear in Iwasa's casebook (30).

While high-purity silver has the best $Z(T_F)$, far-less expensive oxygen-free coppers are nearly as good. Copper is twothree times as good as high purity aluminum. The $Z(T_F)$ versus $T_F(\mathbf{K})$ curves in Fig. 22 were calculated specifically for a tradeoff between copper and stronger, less high purity aluminums. The curves show that copper is 20 to 25 times better than aluminum alloys. The implication is that the cross-sectional area of copper needed for protection in a design where the available enthalpy is dominated by the stabilizer would be four to five times less than that of aluminum. In a design in which other components,



Figure 20. Specific enthalpies of magnet materials (J/m^3) versus temperature (K).

such as superconductor, helium, or other structures were important, the superiority of copper would be reduced. Magnetoresistivity would also reduce the quantitative superiority of copper. In magnetic energy storage designs, the main factor that improves the relative position of aluminum is that an aluminum such as 2219 can also be used as a structural material. In a design that requires a structural cross-section that is several times larger than the cross-section needed for protection, the volumetric advantage of copper would disappear.

The values of $Z(T_f)$ from Fig. 22 are listed in Table 3.



Figure 21. $Z(T_f)$ functions: (1) Silver (99.99%); (2) Copper (RRR 200); (3) Copper (RRR 100); (4) Copper (RRR 50); (5) Aluminum (99.99%) (30).



Figure 22. $Z(T_f)$ functions: (1) Copper (RRR = 200), (2) Copper (RRR = 100), (3) Copper (RRR = 50), (4) Aluminum alloy (RRR = 5.5), (5) Aluminum alloy 2219.

QUENCH PROPAGATION

Adiabatic (Potted) Magnets

Adiabatically cooled magnets are selected for applications that are relatively small, and quasi-steady state, since they are incapable of absorbing large amounts of local energy. They are particularly suited to applications where there can't be any cryogenic fluid within the magnet and where small, compact winding packs are required. Iwasa has argued convincingly (31) that most high-temperature superconductor (HTS) magnets are also likely to be adiabatically cooled, because the local energy absorption is improved by orders of magnitude at higher temperatures.

Adiabatically cooled magnets may be protected either by internal or external energy dumps. If the simplifying assumption is made that the thermal conductivity and heat capacity of all materials is temperature independent, the longitudinal quench propagation velocity is expressed by the balance of constant local heating density and thermal diffusion through the winding pack as (30)

$$v_{\text{propagation}} = J \sqrt{\frac{\rho_n k_n}{C_n C_s \left(\frac{T_{cs} + T_c}{2} T_{op}\right)}}$$
(10)

where $v_{\text{propagation}}$ is the longitudinal quench propagation velocity in the winding direction (m/s), J is the current density in the composite wire (A/m²), ρ_n is the electrical resistivity of the composite wire (W-m), k_n is the thermal conductivity of the normal wire (W/m-K), C_n and C_s are the heat capacities of the wire in its normal and superconducting states respectively (J/kg-K), and T_{op} , T_c , and T_{cs} are the operating and superconductor transition temperatures, respectively (K) (32). Again, because the heat capacity of all materials rises

Table 3.	$Z(T_{f})$	Functions	for (Copper	and	Aluminum
----------	------------	-----------	-------	--------	-----	----------

Temperature	Copper, RRR = 200	Copper, RRR = 100	$Copper, \\ RRR = 50$	Al Alloy $(RRR = 5.5)$	Al2219-T85
4	0	0	0	0	0
10	$3.173 imes10^{14}$	$1.597 imes10^{14}$	$7.953 imes10^{13}$	$2.280 imes10^{12}$	$5.688 imes10^{11}$
20	$4.776 imes10^{15}$	$2.481 imes 10^{15}$	$1.256 imes10^{15}$	$2.584 imes10^{13}$	$6.422 imes10^{12}$
50	$3.847 imes10^{16}$	$2.798 imes10^{16}$	$2.005 imes10^{16}$	$9.466 imes10^{14}$	$2.517 imes10^{14}$
75	$6.757 imes10^{16}$	$5.457 imes10^{16}$	$4.283 imes10^{16}$	$2.898 imes10^{15}$	$8.521 imes10^{14}$
100	$8.633 imes 10^{16}$	$7.274 imes10^{16}$	$5.990 imes10^{16}$	$5.538 imes10^{15}$	$1.827 imes 10^{15}$
145	$1.097 imes10^{17}$	9.567×10^{16}	$8.206 imes 10^{16}$	$1.050 imes10^{16}$	$4.055 imes10^{15}$
190	$1.285 imes10^{17}$	$1.142 imes10^{17}$	$9.793 imes 10^{16}$	$1.504 imes10^{16}$	6.451×10^{15}
240	1.410×10^{17}	$1.268 imes10^{17}$	$1.116 imes10^{17}$	$1.941 imes10^{16}$	$9.016 imes10^{15}$
273	$1.505 imes10^{17}$	$1.360 imes10^{17}$	$1.192 imes10^{17}$	$2.195 imes10^{16}$	$1.062 imes10^{16}$
300	$1.561 imes10^{17}$	1.416×10^{17}	1.247×10^{17}	$2.386 imes10^{16}$	1.186×10^{16}

much more quickly with temperature than resistivity does, the quench propagation velocity of HTS quenches should be much lower than that of LTS quenches and the coils will be harder to protect.

Pool-Boiling Magnets

Pressure Rise. The quench pressure rise during the quench of a pool-boiling magnet involves a design tradeoff. The maximum pressure can most easily be controlled by the setting of external pressure relief valves or rupture disks (33). The additional pressure in the magnet due to pressure drops in the vent lines and the disks or valves can be solved by the time-dependent model of Krause and Christensen (34), assuming frictional, adiabatic (Fanno) flow in the vent lines. An alternative, recommended by Powell (35) is repressurization with warm helium gas. The motive for maintaining a high pressure, discussed in the section on electrical integrity, is that it will improve the dielectric strength of warm helium. The disadvantage is that it will increase the required thickness of the liquid helium cryostat, the pulsed eddy currents in the thicker cryostat, and the conduction losses through the cold mass supports.

Quench Propagation. Under normal conditions of cooling by a pool of liquid helium, the propagation velocity should obey the proportionality (36):

$$v_p = a(j_0 - j_r)$$
 (11)

where j_r is the current density at which the conductor would recover (A/m²), and j_0 is the operating current density (A/m²). If the quench condition causes local dry out, then the propagation velocity is simply (37)

$$v_p = a j_0 \tag{12}$$

CICC Magnets

Quench propagation in CICC conductors is usually treated as a one-dimensional problem, quench propagating from an interior normal zone toward the inlet and outlet of a hydraulic channel. Bottura has written a general three-dimensional numerical solution for quench propagation (38), which, to the best of our knowledge, is also the only commercially available general quench propagation solution for any coil topology. However, since three-dimensional effects have only a secondorder effect on the key design parameters of temperature, pressure, and expulsion velocity, one-dimensional solutions are still used.

Whole Coil Normal. In the extreme case of the whole coil going normal at once, quench propagation isn't an issue. This may help to place conservative upper bounds on peak pressure and expulsion velocity for design purposes. Note that simultaneous quench of a whole coil is not a worst case for hot spot temperature. If the coil is designed for internal energy absorption, it is a best case, because the peak/average energy absorption in the coil would be 1.0. If it is designed for external energy absorption, it may be a worst case for the refrigerator by absorbing energy at cryogenic temperature, instead of externally at room temperature; but in terms of the hot spot defined by the local J^2t , it is not a worst case, because the nonlinear dump time can only be accelerated by adding a larger internal coil resistance to the external resistance. Dresner (39) derived a simple expression for the pressure rise, if an entire hydraulic channel goes normal at once. This case would correspond to practical designs in which a resistive heater was used to ensure uniform internal energy absorption or to an external, uniform energy source being applied to a layer with nearly uniform temperature and field:

$$P_{\rm max} = 0.65 \left(\frac{Q^2 (L_{\rm coil}/2)^3 f}{D_h}\right)^{0.36}$$
(13)

where Q is the volumetric heating of the helium (W/m³), l is the half-length of the channel (m), and f is friction factor, and D_h is the hydraulic diameter (m). A cable-in-conduit has approximately three times the friction factor of a smooth tube with the same Reynold's number. For a quench pressure wave, Dresner adopts an approximate value of f = 0.013. When the pressure rise is not much greater than the initial pressure P_0 (Pa), the more exact formulation is

$$P_{\max} = 0.65 \left(\frac{Q^2 (L_{\text{coil}}/2)^3 f}{D_h}\right)^{0.36} \left(1 - \frac{p_0}{p_{\max}}\right)^{-0.36}$$
(14)

The same assumptions also predict (40) a helium expulsion velocity of

$$v_{\text{expulsion}} \simeq 0.952 \left(\frac{Q\beta c_0}{\rho C_p}\right)^{2/3} \left(\frac{D_h t}{f}\right)^{1/3} \tag{15}$$

where Q is the volumetric heating of the helium (W/m³), β is the constant pressure thermal expansion coefficient c_{ρ} is the isentropic sound speed (m/s), ρ is the helium density (kg/m³), C_{ρ} is the helium specific heat at constant pressure (J/kg-K), D_h is the hydraulic diameter (m), f is friction factor, and t is the time since quench initiation (s). This solution is valid only for the beginning of a quench, since it assumes constant helium properties and neglects inertia and frictional heating.

Time-Dependent Normal Zone. Quench propagation scaling for long coils and uniform helium properties were first derived by Dresner (40). Dresner's scaling laws remain valid for describing the early stages of quench in a long hydraulic channel. However, the engineering limits of CICC coils are usually defined by the hot spot temperature, peak pressure, and peak helium expulsion flow toward the end of a quench. By this time, the material properties have changed significantly and heat absorption is dominated by the cable-and-conduit metal, rather than the helium. In this regime, the scaling of quench behavior is more complicated than that described by Dresner and the Shajii/Freidberg theory described next should be used.

Dresner's time-dependent equation for the pressure rise is

$$p - p_0 = C\rho c \left[\frac{4fZ}{D}\right]^{3/2} \left(\frac{D}{4fct}\right)$$
(16)

where C is a function of quench zone acceleration O(1), p_0 is the initial pressure (Pa), ρ is the helium density (kg/m³), c is the velocity of sound in helium (m/s), f is the friction factor, Z is the length of the hot helium piston (m), D is the hydraulic diameter (m), and t is the quench time (s). In order to calculate the equivalent piston size, Wachi (41) makes the substitution:

$$CZ^{3/2} = 0.95t^{2.01} \tag{17}$$

Dresner's equation implies that the quench zone Z is

$$Z = \left[\frac{3(\gamma - 1)}{2C(3 + 4\gamma)}\right]^{2/3} \left(\frac{Q^2 D t^4}{\rho^2 c^2 f}\right)^{1/3}$$
(18)

Similarly, Dresner solves for central pressure as function of time as

$$p = \frac{3(\gamma - 1)}{3 + 4\gamma} Qt, \, p \gg p_0 \tag{19}$$

For helium, $\gamma = 5/3$, and if C = 0.83 for helium, as proposed by Dresner, these equations reduce to

$$Z = 0.25 \sqrt[3]{\frac{Q^2 D t^4}{\rho^2 c^2 f}}$$
(20)

and:

$$p = 0.207 Qt, p \gg p_0$$
 (21)

Shajii and Freidberg (42) rewrite the time dependences of Dresner's quench propagation equations for temperature, pressure, and quench propagation velocity as

$$T_{\text{Dresner}}(t) = \frac{0.10}{R\rho_0 L_{IQZ}} \left(\frac{4d_h}{f\rho_0^2 c_0^2}\right)^{1/3} (\eta_0 J^2)^{5/3} t^{7/3}$$
(22)

where η_0 is the resistivity of copper (Ω -m).

$$p_{\text{Dresner}} = 0.21\eta_0 J^2 t \tag{23}$$

and

$$V_{q\text{Dresner}} \equiv \frac{5}{4} \dot{X}_{q} = 0.42 \left(\frac{4d_{h}}{f\rho_{0}^{2}c_{0}^{2}}\right)^{1/3} (\eta_{0}J^{2})^{2/3} t^{1/3}$$
(24)

Shajii Quench Theory. The Dresner equations were shown by Shajii and Freidberg to apply only in the operating space of short times, low conductor temperatures (<25 K), and long initial quench zones (43). Since this operating regime almost never includes the regimes of greatest interest for design (hotspot temperature, peak pressure, peak expulsion velocity), it was necessary to develop solutions for other, more relevant regimes. Shajii and Freidberg derived analytic expressions for temperature, pressure, and quench zone propagation velocity for five other regimes, identified as the (1) short coil, low Δp , (2) short coil, high Δp , (3) long coil, low Δp , (4) long coil, high Δp . and (5) thermal hydraulic quenchback (THQB) regimes. In a short coil, the coil length is much shorter than the diffusion length of the quench zone, so that quench propagation is affected by end conditions. In a long coil, the mass of the coil channel is constant and propagation is unaffected by the ends. In the low Δp regime, the pressure rise due to the quench is $\ll p_0$, while it is $\gg p_0$ in the high Δp regime. An actual quench may have a trajectory in quench regime space that traverses two or more of these regimes. We use the nomenclature long coil and short coil here, because the usage has become accepted. However, it should be clarified that we are always discussing the length of a hydraulic channel, which is typically an order of magnitude shorter than a coil length. In all four of the constant mass quench zone solutions, Shajii derived scalings for the temperature and pressure, valid in the hightemperature (>20 K) regimes that are of interest as coil allowables. Assuming that the heat transfer coefficient $h(W/m^2-K)$ is large:

$$\Delta T(t) = \frac{A_w \rho_w C_w}{2h P_w} \alpha(\bar{T}) J^2 \left(1 - e^{-t/\tau_w}\right)$$
(25)

where T is the average of the cable and conduit temperatures (K), and τ_w is a characteristic time constant for heat exchange between the cable and conduit (s):

$$\frac{1}{\tau_{w}} = h P_{\text{wall}} \left(\frac{1}{A_{\text{cable}} \rho_{\text{cable}} C_{\text{cable}}} + \frac{1}{A_{\text{wall}} \rho_{\text{wall}} C_{\text{wall}}} \right)$$
(26)

where h is the wall heat transfer coefficient (W/m²-K), P_{wall} is the conduit wetted perimeter (m), A_{cable} and A_{wall} are the cable and wall cross-section areas (m²), ρ_{cable} and ρ_{wall} are the mass densities of the cable and wall (kg/m³), and C_{cable} and C_{wall} are the specific heats of the cable and wall (J/kg-K), respectively.

80 SUPERCONDUCTING MAGNETS, QUENCH PROTECTION

Short Coil Solutions. The criterion for a short coil solution is that the length of the coil is longer than the length of the quench zone, but less than the thermal diffusion length of the quench:

$$L < \sqrt{\frac{24d_n c_0^2 t_m}{f V_q}} \tag{27}$$

where c_0 is the initial sound speed (m/s), d_h is the hydraulic diameter (m), V_q is the quench front velocity (m/s), and t_m is the time needed to reach the maximum allowable temperature $t_m \simeq T_{\text{max}}/\alpha_0 J^2$.

Short Coil, High Pressure. A short coil quench will be in the high-pressure rise regime $(\Delta p > p_0)$ when

$$\frac{\Delta p}{p_0} \simeq \frac{R\rho_0 \alpha_0 J^2 L_{IQZ}}{2p_0 V_q} > 1 \tag{28}$$

where *R* is the universal gas constant (=8314.3 J/kg-mole-K, He = 4.003 kg/mole), ρ_0 is the background helium mass density (kg/m³), *J* is the current density in the stabilizer (A/m²), L_{IQZ} is the initial length of the quench zone (m), p_0 is the background helium pressure (Pa), d_h is the hydraulic diameter (m), *f* is the friction factor, assumed to be a constant in the range of 0.06–0.08, and α_0 is a diffusion constant of the conduit material (typically 5–7 × 10⁻⁶ m⁴-K/A²s), defined as

$$\alpha_0 \cong \min_T \left[\frac{A_{cu} \eta_c(T)}{A_c \rho_c C_c(T) + A_w \rho_w C_w(T)} \right]$$
(29)

where η_c is the thermal resistivity (W/m-K).

For a short coil in the high-pressure regime, the asymptotic quench velocity, once quench has been well initiated, is

$$V_q = \sqrt[8]{\frac{2dR}{fL_{coil}}} L_{IQZ} \alpha_0 J^2 \tag{30}$$

where d is the hydraulic diameter (m) and f is the friction factor. The position of the forward quench front X_q (m), using the convention that all quenches are symmetrically centered about x = 0, is

$$X_q = \left[\left(\frac{L_{IQZ}}{2} \right)^{3/2} + (V_q t)^{3/2} \right]^{2/3}$$
(31)

Short Coil, Low Pressure. A short coil quench will be in the low-pressure rise regime $(\Delta p < p_0)$ when

$$\frac{\Delta p}{p_0} \simeq \left(\frac{f\rho_0 L_{\rm coil}}{4dp_0}\right) V_q^2 < 1$$
(32)

For a short coil in the low-pressure regime, the quench velocity is

$$V_q = \frac{R\rho_0 \alpha_0 J^2 L_{IQZ}}{2p_0} \tag{33}$$

The short coil limit also provides a simple analytical expression for the density outside the normal zone as a function of length and time:

$$\rho(x,t) = \rho_0 + \left(\frac{\rho_0 f V_q^2}{2d_h c_0^2}\right) \left(\frac{L_{\text{coil}}}{2} - x\right)$$
(34)

where ρ_0 is the initial density (kg/m³). The density decreases linearly with x, while the velocity outside the normal zone is a constant versus both space and time.

Long Coil Solutions.

Long Coil, High Pressure. The long coil solution is defined by the two criteria that the coil length is much greater than the length between diffusion edges $(L/2)^2 \gg X^2_D(t_m)$, and that the length of the quench zone is much less than the length between diffusion edges $[X^2_q \ll X^2_D(t_m)]$. The criterion for the long coil solution can then be stated as

$$L_{\text{coil}}^2 \gg \frac{24d_h c_0^2 t_m}{f V_q} \gg 4V_q^2 t_m^2 \tag{35}$$

The long coil quench is in the high-pressure rise regime $(\Delta p > p_0)$ when

$$\frac{\Delta p}{p_0} \approx \frac{R\rho_0 \alpha_0 J^2 L_{IQZ}}{2p_0 V_q(t_m)} > 1 \tag{36}$$

The position of the forward quench front in the high-pressure regime is

$$X_q = \left[(L_{IQZ}/2)^{5/3} + (V_q t)^{5/3} \right]^{3/5}$$
(37)

where V_0 is the asymptotic quench propagation velocity (m/s):

$$V_q = 0.613 \left(\frac{2d_h}{f}\right)^{1/5} \left(\frac{RL_{IQZ}\alpha_0 J^2}{c_0}\right)^{2/5} \frac{1}{t^{1/5}}$$
(38)

(The multiplier of 0.613 differs from the two published values of 0.766 by a factor of 5/4, removing an ambiguity in interpreting the Shajii equations self-consistently.) The helium velocity (m/s) in the region outside the quench zone is

$$v(x,t) = \frac{0.8V_q t}{t + \lambda_1^2 (x - L_{IQZ}/2)^2}$$
(39)

where $\lambda^2_1 = \rho_0 0.8 V_q/3\nu^2_0$. The density profile for the density ρ in the outer region (kg/m³) is given by

$$\rho(x,t) = \rho_0 + \frac{9v_0^2}{2K^{3/2}} \left(\cot^{-1} \frac{\xi}{\sqrt{K}} \frac{\sqrt{K}\xi}{K + \xi^2} \right)$$

$$\approx 3v_0^2 \frac{\lambda_2^3 t^2}{\left[t^{3/4} + \lambda_2^{3/2} (x - L_{IQZ})^{3/2} \right]^2}$$
(40)

where $\lambda_2(t) = (3\pi/4)^{1/3}\lambda_1$ and ν_0 is

$$\nu_0 = \sqrt{\frac{2d_h \rho_0 c_0^2}{f}}$$
(41)

Equation (11) implies that the expulsion velocity is given by

$$v(\mathbf{x} = L_{\text{coil}}/2, t) \simeq \frac{24d_h c_0^2}{f L_{\text{coil}}^2} t \tag{42}$$

This is the same expulsion velocity as that predicted by Dresner. However, with the exception of the expulsion velocity, Dresner's solutions for temperature, pressure, and quench velocity in Eqs. (16-18) have functional dependencies that are significantly different from Shajii's, even in the long-coil case.

Long Coil, Low Δp **Regime.** In the small Δp regime, the pressure rise remains small in comparison with the initial pressure $(\Delta p \ll p_0)$, corresponding to a weak quench in which the helium coolant removes most of the heat generated by a quench. In the small Δp regime, the length of the quench zone is

$$X_q \approx \frac{R\rho_0 L_{IQZ}(\bar{T} + \Delta T - \bar{T}_{t=0+})}{2p_0} + \frac{L_{IQZ}}{2}$$
(43)

where $\bar{T} = (T_{\text{cable}} + T_{\text{wall}})/2$ and $\Delta T = (T_{\text{cable}} - T_{\text{wall}})/2$. t = 0 + means the time immediately after the initial quench zone has been established, assuming sudden energy deposition.

The quench velocity is then

$$V_q \approx \frac{R\rho_0 \alpha_0 J^2 L_{IQZ}}{2p_0} \tag{44}$$

The low Δp itself is given by

$$\Delta p(t) = 9v_0^2 c_0^2 t^2 \int_{X_q}^{L_{\rm coil}/2} \frac{dx}{\left[(x - L_{IQZ}/2)^2 + X_D^2\right]^2}$$
(45)

where the leading edge of the diffusion front $X_D(\mathbf{m})$ is

$$X_D^2 = \frac{3v_0^2}{\rho_0} \frac{t}{V_q}$$
(46)

For the combined short coil plus small Δp case, the solution for Δp reduces to Eq. (23). For the combined long coil plus small Δp case, the solution for Δp reduces to

$$\Delta p(t) = 1.36 \left(\frac{f}{2d_h}\right)^{1/2} \rho_0 c_0 t^{1/2} V_q^{3/2} \tag{47}$$

Universal Scaling Regimes. Shajii recast the preceding criteria into a universal form that predicts the boundaries between the four quench regimes. Two dimensionless variables x and y are defined and all quench regimes are shown as filling four corners of x - y space. First a dimensionless variable λ and a dimensional variable $L_0 J^{4/3}_{-0}$ (A^{4/3}/m^{5/3}) are defined:

$$\lambda = 1.7 \left(\frac{\rho_0 R T_{\max}}{p_0}\right) \left(\frac{c_0^2 \rho_0}{p_0}\right)$$
(48)

where ρ_0 , c_0 , and p_0 are the density (kg/m^3) , sound speed (m/s), and pressure (Pa) of the background helium. R is the universal gas constant (8314.3 J/kg-mole-K), and $T_{max}(x,t)$ is the maximum constant (8314.3 J/kg-mole-K).

mum temperature of the quench zone (K).

$$L_0 J_0^{4/3} = \frac{2.6}{R} \sqrt[3]{\frac{p_0^5 d}{f \alpha_0^2 c_0^2 \rho_0^5 T_{max}}}$$
(49)

 λ and $L_0 J^{A/3}{}_0$ tend to be relatively constant over a wide range of time and space for a given design. In order to distinguish better between the widely different quench regimes, these variables are reordered by being normalized to the strongly varying J (A/m²) and L_q (m):

$$x = \frac{\lambda L_q}{L} \tag{50}$$

$$y = \frac{L_q J^{4/3}}{L_0 J_0^{4/3}} \tag{51}$$

This now allows the criteria for entry into each of the four quench regimes to be written in the following simple universal form:

Quench Regime	Pressure Condition	Length Condition
Long coil, high pressure	<i>y</i> > 1	$y > x^{5/6}$
Short coil, high pressure	$y > 1.2x^{1/3}$	$y < 1.1x^{5/6}$
Long coil, low pressure	<i>y</i> < 0.8	$y > x^{2/3}$
Short coil, low pressure	$y < 1.2x^{1/3}$	$y < x^{2/3}$

The four universal scaling regimes are shown in Fig. 23.

Thermal-Hydraulic Quenchback. The misnomer thermalhydraulic quenchback (THQB), which is certainly thermohydraulic, but has nothing to do with quenching backwards, has become sufficiently popular as a term that we won't try to rename it Joule-Thomson quench propagation. It refers to a condition in which compression heating of helium in front of a quench zone leads to rapid propagation of quench in which the thermal/quench wave travels much faster than the mass flow



Figure 23. Boundaries in *x*-*y* space defining the four quench regimes: (I) long coil-high pressure rise, (II) short coil-high pressure rise, (III) long coil-low pressure rise, and (IV) short coil-low pressure rise [Shajii, 1995 (44)].

82 SUPERCONDUCTING MAGNETS, QUENCH PROTECTION

of helium expulsion in front of the quench zone. A key dimensionless parameter in predicting whether there can be a rapid onset of THQB, again introduced by Shajii (44), is the safety margin between current sharing and background temperature M:

$$M = \left[\frac{C_h(T_0)}{C_{\beta}(T_0)}\right] \left(\frac{\rho_0 c_0^2}{p_0}\right) \left(\frac{T_{cs} - T_0}{T_0}\right)$$
(52)

Typically $M \sim 2$ to 5 for practical coils. Another parameter β is needed to account for the finite ratio of frictional to compressive heating in the THQB regime:

$$\beta = \frac{C_{\beta}(T_0)\rho_0 T_0}{p_0}$$
(53)

 β is typically of order unity.

THQB cannot exist long in the low pressure rise regime. In the long-coil, high pressure rise regime, the temperature just ahead of the quench front can be written as:

$$T_{f}(t) \approx T_{0} + \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{C_{\beta}(T_{0})}{C_{h}(T_{0})} \right] \frac{RT_{0}\alpha_{0}J^{2}L_{q}}{c_{0}^{2}V_{q}(t)}$$
(54)

This expression includes the effect of compression heating, but not of frictional heating.

The condition for THQB to occur before $T = T_{max}$ is

$$y > M^{5/3}$$
 (55)

For the short coil-low pressure rise regime, the condition for THQB to occur before $T = T_{max}$ is

$$y > \beta^{1/3} M^{1/3} \tag{56}$$

The temperature ahead of the quench front is then

$$T_f(t) = T_0 + \left[\frac{f V_q^3}{2dC_h(T_0)}\right]t$$
(57)

In the short coil-high pressure rise regime, frictional heating must again be included, and the condition for THQB to occur before $T = T_{max}$ is

$$y > \frac{x^{1/3}}{2} \left\{ 1 + \left[1 + 4(x - M) \right]^{1/2} \right\}$$
(58)

where β and other numerical coefficients have been set to unity. The intersection of the THQB regime with the four universal regimes for a typical case of M = 4 is shown in Fig. 24.

Unique THQB shaded regions can be calculated for every value of M.

ELECTRICAL INTEGRITY

A superconductor has no voltage in the quiescent state and may have a very low voltage, during startup and shutdown, depending on the application. In the majority of applications, the superconducting magnet will experience its highest design voltages during a quench dump. It is also during a quench dump that the helium temperature will be highest, helium density in



Figure 24. Scaling diagram showing dimensionless quench regime boundaries for M = 4.

electrical isolators may be decreased by pressure relief valves, and liquid will be boiled into vapor. All of these effects can simultaneously increase electrical fields, while decreasing the ability of helium or insulation voids to withstand the electrical fields. Arcs have developed during operation of real superconducting magnets and are a known cause of failure and life limitation.

Breakdown in Helium

In a pool-boiling magnet, helium is the primary insulation. Design against helium breakdown must include the winding-pack, joints, supports, vapor-cooled leads, feedthroughs, and roomtemperature isolators. In CICC magnets, the problem is restricted to specially designed helium isolators, providing the electrical isolation between the magnets and its grounded helium headers. However, CICC magnets have the special problem of protecting feedthroughs and leads against low-density helium breakdown, in the event of a helium leak. The primary motivation for dry superconducting magnets is to avoid this problem altogether, while accepting a low energy margin against disturbances.

The dielectric strength of liquid helium is comparable to that of air at standard temperature and pressure. Unfortunately, since breakdown accompanies heating due to a normal event and rapidly heats local helium, the actual breakdown strength of liquid helium in a magnet is hard to interpret. It is conservative and probably correct to always consider gaseous helium to be the insulator in a pool boiling magnet.

The breakdown strength of gaseous helium at ambient temperature is only a small fraction of that of air because the electrons can gather kinetic energy from electrical field drift up to the ionization level in the noble gas helium. Paschen's law should hold for gaseous helium at any temperature. At all density-gap products that are well above the minimum of the Paschen curve, the dielectric strength of helium is at least a factor of 10 worse than that of nitrogen or air.

In the high-pressure regime of the Paschen curve, Olivier showed that a direct exponential correlation can predict the voltage breakdown for a broad range of gases, including helium, in a uniform field over a broad range of gap lengths and pressures (45). At any temperature, the breakdown voltage between spherical electrodes is

$$V_{\text{breakdown}} = K \rho^{\alpha} d^{\beta} \tag{59}$$

Pressure (atm)	Temperature (K)	Density (kg/m³)	Gap at Paschen Minimum (mm)	Gap at 20 kV (mm)
1.0	4.229	127, liquid	$7.9 imes10^{-5}$	0.133
		15.2, vapor	$6.6 imes10^{-4}$	1.17
3.0	5.0	117	$8.5 imes10^{-5}$	0.144
3.0	150	0.973	0.011	20.0
10-4	5.0	10-3	10	20,000
1.0	273	0.178	0.056	112

Table 4. Paschen Minimum Gaps and Gaps at 20 kV, According to Olivier Equation

where K is a constant, ρ is the mass density of helium (moles/liter), d is the gap (mm), and α and β are the exponents. According to Olivier, for helium $\alpha = 0.878$, $\beta = 0.901$, and K = 4310. Thus, for helium at STP, where one mole = 22.4 L and the density of helium is 4 g/22.4 L = 0.178 kg/m³, the general equation for voltage breakdown with the gap d in m, the breakdown voltage V in volts, and the density ρ in kg/m³ would be

$$V_{\text{breakdown}} = 645, 375\rho^{0.878} d^{0.901} \tag{60}$$

The density-gap product that produces the minimum of 160 V in helium is 10^{-5} kg/m³-m. The gaps at the Paschen minimum and the gaps predicted for breakdown at 20 kV by the Olivier equation are shown in Table 4.

A Paschen curve through several sets of experimental data is shown in Fig. 25.

At cryogenic temperatures the breakdown strength of helium in uniform field allows for a straightforward design in pool boiling magnets, where it can be guaranteed that breakdown will occur in the high density-distance regime. Figures 26 and 27 (46) show that with minimum breakdown fields on the order of 10 MV/m, each millimeter of gap should be adequate to protect against 10 kV.

However, breakdown in helium is highly sensitive to electric field nonuniformities and to field polarity. Figure 28 (47) depicts low temperature dc breakdown characteristics for helium gas under nonuniform (point to plane) field conditions at atmospheric pressure (48).

The strong polarity dependence is evident in this figure, suggesting that the design of the electrode configuration to maintain a field as close to uniform as possible is particularly important, when feasible. The breakdown level is also a function of electrode surface material and conditions (49), conditioning, and electrode polarity (50).

A design approach proposed to avoid striking an arc across a helium gap is to use the dielectric strength of helium at the design temperature and atmospheric pressure for a sharp point at a 3 mm gap between the point and the plain (51). At 4 K, the breakdown strength of helium is 60 V/mil (2.36 kV/mm), at 10 K, the breakdown strength is 24 V/mil (944 V/mm), and at 100 K, the breakdown strength is 2.4 V/mil (944 V/mm).

Electric Field Concentrations

Solid insulations are seldom designed with electrical fields higher than 10-20% of their intrinsic dielectric strength. This is not merely an expression of extreme conservatism toward catastrophic punchthrough and arcing, but also reflects the reality of electrical field concentrations in practical designs. While many solid insulations have dielectric strengths >100 kV/mm, it has been shown that the presence of small voids



Figure 25. Paschen curve for helium.



Figure 26. Depicts the breakdown strength of helium as a function of pressure and density, under uniform field conditions [Gerhold, 1979 (48)].

in a solid will cause the inception of particle discharges in low temperature helium at electric fields of 10 kV/mm to 20 kV/mm (52). There is some evidence that the minimum breakdown voltage in a helium void may saturate at low density and that there is no left-hand side of the Paschen curve in voids. Measurements by Hiley and Dhariwal (53) appear to saturate at 4.5 kV/mm in polyethylene at zero density for a cavity depth of 0.2 mm (900 V). In epoxy resin, they appear to saturate at 1.2 kV/mm for a cavity depth of 0.2 mm (240 V).

Partial discharges in solid insulation voids are caused by high electric fields in the voids. These will not destroy the insulation, if they are infrequent, but can cause erosion of organic insulation in a pulsed application.

The electric field in a void tends to be higher than that of the solid insulation itself because the dielectric constant of solid insulations is always higher than that of free space. Further electric field multipliers are caused by shape factors in the void, where breakdown can be further enhanced by nonuniform electric field within the void itself. Analytic solutions are available for the electric field concentrations in planar, spherical, and



Figure 27. Depicts low temperature (<10 K) dc breakdown characteristics for helium gas under uniform field conditions [Meek, 1979 (47)].



Figure 28. Helium nonuniform field breakdown voltages in low temperature helium gas at atmospheric pressure [Gerhold, 1979 (48)].

cylindrical voids. For other shapes, numerical techniques are available to calculate the electric field concentrations for both 2-D and 3-D shapes. Engineering rules of thumb also exist for the most likely void shapes. Zahn (54) developed the following derivation of the electric field concentrations in spheres and cylinders.

Voids in Solid Insulation. The simplest model assumes that a void region exists within a uniform dielectric that has an essentially uniform electric field in the vicinity of the void. We consider three simple cases shown in Fig. 29 of uniform electric field incident on (1) a long, thin void, either planar or cylindrical, with the long axis in the direction of the electric field; (2) a long thin void, either planar or cylindrical, with the long axis perpendicular to the electric field; and (3) a spherical void. Cases (1) and (2) form easily at an interface between dissimilar materials, while case (3) can arise due to gassing. If the void region is air at ambient temperature and pressure, the electrical breakdown strength is $E_b \sim 3$ kV/mm. Fields above E_b



Figure 29. Three void orientations versus electric field in dielectric medium.

will result in spark discharges. The maximum external electric field outside the void can then be calculated that would keep the voidage electric field below E_b .

Long Thin Void Along Electric Field. Because the tangential component of an electric field is continuous across an interface, the electric field

$$\overline{E}_{c} = \overline{E}_{a} \tag{61}$$

This result is valid for planar and cylindrical voids.

Long Thin Void Perpendicular to Electric Field.

Planar Void. For highly insulating dielectrics with dielectric relaxation times $(\tau = \epsilon/\sigma)$ much greater than the time scales of a quench, the normal component of the electric displacement field, $\overline{D} = \epsilon \overline{E}$ must be continuous across an interface. Thus

$$\epsilon \overline{E}_v = \epsilon \overline{E}_a \to \epsilon \overline{E}_v = \frac{\epsilon}{\epsilon_0} \overline{E}_a \tag{62}$$

The higher the dielectric permittivity of the insulation surrounding the void, the lower the applied electric field must be to keep $\overline{E}_v < E_b$.

Cylindrical Void. In the absence of any volume charge in a uniform permittivity dielectric, Laplace's equation can be solved in cylindrical coordinates for the electrical field inside and outside the cylindrical void:

$$\overline{E} = 2 \frac{\epsilon}{\epsilon + \epsilon_0} \overline{E_a}_x^i \qquad 0 < r < R$$

$$\overline{E} = E_a \left[1 + \frac{R^2}{r^2} \frac{(\epsilon_0 - \epsilon)}{(\epsilon_0 + \epsilon)} \cos \varphi_r^i \qquad (63)$$

$$- \left(1 - \frac{R^2(\epsilon_0 - \epsilon)}{r^2(\epsilon_0 + \epsilon)} \sin \varphi_{i\varphi}^i \right) \right] \qquad r > R$$

The internal electric field is purely x directed, while the external electric field has the applied uniform electric field plus a line-dipole field. To avoid breakdown in the cylindrical void

$$2\frac{\epsilon}{\epsilon+\epsilon_0}E_a < E_b \tag{64}$$

Spherical Void. The general form of solution to Laplace's equation in spherical coordinates for a uniform z directed electric field is

$$\varphi = \left(Ar + \frac{B}{r^2}\right)\cos\theta \tag{65}$$

The total electric field inside and outside the cylindrical void is

$$\overline{E} = \frac{3\epsilon}{2\epsilon + \epsilon_0} E_a \overline{i_z} \qquad 0 < r < R$$

$$\overline{E} = E_a \left[\left(1 + 2 \frac{R^3}{r^3} \frac{(\epsilon_0 - \epsilon)}{(2\epsilon + \epsilon_0)} \right) \cos \theta \overline{i_r} \qquad (66)$$

$$- \left(1 - \frac{R^3}{r^3} \frac{(\epsilon_0 - \epsilon)}{(2\epsilon + \epsilon_0)} \right) \sin \theta \overline{i_{\theta}} \right] \qquad r > R$$

Table 5. Dielectric Constant ϵ

Material	Dielectric Constant (&,/&		
Kapton polyimide film 120CI-1	3.5		
Kapton polyimide film 135RCI	3.8		
G10-CR	4,9-5.0		
G11-CR1	5.1 - 5.2		

The internal electric field is purely z directed, while the external electric field has the applied uniform electric field plus a point dipole field. To avoid breakdown in the spherical void:

$$\frac{3\epsilon}{2\epsilon + \epsilon_0} E_a < E_b \tag{67}$$

Dielectric constants of some widely-used solid insulations are listed in Table 5.

The electric field multipliers for other commonly found void shapes are listed in Table 6.

The multipliers for laps and voids in corners are typical values, based on numerical analysis.

A conservative way to look at the design rules for solid insulation would be to design so that partial discharges in the solid insulation were impossible, irrespective of the partial pressure in the insulation voids. As an example, in a superconducting magnet, the worst gas and the most likely gas to have a partial pressure is helium, whose Paschen minimum is 160 V. Adopting 2 kV/mm as a typical allowable for glass-epoxy and a geometry/dielectric constant mismatch multiplier of 2, this design rule would then put the burden on the mechanical design to assure that the largest possible void in the solid insulation would be

$$d_{\max,\text{allowable}} \leq \frac{V_{\text{Paschen min}}}{E_{\max,\text{allowable}}R_{\text{mult}}} = \frac{160 V}{2\frac{kV}{mm}x2} = 0.040 mm \quad (68)$$

For example, if a conduit with a slip-plane wrap bowed in 10 μ m, this would be acceptable, since breakdown of helium would still be impossible.

Stray Coil Capacitance

The turn-turn and layer-layer voltages across a winding pack are not exactly equal, even in the absence of any resistance. The turns in a winding pack don't all link exactly the same amount of flux, particularly in multicoil systems. The peakaverage ratios in coil systems we have investigated were in the range of 1.1-1.3:1. A more serious, but avoidable, problem comes from the possibility of overvoltages due to distributed capacity charging of the winding pack. There is

Table 6. Electric Field Multipliers for $\varepsilon = 3$ Insulation System

Shape	Multiplier
Infinite plane or cylinder, parallel to field	1
Infinite plane, transverse to field	3
Infinite cylinder, transverse to field	1.5
Sphere	9/7 = 1.286
Cusp/crescent (debonding at a rounded corner)	1.6 - 1.7
Triangle (e.g., epoxy/kapton lapping)	1.6 - 1.8



Figure 30. Distributed capacitance/ inductance network model of a winding pack and ground insulation.

a distributed capacitance between every turn of the winding pack and to ground, as illustrated by the circuit model, shown in Fig. 30. Mutual capacitance to nonadjacent turns is neglected.

The peak local electrical field is higher than what would be predicted considering only the coil resistance because of stray coil capacitance in the insulation. The voltage enhancement factor is a function of α :

$$\alpha = \sqrt{\frac{C_g}{C_s}} \tag{69}$$

where C_g is the shunt capacitance to ground and C_s is the series capacitance. For fast rise times and large values of α , half of the terminal voltage can appear between the first two turns of the coil. Measurements on the POLO coil (55) and analyses at Karfruke (KfK) and M.I.T. showed that large voltage enhancements could be avoided, if the voltage rise time were long enough. This is a tradeoff, since switch losses or counterpulse circuit size is proportional to the voltage rise time. Optimization of the cost/performance trade can be done for a specific design, using commercial circuit codes. However, since the ringing time is primarily a function of conductor size only, analysis indicates that it is safe over a broad range to limit the voltage rise time to >100 μ s, if the conductor is <5 cm square.

Tracking Along an Insulating Surface

Tracking is the leakage current due to the formation of a conducting path across the surface of an insulation. In most cases, the conduction results from degradation of an organic insulation. The conducting film is usually moisture from the atmosphere absorbed by some form of contamination, such as dust. Tracking does not depend upon Paschen breakdown and can occur at well below 100 V in air, while a gaseous discharge in air cannot exist below 380 V. Degradation of the insulation is caused by heat from tracking, which either carbonizes or volatilizes the insulation. This implies that insulations in helium or vacuum at liquid helium temperatures should be more immune to tracking than magnets in air, because of the absence of chemical reactions. Carbonization results in a permanent extension of the electrodes and usually takes the form of a dendritic growth; but erosion of the insulation also occurs.

Configurations for which tracking is particularly important are those where a high voltage conductor emerges from an insulated lead. Generally a conducting electrostatic shield or



Figure 31. Tracking at high voltage lead termination.

ground plane will surround the lead insulation, but will be terminated at some point, leaving a tracking path along the surface of the lead insulation from the end of the ground plane to the conductor itself. The electric field is enhanced at the end of the electrostatic shield in this configuration, and can lead to local ionization which effectively extends the ground electrode, due to space charge, and reduces the useful length of the tracking path, such that the discharge advances along the surface toward the lead, with eventual flashover. Figure 31 illustrates tracking at a high voltage lead termination.

Common practice is to utilize a stress cone (a specially shaped electrode) or a stress grading material or coating on the surface of the lead insulation just after the termination of the conducting electrostatic shield. The effect of the stress grading is to reduce the maximum field gradient based on the nonlinear voltage versus current characteristic of the stress grading material. Silicon carbide is a commonly used material for stress grading, and is available in tape and paint binders. Heat shrinkable stress grading tubing is also available, and is normally used in the termination of high voltage cables. This material could offer a solution to the problem of temporary stress grading during test, when the termination of high voltage leads is not in its final configuration.

Yet another technique is to cover the entire termination in an insulating jacket. The effect is to contain the areas of highest stress in a solid dielectric, and to increase the tracking path length that must be taken by a discharge which would directly connect the high voltage electrode with the ground electrode.

To the extent that the high voltage conductors can be fully insulated and enclosed by an electrostatic shield, the tracking problem in the near vacuum environment can be avoided. However, the high voltage conductors such as the main high current leads and any instrumentation (e.g., voltage tap) conductors must eventually emerge from the insulation.

The helium supply lines which must bridge the gap between the high voltage conductors and ground present another potential tracking path. Considering a configuration consisting of a metallic pipe emerging from the main conductor which delivers the coolant to an insulating tube, which in turn connects to a grounded metallic pipe associated with the manifold. Tracking on the outer surface of the insulating tube could be a problem, particularly in the cryostat vacuum environment which can be compromised by helium leaks. This problem can be solved by encapsulating the region of transition from high voltage, through the insulator, to ground, in a solid dielectric contained within an electrostatic shield. In this case the path which would otherwise be available for tracking, and the entire region subject to electric stress, can be fully contained in solid insulation, as illustrated in Fig. 32.

Experimental Basis for Tracking Allowables. Migliori, Schermer, and Henke (56) measured dielectric tracking fields in liguid helium for four gaps in a G-10 circuit board. The minimum tracking strength that they measured was 13.7 kV/mm at 0.48 mm. They reported that the cleanliness of the sample, that is, whether it was abraded with copper or wet-wound with metal inclusions, made little difference in the tracking strength. They also reported that the breakdown field declined as $d^{-0.25}$ and that the tracking strength was that of helium vapor, rather than that of liquid helium. This is a somewhat misleading conclusion, because the tracking strengths that they measured were similar to those measured earlier by Haarmon and Williamson (57) in liquid helium, and orders of magnitude superior to Haarmon and Williamson's measurements in gaseous helium. The earlier experiment reported nearly identical tracking breakdown fields for paper phenolic, polyethylene, nylon, and teflon. Their measurements of the tracking strength for series of five 60 kV, 500 ms, half sine-wave pulses with descending gap are shown in Table 7.

For design purposes, the relevant numbers are those for gaseous helium at 4 K and 293 K. Fortunately, the temperature sensitivity is rather small, varying only a factor of two at most over a temperature range of 75:1. A factor of four safety margin would imply that tracking should be limited to 100 V/mm (2.5 V/mil). Designs have been identified with tracking fields in the range of 60 V/mm to 200 V/mm.



Figure 32. Avoidance of tracking with full-insulated coolant connections. (a) Tracking at coolant connection. (b) Fully insulated coolant connection.

Material	Pressure (atm)	LHe 4 K	GHe 4 K	GHe 293 K	LN2 77 K	GN2 77 K	GN2 293 K
Mylar	0.9	79	<3.6	2.7	158	39	4.7
	1.6	79		2.8	189	79	6.8
Paper phenolic	0.9	95	4.3	2.3	158	32	4.3
	1.6	118	4.3	3.3	189	39	7.9
Polyethylene	0.9	118	3.8	2.6	158	30	5.9
	1.6	158	3.9	2.7	236	59	7.9
Nylon	0.9	79	3,9	2.0	158	47	4.7
	1.6	118	3.9	2.0	236	59	7.9
Teflon	0.9	95		2.8	7 9	43	4.7
	1.6	158		3.1	158	53	7.9
Permalin	0.9	68		2.2	118	30	4.7
	1.6	79		2.8	158	68	7.9

Table 7. Tracking Strength for 60 kV Pulse Waveforms (kV/cm)

Electrical Design Allowables

For design purposes, typical electrical design limits in a cryogenic environment are summarized in Table 8.

Breakdown Due to Helium Leaks

High voltages can be maintained over short distances in a good vacuum. Typically, in the cryostat surrounding CICC and potted magnets, or the vacuum tank surrounding pool-boiling magnets, a vacuum of 10⁻⁶ to 10⁻⁵ torr can be maintained. In vacuum systems, where residual gas density is low, the breakdown voltage is to the left of the Paschen minimum. Therefore, electrical integrity within the cryostat can be compromised by helium leaks into the vacuum space. Helium leaks can be caused by diffusion through welds in a conduit, helium feed stubs, and feedthrough seals. If there is a gas leak, the gas density increases and the breakdown voltage is lowered toward the minimum, which could lead to a spark discharge. This is the usual situation in cryostats and junction boxes, where leaks from helium coolant lines or extraction of sensor wires are difficult to suppress completely. Irmisch has confirmed low voltage breakdown in helium gas at cryogenic temperatures and low pressures (58), simulating the effect of a helium leak into a vacuum space with a 10 mm gap. At 6 K, the Paschen minimum was 240 V, instead of the classic minimum of 160 V.

Leaks are suppressed by the avoidance of nonwelded seals, design layouts that permit field repair of leaks, and vigilant leak detection at room temperature and at cryogenic temperatures. Some rules of thumb for leak rate testing are that the leak rate at 1 atmosphere and room temperature is approximately 1000 times better than the leak rate at 10 atmospheres and 4 K. A state-of-the-art measurement, using mass spectrometry,

Table 8. Typical Electrical Insulation Sizing Rules

Туре	Units	Design Criterion
Flashover along insulating spacer in helium	V/mil	5-7
	V/mm	100 - 300
Tracking along insulating wrap	V/mil	1.5 - 5
5 0 0.	V/mm	60 - 200
Breakdown through epoxy	V/mil	50 - 150
	kV/mm	1.5-6
Breakdown through kapton wrap	V/mil	125 - 500
	kV/mm	5 - 20

might test helium stubs down to leak rates of 10^{-10} torr-L/s at room temperature, corresponding to $\sim 10^{-7}$ torr-L/s at 4 K.

It is generally acknowledged that quality assurance alone won't guarantee an absence of electrical discharges in vacuum, because of the difficulty of guaranteeing zero leaks and because of the deleterious effects on breakdown of modest transverse magnetic field. Three design ideas have been proposed that can decrease the probability of discharges by several orders of magnitude: (1) grading of the insulating ground planes, (2) the use of a guard vacuum, and (3) the use of insulating beads.

- 1. The use of graded ground planes around all insulating surfaces has the greatest generality as a design concept. If all metallic surfaces that are facing each other with high potential differences are insulated, then there can't be an arc between those surfaces acting as electrodes; although there could still be partial discharges that would gradually degrade the insulation. However, if each insulating surface or wrap has a ground plane, the resistance of the ground plane can be graded, so that the insulating or ground plane surfaces facing each other never have a potential difference greater than 160 V. In this case, no combination of pulsed fields, capacitive charges, or helium pressures can cause a breakdown.
- 2. The use of a guard vacuum around a winding pack can be very effective, where space constraints aren't significant, as in the Mirror Fusion Test Facility-B (MFTF-B) coils (59). The secondary vacuum space greatly decreases the probability of a leak into the cryostat by requiring two series independent leaks in the coil case and the guard vacuum shell. It can further lessen the possibility of operational problems by the use of independent on-line leak detection and/or differential vacuum pumping. In MFTF-B, it also had a fringe benefit of being used as an auxiliary helium channel to reduce thermal stresses in the winding during cooldown.
- 3. Fast and Hart (60) have shown that filling an evacuated box for power feedthroughs box with glass beads increased the Paschen minimum voltage and increased the pressure at the Paschen minimum, as shown in Fig. 33. Testing in helium as a function of pressure from 1 Pa to 0.13 MPa (10^{-5} to 1 atm) at room temperature, 77 K, and 4.2 K in helium, they found that the minimum breakdown voltage across a 4.8 mm gap was increased by more than a factor of 10 at all three temperatures. Insulating beads



Figure 33. Paschen curve for helium. (a) Measured in uniform gap and (b) measured in gap with and without glass bead particles [Fast and Hart (60)].

could be used to raise the Paschen minimum by an order of magnitude, either in evacuated spaces, such as junction boxes, or in high pressure chambers, such as helium isolators with filters.

CASE HISTORIES

The majority of actual failures to protect superconducting magnets have had little relation to the design principles described in this chapter. Errors in operation have accounted for more failures than errors in fabrication, and errors in design have been less important than either. Several studies and workshops have addressed the problems of real-life magnet protection (61).

Operational errors causing magnet component failures have included:

- Bypassing protective circuits or not replacing them when they fail
- Wiring magnet or instrumentation leads backwards
- Interpreting anomalous or changed sensor readings as indicators of interesting experimental phenomena, instead of burnout
- Poorly written, long and boring operating instruction manuals, with incorrect or ambiguous instructions; the ignoring of instructions
- Absence of routine inspection and replacement of components with finite lifetimes
- Energization of coils in an incorrect sequence (the classic error is energizing an outer solenoid and crushing an inner solenoid with no strength in radial compression through induced diamagnetic currents)
- Increasing current when critical properties proved to be better than expected, leading to burnout of vapor-cooled lead

- Unattended dewar operation leading to ice blocks, causing overpressure in the dewar
- Removal of a rubber stopper in a dewar, leading to inadequate vapor flow to the leads; failure to monitor lead gas flow or voltage drop

Manufacturing QA problems that led to coil or prototype failure included:

- · Helium leaks at fittings
- Voids at the conductor/monolith interface leading to mechanical rupture of the conductor
- Small metallic slivers being sprung from a conduit by the tube mill
- Metallic inclusions in an open, pool-boiling magnet causing turn-turn shorts and arcing
- · Insulation tearing during winding, especially of kapton
- Joint installation without solder
- Weld contamination due to contamination by injected polyurethane spacers
- Turn-turn short due to mechanical abrasion of insulation during transportation and installation
- Vacuum leaks through mechanical (i.e., nonwelded) seals
- Exposure of Incoloy conduit to oxidants during heat treatment, leading to stress aggravated grain boundary oxidation (SAGBO) cracking

Reliability problems caused by inadequate redundancy in the design of the protection circuits have included:

- Dump circuit interrupters failing to clear
- Power supplies failing to shut down on receiving a correct trigger signal from the protection circuit
- False positive dump signals leading to arcing
- Programming error in a programmable logic controller leading to deliberately applying overcurrent to the coil. Same problem with overvoltage
- Arcing in a dump resistor causing a dump that was too slow

Structural design errors have included:

- An overly complex load path causing structural failure of a brittle, aluminum primary structure
- Inadequate mechanical protection of sensor insulation
- Inadequate mechanical support of leads, causing lead shorting or arcing
- Peeling of solder lap joints from ends, neglecting strain incompatibility

SUMMARY

Superconducting magnet protection during a quench is an important but special case of the larger problem of magnet protection against structural, electrical, and thermal failures. The usual method of guaranteeing protection is to build conservative magnets with more structure, stabilizer, and superconductor than they need. The techniques of providing adequate conservatism in the design of magnet protection circuits, quench detection, protection criteria, quench propagation modeling, and electrical integrity have already been described. However, experience with magnet failures suggests that new design approaches may be more successful in the future.

In most cases, redundancy should be favored, where possible, as a method of guaranteeing reliability, over just adding more material, because of its ability to multiply low probabilities of failure. Redundant techniques include the use of in series, independent interrupters; paralleled independent quench detectors and paralleled independent cowound heaters. It also includes the use of leak-tight welds and guard vacuums, insulation systems with no voids below the Paschen minimum and long discharge or tracking life, and simultaneous use of signalnoise improvement techniques, such as selecting the best spot in the cable for a cowound sensor, differencing, and filtering the optimized signals.

Given the certainty that data processing will continue to improve more rapidly than magnet technology, future magnets are likely to concentrate on using redundancy and intelligent signal processing in order to improve performance and reliability simultaneously. Smart interlocks should check for wiring errors, while simulators check and calibrate sensors. Reviewed projects must adopt more stringent review standards, insisting on a complete design of the protection system, not only of the magnets, but also the leads, bus, and instrumentation feedthroughs. The goals of these improvements would be to achieve orders of magnitude decreases in the probability of failure to detect a quench rapidly, to successfully interrupt current in a magnet, and to simulate and adequately predict the ability of quench propagation to absorb magnet energy without damage.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- C. Nenmeyer et al., Quench protection circuits for superconducting magnets, Proc. IEEE Symp. Fusion Energy, U. Illinois, p. 1275, Sept 30-Oct 5, 1995.
- P. Dokopoulos and K. Kriechbaum, DC circuit breaker for 73 kA, 24 kV. *Electrotech. Zeitschrift A.* 97 (8): translated by H. Vogel, Los Alamos Report LASL-TR-77-27, 1976.
- S. Yokota, Poloidal field power supply using vacuum circuit breaker, IAEA Second Large Tokamak Meeting, Princeton, New Jersey, Nov. 1976.
- V. Kuchinski et al., High-power fast switches, *IPEC-Yokohama*, 899, 1995.
- Argonne National Laboratory Superconducting Magnet Group, Final design of a superconducting MHD magnet for the CFFF, Argonne National Laboratory, ANL-MHD-79-6, pp. 250-251, March, 1979.
- C. Neumeyer, Liquid rheostat dump resistors, Princeton Plasma Physics Laboratory 40-940217-PPPL/CNeumeyer-01, Feb 17, 1994.
- T. Ishigohka and Y. Kushiro, Quench protection of superconducting magnet using ZnO arrester, Cryogenics, 31: 562, 1991.
- A. Dudarev, V. E. Keilin, and Y. Kuroedov, Quench protection of very large superconducting magnets, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 226–229, 1995.
- S. M. Schoenung et al., Liquid helium dump concept for a large scale superconducting magnetic energy storage plant, Adv. Cryo Eng. 31: 1986.

- J. F. Kaerner et al., A protection system for small high power SMES with power semiconductors working at cryogenic temperatures, *IEEE Trans. on Appl. Supercond.*, 5: June 1995.
- 11. O. P. Anashkin et al., Superconducting magnet protection system, Adv in Cryogenic Eng, 37: Part A, 339, Plenum Press, 1992.
- J. Purcell et al., The superconducting magnet system for the 12-foot Bubble Chamber. Argonne National Laboratory Report ANL/HEP6813, 1968.
- D. F. Sutter et al., Electrical protection of superconducting magnet systems, Fermi National Laboratory Technical Memorandum TM-559, March 1975.
- T. Ogitsu et al., Quench observation using quench antennas on RHIC IR quadrupole magnets. *IEEE Trans. Mag.*, 32: 3098, July 1996.
- S. J. St. Lorant communication reported in J. Allinger, G. Danby, S. Y. Hsieh, J. Kean, J. Powell and A. Prodell, Fusion magnet safety studies program superconducting magnet protection system and failure: Interim Report. Brookhaven National Laboratory, BNL 20787, Nov 1975.
- M. Darweschsad, The POLO coil, a prototype tokamak poloidal field coil, design features and test results. MT-14, Tampere, Finland; June 1995.
- J. H. Schultz, Feasibility of the TPX voltage sensor quench detection system. M.I.T. Plasma Science and Fusion Center Report PSFC/RR-97-3, March 5, 1997.
- N. Mitchell et al., ITER No: N11 R1 03 04-09-07 W1, Magnet design description: Appendix A: conductor design, April 14, 1995.
- I. Zatz et al., TPX No: 94-950117-PPPL-IZatz-01, TPX structural and cryogenic design criteria, Rev. 1, Jan 17, 1995.
- J. H. Schultz, ITER No ITER/US/96/EV-MAG/ J.H.SCHULTZ/5.31/-1 J. H. Schultz, P. W. Wang, and S. Smith, Interpretation of voltage sensor data in the QUELL experiment, May 31, 1996.
- M. M. Steeves et al., The US Demonstration Poloidal Coil. IEEE Trans. Mag., 27: 2369-2372, 1991.
- Nicolai N. Martovetsky and Michael R. Chaplin, Normal-zone detection in tokamak superconducting magnets with co-wound voltage sensors. *IEEE Magnet Technol. Conf.*, Tampere, Finland, July, 1995.
- P. W. Wang, TPX Memo: 13-930719-MIT-PWANG-01, TF voltage tap noise due to plasma disruption. July 19, 1993.
- H. T. Yeh, J. S. Goddard, and S. Shen, Inductive voltage compensation in superconducting magnet systems, 8th Symp. Eng. Probs. Fus. Res, 1802, 1979.
- S. Smith and S. Ezekiel, TPX No:1314-941130-MIT/SSmith-01, Improved fiberoptic quench detection at the Francis Bitter National Magnet Laboratory. Rev. 1, Nov 30, 1994.
- J. H. Schultz and S. Smith, TPX Memo 1314-950815-MIT-JSchultz-01, Feasibility of the fiber optic temperature-sensor quench detection system. Aug 15, 1995.
- S. P. Smith, TPX No:1314-950424-MIT-SSmith-01, Report on fiberoptic strain sensitivity reduction experiments at the Francis Bitter National Magnet Laboratory on 3/16/1995, April 24, 1995.
- K. Koepke, P. Martin, and M. Kuchnir, Doubler system quench detection threshold. *IEEE Trans. Mag.*, MAG-19: 696, May 1983.
- Y. Iwasa and M. Sinclair, Protection of large superconducting magnets: maximum permissible undetected quench voltage. *Cryogen*ics, Dec. 1980.
- Y. Iwasa, Case Studies in Superconducting Magnets: Design and Operational Issues. New York: Plenum Press, 1994.
- Y. Iwasa, Design and operational issues for 77 K superconducting magnets, *IEEE Trans. Mag.*, MG-24: 1211, 1988; Y. Iwasa

et al., Stability and quenching in high-temperature superconductors, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, **5**: 389, 1995.

- C. H. Joshi and Y. Iwasa, Prediction of current decay and terminal voltages in adiabatic superconducting magnets, *Cryogenics*, 29: 157, 1989.
- L. R. Turner, Safety of superconducting fusion magnets: twelve problem areas, Argonne National Laboratory Report ANL/FPP/TM-121, May 1979.
- R. P. Krause and E. H. Christensen, Calculation of quench pressures in pool boiling magnets, *IEEE Trans. Mag.*, 1979.
- J. Powell, ed., Aspects of safety and reliability for fusion magnet systems. Brookhaven National Laboratory, BNL 50542, 72-75, Jan 1976.
- 36. J. R. Miller, J. W. Lue, and L. Dresner, *IEEE Trans. Mag.*, MAG-13 (24): 1977.
- Z. J. J. Stekly, Adv. Cryo. Eng., 8 (ed.) Timmerhaus K.D. New York, Plenum Press, 1963, 585.
- L. Bottura and O. C. Zienkiewicz, Quench analysis of large superconducting magnets, Cryogenics, 32 (7): 659, 1992; L. Bottura, A numerical model for the analysis of the ITER CICC's, J. Comp. Phys, 125 (26): 1996; L. Bottura, Numerical aspects in the simulation of thermohydraulic transients in CICC's. J. Fusion Eng., 14 (1): 13, 1995.
- L. Dresner, Protection considerations for force-cooled superconductors, Proc. 11th Symp. Fusion Eng., II: 1218–1222, Austin TX; Nov. 18–22, 1985.
- 40. L. Dresner, Thermal expulsion of helium from a quenching cable-in-conduit conductor, Proc. 9th Symp. Eng. Prob. Fusion Res., 618, Chicago, 1981; reformulated in L. Bottura, Quench propagation and protection in cable-in-conduit superconductors. Encyclopedia of Applied Superconductivity, Comett 4090 Ch, 1996.
- Y. Wachi et al., Investigation of the pressure rise during the quench of a force cooled superconducting coil, *IEEE Trans. Mag.*, 25: 1500– 1503, 1989.
- A. Shajii and J. P. Freidberg, Quench in superconducting magnets. II. Analytic solution, J. Appl. Phys., 76 (5): 1 Sept 1994; L. Dresner, IEEE Trans. Mag., 25: 1710, 1989; L. Dresner, Proc 11th Symp Fus Eng. IEEE, 1218, 2: 1986.
- 43. A. Shajii and J. P. Freidberg, J. Appl. Phys., 76 (5): 1 Sept 1994.
- 44. A. Shajii, Universal scaling laws for quench and thermal hydraulic quenchback in CICC coils, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 477– 482, 1995.
- 45. G. Olivier, Y. Gervais, and D. Mukhedar, A new approach to compute uniform field breakdown of gases, *IEEE Trans. Power Appar.* Syst., **PAS-97** (3): May/June 1978.
- Dielectric breakdown of cryogenic gases and liquids. J. Gerhold, Cryogenics, Fig. 22, 1979.
- Meek and Craggs, Electrical Breakdown of Gases. 662, Fig. 6.14, New York: Wiley, 1978.
- J. Gerhold, Dielectric breakdown of cryogenic gases and liquids, Fig. 10, Cryogenics, 1979.
- D. May and H. Krauth, Influence of the electrode surface condition on the breakdown of liquid helium. *IEEE Trans. Mag.*, MAG-17 (5): Sept 1981.
- Ch. Olivier, Performance of electrodes at the first voltage breakdown in liquid helium, *IEEE Trans. Mag.*, MAG-17 (5): Sept. 1981.
- Fallou, Dielectric breakdown of gaseous He at very low temperatures. Cryogenics, April 1970.
- 52. R. J. Meats, Butt gap discharges in laminated insulation impregnated with very cold helium gas. *Third Int. Conf. Gas Discharges, IEEE*, London, 1974.
- 53. J. Hiley and R. S. Dhariwal, Dielectric breakdown in high density

helium and in helium impregnated solid dielectrics. Cryogenics, 25: 334, June 1985.

- M. Zahn, Preliminary engineering design criteria to prevent spark discharges in TPX, Nov 27, 1994, TPX Memorandum No. 1314-941127-MIT-MZahn-01.
- A. M. Miri, Transient voltage oscillations in a large superconductive coil. 9th Int. Symp. High Voltage Eng., Graz, Austria, Aug 28–Sept 1, 1994.
- A. Migliori, R. I. Schermer, and M. D. Henke, Dielectric tracking in liquid helium. Cryogenics, 442, 1978.
- 57. R. A. Haarman and K. D. Williamson, Jr., Electrical breakdown and tracking characteristics of pulsed high voltages in cryogenic helium and nitrogen. Adv Cryo Eng. 21 (102): Plenum Press, 1976.
- M. Irmisch et al., Breakdown characteristic of helium gas at cryogenic temperatures and low pressures with respect to a local helium leak. KFK Report 31-03-05 P02B, June 1992.
- 59. C. Henning, Reliability of large superconducting magnets through design. *IEEE Trans. Mag.*, MAG-17 (1): 618, Jan. 1981.
- R. W. Fast and H. L. Hart, Use of glass beads to increase the breakdown voltage in subatmosphere, cold helium gas. Advances in Cryogenic Engineering, 35: Plenum Press, New York, 1990, 809–812.
- 61. P. G. Marston et al., Magnet Failure Workshop, Journal de Physique, Colloque C1, Tome 45, Jan 1984, C1-637; F. Arendt and P. Komarek, Potential failures and hazards in superconducting magnet systems for fusion reactors. *Nuc Tech/Fusion*, 1: Oct, 1981; R. J. Thome, J. Bart Czirr, and J. H. Schultz, Survey of selected magnet failures and accidents.

JOEL H. SCHULTZ Massachusetts Institute of Technology

SUPERCONDUCTIVITY: CRITICAL CURRENT

In the application of superconductors, the superconducting critical current density is often the most important parameter in the design and engineering of practical devices. The reason is that the majority of applications for superconducting wires involve building electromagnets, which develop their magnetic field by virtue of the number of ampere-turns in the magnet winding. Examples of electromagnets presently in the marketplace include magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) magnets; high field research magnets; beam-bending, focusing, and detector magnets for high-energy physics research; superconducting energy storage systems; and superconducting motors and generators (1). As the critical current density of the superconducting wire increases, the achievable magnetic field increases, and the amount of superconductor needed for constructing the magnet decreases. Thus, there is a direct driving force to increase the critical current density of superconductors for magnet applications.

As with the critical temperature $(T_{\rm C})$ and critical magnetic field $(H_{\rm C2})$, the critical current density $(J_{\rm C})$ marks the limit of the superconducting state. For direct current (dc) densities less than the $J_{\rm C}$, the current is carried without resistive losses, and thus no power input. For current densities greater than $J_{\rm C}$, a voltage develops along the superconductor, and the zero resistance condition breaks down.

The $T_{\rm C}$ and $H_{\rm C2}$, which are both determined by the chemistry and physics of the superconducting system, are relatively unaffected by the processing of the superconductor. The same is not true for the $J_{\rm C}$, which can be radically changed within a given superconducting material by varying the fabrication process and therefore the material's microstructure. For example, within the Nb–Ti alloy system, once the composition of the alloy has been chosen, the $T_{\rm C}$ and H_{C2} are essentially determined. However, by varying the metallurgical treatments of the alloy as it is processed into wire, it is possible to vary the $J_{\rm C}$ by factors of 1000 or more (2,3). The potential for controlling the critical current density through processing provides materials science researchers with hope for improving the properties of technical superconductors.

In describing the theory of critical current density in superconductors, it will be useful to consider two length scales. The first is the London penetration depth λ , which is the distance over which an externally applied magnetic field penetrates into a superconductor. This is essentially the distance over which we expect to see large changes in the magnitude of the magnetic fields inside the superconductor. The second length scale is the coherence length ξ , which is the distance over which the superconducting order parameter (or alternatively, the density of superelectrons) varies.

In the Ginzburg-Landau theory of superconductivity, the ratio of the penetration depth to the coherence length is called the Ginzburg-Landau parameter κ , where $\kappa = \lambda/\xi$. The Ginzburg-Landau parameter distinguishes between the two broad classes of superconductors; type I, for which $\kappa < 1/\sqrt{2}$, and type II, for which $\kappa > 1/\sqrt{2}$. The high critical current density superconductors are all type II materials, and κ is quite large for many of these materials, on the order of 50 or so.

The remainder of this article describes the measurement of $J_{\rm C}$, the basic theory of critical currents in type I and type II superconductors, the flux-line lattice and flux pinning, and thermal effects in determining the $J_{\rm C}$. As an overview of a large and complex subject that has occupied many researchers, this article cannot be complete. For a more detailed discussion of general superconductivity, see texts by Rose-Innes (4), Tinkham (5), and especially Orlando (6) for an excellent presentation from an electrical engineering perspective. Detailed surveys of flux pinning and critical current density may be found in the monographs by Campbell and Evetts (7), and Ullmaier (8), which form the basis of much of the discussion following. Although the majority of the references and discussion uses examples from low-temperature superconductivity (LTS), the principles described are also equally applicable to high-temperature superconducting (HTS) materials.

THE RESISTIVE MEASUREMENT OF CRITICAL CURRENT DENSITY

The critical current is usually found by a simple four-point measurement, using the change in the resistance of the sample to determine the transition between superconductivity and normal conductivity (see Fig. 1). The sample, a long coil of wire, is placed in the bore of a high field electromagnet, and a dc current is passed through it. The voltage along the length of the superconducting wire is measured. A zero voltage indicates superconductivity, whereas a nonzero measurement indicates resistive dissipation and loss of superconductivity. This "resistive" measurement technique may be used to measure critical temperatures by passing a small constant current, varying the sample temperature, and measuring the sample voltage. It can



Figure 1. Schematic of the resistive measurement of the critical current density. The superconducting sample in the center of a high magnetic field solenoid produces a voltage when the current exceeds the critical current. The plot shows the V(I) characteristic of the superconducting wire. The critical current $I_{\rm C}$ is defined at the appearance of a measurable voltage.

also be used to measure the critical magnetic field H_{C2} of type II superconductors by varying the magnetic field on the sample. Of more concern to the present discussion is measuring the critical current $I_{\rm C}$. This is done by holding the sample in a constant magnetic field and increasing the current through the superconductor until a voltage increase is measured (see Fig. 1). In this way the critical current is determined.

As the current is increased through the superconducting wire, the voltage along the wire slowly increases from zero until a rapid increase occurs near the critical current. If the V(I)characteristic is measured over a large enough voltage range, the curve looks like that shown in Fig. 2. Early experiments (9) showed that the V(I) characteristic at high currents becomes linear, and the resistivity depends on the applied magnetic field, roughly following

$$\rho_{\rm ff} = \left(\frac{H}{H_{\rm C2}}\right)\rho_{\rm n} \tag{1}$$

where $\rho_{\rm ff}$ and $\rho_{\rm n}$ are the high current resistivity (flux flow resistivity) and normal state resistivity of the superconductor, respectively. This linear region at high currents is called the "flux-flow" regime for reasons that are described following.

Eventually, the increasing power dissipation due to the flux flow resistivity causes the temperature of the superconductor



Figure 2. Schematic of the voltage versus current measurement of the critical current of a superconducting wire as a function of the applied magnetic field. The zero voltage points have been offset for clarity. As the field increases, the critical current decreases, and the high current slope $\rho_{\rm ff}$ increases.

to rise above $T_{\rm C}$ and there is a phase transition to the normal state (Fig. 3). An important point to note is that within the flux flow regime the sample is still superconducting, though it is no longer in the zero dissipation (or zero resistance) condition.

Empirically it has been found that the shape of the V(I) curve at low voltages (well below the linear flux-flow regime) can be described by a power law

$$(I) = K \left(\frac{I}{I_{\rm C}}\right)^n \tag{2}$$

so that a plot of logV versus logI from the $I_{\rm C}$ measurement yields a straight line whose slope is sample-dependent and also depends on the applied magnetic field (10). Recent measurements on high temperature superconducting (HTS) materials also show this power law behavior. Typically HTS materials are measured over a much larger range of current and voltage than is usual in the LTS materials (11,12).

Over the years of development of LTS wires, it has been empirically determined that larger slopes of the $\log V$ versus



Figure 3. Schematic of the full V(I) characteristic of a superconducting wire. At low currents the superconductor exhibits zero resistance and zero voltage. At the critical current there is a transition into the flux-flow regime, and the voltage increases. At larger currents, ohmic heating causes the temperature to rise above the critical temperature, and the sample thermally runs away to the normal state resistance behavior.

log *I* plot were correlated with higher current density or higher "quality" superconducting wires. This slope has come to be known as the "*n*-value" of a wire and is commonly reported by LTS wire manufacturers. Values of *n* between 40 and 100 are generally considered to indicate good quality wires. From Eq. (2) one can see that, as the *n*-value for a wire increases, the transition from the zero resistance state to the flux flow state becomes steeper and narrower.

Because of the gradual transition from zero voltage to the linear flux-flow regime, the critical current is usually determined by using a standard measurement criterion. For many years magnet designers preferred a constant resistivity criterion, for example, $\rho = 10^{-14} \ \Omega$ -m. A line is drawn on the V(I)data plot with a resistive slope corresponding to $10^{-14} \Omega$ -m, based on the dimensions of the sample. The intersection of this line with the V(I) measurement is the critical current I_{C} . Because the V(I) characteristic is curved, the measured value of the $I_{\rm C}$ depends on the criterion used, so this information must be provided along with the measurement value. Historically, the 10^{-14} Ω-m criterion has been used by magnet designers because it was found that early superconducting magnets thermally ran away to the normal state (quench) at a magnet resistivity of about 10^{-14} Ω-m. A second commonly used criterion is the constant electric field criterion, in which the $I_{\rm C}$ is given by the current at which the V(I) measurement exceeds a constant electric field value, for instance, 10 μ V/m.

It is important here to draw a distinction between the critical current $I_{\rm C}$, which has units of amperes, and the critical current density $J_{\rm C}$, which has units of amperes per unit cross-sectional area. The fundamental property of the superconducting state is the $J_{\rm C}$, which is the maximum current per unit cross-sectional area of superconductor that is carried without resistive losses. The $J_{\rm C}$ is determined by measuring the critical current $I_{\rm C}$ of the specimen and dividing by the cross-sectional area of the superconductor: $J_{\rm C} = I_{\rm C}/A$.

An additional definition of importance is the engineering $J_{\rm C}$ which is defined as the maximum transport current per unit cross section of superconducting wire. Most technological superconductors are fabricated as a composite of superconducting and normal metal for thermal and mechanical stability (1,13). For the magnet designer, the engineering $J_{\rm C}$ (sometimes abbreviated as $J_{\rm E}$) determines the available current in the magnet windings. The distinction between $J_{\rm C}$ and $J_{\rm E}$ is especially important when magnet designers are working with superconducting composites in which the superconducting area is a small fraction of the total wire cross section, as in tape composites and many early HTS wires.

It is also worthwhile at this point to describe the difference between transport currents and shielding currents. Superconductors placed in a magnetic field exclude some or all of the magnetic flux from the bulk of the superconductor (known as the Meissner–Ochsenfeld effect). For this exclusion to occur, shielding currents flow on the surface of the superconductor such that the magnetic field produced by the shielding currents opposes the applied field and cancels it out. In general, the shielding currents flow in loops that are closed entirely within the superconductor. In contrast, transport currents are those currents applied from outside the superconductor using external current sources. The transport currents are the currents used to produce magnetic fields in the superconducting magnets and to make the resistive measurements of the critical parameters of superconductivity. With this basic understanding of how the $J_{\rm C}$ is typically measured we can begin to discuss the physical mechanisms limiting $J_{\rm C}$ in practical materials.

ULTIMATE LIMITS TO J_C: THE DEPAIRING CRITICAL CURRENT DENSITY

In the Bardeen–Cooper–Schrieffer theory of superconductivity, the charge carriers are pairs of electrons bound together by a positive electron–phonon interactive force. The bonding energy of the superelectron pair at zero kelvin is denoted as the energy gap $\Delta(0)$. The critical temperature can be determined from the energy gap as the temperature at which the thermal excitation energy kT is equal to the energy gap bonding the superelectron pair together. More rigorously this relationship is

$$2\Delta(0) = 3.5 \, kT_{\rm C} \tag{3}$$

The superconductivity stops because the thermal energy is sufficient to "depair" or "decouple" the superelectrons.

Similarly, the thermodynamic critical magnetic field $H_{\rm C}$ at zero kelvin can be determined from the energy gap by using the magnetic free energy difference between the normal and superconducting states:

$$\frac{1}{2}\mu_0 H_{\rm c}^2 = \frac{1}{2} N(\epsilon_{\rm F}) [\Delta(0)]^2 \tag{4}$$

where $N(\epsilon_{\rm F})$ is the density of states at the Fermi energy and $\mu_{\rm o}$ is the permittivity of free space. Thus, the critical magnetic field is that magnetic field for which the magnetic energy is large enough to break apart the electron pair.

In a similar approach to the arguments used to estimate $T_{\rm C}$ and $H_{\rm C}$, one would expect that there is an ultimate critical current density limited by the kinetic energy of the superelectron pairs in a transport current. When the kinetic energy of the electrons exceeds the energy gap, the pairs break apart and become normal (resistive) charge carriers. The kinetic energy of the superelectrons can be written as

$$KE = \frac{(m^* v_F^2)}{2} = \frac{p_F^2}{2m^*} \approx 2\Delta(0)$$
(5)

where *m* is the effective mass of the charge carriers (in this case $m = 2m_{\rm e}$, two times the mass of an electron), and $v_{\rm F}$ and $p_{\rm F}$ are the Fermi velocity and momentum, respectively.

The current density produced by these charge carriers is given by

$$J = qn_{\rm s}v = 2en_{\rm s}v_{\rm F} \tag{6}$$

where q is the charge of the current carrier (= 2e for electron pairs) and n_8 is the density of superelectron charge carriers.

The depairing critical current density can be found by combining Eqs. (5) and (6):

$$J_{\rm D} \approx \frac{10 \, e n_{\rm s} \Delta(0)}{p_{\rm F}} \tag{7}$$

Orlando (6) derives an equivalent form of Eq. (7) from

Table 1. Theoretical Depairing Critical Current Density³

Superconductor	λ, nm	ξ, nm	$J_{\rm D}, {\rm A/m^2}$	
NbTi	300	4	$2 imes 10^{11}$	
Nb ₃ Sn	65	3	$8 imes 10^{12}$	
YBa ₂ Cu ₃ O (ab plane)	30	3	$4 imes 10^{13}$	
YBa_2Cu_3O (c plane)	200	0.4	$6 imes10^{12}$	

^a Calculated using Eq. (8) for several important superconductors.

ø

Ginzburg-Landau theory as

$$b = \frac{\phi_0}{3\sqrt{3}\pi\mu_0\lambda^2\xi} \tag{8}$$

where λ and ξ are the penetration depth and coherence length, respectively, and ϕ_0 is the magnetic flux quantum. Using either Eqs. (7) or (8) we can calculate the depairing critical current density shown in Table 1 at zero kelvin and zero magnetic field for several superconducting systems.

As can be seen from Table 1, the depairing critical current densities are quite large, especially when compared with the typical current density in standard copper household wiring of about 10^7 A/m^2 . The superconducting materials shown here have theoretical critical current densities at least 10^4 times larger than copper. It is because of these large values of critical current density with no resistive losses (and therefore no power dissipation) that superconductors are so important in large electromagnet applications (1).

It should be remembered that the values of J_D listed in Table 1 are calculated for zero kelvin and zero magnetic field, and in practice these conditions do not hold. In fact, these values of current density have never been reached because of other practical limitations. One of these limitations is the self-field produced by a wire carrying a transport current. As the transport current through the wire is increased, the self-field at the surface of the superconductor increases. At some point, the magnetic field due to the transport current becomes equal to the critical magnetic field of the wire, and the superconductivity breaks down. This model of the practical limit to J_C is know as Silsbee's hypothesis (14), and is usually applied to find the critical current limit of type I superconductors.

Of greater technological importance than the Silsbee limit in type I materials is the limitation of the $J_{\rm C}$ in type II superconductors because type II superconductors display superconductivity up to larger magnetic field values than type I superconductors. To understand the factors limiting the $J_{\rm C}$ in type II materials, it is necessary to review the magnetic properties of these superconductors and introduce the concept of the fluxline lattice.

THE MAGNETIC FLUX LINE LATTICE

The principal difference between type I and type II superconducting materials lies in their response to an applied magnetic field. Type I superconductors exclude an applied magnetic field from the body of the superconductor up to the thermodynamic critical field $H_{\rm C}$. To exclude this magnetic flux, a shielding current is established on the surface of the superconductor that flows in a direction so as to produce a flux density equal and opposite to the applied field. This surface current flows in a



surface layer whose thickness is equal to the magnetic penetration depth λ . The magnitude of the surface current can be found by using Ampere's law which states that the spatial variation in the magnetic field is proportional to the current density flowing:

$$\nabla \times \boldsymbol{H} = \boldsymbol{J} \tag{9}$$

where both H and J are vector quantities. For the onedimensional case of a semi-infinite slab of type I superconductor in the y - -z plane, and an applied field H, parallel to the slab in the z-direction, Ampere's law becomes

$$dH_z/dx = J_y \tag{10}$$

Because the magnetic field decays over a length λ into the superconductor, we know that the applied field and the shielding current density are related approximately as

$$\frac{H_{\rm A}}{\lambda} = J_{\rm y} \tag{11}$$

As the magnitude of the applied field increases, the magnitude of the current density increases to shield the superconductor from the field. The maximum current density is obtained when the applied field at the surface of the type I superconductor is equal to $H_{\rm C}$, in which case $J_{\rm MAX} = H_{\rm C}/\lambda$. This shielding current density is the same as the depairing current density described by Eqs. (7) and (8).

The shielding currents in the type I superconductor effectively provide a diamagnetic magnetization, $M = -H_A$, as shown in Fig. 4(a), called the Meissner-Ochsenfeld effect.

For type II superconductors, the magnetic response is somewhat different. Up to a lower critical field H_{C1} , the magnetic response of type II superconductors is the same as that of type I and shows a full flux expulsion, with $M = -H_A$ (see Fig. 4b). In this region, the superconductor is said to be in the Meissner state. For magnetic fields higher than H_{C1} , the magnetic fields higher than H_{C1} , the magnetic field for the superconductor makes it energetically favorable for the magnetic field to enter the bulk of the superconductor. As the magnetic flux enters the bulk superconductor, it breaks into quantized units of flux ϕ_0 , variously called the flux quantum, fluxon, fluxoid, flux vortex, or flux line. The flux quantum has a magnitude of $\phi_0 = 2.0679 \times 10^{-15}$ T-m².

The individual flux quanta, or flux lines, orient themselves parallel to the applied field and effectively reduce the magnetization of the type II superconductor below that of the perfect diamagnetism of the Meissner state. This state of lower **Figure 4.** The magnetic behavior of type I and type II superconductors. Type I superconductors exclude the applied field from the bulk of the superconductor by producing a supercurrent on the surface to cancel the applied field, yielding the magnetization versus field plot shown in (a). Type II superconductors exclude the applied field up to a lower critical field H_{C1} and then allow the field to enter the bulk as flux quanta ϕ_0 , until the upper critical field H_{C2} is reached (b). At this point the superconductivity is destroyed by the applied field.

magnetization is called the mixed state. As the applied field increases, the number of flux lines per unit area increases in the superconductor and M approaches zero. Eventually the flux lines touch one another, and the field inside the superconductor becomes equal to the applied magnetic field, driving the magnetization to zero at the upper critical magnetic field H_{C2} . The superconducting material remains superconducting up to large values of the applied magnetic field (H_{C2}), and this is one of the main reasons that the type II materials are used for electromagnet applications.

The interaction of the individual flux lines with one another is similar to that of two parallel bar magnets. Because the orientation of the field in the flux lines is the same, they repel one another strongly. This causes the flux lines to distribute themselves in a periodic lattice to minimize the interflux line interactions (Fig. 5). This periodic structure, called the flux line lattice (FLL), was theoretically predicted by Abrikosov (15) using extensions of the Ginzburg-Landau theory of superconductivity. Abrikosov found that the lowest free energy configuration for the FLL is a triangular or hexagonal "crystal." The FLL has been experimentally verified in several ways, including magnetic particle decoration techniques (16) and diffraction from the flux line crystal by using the magnetic moment of neutrons (17). The magnetic decoration technique, in particular, provides a striking visualization of the periodicity of the flux line lattice, as shown in Fig. 6.

We can model an isolated flux line as a cylindrical core of normal-phase material in which the superconductivity has



Figure 5. Schematic of the magnetic flux line lattice in a type II superconductor for applied fields between $H_{C1} < H_A < H_{C2}$. The flux lines arrange themselves in a triangular or hexagonal lattice due to the inter-flux-line magnetic repulsive forces.



Figure 6. The magnetic flux line lattice imaged using a magnetic particle decoration technique. The small scale magnetic particles are attracted to the regions of large flux gradient at the flux line cores and then can be imaged by transmission electron microscopy. The periodic triangular flux line lattice can be clearly distinguished. Reprinted with permission from H. Trauble and U. Essmann, J. Appl. Phys., **39**(9): 4052-4056, 1968. Copyright 1968, American Institute of Physics.

been destroyed by the magnetic field and which is surrounded by a circulating supercurrent. The magnetic flux resides within the core and decays into the bulk of the superconductor over a distance of the magnetic penetration depth λ (Fig. 7). Within this range, the local magnetic field strength *H* is changing, and therefore, by using Ampere's law [Eq. (9)], there is a current flowing in the superconductor. This current is analogous to the shielding current that flows on the superconductor surface to exclude the magnetic field. In this case it is a circulating current that flows around the flux-line core and has an orientation and magnitude needed to produce the ϕ_0 of magnetic flux in the core (Fig. 7). This circulating current is the origin of the name "flux vortex."

The cylindrical core has a diameter twice the coherence length (2ξ) . The coherence length is the distance over which the superconducting order parameter $|\psi|^2$ (or the density of superconducting electron pairs n_S) changes from its maximum value at the core radius to zero in the center of the core (Fig. 7). The field strength in the core can be estimated as the magnetic flux divided by the cross sectional area of the flux line:

$$H_{\rm CORE} = \frac{\phi_0}{\mu_0 \pi \xi^2} = H_{\rm C2}$$
(12)

As we introduce more flux lines into the interior of the superconductor, the circulating supercurrents of the neighboring flux lines begin to interact and repel one another, leading to the periodic structure of the flux-line lattice. The flux density at any point in the superconductor is found from the number density of flux lines as $B = n_{\phi}\phi_{\phi}/A$, where n_{ϕ} is the number of flux quanta in the cross-sectional area A. In a homogeneous



Figure 7. Model of an isolated flux line as a core of normal material containing the magnetic flux quantum ϕ_0 . The magnetic field falls off over a distance of λ , the penetration depth. The core has a radius of ξ , the superconducting coherence length, and the density of superelectrons falls to zero at the center of the flux line core.

type II superconductor in the mixed state (i.e., in an applied field between $H_{\rm C1}$ and $H_{\rm C2}$), the magnetic flux breaks up into flux lines, each containing one quantum (ϕ_0), of magnetic flux that are periodically arranged in this two-dimensional "crystal" lattice.

If a transport current is applied to such a superconducting wire, where the current flow is along the axis of the wire and the applied magnetic field is perpendicular to the axis (as shown in Fig. 8), there is an interactive force between the flux lines and the transport current. Lorentz's law for the force on a charged particle moving through a magnetic field is given by

$$\boldsymbol{F}_{\mathrm{L}} = \boldsymbol{J} \times \boldsymbol{B} \tag{13}$$

where F_L is the Lorentz force density acting between the current of J and the flux density B. The F_L has units of newtons per cubic meter and acts in a direction perpendicular to both the flux density B and the transport current density J (Fig. 8).



Figure 8. The orientation of the magnetic field, transport current, and Lorentz force acting on the flux line lattice. The Lorentz force between the flux lines and the transport current causes the flux lines to move across the superconductor.



Figure 9. The H-T and J-H phase diagrams for type II superconductors. At low applied fields the superconductor is in the Meissner state. At higher fields the superconductor enters the mixed state with the creation of the flux line lattice (FLL). As the transport current is increased from zero, the Lorentz force on the FLL eventually causes it to move, causing flux-flow dissipation and a resistive voltage, shown as the dotted line. The superconducting state does not end until the current density exceeds the depinning current density or the temperature rises above $T_{\rm C}$. As flux pinning increases, the transition to flux flow occurs closer to the depairing critical current density limit.

The result of the Lorentz force acting on the FLL is to push the flux lines across the superconductor. The movement of the flux lines corresponds to a change in the flux density within the superconducting circuit with time (Fig. 1), and from Maxwell's equations for such a case (6),

$$\frac{d\boldsymbol{B}}{dt} = -\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{E} \tag{14}$$

In other words, the moving magnetic flux lines produce an electric field gradient (or voltage) in the direction of the transport current flow. As the FLL moves, a voltage is generated that must be supplied by the external power supply. The consequence of this flux motion is that the superconductor no longer supports a transport current with zero dissipation, and therefore the zero resistance state no longer exists.

It is important here to draw a distinction between the loss of the superconducting state and the loss of the zero resistance condition. As long as the superconductor remains in fields less than the upper critical field H_{C2} at temperatures lower than $T_{\rm C}$ and carries transport currents less than $J_{\rm D}$, it is in the superconducting state. The nonzero resistance occurs only because the FLL is moving under the Lorentz force produced by the transport current and changing the magnetic flux linked by the superconductor. This is the "flux-flow" regime described earlier. If we could prevent the FLL from moving because of the Lorentz force, the zero resistance condition would persist to higher transport currents, effectively increasing the critical current density.

The bulk pinning force density $F_P(N/m^3)$, is defined for samples carrying a transport current in a transverse field as the critical Lorentz force:

$$\boldsymbol{F}_{\mathrm{P}} = |\boldsymbol{F}_{\mathrm{LC}}| = \boldsymbol{J}_{\mathrm{C}} \times \boldsymbol{B} \tag{15}$$

where $J_{\rm C}$ is the current density at which voltage losses occur in the superconductor.

In essence, holding the FLL against the Lorentz force adds a transition line for the change from flux pinning to flux flow to the phase diagram of the type II superconductor in Fig. 9. The solid lines represent thermodynamic phase transitions between the superconducting (Meissner and mixed) states and the normal state, and the dashed line shows the transition from the flux-pinning (zero resistance) condition to the dissipative fluxflow condition. Ideally, one would like to move the dashed line up in current density as close to the phase transition line (determined by J_D) as possible. This is the goal of the flux pinning discussed in the next section.

FLUX PINNING

To increase the current that a superconductor may carry without power dissipation, it is necessary to restrain the FLL against the Lorentz force by "pinning" it in place. There are several mechanisms by which the FLL may be pinned, and generally these rely on developing microstructural features that interact with the individual flux lines. Examples of microstructural features that provide pinning resistance to the Lorentz force include normal conducting precipitates, inclusions, voids, and grain boundaries.

The basic theory of flux pinning in type II superconductors is conveniently broken into three sections. These are basic interactive forces, summation theory, and scaling laws (7,8).

Basic Interactive Forces

The basic interactive forces are the forces between single, isolated flux lines and individual pinning centers. The usual model for the basic interactive force is that the pinning center must provide a spatial variation of the thermodynamic free energy of the flux line. This can be visualized as either an energy well (Fig. 10) or an energy hill. In the case shown in the upper part of Fig. 10 the flux line has a lower free energy when it sits in the energy well of the pinning center than it does in the bulk superconductor, and thus there is a pinning force holding the flux line in the well. The pinning force is related to the free energy by the first derivative with respect to position, so that the pinning force curve looks like that shown in the lower part of Fig. 10. The deeper the potential well, the steeper the energy profile, and the larger the pinning force.

If a Lorentz force is applied to a flux line trapped in this potential well, the flux line moves in the direction of the Lorentz force until it is balanced by the oppositely directed pinning force. Thus the flux line is held in place, there is no flux movement, and Eq. (14) shows that there is no dissipation. The transport current is carried without power dissipation, and the zero resistance condition is in effect. Superconducting materials that pin magnetic flux are sometimes called "hard" superconductors analogous to engineering alloys that have been



Figure 10. The variation in the free energy of the flux line in the vicinity of a pinning center. The energy well produces a net force on the flux line centering it in the pinning center and constraining it against the Lorentz force of the transport current.

mechanically hardened by treatments to pin the movement of dislocations.

One type of basic interactive force between a single flux line and a single pinning center is called the core interaction. To nucleate a flux line within the superconductor, the system must provide enough energy to convert the core of the flux line to the normal state. This energy (per unit length of flux line), called the condensation energy, is given by the volumetric free energy due to the magnetic field within the flux line and the crosssectional area of the fluxon core as

$$E_{\rm COND} = \left(\frac{\mu_0 H_{\rm C}^2}{2}\right) \pi \xi^2 \tag{16}$$

where $H_{\rm C}$ is the thermodynamic critical field and ξ is the superconducting coherence length.

Imagine that the superconductor contains a cylindrical void of diameter 2ξ and its axis is oriented parallel to the flux-line axis. If the flux line were centered on this void, the condensation energy needed to produce the normal core of the flux line would be saved, and the flux line would see a lower free energy at the location of the void than it would in the bulk, similar to Fig. 10. The result of this free energy change is that the flux line requires an increase in its energy per unit length equal to the condensation energy, Eq. (16), to move away from the void. Thus the void acts as a pinning center holding the flux line in place.

As the current density is increased, the Lorentz force on the pinned flux line increases until it exceeds the maximum gradient of the free energy versus position curve (Fig. 10). At this point the flux line is free of the pinning center and moves under the Lorentz force, creating a dissipative loss due to Eq. (14).

There are many different interactions between the flux line and microstructural defects that lead to basic interactive forces and pinning. The core interaction may be applied to voids and also to normal conducting precipitates (as in the Nb–Ti system) or weakly superconducting inclusions, for which there is a spatial dependence of the superconducting condensation energy. A different interaction that is thought to be important in flux pinning in single-phase superconductors, such as Nb₃Sn, is the grain boundary interaction, first proposed by Zerweck (18).

In the grain boundary interactive model, the grain boundaries are viewed as strong scattering centers for the normal



Figure 11. The superconducting coherence length is reduced within an electron mean free path of a scattering defect, such as a grain boundary. This causes the flux line core to distort so that the volume of the flux line changes as it approaches the grain boundary. The variation of the flux-line energy with distance from the grain boundary causes a pinning interaction between the flux line and the grain boundary.

electrons in the metal, thereby reducing the mean free path of the electrons near the grain boundary. When the electron mean free path l is less than the coherence length, the coherence length depends on the mean free path as

$$\xi_{\rm dirtv} = 0.85(\xi_0 l)^{1/2} \tag{17}$$

This is often referred to as the "dirty limit" since the mean free path of the electrons is much shorter than that of a "clean" high-purity metal (5).

From Eq. (17), the coherence length is reduced within an electron mean free path of the grain boundary. The effect of the change in the coherence length is that as the flux line core moves closer to the grain boundary, it becomes deformed (Fig. 11) and changes its volume so that the total energy (condensation energy times the core volume) changes with distance from the grain boundary. The free energy difference with position leads to a pinning force, as with the core interactive model.

A more general approach to basic interactive forces derives from the Ginzburg–Landau theory of superconductivity, which can be written to show that the variation in the free energy of a flux line depends on spatial variations of the critical field and the Ginzburg–Landau parameter κ . One version of this derivation (7) is to write the variation in the free energy of the flux line due to pinning defects as

$$\delta E = \int \mu_0 H_{\rm C}^2 \left[-\left(\frac{\delta H_{\rm C2}}{H_{\rm C2}}\right) |\psi|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\delta \kappa^2}{\kappa^2}\right) |\psi|^4 \right] dV \qquad (18)$$

where ψ is the unperturbed order parameter of the superconductor.

From this perspective, any spatial variation in either critical field $(dH_{\rm C2}/H_{\rm C2})$ or κ $(d\kappa/\kappa)$ produces a change in the free energy of the flux line that leads to a basic interactive force for pinning. Examples of pinning defects of this sort include normal and weakly superconducting inclusions and precipitates, dislocation clusters (subgrain boundaries), and chemical inhomogeneities, which produce pinning interactions through changes in the electron mean free path and therefore affect κ through the coherence length.

A class of basic interactive forces that can be modeled using "image" vortices to calculate the pinning forces are grouped together as magnetic interactions. In these cases the interaction between the circulating supercurrents and microstructural



Figure 12. In the Josephson vortex model the supercurrents surrounding a flux line are distorted as they approach a normal conducting sheet pinning center. The current spreads to the left and right of the flux line to tunnel through the sheet and complete the circuit on the opposite side. When the flux line rests on the sheet, it spreads out along the length of the pinning center, losing the normal core and distributing the flux quantum over a large area.

defects leads to pinning forces, rather than interactions involving the normal core. An example is the pinning force between a flux vortex and an electrically insulating plane. The interactive force is calculated by introducing an identical "image vortex" on the opposite side of the insulating plane. The overlapping supercurrents of the real flux line and the image vortex repel one another and produce a force between the flux line and the insulating plane.

A recent addition to the theory of basic interactive forces is that of the Josephson vortex (19,20). The Josephson vortex model accounts for the large pinning forces found in optimized Nb-Ti alloys for which the pinning centers are thin sheet-like ribbons of normal conducting α -Ti. These ribbons are much thinner than the flux line core, so that the core interaction does not accurately describe the pinning interaction. At the same time, the ribbons are not insulators, so that the magnetic interaction also does not apply. The model estimates the basic interactive force by considering what happens to the circulating supercurrent around the flux line, as it approaches a normal conducting planar pinning center. Given that the supercurrent cannot readily penetrate the (normal) pinning plane, the supercurrent spreads out along the planar defect, slowly tunneling through the pinning plane as a superconducting Josephson tunneling current to complete the current loop on the other side of the pinning plane (Fig. 12). The effect is that the flux line becomes distributed over a broad area of the pinning plane and produces a pinning force due to the Josephson current interactions.

In summary, basic interactive forces can arise from many different physical mechanisms, of which only a few have been described here. By providing a spatial variation in the free energy of the individual flux lines, the pinning centers produce a pinning force that holds the flux lines stationary against the Lorentz force, thus increasing the critical current density of the superconductor.

Summation Theory

The second key part in the discussion of flux pinning is summation theory. Given a model for the basic interactive forces between individual pinning centers and individual flux lines, now we must consider the effect of large numbers of flux lines interacting with large numbers of pinning centers. The principle complication of summation is that the flux lines interact repulsively with one another and, in the absence of a pinning force, order themselves in the flux line lattice. Thus, the flux line lattice acts as a two-dimensional, elastic, crystalline solid. If the inter-flux-line forces are weak compared to the basic interactive forces with the pinning centers, then the individual flux lines move out of the periodic FLL and arrange themselves so that as many flux lines as possible are located on the pinning centers. If the number density of flux lines is less than or equal to the number of pinning centers (for instance, at small applied fields), then each flux line is individually pinned, and the bulk pinning force is large. This is called direct summation, and the bulk pinning force density is just the number density of pinning centers times the basic interactive force.

At the other extreme in which the interaction between the flux lines in the flux line lattice is infinitely strong, the FLL is completely rigid, and there can be no bulk pinning force due to a collection of randomly distributed pinning centers because, for any position of the FLL relative to the random array of pinning centers, there will be as many basic interactive forces pulling the FLL to the left as to the right, and the bulk pinning force density averages to zero. Even though the basic interactive forces are very large, if the FLL acts as a rigid solid because of interfluxon forces, there will be no bulk pinning force, and the FLL will move under the Lorentz force due to the transport current, yielding a low $J_{\rm C}$.

The correct description of pinning certainly lies somewhere between these two extremes of direct summation and the rigid FLL lattice. There are several models proposed to account for the summation of the basic interactive forces, and all of them depend strongly on the elastic properties of the FLL as determined by the inter-flux-line forces. In essence, the FLL is a crystalline solid that is placed under an external load by the competition of the transport-current-induced Lorentz forces and the restraint of the pinning forces. As the Lorentz force loading increases, the FLL elastically distorts until either the pinning forces are exceeded, at which point the entire FLL breaks free and moves in unison through the superconductor, or the load overcomes the inter-flux-line forces, and the periodic FLL breaks apart.

This is analogous to mechanically loading a tensile specimen above its elastic limit and into the plastic deformation region. As the mechanical test specimen is plastically distorted, crystalline defects in the specimen are created (dislocations), and the mechanical properties depend strongly on the presence of these crystal defects. In the superconductor with pinning centers, the increasing Lorentz force begins to introduce crystal defects which fragment the FLL into a polycrystalline FLL. The crystalline nature of the FLL has been experimentally observed, as has the polycrystalline and defective FLL, by using both magnetic particle decoration techniques and neutron scattering (21,22). It is also the case that the presence of FLL crystal defects strongly affect its mechanical properties and response to Lorentz force loading (7).

There have been several calculations of the elastic behavior of the FLL. An example is shown in Fig. 13 (8,23) for a NbTa alloy superconductor. C_{11} is the elastic modulus in the plane normal to the flux line axes. This is a measure of the stiffness of the FLL while pushing the flux lines closer together. C_{44} is the elastic tilt modulus which describes the bending of flux lines along their axis. C_{66} is the shear modulus, which describes the resistance of the FLL to the shear of flux lines past one another. An excellent discussion of the effect of the FLL elastic constants on the deformation of the flux line lattice may be found in Ref. 8.

When the number density of flux lines is larger than the number density of pinning centers (as is often the case), there



Figure 13. Labusch calculation of the elastic constants of the flux line lattice in Nb-Ta. Notice that the C_{11} and C_{44} elastic constants increase with magnetic field, whereas the shear modulus C_{66} decreases with field at high fields. The *b* and *h* are the reduced fields B/B_{C2} and H/H_{C2} , respectively. Reprinted with permission from Ref. 8.

are two primary models of the summation behavior of the FLL. These are the flux line lattice shear model and the collectivepinning model.

In the FLL shear model, individual flux lines are strongly pinned on individual pinning centers, and the excess flux lines not directly pinned are held in place against the Lorentz force due to the interfluxon forces. At large enough transport currents, the Lorentz force becomes larger than the elastic shear modulus (C_{66}) can support, and the FLL shears, allowing unpinned flux lines to flow between those strongly pinned by the pinning centers. Therefore the critical current is determined, not by the strength of the pinning forces, but by the shear stiffness of the FLL, given by C_{66} .

In the Brandt model of the flux line elastic constants, the compressive modulus C_{11} and the tilt modulus C_{44} both depend on the magnetic field roughly as

$$C_{11} \approx C_{44} \approx \frac{H^2}{4\pi} \tag{19}$$

whereas the shear modulus near H_{C2} is approximated by

$$C_{66} \approx K \left(1 - \frac{H}{H_{C2}} \right)^2 \tag{20}$$

where K is a proportionality constant. At high magnetic fields, the FLL is very stiff in bending and compression, but becomes softer and softer in shear as the field approaches H_{C2} . Therefore from this summation model one would expect that the high field critical current density would be determined by the FLL shear and would be somewhat independent of the basic pinning interaction. A detailed model of the FLL shear mechanism developed by Kramer (24,25) predicts a different high field behavior of the bulk pinning force density compared to the predictions of the simple direct summation model. Both kinds of behavior have been experimentally observed.

An alternative model for summation that applies in the limit of a larger number density of flux lines than pinning centers is the collective-pinning model (26,27). In collective-pinning theory, the FLL is thought to consist of a polycrystalline collection of "grains" in which the periodic order of the flux line lattice is reasonably well maintained by inter-flux-line forces, but the neighboring grains are uncorrelated with one another. Within a flux lattice grain, the flux lines are strongly pinned to one or more pinning centers, and the correlated group is held in place by the combined action of the basic pinning forces and the inter-flux-line forces.

In the collective-pinning model, the size of the correlated FLL grains is determined by the number density of pinning centers and the relative strength of the pinning force and the interflux-line forces. In one limit, where the inter-flux-line forces are large compared to the pinning forces, the flux lattice is elastically stiff and the correlated flux grain size is large and involves many pinning centers. In this limit, the bulk pinning force is small, as in the infinitely stiff FLL limit described previously. As the pinning force increases relative to the inter-flux-line forces, the correlated grains become smaller and approach a limiting grain size equal to the mean pinning center spacing, so that each flux lattice grain interacts with only one pinning center. In this limit, the bulk pinning force is at its maximum, because each pinning center is applying a maximal constraint on the FLL. The bulk pinning force is close to the direct summation pinning force in this limit.

In summary, then, the central problem of summation theory is how one combines the effects of the individual fluxonpinning center interactions and the interfluxon forces to produce a bulk pinning force to hold the FLL against the Lorentz force. Although the limiting cases of direct summation and the rigid FLL are well understood, the behavior of real materials is less clear. Several models for summation have been proposed, primarily the FLL shear and the collective-pinning models, and validation of them with experimental measurements shows that they all have some merit, but none are capable of a complete description of the origins of the bulk pinning force. A final tool for understanding the physical mechanisms behind the pinning force and $J_{\rm C}$ is scaling laws.

Scaling Laws for Flux Pinning

Experimentally it has been found that as the testing temperature is varied, many superconductors exhibit scaling of the bulk pinning force density versus applied magnetic field (28). This is observed by first measuring the $J_{\rm C}$ as a function of magnetic field and developing a curve of the bulk pinning force density versus magnetic field using Eq. (15): $F_{\rm P} = J_{\rm C}B$. This curve has a characteristic shape. It is zero at zero applied field, increases through a maximum with increasing field, and drops to zero again as the $J_{\rm c}$ drops to zero at $H = H_{\rm C2}$ (Fig. 14).

As the test temperature changes, the H_{C2} of the sample changes, and as a result, the bulk pinning force changes at a given applied field. By scaling the ordinate using the reduced field, $h = H/H_{C2}$, and scaling the abscissa as the reduced pinning force density, $f_P = F_P/F_{PMAX}$, where F_{PMAX} is the maximum measured bulk pinning force density, the experimental


data frequently collapse onto a single line for all test temperatures (Fig. 14).

Although the majority of the experiments on scaling $J_{\rm C}$ have been performed in low temperature superconductors, a large literature has also developed for scaling behavior in high temperature superconductors. The terminology used in HTS materials has evolved along different lines than those used here, but the basic result is that temperature scaling of the pinning force is also a common feature of these materials (29,30).

It is important that the pinning force follows a scaling law with changes in magnetic field and temperature because scaling implies a single mechanism for flux pinning in the material as a function of temperature, which should be amenable to theoretical prediction. Additionally, if scaling holds for a given material, one only needs to measure the critical current at one temperature and field to estimate the performance at other temperatures, which can be useful for magnet designers.

In general terms, scaling follows an equation, such as

$$F_{\rm P} = K(H_{\rm C2})^m f(h)$$
 (21)

where K and m are empirically determined constants, f(h) is a function only of reduced applied field, and the temperature dependence is carried in the variation of H_{C2} . Typically in LTS materials, m varies between 1.5 and 2.5. The field function f(h)may display many different kinds of scaling behavior with magnetic field (31). The two most common are the linear scaling and the quadratic scaling functions.

In linear scaling, the field function is given by

$$f(h) = h(1-h)$$
 (22)

This is a symmetrical function of reduced field that has a peak in the pinning force density at h = 0.5. Often, optimized Nb-Ti superconductors follow a linear scaling behavior (32).

The quadratic scaling field function is expressed by

$$f(h) = h^{1/2} (1 - h)^2$$
(23)

which displays a peak pinning force density at h = 0.25 and a strong quadratic curvature as the applied field nears H_{C2} . The quadratic behavior is usually associated with Nb₃Sn and other single-phase superconductors (33).

Figure 14. To determine whether a superconducting material displays scaling of the flux pinning curve, the pinning force density versus applied field for several different test temperatures is measured (a). The data are scaled using $h = H/H_{C2}$ (b) and $f_P = F_P/F_{PMAX}$ (c). If the sample displays scaling, the different temperatures collapse onto a single plot (c).

Because many superconductors exhibit scaling, it is interesting to see if a theoretical model can predict the measurements and provide some insight into flux pinning behavior. Because the theoretical picture of summation is somewhat diverse, it is not surprising that the theory of pinning force density scaling is not completely clear. However, there are qualitative models that explain some of the experimental behavior.

Campbell and Evetts (7) examined the low field region of the pinning force curve, which is roughly linear with field for nearly all of the scaling models and experiments. In this region, there are a small number of flux lines compared to the number of pinning centers. Campbell and Evetts propose that direct summation should apply because the spacing between flux lines is large enough that the interactive forces between them are weak. As the field is increased from zero, the bulk pinning force density increases linearly because of the increased number of flux lines being pinned. This is often referred to as the "partial synchronization" range of fields because the flux lines become "synchronized" with the pinning center array.

At some magnetic field, the number of flux lines is equal to the number of pinning centers, and the maximum bulk pinning force density is reached. Therefore, the field of the pinning peak depends on the number of pinning centers, and the magnitude of the peak depends on the strength of the basic interactive forces (Fig. 15).

At higher fields, there are more flux lines than pinning centers, and one expects a crossover from synchronization to where the bulk pinning force is limited by other effects. In the Campbell and Evetts model the high field pinning force falls off because of the variation of the basic interactive force with field, which falls as (1 - h) for the core interaction. Thus, Campbell and Evetts predict a linear low field region, a pinning peak at a field determined by the number of pinning centers, and a linear high field region. As the basic interactive force increases, the pinning force curve increases in all fields.

An alternative model of summation due to Kramer (25) describes the low field portion of the pinning force curve by partial synchronization, as in the Campbell and Evetts model. However, the high field behavior is determined by the shear of the flux lattice past strongly pinned individual fluxons. Therefore, the high field pinning force has a magnetic field dependence determined by the C_{66} elastic constant, which from Eq. (20) decreases as $(1 - h)^2$. Kramer also predicts that the high field behavior will exhibit saturation such that variations in processing



Figure 15. In the summation model of Campbell and Evetts, the pinning force curve is linear at both low fields and high fields, and the position of the peak pinning force density shifts depending on the number of pinning centers in the superconductor (a). The Kramer model, on the other hand, shows a quadratic high field behavior, and the pinning force density saturates at high fields, as the strength of the basic interaction increases (b).

leading to changes in the basic interactive forces will affect the magnitude and position of the peak but will not affect the high field pinning force behavior (Fig. 15).

In most flux pinning theories the basic interactive force is a function of temperature. For instance, in the core pinning model, the basic interactive force depends on the condensation energy and therefore on $H_{\rm C}$. As the temperature changes, so does $H_{\rm C}$. This leads to the observed temperature scaling of $F_{\rm P}$.

However, the temperature dependence is more complicated for some basic interactions. For example, if the pinning center were a superconducting precipitate with $T_{\rm C}$ and $H_{\rm C2}$ below that of the bulk material, one would expect a difference in the strength of the core pinning interaction as the temperature is varied above and below the pinning center critical temperature and as the field moves above and below $H_{\rm C2}$ of the pinner. This effect is normally observed as a lack of scaling and commonly as a shift of the peak in the pinning force curve as a function of temperature.

A second example of a lack of scaling is a superconductor in which the pinning force on the FLL is a combination of several different basic interactive mechanisms. Such a superconductor might be a two-phase alloy in which pinning results from both core interactions with normal precipitates and grain boundary pinning. The different temperature and field dependencies of the two operating pinning mechanisms lead to a lack of scaling (34).

The main points to understand from this overview of the flux pinning mechanism are the following:

- Bulk flux pinning depends on the basic interactive forces between individual flux lines and individual pinning centers.
- Bulk flux pinning depends on the relative strength of the basic interactive forces and the fluxon-fluxon forces, which affects the summation of the individual interactions into the bulk pinning force acting on the FLL.
- Scaling, or lack of scaling, provides a tool for understanding the pinning mechanisms operating in different field

and temperature regions. This understanding can help direct modifications of the pinning microstructures by using suitable processing to optimize the pinning force and $J_{\rm C}$ of hard superconductors.

THE CRITICAL STATE MODEL OF MAGNETIZATION

The previous discussion has centered on the electrical behavior of the superconductor, but magnetic behavior is also an important aspect of many applications. The magnetic response of the superconductor can be a valuable tool for measuring the critical current density.

An important consequence of pinning the magnetic FLL is that the magnetic behavior of hard superconductors is strongly hysteretic (Fig. 16). To understand the development of the hysteretic magnetization curve, a simple but powerful model was proposed by Bean (35) and has since been modified and further refined (36).

To simplify discussion of the model, we use a sample geometry of an infinite superconducting plate of thickness W. The applied magnetic field will be parallel to the surfaces of the plate. as in Fig. 17. As the magnetic field is increased from zero, superconducting magnetization currents develop on the surfaces, so that they shield the interior of the superconductor from the applied field (the Meissner–Ochsenfeld effect). These shielding currents flow only within a distance λ (the penetration depth) of the surface and fall off exponentially into the superconductor. This condition persists until the external applied field exceeds the lower critical magnetic field H_{C1} . For fields larger than H_{C1} the superconductor is thermodynamically more stable if the applied field enters the superconductor as the flux line lattice. For simplification, the Meissner state below H_{C1} is ignored in the critical state model. This is not a bad approximation, especially for the technological superconductors which have large values of the Ginzburg-Landau parameter κ and therefore small values of H_{C1} .

If the sample has pinning centers to hold the entering FLL in place, a magnetic field gradient is established at the surface of the superconductor which falls off into the body of the sample. From earlier discussions of Ampere's law, we know that the current density flowing in a superconductor is directly related to the magnetic field gradient, Eqs. (9) and (10). The situation



Figure 16. Schematic of the hysteretic magnetization curve in strong pinning superconductors. The arrows indicate the direction of travel around the hysteresis loop during a typical magnetization measurement.



Figure 17. In the Bean critical state model, the semi-infinite slab develops the flux and current density profiles shown on the application of a magnetic field larger than H_{C1} .

looks schematically like that shown in Fig. 17, where the zdirected applied field falls off into the sample with a gradient in the x-direction that produces a current density flowing in the y-direction (into the page).

The current density flowing is equal to the critical current density. If the flux gradient were steeper, the current density would be larger than the $J_{\rm C}$, and the FLL would not be fully pinned, leading to flux flow. The flux motion lowers the field gradient until the FLL is pinned by the pinning centers, leaving a critical flux gradient and a current density equal to $J_{\rm C}$. For this reason the model is known as the "critical state model."

In Bean's original version of the critical state model, the $J_{\rm C}$ is assumed to be a constant, independent of applied field from $H_{\rm C1} < H_{\rm A} < H_{\rm C2}$. This assumption makes the flux profile in the sample linear such that

$$\frac{dH_z}{dx} = \frac{\Delta H_z}{\Delta x} = J_y = \text{constant} = J_C$$
(24)

As the applied field is increased from $H_A = 0$, the field penetrates the sample from both sides, and generates a circulating shielding current equal to J_C (Fig. 17). The magnetization of the slab can be found from examination of the field versus position plot. From the definition of magnetization, we know that the local magnetization response of the superconductor to the applied field can be written as the difference between the applied field and the local internal magnetic field:

$$M(x) = H_{\rm l}(x) - H_{\rm A} \tag{25}$$

where $H_I(x)$ is the local internal magnetic field. To find the bulk magnetization, we must integrate the local magnetization over the sample volume. Because the sample is infinite in the y- and z-directions, we can turn this into a one-dimensional integral



Figure 18. The flux profile in the superconductor on applying a field $H_{\rm A}$. This is useful for understanding the origin of the terms in the integral of Eq. (26). The magnetization response to the applied field $H_{\rm A}$ is proportional to the area of the light gray trapezoid.

over x, such that

$$M_{\text{bulk}} = \left(\frac{1}{W}\right) \int H_{\text{I}}(x) dx - \left(\frac{1}{W}\right) \int H_{\text{A}} dx$$
$$= \left(\frac{1}{W}\right) \int [H_{\text{I}}(x) - H_{\text{A}}] dx \qquad (26)$$

Comparing Eq. (26) with Fig. 18 shows graphically that the second term is the area of the entire rectangular region, whereas the first term is given by the area of the two darker triangular regions. The bulk magnetization is the volume averaged difference between these, or the light gray trapezoidal area of Fig. 18, divided by the sample width W.

Using this simple model we can determine the behavior of the superconductor during a half magnetic field cycle used to generate a magnetization loop of M versus H_A . The process is shown schematically in Fig. 19. For small applied fields (points a, b) the field penetrates, and the magnetization increases rapidly with applied field. At point c the applied field is large enough to push the magnetic flux line lattice all the way to the center of the sample. This field is called the full penetration field H_P .

For applied fields larger than the full penetration field, the magnetization does not change, even though the internal and external fields increase. The magnetization curve remains flat (points d, e).

Now, if the applied field were to be reduced, the flux lattice, which is being pinned in place by the pinning centers, responds only near the surface region, as shown at point f. The magnetization becomes rapidly smaller with decreasing field. Now, the circulating supercurrents flowing in the sample have the spatial dependence shown in Fig. 20. Both the positive and negative flowing currents are assumed to be flowing at the critical current density. Recall that the magnitude of the critical current density in the Bean critical state model is constant with magnetic field.

As the applied field is further reduced, the current density profile eventually inverts, and the magnetization becomes positive and constant (g). Finally, at $H_A = 0$, the magnetization is positive because of the magnetic fields trapped in the body of the superconductor by the pinning forces acting on the FLL.

Because the flux gradient is a constant, the full penetration field $H_{\rm P}$, varies with the width of the sample. Examination of Fig. 19 at the full penetration field (point c) shows that the



Figure 19. Schematic of a half hysteresis loop measurement of the magnetization in a Type II superconductor. The flux profiles at eight points around the magnetization loop are derived from the Bean critical state model and illustrate the source of the dependence of the magnetization on the pinning of magnetic flux within the superconductor.

magnetic flux gradient

$$\frac{dH}{dx} = -\frac{H_{\rm P}}{(W/2)} = J_{\rm C} \tag{27}$$

We can also see that the magnitude of the magnetization at this



Figure 20. The flux profile and the accompanying current density profile for point (f) of Fig. 19. The current density profile matches the profile of the magnetic flux at all points in the superconductor.



Figure 21. The Bean critical state model assumes that the critical current density is constant with the magnetic field. In modified versions of the critical state model, the critical current density is allowed to vary with the magnetic field. The effects on the magnetic flux profiles and accompanying current density profiles are shown here for four different applied fields. As the applied field becomes larger, the critical current decreases. The slope of the flux profile changes with the magnetic field, and it is also no longer linear with position in the superconductor.

field is given by

$$M(H_{\rm P}) = \frac{2}{W} \int \left[\left(H_{\rm P} + x \frac{dH}{dx} \right) - H_{\rm P} \right] dx = \frac{J_{\rm C}}{\left(\frac{W}{2}\right)} \int x \, dx \quad (28)$$

integrated from x = 0 to W/2. This gives the constant value of the magnetization with applied field (points c, d, e) as

$$M = J_{\mathbb{C}}\left(\frac{W}{2}\right) \tag{29}$$

Figure 19 also illustrates that, when one considers the entire hysteresis loop of the magnetization measurement, the distance between the increasing field and decreasing field magnetization at any applied field is twice the result of Eq. (29), or the more usual result from the critical state model,

$$\Delta M = J_{\rm C} W \tag{30}$$

The Bean critical state model has been modified to account for the fact that the critical current density is not a constant with applied field (36). These modifications lead to curved magnetic field and current density profiles (Fig. 21) in addition to more realistic magnetization loops (Fig. 16). It is still the case, however, that these models predict a direct relationship between the height of the magnetization loop at a given field and the critical current density multiplied by the sample dimension.

Other modifications to the Bean Critical State Model have incorporated the change in magnetization due to finite sample sizes (37) and demagnetization factors for non-spherical samples (38).

The most important result of the Bean model is that the magnetization behavior can be used as a probe of the critical current density within the superconductor by using a technique different from the four-point resistive measurement. For many emerging superconducting materials, magnetization measurements have allowed measuring the critical current density before long lengths of wire were available for resistive testing. It is also possible to measure $J_{\rm C}$ s that would be difficult to measure with a conventional resistive technique. An example is a cabled conductor with an $I_{\rm C}$ of thousands of amperes. Multikiloamp power supplies are expensive to purchase and operate, and the high current significantly complicates the experimental design. Magnetization measurements of $J_{\rm C}$ are not limited by the need for high current power supplies. The magnetization measurement of $J_{\rm C}$ continues to be an important tool for the materials engineer in optimizing the flux pinning process.

DISSIPATION EFFECTS IN HIGH CURRENT DENSITY SUPERCONDUCTORS

The movement of the FLL within the superconductor has many consequences for the applications of superconductors. Examples include flux jumping (the rapid movement of magnetic flux within the superconductor which leads to localized heating effects and the loss of the superconducting state), flux flow near the $J_{\rm C}$, flux creep (the slow movement of the FLL caused by random thermal jumping of flux lines out of the pinning potentials), and magnetic hysteresis (which causes an additional heating effect and resistive loss in ac applications of superconductors). Because of their importance to applications, the dissipative effects have been carefully studied and have led to some useful insights into the flux pinning process.

Flux Flow and Resistive Transition Analysis

As we have seen previously, the transition from the flux pinning to the flux flow state is generally not sharp but occurs over a range of currents during a resistive critical current measurement. Several models for the shape of the resistive transition have been developed to account for this behavior (39-41), but they all assume a distribution of pinning center strengths within the wire. The idea was first proposed by Baixeras and Fournet (42) but was not fully developed and applied to technological superconductors until the 1980s. If one assumes that the superconducting wire is made of an assortment of independent, current-carrying segments in series, each with its own value of critical current (as determined by the flux pinning defects within each segment), then the equation for the V(I) curve can be written as

$$\mathbf{V}(I) = A \int (I - I') f(I') dI' \tag{31}$$

where I' is the local critical current of an individual wire segment, A is a constant, f(I) is the critical current distribution of the segments in the wire, and the integral is performed from zero current to I.

In essence this states that the voltage at any transport current I results from the segments with $I_{\rm C} < I$ and are therefore in flux flow. Variations in the critical current of each segment may occur because of variations in processing, chemical inhomogeneities, or changes in geometry. For wires that are very homogeneous along their lengths, the distribution in critical currents f(I) is very narrow, and the V(I) characteristic is quite sharp and steep, leading to large *n*-values and the associated measure of "high-quality" in technological superconductors (43). At the other extreme, a large variation in the critical current distribution leads to a broad V(I) transition and a low *n*-value.

The importance of the model for helping the development of high $J_{\rm C}$ superconductors is that it can be used in reverse to determine the critical current distribution function from a measurement of the V(I) curve. By taking the second derivative of both sides of Eq. (31),

$$\frac{d^2 V}{dI^2} = Af(I) \tag{32}$$

The second derivative of the experimentally determined V(I) curve yields the distribution f(I) of critical currents within the sample. In practice it is found that the resistive critical current measurement is always at a current well below the peak of the critical current distribution f(I). Technological superconductors are limited by the weakest flux pinning segment along the sample length.

Temperature Dependence: Flux Creep and FLL Melting

As the temperature of a strongly pinned superconductor is increased, the thermal energy available to the pinned flux lines increases, allowing the possibility of thermally induced flux depinning. The higher temperatures lead to thermal excitation of the flux lines within the pinning potential wells. In low temperature superconductors where the thermal energies are low, the thermal energy is typically much smaller than the depth of the pinning potential. This led early investigators to name the effect "flux creep" because of the similarity to mechanical creep of crystalline materials at stresses much lower than the yield stress.

The theory and model for flux creep was developed by Anderson (44) and elaborated by Kim and Anderson (45). The basic premise is that flux lines at any finite temperature, experience a thermal excitation due to the thermal energy kT. The excitation energy has a statistical probability of causing a flux line pinned by a pinning center to become unpinned. The probability of this thermal depinning occurring is given by the Arrhenius factor

$$p = \exp\left(-\frac{U}{kT}\right) \tag{33}$$

where U is the depth of the energy well of the pinning center (Fig. 10).

For an isolated flux line, assuming no temperature gradient, there is no preferred jump direction because both the pinning potential and the thermal excitation are spatially symmetrical. Thus the flux line would execute a random walk as the thermal excitation allowed it to leave the pinning potentials, and no net change in flux would occur.

For a flux line in a magnetic field gradient, the flux motion associated with the thermal activation of the flux line derived from a diffusion argument is

$$\frac{dB}{dt} = Aw_0 \exp\left(-\frac{U}{kT}\right) \tag{34}$$

where A is a factor that depends on the local magnetic field and field gradient and w_0 is the frequency with which the flux line tries to jump out of the well.

The flux gradient provides a driving force that leads to diffusion of the flux line preferentially down the flux gradient. This produces a changing magnetic flux density according to Eq. (34) which can be experimentally measured. The flux gradient can exist because of the presence of either a transport current or a magnetization current in the sample.

In the case of a magnetization-induced flux gradient, the flux gradient would decay, eventually disappearing, even though the flux gradient (or magnetization current density) is less than the critical current density. This is in contrast to the assumptions of the Bean critical state model, in which the flux gradient adjusts itself to match the critical current density at all points in the sample. In the original experimental work on flux creep (46), the measured decay of the magnetization currents translated into a decay time of 10^{92} years, effectively infinite time, so that, even with flux creep, the persistent magnetization supercurrents that flow as a result of the Meissner–Ochsenfeld effect are truly persistent.

The situation is somewhat different when the flux gradient driving force is produced by an externally applied transport current. In this case, the flux gradient crosses the superconductor, and the effect of the flux creep is to move flux lines across the sample in a manner identical to the flux depinning process at $J_{\rm C}$. In the same way that the FLL motion causes a resistive-like dissipation in the superconductor, the flux creep motion also contributes to the dissipation. This results in a power loss in the superconductor that must be supplied by the external power supply and a consequent heating of the superconductor to great, the temperature increases, which increases the probability of thermally activated flux motion, and a thermal runaway to the normal state ensues.

At higher temperatures, the thermal excitation of the flux lines becomes comparable to the pinning potential, and the FLL is expected to move more easily. This, in fact, was one early argument against the possibility of technologically important superconductors at high temperatures. The argument was that no known basic pinning interactions are strong enough to prevent thermal excitation of the FLL at high temperatures (e.g., at 77 K, liquid nitrogen), even at very small transport currents. Fortunately for high temperature superconductors, this has not been the case. However, the concerns about the higher thermal energy available for excitation of the FLL out of the HTS pinning centers led along a path different from the original flux creep models into the theories of flux lattice melting.

Much of the theoretical picture of thermal effects on the FLL in HTS materials is at heart the same as in low temperature materials. The basic interests are in the possibility of scaling the pinning force with temperature, magnetic field dependence of the $J_{\rm C}$, and the importance of the higher thermal energy in the depinning and motion of the FLL. The terminology has developed differently, but the physical mechanisms of flux pinning and depinning do not differ substantially.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The critical current density of superconducting materials is a technologically important parameter, often more important in engineering design than the $T_{\rm C}$ or the $H_{\rm C2}$. The theory of the $J_{\rm C}$ is broad and has provided useful insights into the physical mechanisms responsible for the large values of critical current density found in technological superconductors. This article has described the standard resistive and magnetic measurements of critical current. The theories of superconducting critical current range from the ultimate limits to the $J_{\rm C}$, as described by the depairing current density, to the limits imposed by the thermal excitation of flux lines out of their pinning centers. The development of a bulk pinning force from the summation of individual pinning center interactions leads to the empirically observed scaling laws for the $J_{\rm C}$ that are important both as a tool for understanding the flux pinning processes and as an extrapolating technique useful for technological design.

Ultimately, this article has attempted to show the connection between the measured values of the $J_{\rm C}$ and the microstructural defects responsible for pinning the magnetic flux-line lattice in place. Understanding the physical processes underlying the development of the $J_{\rm C}$ has led materials engineers to design fabrication and processing that produces the desired microstructural features necessary for high $J_{\rm C}$. In the past 10 to 15 years, this has led to massive increases in the performance of superconducting materials for applications requiring high current density and promises additional improvements in the future.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- M. N. Wilson, Superconducting Magnets, Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, 1983.
- D. C. Larbalestier, in S. Foner and B. B. Schwartz (eds.), Superconductor Materials Science: Metallurgy, Fabrication and Applications, New York: Plenum Press, pp. 133-200, 1981.
- M. Suenaga, in S. Foner and B. B. Schwartz (eds.), Superconductor Materials Science: Metallurgy, Fabrication and Applications, New York: Plenum Press, pp. 201-274, 1981.
- 4. A. C. Rose-Innes and F. H. Rhoderick, Introduction to Superconductivity, Oxford, UK: Pergamon, 1969.
- M. Tinkham, Introduction to Superconductivity, New York: McGraw-Hill, 1975.
- T. P. Orlando and K. A. Delin, Foundations of Applied Superconductivity, Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley, 1991.
- 7. A. M. Campbell and J. E. Evetts, Adv. Phys., 21: 199-428, 1972.
- H. Ullmaier, Irreversible Properties of Type II Superconductors, Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1975.
- Y. B. Kim, C. F. Hempstead, and A. R. Strnad, Phys. Rev., 139 (4A): 1163–1172, 1965.
- 10. F. Volker, Particle Accelerators, 1: 205-207, 1970.
- 11. H. K. Olsson et al., Phys. Rev. Lett., 66 (20): 2661-2664, 1991.
- 12. N.-C. Yeh et al., Phys. Rev. B, 45 (10): 5710-5713, 1992.
- T. S. Kreilick, Niobium-Titanium Superconductors, in *Metals Handbook*, Vol. 2, 10th edition, Materials Park, OH: ASM International, pp. 1043-1059, 1990.
- 14. F. B. Silsbee, J. Wash. Acad. Sci., 6: 597, 1916.
- 15, A. A. Abrikosov, Sov. Phys. JETP, 5: 1174, 1957.
- 16. U. Essman and H. Trauble, Phys. Lett., 24A: 526-527, 1967.
- J. D. Cribier et al., Progress in Low Temperature Physics, Vol. V, C. J. Gorter (ed.), Amsterdam: North-Holland, 1967, p. 161.

- A. Gurevitch and L. D. Cooley, Phys. Rev. B, 50 (18): 13563-13576, 1994.
- L. D. Cooley, P. J. Lee, and D. C. Larbalestier, *Phys. Rev. B*, 53 (10): 6638–6652, 1996.
- 21. H. Trauble and U. Essmann, Phys. Stat. Sol., 25: 395-402, 1968.
- 22. J. Schelten, H. Ullmaier, and G. Lippmann, Phys. Rev. B, 12 (5): 1772–1777, 1975.
- 23. E. H. Brandt, J. Low Temp. Phys., 21: 709, 1977.
- 24. E. J. Kramer, J. Appl. Phys., 44 (3): 1360-1370, 1973.
- 25. E. J. Kramer, J. Electron. Mater., 4 (5): 839-881, 1975.
- A. I. Larkin and Yu. N. Ovchinikov, J. Low Temp. Phys., 34: 409– 428, 1979.
- 27. R. Labusch, Cryst. Lattice Defects, 1: 1-16, 1969.
- 28. W. A. Feitz and W. W. Webb, Phys. Rev., 178 (2): 657-667, 1969.
- 29. M. P. A. Fisher, Phys. Rev. Lett., 62 (12): 1415-1418, 1989.
- 30. B. Brown et al., Phys. Rev. B, 55 (14): 8713-8716, 1997.
- 31. D. Dew-Hughes, Philos. Mag., 30: 293-305, 1974.
- D. G. Hawksworth and D. C. Larbalestier, Proc. 8th Symp. Eng. Probl. Fusion Res., 1979, Vol. 1, p. 245.
- 33. R. J. Hampshire and M. T. Taylor, J. Phys. F, 2: 89-106, 1972.
- 34. C. Meingast, P. J. Lee, and D. C. Larbalestier, J. Appl. Phys., 66 (12): 5962–5970, 1989.
- 35. C. P. Bean, Phys. Rev. Lett., 8: 250-253, 1962.
- D.-X. Chen and R. B. Goldfarb, J. Appl. Phys., 66 (6): 2489–2500, 1989.
- R. B. Goldfarb and J. V. Minervini, Rev. Sci. Instrum., 55 (5): 761– 764, 1984.
- M. Daumling and D. C. Larbalestier, Phys. Rev. B, 40 (13): 9350– 9353, 1989.
- J. E. Evetts and C. J. G. Plummer, Proc. Intl. Symp. Flux Pinning Electromagnetic Properties Superconductors, T. Matsushita, (ed.), Fukuoka, Japan: Matsukama Press, 1986, p. 150.
- D. P. Hampshire and H. Jones, Proc. 9th Intl. Conf. Magnet Technology, C. Marinucci (ed.), Swiss Institute for Nuclear Research, Geneva, Switzerland, 1985, p. 531.
- W. H. Warnes and D. C. Larbalestier, Appl. Phys. Letts., 48 (20): 1403-1405, 1986.
- 42. J. Baixeras and G. Fournet, J. Phys. Chem. Solids, 28: 1541, 1967.
- W. H. Warnes and D. C. Larbalestier, Cryogenics, 26 (12): 643-653, 1986.
- 44. P. W. Anderson, Phys. Rev. Letts., 9 (7): 309-311, 1962.
- 45. P. W. Anderson and Y. B. Kim, Rev. Mod. Phys., 36: 39, 1964.
- 46. Y. B. Kim, C. F. Hempstead, and A. R. Strnad, Phys. Rev. Lett., 9 (7): 306-311, 1962.

WILLIAM H. WARNES Oregon State University

SUPERCONDUCTIVITY: ELECTROMAGNETS

The design and construction of superconducting magnets has been made possible by the development of technical superconductors. There are three principal materials: the alloy niobium-titanium (NbTi), the intermetallic compound niobiumtin (Nb₃Sn), and the collective high-temperature superconductors (HTS) based on copper oxide layers in a perovskite structure. Nb₃Sn and NbTi were developed in the early 1960s. A small solenoid made of Nb₃Sn achieved a field of 10 T in 1963, and the alloy NbTi was also first examined as a wire for a superconducting magnet in that year. In the nearly four decades that have elapsed since those first steps, superconducting magnets weighing up to many hundreds of tonnes have been built and operated.

Technical superconductors are a class having special properties that allow superconductive operation in high magnetic fields and with useful current densities. Superconductors are of two types; both can support the flow of electrical current without resistance only below a combination of maximum temperature, field, and current density, the critical parameters being $T_{\rm c}$, $B_{\rm c}$, and $J_{\rm c}$ (1). For Type I superconductors, typical values of $T_{\rm c}$ and $B_{\rm c}$ are 9 K and 0.1 T, respectively. Flux is excluded from the bulk of a Type I superconductor, and current flows only in a surface layer, about 10^{-4} mm thick. The current is carried by electron pairs of equal and opposite momentum. (This momentum includes terms arising from both velocity and linked flux.) Since flux is excluded from the interior of a Type I superconductor, and current flows only on the surface, a useful overall current density can only be obtained in wires of a diameter unacceptably small for magnet construction. Consequently a Type I superconductor cannot be used to construct a useful magnet, even were the critical field to be higher than 0.1 T. Examples of Type I superconductors are lead, indium, mercury, and pure annealed niobium.

By contrast, Type II superconductors allow flux to penetrate into the bulk of the lattice in the form of an array of flux quanta. A circulating supercurrent surrounds each flux quantum $(2.07 \times 10^{-15} \text{ V} \cdot \text{s})$ (2). If a net transport current flows along a Type II superconducting wire, a density gradient of flux quanta exists across the wire. The flux density gradient is given by

$$\frac{dB}{dx} = -\mu_0 J_c \tag{1}$$

where J_c is a bulk critical current density and μ_0 is the permeability of free space.

However, a Type II superconductor is not necessarily a technical superconductor. The interaction of the net transport current flow with the flux quanta creates a Lorentz force that causes a migration of the flux across the superconductor. Such a migration appears as a voltage gradient along the superconductor, which causes a dissipation; that is, the superconductor appears to be resistive. For these reasons pure annealed Type II superconductors are resistive with a transport current in the presence of a field. Because of the penetration of flux, the maximum temperatures and fields below which superconductivity arises in them are up to 18 K and 25 T, respectively. The latter is the upper critical field, B_{c2} , at which the lattice is fully packed with flux quanta. The penetration of flux into the lattice begins at a lower critical field, B_{c1} .

The technical superconductor is a Type II superconductor in which this migration of flux quanta is inhibited. This is achieved by the introduction of lattice defects, in the form of crystal boundaries, impurities, vacancies, or dislocations (3). At these defects flux quanta tend to become pinned against further movement, at least until the Lorentz force increases.

To the extent that mechanical models assist in the understanding of quantum effects, a typical pinning center may be imagined as a long hole through the lattice of the superconductor. If a flux quantum, or an integral number of flux quanta,

were located in this hole, the associated circulating current would lie in the material around the hole. If now the flux quantum were to move away from the hole, the current would have to become elongated so as to continue to flow in solid material. That would increase the interactive force between flux and current, so tending to force the flux back into the hole. The movement of flux quanta through an array of pinning centers is also influenced by thermal vibration. Since the temperature at which electron pairs can form is low, thermally induced lattice vibration is comparable in energy density with that of the pinning strength of the centers. Thus a flux quantum trapped at a pinning center may be dislodged by a large enough random thermal movement. That flux quantum would then migrate down the Lorentz force gradient to another pinning center. On the macroscopic scale this effect will reduce the flux density gradient and hence the Lorentz force. So, under conditions of constant transport current and external field, the random movement of flux quanta will die away until the current, field, or temperature changes. This process is known as flux creep. It is central to the manner in which technical superconductors can be used in magnets (4).

The continuous movement of flux across an annealed Type II superconductor appears as a voltage gradient along it. Similarly the process of flux creep through a field of pinning centers creates a voltage gradient, and through the interaction with the transport current, it gives rise to dissipation. The faster the flux creep, the greater is the local dissipation. Thus with flux creep is associated a local temperature rise. Since the specific heat of materials is small at low temperatures, the dissipation associated with flux creep can cause significant temperature rise. (At room temperature the energy of dissipation through flux creep would generate little temperature rise.) Thus the dissipative effect of flux creep can lead to a runaway flux movement. As the temperature rises, the critical current density decreases. According to Eq. (1), that in turn leads to an increased flux movement and thence to more dissipation. In the extreme case the temperature rises above the critical value, and superconductivity ceases. This process is known as a flux jump (5). In a magnet wound with superconducting wire, the sudden reversion to the normal state of a small length of the wire will result in the dissipation of the stored magnetic energy at high density in a volume that expands through thermal diffusion. If the stored energy is large enough and the thermal diffusion slow enough, the temperature rise at the point of initiation may exceed the melting point of the wire. The essence of the design of superconducting magnets is the suppression or control of this fundamental thermal instability.

TECHNICAL SUPERCONDUCTORS

The major properties of the three technical superconductors are typically as shown in Table 1. T_c is the highest temperature below which superconductivity can exist (electron pairs can form) in zero field and with zero current. B_{c2} is the upper critical field at 0 K at which the lattice is fully packed with flux quanta. $J_{c\,typ}$ is a typical operating current density at useful values of field and temperature. (Below the lower critical field, B_{c1} , the technical superconductor behaves as a Type I superconductor; that field is typically 0.01 T.) The two leading HTS materials are based on yttrium or on bismuth. The critical parameters refer to typical bismuth-based HTS.

 Table 1. The Critical Properties of the Principal

 Technical Superconductors

	NbTi	Nb₃Sn	HTS
$T_{c}(\mathbf{K})$	10	18	90
B_{c2} (T)	13	27	>100
$J_{\rm ctyp} ({\rm A} \cdot {\rm mm}^{-2})$	1000	5000	1000

Figure 1 illustrates the typical variation of critical current density with field and temperature for the two low-temperature technical superconductors. Depending on the local values of any two of the parameters, the third has a local critical value. In a magnet conductor, B and J are usually fixed, so T is the critical parameter. The distance between the operating values B, J, and T and the critical surface is the margin. In fact, since current and field are locally fixed, only the temperature can vary. Thus the temperature margin determines the susceptibility of the conductor to disturbance. The higher the margin, the more stable it will be. Since NbTi must operate at the lowest temperatures, it is the least stable. The HTS, by contrast, can operate with such high-temperature margins that they are very stable. However, that also leads to a problem of protection which must be addressed carefully in the future design of large HTS magnets.

Despite its low-temperature margin NbTi is the most widely used technical superconductor. It is a ductile alloy, compatible in metallurgical processing with copper and cupro-nickel. However, Nb₃Sn must be used in magnets or sections of magnets generating fields above about 12 T. HTS materials are now also beginning to be used in small magnets. Almost all magnets are wound with wire or a large cross-sectional conductor. (In principle, a magnet might be formed from a block of superconductor into which a field is frozen, e.g., by applying a field and then lowering the temperature. Instability makes that infeasible in low-temperature superconductors, but HTS may make such monolithic magnets possible.)

Composite Superconductors

The suppression of instability and the protection of the conductor in the event of an instability are the predominant problems in the design of superconducting magnets. If a magnet is to operate reliably, the tendency for a runaway magnetothermal effect to trigger a full transition from the superconductive to



Figure 1. Variation of critical current density of a technical superconductor as a function of field and temperature.



Figure 2. Cross section of a typical niobium-titanium composite superconductor. (Courtesy of Vacuumschmelze GMBH.)

the normal conducting state must be suppressed. Two methods have been developed to achieve that: the elimination of flux jumping and the limiting of its consequences through cryogenic stabilization (5).

The essence of the stabilization of a technical superconductor is its subdivision into fine filaments. In the composite conductor this is achieved by embedding a large number of fine filaments in a matrix. The matrix is usually high-conductivity copper, although aluminum has also been used. The copper serves several functions. It rapidly conducts heat away from the surface of the fine filaments; since its resistivity is much lower than that of the superconductor in its normal state, it allows current to flow with relatively low dissipation when the adjacent superconductor has become normal through an instability.

Niobium-Titanium

Figure 2 shows a typical cross section through a NbTi composite superconductor. It is manufactured by a co-drawing process (6). Typical wire diameters lie in the range of 0.1 mm to 3 mm with critical currents at 4.2 K and 8 T of between 5 and 500 A. The insulation is typically Formvar (poly-vinyl-formal). The diameter of the superconducting filament is determined largely by stability but also by hysteresis loss. The latter is the integrated effect of dissipation by flux creep during the rise of current and field in a magnet. Hysteresis loss is minimized by decreasing the diameter of the filaments. Typically the number of filaments in a wire may lie between 10 and 100,000.

Niobium-Tin

Nb₃Sn is a brittle compound, and its use in a magnet winding is considerably more complex than NbTi. The predominant method of forming the compound is the diffusion of tin into niobium at a high temperature (6). The tin is contained either internally within filamentary niobium tubes or in a tinrich bronze surrounding solid niobium filaments. The niobium has typically up to 5% of tantalum for improved critical current density. The stock wire is unreacted for winding and is insulated with a glass braid, such as silica glass. After winding, the coil is reacted at about 700°C for up to 200 h. During this reaction the tin diffuses into the niobium and forms the compound Nb₃Sn. For adequate diffusion the diameter of the



Figure 3. Cross section of a typical niobium-tin superconductor. (Courtesy of Vacuumschmelze GMBH.)

niobium filament must be no greater than 0.005 mm. After reaction the wire is brittle and cannot tolerate bending. Therefore the winding must be consolidated by vacuum impregnation with epoxy resin. Figure 3 shows a typical cross section through a bronze route superconducting wire before reaction.

As in the NbTi composite, copper is required as a stabilizer and for protection. In order to preserve the low resistivity of the copper, tin must not be allowed to diffuse into it during the reaction. (That would, in any case, dilute the tin available for diffusion into the niobium.) A barrier is inserted between the bronze and the copper matrix to prevent such unwanted diffusion. This barrier is in the form of a thin wrap of tantalum or niobium.

High-Current Conductors

To form high-current conductors in either NbTi or Nb₃Sn, cables of small wires are usually embedded in a copper or aluminum matrix. In this way NbTi composite conductors with critical currents of up to 100,000 A can be constructed. Similarly high-current Nb₃Sn composites can be constructed by carefully cabling pre-reacted wires and soldering the cable into a copper matrix. Handling such pre-reacted Nb₃Sn conductors requires exacting quality control procedures (7).

An important form of high-current conductor is the so-called cable-in-conduit (CiC). A cable of composite strands is inserted into a closed sheath, usually of stainless steel. Liquid helium (sometimes in the superfluid state at a temperature below 2.17 K) is circulated through the gaps between the strands of the cable (8). This arrangement combines good support of the strands against the Lorentz forces with a low shielding loss and high current (see Section 6).

A recent development in Nb₃Sn conductors is a pre-reacted cable of very fine wires. The strands are so thin that bending radii appropriate to normal winding techniques can be tolerated (9).

HIGH-TEMPERATURE SUPERCONDUCTORS

At present only a very few superconducting magnets use these materials. These superconductors all contain copper-oxide

layers in a perovskite crystal structure (10). Two major types are being actively developed for application to magnets: yttrium based and bismuth based.

Yttrium HTS

This material has the chemical composition $YBa_2Cu_3O_7$, abbreviated to YBCO. It has a critical temperature of 80 K. Its critical field at 4.2 K has not been directly measured but is believed to be about 100 T. Wire is manufactured in the form of a tape, samples of which have achieved a critical current density of 7000 A·mm⁻² at 5 T and 77 K. Lengths of wire suitable for the construction of magnets have not yet been produced. Their manufacture suffers from the disadvantage of a highly anisotropic critical current density. That is, the critical current depends strongly on the orientation of the local field relative to the crystal orientation. Nevertheless, magnets operating at liquid nitrogen temperatures will probably use this material in the near future.

Bismuth HTS

This material is manufactured in two forms, with chemical compositions of $Bi_2Sr_2CaCu_2O_7$, abbreviated to 2212, or $(BiPb)_2Sr_2Ca_2Cu_3O_7$, 2223. Both of these are being manufactured in lengths of up to 1000 m, and small magnets have been wound from them. The 2212 requires lower temperatures for high-field operation than the 2223. However, it is more easily fabricated and coils of the 2212 have been tested in external fields to show that useful currents can be carried at 30 T and 4.2 K. Either of these BSCCO materials may soon be the choice for inserts in very high field solenoids.

STABILITY

Adiabatic Stability

Regrettably, the flux jump is not the only source of heating sufficient to raise the temperature above the local critical value. Movement of a wire under the influence of the Lorentz forces in the body of a winding can generate local frictional heat sufficient to raise the temperature of a wire above the local critical value, especially where the temperature margin is small. A further precaution that must therefore be exercised in a magnet designed to have no flux jumping is the consolidation of the winding so that no sudden frictional movement can occur to generate heat. This is achieved by impregnating the winding with epoxy resin, or another agent, in order to prevent sudden movement between wires, or between wires and stationary structure such as coil forms. This is the form of winding of the adiabatic magnet, which is so termed because no thermal sink exists within the winding.

Despite the use of fine filaments and winding techniques to avoid mechanical disturbances, the adiabatic winding is susceptible to sudden local transition from the superconductive to the normal state, if only through failure of the cryogenic environment. The resulting spreading normal zone is a process known as quenching. It may be precipitated by the relief of local stresses, which may merely be the repositioning of a wire, or cracking in a resin impregnant, and it may result in quenching at a current and field below design values. Upon recooling and recharging, the next premature occurrence of quenching can be at a higher current. This sequential improvement in the operating current is known as training. It is a common characteristic of large adiabatic magnets, especially of magnets with complex topology, such as particle-beam-handling magnets.

Despite the disadvantages associated with instability, quenching, and training, adiabatic magnets are the most common embodiment because they achieve the highest overall current densities in the windings. They enable the most compact magnets and the highest fields.

Cryostability

A second method of stabilization exploits the powerful cooling effect of liquid helium to maintain the temperature of a conductor below the local critical value even in the presence of flux jumping or other severe perturbations. This is achieved by paralleling the superconductor with sufficient copper or aluminum cooled by liquid helium (11). Now, even though all the transport current were to flow in the copper, the temperature would be kept below the critical value of the superconductor if sufficient surface were presented to the helium. This is the principle of cryostability. the governing expression for this mode of operation of a superconductor is

$$\frac{I^2\rho}{A} = hP \tag{2}$$

where ρ is the resistivity of the copper, A is the copper cross section, h is the heat transfer rate, and P is the wetted perimeter of the copper. If the value for h is chosen to be about 1000 W·m⁻², this becomes a conservative stability criterion but leads to a low overall current density in a winding because the cross section of the stabilizing copper is large.

The earliest large magnets (mainly for bubble chambers built in the late 1960s) were designed in accordance with this principle. However, the boiling heat transfer curve for liquid helium has two branches, as shown in Fig. 4: nucleate boiling, line (a), with high heat transfer coefficient and film boiling; line (c) with lower coefficient (1000 W·m⁻² is typically the lowest value of heat transfer rate in the film boiling regime). Intermediate between these is a region of unstable boiling, line (b). During an instability some or all of the current may transfer locally from the superconductor to the copper. The local generation of heat in such an extended region is line (f), rising from zero where no current flows in the copper to the full heating where all the current flows in the copper. The areas (d) and (e) then represent



Figure 4. Boiling heat transfer curve for liquid helium and the heat generation curve for a composite superconductor.

respectively regions where more heat is removed than generated and where more heat is generated than removed.

The sharing of current between the superconductor and copper results in the following expression for the local temperature:

$$\frac{I(I-I_{\rm s})\rho}{A} = q(\theta - \theta_{\rm b})P \tag{3}$$

where I is the total current, I_s is the current still in the superconductor, ρ is the resistivity of the copper, q is the heat transfer coefficient at the temperature difference $\theta - \theta_b$ between the copper and the helium bath. A good approximation for the current in the superconductor at a temperature θ is

$$I_{\rm s} = \frac{I_{\rm c}(\theta_{\rm c} - \theta)}{(\theta_{\rm c} - \theta_{\rm b})} \tag{4}$$

where I_e is the critical current at θ_b , the bath temperature. Equations (2), (3), and (4) are represented together with the boiling heat transfer in Fig. 4. If the cooling exceeds the heating, area (d) greater than area (e), then recovery of superconductivity will occur. The normal region will collapse from the cold ends. This type of stability, called cold end recovery, allows higher values of h to be assumed in Eq. (2), 3000 W·m⁻² being commonly accepted. This in turn allows a smaller cross section of copper and a more compact winding (12).

PROTECTION

The other crucial issue in the design of superconducting magnets is protection. In both the adiabatic and cryostable types, the consequences of quenching must be anticipated. The methods by which this is achieved are quite different in the two types.

Adiabatic Protection

In this winding the conductors are in a compact array without an internal heat sink but with close thermal coupling between conductors. Therefore, when a conductor becomes normal through a perturbation, not only does the normal zone travel along the wire but the local heating rapidly causes adjacent conductors to heat up and become normal. Quenching then expands as a three-dimensional zone of increasing volume and surface area. The volume of normal conductor at any instant is approximated by

$$V_n \propto v_1 v_2 v_3 t^3 \tag{5}$$

where $v_{1,2,3}$ are effective velocities of quench propagation along the wire and transverse to it and t is the elapsed time. Thus the magnetic energy stored in the field is dissipated in a rapidly expanding volume of conductor. The velocities of propagation depend, among other things, on the local temperature margin: The greater the margin, the slower are the velocities. Although not as high as the velocity along the wire, the dominant velocities are those between turns and between layers. Rapid propagation of quenching between turns is desired in order to spread the temperature rise over a large volume. For that reason HTS winding may be more difficult to protect than those with the smaller temperature margins of Nb₃Sn or NbTi.

Two criteria are applied to this process to gauge the vulnerability of the magnet winding to quenching: the final temperature of the wire at the point of initiation of quenching, and the voltage appearing between layers or turns of the winding. The latter criterion involves complex computation of the spatial distribution of normal and superconducting regions during the quench. However, the peak temperature generally dominates the criteria. This must clearly not exceed the allowable temperature for the insulation or impregnant nor produce unacceptable local stresses due to differential thermal expansion. A rule of thumb for acceptable peak temperature is 100 K. To achieve such limit (and simultaneously limit the voltage), sufficient copper must parallel the superconducting filaments so that the integrated heating in the copper does not exceed the acceptable peak value. Because of the rather complex time dependency of the current in a quenching adiabatic magnet, this criterion is best illustrated by reference to the protection of a cryostable magnet.

Cryostable Protection

In this type of magnet no propagation of a quench zone occurs between adjacent conductors. Furthermore the onedimensional propagation of quench along a conductor is slow. If, for example, the level of liquid helium is low so that a length of conductor is exposed to helium vapor and has quenched, no propagation will occur, and the normal zone will be stationary. In such a case protection of the conductor against excessive temperature rise must be by external discharge of the stored magnetic energy. Interturn voltage is hardly ever a dominant effect in the protection of a cryostable magnet. The limiting criterion is therefore the temperature rise of the conductor at the point of quench initiation. Just as for the adiabatic magnet, a generally accepted criterion is a rise of not more than 100 K. The prediction of the temperature rise is now rather simple. If the magnet is discharged exponentially, the governing equation is

$$J_{Cu}^2 \rho(\theta) dt = c(\theta) d\theta \tag{6}$$

The left-hand side of Eq. (6) represents the heat being generated in the resistance of the copper, and the right-hand side represents the same heat being absorbed by its enthalpy. The quantities $\rho(\theta)$ and $c(\theta)$ are the temperature-dependent resistivity and volumetric specific heat of the copper.

Equation (6) may be rewritten as

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} J_{\rm Cu}^{2} dt = \int_{4.2}^{\Theta_{\rm max}} \left\{ \frac{c(\theta)}{\rho(\theta)} \right\} d\theta \tag{7}$$

In this expression the right-hand side is a function of the copper, or some other conducting material, between a low temperature, generally assumed to be that of liquid helium boiling at atmospheric pressure, 4.2 K, and the allowable upper temperature, generally 100 K (13). (It is sometimes called the G-function but not in the original reference.) If the discharge of the magnet is exponential, Eq. (7) becomes

$$\frac{1}{2}J_{0\,\rm Cu}^2\tau = G(\theta_{\rm max} - 4.2) \tag{8}$$

where $J_{0 \text{ cu}}$ is the initial maximum current density in the copper. For copper at 100 K, the value of the G function is typically

6 10¹⁶ A²·m⁻⁴·s. In order to achieve the required time constant of discharge, the voltage across the magnet must be as large as the inductance demands. As an example, a large magnet might have a stored energy of 100 MJ, an operating current of 10,000 A, and a copper cross section of 500 mm². The inductance would be 2 henries and $J_{0 cu}$ would be 2 10⁷ A·m⁻². The time constant of discharge would have to be 17.32 s, and the maximum initial discharge voltage 1.154 kV.

Winding Topology

The design of a winding array is dictated by the desired field properties. The basic expression governing the field produced by a winding is the Biot–Savart law, expressed as

$$dB = \frac{I \cdot dl \sin(\theta)}{r^2} \tag{9}$$

where $I \cdot dl$ is a current element, θ is the angle between that element and the radius vector r to the field point. The direction of the field vector is perpendicular both to the current element and the radius vector. This expression is integrated in closed form for the fields of solenoids and of long linear windings. The forward computation of field produced by a given current array is straightforward. It can be performed for any configuration of currents, although the closed form calculation is easy only for circular or straight arrays. The reverse computation, of a current array to produce a given field topology, is possible only for a few simple configurations, specifically for the axially symmetric field of a current ring and the circular field of an infinite straight current. The off-axis fields of a circular current array involve elliptic integrals. Numerical methods for the solution of the off-axis field of a current arc are routinely available as commercial codes. Most field geometries are produced by combinations of straight currents and current arcs. Generally the design problem proceeds by the iterative recomputation of the fields generated by incrementally modified straight or arc current arrays.

OPERATION IN TIME-VARYING FIELDS

Although most superconducting magnets constructed to date have been designed for steady state operation, a few have been constructed for use either under ac conditions or with a rapidly changing field (14). The design of a conductor for such operation involves the reduction of dissipative mechanisms in the superconductor. One source of dissipation under conditions of changing field has been described, that is, flux creep. That loss is generally called hysteresis loss and is approximated per unit volume by the expression

$$Q \approx \frac{1}{4} \Delta B \, d_{\omega} J_{\rm c} \tag{10}$$

where ΔB is the field change, d_w is the wire diameter, and J_c is the critical current density. It is seen that the dissipation is smallest for thin wires.

Other sources of dissipation are found in composite superconductors. The most important of those is what is called shielding loss. It arises as follows: To reduce hysteresis loss and to improve the stability of a superconductor against flux jumping, the superconductor is finely divided into filaments in a (typically) copper matrix. However, it may be seen that the collection of filaments will still tend to exclude flux unless the filaments are transposed. Full transposition of any but a single layer of filaments is impossible within the matrix. However, a compromise is the twisting of the conductor. A short twist pitch or high resistivity of the matrix will allow flux to penetrate through the layers of filaments (15). The time constant of penetration is given roughly by

$$\tau = \left(\frac{\mu_0}{2\rho}\right) \left(\frac{L}{2\pi}\right)^2 \tag{11}$$

where ρ is the resistivity of the matrix and L is the twist pitch. External field change will generate dissipation roughly given by

$$Q = \left(\frac{B^2}{2\mu_0}\right) \left(\frac{\tau}{\tau+t}\right) \tag{12}$$

where t is the time constant of the field change B. If the change is very rapid compared with the time constant of penetration of the conductor, the dissipation approaches the energy density of the magnetic field. Some magnets have been made with superconductors that have a matrix of cupro-nickel. The resistivity of cupro-nickel is high, which leads to a short time constant for flux penetration. However, the conductor is not well stabilized, and in the event of a quench it is not well protected against local hot spot. The CiC conductor, described above, also minimizes the shielding losses.

FORCES AND STRESSES

The force on a conductor in a field is given by the expression,

$$F = BI \tag{13}$$

where I is the current in amperes, B is the component of the field in tesla perpendicular to the current vector, and F is the force per unit length in newtons which is directed perpendicular to the current and field vectors. The calculation of stresses in the conductors of a winding can be performed in closed form only for a few simple cases. For an isolated circular loop the hoop stress averaged over a section of wire (whose cross section may include superconducting filaments, copper, depleted bronze, etc.) is given by

$$\sigma = BJr \tag{14}$$

where *B* is the average field at the wire perpendicular to the plane of the loop, *J* is the current density averaged over the wire section, and *r* is the mean radius of the loop. If *J* is in $A \cdot m^{-2}$, and *r* is in meters, then σ is in pascals. In a multilayered solenoidal winding the stresses in the wire are influenced by the transmission of radial forces between layers and by axial forces generated by radial components of field at the ends of the solenoid. The analysis of these stresses usually is performed by standard programs. However, Eqs. (13) and (14) provide a useful rough guide to the stresses that will be encountered in a solenoidal winding.

The forces in long straight windings, such as extended dipoles, may be similarly estimated by the summation of the forces found from Eq. (13). The stresses in solenoidal windings



Figure 5. The winding profile of a typical commercial NMR magnet. (Courtesy of Magnex Scientific PLC.)

are often supported by the conductor alone. Since the stresses are predominantly tangential, they produce tension in the components of the wires. In NbTi composites the stresses tend to be divided roughly equally between the NbTi superconductor and the copper unless the latter is annealed. In Nb₃Sn conductors most of the tensile load appears in the Nb₃Sn superconductor itself because the Young's modulus is high, 172 GPa. The other components of a Nb₃Sn composite tend to be annealed by the heat treatment.

Examples of Superconducting Magnets

Common applications of superconducting magnets include the following: magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), laboratory magnets (for NMR analysis, susceptibility measurement), particle beam handling, subatomic particle analysis, power conditioning, energy storage, open gradient magnetic separation, magnetohydrodynamic power generation (MHD). NMR and MRI magnets are described in more detail in MAGNETS FOR MAGNETIC **RESONANCE ANALYSIS AND IMAGING. All superconducting magnet** are wound. The most common winding topologies are solenoids and extended linear windings. The latter are in general of the form of armature windings, having straight sections with end turns of complex shape. Solenoids are used in magnets for MRI, most laboratory magnets, particle analysis, and energy storage. Extended linear windings are used in particle-beam-handling magnets, in rotating machines (rotor windings), for particle focusing (quadrupoles, hexapoles), and in MHD. Occasionally a superconducting winding has an associated ferromagnetic flux path. (In such so-called superferric magnets, the iron is usually included in the magnet's cryogenic environment, to avoid the transmission of high forces between low temperature and room temperature.)

Although most superconducting magnets are solenoids or extended dipoles and multipoles, a few magnets of more complex shape have been manufactured. These include very large "Ying-Yang" coils for the mirror fusion test facility (MFTF) (16), saddle coils for experiments on magnetohydrodynamic power generation (MHD) (17) and toroidally shaped coils for several Tokamak fusion experiments (18). (Toroidal field magnets for fusion devices are D-shaped coils which are arrayed around a circular plasma path; in the absence of orthogonal—poloidal—fields, the conductors of these coils experience pure tension as in a solenoid.)

All are large magnets, storing energy in the range of 100 MJ. The stored magnetic energy is a rough classification of the size and cost of a magnet, and not necessarily of the difficulty of design and construction. Very high field, compact magnets present more difficulty because of small operating margins, high stresses, and high-energy densities during quenching.

One of the largest superconducting magnets under construction is the model central solenoid for the International Thermonuclear Experimental Reactor (ITER). It stores 650 MJ and weighs 100 tonnes (19). The most precisely engineered have been the high-field NMR magnets. They now have reached fields of 18.8 T with homogeneity of 10^{-9} in a 10 mm spherical volume.

NMR and MRI magnets operate in persistent mode. After energizing, a superconducting switch is closed across the winding so that the current continues to flow in an essentially resistanceless circuit. These are the most commonly produced commercial magnets (20).

Superconducting particle-beam-handling magnets have made possible the very high-energy accelerators in operation at BNL, CERN, DESY, and the Fermi Laboratory. Superconducting dipole magnets are typically 10 m long or greater, generating transverse fields of up to 8 T to provide the deflection required to bend the particle beam to a circular orbit. The requirement for uniformity of field is about 10^{-4} over 25 mm width. Superconducting quadrupole magnets are used for focusing of the particle beam and typically provide field gradients of up to 25 T/m. >

Table 2. Major Characteristics of a 750 MHz NMR Solenoid

Туре	Solenoid		
Materials	NbTi and Nb ₃ Sn		
Energy	15 MJ		
Center field	17.6 T		
Bore at 4.2 K	74 mm		
Typical weight	250 kg		



Figure 6. An illustrative view of the LHC dipole construction, showing the windings and the structural yokes. (Courtesy of CERN.)

Specific Examples

NMR Magnet for 750 MHz Proton Frequency (21). Superconducting magnets for NMR and MRI are described separately within this encyclopedia. However, as they typify solenoidal magnets the 750 MHz magnet is described here in outline. Figure 5 gives the profile of the windings of a commercial magnet along with some of the structural details. The global characteristics are listed in Table 2.

In the figure the windings are labeled (a) through (g). Windings (a), (b), and (c) are of Nb_3Sn . The wire size is largest in section a where the field is highest and the critical current density lowest. In fact section (a) consists of three grades of wire in order to maximize the local winding current density. Sections (d) and (e) are the main NbTi winding, again graded to maximize overall current density. Sections (f) and (g) compensate the axial gradients introduced by the full-length sections. All magnets used for NMR are operated in persistent mode. The windings are connected in series through superconducting joints. After energizing, the windings are closed through a superconducting switch (k). The joints (j) between the Nb₃Sn sections provide the best performance (highest critical current) in low field. Therefore they are mounted away from the windings on posts that rigidly support the brittle conductor. Surrounding the windings is an array of shim coils (h) which provides for fine adjustments. Each shim set has its own switch (m).

Particle Accelerators (22,23). The Fermilab energy doubler/ saver is typical of the use of superconducting beam-bending magnets used in particle accelerators. The field generated by the magnet is oriented vertically and extends over a length of 6 m. High-energy protons are slightly deflected by the fieldlength product of the magnet. The transverse force on the particle beam is as predicted by the Lorentz equation (13). A large number of these dipoles (774), quadrupoles (216), and sextupoles are arranged to produce a total deflection of 360° . In the Fermilab energy doubler each dipole magnet produces a mere 0.47° deflection at maximum beam energy.

A more recent project involving superconducting beamhandling magnets is the Large Hadron Collider (LHC) at CERN. This also uses a sequence of long dipoles, quadrupoles, and sextupoles in two adjacent rings in which protons, or other heavy particles, will circulate in opposite directions to collide at energies up to 14 TeV. The cross section of the winding and associated structure is shown in Fig. 6. The conductors are located



Figure 7. The six dee coils of the Large Coil Task installed in the test cryostat. (Courtesy of the Oak Ridge National Laboratory.)

		Global			
	Design field		8 T		
	Total stored en	ergy	600 MJ		
	Operating temperature		4.5 K		
	Inside height (each coil)		3.5 m		
	Inside span (ea	ich coil)	2.5 m		
	Inside radius		1.25 m		
		Individual			
	Conductor	Inductance	Peak	Current	Energy
Origin	Туре	(H)	Field (T)	(kA)	(MJ)
EU	NbTi FF	1.57	9.01	11.40	200
WH	Nb ₃ Sn FF	0.75	8.23	17.76	202
GE/ORNL	NbTi PB	1.81	8.89	10.50	193
GD	NbTi PB	1.81	7.72	10.20	136
JAERI	NbTi PB	2.00	8.81	10.22	198
CH	NbTi FF	1.00	7.86	13.00	123

Table	e 3.	Major	Characterist	ics of the	e Coils .	in the l	Large	Coil	Tasl
-------	------	-------	--------------	------------	-----------	----------	-------	------	------

so as to approximate a cosine distribution of current density. That arrangement generates a field uniform throughout the center region of each beam. The outward forces on the conductors are constrained by a stainless steel collar. This cold assembly is supported within an iron yoke which provides a return path for the flux. The yoke is assembled from transformer iron laminations, welded in a set of long steel girders.

Large Coil Task (24). Six coils were built, one each by the following groups: EURATOM (EU), The Swiss Institute for Nuclear Science (CH), The Japanese Atomic Energy Research Institute (JAERI), Westinghouse Electric, (WH), General Dynamics (GD), and General Electric/Oak Ridge National Laboratory (GE/ORNL). Each coil was a constant tension dee coil (18), but each used a different form of conductor. The Westinghouse coil alone used Nb₃Sn, in a CiC configuration; all the others used NbTi in a cryostable (helium-cooled) configuration. The cooling method was either forced-flow (FF) or pool-boiling (PB). The purpose of the program was to demonstrate stability of the coils under conditions of combined toroidal and pulsed poloidal fields. This international program has resulted in the construction of a model toroidal coil array as shown in Fig. 7. The main specifications were as listed in Table 3.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- A. C. Rose-Innes, Introduction to Superconductivity, 2nd ed., Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsevier Science, 1994.
- H. Trauble and U. Essmann, Flux-line arrangement in superconductors as revealed by direct observation, J. Appl. Phys., 39: 4052– 4057, 1968.
- E. J. Kramer, Scaling laws for flux pinning in hard superconductors, J. Appl. Phys., 44: 1360–1370, 1973.
- P. A. Anderson and Y. B. Kim, Hard superconductivity: Theory of the motion of Abrikosov flux lines, *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 36: 39-45, 1964.
- 5. M. N. Wilson, Superconducting magnets, Monographs on Cryogenics, Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1983, p. 131.
- 6. E. Gregory, Conventional wire and cable technology, Proc. IEEE, 77: 1110-1123, 1989.
- M. J. Leupold, A 42 cm bore superconducting coil using pre-reacted Nb₃Sn, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 24: 1413–1416, 1988.
- M. O. Hoenig, Internally cooled cabled superconductors, Cryogenics, 22: part 1, 373-389; part 2, 427-434, 1980.

- S. Pourrahimi and K. Demoranville, Development of flexible Nb₃Sn CiCC suitable for the react-then-wind approach, *IEEE Trans. Appl.* Supercond., 7: 816–819, 1997.
- D. C. Larbalestier, The road to conductors of high temperature superconductors: 10 years does make a difference, *IEEE Trans. Appl.* Supercond., 7: 90-97, 1997.
- A. R. Kantrowitz and Z. J. J. Stekly, A new principle for the construction of stabilized superconducting coils, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 6: 65-67, 1965.
- B. J. Maddock, G. B. James, and W. T. Norris, Superconducting composite: Heat transfer and steady state stabilisation, *Cryogenics*, 9: 261, 1969.
- B. J. Maddock and G. B. James, Protection and stabilisation of large superconducting coils, Proc. Inst. Electr. Eng., 115: 543, 1968.
- O. Miura et al., Development of high-field ac superconducting magnet using ultrafine multifilamentary Nb-Ti superconducting wire with designed artificial pins, *Cryogenics*, 35: 181-188, 1995.
- M. N. Wilson, Superconducting magnets, Monographs on Cryogenics, Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1983, p. 159.
- T. Kozman et al., Construction and testing of the mirror fusion test facility magnets, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 23: 1448–1463, 1986.
- S.-T. Wong et al., Design and construction of a large superconducting MHD magnet for the coal-fired flow facility at the University of Tennessee Space Institute, *Proc. Int. Cryogenic Eng. Conf.*, June 1980, Guildford: IPC Science Technology Press, pp. 785-789.
- J. File, R. G. Mills, and G. V. Sheffield, Large superconducting magnet designs for fusion reactors, *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, 4: 277–282, 1971.
- R. Jayakumar et al., Fabrication of ITER central solenoid model coil inner module, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: part 1, 981– 984, 1997.
- D. G. Hawksworth, Superconducting magnets systems for MRI, Int. Symp. New Developments Appl. Supercond., Singapore: World Scientific, 1989, pp. 731-744.
- A. Zhukovsky et al., 750 MHz NMR magnet development, IEEE Trans. Magn., 28: 644-647, 1992.
- P. V. Livdahl et al., Status of the Fermilab energy doubler/saver project, IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 24: 1218-1221, 1977.
- J. Ahlback et al., Electromagnetic and mechanical design of a 56 mm aperture model dipole for the LHC, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 30: 1746-1749, 1994.
- 24. S. S. Shen et al., First results of the full array LCT coil tests, IEEE Trans. Magn., 23: 1678-1682, 1987.

Further Reading

More information may be found in the following books and articles:

- A. C. Rose-Innes, Introduction to Superconductivity, 2nd. ed., Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsevier Science, 1994. This book describes the fundamental physics of superconductivity and its application to conductors for superconducting magnets.
- Proc. IEEE, Special suppl. on superconductivity, 77: 1110–1287, 1989. This IEEE review contains comprehensive contributions on magnets, conductors, power devices, and electronics. Despite the date of publication, the contents are still appropriate.
- H. Desportes, Three decades of superconducting magnet development, Cryogenics, ICEC suppl., 34: 46–56, 1994. This is one of the more recent reviews of superconducting magnet development but contains less detail than the Proc. IEEE issue above.

Reference 10 above is a concise review of the status of HTS conductors and their applicability to superconducting magnetic construction.

P. Schmuser, in *The Physics of Particle Accelerators: Superconducting Magnets for Particle Accelerators*, Melvin Month and Margaret Diennes (eds.), AIP Conf. Proc., **249**: 1992, pp. 1099–1103.

JOHN E. C. WILLIAMS Massachusetts Institute of Technology

SUPERCONDUCTIVITY: ELECTRONICS

Since the late 1980s, rapid advances have been made in superconducting electronics. For example, it is now possible to fabricate low-temperature superconductor (LTS) digital circuits with thousands of active devices. These circuits operate at tens of gigahertz clock speeds and with several orders of magnitude less power consumption than conventional roomtemperature electronics. Furthermore, high-temperature superconductor (HTS) devices are gradually entering the commercial market. One example is the demonstration HTS filter systems that are operational in a number of cellular phone base stations in the United States. This section gives the reader an overview of the broad field of superconducting electronics (1-3) with a description of applications and provides a historical perspective of technological development. A more in-depth description of a few specific aspects of superconducting electronics are given in the following sections.

Superconductivity was discovered in 1911 in the laboratory of Kamerlingh Onnes, as a direct consequence of Onnes' invention of a method to liquefy helium. Helium becomes a liquid below 4.2 K (-268.8°C) so that with liquid helium one could study the properties of materials at very low temperatures. Researchers were measuring the resistance of mercury, lead, and tin and found that below a characteristic transition temperature T_c for each material, the resistance drops to zero. Subsequent experiments revealed that many metals become superconducting at very low temperatures. More recently, in 1986 Bednorz and Müller (4) discovered that certain ceramic materials are superconducting at relatively high temperatures. The most developed of these materials is YBa₂Cu₃O_{7- δ} (YBCO) which undergoes a superconducting transition at approximately 90 K (-183°C). Two fundamental characteristics of a superconductor are zero dc electrical resistance and the exclusion of internal magnetic fields, called the Meissner effect (5–7). A direct consequence of the second property, the Meissner effect, is that a magnet floats above the surface of a superconductor. The Railway Technical Research Institute in Tokyo, Japan, is using this property to develop a very fast magnetically-levitated train (8). Zero electrical resistance means that one can construct ideal lossless cables, wires, and transmission lines. Note that the resistance is really zero, and experiments have shown that for most cases a dc current flowing in a superconducting ring will persist for a million or more years. One application of superconducting cables is the coils of high-power electromagnets for magnetic resonant imaging (MRI).

As an example of a superconducting electronic application (1), see the analog filter shown in Fig. 1 (9). The resistance of the superconductor is zero at dc and very low at high frequencies. This property makes superconductors ideal for very sharp microwave frequency filters. Figure 1(a) shows a high-temperature superconductor (HTS) filter manufactured by Conductus Inc. (10), and Fig. 1(b) shows the frequency response of the circuit (9). The filter consists of a single layer of YBCO patterned into strips. These strips, coupled together by the electrical and magnetic fields from currents flowing in the superconductor, are designed to resonate at specific frequencies. These resonant frequencies define the frequency response





Figure 1. (a) A high-temperature superconducting filter and (b) the frequency response of a typical filter. Data courtesy of D. Zhang and co-workers at Conductus Inc..



Figure 2. Paired electrons in a superconductor. The arrows represent the spin of the electrons, and the oscillating line represents the interaction force. In each electron pair the spins of the electrons align opposite one another, so that the total Cooper pair spin is zero.

of the filter. This is due to the low insertion loss of the filter when incorporated into the front end of the receiver. Furthermore, the sharp edges of the filter characteristic allow frequency bands to be more closely spaced, which in turn allows more channels in a given bandwidth. Note that the HTS circuit in Fig. 1 requires a refrigerator to operate in the field, which is approximately the size of a large coffee can.

Other electronic applications include the superconducting mixer and the bolometer used in radio astronomy (1). In a typical bolometer, millimeter wave or infrared radiation is incident on a thin superconducting film, or microbridge. The high frequency radiation causes the superconductor to go normal, and the resistance of the film is proportional to the amplitude of the radiation. The bolometer is used in radio astronomy as a sensitive broadband detector.

The reader may be wondering how materials such as lead, niobium, or mercury become superconductors when cooled to very low temperatures? The mechanism for low-temperature superconductivity was not completely understood until 1957 when Bardeen, Cooper, and Schrieffer (BCS) (11) proposed a microscopic theory. The basic idea of their theory is that electrons pair up in a superconductor, see Fig. 2, to form so-called Cooper pairs. This electron pairing takes place throughout the superconductor so that all of the electrons are correlated with one another, as components of Cooper pairs. This correlation means that all of the electron pairs move together and do not experience collisions with other particles which would cause resistance. The BCS theory also showed that the mechanism, or force, keeping the electron pairs together is the vibrations of the crystal lattice. This explains why a definite transition temperature $T_{\rm c}$ exists for each material where the binding action of the lattice vibrations are strong enough, compared to the Coulomb electrical repulsion, to make the material superconducting. The BCS theory accurately describes low-temperature superconductors. However, now the mechanism for high-temperature superconductivity is not completely understood.

Prior to the BCS theory, London in 1935 proposed a phenomenological theory of superconductivity which derived from Maxwell's equations and Newton's laws (7). Later, in 1950, Ginzburg and Landau developed a more sophisticated phenomenological theory incorporating quantum mechanics (7). The BCS theory focuses on the microscopic electron-toelectron physics of a superconductor, whereas the London and Ginzburg-Landau theories give a very useful description of macroscopic phenomena that result from the electron pairing. Today both the London and the Ginzburg-Landau theories are often used to understand the dynamics of superconductors for electronic applications (2). Furthermore, these phenomenological theories are also useful in that they are applicable to hightemperature superconductors.

In 1962 B. D. Josephson predicted two dynamic properties of superconductivity (12). He analyzed two superconductors separated by a thin barrier through which quantum tunneling is possible. This device, called a Josephson junction today, can consist of a superconductor-insulator-superconductor sandwich. of which the insulator is approximately as thick as the Cooper pair diameter. Josephson's first prediction was that current can flow between the superconductors with zero applied dc voltage. Today this phenomenon is called the dc Josephson effect. Josephson's second prediction was that if a dc voltage V_{dc} is applied to the junction, then an alternating (ac) current will flow between the two superconductors with a very high frequency $f = (2e/h)V_{dc}$, where e is the magnitude of the charge of the electron and h is Planck's constant. This phenomenon is called the ac Josephson effect. Both the dc and the ac Josephson effect are a consequence of tunneling of Cooper pairs from one superconductor through the insulating barrier to the other superconductor. The Josephson junction has many applications in superconducting electronics. One of the first applications was to make a very sensitive magnetic field detector called a superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) (13).

There are two types of SQUIDs: the direct-current (dc) SQUID and the resonant-frequency (RF) SQUID,

A dc SQUID consists of a parallel combination of two Josephson junctions in a superconducting (inductive) loop; see Fig. 3(a). The most sensitive SQUIDs are made with lowtemperature metal superconductors. Figure 3(b) is a photograph of an YBCO HTS dc SQUID fabricated on a strontium titanate (SrTiO₃) bicrystal substrate. When a dc current is applied, the output voltage measured across the two junctions is modulated by the magnetic field through the loop enclosed by the two junctions, see Fig. 3(c). This modulation is relatively large and is a function of the applied magnetic field. Using feedback electronics, one can measure magnetic fields extremely accurately and with a high dynamic range. The operating principle of the dc SQUID is described in more detail in the following section.

The RF SQUID is perhaps the simplest Josephson circuit and consists of a single Josephson junction in a superconducting loop, shown schematically in Fig. 3(d). The superconducting loop has an inductance and is magnetically coupled to a resonant circuit with an oscillating RF current input. Magnetic field coupled into the SQUID loop has the effect of detuning the resonant circuit, and this modulates the output voltage. The RF SQUID readout electronics is similar to the dc SQUID, and consists of feedback and lock-in amplification of the tuned circuit output voltage. The magnitude of the magnetic field input to the RF SQUID can be measured to an accuracy similar to the dc SQUID (14).

SQUIDs are the most sensitive magnetometers and can even be used to measure the magnetic fields generated by neurons firing in the human brain. Typical magnetic field sensitivities for LTS and HTS dc SQUIDs in the white-noise limit are $2 \text{ fT}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ and $10 \text{ fT}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ respectively ($1 \text{ fT} = 10^{-15} \text{ T} = 10^{-11} \text{ G}$). Figure 4 shows one application of the dc SQUID as a scanning microscope (15). The image was generated by a HTS SQUID microscope developed by Clarke and co-workers at the University of California at Berkeley (UC Berkeley) (16). The image shown in Fig. 4 is a magnetic field map of the magnetic ink



Figure 3. (a) Circuit diagram of a SQUID where the X's represent Josephson junctions. (b) An HTS SQUID fabricated on a SrTiO₃ bicrystal. The SQUID is patterned from a thin film deposited on the bicrystal, and the Josephson junctions are formed on the grain boundary of the crystal. (c) Typical modulation data for a dc SQUID. The output voltage V_{out} in (b) is a periodic function of the magnetic field *B* coupled into the SQUID loop. Data provided courtesy of J. Clarke and E. Dantsker, University of California, Berkeley. (d) Schematic diagram of an RF SQUID.

for a small portion of a one-dollar bill, and was first observed by Welstood and coworkers at the University of Maryland (15). The image was obtained by scanning the SQUID at a distance of 150 μ m from the sample surface. The microscope resolution in Fig. 4 is approximately 130 μ m, but decreasing the size of the SQUID pickup loop can increase the resolution. For example, the IBM scanning SQUID microscope with a 4 μ m pickup loop has a resolution of approximately 4.5 μ m (15). The HTS SQUID in Fig. 4 operates at 77 K and is separated from the room temperature sample by a small window.

In addition to SQUID magnetic field sensors, the Josephson junction has other important applications, such as the international volt standard (17). The volt standard uses the ac Josephson effect. When tunnel junctions are irradiated by microwaves they produce constant voltage steps n(h/2e)f, where n is an integer, and f is the frequency of applied microwave radiation. A large number of junctions in series irradiated by a microwave source produces a large constant voltage step. The present standard for 1.2 V is maintained at the United States National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) by an array of approximately 2000 Josephson junctions irradiated by a 94 GHz microwave source. Figure 5(a) shows the commercial volt-standard system manufactured by HYPRES, Inc. (18). Note that the system incorporates a 5 K closed-cycle refrigerator. In recent years, Josephson fabrication technology has improved so that much larger arrays with a voltage of 10 V can be used as a standard. The 19-mm-long 20,208 junction array chip for the 10 V voltage standard is shown in the photograph in Fig. 5(b).

As another application example, researchers at TRW have recently demonstrated a dc to 10 GHz phase-shifter based upon a nonlinear transmission line (19). The circuit resembles the



Figure 4. Inset shows the magnetic image of a portion of George Washington's face on a \$1 bill observed with an HTS SQUID microscope. Data provided courtesy of T. S. Lee, G. Dantsker, and J. Clarke University of California, Berkeley.

voltage standard, and consists of many RF SQUIDs weakly coupled along the length of a superconducting transmission line. The RF SQUIDs add inductance along the transmission line, with the amount controlled by the current along the transmission line. The phase shifter has been successfully fabricated and tested using both low temperature (180,000 junction circuit) and high temperature (30,000 junction circuit) superconductor fabrication processes (19).

The near-instantaneous phase response of the phase shifter enables an additional new device, the superconducting upconverting parametric amplifier. Using a superconducting phaseshift transmission line, designers propagate a pure microwave tone (the "carrier") through the phase shifter. Simultaneously, low frequency signal current is also sent along the phase shifter. The low frequency signal varies the phase shift of the carrier, producing a phase-modulated carrier at the output. In addition to converting the low frequency waveform up to the higher frequency range, the phase-modulation mechanism produces power gain, with as much as 10 times (20 dB) gain demonstrated in some experiments (19).

The transmission line parametric amplifier is related to the single junction parametric amplifier, demonstrated in the mid-1980s by TRW and Bell Labs. Applying 36 GHz as a pump, an RF SQUID produced reflection gain for signals near 18 GHz. While producing as much as 32 times (30 dB) reflection gain, the amplifier successfully achieved noise levels at the quantum limit. Parametric amplifiers can therefore have extremely low noise, and degenerate parametric amplifiers in particular can exhibit the novel property of actually "squeezing" the internal noise to less than the amplifier quantum limit (20). However, by far the most promising electronic application of the Josephson junction is digital circuits. The Josephson junction is the fundamental component of all modern digital superconducting electronics, analogous to a transistor in conventional digital circuits (although the operating principle is completely different). The Josephson junction has the property that it can switch on in less than a picosecond ($1 \text{ ps} = 10^{-12} \text{ s}$), and the switching involves very little power dissipation. These properties make Josephson junction circuits ideal candidates for ultrahigh-speed computing applications.

In the last decade low-temperature superconductor microfabrication technology has progressed to the point that superconducting circuits with thousands of Josephson junctions are routinely manufactured. With this level of integration, one can make complex digital circuits, such as analog-to-digital converters (ADC) and small microprocessors that operate at multigigahertz clock speeds (1 GHz = 10^9 cycles/s). As an example Fig. 6(a) shows a digital synthesizer designed by Spooner and co-workers at TRW (21). The circuit consists of approximately 700 logic gates (~3000 Josephson junctions), a read only memory (ROM) that stores a sine wave, and a digital-to-analog converter (DAC).

The circuit in Fig. 6(a) is designed to synthesize waveforms at high speed given a digital program input. Figure 6(b) shows synthesized output for the circuit operating with a 2 GHz internal clock. The power dissipation of the synthesizer is 6 mW, which is approximately 1000 times less power than an equivalent GaAs semiconductor circuit. The low on-chip power consumption of superconducting digital circuits is a fundamental advantage of the technology compared to semiconductor



NBS BOULDER COLORADD

(b)

Figure 5. (a) The HYPRES commercial voltage standard system, including the 4 K Boreas cryocooler cold head, bottom right. The chip is mounted inside the evacuated cylinder on top of the cold head. The compressor is not shown. Photograph courtesy of HYPRES (18). (b) The 19 mm long 10 V voltage-standard chip consisting of over 20,000 Josephson junctions. Photograph courtesy of C. Hamilton and C. Burroughs at the National Institute of Standards and Technology, Boulder, CO (17). Original figure (b) © 1997 IEEE.

circuits. Therefore, superconducting digital circuits are ideal for low-power applications where large amounts of data must be processed at very high speed. One such application is digital on-board processing in a communications satellite.

Digital superconducting electronic circuits are grouped in two main types: voltage-state logic (22) and rapid single-flux quantum (RSFQ) logic (23). The operating principles and differences between these two types of logic are described in detail in the following sections. Historically, voltage-state logic circuits were the digital circuits used in the IBM computer project of the 1970s and early 1980s (24). This project aimed to build a mainframe computer using superconducting voltagestate logic. The project ended in 1983, and IBM chose not to pursue superconducting digital electronics further. The main reason was that IBM felt that, at that time, superconducting logic was not a significant enough improvement over projected future semiconductor circuits to warrant such a drastic shift in its core mainframe computer technology. Furthermore, the IBM Josephson circuits used a lead alloy technology that degraded over time (especially during thermal cycling), and, while the digital logic met the project specification goals, considerable difficulty was encountered in making high-speed memory suitable for a mainframe computer (24).

However, research in superconducting microprocessors continued in Japan using voltage-state logic. Several successful projects were completed under Ministry of International Trade and Industry (MITI) sponsorship. A series of processor chips were demonstrated at Fujitsu and Hitachi, and a four-chip model computer at the Electrotechnical Laboratory (22). In 1988 Kotani and co-workers at Fujitsu demonstrated a completely operational 4-bit microprocessor consisting of 1841 logic



Frequency Select Bits

Figure 6. (a) A superconducting digital synthesizer consisting of an incremental phase accumulator, 10 bit sine ROM, and an 8 bit DAC on a 1 cm \times 1 cm chip. (b) Typical synthesized output for clock frequency f = 2 GHz. Data and chip photograph courtesy of A. Spooner and coworkers at TRW (21). Original figure © 1997 IEEE.

gates operating at 1 GHz with 6 mW of power dissipation (22). This processor used superconducting voltage-state modified variable threshold logic (MVTL) developed by Fujimaki and co-workers (25). MVTL circuits have much higher operating margins than the previous IBM logic circuits, and the MVTL microprocessor chip was fabricated using a more stable niobium trilayer technology. The circuit in Fig. 6 was designed using MVTL voltage-state logic. In 1990 the Fujitsu team designed and fabricated an 8-bit microprocessor consisting of 6300 MVTL gates (23,000 Josephson junctions) on a 5 mm \times 5 mm chip (22). All of the component circuits operated at 1 GHz, and the multiplier had an average loaded gate delay of 5.3 ps. More recently the team led by Tahara at NEC in Japan has demonstrated a 4 kbit superconducting random access memory (RAM) with subnanosecond access times (26).

Voltage-state logic circuits have traditionally been used only for 1 GHz to 2 GHz applications. However Jeffery, Perold, and Vanduzer at UC Berkeley demonstrated a new type of voltagestate logic (27) in simple circuits at 10 GHz to 18 GHz. Therefore, much higher speed operation should be possible with this technology. One reason for the perceived limited speed of voltage-state logic is that the gates are latching. This means that circuits have to be reset to "zero" after a logical "one" operation, and before the next cycle of operation. Furthermore, the information (the logical ones and zeros) cannot be moved from one gate to the next without more than one clock. Typically 2 to 4 overlapping clocks power the gates, and these clocks have to be distributed throughout the circuit. The microwave transmission lines to power the circuit are clearly seen in Fig. 6. Without careful design, the large number of clock lines can cause excessive cross talk that can degrade circuit performance.

In 1985 Likharev, Mukhanov, and Semenov proposed a new type of superconducting logic based upon picosecond voltage pulses (23,28). They called this type of logic rapid singleflux quantum (RSFQ) logic and showed that, in principle, one could make RSFQ circuits that operate at clock frequencies approaching terahertz (10^{12} cycles/s). The operating principle of RSFQ,described in the following section, is fundamentally different from voltage-state logic. Because of the potential ultrahigh-speed operation (greater than 100 GHz), RSFQ is becoming the logic of choice for future digital superconducting applications.

Figure 7 shows a state-of-the-art RSFQ oversampling analog-to-digital converter (ADC) designed and tested by Semenov and co-workers (29) at the State University of New York at Stony Brook, and fabricated using the HYPRES Inc. $3.0 \ \mu m$ niobium process (18). The circuit consists of a single bit sampler and an integrated digital signal processor, called a decimation filter. The circuit is completely operational with a 9 GHz clock and a 10 MHz analog input bandwidth. The circuit comprises 1777 Josephson devices, consumes 0.5 mW of power, and has 11 effective bits. A similar ADC chip designed and fabricated at HYPRES operated in excess of 11 GHz with 11.5 effective bits. Note that these circuits have 10,000 times less on-chip power disipation than an equivalent GaAs ADC.

The circuit in Fig. 7 converts lower speed (≤ 10 MHz) analog input signals into binary information that can be processed by a computer. Figure 7(b) and (c) show reconstructed sine wave data for the ADC for two different frequency sine wave inputs. The circuit is programmable so that, as the frequency of the input is reduced, higher resolution digital outputs can



Figure 7. RSFQ oversampling analog-to-digital converter consisting of a 1 bit sampler and an integrated digital signal processor on a 0.5 mm \times 0.5 mm chip. The circuit consists of 1,777 Josephson junctions and is completely operational with a 9 GHz internal clock. (b) 11 bit reconstructed sine wave data for an 8.13 MHz input signal. (c) Reconstructed sine wave for a 1.13 MHz input signal. The circuit is programmable so that for the lower frequency input there are over 14 bits of resolution. Circuit photograph and data provided by V. Semenov, State University of New York at Stony Brook.

be obtained. This circuit performance is as good as the best semiconductor ADC presently available.

The key advantages of RSFQ circuits are their speed compared to all other digital circuits and that they use a dc power supply. However, the main circuit design challenge is that the gates require clocking. The circuit clock consists of picosecond very low energy voltage pulses with quantized area. The clock pulses are difficult to distribute in complex circuits operating at ultrahigh speeds. Furthermore, the picosecond RSFQ pulses cannot be directly interfaced with room temperature electronics because room-temperature electronics are not fast enough or sensitive enough to detect the low-energy picosecond pulses. Furthermore, RSFQ pulses are easily attenuated by nonsuperconducting cables and by impedance mismatches within superconducting circuits. Researchers are working hard to overcome these engineering design challenges to unlock the full technological potential.

RSFQ and voltage-state are not the only types of superconducting logic, although they are the most widely used today. For example, a type of superconducting logic circuit has been developed in Japan called the quantum flux parametron (QFP) (30), also called the parametric quantron (3). The QFP consists of a two junction loop with parameters chosen so that when an external clock is applied, an input to the loop will cause a quantized current to circulate in either the clockwise or the counterclockwise direction, depending upon the input. The direction of the current flow signifies the logical "1" or "0" in a QFP computer. A team directed by Goto at the RIKEN laboratory has developed innovative pipeline architectures for supercomputers based upon the QFP (30). Unfortunately, QFP circuits are sensitive to noise coupled from the clock lines, and are today not used for complex computing applications. However, the QFP is extremely sensitive to input signals, and is sometimes used as a comparator in analog-to-digital converter applications.

At present all practical superconducting digital circuits are fabricated from low-temperature superconducting materials. For example the circuits in Figs. 6 and 7 were fabricated by a process consisting of layers of patterned and etched thin film niobium and a resistive layer, separated by SiO_2 insulator layers. Niobium is a superconducting metal at temperatures below 9 K. For digital circuits metallic layers are relatively straightforward to pattern and etch into integrated circuits.

Single-flux quantum logic circuits can also be implemented using high-temperature superconductor (HTS) materials. The ultimate advantage of HTS circuits is that they require much smaller refrigerators compared to low-temperature superconducting circuits. In the last few years there has been considerable interest in implementing ultra-high-speed RSFQ circuits using HTS materials. Figure 8 shows one such HTS circuit demonstrated at Northrop Grumman. The circuit uses fundamental properties of superconductivity to quantize a linear input signal and is the basic component of an analog-to-digital converter (ADC). The circuit was cooled to 65 K for the experiment.

High temperature superconductors, such as YBCO, are complex multilayered materials called perovskites, which are related to ceramics. When fabricating integrated circuits, if each layer of YBCO is not planarized, discontinuities of the crystal structure, or grain boundaries, occur at the wire crossovers. These discontinuities can form natural Josephson junctions and open circuits, which can cause circuit failure because they were not originally part of the circuit design. To date only small RSFQ digital circuits, consisting of fewer than 20 Josephson junctions and operating at low speed, have been demonstrated using HTS materials. There are various ways to make HTS Josephson junctions for digital circuits. However, none have thus far demonstrated sufficient process control to allow making junctions in quantity whose characteristics are adequately similar. (See HTS JOSEPHSON JUNCTION DEVELOPMENT.)





Figure 8. (a) High-temperature superconducting digital quantizer circuit for an analog-to-digital converter fabricated by a multilayer YBCO process. (c) The measured linearity of the quantizer is better than 5.7 effective bits at 65 K. Photograph and data provided courtesy of M. G. Forrester, D. L. Miller, and J. Przybysz at Northrop Grumman.

Recent Josephson junction fabrication research has also focused on using niobium nitride (NbN) for Josephson circuits (31). NbN is a low-temperature metallic superconductor, and it is much easier to fabricate digital circuits using this material than using HTS YBCO. The advantage of NbN is that its superconducting transition temperature is 16 K so that circuits can operate at 10 K: a 10 K cryocooler is significantly smaller than a 4 K cryocooler.

Since all superconducting electronic components operate at cryogenic temperatures, it is importent to briefly discuss cryocooler technology (32). Table 1 lists representative cryocoolers, and temperatures that are important for superconducting electronics applications. The operating temperature of the cryocooler is dependent upon the superconducting electronic application, and in particular on the materials technology being used and the thermal load of the system. For example, present Nb LTS digital circuits require a 5 K cryocooler, whereas NbN digital circuits need a 10 K cooler. HTS circuits can operate at higher temperatures; for example, the wireless filter in Fig. 1 operates at 65 K, and some HTS SQUID systems can operate at

Table 1. Representative Cryocoolers and Operating Temperatures for some Superconductive Electronic Applications

Temperature	SC Application	Operating Principle	Cooling Power	Manufacturer Sumitomo, Chesapeak/Boreas	
5 K	Nb LTS Digital	2-stage GM with rare earth regenerator or with JT stage	0.5 1 .5 W		
10 K	NbN Digital	2-stage GM ^a	17 W	Sumitomo, CTI, Leybold	
35 K	HTS SQUIDs and HTS Digital	Single-stage Stirling	0.5 W	CTI, Leybold	
		Single-stage GM	4 W	CTI, Leybold	
		Single-stage pulse-tube	1- 1 0 W	TRW, Lockheed Martin ⁵	
65 K	HTS lters for cellular phone	Single-stage Stirling	2.5 W	CTI, Leybold	
	base stations	Single-stage GM	6 9 0 W	CTI, Leybold	
		Single-stage pulse-tube	5 6 0 W	TRW, Lockheed Martin ^b	
		Single-stage pulse-tube	4.5 W	Iwatani	
75 K	Some HTS SQUID systems	Mixed gas cooler	1 W	APD CryoTiger	

GM = Gifford-McMahon closed cycle, JT = Joule-Thomson.

°10 K 2-stage pulse-tube and 2-stage Stirling cycle cryocoolers are presently in development.

*Not commercially available, although presently used for satellite applications.

75 K. Note that the power dissipation of superconducting components, except for HTS wireless filter systems, is extremely small. In typical applications the leads connecting from room temperature to the superconducting component are the dominant heat load. If this is minimized, cooling powers of 100 mW to 1 W are adequate for many superconducting electronics applications, and hence the cryocoolers can operate near to their base temperature.

Most cryocoolers use the principle of compressing and then expanding a gas to produce cooling. For a given thermal load, the cryocooler size decreases dramatically as the temperature is increased. Applications at temperatures less than 20 K typically require a Gifford-McMahon or Boreas type cryocooler, shown for the voltage-standard system in Fig. 5(a). The superconducting circuits are attached to the end of a cold head which consists of a capped metal cylinder separating the circuit from the cold helium gas. In Fig. 5(a) the voltage standard circuit is sealed inside an evacuated container around the cold head. Gifford-McMahon/Boreas cryocoolers use an external compressor, and additional pistons behind the cold head. The piston expands the gas from the external compressor, and oscillates at approximately 1 Hz. The cryocooler cold head plus the vacuum jacket is roughly the size of a personal computer tower (\sim 36 kg), and the compressor is the size of a small filing cabinet (\sim 90 kg), not shown in the figure. Two stages of cold head and piston configurations are required to get to 5 K temperatures, with a rare earth regenerator used to extract additional heat from the gas, or with an additional Joule-Thomson cooling stage.

Stirling and pulse-tube cryocoolers generally operate at higher temperatures (although a pulse tube has been demonstrated below 2.5 K), and are often much smaller than the Gifford-McMahon/Boreas. They can be approximately the size of a small coffee can (5 kg to 10 kg total weight) for superconducting electronic applications. The pulse-tube cryocooler, in particular, incorporates a small diaphragm and piston that is oscillated at approximately 60 Hz to compress and expand the gas coolant; this rapid oscillation gives a relatively large cooling power for a small mechanical volume. The focus of commercial R&D for Stirling and pulse-tube refrigerators is now to increase the operating lifetime, for example through the use of compressors with gas bearings to avoid any mechanical wear.

Cryocooler reliability has long been an issue for commercial superconducting electronics applications. However, in recent years vast improvements have been made. For example the 5 K Sumitomo cryocooler requires servicing after 10,000 h of continuous operation, and servicing consists of swapping the regenerator filter. At higher temperatures, the pulse-tube type cryocoolers have impressive reliability records; two TRW pulsetube cryocoolers are presently in orbit in space satellites, and the reliability of these coolers is estimated at 10 years with zero maintenance. However, it should be noted that such coolers for space applications, including the Stirling machines pioneered at Oxford, are built at enormous cost, many hundreds of thousands of dollars. The challenge is to achieve the same reliability in commercial coolers sold for less than \$10,000, that is, manufactured for a few thousand dollars.

In the following sections superconducting electronics is described in more detail. Examples of applications are limited to SQUIDs and digital electronics. Basic design and circuit testing principles are described. Finally, possible future directions for the field of digital superconducting electronics are discussed. For a more in-depth introduction to superconducting electronics, see Refs. 1, 2, and 3.

BASIC PRINCIPLES OF SUPERCONDUCTING ELECTRONICS

Josephson Junctions and the Josephson Effect

At temperatures below the superconducting transition, the electron pairs in a superconductor are correlated with each other. Quantum mechanically this means that all of the Cooper pairs are in the same macroscopic quantum state, so that we can describe the superconductor mathematically by a macroscopic wave function Ψ :

$$\Psi = \sqrt{\rho} \exp(i\phi) \tag{1}$$

where ρ is the density of the superconducting paired electrons and ϕ is the phase of the wave function. Similar to the singleparticle Schrödinger equation, the phase of the wave function Eq. (1) is related to the external magnetic field by $\phi = 2e/\hbar \int$ **A** dl where **A** is the magnetic vector potential ($\mathbf{B} = \nabla \times \mathbf{A}$).

A Josephson junction is shown schematically in Fig. 9(a). The device is rather simple and consists of two superconductors separated by a thin barrier (such as an insulator, normal metal, or semiconductor) through which quantum tunneling of electron pairs can take place. Mathematically, this is equivalent to coupling the wave functions of the two superconductors through the barrier. Following Feynman (5), one can assume linear coupling across the barrier and that the wavefunctions on both sides obey the single-particle Schrödinger equation. Using Eq. (1) and these coupled equations, one can derive the following famous Josephson equations:

$$I_{\rm s} = i_{\rm c} \sin \phi \tag{2}$$

and

$$V = \frac{2e}{\hbar} \frac{d\phi}{dt} \tag{3}$$

where I_s is the supercurrent through the junction, V is the voltage across the junction, ϕ is the phase difference between the wave functions on both sides of the barrier, and i_c is the critical current of the junction.

Equation (2) describes the supercurrent flow through the junction, and Eq. (3) gives the voltage across the junction. For real applications the Josephson junction is modeled by the equivalent circuit in Fig. 9(b). The superconducting Josephson junction is denoted by the cross in the circuit and is in parallel with a resistance and a capacitor. The resistor represents the flow of nonsuperconducting electrons through the junction, and the capacitance exists because the device is a "sandwich" of two superconducting Iayers separated by a thin dielectric insulator.

From Eqs. (2) and (3) and Kirchhoff's laws (that is, set the bias current equal to the sum of the currents through each component) it is straightforward to show that the general equation governing the Josephson junction in Fig. 9(b) is

$$C_{\rm j}\frac{d^2\phi}{dt^2} + \frac{1}{R_{\rm j}}\frac{d\phi}{dt} + \frac{2\pi i_{\rm c}}{\Phi_0}\sin\phi = \frac{2\pi}{\Phi_0}i_{\rm bias} \tag{4}$$

where R_j is the junction resistance, C_j is the junction capacitance, i_c is the critical current of the junction, i_{bias} is the current applied to the junction, and Φ_0 is the constant h/2e. The nonlinear term with $\sin \phi$, if linearized, has the same form as an inductor in place of the junction. Therefore the nonlinear term is sometimes called the kinetic inductance of the Josephson junction.

Equation (4) is identical to the equation for a pendulum where ϕ is the angle of the pendulum, shown schematically in Fig. 9(b). Therefore one can visualize the pendulum to obtain an intuitive feeling for the dynamic behavior of the Josephson junction. Comparing Eq. (4) to the pendulum mechanical analog, the junction capacitor C_j corresponds to the pendulum moment of inertia (mass *m* times length *l* squared), $1/R_j$ to the damping coefficient, $(2\pi/\Phi_0)i_c$ corresponds to *mgl* (where *g* is the acceleration due to gravity), and $(2\pi/\Phi_0)i_{\text{bias}}$ to an externally applied torque.

Intuitively, an increasing dc current applied to the junction is equivalent to increasing the torque on the pendulum Fig. 9(b). When the current is less than i_c , the pendulum does not spin, and the voltage across the device is zero. However, when the current exceeds a threshold corresponding to the critical current i_c , the pendulum begins to spin because of the torque of the applied current. As the pendulum spins, the angle (junction phase) changes with time, so that by Eq. (3) a voltage appears across the device. The pendulum is nonlinear, and once it starts spinning it has an "angular momentum." Hence, as the bias current (externally applied torque) is removed, the pendulum continues to spin, so that the junction voltage is nonzero. This corresponds to the fact that the I-V curve of the lightly damped Josephson junction is hysteretic. Adding a resistance of a few





Figure 9. Schematic diagram of a Josephson junction consisting of two superconductors separated by a thin barrier. (b) The equivalent circuit model for a Josephson junction with a parallel normal resistance and a capacitance, sometimes called the *RSJ* model. The circuit model is equivalent to a pendulum mechanical analog where the angle of the pendulum is equal to the phase difference of the wave functions across the barrier. (c) Experimental I-V curve for a typical NbAlO_xNb Josephson junction photographed from an oscilloscope. Note the 2.5 mV gap voltage for the junction and that the I-V curve is hysteretic. The dashed line denotes switching that is too fast to see on the oscilloscope. Data provided courtesy of X. Meng, University of California, Berkeley.

ohms in parallel with the junction removes the hysteretic behavior and corresponds to adding damping to the pendulum analog.

The pendulum analog described so far assumes the junction resistance is constant, which is useful for analytic calculations, and describes the general dynamics of the junction. However, the junction resistance is actually a nonlinear function so that when the junction begins to spin (switches on) the resistance sharply increases. The nonlinear resistance of the Josephson junction is included in Josephson SPICE circuit simulators (35). For the specific case of an underdamped superconductorinsulator-superconductor (SIS) tunnel junction, the voltage that appears across the device when it switches on is called the gap voltage of the superconductor. For Josephson junctions in general, the gap voltage physically corresponds to the energy required to break apart Cooper pairs into individual electrons on one side of the Josephson junction, and recombine them as Cooper pairs on the other side. The gap voltage is dependent on the superconducting material and is 2.4 mV to 2.8 mV for Nb, and 4 mV to 5 mV for NbN. The hysteretic I-V curve for an underdamped SIS niobium Josephson junction with a nonlinear resistance is shown in Fig. 9(c).

Superconducting circuits consist of Josephson junctions and inductive loops for SQUIDs, where the SQUIDs and junctions are wired together using superconducting transmission lines. Resistors are used for damping, and to feed currents into the SQUIDs and junctions. In order to make a superconducting circuit one therefore needs multiple layers of superconductor for wires, a layer of resistor, and a superconducting groundplane.

Low-temperature superconductive niobium Josephson circuits are fabricated by using a trilayer process. First, a layer of niobium a few tenths of a micrometer thick is deposited on a silicon wafer. The surface of this layer is coated with a layer of aluminum about 4 nm to 10 nm thick. Then the aluminum is oxidized to a thickness of about 1 nm, and a second layer of niobium (Nb) is deposited on top. The thin aluminum oxide layer is as the tunnel barrier for the NbAlO_xNb Josephson junction. Note that the barrier thickness is approximate, and is only within a factor of two or three of 1 nm. Using photolithography and reactive ion etching, one can pattern circuits from the trilayer with many thousands of Josephson junctions each a few micrometers in size. Additional superconducting wiring and resistor layers are deposited and etched, separated by SiO₂, to make complex circuits. The wiring and resistor layers are connected to each other and the Josephson junctions by vias, or vertical contacts, that are patterned and etched into the SiO₂ insulating layers. For high-speed circuits, a ground plane is usually deposited either as the first or the last step in the process. Note that the actual process is rather simple, that is, all deposition is at 300 K and there is no doping, ion implantation, or high frequency diffusion.

By using a trilayer all of the Josephson junctions are effectively fabricated simultaneously across the wafer, and no processing occurs between depositions of the layers. This means that there are only small variations among the characteristics of each Josephson junction. To make complex circuits the criical current variations across a chip should have a standard deviation less than 3%. At present no trilayer process exists for HTS circuits, and hence the parameter spreads on i_c are rather large (approximately 20 to 100% standard deviation). These large process spreads are the main reason that only small HTS Josephson circuits have been demonstrated thus far. (See HTS JOSEPHSON JUNCTION DEVELOPMENT.)

Finally, note that the switching-on time of the Josephson junction is very fast and can be less than a picosecond. This makes the device useful for ultra-high-speed computing applications. Intuitively, decreasing the junction capacitance corresponds to decreasing the mass of the pendulum, which in turn makes the junction switch (rotate) faster. Mathematically the ultra-fast switching speed is understood by noting that the linearized Eq. (4) (i.e., assuming $\sin \phi \approx \phi$) has a natural angular

frequency

$$\omega_{\rm c} = \sqrt{\frac{2\pi i_{\rm c}}{\Phi_0 C_j}} \tag{5}$$

where $\omega_{\rm c}$ is called the plasma frequency of the Josephson junction. Similar to the pendulum angular frequency, the plasma frequency relates to how fast the Josephson junction phase (angle) can change. For example, a 300 μ A junction with a 0.002 pF capacitance has a Josephson frequency $f_c = \omega_c/2\pi = 1.1$ THz. Since the junction capacitance depends upon the area a of the junction, the switching speed of Josephson circuits can be increased by increasing the critical current density $J_c = i_c/a$, and decreasing the area of the junction to keep i_c constant. With today's fabrication process, typical J_c values are 1 kA/cm² to 2.5 kA/cm^2 , where the smallest junction linear dimension is 3 μ m. The junction switching time with a 3 μ m process is a few picoseconds. However, processes with J_c as high as 50 kA/cm² have been demonstrated for small circuits. With this high critical current density, and a submicron Junction fabrication process, subpicosecond switching times have been demonstrated (see the section on RSFQ logic).

Flux Quantization

The response of superconducting materials to external magnetic fields divides materials into Type I and Type II superconductors. Type I superconductors remain in the superconducting state and exclude all external magnetic fields until they reach a critical field. At the critical field, the magnetic field enters the material, and it returns completely to the normal nonsuperconducting state. However, this is strictly true only for long thin samples parallel to the magnetic field. Type II superconductors, on the other hand, allow magnetic fields to enter while the material remains in the superconducting state.

The magnetic field that enters in a Type II superconductor has the interesting property that it is quantized, so that the magnetic flux ($\Phi = B \times A$) equals h/2e. The quantized magnetic flux corresponds to a circulating current loop in the superconductor. Mathematically, the flux quantization phenomenon is a consequence of single valuedness applied to the macroscopic wave function Eq. (1), that is, the phase change $\Delta \phi$ around any closed superconducting loop must be an integer *n* times 2π , which is equal to the magnetic action $(2e/\hbar)A$ integrated around the loop:

$$\Delta \phi = \frac{2e}{\hbar} \oint A \cdot dl = \frac{2e}{\hbar} \Phi = 2\pi n \quad \Rightarrow \quad \Phi = n\Phi_0 \tag{6}$$

where Φ is magnetic flux and the flux quantum $\Phi_0 = h/2e = 20.7$ G · μ m². The third term is derived by Stokes's theorem because the magnetic field is related to the vector potential **A** by **B** = $\nabla \times \mathbf{A}$. On a microscopic level, the actual structure of a flux quantum in a superconducting film is complicated. However, to a good approximation it corresponds to a small supercurrent loop in the plane of the film, where the film is normal on the inside of the loop. The magnetic field generated by the current loop integrated over the area surrounding the flux quantum corresponds exactly to Eq. (6). The superconductors used for circuit fabrication, YBCO and niobium when deposited as a thin film, are Type II supeconductors.

 Moat holes
 MVTL OR/AND gate

 Moat holes
 MVTL OR/AND gate

Figure 10. A 400 μ m × 400 μ m scanning SQUID microscope image of an MVTL OR-AND logic gate. The magnetic field scale is from 0 (white) to 400 mG (black), and the dots are the flux quanta trapped in the thin film of the superconducting ground plane. Data provided courtesy of M. Jeffery and T. Vanduze, University of California, Berkeley, and J. Kirtley and M. B. Ketchen at IBM.

Because the earth's magnetic field is approximately 650 mG $(10^4 \text{ G} = 1 \text{ T})$, many flux quanta will be trapped in a superconducting thin film if it is cooled in the earth's magnetic field. From Faraday's law $V = d\Phi/dt$, so that thermally induced motion of the flux quanta generate low-frequency voltage noise in superconducting circuits. This noise can limit performance of SQUID magnetometers, and researchers have spent considerable effort devising methods to reduce this noise (see the following section on SQUIDs). Furthermore, if flux quanta trap close to a Josephson junction they can change the junction critical current, and this prevents digital circuits from operating correctly.

Figure 10 is an image of the magnetic field above a superconducting MVTL logic gate. The sample was cooled inside a mumetal magnetic shield in a field of 4.5 mG. Mumetal is a very high permeability material commonly used for magnetic shields. A line drawing of the logic circuit has been superimposed on the image to show its location. The image was obtained by scanning a small (4 μ m diameter) SQUID loop across the area of the circuit and measuring the magnetic field. The image measures 400 μ m \times 400 μ m and the dots clearly show the flux quanta trapped in the film. The Josephson junctions in the circuit can be protected from trapped flux by cutting small "moat" holes in the superconducting ground plane surrounding the circuits. Then the magnetic field traps in the moat holes and not in the circuits (33). The use of moats to protect superconducting digital circuits enables designing complex digital circuits that operate in magnetic fields of several milligauss. Magnetic field values less than 5 mG are easily obtained with mumetal magnetic shields.

The dc Superconducting Quantum Interference Device (SQUID) Magnetometer

The basic SQUID circuit is shown schematically in Fig. 3(a). The device consists of two Josephson junctions connected in parallel forming an inductive superconducting loop. For low-temperature superconductor (LTS) SQUIDs normal resistors R are typically connected in parallel with the Josephson junctions to give a nonhysteretic I-V characteristic for the combination. When a dc bias current is applied, the voltage across the resistor is modulated by the magnetic flux ($\Phi = B_{\text{ext}} \times A$) coupled into the SQUID loop. This modulation phenomenon is understood as follows (7).

The total current flowing through the SQUID loop is the sum of currents from the two Josephson junctions given by Eq. (2). Each junction has a phase, and the phase change around the SQUID loop is related to the magnetic field. Specifically, if ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 denote the phase of each junction, then the total phase change around the SQUID loop is given by

$$\phi_1 - \phi_2 = \frac{2e}{\hbar} \oint \mathbf{A} \cdot dl = 2\pi \frac{\Phi}{\Phi_0} \tag{7}$$

where the last term is derived similarly to Eq. (6).

If a dc current $I > 2i_c$ is applied to the SQUID loop, then the excess current must be carried by the parallel normal resistance, so that $I = I_s + V/2R$ or

$$V = R \left[\frac{I}{2} - i_{\rm c} (\sin \phi_1 + \sin \phi_2) \right] \tag{8}$$

Using Eq. (7) and a trigonometric identity,

$$V = R \left[\frac{I}{2} - i_c \cos\left(\pi \frac{\Phi}{\Phi_0}\right) \sin\gamma \right]$$
(9)

where $\gamma = (\phi_1 + \phi_2)/2$. The phase γ evolves rapidly in time by the Josephson Eq. (3), and because $\sin \gamma$ is oscillating, it may appear that the voltage contribution from the Josephson junctions averages to zero. However, the junctions obey the nonlinear Eq. (4), and the oscillation is not a true sinusoid. Therefore, the average of $\sin \gamma$ is nonzero.

Using Eqs. (3) and (4), one can integrate sin γ to find its average value (34). The corresponding average value of V is given by

$$\overline{V} = R \left[\left(\frac{I}{2} \right)^2 - i_c^2 \cos^2 \left(\pi \frac{\Phi}{\Phi_0} \right) \right]^{1/2}$$
(10)

Therefore the average voltage across the dc SQUID, which can be measured with a dc voltmeter, oscillates as a function of Φ with a period $2\Phi_0$. These oscillations are shown for a typical HTS SQUID in Fig. 3(c). One can think of the SQUID as a flux-to-voltage transducer. Using a kilohertz modulator and feedback electronics, called a flux-locked loop, one can use the SQUID characteristic Fig. 3(c) to measure magnetic fields very accurately and with a high dynamic range (13).

For an HTS SQUID, shown in Fig. 3(b), the Josephson junctions are naturally resistively damped by a low normal resistance (of order 1 Ω), so that no external resistors are necessary. In this case the resistance R in Eq. (10) becomes R_j , where R_j is the normal resistance of the HTS junction.

At present, practical YBCO HTS SQUID magnetometers are fabricated using a strontium titanate (SrTiO₃) bicrystal. The crystal lattice structure and size of SrTiO₃ are similar to those of YBCO. Therefore, when a film of YBCO is deposited on SrTiO₃ the crystal growth matches the SrTiO₃ substrate lattice. SrTiO₃ bicrystals consist of two crystals fabricated and polished with a mismatched grain boundary. When YBCO is deposited on this bicrystal, the YBCO film aligns with the SrTiO₃ crystals on each side of the boundary, and the discontinuity forms a long uniform Josephson junction along the boundary. Then the thin film is patterned to form a SQUID structure, such as Fig. 3(b).

The dashed line in Fig. 3(b) shows the location of the bicrystal grain boundary. The two Josephson junctions of the SQUID are too small to be seen on the scale of the photograph. However, the SQUID loop is clearly seen. External magnetic fields are coupled into the SQUID loop by a flux transformer (not shown in the figure). The transformer consists of a thin film of superconductor patterned into a square spiral of several large loops connected to a large pickup loop. It can be fabricated on a separate chip and "flipped" on top of the SQUID. However, today most flux transformers are fabricated on the same chip and direct-coupled to the SQUID loop, similar to Fig. 11.

As described in the previous section, noise from flux trapping is a major problem that limits the performance of HTS SQUID magnetometers operating in the earth's magnetic field. Clarke and co-workers at UC Berkeley have spent considerable effort working on this problem. Figure 11 shows a photograph of a new type of magnetometer consisting of a lattice of small (4 μ m wide) superconducting lines patterned in YBCO on a SrTiO₃ bicrystal. The idea of using a lattice for the body of the



Figure 11. (a) A new type of SQUID consisting of a lattice of thin, 4 μ m YBCO wires patterned in a lattice on a SrTiO₃ bicrystal substrate. The top picture shows the overall geometry of the device, and the lower photograph shows a portion of the microlattice with the two SQUID Josephson junctions. (b) Flux noise in the SQUID for a conventional "fat" magnetometer and the new "skinny" microlattice type. The flux noise in the skinny magnetometer is significantly less at low frequencies than the conventional magnetometer. Data and photograph provided by R. McDermott, H. M. Cho, B. Oh, K. A. Kouznetsov, A. Kittel, and J. Clarke, University of California, Berkeley.

magnetometer is similar to using moats to protect superconducting logic circuits (see Fig. 10).

Flux in a superconductor is quantized in units $B \times A = \Phi_0$. For the microlattice design of Fig. 11, the line width is chosen at 4 μ m so that $\Phi_0/16 \ \mu$ m² ~ 1 G, which is approximately twice the value of the earth's magnetic field. Therefore, at the transition temperature, flux quanta are unlikely to trap directly in the thin superconducting wires. Instead, they trap in the honeycomb of holes comprising the SQUID body, where they are effectively pinned and cannot easily move around.

Because flux motion is a significant cause of voltage noise in the SQUID, the net result is that the noise floor of the SQUID is considerably reduced. Figure 11(c) shows the flux noise versus frequency of the thin lattice type SQUID and a conventional SQUID magnetometer cooled in 630 mG (63 μ T) of applied magnetic field (approximately the earth's magnetic field). Notice that the low frequency 1/f noise of the thin magnetometer is much lower than the conventional (fat) dc SQUID.

DIGITAL SUPERCONDUCTING ELECTRONICS

Voltage-State Logic

The basic logical "switch" for voltage-state logic is the hysteretic Josephson junction; see Fig. 9. We can model the hysteretic Josephson junction by the mechanical analog of a pendulum that is free to rotate. The junction phase is analogous to the pendulum angle, and a current bias applied to the junction is equivalent to an external torque applied to the pendulum. When the external torque on the pendulum is increased beyond a critical value, the pendulum begins to spin rapidly. This situation is analogous to the dynamics of the Josephson junction. For a Josephson junction, when the bias current is increased to a value greater than the critical current, the junction phase begins to change rapidly. From Eq. 3 the voltage across the junction is proportional to the rate of change of the phase, so that a voltage appears across the device. The junction is said to have switched to the voltage state. This output voltage is the logical "one" in a computer, and no voltage corresponds to a logical "zero." In order to reset the junction after a logical "one," the bias must be turned off, and for this reason logic using hysteretic junctions is sometimes termed "latching" logic. The switching-on time of the junction can be less than a picosecond. However, because the junction is hysteretic (the pendulum has an angular momentum), it takes a much longer time to switch off when the bias is removed. Therefore, the practical limitation on how fast voltage-state circuits can be clocked in real applications is set by the switch-off time.

As an example of the basic voltage-state logic principle, one could use the switching properties of a single Josephson junction as a logic gate. For an OR gate, the critical current of the junction is chosen so that when the clocked bias and *either* of two inputs A or B is applied, the critical current of the junction is exceeded, and the device switches on; see Gate 1 in Fig. 12(a). For Gate 1 in the figure, note that before the junction JJ_1 switches to the voltage state the Clock 1 bias current has a superconducting path to ground through the junction, so there is no output current from the gate. However, after the junction JJ_1 has switched it becomes a relatively high impedence (since there is now a voltage across the device), and some of the Clock 1 bias current is shunted to the output of the gate. This current



Figure 12. (a) Schematic diagram of a simple voltage-state logic circuit constructed from hysteretic Josephson junctions. (b) Schematic diagram of the two-junction SQUID and (c) the one-junction SQUID used in digital superconducting electronics. (d) Equivalent circuit to (b) assuming the junctions are identical and the SQUID loop inductances L_c are small so their corresponding voltages can be neglected. The Josephson junctions' normal resistances and capacitances are not shown in (a)-(c) and are shown schematically in (d) for the equivalent circuit.

will switch Gate 2 when Clock 2 is applied. A logical AND can be constructed similarly by choosing the critical current so that it takes a clocked bias plus both inputs A and B to switch the junction. This is exactly the logical AND of two input signals. The inverse logic function is more complicated but can also be constructed.

The logic gate is on only when the clock is applied. Therefore, for data to propagate between two gates, Gate 1 and Gate 2 in Fig. 12(a), the first gate must be clocked on before the second. Furthermore, Gate 1 must remain on when the clock for Gate 2 is applied. This means that different clocks must be used to move data from one gate to the next. Overlapping clock phases are required for data to propagate through a chain of arbitrary logic gates. Voltage-state logic is often powered by a three-phase clock, whose phases are 120° apart. However, three phases are not always used for voltage-state logic. For example, the original IBM project used a single-phase clock with dc latches after each logical operation, and the circuit Fig. 6 uses a four-phase clock.

The single Josephson junction logic gates described previously are not practical for real applications, since they are very sensitive to parameter variations. Furthermore, there is no isolation between junctions, so that output current from a switched gate can feed back through the gate input and erroneously trigger previous gates. This is clearly seen in Fig. 12(a). Given that Clock 1 is high and there is an input at C_{1} , when Clock 2 is applied the Gate 2 junction JJ_2 switches to the voltage state and becomes a relatively high impedance. The current from Clock 2 is then shunted to both the output and the input of the gate. This feedback of current through the input may cause the junction JJ_1 in Gate 1 to also switch to the voltage state. Several different voltage-state logic families have been demonstrated that are robust to these problems. Most notably Fujimaki and coworkers have developed modified variable threshold logic (MVTL) (25). MVTL circuits have been demonstrated with thousands of gates at multigigahertz clock rates (see Fig. 5).

The basic building blocks of voltage-state logic circuits are the two- and one-junction SQUIDs shown schematically in Fig. 12(b) and (c). These circuits are similar in structure to the dc SQUID and RF SQUID magnetometers described previously; however, the parameters and modes of operation can be quite different. In order to analyze the underdamped two-junction SQUID in Fig. 12(b) it is useful to make the approximation that the coupling inductors L_c in the SQUID loop are small, so that only the flux Φ_L coupled into the SQUID loop $(\pm \Phi_L/2$ in each SQUID inductor L_c) is important and the voltage across the coupling inductors can be neglected.

Assuming that the Josephson junctions in the two-junction SQUID have identical critical currents, capacitances, and linear resistors, the equation governing the circuit is straightforward to derive from the equivalent circuit Fig. 12(d). This is an ideal two-junction SQUID. Summing the currents in the branches and setting them equal to the input clock current, and noting that the phase difference across JJ_1 is $\phi - (\pi/\Phi_0)\Phi_L$ and JJ_2 is $\phi + (\pi/\Phi_0)\Phi_L$, where ϕ is the total phase across the SQUID, and $V = (\Phi_0/2\pi)d\phi/dt$ is the total voltage, we obtain

$$2C_{j}\frac{d^{2}\phi}{dt^{2}} + \frac{2}{F_{j}}\frac{d\phi}{dt} + \frac{4\pi i_{c}}{\Phi_{0}}\cos\left(\frac{\pi\Phi_{L}}{\Phi_{0}}\right)\sin\phi = \frac{2\pi}{\Phi_{0}}i_{clock} \qquad (11)$$

where a trigonometric identity has been used to combine the

two sine functions. This equation is similar to the single junction pendulum (4) where the critical current of the junction is $2i_c \cos(\pi \Phi_L/\Phi_0)$, and is modulated by the coupled magnetic flux Φ_L . Hence, a current in the control line varies the switching point of the device.

We can think of the two-junction SQUID circuit as two coupled pendulums with a difference in angle $\Delta \phi = \pi \Phi_L/\Phi_0$. When the applied bias current, or torque on the pendulums, exceeds the critical value $2i_c \cos(\pi \Phi_L/\Phi_0)$, the two pendulums spin and a voltage $V = (\Phi_0/2\pi) d\phi/dt$ appears across the device; the twojunction SQUID has switched to the voltage state. Similar to the single junction, the two-junction SQUID switching is hysteretic. The switching-on time is very fast, but the coupled pendulums have an angular momentum so that they continue to spin when the clock bias is removed. The advantage of this circuit is that the output voltage is isolated from the input control line.

The operation of the one-junction SQUID is understood as follows. For the one-junction SQUID in Fig. 12(b), the input currents (which can be a clock bias and an external bias) must equal the current through the Josephson junction, junction resistance, junction capacitance, and inductor. Because the flux $\Phi = Li$, the current i_L through the inductor adds an additional linear term $i_L = (\Phi_0/2\pi)\phi/L$ to Eq. (4). This linear term adds an effective quadratic term to the potential of the nonlinear pendulum, so that two different modes of operation are possible. Analysis of the one-junction SQUID equation shows that when the dimensionless parameter $\beta_L = 2\pi L i_c / \Phi_0 \le 1$ the current in the inductor is a single-valued oscillating function for a linear input current. However, when $\beta_L > 1$ the current in the inductor is no longer a single valued function, and as a linear input current is applied abrupt switching is observed. For $\beta_L >$ 1 the circuit operation is hysteretic, so that after switching, if the applied current is reduced the current in the inductor will continue to flow until a different switching point is reached. This hysteretic behavior is shown in Fig. 13(b) for the onejunction SQUID used in the complementary output switching logic (COSL) gate.

As an example of voltage-state logic circuit design, the basic ideas of the COSL family are briefly reviewed (27). COSL was developed for applications from 5 to 20 GHz and was optimized by using a Monte Carlo method in HSPICE (35), so that the basic gates and logic circuits have a high probability of operating at ultrahigh speed despite the process variations of critical current, resistance, and inductance.

Figure 13(a) is a schematic diagram of the COSL OR/AND gate. The XOR function is derived from the OR gate by including a 300 μ A Josephson junction in series with the inputs. All of the COSL family of gates consist of a one-junction SQUID input stage and a two-junction SQUID output stage. The two-junction SQUID in the output stage is connected in series with a Josephson junction. The COSL circuits are designed to use a three-phase sinusoidal clocking scheme, and the input and output stages of the gates use two of the clock phases applied through the clock-shaping junctions. These junctions have the effect of clamping the SQUID biases at approximately 2.5 mV when the clocks are applied, independent of the process variations.

The input circuit for the COSL gate is a one-junction SQUID, similar to Fig. 12(c). For this circuit $\beta_L > 1$, so that the SQUID is hysteretic, and when it switches, a relatively large current flows through the inductor. Figure 13(b) shows the relationship







Figure 13. (a) The COSL voltage-state logic gate consists of a onejunction SQUID input stage, and a two-junction SQUID output. (b) The current transfer curve for the COSL one-junction SQUID. (c) Micrograph of the COSL OR/AND gate fabricated using the HYPRES 2.5 μ m process. The input and outputs of the circuits are carefully impedance-matched.



Figure 14. A typical laboratory high-speed test setup. The superconducting chip is mounted on the end of a high-bandwidth probe and is immersed in a liquid helium dewar. Inputs and outputs are via highspeed SMA cables, and the output is detected on the sampling oscilloscope.

between the input current and the inductor current for the onejunction SQUID. For the COSL gate parameters, with an input current of 350 μ A, the current in the inductor switches to 250 μ A. The output circuit of the COSL gate consists of a hysteretic two-junction SQUID, and is similar to Fig. 12(b).

The operation of the COSL OR gate in Fig. 13 is understood intuitively as follows. When clock 1 is applied, an input to the gate greater than 60 μ A is sufficient to fire the onejunction SQUID. Switching the one-junction SQUID causes a relatively large current to flow in the inductor, which is coupled to the output two-junction SQUID loop. By Eq. (11), the onejunction SQUID current suppresses the critical current of the two-junction SQUID so that when clock 2 is applied, the twojunction SQUID switches, giving 1 mV at the output, which produces 200 μ A in a 5 Ω load. An AND gate is constructed by increasing the resistor R_b in Fig. 13(a); this reduces the current from the clock so that two inputs are required to switch the gate.

Figure 13(c) is a micrograph of a COSL gate fabricated by the HYPRES Inc. (18) 2.5 kA/cm² niobium process. Special care is taken to impedance match all inputs, outputs, and clock lines of the circuit. Specifically, the inputs and outputs to the gate are 5Ω superconducting transmission lines, and the off-chip driver is a large single Josephson junction designed to switch into a 50Ω load. The inputs to the circuit from the room temperature electronics are impedance-matched from 50Ω to 5Ω using a simple resistive matching network (not shown in the figure). Impedance matching is essential for circuit operation above a few gigahertz because reflections within the circuit can cause erroneous switching and can make signal detection difficult.

A typical laboratory test setup is shown in Fig. 14. The chip is mounted on the end of a high-bandwidth probe and immersed in a liquid helium dewar. The end of the probe is surrounded by two mumetal magnetic shields. Inputs to the circuit are generated by room temperature multigigabit per second data generators, and the circuit outputs are observed on the sampling oscilloscope. The sinusoidal clock is generated by a signal generator and then split into three phases and amplified by microwave amplifiers. Phase shifters and programmable attenuators vary the phase and amplitudes of the clocks independently. The clock, input signals, and sampling scope must be phase-locked to observe the output of the circuit at high speed.

Figure 15 shows typical test data for the COSL gate in Fig. 13(c) clocked at 15 GHz. The data inputs (top trace) are overlapping low-speed 4 GHz signals. The output, however, is much faster than the input data because the gate is clocked at 15 GHz. For OR operation the COSL gate switches "on" when either of the input signals are high, and switching is observed for AND operation when the two input signals overlap. The oscillation on the background in Fig. 15(b) and (c) is due to feedthrough of the unbalanced clocks, and is sometimes called "ground bounce." The basic COSL gates have been demonstrated at 18 GHz, the maximum speed of the test equipment, and complex COSL encoder circuits for flash ADCs have been demonstrated at 5 to 8 GHz (27).

It is traditionally thought that voltage-state logic operates only in the range of a few gigahertz. This limited speed operation is usually attributed to the "punch-through" problem. There are two types of punch-through, one caused by the plasma oscillations of the junction (36), and another called lowprobability punch-through (37). The first type of punch-through is related to the plasma oscillation of the Josephson junction when it resets. Using the mechanical analog, when the undamped pendulum stops spinning, there are finite oscillations at the bottom of the arc, as the pendulum damps to zero; see Eq. (5). This is analogous to the latching Josephson junction.



Figure 15. (a) Photograph of 4 GHz input test data taken from a sampling scope. A pulse splitter and a short length of cable were used to make the phase delay of the top trace. (b) Output of the COSL OR gate circuit clocked at 15 GHz. The circuit switching is observed when either of the two lower speed signals is switched "on." (c) The AND gate switching occurs when the two inputs overlap.

As the junction resets, voltage oscillations called plasma oscillation are observed at the end of the logical pulse. If the clock is applied before complete damping has taken place, then the junction can misfire. This misfire, caused by nonresetting of the junction, is termed punch-through. However, circuit parameters can be chosen so that for a given clock speed and junction process the damping oscillations never misfire the circuit. Therefore, although the long resetting time of the junction limits the ultimate clocking speed, it will not generate random punch-through errors if the circuits are designed correctly.

To understand the concept of low-probability punchthrough, return to the pendulum model of the Josephson junction, Eq. (4). When the undamped spinning pendulum is reset by removing the external tourque (clocked dc bias), there is a small but finite probability that it will stop at the top of the arc rather than at the bottom, that is, there is a small probability that the pendulum will end up balanced at the unstable equilibrium point. If this happens for a Josephson junction, then the Junction is easily switched to the voltage state without any input when the next clock cycle is applied. The device "punches through" to give an error "one" output even though there may have been a "zero" input. In a process with high Josephson junction initial current, the probability of this type of punchthrough is very small, much less than 10^{-12} for COSL. Therefore for applications, such as analog-to-digital conversion, lowprobability punch-through is not a significant source of errors. Bit error rate measurements on the COSL gates demonstrate that voltage-state logic can operate with very high clock speeds without significant errors from punch-through.

The design challenge for complex voltage-state logic circuits is the distribution of the multiphase clocks. For large circuits the clock lines have low impedance and will carry all of the power for the circuit (of the order of mW). Considerable cross talk can occur between transmission lines, so that the design and testing of complex voltage-state logic circuits that operate at speeds beyond 10 GHz is challenging. The ultimate application of voltage-state COSL circuits may be as interfaces between rapid single-flux quantum logic (RSFQ) circuits and room temperature electronics. RSFQ circuits can operate at speeds in excess of 100 GHz and are described in detail in the following section.

Rapid Single-Flux-Quantum (RSFQ) Logic

RSFQ logic was proposed by Likharev, Mukhanov, and Semenov (23,28) in 1985, and was based upon the principles proposed by Silver and his collaborators (38) and Sawada and co-workers (39). The basic RSFQ circuit element is shown schematically in Fig. 16(a). The Josephson junctions are resistively damped by parallel resistors and are connected to an inductor. A dc bias is applied to the junction. The value of the critical current, resistor, and the inductor are chosen so that the dimensionless parameter $\beta_c = 2\pi i_c R^2 C_j / \Phi_0 \sim 1$ and $Li_c \sim \Phi_0$.

For the simple case where the inductor in Fig. 16(a) is connected to ground, Eq. (4) is applicable to the circuit where the inductance adds just a linear term in ϕ . Returning to the pendulum mechanical analog for the Josephson junction, the junction (pendulum) cannot "spin" freely because of the damping resistor. Recall that a dc bias applied to the junction is equivalent to a torque on the pendulum. For a bias current approximately 80% of the critical current value, the pendulum is rotated close to the horizontal unstable equilibrium point. If the pendulum is kicked over the unstable equilibrium point, it flips in a circle.



Figure 16. (a) The basic RSFQ circuit element. The junction is shunted by a resistor that is typically 1 Ω to 2 Ω . (b) A single flux quantum pulse generated by flipping a damped Josephson junction in parallel with an inductor. The width of the pulse is a few picoseconds. The original part (b) is from Likharev and Semenov (23), © 1991 IEEE.

One can imagine that with gravity the pendulum moves slowly over the top, rapidly picks up speed toward the bottom of the arc, and then moves back to the original position. From Eq. (3) the rate of change of the pendulum angle (junction phase) is equivalent to the voltage across the device. Hence, as the junction flips, a voltage pulse is produced; see Fig. 16(b).

The junction switching is very fast, and the corresponding voltage pulse is typically a few picoseconds in width. These picosecond voltage pulses comprise the logical "ones" in an RSFQ digital circuit. Logical "zero" is the absence of a picosecond pulse within a clock period. As a junction flips, the phase (pendulum angle) changes by exactly 2π radians. From Eq. (6) the junction

phase can be related to the magnetic field in the inductor by $\phi = 2\pi \Phi/\Phi_0$, so that a 2π phase change corresponds exactly to the transfer of a single quantum of magnetic flux. Equivalently, the integral of the voltage pulse "area" is quantized,

$$\int V(t) dt = \Phi_0 = 2.07 \,\mathrm{mV} \,\mathrm{ps} \tag{12}$$

so that the total RSFQ voltage pulse integrated over time equals a quantum of magnetic flux given by Eq. (6). Hence the name single-flux-quantum logic. Also note from Eq. (12) that if the pulse is a few picoseconds wide the amplitude will be much less than 1 mV.

The simplest RSFQ circuit, called the Josephson transmission line (JTL) and shown schematically in Fig. 17(a), consists of the basic RSFQ component in Fig. 16(a) connected in series. The series junction and the inductor at the input convert a dc signal to single-flux quanta (dc-SFQ converter). Intuitively one can image the circuit as a series of pendula connected together by torsion springs (the inductors). The dc bias currents torque the pendulums close to the unstable equilibrium point. When a single-flux quantum pulse is fed in at the left end of the line, it flips the first junction (pendulum). Because this junction is connected to the adjacent junction by an inductor (a spring), when the first junction flips, it makes a current in the inductor which in turn flips the adjacent junction (the next pendulum). Hence in a JTL, a flux quantum input at the left "hops" down the line, flipping adjacent junctions until reaching the output. Figure 17(b) shows a WRspice (35) simulation of the input and output voltage of the JTL with a 10 GHz input.



Figure 17. (a) A Josephson transmission line with a dc-SFQ input circuit. The arrows represent the bias currents for the JTL. (b) WRspice simulation with the 10 GHz analog input and the resulting RSFQ voltage pulses measured at points A and B on the line. Single-flux quantum pulses propagate from A to B with a 10 ps delay. The pulse is re-shaped as it propagates from A to B, and the amplitude increases while the width decreases. The simulation assumes 200 μ A junctions, 175 μ A bias currents, 3.6 pH JTL inductors, 1 Ω resistors, and a 5 pH parallel inductor in the input dc-SFQ converter. The input is a 10 GHz 10 mV amplitude sine wave and a 10 mV dc bias both applied to 50 Ω resistors.

The clock signals for RSFQ circuits are single-flux-quantum pulses. The logical convention is that a "one" corresponds to an RSFQ pulse within a clock period, and a logical "zero" is the absence of a pulse in a clock period. JTLs are used for clock distribution. However one does not have to use JTLs for all data and clock distribution. For example, the digital signal processor in the ADC in Fig. 7 is broken into three components. The RSFQ and data pulses are transferred between modules by superconducting microstrip lines. Because the transmission lines are superconducting, they have low loss and low dispersion. With superconducting transmission lines one can transport RSFQ pulses for relatively large distances on a chip.

The switching speed of the damped junction is a function of the device capacitance. Reducing the junction area correspondingly decreases the junction capacitance and enables the junction (pendulum) to flip faster. Hence smaller junctions make faster RSFQ circuits, providing one scales the other parameters accordingly. For example, a 100 μ A critical current Josephson junction with a 2.5 μ m linear size corresponds to a 3 ps RSFQ pulse. A 1.25 μ m junction corresponds to a 2 ps pulse, and a 0.7 μ m junction corresponds to a 1 ps pulse. Lukens and coworkers at the State University of New York at Stony Brook have used e-beam lithography to fabricate simple RSFQ frequency divider circuits with 0.5 μ m \times 0.5 μ m junctions and 50 kA/cm² critical current density.

Figure 18(a) shows a micrograph of an RSFQ T flip-flop circuit, and Fig. 18(b) shows experimental test data with a schematic of the circuit inset on the graph. The circuit consists of a Josephson transmission line connected to the RSFQ flipflop, consisting of four Josephson junctions. A dc bias applied to the first junction in the JTL generates a high frequency SFQ pulse train which is input to the flip-flop circuit. The parameters of the SQUID loop are chosen so that a single-flux quantum can circulate in the loop. When the input pulses are injected into the loop, they have the effect of flipping the direction of the circulating flux quanta. Furthermore, if the current is circulating in the clockwise direction, a single flux quantum pulse is also produced at the output, V_{out} ; see Fig. 18(b). Therefore, the input flips the circulating current, and a half-frequency RSFQ pulse train is produced.

The diagonal plot on Fig. 18(b) is an overlay of the average voltage of the clock and twice the average voltage of the output. Increasing the input bias current increases the frequency of the input clock. Because the output is half the frequency of the input, we expect that, on average, the input voltage should equal twice the output voltage. The two measured quantities are indeed equal, and from the fundamental Josephson Eq. (3) one can calculate that the speed corresponds to 750 GHz.

The experimental data in Fig. 18(b) are dc average value measurements. The circuit operation is too fast to observe the digital outputs directly by room temperature electronics. Therefore, it is not clear how many errors the circuit makes at 750 GHz. The lower trace in Fig. 18(b) is the subtraction of the two curves and gives the error in the experiment. It corresponds very roughly to a limit on the maximum bit error rate in this experiment. The error is less than one part in 10,000 which is the limit of the test equipment, and the true bit error rate should be significantly less.

Therefore, RSFQ circuits have the potential of operating at hundreds of gigahertz clock rates. So far we have described the JTL, which can be used to transport RSFQ pulses, and the T flip-flop which is the basic memory storage element. To make a complete logic family, Likharev, Mukhanov, and Semenov demonstrated OR, AND, and inversion functions for RSFQ (28). As one example, Fig. 19 shows the RSFQ 2-input OR gate.

The OR gate consists of two Josephson junctions J2 and J4 at the input connected to the inductor L3 and the junction J5. The junctions J1 and J3 are for isolation and stop feedback of RSFQ pulses to the input. Parameters are chosen so that an input RSFQ pulse at either A or B flips the junction J6. This junction is connected to a flip-flop circuit (J6, L, J7) which is a SQUID loop with an RSFQ readout. When junction J6 is switched by the input at either A or B, a single-flux quantum is held in the SQUID loop J6, L, and J7. The SQUID loop acts as a latch until the clock is applied. Quanta stored in the SQUID loop are read out by a clock pulse applied to the junction pairs J7 and J8. Parameters are chosen so that the clock pulse resets the SQUID loop and produces a flux quantum at F if there has been an input at A or B. This is the timed OR function. For



Figure 18. (a) Micrograph of an RSFQ T flip-flop fabricated using ebeam lithography. (b) Test data for a T flip-flop fabricated with 0.5 μ m × 0.5 μ m Josephson junctions. The circuit operates correctly up to a speed corresponding to 750 GHz. Photograph and data courtesy of W. Chen, A. V. Rylyakov, V. Patel, and J. E. Lukens at State University of New York at Stony Brook.



Figure 19. The basic RSFQ OR gate. The picosecond RSFQ pulses race through the circuit and are held in the SQUID loop J6, L, and J7 "latch." A clock RSFQ pulse is applied to the junction pair J8 and J7 to read out the latch. Original figure from Likharev and Semenov (23), © 1991 IEEE.

more detailed information on the complete RSFQ logic family, see Ref. 23.

Figure 20 is a schematic of a simple RSFQ circuit designed by Herr and Feldman at the University of Rochester to test bit error rates (40). The circuit consists of a 10 GHz RSFQ ring oscillator, which generates the clock, and two JTL stages connected to an XOR gate. Identical pulse trains from the clock propagate down the JTL stages, so that the XOR function should be logical "zero" for all correct outputs. Any error in the JTL stages produces an RSFQ pulse at the output of the XOR gate. The Rochester team measured the continuous operation of the circuit for nine days and measured a bit error rate of 5×10^{-17} . This error rate corresponds to 4 errors in 150 h ($5\frac{1}{2}$ days). These results matched well with thermal noise analysis of errors for a single junction. Therefore, RSFQ circuits have the potential for ultrahigh-speed operation with very low bit error rates.

Ruck and coworkers in Jülich have done the same experiment with a circuit fabricated using high temperature superconductors, and have measured bit error rates less than 10^{-11} at 39 K(41). However, note that in these experiments the circuit



Figure 20. Schematic diagram of the test circuit to measure RSFQ bit error rates. Figure reproduced courtesy of Q. Herr and M. Feldman, University of Rochester, and Applied Physics Letters (41).

under test is rather simple and the bit error rates may increase for complex RSFQ circuits.

Picosecond RSFQ voltage pulses cannot be transferred between chips or to room temperature electronics with existing packaging. This is because they are easily attenuated or reflected by impedance mismatches and conventional room temperature electronics is simply neither fast enough nor sensitive enough to detect small picosecond signals. Therefore, the RSFQ pulses must be converted to lower frequency voltages at the output (23). Recently, researchers at HYPRES and Conductus have developed asynchronous amplifier circuits, so that one can interface RSFQ pulses directly to room temperature electronics at clock rates up to 8 GHz (42). High-speed testing has been performed on-chip at 20 GHz to 40 GHz by loading shift registers with data at low speed. Then these data are clocked through an RSFQ circuit at high speed, and the outputs are collected at high speed in shift registers. Finally, the output data are read out from the shift registers at low speed to verify the correct operation of the circuit.

One advantage of RSFQ over voltage-state logic is that it requires only dc power. The power dissipation of RSFQ circuits is approximately 10,000 times lower than GaAs room temperature electronics and approximately 50 times less than voltage-state logic. Therefore, thermal management is significantly easier for superconducting RSFQ digital circuits than for other room temperature technologies such as GaAs. The main challenge for RSFQ circuits and indeed any circuit operating above 10 GHz is clock distribution. For example, at 100 GHz there is only 10 ps between clock pulses. Assuming propagation at the speed of light, 10 ps corresponds to 3 mm. Because typical complex circuits are larger than 3 mm, global clock distribution is not possible at this speed. Researchers at UC Berkeley and elsewhere have been working to develop new types of asynchronous timing schemes to enable complex circuit operation at ultrahigh gigahertz clock rates (23,43).

ADVANCED APPLICATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS FOR DIGITAL SUPERCONDUCTING ELECTRONICS

We are at an exciting point in the development of superconducting electronics. Fabrication techniques and design tools are enabling the development of the first real systems. For example Conductus, TRW, Stanford University, and UC Berkeley, funded through the US Department of Commerce Advanced Technology Program (ATP), collaborated to demonstrate a superconducting cross-bar packet switch. The system was packaged in a 4 K closed cycle refrigerator, all components were operational at 10 Gb/s, and the complete integrated system was demonstrated at 4 Gb/s (44). Although this system is not a final commercial product, it demonstrates the possibility of integrating and packaging superconducting circuits.

A significant accomplishment of the ATP project was the development of a superconducting multichip module (MCM) technology by TRW. Figure 21 shows a superconducting MCM with two chips used in the cross-bar demonstration flipped on top. Using reflow solder bumping and superconducting transmission lines between chips, researchers at TRW and Conductus demonstrated 10 Gb/s data transfer rates between chips and room temperature electronics. This MCM technology will facilitate the development of complex superconducting digital circuits from smaller components. Superconducting MCM

4 x 4 superconducting amplifier

Figure 21. MCM module used in the ATP demonstration of a superconducting packet switch by Conductus, TRW, Stanford University and University of California, Berkeley. Both chips were fabricated using a 2 μ m, 2 kA/cm² Nb Josephson fabrication technology. Photograph courtesy of G. Akeriing, A. Smith, K. Yokoyama, and J. Spargo at TRW Space and Electronics.

Japanese industrial laboratories, such as Hitachi and NEC, continue to work on digital superconducting electronics. Recently completed projects at Hitachi include the development of a 4×4 packet switch using voltage-state logic (45). NEC researchers have demonstrated a system consisting of three computers connected by a superconducting parallel-pipelined ring (26,46). Components of these systems, consisting of several hundred logic gates, have been demonstrated at multigigahertz data rates. The complete NEC system operated at 100 MHz, with an estimated ultimate throughput of 10 Gbit/s (46). NEC is working to develop micron size Josephson fabrication technologies in order to increase speed and integration density of their superconducting RAM. In 1998 the Japan Science and Technology Agency (STA) initiated a three year program for NEC, Hitachi, ETL, Fujitsu, Tokyo University, and Nagoya University. The goal of this program is to develop the core technology in Japan for ultrahigh-speed RSFQ logic circuits using both low-temperature and high-temperature superconductors.

Perhaps the most promising applications are in analog-todigital conversion using RSFQ logic (see Fig. 7). Analogto-digital converters (ADCs) are ideal candidates for superconducting electronics applications because all of the high-speed operations are internal to the circuit, and the outputs to room temperature electronics are relatively low speed. Furthermore, ADC circuits do not require frequent access to cache memory, which is at present difficult to implement in superconducting circuits. HYPRES Inc. in Elmsford, NY (18) has done considerable research to develop advanced ADC circuits.

Figure 22(a) is a 6-bit $(2^6$ level) flash type ADC developed at HYPRES Inc. The circuit consists of six comparators. The analog input signal is applied to a resistor divider network which feeds a one-junction SQUID at the input of each comparator. RSFQ circuits are used for ultrafast sampling of the one-junction SQUID current. With certain parameters (that is, $\beta_L \leq 1$), the output current of the one-junction SQUID is periodic in the input current. Hence by using a resistor divider network, the one-junction SQUID currents make an interference pattern gray code for the input signal. Picosecond RSFQ sampling of this gray code gives a binary representation of the input analog signal. The circuit is compact, and requires only one comparator for each bit because the unique properties of the one-junction SQUID. To store the digitized data, a 32-word shift register memory is integrated within the ADC.

Figure 22(b) shows test data for the flash ADC for a 16 GHz sampling rate. The input signal (inverted by the amplifier) was acquired in real time, and the binary data were stored in a 32 bit shift register for low speed output to room temperature electronics. Research is in progress to directly interface this ADC to room temperature electronics, so that the performance specifications (spurfree dynamic range, effective number of bits, etc.) can be measured.

A fundamental advantage of superconducting electronics is low on-chip power dissipation compared to room temperature electronics, such as GaAs. Therefore, thermal management onchip is significantly easier than with GaAs. Furthermore, compared to all other room temperature technologies, RSFQ has a raw speed advantage because digital operation is possible in excess of 100 GHz. These advantages make superconducting electronics a candidate for ultrahigh-speed supercomputer applications of the future. In fact, recent research has indicated the feasibility of a 10^{12} floating-point operations per second (petaFLOP) RSFQ-based supercomputer. The petaFLOPs computer project, presently funded by the US Defence Advanced Projects Agency (DARPA), is studying the possibility of incorporating thousands of 100 GHz superconducting RSFQ vector processors (47).

The challenge for future digital superconducting technology is to unambiguously demonstrate circuits operating in excess of 100 GHz. These circuits will require small area (\sim 0.8 μ m linear size), higher current density ($J_c \approx 10 \text{ kA/cm}^2$) junctions, and one must first demonstrate that a fabrication process can make hundreds of 0.8 μ m 10 kA/cm² Josephson devices with small parameter spreads. In addition exact clocking of the ultrafast circuits needs to be achieved. At 100 GHz there is only a 10 ps window for a clock period, and at 200 GHz this window shrinks to 5 ps. Parameter variations and propagative time delays can easily introduce timing errors which will significantly limit the speed of complex circuits. Finally, the circuits must be tested unambiguously at ultrahigh speed. This is no easy task, since demultiplexer (DEMUX) circuits are needed to interface with room temperature electronics, which increases the complexity of even the simplest 100 GHz RSFQ circuit.

In the near future all systems based on digital superconducting circuits are expected to use conventional 4 K niobium superconductor technology that requires a relatively large refrigerator. For applications requiring low power and a small form factor, niobium nitride (NbN), $T_c = 17$ K, will most probably become the processing technology of choice for digital superconducting circuits. NbN circuits operate at 10 K and use small pulse-tube or Stirling coolers described in the introduction. However, research and development is required for NbN fabrication technology to reach its full potential.







Figure 22. (a) HYPRES six-bit flash analogto-digital converter fabricated on a 1 cm \times 1 cm chip. Experimental test data (b) input to the circuit, and (c) collected in real time at 16 Gs/s. Photograph and data provided courtesy of S. Kaplan, S. Rylov, D. Gaidarenko, W. Li, and P. Bradley at HYPRES Inc. (18).

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The author would like to acknowledge gratefully the many researchers and laboratories that contributed to this article. He would also like to thank T. Van Duzer, John Rowell, K. Likharev, John Spargo, John Clarke, Oleg Mukhanov, and Andy Smith for some suggestions on the original manuscript.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- For a review of superconducting electronics with many detailed references, see T. Van Duzer, Superconductor electronics 1986–1996, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7 (2): 98–111, 1997.
- The classic text on superconducting electronics: T. Van Duzer and C. W. Turner, *Principles of Superconducting Devices and Circuits*, New York: Elsevier, 1981.

- Another good text on superconductive electronics is K. K. Likharev, Dynamics of Josephson Junctions and Circuits, New York: Gordon and Breach, 1986.
- J. G. Bednorz and K. A. Muller, Possible high T_c superconductivity in the Ba-La-Cu-O system, Z. Phys. B. Condens. Matter, 64 (2): 189– 193, 1986.
- For a good introduction to superconductivity at the undergraduate level, see R. P. Feynman, R. B. Leighton, and M. Sands, *The Feynman Lectures on Physics*, Menlo Park, CA: Addison-Wesley, 1966, Vol. 3, Chap. 21.
- For a very readable introduction to the basic principles of superconductivity, see A. C. Rose-Innes and E. H. Rhoderick, *Introduction* to Superconductivity, Int. Ser. Solid State Phys., New York: Pergamon, 1978, Vol. 6.
- For a more detailed introduction to superconductivity at the graduate level, see M. Tikham, *Introduction to Superconductivity*, Malabar, FL: Krieger, 1980.
- For more information on magnetic levitation trains, see Railway Technical Research Institute [Online], 1998. Available: http://www.rtri.or.jp
- 9. D. Zhang et al., Microstrip filters for wireless communications using high-temperature superconducting thin films, *Appl. Supercond.*, **3** (7-10): 483-496, 1995.
- 10. Conductus [Online]. Available: http://www.Conductus.com
- 11. For a very readable description of the BCS theory, see J. R. Schrieffer, *Theory of Superconductivity*, New York: Benjamin, 1964.
- 12. For the original paper on the Josephson effect, see B. D. Josephson, Possible new effects is superconducting tunneling, *Phys. Lett.*, 1: 251, 1962; and for the first experimental verification, see P. W. Anderson and J. M. Rowell, Possible observation of the Josephson superconducting tunneling effect, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 10: 230, 1963; for the original report of a dc SQUID see R. C. Jaklevic et al., Quantum interference effects in Josephson tunneling, *ibid.*, 12: 159, 1964.
- For a good introduction to SQUIDs and applications, see J. Clarke, SQUID fundamentals, in H. Weinstock (ed.), SQUID Sensors: Fundamentals, Fabrication and Applications, Proc. NATO ASI SQUID Sensors: Fundam. Fabric. Appl., Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer, 1996, p. 1.
- 14. For more details on the RF SQUID and references see A. H. Silver and J. E. Zimmerman, Josephson weak-link devices, in V. L. Newhouse (ed.), *Applied Superconductivity*, New York: Academic Press, 1975, vol. 1.
- For a good review of scanning SQUID microscopes and applications see John Kirtley, Imaging magnetic fields, *IEEE Spectrum*, 40-48, Dec. 1996.
- T. S. Lee, E. Dantsker, and J. Clarke, High transition temperature SQUID microscope, *Rev. Sci. Instrum.*, 67: 4208, 1996.
- For a review of the voltage standard see C. A. Hamilton, C. J. Burroughs, and S. P. Benz, Josephson voltage standard—review, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7 (2): 3756–3761, 1997.
- 18. For process design rules and product information, see http://www.HYPRES.com
- See for example D. J. Durand et al., The distributed Josephson inductance phase shifter, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 2: 33-38, 1992, and J. Luine et al., Measurements of YBCO parametric amplifiers, *J. Appl. Supercond.*, in press.
- See as an example and for references M. Jeffery, Subquantum limit Josephson magnetometry, Appl. Phys. Lett., 66 (21): 2897, 1995.
- A. Spooner et al., Superconducting direct digital synthesizer, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 7 (2): 2270–2273, 1997.
- For a review of voltage-state logic, see S. Hasuo and T. Imamura, Digital logic circuits, Proc. IEEE, 77: 1177–1193, 1989.
- For an excellent introduction to RSFQ, see K. K. Likharev and V. K. Semenov, RSFQ logic/memory family: A new Josephson-junction technology for sub-terahertz-clock-frequency digital systems, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 1: 3–28, 1991.
- 24. For a review of the IBM superconducting computer project, see the special issue of IBM Journal of Research and Development: Josephson computer technology: An IBM research project, *IBM J. Res. Develop.*, **24** (Spec. Issue): March, 1980.
- N. Fujimaki et al., Josephson modified variable threshold logic gates for use in ultrahigh-speed LSI, *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, 36: 433-446, 1989.
- S. Tahara et al., Josephson memory technology, IEICE Trans. Electron., E79-C: 1193–1199, 1996.
- M. Jeffery, W. Perold, and T. Van Duzer, Superconducting complementary output switching logic operating at 5–10 Gb/s, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 69: 2746–2748, 1996.
- K. K. Likharev, O. A. Mukhanov, and V. K. Semenov, Resistive single flux quantum logic for the Josephson junction technology, in

SQUID'85, D. Hahlbolm and H. Lübbig (eds.), Berlin: de Gruyter, 1985, pp. 1103–1108.

- V. K. Semenov, Yu. A. Polyakov, and D. Schneider, Implementation of oversampling analog-to-digital converter based on RSFQ logic, *Ext. Abst. ISEC'97*, 1997, Vol. 1 (Plenary Contrib.), pp. 41-43 (Rep. D6).
- E. Goto, Y. Wada, and K. F. Loe (eds.), Advances in Quantum Flux Parametron Computer Design, Singapore: World Scientific, 1991.
- 31. G. L. Kerber et al., An improved NbN integrated circuit process featuring thick NbN ground plane and lower parasitic circuit inductances, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7 (2): 2638-2643, 1997.
- 32. For information on the Sumitomo and CTI cryocoolers see http://www.janis.com and for the Iwatani pulse tube see http://www.kelvinic.com
- M. Jeffery et al., Magnetic imaging of moat-guarded superconducting electronic circuits, Appl. Phys. Lett., 67: 1769-1771, 1995.
- 34. For a systematic treatment of this and other examples, see A. Th. A. M. De Waele and R. De Bruyn Ouboter, Quantum-interference phenomena in point contacts between superconductors, *Physica*, 41: 225, 1969.
- 35. For a good commercial Josephson circuit simulator see WR-spice at http://www.srware.com, for the public domain JSIM see http://www.eryo.eecs.berkeley.edu, and for HSPICE see http://www.avanticorp.com. The Josephson junction model is given in the Appendix to M. Jeffery et al., Monte Carlo optimization of superconducting complementary output switching logic circuits, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 8 (3): 104-119, 1998.
- T. A. Fulton, Punchthrough and the tunneling cryotron, Appl. Phys. Lett., 19 (9): 310-313, 1971.
- R. Jewett and T. Van Duzer, Low probability punchthrough in Josephson junctions, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-17 (1): 599-602, 1981.
- J. P. Hurell and A. H. Silver, SQUID digital electronics, AIP Conf. Proc., 44: 437-447, 1978.
- G. Oya, M. Yamashita, and Y. Sawada, Single flux quantum 4JLinterferometer operating in the phase mode, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-21: 880-883, 1985.
- Q. P. Herr and M. J. Feldman, Error rate of a superconducting circuit with and without an applied magnetic field, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 69: 694–695, 1995.
- B. Ruck et al., Measurement of the dynamic error rate of a high temperature superconductor rapid single flux quantum comparator, Appl. Phys. Lett., 72 (18): 2328-2331, 1998.
- O. A. Mukhanov et al., Josephson output interfaces for RSFQ circuits, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7 (2): 2826-2831, 1997.
- Z. J. Deng et al., Data-driven self-timed RSFQ digital integrated circuit and system, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7 (2): 3634– 3637, 1997.
- 44. For an easy to read overview, see N. Dubash and R. Simon, Hybrid cryoelectronic communication systems—the future in ultrahigh performance communications devices, *Supercond. Ind.*, 10(3): 18–22, 1997.
- M. Hosoya et al., Contention solver for a superconducting packet switch, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7 (2): 2274–2275, 1997.
- 46. For a review of the NEC ring system and test results, see S. Yorozu et al., System demonstration of a superconducting communication system, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, in press.
- 47. For general information on the program, see http://www.darpa.mil/ito/Summaries97/F187 0.html, and for information on the superconducting RSFQ component, see http://gamayun.physics.sunysb.edu/RSFQ/Research/PetaFLOPS

SUPERCONDUCTIVITY: HYSTERESIS AND COUPLING LOSSES

A key issue for most applications of superconductivity involves ac losses. Designers need to understand the mechanisms of ac losses in order to lay out the conductors and windings correctly and to predict the performance range in operation. In devices operating at the grid frequency (transformers, current limiters, generators, motors, and power transmission cables) ac losses mostly affect the cryogenic load and hence the overall efficiency of the application. In large pulsed windings [fusion magnets, superconducting magnetic energy storage (SMEs)) the coupling current loss affects the stability, that is, the ability of the superconductor to withstand magnetic field transients. The dc magnetization of a superconductor, which leads to hysteresis loss, is a crucial issue in applications such as imaging and accelerator magnets, where the residual, low field magnetization of the superconductor affects the quality (linearity and homogeneity) of the generated magnetic field.

In normal conducting materials, both dc and ac losses are due to the finite electrical conductivity. At first glance, it appears contradictory that ac losses can occur in a superconducting material, with zero electrical resistivity.

The nonreversible magnetization behavior of bulk superconductors was known well before a practical superconducting wire was manufactured; afterward, it was called "ac loss", which sounds much more negative than "magnetization loop." For single-core wires and tapes, the only ac loss was the hysteresis loss, with the associated disruptive flux jumps. For multifilamentary composites, a new source of loss (filamentary coupling loss) was identified and stimulated the development of very sophisticated strand layouts, with high resistivity barriers and mixed matrices; on the other hand, flux jumps were no longer an issue. Later on, with large stranded conductors, the biggest concern was cable loss (interstrand coupling loss): the effort to limit ac losses was focused on the cable layout rather than the internal structure of the multifilamentary composite.

Because of ac losses, the competitiveness of superconductors has been limited in many fields of applied electrical engineering. Most of the superconducting coils in use today (commercial and research) are operated in dc mode, with limited ac loss occurring during the slow charging up. In those coils, the fastest field change is seen during a safety discharge, when concern about heating or even quenching the conductor is small.

Both hysteresis and coupling current losses occur in a timevarying magnetic field, but their relative weights depend on the specific application. In power transmission cables, the hysteresis loss is by far the largest source, as well as in small, slow rate, potted windings. In large cabled conductors for big SMES and fusion poloidal field coils, the coupling current loss dominates. The hysteresis loss per unit volume is a function of the filament size. The coupling current loss per unit volume increases with the conductor size: with few exceptions, the larger the conductor, the bigger the weight of the coupling current loss.

The physical mechanism of ac losses in superconductors is no longer the object of baseline research. Most R&D activities are devoted to developing low loss, stable conductors. For design purposes, the ability to accurately calculate (i.e. predict) the ac loss during operation is crucial for a reliable and cost-effective engineering approach.

HYSTERESIS LOSS

In type I superconductors—for example, pure metals with defect-free lattices—the magnetic field does not penetrate the bulk of the material and the superconducting shielding currents flow only at the surface. Such materials have reversible magnetization and no hysteresis loss, with B = 0 and $M = -_0 H$ (Meissner effect) inside the material.

In type II superconducting materials used for practical applications, both low and high T_c , the surface shielding currents have a marginal role for the magnetization and the flux penetrates the bulk of the conductor. The nonreversible magnetization of type II superconductors is the reason for the hysteresis loss (1–3). The energy loss per unit volume of superconducting material, Q, can be written in a general form for a closed cycle of applied magnetic field B (e.g., an oscillation at grid frequency, a charge-discharge cycle of a magnet, or the superposition of an ac field on the background field)

$$Q = \oint M(B) \, \mathrm{dB} \quad (\mathrm{J}/\mathrm{M}^3) \tag{1}$$

where M is the average value of the magnetization inside the superconductor. The explicit expression for the local magnetization, needed to evaluate the integral, depends on the superconductor geometry and on the model selected to describe the magnetic flux penetration and the flux profiles inside the superconductor.

The formulas quoted below are for cylindrical superconducting filaments of diameter D: whenever the real cross section of the filaments is not round (e.g., oval, dendritic, or hollow filaments or clusters of bridged filaments), the parameter D in the formulas should be considered as an equivalent diameter. For tapes and flattened filaments with high aspect ratio (e.g., for some high T_e conductors), the formulas for an infinite slab can be used as a convenient approximation.

The Magnetization Curve

A dc magnetization curve for a type II superconductor is shown in Fig. 1. After cooldown, at zero field, M = 0. As an external magnetic field is initially applied, the shielding currents at the filament surface prevent the flux penetration into the bulk superconductor. The diamagnetism is perfect (i.e., $M = -_0H$) as long as the applied field does not exceed the first critical field, B_{c1} . In a type II superconductor, total flux exclusion (the Meissner effect) occurs only at the beginning of the first, *virgin* magnetization: if the superconductor is cooled down in the presence of a magnetic field, no flux exclusion occurs.

Above B_{c1} , the average magnetization increases until the flux penetrates to the center of the filament, at $B = B_{p1}$. As the field increases, the diamagnetism decreases (upper branch of the curve) and the magnetization eventually becomes 0 at the upper critical field, $B = B_{c2}$ (not shown in Fig. 1). When the field is decreased, the flux profiles reverse their gradient in the filament and the average magnetization is >0 (lower branch of the curve). At B = 0, the flux trapped in the filaments is called *residualmagnetization*.

The magnetic flux enters the filament as discrete flux quanta. The diffusion of the flux quanta in the bulk type II superconductor is restrained by the *pinningcenters*, which establish field gradients (flux profiles) inside the filaments. The



pinning centers are microscopic normal zones (e.g., metallurgical or lattice defects) that provide a potential hole to trap to the flux quantum. According to the critical state model, a supercurrent encircles each pinning center: the strength of the pinning centers (i.e., their ability to hold the flux quanta) is a function of the fraction of the external field to the critical field, $b = B/B_{c2}(T, \epsilon)$ where ϵ is the mechanical strain. Strong pinning centers are able to store large density of magnetic energy. The magnetization current density J_c is directly proportional to the volumetric density of the pinning forces in the

The penetration field B_p is the field difference between the filament surface and the electrical center line (see Fig. 2): in Bean's model (4), J_c is assumed constant inside the filaments for a given b, and B_p is a linear function of the critical current density. For a round superconducting filament of diameter D, the penetration field $B_p(b)$, in perpendicular and parallel orientation, is proportional to the density of the magnetization currents flowing respectively in the axial (J_{cl}) and the azimuthal (J_{cp}) direction (5, 6)

superconductor.

$$B_{\rm p} \bot(b) = \frac{\mu_0 D J_{\rm cl}(b)}{\pi} \quad ({\rm T}). \quad B_{\rm pl}(b) = \frac{\mu_0 D J_{\rm cp}(b)}{2} \quad ({\rm T}). \tag{2}$$



Figure 2. Penetration field in a superconducting cylinder of diameter D in parallel applied field (or infinite slab of thickness D), without (left) and with (right) transport current. The dashed profile models the lower branch of the magnetization curve.

Figure 1. Typical magnetization loop of a type II superconductor and related terminology.

For an infinite slab of thickness 2a, with applied field parallel to the slab surface, the penetration field is

$$B_{\rm p}(b) = \mu_0 \mathbf{a} J_{\rm c}(b) \quad (\mathbf{T}) \tag{3}$$

A partial magnetization loop occurs when a small external field variation is superimposed on a background dc field. If the amplitude of the field change, ΔB , is larger than $2B_{\rm p}$, full penetration is achieved, that is, the magnetization moves from the upper to the lower branch of the curve.

It is questionable how far Bean's model for linear flux profiles is an acceptable approximation. When the penetration field is much smaller than the applied field, $B_p \ll B$, the J_c variation over B_p can reasonably be neglected. As B_p is proportional to the filament size, the range of field over which Bean's model reliably applies is larger for thin-filament superconductors. Whenever Bean's model is not considered adequate, an explicit formula for J_c (b), such as the expression proposed by Kim (7)

$$J_{\rm c} = \frac{\alpha}{B_0 + b} \tag{4}$$

must be substituted in Eqs. (2) and (3) (B_0 and α are fitting parameters). The magnetization and loss formulas become more complex using Eq. (4), but the improvement in the accuracy of the loss results is not dramatic. At very low field, when the linear profile approximation is rough, the parameters in Eq. (4) cannot be satisfactorily fitted by experimental results, as a direct measurement of I_c close to 0 field is impossible due to the self-field and instabilities. The formulas below apply only to the linear profile assumption. An example of hysteresis loss formulas using a nonlinear profile approach can be found in Ref. 8.

Integrating in cylindrical coordinates the linear flux profiles from Eqs. (2) and (3) over the filament volume, the upper and lower branches of the magnetization curve are obtained as explicit functions of the critical current density and filament diameter. In perpendicular and parallel applied field orientations the average magnetization per unit volume, according to Ref. 6, is

$$M_{\perp}(b) = \frac{2DJ_{\rm cl}(b)}{3\pi} \quad ({\rm T}), \quad M_{\rm l}(b) = \frac{DJ_{\rm co}(b)}{6} \quad ({\rm T}) \tag{5}$$

	Infinite Slab Parallel to Field	Cylinder Parallel to Field	Cylinder Perpendicular to Field
$\Delta B \leq 2B_{\rm p}$	${\Delta B^3\over 12\mu_0 B_p}$	$\frac{\Delta B^3}{3\mu_0^2 D J_{c\phi}} \left(1 - \frac{\Delta B}{2\mu_0 D J_{c\phi}}\right)$	$\frac{\pi\Delta B^3}{3\mu_0^2 D J_{\rm ell}} \left(1 - \frac{\pi\Delta B}{4\mu_0 D J_{\rm ell}}\right)$
		$\equiv \frac{\Delta B^{3}}{6\mu_{0}B_{\rm pl}} \left(1 - \frac{\Delta B}{4 B_{\rm pl}}\right)$	$\equiv \frac{\Delta B^3}{3\mu_0 B_{\rm pl}} \left(1 - \frac{\Delta B}{4B_{\rm pl}}\right)$
$\Delta B \geq 2B_{ m p}$	$\frac{\Delta B B_{\rm P}}{\mu_0} \left(1 - \frac{4 B_{\rm P}}{3 \Delta B} \right)$	$\frac{\Delta B D \overline{J}_{c\phi}}{3} \left(1 - \frac{\mu_0 D (J^A_{c\phi} + J^B_{c\phi})}{4 \Delta B}\right)$	$\frac{4\Delta BD\overline{J}_{\rm ell}}{3\pi} \bigg(1-\frac{\mu_0 D(J_{\rm ell}^A+J_{\rm ell}^B)}{2\pi\Delta B}\bigg)$
		$\equiv \frac{2 \Delta B \overline{B}_{pl}}{3\mu_0} \left(1 - \frac{B_{pl}^A + B_{pl}^B}{2 \Delta B} \right)$	$\equiv \frac{4\Delta B\overline{B}_{p_1}}{3\mu_0} \left(1 - \frac{B^A_{p} + B^B_{p}}{2\Delta B}\right)$
$\Delta B \gg 2 B_{ m p}$	$rac{\Delta BB_{ ho}}{\mu_0}$	$\frac{\Delta B}{3} D \overline{J}_{c\phi} = \frac{2 \Delta B}{3 \mu_0} \overline{B}_{p\parallel}$	$\frac{4\Delta B}{3\pi}D\overline{J}_{\rm cl}=\frac{4\Delta B}{3\mu_0}\overline{B}_{\rm pl}$
Q_{\max} at $\Delta B = 2B_{p}$	$rac{\Delta B^2}{6\mu_0}$	$rac{\Delta B^2}{6\mu_0}$	$rac{\Delta B^2}{3\mu_0}$

Table 1. Summary of Hysteresis Loss⁴ Formulae

^a As energy per unit volume of superconductor, Q, for a closed cycle of magnetic field ΔB .

Basic Formulas for Hysteresis Loss

Substituting Eq. (5) into Eq. (1), the hysteresis loss for a closed field cycle of amplitude $\Delta B = B^a - B^b$ is obtained as a function of the average critical current density or the average penetration field, defined by

$$J_{c_{\parallel}} = \frac{\int_{B^{a}}^{B^{b}} J_{c_{\parallel}}(B) \, dB}{B^{b} - B^{a}}, \quad B_{p\perp} = \frac{\int_{B^{a}}^{B^{b}} B_{p\perp}(B) \, dB}{B^{b} - B^{a}}$$
(6a)

and

$$\bar{J}_{c\phi} = \frac{\int_{B^a}^{B^b} J_{c\phi}(B) \,\mathrm{dB}}{B^b - B^a}, \quad \bar{B}_{p\parallel} = \frac{\int_{B^a}^{B^b} B_{p\parallel}(B) \,\mathrm{dB}}{B^b - B^a}$$
(6b)

The results of the integration are summarized in Table 1 for the three cases of an infinite slab of thickness 2a with field parallel to the slab surface and a cylinder with diameter D perpendicular and parallel to the applied field. The formulas are different for partial penetration ($\Delta B \leq 2B_p$) and full penetration ($\Delta B \geq 2B_p$). A further, easier formula is proposed for $\Delta B \gg 2B_p$: this formula overestimates the loss. The shaded areas in (Fig. 1) give a measure of the excess, which is accounted for by using the formula reported in Table 1 for $\Delta B \gg 2B_p$.

For a given ΔB , the loss maximum occurs when $\Delta B = 2B_{p}$. The loss maximum, Q_{\max} , reported in Table 1, is a fraction of the magnetic field energy density; it does not depend on the critical current, critical temperature, strain, or filament diameter. In some cases, it may be useful to use Q_{\max} to get a feeling for the worst-case loss without performing time-consuming calculations. For a given ΔB , the filament parameters J_c and Ddetermine the reduced field b for which $\Delta B = 2B_{p}(b)$ is fulfilled, that is, the loss is maximum (9). The loss formulas in Table 1 may also be written as a fraction of Q_{max} or of the magnetic field energy density $\Delta B^2/2_0$, thus introducing a dimensionless loss factor, which is, for a given geometry, only a function of $\Delta B/B_{\rm p}(b)$ (10). In Table 1, Q is the hysteresis loss per unit filament volume and J_c is the filamentary critical current density. For some superconducting strands, such as Nb₃Sn and high T_{c} superconductors, the noncopper critical current is referred to instead of the filamentary critical current density. Whenever the exact filament fraction is not known, it is possible to use the loss formulas for $\Delta B \gg 2B_{\rm p}$, replacing $J_{\rm c}$ by the noncopper critical current $I_{\rm c}$. The hysteresis loss is then expressed in joules per meter of conductor length.

Anisotropy and Variable Angle Orientation

Due to the integration path of the flux profiles in the axial and radial direction of the cylindrical filament, the ratio of the magnetization in parallel and perpendicular field orientation is, according to Eq. (5),

$$\frac{M_{\rm H}}{M_{\perp}} = \frac{4J_{c\phi}}{\pi J_{\rm cll}} \tag{7}$$

The difference observed in the amplitude of magnetization measurements at 0° and 90° orientation is larger than $4/\pi$ and reveals of the anisotropy of the critical current density, that is, $J_{c\phi} \neq J_{ch}$.

In NbTi filaments, the largest source of pinning centers is the precipitation of α -Ti and cell dislocation (11). During the manufacturing process (drawing and annealing), the pinning centers are created and strongly oriented in the axial direction. The pinning forces are very anisotropic, resulting in a critical current density much larger in the azimuthal direction than in the axial direction. The ratio $J_{c\phi}/J_{c\parallel}$ in NbTi conductors is a function of the field and also depends on the manufacturing history (filament size, alloy composition, cold work): from experimental magnetization measurements, the critical current anisotropy is $J_{c\phi}/J_{c\parallel} \approx 3$ (12).

In Nb₃Sn conductors, the major source of pinning centers is the grain boundaries that form during the reaction heat treatment. The anisotropy of the critical current density is linked to the grain orientation, which is influenced by the heat treatment schedule. The Sn diffuses radially into the Nb filaments, and the Nb₃ grains are elongated in the radial direction, giving a higher density of the boundary lines for the axial critical current (13). Typical values of the anisotropy in filamentary Nb₃ are $J_{c\phi}/J_{ell} \approx 0.5$ (14).

The anisotropy of the critical current density should not be confused with the variation of the transport critical current



Figure 3. Areas of the magnetization loops versus the orientation angle between filaments and applied field. Single core NbTi strand, D = 127 m. From Ref. 6. Reprinted from *Cryogenics*, 18, A. P. Martinelli and B. Turck, Some effects of field orientation on the magnetization of superconducting wires, pp. 155–161, copyright 1978, with permission from Elsevier Science.

as a function of the orientation angle α of the applied field, $J_c(B_{\alpha})$. The azimuthal critical current density, $J_{c\phi}$, to be used for the hysteresis loss in parallel field orientation, is not the same as the transport critical current measured with parallel field orientation, $J_{c\phi} \neq J_c(B_{\parallel})$, but $J_{c\parallel} \equiv J_c(B_{\perp})$. For both NbTi and Nb₃ Sn conductors, a larger transport current has been observed in the parallel applied field, $J_c(B_{\parallel}) > J_c(B_{\perp})$ (6, 14– 16).

The orientation of the superconducting filaments in cabled conductors with respect to the cable axis changes continuously over a broad range of angles. For large, multistage conductors, average strand angles of 16° to 25° are commonly observed: the range of the strand angles and its statistical distribution depend on the number of cable stages and the pitch sequence. The hysteresis loss at intermediate angles cannot be interpolated from the formulas in parallel (0°) and perpendicular (90°) fields. The behavior of the loss as a function of the angle has been observed to be not monotonic, with a peak around 30° and a minimum at small angle $(<10^{\circ})$; see Fig. 3 from Ref. 6. The interference of the magnetization currents flowing in longitudinal and azimuthal directions distorts the flux profiles and does not allow a practical definition of the penetration field. At angles close to 0°, the flux profiles adjust themselves for consecutive field cycles and the loop area decreases until a reproducible magnetization is obtained after 10 to 20 cycles. An attempt to model the magnetization at intermediate angles can be found in Ref. 17.

Filament Diameter

The filament diameter is a key parameter for the hysteresis loss formulas. It can be either estimated directly from metallographic examination of the strand cross section or deduced from the magnetization and critical current measurements.

For most of the commercial NbTi strands, the magnetization currents are confined to the individual filaments: permanent currents linking groups of filaments by proximity effects are observed only in very thin, highly packed filaments, with submicron interfilament spacing (11). The critical field for proximity effects, $B_{\rm clp}$, is a function of the temperature, transport current, ratio of spacing to filament size, matrix resistivity and impurities, twist pitch, and sample length (18–20).

For A15 superconductors, as well as for high-temperature superconductors, the estimation of the filament diameter from metallographic investigation is not accurate. In the Nb₃Sn strands, because of different access to the Sn source (for both bronze method and internal Sn strands), the filaments do not all grow to the same size. A nonreacted Nb core may be left in some region of the filamentary zone, turning the Nb₃Sn cylinders into hollow cylinders. A major problem affecting the assessment of the filament diameter in Nb₃ composites is bridging: when the Nb filaments are tightly packed in the matrix, the Nb₃Sn layers grow during the reaction heat treatment to build either continuous superconducting links between filaments (21) or mechanical contacts (22), which behave like the proximity effects. The density of bridging is a function of the spacing to filament ratio s/d (or local area ratio between Cu-CuSn matrix and Nb filaments) and of the heat treatment schedule (23). The superconducting properties of the bridges linking the filaments may be different from those of the bulk filament: at higher field, temperature, or strain, some of the links may become too weak for the magnetization currents. In these cases, the filament diameter is a function of b. The paths of the magnetization currents in a cluster of randomly bridged filaments cannot be analytically modeled: whenever bridging occurs and the loss formulas for cylinders are used, the equivalent filament diameter must be determined from the magnetization curve, preferably at different b.

Three main methods are used to derive the filament diameter from the magnetization measurement in a perpendicular field. All methods use Bean's model and assume that the filament critical current density is directly measured in the same field range. The same methods can also be applied to deduce the critical current density once the filament diameter is known (e.g., to estimate $J_{c\phi}$ or the low field $J_{e\parallel}$, when a direct measurement of I_c is not possible).

- Diameter from the Penetration Field. The minimum field change to move from the upper to the lower branch of the magnetization curve (see Figs. 1 and 2) is $\Delta B_p = 2B_p$. The filament diameter can be estimated using Eq. (2) or (3) and $\Delta B_p(B)$ from the magnetization curve. The advantage of this method is that no calibration of the magnetization is necessary to estimate ΔB_p .
- Diameter from the Amplitude of the Magnetization. The filament diameter can be deduced using Eq. (5) from the amplitude of the magnetization, measured as half of the distance from the lower to the upper branch of the curve. The accuracy of this method is limited by the calibration of the magnetization.
- Diameter from the Energy Loss of a Closed Field Cycle. The hysteresis energy loss for a closed field cycle (magnetization loop) can be estimated either by the line integral of the magnetization curve, according to Eq. 1, or by the calorimetric method, after subtracting the coupling loss contribution, if any. If the calorimetric method is used, the magnetization does not need to be calibrated. According to the amplitude of the applied field $\Delta B (B_{p\perp} > \Delta B \text{ or } B_{p\perp} < \Delta B)$,



Figure 4. Magnetization loop of a Nb₃Sn multifilamentary strand with Nb + Ta diffusion barrier. The low field peak of the magnetization is due to the pure Nb shell with diameter ≈ 0.5 mm.

the measured energy is compared with the formulas in Table 1 to deduce the filament diameter.

Crossing the Zero Field

The formulas for magnetization and hysteresis loss have limited validity at low applied fields, especially at the zero-field crossing. On one side, the linear flux profile approximation (Bean's model) is very rough at fields smaller than the first penetration field, and below B_{c1} the surface screening currents prevent any flux change inside the filament. On the other hand, non-current-carrying superconducting materials are sometimes included for manufacturing reasons in technical superconducting strands, resulting in low field perturbations of the magnetization curve. In soldered cables, the low field superconductivity of the solder may also play a similar role.

In thin filament NbTi strands, a Nb shell encircles each filament to prevent TiCu intermetallic formation during the intermediate heat treatment process, and some Nb₃Sn suppliers use a Nb layer as diffusion barrier or include it to buffer the Ta or V barrier on the side facing the stabilizer. In both cases, a continuous Nb shell is left on the outer side of the barrier. When a continuous Nb₃Sn ring grows from the Nb diffusion barrier, its magnetization is as much as one order of magnitude larger than that in the filament (24).

The pure Nb behaves like a *soft* type II superconductor, with $B_c \approx 0.18$ T. The effect of the screening currents in the Nb layer on the outer side of the diffusion barrier, whose diameter is more than 100 times larger than that of the filament, can be clearly recognized as a low field peak in the magnetization curve; see Fig. 4.

Whenever an anomaly of the magnetization curve occurs at the zero crossing, large errors are likely in the hysteresis loss calculation. If the filament diameter is derived from microscopic examinations or from the higher field magnetization, the loss at low field will be substantially underestimated by the loss formulas. In contrast, if the energy loss of a bipolar field cycle is used to deduce the filament diameter, this, and hence the higher field loss, will be overestimated, because of the additional contribution of the Nb below 0.18 T. The range of the operating conditions should dictate the decision on the criterion to be used for the filament diameter. If necessary, a correction factor can be added in the calculation code to include the Nb magnetization contribution at the zero-crossing field.

Hysteresis Loss with DC Transport Current

When a longitudinal current is superimposed on the transverse field magnetization currents of a filament, the electrical center line is moved to the periphery of the filament (or slab), the flux profiles are asymmetric, and the penetration field decreases by a factor 1 - i, where *i* is the ratio of the longitudinal current (also called the *transport* current) to the critical current

$$i = \frac{I_{\text{tr}}}{I_{\text{cl}}(b)}, \quad B_{\text{p}\perp}^i = B_{\text{p}\perp}(1-i) \quad (\text{T})$$
 (8)

Below penetration (i.e., for $\Delta B < 2B^i_{p\perp}$), the low ΔB amplitude formula in Table 1 can also be used in the presence of a dc transport current. Above penetration, the magnetization decreases as a function of the transport current, dropping to 0 for i = 1, that is, $I_{tr} = I_c$. For large ΔB , the area of the magnetization loop (i.e., the energy supplied by the external field change) decreases when a transport current is superimposed on the magnetization currents [see Fig. 5(b) from Ref. 25]

for
$$\Delta B \gg 2B^i_{
m pl}$$
, $Q^i_\perp \approx Q^i_\perp \approx Q_\perp (1-i^2) \, ({
m J/m}^3)$ (9)

As a function of the transport current, the magnetization loss increases until full penetration is achieved for $\Delta B = 2B_{p\perp}(1 - i)$. A further increase of the transport current decreases the magnetization loss; see Figs. 5(a) and 6 from Ref. 25.

A change of the filament magnetization beyond $2B_{p\perp}$ is opposed by the power supply, which works to maintain the transport current, that is, the asymmetric flux profiles. A voltage appears along the filament, and an extra energy Q_d due to the dynamic resistance R_d must be added to the magnetization loss (26, 27). Above penetration, the dynamic resistance is proportional to the amplitude of the field change and inversely proportional to the duration t_0 of the field change

at
$$\Delta B < 2B_{\rm pl}^i$$
, $R_{\rm d} = 0$ (10)

$$\mathrm{at}\Delta B > 2B_{\mathrm{p}\perp}^{i}, \quad R_{\mathrm{d}} \propto \frac{\Delta B - 2B_{\mathrm{p}\perp}^{i}}{t_{0}} \tag{11}$$

For $\Delta B \gg 2B^i{}_{p\perp}$, $R_d \propto B$, that is, the energy loss per cycle, Q_d , is proportional to i^2 but is independent of the field rate. The total loss in filaments carrying a dc transport current is

for
$$\Delta B \gg 2B_{p\perp}^i$$
. $Q^{\text{total}} = Q_d + Q_{\perp}^i$
= $Q_{\perp}(1+i^2) (J/m^3)$ (12)

From Eq. (12), at $\Delta B \gg 2B^{i}_{p\perp}$ the ratio of the total loss with transport current to the magnetization loss is ≤ 2 for any transport current. For $B_{p\perp} \geq \Delta B/2 > B^{i}_{p\perp}$, the loss enhancement factor can be much larger than a factor of two (10). This can be understood by remembering that the low ΔB magnetization loss is proportional to ΔB^{3} , but the dynamic resistance loss Q_{d} is proportional to $\Delta B^{i^{2}}$.



Figure 5. Magnetization loss as a function of the dc transport current for a single core NbTi conductor: (a) $\Delta B = 0.25 \text{ T} < 2B_{\text{pl}}^{i=0}$, (b) $\Delta B = 0.50 \text{ T} > 2B^{i=0}_{\text{pl}}$. From Ref. 25. Reprinted from *Cryogenics*, 25, T. Ogasawara, Y. Takahashi, K. Kanbara, Y. Kubota, K. Yasohama, and K. Yasukochi, Alternating field losses in superconducting wires carrying dc transport currents: Part 1. Single core conductors, pp. 736–740, copyright 1979, with permission from Elsevier Science.

The transport current also affects the azimuthal magnetization currents, modifying the local field orientation angle. Some kind of dynamic resistance is also expected because of the interference of I_{tr} with $J_{c\phi}$.

Equations (9) and (12) give a satisfactory and validated (25) model for a single-core strand. However, two assumptions are required to extend them to a multifilamentary strand or to a cable of stranded wires:

- Each filament of each strand carries the same fraction of critical current.
- The longitudinal current is constant during the external field change.

Both assumptions are highly unlikely: On one hand the current distribution is not homogeneous across either the cable or the filaments of an individual strand. On the other hand, the several coupling current loops induced by a field change cause local, time-dependent, very large variations of the current density compared with the average value.



Figure 6. Magnetization loops at increasing transport current for a single core NbTi conductor $(D = 250 \ \mu m)$, with $\Delta B = 0.25 \ T$, from Ref. 25. The magnetization loss is maximum at F, when $2B_{\rm PL}^{=60} = 0.25 \ T$; see also Fig. 5(a). Reprinted from Single core conductors, pp. 736–740, copyright 1979, with permission from Elsevier Science.

Self-Field Loss

A special case of hysteresis loss occurs for a straight, solid conductor carrying a longitudinal current in the absence of any external field. The flux penetration is due only to the self-field, which is proportional to the longitudinal current. Full penetration and maximum loss occur for $I = I_c$. For ac operation, it is convenient to write the hysteresis loss per unit length per cycle as a function of *i*, the ratio of the peak current to the critical current. Norris (28) proposed a formula for self-field loss in an isolated thin slab and a round (or elliptical) filament

For round or elliptical cross section

$$q_{\rm r} = \frac{l_c^2 \mu_0}{\pi} \left((1-i) \ln(1-i) + \frac{(2-i)i}{2} \right) \quad ({\rm J/m}) \tag{13}$$

For a thin slab

$$q_{s} = \frac{l_{c}^{2} \mu_{0}}{\pi} [(1-i)\ln(1-i) + (1+i)\ln(1+i) - i^{2}] \quad (J/m) \quad (14)$$

For conductors with the same critical current, the loss ratio at saturation (i.e., at i = 1) is $Q_r/Q_s = 1.3$. At small fractions of the critical current, $Q_r/Q_s = 1/i$, showing that the advantage of the thin slab geometry is significant only at very small current density.

In a round multifilamentary composite, the filaments are not transposed for self-field, and the filamentary zone of diameter $D_{\rm fz}$ can be treated as a single core, applying a filling factor λ for the critical current. Wilson (10) discusses the self-field loss for a round multifilamentary composite in terms of penetration field. The complete penetration field is $B_{\rm ps} = {}_{0}\lambda J_c D_{\rm fz}/2$, and the partial penetration field is $B_{\rm ms} = i B_{\rm ps}$. The loss per cycle per

144 SUPERCONDUCTIVITY: HYSTERESIS AND COUPLING LOSSES

unit filament volume is

$$Q = \frac{B_{\rm ms}^2}{2\mu_0} \left(\frac{2}{i} - 1 + \frac{2(1-i)}{i^2}\ln(1-i)\right) \quad ({\rm J/m^3}) \qquad (15)$$

Equation (15) can be written in terms of critical current, as a loss per unit length, and becomes

$$q = \frac{\lambda I_c^2 \mu_0}{\pi} \left((1-i) \ln(1-i) + \frac{(2-i)i}{2} \right) \quad (J/m) \tag{15a}$$

which is identical to Eq. (13) except for the filling factor λ . In the case of an oscillating, unidirectional current, *i* is defined as the ratio of transport to critical current, and the loss formula proposed by Wilson (10) as loss per unit length, becomes,

$$q = \frac{\lambda I_c^2 \mu_0}{\pi} \left[2(2-i) \ln\left(\frac{2-i}{2}\right) + \frac{(4-i)i}{2} \right] \quad (J/m)$$
(16)

The use of thin filaments does not help to reduce the self-field loss, as the nontransposed filamentary zone behaves like a single core with critical current reduced by the filling factor λ . When the self-field loss becomes a crucial issue, it is recommended to select a transposed cable or braid, where the filamentary zone of the individual strands is kept as small as possible.

The preceding formulas have become very popular in the high temperature superconductor community, although both Norris and Wilson warned about the limits of their applicability. The assumption of constant critical current may result in significant errors at low field. The twist in the multifilamentary composites introduces a spiral component of the self-field. For cabled conductors, the field from the neighboring strands may give rise to coupling current loss, not taken into account in the preceding formulas.

Accuracy of Hysteresis Loss Estimation

The overall accuracy of the hysteresis loss estimation is affected by the simplifications assumed in the model, the accuracy of the conductor parameters, the local field orientation, the distribution of the transport current (29, 30), and the nonfilamentary magnetization at low field. The weight of the individual error sources depends on the conductor layout and operating conditions. The use of sophisticated computer codes does not help much to improve the accuracy of the hysteresis loss prediction, which lies, in the best cases, around 20%.

Model Accuracy. The geometrical basis for hysteresis formulas is either a cylinder or an infinite slab. The actual filament geometry, especially in the case of bridging, is not a cylinder: even when an equivalent diameter is defined, it does not perfectly model the real filament over the entire range of operating conditions.

Bean's assumption of linear flux profile may be a source of inaccurate estimation of the magnetization and penetration field at low magnetic field, especially for thick filaments, strands, and tapes. In addition, the model does not account for surface screening currents below $B_{\rm cl}$. The loss formulas may include the effect of the strain and temperature on J_c and B_p , but the integration of the magnetization is done under isothermal conditions. A step-by-step integration, calculating the magnetization from the instantaneous value of $J_c(T,\epsilon)$, also would not be correct: an increase of T or $|\epsilon|$ at constant field decreases the magnetization, as J_c decreases and more flux penetrates. However, a decrease in T or $|\epsilon|$ at constant field leaves the flux profiles, and hence the magnetization, unchanged.

COUPLING CURRENT LOSS

Two filaments in a strand, as well as two noninsulated strands in a cabled conductor, constitute a loop for induced currents under a perpendicular time-varying field, that is, they are *coupled* in a current loop. A large portion of the loop is superconducting, that is, the linked area is large but the loop resistance is small. To reduce the linked area, the filament bundle is twisted and the strands are cabled with tight pitches, leading to transposition with respect to the perpendicular field (31).

The magnetic energy, initially stored in the coupling current loop, is released as Joule heating by the resistive decay of the induced currents, with a time constant, τ , which is the ratio of the loop inductance to the loop resistance. In a round, ideal multifilamentary strand, with the filaments homogeneously distributed over the cross section, the time constant for the interfilament coupling currents is a function of the twist pitch l_t and the transverse resistivity ρ

$$\tau = \frac{\mu_0 l_t^2}{8\pi^2 \rho} \quad (s) \tag{17}$$

The transverse resistivity ρ in a multifilamentary composite is a function of the bulk resistivity ρ_m , of the matrix and the superconducting fraction in the filamentary zone λ . If no resistance barrier is found at the interface between filaments and matrix, according to Carr (32) the transverse resistance is

$$\rho = \rho_{\rm m} \frac{1-\lambda}{1+\lambda} \quad (\Omega \cdot \mathbf{m}) \tag{18}$$

When a high resistivity barrier builds up around the filaments (e.g., in hot extruded NbTi composites), the transverse resistance is assumed to be

$$\rho = \rho_{\rm m} \frac{1+\lambda}{1-\lambda} \quad (\Omega \cdot {\rm m}) \tag{19}$$

In a cable of noninsulated strands, the interstrand coupling currents add to the interfilament loops. In a multistage cable, a large variety of coupling current loops exists, each with an individual time constant τ_i . The size of the loops depends on the length and sequence of the cable pitches, but the exact path of the coupling currents, and hence the transverse resistance, is hard to predict (33). As a general trend, the transverse resistance is larger and the loss is smaller when the pitches of the different cable stages all have the same direction (34) and their ratio is close to one, that is, short pitches are used for the higher cable stages and long pitches for the lower cable stages.

In most cases, the loss is not homogeneously distributed over the strand or cable volume: a dimensionless geometry factor, n_i , is associated with each current loop with time constant τ_i . The geometry factor (35-37) allows for the demagnetization effects (e.g., round versus flat conductor) and normalizes the loss to the overall strand volume (e.g., when the filament bundle is surrounded by a large normal metal shell) or to the cable volume (e.g., when an interstrand current loop is restricted to a fraction of the cable volume).

Steady State Coupling Loss Formulas

When the time scale of a field change (e.g., the duration of a linear ramp or the period of a field oscillation) is much larger than any of the conductor time constants, steady state conditions are established for the coupling currents. For linear field change, with constant dB/dt, the power loss (10, 35, 38) per unit volume of strand material is

$$P = \frac{n\tau}{\mu_0} B^2 \quad (W/m^3)$$
 (20)

For sinusoidal field variations $B = (\Delta B)_2 \sin \omega t$, with frequency π and $= 2\pi$, the average power loss (10, 35, 39) is

$$P = \frac{n\tau}{8\mu_0} \Delta B^2 \omega^2 \quad (W/m^3) \tag{21}$$

The energy loss Q_c for a field cycle of amplitude ΔB is respectively

$$Q_{c} = \frac{2n\tau}{\mu_{0}} B\Delta B \quad (J/cycle \cdot m^{3}).$$

$$Q_{c} = \frac{\pi n\tau}{4\mu_{0}} \Delta B^{2} \omega \quad (J/cycle \cdot m^{3}) \quad (22)$$

For cabled conductors with multiple current loops and associated time constants, the $n\tau$ in the preceding formulas is the sum of the individual terms

$$n\tau = \sum_{i} n_i \tau_i \quad (\mathbf{s}) \tag{23}$$

In steady-state conditions, where all the current loops are fully activated, it is not necessary to know the breakdown of $n\tau$ into individual components. The average coupling loss can be calculated from the overall $n\tau$, obtained, for example, from measurements on a short conductor section.

The tool for experimental assessment of the coupling currents loss is the *loss curve*, where the energy per cycle per unit volume of strand (or cable) is plotted as a function of the field rate, for a linear ramp, or the frequency, for a sinusoidal field sweep. The hysteresis loss is the extrapolation of the loss curve to dB/dt = 0. From the initial slope of the loss curve, nr is derived using the steady-state formulas, Eq. (22).

Transient Coupling Loss Formulas

The energy loss per unit volume in Eq. (22) is linear in the field rate or frequency. However, the energy loss has an obvious upper limit set by the magnetic field energy density, $\Delta B^2/2_0$. At $\tau > 0.3$ and at ramp time $t_0 < 10\tau$, Eqs. (20–22) give a loss overestimation larger than 10% and should be replaced by transient field loss formulas. For multifilamentary strands in an oscillating field, the currents flowing in the outer filament layers screen the inner volume of the conductor. In a fast ramped field, the field penetrates the innermost layers with the time scale of the decaying screening currents τ , even if the duration of the applied field change is smaller. In fully transposed cables, the mechanism of screening depends on the interstrand current loops and is hardly predictable.

For conductors characterized by a single time constant τ , the transient formulas for sinusoidal oscillations (35), linear ramp (10), and exponential decay (40) are respectively for $B = (\Delta B/2) \sin t$,

$$\bar{P} = \frac{n\tau\Delta B^2\omega^2}{8\mu_0(1+\omega^2\tau^2)} \quad (W/m^3)$$
$$Q_c = \frac{\pi n\tau\Delta B^2\omega}{4\mu_0(1+\omega^2\tau^2)} \quad (J/cycle \cdot m^3) \quad (24)$$

for $\dot{B} = \Delta B/t_0$

$$Q_{\rm c} = \frac{\Delta B^2 n \tau}{\mu_0 t_0} \left[1 - \frac{\tau}{t_0} (1 - e^{-t_0/\tau}) \right] \quad ({\rm J/m^3}) \tag{25}$$

for $B = \Delta B(1 - e^{-t/t_0})$

$$Q_{\rm c} = \frac{\Delta B^2 \cdot n\tau}{2\mu_0(t_0 + \tau)} \quad (\rm J/m^3) \tag{26}$$

In case of multiple time constants, Eqs. (24-26) cannot be applied using the $n\tau$ defined in Eq. (23). If each current loop behaved independently (i.e., the screening currents of the largest loops did not affect the applied field at the other loops), the total transient loss would be the sum of the individual *i*-contributions. From Eqs. (24) and (25)

$$Q_c = \sum_i Q_c^i = \frac{\pi \omega \Delta B^2}{4\mu_0} \sum_i \frac{n_i \tau_i}{1 + \omega^2 \tau_i^2} \quad (J/cycle \cdot m^3)$$
(27)

$$Q_{\rm c} = \sum_{i} Q_{\rm c}^{i} = \frac{\Delta B^{2}}{\mu_{0} t_{0}} \sum_{i} n_{i} \tau_{i} \left[1 - \frac{\tau_{i}}{t_{0}} (1 - e^{t_{0}/\tau_{i}}) \right] \quad (\rm{J/cycle} \cdot m^{3})$$
(28)

On the assumption that the larger current loops screen the smaller current loops, which is what happens in nontransposed conductors, a formula for the transient loss in a sinusoidal field has been proposed in Ref. 37 for a conductor with N loops

$$Q_{c} = \frac{\pi}{4\mu_{0}} \Delta B^{2} \left(\frac{\omega n_{N} \tau_{N}}{1 + \omega^{2} \tau_{N}^{2}} + \sum_{k=1}^{N-i} \frac{\omega n_{k} \tau_{k}}{1 + \omega^{2} \tau_{k}^{2}} \prod_{l=k+1}^{N} \frac{1}{1 + n_{l} \omega^{2} \tau_{l}^{2}} \right) \quad (J/\text{cycle} \cdot \text{m}^{3}) (29)$$

It is hard to reliably predict the transient coupling loss in a large multistage cable. On one hand, the overall $n\tau$ should be broken down into the individual $n_i\tau_i$: the procedure to add the $n\tau$'s measured separately on the lower cable stages is not satisfactory, as the transverse resistance and the current loops change when the subcables are bundled together. On the other hand, because the current path for each loop is not known, it



Figure 7. Example of prediction of coupling loss in oscillating field, for a conductor with multiple time constant, $n\tau = n_1\tau_1 + n_2\tau_2 + n_3\tau_3 = 4 + 16 + 80 = 100$ ms. The plot shows the result obtained neglecting the shielding effect, Eq. (22), and with three different approaches to taking account of shielding.

is hard to decide to what extent the higher loops do screen the smaller loops, that is, to decide between Eqs. (28) and (29).

In conductors with multiple time constants, the largest underestimation of the transient field loss occurs when the Eqs. (24-26) for a single time constant are applied. The steady state formulas, Eqs. (20-22), give the largest overestimation. Whenever the breakdown of the overall $n\tau$ is known, Eqs. (27-28) give a better, but still conservative, estimate, because they assume no screening. On the contrary, Eq. (29) is rather optimistic, because it treats the current loops as nested shells. Equation (29)has been used to find the $n\tau$ components from the experimental loss curves in Refs. 37 and 41.

An example of coupling loss prediction for a conductor with multiple time constants is shown in Fig. 7. The steady-state, overall time constant is assumed to be $n\tau = 100$ ms (e.g., drawn from an experimental loss curve). The breakdown of the time constant is assumed to be $\tau_1 = 2$ ms, $\tau_2 = 8$ ms, $\tau_3 = 40$ ms, and $n_1 = n_2 = n_3 = 2$ (round cross section). The plot in Fig. 7 shows the loss according to Eqs. (22), (24), (27), and (29), for an applied field oscillation $B = (\Delta B/2)/\sin t$, with $\Delta B = 2$ T. At low frequencies (i.e., for $\tau < 0.2$), all the formulas give the same result, but at higher frequencies the assumptions about the current paths and the multiple screening lead to substantially different results.

Saturation of Coupling Currents

According to the coupling loss formulas, the energy dissipation occurs in the resistive section of the induced current loops, that is, in the composite matrix for interfilament coupling loss and at the strand-to-strand contacts for the interstrand coupling loss. At a first approximation level, the coupling currents are assumed not to change the filament magnetization. Actually, the coupling currents flowing in the outer filament layers create in steady state a field difference tB across the multifilamentary zone. The associated magnetization loss is referred to as *penetration loss* and can be treated in analogy to the hysteresis loss of a solid filament of the size of the filamentary zone, D_{fz} , with a critical current λJ_c , where λ is the superconductor fraction in the filamentary zone, (39). In steady state, the penetration loss per cycle Q_{p} , normalized to the volume of the filamentary zone,

can be easily found by replacing $B_{p\perp}$ by τB in the formulas of Table 1:

$$Q_{\mu} = \frac{4\tau \Delta BB}{3\mu_0} \quad (\text{J/cycle} \cdot \text{m}^3) \tag{30}$$

The total loss in a round multifilamentary composite with n = 2 is the sum of the coupling loss, according to Eq. (20), and the penetration loss

$$Q_{\text{tot}} = Q_{\text{c}} + Q_{\text{P}} = \frac{4\tau \Delta BB}{\mu_0}$$
$$\frac{4\tau \Delta BB}{3\mu_0} = \frac{16\tau \Delta BB}{3\mu_0} \quad (\text{J/cycle} \cdot \text{m}^3) \tag{31}$$

Whenever the loss is experimentally assessed, the penetration loss does not need to be added to the coupling loss, because it is already buried in the $n\tau$ inferred from the loss curve. The penetration loss for an oscillating field and for a transient field are discussed in Refs. 39 and 10.

At high field rates, the coupling currents may reach the critical current. The outer filament layer is saturated, and the difference between outer and inner fields is the penetration field for the filamentary zone, $\tau B = B^{f_{p}} = \mu_{0} \lambda J_{c} D_{fz} / \pi$. Saturation in a multifilamentary composite occurs whenever

$$\frac{\pi \tau_{\rm str} B}{\mu_0 \lambda J_{\rm c} D_{\rm fz}} \ge 1 \tag{32}$$

The saturation loss is the upper limit of the penetration loss and is obtained by substituting B_{p}^{fz} for rB in Eq. (30):

$$Q_{\rm sat} = \frac{4\Delta B}{3\pi} D_{\rm fz} \lambda J_{\rm c} \quad ({\rm J/m}^3) \tag{33}$$

When the condition of Eq. (32) is fulfilled (i.e., when the current loops are saturated), the coupling loss does not increase for higher field rates. The maximum total loss in a multifilamentary composite for a long duration (steady-state) field change is independent of τ and can be written by substituting Eqs. (32) and (33) into Eq. (31):

$$Q_{\text{tot}}^{\max} = Q_{\text{c}} + Q_{\text{sat}} = \frac{4\tau\Delta B}{\mu_0} \frac{\mu_0 \lambda J_{\text{c}} D_{\text{fz}}}{\pi\tau} + \frac{4\Delta B}{3\pi} D_{\text{fz}} \lambda J_{\text{c}}$$
$$= \frac{16\Delta B \lambda J_{\text{c}} D_{\text{fz}}}{3\pi} \quad (\text{J/cycle} \cdot \text{m}^3)$$
(34)

Coupling Loss with Transport Current

As long as coupling currents and transport current use a small fraction of the superconducting cross section, the influence of the transport current is limited to the hysteresis loss change. At a higher field rate or higher i (ratio of transport current to critical current), all the superconducting cross section is eventually engaged to carry either the transport or the coupling currents. The criterion for saturation with transport current in Eq. (32) becomes

$$\frac{\pi \tau_{\text{str}} B}{\mu_0 \lambda J_{\text{c}} D_{\text{fz}}} \ge 1 - i \tag{35}$$

The larger *i* is the smaller the loop current (and hence the field rate) is to achieve saturation. Above saturation (i.e., when $2I_{loop}$ $+ I_{\text{transport}} > I_{\text{c}}$), the excess of transport current must be accommodated in the superconducting cross section carrying $-I_{loop}$. The paths of the coupling currents, with the current direction reversing with the periodicity of the transposition pitch, force the transport current (or a fraction of it) to switch continuously from one to the other filament (interfilament coupling) or strand (interstrand coupling) to match $-I_{loop}$. The energy dissipated is at the expense of the power supply, and it is called the dynamic resistance loss (29), because of the analogy between hysteresis and coupling loss due to transport current (see Ref. 42 for a discussion of the limits of this analogy). Whenever a transport current is imposed, the magnetic energy density of the applied field cannot be considered as an upper limit for the overall loss.

Above saturation, the coupling currents (and coupling loss) decrease and the dynamic resistance loss sharply increases. The behavior of the total loss as a function of i over the full range of B has been calculated analytically for a slab; see Fig. 8 (from Ref. 29). A cylinder requires a numerical calculation for the saturation range (43), leading to a results similar to Fig. 8. Experimental results on interfilament loss with transport current (29, 43) confirm the behavior of Fig. 8. At a very large field rate (i.e., when saturation occurs even at i = 0), the effect of the transport current on the overall loss is an increase by a factor $1 + i^2$

$$Q_{\rm sat}(i) = (1+i^2)Q_{\rm sat}(0) \quad (J/{\rm m}^3) \tag{36}$$

At an intermediate field rate (i.e., when saturation is achieved only above a certain value of transport current)

$$1 > \frac{\pi \tau_{\rm str} B}{\mu_0 \lambda J_c D_{\rm f2}} > 1 - i \tag{37}$$

the behavior of the total loss as a function of *i* is complex [see (29, 42, 43)]. Using $Q_c(i) = (1 + i^2)Q_c$ (0) is not recommended and may lead to large errors in the actual loss values.

In large cable-in-conduit conductors, the occurrence of saturation cannot be exactly predicted from Eq. (35). If the current loops (i.e., the coupling currents) are not homogeneously distributed, a redistribution of the transport current at the start of the field change may avoid the occurrence of saturation and dynamic resistance loss in steady state. Using Eq. (35) with the average *i* and the overall cable time constant is very conservative and may result in an underestimate of the field rate causing saturation. In cable in conduit with multiple time constants, where only the overall $n\tau$ is known, it may be difficult to select the correct τ to be used in Eq. (35). An example of saturation of coupling currents in a large cable-in-conduit conductor with nonhomogeneous current distribution is reported in Ref. 44.

Coupling Loss in Flat Cables

In flat cables and in rectangular composites with sides a and b, both n and τ are much larger for field perpendicular to the broad side a of the cable. The loss ratio for the two orthogonal orientations has been calculated as a function of the aspect ratio $\alpha = a/b$ for conductors with homogeneous transverse resistivity. The results obtained by Murphy et al. with concen-

tric ellipses (45), Turck et al. with concentric rectangles (46), and Campbell with rounded-edge concentric layers (35) are respectively

$$\frac{Q_{c}^{\perp a}}{Q_{c}^{\perp b}} = \alpha^{4}, \quad \frac{Q_{c}^{\perp a}}{Q_{c}^{\perp b}} = \alpha^{2} \frac{35 + 20\alpha + 7\alpha^{2}}{35\alpha^{2} + 20\alpha + 7}, \quad \frac{Q_{c}^{\perp a}}{Q_{c}^{\perp b}} = \frac{\alpha^{4}}{4}$$
(38)

In practical large flat cables, an insulating (or high-resistivity) strip is placed in the midplane to increase the transverse resistance of the coupling currents for field orientation perpendicular to a; see for example Ref. 47. In such cases, the equations (38) are no longer valid and the loss anisotropy is reduced (48).

At intermediate angles, an analytical loss formula is proposed in Ref. 45, modeling the flat cable as an ellipse with homogenous transverse resistivity. In practical, nonhomogeneous flat cables, the coupling loss for field orientation at an angle θ with respect to the broad side a can be roughly estimated by splitting the field into the orthogonal components and adding the loss contributions

$$Q_c(\theta) = Q_c^{\perp a} \sin^2 \theta + Q_c^{\perp b} \cos^2 \theta \quad (J/m^3)$$
(39)

For flat cables with a large aspect ratio, the second term in Eq. (39) can be neglected over a broad range of angles.

Coupling Loss in Spatially Changing Magnetic Field

When a superconducting cable is exposed to a time-varying magnetic field that is not homogeneous along the conductor, the periodicity of the boundary conditions for the coupling currents loops is affected. If the flux linked by two geometrically identical current loops next to each other is not balanced, the coupling currents extend beyond the boundary of the pitch length. In one-stage cables (e.g., one-layer flat cables and Rutherford cables), adjacent strand pairs may build current loops with different flux balance in the presence of a spatial gradient of magnetic field. Because of the different boundary conditions, the individual strand pairs carry coupling currents of different amplitude. The inductance associated with these extended current loops is larger and the resistance is smaller, resulting in time constants that may be orders of magnitude larger than with strictly periodic boundary conditions. The result is a strong, quasi-steady-state current imbalance and larger loss.

Ries and Takács (49, 50) first did an analysis of the coupling loss in a spatially changing magnetic field for flat cables. The subject, later named *boundary-induced coupling currents*, (BICCs), assumed a much larger relevance in the context of Rutherford cables for accelerator magnets. Here, the spatial field gradients along the conductor at the saddles of the dipole magnets are large and occur over a length smaller than the cable pitch. The long-lasting current imbalance across the cable leads to field distortions (51, 52) and ramp rate limitations in the accelerator dipoles (53, 54).

The variation of the strand crossover resistance along Rutherford cables has also been shown to be a potential reason for BICCs (53). In multistage cable-in-conduit conductors, the current loops do not have a regular pattern, as a result of the nonhomogeneous distribution of the interstrand resistance. Flux imbalance for current loops next to each other is expected to be frequent in large cable-in-conduit conductors, even in a spatially homogeneous magnetic field.



Figure 8. Normalized loss, $Q/(B_{p/0}^{f_0})$, in a slab geometry as a function of the transport current fraction *i* for different $\beta = rB/B_p^{f_0}(29)$. The locus of the knees of the curves shows the saturation threshold. Above saturation, the loss is dominated by the dynamic resistance. Reprinted from *Cryogenics* **20**, **T**. Osagawara, Y. Takahashi, K. Kanbara, Y. Kubota, K. Yasohama, and K. Yasukochi, Transient field losses in multifilamentary composite conductors carrying de transport currents, pp. 216–222, copyright 1980, with permission from Elsevier Science.

Interstrand Resistance in Cable-in-Conduit Conductors

Cable-in-conduit conductors (CICCs) are a special case of multistage cables. What makes the CICCs different is the tribological nature of the transverse resistance, which is only marginally determined by the bulk properties of the metallic components. A database for coupling currents loss in CICCs and its implication for stability is discussed in Ref. 55.

In CICCs with void fraction in the range of 30% to 40%, the coupling currents may follow complex, zigzag paths through a number of good electrical contacts at the strand crossovers. Rather than the 2-D smeared transversal resistivity, the interstrand resistance is the critical parameter, together with the pitch length, for assessing and controlling the coupling loss in CICCs. The interstrand resistance in CICCs has units of ohmmeters and is measured as the dc resistance between a strand pair embedded in a cable, multiplied by the length of the cable section, which should be longer than a pitch length. For the same conductor, the interstrand resistance in a CICC may vary as much as 20% from piece to piece and as a function of the sample length and homologous strand pair (56).

NbTi Strands. The interstrand resistance depends on the operating transverse load and on the conductor history, including contact surface oxidation, heat treatment, and cycling. In CI-CCs made of bare NbTi strands, the interstrand resistance, as well as the coupling loss, may have a broad range of results (57): the thin layer of copper oxide that develops at room temperature at the strand surface provides a precarious resistive barrier, which may either partly dissolve or break under heat treatment and/or applied load (58–60). The electromagnetic load in operation can also produce a dramatic increase in the coupling loss in CICCs made of bare NbTi strands (61, 62). Whenever long term, reliable control of the coupling loss is desirable, it is recommended to use a surface coating for the NbTi strands.

Several coatings have been investigated on NbTi strands for contact resistance, mostly in the frame of the Rutherford cable development for accelerator magnets, including Zn, SnAg, Ni, and Cr. The SnAg (Stabrite) soft coatings produce very low contact resistance with applied load (59, 63) and are not recommended for low-loss cables. A resistive barrier can be obtained by a diffusion heat treatment at 200°C of the SnAgcoated strand before cabling, building a Sn-rich bronze shell at the surface; however, the diffusion heat treatment also affects the residual resistance ratio (RRR) of a fraction of the stabilizer. The Ni coating, as well as the Zn, has higher contact resistance and is not sensitive to curing heat treatment and applied load (63). The Cr coating has proved to be effective in cutting the interstrand loss in medium-sized CICCs (64, 65). A direct comparison of contact resistance for bare and Cr- and Niplated strands indicates almost one order of magnitude higher resistance for Cr than for Ni and another order of magnitude difference between Ni and clean Cu (57).

 Nb_3 Sn Strands. In CICCs of bare Nb_3Sn strands, diffusion bonding (sintering) occurs at a number of strand crossovers during heat treatment, resulting in low interstrand resistance and high coupling loss (66). The Cr coating has been identified as a reliable, thin coating to avoid sintering during the heat treatment, with moderate effect on the strand RRR.



Figure 9. Evolution of the interstrand resistance in a Cr-plated Nb_3Sn CICC (81 strands, 30%), before and after the heat treatment and after controlled bending strain.

The effect of the Cr plating on the coupling loss of Nb₃Snbased CICCs has been the object of systematic investigations. A comparison of CICC samples identical except for Cr plating by vendors (67) has found a variation as high as a factor of four for the interstrand resistance (and the loss), depending solely on the proprietary electroplating processes. The influence of the Cr plating process parameters on the contact resistance is discussed in Ref. 68.

The void fraction is an important parameter affecting the interstrand resistance and coupling loss in CICCs, with a low loss range above 40% voids and a large loss range below 30% (69). The losseness of the cable in the jacket may play an even more important role than the average void fraction: the electromagnetic forces associated with the coupling currents tend to pull apart the strand bundle and relax the contacts at the strand crossovers.

The most striking effect observed in the interstrand resistance of Cr-plated Nb₃Sn CICCs is the decrease in resistance after heat treatment and the increase after mechanical (70) and/or electromagnetic loading (44, 71). The diagram in Fig. 9 shows the evolution of the interstrand resistance at different steps: the large drop after the heat treatment may be due to a partial depletion of O from the Cr oxide at the sealed surface of the strand crossovers. The subsequent increase of the interstrand resistance after bending loads (as happens in the react and transfer coil manufacturing process) or transverse loads (Lorentz forces in operation) can be understood in terms of microscopic movements of the crossovers, which partly lose their initial engagement. An important lesson learned from these results is that most loss test results obtained for short samples in the virgin state (i.e., as heat-treated, without any load) overestimate the loss by about one order of magnitude compared with the actual coil operating conditions.

Target Interstrand Resistance for CICCs. The goal of the designer is to obtain in operation a value of interstrand resistance large enough to reduce the coupling loss to an acceptable level but small enough to allow fast and effective current redistribution among the strands and provide stability under transient local disturbances.

The experimental results on the interstrand resistance R_c and the coupling current constant $n\tau$, measured on the same Nb₃Sn CICCs specimens, have been correlated in Ref. 55 to obtain

$$R_{\rm c} \approx \mu_0 \frac{l_{\rm t}^2}{n\tau} \quad (\Omega \cdot {\rm m}) \tag{40}$$

Once the acceptable coupling loss is assessed and the cable pitch l_t is known, Eq. (40) indicates the *minimum* design value for the interstrand resistance, that is, for the kind of strand coating to be selected. The *maximum* allowable value for the interstrand resistance is assessed by the requirement on the interstrand current sharing length, l_0 . According to Ries (72)

$$l_0 = \sqrt{R_{\rm e}/R_{\parallel}} \quad (\rm{m}) \tag{41}$$

where $R(\Omega/m)$ is the normal longitudinal resistance of the strand per unit length. Combining Eqs. (40) and (41), a criterion for interstrand resistance in CICCs summarizing the coupling loss and stability requirements is obtained according to Ref. 55

$$\frac{\mu_0 l_t^2}{n\tau} < R_c < l_0^2 R_{\parallel} \quad (\Omega \cdot \mathbf{m})$$
(42)

In very large CICCs, Eq. (42) may need a correction if the interstrand resistance for the first cable stage, to be used for the current-sharing length, is significantly smaller than in the cable stage where the largest loss occurs (73).

Accuracy of Coupling Current Loss Estimation

The calculation of the coupling current loss in steady-state conditions is based on the experimental value of $n\tau$, drawn from the loss curve. In other words, to estimate the coupling loss for a coil in operation, it is necessary to measure first the loss on a conductor specimen under controlled conditions. The assessment of $n\tau$ from the pitch and the expected transverse resistivity may lead to very rough loss estimates.

The accuracy of $n\tau$ depends on the loss calibration method, the resolution and reproducibility of the loss measurements, and the number of test points in the linear range of the loss curve ($n\tau$ is inferred by linear regression from the initial slope of the loss curve). In multistage, cabled conductors, the loss curve may show slight deviations from linearity at a very low field rate, possibly due to very large time constants associated with the very small factor n (41). In such cases, the actual operating field rate should drive the choice of the range of the loss curve from which $n\tau$ must be inferred. Typical experimental values of $n\tau$ have an error bar larger than 10% (74).

When the coupling currents are not in steady state (transient field change or high frequency oscillations), the product $n\tau$ from the loss curve must be broken down into n and τ to use the transient formulas from Eqs. (24–29). This is very hard to do, especially in the case of multiple time constants. A measurement of τ from the decay time of the induced currents is discussed in Ref. 75 for conductors with a single (or dominant) time constant. Besides the issue of breaking down the overall $n\tau$, the prediction of non-steady-state loss in conductors with multiple time constants is made difficult by the choice between a model with independent current loops or with nested loops (see discussion of Fig. 7). For $\tau \gg 1$ or ramp time $t_0 \leq \tau$, the error in loss estimation may be large and the transient formulas should be used only to provide the order of magnitude of the expected loss.

In large cable-in-conduit conductors, the accuracy of the coupling loss estimation is much worse than in multifilamentary composites. On one hand, it is hard to reproduce in a short sample measurement the actual load history for interstrand resistance and hence to obtain a reliable result for $n\tau$ in operation. On the other hand, the nonhomogeneous distribution of the interstrand resistance may give rise, in a coil, to complex patterns of BICCs, not measurable on a short sample (61, 62). In the presence of a transport current, more incertitude is added because of the occurrence of dynamic resistance loss and the variation of current density across the cable (44, 73).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Although the basic mechanisms of ac losses in superconductors are well known, the optimization of low-loss conductor design and the prediction of ac losses in operation are still the subject of several studies and much R&D activity. The complexity of the conductor layout and the variety of the boundary conditions conclusively show that the existing formulas and models need systematic improvement.

The challenging task for the designer consists in distinguishing, for an individual application, the relevant from the negligible sources of ac losses and implementing measures to reduce their effect on the overall performance of the device. Reduction of ac losses is always a welcome result, but it must be carefully balanced with possible negative effects (e.g., reduction of the overall current density due to passive components or poor stability due to impaired current sharing).

The task of calculating ac losses may be challenging, although no complex finite-element models are required, as they are for example in thermohydraulic and mechanical analyses. For the hysteresis loss a rough estimate is easy to make, because the results for a single filament can be reliably scaled to large conductors. However, very accurate predictions are not easy.

Estimating the coupling current loss for large conductors may be difficult. The electrodynamic behavior can be predicted only on the basis of several assumptions, which can hardly be verified. Small-scale experiments, even on full-sized conductors, are mostly unable to fully reproduce the actual operating conditions.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- D. Saint-James, E. J. Thomas, and G. Sarma, Type II Superconductivity, New York: Pergamon, 1969.
- A. M. Campbell and J. E. Evetts, Flux vortices and transport currents in type II superconductors, *Adv. Phys.* 21 (90): 333-357, 1972.
- H. Ullmaier, Irreversible Properties of Type II Superconductors, New York: Springer-Verlag, 1975.
- C. P. Bean, Magnetization of hard superconductors, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 8(6): 250-253, 1962.

- C. Y. Pang, P. G. McLaren, and A. M. Campbell, Losses in superconducting cylinders in transverse field, *Proc. ICEC*, 8: 739-743, 1980.
- A. P. Martinelli and B. Turck, Some effects of field orientation on the magnetization of superconducting wires, *Cryogenics*, 18: 155-161, 1978.
- Y. B. Kim, C. F. Hempstead, and A. R. Strnad, Critical persistent currents in hard superconductors, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 9: 306–309, 1962.
- H. Brechna and C. Y. Hwang, Hysteretic effects in pulsed superconducting magnets, Cryogenics, 19: 217-223, 1979.
- 9. K. Kwasnitza and P. Bruzzone, Hysteresis losses of multifilament superconductors in superimposed dc and ac fields, *Cryogenics*, 21: 593-597, 1981.
- M. N. Wilson, Superconducting Magnets, London: Oxford Univ. Press, 1983.
- 11. E. W. Collings, Applied Superconductivity, Metallurgy and Physics of Titanium Alloys, New York: Plenum, 1986.
- M. P. Mathur et al., Anisotropy of the critical current density in the NbTi filaments of round composite superconductors, J. Appl. Phys., 43 (9): 3831–3833, 1973.
- H. H. Farrell, G. H. Gilmer, and M. Suenaga, Grain boundary diffusion and growth of intermetallic layers: Nb₂Sn, J. Appl. Phys., 45: 4025-4035, 1974.
- T. Schild, J. L. Duchateau, and D. Ciazynski, Influence of the field orientation on the critical current density of Nb₃ strands, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond*, 7: 1512–1515, 1997.
- S. Takacs, M. Polak, and L. Krempasky, Critical currents of NbTi tapes with differently oriented anisotropic defects, *Cryogenics*, 23: 153-159, 1983.
- M. Jergel and S. Takacs, The dependance of critical current of Nb₃Sn tapes on the direction of a transverse magnetic field, J. Low Temp. Phys., 10 (3/4): 469, 1973.
- 17. J. F. Artaud, Distribution de courant dans des fils supraconducteurs soumis à un champ magnétique d'orientation quelconque, PhD Thesis, Univ. de Aix-Marseille, France, 1994.
- T. S. Kreilick, E. Gregory, and J. Wong, Influence of filament spacing and matrix material on the attainment of high quality, uncoupled NbTi fine filaments, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 24: 1033-1036, 1988.
- M. Polak et al., Anomalous magnetization behavior in fine filamentary NbTi superconducting wires, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 3: 150-153, 1993.
- M. D. Sumption and E. W. Collings, Influence of twist pitch and sample length on proximity effect coupling in multifilamentary composites described in terms of a field independent, two current region model, *Cryogenics*, 34: 491-505, 1994.
- A. K. Gosh, K. E. Robins, and W. B. Sampson, Magnetization measurements of multifilamentary Nb₃Sn and NbTi conductors, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 21: 328-331, 1985.
- R. B. Goldfarb and K. Itoh, Reduction of interfilament contact loss in Nb₃ superconductor wires, J. Appl. Phys., 75: 2115-2118, 1994.
- R. B. Goldfarb and J. W. Ekin, Hysteresis losses in fine filament internal-tin superconductors, *Cryogenics*, 26: 478-481, 1986.
- S. S. Shen, Effect of the diffusion barrier on the magnetic properties of practical Nb₃Sn composites, *Adv. Cryog. Eng. Mat.*, 28: 633–638, 1982.
- T. Ogasawara et al., Alternating field losses in superconducting wires carrying dc transport currents: Part 1. Single core conductors, *Cryogenics*, 19: 736-740, 1979.
- T. Ogasawara et al., Effective resistance of current carrying superconducting wire in oscillating magnetic field 1: Single core composite conductor, *Cryogenics*, 16: 33-38, 1976.
- 27. S. S. Shen and R. E. Schwall, Interaction of transport current

and transient external field in composite conductors, *IEEE Trans.* Magn., 15: 232-235, 1979.

- W. T. Norris, Calculation of hysteresis losses in hard superconductors carring ac: Isolated conductors and edges of thin sheets, J. Phys. D, 3: 489-507, 1970.
- 29. T. Ogasawara et al., Transient field losses in multifilamentary composite conductors carrying dc transport currents, *Cryogenics*, **20**: 216-222, 1980.
- D. Ciazynski et al., Ac losses and current distribution in 40 kA NbTi and Nb₃Sn conductors for NET/ITER, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 3: 594-599, 1993.
- M. N. Wilson et al., Experimental and theoretical studies of filamentary superconducting composites, J. Phys. D, 3: 1517-1546, 1970.
- W. J. Carr, Jr., Conductivity, permeability and dielectric constant in a multifilament superconductor, J. Appl. Phys., 46 (9): 4043–4047, 1975.
- K. Kwasnitza and P. Bruzzone, Large ac losses in superconducting Nb₃Sn cable due to low transverse resistance, *Proc. ICEC11*, 741– 745, Berlin, 1986.
- K. Kwasnitza and I. Horvath, Experimental evidence for an interaction effect in the coupling losses of cabled superconductors, *Cryogenics*, 23: 9-14, 1983.
- A. M. Campbell, A general treatment of losses in multifilamentary superconductors, *Cryogenics*, 22: 3–16, 1982.
- B. Turck, Effect of the respective position of filament bundles and stabilizing copper on coupling losses in superconducting composites, Cryogenics, 22: 466-468, 1982.
- A. Nijhuis et al., Coupling loss time constant in full size Nb₃Sn CIC model conductors for fusion magnets, *Adv. Cryog. Eng. Mat.*, **42B**: 1281–1288, 1996.
- H. Brechna and G. Ries, Ac losses in superconducting synchrotron magnets, *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, 18 (3): 639-642, 1971.
- G. Ries, Ac losses in multifilamentary superconductors at technical frequencies, *IEEE Trans. Magn.* 13 (1): 524–527, 1977.
- J. P. Soubeyrand and B. Turck, Losses in superconducting composites under high rate, pulsed transverse field, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 15: 248-251, 1979.
- A. Nijhuis et al., Electromagnetic and mechanical characterization of ITER CS-MC conductors affected by transverse cyclic loading, part 1: Coupling currents loss, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.* 9, 1063-1072, 1999.
- A. M. Campbell, The effect of transport current and saturation on the losses of multifilamentary superconducting wires, *Cryogenics*, 21: 107-112, 1981.
- D. Ciazynski, Effect of the transport current on the losses of a superconducting composite under fast changing magnetic field, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 21: 169–172, 1985.
- 44. P. Bruzzone et al., Test results for the high field conductor of the iter central solenoid model coil, Adv. Cryog. Eng., 45, to be published.
- J. H. Murphy et al., Field orientation dependence of ac losses in rectangular multifilamentary superconductors, Adv. Cryog. Eng., 22: 420-427, 1975.
- B. Turck et al., Coupling losses in a rectangular multifilamentary composite, Cryogenics, 22: 441-450, 1982.
- E. Seibt, Investigations of a steel reinforced NbTi superconducting flat cable for toroidal field magnets, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 15: 804– 807, 1979.
- P. Bruzzone, Ac losses in high current superconductors for nuclear fusion magnets, Ph. D. Thesis, ETH 8224, Zurich, 1987.
- 49. G. Ries and S. Takács, Coupling losses in finite length of superconducting cables and in long cables partially in magnetic field, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 17: 2281–2284, 1981.

- S. Takács, Coupling losses in cables and in spatially changing ac fields, Cryogenics, 22: 661–665, 1982.
- A. A. Akhmetov, A. Devred, and T. Ogitsu, Periodicity of crossover currents in a Rutherford-type cables subjected to a time-dependent magnetic field, J. Appl. Phys., 75: 3176–3183, 1994.
- L. Krempasky and C. Schmidt, Theory of "supercurrents" and their influence on field quality and stability of superconducting magnets, J. Appl. Phys., 78: 5800-5810, 1995.
- A. P. Verweij, Electrodynamic of superconducting cables in accelerator magnets, Ph.D. Thesis, Univ. of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands 1995.
- L. Krempasky and C. Schmidt, Ramp rate limitation in large superconducting magnets due to "supercurrents," *Cryogenics*, 36: 471– 483, 1996.
- P. Bruzzone, Ac losses and stability on large cable-in-conduit superconductors, *Phys. C*, 310: 240-246, 1998.
- A. Nijhuis, P. Bruzzone, and H. H. J. ten Kate, Influence of Cr plating on the coupling loss in cable-in-conduit conductors, Appl. Supercond. 1997, Inst. Phys. Conf., 158: 921-924, 1997.
- M. D. Sumption et al., Contact resistance and cable loss measurements of coated strands and cables wound from them, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 692–695, 1995.
- M. D. Sumption et al., Calorimetric measurements of the effect of nickel and Stabrite coatings and resistive cores on ac loss in accelerator cables under fixed pressure, *Adv. Cryog. Eng.*, 42: 1303– 1311, 1996.
- E. W. Collings et al., Magnetic studies of ac loss in pressurized Rutherford cables with coated strands and resistive cores, Adv. Cryog. Eng., 42: 1225-1232, 1996.
- D. Richter et al., Dc measurement of electrical contacts between strands in superconducting cables for the LHC main magnets, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 786-789, 1997.
- T. Hamajima et al., Ac loss performance of the 100 kWh SMES model coil, Proc. of Magnet Technology Conf., 16, Sept. 99, Ponte Vedra, FL.
- A. Kawagoe et al., Increase of interstrand coupling losses of superconducting cable-in-conduit for acutal condition of sweep rate, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.* 9: 727-730, 1999.
- J. M. Depond et al., Examination of contacts between strands by electrical measurement and topographical analysis, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 793-796, 1997.
- T. M. Mower and Y. Iwasa, Experimental investigation of a closses in cabled superconductors, Cryogenics, 26: 281-292, 1986.
- K. Kwasnitza, A. Sultan, and S. Al-Wakeel, Ac losses of a 10 kA NbTi cable-in-conduit superconductor for SMES application, Cryogenics, 36: 27-34, 1996.
- 66. M. Nishi et al., Test results of the DPC-TJ, a 24 kA-40 A/mm² superconducting test coil for fusion machines, Fusion technology 1992, Proc. 17th SOFT, 1993, p. 912-916.
- 67. P. Bruzzone, A. Nijhuis, and H. H. J. ten Kate, Effect of Cr plating on the coupling current loss in cable-in-conduit conductors, *Proc. ICMC 96*, Kitakyushu, Japan, May 1996, Amsterdam, The Netherlands Elsevier, p. 1243–1248.
- Y. Ipatov, P. Dolgosheev, and V. Sytnikov, Prospective barrier coatings for superconducting cables, *Supercond. Sci. Technol.*, 10: 507– 511, 1997.
- 69. A. Nijhuis et al., Parametric study on coupling loss in subsize ITER Nb₃Sn cabled specimen, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, **32**: 2743-2746, 1996.
- P. Bruzzone, A. Nijhuis, and H. H. J. ten Kate, Contact resistance and coupling loss in cable-in-conduit of Cr plated Nb₃Sn strands, *Proc. MT-15*, Beijing, October 1997, Science Press, 1998, p. 1295– 1298.
- 71. A. Nijhuis, H. H. J. ten Kate, and P. Bruzzone, The influence

of Lorentz forces on the ac loss in sub-size cable-in-conduit conductors for ITER, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 262-265, 1997.

- G. Ries, Stability in superconducting multistrand cables, Cryogenics, 20: 513-519, 1980.
- P. Bruzzone, Stability under transverse field pulse of the Nb₃Sn ITER cable-in-conduit conductor, *Proc. of Magnet Technology Conf.*, 16, Sept. 1999, Ponte Vedre, FL.
- P. Bruzzone et al., Coupling currents losses bench mark test of ITER subsize conductor, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 32: 2826–2829, 1996.
- L. Krempasky and C. Schmidt, Time constant measurements in technical superconductors, Cryogenics, 39: 23-33, 1999.

PIERLUIGI BRUZZONE Centre de Recherches en Physique des Plasmas

SUPERCONDUCTIVITY: MICROWAVE TECHNOLOGY

Superconductivity is a remarkable state of matter in which electric current can flow inside materials without any detectable resistance. This phenomenon was discovered by the Dutch physicist H. K. Onnes in 1911. While studying the temperature dependence of the electric resistance of mercury in his newly invented helium liquefier, Onnes found that below a temperature of about 4 K, the resistance abruptly fell to below measurable limits.

In a superconductor, perfect electric conductivity or zero resistivity occurs only below a "critical temperature" T_C . This happens because the electric current, instead of being carried by single electrons, is carried by pairs of electrons called Cooper pairs which have the ability to conserve energy because of quantum mechanical reasons. A direct current induced in a superconducting ring has been shown to persist for over two years without any measurable decay. From this type of experiment the upper limit on resistivity ρ is $\sim 10^{-25} \Omega \cdot m$. Since ρ for copper is $\sim 10^{-8} \Omega \cdot m$, a factor of 10^{17} larger, it is believed that the electric resistance of a superconductor is truly zero.

Another important characteristic of superconductors was the discovery by W. Meissner and R. Ochsenfeld in 1933 that a superconductor expels all magnetic flux from its interior; that is, a superconductor is also a perfect diamagnet. This phenomenon is known as the Meissner effect.

A key area of technological applications of superconductors is in high-frequency devices, particularly at frequencies in the radio-wave, microwave, and millimeter-wave spectral ranges. Broadly speaking, two principal areas of high-frequency applications can be identified:

- Passive devices, typically using resonant and transmission line structures, exploiting the low loss properties of superconductors.
- Active elements, such as oscillators, mixers, logic elements, and other similar devices, which exploit a macroscopic quantum coherence property of the charge carriers, called the Josephson effect.

The price to pay to achieve the superior performance is the need to cool the superconducting device to temperatures well

Table 1. Some Commercially Used Superconducting Materials and Their Physical Properties

Material	$T_{c}(\mathbf{K})$	λ_L (nm)	ξ (nm)	H _{ct} (Oe)	H _{C2} (Oe)	Crystal Structure
Pb	7.2	37	83	803	803	Face-centered cubic
Nb	9.2	32	39	p 1600	p 3200	Body-centered cubic
NbN	16	50	4	300	·	B1
Nb₃Ge	23.2				$3.6 imes10^{5a}$	A15
YBCO ⁴	93	140	p 2	200	p 10 ⁶	Orthorhombic
TBCCO ^b	127	220°	2.6		-	Tetragonal
BSCCO	p 90	500	0.16			Tetragonal

° At 4.2 K.

^a YBCO, TBCCO, BSCCO, and most other high- T_c superconductors are highly anisotropic. The values given are for microwave current flowing in the *ab*-plane, which is often the plane of epitaxial growth and the desired geometry in most technological applications.

' Average of ab-plane and c-axis value.

below room temperature. This means the use of cryogenic fluids like liquid nitrogen or liquid helium, or a mechanical cryocooler. Despite the need for a cryogenic environment, there are many applications where the superior performance of superconductors prevails over conventional devices.

SUPERCONDUCTING MATERIALS

Superconductivity has been observed in diverse types of materials including pure metals, alloys, semimetals, organic materials, semiconductors, polymers, and even elemental insulators. Presently, at least 26 of the naturally occurring elements are known to be superconducting at sufficiently low temperatures at ambient pressure, and the number of alloys and intermetallic compounds are well above 1000.

A significant advancement in understanding superconductivity was the theory of Bardeen, Cooper, and Schrieffer in 1957. This theory successfully described the microscopic mechanism of superconductivity and explained the properties of most superconductors for nearly 30 years.

Then came the era of high-temperature superconductivity, with the groundbreaking discovery by Bednorz and Müller in 1986 of superconductivity in a Ba-La-Cu-O compound with T_C around 30 K, which subsequently earned them a Nobel Prize. This discovery rekindled the interest in superconductivity and spurred the hopes of finding new technological applications. The efforts led to the discovery of other copper-oxide-based superconductors that have critical temperatures well in excess of the boiling point of nitrogen (77 K), an easily available and cheap cryogenic fluid usable for commercial applications. Presently the highest critical temperature is about 150 K at high pressures in HgBa₂Ca₂Cu₃O₈.

Superconductors fall in two broad categories, namely, "high critical temperature" (or "high- T_C ") and "low critical temperature" (or "low- T_C ") materials. (There are many other ways of classifying them, such as Type I and Type II superconductors, heavy fermion and conventional superconductors, and so on.) Some examples of low- T_C superconductors, particularly relevant to commercial applications, are niobium and its alloys, such as NbN and Nb₃Ge. These have critical temperatures in the region of 10 K to 20 K. The high- T_C superconductors that are most commonly used include YBa₂Cu₃O₇ (commonly referred to as YBCO or Y-123, $T_C \sim 93$ K), Bi₂Sr₂CaCu₂O₈ (commonly referred to as BSCCO or Bi-2212, $T_C \sim 90$ K), and Tl₂Ba₂Ca₂Cu₃O₁₀ (TBCCO or Tl-2223, $T_C \sim 125$ K).

Besides the critical temperature, some other relevant physical parameters that characterize a superconductor are as follows:

- The London penetration depth (λ_L) : The depth to which an applied direct current (dc) magnetic field is confined because of the Meissner effect.
- The coherence length (ξ) : The length scale over which the two electrons forming the Cooper pairs are separated.
- The (thermodynamic) critical field(H_C): The magnetic field whose associated free energy is equal to the free energy change in the superconducting transition. A "Type I" superconductor will completely expel the applied field below H_C and will become normal abruptly as the applied field exceeds this magnitude, assuming no demagnetization effects. For "Type II" superconductors (which includes practically all of the superconductors of technological interest), the field starts to penetrate in the form of vortices at a "lower critical field" H_{C1} ($< H_C$), but superconductivity is not quenched until the applied field exceeds the "upper critical field" H_{C2} ($> H_C$).

Some superconductors of relevance to microwave applications are described in Table 1 along with their relevant properties (λ_L , ξ , H_{C1} , and H_{C2} quoted are extrapolated to T = 0K).

Substrates for Thin-Film Superconductors

For most electronic applications, including microwave devices, superconductors are necessarily used in the form of thin films. This requires the use of a foreign material for a substrate. Some of the popular substrates include sapphire (α -Al₂O₃), lanthanum aluminate (LaAlO₃), and magnesium oxide (MgO). Ferroelectric substrates like strontium titanate (SrTiO₃) and KTa_{1-x}Nb_xO₃ are also used to achieve tunability at the expense of additional dielectric loss.

The electrical parameters that characterize the properties of a substrate material are its dielectric constant ϵ and its loss tangent tan δ . (The loss tangent of a substrate is defined as tan $\delta = \sigma / \omega \epsilon$, where σ is the conductivity.) Other factors such as environmental stability, mechanical strength, chemical inertness, and absence of magnetic moment are also important. Close lattice match between the deposited film and the substrate is essential to achieve good epitaxial growth. These parameters have been measured and investigated by various researchers using different techniques for most substrate materials.

In general, the dielectric constant would be more or less frequency independent unless the frequency is close to a resonance frequency of the material. The dielectric constant is also expected to have a weak temperature dependence for nonferroelectric substances. The loss tangent is expected to increase

Material	Dielectric Constant	Loss Tangent	Crystal Structure	Growth Surface	Remarks
LaAlO ₃	25	$5 imes 10^{-6}$	Rhombohedral	(110)	Usually twinned
YAIO 3	16	10^{-5}	Orthorhombic	(110)	
MgO	9.65	$6.2 imes10^{-6}$	Cubic	(100)	Good lattice match
Sapphire	8.6	$3.8 imes10^{-8}$	Hexagonal	(11 02)	Very low loss
NdGaO ₃	23	$3.2 imes10^{-4}$	Orthorhombic	(110)	Good for multilayer circuits
SrTiO ₃	300	$3 imes10^{-4}$	Cubic	(100)	Good for tunable device applications
YSZ	27	7.4×10^{-4}	Cubic	(100)	

Table 2. Some Commonly Used Substrate Materials for Superconducting Thin-Film Devices

with temperature. Table 2 provides the most commonly accepted values of these material parameters for some of the substrates, measured at 10 GHz and 77 K unless otherwise stated.

Most of these materials have high ϵ ; this imposes certain restrictions, especially for high-frequency applications. A high ϵ reduces the dimension of the device and thus imposes stringent dimensional tolerance, especially in the millimeter-wave region. But consideration of dielectric constant has to be sacrificed for some even more important parameters, namely, a lattice match between the substrate and the film, and not widely different thermal expansivity from the superconductor. A lattice mismatch would create atomic level strain and leads to poor superconducting properties. Another criterion is that losses in the substrate must be negligible compared to the losses in the superconductor. Heavy twinning in materials like LaAlO₃ creates problems in multilayer films. When the substrate is reheated for the deposition of a new layer, the thermally induced movement of the twin boundaries strain the previously deposited layers.

There are numerous methods of depositing superconducting films on substrates, the most common being pulsed laser deposition (PLD), coevaporation, and off-axis sputtering or physical vapor deposition (PVD). Each of these methods has its pros and cons. For example, PLD produces high-quality films at a fast rate (a few angstroms per second) but only over relatively small areas, typically less than 2 in. diameter. The PVD method is useful for producing larger area films, but the deposition rate is only a fraction of an angstrom per second. Another method of film deposition, namely, metal-organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD), popular in the semiconductor industry, has also been tried for high- T_C superconductors, although somewhat less successfully owing to the chemical and structural complexity of the high- T_C materials. We refer the reader interested in deposition technique to some useful resources (see, for example, Ref. 1).

The "quality" of a deposited superconducting film is characterized by several parameters, such as the critical temperature T_C , the transition width ΔT_C , and the critical current density J_C , which is the maximum lossless current per unit cross-sectional area that the film can carry. The higher the T_C and J_C and the lower the ΔT_C , the better the film.

THE SUPERCONDUCTOR-MICROWAVE INTERACTION

A superconductor has zero electrical resistance only at zero frequency (dc). At any finite frequency, it exhibits losses that increase with frequency. A superconductor can be regarded as being composed of two types of charge carriers, one consisting of the lossless Cooper pairs and the other being lossy "quasiparticles." Such a description is known as the "two-fluid model" and is applied to all known superconductors.

The finite frequency [alternating current (ac)] response of a superconductor is characterized in terms of a generalization of Ohm's law: $J = \sigma_s E$, where E is the applied electric field and $\sigma_s = \sigma_1 - i\sigma_2$ is the complex conductivity. The normal part σ_1 comes from the motion of the quasiparticles, and the imaginary part σ_2 comes from that of the Cooper pairs. For most superconductors well below the transition temperature, $\sigma_2 \gg \sigma_1$. The frequency ω , wave vector \mathbf{k} temperature T, and current density J dependence of σ_s contains all the information about the electrical properties of the superconductor. For a normal metal, $\sigma_s = \sigma_n$ is purely real.

Figure 1 shows a lumped circuit equivalent of a superconductor. The large inductive element L_{sc} represents the lossless carriers, and the parallel branch with a series combination of a resistor R_n and an inductance L_n represents the quasiparticles. At dc, the large inductor shorts out the resistive branch, leading to zero resistance, while at finite frequencies there is always dissipation.

As the excitation frequency increases, the impressed electromagnetic field is confined closer to the surface. In a normal metal, this is known as the skin effect and the characteristic length of confinement (the "skin depth") is given by $\delta_n = (2/\mu\omega\sigma_n)^{1/2}$ where σ_n is the (normal) conductivity. δ_n for Copper at 10 GHz and 77 K is 0.55 μ m. In a superconductor at temperature $T \ll T_c$, the skin depth is replaced by the "London penetration depth" $\lambda_L = 1/(\mu\omega\sigma_2)^{1/2}$. The penetration depth is typically independent of frequency from dc to microwave frequencies and is comparable to the London penetration depth in Table 1.

The interaction of a time-varying electromagnetic field and a metal (normal or superconducting) at microwave frequencies



Figure 1. Two-fluid model equivalent circuit of a superconductor.



Figure 2. (a) Comparison of the surface resistance of YBCO at 77 K with other superconducting materials. The horizontal bands represent YBCO. (From Ref. 3, with permission.) (b) Temperature dependence of the surface resistance of YBCO grown by a number of techniques compared with niobium and niobium-tin superconductors at the same reduced temperature. The scale on the upper axis refers to the reduced temperature for the Nb₃Sn and Nb, while the lower scale refers to the actual temperature of the YBCO films. The T_C of the three materials coincides. f = 8 GHz.

is best described in terms of the surface impedance defined as $Z_S = R_S + iX_S = (i\mu\omega/2\sigma)^{1/2}$. R_S and X_S are the surface resistance and reactance, respectively. As can be seen from the above discussion, R_S and $X_S \propto \omega^{1/2}$ in a normal metal, where $\sigma = \sigma_n$. On the other hand, $R_S \propto \omega^2$ and $X_S \propto \omega$ in an "ideal" superconductor. This can be easily verified by assuming σ_1 and λ_L to be frequency-independent and $\sigma_2 \gg \sigma_1$.

The property that makes superconductors attractive for passive microwave circuits is that their surface resistance is orders of magnitude lower than that of normal metals. For example, thin-film YBCO has a surface resistance of <0.1 m Ω at 77 K and 10 GHz compared to 8.7 m Ω of copper under identical conditions, and this difference is even higher at lower temperatures. Figure 2 shows the measured frequency and temperature dependence of R_S of some of the most common superconducting and nonsuperconducting materials (3).

Nonlinearity in High-T_C Superconductors

For most superconductors, particularly the high- T_C superconductors, the surface impedance increases with applied microwave power, even for moderate power levels (<0.1 W). In other words (unlike normal metals), they act as nonlinear circuit elements. This nonlinear response often poses serious constraints on the utility of superconductors in practical devices. Some specific examples of such limitations are as follows:

- Degradation of insertion loss with increasing power.
- Generation of harmonic frequencies: For an applied signal at frequency f, most of the harmonic power is generated at a frequency of 3f. Given today's tight use of the electromagnetic spectrum, practically all frequency ranges have been preassigned by the appropriate authorities (e.g., the Federal Communication Commission in the United States) with just the required amount of bandwidths. Thus, radiation by a device at frequencies far outside the designated frequency of operation is unacceptable.
- Frequency mixing, leading to intermodulation products (intermods): For two nearby frequencies f_1 and f_2 , the strongest intermods are produced at $2f_1 f_2$ and $2f_2 f_1$. The result is that spurious frequencies are produced in devices.

Figure 3 shows the effect of nonlinearity on a suspended line resonator with a resonance frequency of 3.73 GHz (4). At low power levels the response in the frequency domain is close to a Lorentzian. As the input power is increased, the shape begins to distort, and the Q and the resonance frequency go down. This also highlights the point that at high power levels the Q of a superconducting resonator cannot be defined in terms of a "3 dB bandwidth." A quantitative measure of the nonlinearity of a device is specified in terms of its third-order intercept (TOI), defined as the input power at which power output at the fundamental and the third harmonic equal each other. Single-tone TOI for most commercially used HTSC materials is at least 70 dBm (10 kW).

All these effects together limit the maximum power that a passive superconducting circuit can handle, and raising the power handling capacity has been one of the prime concerns of material scientists and engineers alike. Much of the nonlinearity of the high- T_C materials is ascribable to material properties (e.g., granularity and "flux pinning") and is expected to improve with synthesis and deposition techniques. From a design point of view, nonlinearities can be suppressed by increasing the surface area of the device, leading to lower current densities and avoiding current crowding at the edges. Thus, a planar filter can handle significantly higher power than a stripline, and a cavity resonator has Q value orders of magnitude higher than one built out of a transmission line, even factoring out the losses in the substrate. However, higher-dimensional circuits are not always practical for many applications because they take up more space and often have the problem of mode degeneracy (i.e., more than one mode of oscillation at the same frequency). The latter problem can often be solved by making the circuit slightly asymmetrical, but then modeling them with a computer becomes more cumbersome.



Figure 3. (Left) Frequency-domain response of a suspended resonator. Notice the deviation from a Gaussian shape as the input power increases. (Right) The R_S of a similar resonator against applied power at different temperatures. (From Ref. 4, with permission.)

PASSIVE MICROWAVE CIRCUITS

Passive microwave circuits are some of the most promising applications of superconductors to date. In the following we shall focus on the advantages of high-temperature superconductors (HTS) materials and the special considerations that applies to them. General ideas about passive microwave devices are available in the literature. For a good review of the current state of the art, see Ref. 5. For a more elementary introduction, see Ref. 6.

Superconductors are an attractive alternative to "conventional" materials for three principal reasons:

- 1. Very low surface resistance compared to normal metals: For example, insertion loss of a superconducting filter $(\sim 0.1 \text{ dB})$ is usually at least 3 dB lower than one made out of high-quality metal (e.g., oxygen-free high-purity copper) under equivalent conditions. Thus in applications where the signal strength is low, superconductors are the material of choice.
- 2. A frequency-independent penetration depth. In normal metals, the skin depth is proportional to the inverse square root of the frequency of the signal, giving rise to strong dispersion of a wide-band signal, unacceptable in many applications. In superconductors, the penetration of electromagnetic field is dominated by the "London penetration depth," which is independent of frequency, giving rise to phase-dispersion free propagation in the TEM mode.
- 3. The ability to be fabricated in extremely compact geometries, arising from the low loss mentioned above. Thus, a several-meter-long coaxial delay line made out of a normal conductor can be replaced with a superconducting one that's only a few square centimeters in area, and bulky dielectric resonator filters can be replaced by compact planar superconducting filters.

Transmission Line

A microwave transmission line can be constructed in several geometries, each having its pros and cons. The most common geometries are microstrip, stripline, and coplanar. Many other novel geometries such as the suspended line and coplanar strips are also used for special-purpose applications. The basic concepts behind transmission line and distributed circuits is the same whether or not they are made out of superconductors, and the interested reader can find them elsewhere (see, for example, Ref. 7). Here we will briefly discuss only those issues that are specific to superconducting transmission lines.

The two major distinctions between superconducting and nonsuperconducting transmission lines stem from the temperature and frequency dependence of the characteristic impedance of the line, defined as $Z_0 = (L/C)^{1/2}$ where L and C are the equivalent lumped inductance and capacitance, respectively. In addition to the usual geometric inductance, superconductors have temperature-dependent kinetic inductance because of the presence of the Cooper pairs. Also, for sufficiently low temperatures ($T \ll T_C$, or more pertinently, $\lambda_L \ll \delta$) the penetration depth is independent of the frequency, giving rise to a phase dispersion free propagation for the TEM mode. Nonlinear effects are another major complication in dealing with superconducting transmission lines as has been discussed earlier. The nonlinear effects are particularly worse in the edges of the line where the current density is maximum. Therefore, a good design for a passive superconducting circuit tends to avoid sharp edges as much as possible. Owing to these, fullwave analysis of superconducting transmission lines is quite a daunting task which cannot be done satisfactorily using most commercially available CAD programs and often must be carried out for individual needs.

One of the most promising applications of superconducting transmission lines is in the form of hybrid interconnects between components, both semiconducting and superconducting and both analog and digital.

Resonators

The "quality factor" (Q) of a resonator is defined to be $Q = Uf_0/P$, where U is the total energy stored in the oscillator, f_0 is the resonance frequency, and P is the power dissipated per cycle. Since $P = \int R_S H^2 dA$, where the integral is over the surface of the material comprising the resonator walls, the Q can then be written as $Q = \Gamma/R_S$, where Γ is a geometric factor, for a resonator comprised entirely of a single material.

The advantage of a superconducting resonator over a normal metal one is the very high Q owing to the much smaller surface resistance of the former. At 10 GHz, Q as high as 10^{11} can be achieved (using niobium cavities in TE₀₁₁ mode), compared with a maximum Q of around 10^4 using copper. Superconducting cavities are typically operated in the TE₀₁₁ mode since this has no electric fields on the cavity walls. Cavities have been made out of both low-temperature and high-temperature superconductors (8), although the latter is a lot harder to make owing to the ceramic nature of the material. Superconducting cavities such





Figure 4. A superconducting niobium cavity used for surface resistance measurement. The specimen under test is thermally insulated from the cavity using a sapphire rod, allowing it to be probed up to nearly room temperature while the cavity is still superconducting. (Right) The disassembled cavity showing the sapphire sample mount. (Left) The packaged structure. Q values of ~10⁷ to 10⁸ at 4.2 K are routinely obtained in this setup. (Courtesy of Z. Zhai and H. Srikanth.)

as these play an important role as a research tool for precision measurements of surface impedance of superconductors and other materials. Figure 4 shows a picture of a niobium cavity that was fabricated at Northeastern University and is used to measure the surface impedance of other crystalline superconductors using the cavity perturbation technique (9).

A major application of superconducting cavities is in providing large high-frequency electric fields for accelerating subatomic and atomic particles. The fields in a cavity resonator are given by $E_{\rm max} = \gamma (QP_{\rm abs})^{1/2}$, so that significantly larger fields can be achieved with high-Q cavities for much lower absorbed powers $P_{\rm abs}$. A notable example is the continuous electron beam accelerator facility (CEBAF) for heavy ions, which uses superconducting niobium cavities operating at megahertz frequencies.

Superconducting microwave cavity resonators are among the most stable frequency standards available today owing to their very high Q values. One of the applications of such high stability frequency standards is in satellite and deep space communications, where it is important to maintain precise clocks on board the satellite to improve synchronization between the ground-based clock and the satellite or space vehicle's on-board clock.

Another potential application is in the master oscillator of a Doppler radar. A Doppler radar identifies the target velocity by measuring the frequency shift of the reflected beam. Clearly, for the measurement to be reliable, the frequency of the source has to be highly stable. This is especially important for detecting targets flying close to the ground (e.g., a cruise missile), since reflections from the ground (the "ground noise") can completely mask the signal.

Filters

A filter is realized by a set of coupled resonators with closely spaced resonance frequencies. The response of each resonator is represented as a pole in the frequency domain. Thus a filter with n resonating elements is called an n-pole filter. The resonators can be lumped (e.g., tank LC oscillators) or distributed (e.g., half-wave transmission lines.) Clearly, the greater the number of poles in a filter, the greater the bandwidth that can be achieved for a preset filter skirt and band ripple, or the steeper the filter skirt and smaller the band ripple for a given bandwidth. Both are desirable. However, increasing the number of elements increases the insertion loss proportionally. Thus, many applications which require *both* a small insertion loss and steep filter skirt with low band ripple cannot be realized using conventional materials such as high-purity copper.

Alternative technologies such as surface acoustic wave (SAW) devices do produce better results, but are still too lossy (typically 2 dB to 4 dB). Dielectric resonator based filters have low loss, but are too bulky for many lucrative applications. This is precisely why superconductors are the material of choice for making high-performance filters. The extremely low surface resistance allows a designer to use a lot more elements for a given amount of insertion loss.

Figure 5 shows a four-pole microstrip Chebyshev filter fabricated at the MIT Lincoln Laboratory with a 4.8 GHz center frequency and 100 MHz bandwidth patterned on an LaAlO₃ substrate with YBCO film. The filter uses a "hair pin geometry"; that is, the resonators are bent with a U-turn to save wafer space. The right-hand side of Fig. 4 shows the measured insertion loss (S_{21}) of the filter at 77 K temperature. Also shown for reference is the performance of equivalent filters made out of silver (Ag) at 77 K and gold (Au) at room temperature (300 K). The advantages of high- T_C superconducting filters are quite obvious.

One of the problems in working with HTS material is the lack of availability of large wafers of acceptable quality. The maximum size of high-quality HTS films are presently limited to about 5 cm, compared to 30 cm wafers of semiconductors. This poses a problem in two cases: (1) where the center frequency is low, requiring the length of the transmission lines of a distributed filter to be long, and (2) where the bandwidth is





Figure 5. A four-pole superconducting filter and its measured performance. (Courtesy of Dr. Daniel Oates, MIT Lincoln Laboratory.)

tight (a fraction of 1%), requiring very weak coupling, and hence large separation between elements. The first problem calls for miniaturization of the device, and there are several means of accomplishing this, including the use of lumped resonators (10) and high-dielectric-constant substrates. The second problem is usually solved by a technique called staggering. Figure 6 shows a photograph of a high-performance lumped-element nine-pole Chebychev filter.

Frequency Agile Devices. A filter is much more useful if it can be tuned. Several innovative approaches to tune a passive filter have been tried. One method consists of changing the resonance frequency of the individual resonators (due to change in the kinetic inductance) with temperature. The desired variation in temperature is achieved by a control line in the form of a heating element placed close to the resonators. A better method is to build the filter on a ferroelectric substrate with a low Curie temperature such as $KTa_{1-x}Nb_xO_3$ and $Sr_{1-x}Pb_xTiO_3$ (11). The permittivity of the substrate can be changed by applying a bias voltage, thus providing the necessary tuning. The optimal temperature of operation is slightly above the Curie temperature of the substrate to avoid hysteresis and to produce maximum tunability for a given bias voltage. Impedance matching of the input and output is done with a set of ferroelectric transformers. Since these techniques essentially manipulate the electrical length of the filter elements, the same methods can also be used to tune the parameters of other passive structures.

Another important type of filter is a "chirp" filter. A "chirp" is essentially a frequency-modulated signal whose frequency increases ("up-chirped") or decreases ("down-chirped") with time. One of the applications of chirp signals is in Doppler radars to optimize power output and bandwidth, both of which are desirable. Using a simple sinusoidal signal, however, both cannot be achieved simultaneously. A higher bandwidth means a shorter pulse width which limits the maximum power transmitted per pulse and vice versa. A chirped waveform gets around this lim-



Figure 6. A nine-pole lumped Chebychev filter from Superconductor Technologies Inc. (Courtesy of Dr. Balam Willemsen, Superconductor Technologies, Inc.)

itation. Another application is to compensate the distortion of a wave packet after passing through a dispersive transmission line. The principal advantage of constructing a chirp filter out of superconducting material is low dispersiveness.

A superconducting chirp filter in microstrip geometry consists of a series of quarter-wave forward-coupled transmission lines which are deliberately decoupled for a specified length between the couplings. The transmission line is wound in the form of a spiral to optimally use the film surface. As a pulse is applied to the input, the individual frequency components couple to the output line that corresponds to their resonance frequencies. Depending on whether the resonators are increasing or decreasing in length down the line, a down-chirped or up-chirped signal is obtained at the output.

Antenna

Using superconducting antennas can improve efficiency enormously because of their lower loss (for a general discussion of antennas, see Ref. 12). In particular, there are three situations when a superconducting antenna can outperform one made out of a normal metal sufficiently to merit its use:

- 1. Electrically Short Antennas. A dipole antenna has maximum radiation efficiency when its characteristic length is an integral multiple of the wavelength being radiated. For low-frequency applications (such as underwater communication, which involves frequencies of the order of 15 kHz), this length can be unrealistically large, and hence a shorter antenna has to be deployed. The radiated power *P* is proportional to $(l/\lambda)^2$ for a linear (electric dipole) antenna and $P \propto (D/\lambda)^4$ for a circular loop (magnetic dipole) antenna, where l is the length of the linear antenna, Dis the diameter of the loop antenna, and λ is the radiated wavelength. For $l, D \ll \lambda$, the impedance of the antenna is mostly reactive and most of the power is dissipated as ohmic losses in the antenna and the feed network. Therefore, introduction of superconducting radiating elements and feed networks can dramatically improve the radiation efficiency at low-frequency regions.
- 2. Superdirective Antennas. A superdirective antenna (13) has directional gain much larger than a conventional one. This can be of advantage in radio beacons and radar transmitters. A superdirective antenna is realized in practice by an array of closely spaced (separation \ll wavelength) dipole elements that are excited approximately 180° out of phase with respect to their neighbor. Such a structure has a low efficiency when built out of normal



Figure 7. A 16-element superconducting phase array antenna and the feed network. An LaAlO₃ substrate is holding the HTS film. To the right of it is a 1 mm quartz plate holding the corresponding copper patches that provides an electromagnetic coupling to room temperature environment. A 0.5 mm vacuum between the two and low thermal conductivity spacers provide the required thermal isolation. The quartz plate has the necessary mechanical strength to withstand the atmospheric pressure and also serves as a radome. The antenna operates at 20 GHz. (Courtesy of Dr. Jeffrey Herd, US Air Force Research Laboratory.)

metal because ohmic losses in each individual element add up. In addition, these antennas have inherently low radiation efficiency because of cancellation of the radiation field, and use of HTS material can enhance efficiency.

3. Millimeter-Wave Antennas and Feed Networks. Superconducting antennas also improve the performance of antenna arrays and other distributed feed systems, where the power gain because of the distributed structure has to compete with the loss in an increasing number of elements. In a copper microstrip antenna the overall gain begins to decrease beyond about 40 elements, whereas the same antenna employing superconducting elements shows an increase in gain up to about 400 elements. This increase in gain can be crucial in mission critical applications such as military target tracking systems.

Figure 7 is a photograph of a 16-element phased-array antenna that was developed at the US Air Force Rome Laboratory.

Delay Lines

Requirements for a good delay line are low loss, low dispersion, and large delay for unit size/weight of the material. Superconducting delay lines are far superior to normal metal ones in satisfying these requirements, so much so that superconducting delay lines were in application even before the advent of high- T_c superconductivity (14). Delays of the order of 20 ns can be routinely achieved with HTS materials on a substrate with an area of a few square inches, with good possibilities of achieving more than 100 ns in the near future. A copper coaxial line has to be several meters long for producing the same amount of time delay and would also have a high insertion loss.

A novel application of a delay line is the measurement of instantaneous frequency of a nonperiodic signal (15). This is achieved by splitting the input signal power equally between a series of n phase discriminating units, where n is the number of bit of frequency resolution desired. Each phase discriminating unit consists of a mixer, one port of which is fed by the signal directly and the other one by the same signal delayed.

ACTIVE MICROWAVE CIRCUITS

In 1962 B. D. Josephson predicted that when two superconductors are separated by a thin layer of metal or an insulator, a lossless current can flow up to a certain critical value I_C before a voltage appears across the junction. This is the manifestation of the phenomena that the Cooper pairs that carry lossless electric current can tunnel through the potential barrier represented by the junction material. Josephson's remarkable prediction was verified experimentally the following year and is known as the Josephson effect. The Josephson effect opened the way for a number of new applications of superconductors which exploit the fact that superconductivity is actually an amazing manifestation of quantum mechanics on a macroscopic scale. The most noteworthy of these is the superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) magnetometer. With sensitivities approaching 10⁻¹⁵ T/Hz^{1/2} values, SQUIDs can measure magnetic field with precision that is unimaginable with any conventional techniques. The interested reader is referred to some useful reference for further details (see, for example, Ref. 16). In the following, we shall describe some of the microwave applications of the Josephson effect that have the potential to radically alter the future of microelectronics.

The Josephson current I is related to the phase difference θ between the Cooper pair on the two sides of the junction as $I = I_C \sin \theta$. When current across the junction exceeds the critical value, a voltage V appears across it that is related to time rate of change of θ as $\partial \theta / \partial t = 4\pi eV/h$ (i.e., the phases of Cooper pairs on the two sides of the junction begin to "slip" relative to each other.) Figure 8(a) shows a lumped circuit equivalent of a Josephson junction (JJ), called a resistively shunted junction (RSJ model). The conductance and the capacitance represent the resistive and displacement current flow across the junction. The static characteristics of the circuit is given in terms of Stewart-McCumber parameter (17,18) $\beta = 4\pi e I_C C/hg^2$.

Elementary mathematical analysis of Fig. 8(b) shows that the time-domain response of the circuit can be written as I/I_C $= \beta d^2 \theta / d\phi^2 + d\theta / d\phi + \sin \theta$, where $\phi = 4\pi e I_C t / hg$, t being time. This is equivalent to the equation describing the motion of a simple pendulum in a gravitational field. Thus the Josephson current behaves like a damped harmonic oscillator for small currents which is underdamped for $\beta < 1/4$ and overdamped for $\beta > 1/4$. This also implies a hysteretic I - -V behavior in the a region $I_{\min} < I < I_C$, and the value of I_{\min} must be obtained by solving the above equation. The value of I_{\min} decreases monotonically with increasing β . Another useful property of a JJ is the flux dependence of the critical current. If the JJ has a flux



Figure 8. (a) Lumped equivalent of a superconductor- insulator-superconductor (SIS) Josephson junction. (b) *I-V* characteristics of an SIS Josephson junction. (c) Dependence of junction critical current on the threaded flux.

 Φ threaded to it, then the critical current is given by $I_{C\Phi} = I_C \sin(\pi \Phi/\Phi_0)/(\pi \Phi/\Phi_0)$, where $\Phi_0 = h/2e = 2 \times 10^{-15}$ Wb is the "flux quantum." (The flux threaded through any superconducting ring must be an integral multiple of Φ_0 .) This is shown in Fig. 8(c).

To date, the most promising applications of superconducting active devices have been demonstrated only in low-temperature superconductors, most notably lead, niobium, and niobium nitride with aluminum oxide (AlO_x), magnesium oxide (MgO), and lead oxide (PbO) as the insulating barriers. For a Cooper pair to tunnel coherently across a junction, its thickness must be comparable to the coherence length of the material, which is extremely small for high- T_C superconductors (see Table 1). The critical current in these materials is also rather high (of the order of milliamperes), which is required for the Josephson coupling energy $hI_C/4\pi e$ to overcome the thermal energy k_BT , but it produces excessive Joule heating in the resistive shunts and high voltages across inductances. There are additional factors arising out of complex crystal structure and presence of "weak links" (i.e., small-angle grain boundaries) that make fabrication of JJs difficult in these materials. There are several possible analog and digital applications of the Josephson effect in microwave frequency regime, some of which are outlined in the following.

Superconducting Digital Logic Circuits

From the early days of its discovery, the Josephson junction (JJ) has been eyed as a potential replacement of semiconducting logic gates (a detailed review is provided by Ref. 19). Josephson junctions are inherently bistable (with zero and finite

resistivity). However, the real driving force behind a "superconducting supercomputer" comes from three different sources:

- Josephson junctions can be switched *much* faster than a CMOS logic gate, where the parasitic and junction capacitance limits the minimum switching time. For a JJ, however, the theoretical limit on switching time is $h/2\pi \Delta$, where h is Planck's constant and Δ is the superconducting energy gap. For niobium, this corresponds to 0.22 ps, and practical circuits with switching times of 1.5 ps have been fabricated. The large difference between the theoretical upper limit in switching speed and those practically achieved stems from parasitic capacitance in the junction. However, there are no space-charge effects in a JJ, and hence these capacitances are much smaller compared to semiconductor circuits.
- Average power dissipation per gate in a JJ is at least two orders of magnitude lower than equivalent semiconductor gates. This means that the gates can be packed closer together, thereby reducing the propagation delay of the signal, another constraint in high-speed digital circuits. As an example, a four-bit microcontroller fabricated out of JJ and clocked at 770 MHz dissipated 5 mW, in contrast to a replica made out of gallium arsenide (GaAs) and clocked at 72 MHz that dissipated 2.2 W.
- Digital circuits operating over ~100 GHz must use superconducting interconnects, because the inherent dispersion and loss in metal interconnects will degrade the signal sufficiently to make the circuit inoperable.

Owing to the hysteretic *I*-V characteristics of the JJ, switching between zero resistance and finite resistance states (logic 0 and logic 1 in our convention) cannot be achieved as fast as it would be in a nonhysteretic device. If the current is reduced slightly below the value at which a logic 0 to logic 1 switching takes place, the circuit will remain in logic 1 state. Owing to this property, such circuits are called "latching circuits." The maximum clocking speed of these circuits cannot exceed a few gigahertz. To solve this problem, JJs are shunted with resistors that make them nonhysteretic. These circuits, called rapid single flux quantum (RSFQ) devices, are the basic building block of superconducting logic circuits. They differ from "conventional" logic in a fundamental way: The logic state is not decided by the voltage level of the gate but by the presence or absence of voltage pulse generated by the motion of single fluxons. Practical superconducting digital circuits with significantly higher performance have been demonstrated. Using niobium technology, a 4 bit microprocessor has been fabricated by Fujitsu and a 1 kbit random access memory (RAM) chip has been made by NEC (for a good review of recent progress in Josephson IC fabrication, see Ref. 20). Many other leading manufacturers are also pursuing this technology (21).

There are a few rather unusual problems in the practical realization of a superconducting computing device. It is impractical to realize a high-speed computer in a Von Neumann-type architecture that involves massive data transfer between a central processor and the memory, which are physically separated over a relatively long distance. An order-of-magnitude estimate of the maximum allowable data path (assuming microstrip interconnects on a substrate with dielectric constant ~20) of a computer operating at 300 GHz is ~0.3 mm. Clearly, this is very difficult to realize on a circuit board. However, applications such as dedicated digital signal processor with on-board cache memory and multichip modules can have phenomenal speed and performance increase if built using RSFQ logic.

Detectors and Mixers

The nonlinearity of a Josephson junction can be exploited to make a mixing device. In addition to the low noise and high efficiency that these devices offer, they can easily be integrated to an all-superconductor radio-frequency (RF) receiver front end.

The general principles of mixing due to photon-assisted tunneling was derived and applied to superconductor-insulatorsuperconductor (SIS) junctions by Tucker (22,23). There can be two types of mixers using Josephson junctions: those using Cooper pair tunneling operating near zero bias voltage and those using quasiparticle tunneling operating near gap voltage. Quasiparticle mixers are usually preferable over Cooper pair mixers for several reasons. For one, the junction capacitance has to be small so that most of the current comes from Cooper pair tunneling and not displacement electric field. This means the use of point contact junctions which are difficult to fabricate reproducibly. Secondly, they are noisy because of harmonic mixing of all frequencies up to the gap frequency. According to the quantum theory of mixing, strong nonlinearity in *I*–*V* characteristics (more precisely, when $I_{dc}(V_{dc} + h\nu/e)$) $- I(V_{dc}) \gg I_{dc}(V_{dc}) - I_{dc}(V_{dc} - h\nu/e)$ can result in conversion gain exceeding unity and conversion efficiency approaching the quantum limit even in a purely resistive mixer. Thirdly, the shot noise in a quasiparticle mixer is lower than that in Cooper pair

tunneling mixers. SIS quasiparticle mixers have been used in radio astronomy for quite a while.

Analog-to-Digial Converters

Analog-to-digital converters (ADCs) are another type of circuit where phenomenal performance improvement has been demonstrated using superconducting circuitry. While superconducting ADCs can be and have been fabricated in most architectures and have the usual advantage of a large bandwidth because of their fast switching capability, there is the additional advantage that when exploiting the multithreshold characteristics of a JJ [see Fig. 8(c)], an *n*-bit flash ADC requires only *n* comparators as opposed to $2^n - 1$ that would be normally required (24). This allows high-bandwidth and high-resolution ADCs to be fabricated reliably and compactly.

Precision Voltage and Frequency Sources

The Josephson relation $\partial \theta / \partial t = 4\pi eV/h$ can be used both as a source of high-frequency radiation and a dc voltage standard. The power radiated by the oscillating Josephson current in response to a small dc bias (483.5 GHz/mV) is usually too very small (a few nanowatts) to be of much practical use, but coherent Josephson arrays have been fabricated that can output as much as a few microwatts, and power levels of up to 1 W has been predicted. On the other hand, when irradiated with microwaves, a JJ develops a dc voltage across it. Since frequency of such radiation can be accurately controlled and measured, such devices are one of the accepted precision voltage standards today.

The Future of Superconducting Microwave Electronics. How are these myriad of possible superconducting circuits realized in practice? Just like any other microelectronic circuit, they are lithographically patterned on a substrate through a similar sequence of steps an in a semiconductor (25). Thus, the vast assortment of techniques developed during the last several decades for and by the semiconductor industry can be ported into commercialization of superconducting electronics. For a complete self-contained system, many of the subsystems have to be built out of semiconductor devices [e.g., the (IF) amplifiers for an RF transceiver]. An efficient way of manufacturing these systems is to mix HTS and high electron mobility transistor (HEMT) semiconductor circuits on the same substrate as a multichip module (MCM) (26). Typically the HTS film is grown on a GaAs substrate with a thin buffer layer for better lattice match. Semiconductor devices perform better at lower temperatures because of enhanced carrier mobility, so the overall performance increases. Decrease of thermal noise is another desirable byproduct. Also, with the increase in the packing density of the semiconductor circuitry, a decrease in operating temperature, and the advent of high-temperature superconductors, the disparity between the operating voltage levels associated with the two types of circuits is going down, minimizing the possibility of ground loops between these two types of elements. Any large-scale commercial application of HTS microwave circuit will rely on the ability to integrate them, either as a hybrid component or as a monolithic component, with active semiconductor components.

There are many hurdles in the road to success of superconducting devices. The absence of a room-temperature superconductor, essential for consumer market, is one of them. Even if there were a room-temperature superconductor, the vast amount of techniques developed by the semiconductor industry for precise and predictable control of material properties are unavailable in the superconductor industry. The reason for this is obvious: The whole phenomenon of high-temperature superconductivity is only understood phenomenologically at best. There is no equivalent of "bandgap engineering" for superconductors. If we knew the material to dope to change the superconducting bandgap, we could then produce a room-temperature superconductor!

However, consumer electronics, though a large share of the market, still is not all of the market. There are niche markets, mostly in the defense sector and commercial/military wireless communication, who would pay the extra dollar to have the advantages of superconducting electronics (see, for example, Ref. 27). For example, the low insertion loss and steep skirt of a superconducting filter makes it cost effective in a cellular base station where the receiving/transmitting antenna must operate within tight bandwidth tolerance and divide up the available bandwidths among as many customers as possible. Such filters are available from many vendors and several are being field-tested by cellular service providers. One example of a large-scale attempt to use HTSC microwave circuits in communication application is the United States Naval Research Laboratory's "High Temperature Superconductivity Space Experiments" (HTSSE) (28). The US Air Force is another major player in this field and expects to utilize low-loss superconducting antennas in the next-generation radar systems. System integration is a crucial aspect toward commercialization, and significant progress has been made to this end. Integration of individual superconducting microwave components to produce a complete self-contained RF receiver/transmitter front end has been successfully demonstrated by many researchers. Integration of superconducting and semiconducting electronics on the same device has also been carried out.

At the present rate of progress, we can safely say that the growth of superconducting electronics will steadily increase with time. Whether it would radically alter the present state of the art, similar to the effect the advent of solid-state circuits had over the vacuum tube technology, will be seen in the years to come.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by NSF-ECS-9711910. I am grateful to the following people for providing me with figures and associated data: Dr. Daniel Oates of MIT Lincoln Laboratory for Fig. 5, Dr. Balam Willemsen of Superconductor Technologies Inc. for Fig. 6, and Dr. Jeffrey Herd of US Air Force Research Laboratory for Fig. 7.

SUGGESTIONS FOR FURTHER READING

The literature of microwave applications of superconductivity is quite extensive, and citations relevant to a particular subtopic have already been given wherever appropriate. A nonexhaustive list of periodicals and monographs of general interest in this area is provided below:

• IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques (Periodical).

- *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity* (Periodical).
- M. J. Lancaster, Passive Microwave Device Applications of High-Temperature Superconductors, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997.
- Zhi-Yuan Shen, High-Temperature Superconducting Microwave Circuits, Norwood, MA: Artech House, 1994.
- S. T. Ruggiero and D. A. Rudman (eds.), Superconducting Devices, New York: Academic Press, 1990.
- R. D. Parks (eds.)., *Superconductivity* (in two volumes), New York: Marcel Dekker, 1969.
- T. Van Duzer and C. W. Turner, *Principles of Superconduc*tive Devices and Circuits, Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1981.
- Harold Weinstock and Martin Nisenoff (eds.), Superconducting Electronics, NATO Advanced Study Institute Series, New York: Springer-Verlag, 1989.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- McConnell, Wolf, and Noufi (eds.), Science and Technology of Thin Film Superconductors, Vols. 1-2, New York: Plenum, 1988, 1990.
- J. D. Jackson, Classical Electrodynamics, 3rd ed. New York: Wiley, 1999.
- M. J. Lancaster, Passive Microwave Applications of High-Temperature Superconductors, Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press, 1997.
- B. A. Willemsen, J. S. Derov, and S. Sridhar, Non-linear response of suspended high temperature superconducting microwave resonators, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 1753-1755, 1995.
- 5. IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech., 44 (7): 1996.
- 6. R. Chatterjee, *Elements of Microwave Engineering*, Ellis Horwood Series on Electrical and Electronic Engineering, Chichester, UK: Ellis Horwood, 1986.
- R. A. Chipman, *Transmission Lines*, Schaum Outline Series, New York: McGraw-Hill, 1968.
- 8. C. Zahopoulos, W. L. Kennedy, and S. Sridhar, Performance of a fully superconducting microwave cavity made of the high T_C superconductor $Y_1Ba_2Cu_3O_y$. Appl. Phys. Lett., **52**: 2168, 1988.
- 9. S. Sridhar and W. L. Kennedy, Novel technique to measure the microwave response of high T_C superconductors between 4.2 and 200 K. Rev. Sci. Instrum., **59**: 531, 1988.
- G. L. Hey-Shipton et al., High temperature superconductor lumped element band-reject filters, U.S. Patent No. 5,616,539, 1997.
- 11. S. Das, U.S. Patent No. 5,496,795, 1996.
- R. J. Dinger, D. R. Bowling, and A. M. Martin, A survey of possible passive antenna applications of high-temperature superconductors, *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, **39**: 1498–1507, 1991.
- 13. R. W. Conrad, U.S. Patent No. H000653, 1989.
- 14. J. T. Lynch et al., U.S. Patent No. 4,499,441, 1985.
- Guo-chun Liang et al., Superconductive digital instantaneous frequency measurement subsystem, *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, 41: 2368, 1993.
- J. C. Gallop, SQUIDs, the Josephson Effects and Superconducting Electronics, Adam Hilger Series on Measurement Science and Technology, Philadelphia, PA: Adam Hilger, 1991.
- W. C. Stewart, Current-voltage characteristics of Josephson junctions, Appl. Phys. Lett., 12: 277-280, 1968.
- D. E. McCumber, Effect of ac impedance on dc voltage-current characteristics of superconductor weak link junctions, J. Appl. Phys., 39: 3113-3118, 1968.

- K. K. Likharev and V. K. Semenov, RSFQ logic/memory family: A new Josephson-junction technology for sub-terahertz-clockfrequency digital systems, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 1: 3, 1991.
- 20. K. Hara (ed.), Superconductivity Electronics, Ohmsha, Japan: Prentice-Hall, 1988.
- Oleg A. Mukhanov, Three-part Josephson memory cell for superconducting digital computer, U.S. Patent No. 5,365,476, 1994.
- J. R. Tucker, Quantum limited detection in tunnel junction mixers, IEEE J. Quantum Electron., QE-15: 1234-1258, 1979.
- Predicted conversion gain in superconductor-insulatorsuperconductor quasiparticle mixer, Appl. Phys. Lett., 36: 477-479, 1980.
- P. D. Bradley, Flash analog-to-digital converter employing Josephson junctions, U.S. Patent No. 5,400,026, 1995.
- Q. Ma and W. N. Hardy, Superconductor logic and switching circuits, U.S. Patent No. 5,345,114, 1994.
- A. D. Smith and A. H. Silver, Integrated superconductive heterodyne receiver, U.S. Patent No. 5,493,719, 1996.
- 27. F. W. Patten and S. A. Wolf, The ARPA high temperature superconductor program, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 3203, 1995.
- M. Nisenoff et al., The high-temperature superconductivity space experiments: HTSSE I components and HTSSE II subsystems and devices, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 3: 2885-2890, 1993.

DURGA P. CHOUDHURY Centre de Recherches en Physique des Plasmas S. SRIDHAR Northeastern University

SUPERCONDUCTIVITY: TUNNELING AND JOSEPHSON JUNCTIONS

Tunneling devices incorporating superconducting materials can exhibit what are known as Josephson effects. A typical example is two superconducting materials separated by a thin dielectric barrier. Remarkably, such a tunneling device can exhibit both a zero-voltage trace for currents below some critical value and a second trace that has tunneling characteristics akin to a forward-biased diode. Traversing the entire current-voltage characteristic of the device will give a hysteretic current-voltage trace. The scale of these phenomena is roughly 1 mV for low-temperature superconductors (such as Pb, Pb-alloys, and Nb) and 10 mV for high-temperature superconductors (such as YBaCuO, BiSrCaCuO, and TIBaCaCuO).

Low-temperature superconductors used for Josephson applications have transition temperatures, T_c , from the normal to the superconducting state of approximately 1 K to 20 K, while high-temperature superconductors have $T_c \approx 90$ K.

The zero-voltage leg of the current-voltage characteristics of a Josephson junction is highly sensitive to magnetic fields. This property is exploited by superconducting quantum interference devices (SQUIDs) to measure magnetic fields down to the 10 fT range, making them the most sensitive detectors of field/flux in existence. Superconducting quantum interference devices have been employed in prototype diagnostic systems for noninvasive mapping of heart and brain function, but must typically be operated within the confines of a magnetically shielded room. Prototype devices using SQUIDs for nondestructive evaluation of metal components are currently being tested in the field. SQUIDs are also employed in the detection of undersea anomalies (submarine and ordinance detection) and in a variety of scientific investigations such as earthquake, gravitywave, free-quark, monopole, and dark-matter detection. Some practical SQUID devices have also used high-temperature superconductors.

The nonzero voltage leg of a Josephson junction currentvoltage characteristic is also useful because it can be highly nonlinear. As such, these devices are employed for mixing in the 100 GHz region, where low noise-temperatures are a must (such as in radio astronomy). This work is restricted to low temperatures—on the order of 1 K—and the use of low-temperature superconductors. High-temperaturesuperconductor tunneling characteristics are not currently of sufficiently high quality for this application.

Another important potential application of Josephson junctions is their use in digital applications. The reason is that switching with Josephson-junction-based logic involves small voltages and currents and can occur over very short time scales. Intrinsic power and switching speed are in the 0.1 μ W and 1 ps range. Josephson junctions employed for this purpose, based on Nb, are a mature technology. For a number of reasons, current technology has focused on ultrahigh-speed analog/digital conversion rather than computation; one issue is the current lack of a suitable memory format compatible with Josephson technology. Nevertheless, high-speed Josephson processing circuitry continues to have promise for such targeted applications as video image processing. A number of books and edited works are available on the subject of the Josephson effect and its applications (1–8).

Ironically, for digital and SQUID applications the intrinsic hysteresis of the junctions must be suppressed. For junctions that employ a thin, insulating oxide barrier, this implies the use of thin-film resistors to shunt the junctions to reduce the hysteresis. A better solution would be to tailor the tunnel barrier material so that it was somewhere between a metal and insulator. More exactly, this suggests producing a material close to the metal-insulator transition. This subject is discussed at further length in connection with research in producing hightemperature superconductor junctions.

METAL-INSULATOR-METAL TUNNELING

A basic tunneling system consists of a metal-insulator-metal (MIM) structure as depicted in Fig. 1. Generally the system comprises thin metal films ~ 10 nm to 100 nm in thickness, separated by a thin dielectric layer $\gtrsim 1$ nm in thickness. This dielectric can either be a native oxide created by the oxidation of the base metal electrode (a good example of which is aluminum) or a deposited artificial barrier, a good example of which is a semiconductor such as silicon. Tunneling in native and artificial barriers has been reviewed as a separate topic (9).

If the metals are not in the superconducting state, we have normal--insulator-normal (NIN) tunneling (10). The currentvoltage characteristics of NIN junctions have been extensively studied in the context of quantum-mechanical electron tunneling through a potential barrier. The height of the barrier, ψ , governs the rate of change of current with applied voltage. Barrier heights typically range from 0.1 eV to 3 eV. Simmons (11)



Figure 1. Shown is a sketch of a normal-insulator-normal, NIN, tunneling system. N represents a normal, or nonsuperconducting metal film. I (nominally an insulator) represents a thin, dielectric layer through which quantum-mechanical tunneling can occur. The normal-metal films are typically approximately 10 nm to 100 nm thick and the dielectric layer is approximately 1 nm thick. Barrier heights, ψ , are typically in the range of 0.1 eV to 3 eV. At low voltages $I \sim R^{-1} (V + \alpha V^3)$ with $\alpha \sim 1 V^{-2}$.

has shown that for applied voltages $V \ll \psi$

$$I = R^{-1}(V + \alpha V^3)$$

where $\alpha \sim 1 V^{-2}$.

At a given voltage, the current varies with barrier thickness, d and barrier height, ψ as

$$I \propto rac{\psi^{rac{1}{2}}}{d} e^{-10.25 \, d\psi^{rac{1}{2}}}$$

where d is in nanometers and ψ is in volts (12). Tunneling in more complex although thematically similar semiconductor systems is discussed by Sze (13).

If we now introduce a superconductor (Fig. 2) as one of the metal elements of the tunnel junction, to produce a superconductor-insulator-normal (SIN) system, the currentvoltage characteristic becomes highly modified. Most notable is the introduction of a region in which, at zero temperature, no current flows until a voltage Δ/e is reached, where Δ is the so called energy gap of the superconducting film. Energy gaps associated with conventional superconductors such as Pb, Pb alloys, Nb, NbTi, and NbSn are in the few meV (1 meV = 10^{-3} eV) range, while energy gaps associated with the hightemperature superconductor materials, such as YBaCuO, are in the \geq 30 meV range.

If we introduce a second superconductor to make an superconductor-insulator-superconductor (SIS) system, something unique occurs (Fig. 3). In this case, two branches develop in the system. If we start at zero current and increase the current slightly, no voltage will develop across the junction until the critical current, I_c , is reached. The critical current is related to the energy gaps of the superconductors by $I_c = \pi/4 \cdot (\Delta_1 + \Delta_2)/eR$, at zero temperature. For example, for Pb and Nb, $\Delta = 1.37$ and 1.53 meV, respectively.

If the critical current is exceeded, a junction driven by a current source will jump (at constant current) over to the quasiparticle curve. Further increasing the current moves one to



Figure 2. Shown is a sketch of a superconductor-insulator-normal, SIN, tunneling system. N represents a normal, or nonsuperconducting metal film and S represents a superconducting film. I (nominally an insulator) represents a thin, dielectric layer through which quantum-mechanical tunneling can occur. The normal-metal films are typically approximately 10 nm to 100 nm thick and the dielectric layer is approximately 1 nm thick. The current-voltage trace shown is for zero temperature (T = 0).

higher voltages on the quasi-particle curve and reducing the current explores the rest of this curve. The zero-voltage state is not recovered until the current is reduced to zero. If a finite impedance source drives the junction, this switching will occur along the load-line of the system. This remarkable situation is due the fact that coherent tunneling of Cooper pairs of electrons (paired electrons in the superconducting state) can occur, producing a zero-voltage superconducting tunneling state in the system. When the critical current is exceeded, these pairs are broken into quasi particles with properties akin to electronhole pairs created across a semiconductor energy gap (13).

The current can be described by the Josephson equations (14-16)

$$I = I_{\rm c} \sin \phi \frac{d\phi}{dt} = \frac{2e}{\hbar} V$$

where ϕ is the phase difference between the superconductors. Therefore, increasing the applied current from zero is equivalent to introducing a quantum-mechanical phase difference between the superconducting elements of the junction.

Beside SIS systems, properly configured SNS systems can also exhibit Josephson effects, as long as the normal-metal channel between the superconducting materials is of the appropriate geometry. This means that the normal metal is either a microscopic weak-link connection, point contact, or a thin-film metal constriction as opposed to a dielectric material (4, 17).

ALTERNATING CURRENT JOSEPHSON EFFECT

A nonzero dc voltage, V = constant, across a Josephson junction implies that

$$\phi = \phi_0 + \frac{2e}{\hbar} V t$$







Figure 3. Shown is a sketch of a superconductor-insulatorsuperconductor, SIS, tunneling system. S represents a superconducting film. I (nominally an insulator) represents a thin, dielectric layer through which quantum-mechanical tunneling can occur. The normalmetal films are typically approximately 10 nm to 100 nm thick and the dielectric layer is approximately 1 nm thick. Increasing the current applied across the device produces no voltage until the critical current, I_c is reached, at which point increasing or decreasing current drives the system along the nonzero-voltage, quasiparticle currentvoltage characteristic. The load-line of a system driven by a nonzero impedance source is also indicated. Applying a magnetic field to a sufficiently small junction (see text) will produce a periodic depression of the critical current. Φ is the magnetic flux entering the junction. $\Phi =$ $HW(d + \lambda_1 + \lambda_2)$, where λ is the penetration depth and $\Phi_0 = h/2e =$ 2.068×10^{-15} Wb.

which means that

$$I = I_{\rm c} \sin(\phi_0 + \frac{2e}{h}Vt)$$

Therefore, a finite voltage across a Josephson junction gives rise to a radio frequency (RF) current of

$$f = \frac{2e}{h}V$$

where 2e/h = 483.598 THz V^{-1} . The presence of an alternating current associated with the appearance of a dc voltage across the junction is the ac Josephson effect. This means that at finite voltage, the current comprises a dc component with a superimposed ac modulation at the Josephson frequency. A currentvoltage characteristic thus represents the time-averaged voltage across the junction as a function of applied current (when the system is driven by a finite-impedance source). The junction thus acts like an RF frequency-to-voltage converter.

Josephson junctions are in fact actually used as highfrequency sources. For a given junction, roughly 10 nW of power can be produced, although most this is dissipated in the junction resistance. The linewidth of the radiation is given by

$$\Delta f = \frac{4k_B TR}{\Phi_0^2}$$

where $\Phi_0 = h/2e = 2.068 \times 10^{-15}$ Wb is the magnetic flux quantum. For $T \sim 1$ K and $R \sim 1 \Omega$, this means that $\Delta f \sim 1$ MHz. The linewidth can be reduced by coupling to a high-Q cavity, although with the concomitant loss of overall operational bandwidth.

To achieve useful output power levels, arrays of junctions are produced to create tunable millimeter wave sources—typically as low-noise local oscillators for radio astronomy mixer applications. Junction arrays can produce $\sim 2 \ \mu W$ to $6 \ \mu W$ of RF power in the 340 GHz to 440 GHz band. To achieve this, all junctions in the array must be phase locked (18).

The ac Josephson effect can be manifested as Shapiro steps (Fig. 3) by coupling microwave radiation into the junction. This produces a series of steps of equal width $\Delta V = (h/2e)$ where f is the frequency of the applied microwaves. An important application that exploits this phenomenon, and also uses series arrays of (here Nb-based) junctions, is the standard volt. Here, a junction array is driven by a microwave source to produce in excess of 1 V dc on the output terminals of the device (19, 20). Only fundamental constants and the frequency of an external oscillator, which can be established with high accuracy, determine the output voltage. The National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) has developed Josephson arrays for this purpose and they now serve as the primary US standard volt.

Recent work in this particular area has also included Nb/AuPd/Nb (SNS-type) junctions. These systems use a normal-metal alloy instead of a dielectric barrier, through which Josephson coupling can also occur to produce a junction that is inherently resistively shunted (21). Another refinement is to use Ti (22) instead of AuPd. Titanium is potentially more desirable, because its resistivity (at 4.2 K) is higher than AuPd and it is compatible with whole-wafer processing techniques.

Experimental work based on a stacks of Josephson junctions (23) has also been explored for potential submillimeter oscillator applications with, for example, NbCN/MgO/NbCN (24), NbCN/NgO/NbCN (25), and Nb/Al/AlOx/Nb (26, 27) systems. Stacks of Josephson junctions may also be useful as inductive elements in resistive or rapid single-flux-quantum (RSFQ) digital circuitry. One technical challenge here is producing junctions with uniform Josephson critical currents, I_c (28).

Microwave irradiation has also been explored on a more purely experimental basis with high-temperature superconductors. These materials can be viewed as a stack of superconducting CuO planes, with an interplanar quantum-mechanical coupling that can vary from one material to another. For example, the layer-to-layer coupling in BaSrCaCuO is far less than in YBaCuO. In fact, in the former case the coupling is similar to the Josephson coupling occurring in an SIS tunnel junction. Thus BaSrCaCuO is thought capable of mimicking the behavior of a stack of individual Josephson junctions. With this picture in mind, researchers have applied microwave radiation to BaSrCaCuO mesas. Microwave steps were in fact observed, but with a voltage spacing greater than that expected for Shapiro steps (29). Mesa-type TlBaCaCuO devices have also been produced (30) with microwave applications in mind. Again, however, these systems remain experimental in nature.

MAGNETIC-FIELD EFFECTS

The current distribution in a Josephson junction will be uniform if the width, W, of the junction (see Fig. 3) is small compared with the Josephson penetration depth, λ_J , with

$$\lambda_J = \left\{ \frac{h}{2e\mu t J_c} \right\}$$

where $J_c = I_c/A$ with A the junction area, and $t = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + d$. The quantities λ are the penetration depths of the superconductors composing the junction. This is the scale over which an applied external magnetic field will penetrate into a superconductor. Here d again is the thickness of the barrier (1-6, 31).

In the case where we apply a static magnetic field to the junction along the direction of the plane of the barrier, we will suppress the Josephson current. If we meet the criterion that the junction is small compared with the Josephson penetration depth, this suppression of the critical current will take the form

$$\frac{I_{\rm c}}{I_{\rm c0}} = \left|\frac{\sin\pi(\Phi/\phi_0)}{\Pi(\Phi/\Phi_0)}\right|$$

where I_{c0} is the zero-field critical current. For Pb, Nb, NbSn, $\lambda \sim 50 \text{ nm}$ to 100 nm; for NbN, $\lambda \sim 300 \text{ nm}$; and for YBaCuO $\lambda_{\parallel} \sim 30 \text{ nm}$ and $\lambda_{\perp} \sim 200 \text{ nm}$. In the last case, parallel and perpendicular refer to the directions along and perpendicular to the CuO planes.

If a junction is not small by this definition, the current distribution will not be uniform and the suppression of the critical current will not follow the simple $\sin x/x$ behavior noted above. Indeed, the geometry of the junction can be controlled to produce a critical-current behavior parametrically tailored to specific applications, as in the case with the use of junctions as elements for digital applications. In addition, the spatial



Figure 4. Shown is the current-voltage characteristic of a nominally SIS junction created by using a scanning tunneling microscope tip to peel up a portion of the surface of a high-temperature superconducting BiSrCaCO (2212) film and hold it in proximity to the underlying material. Although not an ideal characteristic, this demonstrates the ability to achieve (and provides a means to study in detail) tunneling in the high-temperature superconductor materials. From Miyakawa et al., Ref. 32.

nonuniformity of the barriers of individual junctions can be diagnosed through a deconvolution of critical current versus applied magnetic field characteristics (3).

As far as applications are concerned, this general phenomenology implies that a large penetration depth is generally undesirable. A material such as NbN, which has a larger energy gap than Nb (and from this standpoint represents a superior material) suffers from this limitation. However, this can be in part engineered around by creating hybrid NbN/Nb layer pairs in which a balance of the higher critical temperature of NbN (14 K as opposed to 9.25 K for Nb) and lower penetration depth of Nb is reached. Another important example of the use of hybrid materials systems also involves Nb as Nb/Al bilayers; these are used to produce high-quality tunnel junctions as is discussed later (see section entitled "Digital Applications.")

Finally we note that SIS junctions have been made with high-temperature superconductor materials as well. As shown in Fig. 4, such devices have been created with the use of a scanning tunneling microscope tip which is "crashed" into the surface of a BiSrCaCuO crystal (32). As the tip is pulled back up, a junction is created between superconducting material remaining on the tip and the underlying crystal. While hardly a practical device, with less-than-perfect current-voltage characteristics, this nonetheless illustrates the potential for creating devices from high-temperature superconductor material and has provided a valuable vehicle for fundamental studies of the system.

THE RESISTIVELY SHUNTED JUNCTION (RSJ) MODEL

The application of Josephson junctions generally requires control of the degree of junction hysteresis. One way of achieving this is to shunt the junction with an external resistor. This usually means the use of a thin film of Au or AuCu alloy deposited across the SIS junction to produce a shunt in the range of $\sim 1 \Omega$. In some cases, junctions can be produced with internal microscopic resistive links in the barrier layer to achieve the same effect. More sophisticated approaches, involving tuning the properties of tunnel barriers to achieve a conductivity near



Figure 5. The resistively shunted junction (RSJ) model for tunneling in SIS systems. This diagram illustrates that the degree of hysteresis in a junction with a given resistance and capacitance is governed by the magnitude of the parameter $\beta = (2e/h)I_c R^2C$. The parameter can be viewed as setting the degree of damping in the circuit.

the metal-insulator transition, have also been proposed and are discussed further in "High-Temperature Superconductor Ramp Junctions."

Figure 5 shows the electrical equivalent circuit of a shunted Josephson junction with a total resistance R biased by a current source (shunted with an external resistor to produce a resistance far lower than the original tunneling resistance of the junction). Represented in this manner there are three current paths: the Josephson current, the ohmic current, and the displacement current from the junction capacitance. The total current (for a system driven by a current source) is thus

$$I = I_c \sin \phi + \frac{V}{R} + C \frac{dV}{dt}$$

Along with the Josephson relation

$$V = \frac{\hbar}{2e} \frac{dq}{dt}$$

this can be rewritten as

$$\frac{I}{I_c} = \sin\phi - \omega_c^{-1}\frac{d\phi}{dt} + \omega_p^{-2}\frac{d^2\phi}{dt^2}$$

where $\omega_c = (2e/)I_cR$ represents the upper operational frequency of the junction and $\omega_p = (2eI_c/C)^{1/2}$ is the "plasma" or lowerbound propagation frequency of the system. It is customary to define the Stewart-McCumber parameter

$$eta = \left(rac{\omega_{
m c}}{\omega_{
m p}}
ight)^2 = rac{2e}{\hbar} I_{
m c} R^2 C$$

The dependence of the current-voltage characteristics of a Josephson junction on β is also depicted in Fig. 5. Small and large values of β represent the high- and low-damping limits, respectively. The most desirable operating regime for many

applications is $\beta \sim 1$. As noted by Likharev (4), a useful way of parameterizing β is as

$$\beta = \frac{2e}{\hbar} (I_{\rm c} R)^2 \frac{\varepsilon_{\rm r} \varepsilon_0}{d} J_{\rm c}^{-1}$$

where again $J_c = I_c/A$, A is the junction area (W² in Fig. 3), ϵ_r is the dielectric constant of the junction barrier material, $\epsilon_0 = 8.85 \times 10^{-12}$ F/m, and d is the barrier thickness. Improved performance at high frequencies generally implies smaller areas and a concomitant increase in J_c to achieve $\beta \sim 1$ (33). Note that in principle

$$I_{\rm c}R = \frac{\pi}{4} \frac{\Delta_1 + \Delta_2}{e}$$

is an intrinsic property of the superconductors. Its actual value, however, can be lower than the indicated theoretical result due to gap suppression at film surfaces and other effects.

SUPERCONDUCTING QUANTUM INTERFERENCE DEVICES

If we place two Josephson junctions in a loop (Fig. 6) we form a SQUID, in this case a so-called dc SQUID. To produce a device intended for the measurement of flux, the junctions are shunted, as discussed previously, to suppress junction hysteresis. The flux associated with an applied magnetic field generates a circulating current in the device, which suppresses the Josephson current. An applied flux thus modulates the voltage across the device with a period equal to the magnetic flux quantum Φ_0 . The result of this is a device that is very sensitive to magnetic flux. SQUIDs are sensitive to flux to magnitudes $\Phi_{\rm applied} \ll \Phi_0 = h/2e = 2.068 \times 10^{-15}$ Wb. Practical SQUIDs are



Figure 6. Shown is a sketch of a dc SQUID (superconducting quantum interference device) comprising a loop with two Josephson junctions. Shunt resistances are used to control the damping parameter (β) of the junctions. The current-voltage characteristics and voltage-flux characteristics are shown for an applied flux Φ .

capable of measuring fields to the 10 fT magnetic field range, or $\sim 10^{-34}$ J·Hz⁻¹ at 10⁵ Hz (34, 35), making them by far the most sensitive device in existence for measuring magnetic fields and flux. Field versions of SQUIDs can usually achieve an order of magnitude more sensitivity than flux gate magnetometers.

SQUIDs have a variety of applications, including commercial biomedical SQUID arrays that noninvasively monitor and map heart and brain function. Other uses include nondestructive evaluation (NDE) (e.g., crack detection in metals), oceanic anomaly detection, gravity-wave antennas, earthquake monitoring, magnetic monopole detection, dark-matter searches, and other fundamental scientific investigations (6, 36, 37).

A key factor limiting the performance of SQUIDs is 1/f noise. This stems from shallow trapping of both fluxoids in the thin-film elements of the SQUID and tunneling electrons in the barriers of the Josephson junctions (shot noise). The observed 1/f noise typically has a knee in the 1 Hz to 10 Hz range with an associated spectral flux noise density $\geq 10^{-10} \Phi^2_0/\text{Hz}^{-1}$ at 0.1 Hz. Optimizing SQUID performance is especially important for biomedical applications since operation down to the 0.1 Hz range is necessary (38).

The flux noise energy of a SQUID can be written as (39)

$$arepsilon \sim 16 k_B T igg(rac{LC}{eta} igg)^{1/2}$$

which generally suggests the need for devices with the smallest inductance and capacitance, operating at the lowest temperatures. The use of low-temperature superconductors (Pb, Pballoys, Nb, and so on) generally means operation at 4.2 K, (the boiling point of liquid helium at 1 atm) and temperatures less than 80 K for the high-temperature superconductor materials. A method successfully used to reduce inductance is the washer loop (39). Because of the Meissner effect associated with superconductivity, flux transformers can be used to collect and couple flux from a larger, external superconducting loop and present it to the SQUID using a multiturn thin-film coil.

High-temperature superconductors have also been relatively successfully explored for SQUID applications. An approach to creating Josephson junctions in high-temperature superconductor materials is to simply make a step in a substrate to create a step-edge junction. Material grown across the edge acquires a defect that creates a weakly linked Josephson junction, with characteristics similar to a resistively shunted SIS system. It was realized that the actual angle of the step or ramp was important in consistently creating junctions with desired characteristics (40-42). Along the same lines, junctions made with silicon-on-sapphire (SOS) substrates have demonstrated RSJ characteristics (43, 44) and were used to make the first SQUIDs operating at 77 K using step-edge techniques (45).

A different approach to the use of high-temperature superconductor materials is the use of bicrystal substrates. Here, two single crystals (for example, of $SrTiO_3$) are fused together at a predetermined angle to create an off-axis interface. Junctions are made by depositing a thin film of high-temperature superconductor material across this disruptive interface. Bicrystal work in particular has consistently shown RSJ-type currentvoltage characteristics and critical currents that are reproducibly correlated to the angular displacement of the substrate crystal lattices. These bicrystal junctions have been successfully incorporated into YBaCuO (46–48) and BaSrCaCuO



Figure 7. SQUID structure from IBM. Most of the structure seen in the figure is the superconducting loop containing a "flux dam," visible as the triangular restriction on the left, to reduce device noise by limiting circulating currents in the flux loop lines. The Josephson junctions incorporated into the structure are step-edge devices. The overall size of the SQUID is 1×1 cm. From Sun et al., Ref. 53.

SQUIDs (49, 50). Bicrystal junctions of MgO (51) have also been discussed for use in SQUIDs targeted for nondestructive evaluation systems. Noise studies (52) suggest that bicrystal and step-edge techniques generally produce devices of comparable quality. However, although the techniques are suitable for fewdevice applications such as SQUIDs, they are not appropriate for medium- or large-scale integration.

The practical implementation of high-temperature SQUID technology is shown in Fig. 7. The work is from Koch's group at IBM (53). Here junctions are formatted into a large loop containing *flux dams*, one of which is shown to the left as a constriction in the loop. The constriction creates a fuselike link to help eliminate noise-generating current loops.

Beside the double-junction dc SQUID, there is also the single-junction RF SQUID, depicted in Fig. 8. With this device, flux quantization in the ring, along with the corresponding variation of the Josephson current with flux, produce a variation in the inductance of the SQUID loop. This change in loop inductance is coupled to and thus shifts the resonant frequency of an external, RF-driven tank circuit. Because of its relative simplicity and the requirement for only a single, shunted Josephson junction, this scheme was initially and has continued to be the device of choice for many commercial applications, notably for nondestructive evaluation and SQUID voltmeters.

We note finally that, irrespective of the type of SQUID employed, applications such as biomedical diagnostics typically require operation within the confines of a carefully shielded magnetic enclosure. However, for such applications such as nondestructive evaluation field work, SQUID gradiometers can be employed that are more immune from background magnetic fields and can be optimized for unshielded performance.



Figure 8. Shown the schematic of an RF SQUID. This type of SQUID uses a single (shunted) Josephson junction in a loop. Applied external flux (Φ) acts to alter the impedance of the loop, which is inductively coupled to and shifts the frequency of an RF driven tank circuit.

This implies a compromise between field sensitivity and voltage modulation characteristics. For example, SQUIDs for nondestructive evaluation (54) are cited as having a flux noise at 1 Hz of 134 $\mu\Phi_0$ Hz^{-1/2} and 60 $\mu\Phi_0$ Hz^{-1/2} at 10 Hz, qualifying them as prototype commercial systems (55).

In addition to the measurement of flux, SQUIDs can also be configured to perform other functions. This includes the measurement of ultrasmall voltages. SQUID voltmeters are commercially available for measurements in the 1 pV range limited by noise to a range of $\sim 10^{-10}$ V/Hz^{-1/2} at 100 Ω . Radio frequency SQUIDs have also been employed as low-noise amplifiers to ~ 100 MHz.

MIXING AND DETECTION

The zero-voltage branch of a Josephson junction (Fig. 3) can respond at frequencies up to $f \sim (4\Delta/h) \sim (e/h)I_cR \approx 1$ THz for low-temperature superconductors and ≈ 10 THz for hightemperature materials. As a result high-frequency Josephson mixing has been extensively studied. Unfortunately, heterodyne mixing using the zero-voltage branch of the Josephson tunneling characteristic is seriously degraded by the appearance of excess noise due to noise down conversion and the dynamic impedance related to the ac Josephson effect (56).

However, the extreme nonlinearity of the quasi-particle portion of the current-voltage characteristic, as the tunneling current turns on for voltages just above the sum-gap voltage, has been successfully exploited for mixing (56-58) in the same manner as high-frequency diodes are used. For superconducting mixing, the Josephson current (zero-voltage curve) becomes a nuisance and can be suppressed by applying a small magnetic field. Such devices are generally referred to as SIS mixers, with maximum operating frequencies the same as noted previously.

SIS mixers are typically employed when uncompromising low-noise performance is required (such as with radio astronomy) and where very low ($\sim 1 \mu$ W) local-oscillator power is required. These mixers are typically used in the ~ 40 GHz to 1 THz region, with single sideband (SSB) noise temperatures at 100 GHz of ~ 4 K. Overall noise temperatures for ~ 40 GHz to 1 THz are typically within an order of magnitude of the quantum noise limit of $hf/k_{\rm B}$. This currently exceeds the performance of high-electron-mobility transistor (HEMT) devices.

One critical element in mixing is junction quality. The magnitude of the tunneling current for voltages below the turn-on voltage for quasi-particle tunneling, that is, voltages below the sum-gap voltage, is a crital factor in mixer noise performance. Leakage conduction in this regime needs to be as small as possible and is limited in theory only by thermal excitations, but in practice can be dominated by imperfections in the tunnel barrier itself. For this reason, junctions based on oxidized tin and other soft metals were initially employed because of their extremely low so-called subgap conductance due to the high quality of the Sn-oxide barrier. However metals such as Sn are not physically robust with respect to thermal cycling (from their ~1 K operating temperature to room temperature).

Mixing requires a very high quality dielectric barrier integrated into superconductive elements with the highest possible energy gap (and hence critical temperature) to provide the highest operating frequency. Matching requirements also mean that junction resistance be in the 20 Ω to 100 Ω range and that 1 < $2\pi RCf < 10$. Practical compromises have resulted in the use of hybrid systems such as Nb-based electrodes, aluminum-oxide barriers, and Pb-alloy counterelectrodes to form Nb-Al₂O₃-Pballoy junctions. This is a good union between the thermal stability of Nb and the high-quality dielectric properties of Al₂O₃. Nb-Al₂O₃-Nb junctions have also been adopted for mixing applications. The upper operational limit for Nb-based junctions is \sim 1.3 THz. Junctions based on NbN (with a critical temperature of \sim 14 K compared with the 9.25 K transition temperature of niobium) have also been made, which have an operational mixing limit of ~2.5 THz. Early NbN work explored both NbN-MgO-NbN (59, 60), and NbN-AlN-NbN systems (61-63). Recent NbN work has produced devices with double sideband receiver noise temperatures of 1450 K at 600 GHz and 2800 K at 950 GHz (64).

Mixing experiments have also been conducted with hightemperature superconductor materials. For example, bicrystal silicon-based junctions have been produced for this purpose (65). Bicrystal results on silicon and sapphire (66) appear to be comparable to those achieved with $SrTiO_3$ in terms of the overall nature of their current-voltage characteristics, but without the disadvantage of the large dielectric effects of $SrTiO_3$. Both Shapiro steps (67) and harmonic mixing of a 1.6 THz signal have been observed (68) in such systems. However, hightemperature superconductor tunnel systems that have demonstrably fulfilled the stringent requirements for quasi-particle mixing applications have yet to be produced. These applications will require (non-RSJ-like) high-quality, thin-film, SIS type junctions with low subgap conductance.

DIGITAL APPLICATIONS

Researchers with an interest in digital applications such as ultrahigh-speed analog-to-digital conversion (ADC) have been attracted by the fundamental properties of Josephson devices. Josephson junction are fast, with ~1 ps switching times; have low switching power, $\mathbf{P} \sim I_c^2 R \sim 0.1 \ \mu\text{W}$; and can be matched to the impedance of modern microstrip technology (69).

The most extensive effort to use Josephson devices to create a prototype superconducting computer was the much-discussed program at IBM. Although the program was not successful in

achieving its ultimate goal, a great deal was learned and much progress was made (70). Lead-alloy technology that produced junctions with reproducible characteristics and that could be thermally cycled was used. The logic elements were based on latching circuitry with underdamped junctions ($\omega_{\rm p} \ll \omega_{\rm c}$) such that the binary state was defined by the voltage state of a Josephson junction. For example, a junction can be switched from a zero-voltage state to a nonzero voltage state along the load-line of the device. As discussed by Likharev (69), this type of approach has fast set times (\sim 1 ps) but slow reset times (\sim 10 ns). Other difficulties with this arrangement include problems in achieving uniform device clocking across an entire logic array and high latching power (~1 μ W) per gate. More recent work with single-flux-quantum (SFQ) logic (referring to logic based on the presence of single fluxiods in SQUID-based logic elements) has switched to Nb-based junctions (71-74) in a variety of formats.

A new logic type, which is fundamentally different from latching-type logic, has also been introduced. Called RSFQ (resistive/rapid single flux quantum) logic (69, 75), it is a hybrid logic family, wherein junctions are configured to have both logic and (dynamic) memory functions and logic operations are performed on pulses originating from traditional SFQ devices. This approach addresses to some extent a major problem that was encountered in the IBM experimt: matching SFQ logic and memory elements. The approach also recovers much of the fundamentally fast switching times and low switching power of Josephson devices (the latter since junctions are open for only a small part of a clock period). Switching powers of $\sim 10^{-7}$ W/gate $(10^{-18}$ J/bit) implies that packing densities of 10^7 gates/cm² are possible at speeds to ~ 500 GHz with 1 μ m linewidths and at greater speeds for narrower lines (4).

In present practice, much of the effort is not in computing per se but high-speed digital processing, especially ADC [and agile programmable voltage standards (76, 77)] with RSFQ as a favored digital logic format (78, 79). For example, 1024-bit shift registers have been operated at up to 20 GHz (80).

The current application of Josephson technology is still largely based on niobium. Niobium technology is mature and now appears to be the standard for digital Josephson applications. Niobium based junctions are physically robust and amenable to large-scale integration as a result of the important innovation of replacing the native oxide that grows on niobium, which generally forms a poor quality barrier with a relatively large dielectric constant (140 $fF/\mu m^2$) (81, 82). The idea is that the niobium base electrode is capped in situ with a thin aluminum film (~ 1 nm to 8 nm thick), which is oxidized to completion to form a surface-layer junction and in the process prevents the growth of NbOx (9, 83, 84). This scheme successfully combines the relatively high critical temperature, $T_{\rm c}$, of the (robust) Nb underlayer (9.25 K) with the unsurpassed qualities of Al₂O₃, which is an excellent barrier material with a relatively low dielectric constant (60 fF/ μ m²) (84) compared with Nb oxide. A large-scale process for creating many such junctions with a simple anodization process was developed by Kroger et al. (85, 86). Likharev has reviewed the complexities of junction fabrication for digital and other applications (4).

A good example of contemporary large-scale Josephson technology is the work at HYPRES Inc., which produces large-scale integrated Nb-based Josephson tunnel junction circuitry using RSFQ logic. A recently manufactured large-scale integration ADC is shown in Fig. 9. Target applications for such sys-



Figure 9. Modern analog/digital converter from HYPRES, Inc. using niobium technology. The chip is a 6-bit flash ADC with a 32-word shift resister memory and operates at 16 GS/s.

tems would include high-resolution ADCs for radar and timeto-digital converters (TDCs) to measure the timing of events in high-energy and nuclear physics experiments. These systems have demonstrated flash ADC with 6-bit resolution, in the 1 GHz to 10 GHz operating range (87).

Another potential application for the fast switching speed of Josephson junctions is cross-bar and related switching matrices for switching between processors and memory (88, 89). This is important to high-speed telecommunications and computation applications.

We finally note that other approaches based on quantumlimited-logic have been proposed and may be competitive in some areas. One of these is single-electron logic (SEL), which is based on charging effects in ultrasmall capacitance tunnel junctions (and not the Josephson effect). SEL is operationally similar to RSFQ logic, but the former is based on the presence or absence of single electrons rather than magnetic fluxoids (loosely speaking, bits based on single electrons with charge *e* as opposed to single fluxoids with flux Φ_0) (4, 69).

HIGH-TEMPERATURE SUPERCONDUCTOR SYSTEMS

The appearance of high-temperature superconductor materials has spurred a broad-based effort to produce Josephson junctions for digital and other applications. Some of these approaches were discussed previously in connection with SQUIDs. Beside this work, other approaches have been taken to produce a successful junction format. Certainly all the high-speed applications that are envisioned for niobium-based Josephson technology such as flash ADC, wideband ADCs, transient-event digitizers, and crowbar switches could be envisioned for high-temperature superconductor materials as well. Barring thermodynamic considerations, operation at higher temperatures would generally be an advantage. The biggest hurdle now for high-temperature superconductor digital applications is the uniformity of the Josephson critical current density (Josephson critical current per unit junction area) for junctions across a single chip and chip-to-chip critical current uniformity. A maximum variation of a few percentage points in critical current density is probably necessary for large-scale applications (90), and this has yet to be achieved. At present, achievable spreads in critical current density are more in the vicinity of (or perhaps somewhat less than) 10 percent. This single consideration is a dominant factor governing which basic device format will be successful for high-temperature superconducting materials, a number of which have been and are currently being explored in an attempt to find a suitable candidate to meet this criterion.

We again note that high-temperature superconductors can be viewed as quasi-two-dimensional materials—a stack of Josephson coupled two-dimensional superconducting layers. This basic physical structure, combined with a propensity for naturally occurring grain boundaries—which also act as Josephson weak links—has led to the investigation of intrinsic Josephson effects (91–99). Some of the devices based on naturally occurring, intergranular weak links have exhibited good critical-current and normal-state characteristics. However, the use of naturally occurring weak links to create junctions per se has typically lead to poor reproducibility. Focused ion beam (FIB) techniques have also been used in an attempt to artificially induce defects at given locations by inducing substrate damage (100).

A successful approach to creating SNS type junctions in preselected locations is focused electron beam (FEB) writing. Here, an electron beam is directed at a location on a superconducting thin film, creating a narrow, damaged line of material. The material then acts as a normal metal to create an HTS/N/HTS (HTS, high-temperature superconductor) device (101–106). The technique can produce RSJ-like microwave behavior (107, 108). An example is the work at Cambridge (104), where a computer-controlled electron beam (350 KeV at 400 pA) is swept across narrow lines of YBaCuO. This process has produced junctions with an SNS character (17) with long-term room-temperature stability. One drawback of the large-scale use of FEB is its slow materials processing speed, since each device must be individually electron-beam written.

High-Temperature Superconductor Ramp Junctions

The idea of creating a step in a substrate has also been extended to make SNS and SIS type structures where the normal and insulating materials are separately introduced films as opposed to defect-modified high-temperature superconductor material. Originally, SNS junctions used normal metals such as gold; however, such devices appear to have been dominated by interface resistance. More recently, both cobalt-doped YBaCuO and gallium-doped PrBaCaO have been used as generic barrier materials in YBCO/barrier/YBCO systems, selected because they are physically compatible with YBaCuO and their conductance properties can be tuned with doping level. Cobaltdoped YBaCuO has a relatively low resistance, as opposed to gallium-doped PrBaCuO, and thus imposes a somewhat limited device operating temperature range because the material becomes superconducting below some temperature (109), although relatively narrow critical current density spreads (~ 12 percent variation) have been observed with the material (110, 111). Such junctions have also been employed in SQUIDs (112).



Figure 10. Sketch of the ramp junction geometry used with hightemperature superconductor materials, shown here with YBaCuO films.

Gallium-doped PrBaCuO tunnel barriers tend to produce relatively high resistance barriers and must be operated below 77 K. Nevertheless, the material can produce junctions with values of I_cR in a technologically useful range (~1 mV) and with independently adjustable critical current density and resistance (113), which is important for engineering considerations. In one view of tunneling in PrBaCuO, supercurrent (zerovoltage) conduction occurs via direct tunneling through the barrier whereas quasi-particle (nonzero-voltage) conduction occurs via resonant tunneling channels within the barrier (114). The fundamentals of this issue were also addressed, with device applications in mind, by work with amorphous silicon barriers (115).

HTS/I/HTS tunnel junctions using PrBaCuO barriers in a ramp format have been produced through a variety of techniques (116, 117). A sketch of the standard ramp junction format used with high-temperature superconductor materials is shown in Fig. 10. All tend to produce devices with RSJ-like characteristics [with $I_cR \sim 1$ mV at 4.2 K, which scales with PrBaCuO doping (118)]. The combination of step-edge substrates and doped barriers has been promising overall, and these devices have been modeled by microscopic theory (17), although the full applicability of standard proximity-effect theory with regard to high-temperature superconductor materials remains an open question (119).

To date, small circuits have been put together with these junctions, which are designed with tolerance to the large spreads that exist at present in junction critical current (120– 124). Clearly, again, the challenge is to improve on the reproducibility of critical currents in this or any other device configuration that may present itself.

Related to this work are engineered interface YBaCuO/I/YBaCuO-type junctions. Here, the barriers are produced by relatively subtle damage to the base YBaCuO film and then YBaCuO is simply deposited on top. The suggestion is that the barrier comprises a thin layer of YBaCuO with oxygen disorder or deficiency perhaps a few nanometers thick (125). Other groups have been experimenting with this and related techniques (126).

In summary, a variety of promising approaches have been explored with high-temperature superconductor materials to produce junctions for SQUID and digital applications. The primary goal is to produce junctions that are parametrically reproducible, and the secondary goal is to produce a thin-film barrier compatible with the high-temperature superconductor materials with transport properties close to the metal-insulator transition. The latter would allow the junction to be self-shunting and thus allow for a broader use of the devices. This balancing act is challenging in light of the problems of material compatibility with high-temperature superconductor systems and unanswered questions regarding the physics of barriers (especially high-temperature superconductor-compatible materials) near the metal-insulator transition.

High-Temperature Superconductor Applications:Technical Considerations

A great deal of effort has gone into the application of high-temperature superconductor materials for SQUIDs and SFQ/RSFQ logic circuitry. Such circuits need nonhysteretic junctions with $I_c \sim 50 \ \mu A$ to 500 μA and $R \sim 1 \ \Omega$ for 10 < T < 77 K, which is achieved with low-temperature superconductor materials, compatible barrier materials—such as doped PrBaCuO or YBaCuO—typically have far lower resistivities than barriers such as Al₂O₃. Therefore, as noted, these barrier materials have been examined with a view toward obtaining high-temperature superconductor—based junctions in the parametrically desirable region where shunting would be unnecessary (109, 127, 128).

In Likharev's description of SFQ circuits (129) it was shown that for niobium junctions with $I_cR \sim 0.2$ mV, operation can be in the 100 GHz range. For SFQ to work, one needs series or parallel loops of junctions with inductance L such that $(1/2)\Phi_0$ $< LI_c < (3/2)\Phi_0$. This limits the acceptable range of I_c for junctions. A lumped-parameter analysis (130) indicates that at ~10 K the minimum I_c for $I_cR \sim 0.1$ mV to 1.0 mV is ~0.2 m and for high temperatures, ~60 K to 70 K, I_c will need to be ~1.2 mA. The analysis also indicates that to avoid latching and ensure sufficiently fast signal propagation, the condition on junction resistance will be that $R_{\max} \sim 4 \Omega$ for $\epsilon_r = 40$ with 1 μ m lines and 2 Ω for $\epsilon_r = 100$, where ϵ_r is the dielectric constant of the material adjacent to the signal lines.

This analysis and the results of other work (131, 132) suggest that devices using PrBaCuO-based barriers can achieve critical currents, I_c , in the range of 10^5 A/cm^2 and still be non-hysteretic. The ultimate conclusion is that that PrBaCuO barriers can give junctions parametrically compatible with SFQ applications.

THREE-TERMINAL DEVICES

One overriding characteristic of a Josephson junction is that it is a two-terminal device, more like a forward-biased diode with a hysteretic current-voltage characteristic than a transistor, which has a gate or base terminal. However, there have been a number of proposed and experimentally examined three-terminal superconducting devices. These include hybrid superconductor-semiconductor devices, such as junction and field-effect transistors, and nonequilibrium superconducting devices, such as stacked-junctions and injection-controlled weak links (133). At present none of these devices has found its way into standard use, because they generally have not exhibited above unity gain, although in theory this appears to be possible (134). One inherent problem is the high carrier density of conventional superconducting materials, making it difficult to modulate device transconductance. However, hightemperature superconductor materials, which have far lower carrier densities and perhaps other parametric advantages for certain device configurations (135), provide somewhat more promise for three-terminal devices.

Early work on Josephson FETs per se has included InAlAs/InGaAs HEMT-type configurations, where a gate



Figure 11. The figure shows the structure of a proposed magnetic/superconductor memory element. Shown are parallel (a) and antiparallel (b) configurations of magnetization in the M layers. Figure from Sangjun et al., Ref. 170.

controls the magnitude of the Josephson current (136). The overall prospects for Josephson FETs (137), and experimental results with HEMPT devices (138) have also been presented. Generally it appears ultimately possible to create a device with voltage gain, driving loads of $\sim 100 \Omega$. FET-type structures have also been created in YBaCuO/barrier/YBaCuO SIS-type systems, where a base layer is used to apply a strong electric field across the barrier region using an external gate, causing a change in surface carrier density and a corresponding modulation of the Josephson current. Examples of this work include YBaCuO/SrTiO₃/YBaCuO and related structures (139–146) and Au/SrTiO₃/YBaCuO (NIS) structures (147, 148).

In general, FET structures have to date not shown anything but relatively weak effects, although work on a variety of promising systems continues (149). The work is motivated in part because the devices have the potential to serve as a Josephson-to-semiconductor logic interface. The general problem to be addressed is that Josephson logic output voltages are $\sim 3 \text{ mV}$ (for low-temperature superconductors) while a CMOS device operates at $\sim 1 \text{ V}$. Some work has been specifically directed at this issue (150, 151), including interface electronics combining 4 K Josephson drivers and 77 K semiconducting HEMT amplifiers with a predicted speed of 1 GHz to 3 GHz (152).

A variety of other schemes have also been advanced for both low- and high-temperature systems. These fall under the generic categories of electric-field controlled devices (153-157), quasi-particle injection devices (158, 159), flux-flow transistors (160, 161), and dielectric-base transistors (162-66).

Although these ideas continued to be pursued, an achievable device format with useful gain has yet to emerge unambiguously. Certainly, three-terminal high-temperature superconductor devices will require higher quality junctions and for FETs, dielectric gates compatible with high-temperature superconductor materials and better geometries to provide
improved coupling of electric fields into junctions. Thorough discussions of three-terminal Josephseon devices are available in the literature (155, 167–169).

RELATED SUPERCONDUCTING DEVICES

While not superconducting tunneling devices, several systems have recently been developed that could interface with superconducting devices and logic. One example, illustrated in Fig. 11, is a memory element based on superconductormagnetic multilayers (170).

There has also recently been considerable interest in the physics and device implications of tunnel junctions containing magnetic elements (171–175), which may also be compatible with and complementary to Josephson circuitry.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to thank Alan Kleinsasser for many useful comments on the text. I also wish to acknowledge insightful discussions with M. R. Beasley, D. A. Moore, J. M. Rowell, and J. Talvacchio and comments by Alan Kadin. I also gratefully acknowledge support during the preparation of this work by the Department of Energy, Division of Materials Sciences, through grant DE-FG02-88ER45373.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. T. Van Duzer and C. W. Turner, *Principles of Superconductive Devices and Circuits*, New York: Elsevier North Holland, 1981.
- 2. A. Barone and G. Paterno, Principles and Applications of the Josephson Effect, New York: Wiley, 1982.
- A. Barone and G. Patterson, Physics and Application of the Josephson Effect, New York: Wiley, 1982.
- K. K. Likharev, Dynamics of Josephson Junctions and Circuits, New York: Gordon and Breach, 1986.
- 5. H. Weinstock and M. Nisenoff, Superconducting Electronics, Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1989.
- J. C. Gallop, SQUIDs, the Josephson Effects and Superconducting Electronics, New York: Adam Hilger, 1990.
- S. T. Ruggiero and D. A. Rudman, Superconducting Devices, New York: Academic Press, 1990.
- 8. T. P. Orlando and K. A. Delin, Foundations of Applied Superconductivity, Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley, 1991.
- S. T. Ruggiero, Artificial tunnel barriers, in S. T. Ruggiero, D. A. Rudman (eds.), Superconducting Devices, New York: Academic Press, 1990, pp. 373-390.
- I. Giaever, Metal-insulator-metal tunneling, in E. Burstein and S. Lundqvist (eds.), *Tunneling Phenomena in Solids*, New York: Plenum, 1969, pp. 19-30.
- J. G. Simmons, Low-voltage current-voltage relationships of tunnel junctions, J. Appl. Phys., 34: 238, 1963.
- J. G. Simmons, Image force in metal-oxide-metal tunnel junctions, in E. Burnstein and S. Lundqvist (eds.), *Tunneling Phenomena in Solids*, New York: Plenum, 1969, pp. 135-148.
- S. M. Sze, Physics of Semiconductor Devices, New York: Wiley, 1981.
- B. D. Josephson, Possible new effects in superconducting tunneling, *Phys. Lett.*, 1: 251, 1962.

- 15. B. D. Josephson, The discovery of tunneling supercurrents, *Science*, **184**: 527, **1974**.
- P. W. Anderson and J. M. Rowell, Probable observation of the Josephson superconducting tunneling effect, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 10: 230, 1963.
- K. A. Delin and W. A. Kleinsasser, Stationary properties of highcritical-temperature proximity effect Josephson junctions, *Super*cond. Sci. Technol., 9: 227, 1996.
- J. Lukens, Josephson arrays as high frequency sources, in S. T. Ruggiero and D. A. Rudman (eds.), *Superconducting Devices*, New York: Academic Press, 1990, pp. 135–167.
- S. P. Benz, Superconductor-normal-superconductor junctions for programmable voltage standards, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 67: 2714, 1995.
- C. A. Hamilton, C. J. Burroughs, and S. P. Benz, Josephson voltage standard—a review, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercon., 7: 3756, 1997.
- S. P. Benz, et al., Stable 1 volt programmable voltage standard, Appl. Phys. Lett., 71: 1866, 1997.
- L. Fritsch, et al., Superconductor-normal metal-superconductor Josephson junctions with Ti interlayer, Appl. Phys. Lett., 73: 1583, 1998.
- I. P. Nevirkovets, Fabrication, dc characteristics of vertically stacked SIS-type structures for use as low-temperature detectors, *Supercond. Sci. Technol.*, 8: 575, 1995.
- A. V. Ustinov, H. Kohlstedt, and C. Heiden, Coherent flux-flow in vertically stacked long Josephson tunnel junctions, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Superconduct.*, 5: 2743, 1995.
- A. Shoji, T. Kikuchi, and H. Yamamori, Uniformity of critical currents of vertically stacked Josephson junctions, in *Extended Abstr.* 5th Int. Workshop High-Temp. Supercond. Electron Devices, Tokyo, FED-157: 157, 1997.
- M. G. Blamire, et al., Characteristics of vertically-stacked planar tunnel junction structures, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-25: 1135, 1989.
- I. P. Nevirkovets, L. P. Stryzhko, and A. V. Poladich, Photonassisted tunneling in stacked tunnel structures by millimeter wave irradiation, *Physica B*, **194–196**: 2395, 1994.
- S. Lomatch, E. D. Rippert, and J. B. Ketterson, Multilayer Josephson junction flux quantum devices, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 3147, 1995.
- M. Scheuerman, J. T. Chen, and J. J. Chang, Interaction between microwaves and a single vortex in a long Josephson tunnel junction, J. Appl. Phys., 54: 3286, 1983.
- 30. S. Yoshikawa, et al., Intrinsic Josephson junctions of Tl_2Ba_2Ca CuO_x thin films for high frequency devices, *Physica C*, **293**: 44, 1997.
- M. Tinkham, Introduction to Superconductivity, 2nd ed., New York: McGraw-Hill, 1996.
- 32. N. Miyakawa, et al., Strong dependence of the superconducting gap on oxygen doping from tunneling measurements on Bi₂ Sr₂ Cau₂ O₇₋₈, Phys. Rev. Lett., 80: 157, 1998.
- A. W. Kleinsasser and R. A. Buhrman, High-quality submicron niobium tunnel junctions with reactive-ion-beam oxidation, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 37: 841, 1980.
- D. J. van Harlingen, R. H. Koch, and J. Clarke, Dc SQUID near the quantum noise limit, *Physica (Utrech)*, B108: 1083, 1981.
- D. J. van Harlingen, R. H. Koch, and J. Clarke, Superconducting quantum interference device with very low magnetic flux noise energy, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 41: 197, 1982.
- Y. Zhang, et al., Applications of high-temperature SQUIDs, Appl. Supercond., 3: 367, 1995.
- F. Ludwig, et al., Multilayer magnetometers based on high-T_e SQUIDs, Appl. Supercond., 3: 383, 1995.

174 SUPERCONDUCTIVITY: TUNNELING AND JOSEPHSON JUNCTIONS

- G. L. Romani, The use of SQUIDs in the study of biomagnetic fields, in H.-D. Hahlbohm and H. Lubbig (eds.), SQUID '85. Berlin: de Gruyer, 1985.
- J. Clarke, SQUIDs: Principles, noise and applications, in S. T. Ruggiero and D. A. Rudman (eds.), Superconducting Devices, New York: Academic Press, 1990, pp. 51-99.
- J. Gao, et al., Controlled preparation of all high-T_c SNS-type edge junctions and dc SQUIDs, *Physica C*, 171: 126, 1990.
- C. L. Jia, et al., Microstructure of epitaxial YBa₂ Cu₃ O₇ films on step-edge SrTiO, *Physica C*, 175: 545, 1991.
- R. B. Laibowitz, et al., All high T_c edge junctions and SQUIDs, Appl. Phys. Lett., 56: 686, 1990.
- Y. A. Boikov, et al., Biepitaxial Josephson junctions with high critical current density based on YBa₂/Cu₃/O_{7-δ} films on silicon on sapphire, J. Appl. Phys., 77: 1654, 1995.
- B. N. Hunt, et al., High-T_c edge-geometry SNS weak link on silicon-on-sapphire substrates, *Physica C*, 230: 141, 1994.
- 45. M. J. Burns, et al., Demonstration of YBa₂ Cu₃ $O_{7-\delta}$ and complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor device fabrication on the same sapphire substrate, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **63**: 1282, 1993.
- D. Koelle, et al., High performance dc SQUID magnetometers with single layer YBa₂/Cu₃/O_{7-x} flux transformers, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 63: 3630, 1993.
- R. Cantor, et al., Low-noise, single-layer YBa₂/Cu₃/O_{7-x} dc SQUID magnetometers at 77 K, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 2927, 1995.
- F. Dillnn, V. N. Giyantsev, and M. Siegel, Performance of YBa₂/Cu₃/O_{7-δ} direct current SQUIDs with high-resistance, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 69: 1948, 1996.
- T. Amrein, et al., Thin film Bi₂Sr₂CaCu₂O_{8+x} Josephson junctions and direct current superconducting quantum interference devices on (001) SrTiO₃ bicrystals, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 63: 1978, 1993.
- T. Takami, et al., Dc superconducting quantum interference devices with BiSrCaCuO bicrystal grain boundary junctions at 77 K, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., 35: L391, 1996.
- C. Carr, et al., Electromagnetic nondestructive evaluation: Moving HTS SQUIDs, including field nulling and dual frequency measurements, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 3275, 1997.
- L. Hao, J. C. Macfarlane, and C. M. Pegrum, Excess noise in YBa₂Cu₃O₇ thin film grain boundary Josephson junctions and devices, Supercond. Sci. Technol., 9: 678, 1996.
- 53. J. Z. Sun, et al., Improved process for high-T_c superconducting step-edge junctions, Appl. Phys. Lett., 63: 1561, 1993.
- A. Cochran, et al., Experimental results in non-destructive evaluation with HTS SQUIDs, in *Proc. EUCAS '95*, Institute Physics Conf., 2: 1511, 1995.
- L. N. Morgan, et al., Electromagnetic nondestructive evaluation with simple HTS SQUIDs: Measurements and modeling, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 3127, 1995.
- Q. Hu and P. L. Richards, Quasiparticle mixers and detectors, in S. T. Ruggiero and D. A. Rudman (eds.), *Superconducting Devices*, New York: Academic Press, 1990, pp. 169–196.
- J. R. Tucker and M. J. Feldman, Quantum detection at millimeter wavelengths, *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 57: 1055, 1985.
- P. L. Richards and Q. Hu, Superconducting components for infrared and millimeter-wave receivers, Proc. IEEE, 77: 1233, 1989.
- J. A. Stern, et al., NbN/MgO/NbN SIS tunnel junctions for sub mm wave mixers, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 25: 1054, 1989.
- W. R. McGrath, et al., Performance of NbN superconductive tunnel junctions as SIS mixers at 205 GHz, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 27: 2650, 1991.
- W. Zhen, A. Kawakami, and Y. Uzawa, NbN/AlN/NbN tunnel junctions with high current density up to 54 kA/cm², Appl. Phys.

Lett., 70: 114, 1997.

- Y. Uzawa, et al., Submillimeter wave responses in NbN/AlN/NbN tunnel junctions, Appl. Phys. Lett., 66: 1992, 1995.
- Y. Uzawa, W. Zhen, and A. Kawakami, Quasi-optical submillimeter-wave mixeres with NbN/AlN/NbN tunnel junctions, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 69: 2435, 1996.
- 64. P. Dielman, et al., Shot noise in NbN SIS junctions suitable for THz radiation detection, in Appl. Superconductivity, Proc. of EUCAS 1997 3rd. Eur. Conf. Appl. Superconductivity, 1: 421, 1997.
- J. Chen, et al., YBa₂Cu₃O_{7-δ} angle grain boundary junction on Si bicrystal substrate, Jp. J. Appl. Phys., 30: 1964, 1991
- 66. P. Seidel, S. Linzen, and F. Schmidl, High-T_c thin films and Josephson junctions on silicon and sapphire substrates, in *Extended Ab*str. 5th Int. Workshop High-Temp. Supercond. Electron Devices, Tokyo, FED-157: 178, 1997.
- P. A. Rosenthal and E. N. Grossman, Terahertz Shapiro steps in high temperature SNS Josephson junctions, *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, 42: 547, 1994.
- K. Nakajima et al., THz response of YBCO grain boundary junctions, in Extended Abstr. 5th Int. Workshop High-Temp. Supercond. Electron Devices, Tokyo, FED-157: 185, 1997.
- 69. K. K. Likharev, V. K. Semenow, and A. B. Zorin, New possibilities for superconductor devices, in S. T. Ruggiero and D. A. Rudman (eds.), *Superconducting Devices*, New York: Academic Press, 1990, pp. 1–49.
- 70. Collection of articles, IBM J. Res. Develop., 24, 1980.
- S. Kotani et al., Feasibility of an ultra-high-speed Josephson multiplier, IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits., SC-22: 98, 1987.
- H. Hayakawa, Computing, in S. T. Ruggiero, D. A. Rudman (eds.), Superconducting Devices, New York: Academic Press, 1990, pp. 101-134.
- 73. T. van Duzer and G. Lee, Digital signal processing, in S. T. Ruggiero and D. A. Rudman (eds.), *Superconducting Devices*, New York: Academic Press, 1990, pp. 197-225.
- 74. R. S. Withers, Wideband analog signal processing, in S. T. Ruggiero and D. A. Rudman (eds.), *Superconducting Devices*, New York: Academic Press, 1990, pp. 227–272.
- 75. K. K. Likharev, O. A. Mukhanov, and V. K. Semenov, Resistive single flux quantum logic for the Josephson-junction digital technology, in H.-D. Hahlbohm and H. Lubbig (eds.) SQUID '85, Berlin: de Gruyer, 1985, pp. 1103–1108.
- S. P. Benz, C. J. Burroughs, and C. A. Hamilton, Operating margins for a pulse-driven programmable voltage standard, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 2653, 1997.
- 77. S. P. Benz and C. A. Hamilton, A pulse-driven programmable Josephson voltage standard, Appl. Phys. Lett., 68: 3171, 1996.
- K. K. Likharev and V. K. Semenov, RSFQ logic/memory family; A new Josephson-junction technology for sub-teraherz-clockfrequency digital systems, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 1: 3, 1991.
- K. K. Likharev, Ultrafast superconducting electronics: RSFQ technology roadmap, Proc. Low Temp. Phys. Conf. LT-21, 1996.
- O. A. Mukhanov, RSFQ 1024-bit shift register for acquisition memory, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 3: 3102, 1993.
- J. H. Magerlein, Specific capacitance of Josephson tunnel junctions, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 17: 286, 1981.
- R. F. Broom et al., Niobium oxide-barrier tunnel junction, *IEEE Trans. Elect. Dev.*, ED-27: 1998, 1980.
- E. L. Wolf, et al., Proximity electron tunneling spectroscopy I. Experiments on Nb, J. Low Temp. Phys., 40: 19, 1980.
- M. Gurvitch, M. A. Washington, and H. A. Huggins, High quality refractory tunnel junctions using thin aluminum layers, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 42: 472, 1983.

- H. Kroger, L. N. Smith, and D. W. Jillie, Selective niobium anodization process for fabricating Josephson tunnel junctions, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **39**: 280, 1981.
- D. Jillie et al., All-refractor, Josephson logic circuits, IEEE J. Sol. State Circuits, SC-18: 173, 1983.
- P. Bradley, A 6-bit Josephson flash A/D converter with GHz input bandwidth, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 3: 2550, 1993.
- T. Sterling, P. Messina, and P. H. Smith, *Enabling Technologies* for Petaflops Computing, Cambridge, MA, MIT Press, 1996.
- N. B. Dubash, P.-F. Yuh, and V. V. Brozenets, SFQ data communication switch, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 2681, 1997.
- D. L. Miller, J. X. Przybysz, and J. H. Kang, Margins and yields of SFQ circuits in HTS materials, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 3: 2728, 1993.
- Y. Ishimaru et al., Observation of boundary Josephson junction with d-wave pairing characteristics, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., 34: L1532, 1995.
- R. Kleiner, et al., Intrinsic Josephson effects in high-T_c superconductors, *Phys. Rev.*, B49: 1327, 1994.
- 93. R. Kleiner, et al., Dynamic behavior of Josephson-coupled layered structures, *Phys. Rev.*, **B50**: 3942, 1994.
- A. Irie and G. Oya, Flux flow behavior in the intrinsic Josephson junctions in Bi₂Sr₂CaCu₂O_y single crystals, *Physica C*, 235: 3277, 1994.
- 95. Y. I. Latyshev, J. E. Nevelskaya, and P. Monceau, Dimensional crossover for intrinsic dc Josephson effect in Bi₂Sr₂CaCu₂O₈ 2212 single crystal whiskers, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 77: 932, 1996.
- 96. A. Yurgens, et al., Strong temperature dependence of the c-axis gap parameter of Bi₂Sr₂CaCu₂O_{8+δ} intrinsic Josephson junctions, *Phys. Rev.*, **B53**: R8887, 1996.
- A. Irie, M. Sakakibara, and G. Oya, Growth and tunneling properties of (Bi,Pb)₂Sr₂CaCu₂O_y single crystals, *IEICE Trans. Electron*, E77-C: 1191, 1994.
- A. Irie and G. Oya, Microwave response of intrinsic Josephson junctions in BSCCO single crystals, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Super*cond., 5: 3267, 1995.
- 99. A. Irie, M. Iwama, and G. Oya, Novel microwave-induced steps of intrinsic Josephson junctions in mesa-shaped BSCCO single crystals, Supercond. Sci. Technol., 9: A14, 1996.
- C. Neumann et al., Fabrication of high I_cR_n YBCO-Josephsonjunctions on MgO-substrates using a focused-ion-beam system, *Physica*, C210: 138, 1993.
- A. J. Pauza et al., High-T_e Josephson junctions by electron beam irradiation, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 3: 2405, 1993.
- 102. S. K. Tolpygo, et al., Normal-state properties and Josephson effects in HTS weak links produced by electron beam, *IEEE Trans. Appl.* Supercond., 5: 2521, 1995.
- 103. B. A. Davidson et al., Superconductor-normal-superconductor behavior of Josephson junctions scribed in Y₁Ba₂Cu₃O₇₋₈ by a highbrightness electron source, Appl. Phys. Lett., 68: 3811, 1996.
- 104. D. F. Moore et al., Asymmetric YBaCuO Interferometers and SQUIDs made with focused electronbeam irradiation junctions, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 2494, 1997.
- 105. W. E. Booij et al., Electrodynamics of closely coupled YBCO junctions, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 3025, 1997.
- 106. A. J. Pauza et al., Electron-beam damaged high-temperature superconductor Josephson junctions, J. Appl. Phys., 82: 5612, 1997.
- S.-J. Kim et al., Successful fabrication of bicrystal Si substrates for YBa₂bCu₃O_{7-y} Josephson junctions, Cryogenics, 35: 901, 1995.
- 108. S.-J. Kim et al., Microwave induced steps of YBCO weak link damaged by focused electron beam irradiation, in *Extended Abstr. 5th Int. Workshop on High-Temp. Supercond. Electron Devices*, Tokyo, FED-157, 182, 1997.

- 109. L. Antognazza et al., Proximity effect in $YBa_2Cu_3O_{7-\delta}/YBa_2Cu_1_xCo_x)_3O_{7-\delta}/YBa_2Cu_3O_{7-\delta}$ junctions: From the clean limit to the dirty limit with pair breaking, *Phys. Rev.*, **B51**: 8560, 1995.
- W. H. Mallison et al., A multilayer YBa₂Cu₃O_x Josephson junction process for digital circuit applications, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 68: 3808, 1996.
- 111. H. Sato et al., Improvement in parameter spreads of YBaCuO/PrBaCuO/YBaCuO trilayer junctions, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., 35: L1411, 1996.
- 112. Q. X. Jia, et al., Directly coupled direct current superconducting quantum interference devices based on ramp-edge Ag: YBCO/PBCO/Ag: YBCO junctions, Appl. Phys. Lett., 72: 3068, 1998.
- M. A. J. Verhoeven, High-T_c superconducting ramp-type junctions., PhD thesis, University of Twente, The Netherlands, 1996.
- M. A. J. Verhoeven, et al., Ramp-type junction parameter control by Ga doping of PrBa₂Cu₃O_{7-δ} barriers, Appl. Phys. Lett., 69: 848,1996.
- 115. S. J. Bending and M. R. Beasley, Transport processes via localized states in thin a-Si tunnel barriers, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 55: 324, 1985.
- 116. M. A. J. Verhoeven, G. J. Gerritsma, and H. Rogalla, Ramp-type junctions with very thin PBCO barriers, in *Proc. EUCAS* '95 Conf., Edinburg, 1995, p. 1395.
- 117. J. B. Barner and A. W. Kleinsasser, High-T_c superconductornormal-superconductor junctions with polyimide-passivated ambient-temperature edge formation, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Super*cond., 7: 2502, 1997.
- 118. H. Myoren et al., Terahertz response of high-T_c ramp-type junctions on MgO, in *Extended Abstr. 5th Int. Workshop High-Temp.* Supercond. Electron Devices, Tokyo, FED-157: 188, 1997.
- 119. E. Demler et al., Proximity effect and Josephson coupling in the SO(5) theory of high- T_c superconductivity, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **80**: 2917, 1998.
- M. A. J. Verhoeven et al., Ramp type HTS Josephson junctions with PrBaCuGaO barriers, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 2095, 1995.
- 121. A. E. Lee, J. A. Luine, and C. L. Pettiette-Hall, Co-doped-YBCO SNS junctions for superconductive integrated circuits, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 2980, 1995.
- 122. M. G. Forrester et al., A single flux quantum shift register operating at 65 K, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 5: 3401, 1995.
- 123. V. K. Kaplunenko, Voltage divider based on submicron slits in a high T_c superconducting film and two bicrystal grain boundaries, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 67: 282, 1995.
- 124. S. J. Berkowitz, Int. Workshop on Superconductivity, Hightemperature superconducting circuits using SNS long junctions transistors, *High Temperature Supercond. Electron. Fund. Appl.*, Int. Superconductivity Technol. Centre, Tokyo Japan, 1996, p. 40.
- 125. B. H. Moeckly, et al., Interface-engineering high-T_c Josephson junctions, Appl. Supercond, 6: 317, 1998.
- 126. J. Talvacchio,, private communication.
- 127. K. Char, HTS SNS Josephson junctions: Interfaces and mechanisms, *Physica C*, **282-287**: 419, 1997.
- 128. L. Antognazza, K. Char, and T. H. Geballe, High- T_c edge junctions with YPrBaCuCoO barrier layers near the metal-insulator transition, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **70**: 3152, 1997.
- 129. S. V. Polonsky et al., New RSGQ circuits (Josephson junction digital devices), *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 3: 2566, 1993.
- J. Yoshida et al., High-T_c Josephson junction technology for digital applications, in *Extended Abstr. 5th Int. Workshop High-Temp.* Supercond. Electron Devices, Tokyo, FED-157: 133, 1997.
- 131. J. Yoshida and T. Nagano, Tunneling and hopping conduction via

localized states in thin PBCO barriers, Phys. Rev., B55: 11860, 1997.

- 132. T. Nagano, et al., Thin film growth for fabrication of YBaCuO/PrBaCuCoO/YBaCuO ramp-edge junctions, in Extended Abstr. 5th Int. Workshop High-Temp. Supercond. Electron Devices, Tokyo FED-157: 233, 1997.
- 133. A. W. Kleinsasser and W. J. Gallagher, Three-terminal devices, in S. T. Ruggiero and D. A. Rudman (eds.), *Superconducting Devices*, New York: Academic Press, 1990, pp. 325–372.
- 134. K. K. Likharev et al., Josephson junction with lateral injection as a vortex transistor, IEEE Trans. Magn., 15: 420, 1979.
- W. E. Booij, et al., Supercurrents in closely spaced high T_c Josephson junctions, in *Proc. ATS-Workshop '96*, Twente, The Netherlands, 1996, p. 6.
- 136. T. Akazaki et al., A Josephson field effect transistor using an InAs-inserted-channel In_{0.52}Al_{0.48}/As/In_{0.53}/Ga_{0.47} As inverted modulation-doped structure, Appl. Phys. Lett., 68: 418, 1996.
- 137. A. W. Kleinsasser and T. N. Jackson, Prospects for proximity effect superconducting FETs, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-25: 1274, 1989.
- 138. H. Takayanagi and T. Akazaki, Superconducting three-terminal devices using HEMT structures, in *Extended Abstr. 5th Int. Work-shop High-Temp. Supercond. Electron Devices*, Tokyo, FED-157: 153, 1997.
- J. Mannhart, et al., Electric field effect on superconducting YBaCuO films. Z. Phys., B83: 307, 1991.
- 140. X. X. X. Xi, et al., Electric field effects in high T_c superconducting ultrathin YBaCuO films, Appl. Phys. Lett., 59: 3470, 1992.
- 141. K. Matsui, et al., Analysis on electric field effect in Al/SrTiO₃/YBa₂Cu₃O_y structure, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., 31: L1342, 1992.
- 142. K. Joosse, et al., Multilayers for high-T_c superconducting electric field effect devices, J. Alloys Comp., 195: 723, 1993.
- 143. T. Nakamura et al., Study on a superconducting channel transistor, Sumitomo Elect. Tech. Rev., No. 38, 35, 1994.
- 144. R. Schneider and R. Auer, Temporal response of a high-T_c superconducting field effect transistor, Appl. Phys. Lett., 67: 2075, 1995.
- 145. T. Nakamura, H. Tokuda, and M. Iiyama, Electric field effects of SrTiO/YBaCuO multilayers grown by all-MBE, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 2875, 1995.
- 146. T. Fujii, et al., Metal-insulator-superconductor field-effecttransistor using SrTiO/YBaCuO heteroepitaxial films, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., 31: L612, 1992.
- 147. T. Saito, et al., Fabrication of a High-T_c superconducting field effect transistor by ion beam sputtering. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 3528, 1997.
- 148. T. Goto, et al., Properties of high- T_c field effect devices with ion beam sputtered SrTiO Film, in *Extended Abstr. 5th Int. Workshop High-Temp. Supercond. Electron Devices*, Tokyo, **FED-157**: 159, 1997.
- 149. T. Nakamura, H. Inada, and M. Iiyama, Superconducting field effect transistor of YBCO/SrTiO₃/YBCO tri-layer structures, in Extended Abstr. 5th Int. Workshop High-Temp. Supercond. Electron Devices, Tokyo, FED-157: 123, 1997.
- U. Ghoshal, et al., CMOS amplifier designs for Josephson-CMOS interface circuits, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 2640, 1995.
- D. Crupta et al., Optimization of hybrid JJ/CMOS memory operating temperatures, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 7: 3307, 1997.
- 152. K. Hikosaka, et al., Josephson-semiconductor high-speed interface circuit using 77 K analog HEMT amplifiers, in *Extended Ab*str. 5th Int. Workshop High-Temp. Supercond. Electron Devices, Tokyo, FED-157: 55, 1997.
- 153. J. Mannhart, High-T_c transistors, Supercond. Sci. Technol., 9: 49, 1996.

- 154. J. Chen et al., Possible three-terminal device with YBCO angle grain boundary, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 1: 102, 1991.
- 155. J. Mannhart et al., Large electric field effects in YBa₂Cu₃O_{7-δ} films containing weak links, Appl. Phys. Lett., 62: 630, 1993.
- 156. Z. G. Ivanov, Field effect transistor based on a bi-crystal grain boundary Josephson junction, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 3: 2925, 1993.
- 157. B. Mayer, J. Mannhart, and H. Hilgenkamp, Electric field controllable Josephson junctions of high quality in high-T_c superconductors, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 68: 3031, 1996.
- 158. I. Iguchi, N. Nukui, and K. Lee, Dynamic Cooper-pair breaking by tunnel injection of quasiparticles into a high-T_c YBa₂Cu₃O₇ superconductor, *Phys. Rev.*, B50: 457, 1994.
- 159. E. Kume, H. Hiroyuki, and I. Iguchi, Quasi-particle injection effect of YBCO thin films using double-injector junctions having two-holes, in *Extended Abstr. 5th Int. Workshop High-Temp. Supercond. Electron Devices*, Tokyo, **FED-157**: 167, 1997.
- D. J. Frank, M. J. Brady, and A. Davidson, A new superconductingbase transistor, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-21: 721, 1985.
- 161. T. Yamada, et al., (Ba, Rb)BiO₃ base and YBa₂Cu₃O_x flux flow transistors, in *Extended Abstr. 5th Int. Workshop High-Temp. Su*percond. Electron Devices, Tokyo, FED-157: 142, 1997.
- 162. H. Tamura, A. Yoshida, and S. Hasuo, Transistor action based on field-effect controlled current injection into an insulator/SrTiO₃ interface, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **59**: 298, 1991.
- 163. A. Yoshida, et al., Dielectric-base transistor using YBa₂Cu₃O_{7-x}/NdGaO₃/SrTiO₃ heterostructures, J. Appl. Phys., 71: 5284, 1992.
- 164. T. Hato et al., Improved emitter-base junction with In₂O₃ in dielectric-base transistor Jpn J. Appl. Phys., 34: 6379, 1995.
- 165. C. Yoshida, et al., Electric field effect in LaTiO₃/SrTiO₃ heterostructure, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., 35: 5691, 1996.
- 166. T. Hato, et al., Dielectric-base transistor with doped channel, Appl. Phys. Lett., 70: 2900, 1997.
- 167. A. W. Kleinsasser and W. J. Gallagher, Three-terminal devices, in S. T. Ruggiero and D. A. Rudman (eds.), *Superconducting Devices*, 372. New York: Academic Press, 1990, pp. 325–372.
- 168. A. W. Kleinsasser, H. Weinstock, and R. W. Ralston (eds.), Superconducting Devices, Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic, 1993, p. 249.
- 169. J. Mannhart, Changes in the superconducting properties of high-T_c cuprates produced by applied electric fields, *Mod. Phys. Lett.*, B6: 555, 1992.
- O. Sangjun, D. Youm, and M. R. Beasley, A superconductive magnetoresistive memory element using controlled exchange interaction, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **71**: 2376, 1997.
- 171. J. S. Moodera, J. Nowak, and J. M. van de Veerdonk, Interference magnetism and spin wave scattering in ferromagnetic-insulatorferromagnet tunnel junctions, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 80: 2941, 1998.
- 172. P. K. Wong, J. E. Evetts, and M. G. Blamire, High conductance small area magnetoresistive tunnel junctions, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 73: 384, 1998.
- 173. S. Sankar, A. E. Berkowitz, and D. J. Smith, Spin-dependent tunneling in discontinuous Co-SiO₂ magnetic tunnel junctions, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **78**: 535, 1998.
- 174. J. Z. Sun, et al., Temperature and bias dependence of magnetoresistance in doped manganite thin film trilayer junctions, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **73**: 1008, 1998.
- 175. K. Inomata and Y. Saito, Spin-dependent tunneling through layered ferromagnetic nanoparticles, Appl. Phys. Lett., 73: 1143, 1998.

S. T. RUGGIERO University of Notre Dame

SUPERCONDUCTIVITY: TYPE I AND II

Superconductors differ from normal metals in some truly remarkable ways. In a normal metal, conduction electrons behave as individual particles that move thorough the material, interacting with each other and with the array of ions that form the background lattice. When a voltage is applied, the electrons carry current, scatter randomly, show electrical resistance, and obey Ohm's law. Electrons in a Pb wire at 8 K, for example, will be scattered from impurity atoms and dissipate energy. This electron-scattering process can be modeled by treating the electrons as single particles subject to the Coulomb and exchange forces of the neighboring electrons. The individual-particle picture works well, and one can discuss one electron without concern for the events happening to electrons that are many atomic spacings away.

In a superconducting metal, this individual-particle picture does not hold. Rather, the motion of one electron is highly correlated with other electrons in the metal over very large distances. Again using Pb as an example, when a sample is cooled below the superconducting transition temperature T_c of 7.25 K (1), the electrical resistance drops by more than a factor of 10^{15} in a temperature interval of a few millikelvins. In the course of this transition the motion of the electrons transforms from a single-particle picture to a highly correlated picture. These correlations extend over macroscopic distances and the electrical resistance vanishes. During the superconducting transition, the wave function of the electrons develops a certain rigidity, and the electrons tend to move as a giant molecule rather than as individual particles.

This rigidity is reflected in a special feature of superconductivity called *phase locking*. Electrons, like all elementary particles, have both a particle and a wave character and the wave properties are described by a wave function $\psi = Ae^{i\phi}$ with both an amplitude A and a phase ϕ . In the course of the superconducting transition, the phase ϕ of any one superfluid electron becomes tightly locked to the phase of all the neighboring superfluid electrons. This rigidity and phase locking of the wave function leads to most of the remarkable properties of superconductors. It leads to the suppression of scattering, to zero electrical resistance, to the expulsion of magnetic flux from the interior of a superconductor, and to all of the marvelous aspects of quantum interference effects that are so crucial to microelectronic devices. It is important to understand how this rigidity and phase locking come about.

There are two very broad classes of superconductors that are distinguished from one another by the way magnetic flux is distributed inside the material. In one class, called type I, the magnetic flux is totally excluded from the interior of a bulk sample, and the magnetic induction B is zero everywhere except for a thin layer that is a few hundred nanometers thick near the surface. This thin layer is called the penetration depth λ , and the B = 0 state is called the Meissner state. In this thin layer, surface currents flow to cancel the applied field and give B = 0 in the interior. It is useful to recall here that B in the interior is the sum of the applied field, $\mu_0 H$, plus the field due to circulating currents in the material, $\mu_0 M$, where H is the magnetic field and M is the volume magnetization. When the external magnetic field reaches a certain critical magnitude called the thermodynamic critical field H_{c} , the superconducting



Figure 1. B vs $\mu_0 H$ plot to illustrate the defining characteristics of type I and type II superconductors.

state collapses and the material reverts to the normal state at higher fields. This is illustrated by the dashed curve in Fig. 1.

In the second class of materials called type II, as you increase the magnetic field from zero, the flux is totally excluded at first, just as for type I material. Then, at some characteristic field called H_{c1} , the magnetic flux begins to enter the material in the form of tiny vortices of magnetic flux, called flux quanta Φ_0 . Each quantum carries 2.07×10^{-15} Wb of magnetic flux. With further increases in H, the quantized vortices flood into the material until an upper critical field, H_{c2} , is reached where the sample again reverts to the normal state. These lower and upper critical fields are illustrated on the diamond points of Fig. 1.

The purpose of this article is to review the microscopic origins of these two types of magnetic behavior for superconductors. We will discuss the features that distinguish type I from type II materials, and describe the way in which type I materials can be transformed into type II materials by alloying. Discussion will include both the classical superconductors and the cuprate superconductors that were discovered in 1986 (2) to have extraordinarily high $T_{\rm c}$. After taking a brief look at a few typical examples of type I and type II behavior, we will review some features of the superconducting wave function that leads to the remarkable properties of superconductors. Then we will return to a more detailed discussion of more subtle aspects of type I and type II behavior. Various practical methods to measure the characteristic fields of H_{c} , H_{c1} , and H_{c2} will be explored. Throughout, there will be an attempt to provide useful equations for computation, even though the derivation of the relations is beyond the scope of this presentation. The goal here is to discuss the behavior of these two classes of superconductors using simple physical pictures wherever possible.

TYPICAL EXAMPLES

Superconductivity is a very common phenomenon. Approximately half the elements in the periodic table and a large number of intermetallic compounds show the effect. Often, it is necessary to go to rather low temperatures and in some cases it is necessary to apply high pressure to transform the material into a superconductor. Although there are exceptions, pure elemental metals tend to be type I superconductors and alloys tend to be type II superconductors.



Figure 2. Magnetization curves for Pb, Hg, and In at 1.28 K showing typical values of $H_{\rm c}$.

Low-T_c Type I Superconductors

In many classical superconductors, such as high-purity Pb, Hg, and In (1,3), the magnetization curves, M versus H, exhibit a Meissner (B = 0) behavior up to some critical field at which the magnetic flux suddenly collapses into the sample as shown in Fig. 2 for 1.28 K data. Generally speaking, very pure metals that have s-band or p-band conduction electrons at the Fermi surface will show this so-called type I behavior. Very pure metals that have a relatively high Fermi velocity v_F and a relatively low T_c tend to be type I superconductors.

A more detailed look at the magnetization curves reveals that the collapse of flux into a bulk sample occurs over a finite magnetic field interval. When the flux begins to enter the sample, the slope of the line is governed by demagnetizing effects (4), that is, effects associated with the shape of the sample. As shown in Fig. 3, a magnetic field applied to a superconductor in the Meissner state has a larger field at the "equator" of the ellipse than the applied field H_a . For this elliptical sample, flux begins to enter the sample at $H_a = (1 - \delta)H_c$ and the transition is complete at H_c . δ is called the demagnetizing factor. Because the free-energy difference between the superconducting and normal state is directly related to H_c , it is called the thermodynamic critical field curve.

Intermediate State

Between $(1 - \delta)H_c$ and H_c , the material breaks up into an intermediate state in which both Meissner regions and normal re-



Figure 3. Change in the shape of the magnetization curves for a given material as the demagnetizing factor increases. The inset shows an elliptical sample in the Meissner state with the field at the equator larger than the applied field.



Figure 4. A typical magnetic flux distribution in the intermediate state of a type I superconductor as lamella of normal-state regions (shaded area) collapse into the interior. This is for a flat plate with H perpendicular to the plate.

gions coexist in the sample. When the screening currents that are flowing in the penetration depth region near the surface reach a critical value, normal regions will nucleate at the surface and propagate into the interior of the sample. Usually this happens when the kinetic energy of the electrons in the circulating screening current are a significant fraction of characteristic superconducting energy, $k_{\rm B}T_{\rm e}$. Here, $k_{\rm B}$ is the Boltzmann constant. The detailed shape of the Meissner regions in the intermediate state depends on structure of the material and the shape of the sample. Normal regions nucleate at the surface and often propagate into the interior in the form of lamellar regions as shown in Fig. 4. For a long slender sample with the magnetic field parallel to the long axis of the sample, δ is close to zero and the region of the intermediate state is narrow. This behavior is illustrated by the data in Fig. 2. For a sphere, δ is $\frac{1}{5}$, and the magnetization curve is illustrated in Fig. 3. For a flat plate with the magnetic field perpendicular to the plane of the plate, δ is close to 1, and the sample enters the intermediate state at fields far below H_c . Shoenberg, p. 103 (5), gives a detailed discussion of the intermediate state for spheres and Tinkham, p. 25 (6), gives a detailed discussion for flat slabs.

Low-T_c Type II Superconductors and the Vortex State

Magnetization curves for three different transition metals are shown in Fig. 5. Very pure Ta is a type I material (7) with an abrupt collapse of the superconducting state similar to Pb. The other two very pure transition metals, Nb and V, show a much broader transition to the normal state and are called type II



Figure 5. Magnetization curves for three transition metals to illustrate both type I (Ta) and type II (Nb and V) behavior.

superconductors (8,9). When very pure metals show type II behavior, they are called intrinsic type II superconductors. The interval between H_{c1} and H_{c2} is called the vortex state because in this magnetic field interval, the sample fills with vortices, each carrying one quantum of flux, Φ_0 . In all of these intrinsic type II materials, the conduction electrons at the Fermi surface are mostly d band in character, so the Fermi velocity is relatively low. In addition, T_c is relatively high. The magnetization data in three samples shown here are highly reversible, and therefore the first flux entry is very close to the field at which a vortex is thermodynamically stable in the material, H_{cl} . For the data shown in Fig. 5, a temperature is chosen so that H_c is in the vicinity of 50 to 60 mT. This permits an easy comparison of the shapes of the curves. As the temperature is decreased, the ratio of H_{c2}/H_c typically rises by about 50%, and the slope of the magnetization at H_{c2} always decreases. Among the transition metals, very pure Ta (9) is an exception in that it is type I. A very small amount of impurity, however, will transform it to a type II material very similar to Nb and V.

Low-T_c Alloys

To understand the difference between type I and type II superconductors on a microscopic scale, it is essential to know that there is a characteristic distance, called the coherence distance, ξ , over which the superconducting wave function can change. In a superconductor, the basic charge-carrying unit in the system is a highly correlated pair of electrons called the Cooper pair. The minimum distance in which the density of superconducting electrons, n_s , can change from the value in the bulk superconductor to zero in a normal metal is roughly the size of these Cooper pairs. The coherence distance, or the size of the Cooper pairs, is a very important property of a superconductor and typically varies from about 1 μ m in Al to as small as 2 nm in the cuprate superconductors. In the transition metals such as Nb and V $\xi \sim 30$ nm and in the conventional type I materials such as Sn, Pb, Hg, and In $\xi \sim 500$ nm.

The critical factor governing the shape of the magnetization curves of superconductors is the ratio of the magnetic field penetration depth to the coherence distance, λ/ξ . This ratio is sufficiently important that it is given a symbol of its own,

$$\kappa \approx \lambda/\xi \tag{1}$$

Small- κ materials are type I, and large- κ materials are called type II. The transition from type I to type II behavior occurs at $\kappa \approx 1 \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} = 0.707$. In a type I superconductor, H_c is directly related to the free-energy difference between the superconducting and normal state by the area under the magnetization curve,

$$G_{\rm n} - G_{\rm s} = -\int_0^{H_{\rm c}} \mu_0 M dH = \mu_0 H_{\rm c}^2 /2 \tag{2}$$

In type II materials, H_c retains this definition. The ratio κ from Eq. (1) also is related to the characteristic critical fields on the magnetization curve via

$$\kappa = H_{\rm c2}/\sqrt{2H_{\rm c}} \tag{3}$$

The range of the correlations among the electrons and hence ξ in a superconductor can be reduced by shortening the normalstate mean free path of the electrons, *l*. Hence, one should ex-



Figure 6. Transformation from type I to type II behavior as *l* is gradually increased. For κ just greater than 0.707, there is an attractive interaction between vortices and a first-order transition at H_{c1} . This illustrates the change in shape of magnetization curves as impurities are added.

pect that alloying would reduce both l and ξ and would cause a transition from type I to type II behavior if λ remains roughly constant. This was shown to be true, for example, by Kumpf (10), who demonstrated that pure Pb with $\kappa \sim 0.4$ could be converted to a type II material with $\kappa \sim 0.84$ with the addition of 2.0 at. % Tl. For this Pb system, it requires a resistivity of $\rho_n \sim 2 \mu \Omega \cdot \text{cm}$ to change Pb from a type I to a type II superconductor. To convert pure Ta from type I to type II, it requires alloying until $\rho_n \sim 0.5 \mu \Omega \cdot \text{cm}$.

The sketch in Fig. 6 shows the changes that occur in the magnetization curves as κ is gradually increased for a material similar to Ta. For κ substantially less than 0.707, the magnetization curves are typical type I with a complete first-order transition to the normal state at H_c . A first-order transition has a latent heat, but a second-order transition has no latent heat. For κ comparable to $1/\sqrt{2}$, there is a partial first-order transition at H_{c1} with a tail in the magnetization extending out to H_{c2} as shown by the dashed line in Fig. 6. For κ substantially larger than $\sqrt{2}$, the phase transition is second order at H_{c1} . As shown by Auer and Ullmaier (7), the range of κ showing the type II behavior with a first-order transition at H_{c1} depends on temperature. Figure 7 is a sketch showing roughly the expected behavior. The horizontal line on Fig. 7 is $\kappa = 1/\sqrt{2}$.

Because *l* is closely connected to the normal-state resistivity ρ_n , κ can be related to ρ_n and the κ value for the pure metal, κ_0 ,



Figure 7. The transformation from type I to type II behavior on a κ vs. T plot. This qualitatively shows the boundaries of these three different types of phase transitions.

by the useful relation

$$\kappa = \kappa_0 + 7.5 \times 10^5 \gamma^{1/2} \rho_n \tag{4}$$

where γ is the electronic specific constant and ρ_n is the resistivity. If you use units where γ is in erg/cm³ · K² and ρ_n is in Ω · cm, then the constant is 7.5 × 10³. For the extreme dirty or short mean-free-path limit, Hake (11) showed that Ti-16 at. %Mo samples with $\rho \sim 100 \ \mu\Omega$ · cm can be nearly reversible with a κ value of 66.

Among the high-purity s - p band metals, κ ranges from 0.01 for Al, to 0.15 for Sn, to 0.4 for Pb. Among the high-purity transition-metal superconductors, κ ranges from 0.36 for Ta, to 0.78 for Nb, to 0.90 for V. Nitrogen impurities are particularly good to show the transition from type I to type II behavior because they go into the lattice of Ta as statistically distributed interstitial atoms. Hence, N decreases the electronic mean free path without forming clusters that would substantially increase the pinning of vortices and irreversibility effects. As shown by Auer and Ullmaier (7), Ta is transformed from a type I to a type II superconductor when the sample residual resistivity $\rho_0 = 585 \ \mu\Omega \cdot cm$ and attains a κ value of about 1.5 when $\rho_0 \sim 2000 \ \mu\Omega \cdot cm$.

High-T_c Materials

The high-temperature superconductors (HTS) such as La₁₈₅Sr_{0.15}CuO₄, La(214), are qualitatively different from all of the metals that had been studied before. They are different because the normal state is created by doping an insulator. They also are different because they tend to be rather anisotropic with the charge carriers moving most easily in the a - b planes of the CuO_2 sheets. The parent cuprate for La(214) with no Sr doping, $La_2Cu_1O_4$ is not a superconductor and is not a metal. Rather, it is an antiferromagnetic insulator. If, however, part of the trivalent La ions are replaced by divalent Sr ions, holes are created in the copper oxide planes and the material becomes an anisotropic normal metal and a superconductor with $T_{\rm c}$ of about 42 K. In these oxide conductors, the carrier mobility along the copper oxide planes is much higher than it is perpendicular to the copper oxide planes, so both the normal conductivity and the superconductivity are quite anisotropic.

In the superconducting state, the magnetization data for the cuprate superconductors show type II behavior with very high κ values, commonly about $\kappa \sim 100$. Hence, H_{c2} is over 100 times larger than H_c . For many of these cuprates, the penetration depth is about 200 nm, and the coherence distance along the copper oxide planes is about 2 nm. Along the c axis, the coherence distance is even smaller at ~0.5 nm.

PHYSICAL PICTURES FOR TYPE I AND TYPE II PHENOMENA

Superconductivity is rather special in the field of condensedmatter physics because it is a manifestation of quantum mechanics on a macroscopic scale. If one induces a supercurrent to flow in a superconducting ring, the circulating charge carriers obey the Bohr-Sommerfeld quantization condition even if the diameter of the ring is hundreds of micrometers. In a single atom, such as the hydrogen atom, the angular momentum of the circulating electron is quantized because the wave function of the electron must be single valued going around the atom by 2π . This quantization of angular momentum in the hydrogen atom is then reflected in a quantization of the magnetic moment in units of Bohr magnetons. The same kind of quantization occurs for superconducting electrons circulating in a large ring. Because the electrons are phase locked, the wave function must be single valued and the Bohr-Sommerfeld quantization condition, $\int pdq = n$, is obeyed. Here, p is the momentum, dqis the path element, and n is an integer. This creates quantized circulating currents, and the resulting flux also is quantized in units of $\Phi_0 = h/2e$.

Even though quantum mechanics is fundamental to understanding superconductivity, there are some simple pictures that enable the beginner to visualize where the electrons or holes are and how they interact. The goal of this section is to present some of the vocabulary and ideas of the Bardeen-Cooper-Schrieffer (BCS) (12) theory in a way that one can picture the basic behavior of type I and type II superconductors.

Idea 1: All Superconductors Look Alike

There is a great deal of similarity in the physical properties of superconductors. If the thermodynamic critical field is plotted as a function of temperature or the superconducting energy gap in the excitation spectrum, Δ , as a function of temperature, the curves have the same functional form and the values scale with the transition temperature. The ratio of $H_c(T = 0)/T_c$ is always about 10 mT/K, and the ratio of $\Delta(T = 0)/k_BT_c \sim 1.8$ for the low T_c superconductors. Because superconductors are so similar, there is a reasonable expectation that the details of the metal are not terribly important in the basic explanation of superconductivity. A rather general and simple theory may explain the effect.

Idea 2: BCS Theory

In the development of a theory of superconductivity, BCS constructed the superconducting ground state by taking special combinations of normal-state wave functions. At the superconducting transition, the space dependence of the wave functions do not change, but rather the occupation probability of a given state changes. To create the superconducting wave function, the electrons are allowed to exchange phonons, thus scattering around the Fermi surface and coherently mixing the normalstate wave functions. Instead of the random occupation of states at the Fermi surface that occurs in a normal metal, the system can gain energy via phonon exchange if the electronic states are occupied in pairs. This pairing increases the amount of phonon exchange that can occur and each phonon exchange lowers the energy a bit. To define terms more explicitly, pair occupation means that if the state with momentum k is occupied, then the state with momentum -k also is occupied. Similarly, if the state with k is empty, then the state with -k also is empty. The pairs are chosen to have equal and opposite momentum because, by symmetry, this choice gives the maximum number of final states for the electron-phonon scattering and maximizes the phonon exchange. As the metal undergoes the superconducting transition, it is the probability of occupation that changes. It changes from a random occupation to a pair occupation.

In BCS theory, three essential variables are used. First, the normal-state density of states at the Fermi surface, N(0), is a measure of the number of electrons participating. The number of electrons that can take advantage of phonon exchange is determined by N(0). Second, the Debye energy $\omega_{\rm D}$ is a

measure of the range of phonons available for the electronphonon exchange process. Third, the strength of the electronphonon interaction, V, is a measure of the amount of energy the electrons gain in a phonon exchange. Within the theory, the superconducting transition temperature T_c will be calculated to be

$$k_{\rm B}T_{\rm c} \approx \hbar\omega_{\rm D}e^{-1/N(0)V} \tag{5}$$

This provides a connection between the transition temperature and the three variables in the theory. If, in addition, one works out the minimum energy to create an excitation out of the superfluid ground state by disrupting one pair of electrons, at T = 0, this turns out to be

$$\Delta_0 \approx 1.8 k_{\rm B} T_{\rm c} \tag{6}$$

Disrupting a pair simply means preventing that pair of states from participating in the coherent phonon exchange. This minimum energy to create an excitation in a superconductor, Δ , is often called the order parameter or the energy gap, and typically it is about 1 meV for a T_c of 7 K. The value of Δ decreases from the T = 0 value, Δ_0 , as the temperature rises and goes to zero at T_c . Our goal here is to provide a physical picture to go with these equations.

Idea 3: The Cooper-Pair Problem

A first step in the development of the BCS theory was the Cooper-pair problem (13). Cooper showed that there is a fundamental instability in an electron gas if one introduces an attractive interaction that scatters electrons around the Fermi surface. In this problem, you start with one pair of electrons outside a Fermi sea. Without the electron-phonon interaction, the energies available to the electrons are the usual free-electron energies above the Fermi energy $E_{\rm F}$, as shown by the dotted lines in Fig. 8. The solid horizontal lines are filled states below the Fermi sea. When the electron-phonon interaction is introduced, the new energies for the perturbed system, W, are represented by the heavy solid lines. Here they are plotted as a function of the strength of the interaction, V. Note that if V

Figure 8. Energy-level diagram for the Cooper-pair problem. Here W is the new energy of the pair state and V is the strength of the perturbing interaction. Note that for large and negative V, one state falls far below the Fermi energy.

is positive or repulsive, all the energies are pushed up a bit above the unperturbed dotted line values. Note also that if V is negative or attractive, all of the energies are pushed down a bit except the level just above E_F . This level is pushed far below $E_{\rm F}$. The splitoff of this state far below $E_{\rm F}$ means that a free-electron gas with random occupation of states is unstable to the formation of pairs when an attractive interaction is introduced. The energetically most favored combination of electrons for this phonon exchange occurs when the pair has zero center-of-mass momentum (electrons have equal and opposite momentum), hence, giving the lowest energy. Experiments have shown that the pairs of electrons also are known to have opposite spin. Presumably this antiparallel spin arrangement arises from a quantum-mechanical effect called exchange forces. Electrons with opposite spins are closer together than electrons with parallel spins so they can take better advantage of the electron-phonon interaction. Hence, pairs with opposite spin and momentum have the lower energy. If some other type of interaction were to cause pairing, then a parallel spin arrangement is possible.

A special feature of the Cooper pair problem is that the normal-state wave functions that are being mixed by the electron-phonon interaction all add in phase at some point in real space to form a wave packet. This packet is the so-called Cooper pair and by the summation of occupied states, it has a real-space extent of the coherence distance.

$$\xi = \hbar v_{\rm F} / \pi \Delta_0 = 0.18 \hbar v_{\rm F} / k_{\rm B} T_{\rm c} \tag{7}$$

Equation (7) shows that the coherence distance, or the size of the Cooper pairs, is directly related to the ratio of $v_{\rm F}/T_{\rm c}$. Because the s - p band metals tend to have relatively high $v_{\rm F}$ and low $T_{\rm c}$, they would be expected to have large coherence distances and hence tend to be type I superconductors. The basic charge-carrying unit in the circulating current around a superconducting vortex in a type II material in the vortex state is the Cooper pair.

Idea 4: BCS Theory and Pair-Pair Correlations

The Cooper-pair problem is only part of the picture because it describes just one pair of electrons outside a Fermi sea. The total problem must deal with all of the electrons and must deal with their correlated motion. If typical numbers are put into Eq. (7), Al has $\xi \sim 1600$ nm, Sn has $\xi \sim 230$ nm, Pb has $\xi \sim 83$ nm, and Nb has $\xi \sim 40$ nm. Given the normal density of electrons in a metal, there are thousands to millions of pairs occupying the space of any single pair. Hence there is a great deal of pair-pair overlap. These highly interacting and overlapping Cooper pairs provide a physical picture for the origin of phase locking over macroscopic distances.

The high-temperature superconductors are a very special case because the coherence distance is so short. Typically, $\xi \sim 2$ nm so the overlap of Cooper pairs is much less in this class of materials and the phase locking is less strong. For HTS, the number of pairs overlapping any one pair is measured in dozens rather than thousands to millions. This leads to a less rigid vortex lattice and a greater susceptibility to flux creep.

The BCS problem is similar in some ways to a variational calculation in an undergraduate quantum-mechanics course. One guesses a form for the wave function with the pair occupation number as an adjustable parameter. Next one writes an



expression for the free energy of the system in terms of this trial wave function and minimizes the energy as a function of pair occupation. In both the Cooper and BCS problems, a paired trial wave function is selected in order to maximize the final states available for electron-phonon scattering. One result of the theory is that it is energetically favorable to mix normal-state wave functions within an energy band that is Δ wide near E_F . All of the pairs share the same states so there is an energy advantage for correlated motion of many pairs to make most efficient use of the states available for electron-phonon exchange. Pair-pair correlations are critical because they provide the fundamental mechanism to propagate phase coherence over long distances.

To create an excitation from the superconducting ground state, one of the pair states is simply disrupted. If a pair state is broken, say by injecting an electron into one of the two states of a pair in the metal, then other pairs cannot use that channel for phonon exchange. That pair state is removed from the coherent phonon exchange for all of the other electrons. This raises the energy of all the electrons in the ground state. In computing the ground-state energy and the excitation energies, one has to give up the single-particle picture and go to a highly correlated many-paired electron picture in which the disruption of one pair changes the energy of all the pairs in the ground state.

Idea 5: Phase Locking and Rigidity of the Wave Function

A central feature of superconductivity is that the electrons phase lock into a many-electron ground-state wave function that has a substantial amount of rigidity. If the system is disturbed, it responds as a giant unit rather than responding as individual particles. In the Cooper problem, a pair of electrons is formed by mixing normal-state wave functions so that they all add in phase at some point in space. In the BCS problem, pairpair correlations play a central role because all of the pairs are using the same states for electron-phonon scattering. This leads to a highly correlated ground-state superfluid that extends over macroscopic distances. The ground state is somewhat like a giant macromolecule in that the superfluid is phase locked and responds as a rigid unit. A common analog in chemistry would be a benzene molecule in which the electrons in this benzene ring respond as a rigid unit to small stimuli. In a superconducting Pb wire 1 m long, the electrons at one end are phase locked to the electrons at the other end.

Pairs, of course, can be disrupted by many processes: by thermal (k_BT) excitations, by electromagnetic absorption, or by electron injection. In all of these cases the disrupted electrons or excitations behave just like normal-state electrons. The groundstate electrons can be thought of as a superfluid with density n_s , with a condensation energy or pairing energy Δ per pair. The excitations out of the ground state can be thought of as a normal fluid with density n_n . In this framework the sum of these probabilities must add to one, $n_s + n_n = 1$. This picture is quite analogous to the two-fluid model originally proposed by London (14). As the temperature rises, the incoherent phonon scattering becomes larger and overwhelms the coherent phonon exchange and the material reverts to the normal state.

Zero Electrical Resistance

Electrical resistance in a material such as Pb disappears below the superconducting transition temperature because a significant fraction of the electrons transform into a coherent, phaselocked, superfluid ground state having considerable rigidity in the wave function. In a normal metal, such as Pb above $T_{\rm e}$, the electrons are relatively uncorrelated and behave as individual particles. Electrical resistance arises because individual electrons scatter from impurity atoms, phonons, or some other excitation in the metal as random or thermal events. In a superconductor, electrons are locked together in a giant rigid wave function and individual scattering is essentially eliminated. The reason that the transition is so sharp is that there is such overkill in the pair-pair correlation. With millions of pairs overlapping the region of any one pair, one can get substantial pair-pair correlation even if only 0.1% of the electrons are in the superfluid state. This can occur within a temperature interval of a millikelvin.

Meissner Flux Exclusion in Type I Materials

In thinking about the ability of a type I superconductor to push magnetic flux out of the interior to give B = 0, it is important to remember that the free-energy difference per atom to push the flux out is very small. The value of $G_n - G_s$ given by Eq. (2) can be evaluated to be about 10^{-8} eV per atom. This is tiny compared with most electronic processes, which are about 1 eV. Hence, it does not take much energy to exclude the flux.

There are several competing energies in this problem. If a magnetic field penetrates the interior of a sample where the paired superfluid density is high, then there is a tendency for the spins to align with the field and thus break pairs. This would raise the free energy. This rise in free energy would be prevented if circulating currents are created at the surface of the sample to cancel the magnetic field to give B = 0. There is, of course, a kinetic energy cost in creating these circulating supercurrents. For small κ and $H < H_{c1}$, it is energetically more favorable for the material to develop a supercurrent at the surface and provide a B = 0 condition in the interior than it is to lose the condensation energy associated with breaking pairs as the spins align with the applied magnetic field. If, however, κ is greater than $1/\sqrt{2}$ and $H > H_{c1}$, it is energetically favorable for quantized vortices to enter the material.

The time dependence of the response of the electrons to an applied magnetic field is governed by the plasma frequency. With the application of an external field, the superconducting electrons respond as a coherent plasma, and the screening length for magnetic fields is given by

$$\lambda^2 = m^* / \mu_0 n_{\rm s} e^2 \tag{8}$$

where *m* is an effective mass and *e* is the charge on the electron. For very pure metals, $\lambda \sim 50$ nm and for the HTS materials, $\lambda \sim 170$ nm. Because λ is governed by the superfluid density, it does not vary from superconductor to superconductor as strongly as ξ , which is governed by the ratio of $v_{\rm F}/k_{\rm B}T_{\rm c}$.

Ginzburg-Landau Equations

Very early in the development of the theory of superconductivity, Ginzburg and Landau (15) developed a very general and yet very powerful formulation of the problem. They assumed that there is an order parameter that behaves much like a wave function, and they further assumed that this wave function ψ is related to the local density of superconducting electrons by $|\psi|^2 \sim n_{\rm s}$. The free energy is then written as the sum of a kinetic energy term, a potential energy term, and a magnetic term:

$$G_{\rm s} - G_{\rm n} = \frac{1}{2m} \left| \left(\frac{\hbar}{i} \nabla - e \mathbf{A} \right) \psi \right|^2 + \alpha |\psi|^2 + \frac{\beta}{2} |\psi|^4 + \frac{\hbar^2}{8\pi} \qquad (9)$$

Here, the potential energy term is a power-series expansion in $|\psi|^2$ and $h^2/8\pi$ is the magnetic energy term. Minimizing this free energy with respect to the order parameter gives the famous Ginzburg-Landau (GL) equation:

$$\alpha\psi + \beta|\psi|^2\psi + \frac{1}{2m^*}\left(\frac{\hbar}{i}\nabla - eA\right)^2\psi = 0 \tag{10}$$

Excellent discussions of solutions of these equations are given by Fetter and Hohenberg (16), Tinkham (6), and de Gennes (17).

A central factor determining whether a material is a type I or type II superconductor is the boundary energy between a superconducting region and a normal region. If a superconductornormal-metal boundary has a positive surface energy, then the system will minimize the boundary area and a Meissner solution will be expected. If the superconductor-normal-metal boundary has a negative surface energy, then it will be expected that the material will be unstable against a breakup into small domains in order to maximize the amount of superconductornormal-metal boundary area. In the original paper (15), it was shown by numerical calculations that for Eq. (10), the onset of negative surface energy occurs when the ratio of two characteristic lengths, the penetration depth and the coherence distance, is equal to 0.707 or

$$\kappa \approx 1/\sqrt{2}$$
 (11)

This criterion then specifies whether a superconductor is type I or type II.

Vortex State

Building on the GL result, Abrikosov (18) predicted in 1957 that flux entering a type II superconductor is in the form of quantized vortices. A quantized vortex with Φ_0 of flux is the minimum unit of flux that can enter. He showed that if $\kappa > 1/\sqrt{2}$, then a regular array of flux tubes or vortices would form in the interior of the material. The stable state is a triangular array so the area of a flux tube would be

$$\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}a_0^2 = \frac{\Phi_0}{B}$$
 (12)

where a_0 is the lattice spacing of the triangular lattice. More detailed calculation shows that vortices are first stable in a superconductor at

$$H_{\rm c1} = \frac{H_{\rm c}}{\sqrt{2\kappa}} \ln \kappa \tag{13}$$

If there are no surface barriers to flux entry, vortices will nucleate and move into the interior above H_{cl} . As the applied field increases, the vortices crowd closer together. At high magnetic field, when the cores of the vortices begin to overlap, the sample goes normal. This occurs at

$$H_{c2} = \frac{\Phi_0}{2\pi\xi^2} = \sqrt{2}\kappa H_c$$
(14)

Combining Eq. (13) with Eq. (14) gives a convenient rule of thumb that $H_{e1}H_{c2} \approx H^2_{c} \ln \kappa$.

Large-k Case: Repulsive Interaction Between Vortices

For the case of $\kappa \gg 1/\sqrt{2}$, the Ginsburg–Landau equations have relatively simple solutions and there are rather good physical pictures to describe the behavior of vortices. A reasonably good model to describe the vortex is a normal core of radius ξ with circulating currents sufficient to give one quantum, Φ_0 , of flux. The superconducting order parameter Δ is zero in the center of the core and rises toward the bulk value with a characteristic length ξ . To estimate the free energy per unit length of the vortex, g_{ν} , the free energy per unit volume, $\mu_0 H^2_c/2$, can be multiplied by the area of the core, $\pi \xi^2$. A more accurate calculation (6) gives

$$g_{\rm v} \approx (\mu_0 H_c^2/2) (4\pi \xi^2) \ln \kappa$$
 (15)

The magnetic field around the vortex is given by (6)

$$h(r) = \frac{\Phi_0}{2\pi\lambda^2} K_0(r/\lambda)$$
(16)

where K_0 is the zeroth-order Hankel function of imaginary argument. The force on a quantized vortex in the presence of a current density J is (6)

$$f_{\rm p} = J\Phi_0 \tag{17}$$

where J can be either the current density caused by the circulating current of other vortices or a transport current density that is externally applied. In this large- κ regime, the force between vortices is repulsive and the Abrikosov theory (18) shows that the vortices will arrange themselves in a triangular array. As the field rises above $H_{\rm cl}$, the vortices flow into the interior under the influence of the magnetic pressure of the applied field.

The high- T_c cuprate superconductors normally have a coherence distance in the a - b plane on the order of $\xi_{ab} \sim 2$ nm and a penetration depth on the order of $\lambda \sim 200$ nm so the κ values are in the range of $\kappa \sim 100$. In this extreme type II limit, the size of the Cooper pairs is very small compared to the vortex size and several simplifying assumptions can be made in the development of models to describe the magnetization curves.

The Hao and Clem model (19) for the magnetization curves of high- T_c superconductors is typical of approaches that can be used. They developed a variational method in which the trial wave function is written as

$$\psi = \frac{\rho}{\sqrt{\rho^2 + \xi_0^2}} \,\psi_\infty \tag{18}$$

where ρ is the distance from the core of the vortex, and both ξ_{ν} and ψ_{∞} are adjustable variables in the trial wave function. They start with the free energy including the core energy and minimize with respect to the trial variables of ξ_{ν} and ψ_{∞} . The



Figure 9. Superfluid density as a function of magnetic field for Y(123). These data show that the superfluid density falls linearly with magnetic field and approaches zero as H goes to H_{c2} .

magnetization curves are found to scale to a universal function on a $\mu_0 M/\sqrt{2}H_c$ vs $H/\sqrt{2}H_c$ plot. Both Y₁Ba₂Cu₃O_{7-δ} and Y₁Ba₂Cu₄O_{8-δ} are found to obey the Hao-Clem model very well (19). In addition, it was found that the superfluid density averaged over one vortex unit cell falls linearly as H/H_{c2} for fields greater than $0.3H_{c2}$ over the entire range where there is thermodynamic reversibility and measurements can be made (20). Figure 9 shows that $n_s \sim |\psi|^2$ is linear in H/H_{c2} for this high- T_c Y(123) material.

Surface Superconductivity

The surface of the superconductor modifies the potential for the superfluid electrons, and superconductivity will persist to fields above H_{c2} in a narrow layer near the surface. With the applied field parallel to the flat surface (17), Ginzburg-Landau theory with plane surface boundary conditions predicts that a superconducting layer about a coherence distance thick will be present up to $H_{c3} = 1.7H_{c2}$. Experiment verifies that this basic idea is correct. For the case of pure Nb, the measured ratio of H_{c3}/H_{c2} for pure Nb varies from 1.78 at low temperatures to 1.70 at $T/T_c = 0.9$ (21). At higher temperatures, H_{c3}/H_{c2} approaches 1.0 at T_c . Altering of the surface condition, say, by a normal metal coating will suppress or destroy this surface state.

Small-k Case: Attractive Interaction Between Vortices

For the case in which ξ is comparable to λ , there can be overlap of the vortex cores and there can be an attractive interaction between vortices. This effect was established experimentally by Essmann and Trauble (22) with experiments in which they decorated the surface of Nb with Fe spheres about 4 nm in diameter. To perform these experiments, typically an array of vortices is trapped in a coin-shaped Nb sample by applying a magnetic field above H_{c1} and then turning the field off. A "smoke" of Fe was then created by evaporating Fe metal in an atmosphere of a few Torr of He gas. The tiny Fe particles that are created follow the flux lines to the point on the surface where the core of the vortex emerges. Once the Fe particles touch the Nb, they stick very strongly. To image the vortex lattice, the Fe is stripped off the surface by a graphite replication technique and viewed in a transmission electron microscope. For the initial flux entry in the first-order transition of H_{c1} , illustrated by the dashed curve of Fig. 6, it is found that there is a two-phase region. There are clusters of a few hundred vortices all on a triangular lattice and

separated by about 200 nm. Between these clusters there are Meissner-like or vortex-free regions. In this two-phase region, the spacing of the vortices is independent of magnetic field. As the magnetic field increases, the sample fills with vortices having 200 nm spacing. The magnetization curve in this region is linear with a slope governed by the demagnetizing factor. An abrupt change in the slope of the magnetization curve occurs when the sample is just filled with vortices at the lattice spacing governed by the attractive interaction between vortices. This characteristic field is denoted by B_0 . At higher magnetic fields, the vortices are pushed closer together and the magnetization curve is similar to the repulsive force case for high- κ materials. Auer and Ullmaier (7) performed a very systematic study of these same effects, as κ in Ta is systematically increased from type I to type II behavior by alloying with N.

To analyze quantitatively the transition from type I to type II behavior by alloying, it is useful to focus on the connection between the coherence distance and the normal-state electronic mean free path l. With small additions of impurity, ξ is given by

$$1/\xi \approx 1/\xi_0 + 1/\ell \tag{19}$$

where ξ_0 is the intrinsic or clean limit of ξ . At higher impurity concentrations, l becomes comparable to ξ_0 and the diffusion limit is more appropriate. In this regime

$$\xi = \sqrt{\xi_0 \ell} \tag{20}$$

Experiments to Determine H_{c1} and H_{c2}

Many factors can lead to errors in determining both H_{c1} and H_{c2} . The lowest field for which a vortex is thermodynamically stable in a superconductor is defined to be H_{c1} . It is a difficult quantity to measure because thermodynamic equilibrium is not achieved easily at fields close to H_{cl} . The most common error arises from the presence of surface barriers to flux entry into the sample. For a cylindrical superconductor with a radius of curvature much larger than both λ and ξ (17, p. 79), the applied field must be larger than H_{c1} before a vortex will nucleate. As the field increases from zero, Meissner screening currents flow in the superconductor within a distance λ of the surface. When a vortex starts to nucleate at the surface and move into the interior of the sample, an image vortex develops to pull the vortex back toward the surface. The competition between the image force pulling the vortex toward the surface and the Meissner currents pushing the vortex into the interior creates a surface barrier to flux entry. Often the flux-entry field is comparable to $H_{\rm c}$. To overcome this effect, the surface needs to be rough on the scale of the penetration depth or the surface needs to be coated in some way to suppress the surface barrier to zero.

The highest field for which a vortex is thermodynamically stable in a superconductor is defined to be H_{c2} . For a sample that obeys the Ginzburg-Landau theory, there is a sharp change in slope at the second-order phase transition of a reversible magnetization curve that identifies H_{c2} . This is the most reliable measurement of H_{c2} . Measurements of the electrical resistivity is less reliable because it depends on the motion or depinning of vortices and often is not a measure of the point of thermodynamic stability of a vortex. For a clean classical superconductor such as Nb, the electrical resistance goes to zero at very nearly the same field that the magnetization goes linearly to zero, and both resistivity and magnetization methods can be used to determine H_{c2} . For high- T_c materials, the situation is more complicated. Because ξ is so small, fluctuation effects smear out the normal-metal to superconductor transition so that is is typically 3 K wide. Both the magnetization curves and the electrical resistivity are greatly rounded even for a very perfect sample. For this case, it is better to move to lower fields at which fluctuations are negligible and use a fit of the M vs H data to the Hao-Clem theory to determine H_{c2} .

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- D. L. Decker, D. E. Mapother, and R. W. Shaw, Critical field measurements on superconducting lead isotopes, *Phys. Rev.*, **112**: 1888– 1897, 1958.
- 2. G. Bednorz and K. A. Muller, Possible high T_c superconductivity in the Ba-La-Cu system, Z. Phys. B, 64: 189–197, 1986.
- D. K. Finnemore and D. E. Mapother, Superconducting properties of tin, indium, and mercury below 1 K, *Phys. Rev.*, 140: A507–A518, 1965.
- R. B. Goldfarb, Demagnetizing factors. In J. Evetts (ed.), Concise Encyclopedia of Magnetic and Superconducting Materials, Oxford: Pergamon, 1992.
- 5. D. Shoenberg, Superconductivity, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1960.
- M. Tinkham, Introduction to Superconductivity, 2nd ed., New York: McGraw-Hill, 1996.
- J. Auer and H. Ullmaier, Magnetic behavior of type II superconductors with small Ginsburg-Landau parameter, *Phys. Rev.*, 7: 136– 145, 1973.
- D. K. Finnemore, T. F. Stromberg, and C. A. Swenson, Superconducting properties of high purity Nb, *Phys. Rev.*, 149: 231-243, 1966.

- 9. J. J. Wollan et al., Phase transition at H_{c1} for superconducting Nb and V, Phys. Rev., 10: 1874–1880, 1974.
- U. Kumpf, Magnetization curves for type II superconductors with small Ginsburg-Landau parameter, *Phys. Status Solidi*, 44: 829– 843, 1971.
- R. R. Hake, Mixed state paramagnetism in high field type II superconductors, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 15: 865–868, 1965.
- J. Bardeen, L. N. Cooper, and J. R. Schrieffler, Theory of superconductivity, *Phys. Rev.*, 108: 1175–1204, 1957.
- L. N. Cooper, Bound electron pairs in a degenerate Fermi gas, Phys. Rev., 104: 1189–1190, 1956.
- 14. F. London, Superfluids, New York: Wiley, 1950, Vol. 1.
- V. L. Ginzburg and L. D. Landau, Regarding a theory of superconductivity, *Zh. Expt. Teor. Fiz.*, **20**: 1064–1072, 1950; **20**: 1064–1077, 1950.
- A. L. Fetter and P. C. Hohenberg, Theory of type II superconductors. In R. D. Parks (ed.), *Superconductivity*, Marcel Dekker: New York, 1969.
- 17. P. G. de Gennes, Superconductivity of Metals and Alloys, New York: W. A. Benjamin, 1966.
- A. A. Abrikosov, Magnetic properties of superconductors, Zh. Expt. Teor. Fiz., 32: 1442–1450, 1957 (Sov. Phys. JETP, 5: 1174–1182, 1957).
- Z. Hao and J. R. Clem, Limitations of the London model for the reversible magnetization of type II superconductors, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 67: 2371-2373, 1991.
- J. Sok et al., Reversible magnetization, critical fields, and vortex structure in grain aligned YBa₂Cu₄O₈, Phys. Rev., 51: 6035-6040, 1992.
- J. E. Ostenson, J. R. Hopkins, and D. K. Finnemore, Surface superconductivity in Nb and V, Physica, 55: 502–506, 1971.
- U. Essmann and H. Trauble, Direct observation of individual flux lines in type II superconductors, *Phys. Lett.*, A24: 526-527, 1967.

D. K. FINNEMORE Iowa State University

INTRODUCTION

In February 2000 C. Doole and H. A. Farach tabulated the transistion temperatures and structure types of almut 200 classical superconductors in commercial production. Some of that production is quite substantial. In the year 2000 the global demand for Nb. Th for MRI applications alone was approximately 1000 tons (including the dominant copper fraction), or 60,000 km to 70,000 km. The estimated value of that demand was about \$ 50M. In this introduction, two potentially important superconductors not covered in the rest of this section are also introduced.

NbN Including NbTiN

Nitride and carbonitride superconductors date back to the explorations of Meissner's group in the 1930a. During the Second World Way, Aschermann and coworkers found that mobium nitride bad a T_c of 15 K (2), the first time the hquid below region had been surpassed. As in the case of A15 compounds, the highest critical temperatures are for compounds with numbers of valence electrons per atom closest to 4.7 and 6.7. (See the article on A15 SUPERCONDUCTORS in this section 1

For niobium carbonitride Matthias found a T_{π} of 17.8 K. (3) The application of these materials in bulk form was himdered by their metastability, which required them to be made at high temperature and then quanched. Successful thin films, however, could be made by a number of deposition routes, including chemical vapor deposition and reactive evaporation as well as reactive sputtering. Gavaler and cowarkers at Westinghouse recorded perhaps the highest ever critical current densities by measuring 60 nm NhN whiskers (4). Of more typical thuckness are the multilayers produced by Gray and coworkers at Argonne National Laboratory (5). These values closely match the APC NIoSn than film values of Difiderach at Lawrence Berkely National Laboratory (6) and approach the YBCO microbridge values of Foltyn and coworkers at Los Alamos National Laboratory as shown in Fig. 1, NbN/AlN multilayers and NhN films are extremely radiation-hard. NbN has been a focus of Josephson-junction fabrication research. It is much easier to fabricate digital circuits using NbN than using HTS YBCO. Even though it has a much lower T, than YBCO, it can still be operated with a 10 K (small polse-type or Starling coolers) cryoscoler, which is preferable to the 4 K cryptopler that would be required for Nb-based junctions. For SIS devices, the larger bandgap (1.2 THz) of NbN (han that of Nb makes it a batter candidate for frequencies above 700 GHz, High-goot de SQUIDs have been fabricated using NbN nanobridges for biomedical magnetic measurements (7). NbN has also proved a viable option for instruments designed to measure molecular spectra for astronomical applications as well as in remote sensing of the atmosphere in the perahertz regime-by Recently there has also been work on NbTiN, which is a promising maternal for use in the turning circuits of Nhbased SIS makers for operating frequencies abave the gap frequency of Nb (approximately 700 GHz), achieving low neise at 550 GHz. NbN and NFTIN continue to be a very active area of reservich.



Figure 1. A companies of the highest recorded Nb₈S0 and YBC01 entical currents with those of the multilayers of Gray et al.

Chevrel-Phase Superconductors

Chevrel phases include all compounds with the formula $Me_1 \times 4Me_0 X_8$ where M is a metal and X is a chalcogen. They are not so much HTS or LTS superconductors as high-field superconductors, with PhMo₀ S ₈ having an upper entited field of 60 T in bulk samples. In which form, however, the highest critical fields have been closer to 35 T at 4.2 K, and the wires have low entited currents (9). Nevertheless, they have a unique application to high-field endies and are under active study by a number of research groups.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- C. P. Poble and H. A. Farach, Tabulations and correlations for transition temperatures of classical superconductors, *J. Superconductivity*, 13 (1): 17-60, 2000.
- G. Asthermann, et al., Supralectifiling: Verbinderungen und extrem hohen Sprunctemperaturen (NicH and Nic, Press 2, 42,349– 60, 1941.
- B. T. Marthuas, Theosteric temperatures of superconductors, *Phys. Rev.*, 92, 74-876, 1953.
- 4. 4. R. Georger, et al., Dimensional effects on current and field properties in NbN films, IEEE Trans. Magaz, 17, 576-576, 1991.
- K. E. Grav, et al., Experimental study of the ultrate limit of flux pinning nod critical contents or superconductors, *Physica C*, 152: 445–465, 1969.
- D. R. Dietriench, et al., High entited current densities in Nh-Sn films with engineered microstructures artificial planing microscructures. Adv. Cryst. Eng. (Manuscus) 44b, 951–956, 1988.
- A. Ine, K. Hamazaka, and T. Yomashita, Fubrication of high-ginn IK's SQUID magnetometer with NbN narodiridges, *Electronics Computer* Japan (Electronics) 73:71–88-96, 1990.
- 9 E. Gersecht, et al. NEN hat electron bolumetric mixer with intrinsic receiver noise temperature of less than five transit the quantum noise limit. 2009 IEEE MIT-S later national Microscole Symposium, Vid. 2, pp. 1007–10, 2000.
- N. Cheggoor, et al., Irreversibility has and granularity in Chevrel phase superconducting wires, J. Appl. Phys. 84, 2181–2193, 1966.

A15 SUPERCONDUCTORS

When discussing technical superconductors one distinguishes between high-temperature superconductors and low-temperature superconductors. The characteristic temperature is the critical temperature. T_c . Above this temperature superconductivity ceases. When thinking about "high" temperatures one typically addresses temperatures around the point of hquification of mirogen (77 K); when considering "low" temperatures, values in the region of the boiling point of liquid heltum (4.2 K) are of increase.

The low-temperature superconductors can be further subdivided. For example, there are solid-solution superconductors and β -tangeton superconductors. In this article, we consider the latter. Another name for β tangeten superconductors is A-15 superconductors, a classification according to the crystal structure of the material.

Additional main parameters to characterize superconductors are the upper critical magnetic field, B_{cl} , and the critical density, J_c . Again, superconductivity disappears for values of the magnetic field *B* or the current density *J* above their critical values.

Solid-solution superconductors, for example, NbTi, are limited to be used up to a magnetic field of about 9 T. Some superconductors of the 8-tungsten group have the potential to reach magnetic fields well above 20 T. To take advantage of this patential, many different production methods of wires and takes have been established. As all A-15 comparinds are very brittle, the processing to final dimension takes place in a more ductile state and mainly in combination with substrate materials for electrical and mechanical stabilization. At final dimensions, or even after winding to coils, the superconducting layers are formed during a defined heat treatment

Many principlures have been developed in order to increase B_{c2} and J_c by adding elements for alloying the basic metals. Because of poer ductility and differences in thermal expansion reefficients of the materials in such a composite, stress and strain needs to be carefully controlled during handling and in the final application, for example, high-field insgnets of different sizes.

This name, used for the class of materials addressed by the title, is based on the 8-form of the element tangeton (W), first reported by Hartmann et al. in 1931 (1). This modification is taken as a representant of the A15 structure. As one was not entirely sure whether an not this structure occurs in pure W. but only in connection with oxygen, other protetypes have been sought. The testing of the elements has not been fruitful, and so the lattice of a binary intermetalloc compound of chromoum (Cr) and silicon (Si), that is, Cr₃Si, became a commonly used indicator. In the following text, the term A15 will be utilized. In the unit cell of a binary compound A₁B, which shows the A15 structure, the ones are addered in the following manner (see Fig. 1). The B ions are arranged in such a way as to build up a hody-contered cubic (bcc) sublattice. The Amos form morintersecting chains in the (100)-, (010)-, and (001)-directions on the faces of the unit cell.



Figure 1. Part of an AL⁶ lattice emphasizing the her-sublattice of the Arous and the monotleraceung (point chores of the Brons.

In this group of superconductors, however, the A ions commonly are niobium (Nb) or variadium (V), and the *B* ions are, for example, recruited from tin (Sn), aluminum (Al), germanium (Ge), or gallium (Ga), without trying to be exhaustive. Thus, typical representants are materials such as Nb₂Sn, Nb₃Al, Nb₃Ge, or V₄Ga, to nome only a few (fither members, together with their transition temperature $T_{\rm e}$, can be found in Table 1 (2+4).

The explanation of why a crystal structure is applied in order to characterize a class of superconductors, in spite of the fact that it is not entirely possible to assign superconductivity to a certain combination of qualities, becomes evident noting the following: Until the so-called high T_r superconductors were discovered, the record for the maximum: T_r has always been held by members of the A15 family.

All metallic materials being superconducting in the range from 14 K to 28 K have the crystal structure of the A155. The high superconducting transition temperature T_c for V₀Si and Nb₀Sn has been discovered by Hardy and Hulor (5) in 1953 and Matthias et al. (6) in 1954. A15 materials are expected not to be superconducting above 25 K (7), due to the increasing matability of their structure related to the electron, phonon interaction.

Nevertheless, there are compounds showing the A15 structure which do not have a remarkably high T_c . For example, the intermetablic compound containing Nb and estimate (Os), that is, Nb₀O₅, has rather a low one: $T_c = 1$ K (d), whereas the compound of V with cohole (Co), that is, V₂Co, does not show superconductivity at all, down to a temperature of T = 0.015 K(d). That fact made the search for an explanation for the qualities of those materials oven more difficult.

In general, it is possible to describe the physical phenomenal relevant for the A16s, for example, the high superconducting transition temperature, which is also related to the BCS formula (9), by one-dimensionality, partially localized states near to or at the Formi level, elastic softness, and strong electronphonon coupling.

Table 1. Transition Temperatures (in K) of Some A15 Superconductors (2-4)

A15	Cr ₅ Si	Mo Ir	NE ₂ AI	N6.A0	Nb ₅ Go	Nb_sGc	Nb,Sn	Ta Sa	Tilr	V.At	V ₁ Ga	V ₁ Gr.	V,In	V,5i
r.	• 12	в5	191	11 3	20.7	23.2	16-2	5.8	·I.J	9.6	14.6	ä	14	17.1

In the A15s, a non-atomic diffusion, characterized by an atomic motion during the transformation at low temperatures, not exceeding the distance of an unit cell's size, takes place. Such martenistic transformations are quite common in solids. The most famous example is an alloy of iron (Fe) and carbon (C), the FeC transformation to the Fe₃C, the becknown or martenistic phase transformation in A15, showe $T_{\rm m}$ (martenistic phase transitions temperature) is from cubic A15 to a more tetragonal structure at a few tenths of a kelvin heliow this temperature. This transformation has been observed first at V₃Si and Nb₅Sn by Batterman and Barrett (10) by x-ray diffraction.

Forther investigations have been made by susceptibility and NMR measurement of Knight Shift and nuclear spin lattice relaxation rate (11). Results are that, in the superconducting state, the A15s have the behavior of type-II-superconductors. It is remarkable that, the higher the transition temperature, the higher the temperature dependency of the susceptibility becomes.

The development of technically usable Alās was correlated to the research work done for conductors having a high critical temperature T_r , and being adequate for the production of highfield magnets.

Early progress for commercial use has been achieved with powder metallurgical systems, by filling Nb and Su provder into a Nb tube, compacting the powder, and drawing the entire piece to the final wire diameter. Other methods targeting the production of taples, which was possible by passing tapes of the substrate material, for example, V or Nb, through a bath of molten Ca or Sn, respectively. Additional experiments used the same principal approach, by producing pancake-like tapes, made by rulling together already alloyed tapes. Chemical vapor deposition (CVD) and cathodic sputtering are being used, as well.

The advantage of A1b conductors at high T_i and high B_{12} , the upper critical field (To be precise, the upper critical field would be H_{12} , which is related to the upper initial flux density B_{22} in the following way: $B_{22} = \mu_0 H_{22}$. But the common combination used in the superconducting society is the one above. Its faced by the disadvantage of the brittle intermetallic A15 compounds. That applies for conductors having reduced mechanical trusion in the diffusion layer. In the case of tapes this is given due to the smallness of the distance of the neutral phase to the diffusion layer, resulting in bending stresses low enough to wind magnets after the A15 forming heat treatments.

Tapes, having naturally a large width-to-thickness ratio, are outsoltable for rapidly excited magnets. The A15 layer causes instability because of flux jumps originating from the currents perpendicular to the superconducting layer. Fulfilling the demand of intrinsic stability is one of the important enters for modern superconducting magnets, and can only be achieved by dividing the superconductive parts into very small portions.

First ideas for the production of fine filaments in a substratehave been laid down in the British patent GB No. 1203292 of 1966 (10). Nevertheless, the advantages of the properties of tages (NbiSn, ViGa) for the design and construction of pancake coil magnets has been used on several high-field magnets. A magnet of 17.5 T (13.5 T with NbiSo plus 4.0 T with ViGa), long constructed by Intermagnetics General Corporation (IGC), has been installed at the National Research Institute for Metals (NRIM) in Japan in 1975 (13).

In the case of fine filaments, materials in a ductile state are drawn down to final dimensions. The A15 compound is then formed by a heat treatment, using the solid-state diffusion. This method of solid-state diffusion has first been applied by Tachikawa for a V₁Ga wire (14). The A15 compound is made via a heat treatment at approximately 700 C, which enables the Ga, solved in the Cn. to diffund into the V filaments, forming V_xGo .

As the problem of brittleness still exacts, it has now become common to wind the magnets' coils first, having the treatment afterwards. This so-called wind-and-reart method is now nordiar almost all magnets assembled of A15 superconductors. The structures of V₁Ga and Nb₃Sn are very similar, but material costs and production procedures are in favor of Nb₃Sn. It is possible to perform the solid-state diffusion by several methoids. Examples are diffusion of Sn from a bronze with a high tin content into Nb filaments, or by an external diffusion of Sn to a Cu-Nb system with intermediate steps of forming u bronze by the Sn diffusion procedure. The bronze process is applicable, for example, for Nb-Sn, V-Ga, V-Si, V-Ge, Nb-Au, and Nb-Al.

In order to get high critical corrects, it is obvious that the reaction of Nb and Sn or V and Ga to Nb₅Sn or V₄Ga must be as complete as possible. Different methods have been developed to reach this target, for example, Nb-Sn internal Sn conductors, powder on tube, jelly roll, or in situ technologies. Such methods are necessary, as otherwise the amount of Nb₅Sn in the crass section is limited to the Sn content of the bronze. Compared with conductors produced via the bronze mute, these materials are soperior, in terms of the critical current density J_r . Forced by design and fabrication technology, those conductors tend to have filament coupling and high hysteresis bases, caused by relatively large effective filament diameters. These values of the effective filament diameters are significantly better for the bronze route conductors, also showing higher figures for T_c and B_{cg} .

Nb₁Al is one of the about 47 known A15 superconductors, having the third highest T_c of 19.1 K (see also Table 1), ranking behind only impractical materials like Nb₂Ge (23 K) and Nb₂Ge (20.3 K). While having those promising figures, the production R Nb₂Al torned out to be a difficult task. Different production methods of powder metallurgy have been ublicit, as well as the tube and the jelly roll processes.

A 15 superconductors are strain sensitive and, while Nb₂Sn may drop about 50% in J_2 at a strain of 0.5%, the J_1 of Nb₂Al is reduced by 20% only at a strain up to 0.8% (15). That gave reason for renewed interest in that material, especially for lorge-scale applications like the International Thermonuclear Experimental Reactor (ITER). For the very big colls of such a machine, the conductors are cabled and welded into a stainless-steel conduct, resulting in additional axial strain.

A significant amount of research work has been done toward powder metallurgical solutions, but no commercially usable process has been developed for Nb₃Al. The jelly roll and Nb tube processes seem to be more promising to yield high J_{ϵ} values at reasonable length. Wres of A15 type soperconductors used for the wind-and-reart technique need to be insulated with an insulation material like glass, quartz, or ceramic, withstanding the heal-treatment temperature in the case of No₂Su, this temperature is at approximately 700 C, leading to a braided insulation type of E or S-glass. The higher temperatures, which are accessary to form the Nb₃Al phase, are another obstacle for a provider use of this material. While Nb₂Sn became the main choice of the A15 materials being used in a wide section of high-field magnets, a development leading to higher critical currents and better mechanical values as necessary.

The main factor that is braining high-magnetic field is the Lorentz force, which increases proportionally to the square of the generated magnetic field. The stresses induced into the conductor and the streams require reinforcement, reducing the overall current density and thus loading to magnets being higger and, therefore, less efficient. The brenze substrate of A15 superconductors is highly resistive and the stabilization is poin. Curd very goad conductivity has to be added (compare Fig. 2(a)) with Fig. 2(b)). Different methods, different with respect to the method of processing the conductors, like internal Sn. jelly roll, and bronze process, are used. In order to prevent the diffusion of B ions, for example, Sn into the Cu, diffusion barriers are necessary. In case of the branze process conductors, diffusion barriers of Ta or Nb are used.

To influence the superconducting parameters, the critical current density J_c and the upper critical field R_{c2} , by getting better heat-treatment conditions and higher pinning forces, third elements, creating ternary and quarternary alloys, for example, (Nb, Ta)₈Sn, (Nb, Ta, Ta)₈Sn, or Ge, Hf, or Al are added. As not only J_c but also the overall current, usually denoted by $I_{current}$, is important, the size of conductors has to be increased.



.



Figure 2. Different truss sections of Nb3So bran as conductors (14) with InCo, care for architection, and (b. unstabilized (courtes) of Vocuous schedeles) This is possible by producing larger monolithic superconductors, mainly of rectangular shape. Another alternative is the cabling of a number of round wires into flat or round orbits. Special attention to possible reasons for the reduction of J_r by filament size, the principle conductor design, or the cabling process, has to be given

To fulfill basic requirements of technically reliable super conductors like high transition temperature T_{s_i} high critical field B_{ab} and high critical current density J_{c} , many different approaches have been used. This was mainly done by develeping production and material treatment methods adequate to everyone the sometimes difficult material parameters of the A15 components and in order to optimize the parameters of the final conductor configurations. As all A15 materials are brittle by nature, which cannot be overcome by any means. if is necessary to use methods of deformation to get tapes or wires being cold-worked prior to forming the A15 layers. Once the layers are formed, the handling of the conductors meals utmust care, in order not to reduce ar completely to destroy the superconducting properties. Deformation effort ductors with already existing A15 formation is only possible with complicated. not very practical methods, for example, extremely high hydrostatic pressure.

METHODS OF PRODUCTION

Surface Diffusion Process

In this process, a tape of V or Nb is dipped into a Ga or Sn bath. The heat treatment then forms V₁Ga or Nb₃Sn. It is also possible to hold the bath at the reaction temperature, forming the A15 phase during miniersion. To use the better flexibility of tapes and getting the relatively thin layers of the bristle A15 only, other methods, such as sputtering the V or Nb to the cure material by cathodic deposition or chemical vapor deposition, or by condensing under high vacuum canditions have been applied. For special MRI magnets, tapes of (Nb, Zri₂Sn are introduced, operating at 9 K (16)

Composite Diffusion Process

Members of the composite are cold-worked together to final shape. The final heat treatment forms, by solid-state diffusion, the superconducting phases or a microstructure, which also has normal conducting phases. Tapes or even wires made of the components of the superconducting phase, probably in combination with other elements for electrical or mechanical stablization, or just to improve the workability, are celd-worked ingether, tapes of Nh and Ai or Cu, Sn, and Nh being stacked and colled. It is also possible to use tapes of the high-melting component with layers of the lower-melting component received by CVD for stacking and rolling. Clod chip extrusion (17), by producing the components as described, chipping and filling them into a Nb-lined Cu can for extrusion and drawing, is another development of this preduction.

Powder Metallurgy Process

Matrix material like Cu is mixed with other components, for example, NE and Su, or Nb and Al, after the compaction to final shape of wires or tapes. The formation of the superconducting phase takes place on the outside of the powder layers.



Figure 3. Fabrication of bronze mute conductors (courtesy of Vacuamschnielze).

Producing a superconducting wire by PM methods has been upproved by Kunzler et al. (18) and was the first successful process for A15 wires. The Nb tube has been filled with (Nb, So) powder. with a ratio of 8 to 1 or a (Nb₈Su, Su) powder. Heat-treatment temperatures of 970°C in 1400°C are used. More recently, pawder of the intermetallic compound N5Sn₂, mixed with Sn powder, is filled into a thin-walled tube of Cu or Cu-based alloy, and reduced in size for compaction. The powder is then placed into a Nh tube within a Cu tube. After that, it is possible to use this combination and stack it again into a Culcan with other matrix. parts. Such a billet can be culd-worked to final size without further heat treatment. During the heat frontment, at typically 650 C to 700 C doming 15 h to 45 h, a Nb₂Sn Jayer of about 2.5 pm thickness is formed on the inner eide of the Nb tube, resulting in filament diameters of 10 and to 20 juni, depending on the number of cores. The reactions process is, in fact, a two-etep process of NbSug 1 Sp. • Nb₂Sp. from the core, and then forming with the Nh tube and, by depleting lot Sn the Nh,Sn. Similar methods can be used for Nb₈Al, especially by using sintered mds of Nb powder, metal-impregnated to get it self-supporting, due to immersion into Al-Ge or Al-Si baths at temperatures or 600 C or 580 C, respectively (19). Reaction treatment at 1700 (? is followed by final annealing, at 750 C

Branze Process

This technology is very typical for No₈Sn and V₀Ga superconductors. In a substrate of Cu-Sn or Cu-Ga, a number of flaments of Nb or V are inserted. The selubibity of Sn and Ga is lumited to approximately S at G or 20 et G, respectively. This solubility restrains the amount of the A15 compound that can be formed by solid-state diffusion. The high-strength component, the branze, is getting the low-strength component, Nb-Ga, to a laminated flow, but multiple intermediate heat treatments due to work bardening are accessary; see, for example, Table 2 (20, Relatively thin filements, with a maximum diameter of about 5 μ m, are necessary to receive good overall current density. The

Sn reservoir and the diffusion path is the branze between the filaments, but the decreasing content of Souluring the reaction treatment reduces the speed of diffusion. Heat treatments at about 700 C, in many different variations, form the intermetallie A15 compound at the interlayer of the branze to Nb ar V. Thus also creates Kirkendall vuida (21), which disturb the diffusion paths, see Fig. 5. To get high filament numbers for conductors of logger size and due to the limitations in filament diameter. second and third stacking of billets may be necessary. For elsetrical stabilization. Cu can be embedded to the matrix or in the center of the conductor. An outer shell of Cu is also possible, especially in the case where a larger amount of Cu is needed; see Fig. 3. Diffusion barriers of Ta. Nb, or V are necessary, to protext the C μ during the diffusion process by proventing B ions. entering from the promise into the Cul, which would significantly reduce the conductivity.

Internal Sn Process

A Cu jacket, having a Sn rod in the center and Nb cores distribuled around it in the remaining cross section, is the starting element of this process. Those subelements may be surrounded by Nbor Taburriers, to protect the stabilizing Cu from diffusion of the Sn. This Curis the outer hube into which the subelements are inserted. The Co-Nb-Sn composite is cold-worked to final dimension, without intermediate annealing. The bronze matrix is formed when the conductor already is in its final shape. Therefore, the last treatment needs two cycles. The first twoically starts at 200 C for 100 h, continues at 375 C for 24 h, and finishes at 680 C for 50 h. It is needed for the homogenization of the Cu-Sn bronze, containing different pleases againding to the phase diagram in Fig. 4 (23). A consecutive second heat treatment of one or more steps is necessary to form the Nb₂Sn layer. The typical temperature is around 725 C. For a better distribution of the Sn, methods of planing it rather close to the filaments instead, as a core in the renter of the subelements, is used, resulting in reduced heat-treatment time and



Figure 4. Detailed phose diagram of Cu-Sn 1235

a homogeneous A15 layer distribution over the crose syction of the conductor (24).

In Silu Process

Chaining ingots of two photo Co. Nhao Co.V with dondrates dispersed into the matrix of Co, cold-working, and then costong with Sn or Ga, are the basic scenario start this process (Fig. 5(a)). To reduce the likelihood of wire-breakage, a bronze matrix may be used. After dispersing the Sn or Ga throughout the matrix. Nh₂Sn or V₃Ga are formed during the heat treatment at the interfaces between the matrix and the fitantents. Highly homegeneous Co-V ingots are difficult to produce by conventional casting methods, due to a large missibility gap in the huuid region. A continuous are easting plus Ga coating give the opportunity to optimize the material toward better mechanical values and better current-carrying capacity llarge ingots up to 150 mm m diameter [Fig. 5(b)] have been produced by smolting the Cu Nb into a CaO mold for solidification. Wires produced thereof have shown, after boot treatment at 800 U for 25 b, good mechanical values in untwisted condition. No degradation is fraind up to \$.2% strain, but in the case of twish-4 wires, the degradation is significant (25a). Multistage cables made from fine wires with a diameter of 0.2 non with small in situ filaments of 0.5 km have been developed for an applications. Such cables are showing even more improved values in strain mssistaner (25h).

External Diffusion Process

This process is also typically used for V_0Ga and Nb_0Sn composites in a Gu billet with drilled hales, rods of V in Nb are

embedded and cold work is applied to get the final dimensions. Prior to heat treatment, the surface is coated with Ga or Sn having first the diffusion into the matrix, and then forms at the interface between matrix and the times the ViGa or NbiSn layers, respectively. The amount of A15 phase produced by this method is firsted by the quantity of the B material which eas he started in the conting of the CatA wire. The fact dictates the maximum diameter of the wire. The combination of this method with the binnize pricess, in order to increase the to content, is also possible.

Jelly Roll Process

A foil of Nh with slit meshes and a foil of Cu-Su brouze are spirally rolled into a cylinder, cold-worked, and heat-treated. The Nh_iSn is more very at the interface of the Cu Su and the Nb. Despite the successful use of the (elly roll process for the Nb $_{2}$ So. this method was originally developed for Ni₆A1(26). Foils of Nb and Al have been wrapped around one Cu cylisider and incorted into another Colleyhuder. Wires with a diameter of 0.2 mm recave a heat treatment of sevi-ral hours at about \$50 C, resulting in a mixture of Nb₂AI and nonreacted Nb. Placing some, for example, more, of the unreacted jelly rolls into a Cu rod with drilled hores, is a logical way to increase the current by getting a larger cross section. The modified jelly roll technology is performed (27) by wrapping layers of Cu sheets and expanded metal sheets of Nh around a Sn rod. Conductor designs with 54 of such jelly rolls assembled with a barrier of Nh or V are placed in a Culcan for cold-working to final dimensions, providing a high J, and large Cu cross-section, bkewise. In principut, the modified jelly roll process proceeds like the internal Soprocess.



Figure 5. (a) Schematic diagram of an articlascens of Cu-Nb composite (courtesy of Fujikara), (ii) Transverse section showing Nb dendrite solidilied in Cu mold (courtesy of Fujikara).

Tube Process

To form the basic composite, a Cu take with a So or Cu-Sn alloy core is inserted into a Nb tube. This combination is introduced into another Cu tube and then cold-drawn. A number of those single-core elements are stacked for assembling into a Cu can and cold-worked to final dimension. For the production of basic composites of larger conductors, cold working is performed down only to intermediate dimensions, followed by a second assembly. During heat treatment, the Sn diffusion into the matrix takes place first. Then the Nb₃Sn layer is formed at the interform of the Cu to the inner ende of the Nb tubes. This technology has also been used for V₃Gu wires and tapes, rolled from wires (28):

Specialties of the Production of Nb₃Al

The A15 phase in Nb₃Al can be attained from the melting both using high temperatures, and at reduced temperatures for the reaction between Nb and Nb₃Al. The *a*-phase of Nb₃Al needs temperatures above 1600 C. By reacting with Nb at about 1800 C, A15 is formed. The desired stoichiometry of the A15 phase seems to be stable at high temperatures of > 1770 C only (1940 C in the corner of the phase diagram of Fig. 6 (29). In general, the high reaction temperature for the conventionally processed materials leads to grain growth. Because many production techniques failed to get stoichiometric Nb₃Al, numbers of different approaches have been tried, like laser alloying or rapid quenching by melt spinning. Powder metallurgical processes are unfavorable, because of the high oxygen (O) content in the puwder, which does not allow the high deformation cate



Figure 6. Detroled phase thegram Nb-AJ (20)



Figure 7. Cross socies of Nh 'Al composite wire (30)

required. To get reliable conductor lengths, especially for magnets with magnetic fields above 21 T, a distinct rupid-quench process has been established (30). By the jelly roll technology, the wire consisting of several elements made from Nb and Al sheets wrapped around an Nb core is produced, using multistacking and extrusion procedures, resulting in a cross-section pettern, as can be seen in Fig. 7. The wire produced this way is subject to obmic heating at 1900 C to 2000 C, and rapidly but continuously quenched in a bath of maken Ga (melting point): 30 C); see Fig. 8. Such a treatment leads to a supersaturated. Nh-Al-lice phase. This metastable phase is transformed by a heat treatment of 700 C to 900 C to microsrystalline A15 of meanly stoichiometric composition. The resistivity ratio RKR in the Nh matrix has a value of about 17, giving reduced concern about bridging of filaments in this kind of conductor. Due to the processing, the wire consists of Na-Al only, with access of Nb For the use at a higher current *J*. Cu has to be clad, in order to stabilize the wires.



Figure 8. Schematic diagram of rapid-heating, rapid-quanching apparatus (30).

BRONZE CONDUCTORS

To fabricate high-field magnets, flexible tapes, having the affvantage of a small distance from the brittle A15 compound to the neutral phase in bending direction, have been used succeasfally. The large area-to-thickness ratio of the A15 layer leads to instability (flux jumps), especially if magnets have a rapid ramping rate. The solid-state diffusion process, as used for bronze conductors of Nb₃Sn and V₃Ga (31), has solved this problem, by dividing the core material into pieuty of fine filaments. The formation of A15 layers is principally limited by the amount of Sr, and Ga in the bronze. The solubility of Sn in Culta-5.5 at % and for Ga in Curis 20 at G. Bronze with about 7.5 at /5 Sn at about 18 at.9 Ga has been used. The diffusion process. forms the A15 layer until the equilibrium for a given temperature is established. At a temperature of 620 C to 700 C, the diffusion for Galends at a remaining concentration at 14 at. 9 to 15 at G Ga in the matrix. So diffusion from the brunze proceeds. at approximately 700 C to 850 $C_{\rm c}$ leaving a Sn concentration. in the bronze of approximately 3 at \Im to 4 at \Im , see Table 3.

The heat-treatment time and temperature has to be controlled in such a way as to receive an aptimum layer thickness. but without increasing too much the grain size. Especially for a long heat treatment of \$200 h. the matrix volume has to be increased, in order to provide enough Sn or Gal Small distances. between the filaments seem to be desirable, due to reduced bending strain, but the space between the filaments acts as a diffusion path for the B inus from the conductor periphery; too. Those diffusion paths are reduced in their effective width by the Kirkendall vinds (see Fig. 9) (32) caused by the diffusion mechanism during heat treatment. At a given temperature and a constant concentration gap, the quantity of B ions diffusing through a cross section in a given time is proportional to the area of this cross section (Fick's first law). From this follows that the cross section of the ourse of Nh or V should be divided in as many portions as feasible, to increase the interlayer between the broaze and the core material. This leads to an increase of the total anomat of A15 material, even with reduced heat treatment time. Optimization studies of diffusion treatment versus layer thickness have shown that filument diameters should be in the range of 3 $\mu{\rm m}$ to 5 $\mu{\rm m}$. For conductors with a ninmeter of 1.5 mm, and taking into account the cross section needed for stabilization and diffusion barrier, approximately 15,000 filaments are necessary. Workahility of the component is an essential request to arrive with technically and commercially usable conductors. While the basic companients, Nb or V, electrop beam-priare-method, are high-purity materials of executent



Figure 9. The diffusions in the system timbranze with NI: filaments showing the narrowing of the diffusion paths by the Kirkendoll wids; after 1021.

	Degree of			
	Di-formation	Heat Treatment	Temperature	Bardonss
Sample	(i)	Name (b)	(C)	(N/mm ²)
7.7 at. 6 Su	1	_		1260
	21	_	_	2230
	27			23-10
	21	L	500	1340
	21	5	500	1360
	21	К	500	1160
9.5 of 3 So	0	-		1350
	31	_	-	2560
	21	I	400	1640
	21	5	400	1370
	21	ė	400	1330
Nb, original	çî.	_	-	1020
No Cone	25	-		1340
	57			1490
	68		_	1460
	75	L	650	1530
	97	L	550	1510
	99.7	I	550	2030

Table 2. Increase of Hardness of Niobium and Tin Bronze During Deformation (20)

ductifity, they are sensitive to imbrittlement by interstitials of oxygen (O), nitrogen (N), or C. This is especially true for the V, but the more problematic part is the bronze; see Table 2. Normally Co-Sn bronze contains about 10 wt.³ Sn, and as desoridizer phosphorus (P) is used. In the Nb-Sn system, P prevents the diffusion procedure. The amount of Sn should be as close as possible to the salubility limit of 8.5 at %. For many years, the technically attainable Sn content was limited to about 3 at %. Never processes made homogeneous bronze at 3.5 at %. Sn available (SS: The positive influence of the Sn content on J, is shown in Fig. 10. During cold work, the hardness of the bronze is increasing rapidly, as shown in Table 2, and a significant number of intermediate heat treatments have to be applied. From the workability point of view, this is pertainly a disadvantage of the branze process.

STABILIZATION AND BARRIERS

To have maximum J_c , the core material has to be converted into A15, theoretically to 100%. Regarding mechanical and electrical stability, a small core of unreacted material, even in fine filaments, has a positive influence on the overall performance of the conductor. For reasons of electrical and thermal stabilization for example, during the occurrence of a quench, which may result from whe movement in connection with

energy dissipation, it is necessary to have a highly conductive material in the cross sertion. The bronze itself has a rather low conductivity (specific resistance ≈ 70 n Ω m at a temperature of 4 K), which is important to reduce the alternating correct (ac) losses. Experiments have shown that, in case of bronze nerductors, a reversed transport reaction can lead to a very small (0.3 at/3) Sn concent, compared with the values of Table 3. In this low-Sn "branze," the value for the specific resistivity is reduced by a factor of 10. This method is not very practical and hus, on view of ac losses, disadvantages. It is therefore necessary to increase the electrical stability by designing conductors with Cu included in the cross section. This can be done by a few percent distributed throughout the matrix, up to 20% in the wire center and up to a maximum part of the cross section as an outer chell. The composite needs a barrier to protect the Cu from the diffusion of B ions into the stabilizing part, which would reduce the conductivity of the Cu. Barmer materials fulfilling this task are V. Nb. Ta. or alloys and combinations thereof (34). The use of a Nb harmen second to be the natural choice, as it file the material parameters of the complete conductor. The Nb,Sa layer formed at the interface of bronze and barrier acts just ble a large filament, bringing additional logb ac losses. The effect of the barrier materials on the hysteresis losses is shown in Fig. 110 at and Fig. 1105: "The use of Ta barriers avoids magnetic disturbances, oven in cases where high-temperature heat treatments are being used. Furthermore, Ta barriers are

Table 3. Maximum Arve Reviv, Remaining Tin Concentration, and Transmon Temperature of Sold-State-Diffused Nu₂8n Samples (20)

Tor Cententratica m Alloy (at 15)	Diffusion Temperature 1 C:	Maximum Aran Ratan Amar (Araa	Bernsining Tin Conventration For SiteSectated)	Transition Temperature T _e (K)	
77	700	0.15	51	17.5	
	7:0	0.19	4.0		
	760	0.26	3.3	19 (*	
9.5	730	0.30	0.4	18.041	

Hoat-Greatment time: 24 h.

"Heat-treatment time 56 h



Figure 10. Diagram of non-Uu J_r versus applied magnetic field H showing the enhancement of J_r by the Sin concentration (30).

effective as reinforcement due to their high Young's motions and remarkably high strength at 4 K. Access of O must be prevented during any heat treatment in the course of production and the diffusion primodure, as Ta interacts intensively with O. Conductors with peripheral stabilization should have $\geq 25\%$



Figure 11. Magnetization curve for material; (a) containing 0 1007. Nb barrier: the relatively large flux jumps in the low field region are very apparent: and (b) containing on interrupted Nb barrier: No flux jumps in the low field region are observed (24).

(area) of Cu. in order not to get a Cu layer <10 µm, as O might penetrate into the Ta (32). Barriers of Ta penetrated by O are likely to burst during the final diffusion treatment. Further solutions might be the use of a Ta core, increasing the yield strength significantly by the larger cruss section of Ta. Enlarging the Ta partien of the cruss section area to \geq 107 results in yield strength $R_{\rm obs}$ of \approx 250 MPa. See Fig. 12(a) and Fig. 12(b) (35) for the characteristics and the cross section of a high-yield-strength conductor.

Al may act as a stabilizing material due to its attractive properties: low weight, high specific residual resistivity ratio RRR 1 > 1000), high thermal conductivity, and low magnetoresistance. For practical, use, restrictions arise from the poor mechanical values, not compatible with the other components of branze conductors. The molting point of AF is lower than the reaction temperature. Thus, Al is only useable for reacted conductors, giving the need for the react-and-wind technology, which does not implement too high a strain in the conductor during winding, but which is feasible for large magnets only. Monolythic and cable conductors can be coextruded together with high-purity Al and reinforcing elements of special steel or cobalt (Ce) based alloys (36). In case a high over all current I, is needed, electrical stabilization is possible by cabbing of unstabilized or stabilized works together with Cu wires. It is essential that those Cu wires are also protected by diffusion harmers, which must have an outer Cu or Cu-Sn layer to avoid O penetration into the Ta. An example of a cable with additional stabilizing CuTaCo wires is shown in Fig. 13 Proreacted cables, soft-soldered to Cu clad tapes of Al, have been used for special laboratory magnets. To build very large coils, as necessary for Tokamak fusion technology like ITKR, conductors with critical currents of about 100 kA at 12 T and excellent mechanical values are needed. The present way to fulfill such demands is to produce a round cable of many superconducting wires (ITER: +1000 wires) in a multicabling process, embedded into a stainless-storl jacket. By this method, good cooling conditions are received as well.

A direct relationship exists between J_i and at losses: With increasing J_{τ} the μ_{τ} losses are increasing as well. The most important reason for such losses in internal-Sn and jelly roll. conductors is filanteal bridging during the reaction treatment. and former material like Nb. The increase in volume caused by the diffusion of Sn is about 3073 to 4073 to the Nb₅Sn Jayer. while the outer wire dimension is practically usaffected. The filement bridging results in huge effective dilament sizes d. In provder-in-tube conductors, the filament size depends on the grain size of the NbSo₂ powder. As the forming of the Nb₅Sn layer in the tube process takes place at the interface between the Cu and Nb tubes, large filaments are received. Barriers of Nb behave like large filaments, too, Bronze-processed conductors have the lowest ac losses and smallest d, as bridging in the bronze matrix is negligible. Bridging is also not a problem for Nb₂Al conductors. The filament diameter of conductors produced by the polly roll technique is in the range of 50 arr. The specification of the ITER conductors is, in regard to this fact, divided into two parts-one of high J, and high at losses (HP 1), and the other with a low J, and low at losses (HP 11); see Table 4. A reduction of achieses in internal-So conductors is possible. by reducing the Sn control, but matching the properties of a bronze process conductor, like the one shown in Fig. 14(a) will he hardly passible, see Fig. 14(b).





Figure 18. Superconducting coble consisting of eight bronze conductors with a TaCu cure and eight additional stabilizing wires of CuTaCu (courtesy of Vacuumschmeize).

Degradation by Cabling



тЫ

Figure 12. Stress, strong character, such of a temperature of 4.2 K allo high yield strength conductor compared with α high ∂_{α} conductor (35) and cross section of the high yield strength conductor with a Ta circle ourtesy of Kobe Steels.

The selection of the jacket material has to take into account that almust no additional strain should be induced into the conductor by the properties of the conduct. The critical current of A15 supersonductors is depending on the stress strain conditions. It is also necessary to consider the behavior of the conduit material during the heat-treatment cycles (react-and-wind) applied for reaction. While rabling seems to be a logical approach to increase the current-carrying capacity, degradation during this process may happen, especially for Rutherford type, flat eables. The sensitivity to the deformation which takes place at the edges of flat cables is to dependence to the conductor design and making. Bronze conductors, with and without stabilization, exhibit a degradation of only 5% and, even as specially enhanced designs, not more than about 10%. Other configurations likeinternal-Sn have shown a significantly higher degradation of the critical current J_r (37). Generally, cables of A15 are workable with bronze conductors as with powder-in-tube conductors. In the case where cables made from Nb₈A) wires of the continuous-quench method are applicable, internal-Sn conductors have potential for improvement (24). Jelly roll conductors of Nb₀S6 exhibit high sensitivity to strain induced damage and are thus not suitable (38). For eables consisting of many single superconductor wires, sintering of the wires during heat treatment has to be avoided, and coupling losses must be reduced by the resistance between them. Or plating of about 2 juin thickness appears to be suitable to fulfill those topics. Problems with the RRR of the stabilizing Country arise, due to the heat treatmoul. Thus measures have to be taken against this effect.

The Cu content of modified joily cell and internal-Sn conductors is, in the basic design, larger than that of the bonze conductors. Due to the high Sn content in these composites, the $J_{\rm e}$ in particular, the non-Cu $J_{\rm e}$ taking into account the crosssection area without stabilizing portions, is superior as well. The Cu content can be varied up to above 60% (area). However, a minimum of about 30% is needed, in order to have an outer Cu shell, which is necessary for mechanical stability during processing.

Stress and Strain

The mismatch of thermal expansion coefficients of the conductor components is creating compressive strain in the A15 layer during cooling. The difference from the heat-troutment temperature to 4.2 K is opproximately 1000 K. The influence of

Table 4.	TTER Strands:	Test Results and	Specifications 1381
----------	---------------	------------------	---------------------

		`	Internal	fota zual	(nterna)	HPI	HPR
Technique	Brunge	Farmer 24-	1°.0	T u	-1'i-i	Loger 1	(spec)
Diameter (excluding Cr-layer) (000)	0.403	0.90%	0.901	0.806	0.802	0.41	0.61
Barriez	Tu	T.	7a	Te v Nb	Te/No		
Thickness barrier (em)	10-15	6-9	-5	1 1 2 3	3		
Twiat patch (mmi)	84	184	18.0	9.9	9.3	≤10	~ 10
Heat contraint temperature and time (Wh)	570/220	650/240	200/6	220/175	165/120		
	650/175		990/18	340/96	340/72		
			460/28	650/160	650/200		
			580/180				
			650/240				
Edament constast	partially	purtially	fully	fully	partially		
Curnon-Cu ratio	1.49	1.49	1.59	1.35	161		
Contreal temperature T [*] or 13 T4K	10.2	10.2	9.30	8.49	9.31		
Upper ortical field $B_{c} = (T)$	26.3	27.7	24.9	26.3	246		
Cr Hijckness (+m	2.1	3.2	2.6	ι7	2.0	2	2
RRR (resolution 273 K/resolvaty at 20 K)	150	147	130	80	213	>100	>100
Overall scient density (g/vm):	9.33	9.14	9.64	6.98	901		
Non-Paris, et 12 T, 4.2 K, 0.1 -Wiem (Armm?)	550	570	780	710	660	~700	-500
Neu-Un hystersens hosses, 3 T cycle at 4.2 K (md/em t-	94	90	Listi	595	599	< 1000	< 200
n value at 12 T. 4 2 K. 0 1 eV/cm						1-20	-20
Coupling loss time constant (ma)	0.62	_ 31	13		6.3		

strain on the I, values was presented first by Buehler and Levingstein in 1965 (39). The compressive strain influences the T_c and B_{c2} values as well. The relative difference in lineau expansion, $\Delta l/l_c$ of separated bronze and Nb₂Sn for ΔT of 1000 K, is about 1.05% (32). Depending on the volume-ratio of Nh₂Sn to the bronze and for a conductor that has good bonding between its elements, the contraction is between 0.00% and 1.05%. This is because the filaments are under tensile stress and the bronze are order compressive stress. Measurements on Nb₂Sn with removed branze matrix shaw a T_c close to the maximum 18.2 K. The values for prestressed conductors are reduced by about 1 K. Conductor designs which have besides the matrix and the twested filaments, stabalizing Cu, diffusion barriez, or reinforcing components, for example, Cu-Nb, are a rather complicated system. For example, regard the following values: A conductor with 22% (area) Co and 5% Ta bas a relative thermal contraction from room temperature down to 4 K of -0.29%, whereas conductors with 33% Cu and 10% Ta have -0.26%.)

The critical values decrease by the compression but increase again under axial tension. Maximum I_c is gained at the strain ϵ_m , where the tensile force in the filament is reduced to a minimum. The Young's modulus in the filament area is in the range of 180 GPa and for the branze between 50 GPa to 80 GPa (40). The value for the branze depends on the depiction of the Sn. By the diffusion process the Sn content is reduced and Kirkendall



Figure 14. (a) Cross section of an FEER conductor for the central solenoid (HP II specification) (e) low (assission decompanies of the and 4675 (Nb, Th) filaments. (courtesy of Vacuumsthmelze), (b) Magnetization curve of the conductor shown in Fig. 14(a), indicating the low hysteresis losses of 97 mJ (cm³) measurements: Vacuumschmelze).



Figure 15. Scenning electron microscope microscopic betweing Nb₁Sn Layers after atrain of the conductor of 35 scourtesy Vacuumschmeizer

voids and created. These effects, the high temperature for annealing and the length of the heat treatment influencing the grain structure, are responsible for a low yield strength in the bronze. Plustic deformation of the bronze caused by tensile stress, due to mismatch of the thermal expansion to efficients (broaze: 16 × 10 5 K 2; Nb/Nb/Sn: 7 × 10 5 K 2). results to reduced differences in the thermal contraction. Bare Nb₂Sn shows breaks at strain of about 0.2%. Prior to break ing, slip-steps with an angle of 45 can be observed. The precompression built up in the conductor has, as a consequence. the drop of $I_{rr} B_{co}$ and T_{e} . The same precompression acts as a nuchanical reserve during elongation of the conductor, though strain of 0.7% to 0.8% is possible for the complete composite without inversible I, degradation (32). This decreasing under compression and increasing under tension is reversible, as long as a critical strain on the filament was not exceeded. If strain was 100 high. I, would not recover completely after the had was released, because of cracks on the filaments; see Fig. 15.

The increased strain telepance is an important reason for the fact that bronze conductors can be used as technical so perconducting wires. Consequently, a thacker layer of Nb₁Sn leaves a more So-depleted bronze with reduced Young's moduhts. Possible plastic deformation and the reduced Young's modulus are diminishing the compressive strain of the filaments and, therefore, the degradation of the critical values is smaller The mechanical reserve against axial stress essmaller, too. The filaments themselves are less strain sensitive if not fully reacted. Besides the thermal contraction during the cooling from about 1000 K to 4 K axial stress is applied to the conductor by several manners. The force used for winding a magnet is giving tension, while the bending force gives rise to tensile and compressive strain above or below the neutral wire axis. In the finished magnet, the Lorentz force F = J + B leads to hoop stresses, related to the radius of the winding. Therefore, $\sigma =$ $d \times B \times r$, where r is the radius, leads to very large forces, which makes special reinforcement measures necessary in the magnet or the winding package

At the stress-compensated state, κ_n , the upper magnetic flux density R_{c2} , which is strain dependent but always below B_{c2} .



Figure 16. Upper critical field H_{22 ets} a function of intrinsic strain e₁, (42).

can be calculated from the measured I_i by using Kramer's law (41).

At ϵ_{in} the axial strain of the conductor at which I_{e_i} is reached is in the range of 0.3% to 0.7%, leading to intrinsic strain $\epsilon_0 = \epsilon - \epsilon_m$. The maximum critical current is not correlated to the magnetic field. Nevertheless, the difference of I_e at ϵ and I_i at ϵ_n strongly depends on the applied magnetic field. At 12 T, between the compressive states ϵ and ϵ_m the difference in I_r is about 20% and at 16 T there is a futur of about 2. The detailed effects of intrinsic strain on the critical magnetic field B_{el} and the entical current density J_i can be seen in Fig. 16 and Fig. 17. The influence of the other conductor components besides the fulaments and the limited, like stabilizers or diffusion harmers is, of course, not negligible. A description of I_e/T_{em} concerning the dependency on both magnetic field and strain, is given by the strain scaling law (42):

$$\begin{split} & I_{c} = - \left[\begin{matrix} B_{\ell 2}^{*}(\epsilon) \\ I_{\ell 2} & = - \left[\begin{matrix} B_{\ell 2}^{*}(\epsilon) \\ B_{\ell 2}^{*} \end{matrix} \right]^{2} & \left[\begin{matrix} \frac{1 - B_{\ell} B_{\ell 2}^{*}(\epsilon) \\ 1 + B_{\ell} B_{\ell 2}^{*} \end{matrix} \right]^{2} \end{split}$$



Figure 17. Relative entited current density $J_{1/2}J_{1/2}$ as a function of intrinsic strain c_{0} for different magnetic field - (42)

Table 5. Scaling Personctors for the Use with the Strain Scaling Law (42)

Material	'n	μ	Q	85,,,
Nb,50	L	0.5	2	21
V _x Ce	1.3	N 0	30	21

In this formula $v_i | p_i |$ and q are scaling parameters, which can be found together with the values of B_{clen} for Nb₃Sn and V₃Ga in Table 5.

The mechanical behavior of V₂Ga depends mainly on the volume portion of V, while an increase of the Ga concentration reduces the tolerance with respect to mechanical loads. Conductors inbricated by the in situ technology show considerably higher mechanical values than blamentary bronze process conductors (43). There is not a clear I_{cons} , but degradation is also smaller or completely recovered, respectively, after the load has been released.

Additions of third elements influence the I_{c} , B_{cd} , and T_{c} values. Effects of strain can be seen as a function of B or B_{cd} . Due to the increase of B_{cd} by addition of Ti, Hf, or Ta to the matrix or to the core material, the effect of strain on B_{cd} is reduced. Further influence is given by the growth rate of the layer and, therefore, the remaining unreacted part of the core. Wires of Nb₃Al are less strain-sensitive; even with an intrusic strain of 0.5% I_{c} is reduced only by approximately 10%, as shown in Fig. 18.

The martensatic phase transition temperature T_n increases with the compressive strain, showing an influence of the cubucto-tetragonal distortion of the lattice and the degradation of T_n and J_n (14). At the strain $*_n$ with J_n having its maximum, the Nb₂Sn phase becomes cubic again. The effect of transverse compression on T_n is similar to that of axial strain. An increase



Figure 19. Critical content *I*, versus intrinsic strain e_0 for brunzeprocessed (Nb. TraySu wire, and a new NotAl wire processed by rapidheating/rapid quenching. The strain sensitivity of the Nb.Al comported with the (Nb, TraySu 130).

of transverse strain σ_0 is leading to a small I_r inhadoment. At higher σ_0 , the I_c encounters a strong reduction. The sensitivity of t_s on transverse strain is higher than for axial strain and the irreversible behavior for my starts at a level which is about 25% of the comparable axial strain (45). Transverse compression muy occur in large magnet assemblies like Tokamaks, with each migmet having close and strong neighboring mignets. Because of the high currents necessary in such magnets, conductors are likely to be called and enveloped in a stamless-steel conduct. A mixture of compressive radial stresses and transverse pressures is obtained. Especially braiding procedures of the wires are leading to many crossover points with high stress concentrations. Tetragonal distortion is also caused by compression of the unit cell by radial stresses (46). Axial stresses are applied more frequently to conductors, but in view of the higher sensitivity to σ_0 , the transverse compression has to be carefully taken into account for magnet engineering as well.

HEAT-TREATMENT PRINCIPLES AND CONDITIONS

The enhancement of the critical properties of practical superconductors depends on improvements in the composite. It is further necessary to use production methods and diffusion treatments that are optimized toward the required features of magnets with high magnetic fields (>20|T) and high field homogeneity. Multiple, sumetimes interacting measures are necessary to increase and to stabilize the values of J_i and B_{rg} . By fur, not all effects in the many different A15 members are understood. Most of the information, gened by research work, is available for bronze conductors, especially for those of the Nb₅Sn system, including internal-Sn and jelly roll conductors.

The speed of the reaction of the material in the course of the heat treatment, during which the A15 phase is formed, is correlated to the quotients of the atomic radal. The characteristic diffusion speed responsible for the ordering of the Altons to form the characteristic charge, depends on the radii of the $m{B}$ atoms. The smaller these rudii are, the faster the diffusion process may occur (46). However, stoichiometric systems call for limits in the heat treatment. To have high concentrations of Bians, the solubility and workability of the components have to he shifted toward their limits. The thickness of the A10 layers formed per unit of time can be calculated by Fick's diffusion law, applied at the interface of two diffusion layers. The theoretical prediction for the amount of A15 phase that is formed, depending of the time *t*, is a proportionality of t^{en}. Due to influences such as grain growth or decreasing B ion concentration during the transition process, the kinetic parameters are remused in relation to the theoretical prediction. Measurements of the speed of layer formation in Nb₁Sn have shown propertionabties to powers of the time t in the range from 0.30 to 0.35 (32). In case where temary or quarternary alloys are atlized, the mechanism of the diffusion process is similar, but the formation speed is influenced.

The pinning of fluxuids penetrating into type-IIsuperconductors needs structural imperfections. Such imperfections may be grain boundaries, lattice distorbances, grain morphology, engurities, or combinations thereof. As the coherence length ξ in Nb₂Sn is only about 3.5 mic, it is difficult to get a complete picture of the interactions which are necessary, in order to trap a fluxoid in the superconducting layers. In general, the memory of I, depends on the heat-



Figure 19. Unversionaleness of Lamonf (Nh. TrusSonroated the agreacted Nh. Tarteau of a brantis configuration to artists of Vacuum economics

treatment temperature and time. Additional time and/or a higher temperature lead to a larger layer thickness. In Fig. 19, filaments with an A15 layer and an unreacted core of Nb in a bronze process conductor have been prepared so as to visualize the layer thickness of about 1 μ m. Nevertheless, J_{e} in the layer may be decreased by grain growth, because in the intermediate field range, the maximum pinning force is related to the average grain size and the grain size distribution in the A15 layer. Thus, the critical current I, is inversely proportional. to the grain size and, therefore, proportional to the number of grain boundaries per unit volume which act as panning center. Grain growth reduces the specific grain boundary area and diminishes the amount of fast diffusion paths. Diffusion of higher temporatures leads to laster layer formation and finer gram, but by depleting the bronze of B ions, Kirkendall vonis are formed. This leads to a reduction in the diffusion rate. If those voids are located at the bronze-to layer interfuce, *I*, degradation may occur due to their influence on the strain behavior. Therefore, the gradient of the concentration of Suover the cross section has to be taken into account for all heat. treatment models. It is also important to have stochiometric conditions, that is, a Sp concentration that is sufficiently high For jelly toll and internal-So composities this can be achieved. to a good degree. The so-called bronze route is britted by sububility and workability reasons to about 15 wt.% So, It is forther necessary that the bronze be uniform, especially that the variation of the Sn concentration over the cross sergion is small. Filament sizes and filament spacings have to be watched, to leave sofficiently wide diffusion paths and to avoid bridging of filaments, in order not to end up with large effective filament diameters d.

TERNARY ELEMENTS

The increase of J_c in the A15s is dominated at the intermeduate field range by flux pinning at the grain boundaries. The pinning force density F_p is equal to the product of J_c and the corresponding magnetic flux density $BF_c = J_c + B$. According to Krumer's law, the pinning force shows saturation in the high field region B_{cc} . Increasing B_{cc} leads to an increasing J_c within the A15 layer. The value of B_{rr} is dominated by the normal state resistivity p_0 and the critical temperature T_c . As it is not easy to increase T_i remarkably, the main means for varying B_{c2} is given by the normal stide resistivity ρ_{01} measured. just above T, or by the resistivity ratio Such an increase in no results in an increase of the Ginzburg-Landau-parameter $\kappa = \lambda/\xi$, where λ is the penetration depth (47). Because of the projectionality of the upper critical field Bra to the Ginzburg-Sandau parameter λ , the former is raised, too. Raising p- is possible by impurities, pre-gularities in the channel composition, causing increastructural defects, H_{e2} is not depending on the grain size, but its upper limit is determined by the susceptibility according to Pauli's paramagnetic effect (43). For that reason, the flux-pinning force and the grain boundaries are not. relevant if the magnetic field B is close to B_{cc} .

Besides the more principal aspects, there are different other reasons which are influencing the performance of aractical A15 superconductors. Disturbances in the microstructure ereoriginating from the production process, chemical nonhomegeneiturs, or variations of filament diameters over the length scausageing). Nonuniformity of A15 layers due to nonuniform distribution and supply of B ones is strongly influenced by the conductor design. These macroscopic effects are also observed for designs leading to irregular working and deformation couditiona due to the combination of materials with guite different ductility, like Nb, Cu, and Sn. Mucrocracks occur in the Inyer itself, caused by thermal or handling defocts. Bronze matrix conductors need, locause of work hardening, intermediate heat treasments to preserve or to reatore the ductility. Prer-action to a substantial degree may be encountered. It leads to heterogeneous deforming conditions, reduction of the Sn supply for the final diffusion troutmont, and mechanical defects in the conductors. Therefore, intermediate heat-treatment temporatures must be chosen carefully and should not exceed 500 C. Additionally, time has to be restricted.

To achieve better properties of A15 conductors, doping with defined impurities like Zn, Mg, Fe, and Ni, and also alloying with higher cuntents of Ti, Ta, or Ge has been performed. The standard in a terminy or a quartenary compound is a rather demanding field. The variety of metallurgical treatments like alloying, in combination with numbers of differcot heat treatments, result in remarkable effects. Some of the additives, for example, in the branze matrix, are influencing the diffusion process like speed and grain relinement, which enhances the performance of conductors in the intermediate field region. Others are more effective by more soing $J_{\rm c}$ at high fields due to an increase of B_{Q} . There is not a complete correlation given between composities and increase of J, for the entire field marge. This is not surprising at all, since additives may be deposited at the grain boundaries. Therefore, crossover of J, versus B for doped or undoped conductors or for conductors doped with different additives is observed, as shown in Fig. 20

The different aluncic radii of the additives in relation to the basic alloy is also of influence. To with a smaller atomic radius is incorporated more completely into the Nb lattice than succontion (Zr) or hafmum (Hf) with larger atomic radii. The embedding of the Ti, originating from the matrix Cu-Sn into Nb-Sn, is at a larger degree than for the Ti alloyed with the Nb isms. Elements like Ti, Zr, and Hf for alloying Nb result in A15 layers with fine grains. Mg in house, like Co-Sp or Cu-Ga, is



Figure 20. Non-Cu entited current density *J*, versus magnetic field for Nb₂Su (undoped, doped with Ta, or Ta and Tb, respectively) at temperatures of 4.2 K and 2 K (measurement: Vacuumschmeize)

increasing the formation rate of the A15 phase, which causes grain refinement. The low T₂ of V₁Ge can be raised from 6 K to about 10 K by adding 6 at \odot Al (43). Ti in Nb cores (about 2 at. 3) is increasing the layer thickness. The improvement of J_c in Nb₅Sr by eileying Hi to the core and additional Ga to the matrix is remarkable and loads also to an uncrease of the irreversible strain e-043), but especially alloying with On is difficult pad impractocal, V₄Ga, which has already superior high field values, improves further above 20 T, when adding Ga to the V care and Mg to the Ca-Ga matrix. As Ti speeds up the diffusion rate of Sn in Nh, a doping with 0.8 wU% Tr, in consbination with high-Sn-bronge (15 wt/7) shows improved values of non-Cu J. (33), see Fig. 10. By introducing Granta the matrix of a Nb₃Sn composite, the thickness of the A15 layer is reduced significantly. This is most probably related to the formation of an additional phase with the Ge (Nh₆Ge₂) at the interface hetween core and matrix (22). The grain size, however, is smaller, and so *J*, in the layer is enhanced

The heat-treatment time and temperature is in interaction with additional elements, or combinations thereof, responsible for the formation of the A15 Jayan For wind-and-react technology, it is indispensable to limit the temperature, due to the msubstion materials available. Practical glass-broid insulations for temperatures of up to 700 C and 800 C, respectively, are at hand. The temperature-time combination is further determinud by the application of conductors. Additions of Val for example. No 7.5 with Tal reduces the formation rate of the A15 phase (46), but increases J_{e} due to a longer heat treatment. In the case of intermediate magnetic fields, filament diameters should be smaller, leading, even with Ta doping, to a relatively short heat-treatment time, to realize, in this range of magnetic field, the required fine grain. Especially for conducturs which are to be used at higher fields, the filament diameters are increased, as well as heat-treatment time and temperature. Often, more than one different cycle is executed, to improve the formation of the A15 layer, as not lost much attention should be paul to grain growth, in view of the high field application. It is forthermore understood that, for each grain size, pinning interaction may be different, and flux line-Inttice spacing is reason for different numbers of flux lines or



(at



Figure 21. Microscopic photographs of reacted layers in fractored errors sections of samples heat trasted at (a) 760 C for 100 h, and (b) 750 C for (50 h) countrys of Kobe Steels.

each gram (49). The variability of the grain sizes for different heat treatments, but also within one sample, becomes evident in looking at the microscopic photographs in Fig. 21(a) and Fig. 21(b).

The necessity to foldill the requirements of high critical currents I_1 at high magnetic fields B_{22} leads automatically to large conductor criss sections with a high number of filaments. Therefore, more than 100,000 filaments and cross section areas of more than 6 mm² are unavoidable. Figure 22 is an example of such an externally stabilized Nb₃Sn conductor. For several years, the demand for high magnetic fields and magnets with larger barrs has been the driving force in the development of A16 superconductors. While the first successful magnets were built from tape conductors (10), round or rectangular wires because the more favorable solutions.



Figure 22. Externally stabilized (No, TorySo conductor with a Ta difboson barrier and outer Cu stabilization for high-resc when NMB magrists resurtery of Vacuumschmeizet.

For magnetic field strengths of shove 9 T in the center of the magnet, materials with high B_{12} , like conductors with A15 structure, are necessary. The study of polymers or macromolecules demands NMR systems of up to 1 GHz protonresonance frequency (Larmor frequency), this corresponds to a magnetic field of 23.5 T. Thus all NMR systems working at frequencies of more than 400 MHz (corresponding to a magnetic field of 9.4 T) need other conductor material than NoTi. At a temperature of 2 K and a field of up to 21 T. Nb-Sn still shows reasonable I_c values. Other composites, like the rapidquenched Nb₁A), may perform even better according to Fig. 23. Besides the NMR applications, which are dominated by bronze



Figure 23. Non-Cu critical current density ∂_{θ} versus magnetic field *H* for a honze-processed (Nb, TigSn and a Nb₃Al rapid-neating trabidquenching processed wire at a temperature of 4.2 K (20).



Figure 24. Cross sector of an internal the conductor for use in lighfield dipole magnets (courtesy IGC)

mute conductors, diffusion technology is substantial for conductors that are subject to a high magnetic field. For big machines like ITER, more than 1,000 tons of A15 conductors will be necessary.

Laboratory scale solenoids with magnetic fields of up to 20°F or high field split coils take advantages of the improved current densities J_c of, for example, internal-Sn, modified jelly roll, or tube processed wires. Special dipule and quadrupole magnets for occelerators have to reach magnetic fields of more than 11°F. which is only achievable with A15 conductors like the internal fin type shown in Fig. 24. Hybrid magnet systems, made of a combination of superconductive and resistive magnets, are capable of reaching fields of up to 45°F or 50°F. Not only the high critical fields B_{C} , but also the superior values of the critical temperature T_{C} are further advantages of these materials, which can even be used, with refrigerator cooling, for magnetic fields of 5°F to 10°F. Tapes of Nb₃Sn with a Nb-1% Zr-core are used to build split-coils acting as open MRI systems, operating at 9°K (16):

The results showing the improvements of the properties of A15 superconductors have been obtained, to a considerable degree, on an empirical basis. To force this technology forward, even more empirical work will be necessary. Fundamental tasks, bke improvement of the composite, layer homogenerity, and grain morphology, will be mevitable for controlling the encostructural influences in future designs. Introducing artificial pinning centers (APC) and their possible variations and controlled grain refinement will be another source to be followed.

RIBLICHTRAPHY

- 1 H. Hartmann et al., Z. Amorg. Chem. 198, 116, 1931.
- 2 M Weger and I. B. Golduerg, Some lattice and electronic properties of the *P*-tangstens. Solid State Phys. 28
- 3 W Buckel, Superimitang, Weinheim, Germany, VCH, 1984.
- J. Moller, A15 type superconductors, Rep. Proc. Phys., 43: 1980.
- 5. G. F. Hardy and J. D. Hulm, Phys. Rev. 87, 884, 1953.
- 6 B.T. Motthuos et al., Phys. Rev. 95, 1435, 1954.

204 CRYOGENIC STABILIZATION

- W. Klose. Sommerschulz für Supraleirung, Pegnitz, Germany: DPG, 1970, p. 14.
- O. Henkel et al., Suproteitende Werkwidfe Legnig, Germany VEB Verlag für Grandstoffindustrie, 1982.
- J. Burdeon, L. N. Cooper, and J. R. Schrieffer, Theory of superconductivity, Phys. Rev., 108, 1175, 1975.
- B. W. Batterman and C. S. Barrett, Phys. Rev., 13, 390, 1964.
- 11 H. J. Wijflorns and R. C. Sherwood, Bull. Anne. Phys. Soc. 5: 430, 1980.
- Partish patent, GRNo 1203292, 1966.
- W.D. Maron-wicz et al., A 17.5 Thop-providucting conventite Nb3Sunud V3Ga magnet system. *IEEE Trans. Magn.* MAC-13, 35, 1977.
- 14 K. Tayhukawa and Y. Tanaka, Japan. J. Appl. Phys. 5: 804, 1066.
- E. W. Callings, Processing of Nb₂Al superconductors, Rep. Columbas, OH: Ohin State University, 1997.
- C. G. King et al., Flow young stability to NhjSn tape, *IEEE Trans.* Appl. Supercond., 7, 1524–1528, 1997.
- E. W. Collings, Breast advances in multifilamentary Nb₂Al strand processing, Rep. Columbus, OB: Ohin State University, 1997.
- J. F. Kunzler et al., Phys. Rev. Lett., 6:89 (1961)
- M. R. Pickov et al., Fibbone stary A15 Superconductors, New York: Plenum, 1980, p. 331
- BMFT, Entwicklung con Hochfeldsupraleitern, BMFT-FBT, 1976.
- D. Lathelication et al., Rutherford Lab. Report 74-135, IEEE Trans. Maga. MAG-11 - 247, 1970.
- T. Pyan and E. Gregury, Some effects of matrix additions to internal tim processed multifilamentary Nb₂Sn superconductors. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.* 5: 1760–1763, 1995.
- M. Hansen, Constitution of Binory Ailays, New York: McGraw-Hell, 1958, p. 634.
- E. Gregary et al., Development of Nb₃Sri wires mode b) the internation process, CEC/ICMC, All 6, 1997.
- Y. Ikenu et al., Development of Nh₅So superconducting wire using no in-situ processed large ingot, in Advances in Copygenic Engiseering, vol. 38a, New York: Plenum, 1990.
- H. Fuji et al., Development of react and word coils using in-situ Nb₂Sn wires for ac applications. MT15, 1997.
- S. Ceresara et al., IEEE Trans. Magn. MAC-10, 639, 1979.
- W. K. McDanald. Expanded metal containing news and filoments, US patent 4414425, 1983.
- R. G. Sharma, Multiflumentary VIGs wires and tap-s with composite covers, Copymenes, 25: 382, 1985.
- J. L. Jordo and R. Flückiger. Department de Physique de la Mutière Condensee, Genérie - J. Less-Constront Metals 75: 227 (1990)
- K. Inoue et al. New NbyAl Mainfilamentary Conductor and Its Application to High-Field Superconducting Magnets, Tsakuba-Shi, Ibarak, 305, Japan: RHMP, 1997.
- K. Tachikuwa, Proc. ICEC, 5, 1970.
- H. Hellmoon, Pahrienton, technology of superconducting material. Superconductor Material Science, New York, Plenum, 1981.
- T. Miyazaki et al., Improvement of critical convent density of the brance processed Nb;Sn superconductor, Paper CPB-7, CEC/ICMC, 1997.
- H. Krauth et al., Int. Workshop on High Magn. Fields, 1996.
- 36 Y. Muyazaki et al., Development of bronze processed Nb₂Su superconductors for 1 GHz NMR magnets, Paper CPB-6, CEC/ICMC, 1997.
- M. Theorem et al., Allowinger stabilized No₃Sc superconductors, Adv. Cryog. Eng., 84, 507, 1987.

- E. Wring et al., Evaluation of Nb₃Sn superconductors for usein a 23.5 T NMR magnet, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 30, 2344-2347, 1994.
- 39 H. G. Recorders et al. Third round of the ITER strend benchmark test, EUUAS conference applied superconductivity, no. 158, IOP conference series, 1997.
- E. Buehler and H. J. Levingstein, J. Appl. Phys. 36 (3856, 1965).
- G. Rupp. The importance of bring prestressed, to M. Surnazo and A. F. Clark, eds., Filtmentary A16 Superconductors, New York: Plenum, 1980.
- E. J. Kramer, J. Appl. Phys., 44: 1360, 1973.
- J. W. Ekin, Stress (strain effects on control concert, Cryogenius 35 S25-S28, 1905)
- K. Tachikawa, Recent developments in filamentary compound superconductors, Adv. Crysg. Eng., 28: 1982.
- 45 R. W. Hoard et al., The effect of strain on the martensitic phase transition in superconducting Nb₃Sr. *IEEE Trans. Maga.*, MAG-17, 1981.
- W. Spreking et al., Effect of transverse compression on *I_s* of Nb₃Sumultifilamentary wire, *Adv. Cryog. Eng.*, 34: 569, 1988.
- 47 T. Lubinerio and A. R. Sweedler, Phys. Lett., 58A: 355, 1976.
- 48 V. I. Ginxburg and L. L. Landeo, *intel Elexyst Text Pys.*, 20 (1964) 1950.
- 49 W Specktor, 7 Weiss, and R. Flukiger. Effect of filament filameter and spectro on $J_{\rm eff}$ MESS wires in the intermediate filed range and at logh fields, *IEEE Trans. Mag.s.*, 23: 1189–1191–1967.
- 50 D. Rodrigues, Jr. et al., Flux prinning mechanisms in superconducting A15 materials and the optimization of their transport properties, to be published in *Adv. Comp. Eng.*. 44, 1998.

REINHARD DIETRICH Varuumschmelze GenbH

CRYOGENIC STABILIZATION

Kamerlaugh Onnes (1) discovered superconductivity in 1911 when he was measuring the electrical conductivity of mercury as a function of temperature down to the temperature of liquid holium. He found that at 4.15 K the electrical resistivity ($\rho_i |\Omega|$ m) became too small to measure. Although it is not possible to prove experimentally that a quantity is exactly zero, experiments to date have been able to show that the resistivity of a metal in the superconducting state is less than 10⁻²² Ω cm (compared to the resistivity of pure copper at low temperature, 10⁻⁶ Ω -cm)(2). Before long, a nomber of other elements were also found to exhibit this same phenomenon at similar low temperatures. A list of a few of these meterials, called superconductors, with their transition for critical temperatures, is given in Table 142-41

Even at the time of its discovery. Komerlingh Opnes realized that the phenomenon of superconductivity could have important technological uses. However, it was soon discovered that these early superconductors (the so-colled type I superconductors) remained in the superconducting state only if they were not carrying a substantial electric current (I, A) and if they were not in the presence of any substantial magnetic field (H, A/m or T: see Table 1, footnote b). As the external magnetic field is intensified, or as the electrical current within the

	•			
Material	Craital Temperature (K)	Critical Mugnetic Field (TV	Critical Current Density (A/cm ²)	
	Type I			
Яĸ	4 15	H _c = 0.04		
Pb	7.19	0.08		
Sa	3.72	0.03		
	$T_{SP} = H$			
NBT	936	$\Pi_{c2}\sim 12.2$	5×10^{6}	
Nb ₂ Sn	181	25	5 / 10	
NbiG-	25.2	98	S • 10	
	HTSC:			
BaSewinCostly (2212BS0C0)	960	$H_{ij} \sim 21^{\circ}$		
Bi,Sr ₂ Ca,Cu,O ₁₁ (2223B5CCO)	110	2007		
YBs,Cu,O-(YBCO)	92	00r		

Table 1. Properties of Some Superconductors'

* Data (num Refs. 2-4

The header occurrence to use the reals. The property is unit of magnetic induction, to express the value of magnotic field.

Ac V/ K

superconductor is increased, its normal-mode electrical resistivity is restored at a critical value of either current or field. Hence, the superconductors were inherently unstable under certain conditions. As Scheber suggested in 1916, these are not two norelated phenomenal because the magnetic field generated by passing a correct through the wire destroys the superconductivity at the same value as does an externally applied field (5). The temperature at which superconductivity appears in zero applied magnetic field and carrying no correct is called the entited temperature $(T_n | \mathbf{K})$. However, the practical transition temperature (i.e., the maximum temperature at which a superconductor exhibits superconductivity) is a function of both external magnetic field and the current within the wire, as shown in Fig. 1. If can be seen that practical operation of a superconductor must be made within the parameter space under the surface F = f(I, H, T) shown, and thus below certain limite on temperature, current, and magnetic field.

Both the critical currents and the critical fields of the early superconductors were small. Consequently, although the



Figure 1. Critical linearized P(t, H, T) surface of a superconductor. It should be noted that in a typical magnet-grade superconductor the critical system I, magnetic field H, and temperature T are not linearly related. However, the classical theory of cryostability assumes linear relationships.

discovery of superconductivity was made early in twentieth century, its practical use for producing strong magnetic fields was not realized until much later. An efficient design of superconducting magnets for large physics experiments and energy devices has had to wait until near the end of the twentieth century, (6).

By the 1950s, experimentation with intermetallic compounds and alloys had led to the discovery of materials that greatly relieved the above limitations. These materials remain in the superconducting state to somewhat higher (emperatures (sive Table 1) in higher magnetic fields, and also are able to transport larger electrical currents. They were given the name type II superconductors. A fundamental difference in the hehavior of these two types of superconductors is in the way in which a magnetic field onters the material, as illustrated in Fig. 25) and 2(b). In type I materials, magnetic field is excluded. from the superconductor [Fig. 2(a)]. However, when any one of the limits of critical temperature (T_{c}), magnetic field (H_{c}), and current (I_k) is excerded, there is an abrupt and total entry of any external hold into the material as the material loses its superconductivity. In type II superconductors, above a threshold field $M_{
m eff}$, the field begins to enter us describe units of field called fluxtude, and superconductivity is totally destroyed only when the field H_{cc} has completely entered the superconductor (see Fig. 2(b) and 2(c))

The important characteristic of type II superconductors (alloys such as NbTi or intermetallic compounds like Nb₁Sn) is their capacity to sostain high transport currents (7), which makes them solitable for use in high-current devices. However, for large enough magnetic field (and/or current) these superconductors eventually pass into the normal state as well. Consequently, these superconductors can also become unstable. For $H < H_{ch}$ a type II superconductor is in the superconducting state; for $H_{cl} < H < H_{cr}$, the superconductor is in a mixed state (the magnetic field penetrates into the regions existing in the normal state, but bulk superconductor is in the normal, resistive state (Fig. 2(c)). Type I superconductor is in the normal, resistive state (Fig. 2(c)). Type I superconductors have a critical field, H_c , helow which there is no field within the material and it is superconducting (Fig. 2(a)). In centrast, type II superconductors



Figure 2. Superconductor types, (a) Magnetization (magnetic moment per unit volume, M; $4\pi M$ is also used, versus integration field for a type I superconductor. The magnetization decreases abruptly from the Meissner value to zero, (b) Magnetization decreases abruptly from the Meissner value to zero, (b) Magnetization decreases monotonically from the Meissner value, hence providing three distinct regions (1) the Meissner state (magnetic flux completely excluded), (2) the contex stare, and (3) the normal state. In the varies state magnetic flux primerones in the form of vertices but the material (4 still superconducting The dolled line represents the emparison with the case for a type I superconductor (c) Megnetic field versus temperature for law temperature superconductor. (d) Magnetic field versus temperature for a high-temperature superconductor.

have two entited fields: the lower critical field H_{cl} , at which the magnetic field begins to move into the superconductor, and the upper critical field H_{cl} , at which the penetration is complete and superconductivity is destroyed; see Fig. 2(b) and (c).

An important physical property of the informetailie compound type II superconductors is that they are brittle and their fabrication into needed shapes may response that the superconducting compound he produced by heat treatment after the wire has been formed in its final shape (3). In the case of Nh₂So, the wire is drawn to its final dimension before heat creatment causes the reaction between the Nh and the So to form the compound.

In the early 1980s new compounds were discovered that were able to retain superconductivity up to very much higher temperatures. The first of these compounds was $La_{1,2}Ba_{c}CuO_{4}$ with a entical temperature of 35 K (8). Since that time, other compounds with higher and higher operating temperatures have been developed. Now, practical superconductors that return superconducting properties to temperatures near 135 K are available (4,9). These high-temperature superconductors (HTSCs) are different from the conventional superconductors in that they are complicated axide compromise. In addition, they are granular and exhibit their superconductivity only plong certain planes within the crystal. Thus, in an application requiring a significant length, it is necessary to fabricate the finished superconductor with the grains aligned along the superconducting plane with no more than about 7. misulignment (9). A greater angle between the grains results in weak links between them, which drastically limits their ability to transmit current. Methods of addressing the alignment problem have been developed.

One type of HPSC consists of the oxides of barium, strentium, calcium, and copper, commonly referred to as BSCCO, one example being $Ba_sSr_sCa_sCa_tO_b$, or 2223BSCCO. For the BSCCO rompounds the axide-nowder-in-take (OPIT) process (4) has succeeded in reducing the weak link problem to a manageable level by producing continuous conductors in lengths up to one kolumeter capable of carrying acceptably high current densities. However, in a plot of critical magnetic field versus temperature, only a part of the area under the curve showing the phase space for superconductivity is available for the transpart of current. Such a plot is shown in Fig. 2(d), which includes an additional line called the line of irreversibility, which varies considerably from one compound to another. This line above a practical limit of current-carrying capability in that above th the flux is no longer pinned and the current-carrying capability vanishes, even though operation may still be within the supercenducting envelope. The line of irreversibility is quite low for the highly anisotropy: BSCCO, operation in magnetic fields. above 1 T is only possible at temperatures below 40 K. Another HTSC is YBa₂Cu₄O₂, or YBCO. The more isotropic YBCO compound has a much higher line of irreversibility, making possible operation at useful current densities in magnetic fields up to 5 T at 77 K (liquid nitragen temperature). The OPIT process does not work to reduce weak links in YCBO, and useful YBCO conductors have only been produced by deposition onto specially. textured substrates (10).

Like the intermetallic compounds of the type II superconductors, the HTSCs are brittle and difficult to fabricate. A major part of the effort to produce useful HTSCs has been toward their labrication into useful shapes (9).

EXPERIENCE FROM EARLY MAGNET APPLICATIONS

The discovery of the type II superconductors allowed the superconducting state to be maintained in the presence of higher currents and at more elevated magnetic fields (compared to the previous situation with type I superconductors). Applications of superconductivity have been made in instrumentation devices, and a considerable amount of investigation into superconducting electric power transmission brees has been done (11, 12), but no such power lines have been hult to date. The greatest application of superconductivity in a large scale has been in the bailding of magnets with very high field capabilities (13).

The achievement of the higher operating parameters of the type II superviseductors was not in itself sufficient for the construction of high-field magnets with maximum performance. All the superconducting magnets designed until the early savtices of the twentieth century, without exception, sufficient from so-called degradation, i.e., from the loss of the superconducting state before reaching the full design field. This phenomenon has been attributed to the fact that internal and/or external distorbances trigger an irreversible instability rausing the appearance of normal zones followed by a so-called quench (the destruction of the magnetic field, with the stored energy being converted to heat). Degradation can be attributed to a number of sources, which may be mechanical, magnetic, or theorida in nature. Any source of heat in the system can crose local temperature increases in the superconductor to the point where the appearance of a normal resistance region is normalized to the point where the appearance of a normal resistance region is normalized to the point where the appearance of a normal resistance region is normalized that the point where the appearance of a normal resistance region is normalized that the point where the appearance of a normal resistance region is normalized that the start start of the short-sample results, a phenomenonic called could degradation (14). A magnet would quench after reaching only is fruction of its design field. How ever, after each such quench, the next try resulted in a higher operational field. After repeated attempts, the field attained

training At first it was throught that degradation was the result of weak epots in the long lengths of superconducting wire. However, this would not explain training, and production techniques have been shown to produce remarkably uniform properties in long lengths of superconducting wires (many kilometers, even in small magnets). It was concluded that degradation must be caused by one or more of a number of possible distorbances, such as a source of heat or the penetration or rearrangement of the magnetic field.

can be considerably higher than that attained at first, but not

as high as the short sample results. This phenomenon is called

Such disturbances can lead to severe consequences, in which both functional and mechanical integrity of the device can be compromised. It can become unstable. An engineering application cannot tolerate such an instability It has become obvious that a new technological solution is needed to overcome these difficulties.

CAUSES OF INSTABILITIES (DISTURBANCES)

There are several mechanisms that can cause the generation of losst without a superconductor carrying correct in a magnetic field. Because of the very low heat capacity of most materials. at the low operating temperature, the generation of heat can cause a sufficient may in temperature to create a local zone mil the superconductor that is above the critical temperature and therefore has normal resistance. The normal zone then becomes an additional source of heat because of Joule beying (I^2R,R) being the electrical resistance, \mathfrak{G}^{*} . The consequent increase in temperature can exacerbite one or more of the processes creating the heat. This positive feedback (without a stabilizing influence) can lead to a runaway astuation. Regardless of the cause of instability, an uncontrolled growth of the normal zone will promote forther heat generation, and in the worst case cause a quench, and all of the energy in the entire assembly, which may be hundreds of megapoiles, can be released as heat, generating a pressure increase in the cooling medium and overheating the entire assembly, possibly even catastrophyrally. The prevention of such an occurrence is a task of stabilizing the superconductor. assembly

Disturbances to superconducting systems can be abrupt and cause local invating, so that a maximum local effect results. Other disturbances are prolonged in nature and tend to heat larger partians of the system, so that their effect is distributed more widely. Causes of disturbances have been classified as magnetic, mechanical, and thermal, as indicated in Fig. 3.



Figure 3. Instability sources. The instability disturbaness one either congretic instabily offlux jumply mechanical invisity responses to thermoletoweest, and thermal tauch as heat inleaks).

The forces generated by the magnetic field tool to stretch the magnet structure radially while causing it to contract axially isoplar to the reaction to a pressure increase of a cylindrical pressure vessel with ends closed by sliding pistons). This straining of the magnet system can cause sliding friction, or even the sudden magnet system can cause sliding friction, or even the sudden magnet system can cause sliding friction, or even the sudden magnet of components such as epoxy used for patting Any sudden endrors like this will generate heat as the motion is stapped. Once the external magnetic field reaches H_C , magnetic field penetration begins and the motion of the fluxoid salar generates heat. Because the magnet system is operated well below ambient temperature, there is a constant input of heat, which may heat some pertions of the system unequally. Any one of these disturbances can result in a normal zone within the superconductor.

Flow Jumps

The most serious disturbance is caused by flux jumps. In the mixed state, magnetic flux is present within the superconductor. In the presence of a current passing through the superconductor the fluxoids are acted upon by the Lorentz force, which is perpendicular to the surface of the wave acid is propertional to the product of the current density $J(A/m^2)$ and the magnetic nuturation B(T) -in vector form, $J \times B$. The fluxoids are printed to the crystal lattice by imperfections or impurities, so that motion does not uccur onless a disturbance creates a lacation where the Euroniz force exceeds the panning force.

Flux-jump instability is a characteristic of the superconductor itself, not the magnet as a whole According to Wada et al. (15), fluxoids can be defined as quantized magnetic flux lines distributed within a type II superconductor. Degradation caused by a flux jump is related to a sudden contain of the fluxaid within the superconductor (16). The collective, discontinuous motion of fluxoids in such a superconductor can be caused by mechanical, thermal, magnetic, or electrient disturbances. Breakaway of the moving fluxoid vortices in inherently associated with Joule heating. The increase of the local temperature may be sufficiently large to cause an avalanche of a fluxoid movement, thus creating additional Joule heating and a subsequent increase in temperature. This redistribution of the magnetic field in the superconductor is called a flux jump.

Mechanical Disturbances

Mechanical influences may be responsible for a disturbance in a superconductor that can lead to instability (17). For example, during the condown period before the startup of operation, as well as during the subsequent period of charging, stresses of various origins are always present in superconducting wind ings. These may be the thermoelastic stresses caused by the difference in thermal contraction of composite components such us superconductors, normal conducting material (e.g., copper), and epoxy imprograte Similar stresses can arise from thermal gradients within the system, and atresses may arise during the manufacture of the composite conductor (drawing) and magnetic costs (winding and banding). Stresses are also caused by magnetic forces during charging SmsII conductor movements artivated during field cycling may cause local heating (18).

These stresses may lead to yielding or even tensile failure of a component in the magnet system such as the pathog resul, or to shear failure of the bond between on openy improgram and the conductor. If thermal or magnetic stresses become great enough to rause some of the magnet material to yield, the yielding can take place in a series of discontinuous jumps (seriated yielding), which, because of their rapidity, cause rapid heat mg. Heat is produced as the motion is arrested. Because of the low temperature, many materials are subject to cold embrittlement. Brittle fracture can be more serious than secrated yielding because the energy is all deposited locally.

The fraction between the metallic and insulated surfaces can cause local heating. If this stress results in a stick-slip process, the effect will be similar to the brittle fracture mentioned above.

Any of these mechanisms can constitute a disturbance on ergy that may be strong enough to initiate a quonch. Studies of thermomagnetomechanical instabilities are nomerous (19–22); however, the problem is open for further studies.

Distributed Heat Sources

Some of the above disturbunces can result in slower, more distributed heat sources. However, there are additional sources of heat that are distributed widely through the magnet system. Although these heat injuts may not directly cause local heating within the magnet system, the heat transfer to the coolant must be sufficient to above the corresponding energy input

Heat Leaks. Because essentially all superconductors are operated at temperatures to the cryogenic range, an ever present source of heat is the heat that onlers the system through the thermal insulation, piping, and the support system. No insulation is perfect, so that this heat source is inevitable. Where, and how much, heat enters is determined by the design of the cryogenic system. This heat leak through the thermal insultion is usually distributed uniformly. However, the heat admitted through current leads, instrumentation, and piping may be more localized.

Hysteretic Losses. In some cases superconductors coast carry an alternating or pulsed current. In these cases, a continuous energy loss occurs and manifests itself as a heat source because of the Lorentz force on the onpianed flox lines that move in and out of the superconductor as a result of the varying correct. These bases are called hysteretic losses (3). They are influenced by the roughness of the surface of the superconductor. The smoother the surface, the lower the losses. Even more important is the twist path of the superconducting filuments and the resistivity of the matrix material (discussed below).

METHODS OF STABILIZATION

Because there are inevitable inputs of heat to the system as well as distorbances that can affect the temperature of the superomductor, it is necessary to privide methods to maintain the system at its operating temperature to prevent the catistrophic loss of the superconductivity. In the case of a superconducting magnet, the key problem of stability is that of sustaining the successful operation of the magnet system without best of the magnetic field and without duringe to the system. The problem is not only a possible appearance of normal zones within the superconductor, but the need to sustain conditions for the reestablishment of the superconducting state after the appearance of instability. Furthermore, the continuous operation of the device during the transition period must be assured.

Flux-jump stabilization suppresses an initiation of a cycle of distorbances that may cause the transition into the normal state. Thus, it is directed toward the prevention of an instability. The role of cryostabilization in contrast, is to restore the superconducting mode of operation, once a distorbance has already initiated the existence of a normal zone.

There are several ways to approach the problem of stabilizing a superconducting system. First, the design of the superconductor wire can be used to minimize, or possibly even prevent, the damaging effect of a flux jump. The energy released during the passage of the flux lines through the conductor is proportional to the distance traveled across the wire. Thus the conductor is nevelly fabricated to consist of many very fine filaments (10 µm to 100 µm in diameter). These filaments are distributed within a matrix of a metal, which, while not a superionation does provide a highly conductive path for the curront in case the superconductor can no longer handle the entire current. Fynically the matrix metal is made of copper. However, for HTSCs silver is also used. One of the at has mechanisms amages from a coupling of the currents in adjacent superconductor filaments, and this loss can be minimized by twisting the superconductor composite so that the filaments are transposed along the length of the wire (3). An additional measure that can be directed toward a suppression of the ac losses is adding a more resistive metal, such as Cu-Ni, around the outer sorface of the superconductor, thus decoupling the superconductor fitaments and reducing the eddy currents flowing in the normal metal matrix (3)

Second, heat generated within the magnet system must be removed to maintain an acceptable operating temperature. This couldng can be provided by pool boiling in a suitable cryogenic fluin, or by the forced flow of the cryogen, either as a liquid, or as a fluid of supercritical pressure to avoid the problems of two-phase flow. In some cases where very low-temperature operation is required, use has been made of superfluid holium to obtain its excellent heat transfer capabilities. In this case an operating temperature in the vicinity of 2 K must be used. The stabilization of the HTSCs utilizes the same includes as those for type II superconductors. In one respect, the task is eased by the fact that the specific hosts of the magnet system become considerably higher as the temperature is raised. Thus the temperature increase from a given amount of heat is less than it would be at lower temperature. Another factor in favor of stabilization comes into play when the system is operated at the higher end of its temperature range. In this case, the current cannot be as high, which results in lower Larentz forces, and thus the likelihund of flux jumps is dominished.

Cryogenic Stabilization

According in Reid et al. (23), cryogenic stabilization is achieved if, after the rolease of a certain amount of Joule heat and a local rise in temperature (caused by either internal or external perturbations), efficient cooling is provided to remove that thermal energy more rapidly than it is generated. This goal assumes balancing of the following energy flows: (1) the energy brought to an intrinsically stable superconductor in the form of a thermomechanical disturbance or thermal energy from any source, uncluding that generated by the current that is redirected into the stabilizing, resistive matrix, and (2) the energy removed from a superconductor element by convective cooling and by conduction. These processes can be highly transient in nature; indeed, their duration is usually very short (on the order of 10⁻⁸ to 10⁻⁹ s). Consequently, the use of a steady-state energy balance should lead to a very conservative stability criterion.

Cryostabilization can be full or limited. Full cryostabilization means stable operation after the entire conductor has been driven normal by a large disturbance (23). Design based on full cryostabilization is as a rule the most conservative and involves large conductors. Limited cryostabilization ratives to recovery from a disturbance of limited size. By using the *stability criteca*, one can decide whether the superconductor is going to be stable in the sense effeither full or limited stabilization (or unstable. For example, full cryostability can be defined entire using the so-called Stekly criterion or the Maddok stames-Norris model (see below).

All the early-developed stability criteria discussed in the following sections have been based on quasi-steady-state balances. The theory behind these staticeriteria will be "somewhat arbitrarily" called the classical theory of cryostobilization. The formulation of a transient problem and some of the issues involved will be given subsequently.

the Stekly Criterion. Stekly and his collaborators (24-26) were the first to formulate a method to prevent a catastrophic quench in a magnet. They discovered that reliable stabilization can be achieved by the simultaneous application of two measures: (1) an alternate path for the correct through an adjacent maternal (such as copper) with high electrical conductivity (although nursuppreciseducting) on the appearance of nornual somes in the superconductor, and (2) very efficient cooling, such as in liquid beham. The so-called correct shuring between a superconductor that abroptly loses its superconducting capublicy (becoming highly resistive) and the normal conductor (the matrix in which the superconductor is embedded, having a smaller resistivity than the adjacent superconductor in its normal states secures a continuation of the magnet operation. By the intense cooling, the canductar can then be ecoled back bolow the critical temperature for a given magnetic field and

electrical current. This, in turn, heads to a reestablishment of the superconducting state in the coil. Therefore, heat transfer to a cooling stream in addition to conduction through the conductor and the assembly will remove the generated heat and provide the conditions for the superconductor to reassume the total current flow, along with a disappearance of the current flow through the normal conductor, but without loong the magnetic field. Consequently, the coil becomes stable, and no quench will result. This approach constitutes cryagenic stabilization.

The Concept of Stability and the Energy Balance. The key mudeling tool needed to define exactly the concept of stability is the energy balance of a conductor and/or magnetic device (a coll), which may be described in general as follows:

These rate of change of thermal energy of the conductor conduction heat transfer rate Is rate of thermal energy generation — convection heat transfer rate

This halance assumes a composite conductor insterial surrounded by a coolant and subject to transients as well as internal and external instabilities. The goal of a design is to keep the operating point of the conductor within the limits imposed by the critical surface (T, I, N), but with an additional requerement formulated as follows. If the distorbance operations operation, the restoration of the superconducting state is still possible.

Let us first formulate the classical theory of cryostability, the concept originally introduced by Stekly and collaborators (25,26). We will not present this approach either in its entirety or in a chronologoral perspective. Rather, we will discuss the main points, which depend upon an energy balance that is astonishingly simple compared to the complexity of the superconducting instability phenomena. This simplicity commends this criterian as the unst conservative of several that have been developed over the years

First, the physical background for the analysis should be emphasized. Three distinct physical situations can be distinguished in a conductor operating at a given magnetic field $H_{\rm c}$ carrying constant correct $I_{\rm c}$ and operating at various temperatures T. These situations are indicated in Fig. 4(a) as a superconducting mode, a current-sharing mode, and a normal mode.

In a (completely) superconducting mode, the conductor's operating correct is less than critical, for a less than critical magmetic field, at a less than critical temperature. In a correctshoring mode, current flows partly through the matrix because of the appearance in the superconductor of normal zonos characterized by a resistance that is much higher than the resistance of the matrix. Finally, when the temperature increases above the critical temperature, the superconductor operates in the current mode and the current is carried exclusively by the matrix.

In an adjacent diagram [Fig. 4(b)], the corresponding distribution of thermal energy generated by Joule heating is presented. In the superconducting-mixle faule heating is zero. In a current-sharing mode thermal energy generation per unit of area of the conductor surface is equal to $G_h = H_n(\rho (AP)_n = I(I - I_n)\rho(AP)_n (W/m^2)$, where $\rho_m(\Omega)$ -m is the electrical resistivity of the resistive part (matrix), and $I_m = I - I_n(A)$ is the current through the matrix. The symbols I and I_n represent the operating and critical currents as defined in Fig. 4(a). The


Figure 4. (n) J T H characteristic of a conductor, a linearized relationship f_{AI} , T, R fixed); see also Fig. 1. Increase in the local temperaturn at given operating current I forces a superconductor to change from superconducting mode (state (L) to a current-sharing mode (state Xy and altimately into the normal mode (state %). In a current-discogmode a part of the current flows through the resistive nunsuperconducting matrix and a part through the partially resistive superconductor. Inthe normal mude current flows only through the matrix, bring excluded from the resistive superconducting part by its much togher electricity re-pairway (b) Thermal energy generation by Jonie heating versus teroperstare for a given current. In the case of no current sharing, doubt heating starts abrophly at, say $\mathcal{T}_{0,1}$ (dotted line). In the case of current sharing, thermal energy generation processes linearly with 7 in the momentscharing zone. In the superconducting mode there is no doubheating $(G_A \neq 0)$. In the normal zone the Juple heating has a constant value (for a given correct)

quantities A_{α} (m²) and P_{α} (m) are the cross sectional area of the matrix and the conductor perimeter, respectively (Note that the units for electrical resistivity, area, and length, often used in practice, are Ω em, em², and em, respectively. Then the generated thermal energy per unit of conductor area is in W/em². In a normal mode, say for $T = t_{cle}$ thermal energy generation has a constant value of $T_{cl} d(\alpha AP)_{m}$.

To start the analysis we introduce a series of far-reaching assumptions but still preserve the main features of the process.

- The conductor is a composite, that is, it consists of a superconducting constant a highly conducting (but nonsuperconducting) matrix.
- The heat transfer phenomena involved, including the eventual release of thermal energy caused by a disturbance, are quasisterally.
- The temperature of the conductor is uniform across its rross section, and there is no heat conduction through the conductor.
- The electrical resistance between the core and matrix of the conductor is negligible

- The electrical resistivity of a normal zone in the superconductor is several orders of magnitude larger than the resistivity of the matrix (thus, if the conductor operates in a normal, resistive mode, the electrical current tends to flow through the matrix).
- The electrical and thermal properties of the conductor materials and kinetic properties of the processes involved are independent of temperature

The general energy balance equation in this case should include only thermal energy generation and heat convection, that is,

rate of thermal energy generation = beat transfer rate due to encounter.

The concept of cryostability assumes that the rate of thermal energy generation caused by instability is, in a limit, equal to the rate of heat removal by either pool bailing or forced convection of liquid holium (assadly supercritical, and in some cases superfluid). This assumes that current may flow partly through the superconductor and partly through the matrix (current sharing) or it may be completely rerouted to the matrix (current sharing) or it may be completely rerouted to the matrix (current sharing) or it may be completely rerouted to the matrix (current sharing) or it may be completely rerouted to the matrix (current sharing) or it may be completely rerouted to the matrix (current sharing) or it may be completely rerouted to the matrix (current sharing) or it may be completely rerouted to the matrix (current sharing) or it may be completely rerouted to the matrix (curperconductor and in the matrix, in the current sharing mode, or entirely through the matrix. In the normal mode) is more than compensated by the heat removed from the conductor, its temperature will return to below the critical temperature, and the conductor will stay stable. So the stability criterion cur be expressed as follows:

rate of thermal
chergy generation
heat transfer rate
due to convection

$$\begin{vmatrix}
< 1 & (stable) \\
= 1 & (energy balance) \\
> 1 & (unstable)
\end{vmatrix}$$

where a is the so-called Stekly stability parameter. The above defined cryostability enterion can be written in an explicit form taking into account the energy generation under the condition that all the current is flowing through the matrix at the obset of normal mode of conductor operation. In this case the density of heat transfer rate generated without the conductor and normalized to the unit of heat transfer area between the conductor and coolant is given by

$$G_{\lambda} = \frac{I_{c,c}V_{1}}{P} + I_{c,b}I_{c,b}\left(\frac{n}{AP}\right)_{m} = I^{2}{}_{b}\left(\frac{n}{AP}\right)_{m} = \frac{\mu_{b}A_{c,b}^{I_{b}^{2}}}{4}\left(\frac{n}{1-\lambda}\right)_{1-\lambda}$$
(1)

where V_{1} in (V m⁻¹ or V cm⁻¹) is the voltage drop per unit length of the composite conductor. The right-hand side in the last equality of Eq. (1) expresses the thermal energy generation in terms of the current density (J = I/A), the conductor diameter D_{i} and the so-called filling factor $s = A_{experiments}/A_{inst}$. The heat transfer rate density Q_{A} (W/m²) or W/cm²) on the matrix surface is

$$Q_A = h(T_{\rm rb} - T_{\rm s}) \qquad (2$$

Therefore, the Stekly parameter is given as

When a composite conductor operates under current sharing, the total current I is the sum of the currents flowing through the superconductor, I_{ii} , and the matrix, I_{iii} . In general,

$$I_m = I - I_r : \begin{cases} I_m = 0, & I = I_r \text{ (superconducting)} \\ 0 < I_m < I \text{ (current sharing)} \\ I_m = I \text{ (resistive)} \end{cases}$$
(4)

Under the current-sharing conditions, the voltage drop per unit length of the composite conductor, V_{1i} , is given as follows (27):

$$V_0 = I_m \frac{\partial m}{A_m} = (I - I_c) \frac{\partial m}{A_m} = \left[I - I_{c,b} \left(1 - \frac{T_{b,c}}{T_{c,c}} \frac{T_b}{T_b} \right) \right] \frac{\partial m}{A_m}$$
(5)

Here a linearity of the critical $I_{2}T$ curve has been assumed.

$$\frac{V_{\rm L}}{I_{\rm c}} \frac{V_{\rm L}}{(\rho_{\rm m}/A_{\rm m})} = \frac{l}{I_{\rm c}} \frac{1}{h} - 1 + \frac{T_{\rm l}}{T_{\rm c}} \frac{T_{\rm h}}{-T_{\rm c}}$$
(6)

(IF

$$|1| = i - 1 + n$$
 (7)

where $\psi = V_1/[I_1](\mu_0/A_0)[z_1] - I/[I_1]_0$ and $\theta = (T_1 - T_2)^2$ $(T_1 \mu - T_0)$ are the reduced values of the voltage drop, current, and temperature, respectively. The modes of conductor operation can be presented formally using a current-sharing factor (27) f defined as follows:

$$f + \frac{I_{0i}}{I} + \frac{I - I_{i}}{I} = 1 + \frac{I_{i}}{I} = 1 + \frac{I_{i}}{I_{i,0}} \frac{I_{i,0}}{I}$$

$$= 1 + (1 - \theta) \frac{1}{i} = \frac{i + \frac{1}{2} + \theta}{\frac{1}{2}}$$
(8)

and consequently.

$$f = \begin{cases} 1 & (\text{resistive}) \\ i + \mathbf{b} \neq n \\ c & (\text{current-sharing}) \\ 0 & (\text{superconducting}) \end{cases}$$
(9)

From Eqs. (2) and (3), after rearrangement and introduction of the reduced voltage drop, current, and temperature, as well as the Steldy parameter, one can obtain

$$r = \frac{r}{ci}$$
(10)



Figure 5. Reduced characteristics, we beduced voltage versus reduced concert. If the conductor is faily superconducting (i.e., $f = I_{ml}I = 0$), then $0 \le i \le 1$ (line 0-1). Current sharing cases (f = (i - i) + 1), $i \in 1$ linear L versus T1 correspond to the range of reduced correct $1 \le i \le 1$) and sufficient cooling. The 0 - 1 - A curve ($a \ge 1$) corresponds to the 0 - 1 - C curve ($a \ge 1$) and sufficient cooling. The 0 - 1 - A curve ($a \ge 1$) corresponds to the 0 - 1 - C curve ($a \ge 1$) and sufficient cooling. The 0 - 1 - A curve ($a \ge 1$) corresponds to insufficient cooling. For $a \le 1$ the reduced voltage c is a single valued function of i. With enumerase in (from 0 to 1 the superconductor quenches at i = 1. With decreasing current while in correal mode (along the c = i line) the conductor switches back to the superconductor g under at $i = 1 w^{1/2}$, (b). Reduced thermal energy generation g and reduced conling table q volues even to the produced function (for $i = 1, w^{1/2}$), $a \ge 1$. Stable conductors for $a \ge q$.

By eliminating the reduced temperature from Eqs. (7) and (10) one can obtain the reduced voltage as a function of the reduced current in the matrix. This situation describes the variation of voltage with current. An interesting insight can be gained from the *n*-*i* diagram using the relations given by Eqs. (7) and (10) and recognizing that the i = i line in that diagram depicts the normal state. Fig. 5(a). The voltage-current relationship features are described in the legend of Fig. 5(a).

If the current is assumed to be fixed, an insight into a conductor modes of operation can be gained by using a diagram of the reduced thermal energy generation $g = G_M(b(T_{e,i} - T_b))$, and, or the reduced heat transfer rate Ref. $q = Q_M(b(T_{e,i} - T_b))$, versus reduced temperature (Fig. 5(b)), according to Gaussier as reported in Ref. 27.

Finally, it should be pointed out that several definitions of the stability factor exist in the literature. In addition to the Stekly parameter α , a stabilization parameter $\zeta = 1/\alpha$ can be used (28):

$$\varepsilon = \frac{\varphi_2 P_h A_h h (T_{c,b} - T_h)}{\rho_m E_h}$$
(11)

where also a parameter ϕ_{0} has been introduced, equal to the fraction of matrix perimeter actually exposed to coolant. If the stabilization parameter as defined by Eq. (11) is to be used, note that $\xi > 1$ implies a stable system and $\xi < 1$ an unstable one. According to field 17 the stabilization parameter ξ can be defined either at the critical temperature and the operating current, or at the critical temperature and zero current and magnetic field. In addition, a separate parameter can be defined for the current sharing case.

Prediction of the stability using the Stekly cryostability parameter has opened a new era in building large superconducting magnets. From Eq. (3) is obvious that, for a given superconductor and matrix material (usually copper) as well as far the defined cooling conditions to achieve greater stability, one should increase the ratio of matrix to superconductor in the cross section of the composite conductor. This criterion has led to very conservative design (α can be smaller than 0.1, i.e., ξ larger than 10°, leading to very expensive solutions.

Let us consider an application of the Stekly criterion in an actual conductor design (for more details consult Ref. 27). For a typical critical current density of the order of magnitude of 10^5 A 'cm² and a standard cooling heat transfer rate of 2 \times 10⁻¹ W/cm² (a composite conductor with a low-temperature superconductor cooled by loguid helium), a change of the crit ical current between 10² A and 10³ A leads to conservative conductor designs as follows. The ranges of the conductor dianisters and the capper-to-superconductor ratus are between 1 mm and 21 mm and between 7 and 35, respectively. The design constraint assumes $\alpha < 1$ These rather large matrix-tosuperconductor ratios can be reduced by further reducing the $eperating current (the standard operation is all <math>t = 0.75 \pm 0.20$ A more elabuate theory, based on the same approach, takes into account thermal resistance between the matrix and the superconductor and their actual sizes. Still, the stubility criterion etays conservative, $\alpha \geq 1$. It should be noted that the transition from micleate to film boiling of the coulant (liquid belianc) may cause instability when $\sigma > 1$ if the current sharing is not complete.

Maddock James-Norris Equal-Area Theorem. The Stekly cryostability orderion has been developed taking into account removal of the generated thermal energy from a conductor only by convection, that is, the conduction mechanism has been neglected. This is a consequence of the assumption of the existence of a uniform temperature throughout the conductor. This assumption, however, can easily be violated, because the matrix material (asually copper) is thermally conductive. Hence, a question may be posed: How must the storady-state stability enterior be formulated if the conduction effect is to be taken into account? An elegant approach to the solution of this problem was given by Maddock et a?. (29). We will summarize a one-dimensional formulation as introduced by Maddock (25), although a two-dimensional for for that matter a three-dimensional (formulation can be readily devised.



Figure 6. As equal-sizes theorem: boiling characteristic curve (Q_i) and thermal energy generation curve (Q_i) . The area between the Q_i and Q_i curves on the segment is tween the points S_i and G represents an excess of heat transfer rate removed by boiling at the rold end. The area between the source curves in the sour H- S_i represents an excess of thermal energy generated at the hot end. Equality of the two energy rates requality of the corresponding areas) corresponds to a balanced conditions $Q_i = Q_i$ over the entree conductor.

Let us assume that a composite conductor carrying constant current I and with one-dimensional geometry 'i e , a long cylindright rad with $D/L \ll 1, D$ isong its outer diameter and L its tength) is submerged in a liquid belium pool. Let a disturbance. caused by an instability, initiate the appearance of a assumal sone in the superconducting part of the conductor, thus loading to current sharing. Thermal energy generation caused by Joule heating in the normal current-carrying parts of the conductor will cause an increase of the conductor temperature. Eventualiy, when all the carrent starts flowing through the matrix, any further increase in temperature will be accompanied by a constant thermal energy generations G (the current intensity is constant). Due to the conductor surface temperature increase. the boiling heat transfer mode of liquid beliam may change from nucleate (at an initially small temperature differences) to film healing (at more presented temperature differences). The boiling characteristic (us), the curve of heat transfer rate density versus temperature difference) will determine the rate of heat removal. In Fig. 6, both thermal energy generation and heat transfer rate are presented as functions of temperature difference between the conductor sorface and the bouid beham proference that T_0 remains unchanged; consequently the usis in Fig. 6 may be considered as the conductor surface temperature with T₆ as a fixed parameter:

The area onclosed between the thermal energy goneration curve and the bailing theat transfery curve over the segment. S_i - F_{ijk} proportional to the excess thermal energy removed from the conductor. Similarly, the area enclosed over the segment $U_{-S_{t}}$ between the thermal energy generation curve and the corresponding film boiling segment of the boiling characteristic curve is proportional to the escess of thermal energy generated within the conductor over the heat transfer rate density removed by boiling. Because of the temperature difference between the hot and cold ends, heat conduction will take place along the conductor leading to a removal of the excess thermal energy from the hot end by the excess of boiling heat transfer from the cold end. A stable equilibrium of this bent transfer process will be reached if the two excess thermal energy rates (represented by the shaded areas between the curves in Fig. 6) are exactly the same. This straightforward phenomenological description leads directly to the required stability criterion:

Equality of thermal energy rates, represented by equal areas in Fig. 6, corresponds to a himting case of a cryogenic stability If the cold-end thermal energy rate is larger than the bot-end thermal energy rate, the conductor temperature will ultimately return to its initial temperature, equal to the hquid both temperature, thus leading to the disappearance of the normal zone and a restoration of the superconducting mode of the conductor. The similary condition can be interpreted as an equality of the areas in Fig. 6 with, say, conductor temperature as abscissa. This conclusion constitutes the so-called equal area theorem introduced by Maddack et al. (29)

Formal mathematical proof of the above described theorem is straightforward. The general energy balance equation (with the uniform temperature assumption relaxed) reads as follows:

Input heat transfer rate by conduction

heat transfer rate by convection
 rate of thermal energy generation

In an analytical form for a one-dimensional heat transfer problom this balance reads as follows.

$$\frac{d}{dx} \begin{bmatrix} k(T) \frac{dT}{dx} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{\varphi_{\Gamma} Dh}{A} (T - T_{r}) + \frac{\rho_{rr} (T) \ell_{rh}^{2}}{A A_{rr}} \left(\frac{T - T_{r}}{T_{rh} - T_{h}} \right) \quad (12)$$

where $A(un^2)$ is the area of the conductor cross section, and k in (W/un | K) as the thermal conductivity of the matrix. The brackated term on the left-hand side and the two terms on the right hand side are all functions of temperature; thus, in a compact form,

$$\frac{dF(T)}{dx} \neq Q_0(T) + G_0(T)$$
(13)

where F, $Q_{\rm C}$ and G_{\star} are the conductive heat flux, heat transfer rote per unit volume of the conductor, and thermol energy generation per unit volume of the conductor, all exclusive functions of temperature. After the formal integration of Eq. (13) one obtains

$$\int_{J_1}^{J_2} k(Tf Q_V(T) - G_V(T)) dT = \int_{J_1}^{J_2} F dF = 0$$
(14)

where we assume that the integration boundaries $(T, \text{ and } T_i)$: are well apart so as to reach the zones in the conductor where the temperature gradients are equal to zero. Making the reasonable assumption that thermal-conductivity k(T) (depends linearly on temperature in the given temperature range (k(T) = cT), a transformation of the dependent variable on Eq. ((4), $t = cT^2/2$, will lead to

$$\int_{t_0}^{t_0} \left[\mathbf{Q}_V(t) + G_V(t) \right] dt = 0$$
(15)

A geometric interpretation of the Eq. (15) is straightforward. If one replaces the abscissa in Fig. 6 using the same transformation that led to Eq. (15), then Eq. (15) represents the equality of the areas presented in Fig. 6. If this condition is satisfied (i.e., the energy balance is preserved), any excess of thermal energy generated within the hot zone of a superconductor will be conjuousated by the excess of the heat transfer rate removed from the conductor in the cold zone thanks to the conduction between the two parts of the conductor.

Wipf Minimum Propagation Zone. The concept of the minimum propagation zone (MPZ) was introduced by Martmelli and Wipf (30). It has since been developed into a comprebensive stabilization theory (17). The original opproach was based on a simple energy balance of a superconducting material idealized to be infinite in space, but with a localized thermal energy generation source within a precessing normal zone of finite size. This balance, in a generalized form, is as follows

Net heat transfer rate due to beat conduction — rate of thermal energy generation by Joule heating

Hence, the approach assumed a balance between thermal energy generated by Joule beating (within the already established normal zone) and the rate of heat transfer from the normal zone by conduction through the superconductor. Therefore, the physical size of the normal zone that evolves into a quench has been assumed to depend on a tradeoff between Joule beating in the normal zone and the heat carried out of the normal zone by renduction. As a consequence, assuming the volutity of the energy balance condition described above, the normal zone will oeither grow nor collapse. The normal zone defined in such a way is called the MPZ (17).

The simplest coalesta, autoation is the one that leads to a conservative stabilization limit, which requires the consideration of non-current-sharing conditions, and additional curvective cooling. Let us assume that a linear superconductor, with an already developed normal zone of length 2X, is cooled by (1) a coolant at temperature $T_{\rm e}$ and (2) conduction in the axial directions (Fig. 7). In such a situation, the energy balance has an additional term [see Eq. (12)]. The conductor has a circular cross section (radius r), with a constant electrical resistivity \hat{r} (in the cormal zone) and uniform thermal conductivity \hat{x} (in both normal zone) and uniform thermal conductivity \hat{x} (in both normal and superconducting parts). Under these conditions, the differential energy balance per unit length of the



Figure 7. A conductor with a formed normal zone $[n \neq 0]$ of total length 3X. Outside the normal zone, the conductive $[n \neq 0]$ as pre-conducting $(p \neq 0)$. The conductor is explored to convective ording, and to thermal energy generation, within the control zone. The heat conduction through the conduction reflores heat from the minutal zone.

214 CRYOGENIC STABILIZATION

conductor is as follows (17):

$$(\pi r^2)k\frac{d^2T}{d\lambda^2} = (2\pi r)\hbar(T+\tilde{J}_1) - (\pi r^2)\rho d^2 \qquad (16)$$

with the following boundary conditions:

 Superscularing some (note that in this zone the second term on the right-hand side in Eq. (16) vanishes);

at
$$x = x X$$
 $T = T_1$
at $x = \pm \infty$, $T = T_0$ (17)

2. Normal zone (with extra heating q_{ir} at x = 0)

at
$$\mathbf{x} = 0$$
, $\frac{\sigma_{xr}}{3} = -k\frac{dT}{dx}$
at $\mathbf{x} = cX_{r}$, $T = T_{1}$ (18)

Note also that or the boundaries between the localized normal zone and both superconducting zones, the temperature gradients must be equal. Hence, Eqs. (16)+(18) (and also an additional equation representing the equality of the temperature gradients at the portions between the zones) define the mathematical model of the temperature distribution in the conductor. The closed-form solution can be readily obtained (17). Of particular interest is an analytical relationship between the heat flux caused by heating, \hat{q}_{\pm} [defined by Eq. (16)) and the length of the normal zone. This relationship can be obtained from the first of the two equations in Eq. (16) by differentialing the temperature distribution inside the normal zone, and by subsequently applying the result at the normal zone boundary. The final result is as follows:

$$\begin{split} \Psi &= \frac{q}{(rk/2h)^{1/2} J_{\tau} \frac{q}{p}} \\ &= 2 \left[\xi \, \exp\left(\frac{X}{(rk/2h)^{1/2}}\right) + \sinh\left(\frac{X}{(rk/2h)^{1/2}}\right) \right] \end{split}$$
(19)

where ξ is a stability parameter defined in the same matter as the one introduced by Eq. (11). The relationship given by Eq. (19) is presented graphically in Fig. 5. The abscissa in Fig. 8 represents the dimensionless length of the normal zone, $l = 2X_l(rk_l 2h)^{1/2}$. Note that the length of the MPZ is equal to twice the normal-zone half length X for the rational magnitude defined by Eq. (19), that is, for $q_{12} = 0$.

$$MPZ = -(rk/2h)^{i-1}in(1-2\xi)$$
 (20)

In Fig. 5, three distinct regions can be identified. The first region corresponds to the pairs of values of the dimensionless heating Ψ and the dimensionless length of the normal zone, l, such that $\xi < 0.5$. The second region corresponds to the exhibitiv-parameter range $0.5 < \xi < 1$, and the third region to $\xi > 1$. In the last region, say for $\xi = 0.49$, the superconductor is in a least stable situation (15). In this region a MPZ exists for any $0 < \xi < 0.5$. At $\xi = 0.5$ the MPZ is theoretically infinitely large: see Eq. (20). The second region $10.5 < \xi < 1$ is characterized by increasing stability. It should be noted that any $\xi = \text{const curve in this region has a minimum}$



Figure 8. Dimensionless extra heating versus dimensionless length of the normal zone. No current sharing case. The region for $\zeta \geq 1$ controsponds to a fully stable conductor, cryostable region. The region for $1 \geq \xi > 4.5$ respresents the so-called minimum recovery rene (MRZ) of stability. The length of the MRZ is the length of a superconducting zone in equilabrium with neoebboring normal zones of writinite length. A longer superconducting zone will spread into the normal zones; a shorter neewall shrink. The region for $\xi \geq 0.5$ corresponds to the so-called minimum propagation zone (MRZ) of stability. The MSRT long is the line of maximum size of recoverable transition. The locus of maximum in the MRZ region provides a boundary between stable and unstable equilibrium [17].

Hence, the left-hand branches of these lines correspond to an unstable equilibrium (between the l = 0 value and l at $\Psi_{m,\tau}$, for any ξ). The locus of these minima defines the bifurcation line between the unstable and stable equilibrium. The *classimari size of recoverable transition* (MSRT) line is defined by $X/(rk/2b)^{1/2} = -\ln(2c-1)$. Finally, the third region $(\xi > 1)$ corresponds to fully stable (i.e., crysstable) routitions. In that region any created normal zone is in stable equilibrium. The size of the normal zone increases monitorically with increase of the locat release per unit conductor volume. Note that $\xi \geq 1$ certesponds to the condition imposed by the conservative Stekly criterion.

The Writi approach has been refined even further for periodic semperature distributions and for a current sharing subation (17,27,31).

It is instructive to provide a simplified representation of the main features of all three stabilization reduced abscussed so far (Stekly, Muddeck, and Wipf). A diagram of reduced cooling rate versus reduced temperature may be used (10): see Fig. 9. There the reduced cooling rate is assumed to be a linear function of reduced temperature. The non-correct sharing case will be considered. The following situations may be distinguished. For the reduced heat generation, the nut described by curve a, the



Figure 9. Reduced cooling rate, $q = Q_{AC}(h(T_{CD} - T_{C}))$, and reduced thermal generation, $g = G_{AC}(h(T_{CD} - T_{C}))$, versus reduced temperature, $v = (T_{1} - T_{C})(T_{CD} - T_{C})$. Curves 0-1 A is 0, 1-B b, 0, 1, C is 0-1-D-d, and 0-1, E-v, reach denoted by a dotted brass correspond to various values of the reduced thermal generation g, each with different but fixed current. The reduced opting curve is the some to all these coses. In a fully cryostable region (curve 0-1-A-m) the corresponding current curves a Jude heating lower than the rooling rate for any reached temperature. The stability conditions for the curve 0-1-A-m the fixed curve 0-1-B is for the curve 0-1-B-m the curve 0-1 B is satisfy the Stockly relation, see the curve for t = 1.0 in Fig. 9.

superconductor is in a fully stable mode to cryostable cases. The limit of this type of behavior is at the condition described by the Stelly enterior (the reduced heat generation denoted by curve 5). If current further increases (represented by un increase in reduced current *i* in Fig. 9), the superconductor reaches the region of MRZ stability, as described by Wipf (curve r_{ii}). Further increase in current may eventually provide the condition that corresponds to the Maddock equal-area subjlity criterion (curve *d*). Note that for curve *d*, the areas between the curves representing the reduced cooling rate and reduced heat generation are equal. If current increases even more, the MPZ stability zone will be reached (curve *r*).

ADVANCED STABILITY AND THERMAL MANAGEMENT. PROBLEMS FOR SUPERCONDUCTORS

The conventional theory of cryogenic stability of both lowtemperature and high-temperature superconductors has not been able to address a number of issues related to the design of initian superconducting devices. Without trying to provide a comprehensive review (for the details consult the bibliography contained in Ref. 27), let us discuss briefly two characteristic topics.

As commented on in the introductory part of this article, instability phenomena are inherently transient. Consequently, the quench and recovery are also inherently transient. The existence of a normal zone, as introduced first by Wipf and others, should be considered in the light of the propagation velocity. This vislocity is positive during quench and negative during recovery. Under the equilibrium conditions it is equal to zero. A good review of the early altempts to determine this velocity is provided in Ref. 27. A modern treatment of the related problems (such as the existence of the so called traveling normal zones/"CNZs), the propagation velocities in the uncooled superconductors, the influence of nonlinearities introduced by temperature-dependent material properties, and the issues related to thermal and hydrodynamic munagement of internally cooled superconductors) is reviewed in Ref. 31. It should be added that the stability conditions defined by the conventional theory based on the presence of a continuous disturbance does not reflect the proper conditions for stability against transport heat pulses. So transient stabilization must be considered (27). An important part of these studies is an appreciation of transient heat transfer phenomena. For example (31), for very shurt transient phenomena tof the order of magnitude of tenths of a millisecondy, the heat transfer coefficient may be in the range of 0.5 W/cm² K to 1.5 W/cm² K (the propagation velocity was between 5 m/s and 20 m/s). These transient heat transfer orofficients are larger by an order of magnitude than the film bading heat transfer mefficient.

The introduction of HTSC materials brought an additional appreciation of the need to include in the analysis the temperature-dependent thermouphysical properties and kinetic heat transfer characteristics over a much broader temperature range. A direct consequence of this fact in any thermal management problem for a superconductor teat necessarily related to cryostability; is a requirement to model the problem with its increasingly nonlinear character. Under these circumstances, the originally introduced assumptions must be revisited (32)

THERMOPHYSICAL AND HEAT DATA ON CRYOGENS

Although the HTSC scale exhibit some superconducting properties even at temperatures approaching andmost, soperconductivity applications under practical conditions still depend upon cooling to cryogenic temperatures. This fact does not diminish the value of the HTSCe, because of the greater case of operation and savings in refrigeration power that are effected by operating al temperatures nearer to that of liquid nitrogen than 10 that of lagoid helium. The theoretical power input required to produce one unit of refrigeration at cryagenic temperatures is given as $(T_n - T)/T$, where T_n is ambient temperature, or the temperature at which the heat must be rejected, and T is the refrigeration temperature, the temperature at which the heat is to be removed. For an ulsal cryngenic refrigerator to remove head at the temperature of liquid helium (4 K) and reject it at ambient temperature (300 K) would requires 74 W of input power per walt of refrigeration. At liquid nitrogen temperature (77 K) this ratio is reduced to a little less than 3 W power input per watt of refrigeration. As Strobudge (33) has shown, cryogenic refrigerators to date do not approach this theoretical limit very closely. The degree to which this limit is approached is not dependent upon the temperature level of refrigeration.

Cryogen (Liquid)	NBP ⁴ Temperature (K)	Triple Point Temperature (K)	Critical Temperature (K)	NBP Density kg/m²)	Criticai Press are (MPa)	NBP ⁴ Hent of Nap. (kJ/kg)
Hr.	+ 215		5 85	125	0.23	20.5
Н./	20.27	13 80	32.98	71	1.20	445.4
Ne	27.09	24.8	44.4	1236	2.17	86.2
N.,	77.1	60.1	126 2	809	3.39	199
A.	87 G	A3 A	150.8	1394	4 86	163
02	90.8			1140		213

Table 2. Pertinent Thermophysical Properties of Cryogens"

* Data romi 161, 44. * Normal boung agest

Heliam does not have a true truck point and real only be additited of a recomment pressure of 2.5 MPa

Properties given any those of pershydrograp

but depends strongly upon the capacity of the unit. The larger the refrigerator, the helter is the degree of approach, with the heat (largest) units reaching only 35% to 40% of the limit (88).

Table 2 bats some of the thermophysical properties of cryogens (34) that rought be used in the cooling of a superconducting system

If cooling is to be done by pool boiling of a liquid, the range of temperature that is available is of interest. For a given cryogen, the boiling temperature can be fixed at any temperature between the the triple point and the critical point by maintaining the corresponding system pressure. From Table 2 it can be seen that over the range from below 4.15 K to over 150 K, there are only two gaps; from 5.25 K to 13.8 K, and from 44.4 K to 54.4 K.

Also, the application of supercritical pressure can allow forced-flow cooling without encountering two-phase flow with its consequent complications of pressure and flow oscillations and excess pressure drop in the flow channels. However, only in the case of liquid helium can this be accomplished at a pressure as how as 0.23 MPa.

The main heat transfer phenomena toyolved with cooling of superconducting magnets are as follows: (1) formal convection of a single-phase coolant (say, geocous or superantical holium), (2) phase-change heat transfer (nucleate and film boiling) in both probability and channel flow conditions, and (3) heat transfer in superfluid helium. The most important mode of heat transfer for cryogenic stabilization is boiling (both nucleute and film bailing). In Table 3 typical data for (1) the critical heat flux (i.e., the maximum heat flux for nucleate boiling at the given temperature difference: and (2) the Leadenfrist-point heat flux (i.e., the minimum heat flux for film boiling) are given (1) should be noted that the available heat transfer data scatter widely and depend greatly on heat transfer surface orientation, geometry, and surface conditions. Transient heat flux data for nucleate

Crycero	Contas litat	Lealenfast Point Heat Ylas	
(Liquid)	Value (W/cmf)	۵ <i>Σ</i> (K)	(Wiene)
Heltam .	I.	· · -	0.5
Hydrogen	LÜ	5	0.3
Neba	15	5	1
Nutregion	15	10	1
Oxygen	25	30	2

At chore, where $p_{\rm exc}$ is These numbers are talk an approximate reprinciple into the number of typical results. We bailing of cryagens are greater by an order of magnitude than shady-state values.

SAFETY

In working with any cryagenic fluid, safe operation requires that there be a satisfactory understanding of the hazerds that can arise and also a strict compliance with safe operating principles for these fluids. These hazards can stein from the temperature of the fluid, or from its reaction with other materials that come in contact with it. The low temperatures can embrittle some structural materials, or can cause freezing of human tissue if personnel should contact the cold fluid or the exterior of a cold, uninsulated pipe. The low temperatures also cause a significant thermal contraction which, if not sufficiently compensated, can give rise to high stresses that can cause their own horzard.

Any of the cryogens that have bailing points below that of liquid oxygen can condense the atmospheric air, resulting in a condensate that is enriched in oxygen (as much as 50% oxygen) which is even more bazardous than liquid air. If this condensed air is allowed to fall in sensitive equipment, some materials can be sufficiently entiritled to crack, other equipment may no longer function property, and, if the enriched liquid air should fall on a combustible material (such as asphalt), on explosion can result. In an improperty purged system, condensation of air, or its constituents such as water vapor or carbon daxide, run result in the destruction of pressure relief passages or the connections to instrumentation needed for the safe operation of the system.

The use of liquid hydrogen or liquid oxygen is less probable in the application of superconductivity. However, such an application is not impossible. Use of these fluids entails the additional hozard of combustion, preven explosion, if strict safety measures are not observed.

The most likely safety hazard to be encountered in applications of superconductivity is the excessive buildup of pressore within a cryogenic system. If a cryogenic fluid is totally confined, us in a pipe between two closed valves, the pipe must try to maintain the density of the liquid us the contained fluid becomes a gas that approaches ambient temperature. Because of the increase in the compressibility factor of the gas at high pressore, the pressure obtained is higher than what would be computed by applying the ideal gas law to the appropriate density ratios. Consequently, beliom tropped in this flashion could reach a pressure of 103 MPa (15,000 psi), and ritrogen could reach a pressure of 296 MPa (43.000 part if the container did not rupture beforehand (35). In the case of a quench of a superconducting magnet there is a very rupid release of energy that will quickly enter the cryogenic coolant. If sufficient venting capacity is not provided, a rapid, lockardous buildup of pressure in the coolant passages or the container can zesolt

ADDI/IONAL READING

Several references mentioned in the bibliography deserve odditional attention as useful sources for further reading. The book of Wilson (14) is a classical text and must be read as an upper level introduction to the problems of design of superconducting magnets. A two-volume book by Collings (27) provides examplive insight into many highly technical aspects of metallurgy and physics of low-temperature superconductors, as wellas a very comprehensive bibliography. The back by Dresner (31) is an advanced text that provides an insight into the modern treatment of the stability of superconducting devices. For wohning calculations related to design of cryogenic devices, including crypstability aspects, the book by Iwasa (28; will be very aseful. A number of aseful sources can be found that deal with cryogenic and locat transfer aspects of the design of cryogenie devices. In addition to these mentioned in the bibliography, the following one may be consulted, S. W. van Seiver, Helium Cryopeatos, New York, Pienum, 1986.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- H. K. Onnes, Commun. Phys. Lat. Univ. Leiden, Nos. (2018) (22h) 124c, 1913; are also K. Gavragia, and Y. Condaraulus (eds.). Hence Kana chagh. Onnes. Distaigh Measurement to Kana ledge, The Seheted Papers, Norwell, MA, Knower, (2010).
- K. D. Turanerhaus and T. M. Elynn, *Crossens: Process Engineering*, New York: Plenam, 1989.
- R. V. Carlson, Applications of super-molectrary, no. K. D. Williamson, dr., and P. J. Edeskuty (eds.), *Laqued Cryogens*, vol. 11 Been Rame, FL CRI Press, 1983, eleop. 4
- 4. D. C. Carbab-stoer and M. P. Maley, Conductors from superconductors. Convertional low temperature and new high-temperature superconducting conductors. *Mater. Res. Soc. Biol.*, 18, 50-56 (1983).
- K. Mendelssohn, Superconductivity and superconducting devices, in C. A. Bailey (ed.), Advances: Copyreness, London: Plenum, 1971, thing, 10.
- b D. S. Beaud et al. The IEA large coil task, Fasilon Eng. Des. 7 (-202, 1988).
- V. A. Al'tov et al., Stabilization of Superconducting Magnetic Systerics, New York, Plenum, 1977.
- F. J. Kazawaty, Cryogenics, in F. A. Acadhore and T. Baumenster 112 urds - Marka' Standard Handbook for Mechanical Engineers. 20th ed., New York: McGraw-Hill, 1996, chap. 19/2.
- S. M. P. Maley, personal companying system (1998)
- X. D. Wollet al., Properties of YBa₂Cu₂O₇ + thick films on flowble boffered metallic substructs, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **67** (2007-9,090) 1995.
- P. Chowdhortt and E. J. Edeskuty, Bulk power transmission by sopermoducting decable, *Blectr. Power Syst. Res.* 1 (41-46) (1977) 78.
- 12 F. B. Forsyth: The high voltage design at superconducting power transmission systems, *IEEE Flow Javabatian Mag.*, 6:7–16, 1990.

- L3. R. J. Thomas, Magnet program overshew for the unternational thermorphic learnest reactur, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, **50**, 1595–1601, 1894.
- M. N. Welson. Superconducting Magnets. Oxford: Claredon Press, 1965.
- H. Wada et al., VD-1. Appendix—terminology for superconducting materials, Congenics, VAMAS Suppl., 35, 5113–5126, 1985.
- A. A. Abiriko-we, On the magnetic properties of superconductors of the second group, *Soc. Phys. JETP*, 5: 1174–1182, 1957, Irans), of *Zh. Exp. Tran. Fiz.*, 32, 1442–1452, 1957.
- 17. S. L. Wigh, Scalulary and degradation of superantizing currentconverg devices, Tech. Rep. LA-7275, Los Alemos Scientific Laboratory, Dec. 1978.
- M. N. Wilson, Stabilization of superconductors for use in inspirets. *IEEE Trans. Magn.* MAG-13: 446-446, 1977.
- O. Tsukamutu, T. Takao, and S. Honjo, Scalubty analysis of supercanducting magnet: An approach to quantification of energy disturbunes rational conductor motion, *Oppgenets*, 29, 616–620, 1989.
- R. G. Monts and A. L. Rakhmanov, Instabilities in Supersonductors (in Russian), Moscow. Nauka, 1984.
- 21. Y. Iwasa et al., Experimental and theoretical accessinglation of mechanical disturbances in opexy-impregnated superconducting coils, part 1. General introduction, Groweenics, 25:304–306; part 2. Shear stress-induced epuxy fracture as the principal source of premisive cuenches and training—chapterical analysis, 307–318, part 5. Fracture and training—chapterical analysis, 307–318, part 5. Fracture and training encodes, 317–322, part 4: Pre-quench codes and fractural motion, 323–336, 1965.
- 32. V. I. Detwenko et al., Experimental study of thermonechooses instabilities in superconducting compactics, goef 1: Magnetic flux jumps induced by plastic deformation. Configurates, 29: 10–15, part 2, Dynamics of marginal surges, 16–21, 1989.
- D. T. Reidlet al., Definitions of terms for practical superconductors.
 Fabrication, stabilization and transient losses. Copygnues, 19, 927–332, 1979.
- 24 A. R. Kanterowitz and Z. J. J. Stekly: A new principle for the construction of stabilized superconducting cods, Appl. Phys. Lett., 4 30 56-57, 1955.
- 25. J. J. Stekly and J. L. Zur, Stally supermulating cuts, IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., 12: 367-372, 1985.
- [26] Z. J. J. Stokly, B. Theore, and B. Straesa, Principles of stability in evolved superconducting magnets. J. Appl. Phys., 40: 2238-2245, 1989.
- E. W. Collings, Applied Super-conductority Metallaryy, and Physics of Thurniam Alloys. New York: Physics, 1986.
- Y. Iwasa, Case Station in Superconducting Magnets, Design and Operational Issues, New York: Plenum, 1994.
- D. J. Madówski, G. H. James, and W. T. Nucrta, Superconductive compositive Rept transfer and steady strite stabilization, *Cryogenics*, 9: 261–273, 1969.
- A. P. Martinells and S. I. Wigt, Investigation of ervicence atability and redealably of operation of Nb₁Sn cuils in holium gas environment, in H. M. Long and W. F. Gonstein (eds.), Proc. 1972 Appl. Superconductivity Conf. IEEE Publ. 72CH0682 5 TABSC (1972), pp. 331-340.
- L. Dresner, Standary of Superconductors, New York: Plenam 1995
- 32. D. P. Sekulic, F. J. Edeskury, and Z. Kitt'se, Hest transfer through a high temperature superconducting current lead at cryogenic temperatures, *Int. J. Heat. Mass. Transfer*, 40 (16), 3957-3926, 2997.
- T.S. Stribridge (*Lyapenic Refegerators—an Opdated Survey*, NBS Technical Note 1955, Boolder, CO: US Department of Commerce, National Bureau of Standarda, 1974.

218 FORCED FLOW CONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING

- 34. R. L. Mills and F. J. Edeskuty, Cryopens and their properties, in K. D. Williamson, Jr., and F. J. Edeskuty (eds.), *Liquid Cryogens*, vol. 11, Boon Ratan, FL: CRC Press, 1980, chap. 1.
- 35 F.J. Edeskoty and W.F. Stewart, Sufety in the Handling of Cryogener Flunds, New York: Plennin, 1996.

D. P. SBRULD: University of Kentucky F. J. EDESRUTY Edeskuty Engineering

FORCED FLOW CONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING

Electric windings that use low temperature superconductors need to be actively cooled. An easy and effective way to mainonin the winding at operating temperature is to fill the space. around the coil with lighted helium (prol-public magnets), allowing the liquid to penetrate between the turns. Alternatively, the superconductor may include a cealing path where the coolant is forced to circulate under pressure. This article is a review of the manufacturing methods for forced flow conductors, starting from the early prototypes (S0 years ago) to the very large cablein-conduit conductors of the fusion magnets. The design aspects of forced flow conductors are not dreply discussed here, although they have sometimes driven the effort toward advanced manufacturing technologies. Essential references on the design aspects of forced flow conductors can be found in the artieles. Stability in fourth flow, Superconstitution instructs AND COUPLING LOSSES. SUPERCONDUCTING MAGNETS, QUENCH, PROTECTION.

The manufacturing methods for forced flow superconductors sound like a brand new subject. Actually, it is old enough to have a history. The initial proposal dates back to 1965, when Kolm (1) suggested using the circulation of supercritical holium for reliable cooldown and heat transfer in large superconducting magnets. The first indestons is the spark chamber detector built in 1970 at CERN (2), with 50 MJ stored energy and 24 tonnes of NbTi hollow conductor.

Beades the clear advantage in thermal achaviar, a key argument in favor of forced flow conductors is electromechanical integrity in contrast with pool-cooled windings, where the individual torus are insulated only by spacers to allow the coolant to wet the metallic surface, the turns of a winding made of forced flow conductor can be fully insulated and potted. Such a rigid structure offers superior mechanical performance under electromagnetic had and withstands very high operating voltages (e.g., in pulses or quench mode), not limited by the delectric strength of the coolant. Clearly, the choice of forced flow conductors becomes mandatory for magnets with very large stored energy, subjected to high operating loads and requiring highvoltage discharge in case of quench

Comparing the latest furned flow conductors with the early ones, manufactured thirty years aga, the difference is impressive. On one side, the conductor design has made substantial progress, using the results of extensive R&D work (mostly in acloss and stability) and sophisticated thermohydraulic codes. On the other, the manufacturing methods have evolved under the pressure of the design goals, and advanced technologies have become reliable and offendable. The present review is focused on the manufacturing aspects. In general, only practical industrial manufacturing experience is quoted, short prototype conductors are reported only if an original method was used. The review is organized in three main sections. The first describes the conductor generation where the belium flows in smooth pipes and the superconductor is attached outside the pipes, without direct contact with the condant. The second generation is a transition group of conductors, where a flat cable is encased in a welded steel sheath. The third generation includes the rope-in-pipe, or cable-in-conduct, conductors, where the condant is forced to flow through a bundie of strands with large void fraction, encased in a structural conduit.

Superconducting cables for power transmission lines are not in the scope of this review. Their manufacturing methods, dommated by the high-voltage insulation requirements, are similar to those for conventional high voltage conductors for underground lines

CONDUCTORS WITH SMOOTH PIPES

In the late sixtics, the use of a helpine-tight coulant produced by extended welded serms was considered too usky for large scale applications (particle detectors, fusion magnets), where usingle leak in the winding would have either severely delayed or compromised the entire project. It is understandable that copper pipes were initially selected for forced flow conductors, because of their high thermal conductivity, small pressure drop, and reliable leak-tightness.

Four conductor subgroups are identified according to the asseably procedure for attaching the superconductor to the copper pipes

Superconducting Pipes

The first experiments with forced flow conductors look today like small masterpreces of technology. The idea was not to attach a superconducting wire to a pipe, but to create a hole in a superconducting composite

A cross section of the first over reported hollow superconductor is shown in Fig. 1(a). The extruden comparate has a pure aluminum matrix with six NbZr filements (0.25 mm thick) in the mulplane, to allow bending radii down to 10 mm. The copper plated NbZr filements were supplied by Supercon (United States), and the hollow extrusion was done in 1967 at the Atelier electromechanique de Gascogne (France). Over 400 molemiductor have been produced and successfully wound into a solenoid at CERN (3).

The hollow conductor shown in Fig. 1(t) was commercially produced by Imperial Metal Industries (England) at the end of the sorties. The rectangular, extruded pipe, 6.5 ± 5 mm, 's made of copper, with 14 NLTi filaments (0.45 mm dram) embedded in it. The preduction lengths ranged up to 200 m. At CERN, the conductor sections were electron beam welded (4) and wound jub a solenoid of 32 double pancakes, for a total of 2500 m of conductor. At Saelay, France, a smaller, race-track coil (5) was wound with 300 m of the same conductor.

At M.F.O. (Switzerland), later BIKC and ABR, a larger, square superconducting pipe was developed (6) by hollow extrusion of a copper hiller with 16 NbTi filament (≈ 0.55 mm diameters) see Fig. 1(C). Because of the large cross section, the conductor and length was limited to 100 m.



Figure 1. Three extruded hollow superconductors: a - Al matrix with NhZr filnments (1967, roartesy of CERN), the Cummunix with NbTi filnments (CMI, 1969), terrored to some for matrix with thick NhTy filaments (MFO, Istor ABB, about 1968).

The manufacture of a hollow superconductor at the Electro-Technical Laboratory, Tsukuba, Japan (ETL) was reported in 1974 (7). The method is shown schematically in Fig. 2(a). Twelve square rods of superconducting composite (6 x 6 mm), each with 19 NbT) filaments in a copper matrix, were inserted in a rectangular copper tube and rolled with intermediate anneabog to a flat strip. 1.6 run thick. The strip was then welded in a conventional tabe null and drawn down to four a rectanguiar hollow conductor, 4 × 5 mm; see Fig. 2(b). Due to the rolling process, the 116 filaments, with reprivatent diameter 0.25 mm, are flattened and nonhomogeneously spaced.

The major drawbacks of such "superconducting pipes" are the large size (leading to poor critical current density) of the superconducting filaments due to the limited reduction ratio, and their nontronsposition with respect to the transverse field. due to the lack of twisting. As a resolt, large this jumps were observed in operation.

Conductors Assembled by Electroplating

An original method was developed at the Kurchatov Institute (Moscony) in the late sixties to bond together the superconducting strands into large composites by continuous electroplating in a CuSO 4 electrolyte (8). The same method was later used to assemble the force flow conductors for the toroidal coils of the Tokaniak 7 (T-7) and Tokamak-15 (T-15)

The T-7 conductor (9) is made from a linear array of nine copper pipes, 2 mm more diameter, with 16 multifilamentary NbTi strands sitting in the grooves between the pipes: see Fig.3(a). Another 32 thin, single core NbTs wires are placed



Figure 2. A hollow superconductor (7), attaching one in 1974 by a tube mill method (concrease of K. Agarwara, ETL, Japan

(4)



Figure 3. Cross section of the conductors assembled by ropper electroplating at Kurchatov Instatus: (a) the NhTi-based T-7 (b) the react-and-wind Nb₃Sn conductor for the T-15. (Courtesy of Kurchatov and Bochwar Institutes, Moscow :

in the grooves between the multiflamentary strands and the copper pipes to obtain an even surface. The pipe strands assembly is bonded by electroplating a 0.6 mm copper layer up to the final size of 28 × 4.5 mm. The strands are not transposed, and the conductor has suffered from severe flux jumps, triggering quenches during ramp up and down. The large member of parallel cooling channels, supplied by two-phase beilum, results in a highly conhomogenous distribution of the mass flow rate. Over 10 km of conductor have been manufactured in units longer than 200 m

In the conductor for the 'P-15 (10), a flat cable of 11 numstabilized Nb;5n strands (1.5 mm diam; around a brance strip was bunded after heat treatment to two copper pipes (3 mm inner diameter) by an electroplated Cu layer, 1.2 mm thick, see Fig. 3(b). Some copper wires were included between the cable and the pipes to obtain a more regular envelope. To minimize the bending strain during winding, the heat-treated cable is close to the neutral bending usis of the conductor. In the winding of the T-15 coils, a wet insulation method had to be applied to smooth the uneven conductor surface. Over 100 km of conductor have been manufactured, in units of 200 m

After the T-7 and T-15 manufacturing experience, the techinque of assembly by electroplating was not applied any more. The low process speak, the large electric power requirement, and the poor dimensional tolerance overcame the advantage of a good, low-resistance bonding of the components.

Strands Soldered on a Central Copper Pipe

The OMEGA Conductor. The conductor for the OMEGA detector at CERN is a historical milestone in the development of forced flow superconductors (11). The development started in 1968, with a prototype consisting of a round-in-square copper pipe with eight multifilamentary strips located in longitudinal slots. The 40×40 mm assembly was fed into an outer copper pipe and compacted by drawing to the final size of 16×18 mm. Fig. 4(a). This first approach was abandoned because of the high cost, the fimited manufactoring length 140 mc, and the lack of transposition.

The final cross section is shown in Fig. 4(b). Manufactured in 1970 at BBC (Switzerland), the 18 × 18 mm conductor is a square copper pipe with residual resistance ratio (RRR) >250, sorrounded by two layers of wires (1.5 mm diant) cabled in opposite directions. In the first layer, 30 out of 36 wires are superconducting, with four NFT thick filaments (250 mm) in a low RRR copper matrix. The stronds are initially not twisted, but, as they are called on the copper pipe, no back rotation of the cage strander is allowed, so that the filaments in the strand have the same twist pitch as the cable (200 mm). The second layer, with protective function, contains 40 copper wires and is cabled in the opposite direction, with pitch 180 mm.

The cabled conductor was driven into a SnAg5 bath and pulled through a square die, with a die angle of 45, cooled at constant temperature to solidify the solder; see Fig. 5. Twelve sections, about 1 km each, were produced for a total of 24 tonnes (11.4 km). The soldering process for each section took about 35 h, at a speed of 0.45 m/min. The endine quality assocance anchoiced eddy currents and ultrasonies to check the quality of the solder impregnation.

The OMEGA's Brothers. The smallest brother of the OMEGA is a rectangular conductor developed in the only seventies



Figure 4. OMEGA conductor: (a. prototype deft) and (b) final subleted cable. Courtesy of ABB.

at ETL. Japan (7), consisting of a copper pipe with one layer of 52 wires (0.32 mm dram) cabled around and impregnated with SnAg solder. Half of the wires are multifilamentary NbTi strands, alternated to copper wires. In contrast with the OMEGA, the wires are cabled and soldered as a round conductor and later drawn down to the final rectangular size of 5×4 mm; see Fig. 5(a)

In the mid seventies, a conductor of identical size to the OMEGA (15 \times 18 mm) was manufactured at CERN for a large superconducting dipole (12). The copper pipe, with 10 mm bare, is round, and only one layer of NbTi multifilamentary strands and copper wires is cabled on it. The cable is encased between two copper profiles and bonded by SnAg soldering, see Fig. 6(h). The unit length (s up to 270 m, and the overall production (s more than 5 km.

In the late seventies, a hollow conductor [see Fig. 6(c)] was manufactured at VAC. Germany (13). A loose layer of 20 NbTr



Figure 5. Sublering of the OMEGA conductor courtesy of ABB+

multifilamentary strands and 10 copper wires were called and soldered in the same process around a square copper pipe. The solder is SnPh cutectic alloy, and the final size is 8.2 × 8.2 mm. A first conductor batch had to be replaced, as it did not withstand the tight bending radius lover 4% bending strain). About 600 m of conductor was used for the test famility SAPPO at ENEA (formerly CNEN), Italy,

A similar, bigger conductor (see Fig. 6(d)) was manufactured in 1981 at Europa Metalli. Italy (14). The SS NbT) straints (1.8 number description of the straint of the straints of the straint were first cabled on a round copper pipe and soldered by SnPb alloy. The conductor was then shaped approximately to a rounded square, 14.6×14.6 mm. About 9 km of conductor have been manufactured and wound into the initiar module of the SDUTAN test facility (Villigen, Switzerland).

Another little brother of the OMEGA[see Fig. 6(c)] has been manufactured at BBC in 1981, for a Sector Cyclatron, SuSe (15), in Munich, Germany. The rectangular copper pape has a tiny hole, $1 \neq 2$ mm. Two kinds of NhTb strands, with 0.7 mm diaraever and different Cur non-Cu ratios, were cabled around the copper pipe and soldered with SnAg alloy. The overall conductor size is 4.5 \times 5.5 mm. About 4.5 km of conductor has been would into the winding of the sector cyclotron, with a maximum beading radius of 68 mm (3.3% hending stram).

The Nb₁Sn Hollow Conductor at ETL, Japan. Apparently, the method of cathing and soldering the superconducting strands on a copper pipe does not apply to Nb₁Sn conductors, soldering must be carried out after best treatment, but a boot-treated strand council be cabled because of its brittleness. Agatsuma et al. (16) reported in 1978 an ingenious method to prepare a Nb₂Sn conductor soldered on a copper pape, according to the steps in Fig. 7 called the 'react, wind, and solder' method.

Initially, two round, holiow braids '12 and 24 strands) are made from thm, Sn plated Nb bronze composites (0.1 mm dium). The bollow braids are flattened to a ≈0.6 mm thick riblen, wound on a large-diameter holder, and heat treated to form the Nb,Sn composite. In a single process, two small and two large braids are driven, together with a SnAg solder full into bogitudinal slots on a rectangular ropper pipe. The conductor, wrapped with a polyimide film and a reinforring



Figure 6. Soldered, hollow conductors manufactured similarly to the OMEGA conductor See tear for details

steel tape, is wound into a coll with 75 mm minimum bending radius. After winding, the coll is heated in vacuum to melt the solder and bond the brands to the copper pipe, see Fig. 7.

If the conductor were a solid monolith during the winding process, the bending strain at the Nb₃Sn filamenta would be in excess of 3%, which would be fatat for the conductor (to avoid irreversable damage in Nb₃Sn. the bending strain should be he low $\pm 0.6\%$). However, as the braids have not yet been bonded to the copper pipe, the strainds can settle in the slots and the actual bending strain is much smaller. A length of 160 m conductor was used for the test coil, which was successfully tested, dominis strating the visbility of the process.

The strands in the braids are transposed, but not the four braids placed in the longitudinal stots. To obtain a high current conductor, a very large number of this strands must be braided. The conductor layout, with this braids placed on the perimeter of the pipe, does not allow a large operating current density. Since the successful demonstration, no further application of the process has been reported.

The Swiss LCT Conductor. The most complex conductor belonging to the OMEGA family is the Swiss LCT conductor, manufactured in 1981–1980 at BBC for the Swiss contribution to the Large Coll Task at Oak Ridge. Initially, two forced flow conductor layouts were developed, one being a two-stage cable in conduct and the other a multistage soldered cable around a enpper pipe (17). The reasons to prefer the second option were mostly the cost and the slowness of the first. Today, this choice may sound surprising and the same reasons would rather lead



Figure 7. Nb,Sn holinw constructor, with four braids soldered in the slots of the Co paper 16 according to the owner, wied, and addret process countersy of K. Agatsuna, ETL, Japano



Figure 8. The Swaw DCT conclustor Dimensions of nullimeters, (Courtesy of ABB.,

us to prefer the cable-in conduit option. However, in 1981 BBC had developed a broad knowhow on soldered conductors, and almost no industrial experience was available on welding of long lengths of steel conduct.

The cable loyout is summanized in Fig. 2. The first cable stage consists of 10 multifilamentary NbTi strands (0.46 mm diam) cabled around a copper wire and solder-inpregnated. To brint the acloses, the first cable stage is tightly wrapped with a 0.05 mm thick DuNi strip and soldered again to bond the wrap to the cable. To maintain full transposition, the second cable stage is made of six subcables around a thick copper care (2.25 mm diam). Eight second cable stages are eventually cabled with the tight patch of 150 mm around a maint copper pipe (7.5 \times 4.5 mm), wrapped with CuNi fail. The cable is compacted and shaped by rolls to a square of 18.5 \times 15.5 mm. Despite the large load required to compact the rigid, solder-impregnated compoments down to a local void fraction of 2000 meither damage nor performance degradation was observed in the compacted cable.

For the final solder filling of the multistage cable, a special CdZnAg alloy was selected (18), with superior mechanical properties to those of PhSn and SnAg alloys. As the melting point of the solder is about 350 C, the process speed had to be maintained in the range of 2 m/min to avoid degradation of the NbTi critical current density. Due to the high speed, the die needed to be specially laid out. To prevent solder conduction and for environmental reasons (Cd vapor), the process was carried out ander nutrogen atmosphere. The overall length produced for the Swass LCT conductor was ≈ 5.5 km, in units of 250 m.

The Swiss LCT conductor marked the end of a successful series of hollow conductors cabled and soldered around a copper pipe. As in the OMEGA and its brathers, a single-stage onlie was used, so the achievable correct density was low, because only one layer of strands could be placed on the outer permeter of the pipe. The option to use a multislage cable around the pipe was viable, but turner out to have drawbacks; the solder cross section climbed above 25%, and complex, high-resistivity barriers had to be included to avoid large coupling-current losses

Flat Cables Soldered to Copper Pipes. In Nb₃Sn react-andwind conductors, the serconducting strands must stay as close as possible to the neutral bending axis to avoid substantial strain-induced degradation during winding. This requirement, tagether with the wish to maintain the advantages of the copper pipes, drove in the eighthes the development of a number of flat cables assembled by soldering to copper pipes. The ECN (The Netherlands) and the SIN (later CRPP, Switzerland) carried out the conductor development and manufacture as part of the construction of the SULTAN test facility.

The smallest of this conductor subgroup is a NbTi-based flat cable soldered to the broad side of a rectangular, half-hard copper pipe to build a square conductor, $\theta \neq 2.8.4$ mm; see Fig. 9(a). The cable is made by 16 multifilamentary strands with 25 mm pitch and is not at the neutral bending axis, but this is not crucial for the ductile NbTi conductor: the bending strain in the winding is smaller than 1%. The soldering process was carried



Figure 9. Flat calles subjected to enprop pipes: (a) NoT: FON 4-T, 9.4 × 8.5 mm. (b) Nb₃Sn SIN 12 T. 21.5 × 6.4: (c) Nb₃Sn ECN 12 T, 26.2 × 7.0 mm. (d) Nb₃Sn SIN 9-T, 26.3 × 9.6 mm. (Courses) of the SULTAN group -

out at MCA. Massachusetts, in 1982 (19): A wave soldering device was not sufficient to fill the interstices satisfactorily and had to be modified by adding a restraining die, where the solder becomes solid, as in the OMEGA process. The solder ress section is less than 5%. Ten sections have been produced, each 500 m lung.

The Nh₂Sn react-and-wind conductor in Fig. 9(b) was manufactured at SIN (later CRPP) in 1985 (20). The flat cable is made of 2016 multifilamentary strands (0.125 mm diam) according to the external Sn milliod. The first cable stage (ant fully transposed) is composed of 7 strands (1 + 6). The second cable stage (also nontransposed) is composed of two layers of strands (6 + 12) cabled amount a copper cure. The last stage is a 970 m long flat cable (3 × 1.3.8 mm) of 16 subcables around a brenze strip. The flat cable is heat-treated on nn Incomel drum (7 layers) at a radius of 600 mm. This allows straightening the cable after heat treatment without irreversible damage of the Nb₂Sn filaments and bending it eventually to the minimum winding radius. \approx 300 mm, with the tolerable bending strain of \pm 0.283 m Nb₂Sn.

The other components to be attached to the flat cable are a copper pipe, a copper profile as stabilizer, and two stainless steel strips as a structural reinforcement. These four parts have been assembled with three brazing foils and brazed at 630 C for a total length of 930 m in a continuous process, all the rate of 0.3 m/min. The process could be stopped and restarted to replace the beating elements. The 200 m long sections of the copper pipe were preliminarily brazed to a full length, using a higher-melting alloy.

The brazed steel-copper composite and the brai-treated $Nb_{\rm s}{\rm Sn}$ cable were assembled in a combined continuous millingsoldering process. A slot is nulled in the copper strip, and the cable is carefully placed in the slot. Honding of the cable to the copper is achieved by a wave soldering device: the PbSn alloy fills up to 80% of the word area in the cable. The process speed is 0.5 m/min. Stop and restart was necessary every 70 m to replace the during tool. As the thickness of the heat-treated cable varied at the layer transition, the thickness of the slot had to be periodically adjusted. The 21.5 x 8.4 cm conductor was produced in a single length of 870 m and wound into a solenoid. The coll performance confirmed that, hesides the expected beading strain, no significant degradation occurred during the manufacturing process. The de-operated coil did not suffer from the lack of transposition in the cable.

For the Nb₃Sn conductor manufactured in 1986 at ECN (The Netherlands), see Fig. 9(c), some features have been simplified (21). The flat cable, 18.5×1.85 mm, is made of 36 multifilamentary strands (1) mm diam, provder-m-tube method), without realizations at the seven cable sections, about 140 m long, are whind as loose pancakes on sheet supports and heat-treated. The other conductor components (two steel strips, two copper pipes, and two copper strips, are all assembled to the heat-treated cable in one run by a wave soldering device. The steel strips were preliminarily electroplated with solder to case the bonding. The process speed was 1 m/min. Six out of seven conductor sections (total about 800 m) were wound as double pancakes with interpancake joints.

To complete the SULTAN test facility in the split-coil configuration, three additional conductor lengths were manufactored at SIN in 1988 and 1990; see Fig. 9.30. (22). The flat rable, 13.7 × 3.54 mm, is made of 98 multifilamentary strunds (0.65 mm diam, bronze method), cabled in two stages, $(1 + 6) \times$ 14, around a central bronze strip. After heat treatment, the components are assembled in a single run (See Fig. 10), as in the ECN conductor, by a wave soldering device, at the rate of 0.3 m/min. Two conductor lengths, 27.0×10.3 mm, each \times 800 m long, were wound into the two 9 T mills of the SUL-TAN facility. A third conductor section, 26.1×7.6 mm, 800 m long, with thinner steel strips, was used for the innermost, 12 T coils.

SHEATHED FLAT CABLES

The first astempts to place the active superconducting elements inside a hydraulic conduit date back to the late seventies. Besides the group of bandle conductors (see below), a small number of conductors have been developed by encasing a more or less rigid flat cable into a welded conduct.

The EU-LCT Conductor

Vacuumschmelze (Germany) manufactured the EU-LCT conductor in 1960–1961 (23) after three years of development (24). The design optimization effort (ac loss, stability, and structural aspects) led to a sophisticated conductor layout, requiring four continuous manufacturing processes to assemble the components at very tight tolerance. The single-stage, NbTi flat cable. (stainless stred-sheathed, 40 × 10 mm) is shown in Fig. 11.

Twenty-three NbTi rectangular composites, 2.35×3.1 mm, are cabled and soldered on a flat core, which has a central insulating full to avoid large interstrand coupling-current losses. The core is prepared starting from a NtTr 0.5 nm tlack strap, clad on one side with a 50 μ m thick CuNi layer to provide a base for soldering. A 4 μ m thick Sn coating is electroplated on the CuNi and of the strip. The strip is failed on a 50 μ m thick Kapton full to furn the rore of the cable. To onprove the strength, the folded strip is stretched, adding 69 cold work. The tolerance on the final size of the strip is (33.8 \pm 0.55) + (1.0 \pm 0.03) mm. Two foils of SuPblu solder, 50 μ m thick, are then attached to the strip by fusing at both edges. The rate of the process is 5 m/min.

A cage stranger with full back twist is used to wind the 23 composites edgewise on the flat strip, without adding torsion to the bending. A Roebel head at the cabling point bends the menposites accurately at the edge of the flat core, always maintaining the short side of the composite parallel to the flat core: see Fig. 11. Spacing wires rabled together with the superconducting composites keep the 0.6 mm space between the strunds. In the same process, the strands are bonded to the core by melting the solder foils. This is achieved by pressing hot metal blocks on the cable, the strand temperature is 200. to 210 C for about 10 s. The load is maintained till full solubily ration occurs. Afterwards, the NiCr spacing wires, coated with a refractory varmsh, are removed. The transposition pitch is long (400 mm); however, the interstrand coupling-current loss is small, as the strands are electrically in contact only through the thin solder layer. The speed of the calding-soldering process (See Fig. 12) at 1 m/min

The 0.5 num thick sheath is a folded strip of nitrogen-alloyed apstenitic steel (316LN). To create additional cooling channels and to limit the heat load to the superconductor during the welding, six steel spacers, 0.6 mm thick, are placed between the cable and the sheath, see Fig. 11. The six spacers are preliminarily attached to the 98 \times 0.8 com strip in a continuous



Figure 10. The milling-solvering bits for the final assembly of the NbySn reser-and-word conductur for SULTAN (courtesy of G. Posztor, CRPP).

process, by spot electron beam weiding, with minimum hour isad to the thin strip. To avoid excessive outgasing in the vacuom environment of the electron beam, the steel for the spacers is 316Ti (not nitrogen-alloyed).

The cable cheathing is the fourth and hist continuous process for the conductor assembly; see Fig. 12. Six shaping rallers fold the ribbed strip into a U where the cable is fitted, and another six rolls fold the strip around the cable. leaving a welding gap < 0.1 mm. A tungsten inert gas (TIG) pulsating torch carries out the closing weld. The strand temperature undermeath the weld increases to 260 C during \vec{n} s; the temperature rise does not affect the NbTi entitied current density. The tilt the electrode replacement, the process normed to be interrupted every 50 m. The welding parameters at the restart points are adjusted to guarantee a reliably tight weld transition.

The final tolerance on the conductor size is ±0.1 mm. The corner radius is 2 mm. The conductor has been produced in anits of about 500 m. for a total length of 7 km.

Nb₃Sn Sheathed Flat Cables

The flat cable geometry is attractive for the Nb_8Sn react-and-word method because the active, strain-sensitive superconductor can be placed, after the heat treatment, on the neutral bending axis, allowing the conductor to be wound into

a coil with minimum degradation. Several such developments were started in Europe and Japan in the eightnes, but only few led to significant manufacturing applications.

The three prototype contrictors, developed in the mid eightics for the initial phase of the Next European Torus (NET) project, were eventually manufactured only in ≈ 10 m sections. (25-27). The rectangular conductors include a heat-treated Nb,Sa flat cable, 4.0 to 6.6 mm thick. An insulating core in the enter of the rable to reduce the empling lass was shown and to by newspary (27), so the cable thickness could be reduced. The stabilizer, assembled either as a mixed matrix monolith in as it transposed cable, is subleted to both sides of the Hac othly. The canduit is assembled around the soldered conductor by welding four steel strips. The cotling channels are placed underneath the full-penetration weld assens: a strip folding process is not allowed, the ic the required conduit thickness (2.5 to 3.2 mm). Laser beam welding was needed to reduce the heat load to the soft soldered cable and to maintain the tight assembly Inference.

A Resear prototype react and wind conductor (28) has a layout similar to the NET prototypes, with four stainless stead strips welded to form the outer sheath. However, the belium channels are eight parallel copper pipes soldered to the central NuSin flat cable, and the weld scams do not need to be beliumtight.



Figure 11. The EU-LCT conductor courtesy of Variaumschmelze, Germany).

The ETL Wind-and-React Hat Conductor. As unusual example of a Nb₂Sn flat onble-in-conduit, wind and react conductor was developed in the early eightics at ETL, Japan (29). Two corcless flat cables, each made of 15 stabilized Nb₂Sn strands 1.4 mm in diameter, are separated by a CuNi strip to reduce the coupling loss (lack of transposition). Two thick copper strips are rolled to farm tabled, U-shaped profiles with large cooling channels for the beliam flow (the coolant is also allowed to flow in the interstices between cables and stabilizers). The cable sandwich is assembled with the copper stabilizer and wrapped with a punched CuNi tape: the components are not bonded together. The 0.75 mm thick outer copper sheath is welded in a tobe



Figure 12. The cabling sublecting troper (and the sheathing these () processes for the BC-LCT conductor (courtesy of Vacconsteheorize, Germany).



Figure 13. The 13 × 23 mm NhySn word-roard conductor developed at ETL copper-heatbest conductors, left and module: staudess-steel-sheatbed conductors, right (courtes) of K Agatsuma, ETL Jupan).

mill. The wrapped cable—stabilizer is pulled through the welded copper pipe and drawn down to the final dimension of 13×23 mm; see Fig. 13. After the die, the conductor passes through a high-frequency annealing furnace to soften the sheath. The production unit length (≈ 40 m) is limited by the size of the drawing heach

Eight conductor sections (total about 300 m) were insulated by glass tape, wound into a coll with 300 mm inner diameter (over 4% beading strain) and eventually heat-treated to form the Nb₃Sn.

The same manufacturing process was also applied for a stainless-steel-sheathed conductor (30). The selected steel was 316L, the wall thickness 0.6 mm. Wrinkling of the sheath was observed at the smallest winding radius. The properties of the longitudinal TiG welding seam were investigated before and after heat treatment (600 C, 50 h). A pancake coil was wound, heat-treated, and tested with eight other puncakes based on Cu-sheathed conductors. The busbars for the coil are manufactured with a thicker (1.5 mm) steel sheath; see Fig. 13

The TMC-FF Conductor at JAERI. The development of Nb₃Sn flat cable, react-and-wind conductors for toroidal field code started at JAERI in the early eightnes with a short prototype, called STEP-1 (31); see Fig. 14(a). A Nb layer was included at the outer surface of the strand as a thermal barrier, to delay the diffusion inside the strand of heat from friction at the strand surface. Eventually, the strand was drawn through a star-shaped die cutting four grooves in the Nb outer shell to allow heat exchange between coolant and stabilizer. The sheath was plunned to be a thin CuNi strip with an outer steel

reinforcement. However, the short prototype was jacketed in a steel U profile with a welded lid.

The actual toroidal model parenke was wound in 1991 with 90 m of monolithic flat cable manufactured by Hitachi Cable (32), see Fig. 14(b). The 4.5 num thick Nb₃Sn cable consists of 23 numstabilized strands soldered after heat treatment to a number of U-shaped copper profiles, to build a monolithic, rished assembly. To increase the loop resistance and lessen coupling current losses, a few opery spacers are interleaved between the stabilizer elements. It was planned to build the conduit by longitudinal welding of two hot-colled, 3 num thick steel profiles to obtain sharp nuter corners and improve the conductor's rigidity. However, this development was skipped, and the conduit for the 90 m model conductor was a 2 mm thick steel sheath, TIG-welded in a tube mill process.

The OPC-EX Conductor at JAERI. The Nb₅Sn conductor for the Demonstration Poloidal Coil (DPC-EX coil) was manufactured in 1988–89 at Mitsubishi Electric (33), see Fig. 15. Over 500 m of the 10.2 × 40.8 non-conductor have been produced in two sections and wound after heat treatment into two double panrakes. From the design point of view, the DPC-EX represents the transition between the generation of the flat hollow conductors and the emerging group of bundle conductors (rope-in-pipe or cable on conduct).

The 153 Cr ploted strends (0.61 mm diam) are cabled in three stages, $3 \times 3 \times 17$. The last cable stage has a steel strip core to out the interstrand caupling loss. The behinn word fraction in the cable space is in excess of 40%. At both sides of the cable, two standless steel squared pipes provide the main rooting channels. The behind in the cable space is quasistagnant.



Figure 14. React-and wind Nb₀Sn conductors developed at JAERI for toroids Meld only (a) STEP-1, and (b) TMC-PF (controls of JAERI, Nska)



Figure 15. React-and-wind poloidal NigSn conductors developed at JAERD of the DPC-EX, 10.2 × 40.8 gen; (b) the DPC-EI with the stee) shell machined reinfercement welded longitudinally around the thin conduit. (Courters of JAERI, Naka.)

every 0.3 m, the steel pipes have *narringhnles* (i) mm than its improve the heat exchange with the cable and to avoid a large pressure rise in case of quench. The outer sheath and the two pipes are made of a stainless steel GIK-1) specially developed (34) to maintain high strength and ductility at low temperature after the Nb₆Sn heat treatment at 700 C, 30 h. The conduit has constant thickness. 1.5 mm, and is assembled from two strips, folded and welded by two simultaneous TIG scame at the edge side, in a modified tube mill (the steel pipes underneath the scame allow achieving full penetration without damaging the strands).

CABLE-IN-CONDUIT CONDUCTORS

The development of cable-in-conduct conductors (CICCs) started slowly in the late seventies, with only few significant applications till the late eighties. However, as soon as the manufacturing methods had been measured by the industry, the CICCs became very popular, and today they dominate the restricted market for forced flow superconductors. The main design motivation for introducing the cable-in-conduit conductor is its large wetted perimeter, improving the heat exchange and stability for pulsed field applications. The initial development was simed at Nh₂Sn react-and-wind technology. In the method, as well as to the NhTi technology.

Investigations of the stability and ac loss performance of the CICCs stimulated a number of experiments with shortlength, small-size conductors manufactured on purpose. This was in contrast, with the former forced flow conductors, where the experiments were corried out only on full-size conductors, manufactured to wind a real magnet. The short conductors for small-scale experiments are ignored in this review, as they are mostly irrelevant for the issue of manufacturing methods.

Instead of a one-by-one description of each conductor, the manufacturing aspects are grouped into four categories, with russ-references that cannot always reflect the historical sequence.

Strand Coating

A coating of the strand surface may be applied to control the transverse resistance of the cable as well as the fraction and honding at the strand contact points. The choice of coatings is broad, ranging from the bare strand surface (no coating) to insulating varnish. The design criteria for ac loss and stability (interstrand current sharing) drive the selection of the strand evating; see also the article HYSTELESIS AND COUPLING LASSES IN S. PERCONDUCTIONS. The coating options for Nb₂Sn strands are restricted by the requirement of visthstanding the heat treatment.

The properties of metallic cautings for NbTi strands have been theroughly investigated for accelerator cables (not forced flow conductors). The coating methods include galvanic deposition of Nr. Cr, and Zu, as well as dipping in molten SaAg alloy (35, 36). For NhTi-based CICCs, copper oxide hus been used as a strand surface treatment in a SMES coil (37), and Criplating for a prototype SMES conductor (S8). The bare copper surface has been selected for the dc-operated pointidal coils of the Large Helical Device (39), as well as for a 100 kA conductor of a flux pump (40). Organic-varmah-insulated strands have been used for the CICC of the DPC-U coils (41). In the NhT: CICC for the 45 T hybrid magnet (42), the drawing lubricant is intentionally not removed from the strands to enhance the contact resistance. The bare copper surface, as well as the exidized copper surface, proved to be not satisfactory for polsed operation thecause of high interstrand coupling loss). Conductors with fully insulated strands showed severe instabilities due to their inability to redistribute the correct among the strands.

In Nb₃Sn-based CICCs, an antibonding couting is highly recommended to avoid intermetallic diffusion at the strand crossovers during heat treatment. If the strands bond together without possibility of sliding during the winding process treactand windt, the performance degradation due to the bending strain and the interstrand coupling lass may become unacceptably high. An example of noncoated Nb₃Sn in a CICC, with very high coopling-current lesses, is provided by the DPC-TJ coil (43).

A 5 μ m copper sulfide layer was originally specified, but eventually not applied, for the Westinghouse-LCT conductor (44). The antibonding properties of the copper solfide have also been assessed in the JA development for Nb₂Sn CICC (45). In the US-DPC conductorsome lubricant was accidentally used during the cabling, providing an oil fibri on the Creating (46). Based on this experience and on special aclass experiments (47), the bare Nb₂Sn strands of the CICC for the 45 T hybrid magnet were intentionally costed with Mobil 1 oil; during



Figure 10. Scheme of a concursions for plating line insurtney of ABDs.

the heat treatment the organic film partly vaporizes, leaving a blackened strand surface. The organic vapors may have a detrimental effect on the other conductor components during the heat treatment, and the loose carbonized particles may affect the flow dynamics in operation.

The Cr Electroplating. Today, the large majority of Nh₂Sn strands for CICCs are Cr-crated in a continuous electroplating process. The plating of wire with Cr is not a standard process, and a number of new plating lines have been set op, especially for Nb₂Sn strands. Because of the environmental issues associated with Cr directrolyte, the placing lines are mostly assembled at Cr plating companies rather than at companies for continuous galvanic coating of wires.

Compared to other galvanic processes (e.g., Cu. Sn. and Ni). Cr electroplating is much slower (and more expensive tox), at a current density of 50 A/dm², the growth rate of the Cr layer is in the range of 1 μ m/min. To obtain reasonable process speed and prevent the Cr plating from becoming bottleneck in strand production, several strands can be palled in parallel through the same galvanic bath, or the same strand ran make multuple passes through the bath. The process speed is obviously inversely proportional to the required thekness of the Cr layer. As the antiboding effect of the Cr plating is due to the sortage oxide, a thin coating (in the range of 2 μ m) is preferable, for cost reasons, to a thicker one. Typical process rates for a 2 μ m coating are in the range of 1 m/min for a single pass and can be substantially increased by multiple passes.

Prior to Criplating, the strand needs to be cleaned, usually by galvonic etching. This step may be either integrated in the Cri plating line (46) (see e.g., Fig. 16) or done separately, together with a surface passivation (49).

The authording properties of the Criptating are well established. However, the contact resistance at the strand emissivers than the interstrand coupling loss) and the worsening of the ropper RRR/due to grain boundary diffusion during the heat treatment() may vary over a broad range, depending on the proprietary electroplating process of the different vendors (50). A discussion of the role of the electrolyte composition is given in Ref. 51.

Strand Bundling

The way of bundling the strands in a CICC may have a crucial effect on the conductor's performance. For an even correct distribution under time-varying current operation, the path, and thus the self-inductance, of each strand in the bundle must be identical. This requirement may also be formulated as full transposition with respect to the perpendicular applied field Layered cooles of superconducting strands, for example 1 – 6

or 1 + 6 + 12 configurations, should be avoided. However, it is allowed to place a nonsuperconducting core at the center of a cable, as for example in the Swiss LCT cable (17), this option is satisfactory for transposition issues, but further investigations are required to assess the role of the central core ("segregated" copper) as a stabilizer for transient events. Among the coreless stranded bundles, the triplet is definitely the most stable geometry. With increasing number of strands (e.g., five or six there is a tendency for one strand to slip to the center, making an imperfect, non-fully-transposed, 1 + 4 or 1 - 5 cable.

To bundle together a reasonable number of superconducting works, and type stranding (multistage rabling) is necessary 'De preserve the transposition, the pitches of each cable stage must not be integer multiples. To avoid strand damage (45) and to redone the attensizabil coupling loss (52), the pitch direction must be the same in all the cable stages. The typical pitch lengths are in the range of 10 to 20 times the drameter of the cable stages. A sequence of tight pitches turns into a stiff cable with a large average angle of the strands to the conductor axis, leading to ineffective use of the cross section. On the other hand, a sequeace of loose pitches may lead to strand slippage doring the bundle compaction, with local transposition errors. The pitch of the last cable stage is crucial for coupling loss. In very large bundles, the subcables may be wrapped with a high-resistivity metal strip to cut the largest coupling-current loops (53). The wrap direction must be apposate to the pitch direction to avoid letsening and crinkling of the strip when cabling the next stage with back twist. The wrap may be spaced ind overlapping) to allow some realant mass exchange. The use of the subcable wraps to cut the interstrand coupling currents must be carefully watched in the design, as it may lead to a severe prinality in interstrand concent sharing and current redistribution.

The selection of the cable stage sequence, especially the number of elements in the last cable stage, is made according to the final cable shape—a rootangle, an annulus with central hale, a square bundle, or the like Table 1 (54-59; lists a number of foily transposed cable configurations for large bundles infore than 200 strands).

The natural void fraction of a strunded cable prior to compaction is larger than 50%. However, the typical void fraction required in the cable space is in the range of 30% to 45% (higher void fraction may affect the integrity of the strands and limit the stability or the hydraulic performance). Compaction of the strand bundle may be achieved either with a die at the rabiling point or with shaped rolls teither freely revolving or enginedriven). For large compaction loads, a die is not recommended, as abrasion may occur at the strand surface and large pulling loads may damage the cable. In large multistoge cables, progressive compaction is advisible at each cable stage for an even

Table 1.	Cable Pattern	for Selected	Large CICCa.
----------	---------------	--------------	--------------

Conductor	ker:	Strond	Controp	Calife Patreeo	Strapil Diam (mm.)	No of Strands	Void Fractura 134	Shape
WH-LCT	44	Nb.50	Cu84	3 8 3 4 3 / 4 / 6	 IF 7	4761	42.	Square
DPC-TJ	54	NbNa	Bare	5×3×3×3×6	Ç 67	4296	60	Rectaugle
LHD-OV	5.5	86P	Bare	3×3×3×3/8/6	0.49	466	36	Rectangle
US-DPC	46	SIOS9	Cr	S×3×5×5	IF 1H	225	43-36	Square
W7-X	56	N6T:	Bare	8×4×4×4	0.35	102	37	Roand
SMES ISTEC	:17	NhT:	CuO	3×3×3×3×3×9×4	0.62	972	36	Remangle
GEM	57	NbTy - Cu	Bare	3×3×3×8	П. Т Я	460	37	Ruand
ITER-MC2	53	Nh Sni – Ca	Cr	3 4 3 4 4 5 5 6	0.81	1080	17	Annalus
TTER-MICT	63	Nb So	Cr.	8 - 4 - 4 / 4 / 5	IF AT	11h2	47	Anentics
TIPC-P	55	NhT:	Insulated	8 - 3 - 8 / 9 × 8	11	4896	46	Remangle
45 T hybrid-A	59	ShSh = 0.6	00	$(1 + 6) \times 3 \times 5 \times 5$	IF 43	525		Romanghi

· Specified four eventually not applied

distribution of the voids and to avoid very high compressive loads at the outermost strands. The springback of the bandle after passing the comparting tool must be allowed for in set ting the size of the rolls or die. The cross-section reduction of the bandle is preferably done in one step. A thin, overtapped metal wrepping is sometimes applied after compaction to protect the bandle in the subsequent handling and manufacturing processes. A final calibration—shaping pass may be necessary if tight dimensional tolerance is required.

The hydraulic diameter of a strand bundle with $\pm 40\%$ void fraction is in the same range as the strand diameter. To reduce the pressure drop, whenever large mass flow rate is required in operation, parallel belium channels, with larger hydraulic diameter, may be attached to the strand bundle. In the DPC-EX, the extra channels are two perforated steel pipes assembled at both sides of the flat cable (33). In the US-DPC, the four-corner area between the central, wrapped bundle and the outer square conduct provides high-speed hebum channels (46).

A principal way to add a pressure-relieving belium channel is to cable the strand bundle as an annulus around a central hole. This also provides a sound, fully transposed layout for the tast cahir stage. The central hole can be obtained by preshaping the subbundles with railers (in the last but me cable stage) as wedges and fitting them together in the last cable stage (60). In this way, the subbundles form a valit and the central hole dnes not need a mechanical support. However, matching the preshaped subbundles correctly requires an accurate, contanuous adjustment of the back twist of the individual components. The cabling rate is very low, and only a limited compaction load can be applied after cabling. In the ITER conductors (53) [Fig. 17(d. c)], as well as in the prototype 200 kA SMES (61) [Fig. 17(b)], the QUELL conductor (62) (Fig. 17(c)), and the HT 7U (68) (Fig. 17(f)), the last cable stage is formed on a steel epiral that allows helium exchange between the central hole and the hundle. No preshaping is necessary in the subbundles of the FFER conductor, which are compacted against the spiral core, yielding a homogeneous filling of the annulus

The subbandles of the Polo conductor (64) are cabled around a solid steel pipe (See Fig. 18), which forms a separate, contral conduct for forced flow of two-phase belium at 0.12 MPa. The inner conduct is also wrapped with adhesive layers of Kapton and can be used in the quench detection system to halance the inductive voltage component. The annulur space contains atagnant supercritical belium pressurized at 0.4 MPa. The 13 sub-bundles of six NVFi strands around a CuNi core are spaced by an insulating wrap covering 70% of the surface. Notther instabulties nor ramp rate limitations have been observed in the perfectly transposed conductor, but the de performance was degraded by 30% (65).

Braided Bundles. A powered braiding machine, able to handle 29 strands at once, was built in 1969; see Fig. 19 (48). The 29-strand lattice braid was used as a first cable stage for a rectangular Nb₃Sn prototype CICC (67), with a total of 609 strands ($29 \times 3 \times 7$). Compared to a similar conductor with purely stranded cable configuration ($\times 3 \times 3 \times 73 \times 3 \times 3$) and identical overall word fraction, it is evident from Fig. 20 that the braid-based conductor has a more homogeneous distribution of voids. Mechanical tests (68) also indicate a higher transverse modulus for the braided bundle because of the interlocked structure (no line contacts among strands).

Instead of multiple stranding, an alternative way to hundle together the superconducting strands for a CICC is braiding. The hollow bracks in common use in electrical engineering (e.g., for high-frequency shields) consist of two interlocked multiple spirals with opposite pitch direction. Such hollow braids are transposed for perpendicular field, but are not suitable for a CICC, because the symmetry of the hollow geometry is destroyed during compaction and, in case of parallel time-varying field component, large voltage may be induced between the two opposite by running spirals. The flat broids proposed for superconducting accelerator dipoles are fully transposed for perpendicular and longitudical applied field, but do not fit, because of the large aspert ratio, into a practical CICC.

In *latticebroids*, similar to some type of alpine ropes, all the elements are interlocked in a bulk buadle. For selected layouts, the strand bundle is fully transposed for both transverse and longitudinal applied field (notice that strainled cables are never transposed for longitudinal applied field). Lottice briefs were proposed as an option for the WH-LCT conductor (66). The full transposition, high flexibility, and mechanical stability of the bundle, as well as the large wetted perimeter, made very attractive the idea of a lattice brand as the first cable stage for a CICC bundle. If all the strands are braided at once into a large bundle, the aspect ratio of the braided bundle can be designed starting from the layout of the braiding platform (See Fig. 19) without the need of final shaping as with stranded bundles. The enly drawback for practical application of the battice braids is



(e)

(d)

Figure 17. Examples of CICC with pressurereleving helium channels: (a) the NhSn US-DPC, 22.3 × 22.3 mm with central bester (converse) of MIT. (b) the NoTh 200 kA SMES. 55.1 mm them (courtesy of Bechtel): (c) the Nh₂Sn QUELL CICC, 19.4 mm them (courtesy of CRPP), (d) the Nh₃Sn ITER-CSMC, 51 × 61 mm/courtesy of ITER-CSMC, 63)



(1)

Figure 18. The Polo conductor, 22.5 × 22.5 mm, with double, separate cooling channels and insulated subbundle-courtesy of VAC).



Figure 19. The 20-strand lattice braid scheme of the braiding platform with the movements of the corriers (left) and operating braiding machine (right). Courtery of ABB.)

that such branching machines are not industrially available and must be specially built. The complexity (and the aust) of the braiding machine sharply increases with the number of elements to the branded at once. For this reason, the braid option was abandoned in the WH-LCT, after a few meters of 34-strand bundle had been manually braided.

Conduit Materials

The selection of the conduit material is distated by the mechanical requirement in operation, as well as by manufacturing issizes (weldability, industrial availability of strips or pipes, and compatibility with the heat treatment, if any .

Copper is seldom used as a conduit maternal because of its low strength. The ETL wind-and-react Nb₂Sn flut cable (see above) has a 0.75 mm thick. Cu welded sheath (29), manufactured in strenght, 40 m long sections by longitudinal welding. A 200 m long section of NbTi CICC with 0.20 strands was manufactured in a continuous tube mill process, using a 0.6 nm thick copper strip (69). Although the code wound with the copper-sheathed conductors were small tenner radius 0.15 m and 0.26 m respectively), in both cases the sheath cross section was not designed to withstand alone the houp load in operation.

Low-rathon-content, austerntic shed is the favorite material for CICC sheaths, because of its ductility, strength, broad availability in almost any shape, and low cost. Whenever higher strength is required, introgen-alloyed austerntic steels (e.g., AISI 316LN and AISI 3041.N) may be used. Some precautions must be taken using the nitrogen-alloyed steels with Nb₃Sn conductors, due to the possible reduction of the fracture toughness after heat treatment. A large effort has been carried out, mustly in Japan, to develop and select suitable stanless steels to prevent degradation of the mechanical properties after heat treatment (70–73).

Among the relevant Nb₃Sn-based CICCs with austenitic steel conduits, we recall the 45 T-A and B hybrid (74), the DPC-EX (33), the DPC TJ/54), the ENEA conductor (75), the ITER-



Figure 20. Cross sections of two probability of CICCs for NET, branded bundle, 29 + 3 > 7 (left) and stronded bundle, 3 + 3 + 3 > 3 > 7 (right), (Courtes) of ABB :



Figure 21. Use of Al alloys for CICU- (a) an MIT test conductor (courtesy of B. Montgomery, with Al primary conduit and on wound profiles; (b) the W7-X conductor, with reextruded AE0060 alloy trajectesy of EM-LMD; (c) the GEM conductor with steel primary ronduit and reextruded actor AI eledding. Countrys of N. Martwelsky, LLNL

TFMC (76), the HFTF (77), the FC 150 m cail (78), and the 12 TFMC paneoke (79)

Most of the NbTi-based CICCs, have an austenitic steel conduct, for example, the poloidal LHD coils (66), and the DPC-U (58), the EII-LCT+24), the Italian MHD (80), the Polo conductor (64), the 45 T-C hybrid (42), the JF-30 (81), the 200 kA SMES (61), and the HT-7U (63).

Aluminum-Based Conduit. An Al-alumthed CICC [nontransposed cable of $4 \ge 1 \pm 6 + 121 \ge 6 \pm 121$; NbT) strands' was manofactured in short lengths in 1977–1976 (82). The 0.9 mm thick Al round pipe, 12 mm diam, was en-wound with two matching Al extruded and anodized profiles: see Fig. 21 The test conductor was bent to small radius and used for stability experiments.

For the W7-X coil system, consisting of popplanar windings. with smull bending radius, a NbTi based CICC was proposed (58) with conduct made from a coextraded Al alloy; as extraded, the CICC is soft $\langle \sigma_{\rm v} \rangle \simeq 100$ MPa) and can be easily bent to small. radius. After aging at 130 to 150 C, which can be combined with the epoxy impregnation process, the Al 6060 alloy hard $eas(\sigma_s \approx 260)$ MPa at 4 K), providing the required mechanical stiffness to the winding (56). The square conduit -14.8×14.8 mm (See Fig. 21), is coextraded on the 10 mm diam cable, without any protective wrapping, in unit lengths of 600 m. To avoid degradation of the NbTi conductor performance, the temperature and speed of the coextrusion process must be carefully controlled: a decrease by 5.5% of the strand *t*, performance was observed for the W7-X conductor (64). The coextrusion of superconducting cables and pare Al is well developed for particle detector magnets. For W7-X, the process was first used to produce an internally cooled conductor.

A coordination method was also used for the GEM detector conductor (65). However, here the cable (See Table, 1) is prefermarily sheathed with a 1.5 mm thick 304L steel conduit and the thick pure Al clading has no belium containment function. The banding of Al to steel was proved to be effective for stability. With an overall size of 49.8 \times 58.5 mm (84.5 consisting of the pure Al cluding), the GEM conductor is the largest forced flow conductor manufactured in useful length; see Fig. 21

Incolog 908 Conduit. The use of a superality as a conduit material for CIUC was first considered for the Nh₂Sn WH-LCT conductor, due to the disappointing experience after heat treatment with the hitronic 40 (a steel with 0.337) natragen content). The R&D work (86) led eventually to the choice of JBK-75, a 30% N: alloy specially developed from the A-256 superulloy, us a sheath material.

The main drawback of the steel as conduct material for Nb₃Sn CICCs is its large roefficient of thermal expansion: from the heat ireatment down to the operating temperature, the differential contraction of steel and NitaSn causes a degradation of the superconducting properties, especially severe at high field. In the scope of the US-DPC coil R&D program, a new superalloy of the Incoloy group was developed as sheath material for Nb₃S0 CICCs, with coefficient of thermal expansion matching that of Nb₅Sn (57). Several lest programs have been enried out to compare the mechanical properties of Incoloy 908 and 316 LN steel (see, e.g., Ref. 66). However, the most impressive advantage in the use of Incolog 908 as a runduit material is the gain in the high-field performance of the Nb₃Sp (89). On the other hand, a big encern in the use of Incolay 998 is the passible accurrence of stress - accelerniedgrainboundary oridation (SAGBO) during the heat treatment, leading eventually to catustrophic failure of the material. Relaxation of the surface stress in the conduit by shot peening, as well as tight control of the oxygen content (below 1 ppm) in the heat treatment atmosphere, are the key measures to avoid SAGBO (90, 91).

The US-DPC conductor was sheathed with a 2.35 mm thick strip of Incolog 908. TIC-welded in a tube null (46). The first large-scale application of Incolog 908 as a conduct material for a Nb₀Sn CICC is ITER-CS model coll conductor (53). Several tens of terms of round-in-square tobing, as 6 m to 11 m long sections, have been monufactured by combined bat, bellow extrusion and cold drawing (92).

Pute titanium has been proposed as an olternative (necoefficient-of-thermal-expansion material for sheathing of Nb₀Sn-based CICCs. Its low-temperature mechanical properties after aging are reported in Ref. 93. The only important CICE with Ti conduct is the 166 m long QUELL conductor, with $3 \times 3 \times 4 \times 6$ Nb₀Sn strands and 1.2 mm thick pure To round pipe (62).

Jacketing Methods

The selection of the juckoring method depends to a large extent on the dimension and cross section of the jacket. A key issueaffecting the jacketing is the wall thickness. Conducts with ourstant wall thickness can be minificatived and assembled by a



Figure 22. Scheme of the tube mill method for CICC, courtesy of JAERI.

variety of methods, some of which are the cheapest. On the other hand, a conduit with variable wall thickness at the curners allows better packing of the conductor in the winding and offers superior mechanical performance.

The Tube Mill. The large majority of CICCs are jacketed by the tube mill method. The generic scheme of the process is shown in Fig. 22, from Ref. 54. The metal strip is formed by rolls around the cable in a large number of steps, see Fig. 23(a) for the WH-LGT conductor (94) Fig. 23(b) for the DPC-U (58), and Fig. 23(c) for the 45 T hybrid (59). The longitudinal TIG wold is usually done while the conduit is oversize, to limit the thermal load on the strand bundle confermenth the welding scam and to avoid contact between the weld bead and the bundle. However, it is also possible to fold the strip exactly to the final size and weld it without dismaging the superconductor, as for example in the DPC-EX (33) and the EU-LCT (24).

After farming and welding she round pipe to highly standardized industrial process), the conduit is compacted in a number of steps to suppress the gap between pipe and bundle, and to give the square or rectangular shape required for winding, see Yig 23 Typical conduit chargation during the compaction process, by colling and/or drawing, is op to 10%. It is erucial to control the cable elongation during the compaction at large cross section reduction and low void fraction, plastic axial deformation of the bundle may start, with fatal consequences for the stranded cable, which does not withstand glongation larger than 2% to 3% without permaisent damage. On the other hand, good mechanical engagement between cable and conduit during the final shaping steps is highly desirable, to restrain dangerious strand movements under the operating load

Starting from a metal strip, it is not possible to achieve sharp corners in the final, squared conductor. The typical range for the outer corner radius is 3 mm to 6 mm, depending on the wall thickness. The final cold work of the conduit (starting from the fully annealed strip) depends on the cross-section reduction, the conduct thickness, and the corner radius.

The thickness of the conduit (typically 1.5 mm to 2.5 mm) ranges from 0.8 mm (EU-LCT) up to 3.5 mm (LHD-OV). The take mill method is used to form conduit from a variety of metals, including copper, titansum, hisolog 908, and austenitic stepls of different composition. A list of selected CI-CCs sheathed by a tube mill is given in Table 2 (95). Some

Τд	ble	2. A	Selection	PLC IC	.Cs Jac	keted by	y the	Tube	MIII	Method
----	-----	------	-----------	--------	---------	----------	-------	------	------	--------

Conductor	R₊í	Outer Size Ummi	Wall Thickness Insta	Conduit Material
WHALCT	44	20.7 × 20.7	1.73	Superalloy-JBK-75
forc-of	54	17×22.5	1.0	Steel 316 L
LHD-OV	56	27.5×31.6	3.6	Steel 316 1.
L100-IV/4S	55	23.0×27.6	3.0	Steel
SMES200 ka	li 1	51 diam	1.25	Steel +-304 LN
SMES ISTEC	37	25.4 imes27.8	2.3	Steel 316 1.
US-DPC	46	22.3×22.3	2.45	Incolog 909
JF-33	83	35×35	2.0	Stud ??
HT-70	63	17.4×17.4	1.5	Steel
EU-LOT	23	10×40.0	0.6	Steel 316 LN
DPC EX	33	99.400	15	Steel IK1
HFTF	77	20.7×20.7	1.7	Steel Natronic 40
[TER—Nh.A] cosert	9.5	45.7 diata	2.0	Steel Mod. JN1
12 T TF panrake	79	16.7 × 18.3	1.0	Steel -416 L
DPC-U	58	29 × 35.5	2.0	Steel—JN1
45 T hybrid—A	59	16.2×13.7	1.65	Steel 316 L.N
45 T hybrid+0	69	15.9×13.9	2.0	Steel 316 LN





(C) -

Figure 23. The forming stops for the metal strip in a tube mill: (a) the WH-LCT (courtesy of P Sangert; (b) the 45 T hybrid (courtesy of J. Miller); (a) the DPC-U (courtesy of JAEH)

cross sections of CiCCs jacketed in tube mill are shown in Fig. 24.

Quality control of the weld (59) is obtained through tight monitoring of the process parameters. The presence of the strand hundle underneath the weld seam precludes a check by X rays or eddy currents after compacting and shaping. Stop and restart of the process (e.g., to replace the TIG electrode and the gas bottles) is common practice for the tide null method.

The Pullthrough Method. In the pullthrough method (see scheme in Fig. 25) the sheath is first manufactured as a straight, oversize conduit of the same length of the final couductor section. In a second step, the bundle, wrapped with a protective metal full is pulled through the oversize conduit Eventually, the conduct-cable assembly is compacted by rolling or drawing and coiled on a take up reel.

The pullthrough method can be applied to any conduit geometry, however, it is especially attractive for thick-walled conduct and conduct with nonconstant wall thickness (which cannot be welded in a tube mill). Compared to the tube mill, an advantage of the pullthrough method is that the welds of the conduit can be fully inspected (and repaired) before assembling the superconductor.

The straight, oversize conduit can be assembled by different methods, including longitudinal welding of strips or profibes. However, all the pullthrough applications to date have used the butt welding of extruded tubing sections (typical nonlength 6 m to 12 m). In one case (96), the 1 mm thick Incolog 908 pipe was first manufactured in a tube mill, then cut in 10 m sections, and eventually reassembled by butt welding at



Figure 24. Examples of CFCs packeted in a tabe mill, top left, the WIFLCT (94); top middle, the LHD IV (courtesy of MFS); bottom left, the DPC-U (courtesy of JAERI), becom middle, the JP-30 (courtesy of JAERI); right, the 45 T hybrid conductors (courtesy of NHMFL)

the jacketing site. The pullthrough method was first applied for short conductor length and prototype conductors (e.g., Refs. 30, 60). Table 3 reports the pullthrough jacketing applications with useful (>50 m) conductor length. Except for the ITER-CS conductor, the conduits quotest in Table 3 have constant wall thickness.

The bott welding of the thin-wall conduits ($\leq 2 \text{ mm}$) is done with a T1() single-pass orbital welder without filler. A second pass with filler was necessary for the 3 mm thick conduct of GEM (55). For the circle-in-square Incolog tubing of ITER-CS. a number of orbital passes with filler were carried out after the first root pass. Eventually, the corner area was filled manually. Special attention has to be paid to the weld protrusions (drops) inside the conduit: these can be nonitored either by an endoscope or by inserting a calibrated gauge. The quality assurance on the butt welds may include X rays, ultrasound, dye penetrant, and leak tightness.

The applicable pulling load, F_p , is limited by the yield strength of the cable (i.e., the threshold α_n where strand damage occurs) and by the strength of the conduit, which must



Figure 25. Scheme of a jacketing process according to the pullthrough method.

Conductor	Ref.	Outer Size	Wall Thickness (mm)	Largest Unit Length (m)	Conduit Material
ITER-CS	51	51 > 51	- Hi 16	200	Incidiny 908
ITER-dommy	96	39.5 dum	1	850	Inculay 908
FER TF	76	40.7 diam	1.6	160	Steel-316 LN
GEM ²	65	26.08 diam	3.05	75	Steel
ENEA-12T	75	13.6×13.6	1.3	260	Steel 316 I.N
)(HD—Italy	6D	16.3×16.3	2	34/1	Steel 316 LN

Table 3. Long CICCs Jacketed by the Pulithrough Method

· Without the outer Al cladding

"The same conductor is iteration and with sections up to 400 m long for KSTAR model coll.

react the pulling load at the insertion point (the is an issue only for thin-walled jackets). The pulling load per unit length has been found (96) to be a function of the electronic hetween the cable and the oversize conduct. The coefficient of fraction, v_i defined as the pulling load divided by the cable weight can also be monitored. There is broud agreement (54, 75, 76, 96) that the insertion clearance must be larger than 1.5 mm for fraction coefficients $v_i < 1$. However, according to the actual tolerance on the size of cable and conduct, a larger clearance may be necessary. The longer the conductor section to be jacketed, the more crucial becomes the issue of clearance. For short length, the risk of higher friction may be accepted. For long section jacketing, high initial friction may lead to an avalanche effect and the table may eventually get stock in the conduit (76).

After pullthrough, the conductor is compacted by colling or drawing to suppress the insertion charance. For conduits with nonconstant wall thickness, large cross-section reduction should be avoided to keep tight tolerance in the final conductor geometry. On the other hand, the compaction must achieve a positive engagement of cable and conduit to restrain strand movement in operation, which may result in dargerous instabilities.

The jacketing of long sections of CICC by the pullbringh method has been successfully domainstrated at VNHKP, Moscow, where a 1 km long jacketing line has been set up and operated (96). The maximum conductor length L_{min} that can in principle be jacketed by the juliffrough method can be assessed by imposing the constraint that the pulling lead at the head of the cable does not exceed the tensile cable strength where strend damage occurs, σ_d :

$$L_{max} \sim \frac{\alpha_{e}}{\gamma}$$

where μ is the density of the cable, typically in the range of 7 x 10⁴ kg/m³ to 8 × 10⁸ kg/m⁴. The range of σ_4 depends on the cuble pattern and strand properties. For the friction coefficient (), a safety margin must be considered. Assuming, conservatively, $\sigma_4 = 50$ MPa and $\beta \leq 1$, the maximum allowed length would be about 700 m.

Laser Beam Welding. CO; laser beam welding was proposed in 1986 (97) as an effective method to form thick coulout by longitudinal welding. The laser beam allows deep penetration and continuous joining with negligible deformation of thick-walled conduits in a single pass, without filler. Due to the small heat load on the underlying cable, laser welding can be applied to the final conductor size without the final compaction and shaping steps, which are mandatory in the pullthrough method and in must take mults to suppress the gaps between eable and welded conduit. Compared to the electron beam, also used for narrow welding of thick walls, the laser beam is most suitable for continuous processes, as it does not need a vacuum environment.

Conduit segments with variable wall thickness can be munufactured by hot rolling and cold drawing in sections up to about 20 m, built-welded and coiled to the required conductor length. Two longitudinal welds are respired to join the jucket segments, with the cable fed in between, as in the tube mill. This can be obtained either by two synchronized laser beams or by a single, optically split beam. For a process rate in the range of 2 m/min, the required heam gower is about 1 kW per millimeter of wall thickness. The penetration depth of the seam can be controlled in practice to 1 10% (mostly due to the plasma negallations in the weld). To guarantee foll penetration of the weld and avoid contact of the strand bundle with the laser beam, protection underneath the weld is mandatory: this can be either a wrap on the cable or a longiturinal strip or gap under she seam.

Longitudinal laser beam welding has been applied only to two conductors Polo (64) and the NET-ABB prototype conductors (48). The jacket of Polo is built from four quadrant profiles (see Fig. 18), preassonabled by laser welding into two U profiles and eventually welded by two synchronized beams on the wrapped cable. The weld seam is 1.5 mm thick. Four conductor sections, each 150 m long, have been produced. The actual webiing time for one section was less than 1 h, with several stops and restarts (97). Eddy currents were used to check the quality of the welds. Leaking spots were repaired by TIC welding.

In the NET-ABB prototype conductor (see Fig. 20) the weld seam is 3.9 runs thick. An air gap and a longitudinal steel strip underneath the weld protect the strand hundle from the contact with the hears. Quality assurance by ultrasound can be applied online in the process.

Despite the satisfactory employment and attractive features of laser beam welding (high rate, an deformation, imminum heat load for large penetration depth), no further application, of it has been reported for CICC jacketing in the last decade. The main massing are the investment cost for the laser device, which can be justified only for large series production, and the limited experience of industrial conductor suppliers with the laser welding technology (a similar situation to that for lattice braiding; see above.

The Coextrusion Method. Because of the need for temperature compatibility, only alumnium alloys (see above) can be used to jacket a CICC by the encertrusion method. For the W7-X (56), the square, coextraded conduit fulfils at nuce the functions of helium containment, structural support, and stabilization see Fig. 21. In the case of the GEM conductor (85), the pure Alcladding is coextraded on the steel jacketed conductor and has only the function of limiting the hot spot temperature in case of quench.

Double Conduit. To avoid the problem of assembling a thickwalled jacket, a *double conduit* has been used in a few cases. The additional conduct has no belium containment function, but its cross section adds to the main conduit from the structural point of view.

The secondary conduct may be inside the mann conduct, as in the US-DPC [see Fig. 17(a)], where a 1 mm thick Incolov 906 strip is formed in a tube mill and welded (not helium-tight) on the cound cable (46). The inner conduct stabilizes the shape of the cable, defines the void fraction, and protects the cable during the welding of the thicker, onter conduit. During the development of the Polo conductor (64) (Fig. 16), as inner conduit with punched holes was initially foreseen as a protection for the cable during the outer conduct welding (the inner conduit was later replaced by a double wrap).

An outer secondary conduit can be used to give a structural reinforcement and provide a better shape for winding. This possibility is of special interest when the primary conduit is made in a table null, with constant wall thickness and large corner radii. In the MIT test conductor (82), both primary and secondary conduits are aluminum (see Fig. 21): the two extruded U profiles are fitted to the round NhTi conductor without welding. In the DFC TJ (99) (see Fig. 15), the Nh-Sn conductor, jacketed in a table mill, puncake-wround, and heat treated, is eventually encased and spot welded into two steri U profiles (preformed armor). The thin-walled, sharp-cornered U profiles are manufartured by S-D milling a spiral into a thick steel plate, in order to fit the shape of the heat-treated pancake.

CHOICE OF MANUFACTURING METHODS

The conductor layout, and hence the manufacturing methods, are to large extent dictated by design considerations. However, the sost and the rebuiltly of the manufacturing process should also be taken into account in the selection of the conductor layout

Cable-in-conduct conductors are today more popular than soldered conductors, although many applications actually do not require the special features of the CICC. From the anarofactoring point of view, a soldered conductor (e.g., a layer of NhTi strans cabled and soldered on a square copper pipel is preferable and cheaper for how operating current and overall cross sections smaller than 60 mm². On the other hand, a CICC is more effective for high current and emiss sections larger than 100 mm².

For rahle-in-conduct conductors, a strand coating is mandatory whenever law ac loss is required, but may be omitted for de-operated conductors. The electroplated Cr costing is the only practical chance for Nb₆So strands. More options are available for NbTi strands, including but dupping in low-melting alloys and galvanic coating with Ni or Cr.

The requirement of transposition is applied currently to all the strand bundles for CICCs. However, nontransposed cables have been successfully operated in do mode. An attractive, costsaving option is to cable a layer of strands on a central copper core us the first cable stage, reducing the copper ratio in the strands and hence the overall mass of superconducting strand, and saving one cabling stage compared to the multiple-impliets pattern. Lattice braids have proved to be an elegant and effective method for strand bundling, but require the use of dedicated machinery.

The most popular conduct material for CICC is low-carbon stamless steel (introgen-alloyed, whenever required), readily available in any shape, casy to weld, and cheap. For Nb₁Sn conductors, the Incoloy 908, due to the matching mefficient of thermal expansion, offers a superior performance at high field and competing mechanical properties. The higher cost, the precautions to be taken at welding and heat treating, and the single-source supplier to some extent balance the advantages of the Incolog 968 over stainless steel.

The tube mill is a highly developed industrial process for pipe production. For CICCs with thin, constant-thickness conduits, the tube null is the cheapest, easiest jacketing method, with virtually nullmit on the conductor length. For thick-walled conduit, as well as for concenstant thickness, the tube mill and TIG welding can be replaced by laser beam longitudinal welding of preassentiled profiles. The pullthrough method, definitely preferable for prototypes and short-length jacketing because of the small investment and the low risk, has became unexpectedly popular also for long length and series production, where its competitiveness to questionable.

Three decades of forced flow superconductors show clearly a trend toward easy, low-technology manufacturing methods despite the surcessful demonstrations of sophisticated layouts and edvanced technology (e.g., EU-LCT and Polic Initially, the research institutes were the leaders in conductor development Today, many comparises can supply forced flow superconductors without the support of design and R&D activities from the lab community.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- H. H. Kohn, A closed hop cooling system for superconducting hobble chamber magnets, Proc. Int. Symp. Mog. 9, Yielmot. Stanford, CA, 1965, p. 611.
- M. Morpurgo, The design of the superconducting magnet for the "OMEGA" project, Part Acod., 1 (205), 1970.
- M. Morptaga, Construction of a superconducting test call as ded by Rehum Forced circulation. CERN Report 68-17, 1988.
- M. Marpurga, A superconducting solenoid cooled by furced circulation of supercentical heliant, CERN Report 69-25, 1969.
- C. Lesmond, J. C. Lottin, and S. Shimamoto, Experiment with hollow conductor superconducting magnet. Proc. Magn. Technol. Conf., Hamburg, 1970, Vol. 3, p. 925.
- G. Meyer and R. Maix, Superconductors and superconducting magriels, Brance Burger Rev. 57(7)(9) 355, 1970.
- Y. Nagamuran et al., The manufacture of hollow superconductors, Proc. ICEC, Nyrdo, 1974, Vol. 8, p. 598.
- V. N. Agureev et al., Electrophotod stabilized multiflammat superconductor. *IEEE Travs. Magn.*, 11: 303, 1975.
- D. P. Ivanuv et al., 'fest results of "tokanisk-7" superconducting magnet system (SMS) sections, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 15: 550, 1979.
- E. Yu. Khorenko et al., Superconducting conductor for T-15 toroidal magnet. Soc. At. Energy (Pagi: Transl.), 68, 758, 1997.
- 11. N. Schnetti, Superconductors for the magnet coils of the Omega

epark chemiser at CERN, Roma Rosser Rev. **59** (2,3): 73, 1972.

- M. Morpargo, A large sugerconducting dipole solied by forced carculation of two phase belium. *Crospensis*, 18: 411, 1979.
- 12 H. Hülmann, Pabrication technology of superconducting materials, nº S. Porec and B. B. Schwartz, rods., *Superconductor Maternal Science*, Ser. B68, New York: 1981, NATO Adv. Study 1681, 1981.
- 14 G. Pasatti et al., SULTAN: An AT, Urn have test facility, the outer solerood. IEEE Trans. Magn., 17, 2007, 1991.
- 15. C. Trinke et al., A protogue coil for the superconducting separated servor evolution SuSe, J. Phys., Cl. Suppl. 1, 45: 217, 1984.
- K. Agatsuma et al., Braided multifilamentary Nh₅Sn hollow super conductsu and its magnet, *JEEE Trans. Magn.*, 16 (187), 1979.
- 17 H. Benz et al., The conductor for the Swis-LCI coil, (KEE Grans Magn., 17 (2313), 1981.
- H. Benz et al., Design and manufacture of the conductor for the Swass LCT coil, IEEE Trans. Magn., 19, 711, 1960
- 19 W. M. P. Prackén et al., Manufasture of the holdow supercritical He cooled conductor for the EUN, SULTAN project. *IENE Trans.* Magn., 19 (163, 1980).
- B. Jakob and G. Pasztar, Fabrication of a high thereat Nb (Sn forced flow conductor for the 12 tests SDI.DAN test facility, IEEE Trans. Maga., 23 (914) 1987
- J. A. Roeterdink et al., Design and construction of the ECN 12 T michiam for magnet use in for the SULTAN facility. *IEEE Trans.* Magn., 24, 1429, 1998.
- 22. B. Jokob, G. Posgtor, and R.G. Schundler, Fabrication of high current Nh₃Sn Forced flow conductors and colls for the AUCTAN III test facility, *Fasion Technology* 1992, Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1993, p. 872
- H. Krouth et al., Macufasturing and testing of a forced flow cooled super-m-idestor for tokamak magnets, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 17, 915, 1981.
- H. Krauth et al., Development and testing of a forced flow cooled superconductor for LCT, Proc. Hit Symp. Eng. Prof. Forces Res., 1979, p. 1451
- B. Jakob et al., Design and fabrication of a 17 kA preprototype NigSn conductor for the TI coals of the NET faster, project *IKEE* Traces Magn., 24: 1437, 1988.
- J. M. Plintzi et al., Development topoidal neld conductor for NET, IEEE Trans. Maga., 24, 1405, 1988.
- K. Flüksger et al., The NugSn react and wind conductor for NET toroidat light coils and its boundaries. *Physica Technology* 1990, Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1991, p. 1564.
- V. A. Glukhikh, Programme of the conductor development for the ITER torontal field scale, Proc. Magin. Technol. Conf., Tsukaba, 1989, Vol. 11, p. 886.
- K. Agatwama et al., Fubrication and test of a forced couled Nb₁Sn superconducting coll, *IKEK Trans. Magn.*, 21: 1040, 1963.
- K. Agatantia et al., Strinkssisted sheather fore-dimensionly evolet Nb₃Sn superconductor and its coil test. *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 23: 1535, 1967.
- T. Atdo et al., -2.T test a solid-scale TMC-II for the dia-test ast gram. Proc. 10th Symp. Factor Eng., Philadelphia, 1983, p. 1346.
- 32 M. Sugmata et al., Development of hollow cooling monolithm conductor for ITER TF coll, JEEE Trace Mago. 28, 218, 1981.
- 33 T. Ando et al., Fabrication and test of the NE₅Sn demu poloidal coll (DPC-EX), *Physica Technology* 1990, Amsterdam, Elsevier, 1991, p. 243
- H. Nakejima et al., 'fensile properties of new cryogenic steels as conduit material for ferred flow superconductors at 4 K, Adv. Cryog. Eng. Mater. 84, 123, 1989.

- 35. M. D. Sumption et al., Contact resistance and cable lass measure ments of costed strands and cables wound from them. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 692, 1995.
- 36 J. M. Depund et al., Examination of contacts between strains by electrical measurement and copyringhical analysis, *IEEE Trans.* Appl. Supercond. 7, 793, 1997.
- 37 T. Satow et al., Prevent status of 480 MJ/40 MW SMES development project. Proc. Int. Conf. Electr. Eng., Matsue, Japan, 1997.
- K. Kwasnitzu, A. Sultan, and S. Al-Wakgel, AC losses of a 10 kA NhTreashe-averaging superconductor for SMES applies from Crysgensor, 36: 27, 1996.
- K. Takahata et al., Stubility tests of the NbTi table in conduct superconductor with bare strends for demonstration of the large holical device poleidal field code, *IEEE Traces, Maga.*, 30, 1705, 1894.
- G. Pasztor et al., Design labrication and testing of a 100 kA superconducting transformer for the SULTAN test facility, Proc. Magn. Technol. Conf., Beijing, 1997, Science Press, 1998, Vol. 15, p. 639.
- Y. Takahashi et al. Experimental results of stability and current sharing of NF(T) capterin-conduit conductors for the poloidal field coils. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 3 (10), 1993.
- J. E. C. Willours et al., The development of a NbTi rable-in-conduct coil for a 45 T hybrid inegnet, *IEEE Trans. Maga.*, 32, 1633, 1994.
- 43 K. Okono et al., Ac loss performance of 1 m here, inter-current No-Sn superconducting cuils in JAERI demo polnidal call project, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 3: 602, 1993.
- 44 U. J. Heyne et al., Westinghouse design of a force flow NbySr test coll for the large coll program. *Proc. Sth. Symp. Eng. ProN. Passon Res.*, Son Francisco, 1979, p. 1146.
- N. Aoki et al., Development of formed rooled Nb₃Sn bundle conductor, IEEE Trace. Mago., 19, 735, 1983.
- M. M. Startes et al., The US demonstration poloidal coil. *IEEE Trans. Magn.* 27: 2369, 1991.
- B. J. P. Buuduuv et al., AC loss measurements of the 45 T hybrid (CIC conductor, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supervised , 5 699, 1995)
- P. BOLADOR, Fabrication of a short length of wind and react conductor, ASEA Brown Boveri Rep. HIM 20420, Zarich. 1990.
- Y. Ipatuv et al., Galvanic thranic plating of copper wire for the ITER program. Proc. ICEC (ICMC 96, Kitakyoshu, Japan, Elsevier, 1996, 1969).
- P. Bruzzone, A. Nujhurs, and H. H. J. ten Eute. Effort of Ur plating on the coupling current loss in cable in-conduit conductors, *Proc ICEC, ICMC* 96, Katniyushu, Japan, Elsevier, 1996, p. 1243
- Y. Ipatov, P. Dolposheev, and V. Syunikov, Prospective horrier scalings for superconducting cables, *Supercond. Sci. Technol.*, 10, 507, 1997.
- 52 K. Kwa-mitas and I. Horvath, Experimental evidence for an interaction effect in the coupling losses of cabled superconductors, *Croopenics*, 23, 9, 1983.
- P. Bituzzane et al., Conductor februation for the PTER model colls, *IERE Trans. Magn.*, **52**, 2309, 1996.
- N. Auki et al., Fabrication of superconductor for the DPC-TJ cod. Cryogeometry, 33, 581, 1993.
- 55 K. Nakameto et al., Design and inbrication of forced-flow superconducting puloidal only for the Large Helical Device, *Factors Technol*ogy 1994, Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1995, p. 909.
- R. Heller, Superconductor for the calls of the modular stellerator Wendelstein 7 N. IEEE, Thous. Magn., 30, 2383, 1994.
- 57. J. V. Monesson et al., Conductor design for the GEM detector magnet, Proc. HSSC, Sun Francisco, 1993, Vol. 5, p. 595
- 58. 5. Summe et al., Development of superconductors for the DEMO pointed code (DPC-UL, C2), Proc. Magn. Trobnot. Conf., Prokaha, 1989, Vol. II, p. 841

240 HTS FILM GROWTH

- J. R. Miller et al., Experience no shearing 10 km of cable in conduit conductor for the NIIMFL hybrid, Adv. Crysg. Eng. Mater. 41 449, 1996
- 60 D. Besaette et al., Fabrication and test results of the 40 kA CEA conductors for NET/ITER. Fusion Technology 1992, Amsterdam Elsever, 1993, p. 789.
- L. Welker et al., Design of a 200 kA conductor for superconducting magnetic energy storage (SMES), Adv. Copup. Eng., 35, 573, 1990.
- 62 A. Anghel et nl., The ITER quench experiment on long length at the SULTAN facility, Fusion Technology 1994 Amsterdam Elseven 1995, p. 981.
- B. Z. Li et al., Conductor fabrication for the HTP7U model coil, Fusion Tachnology 1998, Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1998, p. 775.
- S. Forster, U. Jeske, and A. Nyilas, Fabrication of a 15 kA NbTi cable for the 150 T/s high complexite poly model coil, *Fusicin Technology* 1988, Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1988, p. 1957.
- R. Heller et al., Stability of a poluidul field coil under rapidly changing magnetic field, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 32: 2306, 1996.
- 66 M. A. Jaansko, Lattice Insulial superronductors, IEEE Trans. Magn., 15: 797, 1979.
- P. Bruzzone. Fully transposed bracks for the prototype cable-an conduct conductors of NET, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 28, 190, 1992.
- 69. P. Bruggime, N. Mitcheill, and J. Kübber, Mechanical telbalour under transversul load of the 40 kA Nb₃Sn coble-in-conduct conductor for the NET inner poloadal cosl. Proc. Magn. Technol. Conf., Tsukuba, 1989, Vol. 11, p. 926.
- C. R. Walters et al., Queueb transients in internally coded conductors, ISBE Trans. Magn., 19, 640, 1943.
- 70 M. Shimada and S. Torie. Effect of modulum on cryogenic mechanical properties of aged stainless steel, Adv. Cryog. Eng., 34: 131, 1986.
- 71 J. Köbler, H. J. Schunder, and W. J. Musser, Influence of aging on the fracture touganess of cryagenic sustenitic materials, evaluated by a sample method. Adv. Cryag. Eng. Mater., 38: 191, 1992.
- 72 R. P. Reed, R. P. Walsh, and C. N. McCowan, Effect of Nb₃Sr. hent treatment on the strength and roughness of 316 LN alloys with different carbon centeric. *Adv. Cryog. Eng. Matrice*, **28**, 45, 1992.
- H. Nakajima et al., Development of high strength sustenitie stamless steel for ronduit of Nb₅Al conductors, Adv. Group, Eng., 42: 323, 1990.
- 74 R. P. Walsh, L. T. Summers, and J. R. Miller. The 4-K tensile and fracture coughness properties of a modified 3161.N conduit alloy. *Proc. ICEC/ICMC36*, Kitasy asive, Japan, Elsevier, 1996, p. 1891.
- 75 R. Bruzzese et al., The cable-in-conduit, Nb₂S0 conductor for the EDRATOM ENRA 12 T wind and react magnet, *IEEE Trans. Appl.* Supercond., 3, 515, 1993.
- A. della Uorte et al., Successful completion of the conductor menufacture for the ITER TF model coil, *Fasion Technology 1898*, Ameterdam Elsevier, 1948, p. 941.
- M. M. Olmsteud and M. O. Hoenig, Constructing, fabricating and forming of internally cooled tabled superconductors, *IEEE Trans. Mags.*, 17: 922, 1991.
- M. Nishi et al., A 12 T forced flow type superconducting magnet. <u>IEEE Prims Magn.</u>, 23: 1541, 1987.
- M. Yamaguchi et al., Development of a 12 T forced evolving formed of field and, Proc. JCEC, 10, 109, 1984.
- F. Negerer et al., First results of the lithua mutantal program on superconducting MHD magnets technology, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 30 (2086), 1994.
- Y. Takubashi et al., Development of a 30 kA cable in-conduct cunductor for pulsed poloidal coils, *IEEE Trans. Maga.*, 19: 346, 1943.
- M. O. Buenig, A. G. Muntgomery, and S. J. Waldman. Experimental evaluation of a 1 m scale D-shaped test roll fabricated from a 23 m

length of internally coded, sabled superconductor, Adv. Cryag, Eng., 25: 251, 1979.

- Machharked.scodie über einen Sugraleiter für Wendelstein VII-X, ABB Rep. HIM 20442, 1989.
- H. Kranhardt, O. Darmitchi, and J. Sapper, Design and manufacture of a Wendelstein 7-X demonstration and Pasica Technology 1999, Amsterdam Elsevier, 1998, p. 795
- 85 N. N. Murtuvetsky et al., GEM detector conductor monufacturing experience, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 5, 761, 1895.
- A6. R. F. Guld et al. Evaluation of conductor sheath alloys for a forced flow NisSo superconducting magnet coil for the large coil program, *Adv. Cryog. Soc. Mater.* 28, 750, 1982.
- I. S. Hwang et al., Mechanical properties of Incolov 908 an update, Adv. Cryps. Eng. Mater., 38: 1, 1992.
- A9 A Brassha, R. L. Tohler, and J. B. Berger, Superconductor conducts: Patigoe crack growth cate and near threshold behavior of three alloys. Adv. Cryop. Eng. Mater., 38: 167, 1992.
- W. Specking, J. L. Duchatenu, and P. Deenol. First results of strain effects on entited current of Incolny jacketed Nb₁So CICC's, Proc. Maga. Technol. Conf., Beying, 1997. Science Press, 1998. Vol. 15, p. 1216.
- J. S. Smith, J. H. Weber, and H. W. Sizek, Control of Areasaccelerated oxygen assisted cracking of locality alloy 968 about for No.So coble-co-conduct. Adv. Cryp. Edg., 42: 407, 1995.
- OL N. Mitchell et al., Avoidance of SAGBO in Incolog^B 908 used as a jacket maternal for Nb₃Sn conductors, Proc. Magn. Technol. Conf., Beijang, 1997, Science Press, 1998, Vol. 16, p. 1163.
- J. H. Wrber and J. M. Paolo, Production and properties of Incolog^R alloy 908 taking for sheathing of NisySu superconducting cables, *Adv. Cryog. Soc.* 42: 583, 1996.
- H. Nakajamu et al., 4 K mechanical properties of pure internation for the jacket of Nb₂Sn superconductors, *Proc. ICEC/ICMC 36*, K₂takyoshu, Japan, Elsevier, 1996, p. 1895
- P. Sanger et al., The trials and tribulations of fabricating the pipe for the "mpe in pipe" NuMn superconductor. Adv. Cryag. Eng. 28: 751, 1982.
- N. Konzumo et al., Steagn of the Nb₂Al unsert to be tested in ITER central solenoid model coil, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, **52**: 2236, 1996.
- 96 V Sytnikuv et al., RF jacketing line for munufacturing ITER cable in-conduction ductor, Proc. ICEC/ICMU'96, Kitakvushu, Japan, El sevier, 1998, p. 799
- S. Parster et al., Development of compensate for periodal field code within the KPK Pole project, Fusion Techanlogy 1990, Amsterdam Elsevier, 1991, p. 1706
- R. Garré et al., Development and manufacture of superconducting cable in-conduct ronductors. Cryogenees, 84 (Suppl.), 619, 1894.
- 99 M. Nishi et al., Development of high current density, large superconducting out for fusion machines. The DPC-TJ program, *Cron*genica, 26: 573, 1993.

PERLICUI BRUZZONE Evolte de Recherchos en Physique des Plasmas

HTS FILM GROWTH

Thin films of superconductors are primarily of interest for electronics applications. High performance superconducting thin films are essential, for example, for high-frequency possive devices and Josephson junction circuits. Thin films are also important for fundamental studies of superconducting materials,

		Thin Film	
Material	$T_{e}(\mathbf{K})$	Deposition Technique	Applications
YiR-Ba€uO 123	85 95	In situ: sputtering, PLD, evaporation. MUCVD, ex satu	RF devices, Josephson june Junes
BiSeCaCuO 2201, 2212, 2223	10-115	trianto apothering, PLD, evaporation	մաշրիշտ լսուտո
T:BaCnCnO 1201, 1212–5223, 2201, 2212–2223	20 125	1312. In situ spatterine: ex situ	RF drvices
HgBaCaCuO 1201, 1212, 7223	95-133	Ex situ	
LaSrt BelCoO	20-40	lo a n.	
NdCeCuO	20-30	In atc	

Table 1. HTS Materials Systems, Methods Used to Fabricate Thin Films, and Applications of the Thin Films.

where specially designed experiments can toke advantage of the thin layer geometry and the capability of layering various combinations of materials, as well as hthographically defining fine features or them. Additionally, there is currently growing interest in using thin film deposition technology for deposition of thick films on polycrystalline substrates for power applications.

In the decade since the discovery of high-temperature superconductivity (HTS) in suprate compareds, thin film materials have played an important role in the evolution of this field. The discovery of HTS has led to a rapid development of many different thin film deposition techniques. HTS than films are now routinely mide in hundreds of laboratories around the world, and thin film research is actively pursued in areas such as new superconducting materials and epitaxial oxide heterostructures. More recently, advances in deposition processes have brought about the synthesis of larger area HTS films, making fabrication less expensive and allowing for high throughput manufacturing of single-superent ducting-layer films.

In this article, we review the physical vapor deposition (PVD) techniques must frequently used for HTS thin film synthesis. Chemical vapor deposition techniques are reviewed in another article of this ancyclopedia. Here, we review only the methods and issues that are relevant for film deposition. This does not cover the details of the film growth processes, nor the physical properties of HTS films and their applications. The reader is referred to other references for a more complete discussion of HTS thin films and their applications (1,2).

MATERIALS

The HTS material of choice for apphrations is still $YBa_2Co_2O_3$ (YBCO), the first coprate discovered to superconduct above 77 K. There are several compelling reasons why this material is still the most suitable for many of the applications. Some of the fundamental ones are its smaller conduction anisatropy, higher superconducting critical currents in a magnetic field, and greater chemical stability than in other HTS compounds. However, the most important mason is the case of followeating high-quality, single-phase YBCO thin films.

In this review, YBCO will be considered the canasical high-*T*, superconductor, and the discussion will be limited to this example, partly for reasons of conciseness and partly because of the prominence of this compound in the BTS community. Additionally, unless otherwise mentioned, one is generally considering growth of c-axis-amented films, i.e. where the CuO_y layers are parallel to the substrate.

Table 1 reviews the HTS compounds and methods used to date to prepare these thin films. For a review of materials, we refer the reader to Refs. 2 and 3. There has been a substantial effort related to Bi-Sr-Ca-Cu-O thin films (2212 and 2223 phases) by a variety of techniques, particularly in Jupan. Some industrial work in the US has focused also on Tl-Ba-Ca-Cu-O (mostly 2212), primarily for passive electronics applications. One of the obvious reasons for looking at these other compounds is their higher critical temperatures. Nevertheless, the advantages of YBCO have been hard to surpass, particularly at temperatures below 65 K. Substantial thin-film work has also been devoted to La-Sr-Cu-O, Nd-Ce-Cu-O, Hg. Ba. Ca. Cu. O, and infinite-layer compounds, mostly driven by academic interest in basic properties of these BTS materials.

THERMODYNAMIC ISSUES

Film growth is inherently a nonequilibrium process. Nevertheless, thermodynamic stability is important as a driving force for the reactions taking place during growth. HTS compounds passes large unit cells which can have additional complications, such as a wealth of netal-atom deficits and oxygen nonstoichiometries. These complex structures require temperatures for formation close to their melting points, typically (i) 8– $0.9:T_m$ funch higher than is usual for growth of epitexial metals and semiconductors. The intricacies of film growth and the thermodynamics of phases produced are certainly not sufficiently well understood at present. Below, we summarize some of the key thermodynamic issues as they are currently accepted.

Oxygen Stability

HTS compounds are oxides and, as such, require the presence of oxygen during synthesis. Although it is technically possible to deliver oxygen through the substrate, in practace, oxygen is delivered as a gax impinging on the growth surface togetker with the cation species. Figure 1 shows the pressuretemperature thermodynamic stability diagram for the bulk YHCO compound. One can see from the diagram that a certain



Figure 1. Thermodynamic stability diagram for YHCO in experi pressure and temperature. The shocked elliptical areas indicate regimes where in situ-liftingrow()) for YBCO has been expected successful. The rectangles show as situ-film growth regimes.

maximum pressure must be maintained for the stability of YBCO. Below that oxygen pressure, depicted by the line ta heled d_{11} the YBCO compound is not stable and will decompose. For the typical temperatures during film formation, this translates into a minimum oxygen pressure of almut 100 mPa (I mintry) At higher axygen pressures, there is another decomposition line for YBCO, labeled dy, usually not reached during in situ growth of thin films. During couldown of films to room temperature, this second decomposition is usually not observed because it is strongly limited by diffusion kinches. However, the stability diagram also implies that the YBCO compound is metastable at room temperature and pressore. In fact, most HTS compounds are believed not to be their modynamically stable at lower temperatures. References 4 and 5 have a more detailed discussion of the YBCO stability lines. Hammond and Bormann (6) argued that growth of thin films is optimal closeto the high-temperature thermodynamic decomposition line of the compound. In fact, the empirical data confirm this, as can be seen also in Fig. 1, where successful film growth regions are denoted. For processes that possess a more reactive form of oxygen, such as atomac oxygen or azone, the equivalent documposi tion line is shifted compared with that in Fig. 1. Such activated axygen species have been proven helpful for growth of YBCO when the total pressure is lower than about 1 Pa (10 miarr)

Compositional Phase Diagram

The HTS compounds contain typically three to five different metal species in addition to oxygen. Some of these materials are line compounds (and this is presumed to be the case for YBCO) and, as such, do not accept a solid solution of atoms in their chemical formula. This means that one will always be synthesizing a normher of phases in addition to the desired HTS



Figure 2. Thermodynamic ternary phase dispram for Y-Ba-Uu oxides at white occurs below 850 C and saygen pressures below one atmosphere

material. For YBCO, the Gibbs phase rule implies two other compounds as importly phases. Figure 2 shows the present understanding of the ternary phase diagram for Y. Bu. Cu exides at the low axygen pressures relevant for in situ thin film growth (7,5). The corners of the triangles define the phases which will be present for any composition in that triangle.

There are some caveats to the description given above, thirst of all, as already stated, film growth is not an equilibrium process, and therefore metastable phases could be formed during synthesis. Secondly, the HTS material that is formed during film growth may not be, and probably is not, exactly like the bulk materia). This has now here well documented on the hereture for YBCO films. In fact, it is also fairly well established that VBCO film growth does not match exactly the thermodynamic phase diagram shown in Fig. 2. In particular, the Y₂BaCuOphase has not been observed in in situ grown films. On the other hand, CuO and Y₂O₃ second phases are community powered in YBCO films prepared close to 1:2.3 stoichiometry and are not predicted by the phase diagram.

EPITAXY

Due to the aignificant anisotropy of the HTS materials, the easy direction for electrical current flow is in the rob plane, along the Cu+O₂ plages. For devices which require current to flow parallel to the substrate, the growth direction of the HTS films has to be in the classis direction. In order to achieve c-axis-oriented growth, good epitaxial growth of all grams is necessary. Furthermore, a high-angle, in-plane grain boundary of two c-axisoriented grains has been found to behave as a superconducting weak bok. This implies that one needs to align all grains in the plane of the substrate as well as out of the plane. The requirements of in-plane epituary are very well illustrated in the case of yttria-stabilized zirconia (YSZ) substrates where the YBCO films grow in the c direction, but the c axis grains can have two major different eriontations in the a5 place, 45, apart (15), 16, the case of applications which require the current flow to be perpendicular to the substrate, quaxis growth has been implemented. Many multilayer Josephson devices have been tried in this way, a-axis growth is typically initiated with a lower substrate temperature, which in turn reduces the mobility of ions

Table 2. Substrates and Buffer Layer for HTS thin Films

Substrate	Orientetion	Buffet Loyer
SPTIO:	(100)	
		CeD,
المصار	.100>	CeO,
	panadocaha	DIIDA:
Mg0	(100)	D064
		SrTiO.
YSZ	- 1007	C90,
		Y_O,
ALO,	11021	$C_{10}O_{2}$
-	=	MgO
Si	1005	YSUY D
		YSZ/CeO.

necessary for the c-axis growth. Due to the lower growth temperature, films are formed which are structurally less perfect. To overcome this problem, many workers have used a technique of starting growth at a lower temperature for o-axis nucleation, making a template, and then raising the temperature for the remainder of film deposition (16).

Substrates

The most frequently used substrate for fundamental research is SrTiO, because of its good thermal and lattice constant match with most HTS materials. However, high dielectric lass, small wafer size, and high cost of SrTiO, render it unfavorable for technological applications. LaAlO₅ has emerged as an alternative to SrTiO_a as a low-loss perovskite substrate, although its entical dielectric properties are not under complete control. MgO substrates, on the other hand, have an even lower loss for microwave applications. However, the reproducibility of the MgO surface quality has been a problem in the earlier days. but more recently, the surface quality has improved. For applications where very law loss is required. MgO is the hest HTS substrate at present. MgO and LaAlO₀ are commercially available in wafer sizes larger than 5 cm (2 in). More conventional substrates such as Si and sapphine have been used and found to be incompatible with thick HTS thin films, mainly due to nucrecracking in the HTS films resulting from the thermal expansion mismatch between the substrates and the HTS materials. The maximum thickness of YBCO one can grow without significant menoracking is about 50 mm on St and about 500 nm on sapphine. Table 2 shows a list of substrates most commonly used. today for growth of EFTS films. References 17 and 18 have a more extensive discussion of HTS compatible substrates and buffer layers.

In most cases, excellent epitaxial alignment can be achieved by depositing oxide buffer layers, such as CeO_2 , before HTS growth. The CeO_2 buffer layer has been found to suppress the unwanted a axis nucleation for the *c*-axis growth on substrates such as $SrTiO_2$ and $LaAlO_2$. On substrates such as YSZ and rplane supplying the CeO_2 buffer layer promotes in-plane abgnment of each *c*-axis grain, thereby eliminating potential lighangle grain boundaries. In fact, by using an appropriate buffer layer and a seed layer, one can create a process to produce 45 -angle grain boundaries in a controlled fashion. On Scisubstrates, the YSZ buffer layer was found to grow epitaxially and to be very effective on preventing chemical reaction between HTS materials and Si

Ion-Beam-Assisted Deposition

Recently, a new technique, ion-beam-assisted deposition (IBAD), has been implemented to grow HTS layers on polycrystalline substrates. By boobarding the growing film surface with an ion beam incident at a specific angle to the substrate, one is able to achieve partial in-plane crystalline alignment of the deposited material where the substrate has none. Itjima et al. (19) first utilized this technique to grow in-plane textured zirconia buffer layers on substrates made of polycrystalline Nihased alloys, YBCO was then deposited by PLD. Due to the absence of high-angle grain boundaries in YBCO, the critical currents attained are much higher than without the (BAD process. Other groups, including the one at Los Alamos National Laboratory, has followed on this work and achieved critical corrents over 10⁴ A/em² at 77 K (20). More recently a group at Stanford University has demonstrated very good IBAD results with 10 nm thick MgO films (21). While more development is needed to establish whether the IBAD process is a viable one for large-scale applications, it certainly opens up a whole new range of substrate materials for HTS film growth.

FILM GROWTH METHODS

Most of the methods currently employed for fabrication of HTS thin films involve formation of the cuprate crystal structure during film deposition. These are usually called in situ processes, and they will comprise must cases covered in this review. Chemical vapor deposition processes, which are also in situ growth, are covered in another chapter of this volume. Historycally, the processes that were developed first, required a justdeposition anneal, or simply postanneal, in order to crystallize the material. Such methods are now less frequently utilized, since they are not well anited for fabrication of multilayer structures and are thus technologically more limiting. However, they are still used for compounds such as TIBaCaCuO or HgBaCaCuO, where the in situ processes are often not practical due to the required high vapor pressures of Hg and TI. Finally, there are other processes such as sol-gel, plasma spray deposition, and bquid phase opitaxy that are generally used for fabrication of thick films (thicker than 1 am); these also will not be covered in this brief review.

Postanneal Growth Methods

In the post-anneal, or existu, growth process, the metallic elements are deposited on a substrate in the correct compontion as an anosphore or multilayer film, usually in compound form with oxygen and possibly fluorine. Subsequent annealing in air or oxygen at a high temperature, spically \geq 850° C for YBCO, forms an epitaxial film of the desired HTS phase (9). A very commonly used posterineal method for growth of YBCO films is achieved by using BaF) in the precursor film. Water is then required in the annealing step in order to eliminate the fluorine and stars the HTS growth process. Since the critical growth step takes place separately from deposition, the actual technique used to deposit the layers is of secondary importance. Sputtering and evaporation are typically used.

Ex situ methods have mitially focused on synthesis under atmospheric axygen pressure and correspondingly high temperatures. This region of phase space is depicted in Fig. 1 with the rectangle in the upper left corner. Later work has shown that lower-temperature existing rowth can also be achieved if the oxygen pressure is reduced at the same time (see also the lower rectangle in Fig. 1). Such films grown under lower oxygen pressures were observed to have properties closer to the in-situgrown films (10,11).

In situ Growth Methods

Dominant methods in ose today for physical vapor deposition of HTS are sputtering and laser ablation (also referred to us pulsed laser deposition, or PLD). Both of these methods are most commonly done from a single target and as such, became rather popular mostly because they are relatively simple to implement and fairly reproducible in the films they produce. In addition, targets for PLD are relatively inexpensive and easy to fabricate, and hence, the technique is well souted for investigation of many different materials. Loss widespread today, but currently grawing in popularity, are coevaporation and molecular beam epitaxy. After the initial slaw start in contending with a sufficiently oxidizing environment in high vacuum, evaporation methods have now emerged as an established way to grow high-quality HTS films.

The following is a list of in situ physical vapor deposition techniques used for deposition of HTS compounds, which will be covered in this review

1. Sputtering

- On-axis magnetron
- Off-axis magnetron
- Inverted cylindrical magnetros
- lon-beam sputtering
- 2. Laser ablation
 - Ou-axis
 - Off-axis
 - Laser-MBE
- Evaporation
 - Flash evaporation
 - Reactive coevaporation
 - Reactive-MBE

For more discussion on various PVD techniques, we also referthe reader to Refs. 12, 13, and 14.

SPUTTERING

Spattering is a very commonly used technoque for metal deposition in semiconductor and magnetic storage industries. As such, it was applied early on to HTS materials. The first event of significance was the use of a single composite target, which became commonplace for HTS materials because of the inherent difficulty of reproducing the nortal-atom storchimetry. The major complication compared to more conventional spattering of metals is the energetic negative-ion (oxyger.) formhardment of the substrate, due to the some nature of the oxide target. This causes resputtering and degradation of the sample. This has been recognized even before the advent of HTS and has been fully investigated by Rosanagel and Cuomo (22). Two



Figure 3. Schematzt for the lation axis and (h) off-axis spatter depesation

types of solutions had emerged: (1) using a higher gas pressure in order to thermalize the energetic species (23), and (2) off-axis spattering, where one eliminates the high-energy parturles coming directly from the target (24,25). Figure 3 shows the schematic of the two processes. Other variations include coaxis unbalanced-magnetron spattering (26) and inverted cylindrical magnetron (ICM) spattering (27).

The energies of ejected atoms from the sputtered targets are in the range of tens of electron volts, and they get scattered by the background Δt and O_8 gas. The angular distribution of nach cation species is different, and the scient spot for the proper ention composition is relatively small. In order to cover a 5-cm 12-in.) wafer uniformly from a single 5-om target in an off-axis geometry, one has to resort to some sort of rearining method. such as rotation of the wafer. The deposition rate is very low, not only because the deposition rate for oxides is much lower than for metals, but also because of the off-paris geometry. It takes several hours to deposit a few hundred nanometers of fibr. Larger targets and a number of sputter guns depositing simultaneously have been used at several laboratories to oucrease the deposition rate. When all the deposition conditions are entimum, sputtering has demonstrated a capability to produce YBCO films of excellent crystallimity and surface condition. However, the deposition conditions have to be changed as the targets erode, because the changing target surface geometry results in a different plasma distribution. In addition, the substrate houting method for off axis sputtering is not as sunple as in the case of the off-axis loser ablation or evoperation which will be described later.

LASER ABLATION

Laser ablation, or pulsed-laser deposition (PLD), is a relatively new serbinique that gained much popularity because it is ideally suited for deposition at a high oxygen pressure. The relative case of this technique in depositing multicomponent oxides (and nitrides) has made it especially effective in exploring new materials for HTS electronics, such as epitaxial dielectrics or barrier layers. A short-wavelength (150) to 260 mm excourlaser is focused onto a rotating target of the material to be deposited. Under the energy of the laser beam 10.1 to 2 J per pulse), the matter emitted from the target forms a plome that carries it to the substrate at supersonic velocities. In general, a higher gas pressure is required during laser ablation, due to



Figure 4. Schematic for the latent-axis and (b) off-axis later obtation processes.

the very high energy of the vaporized material from the surface of the target. The laser plume glows brightly from the target, and deposition is usually done usar the end of the plane. about 5 cm away; see Fig. 4. Again, as in the case of sputtering, the various species scatter differently, and therefore the sweet spot of the deposition process is relatively small, usually one to two continueters, depending on the geometry. The deposition rate per laser pulse ranges from a fraction of an angstrom to a few angstroms. The technique was found to be fairly reproducible from the early days and has been used extensively for research and development purposes during the past ten years. Even though other techniques are prioritielly more manufacture-friendly, inser ablation is still very actively. need for prototyping devices made up of several complex materials, such as superconductors, ferroelectric outles, and magnetu: oxides.

A particular problem associated with PLD is the deposition of micron-size droplets, so-called *boalders*: on the grown fibre. These particles originate at the target and are control from the action of the associated. A variety of procedures have been utilized to reduce this problem, so that the boalder density can be very low in the best films. Such procedures include target preparation (such as frequent pullshing), defocusing the laser spot, mechanically chopping the plane, and spatially filtering the beam.

Although PLD can produce high deposition rates (up to tens of runometers per second), the area on which one deposits is small. A straightforward way to increase the deposition area is to scan wafers over the plane either by moving the substrate vertically and horizontally or by rotating the substrate. This method has been tried in several laboratories and as still parsued. Another scheme utilizes a mating cylindrical larget with a linear laser profile to obtain larger deposition areas.

Another major deficulty of these techniquees supilarm heating of large waters. Most of the heating methods for small-area laser ablation have been to mount a substrate on a heated metal surface with silver paste, which is difficult to extend to larger sizes. In order to overcome this difficulty of heating a large wafer, an off axis laser ablation technique has been developed: see Fig. 4(b). A large walkr (5 to 8 cm) can be mounted parallel to the direction of the plane anside a relatively simple blackbodylike heater. The deposition takes place when the atoms collide with the background pressure and are scattered to the surface of the wafer. By rotating the wafer and selecting an appropriate pressure for the geometry, a fairly uniform deposition was achieved over 5 cm wafers. This technique allows for simultaneous deposition on both surfaces of the wafer, which is an important benefit for microwave applications requiring a ground plane. A drawback of this technique is its low deposition rate because of the off-axis geometry. Typical conditions for deposition of a 5 cm wafer resulted in a deposition rate about a factor of 10 lower than for the on-axis deposition.

By using laser fluence just enough to evaporate a few atomic layers of the target in a low-oxygen environment (less than 10^{-7} Ps $\approx 10^{-4}$ torr) and at the same time using a sequence of metal or metal oxide targets, one can obtain a process similar to mulecular beam optaxy (MBE) by evaporation, here called laser MBE. Some in situ diagnostic tools can then be used to characterize the growth of the materials. This technique has mainly been used to grow artificially layered superconducting materials, such as the infinite-layered superconductor (28,29).

EVAPORATION AND MOLECULAR BEAM EPITAXY

Deposition of HTS thin films by evaporation follows a traditum of such deposition of metal films. The added complexity here is the required partial pressure of oxygen during growth. One can distinguish several variations in the evaporation approaches, flash evaporation, reactive coevaporation of metals, and sequential deposition by MBE. Except for the first process, these evaporation techniques utilize individual metallic sources. However, in attempting to control individual sources, two difficulties arise. One is the need for very fine control of autividual sources, including development of species-specific sensure. The second is the need to work at a low enough pressure to minimize beam scattering and at the same time achieve the highly oxidizing thermodynamic coulitions required for the growth of these compounds. For an in site process, one is confined to work at a pressure of molecular oxygen above 100 mPa (1 mtorr) or to use a more reactive form of oxygen supply than molecular oxygen.

Flash Evaporation

The simplest approach to evaporation of HTS materials is to evaporate the compound in small batches, i.e. in flashes of evaporant material. Since the material does not mell congruently, it is not possible to establish a continuously constant rate of metal fluxes, but for short enough intervals one can average out the compositional variations. Usually, the evaporant material is a powder of YBCO located in a feed mechanism that drops small quantities onto an evaparation source (30). In most cases, the films require a post-concaling treatment to oxidize the film sufficiently, since the fast deposition does not allow for sufficient incorporation of exygen. This method is at present less significant.

Probably the must technologically significant advance in HTS thin film evaporation has been the large-area heater developed for coevaporation by the group of H. Kinder at the Technical University of Mönich (Germany) and depicted in Fig. 6. They used a blackbody-type rotating disk heater, similar to the one used by others in PLD deposition, but they added an *oridation pocket* (31). This heater has a narrow shi that allows for a differential pressure between the oxidation pocket and the rest of the chamber of about 1000.1. The deposition and the exidation processes are therefore separated, and a low presents in the chamber improves the stability of thermal evap-


Figure 5. Morphology of YBCO films as a function of their composition during reactive coevaporation.

oration sources. Uniform YBCO films were grown on walers up to 20 cm in diameter using this technique. More importantly, this method is significantly more ensueffective and has higher throughput than any of the other PVD processes.

Reactive Coevaporation

Historically, the first attempts to make films by evaporation utilized a high malecular oxygen pressure. The problems associated with a high background oxygen pressure are rate control of the individual species and the degradation of the sources. In order to circumvent this difficulty, several approaches were taken. One was to accommodate a high differential pressure between the sources and the sample by introduction of nozzles in close proximity to the sample. Another method is to attilize a more reactive species for oxygen incorporation, such as atomic mygen or ozone.

The evapatation technique allows one to tune the composition of the film by adjusting the relative rates of the sources Several groups have worked over the past years on developing process control for coevaporation and studying YHCO film properties as a function of metal atom composition. Figure 5 shows SEM micrographs of films with various metal compositions The general finding is that films that are grown slightly Y- and Cu-rich have better performance than films with exactly 1-2:3



Figure 8. Schematic of the bester for large-area HTS deposition by evaporation



Figure 7. Schematic for the reactive MBE process used in HTS film growth

stoichiemetry. This is true for a majority of in sub-techniques and out just evaporation. The reasons for this are still not completely clear- in particular, whether it is a materials issue or a process control issue. It is known that superconducting properties of films degrade significantly as one goes into the Ra-rich composition. It is possible that process floctoations around the desired metal-atom strichiometry are responsible for degradation of films close to 1/2:3 composition.

Molecular Ream Spitasy

In general, one can distinguish between reactive malecular beam epitaxy (MBE) approaches to HTS film deposition and mere reactive evaporation by the lower background pressure of the former technique. Another difference is that MBE deposition is usually done sequentially rather than simultaneously. Typically, MBE systems have multiple sources with individual shutters, as well as some in situ monitoring tools; see Fig. 7. Reference 32 has a thorough discussion of relevant bases in reactive MBE of HTS films. The work by a number of groups in this field has focused on careful atomic layering in produce very smooth films, as well as customized growth of new materials and heterostructures containing these phases. The spacetive MBE technique also is indicated to careful control of chemical doping of these materials, an issue that is very important for the superconducting properties of the cuprates.

In situ Monitoring and Diagnostics

Evaporation and, especially, MBE, with their inherent low background pressure, lend themselves well to vacuum tochinques for in site deposition monitoring and film diagnoetic tools such as reflection high-energy electron diffraction (RHEED): RHERD has brea shown to be particularly helpful in controlling deposition of Bi-Sr-Cu-Cu-O films, where the growth occurs in blocks of subunit cells, but where many similar phases are possible. RHEED has been less helpful to date in the growth of YBCO, which occurs in blocks of unit cells and where intergrowths are more difficult to tadur due to the higher stability of the primary phase. Terashima and coworkers (33) have shown that growth of YBCO can exhibit oscillations in the RHEED pattern commensurate with unit cell deposition, suggesting that growth proceeds in a unit-cell-byunit-cell fashion, rather than in smaller building blocks. More recently, RHEED has also been extended to high-pressure processes such as PLD (34).

Another area of technological development has been in the use of optical absorption lochniques for measurement and control of atomic fluxes. Both hollow-outbode lamp systems (35) and tonable diode lasers (36) have been used to monitor fluxes in situ in close proximity to the substrate. Such monitoring of individual fluxes is a prerequisite for careful control of HTS growth.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

In spite of a wealth of research, growth of cuprate films has remained a complicated matter. This is due to the materials' rather complex multicomponent crystal structures. They are prone to a variety of defects and growth morphologies. Much work still remains to be done until films are better understood and more reproducible.

As already described, BTS films are now routinely made with out-of-plane as well as in-plane alignment on singlecrystalline substrates. Aligned films are still not routine on polycrystalline substrates, but there has been progress in this area as well. This has been mumfissted in high ortical currents in films, particularly for YBCO 'Typical critical currents in good quality YBCO films are over 2×10^6 A/cm² at 77 K and above 10^7 A/cm² at low temperatures. There has been much work in characterizing defect structures, but a good understanding of their influence on physical properties is still lacking. One growth structure that seems to be nearly objenitous in YBCO films is the spiral, which forms during growth and at the core of which is a screw distocution (36). Figure 8 shows a searning



Figure 8. An STM image of a laser ablated VBCO film, showing spirif growth structures. Image coursesy of Prof. Harrell Serieup.

tunneling microscopy (STM) image of a surface of a YBCO film with a spiral. Stops in this image have a height of one unit cell of YBCO. Such spirals have been identified as contributing to pinning of vortices, important for high critical currents

Maximally oxygen-doped YBCO bulk materials, made at higher temperatures than thin films, have a superconducting transition temperature of 92 K and a resistivity of $35 \mu\Omega_{\odot}$ cm at 100 K. Although having nominally the same crystal structure as the bulk material. YBCO films often have different electronic properties. For example, lower T_{e} (85 to 90 K) and expanded caxis lattice constants (1-170 to 1.172 nm) are frequently found in thin films. Additionally, flux-pinning centers appear to be highly dispersed in in situ grown films of YBCO, although the structural origin of these centers has not yet been identified. It is impurtant to have a close feedback top between film deposition and structural and electrical characterization in order to forther improve HTS films.

Technology for deposition and monitoring of HTS thus fibrs has developed significantly over the past decade. At the same time, the materials understanding of film nucleation, growth, and oxide interfaces has started to usfold. Together, these developments in the future will bring new capabilities for HTS film growth.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- J. M. Bowell. A decade of progress towards a high temperature superconducting electronics technology, *Solid State Commun.*, 102: 269–262, 1997.
- T.R. Lemberger, Filme of high-temperature oxide superconductors, or D. M. Unaberg (ed.), Physical Properties of High Temperature Superconductors III, Singapore: World Scientific, 1992.
- C. P. Poole, H. A. Farach, and P. J. Creswick, Superconductivity, San Diego: Academic Press, 1985.
- T. B. Lindemer, et al., Decomposition of YBa₂Cu₂O₂ , and YBa₂Cu₁O₆ for p₁₅ < 0.1 MPa, Physica C, 176, 93, 1991
- R. K. Willings et al., Oxidations included decompositions of YBa₂Cu₃O₇₋₂, J. Appl. Proc. 70 (206-213, 1994)
- 6 R. H. Hammond and R. Bormann, Correlation between the in-stugrowth conditions of YBCO thin films and the thermodynamic stability criteria, *Physica C*, 162-4: 703-704, 1989.
- R. Bevers and B. T. Ahn, Thermodynamic cosmolyrations in superconduming codes. *Rev. Mater. Sci.*, 21: 335, 1991.
- 8 P. Kstert, O. Brasten, and A. Kiekshus, Chemical phase diagrams for the YBa₂Cu₃O₅ family, *Acta Chem. Sciend.*, 48: 605–840, 1992.
- M. Natio et al., This film synthesis of the high T, cond-cooperation ductor YBayCapO- by electron beam codepointion. J. Matter. Res., 2: 243-725, 1987.
- R. Formetra, et al., Effect of experimpressure on the synchesis of YBeCuO₂, thin films by past deposition annealing *A Appl. Phys.*, 69 6569, 6545, 1991.
- 11 J. M. Phillips et al., Comparison of BayYCu₂O-1, thin films grown on various perovskite substrates by conveptionation of Matter Rev., 7: 2650–2657, 1992.
- R. G. Huenplareya et al., Physical vapur deposition techniques for the growth of YBagConO₇ thin films, Supercond. Sci. Technol., 3 34-52, 1990.
- J. A. Alano et al., Eigh quality VRCO risin films—laser deposition, co-evaporation, and device fabrication, *Phys. Scripta*, 44: 95–101, 1994
- C. H. Stoessel et al., Thin film processing of high-T₂ superconductors J Supercond., 6(1) 1–17, 1993

246 HTS JOSEPHSON JUNCTION DEVELOPMENT

- S. M. Garrison et al., Observation of two in plane optimial states in YBe₂Co₂O₇, films on ytime-stabilized ZrO₂, Appl. Phys. Lett., 58: 2168-2170, 1991.
- H.-U. Hobermeier et al., Preparation and properties of YBCO thin films with the e-exis aligned in the film pinne, in L. Currera (ed.), High Temperature Superconductor Disc Films, Amsterdam, North-Holland, 1992, pp. 343-352.
- 17. A. Parrin non, M. Sergent, in A. Narlikar (ed.), Studies of High Temperature Superconductors, vol. 7, Commark, NY: Nova Science Publishers, 1991
- J. Qian and C. Y. Yang, High-T_c superconductors on buffered subcon-Moterials properties and device applications, *Mater. Sci. Eng.*, **N14**: 157-202, 1995
- Y. Jumis et al., In-plane aligned VBa₂Cu₃O₇, thin films deposited un polycrystalline metallic substrates. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **80**, 769– 771, 1992.
- X. D. Wollet al., High current VFlagCopOrt of thick films on flexible nickel substrates with textured boffer layers, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 65: 1961–1963, 1994
- 21 C. P. Wong et al., Deposition of in plane textured MgO un amorphous StyN₄ substrates by ion-beam-assisted deposition and comparisons with non-beam-assisted deposited ythra-stabilizedarcunia, Appl. Phys. Lett., 71: 2055-2057, 1987.
- 22. S. M. Rossnagel and J. J. Caomo, Negative ion effects during magnetron and ion beam spattering of YBa₂Cu₂O₂, in *Thin Film Pro*cessing and Characterization of High-Temperature Superconductary American Institute of Physics Conf. Proc. 165, New York, AIP, 1989, pp. 106–110.
- 23 U. Poppe et al. Disort production of crystalline superconducting thin films of YBa₂Co(0) by high-pressure axygen spattering, S-iid Stare Commun., **96**: 661–665, 1988.
- 24. C. W. Foor et al., Synthesis and properties of YBa₂Cu₁O₇ thin films grown in situ by 90 degrees off-area single magnetice spattering. *Physics* C, 171: 354–362, 1990.
- J. R. Govaler et al., Critical parameters in the single-targed spintaring of YBo₂Co₃O₂, J. Appl. Phys. 70, 4383-1381, 1981.
- 26 N. Sevondes and A. Katsame. In situ growth of epitaxial YBCO thin littres by on-uxis unbalanced direct curvest magnetron spattering. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 62, 528-550, 1929.
- X. X. Xi et al., Preparation of YBa₂Cu₂O₂ than likes by overled cylindrical magnetical sputtering, J. Less-Commun. Metals, 161 349-355, 1999.
- T. Kowai et al., Superconducting ortificial lattices grown by Inser-MBE, in L. Correcti (ed.), High Tennerature Supermitting for Thin Films, Amenerature North Halland, 1992.
- 29 H. Keyenning and M. Yashimoto. Cuntrolled formation of oxide materials by Jaser molecular beam epitoxy, *Appl. Surfam Sci.*, 75: 308– 319, 1994.
- Y. Yasuda et al., Y. Ba, Cu, O superconducting thin films prepared by plasma-assisted flash ecoporation, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 55: 307– 009, 1989.
- [31] P. Berbertch et al., Hamageneous high quality YBe₂Cu₅O₂ on 3 and \$1 aubatrates, Physica C, 219 497, 1994.
- 32 D. G. Schlom and J. S. Harris, Jr., MBE growth of high T₂ superconductors, in R. F. C. Parene (ed.), Molecular Beam Epitane, Applications to Key Materials, Park Redge, Notes, 1990.
- 33. T. Terashama et al., Reflection high-energy electron diffraction oscillutions during epitosist growth of high-temperature superconducting axides, Phys. Rev. Lett., 55 (2684-2697) 1990.
- 34 G. J. H. M. Rijnders et al., In situ monitoring during pulsed base deposition of complex axides using reflection high energy electron diffraction under high oxygen pressure, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, **70** 1863– 1690, 1997.
- 35 J. N. Rekstein, J. Bezuvin, and G. F. Virsloup, Atomic layer-by-

layer engineering of high-Trimaterials and heterostructure devices, Mater. Res. Soc. Bull., 19 (9): 44–50, 1994.

- 36 W. Wang et al., Direct about flux measurement of electron-beam evaporated ythrium with a diode-laser-based atomic absorption munitor at 668 nm. Appl. Phys. Lett., 71, 31, 33, 1997.
- C. Gerber et al., Screw dislocations in high-T_c films, Nature 350: 279-280, 1991

KOOKEIN CHAR Contre de Rocherches en Physique des Plasmas VENDIMIR MATIJASEVIC Conductus, Inc.

HTS JOSEPHSON JUNCTION DEVELOPMENT

Josephson junctions are the fundamental building blocks for a variety of superconducting electronics applications, including high-speed, low-power digital logic, and sensitive inagnetic field and high-frequency electromagnetic dietectors. A Josephson junction consists of a "weak" connection between two superconductors which exhibits the Josephson effects (described below). While low-temperature superconductor (LTS) Josephson praction technology is well-developed, high-temperature superconductor (HTS) Josephson junctions are still relatively immature. Nonetheless, extensive HTS junction fabrication efforts are in progress due to the possibility of applying Josephson effects at temperatures compatible with rebable, low-cost refrugerators. In this article we discuss the more common approaches to HTS junction fabrication and optimization, with a focus on potential digital encoust applications.

Introduction to Josephson Junctions

According to the Bardeen-Cooper-Schreiffer (BCS) theory of superconductivity, the electrons in a superconductor are weakly bound into Cooper pairs and can be described mathematically by a complex wave function with spatially dependent amplitude and phase. The fact that all of these electrons occupy a macroscopic quantum state leads to several prolound properties of superconductivity, such as zero resistance, quantization of the magnetic flux threading a hole in a superconductor, and the Josephson effects.

If two pieces of superconductor, each characterized by their own wave function, are brought very close together, but separated by a thin insulating layer, then the two wave functions can overlap. It was predicted by Brian Josephson (1) that this overlap would lead to novel phenomena associated with the dissipationless tunneling of Croper pairs through the insulating barrier. The first of these, the direct current (dc) dowpbson effect, is that a do current can flow through this "Josephson (uncline) without the appearance of a voltage drop across the junction, and furthermore that the magnitude of this "supercurrent" is a function of the phase difference between the two electrodes. The maximum value of the supercorrect is called the mitrical current, $I_{\rm e}$. Josephson's second prediction was that if a devoltage were applied across the junction, then the phase difference would evolve at a rate proportional to the voltage, leading to a time-osciluting Cooper pair current. This is the alternating current (ac) Josephson effect.

Must of the above discussion can also be applied in cases where two superconducting electrodes are separated not by an insulator, but by other nonsuperconducting or weakly superconducting regions. These include normal metals, semironductors, or even extremely narrow superconducting constrictions. This broader class of -losephson devices is generally known as "weak links," and essentially all HTS Josephson devices bong developed fall under this heading. In particular, the use of a normal metal, or of a superconductor above its transition temperature, is the focus of much of the development work, and thus of the discussion in this article.

HTS versus LTS Materials

Fabrication of HTS Josephson junctions is complicated by the materials properties of the high-temperature superconductors. Low-tempgrature superconductor junctions are typically produced using polycrystalline metallic Nb as the superconductor. In contrast, the new HTS materials are multicomponent ceranic ordes with four or more elements, such as yttriumharmon ropper oxide (YBa₂Cu₁O₇), or YBCO). The oxide superconductors have perceskise-based crystal structures with two to three copper-oxygen planes in a layered structure within a unit cell. As a consequence, these materials are anisotropic, with higher critical current densities and larger superconducting enherence lengths parallel to the CuO_2 planes. The superconductive coherence length is the characteristic length over which the Cooper pair density decays, as for example in approaching an interface between a superconductor and a normal metal. It also corresponds to the average physical separation of the two electrons which make up a Cooper pair. For a clean material (mean free path much longer than coherence length (it is given by the approximate expression $\varepsilon \approx 0.18\hbar x_{0}k_{0}T_{c}$, where reparture Fermi velocity and T_{i} is the superconducting transition temperature (1). In contrast to most LTS materials, the enheronce lengths in the oxide superconductors are on the scale of atomic dimensions (<30 Å parallel to the copper uside planes, and \$4 Å perpendicular to the planes). Since damaged layers chuster than the coherence length result in degraded superconducting properties, surface cleaning and film growth at device interfaces are especially critical in the HTS materials.

Also unlike in most low temperature superconductors, grain boundaries in the HTS oxide superconductors lead to reduced entirel current densities, and in fact can behave like Josephson junctions (see the section entitled "HTS-Josephson Junction Types"). Because of the onisotropy and grain boundary probiems associated with the high-temperature superconductors, epitasial (angle crystal) HTS films gravit at high temperatures (650 C to 800 C) are required for many applications. Hightemperature growth and the need to maintain high epitaxial quality in each layer of multilayer structures make HTS junction and circuit fabrication considerably more number, than the corresponding LTS processes.

Selection of YBCO for HTS Junctions

Nearly all Josephson junction development in HTS materials has been based on YBCO or nearly identical compounds with another rare-carth element in place of yttrium. The superconducting critical temperature, *T_c*, for this family of compounds is approximately 90 K. The main advantage of using YBCO compared with other HTS material families is the low volatility of all cation elements which permits films to be grown in a single step from a source – for example, a laser ablation target or sputtering target—fabricated with a staichiometric ratio of yttmum, baruon, and copper.

In contrast, films of the HTS families with the highest critical temperatures, TI Ba Ca Cu O (TBCCO) and Bg-Ba-Ca-Cu O (HgBCCO); are typically prepared in a two-step process in which a TI- or Hg-deficient as-deposited film is annealed to the point of partial melting in a container sealed to obtain a high pressure of TI ar Hg vapor. Although grain boundary junctions can be formed by using this technique with hierystal substrates or substrates with patterned steps, it is not extendible to multilayers. In the case of the Bi-Sr-Ca-Cu-O (BSCCO) or Ba-K-Bi-O (BKBO) families, films can be produced in a single step, but the volatility of K and Bi has limited film reproducibility and has discouraged junction development efforts. The TBCCO, HgBCCO, and BSCCO materials are also more highly anisotropic than YBCO, which introduces additional complications in 3-D structures

Basic H15 Josephson Junction Characterization

The current-voltage characteristic for an ideal Josephson nunction described by the Resistively-Shunted-Junction (RSJ) mode, is shown in Fig. 1. The RSJ model adequately describes the behavior of many HTS junctions, as explained in more detail in the section multiled "Josephson Effects". The primary junction parameters of interest are the critical current, I_{ii} the normal state resistance, R_0 , and the product of these two fartors, $LR_{\rm b}$. The critical current is the maximum current thet can flow through the junction without a voltage drop, while the normal state resistance is given by the inverse of the slope of the I/V characteristics at a few times I_{ij} as shown in Fig. 1. H_{τ} is due to dissipation in the device, for example, by current, flow through the normal metal in a superconductor/normal metal/superconductor weak hok. *I*, and *R*₀ are often expressed in terms of area-normalized quantities: the critical current density $J_2 = L/A$, and the resistance-area product, R_0A . Characterization for an HTS Jusephson junction typically includes (a) measurement of the current, voltage (I-V) characteristics as a function of temperature and (b) measurement of *I*, includation in a magnetic field. In some cases, the I/V characteristics are also etudied under mucrowave irradiation as a measure of the



Figure 1. Current voltage characteristic of a Jussephson weak link in the zero-separation which, without thermal mass, showing definitions of the entired current, I_{z} , and normal resistance, R_{z} . The dashed line is the high-current asymptote of the I_{z} V curve

ac Josephson effect. In a well-behaved HTS junction the I-V shape will show the concave-up curvature consistent with the resistively shouled junction model. The temperature dependence of I_z and R_0 gives information in the nature of outpling across the Josephson junction (e.g., proximity-effect coupling or tunneling), while the dependence of I_z on magnetic field provules a gauge of the uniformity of Cooper pair transport across the weak link. More comprehensive-losephson junction studies can also include determination of the J_z dependence on tunnel barrier or interlayer theorems, as well as measurement of J_z uniformity across multiple junctions on a chip (important for circuit applications).

Survey of Junction Configurations

Josephson effects in HTS materials were first observed at natorally occurring grain boundaries in fibra and in weak links between two HTS samples created by either breaking a sample in vacuum and coupling across the vocuum gap or bringing two preces in contact and coupling through a surface layer that was degraded by machine in air. Most of the configurations used since that time to fabricate junctions with controllable and reproducible properties are shown in Fig. 2. All configurations require epitaxial films to prevent naturally occurring and randomly placed grain-boundary junctions from interfering with the engineered junctions. The fill pattern for HTS film layers in Fig. 2 indicates the orientation of Cu–O planes.

The junction configurations shown in Fig. 2 are grouped in the four categories of grain-boundary weak links, damage junctions, deposited interlayer junctions, and microbridges. The chronology of development was that single-UTS-film configurations that did not require special substrate treatments were explored first – for example, the junctions in Figs. 2(c), 2(f), and 2(j). These were followed by more complex processes where substrates were followed by more complex processes where substrates were fabricated to promote the formation of a junction during HTS film growth as in Figs. 2(c), 2(b), and 2(g). Since the configurations in Figs. 2(d), 2(h), and 2(i) are direct analogues of LTS junctions, they were identified as consident structures scon after discovery of HTS, but development did nut begin until multilayer growth and patterning techniques were developed.

Application Requirements

The key electrical parameters of an individual junction, which determine its suitability for a given application, are principally its I_r and R_5 and zerondarily such parameters as capacitance C and inductance L. For applications which require many junctions, such as digital circuits, the uniformity of these parameters is infectical importance, while for sensor applications, such as superconducting quantum interference devices (SQUIDs), low intrinsic noise is a key characteristic

For digital arounds a number of constraints dictate the range of parameters required. First, the product of I_c and a typical gate inductance L_v should be not much more than a flux quanture, $\approx 2.07 \times 10^{-5}$ Wb (≈ 2.07 pHonA). Since it is difficult to fabricate gates with inductance less than about 4 pH in HTS uses the section entitled "Gircuit Integration", I_c can be an more than about 0.5 mA. At the same time, I_c should be large enough that the Josephson energy, $I_c/2c$, is much larger (say by a factor of 100 to 1000) than the thermal energy, $\kappa_B T_c$ otherwise there will be too many thermally induced, erroneous switching events. For operation at 40 K this dictates that I_c be greater



Figure 2. The wak using of faboration methods for HTS Josephson junctions can be basely grouped into functionses, grow booodsty junctions, damage-induced junctions, deposited-interlayer junctions, and microbridges. The deposited-interlayer approaches are thought to be the most premising for applications requiring more than a few junctions.

than 0.04 mA to 0.4 mA. At the same time, the product of I_c and H_n establishes the maximum reliable operating frequency of the circuit, $2eI_cR_a/h$. For Josephson devices to be compettive, this frequency coast he at least tens of gigahertz. This means that I_cR_n must be greater than approximately 0.3 mV, and R_n must be of order 1 Ω to 10 Ω . While different arguments are applied for sensor applications of SQUIDs, such as magnetometry, the resulting requirements for I_c and H_c are quite similar.

JOSEPHSON FEFECTS

The de and no dosephson effects introduced in the section entitled "Introduction to Josephson Junctions" can be stated

$$t^{0} = \partial_{Y} + \partial_{1}$$
 (1a)

$$I \in I_r \sin(\theta)$$
 (1b)

$$V = \frac{h}{2\epsilon} \frac{d\theta}{dt}$$
 (1c)

where h_1 and h_2 are the phases of the wavefunction in the two electrodes. In the presence of a magnetic field, with vector potential A, Eq. (1a) is generalized as follows:

$$\kappa = \kappa_{c} + \kappa_{c} + \frac{2\kappa}{\hbar} \int_{1}^{\pi} \hat{A}_{c} d\hat{l}$$
 (1d)

where h_1 and θ_2 refer to two specific points on opposite electrudes, and the integral is taken along a straight line between these two points (1). While the phase definition across the junction cannot be directly measured. Josephson's predictions have several measurable consequences. For example, as a result of the periodic dependence of supercurrent on phase difference, and the field-dependence of the phase difference given by Eq. (1d), the critical correct of a spatially extended junction displays a dependence on the magnetic field described by the Fraunhofer pattern characteristic of single-slit diffraction in optics: $I_{c} \propto | \operatorname{and} \Phi / \Phi_{0} \circ \Phi^{\dagger} |$, where Φ is the magnetic flux through the junction and $\Phi_0 = b/2c$ is the superconducting Φ_{00} quantum. The se Josephson effect is responsible for Shapiro stops. which are constant voltage steps in the I-V characteristics of the junction in the presence of microwave radiation. Such steps occur when the average valtage across the juration has valuce such that the oscillation frequency of the supercurrent is a multiple of the frequency of the applied radiation. This effect is the basis for the definition of the standard volt, which uses a privisely known frequency to generate a fixed voltage genes. a series array of many junctions. Figure 3 shows an example of Shappro steps induced in a YBCO+Cobalt-YBCO/YBCO edge superconductor/normal metal/superconductor (SNS) punction (see the section entitled "Edge-Geometry Weak Lanks") by 1/1 GHz radiation.

Heal-losephson junctions can be modeled by the so-called resistively and capacitively shorted junction (RCS), or, for small



Figure 3. Current-solvage characteristics of a YSCO-Co-YBCO-YBCO-odge SNS point no. -howing Shapiro steps in response to 13 GHz (aduation) Such -teps are a manifestation of the at Jusephson effort.

capacitance, just RSJ model, which takes the ideal Josephson element described by Eq. (2) and shunts it with a resistor and a capacitor. The resistor models the path by which quasiparticles cross the junction. For HTS junctions we can use the RSJ model with a linear resistor and zero capacitance for comparison with the data. In this case the RSJ model, without thermal noise, predicts a hyperbolic shape for the I-V characteristic:

$$V = 0 \quad \text{for } I \in I_{0}$$

$$V = R_{0}\sqrt{I^{2} + I_{0}^{2}} \quad \text{for } I \in I_{0}$$
(2)

where V is the time average of the instantaneous voltage, V(t), which oscillates at the Josephson frequency with amplitude I_1R_n . The debehavior is illustrated in Fig. 1. In the presence of thermal noise the sharp voltage onset at I_2 is smeared out.

HIS JOSEPHSON JUNCTION TYPES

As described in the section entitled "Survey of Junction Configurations," there are a wide variety of HTS Josephson junctions. In fact, it has proven relatively easy to fabricate HTS devices which exhibit Josephson effects, with the technology ranging in sophistication from naturally occurring grain binindary weak links to all-epitaxial structures more porting superconductors, merulators, and deposited interlayers. However, it has proven difficult to much the requirements of some of the more demanding applications. For example, single flux quantum (SFQ) digital circuits require junctions with high resistance, high $I_{\rm s}R_{\rm p}$ products, and $1/m/I_{\rm r}$ sprends less than 10%. No junction rechnology to date has consistently met these constraints. At present the most widely used HTS junctions are grain boundary weak links and SNS edge junctions with deped YBCO interlayers. The grain boundary devices have excellent characteristics but relatively poor I spreads, while the SNS edge junctions are more difficult to produce but appear to be the most viable candidate for fabrication of complex circuits.

Grain Boundary Junctions

Naturally Occurring Grain Boundary Junctions. Within a few months of the discovery of YBCO, Josephson effects were measured in bulk certained samples. An example of these measurements can be found in Robbes et al. (2), where a polycrystalline ceramic pollet was bonded to a glass slide, polisised to a thickness of 0.25 mm, and constructions were engraved to pattern a de SQUID. Shappro steps and modulation of the critical correct by a magnetic field were observed.

Although randomly oriented grain boundary junctions in polycrystalline material are too poorly controlled to be practical for electronics, they are the most important obstatle in fabrication of HTS conductors for carrying large corrects for largescale, high-power applications. Many of the possible mechanisms for weak link formation at grain boundaries, such as impurities or second phase formation, have been eliminated by careful synthesis. However, the grain boundary continues to be the subject of research on topics such as the relationship between local strain fields and oxygen deficiency (3).

Bicrystal Grain Boundary Junctions. Dimos et al. (4) were the first to fabricate grain boundaries in HTS materials with controlled angles of musclement. They cut and polished bulk SrTiO_a single crystals with symmetric $_{1}$ 100] tilt isomediates. The two crystals were sinteroid together with purallel 10011 axes. The bicrystal was then cut and polished to obtain [001] surfaces for growth of epitaxial c-axis-oriented YBCO films. At least on a macroscopic scale, the masorientation angle in the basid plane of YBCO matched the misorientation angle in the SrTiO₈ bicrystal.

The bicrystal experiments elegantly quantified the need for biaxial alignment in YBCO high-current conductors by demonstrating the rapid decrease in J_r with increasing grain misalignment. They also provided a route for synthesis of grain boundary junctions, so-called bicrystal junctions, with controlled misalignment between grains and controlled placement of junctions along a single line. Scrontum ticonste bicrystals with 24 and 37 tilt rotations—angles where particularly well-defined, clean interfaces can be formed—are commercially available.

Bierystal junctions are still in use for low-junction-count applications, usually where an integrated HTS groundplane is not required. Specifically, most commercially available de SQUIDs are fabricated in this way. Biorystal junctions are the surplest and least expensive way for a university lubiratory to pattern a few junctions for research. However, in addition to the obvious disadvantage imposed by placement of junctions along a single kine, junction uniformity has not inatched the level obtained by other junction configurations. Several different explanations for the lack of uniformity are based on the observation that the junction interface meanders along the substrate bicrystal boundary on a microscopic scale as YBCO grains overgrow the boundary from each side.

Biopitaxial Grain Boundary functions. Expiraxial junctions are a variant of biorystal junctions in which the hierystal template far junction formation is provided not by a bulk biorystal substrate but by the tendency of particular baffer layers to grow with different opitaxial orientations depending on the presence or absence of an intermediate 'seed' layer. The first implementation was by Char et al. (5), who conserved that SrTrO₃(001) grew on *R*-plane sapphire. Al₂O₃(1102), when there was no seed layer with in-plane parallel directions, SrTiO₃(110) :/Al₂O₃(1120). However, when there was an MgO:001) seed layer present, the in-plane intertation was SrTiO₃(100)//MgO[100]//Al₂O₃(1120). So, by patterning the MgO layer with conventional lithography, 45 grain boundaries in the SrTiO₃(001) buffer layer could be placed in arbitrary positions.

Other combinations of substrates, seed layers, and buffer layers were later found to work. All of them had in common with the anginal concept that the motorials were oxides with dissimilar crystal structures and large lattice mismatches so that $\sqrt{2}$ times one lattice constant provided as close a match with a 45in-plane rotation as could be achieved by cube-on-cube growth. While the virtue of this technique compared to hierystal junctions is the ability to arbitrarily place grain boundary junctions on a mask, as disadvantage is that 45- is larger than the angle normally selected for biorystal junctions. At this large angle, $l_c R_n$ products at 77-K were on the order of just 10 μ V to 20 μ V and critical currents per unit junction width approximately 3 μ A/am. Although some multilayer SQUIDs have been based on biopitaxial junctions, there has been little work on their integration with an HTS groundplane for ingital circuits.







Figure 4. TEM cross-section of the appen, symmetric grain boundary in a step-edge grain boundary junction formed at a step or a LaAlO₁ substrate. (Courteav of Claire Pettactte-Hall of TRW.)

Step-Edge Grain Boundary Junctions. When a c-axis YBCO film is grown over a sharp step in a cubic (or nearly cubic) substrate or deposited insulator, the YBCO grows such that the *i*-axis is perpendicular to the *foral* principal crystalline axes of the substrate material (6), forming a pair of grain boundaries (at the top and bottom of the step), which behave electrically as one or two Josephson junctions. Figure 2(b) shows the simplest example, where each grain boundary (Gb) is of the symmetrie, (103)(103) type. Figure 4 shows a transmission electron mirrograph of a cross section of such a boundary, formed at the top of a step in a single-crystal LaA(O), substrate. In practice the lower GB aften consists of a mixture of orientations, including (010)/011

Such devices show I-V characteristics with rather ideal RSJ shape, and they also show the signatures of true Josephson be havior, including critical current analulation with field (though often nonideal), Shapiro steps, and the emission of Josephson radiation. Values of J_i are fortuitously close to those required for digital and SQUID applications in the 65 K to 77 K range, with $J_e R_p$ values of up to several hundred microvalts at 77 K (7). Electrical characteristics, and stability with thermal cycling, are improved by paving close attention to forming a sharp. clean step—for example, by the use of ion milling with a very hard mask, such as anorphous carbon. While there have been reports of sets of such junctions with J_i spreads as narrow as 5% (1-4), typical spread values are 30% or above, making the long-term viability of this junction technique for complex circuts doubtful. For SQUIDs this is not an issue, and the sinplicity of fubrication, along with the low measured more of such junctions, makes them attractive. Their incorporation into multilayers is relatively straightforward.

The nature of the Josephson junction in this geometry is controversial. For example, (FBs similar to those observed in step edge junctions have been deliberately fabricated in planar YBCO films, by the use of seed layers to control film aricutation (see the section entitled "Biepitaxoal Gram Boundary Junctions"), and have been found to *sol* exhibit weak link behavior. Also, while some of the most definitive work on these junctions has attributed the weak link to a (01030011 GB at the bottom of the step (6), recent measurements which probe the GBs individually (by use of a narrow YBCO head, formed by shadowing, along the step face) suggest that it is the symmetric GB at the top which is the weakest.

Damage-Induced HTS Josephson Junctions

ton-Damaged Weak Links. Weak links based on ion damage can be classed into two categories: (i) single-layer devices in which a focused ion beam (FIB) creates a weak link [Fig. 2(c)], and (ii) multilayer structures where ion surface damage of a base electrode produces a Josephson junction after deposition of a counterelectrode [Fig. 2(d)]. FIB junctions have been produced by a number of groups including Zani et al. (8), who used a 300 keV Si ion beam. The main attraction of the FIB approach. is starelative simplicity, since only a single HTS film is required. However, because the typical FUI spot size is much greater than HTS coherence lengths, weak link behavior in these devices is presumably due to local variations in damage which lead to a parallel array of filamentary connections across the damaged region. Consequently, FID-defined weak links often show nonideal I-V characteristics, as well as excess SQUID inductance. While this technology has produced high-resistance junctions and working SQUIDs up to 60 K. it has been largely superseded. by other junction processes.

The second type of HTS Josephson junctions based on ion damage rely on ion bombardment at relatively low energies to create surface damage on a base electrode, which is then overlayed by an epitamal counterelectrode. Work in this area has no cluded count-temperature oxygen largon and oxygen (Buoringbased plasma treatments (9), as well as low-energy Ar and Xe ion mill processing (10). The surface ion damage approach avoids the complication of a deposited interlayer and has produced high quality Josephson junctions with Ir.H. products up to 250 p V at 77 K. However, the weak links working at 77 K also typically have current densities and resistances which are not well-suited to digital and SQUID applications (J, > 105 A/cm2 and $R_{0}A < 2 \times 10^{14} \ \Omega$ -cm²). More recently it has been found that radio-frequency (RF) plasma exposure at 400 to 500 C can produce higher resistance weak links with $J_c 1 - a$ spreads as small as 8% at 4.2 K (11).

Electron-Beam-Damaged Weak Links, Electron-beamdamaged junctions are fabricated by writing a line across a narrow, 2 junction 10 junc wide bridge with an electron beam in a transmission electron microscope with 120 keV or 350 keV beam energies (12). The electrons are thought to disorder oxygen ions located in the chains of copper and oxygen which are present in YBCO. The higher damage energy, 360 keV, results in a weak link that is stable at room temperature, whereas disorder caused by 120 keV electrons starts to heat even at room temperature. In either case, the evidence for oxygen disorder is mainly found in (a) the annealing behavior of these junctions which tends to a recovery of the initial, undamaged bridge imperties over time with temperatures <400 C and (b) energy barriers of 1.1 eV which are characteristic of the chain oxygen sites.

Targeted junction properties can be achieved by udjusting the total durage dose and the junction length. Critical current modulation in a magnetic field indicates that the damage is uniform compared to the scale of the junction width. The most sophisticated digital circuit demonstrations that have been performed without integrated HTS groundplanes have used this type of junction. A possible long-term limitation of any sequential process of writing to form junctions using either electron or facused non beams is that writing time can become significant as risenit complexity and junction counts increase. The special equipment required, the lack of junction stability and the fact that groundplane integration has not yet been demonstrated are other probable reasons why this technique has been used in university laboratories but has not been adopted by industrial labs.

"Poisoned" Weak Links. An alternative technique for weakening a small area is to dope an HTS film with a small patch of a material that degrades the superconducting properties. In the example of Simon et al. (13), a 10 are thack, several-micronwide Al stripe was patterned on a substrate before deposition of a 200 are thick YBCO film. A weak link formed where a bridge patterned in the YBCO film crossed the Al stripe. The Al dopant depressed the entireal correct of the YBCO by two orders of magnitude.

This terbinique has the benefit of a simple fabrication process but has not been used in recent years, it is incluied herefor completeness and to illustrate two of the factors that influence junction reproducibility: control of bridge length and control of interface thickness. Since the ideal length of a coupling region between YBCO banks is no greater than tens of nanometers, it is preferable that the length is determined by a reproducible scale such as a film thickness or step height rather than the width of a patterned fine. The deposited interlayer junction configurations described below are designed to use these batter-controlled length scales and to maintain a thinner interface layer between undamaged YBCO banks and a more weakly superconducting region than one can achieve by an interdiffusion process.

Deposited-Interlayer Jusephson Junctions

Step-tdge SNS (unctions. Like the step-edge grain boundary (SEOB) ponction, the step-edge SNS junction is formed at a step, either in the substrate or a deposited involutor, but in this case the deposition is performed directionally, from behind the step, so that the YBCO is discontinuous. This discontinuity is bridged by an in situ deposited might metal such as Ag (14.15), making the nominally SNS structure illustrated in Fig. 2(g). A cross-sectional scanning electron nucrograph of an actual



Figure 5. Cross sectional electron micrograph of a step edge SNS paration of the type shown in Fig. 2 g., charly showing the discontinuity of the YBCO film (dark) over the step, budged by the Au-Ag alloy-light. Courtesy of Mark Diforio of Magnesensors Inc.)

device is shown in Fig. 5, which clearly shows the YHCO to be discontinuous across the step. In practice the resistance of such a device is dominated not by the normal metal itself, but by the interfaces with the YBCO. By using a directional ion mill from behind the step, it is possible to remove must of the normal metal, leaving only that which is shadowed by the step in this case. R_n can be as much as 10 Ω , and I, R_n as high as sevend millipolity, at 4.2 K. Useful SQUIDs operating at 77 K, with either "flip-chip" or integrated pick-up coils, are motionly fabricated, with modulation voltage of several microvolts. Statistics for large numbers of junctions are not available to evaluate the critical current spreads. The directionality of the fabrication process means that this junction type does not scale well for camples circuit fabrication.

Edge-Geometry Weak Links. The HTS edge-geometry weak link is also known as an edge junction or ramp junction and is shown in Fig. 2(h). This structure typically consists of a caxistoriented HTS base electrode film overlaid by a thick insolutor (not nerossarily opitaxial) with an edge produced in the bilayer by ion milling or more rately by wet etching. An epitaxial normal metal interlayer is deposited on the exposed edge followed by growth and patterning of the HTS counterelectrode. The SNS edge junction configuration is the most widely used HTS junction approach, because this geometry offors a number of advantages, including the fact that the critacal superconductor/normal metal (SN) interforms are localed on the longer-coherence-length surfaces of the superconducting electrodes. The edge structure also enables the fabrication of very-small-area devices using conventional photolithogenphy byrause one of the device dimensions is determined by the thickness of the base electroic film. Not surprisingly, howover, successful fabrication of uniform sets of high-quality SNS edge junctions requires great care in base electrode edge formation. Shallow edges : <40 (are unsided to avoid grain boundary formation in the counterelectrod, and the edge properties must be independent of edge orientation for ease of circuit layout. The most common approach to edge formation uses argon ton milling with rotating substrates and a tupered photoresist mask. Base electrode edge cleaning before growth of the nor-



Figure 6. *I*-*V* characteristics at 65 K for a chap with junction parameters suitable for SFQ logic. There are innoteen 4 arm wide junctions with 50 A *V* a doped YBCO interlayers and no average resistance of 0.97 Ω (1 - α = 60). The average I_{α} is 327 μ A (1 - α = 130) and the average I_{α} is 327 μ A (1 - α = 130) and the average I_{α} is 315 μ A (1 - α = 95).

mal metal and counterchedrocks is also important and is ashelly done by how-energy ion multing or by etching in a chlose (< 1%) solution of broming in alcohol.

As with trilayer junctions (discussed below), the edge junction approach utilizes an all-optimizal stack of base electrode, normal metal interlayer, and counterelectrode which places tight constraints on potential interlayers. Suitable interlayers much be lattice-matched to the HTS electrodes, grow without perholes, and be chemically compatible with the superconductors at the elevated temperatures necessary for opitaxial growth. These requirements point to the use of materials with similar structures and compositions to YBCO such as PrBa₂Cu₂0₇ (PBCO) or YBa²u₂ $_{10}$ Co (Coologed YBCO)/16), the two most commonly used interlayers. Note that the interlayers are often referred to as "normal metals," but, in fact range from semiconductors (PBCO) to superconductors operating above their transition temperature (Co-doped YBCO).

I-V characteristics for a set of Co-doped YBCO edge junchous produced at Northrop Grunnian are shown in Fig. 6 (17). The normal metal layer is 50 Å of YBaCu₂ $Co_{0.2}O_{12}$. For this chip the average junction parameters, at 65 K, are $J_z = 4.1 \times$ 10° A/cm² with 1-n = 13%, $I_1R_0 = 315~\mu$ V with 1-n = 9%. and $R_{
m o}A = 7.7 imes 10^{-2} \Omega \cdot {
m cm}^2$ with $1 + \sigma = 6\%$ $(R_{
m o} = 0.97 \Omega)$, valnes which are suitable for small-scale SFQ cirruit applications. Note that this resistance value is surprisingly high for SNS. junctions, as will be discussed in more detail in the section enfithed "Advanced Issues" As shown in Fig. 7, the oritical correct modulation in edge-geometry weak links can approach the ideally expected $||\sin x|/|x||$ behavior, indicating fairly uniform pair current transport through the normal metal layer (17). Goad results have also been obtained for junctions utilizing PBCO and Ga-doped PBCO interlayers. For example, Verhieven et al. (18) have produced Ga-doped PBCO edge junctions with I₂H₂ prodacts up to 5 mV at 4.2 K. The data suggest that transport m these devices takes place by resonant tunneling.

Trilayer-Geometry Weak Links. Trilayer-geometry Josephson junctions [Fig. 201] consist of a layered sandwich structure of HTS, interlayer, and HTS epitaxial films, as well as associated wiring and insulator layers. This approach most closely resembles the highly sourcessful LTS NU-A) tunnel juncture.



Figure 7. Control current modulation at 55 K for a 4 jum wide SNS junction with La-YBCO base electrode, with the cosporate field coronal in the substrate. The normal metal layer is 59 Å of Co-doped YBCO, and the junction resistance is 1.1Ω .

process and consequently has attracted considerable attention. However, the triayer process does require additional epitaxial insulator and HTS loyers for wiring Another potential dos advantage of this approach is the relatively large area of the devices, which can lead to unacceptably low values of $R_{\rm b}$ in many SNS processes, as well as a greater sensitivity to defects. such as pinholes. Some of the carliest work in HTS depositedinterlayer weak links utilized c-axis oriented YBCO electrodes with a PBCO interlayer (19). Researchers at Varian have used a molecular beam epitury approach to engineer claxis trilayers on a layer-by-layer basis (20). Most recent studies of trilayer junctions have focused on *n*-axis-oriented or (100)-oriented trilayers due to the longer superconducting coherence length parallel to the a-b planes, which in principle should lead to larger $I_r H_0$ products. While it is not clear how an *a* axis trilicyer epi taxial wiring scheme will deal with the inherensity lower d_s for wiring runs along the c-axis direction, some promising results have been obtained with this approach. Sato et al. (21) have produced (103)-oriented tralayer junctions with 350 Å PrBaCuO interlayers that exhibit RSJ I-V characteristics at 50 K with $J_{c} = 440 \text{ A/cm}^{2}, 1-\sigma = 38\%, R_{c}A = 1.2 \times 10^{-5} \Omega \cdot \text{cm}^{2}, 1-\sigma =$ 21% (1.3 Ω for a 3 × 3 μ m² junction), as well as sensible magnetic field modulation.

Planar or In-Line Junctions. These junctions, illustrated in Fig. 2(j), consist of a narrow gap (<1 am) in a YBCO film, bridged by a normal conducting film either situated below the YBCO or deposited on top after the gap is etched by, typically, a fixuased ion beam. The normal layer is usually An or Ag (above the YBCO) or FBCO (above or below). While the normal metal coherence length of Au is long enough that gaps of order 1 μ m should support a critical current, the estimated values of f_X for PBCO and similar materials are so short that even devices as short as 0.1 μ m should not exhibit a critical current. The first that they do has been used as evidence to suggest the existence of a "long-range proximity effect" in these materials, although the existence of this is controversial. For example, it is possible that the critical current is partly due to YBCO not fully removed from the gap.

There is little data on the reproducibility of these devices, but it is generally believed that they have little potential for applications requiring many junctions. In addition, their charactoristics are relatively nonideal, often exhibiting large excess current for example

Microbridges

If a superconducting bridge is made with a width comparable to the inherence length, ξ_i it behaves as a Josephson junction. Since ξ is only a few angetroms in YBCO, this is not a practical way to make a Josephson device. However, if a bridge is wider than ε_i , but still less than the penetration depth λ_i it can behave in many ways as a -fosephson proctom, for example, exhibiting constant voltage steps in response to applied microwaves, in this case as a result of magnetic field vortices moving across the bridge in synchronization with the microwave field. As such they may be useful for SQUID applications, but not for SFQ circuits

These devices have been fabricated both in the a-b-direction (Fig. 2(k)), using forces discrete family for example, and in the vertical direction in a class film (Fig. 21). The latter case is interesting in that the corresponding penetration depth is long enough (~1 μ m at 77 K) that conventional photolithagraphy suffices. The class microbridges have dononstrated encouraging I_c uniformity 103% for a few devices (22)), although critical currents are typically somewhat high, and resistances low, compared to typical application requirements, suggesting that more aggressive biography may shill be required. Low-inductance multilayer SQUIDs have been demonstrated, and the fabrication process is quite compatible with the needs of a multilayer process.

CIRCUIT INTEGRATION

Multilayer Circuit Requirements

Multilayer structures are required for many important applications of BTS junctions including digital circuits, SQUIDs with integrated pickup coils, voltage standards, and phase shifters, among others duration specific requirements on I_r and R_n for some of chose applications have already been discussed in the section entitled "Overview." It is desirable that these junction properties be independent of location in a multilevel structure—for example, on or off of groundplanes. This is a nontrivial constraint because junction performance is often intimately related to details of film microstructure which can be affooted by growth over the underlying layers in a multifilm stuck. Multileyer circuits also require good electrical isolation (> 104 S-cm) between superconducting layers, using insulators with low dielectric constants and low losses, if high-frequency applucations are the objective High-critical-current-density viax and crossovers (>105 A/cm2) are essential for most HTS circuit applications. Digital circuits also call for the integration of superconducting groundplanes to produce the low-inductance SQUIDs and intervaniants norded for SFQ logic. More complexmetuits can require additional epitaxial insulators and wiring levels as well as integrated resistary.

Fabrication Issues

A cross sectional schematic view of the multilayer structure used to integrate edge SNS junctions on an HTS granndplane is shown in Fig. 8. A multicum of four mask lovels and six



Figure 5. Schematic cross section of a multilayer process recorporating edge SNS junctions over an HTS groundplane. The horizontal shading of the YBC3 (systa indicates the direction of the copper loxide planes. All layers are expitaxial except for the Au. used for contacts

epitaxial oxide film layers are needed for this process. Additional optional film layers are often used such as buffer layers between the substrate and groundplune, or possivation layers above the groundplane, but these additional layers do not after the basic processing steps

The substrate selected for the most complex multilayer structures is single-crystal, perovskile-structure NdGaO₈ which is representative of the other randidate substrates. The (110) and (001) faces of NdGaO₈ are virtually identical in providing a square two-dimensional lattice with approximately a 1% lattice memotch for growth of c-axis-priented opitaxial YBCO films.

The most important requirements for YBCO groundplane films are magnetic penetration depths, λ (T), close to intrinsic values and amouth surfaces. These properties can be oblieved, in principle, by films grown by a number of different techniques. In practice, pulsed laser deposition, sputtering, and co-evaporation are the three techniques most commanly used for multilayer film growth. The effect of the penetration depth on circuit inductance is discussed in the next section. The smoothest films, these with approximately 1 am root-meansquare (ime) roughness, have less than 10³/cm⁴ of the outgrowthe that are commonly found in YBCO films. Most of the outgrowths are second-phase copper oxide particles that are 0.5 mm to 1.0 mm in diameter and grow higher than the film surface by a distance comparable to the film theckness.

As long as a copper oxide outgrowth does not form in a location where a junction is putterned, it does not have a deleterous effect on YBCO film properties. For applications of YBCO films requiring a single layer, such as bandpass radio frequency (RF) filters, no effort is made to minimize them. In fact, their presence is a sign that excess copper available at the growing film surface has been consumed. leaving behind a matrix of stoichiometric YBCO which has optimized properties. However, outgrowth density must be minimized by a slightly copperdeficient film composition for multilayer circuits to matrix electrical isolation between layers by the epitaxial insolators.

The epitaxial insulator that grows with the best edge coverage and smoothest surfaces is SrTiO₈. Its high dielectric constant, on the order of i = 500, is not a problem for low-frequency applications such as SQUID magnetometers. However, there is no consensus materials choice at present for high-speed digital circuits where a dielectric with i = 10 to 30 is a practical maxinuum. Examples of relatively low-is materials used as opitaxial insulators are Sr₂AINbO₈ and Sr₂AITaO₈.

Since the integration level is very low at this stage of the development of HTS circuits, demands on lithography are mon-

imal, and this is usually performed with contact lithography and standard resists. However, to avoid formation of stop-edge grain-houndary ponctums where interconnects cross steps in underlying films, an etch process is required that results in sidewalls that are sloped just 5° to 30 from the plane of the substrate—similar to the angles used for edge SNS junction fabrication. Tapered edges are obtained by ion milling with Ar or Ac/O, mixtures with the ion beam at an angle with respect to the substrate and the substrate rotating about its normal.

Because the surface of YBCO rearks with air and photoresist to form an amorphous layer of carbonates and hydroxides 2 nm to 10 nm thick, the surface must be cleaned after lithography and hefore a subsequent epitaxial film layer can be grown. In the case of edge SNS junctions shown in Fig. 8, the most important exposed surface is the edge cut in the base electrode which will serve as the template for growth of an N-layer and YBCO counterelectrode. Some combination of oxygen plasma ashing, blanket removal of the reacted layer by on milling, and wet chemical etching, typically with bromine-alcohol mixtures, is performed to prepare surfaces for the next film deposition.

Figure 8 shows that a Au contact layer is typically used to complete this multilayer structure. The contact layer is normally deposited in situ—that is, after the YBCO counterelectrickle layer has been deposited and cooled to runn temperature in oxygen, but before it has been exposed to air. In sito Au deposition lowers contact resistance and improves achieven. Other room-temperature film layers may be required for resistors and for electrical isolation of the resistor layers, but they do not require the same care that must be taken for film layers grown at high temperature

Groundplanes

As discussed in the section entitled 'Application Requirements," digital circuits require low inductances, of order a few picohenries, to ensure that the *LI*, product is about a flux quantum. The standard way to keep inductances low is to incorporate a superconduction ground plane above or below the active devices, which tends to confine the magnetic field in the relstively small volume between the two for moret superconductor layers. Calculation of inductance is also simplified for this geometry since the problem is essentially reduced to counting squares and using the expression for the inductance per square of such a macrostrip line:

$$L_{\infty} = \mu_2 d\kappa \left(1 + \frac{\lambda_1}{d} \coth\left(\frac{b_1}{\lambda_1}\right) + \frac{\lambda_2}{d} \coth\left(\frac{b_2}{\lambda_2}\right) \right) \qquad (3)$$

where *d* is the insulator thickness, h_1 and b_2 the superconductor thicknesses, and *s* is a factor that determines the field strength at the center of the finite width ancreastrip. The long penetration depth of YBCD, compared to Nb for example, means that the inductance per square is much higher. For example, at 65 K we have $x_1 = \lambda_2 + i \approx 0.24$ nm, so for $d = b_1 = b_2 + 0.24$ nm and $x \approx 1$, we have $L_{41} \approx 0.64$ pH. Contrast this with the case for Nb at 4.2 K, where $i_1 \approx 0.04$ nm and $L_{42} \approx 0.35$ pH. Thus the circuit-driven constraints of low inductance are particularly difficult to achieve, suggesting the need for novel gate layouts in HTS.

The integration of a YBCO groundplane has been demonstrated for several HTS junction types, including step-edge SNS, step-edge grain boundary, and edge SNS junctions. Measured inductances are consistent with other measurements of the penetration depth.

Example Circuits

The key factor in determining the yield of working HTS circasts is the degree of control over porctoal critical currents especially the on-chip spread. The more complex the circuit, the tighter the I_c spread must be, although the numerical relationship between I_c spread and circuit yield depends on the circuit margins. While LTS SFQ circuits often exhibit wide margins, of order 30% or more, extrapolating such values to HTS uperation at 40 K to 66 K is controversial. If these margins do hold out, possibly in cases where bit-error rate is not a driving contern, then spreads of 15% should allow, based purely on statistical arguments, yields of 50% for circuits with up to about twenty junctions (24). In fact a number of such circuits have been demonstrated at up to about 65 K, at least at low speed, bearing out some optimism.

Demonstrated HTS gates or cirruits include digital devices such as logic gates (OR, AND, etc.), set-reset dip-flops, toggle flip-flops, sampling circuits, and shift registers, as well as analog devices such as SQUID amplifiers. For digital devices, in which all of the junctions need to "work" for correct operation, the highest junction round is about 00. Figure 9 shows an example of a 10-junction circuit—the first stage of a low-power analog-to-digital converter, fabricated with edge SNS junctions over a ground plane.

So far there has been very little work to quantify the experimental margins of such HTS circuits. Should the more pesamostic estimates of HTS SFQ margins be borne int. then it may be necessary to rely on voltage-state logic, where increased power dissipation will crase one of the major advantages of



Figure 9. An example of a simple multilityer HTS circuit, a 1-bit analog-to-digital converter, fabricated with edge SNS junctions over an HTS groundplane. The lightest areas are the gold-coated counterelecraide, while the darkest are the base electrode. The process used to produce the errorit is extendable to much more complex ricuits, provided that process critical current uniformity can be improved sofficiently.

superconductivity, or on multi-flux-quantum schemes, several of which have been prepased.

Manufacturability of HTS circuits will also require that chupto chip parameter spreads be well controlled. For a single circuit it may be feasible to tune the operating temperature to, for example, adjust the average critical current to the desired value but this is clearly not practical current to the desired value but this is clearly not practical for a system consisting of several separately manufactured superconducting circuits. Adjustment of overall circuit bases is a more practical solution to poorly targeted critical current values but will significantly increase costs due to the need for increased circuit (esting and qualification. Thus, ultimately it will be necessary to control chip-to-chip parameter reproductibility to the level of a few percent at most, which will be a significant challenge for these complex materials.

There is no single answer to the question of what is the best application for HTS Josephson junctions. However, a consensus of these working in the field believes that applications that utilize the analog precision of Josephson devices constithe first promising niche where Jusephson devices can surpass semiconductor circuits. Thus there is an emphasis on high precision analog-in-digital and digital-to-analog converters in such applications as radar, communications, and preciston instrumentation. For example, an A-ta-D converter with 20. hats of accuracy on a 10 MHz signal handwidth would leaplrog semiconductor A-ta-D converters, based on their historical rate of progress, by about 10 years. A patential application of such a converter is in radar, where it is desired to pick out a small. target (accplane, missile) from a large "clutter" signal (rain, communications terrain, waves). Such a circuit should contain, depending on the details of the architecture, anywhere from several hundred to several thunsand Josephson junctions. Assuming curvit margins of 30% (which may be optimistic), the required junction critical current spread for 50% yield, based on the calculations of Ref. 23, would be approximately 10% to 899. Should the margins be reduced to, for example, 15% due to thermal noise issues, then the required spread would be more like 59 to 49

The issue of operating temperature is also of crucial importance, and is influenced by the potential errorit performance, as limited by thermal noise, and the availability, reliability, size, weight, and cooling power of the eryomoler. For example, a typical Stirling-cycle cooler with 0.3 Watts of heat-lift at 4.2 K would have an input requirement of some 1500 W, and would weigh about 260 pounds. This power and weight probably rules out the application of LTS circuits in most airborne plotforms. On the other hand a Stirling cooler with 4 W of heatlift at 77 K would only require about 100 W of input power, and should weigh only about 10 pounds, making airborne deployment much easier. Operating at 40 K, should thermal noise require it, might reduce the available heat lift to 0.4 W, which should still be sufficient circuits of several thousand junctions

ADVANCED ISSUES

Proximity Effect

When a superconductor and normal metal are brought militantact. Cooper pairs from the superconductor can diffuse into the normal metal. They to phenon-induced pair breaking, the pair amplitude/placknown as the superconducting order parameter or wavefunction) in the normal metal decays exponentially over a decay length defined as the normal metal coherence length, ξ_n . In the clean limit where ℓ_n , the mean five path in N, is much greater than ℓ_n , the coherence length is given by

$$\xi_m = \frac{\hbar c_\tau}{2\pi 4T}$$
(4)

while in the durty limit with $l_0 \ll \varepsilon_{1s}$ the coherence length is

$$\xi_{nd} = \frac{\sqrt{hD_n}}{\sqrt{2\pi kT}}$$
(5)

where the diffusion constant, D_{*} equals $\psi A_{n}/d$ and d is the dimensionality. Theories describing the details of the superconductor-normal-metal "proximity-effect" interaction have here developed for a variety of cases including backto-back SN contacts—that is, the SNS weak link (24,25) he the SNS Josephson junction, pairs from each superconducting electrode "leak" into the normal metal interlayer and the overlap of the exponentially decaying pair amplitudes determines the strength of interaction between the superconductors. Consequently, the magnitude of the Josephson critical current scales as $\exp[-L(k_{*})T]$, where L is the normal metal bridge length. More specifically, in the dirty limit for long SNS bridges $(L \gg \xi_{n})$ relatively close in $T_{k}(T > 0.3T_{k})$, it is found that

$$I_{\ell}(T;L) \cong \frac{\sigma}{2eR_{\ell}} \frac{\left(\Delta_{\ell}\right)^{2}}{kT_{\ell}} \frac{L}{\epsilon_{\rm ref}(T)} e^{-4e\pi s_{\rm ref}(T)}$$
(6)

where A, is the superconducting gap at the superconductornormal-metal interface. This equation inducates that the critical current of an SNS weak link should also very exponentially with temperature, because of the $(T)^{-1/2}$ temperature dependence of the dirty-limit normal-metal coherence length. The exponential length and temperature dependence of the critical current are the distinguishing signatures at true proximity elfect dissives. Indeed, there are a number of examples of HTS SNS devices which are largely consistent with proximity effect theory, most notably the junctions using Co-or Ca-doped YBCO as the normal metal layer. An example of exponential critical current dependence an temperature for a Co-doped YBCO SNS edge junction is shown in Fig. 10, along with a proximity theory



Figure 10. Critical current versus temperature for a YBCO/Ce-YBCO YBCO edge SNS junction. The solid line is a lit to the preximity effect theory of DeGermes. Despite the fact that the junction is nonideal, in that it exhibits a large interface resistance, it still appears to exhibit behavior consistent with the proximity effect.

fit to the data (26). However, it is often found that HTS devices with a nominal SNS configuration do not show an exponential critical current dependence on temperature. In fact, such devices commonly exhibit a quasilinear temperature dependence, which may indicate that pathole conduction through the normal metal is dominating the electrical characteristics (25).

Control of Resistance in SNS Devices

The normal state resistance of an SNS weak link is given by the sum of the normal metal resistance plus the resistance of each of the two SN interfaces. In the "ideal" SNS device the interface resistances are zero and the total device resistance is just $R_{\rm s} = \rho_{\rm s} f_{\rm s} A_{\rm s}$ where $\rho_{\rm s}$ is the normal metal resistivity, L is the normal metal thickness, and A is the cross-sectional area. For typical values of these parameters in an SNS raige junction with a YBa₂Cu_{2.4}Co_{1.2}O₅ cormal metal layer at 65 K $(a_{\rm p} = 250 \ \mu \Omega$ -cm, $L = 100 \ {\rm \AA}$, and ${\rm \AA} = 4 \ \times \ 0.2 \ \mu {\rm m}^2$) we find $R_{\rm e}=0.03~\Omega$. In practice, such low values of resistance are often undesirable. For example, for SEQ digital applications at 55 K. junctions are biased at a fixed current of order 500 μ A so that the available $I_c R_b$ product with $R_b = 0.03 \ \Omega$ is only 15 μ V, far less than the required value of approximately $300 \ \mu V$. Increasing SNS device resistances to a practical level requires adding interface resistance without degrading the inherent $T_e R_e$ product. In principle, this can be done in at least two ways: (1) by incorporating an inhomogeneous interface resistance to reduce the effective device area $\mathfrak{or}(2)$ by producing a thin insulator at one SN interface to form an SINS structure. In practice, different groups have seen widely varying values of SNS reasonance. ranging from the ideal but impractual case of very low R, A:16) to the more technologically interesting case of high- $R_{\rm e}A$ devices (27).

For SNS weak lanks using Co-YBCO as the normal metal, it has been found that the interface resistance is sensitive to a variety of factors including the base electrode maternal and the normal metal and counterelectrode deposition conditions (17). For example, SNS devices using YBa₂Cu₃O₂ base electrodes grown by pulsed laser deposition (PLD) exhibit more than an order of magnitude lower resistance than devices with hardoped. YBCO base electrodes (YBa $_{1,25}La_{0,05}Co_{5}O_{1}O_{1}$ or $GdBa_{2}Co_{4}O_{1}$ or NdBa₂Cu₁O₅ base electrodes. Varying the normal metal and counterstectrole growth parameters can also have a dramatic effect on device resistance: High-pressure PLD growth in an Ar-O₂ atmosphere results in $R_{\rm r}A$ products over a factor of 10 smaller than for devices produced using the more conventional PLD deposition conditions in a pure oxygen background. While the detailed nature of the interface resistance is not understowl at this point, the base electrode material dependence suggests that ention disorder (e.g., Y and Hatexchange) is affecting device resistance. The fact that the growth conditions of the normal metal also have a strong effect on SNS resistance indicates that defects "frozen in" in the early stages of normal metal growth may also play an important role in determining interface realstances. Because SNS interface resistances are strongly affected by a minuter of material and fabrication parameters, it is possible to control SNS device resistances over two to three orders of magnitude, with $\mathcal{K}_{\mu} A$ products ranging from 0.03 \mathcal{Q} -junt' to more than 10 $\Omega_{\rm eff}m^2$. Importantly, even in the relatively high R.A limit required for SFQ applications (0.6 Ω - μ m²), $\sigma^2 \eta$, m^2). Co-doped YBCO SNS devices incorporating significant interface resistance still behave like true proximity effect devices (see, for example, Fig. 10) with parameter uniformity suitable for small-scale SFQ circuits.

Limits on Reproducibility

Speculation on the origins of parameter apreads have led to many experiments in fabrication of edge SNS junctions. Surprisingly, the fabrication parameters which result in junction resistances greater than $R_r = n_n L/A$ do not appear to systematically contribute to larger appeads in critical currents or other junction parameters. Similarly, the undurnity of current flow through a junction which can be inferred from $I_c(B)$ indicates that junctions with significant interface resistance maintain uniform current distributions.

Poor control over many fubrication parameters will certainly result in junction spreads worse than the state of the art A good example is the roughness of YBCO base electrodes which gets transferred into the edge by patterning with Ar ion milling. While improvements from 10 one to 2 one rise surface moghness provide a measurable benefit for junction reproducibility, forther improvements in smoothness have had a negligible effect A second example is that junctions facing in all four in-plane directions sometimes exhibit a distribution of critical corrects that is direction-dependent. However, when all processing steps are made isotropic, state-of-the-art junction uniformity can be achieved as easily in a set of junctions facing in four directions us in a set facing just one way.

These results have led us to examine defects that are intrinsic to YBCO. The cole of oxygen disorder in YBCO has been uccessing the number of oxygen vacancies by plasma oxidation or annealing in ozone simply scales *I*, for all created junctions by a constant factor as large as five. Experiments in which orthorhombic YBCO electrodes were replaced by doped YBCO compounds which were tetragonal have been inconclusive in determining the possible role that twinning in YBCO might have on parameter spreads. Junctions were fabricated to face in (110) or-plane directions instead of the standard (100) directors to minimize the effects attributable to twinning, but no improvement in junction uniformity was observed.

Finally, the fact that similar best-case critical correct spreads are observed for different junction followination processes using the same base electrode materials suggests that microstructural defects in the base electrode or base electrode edge are limiting I_c spreads. Further improvements in materials quality and edge formation techniques are expected to lead to improved junction spreads.

CONCLUSIONS

Josephson junctions based on YBCO are the fundamental building blacks for a variety of superconducting electronics applirations operating at temperatures >50 K. The properties of individual junctions fabricated in a variety of configurations are sufficiently close to ideal Josephson behavior to meet application requirements. However, integration of junctions into multilayer circuits and domands on reproducibility of junction parameters when higher junction counts are needed have carrowed development efforts to a few promising configurations. Most of the current HTS circuit fabrication effort in industrial laboratories is based on edge SNS junctions which have been used for the most sophisticated and extendible digital circuit demonstrations. Further incremental improvements in the uniformity of these junctions to $1-\alpha$ *I*, spreads less than 10% will permit medium-scale integrated circuit fabrication. A parallel offort, mainly by university researchers, is exploring higherrisk alternative junction configurations intended to circuisivent some of the limitations to junction uniformity that may exist for edge junctions.

BIBLICKGRAPHY

- T Van Duzer and C. W. Turner, Principles of Superconductore Demonstand Corraits, New York, Elsevier, 1981.
- D. Rubbes et al., The ar-Jusephson effect in constructions engraved in bulk YBa₂Cu₂O₇, and de SQUID operation at 77 K. *Nature*, 881: 151-153, 1964.
- 3 B.H. Moeckly, D.K. Lathrup, and H.A. Buhrman. Electromigration study of exygen disorder and grain boundary effects in YBCO thin films, *Phys. Rev. B*, 47: 400, 1990.
- D. Damos et al., Orientation dependence of grain-boundary critical increases in YBogCosOy, biorystals, Phys. Rev. Lett., 81: 219-222, 1998.
- K. Charlet al., Bi-opicaxial grain boundary junctions in YBa₂Cu₂O₇, Appl. Phys. Lett., 69: 739–735, 1991.
- K. Herrmann et al., Characterization of YBa/Cu₃O- step edge junctions, Supercond. Sci. Technol., 4: 583-590, 1991
- J. Lutre et al., Characteristics of high performance YBCO step-edge jonctions, Appl. Phys. Lett., 61: 1128–1130, 1992.
- M. J. Zuni et al., Preused ion beam high T, superconductor de SQUIDs, Appl. Phys. Lett., 59: 234-2591 (1991)
- R. B. Laubowatz et al., All high T. edge jour toons and SQUIDs, Appl. Phys. Lett., 56, 686–689, 1900.
- 10 B. D. Hunt et al., High Temperature Superconductor Josephson. Weak Links in S. I. Raider et al. (eds.). *Low Temperature Electronics and High Temperature Superconductivity*. Electrochemical Soc. Proc., vol. 93-22, Permington, NJ: The Electrochemical Society 1993, pp. 462–472.
- B. H. Mnockly and K. Char, Interface Engineered High T. Josephscondoctories, in H. Koch and S. Knappereds. *J. ISEC* '97 *Eth. Int. Su*percond. *Electron. Conf. Extended Adatmscis*, vol. 1, Brounschweig, Germany: **PTB**, 1997, pp. 4–10.
- S. K. Tolpyge et al. High quality YBa₂Cu₂O₃ disseption junctions ninde by direct electron beam writing. Appl. Phys. Lett., 63: 1696 1698, 1993; A. J. Pauzo et al., Electron beam damaged high T, junctions stability, reproducibility and staling laws. *IEEE Trans.* Appl. Superrord., 5: 2410–3413, 1995.
- R. W. Simon et al., Progress Towards & YBCO Circuit Process. in R. McConnell and S. A. Volffieds I, Science and Tichnology of Thin Film Superconductors II, New York: Plenum, 1990, pp. 549–560.
- 14 B. H. Ono et al., High T, superconductor-mononal metalsuperconductor Josephson microhedges with high-resistance nororal metal links. Appl Phys. Lett., 59: 1126–1128, 1991.
- M. S. Dilorio et al., Manufacturable [nw-noise SQUIDs operating in liquid nitrogen, Nature, 854–513–515, 1991.
- K. Cher, J. Antognazza, and T. H. Gwhelle, Properties of YBa₂Cu₂O₇, 'YBa₂Cu₂ ₂CO₁₊₂O₂₀, YBa₂Cu₃O_{7,2} edge junctions. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 55: 904-906, 1994.
- H. D. Hunt et al., High-resistance HTS SNS edge junctions, Appl. Supercond., 1996, in press.
- M. A. J. Verhueven et al., Ramp-type practice parameter control by Galdaping of PrBayCupO: barriers, April. Phys. Lett., 68: 846–650, 1956.
- C. T. Bogers et al., Fabrication of heterospicaxial YBa₂U_{0.1}()_{1.27}

PrBa₂Cu₃O₅., YBa₂Cu₃O₅., Jusephson devices prown by laser deposition, Appl. Phys. Lett., 55: 2032–2034, 1988.

- 20 J. N. Ecketern, I. Bozavic, and G. F. Vieshap, Atomic layer-by-layer engineering of high T-materials and heterestructure devices. MRS Datl., 19 (2): 44–50, 1984.
- H. Seto, S. Gjoen, and H. Akub, Improvement of junction progenties of YBaCuO/PrBaCuO. YBaCcO analysis Josepheon junctions, IKEE Trans. Appl. Supervised., 7: 2510–2513, 1997.
- S. W. Goodyean et al. Vartical consist macrohydry: junctions in YBe₂Co₂O₇: PrBa₂U₀O₅, they films, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Super*word, 5: 8143–8146, 1906
- D. L. Miller, J. N. Przybysz, and J.-H. Kang, Margins and yields of SFQ circuits in HTZ materials, *IEEE Draws Appl. Supercend.* 3: 2728-2731 (1993)
- 24 P. G. DeGennes, Roy. Mod. Phys., 36, 235, 1964.
- K. A. Delm and A. W. Kleinsusser, Stationary properties of log/contical componature proximity effect Josephson junctions, *Supercond. Soc. Technol.*, 9 (227) 209, 1996.
- 25 M. G. Forrester, unpublished, 1997
- B. D. Bunt et al., High-T, SNS edge junctions and SQUIDs with integrated granudplanes, Appl. Phys. Lett., 69: 3605–3607, 1996.

BRIAN D. HUNT Centre de Recherches en Physique des Plasmas MARTIN C. POURENTER Conductos, Inc JOHN TALVATURIO Northrop Grugoman Science and Technology Center

HTS PROCESSING: BULK, THIN FILM, AND WIRES

Superconductors are a class of materials possessing two unique properties, the complete loss of electrical resistivity below a transition temperature called the critical temperature $(T_{\rm e})$ and the expansion of magnetic flux from the bulk of a sample (diamagnetism) in the superconducting state. The latter property is also known as the Meissner. Ochsenfeld effect or more commonly, the Meissner effect (), A) temperatures above T , these materials possess electrical resistivity like ordinary conducturs, although their normal state properties are unusual in many aspects. The abrupt change from normal conductivity to superconductivity occurs at a thermodynamic phase transition. determined not only by the temperature but also by the magnetic field at the surface of the material and by the current carried by the material. Several metals and nustallic alloys exhibst superconductivity at temperatures below 22 K, and will be henceforth called low temperature superconductors (LTS). In 1950, superconductivity was explained as a quantum mechapical phenomenon by the Landon phenomenological theory. (2). Later, the two-fluid phenomenological model explained the electronic structure of a superconductor as a mixture of superconducting and normal electrons, with the proportion of superconducting electrons ranging from zero at the onset of superconductivity to 100% at 0 K (3). In 1966, Bardeen, Cooper, and Schrieffer's (RCS) theory explained that superconductivity was the result of the formation of electron pairs of opposite spins thrown as Cooper pairs, primarily owing to electron glucom coopling (4). The BUS theory proved to be the most complete.

theory for explaining the superconducting state and the normal state of LTS materials. A major development in superconducfors was the discovery by -losephson in 1963 that Cooper pairs show materascopic phase coherence, and that such pairs can tunnel through a thin insulating layer candwiched between two superconducting layers [the superconductor-Insulator superconductor (SIS) junction known as the Jusephson junction 1.5), This effect, called the Josephson effect (5), caused a flurry of activity in the fields of high-speed computer logic and memary circuits in the 1960s and 1970s, since it can be used to make high-speed low-power switching devices. Problems were encountered in the mass fabrication of Josephson junctions for complex systems such as digital computers. Although the applications of LTS for electrical applications and electronics were demonstrated, the cost of cooling was too high for the commercipl development of LDS.

The era of high-temperature superconductors (HTS) began in 1986 when two IBM Zurich researchers, K. A. Muller and -I. G. Bernarz, reported the occurrence of superconductivity in a lanthanum barium copper oxide (LaBaCut)) at 30 K(6). Soon after, M. K. Wu, P. W. Chu, and their collaborators at the University of Alahama and University of Houston (7), respectively. announced the discovery of 90 K superconductivity. Since these two historic discoveries, there has been substantial progress in HTS technology. Several new families of caprates including BiSrCaCnO (8), TiCaBaCnO (9), and HgCaBaCnO (10) have heen found to be superconducting above 90 K. These discoveraes make leasible electrical and electronics applications at temporstares show the boiling point of liquid nitrogen (77 K). Cuprate superconductors with a T value higher than 30 K have been classified as high-temperature superconductors. The obvious advantage of using liquid nitrogen rather than liquid behum fer cooling is its higher heat of vaporization, which not only simplifies the design of cryostats but also the cost of coshing. Furthermore, liquid merogen (a) \$0.25/liter) is more than an order of magnitude cheaper than bouid belium (at \$5/liter). Progress. made in cryccoelers has made feasible HTS applications in electrical wires, magnets, and electronics. The excitement and challarges power by these HTS materials have touched multiple disciplines, such as physics, chemistry, material science, and electrical engineering. Tremendous progress has been made in the application of HTS materials in such preas as Superconducting Quantum Interference Devices (SQUIDs), passive microwave devices, and long-length wires, as illustrated in the road map for the HTS technology, shown in Fig. 1. Betterquality materials emerging from refined processing methods have made it possible to apparate the intrinsic properties of HTS from its extransic properties. The intervelationships of processing with structural, physical, electrical, and magnetic properties continues to be an area of intensive setentific research. In this article, we provide an overview of important high-temp-rature superconducting materials, their properties, and prioring procedures for synthesizing bulk. thin film and wire forms of HTS conductors for engineering applications.

PROPERTIES OF HIGH-TEMPERATURE SUPERCONDUCTORS.

Magnetic Properties

The critical temperature (T_{ϕ}) is defined as the temperature helow which a superconductor possesses no de electrical



Figure 1. A generalized road map for the HTSs technology, VBCO 122 compound has been the most studied material among the HTSs. Most applications here been demonstrated with the YBCO superconductor. Most applications in HTS were have been demonstrated using BSCCO.

resistivity or the temperature below which a superconductor exhibits diamagnetic behavior. The useful range of operation of a superconductor is typically below 0.6 $T_{
m ev}$ as other important superconducting properties are enhanced below this temperature. Critical current density (J_i) is one of the most important superconducting properties for engineering applications. It is an estimate of maximum current density (current per crosssectional area of the conductory a superconductor can support before becoming a normal conductor. The critical field (H_i) for a superconductor is the maximum magnetic field below which a superconductor exhibits diamagnetic hohovior and above which the superconductivity is quenched. The T_{c}, H_{c} and J_{c} parameters define a point in three-dimensional space, and for superconductors these points span a volume as shown in Fig. 2, $T_{\rm e}$ H_c , and J_c values are relatively low in type I superconductors. Type II superconductors are generally suitable for most electricall and electronic applications because of higher T_i, H_i and J_i values (11). In type I superconductors, the flow of shielding curreal in the superconductor is restricted to a thin layer from the surface, called the penetration depth $(0, \epsilon)$ when the integratic field is below H_{ii} . The penciration depth is very small near () K, and moreuses dramatically as the temperature approaches T₅. The penetration depth at 0 K ranges from 100 A to 1500 A for type I materials (11). Above the critical field, the magnetic field completely penetrates a type I superconductor, guenching superconductivity, as shown in Fig. 3. Figure 3 also dlustrates the T-dependence of resistivity in a superconductor at $T \sim T_{cc}$

In type II superconductors, H_{cl} represents the lower critical field above which magnetic flux penetrates a superconductor to form a mixed state in which superconducting and normal electrons coexist. When $H > H_{22}$, the upper critical field, superconductivity is largely confined to the sortiace of the material. In the mixed state, magnetic flux penetrates through small tubular regions on the order of the coherence length $|\xi\rangle$ (a length scale that characterizes superconducting electron pair coupling), called vortices (or flux tubes), with each vortex containing one quantum of flux, ϕ_0 (12). Abrikusov, in his study of type II superconductors determined that $\phi_0 = k/2e$, where h is Planck's constant and e is the electronic charge (12). The vortices form a periodic lattice called the Abrikosov vortex lattice. The resistantly of a superconductor may be vanishing in the index state, provided the vortices are pinned or trapped.



Figure 2. Temperature-current magnetic field $(T) \cup H^*$ threedomensional surface defining the operating limits for a superconductor.



Figure 3. A type I superconductor's magnetic flux density versus applied magnetic field. A type I superconductor will not have any flux enclosed in the bulk below the critical temperature. Above the critical field, the applied field completely permeates in the bulk of the critical

As the applied magnetic field ($H_{\rm a}$) upproaches $H_{\rm c2}$, the number of vortices increases until there can no longer bo any more addition of vortices, at which point the material becomes a normal conductor. Figure 4 shows the magnetic properties of type II superconductors. In the mixed state, each vortex resides in a normal region, which is separated by superconducting regions. The vartices experience three different types of forces: one is the Lorentz force due to the flow of external current, experienced m the direction of and propartional to the vector product of the charrent and the vortex field. Second is the force of repulsion from other vortices, and thard is the pairing force from metallurgical defects. The Lorentz force causes motion of vortices talsa called the flux flow). The vortex motion produces an opposing clicitic field to the flow of correct, essentially contributing to obmic losses. However, vortices can become trapped or pinned (called flux priming) at metallurgical defects, in secondary phases or at imparity sites. Owing to the repulsive forces between each vortex, pinning a few variaces may lead to a frozen vortex lattice, or



Pigure 4. The magnetic behavior of a type [] superconductor, showing the Measurer state behavior below H_{c1} , mixed state behavior between H_{c1} and H_{c2} , and the surface superconductivity between H_{c2} and H_{c1} .



Figure 5. Temperature dependence of resistivity for an epitaxial $c_{3,4}$ sourcealed VRCO (bin film at different magnetic fields, with the field parallel to the c-axis. Courtesy of Ref. 13

a lossless state, true only for direct currents and low-frequency alternating currents. The frozen vortex lattice means only below a critical field called the irreversibility field (H_{irr}) . Some of the trapped vartices could remain in the superconductor. contributing to a hysteretic behavior when an alternating current is applied, which produces further dissipution of energy. The trapped flux is analogous to remanent flux in ferromagnetic materials. While pointing contens tend to prevent the movement. of vortices, there is a tendency for vortices to jump over the pinning defects. This phenomenon is called flux creep. At H. > H_{cre} vortices will move, causing additional energy dissipation. Resistive transitions in a superconducting sample in applied magnetic fields are shown in Fig. 5. Transitions at higher fields clearly show additional ohmic losses (13). Although the upper critical field is generally higher in type II materials, the limiting field is the irreversibility field, which is an order of magnitude lower than H_{cr} . Owing to the complex nature of the suprate ceramic superconductors, and operation at higher temperatures, the ac losses in HTS materials are generally higher than in UTS materials (14, 15).

Structural Properties

The presence of one or more copper axide (CnO2) planes in the unit cell is a current feature of all HTS materials, also referred as cuprate superconductors. The most popular cuprate nuclerials are $Y_1Ba_2Ca_2O\delta$ (henceforth referred to as YBCO). Bi₂Sr₂Ca_{n-1}Cu_nO_{2n++} (where n = 2. 3) BSCCO (henceforth referred to as Bi2212, Bi2223 for n = 2, and n = 3, respectively), Th₂Ba₂Ca₂ O_{2n++} (where n = 2. 3) BSCCO (henceforth referred to as Bi2212, Bi2223 for n = 2, and n = 3, respectively), Th₂Ba₂Ca_{n-1}Cu_nO_{2n++} (henceforth referred to as Ti2201, Ti2212, and Ti2223), and HgBa₂Ca_{n-1}Cu_nO_{2n++} (where m = 1, 2, 3). Table 1, lasts the well developed cuprate superconductors, their superconducting properties, and enjortant applications demonstrated to date. In YDCO, there are two square planar CuO₂ planes stacked in the c-direction, separated by an intercalating layer of barron and copper atoms and a variable number of oxygen atoms. The conventional wisdom is that the CuO₂ planes are the conduction channels of superconductivity, whereas the intercalating layers provide

	U/0 and J/H				
Material	T_{c}	(Afem ²)	Applications		
Bulk YBa ₂ CU,O ₁₁ (223) YBCO (melt grown)	90 K	10° ot 77 K ZF	ITTS covities		
-		18° ut 77 K 10T	Bearings, EM shield		
Thin Ælm YECO on crystalline substrates	90 K	10 ⁷ at 77 K ZF	SQUIDs, microwove		
		10° ot 77 K 5T	Electronics		
T. Ba CaCu ₂ O. (2212) than Æltn	97±100 K	2 × 10° at 77 K ZF	Mirrowave		
		J × 10 ⁴ at 77 K 0.4T	Electronics		
ThBa,CagCo O , (1228) then ASim	117±123 K	2 × 10* at 77 K ZF	Microwave		
		5 × 10' at 77 K 1T	Electronics		
Bi ₂ SrCa,Cu ₂ O, wires/tames	90 K	104 as 77 K ZF	Law Æeld IITS withs fo		
		10° a1 77 K LT	20±30 K applications		
		10° at 4 K ZF			
		10° at 4 K 1T			
BijSryCogCogCog worsatta poz	LLO K	557 / 104 at 77 K ZF	Magnets, current leads.		
· · · ·		5 × 10° et 77 K 1°F	SMES		

Table 1. Promising HTS Materials, Properties, and Applications

carriers or act as charge reservoirs necessary for superconductivity, although this view is not shared universally (16). The charge density, the number of superconducting charge carriers per unit volume, is determined by the overall chemistry of the system and by the charge transfer between the CuO₂ planes and the CuO changs. The charge density in a HTS material (10¹²/cm³) is two orders of magnitude lower than conventional. LTS (10²¹/cm³). Remarkably, the oxygen content in the system changes the oxidation states of the copper chain atoms, which, in turn, affects their ability for charge transfer, charge density, and supersonducting properties. Depending on the oxygen content, the YBCO 123 material could have a nonsuperconducting tetragenal ($a = b \neq c$) phase or a 90 K superconducting orthanhambic to $\neq b \neq c$) phase. When fully axygenated, YBCO powerses an orthorhombic unit cell with typical dimensions of $a = 3.85 \text{ Å}, b = 3.55 \text{ Å}, \text{ and } c = 12.0 \text{ Å}, \text{ and a } T_c = 90 \text{ K}.$ Figure 6 shows the crystal structure of YBCO 123 and BSCCO 2223 yoperconductors, showing the conduction layers and the binding layers in each case.

BSCCO superconductor contains a weakly bonded double BiO layer that separates the CuO₂ planes. The Bi2223 structure is part of a family of several other HTS compounds in which Hi is replaced by TI or Hg (with different oxygen coordination) and partially by lead. In some cases, the double layer of these metal-oxide layers can be reduced to a single layer-yielding another family of superconductors such as 1212 or 1228 [e.g., CI [Pb)₁Ba₂Ca₂Cu₂U₁₂ beneficith is referred as T\$1223). The single-layer compounds offer strong flux pinning and low intrinsic defect structure compared to the double-layer compounds. The presence of a weakly bondral Biff hayar is orgcial for their superconduction properties in the Bi2212 and 2223 systems. The mechanical properties of Bi2212 and 2223 are micaccous. (mica-or clay-tike), and they have highly anisotropic growth rates along the ab- plane and e-direction. The latter is important to process long-length wires and to enhance like electromagnetic connectivity of the grains, thus making high transport current densities over long lengths possible (17). This is mainly due to the weak interlayer bonding of the BiO layer with the CuO₂ planes. On the other hand, the weak interlayer honding of the BiO layer also leads to intermixing of Bi2212 and Bi2223 phases. In spate of this weakness, better grain connectivity and micaceous crystalline morphology are attractive for developing long-length HTS wires. Tl2212 and 2223

compounds have a structure similar to the Bi2212 and 2223 compounds with (TiO) double layers replacing the BiO layers.

Other Important Properties

All the popular HTS materials passess a fundamental limitation, crystalline anisotropy, i.e., they possess different structural and electrical properties in different directions), Superconducting properties such as critical current density (J_t) and critical magnetic field (H_t) along the ab-planes lxy (are superior to those along the c-axis (z). A major challenge for researchers has been to develop textured samples to take advantage of high J_t in the ab-planes. The HTS materials also exhibit higher penetration depths compared with LTS materials. The penetration depth is an important parameter for high-frequency applications of superconductors. It is defined as the depth through which a magnetic field penetrates into a superconducting sample and decays to 1/c of the field at the surface. The



Figure 5. The crystal structure of YBCO 123 and BSCCO 2223 compounds, showing the conducting layers, and the hundring layers.

magnetic field decays in the form of $H = H_0 e^{-s_{corr}}$, where H_c is the field at the surface, x is the depth through the sample, and λ is the penetration depth of the superconductor, analogous to the skin depth in conventional electrical ronductors. Penetration depth x (T) increases with temperature. Penetration depth is a frequency independent parameter in contrast to the frequency-dependent skin-depth of normal conductors. This means that little or no dispension will be introduced in superconducting components, and that it will be negligible up to frequencies as high as tens of gigahertz, in contrast to dispersion present in normal metals. Furthermore, lower losses in superconductors lead to a reduction in physical size, and this feature represents another advantage for HTS thin-film based circuits. Compact delay lines, filters, and resonators are possible with a high-quality factor (Q) due to low-conductor losses (see Superconducting filters and passave components). The challenge in processing involves developing HTS materials with smoothsurface morphology to numbrize high-frequency ac conductor losses. The extremely short enherence length in HTS materials (< 30 Å along the ab-plane) increases the difficulty of making Josephson junctions (see (TUNNELING AND JOSEPHSON auxernose).

PROCESSING OF HIGH-TEMPERATURE SUPERCONDUCTORS

Although T_{i} and H_{i} values of a superconductor are generally intrinsic properties of a specific material, J_{i} and λ values, on the other hand, are a function of cample microstructure and can vary by several orders of magnitude owing to various processing techniques. A high J, in large magnetic fields is desirable for electrical applications of HTS. In general, d_{e} growter than 10^5 A/cm^2 at 77 K is required for wires, tapes, and magnets for high magnetic field applications (17). Although high Je in HTS are achieved in bulk, thin films, and wires, several processing-related problems need to be addressed. These problems relate to grain boundaries, metallurgical defects, flux pinning mechanisms, and flux creep. Grain boundaries are interfacial regions between adjacent grains and could contain impurity physics, normally conducting or insulating, extending beyond the coherence length of these superconductors. These grain boundaries create superconductor-normal conductor or insulator-superconductor Josephson junctions, the critical currents of which are much lower than in a homogenous superconductor, and hence they are called as weak links. The grain boundaries are particularly a problem in polycrystalline bulk superconductors because they affect the bulk critical current density. Grain boundaries also contribute to surface resistance of a superconductor at high frequencies because they increase the residual as losses. Processing of HTS materials to improve J, requires ways to minimize the grain-boundary effects and on hance the flux pinning sites in the superconductors. Addition of a small percentage of silver into HTS materials improves the critical currents of grain boundaries. Also, texturing of a bulk superconductor to align grants along ab planes reduces the detrimental effects of grain boundaries. It has been determined that the presence of low-angle grain boundaries (i.e., adjacent grains interfacing at a low angle (<10-4), is not deleterious to J. (18). However, the elimination of high-angle grain boundaries in HTS materials has been a difficult challenge to avercome. Recent developments in YBCO-coated conductors show promise in reducing the presence of high-angle grain boundarries, discussed later. To date, YBCO is the must successful candidate for enhancements in flux pinning (19). Enhancement of flux pinning and suppression of flux treep have been achieved by the introduction of controlled animumts of defects, such as coexisting normal secondary phases by alloying, or by neutron or proton irradiation to define normal regions along the particle trajectory that give rise to higher J-s and higher $H \ge (20)$.

Tremendous progress has been made in the synthesis of bulk angle phase HTS conductors, silver sheathed wires, tapes, and thin-film-cooted conductors in the post decade as shown in Table 1. Bulk conductors with large volume fraction of superconductivity are being routinely synthesized in YBCO-. Th, and Bi based HTS enaterials. Improved powder synthesis, understanding of reaction chemistry, and phase diagrams have led to increased phase purity and improved flux pinning tresulting in higher current density at self field). Solid-state reaction and melt texturing are the two widely used processing methods for bulk HTS.

PROCESSING OF BULK SUPERCONDUCTORS

There are three important process considerations for the choice of bulk superconductors for applications such as magnets, current leads, and superconductor magnetic energy storage systems (1) growth of large-area, single-phase bulk conductors, (2) ease of introducing strong flux pinning centers in the bulk, to enhance the critical currents, and (3) long-term stability, (i.e., ability to withstand thermal cycling to modest temperatures) and agong under ambient conditions. Among the various bulk superconductors, YBCO appears to be the most plausible for electrical applications since the details of the crystal structure have been reliably established, and it is easy to synthesize single-phase specimens. Moreover, in YBCO, introduction of flux prioring centers to enhance J_i has been demonstrated. although this is not the case in Br. TI, and Hg superconductors. Further, melt-processing growth of VBCO supercurduetors provides grain-alignment resulting in J_0 as high as 10° Arem² at self field and 77 K (21). In the case of YBCO the meltpowder-melt growth (MPMG) processing has significantly omproved performance of bulk materials. The thallates are also attractive as T_{τ} as high as 125 K. J_{τ} in bulk greater than 10⁴ Arem² at 77 K and zero field (22) have been achieved. An advantage with the thallates is that multiple phases, especially TI2228 and TI2212 phases, can coexist, without degrading the superconducting projecties in bulk conductors, thin films, and wires. The magnetic field dependence of J_{e} is comparable to the best YBCO superconductors. A disadvantage of thallates is the sourcity of Ti, which needs very careful handling and processing. The volatility of TI gives rise to its losses during high-temperature synthesis. Most of the thallates contain structural defects, which affect the superconducting properties negatively. The thermodynamics of Ti-based compounds is quite different from other HTS materials due to the volatility of TI (23).

At the present time, the synthesis of mercury-based HTS has unique problems mainly due to the volability of mercury compaunds. Since HgO decomprises around 500 C, all processing must be done in a scaled environment in the production of bulk superconductors. Also, the Bi compounds are not astractive for bulk conductors primarily due to the polycrystalline nature of the grains and weak flux priming along 30 K (19). Melt-texturing Bi compounds as not as simple as the YBCO. Bismuch compounds are generally thought to be attractive for wire applications owing to their micaceaus anorphology. In the following section, we provide processing details on YBCO. TI2212, and TI1223 bulk superconductors.

Processing YBCO 123 Bolk Superconductors

Conventional Solid-State Reaction Method. The conventional means of producing bulk HTS matemals is the solid-state reaction method, or calcination. Carbonates, or oxides of Ba. Ca. Cu. and Y as starting materials, are mixed and ground to the desired size and then heat-freated in an alumina crusible at temperatures as high as 950 C for 24 h. After cooling to room temperature, the reacted sample is finely ground and mixed again. and heat-treated for an additional 24 h; this step is repeated to promote homogeneity. The samples are then pelletized in desired shapes using a hydraulic press at a typical pressure of 1500 psi. The pelleta are placed in a cruciale made of gold. or platmant or alumnual introduced into a furnace preheated to 900 C, and sinternal typically in air for 24 h. Daygen is introduced into the fornace at around 500 C, during slow cooling of the camples to room temperature. This gives rise to the growth of the inthorhombic superconducting phase. Although the technique is fast, there are undesirable phases present in samples prepared this way, typically BaCnO₂, CnO, and possibly some contamination from the heat-treatment process. In spite of these limitations, it is possible to get |T|, of 90 K and current densities of 104 Acom² as zero field at 77 K. The polytrystalline nature of grains in such samples results in poor field. dependence of J_{ii} with J_i decreasing by three orders of magnitude in a magnetic field of 0.1 T.

Texturing of YBaCoO 123 Superconductors.

Texturing of YBCO can be achieved using mechanical, magru-lac, and melt-growth techniques. The mechanical and magnote: means produce only a marginal improvement in superconducting properties, mainly owing to the presence of large-angle grain boundaries, whereas mult growth techniques reduce the large-angle grain boundaries and improve the critical currents. significantly. The melt-texturing techniques are the most suitable for enhancement of J_i . Among the melt-texturing methods, melt texture growth (MTG) (21), quench and melt growth (QMC)(24), and melt powder melt growth (21) are techniques developed for nondirectional solidification. In these techniques, large YBCO crystals grow stacked along the loaxis, with improved connectivity between grating. Directional solidification is also possible by providing the right thermal gradient during the melt processing, either by the mayement of the farnace or the sample. Directional solidification methods align the grains along the lob-planes, the direction of current flow, thus inipriving the current carrying rapidality. It is give possible to align the grains along a preferred orientation using seeded melt growth (25) and liquid phase removal anethods (26). In the seaded melt growth bedenique, a directionally oriented single crystel Sm120 or Nd 123 is used as a seed material to grow YBCO, oriented along the same preferred direction.

The meit texture growth of YBCO 123 involves melting the YBCO above its peritectic temperature, approximately 1010 C, in air. When heated above this temperature, the 123 compound undergoes according to form a solid and a liquid phase according to the following machines (27):

$$\begin{array}{l} YBa_{2}Cu_{1}O_{+} \rightarrow 1010 \ C < T < 4800 \ C \rightarrow \\ Y_{2}BaCuO_{3}(211) \ green \ phase) + \ Liquid \ phase \\ Y_{2}BaCuO_{3}(green \ phase) + \ Liquid \ phase \rightarrow \\ 1300 \ C < T < 1500 \ C \rightarrow \\ Y_{2}O_{3} + \ Liquid \end{array}$$

Un subsequent slow cooling, large oriented domains of 123 phase with 211 (green phase) inclusions are formed. In such samples, grams grow preferentially along ab planes, are stacked along the oldirection, and are coupled by low-angle grain boundaries. This microstructure is in contrast to small randomly miented polycrystalline grains obtained by solidstate reaction. Quenching studies performed on MTG samples. show the presence of faceted growth interfaces where the 211 volume fraction and particle size decrease abruptly upon being included into the growing 123 grains. The 211 phase appears to provide Y into the growing phase of 120. The MPMG process is the most commonly used melt growth process designed for smaller sizes of the 211 precipitates, and homogenous distribution of the precipitates. This technique involves reaction of ${
m Y}_i O_s$ with a liquid phase to form the 211 phase. The nonuniform distribution is handled by taking the powder and crushing and remixing the melt quenched samples. This powder is pressed into a peilet and subjected to the melt growth. It was found that the samples should not be held above the peritering temperature for too long because the 211 phase will grow into coarse grains. After a short time above the perited to temperature, it is moled to just below the peritectic temperature and then slow-cooled in Howing oxygen to room temperature. The temperature profiles for MTG and MPMG processing techniques are shown in Fig. 7. The critical temperatures are identified for both processes. The evalution of the increatructure during the MPMG process is shown to Fig. 8/27). The figure illustrates the formation of 211inclusions into the liquid phase.

The seeded melt growth is the most promising for large area domains of YBCO (27). In this technique, a single crystal seed of Sm12') or Nd12's is embedded in a presintered Y12's bar, and the whole assembly is introduced into a modified Bridgeman furface for 15 min to 30 min and then withdrawn at a very slow rate of 1 mm/h. As the growth front of Y123 passes by the seed, seeded growth occurs at the interface. Because of the favorable alignment along of-plates, large current denomers, as high as 46,000 A/cm² at 77 K and zero field have been demonstrated. In the melt growth techniques, the hold time and cooling rate have a strong influence on the ministructure of the samples, determining the grain size and nature of the grain boundaries. The hold time determines the amount of liquid phase formed for the perifectic recombination. The cooling rate determines the time available for the recombination of the liquid (25).

Processing of TBCCO 2212 and 1223 Superconductors

In general, processing of thallates with high superconducting volume fraction (V_{sr}) has been difficult, principly because of the volatility of TL Processing of TL based HTS can be done either using an open system, or a closed system. In the open system, a sample is heat treated in an oxygen atmosphere or air at temperatures between 850 C and 900 C, for 10 min to 15 min. In a closed system, samples are sealed in a gold tube and heat-treated for longer times of 24 b to 48 h (26). The open system is susceptible to loss of TL and, hence, requires additional



Figure 7. Temperature profiles for (a) the melt certaining growth and (b) the melt process melt growth Courtersy of Ref. 27.

compensation for TI. The closed system has the disadvantage of souling the samples in a container or a foil, resulting in reaction. between the TI-based compound and the container. In our work, we were able to synthesize samples with T_is greater than 100 K for the TI2212 phase and 115 K for the TI1223 phase, with superconducting volume fractions greater than 50% in each case. by tuning the process parameters (29). The processing parameters that were optimized included the starting composituous of the compounds, sintering temperatures, and sintering tames The starting compositions are critical mainly because of the loss of Tl during heat treatments. In the 1223 superconductor the Hitschi composition of TlosPbusSrisBaosCasCu2O, has been a popular starting composition for high quality 1223 superconductor (30). In our study, we examined the role of different Ba oncontrations and excess TI and Pb doping concentrations to obtain a single phase 1223 superconductor in an open system (29).

Ti2212 samples were synthesized starting from $BaCuO_{2}$, CaO (99 9997) and Ti_2O_1 (99.9997) compounds. $BaCuO_2$ was prepared by mixing BaO_2 (99%) and CuO (99.99%) in equal molar portions and heat treating at 900 \odot for 24 h in air. The latter



Figure 8. Schematic representation of uncrostructure evolution in the MPMQ growth of YBCO: Initiater quenching—yttria and solidilied liqaid. (b. during heating to the 212 - 1, region – yttria particles redesolving: (c) in the 211 + L region, and (d) floal operastructure showing the 123 and 211 phases. Courtesy of Ref. 27

step was repeated after regrinding the pellet to promote homogenerity. BaCuO₂, CeO, and Tl₂O₃ were crited to a molar ratio of 2:1:1.07, pelletized, and reacted in an enclosed Pt crucible. Our results indicate that samples sintered at 550 C for 10 min followest by a second heat treatment at 860 C for 10 mm displayed optimum superconducting properties, which included a sharp T_r of 97 K, with a superconducting volume fraction as high as 54%. The porosity of the samples appears to be the limiting fuetor for the $V_{\mu\nu}$.

The first step performed in the synthesis of (31,1'b.8'sr, Ba) CaCuO 1223 superconductor, was the preparation of a SrCo CuO precursor, starting from 00.999% pure CaO and CuO and 99% pure SrO. Appropriate malar partitues of SrO. CaO, and CuO were mixed, heatest to 900 C for 24 h, could, and ground into a fine powder, then the same process was repeated to obtain a homogeneous precursor compound. For the Ba-doped samples, appropriate amounts of 99.99% pure BaO₂ were alloyed with SrO, in the precursor 'The second step was to add appropriate amounts of 99.990% pure PhO and Tl₂O₃ to the precursor Pellets of approximately 500 mg were made and heat-treated in an enclosed Pt crucible, as a temperature of 870 C for 10 min, followed by a slow cooling.

CHARACTERIZATION OF BULK SUPERCONDUCTORS

Structural Characterization

The primary characterization of any form of a superconductor consists in establishing the structure by X-ray diffraction (XRD), Xrays from a source are collineated to strike the sampie at an incident angle and Bragg scattered from the sample. For X roys, atomic planes of the material serve as a diffraction grating, causing the monochromatic X-ray beam to diffract and form a pattern. From an XRD pattern, one can establish the varjour phoses populated and, in principle, the crystal structure including lattice parameters of each phase. In practice, since the class lattice parameter depends on the oxygen content, XRD patterns can be used effectively to correlate structural results with superconducting parameters. If there is more than one phase present in a sample, the XRD patterns can be used to obtain quantitutively the concentration of various phases present in a sample. Since bulk materials synthesized by solidstate reaction are polycrystalline, the XRD pattern from such a sample has peaks corresponding to scattering from different

crystallographic planes such as (100), (110), and (001). Powder XRD is an effective means to establish the major places present in a sample.

Magnetic Properties

Vibrating sample magnetometer (VSM) is a widely used techpague for the study of all types of magnetic materials as it permits a measurement of the de magnetization of a sample. In HTS materials. VSM permits establishing the T dependence of the dramagnetic susceptibility in both a zero-field-cooled (ZFC). and a field-moled (FC) configuration. In the VSM technique, a sample is placed in a uniform magnetic field and vibrated at a low frequency so as to induce a voltage signal in a pickup cal propartional to the magnetic moment of the sample. The magnetic moment is proportional to the product of the sample susceptibility and the applied field (30). Measurements are typically performed at several temperatures to obtain the magnets: and superconducting properties. A plot of the magnetization versus applied magnetic field can yield the magnetization d, using the Bean's critical state model. For a cylindrical same ple, the magnetization J_{c} is approximately S0 $\Delta M/d$ where ΔM represents the width of the hysteresis loop at a particular applied field H, and d the effective thickness of the sample normal to the applied field (31). This model typically results in an overestimate of the actual J_{i} . A more direct method to determine the transport J_r is by using the four-point probe method, in which a 1 μ V/cm electric field criterion is used to establish the transport J_{i} . Other magnetization measurement techniques in chide an and SQUID magnetomotors. In the ac magnetometer, a sinusoidally oscillating field is used. The primary coil is surrounded by a set of oppositely wound detector coils. Intraducing a magnetic sample into the center of one or the other secondary. detector coil leads to a voltage imbalance in the secondary circuit (32). The resulting flux change leads to a measurable mduced end, which is proportional to the sample susceptibility. Magnetar imment sensitivities as low as 10⁻⁸ emplore possible using a commercial ac susceptometer. Enhanced sensitivity can be obtained using a SQUID magnetometer, as SQUIDs are used in the detector circuitry. There are a large number of tools available for researchers to correlate the physical properties. with the processing variables. Table 2 lists characterization tools used by HTS researchers, the outcomes from each tool. and corresponding observable.

Structural, Electrical, and Magnetic Properties of Bulk Superconductors

YECO (123) Superconductors

The T_r of YBCO is near 90 K, provided the oxygen content in YBCO is optimal. YBCO, in particular, has remarkable of T_c sensitivity to oxygen stochomodry as displayed in Fig. 9 (33). Specifically, one finds that at $\delta = 7.0$ in the Y₂Ba₂Cu₁O, superconductor, $T_1 = 90$ K. For $\delta < 6.2$, $T_c = 0$ K. The plot of Fig. 9 also reveals that in the range 6 G < $\delta < 6.8$, $T_r = 60$ K, and displaye a plateau, a feature that is identified with the existence of a superstructure in exygen bending. Figure 9 also reveals that it is not only the value of δ , but also the distribution of oxygen in the structure that controls the value of T_r . For YBCO, it is well established from neutron Bragg diffraction measurements that oxygen in the CuO₂ planes remains intact, whereas oxygen in the chains (CuO₂) diffuses at modest temperatures $T \approx 500$ C. An arthorhombic

Table 2. Basic Materials Characterization Tools Used for Research in High-1: Superconductors

Method	Observable	Outcomes
Forz Form Probe, or # /Beldiand ap- pland Magnetic Ænti	I. Transport I	Resistivity above and below <i>T</i> , presence of Mux creep
De magnetometer	Diamagnetic sus- ceptibility, Z magnetization &	Superconductory vid- ume fraction
Acmagnetameter	T_{c_1} real and image susceptionity C_{C_1} and $\chi^{(0)}$	Superconsticting vol- ume fraction, weak- link descipation
SQLID magne tometer	 chemogenetic susceptibility; Josephson tun- celicu; 	High-resolution dis- magnetic susceptibil- ity, symmetry state of paining wave func- tions
Microwave conduc-	Supface pesistance	Perceisation depth at 0 K, concuctor lesses
X-ray diffisction	Lottice parame- ters, symmetry	Unistal structure, pres- ence of scroncary phoses, grant alignment
E/LAFS	Local co-ordination of storus	Local atomsciscale structure, bonds
Mossbear spec- Troacopy	, A tocal Æelds. Martor	Chemically specific to- cal structure: local vi- brotronal density of states
Inelastic neutrun scattering	gia): vabrational density	Total vibrational den- sity of states
Raman scotte: ng	Phonone and pho-	Instage effect, electron phonou complias
Electron energy lass spectroscopy (EFLS)	Local chemistry	Oxygen, hole distri- battan
Thennogravitic 100 analysis (TCA)	Sample weight Joss	Obygen stability
Colorimetry	Speci/Echinatica- parity	Nature of pairing state
Augen electron spectroscopy	Surface chemistry, electronic den- sity of states	Electronic structure near the Fermi-level and origin of pairing

to tetragonal phase transformation occurs near an oxygen content of $\lambda = 6.5$. Oxygen can be reversibly described and absorbed from YBCO either by heating in a vacuum or an oxygen ambient, respectively. Plusma acadation has been domanstrated as an attractive means to oxygenate HTS at rather modes; temperatures for microelectronic applications. At a local level, it appears that the T/31 variation can be traced to the length of the Cu(1)–O(4) band that displays a threshold behavior as shown in Fig. 10 (33). Superconductivity in YBCO commences when the Cu(1)–O(4) band length acquires a value of 1.82 Å or larger. Bond lengths less than 1.82 Å, apparently couple the pyramidal oxygen O(4) to the Cu(1) chain cations, inhibiting charge transfer from the chains to the CuO₂ planes. Oxygenation of YBCO to a value of $\lambda \approx 6.5$ gives a Cu(1) O(4) band length close to the threshold value.

The melt-textured samples have higher J_{i} compared with conventional solid-state-sintered samples. Figure 11 shows the enhanced J_{i} typical of melt-processed samples (14, 15). For comparison, J_{i} of an epitaxial YBCO thin film is shown. The figure shows improvement in J_{i} for melt-textured samples compared with the conventionally sintered samples. Melt-processed



Figure 9. Critical temperature versus or vector content for YBCO samples. The dots and crosses were measured on samples with oxygen reraised by high-temperature quenching and low-recoperature genering, respectively. Courtesy of Ref. 35.

samples have at least an order of magnitude higher in field. J, and do not drop as rapidly at higher fields as the sintesed samples.

2212 superconductors.

Synthesis of the TI3212 superconductors was performed by reacting appropriate amounts of the $Ba_2Ca_2Ca_2O_3$ precursor with



Figure 10. Ontical temperature versus Cu(1)-O(1) (copper in the chain bindging oxyget) band length in the 123 phase. Also shown use data for dopants introduced (not) the VBCO phase, with similar structural changes. As shown in the cover, the CuO_2 - CuO_2 plane distance increases, the O(4) moves toward the CuO chains, and the Ba moves toward the CuO phase, and the Ba moves toward the CuO planes therein



Figure 11. Comparison of field dependence of critical current density at 77 B, for conventional colid=state=softered YB(0), melt-textured YBCO, and the epitaxial YBCO that films. The figure shows unprovement in J as a function of processing. Courtesy of Refs. 14 and 15

Tl₂O₀. The results of three samples each processed differently are presented here. Sample 1.1 was processed at 850 C for 10 min. Sample 1.3 was processed at 850 C for 10 min followed by an additional heat treatment at 860 C for 10 mm. Sample 1.6 was prepared by heat treatment at 850 C for 10 mm followed. by heat treatment at 860 C for 45 min. From XRD measurements, all samples showed the characteristic Bragg reflection peaks of the Tl₂Ba₂CaCu₂O, phase. No other impurity phases were detected in the XRD souns. Figure 12 shows the XRD reflections for the three samples in which characteristic peaks of the Ti2212 phase are clearly visible. Figure 13 shows the magnetization hysteresis longs of the three samples recorded at 15 K. The magnetization scale for all samples was normalized to their mass. As seen in Fig. 13, the diamagnetism displayed by sample 1.3 is the largest among the samples investigated. This result has been reproduced in several samples Figure 14 displays the temperature dependence of magnetic susceptibility. In this figure, the scans are labeled according to the second heat-creatment demyxrature and time. One finds that the second-step heat treatment at 860 C for 10 min not only increases the saturation diamagnetization at $T=10~{
m K}$ but also significantly narrows the width of the superconducting transition, without affecting the $T_{\rm c}$ value. Our conclusion is that the second-step heat freatment produces more strain-free material, or chemical ordering of the phase. The underlying structural growth does not alter the hulk T_{c} , but do significaritly enhances the diamagnetic response (Fig. 14), owing due to growth of a more strain-free material. The superconducting volume fractions for samples 1.1, 1.3, and 1.6 were 37%, 54% , and 27% , respectively. Clearly, the process conditions used for sample 1.3 appear to optimize growth of the superconducting phase. Further increase in the second-step heat treatment time, resulted in an increase of 7, to above 110 K. It has been shown by Sugase et al. (34), that prolonged heating of 732212



samples in air can grow bulk 2223 samples. Depletion of Th 0_s from Tl2212 samples essentially leads to the transformation of the two-layered coprate Tl2212 anto the three-layered coprate Tl2213 atto the three-layered coprate Tl2223 structure. Since the XRD scans provide no evolution of presence of the 2223 phase, it must be present as stacking finits, or plunar deforts, us documented by Rayeau et al. (05) using high-resolution electron microscopy. Also, in Fig. 14, note that the sample with second step 20 min heat treatment in a scaled gold type displays much smaller diamagnetism than the samples heat-treated in a Pt crucible. This is evidence of a reaction between the that lates and the gold tube at 860 C in a closed system and suggests that gold should be avoided as a crucible for processing in a closed system of thallate superconductors.

TI1223 Superconductors.

lext.

For the synthesis of 1223 compound, the starting composition of $T_{223}Ph_{0.5}Rr_2Ca_2Cu_3O_0$ (1223) stoichiometry upon thermal processing yielded samples with 1223 and 1212 phases that had a *T*, of 107.5 K and a volume fraction of 66%. Replacement of some Sr by Ba in the starting composition $Tl_{0.5}Ph_{1.5}Sr_{2.5}Ba_2Ca_2Cu_2O_4$, on the other hand, yielded samples that had the 1223 phase. Samples with a Ba content x < 0.4 clearly were found to have both 1212 and 1223 phases, whereas samples with x > 0.4 showed principally the 1223 superconductor At x = 0.75, samples containing only the 1223 phase were obtained upon heat treatment at 870 °C for 11 min, using starting materials in which 50% additional Tl_2O_5 and

Figure 12. Funder X ray diffraction spectre obtained three T 2212-

sourced samples processed at different conditions as outlined in the



Figure 13. Dinmagnetic response of the samples 1.1, 1.3, and 1.6 obtained using VSM at 16 K. Sample 1.3 shows the largest diamagnetic susceptibility among the three samples, indicating that the host treatment procedure used for sample 1.3 is close to the optimum.

PaO were compensated. Low-field as susceptibility measurement of the sample shown in Fig. 15 reveals an onset T_r of 117 K with a superconducting volume fraction of about 50%. Note that the in-phase susceptibility does not indicate the presence of minority phases. Samples with a Ba content of x = 0.75 showed the highest T_r of 117 K. Our results indicate that a minimum Ba content of x = 0.4 is necessary to produce a majority 1223 phase, which appears to be consistent with the Hitachi composition. Our study also demonstrates that the highest T_r with the largest superconducting volume fraction are obtained at a Ba content of x = 0.75, in Tl and Pb over compressited samples.

Metal-Doping Effects in YBCO Bulk Superconductors

(loping transition metals of group HI (Fe, Co, Ni) in YBCO exemplifies the trials and tribulations of working with high T_c

superconductors. As material quality has improved, so have the challenges to understand the nature of the passing state. One of the areas that has been intensively studied is the doping of J/e in YBCO. More than 1000 papers have been published in this area, with the main conclusion that the broken line curve in Fig. 16 displays the $T_{c}(x)$ variation separating the superconducting phase $(x < x_i)$ from the antiferromagnetic insulators $(x > x_t)$ near $x = x_t = 0.13$ (36). This is the typical result for samples prepared by standard solid-state reaction at ambient pressure of oxygen (henceforth referred to as APO). Recently, at has been demonstrated that the underlying phase diagram is artically an artifact of sample processing. When these samples undergo an additional stoler at 915 C at elevated pressures of oxygen (220 atm of pure oxygen), $T_{s}(x)$ increases qualitatively, and all the samples studied up to r = 1/3 are condeted superconducting with a T_c greater than 50 K. In particular, samples that were considered to be antiferromagnetic insulators tra-



Figure 14. The temperature dependence of magnetic susceptibility obtained from VSM monsurements, Sample 1.4 shows the sharpest trensition among the samples studied

0.13) have been rendered superconducting, thus altering the presently accepted superconducting-antiferromagnetic phase diagram. Powder X-ray diffraction measurements have shown that the average structure of the samples synthesized at high pressures of oxygen thenceforth referred to as HPO; are also tetragonal as the usual samples synthesized at APO, except, for a small excess of oxygen. The Fe local environments as revialed directly in Mossbauer spectroscopy measurements in the two types of samples (APO and HPO) at the same value of x are however, qualitatively different, suggesting that aspects. of dopant-centered local structures control in a remarkable way the superconducting behavior in these cuprates. There are plausible reasons to suggest that the majority of Fe resides in the CoDychnins, but that in APO samples at least Fe⁵⁺ does not replace Cu²⁺ but instead acquires a tetrahedral moordination as exemplified by Ga^{**} cations in Y₁Sr₂Ga₂Co₂O₃ supercorducture (47). In HPO samples, Fe¹¹ is exidized to Fe¹¹ with localization of an additional oxygen atom in its hear-neighbor coordination, thus qualitatively changing the local site symmetry. The Colloping effects in YBCO hear a similarity to those of Pedoping, although the effects are less dramatic. The HPO sintering of APD samples increases the T_c quantitatively in general



Figure 16. The no susceptibility measurement of a 1223 sample with z = 0.75 obtained using on at suscention.

at doping concentrations $\mathbf{x} < \mathbf{x}_{e} = 0.20$ At $\mathbf{x} > \mathbf{x}_{e}$ artiferromagnetism sets in, and even HPO synthesis is unable to transform such samples to superconductors. The Ni duping effects in YBCO are apparently unaffected by HPO synthesis as revealed by the results shown in Fig. 16. The T, (c) variation of Ni-doped YBCO samples sintered at APO is similar to the variation in HPO samples. In contrast to Fe and Co doping, Ni doping in YBCO does not alter the lattice symmetry, which remains orthorhombic, probably because the dopant ensers the structure substitutionally as Ni²⁺ replacing Cu²⁺. The Fe and Co dopante enter the structure in higher charge states Fe¹¹ and Fe³¹, Co²¹ and Co¹¹ largely in planes and bring in additional oxygen to after not only the lattice symmetry, which changes from or-Chorhombic to tetragonal, but also to create new local structures. The nature of these local structures rontinues to be a subjust of current interest in large part because there appears to be a close correlation between the existence of specific structures. and appearance of bulk superconductivity. These new results also demonstrate that Fedoped YBCO samples synthesized at HPO are chemically more stuble that those synthesized at APO The higher chemical stability of HPO-synthesized YBCO samples may be attractive for various applications of bulk, this films, and wires.

PROCESSING OF HTS THIN HEMS

In-Situ Versus Ex-Situ Processing

Thin films of HTS materials (see THN FILMS) have been deposited on a wide variety of substrates using two different procedures: country processing and existin processing. Both processes require high-vacuum deposition systems, In-situ processing is a rechnique in which the samples are deposited and processed inside a vacuum chamber and may not require any postprocessing outside the chamber (i.e., the samples they will be superconductors when they are removed from the vacnum chamber). The ex-site processing method, on the other band, requires postprocessing of samples outside the chamber. A deposition process will yield an emorphous material if the substrates are not heated; therefore, additional heat-treatment. becomes necessary to obtain superconducting samples. The *In*sila procedure is preferred because it loads to thin films with uniformity, with good control over the growth process and stojchiometry. An in-situ deposition process usually uses a complexdeposition system configured with a substrate heater assembly. and process-monitoring capabilities, in out a processing allows growth of multilayers with precise thickness control, essential for applications such as coated thin film conductors on metal-Jie substrates with buffer layers. A drawback of the method is that it is not suitable for deposition on large area substrates. An existic procedure is a simpler process because it is easier to optimize, and one can obtain reasonably good quality HTS thin films with postprocessing outside the vocuum chamber. The system requirements are less expensive compared to an site processing and are passibly applicable for thick or couled films of superconductors.

Physical and Chemical Deposition Methods

Deposition of HTS thin films can be done using either a physical or a chemical deposition method. The physical deposition methods include technoques such as spattering, electron beam

Figure 16. T_{c} plotted as a function of motal doping concentration a for M = Fe (top panel), M = Ce (module panel) and M = Ne (bottom panel) in YBCO samples synthesized a high P (filled symbols) and at ambient P lopen symbols). Lowe drawn through data points are guiden to the eye. The T_{c} values determined either magnetically or resistively are representative if a vasit literature. Magnetization measured in a 20 G field, in the zero field cooling mode, are displayed in insets.



evaporation, and pulsed laser ablation or deposition. Chemical deposition methods methods techniques such as metal-organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) and metal-organic decomposition (MOL) (see THIN FILMS). Primarily, physical deposition techniques include some form of high-energy ion or electron bombardment of the target to release the material for deposition onto substrates. A chemical deposition method involves chemical vapors (transported using a gas such as hydrogen or nitrogen) reacting at the surface of heated substrates to form a thin film of deared composition. Both physical and chemical methods can be tailored for *invitite* or *ex* sita processing. Among the deposition methods, sportering and pulsed laser deposition (PLD) are the most popular methods used, especially for the (*nully* processes)(see Thin Films).

Pulsed Laser Deposition

Pulsed laser deposition has been successfully used to deposit HTS thin films for *ut-situ* processing; PLD is designed to replicate target stuichiometry in the depusited thin films (38). A typical PLD system consists of an ultra high vacuum chainher containing forced quarts windows for *in situ* spectroscopic investigations. Pulsed laser deposition is a vapor phase depasition process in which a focused pulsed laser beam of energy density (also called fluence) exceeding | J/cm² strikes a sintered composite target material at an angle of 45, vaporizes the target, and grows a thin film on a heated substrate placed nearby A CO₂ laser, a Nd:YAG laser, a XeCl, or a KrF excimer each have been successfully used for PLD growth of HTS. Multiple targets can be used with each target ablated for a required umount of time. In multitarget systems, a target is rotated and synchronized with an optical encoder for pulsing the laser. This helps reduce the focused laser beam's heating effects on the target. A water-cooled target holder is normally used for further heat removal, an situ deposition of YBCO thin films is typically performed at an oxygen partial pressure in the 70 mTarr to 200 mForr range, on substrates heated in the range of 600 $\,$ is 800 $\,{
m C}$ depending on the choice of substrates. The presence of oxygen is required for compositional control of the oxide superconductors. After deposition, an oxygen anneal of the deposited film is performed for several hours at a reduced temperature (400) to 500 C), with slow cooling, in a higher oxygen partial pressure of 500 mTarr to 700 mTarr to obtain superconductivity (88, 39)

Typical growth rates using a PLD system are in the range of a few angetroms per second. The growth parameters contrilling the quality of thin films include the choice of the substrain, substrate temperature, background pressure of the vacuum system. laser energy density, frequency of the laser pulse sequencer, and exygen partial pressure in the system. The FITS thin films prepared by PLD have excellent surface morpholugy, although one of the problems encountered has been the presence of particulates on the surface of such thin films. Understanding the chemistry of the laser interaction with emitted radicals of the target material is essential to control the growth quality of thin films over large areas and continues to be a subject of correct research.

Spottering of Thin Films

Spattering is perhaps one of the more popular deposition methods used in the semiconductor industry for metals and dielectric materials. Broadly, there are two methods used: de spottering and RF sputtering. Both methods use ion plasma, typically argon, because of its inertness. High-energy ions bombard a target material to release target atoms, which are deposited on a substrate. Substrates can be heated to a high temperatore for *in-situ* processing of matemals. A modified method in sputtering, called magnetrun sputtering, uses a magnetic field at the target to confine the plasma, which leads to higher deposition rates at low working gas pressures. Sputtering systems can employ either a single target or multiple targets. A multitatget sputtering system gives precise control in multilayer depositions, because one can deposit a chosen target for a desired time, close a shotter and move on to the next target. essential for deposition of multilayers. Single-target systems are inexpensive and easier to use. Due to differing sputtering rates of various atoms, control of their relation content in a thus film as difficult. In general, sputtering is susceptible to effects such as negative ion bombardment, which are primarily due to exygen tens bombarding and resputtering the dependent this film. One way to minimize negative ion bombardment is to use an off-uxis geometry in which a substrate is mounted. transverse to the target assembly. Process optimization is difficult to achieve for deposition of complex oxides such as the HTS materials. Some of the process parameters that need to be optimized include the target stoichiometry, partial pressure of the ineragas, RF or depower density, substrate-target distance. and the substrate temperature, High-quality YBCO, TRCCO, and TPSCCO superconducting thin films and multilayers have been deposited using off-axis magnetron sputtering (40, 41).

Metal-Organic Chemical Vapor Deposition

Metal-organic chemical vapor deposition is a proven technique for deposition of high-quality compound semiconductors. In principle, the advantages of MUROVD are the ease of largearea depositions, with high deposition rates and without a need for sophisticated high vacuum systems. However, the control of precise composition of the precursury is very difficult, and only smail area films have been made to date. The MOCVD uses a deposition technique in which the required atomic constituents are transported in the form of vapors of metal-organa; precursors by an inert transport gas such as argon or name gen, premixed with an oxidizing gas. Metal-organic precursors are placed in staudess-stand containers and heated to temperatures between 200 to 500 C to release vapors of the metal. arganics. These vapors react with the heated substrate inside p reaction chamber. Mass flow controllers are used to control flow rates for each precursor. Mass flow rate, oxygen partial pressure and temperature of the substrate are some of the intpartant process parameters. Typical metal-organic precursors for YHCO include metal μ -diketonates such as $Y(C_{11}H_{12}G_{2M})$ $Ba(C_1)H_1(O_2\xi_0)$ and $Cu(C_1)H_1(O_2)_1(42)$. A modification of this deposition technique is also currently need and is called the metal-organic decomposition (43). In this technique, metal carboxylates or acetates dissolved in an organic solvent are spinconted on a substrate. The coated material is heat-treated at high temperatures to obtain the desired 1978 phase. The techmome is simpler to use because it does not require high vacnum equipment and is easily scalable for large area samples. The MOD does show promise for long-length wires. However, it is not pursued by many researchers due to the difficulty of producing films with only c-axis-oriented grains.

In our study, we have deposited in site films of YBCO on MgO substrates using the off-axis RP magnetron sputtering (18) process. Typical sputtering conditions for YBCO than fibusare substrate temperature of 700 °C, sputtering gas pressure of 500 mTorr, oxygen partial pressure of 10 mTorr. RF power of 60 W, and a target dc bias of -30 V. We have also processed Ti2212 than fibus by an axis RF magnetron spattering, and ex-site processing. Ti2212 fibus were fabricated from both Ti2212- and Ti2223-sintered superconducting comparinds at an RF power of 220 W, chamber pressure of 5 mTorr. Such thin films had to be postprocessed in an excess Ti₂O partial pressure, provided in the form of sintered 2223 pellets at a platianic crurible used for sintering. In both cases, hout treatment times and temperatures were optimized to obtain smooth morphology, high pinuse party, and superior electrical and microwave properties (44).

Sputtering of TICaBaCuO thin films from a sintered pawder target was performed using pure argon gas. The reason for not using oxygen and reactive sputtering is the volatility of TI from the target. TI readily combines with axygen and forms Tl_2O_2 which can be easily pumped out from the chambor. The target gets depleted of TI much faster when oxygen is used as part of the reactive gases. The sputter-deposited thin films were postprocessed in two steps: first, sintering in air at 850 C for 12 men to 15 min in an excess Tl₂O partial pressure and, second, annealing in an oxygen flow of 500 seem at 750 C for 15 min. to 30 min. An excess TI partial pressure was insintained during the annealing process. Sintoring was performed in a small hox furnace in the free surface configuration (45), Thin films were placed on a southred pellet of T12223 with the film side facing the free sorfers in a small covered platmam crucible. A second pellet was placed above the sample in a platitum wire much support. The pellets provided the excess Ti partiel pressurght the crucible to minimize the loss of TI from the thin film. Sintering of TICaB(d)(01) thin film at 850 C in air for 12 min to 15 mm established the superconducting phase and comphology, At 850 C, ThO₅ decomposes into a liquid ThO phase, which rapidly sinters with other constituents. After sintering, the crugible was removed from the furnace and coaled rapidly Oxygen annealing of the air-sintered TICaBaCoO than film was carried out in the same configuration as used for somering, with an oxygen flow of 560 scent to 1000 seem. During oxygen unnealing, thin-film grants grow into large platelets. Oxygen annealing thus improves the electrical properties of the thin film by increasing its oxygen content.

Another promising method for the growth of high-quality. Thesed HTS thin films is called the Tl_2O_0 vapor process or the thallination process (46). In this process, thin films of the precursor materials of BaCatbatbar SrCaCatD are deposited using any of the thin-film deposition methods, and then the samples are heat-treated in a Tl_2O_0 vapor pressure. Tl_2O_0 vapor diffuses into the precursor and reacts to form the superconducting phases in the films. This technique is eafer because the vacuum deposition chamber is not contaminated with the Tl_2O_0 vapors

Characterization of Processed Superconducting Thin Films

The XRD provides one of the direct characterizations of grown thin films because it gives information on the phase purity, their lattice constants, and their crystallographic orientation with respect to the film plane. Electrical transport measurements are performed for accurate measurement of transport current density at zero field as well as at finite magnetic fields.



Figure 17. Geometry of four-probe test devices used for electrical transport measurements. A current source is connected between pade 1 and 2, and corresponding voltage measurements are taken across effect pade 3 and 4 or pade 5 and 6.

The transport current measurements involve patterning a fourprobe test structure on the HTS films. The four-probe test devices are designed with line widths of 10 and to 1 cm depending on the nature of the measurements.

The geometry of a typical test device is shown in Fig. 17. The test structure consists of two outer pads through which a constant current source is applied and a voltage is invasured across the voltage sensing lines, which are 1 min aparl. The width of the voltage sensing should be less than the width of the line connecting pads 1 and 2 in order to approximate a point contact as closely as possible. The test devices are patterned on soperconducting then films using standard positive photoresist photolinhography and a wet chemical etching technique using a 1.100 phosphoric acid.DI water solution. A pulsed current is applied between the outer pads, and the voltage across the puter cause breaks monitored. The electric field criterion of $1 \mu V/em$ is typically used (i.e., the correct through the sample at which measurement of 1 pV potential difference over a 1 cm spacing develops gives an estimate of the superconductor's critical curreal). Also, the same test expectate can be used to determine the T_c from comparature (T) dependence of resistivity (47). In such a measurement, a constant de current of 10 µA is applied through the outer terminals, and the voltage across the sense lines is related to the resistance of the sample. Knowing the exact thickness of the superconducting thin film and the cross-section, the T dependence of resistivity plot can be obtained.

Structural, Electrical, and Magnetic Properties of Thin Films.

High-quality YBCO and TI2212 HTS than films have been grown int various substrates such as YSZ $LoAIO_2$ (LAO), SrTi(b_0 (STO), CrO₂, and MgO. Figure 18 shows an XRD scan of an annealed TI2212 than film on LAO substrate. The figure shows characteristic reflections of TI2222, TI2223 phases as well as those of the LAO substrate. From the prominent (0.0.1)



Figure 18. XRD reflectors observed on a Ti2212 that film on a LAO substrate. The reflections rates pand to the Ti2212 plasse, the Ti2223 phase, and the substrate

reflections observed in the XRD spectrum, the highly c-axisoriented growth is evident. The Tl2212 phase is the diamonant one in the film, as determined from the intensities of the XBD peaks. The c-axis lattice constant calculated from the XRD scan is found to be 29.2 Å. The c-axis lattice constant of LAAlO₂ is 3.7801 Å. The *x*-axis lattice constant of Tl2212 phase is 3.8501 Å. Thus, the lattice momentum is less than 2%.

Figure 19 shows the temporature dependence of resistivity for one of the T12212 thin films deposited on LAO, using a 50 pm wide four-probe device with zero applied magnetic field. The zero-resistance T_i is approximately 100 K for the then film. Figure 20 shows the typical zero field J_i variation with temperature obtained using μ four-probe test device. J. Values at zero magnetic field as high as 5 × 10[°] A/cm² at 77 K and approximately 1 x 10⁶ A/cm² at 60 K were obtained. The surface morphology of the films was essentially featureless and emosth, which is typical of high-quality films. In general, the J, of Ti2212 and Ti1223 thin hims are lower than the 9, of epitaxal YBCO thir films. The presence of main boundary weak links and weak flux prioring in thallate thin films may be the main reasons for the lower J, compared to epitaxial m-sita-grown YBaCuO thist films. However, among the polycrystalline HPS, T12212 and T21223 than films have shown superior electrical properties: below, such films are very attractive for electronic applications (48), in sity processing of TI2212 and TIPh1223. superconducting thin films has not been highly successful owing to the complex chemistry of the challic oxides. TI2212 and TI1223 thin films with very low surface resistance (at least two orders of magnitude below the exygen free copper conductor) at frequencies as high as 12 GHz and a correct density greater than 10⁶ A/cm² are routinely obtained (48).



Figure 19. Despectation dependence of electrical resistivity for a 50 pm wide TI2212 then film logr-probe test device.



Figure 20. Types: temperature dependence of zero field current denarty for a postprocessed T12212 (for film Measurements were performed on the lour-probe test devices.

PROCESSING OF SUPERCONDUCTING WIRES AND TAPES

H1S Wires and Tapes, First Generation

The B:2223 compound is perhaps the more attractive compound for processing conductors because its T_c (110 K) is higher than that of the Bi2212 compound (90 K). Surprisingly, the Bi2212 compound has better magnetic field dependence of J_c at 4 K, primarily due to better electromagnetic connectivity. At 77 K, the B:2223 phase clearly has higher J_c 's compared to the Bi2212 phase. The best BSCCO HTS conductors have J_c 's KA/cm² as high as 20 to 70 kA/cm² at zero field with J_c also depending on the length of the conductor (49). Oxide provder-in-tube (OPIT) has been a widely used technique for processing long lengths of BSCCO wires.

OPIT Method for BSCCO 2212 and 2223 Superconducting Wires

Lead (Pb)-doped Bi2223 and Bi2212 are prime condidates for OPIT synthesis of long-length HTS wires. Of these two phases. Bi2212 is easier to synthesize. The reaction kinetics and thermodynamics for synthesis of the pure B(2223 phase are quite complex and generally result in mixed phase samples, with the provement of B(2223, Bi2212, and other secondary phases, Partial substitution of lead for bismuch is generally found to stabilize growth of the Bi2223 phase with a typical starting composition of BirPb;Cu:SriCu given by ES.0.4:2:2:3 for such growth (50). Figure 21 pictorially shows the four steps involved for the OPTT method of proparing HTS wires and tapes. In step the precision powder is prepared from a solid-state reaction. (or calcination) of mixtums of Br. Cu., and Pb- oxides and Srand Ca- carbonates in an atomina crossible at temperatures between 800 and 860 C for 48 to 60 h in air Another approach for synthesis of the precursor material is to mechanically alloy the chemicals for higher packing density. In step 2, the precursor powder is filled maide a silver billet and then drawn into fine filaments less than 1 mm in diameter. Several tens to a hundred of these filaments are stacked in a silver tube.



Figure 21. Schematic diagram alsowing the general OPT1 process used to produce BSCCO tapes, developed by American Superconductor Curparation. Courtesy of Bell 15.

drawn, and then rolled into tapes 4 mm to 6 mm wide, and typically 0.2 mm thick in step 3. Finally, in step 4, OPIT tapes are processed in the presence of a partial melt, which aids in densification and grain growth. To create a partial melt, the sample, is heated above 500 C for a short time, followed by a long anneal of approximately 100 h at 840 to 850 C. At present, each tapes can be reliably manufactured in several kilometer scale lengths. The main process parameters involved in the synthesis of wirds thus include precursor moverial synthesis, mechanical processing, and heat treatment conditions. The precursor composition, particle size, and density are important factors in the quality of precursar material synthesis (51). Hillet dimensions, filament restacking geometry, and mechanical properties of the tape are the important mechanical aspects for wires and tapes of HTS. Heating rate, sintering temperature, sintering time, and cooling rate are important parameters for heat treatment. conditions that control electrical and mechanical properties of drawn wires. Heat treatment is performed after cutting wires. to required lengths. Each filament is embedded in a silver matrix, which adds mechanical strength and flexibility. A threshold value for silver content is required to enhance electromagnetic grain connectivity, essential for long length conductors. Althe same time, one needs to maximize the superconducting volume fraction so that the HTS rather than the silver present in the muductor provides the percolative path for charge carriers. Fill factor is one of the critical parameters in HTS wires, defined as the ratio of the volume of the superconductor core to the entire volume of the conductor. Typical fill factor in most HTS conductors to date is below 60% (51). Magneto-optic studies indicate that must of the current transport occurs at the interfacial region between silver and the bulk BSCCO rather than inthe bulk BSCCO (52). The interfacial region with well-aligned grain structure appears to be the key to exprove J_{co} in these wires. The Bi2212 phase is attractive for low-temperature upphrations at 4 K because it is economical to produce long length multifilamentary conductors (52).

HTS Wires and Tapes: Second Generation, YBCO-Coaled Conductors

Primarily because of the higher *d*,s demonstrated in biaxially textured thin films; YBCO has enormous advantage over BSCCO for wire applications. One approach is to grow YBCO on a hiaxially textured chemically compatible buffer layer. A processing technique proposed for biaxial texturing of chemically compatible huffer layers on untextured substrates such as alloys of nickel is called the ion-beam-assisted deposition (IBAD) (53). Another approach proposed is the biaxial texturing of the substrates. It is well known that metals when deformed into wires develop alignment along preferred directions. Recent work at Oak Ridge National Laboratory has shown that biaxially textured (i.e., both in-plane and out-of plane alignments (abi) nickel can be produced over long lengths (54). Such substrates are called rolling assisted biaxially textured substrates (RABITS) (54). An interesting example of biaxial texturing of metallic sheets already used in electrical engineering is in alloun-doped steel stampings used in the electric power industry, in which textoring results in the rasy direction of anagnetization parallel to the length of sheets, reducing hysteresis losses.

The IBAD process is used primarily for deposition of buffer layers such as ythromostabilized zircoma (YSZ), or certain oxide (CeO₂) on untextured nickel alloy tapes (53). The IBAD process is a thin-film departition process developed by IBM for preferential growth of biaxially textured buffer layer material on untextured substrates. In this process, a rare gas ion beam is used to bombard the buffer layer along a preferred crystallographic direction as it is being deposited. The angle of incidence of the ion hearn with respect to the plane of the substrate is the critical parameter for the preferential orientation of the buffer layer grown. Typical buffer layer of choice for BAD has been YSZ, grown to a thickness of 200 nm to 500 nm. A thin layer of CeO₂ is interposed between YSZ and YBCO for better lattice matching. Subsequent growth of postprocessed VBCO thus or thick films on the binxially oriented buffer layers have yielded high $J_{c5} > 10^{6} \text{ A/cm}^{4}$ at 75 K and in magnetic fields up to 5 T Figure 22 shows the J. versus magnetic field characteristics obtained for a short sample of a 1.6 µm thick YBCO/IBAD-YSZ/Ni alloy tape, at 75 K (53). The figure also shows the magnetic field dependence of J_{τ} for a proton-irradiated Bi-2223 OPIT wire for comparison. The figure clearly shows the vasily improved performance of the IBAD tape compared to the liest OPT wire. An advantage of the DIAD buffered BTS tapes compared to OPIT wires is that the tapes can be wound with the HTS in compression, attractive for electromagnetic



Figure 22. *J_c* versus applied magnetic field for a 1-signed IBAD tape as a function of magnitude and orientational wish respect to the tape plane compared with a proton-irradiated OPIT BSCCO 2223 wire. Courtean of Ref. 14.



Figure 23. Schematic representation of the RABITS process develaped at Ook Ridge National Lebozoncey. Starting with a randomly onented Nubar/plate add colling is used to produce distance copportype rolling texture. Thus is followed by recrystallization to a cobin structure. Epitaxial metal and/or uside buffer layerist are then deposited on the textured Ni. Courtesy of Ref. 54.

applications such as electric motors, and generators. Current efforts are underway to scale-up the process for long lengths necessary for commercialization.

The Rolling assisted biaxially textured substrates (RABiTS) process was developed by Oak Ridge National Laboratory for epitaxial growth of HTS thin films over long lengths. Figure 23. schematically allows the process for the development of RAB(TS 1541. Nickel is the primary condidate for the RABITS because. of its higher axidation resistance compared with copper. Also, thermomechanical texturing of Ni gives a cube-textured substrate. A typical YBCO this film-control conductor fabrication proxyss involves thermomechanical processing of Ni substrate (125 µm), followed by PLD of buffer layers of CeO₂ (0.2 µm). YSZ (0.3 µm), and finally 1 µm thick YBCO film PLD deposited at ~ 780 C in an oxygon pressure of 185 mTorr (54) After deptsition, the film is cooled at 10 C per min, in an oxygen pressure of 700 mTorr at 400 C. All axide buffer layers are grown at temperatures of 750 C. RAB/TS of lengths up to 100 feet (only the substrates with no HTS) have been processed already. J, values of a short YHCO thin film coated conductor are shown in Fig. 24. For comparison, thin films of YBCO on LAO and thin. films of "Fi2212 and 1223 on LAO are also shown. Because PLD and sputtering techniques are not scalable, MOCVD may be the primary technique for long-length HTS mated conductors. on RABITS. The MOCVD grown YBCD on RABITS has yielded zero field J, as high as 0.84 MA/em² at 77 K.

APPLICATIONS OF HIGH-TEMPERATURE SUPERCONDUCTORS

Bulk superconductors can be used in applications such as high Q cavities for noncrowave applications see SUPERCONDUCTING MICROWAVE FECTING, KOCY, frictionless bearings, magnetic levitation (see SUPERCONDUCTING LEVITATION), and fault current britters (see SUPERCONDUCTING FACTS CORRENTLAMITERS). Melt-textured as well as ringic crystal bulk YBCO conductors have been used as a microwave cavity with very high Q values greater than 10,000 at 77 K and at frequencies below 20 GHz. Progress in



Figure 24. The critical current density versus magnetic field for YHCO thin film on a RABITS substrate of configuration ML3 corresponding to YS2(110) (0.5 pm) N(100) (125 pm). Data for both *B* is and *B* (ab are shown. Also shown are data for YBCO (bin film on STO, T12212, and T11223 thin films on LAO substrates. For *B* is the high field properties of YBCO thin films on RABITS are better than those on STO. Courtesy of Ref. 54.

Initial single-crystal growth could be attributed to newer crucible materials such as $BaZrO_{3}$ (55). The use of $BaZrO_{3}$ crucible precludes impurities such as Al, Zr in melts or crystals for the growth of 123 rare-earth-based WTS.

Thin film HTSs are most attractive for microwave applications because of their low surface resistance at frequencies upto 35 GHz USEC SUPERCONDUCTING MICHOWAYE TECHNOLOGY and SU-FERCONDUCTING HILLIBIG AND PASSIVE COMPONENTS). A large muniber of microwave components have been demonstrated using BTS technology, i.e.g., high Q filters resonators, phase shifters. delay lines). Epitexial growth of HTS thin films on low-loss oucrowave substrates such as MgO and sapphire (with a CeO_2 huffer layer) has been key for high Q microwave components. A promising new application in this area involves integration of HTS this films and ferroelectric this films for electrically tusable components (56). Tunable filters, resonators, and phase shifters have been successfully demonstrated. We have recently reported a two-pole tunable bandpass filter using a fainfilm YBCO/STO/LAO multilaver microstrip configuration. The structure consists of a LAO substrate (254 µm thick) on which an epitaxial STN) thin film (0.3 µm thick) was deposited by PLD, followed by a YBCO thin film (0.35 µm thick (deposited by PLD. The two-pale filters were designed for a center frequency of 19 GHz and 4% bandwidth. Toxiability is achieved through the modinear de electric field dependence of relative dielectric constant of STO thin films. Figure 25 shows the swept frequency response of a tunable filter at 77 K, for inpular bias voltages hetween 0 and ±500 V (56). Note that the insertion and roturn lasses are reduced with applied bias. Although high voltages are required, the power consumption is low owing to negligible corrects through the high dielectric constant ferroelectric thin ຕົໄຫ.

Another area of electronics in which HTS thin films have a niche is in the use of HTS SQUIDs (see SQUIDs) as magnetic field sensors. A SQUID operates on the principle that the critical current through two Josephsin: junctions connected in a loop is a function of the magnetic flux threading the loop. Since each SQUID stores multiples of the basic flux quanta, SQUIDs are the most sensitive sensors of magnetic fields at



Figure 25. Electric field tonekolity of a trashle loandpess filter using a thin film YBCO/STO/LAO multilayered uncreating structure. The lifter uses the electric field dependence of the nonlinear dielectric constant of the STO ferroelectric thin film.

levels of 10⁻¹¹ T at 77 K, thus making possible measurements of magnetic fields produced by current flow in a bureau brain, about 10⁻¹² T (see Squirs). The key to the HTS SQUID technolagy is the reproducible fabrication of grain boundary Josephson junctions. This technology has currently matured to the level of commercial usage in magnetic imaging for medical diagnostics such as a magnetornoephalography (MIG), mapping the brain's magnetic activity Another area of application for HTS thin films is in interconnect technology for semiconductor maltichip modules. With the promise of high-quality YBCO thin films on various buffer layers such as CeO₂, and YSZ, it is feasible to conceive of applications of HTS then films on silicon substrates

Applications such as nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) require uniform magnetic fields over large volumes. Nuclear magnetic reasonance requires a field level of 10 T to 20 T. The NMR technique uses RF and magnetic fields to study transitions between nuclear spin states. An RF coil surrounds a sample, placed manie a magnetic field. The magnetic field is swept through a small range with a separate only A secondary RF call (may be a superconducting call) picks up the resonance signal. Use of superconducting cities in magnet technology has made possible high magnetic fields with minimal energy dissignation. Use of superconducting lines for power transmission is attractive for energy efficiency. The current densities needed for the utility power lines are considerably lower than most other power applications. It is estimated that current densities below 10⁴ A/on² at 77 K are sufficient for utility power lines. The Bi-based superconductors are the most altractive for these applications. The design of underground cables cooled to inquid mitrogen temperatures is a challenging aspect because these superconductors are detrimentally affected by moderate mechanical stresses. Superconducting magnetic energy storage

Table 3. Companies Producing HTS Materials

American Superconductor Corporation Two Trabuclogy Drave Westhorough, MA 01551 (509) 936-4200 Conductors for 989 W. Maude Avenue Suphyvale, CA 94096 .409/523 9950 DuPort Superconductivity Experimental Stayon E304/0110 Wilmington DE 19680 13021 695-9230 Intermagnetics General Corporation PO Box 461, 450 Old Niskayuna Baad. Lotham, NY 12110-0461 (518) 782-1122 Superconductive Components, Inc. 1145 Chesepeake Avenue Columbus, OH 43212 (614) 186 0261 Superconductor Technologies, for 400 Ward Drive

400 wara Dr.W Sunta Burbara, CA 93111 19051 683-7546

(SMES) is an energy storage device wherein energy is stored. in the magnetic field associated with circulating currents in superconductors. An SMES system consists of an ar/dc power converter to charge a large torroidal magnet. When needed, the energy stored in the magnetic field can be tapped and converted. by ac power. Again HTS wires are medded for the large magnets. used in such a system. Other opplications attractive for HTS wires and tapes include power devices such as motors, generators and transformers. With the current technology, several prototypes of HTS wires and tapes have been demonstrated. American Superconductor Corporation had tested a 525 hp acsynchronous anotor built using a BSCCO 2323 composite tape. A 5 kJ HTS SMES magnet, a high-current pancake coil (100) Al, and current development of 500 and 1000 hp motors indicate that HTSs have potential for large-scale power applications (49). Table 3, shows some of the HTS companies which provide superconducting materials and fabrication services.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- W. Meissner and R. Oschenfeld, Ein Neuer Effekt bei Eintritt der Suprinieitfahigkeit, Natura 28, 21–287 (1933)
- 2 F London and H Lundon. The electromagnetic equations of the superconductor, Proc. R. Soc. A, A149: 71–86, 1935
- F. London, Superfluids, Macroscopic Theory of Superconducta ety, vol. 1 New York: Wiley 1950, pp. 3-4.
- J. Bordovo, J. N. Cooper, and J. Schreiffer. Theory of superconductivity, Phys. Rev., 108 (5): 1175–1234, 1957.
- B. D. Josephson, Possible new offects in superconductive to one imp Phys. Lett., 1 (7) 251-253, 1962.
- J. G. Byrinorz and K. A. Mulier. Possible IRTS superconductivity in the Ba-La-Cu. O system, Z. Phys. B, 04: 199–1901 [1906].
- 7. M. K. Wulet, al., Superconductivity at 93 K to a new pursed phase

Y-Be-Cu-D compound system at ambient pressure, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 58 (9) (9)9-910, 1987

- H. Maeda et al., A new HTS oxide superronductor without a more earth element. Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 27 (2): L203-216, 1986
- Z. Z. Sheng and A. M. Hermann, Bulk superconductivity at 120 K in the T1-Ca-Ba-Cu-O system, Nature, 332 (6160): 138-139, 1998.
- 10 S. N. Palilin et al., Superconductivity at 94K in HgBaUuO, Nature, London, 362 (226, 1993).
- J. D. Dass. Engineer's Guide to High Temperature Superconducts sty, New York: Wiley 1989
- A. Abrikoste, On the magnetic properties of superconductors of the second group, *Societ Phys. JETP*, 5: 1174, 1957.
- 13 H. P. Huebener et al. Thermselectric and thermomagnetic efforts in high temperature superconductors. *Proc. Materials Res. Int. Symp.* 1992, pp. 13–22.
- 14 P. M. Grant, Superconductivity and electric power. Primises, Promises . . Past, present, and future *IEEE Trace Appl. Super*cond., 7, 112–136, 1997.
- T. P. Sheehan. Introduction to High Trinperstate Superconductivdy. New York: Plenam. 1994.
- 16 H. A. Blackstead and J. D. Dow, Implications of Abrikows-Sockov exchange scattering for theories of high tengenistic superconductions, *Phys. Lett. A*, 208 (107–110, 1996).
- 17 D. C. Levbalestier, Hoad to conductors of high temperature super conductors: 10 years do make n difference! *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 90–96, 1997.
- 18. C. Blue and P. Boolchaud, *Investe* preparation of superconducting YBCO 123 than tilture by un-axis of magnetized spatieting from a stoichiometric target, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 58: 2006–2003, 1994.
- S. Tonaka, Reviews, prospects and concluding remarks. Materials caseds for applications, *Privater C.* 282–287; xxzi: xxxix, 1997.
- 20 M. A. Kirk and H. W. Weber, Electron microscopy investigations of irradiation defects in the high T superconductor VBCO, in *Stather* of High Temperature Superconductors, vol. 10 Commark, NY: Nova, 1992, p. 244.
- S. Jon *A* al., Melt tentured growth of only rystalline YBCO with high transport J₂ at 77K, Phys. Rev. B, 37: 7650–7853, 1986.
- 22 S. S. P. Parkin et al., Bulk superconductivity at 125 K or TL₂Co₂Ba₂Cu₃O, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 60(124) (2539-2542) (1988)
- M. Greenblatt et al., the matry and superconductivity of itselfium based coprates. Stather of the HTS Superconductors, vol. 4 Commack, NY: Nava, 1982.
- 24 M. Murakum et al. Mell processing of only Y10 30 superconductors with high _{co} J. of Engl Materials Tech., 114: 139, 1992.
- 25 M. Morakean et al., Mell processing of bulk high T. superconductors and their applications, IEEE Trans. Magn., 27: 1479, 1991.
- 26. V. R. Todt et al., Processing of large YBCO domains for levelation applications by a NdBnCuO seeded neds growth technique, J. Electron. Materials, 23: 1127, 1994.
- K. Selama and S. Sathynomethy. Melt texturing of YBCO for high correct applications. *Appl. Superconductivity*, 4 (10):11 (647):561 1996
- Z. Sheng, T.-based high T₂ superconductors, Mater. Sci. Forum: 130-182 (1-34, 1993)
- G. Subramanynm et al., Processing and physical properties of single phase TIBoCoCoU (2213) and (TI-Pro) Sr BatCaCoO (1223) superconductors. Appl. Superconfinemity, 4: 591–536, 1996.
- D. Korners al., Appl. Phys. Lett., 59: 3186–3188, 1991.
- U. P. Bean, Magnetization of high field superconductors, *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 38: 31–39, 1964
- W. M. Roff, Magnets: some publicity measurements. An important familiar of modern policientate characterization, Amer. Lab. 26, February 1996.

- L. H. Greene and B. G. Bagley, Oxygen stoichiometric effects and related atomic substituitions in the high T coprotes, in *Physical Properties of High Temperature Supermanianeous*, vol. **11**, Surgapore World Scientific, 1990, pp. 509–569
- R. Sugise, et al., Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., 27 L2310, 1968.
- B. Bavenu et al., Layered thallium superies: Nun-statchiometry and superconductivity. Solid State Jour. 39: 49–62, 1990.
- 36 F. Shi et al., Metal (M) depent centered local structures, high-pressure synthesis and balk superconductivity in YBayCo , M_{0.1}O₇₁-N; M. Fe, Co, Ni, J. Condens. Matter. 9: L307–L313, 1997.
- A. Rykov, V. Cargosaeri, and B. Raveau, Quadrupple interactions and interactional aniantropy of tetragonal Fe(111) in the 123 derivative EnSrCuGa₁₋₂Fe₂O₅₋₃ En = Y. He), J. Solid State Chem., 109: 235, 1984.
- J. Qrenend, C. Y. Yeng, High Top-oper-contactors on buffexed education Materials properties and device applications. *Materials Sci. Eng.* R14: 157–202, 1995.
- D. C. Payne and J. C. Bravman (eds.), Laser oblation for material synthesis, Materials Research Society (MRS) Fall Montang, MRS Symp. Proc. Vol. 181, Beston, 1990.
- D. S. Garley, Thulham thus for micro-electronic applications, in A. M. Elemann, and Y. Yakhmited., *The Hum based superconducting Componentis*, Singapore: World Scientific, 1994.
- W. Holstein et al. Superconducting equasital T12212 films on supphire with cerium usade buffer layers, Appl. Phys. Lett. 61 (81:942)-364, 1392.
- 42 J. Zhao and P. Norris, Metalorganic chemical vapor deposition of YBCO 123 thin films, Mater. Sov. Europ. 180-132: 233-254, 1993.
- G. Braunstein et al., Process of formation and epitaxisl alignment of SeTiO₁ thin films prepared by metal organic deconvocition, J. Appl. Phys., 78, 961-70, 1993.
- 44 G. Subvermanyem et al., Studies on spattered TKIallaCuO high T, superconducting thin films for macroelectronics applications. Materials Net. Forum, 130–132: 613–632, 1993.
- 45. D. S. Graley et al., Morphology cuntrol and high critical currents in superconducting this films in the TI-Ca-Da-Co-O system, *Physica* C, 160, 42–48, 1980.
- B. Jubs et al., Preparation of high T₂ TI-Ba-Ca-Cu-O than films by packed loser evaporation and Tl₂O₄ vapor processing. Appl. Phys. Lett., 54: 1430-1912, 1989.
- W. Pelster, Accurate accorated measurement of superconductor material resistance, Rev. & Develop. 80, 40–44, 1998.
- DuPont Superconductivity, Technice, Note on 11 pesed superconducting than films, Wilmington, DE, 1996
- A. P. Malazemolf, Q. Li , and S. Fleshler, Progress in BSCCO-2223 tape technology, *Physica C*, 282-287, 424–427, 1997.
- U. Balachandran et al., Processing and John ration of high T₂ super conductors for electric power applications, *Appl. Superconduction (ty.* 5 (148): 197–191, 1987.
- V. Selvamannekani et al., high temperature superconductors for effective power and high energy physics. J. Metals. 50 (10) 27-30 1998.
- S. Brudy, The last days of BSCUOI. Superconductor and Urpselectronaw, featured article on BSCCO wires, 11: 26–30. Spring 1998.
- h3. Y. Iyimm et al., In plane aligned YBCO that films deposited on polycrystell be merallic substrates, Appl. Phys. Lett., 60, 769-771, 1992.
- 54 A. Guyal et al., Epitaxial superconductors in rolling assisted biax ially textured substrates (RAB)TSC 5 zonce towards high mitical current density wire, *Appl. Superconduction*, 4 (11-12), 405-427 1996.
- A. Erb, E. Walker, and R. Flokiger, The use of BaZrO3 crucibles in crystal growth of the high T_{ele}operenductors: Progress in crystal growth as well as in sample quality, *Physical C*, **258**, 9–20, 1996.

56 F. A. Miranda et al., Tunnble microwave components for Ku and Kband satellite communications, *Integrated Ferros lectures* 22, 269– 279, 1999.

> GUSU SUBRAMANYAM University of Davtor PUNIT HOOLCHAND University of Chiefmont

HTS SUPERCONDUCTORS, PHYSICAL STRUCTURES, AND ROLE OF CONSTITUENTS

Since the disrovery of the phenomenon of superconductivity in 1911 by H. Kumerlangh Onnes (1), superconductors have been a topic of great interest from fundamental as well as application points of view. With the discovery of high-temperature superconductors (HTSCs) in 1986 (2), the field of superconductivity achieved even greater interest. Since them **HTSCs** have mayed into the realm of practical applications because they are mostly superconducting above the boiling point of liquid introgen 177 K), which is cheaper than and has a much greater cooling capacity than liquid holium. Therefore, for any appliration in which liquid nitrogen can replace liquid helium, the refrigeration cost for operating superconductive devices will be about 1000 times less.

The newly discovered HTSCs are copper-model based certainies that remain superconducting near 100 K. This temperature regime does not seem high, but it is high enough for liquid nitrogen to coal most of HTSCs into the superconducting range. For example, the compound without harrown copper oxide (YBCO) has been found to be superconducting up to 92 K (3). Additional important high-temperature superconductors include hismathstrontium calcium copper oxide (BSCCO) (4), thallium barium calcium copper oxide (TBCCO) (5), and merculy barium calcourn conjugation oxide (HBCCO) (6. HBCCO) has the highest criticol temperature $T_c = 135 \text{ K}(7,8)$ Table 1 presents the chemical formula and T_i values of each of these compounds. The HTSCs can be subdivided into three classes. (hree-dimensional compounds based on BaBiO₀, layered copper-oxide compounds with hole conductivity (based on La₂CuO₃, YBa₂Cu₂O₇), and conepounds of Hi and Th. and compounds based on Nd₂CuO₃ with electron conductivity. With increasing number of CuO_2 planes in copper-oxide superconductors, a certain increase in T_{e} is observed. Its values range from $T_i = 36$ K in La₂₋₅Sr_sCnO₄ with a single ${
m CuO}_2$ plane to ${\cal T}_r=125$ K in compounds of Ti (2228) with three CuO_2 planes.

Τn	ble	١.,	List e	if C	ammun	High-F,	Superconductors
----	-----	-----	--------	------	-------	---------	-----------------

Same	Pormula	$T_{\rm e}/{\rm K}$
Stimuna variara experimente	Y BayCauDe	- 90
Dismuth structioni calcium orp- per uside	Bi, PiolSr/Ca/Co/O	105
Theiling hardom colonial cop page axide	Ti Bn,€a₂€α,0,	ן רצ
Mirroury fortion following oppor- oxide	Hg BajCayCatD,	135

COMMON FEATURES OF HIGH-T, SUPERCONDUCTORS

Coherence Length and London Penetration Depth

In addition to the crystallographic aspects of the HTSC oxides, there are more fundamental parameters contributing to the anisotropic nature of these materials. Central to the theory of superconductivity is the Cooper electron pair discovered by Couper in 1956 (9), when he showed that it is possible for elemtrons to have an attractive interaction loading to a lowering of energy of the system. One result of the pairing is that electric current can flow without resistance, giving rise to superconductivity. The critical temperature is related to the thermal energy required to destroy the pairing between the paired electrons. Earlier in 1950. Ginzberg and Landau showed that the spatial variation of the particle or superelectrons carrying the resistangeless current can be described by the coherence length ξ . The parameter ξ gives the length scale for the density variation of Cooper pairs, and simply put, the greater the length. the larger the hurdle the pairs can cross without breaking up. The breaking of pairs means the destruction of superconductivity, and so care must be taken to keep the material free of features that break these pairs. The other important length in superconductivity is the London penetration depth λ_2 , which sets the scale for the decay of an external magnetic held as a function of depth in the superconducting material. There is a scrong parallel between the skin depth of metals in response to high-frequency fields and the London depth in response to magnetic fields. In 1935, the London brothers first introduced the concept of penetration depth while following a phenomenological approach to superconductivity via Maxwell's equations. for electromagnetism (10)

Ginzberg and Landau (GL) showed that the ratio of $\mathbf{v} = \varepsilon_{I/4}$ determined the nature of the response of the superconductor to a magnetic field. For $\mathbf{v} \geq 1\pi/2$, type-1 superconductivity exists, and there exists a critical field H_r when superconductivity and diamagnetism are abruptly destroyed, while for $\mathbf{v} \geq 1\pi/2$, type-I superconductivity exists, and there exists a lower critical field H_r , above which materials are not perfectly diamagnetic and an upper critical field H_{er} beyond which superconductivity and diamagnetism are completely destroyed. All the HTSC oxide superconductors are type II and are potentially useful because they can sustain high magnetic fields and remain superconducting.

Anisotropy

In addition to the crystallographic anisotropy, there are a number of important properties that also show anisotropy such as electrical conductivity, thermal conductivity, magnetic field penetration, and current density. The large variation in electrical and thermal conductivity in directions parallel to and perpendicular to the class a direct consequence of the conductivity of the CoO_2 layery. Ratios of 100 and 17 for the electrical and thermal conductivities parallel to the class and perpendicular to a bare been measured for YBCO (11). These values are even higher in Bi- and Ti-based systems, indicating strong anisotropy parallel to and perpendicular to the class to magnetic fields and current density is a result of the large variation in the coherence length with direction. For YBCO, ε is a few manometers along the $a \rightarrow p$ plane and an order of magnetude less perpendicular to it. This

produces a large variation in the magnetic field and current density it can support perpendicular to and parallel to the a/bplane. Similar features are observed in the other HTSC systems.

STRUCTURES OF HIGH-T, SUPERCONDUCTORS

The knowledge of structure is a prerequisite for understanding the properties of high- T_r superconductors. The structures of high- T_r superconductors can be easily analyzed by consider ing the structure of a perovskite. The original mineral called perovskite was $CaTiO_s$ and was described in the early nineteenth century by Guatav Rose. In addition to the importance of perovskite structures in superconductivity, dielectric, piezoelectric, pyroelectric, and formelectric properties of compounds with perovskite structures have found widespread applications in memory devices, capacitors, tunable filters, microphones, loudspeakers, etc.

The chemical formula for a percessite structure is ABX_{3} , where A and B are metal cations and X is a nonmetal axian. X is either oxygen (O) or a member of the hologen family, such as flucture, brownie, or chloring. The percessite cell consists of a relatively large metallic atom (A) at the corners (or center), smaller metallic atoms (B) at the center (or corners), and the nonmetallic atom (X) at face centers (or corners), and the nonmetallic atom (X) at face centers (or corners), and the corners). Figure 1 illustrates the position of the various atoms and cube. The chemical formula of ABX_{1} is easily deduced from this figure of the right unit cells sharing the corner A atom and the two unit cells sharing the X atoms are considered. The atom positions can be designated as $A_{1}(0,0)$ corner sites: $X_{1}(0, 1/2, 1/2)$, (1/2, 1/2, 1/2, 1/2, 1/2, 1/2) (or (1/2, 1/2, 1/2, 1/2, 1/2, 1/2, 1/2)) for M = 1/2.

Another representation of the perovskite structure that is extremely useful to the understanding of HTSC oxide structures is the layer d or planar approach in which the structure is formed by stacking of layers in the z direction. In this approach, the molecular grouping comprising each layer is also shown mainly in order to stress the importance of the layered approach to an understanding of the properties of the HTSC oxides. The layers themselves usually do not have any significance and may not even exist as independent structures. In



Figure 1. A schematic representation of a perovskite scruence
HTSC oxide terminology, the long axis is denoted by c (or z) as compared to the smaller a or h axis.

An ideal perovskite is cubic, like CaTiO₂. Its strong ionic bonding makes CaTiO₀ electrically insulating and a hard mineral. It also shows three-dimensional isotropy in many properties due to the cubic symmetry. The crystallographic nature of anisotropy or isotropy does not necessarily determine the nature of fundamental properties of materials such as its electrical conductivity. For instance, the element gallium exists as an anisotropic heragonal structure, but the momentum distribution of its electrons termed momentum space is isotropic, and similar features could occur for superconductors. In general, there are a number of variations from the ideal form of CaTiO₃. A typeal example is the diversity in properties domonstrated by BaTiO₀. The crystal structure of BuTiO₀ undergoes structural phase transitions as a function of the ambient temperature, changing its symmetry and response to external electric fields. Below 5-C it has an orthophombic structure, between 5-C $\,$ and 210 Cut is tetragonal, while above 210 C it is cubic. In the tetragonal state, the structural distortion results in a permament electric dipule moment, making it ferra-lectric, while in the cubic phase the symmetry prevents the existence of a permanent dipole moment. In noncubic perovskite minerals the phenomenon of twinning as commonly observed. Twinning is most easily described by considering a structure obtained by interchanging the π and b axis to a tetraponal phase, resulting in regions that are mizzor images afreach other.

In addition to these common structural features, the role of the A and B cations is also crucial in the properties of perovskites. The replacement of the smaller Ca21 with an unsid radias of 0-99 Å with the larger Ba²⁺ (1.34 Å) plays a control role in the tetragonal distortion leading to the ferroelectric property of BaTiO₄. The doping or substitution of A or B cations with other oons having radii within 15%, but with different valuage, results in a charge imbalance that is compensated by the creation of holes or equivalently by vacancies in the X sites. This that ge inhalance results in nonstatchiometric perovskite structures. All the HTSC oxide superconductors contain Cu21 instead of Ti⁺⁺, resulting in a CuO₂ layer that plays a central role in the nature of electric current from part in these materials. Because of this feature all the HTSC oxides exhibit an almost uniform size of a and b axes (usually between 3.81 Å and 3.83 Å). In 9ddition to these aspects, structural transformations, twinning, anisotropy, etc., are all key features in controlling the superconducting properties and need to be studied in detail to obtain a clearer picture of the beliavior of these complex and potentially oseful structures.

Structure of La-(Ba, Sr, Ca)-Cu-O and Nd(Ce)-CuO Compnunds

Superconductivity in the high-*T*, oxides was first discovered in the La₂CuO₄ system when Bichnerz and Muller (2) observed a sharp drop in the electric resistance in Biodoped La₂₋₃Ba₂CuO₄. Subsequent observation of the Measure effect confirmed that the compound was superconducting. The *T*, was maximized at 30 K for a value of x = 0.15. The structure of the superconducting phase was identified as a derivative of the layered perovskite K₂NiF₄ and is shown in Fig. 2. The CuO₂ layers consist of octahedrally coordinated Cu, with the Cu-O bond length of 1.9 Å in the *u*-*b* plane and 2.4 Å in the *c* direction. Also, the Cu atoms occur at '0000 and 1.12 ki2 1/2 x²... lattice sites in the unit cell, similar to a holy-centered structure. The substituted Ba².



Figure 2. Comparison of structures of Lap and Nd-based superconductors (a) Structure of La₂, Ba₂ UoO₄ with antiold-coordinated Cu. This is a *p*-type superconductor (b) Structure of Nd₂CuO₄ with planar fourfold coordinated Cu. When some Nd³¹ ions are replaced by Ce⁴⁴, this indicated becomes an 8-type supercoordinated.

ions accupy a fraction of the La¹¹ sites, and the difference in valence brings about an increase in the number of holes. Superconductors with hole conduction are called pitype, a terminolagy similar to that followed in semiconductors. While substitution with atoms of different valence is a well-known technique to antroduce excess holes or electrons tonce again in parallel with semiconductors), oxidation or reduction to change the oxygen content also changes carrier concentration. Interstitial exygen between the LaO sheets or missing oxygen from the lattice sites, that is, varancies, can also lead to excess charge carriers. For example, the electrochemical availation of $\mathrm{La}_2\mathrm{Cu}O_4$ results. in p-type superconductivity (12. Substitution of the smaller (1.12 Å) Se²⁺ ones instead of Ba²⁺ (1.84 Å, results in a higher T_s (39 K) for x = 0.15. The increase in T_s by substitution of a smaller atom and also the fact that increasing pressore tends to increase T_r like, in the La_{1.4}Ba_{0.2}Cod₂, phase, T_s increases from 31 K to 36 K for a pressure increase from atmosphere to 1.2 GPs (13)] is a significant property for a fundamental understanding of high-temperature superconductivity and it also paints the way to the synthesis of oxide superconductors with higher T_{i}

The structure of compounds in the Nd_2CuO_4 system is identical to the compounds in the La-based copper oxides. The only difference arises in the positions of the oxygen atoms, giving rise to an O₂ layer instead of the La+O layer present in Labased structures. While this does not change the CuO₂ layers, if results to a square planar fourfold copper coordination as seen in Fig. 2, which compares the structures of the La- and Nd-based superconductors. The most important feature of Ndbased materials derives from the fact that superconductivity in this system is by electroconduction or *n*-type rather than hole conduction as in La-based superconductors. The difference in renductivity between the two systems, which in the undoped state have almost identical structures and trivalent lanthanum er neadymium, is owing to the effect of doping the substituting La with divalent Snand the Né with tetravalent Co. In one case it results in a decrease in the number of electrons (La^{3+}) cSr21), leading to excess holes, while in the other it increases the number of electrons (Nd⁺⁺ $+ h^+ \rightarrow Ce^{i+1}$, leading to *n*-type conductivity. The electroconducting compound Nd₁₄₅Ce₀₁₅CuO₁. with $T_c = 24$ K is the most studied material in this system (14).



Figure 3. Structural phase changes in Laborate copper conder as function of Sciconcentration. (Adapted from Ref. 15

Another common feature observed among the HTSC on the families is easily observed in $La_{2,s}(B - Ba, Sr) \in CoO_4$. Here, the lattice parameters and crystallographic symmetry depend on the value of x. For x = 0.2 and B = Sr, the structure is tetragonal, while it is orthorhombar for x < 0.2. Figure 3 shows the structural phase diagram for the $La_{2,s}Sr_sOO_4$ -system (15). Similar features can be found for B = Ba. One aspect of the structures in La-based compounds is that superconductivity is observed both in the orthorhombar and totragonal phase, a feature not seen in the Y-Ba. Co. O system, where only the orthorhombar phase superconducts.

Y-Ba-Cu-O Compounds

The increase in T_i observed by increasing pressure and by substitution of smaller atoms led Uhu and his co-workers (13) to replace La^{1+} (or ic roduls of 1.14 Å) by the smaller Y^{5+} (0.94 Å), leading to the first superconductor with a transition temperature (T) higher than the bading point of liquid N_2 (77 K). The compound synthesized was $YBa_2Ca_1O_2$, with a *T* of 92 K. $YBa_2Ca_1O_2$, is also commonly referred to in the literature as Y123 or generally as YBCO and is the most widely studied of all the HTSC oxides. Its superconducting properties, such as T_0 , the maximum current that it can carry (measured by the current flowing per unit emissistic flowing material, i.e., the critical current density, J_0), and the maximum strength of magnetic field that it could expel via the Measure effect (H_0), are all highly sensitive to the crystal structure and crystal quality of the YBCO material.

In terms of the perovskise structure, $YBa_2Cu_3O_{2,2}$ is modeled by stacking three perovskite-type cells of type BaCuO_{te} YCuO₂, and BaCuO₂ as shown in Fig. 4. A BaO plane separates two layers containing Cu and O. While one contains atoms in the ratio of 1:2, that is, CuO_2 , the other contains a varying quantity of O, ranging from CuO to Cu. The two layers are commonly referred to as the CuO₂ plane or Cut tchain, respectively. The quantity of exygen in the channels is the key to properties of $YBa_sCud0;$, and is represented by the value of δ_s known as the exygenation parameter. For $\delta = 1$, the chains do not contain O (Fig. 4), while for b = 0, the chains are fully exygenated, giving a CuO layer. The δ value also determines the crystal structure of YBCO, and Fig. 4 (left to right) shows the transition from an or Diozhombie structure (a = 3.82 Å, b = 3.89 Å, c = 11.68 Å) for b = 0 to a tetragonal structure for $\delta = 1.0r + h = 3.86$ Å, r11.52 Å). Significantly, in the tetragonal phase obtained for $\delta \geq$ 0.6, the material is invulating and does not have a superconducting transition, while in the arthorhombic state obtained for $\delta \ge 0.6$, it is metallic and superconducting, T_i is seen to maximize at 92 K as 5 approaches zone 5 can be measured either using the fitration method or from the lattice parameter of YIM 'O obtained from X-ray diffraction (XRD) measurements using an empirical formula, $b = (c - 11.65 \pm 0.1601)$ suggested by Tranquada et al. (16). Here, c is the value of the r parameters eter obtained from XRD measurements. Figure 5 shows the experimentally observed correlation between the c-axis lattice parameter and T_2 for YBCO in both thin-film form (17) and hills form (18). The higher values of the c-axis lattice parameter for YBCO thin film than those for halk YBCO with the same T_e are attributed to the expansion of the onit cell under the influence of the substrate material.



Figure 4. Structure of $V_1Ba_2Oa_1O_{n-1}$. The oxygen content (so some from 1) inclutions ligance to 0. Influence figure to 0. Influence figure to the superconducting orthogonal insulating phase to the superconducting orthogonality YBCO phase. The fivefold contribution of the Ori in the copper inside plane is also shown. The choice experiment in the *n*-figure varies with 3. The distortion of the CuO₃ planes as also see a



Figure 5. Experimental currelation between the c-axis lattice purposeter and T_r for YBCO thin film form (14) and YBCO bulk form (Adapted from Ref. 18 \times

In many cases, it is easier to interpret the properties of the HTSC oxides by understanding the stacking sequence of the individual Co-O layers making up the unit cell. But, unlike the case of true layered compaunds such as graphite and ance, where the weak bonds between layers makes intercalation with foreign atoms easy, this is not the case with the HTSC oxides, and so the layers must not be unterpreted as such. In the case of the Bi-based HTSC oxides, though, the binding between BiO sheets is weak and intercalation of iodine is possible. Figures 6(a) and 6(b) compare the layering sequences in YBCO and LayCoO₄. Whe main difference seems to be in the form of the position of the individual Co atoms. For the case of YBCO, all the Cu atoms are of one type; that is, edge type or all centered (depending upon the representation), while for the La-based structure, they except (000) and (1/2/1/2/1/2) positions The Y layer acts as a spacer for the two CuO₂ planes in YBCO. Also unlike the case of La-Sr-Cu-O, the atoms on the CuO₂ layer in YBCO do not all he on the same plane, that is, their z values differ slightly and so they are actually CuO₂ shrets us compared with CuO₂ planes. This slight distortion is visible in Figs. 4 and Ga). Heating YBCO through 350 C transforms the orthorhombic structure to the tetragonal phase owing to the loss of oxygen. This displacing transition is the reason for twinning and is usually seen when the stroin accompanying the phase change cannot be completely released, as in the case of crystalline than films deposited on substrates. Thus, VBCO than films undergo twinning when grown at high temperatures and subsequently model through 350 C in an oxygen ambient. Figure 7 shows a typical YBCO film showing twinning observed under an electron microscope.

In addition to YBCO, the Y-Ba-Cu-O family also contains other glusses of which $YHa_2Cu_2O_3(Y124)$ has a T_2 of \sim 80 K and $Y_2 Re_4 O(\gamma O_{12+\gamma}) Y247$ (has a T_2 of γ 55 K. These two phases are not observed under normal processing conditions and require extremely high oxygen pressures or the addition of alkalt-metal. compounds in air at normal pressures (19). The structure of Y124 is similar to that of YBCO with the addition of an extra CDO chain layer displaced with respect to the first by a lattice parameter of $\delta/2$ (where the δ axis contains the oxygen of the chains). Y124 is orthorhombic with $\pi = 3.84$ Å, b = 3.87 Å, c27.2 Å. The structure of Y247 can be represented by the intergrowth of alternating layers of YBCO and Y124, resulting in an orthorhombic structure of a = 3.85 Å, b = 3.87 Å, c = 50.3 Å. As compared to YBCO. Y124 has a fixed oxygen stoichometry and so does not undergo the displacive transformation resulting in the twinning morphology.

Bi-, 1i-, and Hg-Based Compounds

In early 1955, two new superconducting systems based on bismuth and the toxic metal thalbum with transition



Figure 8. Layered approach to the structure of copper oxide superconductors. (a) The $Y_1Be_2Cu_3O_2$, structure with the individual planes and plane spacings in the c direction marked (b) Similar approach for the La-based superconductors. (Adapted from C. P. Poule, H. A. Farach and R. J. Creswick, in Su. San Diego, CA: Academic 1905, pp. 182–191.)



Figure 7. Twinning in $Y_1Ba_5Cu_1O_7$... The figure shows a transmission electron microscope (TEM) image of a YBCO film grown on MgO by pulsed laser deposition. The structure correspond to the twin boundstress

temperatures considerably higher than YBCO were discovered. (20, 21). These two systems have a and b lattice parameters somdar to the Y- and La-based compounds, but with a much larger e parameter. The general formula for conjounds scentring in this system is given by $A_{2}B_{2}Ca_{n-1}Cu_{n}O2n_{14}$, where A = Bi or **TI**, B = Sr or **Ba**, and n = 1 to 4. The compounds in these two systems have identical structures and differ only in atom positions, so it is conversent to deal with their structures logether. The highest T_e renorded so fur in these systems are 123 K for n = 3 in the TI system, giving TL/Sr₂CaCu₁O₁₀, also referred to as T12223, and 110 K for the structurally similar Bi2223. The toxicity of the Ti oxides has prevented extensive characterization of these compounds as compared to the Bi structures. The crystal structures (Fig. 8) are similar to those of YBCO, but the CuO chain layers are instead replaced by a double layer of TIO. The absence of chams makes the Bi- and TI-based oxides. less susceptible to the statehometry of oxygen, though nonstoichiometry is commonly present in these systems due frequently to Cs(Sr) or Cu depletion. The multiplicity of phases is a major problem in the synthesis of homogeneous material m these systems.

The Cu coordination is fivefeld square pyramidal with O as for YBCO (Fig. 4). But for n = 3, the middle CuO layer contains Cu, which is planar fourfold coordinated. The layer in these systems consists of CuO₂ Ca CuO₂ layers sandwiched between alkaline-earth-metal oxide $B(Sr \text{ or } Ba \vdash O)$ layers and by a double layer of AOT for Bi) O. An interesting feature shown by these compounds is the variation of T_r with the number of CuO₂ planes, n. The T_r is found to increase with increasing n, maximizing at n = 3. While this confirms the walely accepted fact that the CuO₂ layers play a stud role in superconductivity, for example, the structures with n = 0 do not superconduct; increasing the number of layers indefinitely does not necessarily increase T_r .

In addition to these stoichiometric compounds, long sintering times can result in the evaporation of part of an A. O layor, resulting in a monolayor of U=O or Bi=O, giving nonstoichiometric oxides. T_i's in the Tl-based compounds vary from 10 K to 121 K depending on the number of copper oxide planes. The family of systems given by the formula $A_2B_2Ca_{n-1}Cu_nO_{2n+4}$ or equivalently by $A_2B_2Ca \in Cu_{n-1}O_{2n-4}$ (here n does not correspond to the number of CuO₂ layers) can be extended to other cations such as increasive (Hg), which forms a series of compounds (with A_2 replaced by Hg and B by Ba) with T_n 's ranging from 95 K to 133 K, again maximizing for three CuO₂ layers.

ROLE OF MICROSTRUCTURES IN HIGH-T, SUPERCONDUCTORS

After the initial excitement and directions towards large-scale technological applications of the HTSC oxides following their discovery in 1986, scientists have malized the difficulty in putting these commit oxides to use because they are hard, brittle, and difficult to draw into sheets or wires. The major emphasis in materials science and technology is now on developing the processing and fabrication of thin films for devices. Their novel properties, such as the ability to shield closed volumes from electromagnetic interferences via the Meissner effect, the low



Figure 8. Crystal structure of the TI-Bot based superconductors. Changing the number of Cu atoms introduces copper uside bayers (a). The structure of the Bi based compounds is similar, with the TI positions recorded by Bit (Adapted from Ref. 21.).

microwave surface resistance for use in filters for cellular basistations, the Josephson effect in superconducting quantum mterference devices (SQUIDs), and the sharp transition in the use of bolom-tens to detect infrared radiation are in stages of development and use. One exciting application is the use in microelectronics as interconnects—the reduction in Joule heating due to resistanceless current flow will increase the density of devices per chip and the efficiency of packaging. The improvement in *BC* time constants, increasing the speed of devices, also makes it attractive to consider the integration between superconductors and semiconductors to operate at liquid-nitrogen temperatures. In fact, there are a number of transistors that unprove performance when could to 77 K.

However, there are a number of problems to be solved some, such as the magnitude of electric current that HTSC oxides carry and the erratic behavior of weak links in Josephson junctions across grain boundaries, are functions of the Cooper pair coherence length and material quality, while others, such as the degradation on exposure to moisture of YBCO and the formation of obmic contacts to these mides, can be solved by proper combination of materials and processing conditions. Thus the material quality or microstructure of this films seems to be the most important aspect of thin-film shudy of HTSC superconductors. This leads us to the large influence of grain boundaries on the current-carrying ability of HTSC oxides. While the discussion here performs directly to YBCO. its extension to other HTSC oxides seems highly likely owing to the central role played by enherence length. As mentioned, earlier, the enherence length in oxule superconductors is on the order of a few nanometers, meaning that any imperfection in the material with an influence scaling across dimensions of the same magnitude will break Cooper pairs, mainly because they are formed owing to certain properties exhibited by the perfect. erystal structure.

Figure 9 shows an electron micrograph of a grain boundary occurring to a YBCO film with a misorientation between the grams being quite large (28.). It is now well accepted that when the Cooper pairs strike the boundary at an angle, some pass through unbroker, while others break and become consuperconducting, resulting in a reduction in the current that emerges on the other side of the boundary. In HTSC terminology, the processes are referred to as pair tunneling and pair breaking, respectively. The grain boundary is said to constitute a weak link as a result of this process. Actually, there are two sublike processes involved across boundaries in the HTSC oxides: the weak-link behavior is a result of pair tunneling across an insulating region separating the two superconducting regions or semiconductor insulator semiconductar tunneling, as at is referred to, while the other is the proximity effect, and occurs across a metallic or normal boundary, that is, a superconductornormal conductor-superconductor structure. These two processes have characteristic current-voltage behavior and are easily discernable in classical superconductors where the coherence lengths are large, almost 10 nm to 100 nm. In HTSC oxides, these two processes cannot be differentiated because they occur on length scates of a few nanometers, the same as the coherence length.

The significant role of grain boundaries has been emphasized by some fucid experimental demonstrations like those by researchers at IBM (22, 23), where they showed that not only does the critical current density (J_{ij}) of the material decrease due to the presence of the boundary, but the J_r also depends on the misorientation angle of the boundary. Figure 10 is a plot of the experimental result of J_i across grain boundaries. in YBCO films grown by pulsed laser deposition (PLD) (24, 25). The plot clearly shows that more using the misorientation. decreases the J_r. This has important implications for devices. High-current-carrying films need boundaries with extremely small misomentations or better still no boundaries at all. To explain the reason for this behavior a minder of researchers. (20, 26, 27) have invoked the dislocation structure of low-angle grain boundaries first proposed by Read and Schockley in 1950. (28). Figure 11 demonstrates this idea in a low-angle boundary. in a YBCO film grown by PLD. The almost regular separation of the dislocations marked in the figure generates the boundary misorientation, and in fact a plot of the dislocation separation versus misomentation (Fig. 12) shows a trend similar to that followed by the J, in Fig. 10. This similarity was an irresistible. attraction to model the correct flow as a strong function of the grain-boundary features arising from the dislocation arrays. This includes the finite region along the houndary where the lattice was highly distorted and so superconductivity can be destroyed (29). This is usually observed near or around disloentions like that shown in Fig. 13.



Figure 9. Large-ongle (25.1) grain boundary in Y₂Se₂Co₂O₂. This figure shows a high-resolution TEM image of a typical high-rangle pure 1991) foll grain boundary in YBCO.



Figure 10. Experimentally observed variation of the ortical current density $(d_{\rm c})$ with boundary cusorientation (9). (Adapted Ref. 23.)



Figure 11. Low-angle (f) (grain boundary in $Y_1Ba_2Uu_3U_{22}$ showing the dislocation array. This figure shows a high-resolution TEM image of a how-angle place SID1 (alt boundary in a YDCO film grown by bulaced laser deposition. The boundary unscientistical is generated by the equally spaced [100] edge disluvations.

The long-range strain fields are due to the dislocations (S0). that distort the crystal structure and affect superconductivity by changing the order parameter (31). The order parameter is the complex quantum-mechanical wave function used to describe the density of Cooper pairs as a function of space, similar to a wave function describing the electron density in a metal. for example, the ability of Cooper pairs to tunnel across small. distortions that are present along the boundary surface due to strains (32). This feature is a function of the boundary width. which describes the region along the boundary in which current flows via tup noting rather than normal current. This parameter is experimentally difficult to observe and various opproximamore such as the strength of the Burgers vector or via energy minimization (33) are used to calculate it. Another important influence of grain boundaries is the effect of non-superbiometry commonly observed along the boundary (34), leading to excess charge and subsequently scattering of the Cooper pairs.

Jagannadmum and Narayan have proposed an elegant model to represent the $J_{\rm e}$ across low-angle boundaries that



Figure 12. The variation of dislocation spacing with boundary misoriconstitution (2). The geometrically entrulated variation in spacing parallels the experimental observation of J_1 with misorientation shown in Fig. 10.



Figure 13. Dislocation over This logh-resolution TEM image shows the highly distorted structure of the YBCO (attice around a [100] edge dislocation.

incorporates all the features mentioned before. While the prevous calculations can be done fairly simply, the actual nature of the grain boundaries in HTSC materials needs to be understood fully. It has been shown by various authors that there is a large variation in grain-boundary microstructure even in films prepared under identical conditions (35, 36). Recently, it has been seen that even boundaries with a similar misorientation angle along identical crystallographic directions can have different atomic scale structures (37, 38).

Compared with strong variation in the low-angle region of 0 to 10 observed in Fig. 10, the J_2 in the high-angle region of 10 or more is uniformly low. An early explanation of the HM group for this saturation effect was like overlapping of dislocations as the boundary misumentation increased. While the nction of the dislocation structure boundaries loses significance at higher angles, it is difficult to even model the correct in the high-angle regime for the lack of a uniform description of the boundaries occurring there. Various representations such as the near-coincidence site lattice model (near CSL) or more recently the gram-houndary structure representation in terms of distinct structural units (38, 39) are being used to understand the properties of the high-ungle boundaries. It has also been difficule to interpret exceptions to the low -I, in high-angle cases, especially for the 90 lowist boundary, formed by rotating one unit cell of YBCO 90 with respect to an adjoining cell with the rotation area being perpendicular to the claxis or [001] direction (40, 41). Elere the absence of the weak link behavior is a strong suggestion for the fact that high ∂_{x} 's are associated with boundarries possessing low energy, also usually accompanied by high symmetry, which is true for the 90 - twost boundary. In this light the predominance of asymmetry in grain boundaries in YRCO grown by PLD is an important feature and must be understood. more clearly. All these factors lead one to realize that the exact nature of the effect of grain boundaries is far from being fully comprehended and detailed research must be continued for a better understanding.

ROLF OF SUBSTITUENTS IN HIGH-T, SUPERCONDUCTORS

The simple copper stude pervoskites are inculators. By substitating for certain stoms in the unit cell, these scalerials are made to behave as metals and hence possibly as superconductors. The key characteristic of any superconductor is an energy gap exactly at the Fermi level. Owing to this characteristic, Cooper pairs of electrons do not scatter off the lattice site and break. In the absence of scattering, the propagation of electrons encounters no resistance and the phenomenon of superconductivity is observed. The transition temperature depends strongly on the electronic density of states at the Fermi level. That parameter in turn, is strongly offected by doping of the initial caramic with other atoms of a different valence to provide extra electrons (or too few electrons, called holes), which are then available for participation in the superconducting mechanism.

The practice of doping has a long history in the field of semimuluctors, and chemists have developed great skills in modifying the properties of materials to allow practical electronic devices to be made. It is not surprising to see similar efforts applied to the HTSCs. A tremendous arroy of substitutions have been tried to improve the mechanical, magnetic, or currentcarrying properties of these materials. The complexities of multicomponent phase diagrams prevent some attempted conpounds from forming at all. Of those that can be made, either up chemical equilibrium or via a narrow path of kinetics, success is not guaranteed because it is hard to change the electronic properties precisely at the Fermi level. Moreover, the Fermi level is not one single number, but rather there is a Fermi surfuer in energy space, which is budly distorted from a simple spherical shape by the anisotropy present in the HTSC compounds. Consequently, there is considerable empiricism and guesswork present in any particular choice of chemical substitution in the HTSCs.

Role of Oxygen and Oxygen Vacancies

The role of oxygen in influencing the electronic properties of H7SCars very crucial. Normally, an oxygen atom takes on two electrons from another atom. Therefore, if it is absent, two more electrons are free to guielsewhere in the crystal. This is how vacancies affect the charge balance in a crystal. The first thing that oxygen vacancies do is change the number of free carriers available in the crystal lattice, which in turn adjusts the Fermi level slightly. The density of states at the Fermi level (N_0) is a key parameter of superconductors: the transition temperature T_{t} depends on N_{0} as $\exp(-1/N_{1}V)$, where V is the Cooper pairing potential. Small changes in N_0 caused by oxy_2 gen vacancies can translate into substantial changes in $T_{\rm e}$ ft does not take much to change N_0 appreciably. There are about 3.5 × 10¹¹ vacances/cm² in a double-layer compound such as BSCCO, which corresponds to having about 1% of the oxygen atoms missing

Explaining the role of oxygen vacancies depends upon the charge-transfer model, by which the electrons normally in the CuO_2 planes are transferred to sites elsewhere in the unit cell (42). In YBCO, the oxygen deficiency shows up especially in CuO chains, making their formula CuO_{1-n} while the CuO_2 layers remain chemically complete. A key experimental quantity in this model is the oxidation state of copper atoms in the CuO_2 planes. Any deviation from 2.0 indicates that charge transfer is occurring. Because of the mild geometric distation in the unit cell, the cupper-oxygen bands are stretched slightly in this plane. By measuring the band lengths around that copper atom: a band valance sum can be calculated, and this gives the oxidation state (48). As the number of invigen vacancies varies, both finis sum and the superconducting transition temperature T_c vary in the pattern shown in Fig. 14. This



Figure 14. (a) T_{σ} versus uzggen curtent in YBCO. (b) Bund valence sum around the copper atom in CuO(2) layer. The purpose of aboving the two figures together is to illustrate that T_{σ} is proportional to the oxidation state of the copper atoms in the conduction layer

presents a very convincing argument for the charge-transfer model.

In TBCCO. there is competition between several different means of causing charge transfer. These means may be missing metal atoms, extra metal atoms, missing oxygens, extra oxygens, etc. BSCCO exhibits all these conditions, plus the size orisionatch between the normal dimensions of the CuO(2) planes and the other pienes in the stack is so large that atoms occasionally wind up in the wrong layer. The presence of many slightly different but somdar structures in one crystal makes is difficult to interpret experimental data. Nevertheless, despite all the complexity, the average existation state for copper is 2.21, which tends to confirm the charge-transfer model.

It should also be noted that an excess of oxygen atoms also acts as a dopant, because it increases the number of sites where electrons can reside, which amounts to creating hole carriers in the crystal. The compound $E_{0,2}CuO_4$ is normally an insulator, but when extra oxygen is forced in, changing it to $E_0/CuO_{1,2}$, it becomes a superconductor. Thus, it appears that a small number of oxygen vacances offer a way to make small changes in the carrier concentration. Oxygen vacancies are equivalent to the substitution of nuclal atoms in terms of their effect on the availability of charge carriers.

Role of Substituents in La-IBa,Sr,Ca)- Co. O and Nd-Ce-Co-O Compounds

Substituting for Lu⁴⁺ by divalent ions $M = \text{Ba}^{2+}$, Sr^{2+} , Ca^{2+} leads to the appearance of metallic conductivity and for 0.05 × x < 0.3 superconductivity appears in $\text{La}_{2-x} M_x \text{Cu}(1_{4-y}; \text{LMCO})$ compounds. $T_y(x)$ is plotted in Fig. 15(a) where the black dots



Figure 15. (a. 7, as a function of S7 concentration on $(L_{A^{-1}}, S_{-2}, Q_{C})$ (5.13) and the general dependence 7, (4) on the concentration of bolds σ in the CuO₂ phases for some copper-us de superior duritors (After Tickura, 1993.)

correspond to the appearance of the Meissner signal, and the white dots to its saturated value (44). For larger concentrations of Sr, x > 0.16, the orygen vacancies can appear, y > 0; their formation, however, can be suppressed by performing the antroching under high oxygen pressure. Metallic conductivity and superconductivity may also be obtained by increasing the content of oxygen above the stochiometric value La₂CuO_{4,0}, d > 0. In this case, oxygen occupies interstitual positions in layers of La-O. In general, for La_{2-x}M_x, CuO_{4-x}, one observes the typical dependance $T_{x}(n)$, which is shown in Fig. 15(b), with x substituted by n = x - 2y, the number of free charge carriers (holes) per cell in the CuO₄ planes.

Under the substitution of La by the trivalent rare-earth ions RB = Nd. Sm. or Gd, a smooth decrease of T_c with decreasing



Figure 16. *T*, as a function of importing *i* , a is $L_{2,1}$, $S_{2,0}$, $U_{1,-2}$, $Z_{2,0}$, $U_{1,-3}$, $U_{2,-3}$, $U_{1,-3}$, $U_{2,-3}$,

ionic radius in the series of these ions (45) occurs. At the same time, the value of mignetic moment of RE ion has no effect on T_c , which indicates that the Cooper pairs in the CoO₂ plane are weakly coupled to the magnetic moments of ions in the La-O layers. An analogous situation is observed for electronic superconductors $Nd_{2-s}Ce$, CuO_4 under the substitution of Nd by the rare-earth ions Pr, Sm, and Eu. The decrease of T_i with decreasing radii of RE ions and primitive cell volume may be related to the decrease of Co. O band length,

However, this simple picture contradicts the dependence of $T_{\rm e}$ on the external pressure. In the La–Sr compounds $T_{\rm e}$ increases with an increase of pressure, altanung a certain max amon, and even decreases at high pressures. Meanwhile, in Nd–Ce compounds $T_{\rm e}$ is pressure independent. This difference in the T/p dependence can be related to a special role of apex exygen: In the tetragonal phase of La–Sr compounds there are two apex oxygens in the complete CuO₂ octahedron, and in the tetragonal phase of Nd. Ce compounds the apex oxygen is absent.

An isovalence substitution of copper by the cass of 3d metals. has a much stronger effect on $T_{
m e}$ At a concentration of x=50to 7% for Ni and Fe and x = 2% to 3% for Zn ions, the superconductivity in LMCO disappears (45-47). While the disruption of superconductivity due to scattering of the Cooper pairs on magnetic imputities is well known, the suppression of T_i due to Za unparities in CuO planes is characteristic of copper-oxide superconductors. Figure 16 shows the $T_{i}(x)$ dependence for the Zn imparity of Lay [Sr , CoO4] (LSCO and YBCO (47). It is possible that Zn ions, which have a filled 3d shell $(3d^{nc})$, destroy a rather complicated correlation conduction hand in CuO_2 planes. that is related to Cu–O charge transfer as shown in Fig. (7(48), This leads to suppression of superconductivity. In this context, one can consuler Zo2* ions as effective magnetic scatterers, because they substitute Coff ions, which have a local magnetic moment



Figure 17. Schematic of electronic structure of $cop_{12} courts approxim$ $ductors accounting for (a) the correlation splitting of a <math>pd\sigma$ band, and some postels for its change upon p or n depang: (b) right band, (c) impurity band, (d) filled gap, and (w, head density approximation, [After Pink et al. (48.)

Role of Substituents in YBCO Compounds

A large number of studies have been carried out to investigate the role of constituents in YBCO compounds. Immediately after superconductivity with $T_r = 90$ K in the YM/O system was observed, a large class of RBCO compounds with a similar $T_{
m s}$ was prepared. This was done by substituting Y by builthandes Lo = La, Nd, Sm, Eu, Gd, Dy, Ho, Er, Tm, Yb, or Lo. For these no separation of $T_{\rm c}$ in the compounds with rare-earth ions having a large magnetic moment has been observed. This indicates their weak coupling with the in-plane holes. The exceptions are Ce and Er one, where formal valence is +4, which violates the isovationce of the substitution of Y iens and can change the conconstation of carriers in CuO₂ planes. In order to investigate this concept, the system $(Y_1, \cdot, \cdot, Cu_n) \operatorname{Prx}_{\operatorname{Res}} \operatorname{Cu}_n O_7$, has been examined (49). The $T_i(y)$ dependence for different x and $T_i(x)$ at y = 0 is shown in Figs. 18(a) and 18(b), respectively The substitution of Pr** for Y decreases the number of in-plane holes, whereas substitution of Ca2+ has the opposite effect. This allows one to investigate separately the dependence of $T_{\rm s}$ on the concontration of boles $n \in (y - x)$ and on the magnetic scattering on the localized moments of Pr. Indeed, at follows from Fig. 18(a) that $T_i(y)$ has a typical hole dependence with a maximum at an optimal concentration of holes a for various concentrations a of Pr ions. The location of these maxima shifts to larger values of y with an increase of Pricontent, which proves directly that the concentration of carriers and (y - x) decreases with an increase of x. At the same time, a decrease of the maximum value of $T_i(x,y)$ for the optimal u is observed, which indicates a decrease of $T_{
m c}$ due to magnetic scattering leading to the destruction of Cooperpairs. Figure 18(h) shows the effect of a change of the comber of carriers on To x y = 0). One can see that the maximum value of T_s in YBCO at T - b = 6.95 is attained under a small decrease of the number of in plane holes due to the tetravalent impurities, for the course of investigations of the effect of impurity substitution on T_c, and must control the content of oxygen as if influences the number of carriers in CoO₂ planes and determines the value of T_{c}

An investigation of the effect of substitution of Bu in YBCO by the rare-particitions has been carried out for the LagBag $_{1}L_{1}$, $_{1}Cu_{3}O_{1}$, compounds, where Ln = Ln. Not Sin, Eu. Od All the lambarides produce an equal decrease in T, with m spectra the concentration of impurities x. This indicates a weak sensitivity of the supermonduring transition to the appearance



Figure 18. The dependence of T_{1} is $Y_{1-k-1}Co_{2}Pr_{1}Ba_{2}Cu_{4}O_{k+k}(s)$ on the concentration of Ca at a fixed content of Pr and Dr on the concentration of Pr for $\gamma = 0$. The dotted line is the T_{r} dependence on the concentration of holes without magnetic scattering. [After Neumeiez et al. (45.4)]

of magnetic moments on the Un sites. A phase transition is also observed from orthorhombic to tetragonal (at x = 0.2 to 0.3), which, however, dud not have significant effect on the superconducting properties. In view of an other maximization of the superconducting properties. In view of an other maximization of the superaccomplicated rearrangement of charge in the layers B(-O(4), Cu(1), O, Cu(2)+O(2,3)), it is not possible to an ambiguously conclude regarding the dependence of T_{x} on the concentration of holes in CuO_2 planes

In the YBCO combounds a more complicated effect of the substitution for copperators has been observed. The complicated effect arises due to two reasons. First, in YBCO compounds there are two nonequivalent enprise positions, whose substitution has a different effect on their electronic structure and superconductivity. Second, some imparities such as Fe and Co affect the experiment and the short-range order in Cu(1) [ayer, which may change the number of carriers in the Cu(2)-O(2,3) planes.

It is interesting to study the effect of substituting Cu by onis of Schements $M^{2n} = \mathbf{T}(3d^{2}), \mathbf{C}(3d^{2}), \mathbf{Mn}(3d^{2}), \mathbf{Fe}(3d^{2}), \mathbb{C}(0)3d^{2}).$ Ni(3g⁰), and Zn(3g¹⁰). It has been observed that for x = 0.1 in $\mathrm{YBa}_{2}(\mathrm{Cu}_{1+1}, \mathbf{M}, \mathbf{b}; \mathbf{O}_{7+1})$ the strongest suppression of T_{2} occurs for the jons of Fe and Co, having the maximum magnetic moment, and also for the Zonens (50). However, some investigations have demonstrated that in case of Fe and Co an extra annealing in an axygen atomsphere restates the value of $T_{
m s}$ for au less than az equal to 0.35 almost completely, but dues not relax the decrease of T, by the imparitaes of Zn and Ni+51). Such different effects of annealing on T_i in impurity compounds of YBCO is explained by the fact that at low concentrations the ions of Co and Fe preferentially occupy the position of Culti, and the inits of Zn and Ni the position of Cu(2). Therefore, amusaing in oxygen restores the oxygen content and its coordination in the CuUI-(01) layer for the Co and Fe inspurities, but has no effect on the plane Cu(2)-48(2,3) for the Zn and Ni impurities.



Figure 19. The dependence of lattice parameters and T_{i} on the concentration of impuratics in YBu₂Cu₁₋₁M₂Cu₂₋₁ for (a) Zn, and (b) Cu.

A more detailed analysis of the effect of diamagnetic urgin raties under a substitution for copper is also available in figerstore (52) In that study Zn²⁺(3d¹⁰) and Ga²⁺(3d¹⁰) impurities were used. Their ponic radii for a filled 3d shell, $R(Zn^{2r}) = 0.75$ Å, $B(\mathbf{Ga}^{(i)}) = 0.62$ Å are close to $B(\mathbf{Cu}^{2*}) = 0.73$ Å, which allows one to obtain single-phase samples in a wide range of impurity concentrations. Noutron diffraction measurements have indiroted that Zn primarily occupies the position of Cu(2), and Ga the chain positions of Cu(1). The dependence of T_c and lattice constants are shown in Fig. 19(a) for Zir and Pig. 19(b) for Ga. Zu impurities in the layers Cu(2), O(2,3) have only a small effect on the parameters of the laster, preserving the orthorhombic phase, but lead to a rapid suppression of T_{c} . The exygen content remains close to optimal 16.8 and 7.0 for samples with Zn and Ga. respectively), and therefore the transition to the tetragonal phase in the case of Ga is not related to the deficiency of oxygen. The resistance $\rho(\alpha)$ in the normal phase increases much faster for Ga imporities than that for Zo, while they have the converse T/x) dependence. These experiments clearly demonstrate that the main role in the appearance of superconductivity in copper-axide compounds as played by the Cutty planes, where the specific properties of copper in 3d⁶ states are necessary to attain high T_c .

According to studies of structural, magnetic and superconducting properties of YBa₂Cu₀, M_1O_2 , compounds, paramagnetic and dramagnetic imporities affect these properties differently (49). Here M = Ni.Fe,Co represent paramagnetic imporities and M = Zn,Al represent diamagnetic importies. It has been observed that the divalent importies Zn^{21} and Ni^{21} da

not change the content in the sample and, when occupying pasitions in CuO_2 planes, preserve the orthorhombic phase in the domain of single-phase states (for z < 0.3 or the concentration $x \in z/S < 0.10$ AFT impurities as well as Cu and Fe being in the trivulent state occupy the chain Cult (positions. They lead to an increase of oxygen content. filling the vacancies near the impurity site and leading to a transition to the terragonal phose for z < 0.1. The dependence of T_e(a) for these impurity substitutions is shown in Fig. 20. It is clear from this figure that substituting in-plane Cu(2) by Zn impurities leads to a rapid decrease of $T_{\rm e}$ while substituting the m-chain Cu(1) by trivalent imporities Al, Fe, Co has a much weaker effect on $T_{\rm r}$. Apparently, both substitution of unpurities for in-clipin Co(1) and changing the oxygon content have the same effect on the charge transfer from the chains to the planes, causing the transition from insolating to metallic phase which becomes superconducting. Note that in a series of experiments a more complicated dependence of T_{ij} on the concentration of impurities that substitute for copper in YBCO compounds has also been observed (54, 55)

There are certain elements in the periodic table that have been shown to be correactive with YBCO materials (56, 57). When such elements are added to YBCO compared, they do not substitute any of the elements in the lattice and tend to reside in intergrammar regions (58). However, they have been found to affect significantly the superconducting properties. Solver is one such element that has must widely been used as a depart to modify the grain-boundary properties of YBCO system (59). Shown in Fig. 21 is the variation of T_r and J_r



Figure 20. T_r versus the concentration of imparities $M = N(^{2r})$ and Zn^{2r} and $M = A(^{2r})$, Fe^{2r} , and Cn^{2r} in YBa₂Cu₃₋₂M₂O₇ ..., (After Taraskin et al. (551))

of YBCO films doped with different amound of silver All the films were deposited in situ on (100) IonAIO₂ substrates using a pulsesi laser deposition techniques. Different levels of doping in YECO films were detained by using targets containing different consentration of silver motal. Figure 21 shows that there is a one-to-one correlation between the resistivity and critical current densities. This correlation is due to weak-link coupling in which the critical current density of weak links should increase with lowered resistivity (60). Figure 21 also shows that films made using targets having 5% of silver gives highest $J_{\rm c}$ and the lowest room-temperature resistivity. This can be explained on the busis of the fact that a lower percentage of solver in the target may not be able to provide sufficient silver atoms required to enhance grain growth and liberate oxygen at the periphery of the grants of films, whereas a higher percentage of silver in the target would result in higher doping of YBCO films. Higher Jevels of silver in the targets and films may give rise to the formation of some impurity phases. According to Kanimal. (61), it. is also possible that beyond the optimum Agicontent. Agiatoms may enter the CoO basal panes in the orthorhombic structure and cause deterioration in T_i and J_i of the sample.

Since the grains in the superconducting films are coupled to each other through the materials in the grain boundaries.



Figure 21. Variation of counterspectators resultivity and critical current density (J_c) or 77 K of films obtained from YBCO rangests having different departs level of Ag. [After Kumar et al. 98]

the presence of solver in the grain boundaries affects the properties of YBCO motorials very significantly. The materials in the boundaries are the rejects of the grains, and they may be either metallic or insulating in nature. Depending upon the nature of the material in the grain boundary, the couplings are known as S-1-S (60) or S-N-S (62, 63) where S, 1, and N stand for superconductor, insulator, and normal metal, respectively. The temperature dependence of the critical current density as a function of temperature gives an idea of the nature of the weak links present in superconducting samples with different amount of grain-boundary dopants (60). If the superconducting grains are coupled to each other by an insulating phase in the grain-boundary region, the current density of such junctions is determined by the expression suggested by Ambegoakar and Baratoff (60).

$$d_{i}(T) = \pi \Delta(T)/2eR_{g} \tanh[(ert\Delta(T)/2k_{0}T)]$$
 (1)

where R_{t} is junction resistance and $\Delta(T)$ is energy gap. When T is close to T_{tr}

$$d_i(T) \propto (1 - T/T_i)$$
(2)

If the suppression of the order parameter is taken into account, calculation through Gmzberg–Landau theory gives the following $J_c(T)$ relation for an S-1-S network (84):

$$d_{1}^{2}(T) \propto (1 - T/T_{1})^{2/2}$$
(3)

However, if the superconducting grades are coupled to each other by normal-metal type material in the gram-boundary region, the junctions are known as S-N-S junctions and the current density of such junctions is given by the expression suggested by de Gennes (62) and Clarke (61),

$$J(T) = J_{2}(1 - T)T_{r}^{2}e^{-2/3\kappa}$$
(4)

where *d* is the thickness of the grain boundary layer and $\xi_n \in$ the normal-metal coherence length. Ignoring the weak temperature dependence of C_n compared to the $(1 - T_i)T_i$ is term, we obtain

$$J(T) \propto (1 - T/T_c)^* e^{-it/t_T}$$
(5)

αť

The value of the slope of the $\sqrt{J_t}$ versus $T_t = T$ plot can be used as a figure of ment of the film, since the larger the slope of the plot the better the quality of the film. Having identified the nature of the weak link from the $\sqrt{J_t}$ versus T_t

T plot, one can derive other useful information from this plot regarding the width of the grain boundary in different films. From Eq. (6) it is obvious that the slope of the $\sqrt{J_{e}}$ versus T_{e}

T plot is proportional to the inverse exponent of the width of the grain boundary d. This removal was used by Kumar et al. (65) to understand the reason for the difference in critical current densities of undeped and Ag-doped films. They fabriented a series of YBCO films with different concentration of



Figure 22. Critical correct density versus temperature plots for unduped and Ag-doped YBCO films on LuAIO; substrates grown under identical conditions. [After Kumar et al. (1994).]

Ag. Plote of the temperature dependance of the critical current density of these films are shown in Fig. 22. Determining the values of $\sqrt{J_c}$ and $T_c = T$ from Fig. 22. The $\sqrt{J_c}$ versus $T_c = T$ plots of undeped and Ag-doped YBCD films were obtained and are shown in Fig. 23. It is clear from this figure that both undaped and Ag-doped YBCO films follow the S-N-S model, but their gram-boundary widths are different. The variation in grain-boundary widths in undaped and Ag-doped films is as follows: $d_{1e}xd_{2e}xd_{$

Role of Substituents in Riv, Tiv, and Hg-Based Compounds

The supper superconductors containing layers of hismoth wide, thallium exide, or mercury exide exhibit superconductivity at higher transition temperatures than YBCO. Because all three types of compounds have very similar structures it is convenient to discuss the role of dopants in these compounds together. Among the bismuth-oxide-based superconductors, the structures of greatest interest are Bi₁Sr₂Ca₁Ca₂O₁₄ (BSCCO-1212) and Bi₂Sr₂Ca₂Ca₃O₁₀ (BSCCO-2223). The most familiar substitution in bismuth-oxide-based superconductors is to replace bismuth with lead. This has relatively minor effects on the superconducting properties, but is strongly affects the kinetics and phase equilibrium of the mixture. The result is that (Pb,Bi)₈Sr₂Ca₂Cu₃O₁₅ is much easier to make than BSCCO-2223 without lead. In a similar analogy with the rare-earth substitutions in YBCO, the partial replacement of Bi with Pb makes httle difference electronically, and thus changes the T_{c} only very modestly.

In both the thallium- and basimthebased superconductors, the strategy of doping is driven by the conjectures of each investigators about what will produce desired properties. The number of substitutions possible on those unit cells, together with the complexity of their phase diagrams, requires verifination of hypotheses by empirical means. The familiar series of thallium superconductors are made of Tl. Ba, Ca, Cu, and The transition temperatures of various phases are generally above 100 K. A less well known series is based on Tl-Sr-Ca-Co-O (1SOCO) with Sr playing the equivalent role of Ba. TSUCO is nonsuperconducting. Sheng et al. (66) have shown that the substitution of the invalent Y for the devalent Ca brings an extra electron onto that layer in the unst cell, leading to the conversion of material to the superconducting phase with a T_{2} of 80 K. The goal of most substitutions is to change the number of carriers (hales, usually) by doping the various layers of the unit cell. As in YBCO compounds, the carrier concentration can be manipulated to optimize T_r by doping with elements of different valance. Using this concept a T, of 110 K has been achieved in TSCCO by combining the leadbismuth substitution for thallium with a substitution of yttraum for calcium (67, 68). The chemical formula is typically $(\Pi_{1/x}M_{2})Sr_{2}(Ca_{1/h}Y_{2})Cu_{2}O_{2/h}$, with various choices of x and h between 0 and 1, and δ around 0.1. The $T_{\rm e}$ of this series has been found to lie between 40 K and 100 K.

The first memory-based HTSC is HgBa₂CuO₄₊₂ (69). As in the case of Lu₂CuO₄₊₂, the primary doping mechanism is an interstitial oxygen. The maximum T = 95 K when δ is appriminately equal to 0.06, but drops to 59 K when $\delta = 0.61$. The change in oxygen content changes the unit-cell u and c dimensions. The associated change in T_c correlates with these dimensions as shown in Fig. 24 (70). Experiments have shown that about 6% of copper occasionally substitutes on the mercury



Figure 28. J_c to rous $T_c = T$ phots of undeped and Ag-doped YBCO films on LoAIO₅ substrates grown under identical conditions. (After Kumar et al. 65)



Figure 24. Latrice parameters *a* end *c* versus **7**. for HgBag(CgO₆, semples with different exygen contents. (After Wagner et al. 1705)

site, but a systematic pattern of changes in T_r is yet to be established. The new stater compounds with two or three CuOs layers that have $T_r = 133$ K also contain a slight excess of oxygen (6). It is expected that the effect of oxygen interstitial and vacancies may be similar to that found in previous HTSCs.

CONCLUSION

This article deals with the structure and role of constituents in high-temperature superconductors. After introducing certain basic terminology, we have presented schematic drawings of the anat cells of several different high-temperature superiorductors. The high-temperature superconductors have in comdum the presence of coppervoxide layers, with superconductivity taking place between these layers. The unit cells are not perfectly symmetric, which has unpurtant consequences for superconductivity. For the role of substituents, the range of possible substitution in high- T_i superconductors is enormous. This article presented some examples with an effort to explain why researchers preferentially try particular kouls of doping. The motivation is to manipulate the interacting electrons so as to learn more about the metallic state of the ceramic oxides. The goal of doping research is not to raise T, through empiricism but to establish an experimental foundation on which a theory can be built to explain the mechanism of high-T_c superconductors.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- H. K. Onnes, Report in the research made in the Leiden Cryogenic Laboretory between the 2nd and 3nd Int. Congr. on Refrigeration, Supp., No. 345, 1913.
- J. G. Bednurz and K. A. Muller, Z. Phys. B, 64: 189, 1986
- X. D. Wu et al., Appl. Phys. Lett., 51: 361, 1967.
- H. Muedo et al., Jun. J. Appl. Phys., 27: 1.2, 1994.
- Z. Z. Sheng and A. M. Hermann, Nature, 332: 138, 1988.
- 6 A. Schillung et al., Nature 363: 56, 1993.
- M. Namez-Reguerov, Neurone, 262, 97, 1993.
- C. W. Choi, Nature, 355, 323, 1993.
- 6. L. N. Comper. Phys. Rev. 104 (1189) 1956.
- F. Landon and H. London, Proc. H. Soc. London, Ser. A. 149: 7, 1935.
- J. C. Phillips on Physics of High T. Superconductors, New York: Academic Press, 1989.
- A. Wettiaux et al., C. R. Sciences Actal. Sci., 310, 1047, 1990.
- [3] C. W. Chulet al., Phys. Rev. Lett., 58: 405, 1987.
- J. Fonteuberta, L. Fahrega, and A. V. Nachkar, ed.), Studies in High Temperature Higherconductors, vol. 16, New York, Nova Science, 1996.
- D. Jerome, W. Kang, and S. S. P. Parkin, J. Appl. Phys. 63: 4005, 1988.
- J. M. Tranquada et al., Phys. Rev. B, 38, 8693 (1986)
- D. Kumar, Electrical, structural and chemical properties of laser ahlated YBCO thin film, Ph.D. thesis, Indian Institute of Technol-1479, Bornbay, 1993.
- 4A S. J. Rochman et al., Proc. DIMETA 68, Int. Conf. Diffus. Met. Atlays. Humpary, 1989.
- 19. R. J. Cavn, Nature, 338: 328, 1989.
- 20 T Sugerst et al., Nature 384, 231, 1964.
- C. C. Torardi et al., Science, 240, 601, 3964.
- 22. P. Chauthari et al., Phys. Rev. Lett., 60: 1653, 1988

- 25. D. Dimos, P. Chuadham, and J. Mannhurt. Phys. Rev. B, 41: 4038, 1990.
- 24 J. Narayan et al., Appl. Phys. Lett. 51, 1845, 1997.
- 25 D. Dykkomportal., Appl. Phys. Lett., 51: 619, 1097.
- 26. D. Dimos et al., Phys. Rev. Lett., 61: 219, 1989.
- 27 K. Jogannedham and J. Narayan, Philos. Mag. 59: 917, 1989.
- 26. W. T. Bead and W. Sharkley, Phys. Rev., 78: 275, 1950.
- K. Jagannadhani, J. Narayon, and H. S. Kwek (ed.), Superconductivity and Applications, New York: AIP, pp. 37–49.
- 30 M. F. Chishelm and S. J. Pennyeask, Nature 351: 47 (1991)
- 31 V.L. Guisherg and L. D. Lundess, Zh. Eksp. Trov. Ecc. 20, 1064, 1950.
- G. Deutsher, Physica C, 153-155; 15, 1988.
- 33. K. Jugannadham and J. Nurayan, Mater. Sci. Eng. 8, 8, 5, 1991.
- 34 N. D. Browning et al., Physica C 212, 185, 1993.
- 35. S. McKerman, M. G. Nerton, and C. B. Carter, J. Mater. Rev. 7, 1052, 1992.
- D. M. Krneger et al., J. Appl. Phys., 64 331, 1988.
- 37. S. Okryabisky, et al., Proc. Microse, Microanad., 4, 2994.
- R. Kalyanaraman et al., Mater Res. Soc. Proc. 528: in press.
- M. M. McGilibon. Philas. Mag. A. 73, 625, 1996.
- 40 S. E. Bahcock et al., Nature, 847 167, 1996.
- 41 U. B. Bonnet al., Science, 261, 780, 1980.
- 42. J. D. Jongensen et al., Phys. Polar, 44: 34, 1991
- 43 J. D. Jongensen et al., Phys. Rev. B, 36: 3608, 1997.
- 44 H. Takagi et al., Phys. Rev. B 40, 2254, 1989.
- H. Greene, B. G. Bagley, and D. M. Grasherg (ed.), Physical Properties of High-Temperature Superconductors, vol. 2, Singapore World Scientific, 1990, p. 509
- 46 J. T. Markert, Y. Dalichnouch, M. B. Muple, and D. M. Ginsberg red : Physical Properties of High-Temperature Superconductors, you 1, Surgepter World Scientific, 1999, p. 506.
- A. V. Narlikar, C. V. N. Kao, S. K. Agarwal, and A. V. Narlikar (ed.). Studies of High Temperature Superconductors, vol. 1, New York Nova Science, 1989, p. 341
- J. Fink et al., Proc. Int. Semia High T_c. Supercond. Dubna, JINR E17 90 472, 1990, p. 8.
- J. J. Menmeier, et al. Phys. Rev. Lett., 63: 2516, 1989.
- 501. G. Xiao et al., Phys. Rev. B, 85, 4742.
- Y. Oda et al. J. Phys. Soc. Jpn., 57: 4079, 1988.
- G. XLEO et al., Phys. Rev. Lett. 60, 1446, 1998.
- J.-M. Toraskon et al., Phys. Rev. B, 37: 7453, 1988.
- A. M. Bniagarov, J. Piechota, and A. Pajaczkowska, Solid State Converse, 78:407–1991
- S. K. Katsuyama, Y. Ueda, and K. Kosuge, *Mater. Rev. Ball.*, 24: 603, 1986)
- 56. Williams Chaudhary, 1988.
- 57 Kobeschewici Alcock, 1979
- D. Kumar et al., Appl. Lett., 82: 3522, 1993.
- 58, J. Joo et al., Appl. Supermark , 2: 401, 1994.
- 60. V. Ambegaoakar and A. Buratuff. Phys. Rev. Lett., 10: 436, 1963.
- Y.H. Koortal, Appl Phys. Lett., 67 (953, 1990).
- 62. P. G. de Gennes, Rev. Mod. Phys., 36: 225, 1964.
- J. Ularke, Proc. R. Soc. London, Sov. A. 308: 447, 1969.
- M. Tinkham, in Introduction to Superconductivity, New York: McGraw-Hol, 1975
- D. Kumor, P. H. Aptel and H. Pint, J. Appl. Phys., 77: 5802, 1995
- 66. J. P. Sheng et al., Appl. Phys. Lett., 54: 260, 1989.
- 67 R. S. Liussini, Appl. Phys. Lett. 57 (2492) 1998.

69. S. N. Potalin et al., Noture, 382, 226, 1993.

J. L. Wagner et al., Physica C, 210: 447, 1993.

Reading List

IEEE Dama Electron Dec., 34, 1987, special issue.

- Y. Jean, G. Liang, J. Chen, M. Cmft, N. W. Ruckman, D. Di Marizo, and M. S. Hegde, (1990), Phys. Rev. B, 41, 4066
- W. Jin, M. H. Dagam, R. K. Kalta, and P. Vashishte, Phys. Rev. B 45, 5535
- D. Kumar. (1994) in Electrical. Structural and Chemical Properties of Loser Ablated YBCO Trun Films, Ph. D. Thesis (Indian Institute of Technology, Bombay, India).
- G. Xiao, Creplak, D. Musser, M. Z. A. Gavrin, F. H. Streitz, A. Bakhshai, C. L. Chien, J. J. Hhyne, and J. A. Gutaas, (1986). Nature, 332, 236

D. KUMAR University of Dayton RADV K. SEXON University of Physical

R. KALIANARAMAN Numbrop Grumman Science and Technology Center

8. OKTVARBSKY

K. JAGANNADNAM

J. NARAYAN

North Curolino State University

Nb-Ti ALLOY SUPERCONDUCTORS

The most widely used superconducting materials are based on Nb-Th alloys with Ti contents ranging from 46 wt. 9 to 50 wt. 9 Ti. These alloys of Nb and Ti have both high strength and ductility and can be processed to achieve high critical corrent densities that make them ideal candidates for magnets and applications. Nb-Ti-based superconductors are commercially produced in long uniform lengths and cost significantly less to produce than other superconductors. The main drawbacks of this material are a low critical temperature, typically requiring cooling by liquid helium, and a low upper critical field which limits the applied field at which they can be used to below 42 T.

Although several other ducide superconductors have been investigated (most importantly michium-zirconium), the mobium-intantum alloy system has been the only ductile superconductor in use since the mid-1960s. The vast majority of all superconducting magnets have been constructed from a small-Nb-Ti alloy range of 46 wt. % Ti to 50 wt. % Ti 162 at 1% Ti to 66 al. 5 Ti), with most of the superconductor used being 47 wt. 3 Ti (63 at. 9 Ti). It is the strength ductifule entical current density, and relatively low cost of this material that makes it stand and as a commercial superconductor. The critical temperature, T_m and upper critical field, H_{c2} , of these Nb–Tr alloys are unexceptiona) (T_c ~ 9.3 K, H_{c2} (4.2 K) ~ 11 T, H_{c2} (2 K) ~ 14 T), hut their very high critical current densities (~3000 A/mm² at 5 T, 4.2 K) make them the ideal choice for applications in magnetic fields up to 9 T at 4.2 K (liquid belown conlant) and 12 T at 1.9 K (superfluid bigaid helium coolant). The primary applications of Nb+Ta-basist anagnets are magnetic resonance amaging (MRI), nuclear mignetic resonance (NMR), particle accelerators, magnetic confinement for fusion reactors, are separators, electrical power conditioners, and superconducting magnetic energy storage (SMES). Replacing some Nb with 15 wt. \Im Ta to 25 wt. \Im To forther extends the upper critical field when cooled with superfluid liquid helium but has yet to achieve significantly higher critical correct densities. This article will concentrate on Nb-47 wt. \Im Ti and similar alloys because of their complete dominance as ductile superconductors. Collings (1,2) has compiled extensive reviews of the properties and applications of ductile Ti-based superconductors and has covered the history of their development on to 1983 in an earlier volume (3).

Almost all Nb–Ti strands are manufactured as a composite of Nb–Ti filaments on a Co for occasionally Cu–Ni or Al matrix. The number of filaments can vary from 60 to 6000, and their diameters can vary from 5 am to 50 μ m. The Cu matrix type cally represents 50% to 70% of the strand volume and provides the composite with thermal and electrical stability. Subdividing the filaments provides adiabatic flux-jump stability and allows greater cold work to be applied to the strand, which is beneficial in achieving high ortical corrects. Commercial scale composities are munufactured on a scale of ~200 kg billets, and the resulting wire lengths can exceed 10 km at final size without breakage.

In type II superconductors, such as Nb-Ti, high critical curreal densities in magnetic fields are only possible if fluxoid. motion is inhibited. In Nb-Ti, strong fluxoid pinning is made possible by the creation of a finely dispersed nanometer scale donsuperconducting that closely matches the fluxoid spacing. The method of creating that pinning microstructure distinguishes the two basic methods of producing Nb-Ti strand. Fig. ure 1 shows such a microstructure achieved by heat-treating the strand during processing to produce Ti-rich α -Ti which fold into a densely packed array of sheets when the Nb. Tr wire is drawn to final size. The α -Ti sheets are typically 1 nm to 4 not thack with a separation of 5 nm to 20 nm. The folding of the microstructure during wire drawing is a result of the limited deformation orientations available in the body-centered cubic (BCC), crystal structure of the Nb-Ti grains. Almost all commercial NB TS strands are fabricated using precipitation. losst treatmont and are termed "conventionally processed" in order to distinguish them from the second and never method of Nb-Ti production called Artificial Pinning Center (APC), In the APC process the pinning microstructure is engineered by



Figure 1. A transmission electron controscope image of the maranetration of a Nb-47 w1 -3. To superconductor in transverse cross section reveals a densely folded array of second phase pars which are 1 nm to 4 nm in thickness. For compension a schematic illustration of the fluxoid diameter (7.80 cm) and specing (22 nm) at 5 T and 4.2 K is superimposed on the top left-hand corner.

mechanically assembling rods or sheets of the component materrals at a size large. Extrusion and wire drawing reduces the essembled array to the final nanometer dimensions. Lake the conventionally processed strand, the deformation of the orgimeered microstructure is dominated by the folding of the Nb-Ti matrix grains, and the resolving APC microstructures are very similar in appearance to those produced by conventional processing. The APC approach allows a large degree of freedom in the selection of matrix and pinning materials as well as their rates and physical distribution. Consequently, APC strands outperform conventionally processed strands in fields up to 5 T and promise greater performance at higher fields. The additional cost associated with assembling the pinning array and redowing it to nanometer scale has limited its commercial application.

THE NE-TI ALLOY SYSTEM

Stable Phases

The promic volume difference between Ti and Nb is only about 2%, resulting in a β -isomorphous system where the β phase has a BCC structure with a lattice parameter of approximately. 0.8285 nm. Figure 2 shows the variation in H_{c2} at 4.2 K (4). $T_{\rm c}/5)$ and resistivity, $\rho_{\rm c}/6)$ with composition for single-phase β -Nb–Ti. The upper critical field peaks sharply in the range of 40 wt. 3 Ti to 50 wt. 3 Ti with a maximum value of 11 5 T at 44 wf, @ Th. The critical temperature drops continuously over this range with increasing Ticontent. The only other stable phase in this system is the Ti-rich is phase which has a hexagonal clusspucked (HCP) structure and a composition of 1 at |⁽⁴⁾ Nb to 2 at % Nb The low Nb content of the o-Ti phase suggests that α -T) precipitates should have a low T_{γ} (approaching the 0.89 K $T_{\rm c}$ of pure Ti) and should be nonsuperconducting under proc tical operating conditions. The beneficial role of precipitating (by normal-phase o'T) precipitates was first shown by Pfeiller and Hillman in 1966 (7). The alpha phase is only stable below 562 C (at atmospheric pressure); and for the alloy composition range of interest, a-Ti is only stable below 570 to 600 C. In Figure 3 the widely used high-temperature phase boundaries of Hansen et al. (8) are combined with the calculated low tem-



Figure 2. The variation in H_{22} at 4.2 K (4), $T_{c}(5)$ and resistivity (6) with composition for single-phase Nb–T($-H_{c2}$ is defined as the linear extrapolation of the high-field parameter (F_{p}) to zero.



Figure 3. A hybrid equilibrium phase diagram for Nb–Tr combining the experimentally determined high-temperature phase boundaries of Elarson et al. (6, with the calculated low-temperature phase boundaries of Koufman and Bernstein (9) modified by Muffat and Kattaer (10). Also shown in the martenece (causformation curve (M_{\odot} of Moffat and Larbalester (11).

perature boundaries of Kaufman and Berustein (9) molthed by Maffat and Katiner (10) to provide a composite equilibrium phase diagram that generally reflects production experience. The use of the calculated low-temperature phase boundaries is a result of the difficulty of achieving equilibrium at the lowtemperatures tempared to the molting point) at which the 5-to $a \sim 8$ transformation occurs in Nb–Ti. The interdiffusion rate m S-Nb-Tr decreases exponentially with decreasing Ti content, and it was calculated in Ref. 10 that at 500 C it would take 10 years to reach the same condition in a 30 st. G. Ti alloy that it would take in 3 s in an 60 at 79 Ti alloy. The slow diffusion rates mean that in the composition range for superismducting appliration the angle β phase can be retained even with relatively slow quenching from above $\delta/\alpha + \beta$ boundary (600) to 650 C \oplus The shape and position of the $\beta/\alpha + \beta$ boundary is important because it determines the maximum volume of a Pi procipilate that can be formed for a given heat treatment temperature and alley composition. The calculated boundary inducates that both moreasing the Ti content and decreasing the heat freatment temperature should mensue the maximum volume of precipitate that can be produced.

Metastable Phases

There are three metastable phases of importance, two martensite ω' and ω' and an ω phase. The ω' -martensite is HCP with lattice parameters identical to ω -Ti, and it forms in alloys up 7 at. % moluum. The arthorhombic ω' is transitional between the HCP ω' and the BCC β phase, and it forms at higher Nb concentrations. The martensite transformation boundary of Moffat and Larbalestier (11) is shown in Fig. 3 and shows that the most commonly used Nb–Ti alloys are outside the range of the martensite transformation. The a phase has a hexagonal crystal structure (c/a = 0.613). It can be formed athermally in the alloy range 66 at \Im Ti to 70 at. \Im Ti by quenching from the β -phase region, or it can be formed by aging in the temperature range of 100 to 500 C. The α phase is typically observed as small ellipsuids roughly 5 nm to 10 nm in their langest dimension. In cold-worked and hest-treated Nb–Ti strands, they can graw to 50 nm in diameter. All the metastable phases can be transformed to single phase β -Nb–Ti or two-phase $\alpha + \beta$ ndicrostructures by brating long enough in the β or $\alpha + \beta$ phase fields, respectively

Cold-Worked Microstructures

In order to achieve high critical current densities a fine and homogeneous dispersion of flux pianing material must be introduced that is of sufficient volume for significant pinning but does not deleteriously affect the other H_{cl} or T_{cl} The process by which the first high critical current density microstructures were achieved was arrived at empirically before the resulting microstructures were characterized (12). The processing mvolved a high cold work strain followed by three or more heat. treatments in the $x = \beta$ phase range, each separated by additional cold work with the final heat meanment being followed. by another large colit-work strain. An understanding of the nuemstmictural development was key, however, to the further optimization of Nb-Ti and the reproducible production of high critical current strand. Initial observation of the microstructure was hindered by the difficulty in prenaring transverse cross sections of micron-sized filaments suitable for examination by transmission electron microscopy ("FEM). Once techniques had heen developed to prepare the TEM specimens, it became clear that folded sheets of a-Ti precipitates were the dominant micrustructural features of the final strand (see Ref. 13). Systematic analysis of the production process (as in Ref. 14) revealed that the high prestrain heat treatments produced w-Ti precipitates only at the intersections of grain boundaries. The lucation of precipitation at the grain boundary triple points meant. that the precipitation was homogeneously distributed if alloy composition and grain size were uniform. The grain boundary triple-point a-Ti was also sufficiently ductile that it could he drawn down to the nanometer scale with breaking up or causing the strand itself to become difficult to draw. This contrasted with the other commonly observed a Tiprecipitate morphology. Widmanstitten w/Di, which formed in densely packed rafts in the interior of grains and resulted in a great increase in the filament hardness. The next section reviews each stop of the procees in more detail.

THE CONVENTIONAL PROCESS

Alloy Fabrication

A high-purity fine-gradied Nb Ti alloy with chemical homogeneity over both a large and small microstructural scale is an essential starting point to the production of Nb+Ti strainly. The large liquid solid phase separation shown in the phase diagram (Fig. 3), along with the high melting point of the Nb, makes it particularly difficult and expensive to produce a high quality Nb+Ti alloy suitable for superconductor application. The mean driving force for high homogeneity is the key role that precipitate quantity and morphology play in determining critical correct density, both of which are highly sensitive to composition. The development of a high-homogeneity Nh–Ti alloy was a crucial step in the advance toward high critical corrent Nb–Ti (see Ref. 15). The desired properties of the initial alloy billet are as follows.

- The correct overall alloy composition to optimize H_{circ} T_c and precipitation for pinning. The acceptable range is Nb-46-wit. 5. Ti to Nb. 48 wit. 5. Ti.
- 2 Uniform composition over the entire billet to ensure optimum physical and mechanical properties over the entire filament.
- Chemical humogeneity on a microstructural level in order to ensure uniform precipitation of the correct morphology (typically ± 1.5 wt. % Ti).
- Low and controlled levels of impurity elements in order to ensure predictable superconducting and mechanical properties
- 5. Elimination of hard particles (typically Nh-rich) because any particle that does not co-reduce with the alloy can result in filament drawing instability and ultimately strand breakage. The exterior of the final Nb-Ti rod must also be five of hard particles and must be smooth enough that it does not easily pick up particles doring subsequent handing.
- 6 A fine (typically ASTM grain size 6 or smaller) and uniform grain size as it controls the distribution of precipitate nucleation sites. A fine grain size also improves diffusion harrier uniformity. Where high critical current is less important, a larger grain size has been used increase ductility.
- Low hardness (typically a Vickers learnings number of 170 or less) to case co-deformation with softer stabilizer material.

The No Ti alloy is prepared from high-purity Nb and Ti by consumable electrode vacuum-are melting (where the electrodes are composites of Nb and Tc) and by electron-heam ar plasma-are melting. It is usually necessary to remelt the ingot two or three times in order to achieve the necessary chemical homogeneity. Primarily produced for the aviation industry. the high parity source Tr is reduced from TiCl₄ by Mg the Kroll process). High-purity Nb is refined from lower-parity Nb by two or three electron-beam remelts. The lower-parity Nb source itself is extracted from mobile-tantalite (NbgO₂ and Ta₂O₅) or pyrochlore (0.25% to 3% Nh₂O₆ (ones by way of an intermediate forroniobium alloy which is used on a relatively large scale for steel production. Table 1 lists the typical allowable ranges for impuritues, typified by specifications for the superconducting supercollider. The small level of allowable Ta has a historical origm, and it is unlikely that additions of less than $1.6~{
m wt}$ \otimes Ta will have a significant impact on superconducting or mechanical properties. Increasing the level of Fe from 200 $\mu L/L$ (the specification of the superconducting supercollider as found in Ref. 16) to 500 μ L/L (μ L/L is equivalent to the none commonly used ppont actually has a beneficial effect as shown in Ref. 17.

The chemical inhomogeneities that may be observed in the alloy at this stage in production can be divided into two types based on size, inactoinhomogeneities (those visible to the cyc)

Table I.	. Typical	Nb-Ti	Impurity	l.imits	Based	on Supe	rconducting
Supercu	Alider Sp	recificat	ions				

	Upper Limit		I pper Limit
Impority Element	$(\mu c L/L)$	Impurity Element	(aL/L)
Та	2500	Cu	340
0	1000	Nı	5460
C	800	Si	100
Fe	200	Cr	60
N	150	н	:15
Al .	100		

and microinhomogeneities (those requiring identification using microscopes). The most common macroinhomogeneities are Tirich "freckles" and hard Nb-rich particles. The Ti-rich freckles are so called from their appearance in ingot cross sections and are a result of Lorentz and buoyancy-driven flow of Ti-rich matenal between dendrites (see Ref. 18). Control of radial heat transfer and fluid flow in the melt pool eliminates the occurrence of freekles. Because of these relatively small size (typically 1 mm to 2 mm in diameter), compositional deviation (Tirich by 6 wt. % Ti to 10 wt. % Ti), and ductility, freckles are not in themselves particularly deleterious to strand production. The importance of the presence or rather the absence of Ti-rich freekles is as an indicator of good melt control. Ti-rich freekles are readily identified from flash radiographs of ingot cross sections. If flash radiography indicates that an ingot cross section is freakly free, it is likely that smaller-scale incroinhomogeneities, which are more difficult and expressive to quantify, have been kept to a minimum. A more serious macroinhomogeneity is the presence of hard Nb-rich particles which result in strand breakage failures (see Ref. 19). Nb-rich regions are a result of the high freezing point of Nb and can be aliminated by good process control and remelting. The Nb-rich particles were the cause of many early strand fadures but are rarely seen in modern production

Microchemical inhomogeneity in the cast ingots of Nb–Ti is inevitable because of the coring produced by the large liquidsolid phase separation. The microhomogeneity level can be qualitatively revealed by metalligraphy using a compositionsensitive etch as shown in Fig. 4. In this example of a highhomogeneity-grade alloy, the microchemical variation is ± 3 wit % Ti and has a wavelength of 100 μ m to 200 μ m. Commercial Nb–Ti alloys have microchemical variations of ± 1 wt. % Ti to ± 4 wt % Ti, with higher-homogeneity alloys costing more. Where high critical current density is less important, reduced microhomogeneity can be acceptable in order to reduce cost but not to an extent that will roduce strand yield by causing drawahibity problems during subsequent processing.

The diameter of the initial rast Nb. Triinget ranges from 200 mm to 600 mm, and this is typically reduced to 150 mm by hot forging before being fully annealed in the single-phase β region (approximately 2 h at 670 C). Extended anneals can be used to reduce microchemical inhomogeneity but will increase the grain size and consequently reduce the density of precipitate nucleation sites.

Composite Assembly

Stabilizer. All superconducting stronds are fabricularly as a combination of one or more continuous filaments of superconductor within a high electrical and thermal conductivity

matrix. The matrix material provides electrical and thermal stability and protection from burnout if the superconducting device reverts to the normal state ("guenches"). High-purity Cubs most commonly used biscupe it has good electrical and thermal conductivity in resistivity of 0.42 $n\Omega$ m and a thermal conductivity of 200 W/m/K at 6 T, 4 2 K), a high heat capacity, and good strength at both low temperature and during processing and it combines and processes well as a composite with Nb. Ti. A Co-Ni stabilizer is used for alternating-current (ac) applications where a high-resistivity matrix is required to reduce eddy current loss in the matrix and coupling between the submicron filaments (e.g., Refs. 20 and 21. Where high transverse resislivity is not required. Mn additions to Cu can be used to suppress the proximity coupling of filaments (22). Combinations of high-purity Co and Cu–Ni or Cu–Ma can be used within the same composite because the alloy stabilizer is only required between dilaments. High-purity alumnium has a greater in-field. thermal conductivity and electrical conductivity as well as a lower heat capacity, a lower density, and greater radiation resistance than Co. Despite these considerable advantages. Al is rarely used as a stabilizer because it is extremely difficult to coprocess with Nb-Ti Furthermore, conventional processing requires the use of precipitation heat treatments that for then soften the Al with respect to the Ni+Ti. The use of APC processing avoids the need for precipitation heat treatment and has been used to fabricate Al-stabilized strand with 15 vol. 🧐 of Al (23). Additional stabilizer can be added after or late in



Figure 4. Microchemical informations in Nb–Tr alloy can be revealed using a composition-sensitive etch. as in this example of an highbonogeneity Fe-doped Nh–46 wt 15 Ti alloy produced by Teledyne Wah Chang.

the fabrication process by external application, by soldering the strand into a claimed machined in the external stabilizer, reextruding the strand inside the external stabilizer, or other cladding techniques (24). These in-thods of applying external stabilizer allow for a greater variety of conductor cross-section designs and stabilizer compositions.

Diffusion Barriers. Good fabrication practice results in an excellent metallurgical bond between the composite components by the stuge of the process at which precipitation heat treatments are applied. At a-Ti, precipitation temperatures Cu and Ti at an Nb-Ti/Cu interface will react to form hard intermetallie Ti-Cu (most commonly TiCu); compounds (25,26). The hard intermetables do not co-deform with the filaments and will agglomerate as final wire drawing proceeds. The agglomeration of hard particles results in filament nonuniform filament cross sections and ultimately can lead to strand failure. The practice of applying N5 diffusion barmers between the Nb. Tr and the stabilizer to improve filament uniformity and strand prodates the acute intermetallic problems caused by aggressive multiple precipitation heat treatments (27). Nh diffusion barriers became commonplace after it was clear that they would be required to achieve the high critical current densities required by the superconducting supercollider project (28). No is effective at inhibiting the formation of the Ti-Cu intermetablics and is merhanically compatible with the Nb. Ti alloy rule

The No barrier is normally applied as a sheet wrapped around the Nb-Ti rod before inserting into the stabilizer materral. Because the Nh sheet does not contribute to the critical current density, the stability reduces the averall supercoulur. tor cross section and is kept to a minimum. The Nb sheet is not impervious to Cu or Ti diffusion and must be kept to a sufficient thickness so that Collevels in the Nb. Ti do not reach high enough levels during heat treatment that TrCu₄ is formed. As the composite is deformed to smaller and smaller cross section, so is the thickness of the diffusion barrier, thus the most critusal processing stage for the Nh diffusion barrier is the final heat precipitation heat treatment. At this stage, not only is the barrier at its thinnest during heat treatment, but narber heat treatments have produced Ti-rich a-Ti precipitates, some of which will be adjacent to the barrier. Although Cu and Nb. have a very low mutual solubility, the high density of Nh and Nb. Ti grain boundaries in the cold-worked somposites provides. sufficient pathways for Cu diffusion. Faase et al. (29) have ralculated that for an aggressive final heat treatment of 50 h at 420 \odot a minimum barra-r thickness of 0.6 μ m is required to prevent reaction layers in the filament (there is no significant reaction in the Cullor Culstabilized composites). For smaller filaments, this can represent a significant proportion of the nonstabilizer area. For instance, for a 6 nm final filament diameter design, a 0.6 am barrier at final heat treatment size represents 4% official superconductor press, For a 2.5 am final filament diameter the same thickness diffusion barrier represents a lost superconductor area of over 9%. The calculated predictions of required Nb thickness agree well the development of 6 and 61amout strands for the superconducting supercollider where it was shown that 4 area S Nb barriers were required as oppased to 2 area W barmers used in early prototypes (30). Faase et al. also observed that the u-Ti precipitates adjacent to the Nb barmer were much smaller than elsewhere in the Nb-Ti. In addition to the formation of highlig intermetallics. Moreland et al. (31) found that Co-concentrations of > 35° in the Nh. Ti



Figure 5. High resolution back scattered electron scanning electron microscope image of the Nb-Tb adjonent to an Nh definition barrier (white) after final precipitation least freatment. Nonuniformity of the barrier is shown along with a zone of reduced precipitate (bluck, next to the barrier

significantly degraded the local energy gap. Reducing the temperature of the final precipitation heat treatment significantly reduces the required continuum barrier thickness but most be balanced against a malaced rate of precipitation. Figure 5 shows a transverse cross section of Nb–Ti filament adjacent to a Nb barrier after it has received the third of three precipitation heat treatments. The manual formity of the barrier thickness is clear in Fig. 5 as is a zone of reduced precipitate size adjacent to the barrier.

The grains of the BCC Nb barrier and the Nb–Ti superconductor deform under plane strain conditions such that their (100; directions align with the wire-drawing axis, and they thin in their (004) direction. Maintaining grain boundary continuity requires that both the Nb–Ti and Nb grains must intercuraround their neighbors during cold work (see Ref. 32). At the Nb–Ti/Nb interface the Nb grains interrurt with the Nb–Ti grains resulting in an uneven barrier thickness. As the grain size increases, the scale of Nb–Ti penetration into the barrier increases. Hessner et al. (33) showed that there was a linear relationship between interasing Nb–Ti grain size and increasing variation in Nb barrier thickness, providing an additional intentive to use fine-grained Nb–Ti alloy.

Strand Geometry and Filament Spacing, A wide variety of strand geometries are manufactured from Nb–Ti, ranging from large single filament conductors to imiltifilamentary strands with more than 40,000 filaments. The low-resistivity stabilizer tends to be much softer than the Nb-Ti superconductor, so attention has to be paid to producing a composite that is mechanically stable over the large extrusion and drawing reductions. Gregory et al. (34) established that the optimum mechanical stability for Nb-Ti-Cu multifilamentary composites was for a filament spacing-to-diameter (s/d) ratio of 0.15 (ratios of 0.15) to 0.20 are now typical). This ratio fixes the local stabilizer-tesuperconductor ratio; and if additional stabilizer is required, it can be designed outside the filament pack. Ghosh et al. (35) established that for direct-correct (dc) magnet application a minimum Cu thickness of 0.4 µm to 0.5 µm was required to reduce the magnetization associated with proximity filament coupling. For s/d ratios of 0.15 to 0.20, the minimum Cu thickness. requirement limits the minimum filament dispeter to $2.7~\mu$ m

to 3.3 am when using a pure Cu matrix. If smaller filaments are required, Ni or Mn can be added to the Cu between the filaments as explained earlier.

Composite Assembly. In its simplest form, on Nb. Ti rol with or without a barrier wrap is coextruded inside a high-purity Ou fme-grained can. The warm extrusion produces a well-banded monofilament. For a multifilamentary application the monofilprent composite can be drawn to an internuchate size so that it can be restacked in another Cu ran (typically 250 mm to 360 mm in diameter and shaped to fit the extrusion chamber). in form a second extrusion composite. The monofilaments for restacking are usually drawn through a final hexagonal die to facilisate uniform strand packing. In addition to the Nb-Ti/Gu subelements the stack will also contain shaped Cu spacers and On hoxes to fill voids and provide additional stabilizer if necessary Some composite designs utilize a central Coloure (usually assembled from hexagonal Co rods) which is thought to reduce center burst during extrusion (superconducting supercollider specifications required a Colcore). The composite most he densely packed to avoid opset during extrusion. Even after packing with Cu shims, some word space is inevitable in any multifilamentary stack. Normally the amount of yold space in a well-packed composite is not sufficient to cause problems during extrusion; but in some cases particularly, when there are large numbers of small filements, the extrusion billet may have to be isostatically compacted prior to extrusion. Single stacks of more than 22,000 filaments have been successfully fabricated. Alternatively, composites with 200 or fewer filaments can be fabricated by inserting bare Nb-T) rods into noise in a stalulizer hillet prepared by gun-drilling (see Ref. 36 for more examples: A good metallurgical bond is required between the composite components if uniform filament diameters and high yield are to be achieved, and this requires that contamination of the surfaces he kept to a minimum. The mobility ploxygon in On all processing temperatures also means that surface oxides must be removed from the high-purity Cu in order to maintain low resistivity and good mechanical properties. When the monofilament is fabricated at large size (100 mm to 200 mm diametery, it herefits from a low surface-to-volume ratio for the components. The restucked monufilaments suffer from a relatively large surface-to-volume ratio that increases as the diameter of the stacked filaments docreases. The importance of reducing chemical and particulate contomination cannot be overemphasized. Long lengths of strand (typically 10 km or more) are desired for many applications, and small particulate pickup that significantly reduces yield by strond breakage can occur in even tightly controlled large-scale production (37).

After the billet is assembled, the filaments are scaled under vacuum by electron-beam (or sometimes (ungsten inert gas) welding a Cu lid onto the billet.

Extrusion

After preheating to 500 to 660°C the extrusion bibets are conventionally extruded at ratios of 10.1 to 20:1 and then waterquenched. Lower temperatures are favored because they maintain a greater degree of rold work in the Nb–Ti but they require greater forces. Low extrusion speeds avoid excessive heating of the Nb–Ti. Hydrostatic extrusion may also be used when available and has the advantages of lower-temperature operation, higher yields available from higher length-to-diameter ratios.



Figure 6. Schematic illustration of the conventional process for Nh-Tisuperconductors in terms of cold-work stream

and an ability to coextrude a wider variety of material combinations. After successful extrusion, the composite is a well-bonded composite of a soutable size (50 mm in 90 mm in diameter) for cold work to proceed.

Cold Work

Superconducting NI+Ti strands are fabricated in a cold-worked condition that as fur greater than any other metallurgical process, with the possible exception of pluno wire. The object of the cold work is to produce the final nanometer scale dispersion of prinning center. Understanding the role and importance of this highly strained state in the production of Nt+Ti strands is the key to the conventional process. The amount of cold work in the Nb+Ti normally can be represented by the true strain, Ω_{2} , which is given by Eq. (1).

$$\epsilon_0 = \ln A_0 / \Lambda > 2 \ln d_0 / d \tag{1}$$

where d_0 and A_0 are the starting diameter and cross-sectional area of the alloy rod at the final recrystallization anneal, respectively, and d and A are the diameter and area of the Nb–Ti after cold work. Figure 6 illustrates the conventional process in terms of cold-work strain for a composite fabricated from a cold-worked red and given three heat treatments. The total available cold-work strain available for processing she Nb–Ti is termed the "strain space" and is limited by the mittal annealed Nb–Ti rod size and the final filament diameter. Warm extrusions increase the rold work in the Nb–Ti at a n-duced rate compared with similar reductions performed by rod or wire drawing and consequently reduce the effective strain space Increasing the temperature of extrusion improves the bonding between the composite components but reduces the available cold-work strain.

The strain space can be further subdivided into three regions, each requiring a minimum cold-work strain to be effective.

- Prestrain, e_n, the cold-work strain before the initial precipitation heat treatment.
- The inter-heat treatment strain. Δε₁₀₁, the strain required between precipitation heat treatments.
- The final strain, <1, the strain required to reduce the precipitate size to final optimum pinning size

The rold work performs seven printary functions:

- Encouraging the formation of the preferred precipitate phase and morphology.
- Improving microchemical homogeneity by mechanical mixing both prior to heat treatment and after heat treatment when local Tr depiction has occurred.
- Increasing the density of precipitate nucleation sites.
- Increasing the grain boundary density, thereby increasing diffusion rates (grain boundary diffusion being conaderably faster than bulk interdiffusion).
- Reducing the average diffusion distance to the precipitate nucleation site
- Increasing the volume of precipitate by multiple strain/heat treatment cycles.
- Reducing the precipitate dimensions from the precipitation scale of 100 nm to 300 nm diameter to the pinning scale of 1 nm to 5 nm

The cold work is applied to the extruded composite by standard rod- and wire-drawing techniques. The rod or wire is pulled through a shaped die that uniformly reduces the cross-sectional area by 15% to 25%. As the strand becomes smaller in diameter, multiple die machines are used to apply more than area reduction in a single pass. The amount of cold work in a single-phase Nb-Ti alloy can be monitored using hardness testing. As the strain in the Nb-Ti increases, so does the hardness (38).

Buckest and Larbalestier (39) established that a minimum cold-work strain of approximately 5 was required before precipitation heat treatment to ensure the optimum precipitation mode, that of a Tr premotetes beated at grain boundary intersections. At lower strains, w phase and/or intragranular Wisimunstatten were farmed, producing inhomogeneous microstructures that reduced workability. Lee et al. (40) systematically studied the relationship between prestrain, precipitate morphology, and alloy and showed a relationship between Nb Ti composition and the required cold-work prestrain required. to avoid strains is phase and/or intragrationar Widmanstatten. α -Ti (40). Figure 7 illustrates the strong increase in required prestrain with increasing Ti content. This relationship is very important because it not only explains the unportance of a homogeneous alloy composition but also explains the difficulties associated with processing high Trialloys. An increase in ϵ_0 of roughly 0.77 is required for each wt. S. Ti increase in composition. Figure 8 shows the large amount of \sim phase and or its tragranular Widmanstätten a-Trithal can be produced by heat treating a high Th alloy (in this case, Nb+64 wt. % Ti) at teo low a prestrain. By a true strain of 5 to 7 a high-angle grain. structure of regular, small diameter (50 pm to 100 nm) grains has been produced by the large cold-work strain. Increasing the prestrain further homogenizes and refines the mirmstructure.



Figure 7. The much logy and location of precipitation in rold-worked Nb Ti alloys are determined by the amount of cold work, as the muconstructors. As the Ti content is increased, the cold work required to produce optimizin or Differing at grain biomdary intersections, increases. In this complication of data (39,40,44), optimum precipitation is denoted by the symbol *a*, and mixed precipitation morphology is denoted by the letter refer then transmitted precipitation morphology is denoted by the letter refer then transmitted precipitation observed for 375. C heat treat ments



Figure 6. Transmission electron microscope image in bright field in h), and dark field using an onega reflection (c_1 of nn Nb-54 wi. \oplus T) elloy after precipitation heat trentment. The heat treatment was applied at a cold-work prestrain of 5, which is insufficient to avoid the defelentous m phase and or intragranular Widmanstatten m-Ti forms of precipitation. In (a) the microstructure is shown in longitudinal cross section with the drawing axis running down the page. Image (h) and (c) are of the same transverse truss-sectional area with the dork-field image bringing out contrast from the suppose.



Figure 3. The peak online) current density increases linearly with volume percent of α -T₂ precipitate over the range of 3% to 25 vol. (e α -T) for Nb-17 wt. 5. Th (41.43). Similar results have been shown for 50 wt. (S Ti (42), Losst squares fit dependencies for the Nb-17 wt. (S T) data are shown for applied fields of 5 T and 8 T.

Precipitation Fleat Treatment

Lee et al. (41) first established a linear relationship between the optimized critical current density and the volume of prerepetate in a laboratory-scale monofilamentary composite fabricated from Nh. 47 wt. % Titalloy as shown in Fig. 9. The relationship extended from 0% of the strand volume being precipitated (non-heat-treated) to 25 vol %. Chernyj et al. (42) extended this relationship to an Nb-50 wt 🌾 Ti alloy and a maximum volume percent of a-T₁ of 25%. A wider study of strands produced by different manufacturers for the superconducting supercollider confirmed the linear relationship for industrial-scale strands (43) The importance of maximizing the amount of precipitate. in the strand is unambiguous. Precipitate is produced in the Nh-T'i hy heat treatments at 375 to 42 C for a duration of typically 40 h to 80 h. Increasing the temperature increases the precipitation rate but increases the precipitote diameter and the low-field J_e to high-field J_e ratio (43). The amount of precipitation is also dependent on the alloy composition; the quartity of α -Ti produced by the first precipitation heat treatment increases strongly with Ti content (44) as shown in Fig. 10. This relationship shows how too low a Ti content in the Nb. Ti alloy can result in insufficient precipitation for high critical correct density and how a large local variation in Ti content can lead to an inhomogeneous distribution of precipitates and, subsequently, flux-pinning sites.

After approximately 10 vol '5 precipitate has been produced in the first heat treatment, it becomes very difficult to produce significantly more without excessively long heat treatment times. By applying additional cold-work stream to the micreatructure, more precipitate is produced (as shown in Fig. 10 for the second heat treatment). An optimum balance between



Figure 10. The precipitation rate to Ni–To increases strongly with fi content in Nb–Ti alloys. Additional heat treatments further increase the amount of precipitate. As additional heat treatments for ther increase the amount of precipitate. As additional heat treatment and strain sycles are applied, and more proripitate is produced, the residual Ti content of the *j*-Nb–Ti matrix drops on the coefficient Trus left victories further precipitation. In this graph, data from one and two heat treatments of 80 F at 420 ff. The availage residual matrix composition is calculated as summe an α -Ti composition of Nb–S $D_{\rm est}$ $D_{\rm est}$ $D_{\rm est}$.

increased precipitate volume and minimum strain space is at a strain of approximately 1 2(12). Three or more heat treatment and strain cycles are normally required to produce the 20 vol. % or more precipitate in the microstructure required for high critical current densities ($J_c > 3000$ A/mm² at 5 T and 4.2 K). As the a-Ti is precipitated, the composition of the p-Nb-Ti is depleted in Ti until at maches between 36 wt. 3 Ti and 37 wt. 3 Ti, at which point there is insufficient To to drive further precipitation. More aggressive heat treatment is more likely to compromise the Nb rhflusion barrier and coarsen the precipitate size.

After the final heat treatment the microstructure viewed transverse to the drawing axis consists of a uniform distribution of roughly equiaxed α -Ti precipitates. 80 nm to 200 nm in diameter, in a obtain of equiaxed Nb–Ti grains of similar dimensions. Viewed in longitudinal rooss section the α -Ti and β -Nb–Ti grains are somewhat elongated along the drawing axis with an aspect ratio of 4 to 15 depending on the processing history. Further cold-work strain is required to reduce the dimensions of the precipitates so that they can pin flux efficiently. Unring the α -Ti matrix has been depleted in Ti to a level of 37 wt. G. Ti to 38 wt. G. Ti, and the H_{c2} and T_c of the composite at this point in processing are the same as the values of single-phase material of these lower Ti levels (5).

Final Wire Drawing

The plain strain-imposed intercorbing of the Nb–Ti grains that is so deleterious to barrier uniformity also results in the distortion of the α -Ti precipitates into densely folded sheets during final wire drawing. The folding process rapidly decreases the precipitate thickness and spacing and with a dependence of $d^{1,\alpha}$ (where d is the strand diameter) and increases the precipitate length per area with a dependence of $d^{-1,\alpha}$ as measured by Meingast et al. (5). As the microstructure is refined toward optimum size the bulk pinning force increases and the peak in the bulk pinning force nurves to higher field as shown in Fig. 11 nata from Ref. 45). The H_{i2} and the T_i gradually return to the



Figure 11. For conventionally processed Nb. To the bulk pinning force increases an magnitude with dowing storm after the last heat treatment. The increase eccurs at all fields as the precipitate size and spacing are reduced to leas than a toberence length in thekness (45). The refinement of the microstructure with increasing string for the sumstrand is shown schematically in transverse emeasections with the o-Tr precipitates in black.

values of the original single phase starting alloy as the precipstate are refined toward and below the superconducting otherence length, ξ (5). The critical current density increases as the microstructure is refined until it reaches a peak, after which there is a steady decline. The peak m d, for a munofilament or a publifilamentary strand with uniform filaments occurs at a final strain of approximately 5. If the filaments are nonuniform in cross section (causaged), the peak occurs earlier and at a lower critical current density. A strand that has a premature (and lowered) peak in *J*, during final drawing is described as extrastically limited because it has not attained the intrastic critical current of the microstructure. The most common source of extrinsic limitation is sausaging of the filaments due to intermetallic formation or lack of hunding between the components of the composite. The degree to which a composite has been extrinsically limited can be observed by examining the sharpness of the reastive transition when measuring the critical current. I_{c} . Volker (46) showed that the shape of the transition curve near its unset can be sporoximated by

where V is the voltage across, I is the current in the superconductor, and a is the resistive transition index. For a nonextrinsically binited superconductor the value of n at 5 T, 4.2 K, can be 70 or higher. By quantifying the variation in filament cross-sectional area by image analysis, the amount of filament sansaging can be measured directly (47). A high critical current density superconductor with a high *a*-value is shown in Fig. 13. The strand is one of a number of high-performance wires developed for the superconducting supercollider (46). The filament satisfying in this strand has been reduced to a very low level (a coefficient of variation for the filament cross-sectional areas of approximately 2%). With tight quality control, unform properties and piece lengths exceeding 10 km should be expected.

The specific pinning force for the p-Ti precipitates falls from 360 N/m² for an average sheet thickness of 2.6 nm, to 200 N/m² for a 1 nm average sheet thickness (14,49) but this is more than compressively for by the uncrease in precipitate density caused by the continued folding of the u-Ti sheets.

Final Processing

Twisting. Just before a multifilamentary strand has reached final size, it is usually twisted about its drawing axis. The twisting is required to reduce flux-jump instability caused by varying external fields, reduce instabilities caused by self field, and reduce eddy-current bases. The tightness of the required twist increases with the expected rate of change of field. The required twist pitch for a superconducting supercollider strand, a relatively steady-state magnet, was approximately 80 rotations along the drawing axis per meter, while for a application with a similarly sized strand the comber of twists per meter might be 300. The twisting occurs just before the strand is reduced to final size so that if care be locked in by a final drawing pass or by final shaping.

Final Shaping. The final shape of the strand cross section need not be round in cross section: It can also be shaped into square or rectangular cross section by the use of molependently adjusted rollers operating along the strand surface.



Figure 12. A high-quelity elrand at fine) size monifactured by IGC-AS for the superconducting supercollider. The Superconducting Supercollider Laboratory muin ring dipole magnets would have required almost 1500 tons of 7500 to 8000 filament superconductor. An overview of the elgand cross section is superimposed on a higher-magnification image showing the filament envise sections in more detail. Both the filament size (diameter of 6 cross sections in more detail. Both the filament size (diameter of 6 cross sections are very conform. An Nh diffusion harrier can be seen surrounding each Elament.

Cabling, Individual strands can be cabled or braided together to form a conductor with a higher corrent-carrying capacity. The most common design for Nb Ta magnets is the Rutherford cable, which consists of two parallel flat layers of strands. Using this approach, high-aspect-ratio cables can be produced with as many as 46 strands (50). As was the case for the individual filuments, the strands are transposed around the cable, forming a densely packed square or rectangular cross-section spiral. The design consideration for Superconducting Supercollider Laboratory cable are discussed in Ref. 51 The compaction of the strand around the squared cable edges severely distorts the strand around the squared cable lent mechanical properties of Nb–Tt/Cu composites combined with good strand design and advances in cabling technology have reduced cabling degradation to minimal levels (52).

Nh-Ti-Ta

The addition of Ta to Nh. Ta alloys suppresses the paramagnetic limitation of H_{e2} by the large orbital moment of the alloys (53). Although Ta is only of benefit below 4.2 K (54), it has a relatively long history of atudy because it should extend the useful field range of ductile superconductors by 1 T or more (55). So fat, however, improved H_{e2} has not translated effectively into improvements in J_{e1} except very near to H_{e2} (above 11 T). Lozarty et al. (56), were able to attain a critical current density 1000 A/mm² at a field of 11 5 T + 2.05 K) using an Nh-37 wt. \Im Ti22 wt \odot fa alloy Tu has on even higher melting point than Nb, making the fabrication of chemically homogeneous ternary alloys particularly difficult. The behavior of Nb–Ti–Ta alloys order the conventional process is similar to that of homary alloys, but the precipitates do not appear to pin as efficiently (57).

THE APC PROCESS

The quantity, composition, and distribution of pinning center as well as the composition of the matrix are limited, in the conventional process, by the Diermodynamics of the Nb. Ti phase diagram Additional precipitate can be produced by increasing Ti content of the alloy (as shown in Figure 10), but that is more than offset by the decrease in H_{c2} (Fig. 2). The result is a critical correct limit in conventionally processed Nb-Ti superconductors of approximately 3800 A/mm², at 4.2 K and 5 T. An alternative approach is to fabricate the microstructure by mechanically assembling the desired components of the microstructure at large size and reducing the internstructure to the appropriate size by extrusion and cold drawing (58,59). The engineered microstructural ands can be restacked into a composite just as for a conventional Nb-Ti superconductor, but no precipitation heat treatments are required. An intermediate approach developed by Supercon, Inc. (60) uses a low-temperature diffusion. heat treatment to modify a densely packed microstructure fabricated from layer of pure Nb and To. The diffusion-modified APC has been successfully used in solenoid, madel dupile (61), and MRI magnets (62). Round-wire APC superconductors and multilayers have developed zero-field J_{e} up to 10% of the theoretical upper limit provided by the depairing current density $J_{\rm d}, (J_{\rm d}\sim H_{\rm c}/\lambda)$ (e.g., Refs. 63 and 64), where λ is the penetration depth. APC superconductors fabricated with Nb pins perform particularly well at low fields top to about 5 T to 7 Tt, and J_c values approaching 7500 A/mm² at 3 T (65,66) have been achieved (25% of Nb pinning center in an Nb-47 wt. S Ti matrix). No has been a preferred parsing material because of its mechanical compatibility with the Nb Ti matrix. Even using Nh. however, poor workability and increased costs associated with assembly and yield have so far limited the commercial application of APC composites. The components of an engineered microstructure must mitially be large enough to be stacked by hand for possibly mechinel: consequently the engineered pusmust undergo a far greater deformation to much optimum sizuthan for w-Til precipitates which start at LDD nm to 200 nm in diameter. The larger deformation and multiple extrusions and the restacks required by the APC process result in a micreatructure that can be much less uniform than for the conventional process (67). For this reason, processes that can use emaller cross-sectional starting dimension, such as stacked or wranged sheet, can result in superior properties such as the J, of 4250 A/mm² at 5 T and 4 2 K, achieved by Mutsumoto et. a), (65) with stacked sheets of Nb-50 wit 🛠 Ti and 28 vol 🏤 of Nb sheets. Because of the large amount of cold work in the engineezed microstructure, it is extremely consitive to heaving during extrusion; the highest round-wire $J_{\rm c}$ (5 T, 4 2 K) of 4600 A/mm² was achieved by Heussner et al. (69). For the Nb pins, similar volumes of proving material are required as for conventionally processed materials; but by using ferromagnetic pins (Fe or Ni) the required pin volume to achieve high tritical correct density has been reduced to only 2 vol. (4) 70). Such developments suggest that there are still exciting advances

that can be made in the development of ductile Nb. Ti based superconductors.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- E. W. Cullings, Applied Superconductivity, Metallargy, and Physics of Timesium Ailogs, vol. 1: Fundamentals, New York: Plenum, 1986.
- B. W. Collings, Applied Superconductivity Identifiargy, and Physics of Tetanium Ailoys, vol. 2: Applications, New York, Plenoir, 1986.
- B. W. Collings, A Sourcebook of Tiranium Alloy Superconductivity, New York: Plenam, 1963.
- H. Muller, The upper critical field of nucleanse than um, PhD thesis, Orac Wave mage—Mashizor, 1990.
- C. Meingazt, P.J. Lee, and P. C. Larbalestier. Quantitative description of a high J, Nb-Ti superconductor during its linal optimization strum. I. Microstructure, T_i, H_{ill} and resistivity, J. Appl. Phys., 66: 5962–5970, 1989.
- D. L. Moffal, Phase transformations in the Internan-molecular nervation system. PhD thesis, Univ. Wisconsin—Mailison, 1965.
- I. Pfeiffer and H. Hillmann. Der Einfluss er Struktur nuf die Sugraheitungweigenschaften von NbTr50 und NbTr65, Ann Metall 16, 1429–1430, 1969.
- M. Hansen et al., Systems litanium, mulybdonum and titunium, columbium, J. Metals, 3: 981–868, 1951.
- 9 L. Kaufman and H. Borostein, Computer Calculations of Phase Designants, New York, Academic Press, 1970
- D. L. Moffat and U. R. Kattrer. The stable and metastable Ti-Nuphase diagram, Metall. Trans. 19A: 2389-2387, 1963.
- D. L. Moffat and D. C. Larhalestier. The competition between mattensive and omega at quenched Tr. Nu alloys. Metall. Trans 19A, 1977–1666, 1984.
- 12 Li Chengren and D. C. Larbabestier, Development of high critical current densities in miobourn 46.5 wt S. Litanium, Cryagenics, 27: 171–177, 1987.
- D. C. La dialection and A. W. West, New per-geotices on flux planning to miologum-intamain composite superconductors, Acta Metall., 32: 1871-1861, 1984.
- P. J. Lee and D. C. Enrbalestier, Development of nonumeter scale structures in compasitos of Nb-Ti and their effect on the superconducting enriced current density. *Acta Medail*, 36: 2526–2536, 1947.
- 15 D. C. Larbalestier et al., High critical current densities in industrial scale composites made from high homogeneity Nh46.5T. *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 21: 269–272, 1985.
- Specification for Nucleum Titacium Aday for the Superconducting Superconfluter, MSD Document Control, Dallas, Texas: Superconducting Supercollider Laboratory, 1992 (SSU-Mag-M-4000A).
- 17 D. B. Smathers et al., Improved multium 47 weight '5 titanium composition by iron addition. *Mather Trans.*, Appl. Dest. Metals, 37 (3): 519–526, 1996.
- 15 R. Schlatter, Electrical and magnetic interactions in vacuum nrr remelting and their effect on the metallurgical quality of speciality steels, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. 11 (6) 1042–1054, 1074.
- H. Hillmann, Fabricator technology of superconducting material, in S. Fonez and B. B. Schwartz (eds.). Superconducting Materials Science, New York, Physics, 1981, p. 275
- J. Hlusnik et al., Properties of superconducting NbTi superfine filament compositive with doomster > 0.1 proc. Cryogenets, 25 (10): 558-564, 1985.
- J. R. Cave et al., Reduction of AC loss in ultra-fine multiplenerglary NbTi wires. *IEEE Trans. Maga.*, 26 (2), 1945–1948, 1989.
- 22 T. S. Krechek et al., Reduction of coupling in line filamentary

Co./NbTi composites by the addition of mangenese to the matrix, $A_{\rm cl} \approx C_{\rm CYOS}, Eng., 34: 595-900, 1985.$

- 23 M. K. Rudzisk, T. Wong, and J. Wong, Development of APC NhTL superconductors with internal high purity aluminum stabilizer. *IEEE Trace. Appl. Supercond.*, 7, 1197–1200, 1997.
- H. C. Kanithi, D. Phillips, and B. A. Zentlin, Further development of aluminum clad superconductors, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 27: 1903 1906, 1991.
- D. C. Latbelestier et al., High critical current denaties in fine filament NbTi superconductors, *IKEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, 32: 3743-3745, 1985.
- M. Garber et al., Effort of Co₄Tr compared formation on the characterristics of NhT₁ accelerator magnet wire. *IBEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, 82: 3691–3683, 1985.
- E. Gregory, in R. W. Meyerhull (ed., Manufacture of Superconduct ing Materials, Metals Park, OII: Amer Soc. Metals, 1972, pp. 1-16.
- R. M. Stanlan, J. Boyet, and R. Hannaford, Evaluation of version fabrication techniques for fabrication of fine filament NbTi superconductors, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 23: 1719-1723, 1987.
- K. J. Fuase et al., Diffusional reaction rates through the Nb wrephn SSC and other advanced multi-flamentary Nb-46.5 w? WT composites Adv. Crocg. Ling., 38: 723-730, 1982.
- Y. High et al., Quantitative analysis of sausaging in Nh harrier clark filaments of Nb. 40.5 wt % Trips a function of filament diameter and bout treatment. Adv. Copy. Eng. (Mater.) 88: 647-652, 1982.
- 31 J. Moreland, J. W. Ekin, and L. F. Goodrich, Electron tunneling netwoperconducting filaments: Depth profiling the energy gap of NUR filaments from magnet wires, Adv. Cryog. Eng. (Mater.), 82: 1101–5108, 1986.
- W. F. Hosford, Jr., Microstructure, changes during deformation of [011] fiber textures metals, *Trans. Metall. Soc. AIME*, 230: 12–15, 1964
- R. Heursner, P. Lee, and D. Lathalestier, Non-invition deformation of nichium diffusion hereitete in mobilium-culaurum wire, *IEEE Trans Appl. Supervoid.* 3: 757-760, 1993.
- E. Gregory et al., Importance of spacing in the development of high current densities in multifilamentary superconductors, Cryagenics, 27: 178, 1967.
- 35 A. K. Ghosh et al., Anomalous low field magnetization in fine file ment N97; conductors, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 23: 1724–1779–1947.
- 36 T. S. Krvilick, Nichium titanium superconductors, in Metals Panalbook, 10th ed., vol. 2: Properties and Scientics. Monlecrosci Apoge and Special Program Materials, ASM Int., 1990, pp. 1043–1057.
- P. Valaris et al. A statistical evaluation of recent SSC conductors produced at ICU/ASI, IEEE Track. Magn., 27: 1752-1754, 1991.
- 38 J. Perreb, P. Lee, and D. Lorbalestier. Cold work loss during hear treatment and extrusion of Nb-46.5 wt & Triemposites as invosuzed by zorroboxduess, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 3: 734-727, 1993.
- 39 MJ. Bookett and D. C. Larbalestier, Precipitation at low strains in Nb%46.5 wt © Th, IEEE Trans. Magn., 23: 16008-1641, 1987.
- P. J. Lee, J. C. McKmell, and D. C. Larbalestier. Microstructure control in high Ti-NuTraflovs, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-25: 1914– 1924, 1989.
- P. J. Lee, J. C. McKinnell, and D. C. Larbasester, Restricted novel listst treatments for obtaining high 3, in Nb. 46.5 wt S. Ti, Adv. Cryog. Eng. (Mater., 36: 297-294, 1980).
- 44 O. V. Cheinyj et al., NU-Th superconductors of a high currentcarryine capacity, Supercond. Soc. Technol. 4, 338-323, 1991.
- P. J. Lee and D. C. Larbalestier, An examination of the properties of SSC Phase II H&D strands. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Impercent.*, 3 803–841, 1993.
- P.J. Lee, J. C. McKinell, and D. C. Lutbalestier, Progress in the un-

denstanding and manipulation in high J, Nb Ti alloy compusites, in Y. Murakami (ed.), Proc. of Net. Developments in Appl. Supercond., Seggapore: World Separatile, 1988, pp. 257–362.

- C. Meingast and D. C. Lurbalestier, Quantitative description of a very high critical current density Nb. Ti superconductor during its from optimization strate. II. Flux proving merinanisms. J. Appl. 2058 68, 5971-5963, 1969.
- F. Voelker, Resistance in aniall, 1 wisted, in ultraine appendix doublesting whrea, Particle Acceleration, 1 (3): 205-207, 1970.
- Y. High et al., Quantetative analysis of sausaging in Nb barrier clad filaments of Nb-48.5 w19 Tr as a function of filament diameter and heat treatment. Adv. Copug. Roy. (Mater.), 38: 847–862, 1992
- P. Vularis et al., SSUL phase 1 inner coble development program at IGC Advanced Superconductors, Inc., IEEE Trans. Appl. Superword: 3: 705-709, 1993.
- P. J. Lee and D. C. Lorbsteener, Determination of the flux pinning face of a Ti ribbons in Nb-46.5 wt. S. Ti produced by heat treatments of varying temperature, duration and frequency. J. Mater. Sci., 23, 39512-3367, 1984.
- R. Scanlan et al., Design and fabrication of a high aspect ratio cable for a high gradient cuadrupole magnet. (NRB Trans. Appl. Supercond., 7: 936–938, 1997.
- Question et al., SSC 40 mm cable results and 50 mm design discussions, IEEE Trans. Maga. 27 1981–1883, 1991.
- M. Garber et al., Superconducting wire and coble for REBULIEEE Trans. Magn., 30: 1732-1725, 1994
- M. Suenngn and K. M. Ralls, Some superconducting properties of Th-Me-Tatemery alloys, J. Appl. Phys., 40: 4457–4463, 1971.
- D. G. Hawksworth and D. D. Lathabeston, F.ahunted values of B_i, in Nh. Ti ternary and quaternary alloys, *Adv. Crywy. Evg.*, 26, 479– 496, 1990.
- H. H. Segal et al., Nrife based coordinators for use an 12 Testa toroidal field coils. Proc. 5th Symp. Eng. Productor Fusion Res. New York: IEEE Press, 1980, pp. 255-259
- 56 B. G. Lawrence et al., The study of the microstructure and J₂ in Ni=3777-22TA superconductor produced with different duration of structurents, or H. W. Wolser redu, Priss 2th Int. Workshop Critical Currents Supercond., Alphach, Austria, Singapore: World Storn infe, 1994, pp. 602–604.
- P.J. Lee et al., Microstructure property relationships on Nb-To-To IEEE Traces Appl. Supercond., 3: 1354–1357, 1993
- G. J. Dup degev, P. Yu Khanenko, and S. V. Fralov, Current carrying capacity of superconductors with sectional panning centers, in C. Marinuen and P. Weymoth (eds.), *Proc. 9th Int. Conf. Magane* Tesh and , Volugen, Switzerland, Swiss Institute Nuclear Res., 1985, pp. 564–566.
- B. A. Zeithn, M. S. Wolker, and J. R. Matewallu, Superconductory knowing controlled language private is, and method of manufacturing symp. US Patent 4,503,310, 1989.
- 60. M. K. Hudziak et al., Development of APC No. Tilcomposite conductors at Supercon, Inc. IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 5, 1539–1512, 1905.
- R. M. Scanlau et al., IEEE Trans. Model, 30, 1627, 1622, 1994.
- 62. U. Reporti et al., First commercial application of NbTr superconductor employing artificial printing to starts *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.* 5: 1189–1192, 1995.
- G. Stejic et al., Effect of geometry on the critical currents of thia films, Phys. Rev. B49 (1274-1298, 1994).
- 64 F. Kadyrav, A. Gurevich, and D. U. Larkele-tier, High critical curteritid-as-ties in Nh47972 multilayers with planar support for prening nerve-tractore, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 68: 1567–1568, 1996.
- 65 L. R. Mutewidh et al., MultiSiana at NoT, with artificial pinning senters: The effect of alloy and promotional on the superconducting properties. Appl. Phys. Lett., 61 (8):491–493, 1992.

- H. C. Kasuthi et al., Further developments in NoTi superconductors with Artificial Pinning Centers, Adv. Cring. Eng. (Maters, 38: 675-083, 1992).
- P.J. Lee, D. C. Lortscheiter, and P.D. Jablonska, Quantification of bianing center thickness in conventionally processed and provier processed artificial printing center microstructures, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5 (1701) (1704) 1985.
- K. Matsumoto et al., Pohenovsi -k, properties in superconducting NUT: composites by introducing Nb settificial prior with a "systed structure Appl. Phys. Lett. 64 (1) 115-117, 1994.
- R. W. Heuraner et al., Increased critical current density in Nb Ti wires having No artificial pinning centers. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 70 (7) 901–903 (1997)
- N. D. Kazas et al., Permanagnetic orbificial proping centers in superconducting Nbarge/Datas wires, Appl. Phys. Lett., 69 (15): 2285–2267, 1996.

PETER J. LEE University of Wascansin - Madison

STABILITY IN FORCED FLOW

Forced-flow-cooled conductors are the preferred choice for magnets that must sparate in an electromagnetic and mechanically arity invitorment, when pulsed operation requires minimization of seclosses, or whenever the operating conditions require a reliable and cost-effective design. In this article we review the guidelines that motivated the choice of forced-flow-cooled conductors to obtain an effective and stable superconductor design for large magnets, such as those for fosion, superconducting magnetic energy storage (SMES), particle detectors, or magneto-hydrodynamic (MHD) application. We will discuss the particular features of the stability margin in forced-flow-cooled conductors and the models commonly used to compute it.

SUPERCONDUCTOR STABILITY

Superconductors exhibit zero resistance only within relatively parrow parameters of temperature, magnetic field, and transport carrent, below the so-called critical surface. When brinight autaide this region by a disturbance (e.g., by energy deposition stanting from a mechanical motion: superconductivity is lost and Jude heating is generated. If not prevented by other mechanisms, the superconductor cascades further from its nominal operating point into an irreversible process learning to the complete loss of superconductivity in the magnet. This process is rammonly known as a gramph. Even if the magnet is properly protected against damage, a magnet quench is an undesirable event in terms of availability and cost. A well-designed magnet will not quench under normal specialing conditions. The study of subduty pertains to the understanding of the processes and mechanisms whereby a superconductor will remain for not? within its operating region, thus ensuring migmet operation without quench. This area of study has evidyed through many years of experimentation and analysis.

Steldy Criterion for Cryostability

The first superconducting magnets were cooled by ammersion in a hebum bath. As we will see later, classical stability theory as derived for these bath-cooled magnets does not directly extend

to forced flow conductors. It is nonetheless useful to review here the oldest and simplest stability criterion developed for bathcooled conductors, the so-called Stekly criterion of cryostability (1). In their original development, Stekly and Zar (1) backed a superconducting material with a low-resistance copper shunt The cross section A_{00} of the shunt was such that in the case of a transition of the superconducting material to the normal state. the maximum Joule heating, obtained when the current I was completely displaced from the superconductor to the copper, was smaller than the heat removal capability at the conductor perimeter p, wetted by the helium. Under this condition the conductor always recovered from a perturbation, prespective of the size of the disturbance that caused the quench. In brief, the conductor was unconditionally stable. Writing the simple power balance of heating and cooling, they came to the following criterion for cryostability, formulated using the so-called Stekly paramiter of

$$\alpha = \frac{n_{Ve} I^2}{h p_{ee} A_{Ve} (T_e - T_{ee})} < 1$$
(4)

where n_{C_2} is the stabilizer resistivity, h the heat transfer coefficient between conductor and cooling bath, T_2 is the critical temperature, and T_{ep} the bath operating temperature.

Stability versus Perturbation Spectrum

Cryostable conductors have an exceptional tolerance to energy inputs. The drawhack is that the resulting operating current density is low, and thus coll size and cust are large. The present approach is different, and consists in designing the conductor to be stable against the spectrum of energy disturbances expected in the magnet, instead of requiring the conductor to histable against disturbances of arhitrary nature and intensity This implies a comparison of the initial estimate of the energy release mechanisms and magnitude to the so-called energy margin ΔE that we define as the maximum energy deposition that the conductor can tolerate while recovering from the superconducting state. Let us take as an example a conductor in which mechanical energy releases dominate. Following Keilin (2,3). we compare schematically in Fig. 1 the stability margin to the disturbances that can notentially drive the conductor normal. As shown there, the stability margin ΔE decreases with m_{π} creasing current 1, while mechanical distorbances, the curves labeled "D," increase with the current. In this case, the conductor is no longer opconditionally stable but it has an upper



Figure 1. Typical curves for the conductor stability margin (ΔE) and methodical dotterbance spectrum (D).

stability margin, traditionally expressed in mJ/cm² of metal in the cable. The disturbance spectrum must be interpreted as the energy released in each event. At increasing current a single event releases an increasing energy because of the propartionality to eather the Lorentz forces (J²) or to the strain energy in the cable (I^*) . As the magnet is charged, the two curves approach, until eventually the spectrum of mechanical disturbances (D) equals and surpasses the stability margin (ΔE) . At this point the magnet will quench as soon as a perturbation event will take place. The most likely event during magnet charge-up will be the one associated with the largest energy release. Must mechanical murgy inputs are associated with irreversible processes such as stick-and-abp motions and cable compaction. Therefore, once this event has taken place, and the associated energy has been released, the energy porturbation spectrum at the following charge-up will be diminished. We illustrate this situation in Fig. 1 by the set of curves D1, D2, D8 that represent the perturbation spectrum at successive chargeums 1.2. . n. The intersection of these curves with the energy margin noives towards higher currents, and we see from this elementary example a simple explanation of the phenomenon of training that disappointed early builders of superconducting magnets.

We see from this simple example that we have two possibilities to guarantee the stable performance of the conductor. The first is to decrease the energy perturbations (motions, cracks, ac losses) as much as possible so that the highest possible operating current can be achieved. This solution can be adopted for smalls to medium-scale magnets operating in a quief environment where, for instance, the perturbation energy input can be limited by properly fixing the cable at the winding pack. On the other hand, large size magnets, as typical of SMES systends, the monutear tusion experiments or MHD applications, operate in a mechanic and electromagnetic delive environment. te.g., rapidly changing magnetic fields or large stress cycles) that per force results in a minimum value of the perturbation spectrum in this case, the designer must increase the stability margin to tolerate the existing perturbation spectrum. This can be achieved by increasing the heat sink associated with the cable.

In the temperature range typical of the operation of a superconducting code, generally from 2 to 4 K, all solid materials are known to have a very small beat capacity. In the same temperature range, helium uniquely processes a volumetric heat capacity two to three orders of magnitude larger than solids. Naturally, cable designers tend to take advantage of this feature, trying to make an effective use of the heat sink provided by adding a limited amount of helium to the cable. To achieve this, it is necessary to increase the heat transfer coefficient of the welted sourface of the conductor, at the conductor surface to volume ratio, or both. Forced-flow-cooled conductors are designed along this limit to make the most effective use of the helium heat sink

Stability in forced-flow cooled conductors is different from classical stability theory in adiabatic and bath-cooled wires, cabics, or built-up manuliths mainly for three reasons:

- The largest beat sink providing the energy margin is the helium, and not the orthopy of the strands themselves or conduction as the end of the heated length.
- This heat sink is binited in amount.

 The behave behaves as a compressible fluid under energy inputs from the strands, implying additional feedback an the beat transfer medicant through heating induced flow.

The main issue is, therefore, the heat transfer from the strand surface to the helium flow and the thermodynamic process in the limited holium inventory.

FORCED-FLOW-COOLED CONDUCTORS

In a forced-flow conductor, the behavior and the superconductor form a single unit, with the coulant flowing inside a pipe also housing the superconductor, or with parallel cooling and electrical paths in close thermal contact. The most common design for thus class of conductors is at present the cable-in-conduit conductor (CBCC), in which a superconducting cable is placed inside a conduit that also serves as belium conductors. We will use this particular type of conductor as a prototype for the general inscussion on stability in forced-flow-cooled conductors.

History of Cable-in-Conduit Conductors

The CICC concept evolved from the internally cooled superconductors (ICS), which had found application in magnets of considerable size between the late 60s and early 70s [see in particular the work of Merpurge (4)]. In ICS, the helium was all contained in the cooling pipe, very much like scandard watercooled copper conductors. The conductor could be wound and insulated using standard technology and the magnet would be stiff both mechanically and electrically, a considerable advantage for medium and large systems requiring, with increasing stored energy, high discharge voltages. Control of the heat transfer and cooling conditions was achieved using supercritical helium, thus avoiding the uncertainties related to a flowing two-phase fluid.

A major drawhack of this concept was that according to heat transfer predictions, a large hebum massflow would have been required in order to achieve good stability and thus high opersting current density. This would require large pumping work and eventually impair the efficiency of the cryogenic system. Chester (5) readily recognized the advantage of the increase in the weited permeter obtained by subdivision of the strands. Subdivision dramatically increases the surface-to-volume rasjo, thus improving heat transfer for a given cable cross section. Hoenig et al. (6-8) and Dreaner (9-11) developed models for the local recovery of ICSs after a sudden perturbation, where they found that for a given stability margin the mass flow required. would be proportional to the 1.5th power of the hydrocal biameter as the fixed superconductor inventory is divided in finer and finer strands. This consideration finally brought Homig. twasa, and Montgomery (6,7) to present the first CICC prototype idea, shown in Fig. 2.

Although many variants have been considered, the basic (')('): geometry has changed little since. A bundle conductor is obtained, cabling superconducting strands, with a typical deameter in the millimeter range, in several stages. The bundle is then *jurkedal*, that is, inserted into a belium-tight conduit, which provides structural support. Hebum occupies the interstitial spaces of the cable. With the cable void fractions of about 30 to 40% commanly achieved, the channels have an effective hydrautic diameter of the order of the strand diameter, while the wetted surface is proportional to the product of the strand.



Round bundle with 07 strands end osed in rectangular conduit. Showing transposition of strangs.

Figure 2. The original concept of CICC, as presented by Heerag, Iwasa, and Montgomery (7). Reproduced from Ref. 7 by permission of Servizin Documentazione CRE ENEA Frascati, Copyright 1975 CRE ENEA Present.

diameter and the number of strands. The small hydraulic diameter ensures a high turbulence, while the large welteri surface achieves high heat transfer, so that their combination gives excellent heat transfer properties.

Because of the limited helmin inventory, a sufficiently large energy input will always cause a quench in a CICC. This behavior has been defined by Dresner (11.12) as *metastable*. The question is the magnitude of the minimum energy input producing a quench in a particular operating condition. This parameter, the *stability ourgen AE*, was identified by Huenig (7) as fundamental to the design of a CHCC. It is usually measured as an energy per unit strand volume traditionally expressed in mJ/cm³. In *its* original definition, the energy input was thought to happen solidenly, and initial experiments and theory concentrated on this assumption. Throughout this chapter we will use the same definition of the stability margin, extending it to an arbitrary energy deposition time scale.

The heat transfer mechanisms determining stability in supermitted field and superfluid. He II are different enough to warrant a separate treatment. The phenomenology of each case and the experimental data supporting the stability colculations are presented in the next sections.

STABILITY MARGIN OF CABLE-IN-CONDULT CONDUCTORS IN SUPERCRITICAL HELIUM

Dependence on the Mass Flow

Measurements of the stability margin of CICCs in supercritical behavior started early in their loatory (13–19). One of the aims was to study the dependence of stability on the coolant flow, to determine the influence of the unbulent heat transfer coefficient and the thermal coupling of strands and helium. The first surgrise care with the observation by Hoenig (3) that the stability margin was largely independent of the operating mass flow (see the curves reported in Fig. 3), a result soon duplicated by Lue and Miller (17). These results showed that the heat transfer at the wetted surface of the strends during a temperature excursion was only weakly correlated to the steady state mass flow and the associated boundary layer.

As discussed by Dresner (20) and Hornig (16), during a strong thermal transient the beat transfer coefficient h at the

L mong

current



Figure 5. Stability margin of a NbTi and a NbS50 CICCM as a function of the steady state belium flow measured by Hoema, Montgomery, and Waldman 1140. Reproduced from Ref. 14 by permission of IEEE Copyright 1929 IREF.

strand surface changes mainly because of two reasons (see also appendix. Transient Heat Transfer, below)

- thermal diffusion in the boundary layer (a new thermal boundary layer is developed and thus h increases compared to the steady state value), and
- mduced flow (21) in the heated compressible behavior (associated with increased turbulence and thus again with an increase in b).

The concurrence of these two effects was advocated to explain the weak dependence of ΔE on the steady mass flow rate

Dependence on the Operating Current. A second parameter of major interest in the experiments on stability was the operating current of the cable. Several experiments (see the vast amount of data presented in Refs. 22 through 270 have revealed. a characteristic behavior of the stability margin as a function of operating current. As we show schematically in Fig. 4, at low operating current a region with high stability margin is observed. We name this region, following Schultz and Minerymi (28), the and model regime. In this regime, the stability margin is comparable to the total heat coparity available in the cross section. of the CICC including both strands and helium, between operating temperature $T_{
m ve}$ and current-sharing temperature $T_{
m ve}$ At increasing current, a fall in the stability margin to low values, the *ill-cooled* regime, is found. In this regime, the stability margin is lower than in the well-cooled regime by typically one to two orders of magnitude, and depends on the type and duration. of the energy perturbation

The transition between the two regimes was identified by Dresner (20) to be at a *locating* operating current *f*_{loc}:

$$E_{\rm nu} = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar \rho_{\rm s}}{2} \frac{A_{\rm Cu}(T_{\rm c} + T_{\rm cp})}{\rho_{\rm Cu}}}$$
(2)

The above definition of the itmitting current $T_{\rm in}$ is obtained equating the Joole best generation to the removal at the strand



10000

Figure 4. Schematic behavior of the stability margin as a function of the cable operating current.

surface, assuming that the belium temperature is constant, and is therefore equivalent to the Stekly criterion of Eq. (1). As discossed later, the heat transfer cofficient k is not constant, but it is a complex function of time and several other parameters such as heating pulse waveform and strength, heating induced How, and details of the cable design. Let us assume for the moment that the heat transfer coefficient is constant to time and equal to an effective value. As shown by Lae (29), it is possible to estimate this effective value of *b*, dislucing it from the incition id the limiting current in several experiments. For operating currents below I_{am} (i.e., in the well-cooled regime), the heat reneration is smaller than the heat removal to the belium. A normal zane recovers, provided that the holium is a sufficiently large best sick capable of absorbing the heat polse and the subsequent-loule heating. On the other hand, above I_{how} in the ill-cooled regime, a normal zone generates more heat than it can exchange to the beliant, and therefore recovery is not possible.

This observation indeed explains the behavior of the energy margin below and above I in. In the well-cooled regime, recovery is unconditional: the cable can transfer a large heat pulse to the helium and still recover at the end of the pulse, provided that the belium temperature has not increased above $\mathcal{P}_{r,r}$. Therefore, the energy margin is of the order of the total heat sink in the vable cross section between the operating temperature $T_{
m op}$ and T_{con} including, abviously, the helping. In the ill cooled regime an unstable situation is reached as soon as the strands are current sharing, and therefore the energy margin is of the order of the heat capacity of the strands between $T_{
m ap}$ and $T_{
m cr}$ plus the energy that can be transferred to the behum during the pulse As mentioned earlier, in practical cases, the heat capacity of the helium in the cross section of a CICC is the dominant heat sink by two orders of magnitude and more, and this explains the fall in the stability margin above t_{inc}

The transition between the well-moled and ill-coaled regimes happens in reality as a gradual fall from the maximum

310 STABILITY IN FORCED FLOW

heat sink values to the lower limit [Miller, (25)]. An infuitive explanation of this fall can be given using again the power balance at the strand surface. For the derivation of Eq. (2) it was assumed that the helium has a constant temperature T_{ac} . In resulty, during the transient, the behum temperature must increase as energy is absorbed and power is transferred under a reduced temperature difference between strand and belium. Two limiting cases can be defined. The first is the ideal condition of hebum at constant temperature, giving the limiting current of Eq. (2), for which, however, the energy absorption in the helium is negligible. Operation exactly at I im results thus in a stability margin at the lower limit—the ill-cooled value. The second lumiting case is found when the Jaule heat production can be removed even when the helium temperature has increased up to T_{cr} . This second case is obtained for a current of (and helow)

$$P_{\rm orb}^{\rm ave} = \sqrt[4]{\frac{b\rho_{\star} A_{C_1}(T_{\star} + T_{\star \star})}{\rho_{C_2}}}$$
(3)

that we call *lower limiting current* for analogy to Eq. (2) and because \hat{I}_{lin}^{m} is always smaller than I_{line} . For operation at (and below) I_{line}^{line} , the full heat suck can be used for stabilization and the stability margin is at the upper limit—the well-couled value. Between the two values $I_{1:n}$ and I_{ine}^{low} the stability margin falls gradually

Multiple Stability

Near the limiting correct the balance between heat production and removal becomes critical. Indeed, in some cases, a multivalued region can be found in the vicinity of Ibr. as schematiculty shown in Fig. 4. As mentioned earlier, supercritical hebum behaves us a compressible fluid in the typical range of operation of a magnet. Therefore, any brat pulse causes a heating induced flow driven by the fluid expansion and proportional to the pulse power. The flow in turn modifies the heat transfer pt the worted surfluer of the conductor, enhancing the heat transfer coefficient. Let us concentrate on the close vicinity of the limiting current, just above I_{bm} on the ill-model side. A large horizing power, above the all-cooled stability margin, cap result in a semificant heating-induced flow and thus a large enhancement of the heat transfer coefficient. Hence the power balance can be tipped in the direction favorable to recovery, and a second stable region appears. This is what has been observed by Lon-, Miller and Dresner (18,19) in experiments on single triplex NbTi cables, Figure 5 reports one such multiple stability curve, as measured as a function of the operating current. This situation is evidently not agreeable for reliable operation and should be avoided in a sound design by remaining safely below the limiting current.

Dependence on the Operating Field

The stability margin is a function of the background field B mainly through the dependence on critical and current-sharing temperatures. A higher B causes a drop both in the limiting current (through a decrease of T_c and increase of σ_{ro}) and in the energy margin (through a decrease in T_{ro}). Therefore, ΔE drops as the field increases. An interesting feature is that the limiting current only decreases with $(T_c + T_{ro})^{-1}$, that is, with a dependence on B weaker than that of the critical current At.



Figure 5. Stability margin of a N0Ti CICC as a function of the operating current, measured by Lue and Miller (19). The experiment was performed on a single implex CHC of 0.8 m length ($L_{steppel}$) with strand disancter of 1 mm (ϕ_{st}) under service posed flow (g_{trans}) at a behave pressure of 5 har (ρ_{sts}). The background field was 6 T (B), and resistive heating took place in 16.7 ms (r_{b}). Reproduced from Ref. 19 by permission of LEEE. Copyright 1981 HEEE.

large enough H we will always have that $I_{\rm low}$ is larger than $I_{\rm c}$ and the cable will reach the critical current while still under well-cooled conditions.

Dependence on the Heating Time Scale. The stability margin depends on the duration of the heating pulse, as shown experimentally by Miller et al. (17), and reported here in Fig. 6. A change in the heating duration for a given energy input corresponds to a change in the pulse power. In the well-couled regime, that is, for low operating currents in Fig. 6, the heat balance at the end of the pulse is in any case favorable to recovery. and therefore the energy margin does not show any significant. dependence on the pulse duration. On the other hand, when the conductor is in the ill-cooled regime, its temperature can increase to or slightly beyond T_{co} without causing a quench. This limits the heat flux per unit length at the wetted surface to roughly $hp_s(\mathcal{T}_{\phi} = \mathcal{T}_{\mu})$. The consequence is that energy transferred to the helium, and thus the energy margin, will grow at increasing pulse duration, until it becomes comparable to the total heat capacity uvailable tas in the well-conled regimes. This effect is partially balanced for very fast pulses, because the heat transfer coefficient can exhibit very high valuse at early times (see the appendix, Transient Heat Transfer, below), which could shift the well cooled/ill cooled transition. at higher transport currents. In principle, higher energy margins should be expected in this range. However, the high input powers in this duration range tend to heat the conductor above 20 K, in a tomperatory range where the stabilizer resistivity grows quickly, and the power balance is thus strongly influenced. This effect causes the saturation of the energy margin for extremely fast pulses (well below 1 ms duration).



Figure 6. Dependence of the stability margin for a C3CC (indicated on this olot as ΔH) on the heating time scale (r-1, as measured by Miller et al. (17). The parameters varied in the experiment, underated in the inset, are the transport current in the sample $I_{\rm et}$ the belium flow velocity $v_{\rm Ee}$ and the pressure ρ . Reproduced from Ref. 17 by provide of **HEEE**. Copyright 1970 IEEE.

Dependence on Operating Temperature and Pressure

The dependence on the operating temperature and pressure in supercritical combines is not easily quantified. The reason is that the belium heat capacity in the vicinity of the usual regimes of operating temperature T_{ep} around 4 to 6 K) varies strongly with both p_{ep} and T_{ac} . This affects both the heat sink and the heat transfer coefficient (through its transient components). An increasing temperature margin under constant operating pressure gives a higher ΔE . But a simultaneous variation of p_{ep} and T_{ep} under a constant temperature margin, can produce variations of ΔE as large as a factor two in the range given above like Miller (25) and Chaniotakis, (30)]

STABILITY MARGIN OF CABLE-IN-CONDUIT CONDUCTORS IN SUPERFLUID HELIUM

If the operating temperature is lowered below the so-called *lambda* value T. (e.g., 2.17 K at 1 atm), helium undergoes a state change and becomes a quantum fluid: *superfluid* below, or He-II. He-II has unique properties and its physical behavior is very different from that of *normal* belium (or He-I). For our purposes, the most remarkable fact is that He-II does not chery the traditional Fourier law of conduction (proportionality between heat flux and temperature gradient), but rather fallows a nonlinear law of the form

$$\eta = -K(\nabla T)^{1/2}$$
(4)

where φ is the heat flux, K is a parameter that depends on the thermodynamic state of the He-II, and ∇T is the temperature gradient. For heat fluxes of practical interest, the He-II properties are such that the "equivalent thermal conductivity" is extremely high, orders of magnitude higher than in He-I "Soperthuid heat conduction" refers to the ability of stagnant He-II to provide significant heat removal over long lengths of narrow channels without an appreciable temperature gradient, making it an altractive alternative for superconducting magnet conling (31,32).

Similarly to the behavior in He-L the stability margin of a CICC operating in He-II is determined by the balance between dould heading and the ability of the helium to provide enough entholpy margin, given that metal-to-helium heat transfer is sufficient. Lottan and Miller (27) have measured stability margin of a CICC at different operating temperatures, both in supercentural and superfluid holitory. We show typical results of this experiment in Fig. 7. The stability margin behaves at law corrections way similar to what would be expected in the case of He-I operation. However, at the ill-cooled transition - the first drop in the stability curve taking place at similar currents both in He-I and He-II-the stability margin shows a peculiar behavior Owing to the large best transfer capability in He-II. the power balance at the strand surface remains favorable for recovery as long as the bulk helium is in the He-ft phase. Therefore, in a first approximation, the full heat sink between the mitiel operating point and the transition temperature T_{c} is still available at levels of the operating current at which the conducfor woold have turned to be ill-cooled for operation in He-L In other words, the conductor can still be considered as well-cooled for temperature excursions up to T_c . We can call this region of operation the superfluid stability regime. As the holizm undergoes a phase transition at the temperature $T_{
m er}$ the available head sank is significant, of the order of 200 mJ/cm² of helium volume. At increasing current, finally, the power balance can eventually become unfavorable, as ston as the heat removal capability of Ne-II reaches its upper limit. There the final transsition to the ill-cooled segure of operation (akes place. Unlike



Figure 7. Stability margin of a NETi CICU as a function of the operating current, measured by Lattan and Miller (27), at different temperatures in supercritical and superfluid beham filled in symbols are quenches, open symbols are remarcles). Reproduced from Ref. 27 by permission of IEEE, Copyright 1989 IEEE.

the He-I case, the transition from high to low stability-margin regimes accurs gradually without a region of multivalued stability owing, on the one hand, to a small coefficient of thermal contraction (compared to the large thermol expansion in He-I), and, on the other hand, to a very high effective thermal conductivity of He-II. both preventing the onset of large besting induced flows.

In the superfluid well-cooled stability regime, where the conductor takes advantage of the superfluid helium properties only, the stability margin has a distinct behavior (33-37) that, as indicated by Seyfert, Laffarranderie, and Claudet (33), is mainly determined by the near-field effects of surface heat transfer to He-II. Following a distorbance, the metal temperature exceeds T, atmost immediately, and the belium in control with the strand undergues the transition to He-I. However, at some distance from the strand surface, there is an He-I/He-II transition where the temperature is T. It can be shown that, given the heat transfer properties of He-II, the layer of He-I ad-)acent to the strand is negligibly this (33). The consequence is that, for all practical purposes, heat transfer in the superfluid. bath sakes place fas if" (he strand surface had its temperature clamped at T_{i} . This is indeed the basis for the simplified model used in calculate the heat flux limits in He-II and the behavior of the stability margin in the superflood region.

CALCULATION OF THE STABILITY MARGIN IN BEI

The calculation of the stability margin in a CICC is a difficult task, involving accurate computation of compressible hebum flow and heat diffusion in a complex geometry. For practical purposes, several simplified models have been developed. These models make extensive use of the experimental evidence discussed in the previous sections as a basis for pureducing and justifying several simplifications. For the purpose of introducing the reader to the concepts involved in the calculation of the energy margin, this presentation will start with a very simplified model (an integrated energy balance), and then proceed to introduce refinaments to the model (a zero-dimensional (6-D) energy balance model, and a size dimensional (1-D) flow model

Energy Balance

The simplest stability model is that considering the energy balance for the combined helium/strand system integrated over the duration of the distorburce. This method gives a rough estimate of the stability margin in the well- and ill-cooled regimes (called here ΔE_{w} and ΔE_{v}) based on the available heat capacities and the location of the well-cooled ill-cooled boundary ineglecting the dual-stability region), and has the advantage of producing ensity applicable design criteria for the selection of the cable layout. We introduce the maximum heat sink in the cable cross section (referred to the unit strand volume) ΔE_{we} :

$$\Delta E_{\rm ray} = \int_{T_{\rm sc}}^{T_{\rm sc}} \frac{\Lambda_{\rm BS}}{\Lambda_{\rm sc}} C_{\rm Bc} \, dT + \int_{T_{\rm sc}}^{T_{\rm sc}} C_{\rm Sc} \, dT \tag{5}$$

where C_{0c} and C_{2} are respectively the volumetric heat capacity of helium and of the strands, while A_{3p} and A_{3p} are their eross sections. The estimate of C_{He} can pose some questions. As known from thermodynamics, the volumetric heat capacity in a compressible fluid depends on the process assumed. Two limiting cases can be identified: a process at constant volume. where we have that $C_{\rm fite}=\rho c_{\rm f}$; or the case of constant pressure, where we have that $C_{10} = \rho c_0/c_0$ and c_0 represent the helium constant-volume and constant-pressure-specific heats. The proper selection depends on the comparison of the characteristic times involved. In a transient where the flow characseristic times are much longer than the heating and recovery time (i.e., for long-heated zone or fast-heating pulse). the process will be at constant volume. Approximate constant pressure conditions will be found when the flow characteristic times are much shorter than the beating time (short beated zone or loog pulse). The real process will be hetwise these two extremes, but generally a conservative estimate is obtained choosing the constant volunte procesa.

In the well-moled regime we will have

$$\Delta E_{\rm m} \geq \Delta E_{\rm max}$$

that is, the energy margin is at most equal to the available heat sink up to T_{co} and in general smaller than ΔE_{cost} . A first reason is that during the heat pulse z_{e} and the recovery time τ_{e} the sholle heat generated by the current sharing strand consumes the available heat copority. An approximation of the sholle heat contribution normalized to the strand volume is given by

$$Q_{\text{finite}} = \int_0^{t_{\text{finite}}} \frac{\mu_{\text{finite}} I^{p}}{A_{\text{finite}} A_{\text{finite}}} dt$$
(6)

This contribution increases at increasing operating correct and increasing energy deposition time, elthough the above approximation tends to give only an upper limit and overestimates the real contribution (the stratils are assumed fully normal for the whole transient). Still, for fast and for most common heating

$$\Delta E_{ab} \approx \Delta E_{abc}$$
 (7)

For operation in the ill-cooled regime at and shave $I_{\rm host}$ the energy margin can be approximated as the sum of the strand heat capacity up to T_{ee} and the energy transferred from the strand to the beham during the heat pulse Gobbagain expressed per unit of strand volume:

$$\Delta E_{\mu} \approx \int_{T_{\mu}}^{T_{\mu}} C_{\theta 1} dT + \frac{p_{\mu}}{A_{ee}} (T_{ee} - T_{\mu}) \int_{0}^{t_{e} + t_{\mu}} h dt \qquad (8)$$

where the second term on the right-hand side is an approximation of the energy transferred to the helium under the assumptum that the strands rise instantaneously to $T_{z_{i}}$ and the belium temperature T_{in} does not change significantly. For short energy pulses, the use of Eq. (8) shows that generally $\Delta E_{\chi} \ll \Delta E_{mp}$. The energy margin given by Eq. (8) tends to ucrease when the energy deposition time r_i increases, which is consistent with the experimental results quoted earlier. For very long polaes, the power input in the strand can be transferred to the belium. without a significant temperature difference. At the limit of long pulse times, the whole heat capacity is used again and we have that $\Delta E_{c} \approx \Delta E_{max}$. In any case, the value of the maximum heat such ΔE_{max} of Eq. (5) remains the absolute upper limit of the stability margin. In summary, Eqs. (7) and (8) give the estimated energy margin respectively below and above the limiting current of Eq. (2).

Zero-Dimensional Model

The next level of complexity and accuracy in the calculation of the stability margin toosists of introducing time as a variable to capture the distinction between short and long duration pulses while neglecting heated-zone length effects. Maintaining the fundamental distinction between strand and below temperature, it is possible to write this 0-11 balance as follows:

$$\mathbf{A}_{\mathrm{SU}}C_{\mathrm{SU}}\frac{dT_{\mathrm{SU}}}{dt} = \mathbf{q}_{\mathrm{EU}}^{\dagger} + \mathbf{q}_{\mathrm{holds}}^{\dagger} - \mathbf{p}_{\mathrm{SU}}\mathbf{k}(T_{\mathrm{SU}} - T_{\mathrm{EU}})$$
(9a)

$$A_{\rm He}C_{\rm He}\frac{i(T_{\rm He})}{\partial t} = p_{\rm a}\dot{r}_{\rm b}T_{\rm He} - T_{\rm He}$$
(9b)

The rightmost terms in Eqs. (Saturd (9b) represent the thermal coupling of strands (at temperature T_{3n}) and below (at temperature T_{3n}) at the wetted perimeter p_n with a heat transfer h. In Eq. (9a) we have in addition the external and Joule heat sources (per unit conductor length) q_{1nn} and q_{1nnn} respectively. The Joule heating can be computed once the critical correct dependence on the temperature $I_n(T)$ is known. Note that an accurate calculation of \hat{q}_{Joule} is necessary to describe the recovery phase properly. This model is attractive because of its simplicity, it can be solved efficiently and used routhody. It is accurate in describing the local energy balance on the time scale of recovery, but some care must be taken in the selection of the parameters in order to capture flaw-related physical features that only a 1-D model can include.

The first parameter to be chosen properly is the columetric helium heat capacity, as we discussed earlier. The second parameter that n-quines cars is the heat transfer coefficient, changing in time during the transfert. While the boundary layer formation and the associated diffusive component of the heat transfer coefficient can be approximated in a local treatment as a variable thermal resistance between strands and helium, the heating-induced flow and its effect or stability are not amenable to local treatment. An average value for this component is a reasonable choice, but the actual modeling is to a large extent left to empiricism (see Lue (29)). This is, in fact, one of the research areas on stability margin in CICCs.

The search of the stability margin with the 0-D model is the *canaal* analogue of the experimental technique. A trai-anderror search is done on the energy input, increasing or decreasing it as a function of the quench or recovery result at the end of the transient.

One-Dimensional Model

With a typical hydraulic diameter in the millimeter range, the overall helium flow in a CICC can be expected to be onedimensional, with a good approximation already over flow lengths of the order of 1 m. As the helium flows generally in tarbulent regime, the helium temperature is nearly uniform in the cross section of the CICP. Therefore, the temperature gradients in the cable cross section reduce to those across the strand, and are negligibly small. We assume that the current distribution is amform in the strands. In well-designed CICCs, the correct can redistribute over typical lengths of the order of some contimeters in times of the order and below 1 ms. In this case, the heat generation in the CICC cross section during current sharing is also uniform. This is not the rase for CICCs with insulated strands or high transverse resistance. where the current redistribution can take several seconds over lengths of several meters. In this case, an homogenized treatment is not appropriate and the stability margin is actually strongly degraded. We will therefore drop this case in the following treasment. As the stability transients are fast compared to the thermal diffueivity of the conduit materials (e.g., stee)). the conduit contribution to the energy halance is neglected also.

These assumptions lead to a much simplified 1-D model of the CICC, where two constituents are identified, the behan and the strands. Both are at uniform, but distinct, temperature. The compressible flow equations in the beham (mass, momentum, and energy balances) are written to include wall fraction, modeled using a turbulent friction factor. Strand and beliom exchange heat at the writed surface, and the thermal coupling is avoally medeled using the correlation for the beat transfer coefficient *h* discussed in the Appendix. The system is then described by the equations:

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial \rho r}{\partial r} = 0$$
 (10a)

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial \rho^2}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial x} = 2\rho f \frac{c^{\rm d} r}{D_{\rm h}}$$
(10b)

$$-\frac{a\mu x}{3q} + \frac{a\mu x}{\delta x} + \frac{3pc}{\delta x} + \frac{\mu_{\rm h} h}{A_{\rm He}} (T_{\rm St} - T_{\rm He})$$
(10c)

$$\Delta_{\mathrm{sq}} C_{\mathrm{St}} \frac{\delta T_{\mathrm{st}}}{\delta t} = A_{\mathrm{St}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\mathcal{K}_{\mathrm{st}} \frac{\delta T_{\mathrm{st}}}{\delta x} \right)$$

= $\hat{\eta}_{\mathrm{Fat}} - \hat{\eta}_{\mathrm{tarbe}}^{\dagger} - \mu_{\mathrm{st}} b (T_{\mathrm{St}} - T_{\mathrm{ste}}^{\dagger}) = (10d)$

where p is the behavior density, p its pressure and r is the flow velocity, f the fraction factor and D_p is the hydraulic drameter of the conductor. The total specific energy e is defined as the sum of the internal specific energy i and the kinetic specific energy, that is,

$$\varepsilon = i + \frac{c^2}{2}$$

Finally, the strand heat balance of Eq. (10d) takes into proper account the contribution of the heat conductivity K_{2i} along the cable length.

The 1-D model numbered above is widely used for detailed calculations of stability margin. When the numerical solution technique to account for the different time scales involved is properly selected, the model can predict the heating-induced flows responsible for multivalued stability, and can be adapted directly to follow the evolution of the normal zone when the energy input is large enough and the coil quenches. The only significant modification in this case is the need to take into account the additional heat capacity of the conduit material. This modification is straightforward and musists of adding a temperature diffusion equation to the system. Because of the level of fine details, even within the amplification of the 1-D assumption, this model gives the possibility of wide parametric analysis. Its main drawback is that, dealing with largely different time scales, it is slow and not easy to bundle

CALCED ATION OF STARDLEY MARGIN IN HE-II

A COC operating in superfluid helium is most efficient if it is designed to take advantage of the large heat removal capability at the strand wetted surface. As we discussed in the description of the general features of the stability margin in He-II, it is possible to operate the cable at a current density significantly higher than in the case of supercritical helium. However, we recall that in the *superfluid* well-cooled regime, the upper stability margin is determined by the helium enthalpy available between operating temperature and the lambda point, of the order of 200 mJ/cm³ of helium volume. Therefore, in the design for operation in He-II, we assume implicitly that if the double heating is enough to drive the bolk temperature above T_{in} cooling in He-I is so reduced in relation to superfluid cooling that the conductor will not recover.

As fit operation in supercritical He-I, the stability margin of a CICC in He-II can be computed at different levels of approximation and complexity. We need to this case to modify the beat transfer coefficient (see the Appendix) and the below energy balance to take into account the equivalent thermal conductivity given by Eq. (4). However, the model used in practice to design CICCs for stable operation in He-II is different from that discussed in the previous section. In this case, we concentrate on the beat removal capability, with the aim of muintaining it sufficiently high so that the full baliam heat sink up to the longbda point is available for stabilization.

The essence of the simplified model, due to Dresner (36.37), consists in solving the 1-D heat transport equation in stigmant Heat in a channel in order to obtain the effective cooling tapacity. The model implies that even if the helium goes through the lambda transition at the conductor surface, the bolk of the coolant remains in the superfluid state and cooling is determined by "conduction" along the channel ion the case of a CICC, the "channel" is the imaginary annulus of helium surrounding each strand). This is consistent with Seylert's observation that the layer of He-I around each strand is negligibly thin (33). Dresner's model is based on the analytical solution of the nonlinear heat "conduction" in the annulus of He-H around the strands, and the ability of the helium to absorb the heat flux stemming from the Joule heating (for details of the derivation see Refs. 36 and 37). In that context, it is useful to define the following two quantities:

$$E = \frac{Ac_0}{P_0} \Delta E \tag{11a}$$

$$E_i = [h_{10}(T_c) - h_{10}(T_{cp})]L$$
 (11b)

where the quantity E is just a different scaling of the stability margin (the quantity of interest in this calculation), $A_{\rm Ee}$ is the holiom enthalpy per unit volume, and L is the effective 'channe!' length, so that $E_{\rm e}$ represents the maximum enthalpy available between the operating temperature and the lambda longerature in the annulus of belium around each strand (the total heat sink). The equivalent channel length L depends on the helium cross section as follows.

$$p_{\rm e}L = A_{\rm He} = \frac{f_{\rm He}}{V - f_{\rm He}} A_{\rm St} \tag{11c}$$

where $f_{E_{2}}$ is the CICC void fraction. The analytical solution of the Dresner model leads to a relationship between the stability margin and the design current density that can be expressed using the nondimensional groups K/E_{0} and q_{1}/q_{2} with the latter terms defined as follows

$$q_{c} = \frac{\rho_{Cu} t^{2}}{\rho_{c} A_{Cu}} \tag{11d}$$

$$q^{*} = \frac{K C_{\rm H_{1}}^{1/2} (T_{\rm e} - T_{\rm ep})^{2/3}}{(4E_{\rm e})^{2}}$$
(11c)

in which q_i , represents the Joule heating in the cuble per unit of cooling surface. The quantity q is a fiducial heat flux that depends on the effective thermal conductivity of superfluid helium (K_i) the volumetric specific heat of the heburn (C_{0i}) , the temperature difference between the operating point and the lambda transition, and E_i (defined above). This quantity stems from the solution of the ponlinear heat conduction equation for He-II. The ratio q_j/q determines the severity of the Joule heating polse that needs to be transported and absorbed by the superfluid helium.

The model products an expression relating $E_i E_n$ as a function of $q_j \cdot q_i$, which is shown in Fig. 8. The results of this stability model indicate that, as in He-Luperation, there are two distinct regimes, at low currents the conductor is *well-couled* and esseninally the entire belium enthalpy margin (up to the transition to He-1) is available to stabilize the cable; at higher currents the cable becomes *(ll-couled* and the stability margin is significantly lower because of the inability of the He-II to conduct the should heat flux over the length of the equivalent "channel."

The criterion used in practice then stears directly from the results of this model. To ensure the highest possible stability margin the entire beliam entbally from the operating point to the lambda points, the conductor needs to be designed so that q_i



Figure 8. Semiempineal representation of the stability margin for a CICC operating in He-II.

= 0.2q, for at higher fractions of q the margin decreases rapidly. Note that as a result, the conductor design (and the stability margin) depends only on the physical properties of the He-H and on the current density in the stabilizer. The current sharing temperature does not enter into the deterministion of stahility as a result of assuming that the conductor cannot recoveronce the lambda transition is crussed during a disturbance. The present model has been successfully used in the design of a large (200 kA) (CICC) for application in SMES (39,40).

CONCLUSIONS AND RESEARCH DIRECTIONS

This article has presented the basic considerations and models that go into the design of CICC> for stable operation. Enough is known of the mechanisms determining stability so that, in conjunction with other constraints, CICT's can be designed successfully and even optimized (41). However, this does not mean the field is not open to new areas of research. As new magnet designs are proposed, and as more struggent requirements are emposed on the designer, areas of further study continue to open—in particular, work toward improving our understanding of stability ander transient operating conditions (e.g., CICC's with central channels).

As may be clear after review of the literature, stability depends in a synergistic manner on the do and unopenating conditurns of the cable in the coll (42–44). This is the main direction of the actual research in the field of CICC stability. In particular, in view of the applications in pulsed magnets, the interaction of stability, current distribution, and ac losses in the cable is one of the main topics. The so-called *recupional* limit of agention for pulsed magnets (44)–451 (a decrease in the maximum achievshie current at increasing field change rate) is an outstanding example of this synergistic interaction. The appearance of such a phenomenon, explained so far in terms of nomin form current distribution and a degradation of the stability margen of the cahle, has alerted us to the difference between do stability, with constant operating current and background field, and ac stability of the cable

However, while do operating conditions are easier to produce and simulate, as stability is difficult to measure out pases some basic problems in the interpretation of the data. The simulation and prediction of an etability are therefore object of an interse activity in the field of transient electromagnetics in superconductors and thermohydraulics.

APPENDIX: TRANSIENT HEAT TRANSFER

The mann issue in heat transfer is fast transients, for their relevance to stability. A strong variation of the transient heat transfer to a flow of supercritical behavior was demonstrated by Giarratano (46) and Bloem (47) in dedicated measurements on short test sections. The experiments showed an initial peak in the heat transfer coefficient at early times, below 1 ms. At later times, in the range of some ms to about 100 ms, the initial peak decreased approximately with the inverse of the square rost of time. The behavior could be explained in terms of the diffusion of heat in the thermal boundary layer. Using the analytical solution of diffusion in a semi-infinite body (the behavior coefficient as [Bloem (47)]).

$$h_t = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{K_{th}}{\epsilon t}} \frac{c \epsilon_p}{\epsilon t}$$
(12)

where $K_{\rm H}$ is the heat conductivity of behavin. The expression where $K_{\rm H}$ is the heat conductivity of behavin. The expression where is shown to fit properly the experimental data for times langer than 1 ms and until the thermal boundary layer is fully developed. At earlier times, Eq. (12) would tend to predict an exceedingly high heat transfer coefficient, consistent with the assumptions of the analytical calculation. In reality, the early values of λ are found to be limited by the Kapitza resistance (48) at the contact surface of strand and helium, which gives a significant contribution only when the transient heat transfer coefficient is in the order of or larger than 10⁴ W m \leq K (or in the case that the wetting helium is in the superifuid state) A suitable expression for the heat transfer coefficient in the Kapitza resistance can be obtained using

$$h_{\rm K} = 200(T_{\rm Sr}^{\rm e} + T_{\rm Rr}^{\rm e})(T_{\rm Sr}^{\rm e} + T_{\rm Rr}^{\rm e})$$
 (13)

which, in fact, approximates a radiation-like phenomenon at the conductor surface with an equivalent heat transfer coefficient (T_{20} and T_{20} are the strand and the beham temperature, respectively).

At later times, usually around 10 to 100 ms, the thermal boundary layer is faily developed and the ateady state value of h is approached. Its value appears to be well approximated by a correlation of the Dittus-Boelter form, as shown by Yaskin (49) and Germatano (50). A best lis of the available data is obtained with the following expression ineglecting corrections due to large temperature gradients at the welted surface:

$$h_s = 0.0259 \frac{K_{0c}}{\dot{D}_c} \text{Re}^{5.8} \text{Pr}^{-1}$$
 (14)

An empirical expression for the heat transfer to supercritical holium during a transient finally can be obtained modeling the Kapita resistance and the holium houndary layer as sents thermal resistances, and taking

$$h = \max\left\{\frac{h_b h_K}{h_c + h_K}, \frac{h_c h_K}{h_c + h_K}\right\}$$
(15a)

This expression is to good agreement with the experimental results quoted above, and shows that, for short palses, the best transfer coefficient only depends on the belium state and not on the flow conditions. At temperatures below the lambda point (superflow) helium), the Kapitza resistance is the only limit to the heat transfer at the strand wetted surface. In this cose, we approximate the heat transfer coefficient simply as

$$h = h_X$$
 (15b)

Equations (15a) and (15b) can then be used to approximate the heat transfer coefficient of the strand-helium interface for the entire transient in the supercritical regime, or to cover the entire operating temperature range. from below the lambda point to 4.2 K and above. It should be noted, however, that the expressions above are only a convenient tool to implement in stability models covering most regimes of interest, and do not capture all the complexities encountered, for instance, when operating in atmospheric superfluid, when phase changes may be taking place at the interface during a transient.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Z. J. J. Stekly and J. L. Zar, Stable superconducting coils, *IEEE Trajes New Ser.*, 12, 367, 1965.
- V.E. Keilin, Explanation of memorylatores of superconducting windings training by balance of acting and permissible disturbances, *IREP Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 3: 297–300, 1993.
- V. E. Keilin, An approach probability quench fields of superconducting magnets from model coils testings, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 30 (1962) 1905. 1994
- 4 M. Monporge, The design of the superconducting magnet for the "Omega" project, particle accelerators, ed. I. Glazgow, VK: Gordon and Breach Publishers (printed by Bell and Bain Ltd.), 1970.
- P. F. Chester, Superconducting magnets, Reports on Progress in Physics, XXXII 561-614, 1907.
- M. O. Howing and D. B. Montgonsery, Dense supercritical helium cuoled superconductors for large high field stabilized magnets, *IKEE Trans. Magn.*, 11: 569, 2975.
- M. O. Bornig, Y. Iwasa, and D. B. Montgomery. Supercriticalinshum cooled "bundle conductors" and their application to large superconducting magnets, Proc. 5th Int. Conf. Magn. Tech., Rume, Haly, 21-25 Apr 1975, in N. Sawhetti, M. Spadoni, and S. Stiptich (eds.), Frascuti Lab. Naz. del CNEN, 519, 1975.
- 8 M. O. Haenig et al., Supercritical holium couled cubled, superconducting holiow conductors for large high field magnets, *Proc. fitk Int. Crow. Eng. Conf.*, Groudde, Franze, 11, 14 May 1976, in K. Mondelssohn (ed.), Guilford, Surrey 114⁵ Science and Technology Press, 310, 1976.
- L. Bresner, Stability-optimized, force-cooled, multifilamentary superconductors, IEEE Trans. Maga., 13, 670, 1977
- L. Dresser and J. W. Late, Design of found-cooled conductors for large fusion magnets. *Proc. 7th Symp. on Eng. Proba of Fus. Res.*, J: 203, 1977.
- L. Dresner, Stability of internally cooled superconductors: A review. Cryogenies 20: 555, 1980.
- L. Bresner, Superconductor stability 1980; A review, Cryagenics, 24, 243, 1994.
- 13 M. O. Hoeving and D. B. Montgomery, Cryostability experiments of force model superconductors, Proc. 7th Symp. on Eng. Probs of Fas. Rev. 1, 789, 1977.
- M. O. Huenig, D. B. Muntgomery, and S. J. Waldman. Cryostability in face cooled superconducting cables, *IEEE Trans. Maga.*, 15, 292, 1979.

- M. O. Huenig, Internally couled cabled superconductors—Part I, Congression, 20, 373–399, 1960.
- M. O. Hoerny, Internally cooled cabled superconductors-- Part II, Crospenses, 20: 427-434, 1980.
- J. R. Miller et al., Measurements elisability of eabled superconductane and set by flavoug supercontrol fieldom. *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 15: 351, 1979.
- 18 J. W. Lon, J. R. Miller, and L. Dresner, Stability of cable in conduct superconductors, J. Appl. Phys. 51, 772, 1980.
- J. W. Lue and J. R. Meller. Parametric study of the stability margin of cable-in-conduct supercoordinaters. Experiment, *IEEE Draws*, Magn., 17, 1991.
- L. Dresner, Parametric study of the stubility margin of cable in conduct superconductors. Theory, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 17: 753, 1981.
- L. Dreaver. Heating induced llow- in cable-m-conduit conductors. Cryogenics, 19: 653, 1979.
- J. B. Müller et al., Stability measurements of a large Nb₃Sn forcecoded conductor, *Adv. Crys. Eng.*, 25, 654, 1990.
- J. W. Lue and J. R. Miller. Performance of an internally cooled superconducting solencial. Adv. Cron. Eug., 27: 227, 1982.
- J. V. Materonni, M. M. Storves, and M. O. Huenip. Experimental de someastic onfetsballary energie in a 27 strengthemate metrics, Nh₂Sucoble-m-majorit conductor, *IEEE Trans. Magn.* **21**, 339, 1985.
- J. H. Miller, Environmentingation of factors affecting the stability of cable in-cumunit superconductors, Crossgeness, 25: 552, 1985
- T. Andulet al., Investigation of stability in table-re-conduct personth heat polse dimension of 0.1 to 1 and Proc. 10th Int. Com. Eng. Conf., 756, 1986.
- J. C. Luttin and J. R. Miller. Stability of internally couled supercondiscorts in the temperature range 1 A to 4 2 K. *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 19 (439) 1943.
- J. H. Schultz and J. V. Minervini. Sensitivity of energy margin and cast figures of internally couled rabled superconductors (ICCS) to parametric variation in conductor design, *Proc. 9th Magn. Tech. Conf.*, 643–646, 1995.
- 29. J. W. Lue, Review of stability experiments on subleast-conduct conductors, Crysgenics, 34, 779–786, 1994.
- 30. E. A. Chaniczakis, Energy margin (fouble-in-conduit conductor as a function of operating pressure and initial heated zure. *IEEE Trans. Magn.* 32 (4): 2986 (2969, 1998, also E. A. Chanianakus, Effect of operating processes and hensed length on the stability of CICCs, J. *Faston Energy*, 14 (1): 60–73, 1995.
- G. Claudet et al., Superfluid helium for stabilitions superconductors against local distorbances. *IEEE Trans. Mapr.*, 15: 340, 1979.
- 32. S. W. Van Server, Stability of superconductors could internally by He (1 boarturs of fet, 15-yapenies, 31, 548–1993).
- P. Seviert d Laffarrander-et and G Claudes, Trouv-dependent hear transport in subcouled superfluid helium. *Cryogenics*, 22: 501, 1982.
- 34. C. Meuris et al., Transient stability of superconductors cooled by superfluid belium at atmospheric pressure. Proc. Int. Inst. Refrigent/100, 215-223, 1981
- C. Menris, Experimental study of the stability of a superconductor coded by a luminor volume of superfluid helium, *IEEE Trans.* Magn., 19: 272, 1983.
- 36 L. Dressner, A capid, semiencprized method of colculating the stubility margins of super-conductors called with subcooled He II, IEEE Trans. Maga., 23, 913–021, 1987.
- L. Dresner, Stability of Superconductors, New York, Phenome Press, 1996.
- C. Schrodt, Stability of superconductors in rapidly changing magnetic fields, Cryogenery, 30, 501–1990.

- 30 D. L. Walker et al., SMES conductor design, IEEE Trans. Magn., 25: 1595, 1989.
- S. D. Peck, J. C. Zeigler, and C. A. Luongo, Tests on a 200 kA Cablein-Conduit Conductor for SMES Applicoton, *IEEE Trans. Appl.* Supercolod., 4, 199, 1994.
- Bottore Stability protection and ac loss of cable-in-conduit conductors—A designer's approach, *Fuz. Eng. Unit.* 20: 351-362, 1993.
- E. Tada et al., Downstream effect on stability in coble-in-ronduit superconductor, Oppgysues, 29: 830, 1999
- 43 N. Korzumi et al., Experimental results on instability caused by non-uniform current distribution in the 30 kA NbTi Dema Folcidal Coil "DPC" conductor, Cryogenice, 84: 155, 1994.
- N. Kontrara et al., Contrast mobilization due to induced circulation current in a large cable-in-conduct superconductor. *Cryogonics*, 36: 409–413, 1926.
- S. Jenng et al., Ramp zote limitation: experiments using a hybrid superconducting cable, Oppgraves, 36, 623–623, 1996
- 46 P J Gramstano and W G Steward, Transient forced convection heat transfer to beloam during a step in heat flux, *Trans. ASME*, 105: 350-357, 1983.
- W. B. Disoni, Transient bont transfer to a forced flow of supervisional helpion et 4.2 K, Company, 28, 300–306, 1986.
- 48 S. Van Seiver, Heitam Cryogenics, New York: Plenum Press, 1979.
- L. A. Yaskar, et al., A correlation for heat transfer to superphysical taket beliam in turbulent flow to small channels, Crypgionex, 17 549–552, 1977.
- 50 P.J. Gourratano, V. D. Arp, and H. V. Smith. Furced ensynction heat transfer to supercritical helium. *Crospones*, 11: 346–393, 1971.

LUCA BOTTURA CEPN CESAR LUCATA Bechtel

STABILIZATION AGAINST FLUX (UMPS

INTRODUCTION

Superconducting conductors used for ac and do magnets are usually composite conductors consisting of many "intrinsically" stable fine superconducting filoments in a normal metal matrix.

It is well known that a simple twisting of the wire as a whole context ensure an equal current distribution between each libament or each layer of filaments. It appears that dowing energization the current fills first the outer layers of filaments up to the critical current density, whereas hardly any current flows in the inner layers.

It has already been shown that this particular current distribution with the field totally shielded from the interior of the wire could result in instabilities and premature quenching of large multifilamentary wires as it does in a large monolibument. It has already been observed and explained how a highly conductive motrix can slow the process and eventually totally damp the flux jump. Several laboratories have also observed how highly resistive matrix wires could hardly be stable. This was not very surprising and could be explained in agreement with the theories of stability of wires made with many filaments in homogeneous matrix (copper or corporately). This work was mainly devoted to superconducting wires made of filaments embedded in a resistive matrix (such as CuNi to reduce coupling current losses) with an outer shell of low resistivity (such as Co) to provide enough stability. In order to help our understanding, this study was carried out in line with previous work on stability (1-6). It concerns the su-called "intrinsic stability." We have shown how must of the classical criteria (namely unrelated) can be integrated into one unique and general expression. In particular, in the case of superconducting composites with a highly restative matrix, we investigated how the different physical parameters ran be optimized for achieving stubilization.

Intrinsic stability of a superconducting comparate refers, in this approach, to hampering the development of flux jumpings, the origons of which he in the nonuniform correct distribution unside the wire. This means that a wire is intrinsically stable if a "small" perturbation does not lead the conditions to enter in a diverging spiral, $\Delta T = -\Delta J_c \rightarrow \Delta B \rightarrow E \Rightarrow Q \Rightarrow \Delta T$, caused by the decrease of critical current J_c with respect to temperature T.

The sources of perturbations are mainly of internal origin (change in current, mechanical hysteresis) or by extension, any "socall" change or temperature due to an external source (field change, for instance).

In the last section of this article, a more complete descussion is given about what can be considered to be a "small" perturbation with respect to the actual relationship between electric field and correct density. Thus, intrinsic instability is directly ascribed to the nonuniform current distribution inside the wire 'a direct consequence of superconductivity, which stores a source of magnetic energy, and the decrease in critical current density J_i with respect to temperature T

Two ways of preventing this phenomenon are known: by absorbing heat generation uself (adiabatic stabilization) and by removing it by using the enthalpy of external materials or exclants (dynamic stabilization). In fact, the second process is different from the first only in that the flux jump has showed enough to provide time for heat to be transferred to the contant. This results only in obtaining more "evoilable" enthalpy than the enthalpy of the wire itself, to absorb the magnetic energy stored in the system.

FUNDAMENTAL EQUATIONS AND CALCULATIONS

For a given transport current I_0 less than the critical current I_1 , the current density and field profile are shown in Fig. 1. (The transport corrent I_1 and the background field B_1 are kept constant.) The critical current density is a unique function of temperature. For simplicity, the dependence on temperature is taken to be linear.

$$d = d_T \frac{T_r - T}{T_r - T_r} \qquad \text{for} \quad T \in T_r$$
$$d_r = 0 \qquad \qquad \text{for} \quad T > T_r$$

In the frame of a simplified critical model, *Je* is a step function versus electric field:


Figure 1. Schematic representation of correct distribution and field profiles in a composite before and after a temperature perturbation.

The effects of more realistic expressions of current density, such as $J_{ab} = J_{ab} F/F_c t^{1/2}$, are discussed in the final section.

In previous work (devoted to copper matrix composites), the resistivity of the normal motal matrix was taken into account by the expression (5).

$$E = \rho_{\mu}(d = q_{\mu}d_{\mu})$$

where μ_{α} is the effective or average registivity of the wire in the critical state, d is the average current density in the wire, and η_{α} is the superconductor space factor.

In contrast to the previous work, we now consider the case of a multifilament wire made of two different regions a central region consisting of the superconducting filaments in a highly resistive matrix (CuNa). for which a justified assumption is made in a later step in the calculations that the resistivity of this central zone is infinite, and on outer normal region with good electrical conductivity (Cu).

Calculations are derived for a slab model. Owing to the solffield efficie, for a given transport current *I*., the field penetrates to radius *a*, as shown in Fig. 1, with

$$i = \frac{L}{l_i} = 1 - \frac{a_i}{a_i}$$

where π_{Γ} is the limit of the filamentary region and a is the outer "dimension" of the wire $t\sigma \in R/\pi/2$ for equivalence with a round wire).

According to Fig. 1, there are three zones of study:

A small temperature perturbation dT in the composite results in a magnetic flux motion together with an induced electric field. The deviations from the steady state are related by two electromagnetic equations and one thermodynamic equation in each region.

In the central region (filamentary zone with no corpert)

In the central region carrying the current,

$$\operatorname{rot} E = -\mu_0 \frac{\partial H}{\partial t}$$

$$\operatorname{rot} \frac{\partial H}{\partial t} = \eta_0 \frac{\partial d}{\partial t}$$

$$C_1 \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = \eta_0 J_1 E - \operatorname{div}(K | \operatorname{grad} T)$$

In the outer copper shell,

$$\operatorname{rot} K = -\mu_{0} \frac{\partial H}{\partial t}$$

$$\operatorname{rot} H = d_{t}$$

$$C_{0} \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} = \mu_{0} d_{t}^{2} - \operatorname{dev}(K_{t} \operatorname{grad} T)$$

For simplicity, the physical properties of materials are assumed to be undependent of temperature. Equivalent and average characteristics are derived for each zone after a homogenization that takes into account the local structure of the composite strand.

In each zone, according to the differential equations, the solution for the temperature can be developed in the form of a sum of terms with time and space, for separate variables:

$$\mathcal{D}(x, t) = \sum X_t(x) \exp(i_0 t/\tau)$$
(1)

where

$$\tau = \frac{C_i g_i^2}{K_i}$$
(2)

A dimensionless differential equation with respect to space can be derived to the filamentary region:

$$X^{(4)} = i(4 + i)X^{(2)} + i(0) + i(0X = 0)$$
 (3)

with the fundamental parameters

$$\mu = \frac{\mu_0 \eta^2 d_r^2 a^2}{C_f (T_r - T_b)}$$
(4)

$$e = \frac{K_{0}\mu_{0}}{C_{e}\mu_{0}}$$
 (5)

Note that $q_{\mu} = q_{\mu} a_{\mu} and that,$

$$\eta = \frac{D_{\rm ef}}{D_{\rm ef}}$$

is the ratio of the thermal diffusivity over the magnetic diffusivity.

In composites with a highly resistive matrix, it is each less than 1, which allows a further simplification of the differential equation

$$X^{(4)} + \lambda X^{(1)} + \beta \beta X = 0 \qquad (6)$$

In the outer copper shell, if the Joula heating is neglected, the heat equation becomes

$$X^{*} = \frac{\lambda}{r} X = 0 \qquad (7)$$

with

$$\gamma = \frac{K_c C_t}{C_0 K_0}$$
(8)

For a given constant transport current, there are eight boundary conditions among the three zones concerning the electric field, magnetic field, temperature, flux, and heat transfer to the outer cooland. The general solutions of the differential equations are combinations of eight hyperbolic functions, the coefficients of which can be derived from the set of eight linear equations.

In order to ensure self-consistency and to obtain a monunque trivial solution for λ , the determinant of the system must be equal to zero. From Eq. (1), it can be inferred that any positive λ value leads to an irrevocable increase of temperature with time. The first pointive value for λ determines the limit between stability and instability (see also Refs. 2 and 3).

Our calculations were carried out in the same way as in previous papers (2-7). One of the goals of this work was to find an *untriplical* expression for the stability constituons that included the parameter β and other physical characteristics.

As stability is violated for the very first positive *i* value, a power-series expansion of the hyperbolic functions can be made. Let us set the dimensionless parameters.

$$\gamma = \frac{K_n C_0}{K_l C_n}, \qquad \alpha = \frac{K_l}{K_l}, \qquad \delta = \frac{\sigma_n C_l}{\sigma_l K_l}, \qquad \epsilon = \frac{\sigma_n}{\sigma_l}, \qquad b = \frac{h_l \sigma_l}{K_l}$$

When A sende to zero, it can be written in the form

$$\lambda = 4\beta h_{2} / \left[4\beta (1 - h_{1}) \left(\frac{h_{1}^{2}}{3} - 1 \right) - \alpha \left[\frac{4\beta \epsilon}{r} \left(1 - \frac{h_{2}}{2} \right) - \alpha \left[\frac{4\beta \epsilon}{r} \left(1 - \frac{h_{2}}{2} \right) - h \left(1 + \frac{2\beta \epsilon^{2}}{\delta} + 2\delta + \frac{4\beta \epsilon}{\delta} i - \frac{\beta^{2}}{2} i^{2} \right) \right] \right] = 0$$

bility criterion can be written in the form

$$h \sim \frac{A + (A^{5} - 4hB)^{1/2}}{2B}$$
(10)

with

$$A = 4\left(1 + \frac{\hbar\epsilon}{\alpha}\right) + 2\frac{\hbar\epsilon}{\delta}\left(2i + \epsilon\right) + 2\hbar + 4\epsilon\frac{\kappa}{\alpha}\left(1 + \frac{\hbar\epsilon}{2\alpha}\right) = (11)$$

$$B = \frac{4}{3} \left(1 + \frac{h\epsilon}{a} \right) i^3 + \frac{h}{2} i^3$$
(12)

For greater clarify, it is convenient to present criterion Eq. (10) in terms of an energy balance. The magnetic energy released by the flux jump should be less than the available enthalpy in the system (conjugate and exchange to the surmanding beliam layer).

$$\frac{a_2(r_0, J_0, 2)^2}{3} t^4 < C_l(T_l - T_0) [1 + f(h_l, K, C, p_l - 1)]$$

where f is a function containing all the extra terms issuing from Eq. (10). To confirm the general character of this criterion for composites with a highly resistive matrix, we can show how some usual enterio can be found, at the cost of a few approximations.

We must beer in must in any case that the first assumption that has been made in our calculations is $\tau \to 0$ in the filamentary zone $(\mu \to \infty)$

Let us recall a few typical orders of magnitude for physical properties (Table 1). It can be seen that thermal and electrical diffusivities are exactly permutable for the inner region and the outer shell.

It takes 0.5 µs to diffuse heat over 0.5 mm in the copper or magnetic flux in the CuNi matrix, whereas it takes a much longer time (0.3 ms - to diffuse magnetic flux in the copper or heat in the CuNi matrix. This means that the process in the filamentary region is almost locally adiabatic. There is hardly any current generated in the inner core due to the first that at the initiation of the flux jump the electric field in the inner core is zero when it is at a maximum at the interface between the filamentary region and the outer copper shell. The self-field effect tends to expel the excess current to the perpisery.

APPLICATIONS TO A FEW SIMPLIFIED OR USUAL CRITERIA

Adiabatic Criterion

If one assumes $h_t \rightarrow 0$ (no heat exchange with the belown bath), Eq. (10) becomes

$$\beta < \frac{3}{i^3} \left(1 - \frac{\epsilon_n C_n}{a_0 C_r} \right)$$
(13)

and using Eq. (11) we obtain

$$\frac{\mu_b(\eta_s d_b x)^s}{3} i^4 < C_c (T_c - T_b) \left(1 + \frac{c_b C_b}{\sigma_c C_c}\right)$$
(14)

GENERAL STABILITY CRITERION

From our final expression Eq. (9), we can find a condition for β when an instability corners $G \ge 0$). Conversely, a general sta-

Table 1. Physical Properties of the Materials of Superconducting Composites

Zone	K (W. 16K ?)	C (J m ¹ K ¹)	ρ(<u>Ω·m</u>)	D. (m ⁽)s ⁽¹⁾	D, (m) s '
NETI, CONS	1.0	1500	a × 5011	6 × 10**	0.95
Cu	300	1000	ປີ× 10 ກ	0.3	2.5 • 10 1

This criterion indicates the role of the enthalpy of the outer normal metal shell. With i = 1 and $e_n = 0$ (no shell), we obtain the usual so-called adiabatic criterion (1-4). The "stable" parameter f varies with i as $1/i^2$. A direct application of this expression is the evaluation of the maximum average current density d that can be carried in a wire of half-dimension u. Letting

$$d = \eta_{F} d_{F}$$
 and $C = C_{F} \left(1 + \frac{e_{e}C_{h}}{a_{e}C_{e}}\right)$

yields

$$J < \left(\frac{C(T_c - T_b)}{\mu_5}\right)^{1/3} (\eta_s J_t)^{1/3} a^{-L/3}$$
(15)

Whereas using a wire with the highest possible critical current density secons opportant, the gain in stable density is not so significant, however. On the other hand, the stability is not as dependent on the size a as is often considered. Although it is true that the stability parameter β varies as a^2 , the maximum stable average current density varies as $a^{-2/4}$. For instance, doubling the thickness a results in a stable average current density matches in a stable average current density matches are stable average current.

Oynamic Criterion

Several workers have proposed analytical expressions for stubility orderia of hamogeneous composites (6–8). To our knowledge, they have always been presented for i = 1 (critical current) and for nonzero values for v to the case of exact solutions obtained along a similar approach.

Let us consider a typical composite wire as a guide to justify some approximations, with $a_f = 0.7 \times 10^{-3}$ m, $v_e = 0.3 \times 10^{-5}$ m, $v_b = 0.2$, $v_{b'b} = 0.5$, $\eta_{b'b'} = 0.3$, and $h_0 = 10^3$ W · m⁻² · K⁻¹. The basic assumption 1/2 = 0 is satisfied by $\rho_d/\mu_0 \gg K/Ce$. To derive a dynamic criterion, it is necessary to assume that the heat conductivity in the inner region is not negligible (μ_c is kept infinite). The two terms $h_0 a_0/K_0$ and $h \mu_0/K_c$ are considered to be much less than 1.

The general criterion can then be written as follows:

$$\frac{\mu_{\eta}(\eta, d_{c} a)^{d}}{8} t^{d}$$

$$\approx C_{\ell}(T_{\ell} - T_{\ell}) \left(1 + \frac{e_{n}C_{n}}{a_{\ell}C_{\ell}}\right) \left(1 + A_{\ell}\frac{h_{\ell}a_{\ell}}{K_{\ell}} + A_{\ell}\frac{h_{\ell}e_{n}}{K_{\ell}}\right) = (16)$$

with

$$A_{1} = \frac{2 + 3\left(\frac{e_{1}C_{r}}{\omega_{r}C_{r}}\right) + \frac{c^{2}}{3}}{4\left(1 + \frac{e_{1}C_{n}}{\omega_{r}C_{r}}\right)^{2}} + \frac{2}{3}i \qquad (17)$$

$$A_{I} = \left[\left(1 + \frac{\epsilon_{n}C_{n}}{a_{l}C_{l}}\right) \left[2 + \frac{\mu_{0}K_{n}}{\rho_{n}C_{l}} \left(\frac{\epsilon_{n}}{a_{l}} + 2\epsilon\right) + \frac{\epsilon_{n}C_{n}}{a_{l}C_{l}} \right] + 2 - 3\left(\frac{\epsilon_{n}C_{n}}{a_{l}C_{l}}\right) + \left(\frac{\epsilon_{n}C_{n}}{\rho_{r}C_{l}}\right)^{2}\right] / 4\left(1 - \frac{\epsilon_{n}C_{n}}{a_{l}C_{l}}\right)^{2} + \frac{\frac{\mu_{n}K_{n}}{\rho_{r}C_{l}} \left(\frac{\epsilon_{n}}{a_{l}} + 2i\right) \left(2 + \frac{\sigma_{n}C_{l}}{n_{r}C_{l}}\right)}{4\left(1 + \frac{\epsilon_{n}C_{n}}{\alpha_{r}C_{l}}\right)^{2}} - 1$$

$$(18)$$

Equation (16) emphasizes the respective influences of the ameri region and of the outer shell. From Eq. (16), two particular cases can be derived as follows.

Letting e_n = 0 (no outer normal shell) and t = 1, we find.

$$\frac{\mu_0(\eta_s,d_0a)^2}{3} < (\gamma(T_t - T_0) \left(1 + \frac{5}{24} \frac{h_ta_t}{K_t}\right)$$
(19)

This expression is similar to the expression abtained previously (6) in the case of a homogeneous multifilamentary composite for low values of the ratio <:

$$\frac{\mu_0(\eta_0 J_{00} \alpha)^2}{3} < C_m(T_c - T_b) \left(1 + \frac{7}{20} \frac{h_0 \pi}{K_m}\right) \qquad (20)$$

The small discrepancy between the two expressions can be mainly ascribed to the fact that the calculations performed previously (6) were only correct for $\nu \neq 0$, whereas the present calculations were carried out with $\nu = 0$.

 If we keep e_n ≠ 0 and assume a very low resistivity for the outer normal metal shell (made of copper, for instance), Eq. (16) becomes

$$\frac{\mu_0(\eta_s)\underline{d}_0\alpha t^2}{3}t^4 < C(T_t + T_0)\left(1 + \frac{v_xC_0}{a_tC_t}\right)\left(1 + A_t\frac{\dot{n}_tc_0}{K_0}\right)$$
(21)

with

$$A_2 = \frac{\mu_0 K_n}{\mu_0 C_t} \left(\frac{\epsilon_n}{a_t} + 2t \right) \frac{3 + 2\left(\frac{e_z C_n}{a_t C_t}\right)}{4\left(1 + \frac{e_r C_n}{a_t C_t}\right)^2}$$
(22)

Again we find a simplified enterion that emphasizes the henceficial influence of a law resistivity ρ_c as in the case of homogeneous composites. This is already visible in Eqs. (21) and (22). It can be pointed out more clearly for $\rho_n/a_r \ll 1$, which permits another simplification step. It follows

fluxes. For a thin outer copper shell

$$\frac{4\rho_0(\eta_s J_{co} t)^2 a^2}{9\epsilon_0} < h_c(T_c - T_b)$$
(26)

Effect of Thermal Conductivity

In the general expression Eq. (10), assuming now a very high beat exchange to the belium $(b_1 \rightarrow \infty)$ and good thermal and electrical properties of the shell (high K_{∞} and low ρ_{∞}), we obtain

$$A \approx rac{4\mu_0h_1r_0}{p_rC_1}$$

 $B \approx rac{h_1a_i}{2K_1} e^4$

peros

$$A^* \gg 4 \, {h_1 a_1 \over K_1} \, R$$

In particular, when $\epsilon = 1$, it can be found that the condition for stability becomes

$$rac{\partial n^l \left\langle z, \sigma^l a
ight
angle n^{l^2}
ight
angle}{6 K_1 \left(T_1 + T_0
ight)} rac{a_2}{a_2} < 1$$
 (27)

This expression can be compared with the expression that was regarded as being the dynamic stability criterion.

$$\frac{n_{\rm m}(\eta_{\rm s} d_{\rm s} \mu)^2}{3K_{\rm m}(T_{\rm s} - T_{\rm s})} < 1$$

This criterion, developed by several groups, quoted in Ref R. assumes an infinite heat transfer coefficient to the coolant. As a result, it is no optimistic in most practical cases. However, it is correct in that it determines the limit for the existence of stationary solutions for temperature-dependent entical correct profiles inside the filamentary region. It points out clearly, in this case, the effect of poor thermal comfuctivity

Simplified Analytical Expression for Homogeneous Composites

In the general criterion Eq. (10) written in a dimensionless form, stability is ensured when $\beta \in Q(\ell)$, where

$$Q(t) = \frac{A + (A^2 + 4hI)t^3}{2B} - \frac{1}{2}$$

The coefficients A and B mohade all the physical parameters, the heat transfor, and the reduced transport current. For a given set of physical parameters, it is possible to plot the expression Q(i) as a function of the current *i* in the form of a boundary line between stability and instability for any given value of the pair (β, i) .

In order to compare with theoretical and numerical calculations performed previously (6), we give here an analytical expression for the particular case of a highly resistive matrix superconducting composite without a stabilizing shell $w_n = 0$.

$$\frac{\mu_{c} u_{\rm p} J_{\rm st} a^{\gamma r}}{3} i^{3}$$

$$\approx C_{\rm f} (T_{\rm r} + T_{\rm p}) \left[1 + \frac{u_{\rm p} C_{\rm p}}{u_{\rm f} C_{\rm r}} + \frac{3 \mu_{\rm p} h_{\rm p} c_{\rm r}}{4 \mu_{\rm r} - C_{\rm r}} \left(\frac{u_{\rm r}}{u_{\rm r}} + 2i \right) \right] = (21)$$

We can see that the simplified Eq. (23) of our general criterion Eq. (10) can also be put in a form similar to more conventional criteria derived for homogeneous composites. For instance, for i = 1 (and in the frame of the particular assumptions), we find stability for

$$\frac{\mu_0(\eta_{tr}\xi_0\sigma)^2}{3} < (T_t - T_t) \left(C_t + C_n \frac{c_t}{\sigma_t} + \frac{3}{2} \frac{\mu_0 h_t e_n}{\rho_t} \right) (24)$$

when it was determined for homogeneous composites in previous work

$$\frac{\mu_0(n_sd_n\alpha)^2}{3} < (T_s - T_s)\left(C_m + \frac{3}{10}\frac{\mu_sh_2n}{n_m}\right)$$

(exact solution in Ref. 6) and

$$rac{\mu_0(\eta_s d_0 n)^2}{3} < (T_s + T_s) \left(C_0 + rac{4}{\pi^2} rac{\mu_s h_0 \sigma}{\sigma_n}
ight)$$

(approximate solution in Ref. 8). Both expressions were given with no outer sugger shell.

We can see that the criterion given in Eqs. (23) and (24) indicates the enhancement of stability by the heat removal to the contant due to the "shell effect." In addition to the enthalpy of the composite, the third term in Eq. (24) represents the enthalpy transferred to the helium during the diffusion time of the current in the copper shell.

The enhancement of stability with increase in the Cu shell thickness is clear. Evidently a good heat transfer is of an help when no repper con-damp or slow the development of the flux jump. In contrast, with a sufficient copper thickness, time is provided to take advantage of the heat transfer to the content and therefore for accounting for the enthplipy absorbed by helium in the heat energy balance.

Similarity with the Cryogenic Criteriun

Equation 23) contains two terms: the onthalpy of the composite and the enthalpy absorbed by the beliam. If the resistivity of the shell is small enough or the heat transfer large enough, the enthalpy of the composite becomes negligible, and stability is completely ensured by the transfer to beliam.

The enterior becomes

$$\frac{\mu_0(\eta_s d_0 \mu)^2}{3} r^1 < \frac{3\alpha_2 h_0 c_0}{4\mu_0} \left(\frac{a_0}{a_0} + 2r\right) (T_0 - T_0)$$
(25)

Under these conditions, the criterion can be written, to a first approximation, in the form of generated and exchanged heat

that



Figure 2. Comparison of stability curves for composites with co-outer shell with result moves given for homogeneous composites. Dashed lines, this work $0^{\circ} = 0^{\circ}$, solid lines, Ref. 5 ($c = 0^{\circ}$).

In the general criterion Eq. (10), let us set $c_n = 0$ and define $h = (h_0 a_0)/K_0$. We find

$$\beta = \frac{3}{i^4} \frac{2(b-2) - \frac{[2b^2(2+i^4) + 16b(1+)^2/3) + 16]^3}{6+3bi} = (28)$$

This expression can be compared with the expression obtained for the homogeneous composite studied previously (6) in the case of a low ratio of thermal diffusivity to magnetic diffusivity (ω)

$$v = \frac{D_n}{D_m}$$

Figure 2 shows the stability function Q(t) for two values of reduced heat transfer λ . In the present approach v = 0 because

 p_1 is infinite. In the previous approach (6), the lumiting case i = 0.1 was considered. It can be seen that the results are similar if it is mmembered that the theory of the homogeneous composite was developed for a round wire (a correction coefficient of $\pi/4$ was applied to the curves plotted previously (6) to obtain the curves plotted in Fig. 2.

Developing Eq. (25) for i = 1 and for small values of the reduced heat (ransfer k leads to

$$p_4 = \Im\left(1 + \frac{5b}{24}\right)$$

Januther form of Eq. (19)j.

Our expression especially developed for the case of an outer good conducting shell is in perfect agreement with previous models devoted to homogeneous composites

SUMMARY

At the cost of some particular assumptions, it has been shown that the general criterion Eq. (10) encompasses the usual criteria that have been already developed in various particular cases. This can be represented schematically as in Fig. 3.

INFLUENCE OF THE OUTER SHELL THICKNESS AND OF THE HEAT TRANSFER COEFFICIENTS

A set of curves have been plotted in Fig. 4 using the more general enterion Eq. (10) directly. The particular case under investigation corresponds to typical orders of magnitude of $\gamma = 200$, $\alpha = 200$, and $\delta = 1$.

The thickness of the shell and the heat transfer coefficients are given in the form of the dimensionless parameters $r=r_{e}/ar$ and $h=h_{e}o/K_{f}$

It is clearly seen in Fig. 4(a), for $\epsilon = 0$, that because of the law thermal conductivity of the filamentary region, little



Figure 3. Summary of conditions to deduce usual enterior from the general stability triterion



Figure 4. Stability is improved when both supportshall thickness and the heat transfer coefficient attain significant values for supportshall thickness $r = r_0/a_1^{-1}(\mathbf{a}(0), (\mathbf{b}, 0, 3)) \approx 0.66$ (d) 1.0, (e) $\mathbf{k}(3)$. Lines from to bottom: h = 10, (-0.1, 0.05).



Figure 5. Influence of the copper shell thickness $s = e_{n}/a_{1}m$ stability curves for h = 1. Lines from left to right r = 0, 0.3, 0.6, 1.0, 1.3.

is expected in improving the stability fram a good heat transfer to the coolant. Figures 4(a)-4(c) show the significant rule of the heat transfer coefficient when c is not negligible (for low values of h, improvement is only provided by the increase on the equivslent heat enposity of the composite. A noticeable improvement in stability is provided when both ϵ and h simultaneously attain significant values.

The copper fraction in the conductor is given by $\eta_{\rm Ce} = \epsilon/(1 + \epsilon)$. This expression means that the amount of copper is totally concentrated in the outer shell. It is, for instance, 23% for $\epsilon = 0.3$ and 56% for $\epsilon = 1.3$. The reduced heat transfer is about k + 1 for $k_1 = 10^3$ W⁴ m⁻² · K⁻¹ and $\kappa_1 = 0.6 \times 10^{-5}$ m.

The influence of the shell thickness is summarized in one set of curves for h = 1 in Fig. 6.

DETERMINATION OF THE STABLE CURRENT I, IN A PARTICULAR EXAMPLE

For any given composite there is no special difficulty in plotting the general curve Q(i) of criterion Eq. (10). Then, the evaluation of the parameter

$$\beta = \frac{\mu_0(\eta_s, \xi_0, \eta)^2}{C_f(T_b - T_b)}$$

leads immediately to the determination of the maximum stable current i_s .

As a practical example, let us consider a multiflamentary composite with a supromickel matrix surrounded by a support shell with the two fixed parameters 2R = 1.35 mm (diameter) and $\eta_c = 0.20$ (superconductor volume fraction)

In order to point out again the influence of the outer copperlet us present the curves in terms of copper volume fraction (the CoNi is entirely located in the filamentary region)

$$R^2 = (1 - \eta_{0,1})R^2$$
 and $\eta_{1,0,0} = 1 - \eta_0 - \eta_{0,1}$

The equivalent dimensions used in the slab model are given by

$$a=rac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2}R$$
 and $a_{t}=rac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2}R_{t}$

respectively. All the parameters intervening in the expressions for Q(t) can be derived as equivalent physical properties.

The expressions Q(i) are plotted in Figs. 6(a)-fiel with the copper fraction as a parameter for given values of the actual heat transfer of 10² W $_{\odot}$ m⁻² K⁻¹, the composite can be considered to behave as in adiabatic conditions

in order to determine the stable operating current, we can proceed as follows. Calculate the parameter

$$\beta = \frac{\rho_{\rm e} (\eta_{\rm s}) J_{\rm e} \alpha t^2}{C_{\rm f} (T_{\rm r} - T_{\rm b})}$$

and then, for a given copper fraction and a given heat transfer coefficient, determine the maximum operating current. For instance, Fig. 6(d) shows the evaluation of the stable current for two amounts of copper for a particular case. In a field of 11 T and if one assumes the strand to be coefficient in superfluid behavior to 1.8 K $(b_1 = 5 \times 10^5 \text{ W} - m^{-2})$, $\mu \approx 90$, which means that the transport current can be increased sately up to 60% of the critical current for 70% of copper, whereas it is 77% of the critical current for 70% of copper.

SMALL PERTURBATION AND THE CRITICAL STATE MODEL

The theoretical calculations that have been discussed in the previous sections assume an ideal critical state model, that is, the electric field and the current density in the superconductor are related simply by $E \neq 0 \rightarrow J = J_{w}$. Actually, in composites made up with a large number of fine filaments, a continuous dependence of E on J_{v} caused mainly by inhomogeneities, can be observed.

One of the expressions that is most often accepted is

$$E = E_0 \left(\frac{J_c}{J_{cr}} \right)^2$$

where *n* is of the order of 10–100 depending on the field level and on the quality of manufacture. Under these conditions, the "critical current" is defined for *n* given electric field. For instance, the conditions $E_{\rm F} = 10^{-5}$ V · m⁻¹ and $J_{\rm eff} = 2 \times 10^{9}$ A · m⁻² result in another definition of critical current for $B = 10^{-4}$ V · m⁻¹: $J_r = 2.16 \times 10^{9}$ A · m⁻² for n = 30 and $d_r = 2.046 \times 10^{8}$ A · m⁻² for n = 100.

One of the consequences is that the concept of a small perturbation is more difficult to define, since there is no step function in the E(J) relationship. Another way of pointing out this effect is to compare the apparent resistivity in this resistive "critical state" with the resistivity $r_{\rm eff}$ of the stabilizing copper.

The differential resistivity is

$$\frac{aE}{\beta J} = \kappa \frac{E_0}{J_{20}} \left(\frac{J}{J_{20}}\right)^{n-1}$$

The feffective critical correct J_{c} for which this value equals the copper resistivity can be estimated. For $3E/4J = \rho_{c,c}$

$$\frac{d_{n}^{*}}{d_{n}} = \left(\beta v_{n} \frac{d_{n}}{nE_{n}}\right)^{-n}$$

Assuming $pr_{\mu} \approx 5 \times 10^{-15} \Omega \cdot m$ and $E_{\nu} = 10^{-5} V \cdot m^{-1}$, for n =



Figure 6. Stability curves for a 1.05 nm dometer way with 20% of superconductor $h_0 = (g(0), 0)$ (0^2) (c. 10^3 , (d) 5 \times 20% \approx 10⁴ W \times cm⁻² = h^{-1} . Lines from left to right: $g_{0,2} = 0.3$, 0.5, 0.6, 0.7



Pigure 7. How the determination of J, is afferted by the "o" value.

30

$$J_{\mu}^{\mu} = 1.32 J_{0}$$

and for n = 100

$$J_{i}^{*} = 1.07 d_{ei}$$

This shows that the critical current density d_{c0} defined for E_0 has to be noticeably exceeded in order to obtain a stabilizing effect by the copper matrix.

In order to establish the full relevance to our model, the perturbation has to generate enough electric field so that J, is locally exceeded. This is hardly to be expected from the so losses produced by an external changing field or by the self-field of the increasing current itself, except in case of very high-field or current change rate (in less than 10 ms).

A way to cope with this problem is to evaluate the stability through β and i, not in using J_{e0} to define β but with J taken as 10 to 30% more than J_{e1} depending on the *n* value (Fig. 7). This will result in a larger value for β (20 to 60%) and a smaller value for β . However, the stable transport current I_s will be larger

$$I_{i}^{*} = i A_{i}^{*}$$

As a result, one can see that a low *n* value could suggest that the conductor is more stable, when actually it is only the "true" critical correct that has been underestimated.

Some other factors can give rise to a more stable current than given in the calculations. They arise from the existence of a steady-state current distribution (for $E \approx 0$) that is different from the distribution given by the ideal critical state model. The spiral aspect of the filament enables some current to flow in the no-saturated region (5), after a current increase, the current decays in the outer layers of filaments because of the resistive effect (v value), and in a conductor with limited length, the current distribution is mainly imposed by the transfer resistances from layer to layer.

To conclude with these considerations, we can describe a typical perturbation that can obviously give rise to the required electric field for transferring enough current in the copper (Fig. 8) If we consider that the current-sharing temperature



Figure 6. Effect of a small temperature perturbation on the $R^{*}d$ rurve.

is given by

$$T_{c_h} - T_h = (T_c - T_h)(1 - \epsilon)$$

and if we consider that a shift in critical current of typically 1975 is at least accessary, because of the shape of the E(J) curve, a small perturbation $\Delta T \approx 0.1(T_c - T_0)$ is typical for initiating a flux jump in a wire whose operating parameters (B, h, i, s)just he on the theoretical curves between stable and unstable behavior (in other words, $J_c(E_0, T_0)$ can also be considered as J_c at the temperature $T_0 + \Delta T$; see Fig. 7).

CONCLUSION

The general analytical criterion that has been presented concerns the intrinsic stability of superconducting composites with a highly resistive matrix. It has shown consistency and continuity with previous theoretical results

Apart from the general character of this enterion, the influence of an outer copper shell in intrinsic stability conditions has been clearly emphasized with the help of some analytical expressions.

The "critical" stability curve Q(i) for a given composite under precise operating conditions acts as a useful basis to predict its behavior and to determine a "safe" current for intrinsic stability.

Conversely, our criterion can be used in a straightforward manner for a composite design. It becomes possible to rensider how a modification of physical characteristics (ratios, relative positions of the materials, etc.) can improve the stabibity conditions. The general criterion Eq. (10), given in an analytical form, can be of great help in the optimization of the structure of low-loss composites.

We have also pointed out the great advantage of locating the ropper at the periphery of the composite in order to take full advantage of the appearance of a maximum electric field to help current flow in the copper. On the other hand, supper around the axis is of almost no help, as the electric field is always negligible in the unsaturated region. However, the debate is not totally settled in fact, the self-field effect is reduced and the conditions for a flux jump are less likely when the filoments are distributed in a concentric layer with no superconducting region close to the axis (9). The theory has to be developed for this case. Also undetermined is whether a good compromise exists with some copper both in the center and at the periphery.

NOMENCLATURE

- Composite external radius (slab model) (m).
- Multifilamentary zone radius (m).
- a. Saturated zone radius (m)
- B₀ Background magnetic field
- C Specific bent of the composite (J = m⁺³ = K⁺¹).
- C₁ Average specific heat in the filamentary zone (J · m⁻³ · K⁻¹)
- $C_{\rm m}$ = Average specific heat in homogeneous composites $({\rm J}-{\rm m}^{-1}-{\rm K}^{-1})$
- C_n Average specific heat in the normal metal shell $(J \mid m^{-1} \cdot K^{-1})$
- $D_{\rm m}$ Magnetic diffusivity (m² s⁻¹)
- D. Thermal diffusivity $(n_{s}^{2} s^{-1})$
- E Electric field (V + m⁻¹)
- er Normal metal shell thickness (m)
- $h = -h_{cll}/K_{l}$ reduced heat transfer coefficient
- h₁ Heat transfer onefficient.
 - $(W + m^{-2} K^{-1})$
- I_{st} I_{st} reduced transport current.
- Critical correct (A)
- L Stable transport current (A)
- In Transport correct (A)
- J Current density in the composite (A + m⁻²)
- J_c Critical current density at T for the given B (A + m⁻²)
- $J_{
 m en}=0$ diffical current density at $T_{
 m h}$ and ${
 m B}\left({
 m A}\cdot{
 m m}^{-2}
 ight)$
- Ja Correct density in a normal metal region
- K Thermal conductivity in the composite (W = m⁻¹ + K⁻¹).
- K₁ Average thermal conductivity in filumentary zone (W + m⁻¹ + K⁻¹)
- K_m Average thermal conductivity in homogeneous composites (W $\pm m^{-1} \cdot K^{-1}$)
- K_n Average thermal conductivity in normal metal shell (W m⁻¹ K⁻¹)
- T₀ Helium bath temperature (K)
- T₂ Critical temperature for a given field (K)

Greek Letters

- $v = -K_{\rm b}/K_{\rm b}$ dimensionless ratio
- Dimensionless stability parameter
- # Critical value of # bounding stable and unstable domains
- $Y = (K_n/K_0)C_0/C_n$, dimensionless ratio
- $\delta = (\rho_n/\rho_0)(C_0/K_0)$, dimensionless ratio
- e_n/a_b reduced thickness of normal metal shell
- qr Superconductor ratio in the filamentary zone.
- y, Superconductor ratio in the composite
- η_{Cu} Copper ratio in the composite
- heave Cupronickel ratio in the composite
- λ Eigenvalue of the system
- Magnetic permeability of vacuum.
- (K_l/C_l)μ₀/μ_l, dimensionless ratio of the diffusivities
- p₁ Matrix resistivity (Ω m)
- p_{m} Average composite normal resistivity ($\Omega \cdot \mathbf{m}$)
- *p*₂ Normal metal shell resistivity (Ω m);

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- P. S. Swartz and C. P. Bean, A model for magnetic instabilities in hard superconductors: adiabatic critical state. J. Appl. Phys., 48: 4991–4996, 1968
- 2 M. N. Wilson et al., Experimental and theoretical studies of supervonducting composites. J. Phys. D 3: 1517–1532, 1970.
- M. G. Kremley, Stability of critical states in type II supermodulations. JETP/Lett., 17: 312–318, 1973
- 4 M. G. Krowley, Damping of flux jumping by flux flow resistance. Opagrams, 13: 132-137, 1974.
- J. L. Duchareau and B. Turck, Solf field degradation effect of eduabatic conditions, Oppgenary, 14, 495–486, 1974
- b J.1. Duchatero and B. Turck, Dynamic statistic and quenching run rests of superconducting multililamentary composites under usual rooling conditions. J. Appl. Phys., 46 (4969–4995), 1975.
- R. G. Minus and A. L. Holdmanov, On the theory of flux jumps in bard superconductors. J. Phys. D, 9: 2281–2287, 1976
- M. N. Wilson, Superconducting Magnets, Oxford, UK: Clarendon Press, 1963.
- B. Tuzzk, Self field effect in round and rectangular multifilament composites and stability of superconducting cols, Proc. Conf. ICEC, 8, IPC Science and Technology Press, 497–500, 1976.

H. TUDER CERN P. MACTIONE Forstone-CEA Association

Reprinted from P. Materian and B. Turck. A general criterion for intrinsic atabilization of superconducting composites with highly resistive matrix. ROLL 2275/01/030192-12 (5, 1991 Butterworth-Heinemann 14d. Cryogenus, 1991 March, pages 192–200, with permission from Elsevier Science.

INTRODUCTION

Today superconductors can be found in applications as commonplace as MRI systems installed in thousands of hespitals and cellular-telephone base stations, as well as nuocomental applications such as particle accelerators. In Fig. 1 we illustrate two major commercial applications, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and high-field nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR). The difference in bore size is quite substantial.

This section is the largest section in the book and contains 26 acticles. Many of the applications covered have perfectly viable conventional emoperators that offer lower cost and higher consumer acceptance. A feature of this book is that we fully examine the retirentiated alternative. As superconductor proparties continue to improve, we can expect that more and more applications will find in superconductivity a technological or erronomic edge.

An excellent case in point would be the application of high temperature superconductor (HTS) microwave filters in cellular telephone base stations. Superconductor is almost lossless at microwave frequencies, and extremely sharp microwave filters can be made, using large numbers of poles, without incurring significant insertion losses. This mokes them ideal for use as preselect filters in wireless base stations (1). The combination of high $T_{\rm e}$ and impreved advances in cryocooling means that microwave filter systems can be supplied for base stations in compact, hot-swappible tack-mount units (2). Because they produce clearer signals, they not only improve service quality but can increase the service area or allow base stations to be built further spart. The accelerated pace at which these units are being installed reflects the competitive comonics of the new technology.

Superconducting Current Leads

The large currents the superconductors can carry must somehow be transferred to the cooled superconductor from ambient temperature. Prior to HTS, this has usually been the primary loss of heat for superconducting devices, because metals



Figure 1. Low-field MRI and high-field NMR: (a) GE Signa Open-Speed MRI. This open MRI uses superconducting strand to create a highly stable 0.2 T field. (Courtesy of GR Merles) Systems 1(b) 21.3 T NhjSn-based superconducting inspiret manufactured by Oxford Instruments, plc. for a high-resolution 900 MBx NMIt system by Varian, Inc. (Countesy of Oxford Instruments, plc).

with high enough electrical conductivity to carry the buge currents also have high thermal conductivity. This heat loss has, in the past, significantly reduced the cost effectiveness of superconductor applications. The requirements for current leads for magnets are described in the articles Power QUALTY under the section "What is aSMES?" and SUPERCONDUCTING TRANS-PORMERS, under the section "Transformer Design and Analysis." HTS represents a breakthrough in this area borause reramics are not good thermal conductors. Of course, they cannot take supercorrent all the way to room temperatures (as of this writings, and account must be taken of their sensitivity to mag notic field; but they can be used as high-current thermal blocks. Combination normal-superconducting current leads are commercially available using BSCCO 2212 and 2223 and YBCO HTSs. HTS leads make both LTS and HTS superconductor applications economically more viable

And What of the Future?

We have come to expect a continual improvement in superconductor properties, and nothing that we have seen over the last twenty years leads us to expect otherwise. This certainly is promising for power and other applications where the competition is copper, which has seen very bittle improvement over the last fifty years. Increasing energy costs (and the effects of deregalation to the CS_{i} will also benefit the compression pof superconductors in power applications such as generators (3). Environmental issues should also excourage the application of superconducting power transmission cables. One such cable is already being installed at the Detroit Effision Prisbee substation in downtown Detroit and is expected to triple power throughput in an existing facility. For that project, American Superconductor shipped 4-25 mill of HTS wire to PircIII for cable assembly in August 2000, SMES (see Power QUALTY, section 'MicroSMES') is already commercially available today and is competitive with conventional systems for some applications. A 1000 hp superconducting motor is heing developed using HTS technology (4). The development of 10 kWb superconducting Bywhoel system was initiated by Breing and ANL in 1999. There are several investigations of HTS-based fault-current limiter technologies that look promising (see Superconducting Fault Current Limitera). HTS transformers are being develaped, including one by IGC, Wankesha Electric, and ORNL, which has so far resulted in a three-phase, 1 MVA unit (5).

Improved properties developed in Nb_0Sn strand during R&D production phases for the CS model coul of the International Thermonuclear Experimental Reactor (TFRR) have made possible much lawer-cost alternatives to the original design that could make fusion power a reality. The success of the ITER CS model coil shows that brittle superconductors, such as A15 Nb₀Sn can be made into very large-scale magnets that can be used at high fields in domanding applications (see Fig. 2).

In 2005 the Lorge Hadron Collider (LHC) ring at CERN in Switzerland will contain over 1000 superconducting bending magnets, each 10 m long, manufactured using Nh-Ti superconductor. The magnets will be couled down to 1,8 K and provide a field of 8.65 T. The designed collision energy will be 14 TeV. Alcosidy superconductors are being developed that can make a 100 TeV collider possible.



Figure 2. The world's most powerful pulsed superconducting magnet, the 150 too 13 T (approximately 260 chousend times more powerful than the earth's magnetic field. (TER CS model. The mognet consists of two modules, the inner module fabricated in the U.S., and the onter fabricated to Japan. The two rolls were combined at the Naka Fusion Research Establishment rest facility of the Japan Atomic Energy Research Instatute (JAER)). (Photo courtes) of and copyright reliated by JAER).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- M. J. Scharen et al., Filter subsystems for wireless communications, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 7 (2.3): 3744–3749, 1997.
- Y. Uenu et al., High-lemperature superconducing receiving filter subsystem for mubile telecommunication base station, *IEICE Trans. Electronics*, E82:C '77 1572–1176, 1989.
- W.V. Hassenzahl, Applications comperconductivity to electric power systems. *IEEE Procest Eng. Res.*, 20(15): 4–7, 2000. W. V. Hassenzahl, More applications of superconductivity to electric power systems. *IEEE Procesting, Rev.*, 20(6): 4-6, 2000.
- 4 D. Droop-II, V. Trombroaski, and B. Zhung, Development status of superconducting motors, IEEE Power Eng. Rev., 20(5): 12–15, 2000
- R. W. McCunnell, S. Mehta, and M. S. Walker, HTS transformers. *IEEE Procee Eng. Rev.*, 20(16): 7–11, 2000.

CAPACITOR STORAGE

ENERGY STORAGE IN ELECTRICAL POWER SUPPLY SYSTEMS

Energy storage can be used to solve problems of mamatch between supply and demand. The availability of energy storage is particularly heneficial in electrical power supply systems which suffer distorbances or fluctuations. On the other hand, intrinsic energy storage in the power system can also more problems during finalt conditions. In transport applications, energy recovered during braking can be used during acceleration to supplement the primary energy source; for example, the overhead supply system for an electric locametive or the internal combustion engine for a hybrid/electric vehicle. In this way, the primary power source can be buffered from the peak power requirement.

In power engineering, the three main objectives of energy storage are:

- To reduce the overall cost of delivered energy in transmission and distribution systems,
- To reduce the overall cost of foel input, by charging from less expensive base loud generators at night and during workends and discharging such incorporative energy daily instead of using more expensive oil, gas, or coal, and
- To improve the operation of a utility, by following the instantaneous variation in the demand for system regulation.

Surges in demand for electricity at certain times of the day can put a significant strain on the power generation system. Combined-cycle gas turbino (COOP) plants, which can come on-line rapidly and operate efficiently for short periods, are used to cope with increases in demand such as in the early evening when people return home and start to prepare a meal. One could argue that the energy stored in the gas is released and converted into electricity for distribution. Pomp storage systems are used for similar purposes. In this case, water is stored in a large reservior, often high up in mountainous areas. When demand rises, the water is allowed to fall down a large shaft to a furbing which drives the generator. The water is later pumped back to the reservoir during off-peak periods ready for the next surge in demand. Again, very rapid but short-term power generation is available through such environmentally. friendly schemes.

Other disturbances experienced by electrical power supply. systems include short periods of local disconnection during faults. Examples on an even shorter time scale (up to a few secunds/include dips in system vultage due to sudden increases in domand or again during faults and increases in the local system voltage due to a large regenerative load such as a container. crane lowering a container. Alternative energy sources, partieularly wind turbines, also create disturbances in the electric power supply. The fact that over a period of days and sometimes hours wind conditions can vary from light or na wind to gales generally causes few problems unless the only available. source of power is a wind turbing (see, for example, Somerville, (1) The gusting effect of the wind, however, results in large power fluctuation over periods of perhaps 2 z to 5 s. A range of problems can arise due to these fluctuations, particularly where many wind turbines are concentrated in a small area (2-4).

CCGT and pump storage schemes are not able to deal with such short-term problems. A variety of energy storage technologies have been proposed to absorb excess energy during periods where supply exceeds or is adiaposte to satisfy demand for release during periods of excess demand over supply. Pneumatic systems, in which excess energy is used to compress sit, have been reported [see, for example, Musgrave and Slack (5%, Such schemes toyolve large numbers of high-pressure gas cylinders to store significant quantities of energy. Flywheel systems, in which energy is stored in a rotating mass, have been the subject of considerable interest (6+11). Excess energy in the system is stored as kinetic energy by accelerating the flywheel and released by decelerating the flywheel. The key to success in such schemes is the ability to control the flow of energy into and out of the flywheel efficiently. Other issues include the safety aspects of containing a high-speed rotating mass tin some cases, estating at ever 50,000 rpm), the need to maintain a vacuum within the containment bousing to reduce losses, and the electrical power conversion equipment. As a result, the flywheel energy storage systems which have been developed have struggled to achieve the cost targets at which they become visible

Electrochemical batteries are also used to store energy in electric power supply applications. Of course, electrochemical batteries are direct current devices and power conversion equipment is required to control the flow of energy between a hattery pack and a power distribution grid system (12) Electranhemical batteries are widely used as the power source in a range of other applications. The lead acid battery still commands a major position in the market, particularly for vehicle starter letteries, in minterruptible power supply units, in electric vehicles (e.g., fork fill, trucks, milk floats, and golf buggies, as well as evaluation electric cars and vans) and electric, hybrid volucies whilst new forms, particularly lithium batteries, have taken a major share of the partable equipment market. However all forms of an electrochemical battery generally suffer from the disadvantage of poor cycle life and low specific power. particularly on charge. They suffer when subjected to cycling about a partially charged stated or deep discharge.

Energy is also stored whenever magnetic or electric fields are produced. A magnetic field is created by flow of current in an electric circuit. The strength of the magnetic field, and hence the energy stored in the field, is determined by the dimensions. of the field and the material in which it exists. The energy stored in the magnetic field is proportional to the square of the current. flawing in the electric circuit. For efficient energy storage based on this principle, large muntities of current must flow in the circuit with minimal loss. This requires a circuit with very low resistance. To achieve low resistance, superconducting materials must be used to form the circuit. The resistance of superconducting materials becomes very small at very low temperatures within a few degrees of absolute zero I - 273 C or 0 K (kolvin). Superconducting magnetic energy storage (SMES) has been developed (see, for example, De Winkel and Lamoree (13)]. Materials used are based an midburn which becomes superiorducting at 9.2 K. The viability of such technology depends to a great extent on the outcome of research to develop materials. which become superconducting at higher, more easily maintamable temperatures. About 1957, it was discovered that orides, such as yttrium bartum copper oxide (YBa $_2$ Cu $_3$ O $_7$), become superconducting at temperatures as high as 50 K or 90 K, and thus, can be cooled by liquid nitrogen. Isce Matthias (14) and Tanaka (15)].

An electric field is created and energy is stored when a potential difference exists across a region. The relationships between the potential difference, the electric charge, and energy stored in the field are functions of the dimensions of the field and the material in which the electric field mosts. The ratio of electric charge to potential difference is referred to as capacitance. As will be shown in this article, the energy stored in an electric field is proportional to the square of the potential difference or the square of the electric charge in the region of the field. This is analogous to energy storage in a magnetic field, however, since the energy stored in the electric field is a function of potential difference (voltage interment, superconducting materials and



Figure 1. Use of capacitive energy storage for voltage waveform smoothing

their associated refridgeration systems are not required in this case. Capacitive energy storage systems, however, require the development of structures (capacitors) which possess high values of capacitance but also techniques for efficiently charging and discharging the system.

A simple approach to the application of capacitive energy storage is found in electronic power supplies. A capacitor is placed after the rectifier in the power supply circuit (see Fig. 1) to smooth out the direct but fluctuating rectified voltage. The capacitor stores energy during the period when the rectifier output voltage. V_{ep} is high and supplies the load during the period when V_{ep} is low.

The voltage across the capacitor varies as energy is stored or released. In the previous example, a small variation in voltage is tolerated in a trade-off between regulation performance and cost. Only a small portion of the energy stored is used since the voltage across the expactor varies by only a small amount. More of the stored energy can be used if the expacitor voltage is allowed to change over a greater range. Whilst some systems will tolerate a wide variation in voltage, it is more common for the system voltage to be fixed within a narrow band. In such cases, a power electronic converser may be used in combination with the capacitor to control the flow of charge (current) into and out of the capacitor whilst maintaining the voltage presented to the system within which the energy store operates. This topic is expanded luter in the urticle

THEORY OF CAPACITOR ENERGY STORAGE

Fundamental Relationships

Conceptually a capacitor consists of two adjacent parallel conducting plates, as shown in Fig. 2(a), which are separated by an insulator called a dielectric. As the plates are electrical conductors, each contains a large number of mobile electrons, some of which are bouncing freely on the surface, and have a small, negative charge. These plates can be charged either negatively. or positively. For a place to become charged negatively, extraelectrons must be drawn from a source of negative charge to create a surplus of electrons. During this process, those electrous that have already entered the plate oppose or repel other electrons which try to join them. The flow of electrons will stop when the negative repelling force equals the charging force. Similarly, for a plate to become positively charged, electrons must be withdrawn toward a source of positive charge, to create a deficiency of electrons. The flow of electrons ceases when the positive attracting force equals the charging force.

The plates are then said to be charged. The difference in charge across the gap between the plates results in a potential difference and hence an electric field. Figure 2(b) shows been



Figure 2. (a) Parallel plate capacitor (b) Charge storage and electric field in a parallel plate cupacitor

of electrical flux between the plates which represent the field Charges on the plates, such as those shown in Fig. 2(b), are associated with the electric field which appears as a potential gradient across the dielectric and potential difference between the two plates. The stored charge q tin coulombs) on a repacitor is proportional to the potential difference or applied voltage t(in volts), that is

$$q = Cc$$
 (1)

The constant of proportionality *C* in Eq. (1) is referred to as the capacitance of the capacitor. The units of capacitone are forads (F); although μ F (10⁻⁶ F) and pF (10⁻¹⁸ F) are more commonly used in practice.

As the capacitor is charged, a current 2 (in amperes) flows where

$$r = dq/dt = U dq/dt \tag{2}$$

The current is proportional to the rate of change of vultage (in volta per second, V/s). For example, if the voltage across 1 F changed by 1 V/s, the current is 1 A. To supply a current of 1 mA to 1 F, the voltage will rise at 1066 V/s.

The electric field strength *E* (alternatively referred to as the electric force, electric stress, or voltage gradient with units of volts per meter, V/int is given by

$$E = r_{\perp} d$$
 (3)

where v is the potential difference across the dielectric or between the two plates and d is the dielectric thickness or spacing between the two electrodes.

The electric flux density D talsa known as the total charge density with units of Coulombs per square meter, C/m^2) between the two electrodes, is expressed as

$$D = q_f A$$
 (4)

where q is the stored charge on a capacitor and A is the area of any plate

In electrostatics, the ratio of total electric flux density D to electric field strength E is called absolute permittivity, r, or dielectric constant, K, of a dielectric.

$$K = \epsilon = D/E = Cd/A$$
 (5)

$$C = KA/d = \epsilon A/d \tag{6}$$

Permittivity of free space, sometimes referred to as the dielectric constant of a vacuum, is a constant $c_c = 8.85 \times 10^{-13} \text{ F/m}$.

Energy Storage, Work Done, and Energy Density.

If the voltage across a capacitor of capacitance C is raised, the charging current i is given by Eq. (2) and the instantaneous power p (in write) received by the capacitor is

$$p = c_1 \perp cC dc/dt$$

The change in energy stored by the capacitor (in joules) in time dt is

$$dW = nC(dv)dt/dt = Cv/dv$$

The total energy stored by a capacitor when potential difference is mericased from r = 0 to r = V is given by

$$W = \int_0^V C v \, dv = \frac{1}{2} C (v^2)_0^V = \frac{1}{2} C V^2$$
(7)

$$W = \frac{1}{2}C(Q/C)^{2} = \frac{1}{2}Q^{2}/C \qquad (8)$$

where Q is the total charge stored in the repartor when the applied voltage is Y

The energy is supplied by the source and corresponds to work done by charges moving through distance *d* in the electric field with force (in newtons) of extraction or repulsion *F*. This force of attraction between oppositely charged plates is written as

$$F = W/d = \frac{1}{2}Q^2/Cd = \frac{1}{2}Q^2/c\mathbf{A} = \frac{1}{2}E^2\mathbf{A}$$

Volumetric energy density W^2 in units of joules per cubic meter, J/m^3 for a capacitor with a dielectric thickness d and plate area A, will be

$$W^0 = W/Ad \simeq (\frac{1}{2}CV^2)/(Ad)$$

and since $C = A/d_c E = V/d_c$ and $D/E = c_c$ at follows that:

$$W^{0} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon E^{2} = \frac{1}{2} DE = \frac{1}{2} D^{2} / \epsilon$$
 (9)

Energy storage capacity is often expressed in watt-hours (Wh) rather than joules and relates to the ampore-hour (Ah) capacity of the cell for a fixed system voltage such as a battery. Energy density or specific energy is defined as the energy that can be stored in a given weight (Wh/kg).

Properties of Dielectric Materials in Relation to Energy Storage Capacity

From Eq. (6), three parameters determine the storage capacity of a capacitor. These are

- The thickness of the dielectric material d' that is, the closer the plates are, the greater the capacitance (and the stronger the electric force that exists between the plates),
- The area A of the plates since a larger area of plate acromulates more charges than a small plate, and
- The dielectric material as defined by the absolute permittavity ϵ or dielectric constant K. Dielectric materials commonly used are air, vacuum, mica, paper, ceramic, plastic of certain types (polystyri-ne, polycarbonate, etc.), and metallic oxides. A good dielectric bas
 - A very low electrical conductivity, hence a high insulating resistivity, to avoid leakage conduction which causes the dissipation of the stored energy in lost,
 - A high permittivity, and
 - A high electric scrength to withstand large voltage gradient.

For deforminution of dielectric constant, all dielectric materials are compared to that of air as a reference. For example (if the gap between two electrodes is filled with any other dielectric material, the capacitance is multiplied by a factor, known as the dielectric constant.

The absolute permittivity of any medium may be expressed in terms of e- as

4 × 6 j6.

where ϵ_r is the dimensionless relative permittivity of the medium. It is given by

 (Bux density of the field in the dielectric)/ (flux density of the field in the vacuum)

Dielectric Strength. The thickness of the dielectric in a capacstor determines its valuage rating. Hefore the voltage is applied to the electrodes, the molecules of the dielectric material are neutral and unstrained. As the voltage is raised front zero, these molecules under the influence of electric field, rotate, stretch, and separate from each other and subsequently orientate their negative and positive charges in opposite directions. This is referred to as pularization of the dielectric. If the voltage is increased beyond the maximum voltage gradient of a dielectric, the dielectric breaks down (fails to insulate). The result of break down is a crack or puncture in the material which couses a flow of current in the dielectric. These processes are shown in Fig. 3.

The maximum voltage gradient is known as the dielectric strength (in V/m). This is given by

$$E_{max} = V_{max}/d$$

In high voltage engineering where capacitors are subject to high pulse powers, the problems associated with areas that are under high atress can be overcome by using a high permitivity material and avoiding sharp corners in conductors where the gradient tends to be high. In capacitar bushing, the use of an intersheath mainteens the voltage at a suitable level. These improvements in the dielectric performance are called grading. Table 1 shows the dielectric monstant and dielectric strength of various insulating materials



Figure 3. Polarization and breakdown in a dielectric meterial (a) No p.d.; dielectric molecules unstrained, (b) p.d. applied; molecules polarized, (c) p.d. increased, mulecules discupted.

Dielectric Absorption and Hysteresis. In the previous section it was mentioned that the dielectric molecules under the influence of an electric field become polarized and the effect of this is that some apparent charge is stored within the dielectric of the capacitor. This phenomenon is called absorptive expacitance of the dielectric. If the power supply is alternating, each reversal of voltage will cause a reversal of polarity and electrical energy from the supply will be converted into heat within the dielectric. This lass is referred to as dielectric hystoresis

X[sterials	Dielectric Constant (K)	Dielastrie Strangth (V/rm)
Air	<u> </u>	32,000
Paper (ailed)	9-4	600.000
Paper (presstoard)	2	
Cotton tape (nubbered)	2	
Polyethylene	2-3	-
Mira	4-4	720,000
Glass	5-10	88.000
Porcelain	3	380,000
Titaontes	100-200	10.000
Ceramárs	6-1000	-
Polyvinyl chloride (PVC)	3-8	-
Ethylana propylene	2 8-3 5	-



Figure 4. Equivalent circuit of capacitar with lankage.

Dielectric Leakage and Conduction Currents. In general nudielectric is a pure insulator and every dielectric passesses a very high resistance in excess of 100 MΩ. Hence, the number of free electrons is low. If a voltage is applied between the plates, those free electrons in the insulator drift from cathode to anote. This is known as conduction rurrent, which produces power loss within the dielectric. The presence of conduction current will be evident, if the applied voltage across a charged capacitor is maintained and the current settles at a small constant value, instead of falling to zero.

Another current which flows between the two plates is the leakage current. This current flows over the surface of the dielectric. The magnitude of the current depends on the applied voltage, the dielectric material, but not its resistivity, and the moisture content of the dielectric and the air between the two plates. An equivalent circuit of such a capacitor is shown in Fig. 4.

Although the effort of leakage current within a circuit is very small, if the voltage across a charged capacitor is measured regularly, decrease in voltage can be noted although with a very large time constant.

The dielectric within a capacitor has a resistance K which is given by

$$\mathbf{R} = d\rho / A \tag{10}$$

where p is the resistivity of the leakage path (in ohm-meters), d is the divice tric thickness (in meters), and A is the area of one place (in square meters).

Combining Eq. (6) for capacitunce with Eq. (10) gives

$$R = e_{FT}C$$

where *i* is the dielectric constant.

If a voltage V is applied across a capacitor which has a resistance R, between its two plates, a leakage current I_i will flow. The value of this current is determined from the following relation

I = V/R

ar

$$l_t = CV_{tree}$$

This indicates that the leakage correct of a capacitor is proportional to its capacitance value. The power loss due to this current is $I_i^2 R_i$, which is dissipated as heat in the expansion.

Composite Dielectric Capacitors. Figure 5(a) shows that the space between plates 1 and 2 is filled by dielectric a and dielectric b with a thickness of d_a and d_b , respectively. Assume that



Figure 5. (a) Vector diagram of pure capacitor. (a) Vector diagram of imperfect capacitor.

 E_a and E_a are electric field strengths in dielectrics a and b. If the relative permittivities of dielectrics a and b are ϵ_a and ϵ_a , respectively, electric field strength in dielectric a is

$$E_c = V_c/d_c = D/\epsilon_0 \epsilon_d$$

and electric field strength in dielectric bis

$$E_h = V_h/d_h = D/c_hc_h$$

This capacitor, as shown in Fig. 5(b), may be regarded as equivalent in two capacitances, C_n and C_n connected in series. The electric field strengths E_n and E_2 are represented in Fig. 5(c) by the base XY and YZ, respectively. If the dielectric between plates 1 ann 2 is humogeneous, the electric field strength is the XZ line.

Connection of Capacitors

An individual capacitor may not be sufficient for applications requiring large amounts of energy storage. In other cases, the voltage rating of the individual capacitor may not be large enough to cope with the system voltage. In such examples, capactors can be connected in parallel and series combinations.

Capacitors in **Parallel.** If a bank of superitors of superitors $C_1, C_2, C_3, \dots, C_n$ are connected in parallel and the potential

difference of each is raised to V volts, the total charge is the sum of the individual charges.

$$Q_{\rm nLal} = Q_1 + Q_2 + \cdots + Q_n$$

or from Eq.(1)

$$C_{\text{total}}V = C_1V + C_2V + \dots + C_nV$$

The equivalent capacitance is therefore

$$C_{\text{tank}} = C_1 - C_2 - \cdots - C_n$$

The capacitance of *n* capacitors in parallel is the sum of their individual capacitances.

Capacitors in Series. For *n* capacitors connected in series, the total potential difference is the sum of their individual voltages.

$$V_{\mathrm{total}} = V_1 + V_2$$
 , $+ V_1$

The charge Q on each capacitor is the same when connected in series and again using Eq. (1).

$$Q/C_{
m odd} + Q/C_1 + Q/C_2 + \cdots + Q/C_n$$

The equivalent capacitance is therefore

$$1/C_{\text{mad}} = 1/C_1 + 1/C_2 + \dots + 1/C_n$$

Graphical Representation of Voltage, Charge, and Current

In a Direct Current Circuit. If a direct voltage V is applied to a expective circuit which contains a very small resistance, the capacitance C must accept a charge Q = CV immediately, resolving in a very large current flowing for a very shert period if the voltage across the capacitor is increased or decreased uniformly the charge Q will follow these changes with a coustant charging or discharging current. Figure 6(a) shows these changes graphically.

In an Alternating Current Circuit. If an alternating voltage $V = V_{max} \cos 2\pi / t$ with a constant amplitude and frequency is applied to a circuit containing a capacitance *C* and a very small resistance, the steady-state *n*-lations for charge and current are expressed as

$$Q = Q_{max} \cos 2\pi P$$

where, from Eq. (1), $Q_{max} = CV_{max}$ and

$$l = dQ/dt = d(CV_{\max}\cos 2\pi it))dt = -2\pi fCV_{\max}\sin 2\pi ft$$

respectively All quantities are sinusoidal in shape. The maximum current is given by

$$l_{max} = 2\pi f U V_{max} = \odot C V_{max}$$



Figure 4. (a) Composite dielectric capacitat, (b) Equivalent circuit (c) Patential distribution

and the root mean square (rms) current is

$$I_{\rm rup} = \omega C V_{\rm rup}$$
 or $I_{\rm rup} = V_{\rm rup} (1/2C) = V_{\rm rup} / X_c$

where $X_{i} \in 1$ and 1 is the capacitive reactance.

The graphical representation of voltage, charge, and current is shown in Fig. 6(b) while Fig. 6(c) shows the vector diagram of a pure capacitor.

Losses Across a Capacitor. If a voltage is applied across a perfect dielectric, no dielectric loss can be detected and the induced capacitance current I_i leads the voltage by the phase angle $\psi = 90^\circ$, as shown in Fig. 7(a). As a perfect dielectric cannot be achieved to practice, a small current I_i that is in phase with voltage V will exist. The summation of these two current vectors, as shown in Fig. 7(b), gives the current vector I that leads the voltage by the phase angle $\phi_{ij} = 90^\circ - \delta$. The cosine of the phase angle $\phi_{ij} = 90^\circ - \delta$. The cosine of the phase angle ϕ_{ij} is the power factor of the dielectric, and λ is the dielectric loss angle. For a good dielectric, ϕ_{ij} is close to 90

With an ideal capacitor, the current is given by

$$I = I_c = \omega C V$$

With a nonideal capacitor, the lass is

$$R_{bs} \sim VI \cos \phi_I = VI \cos(90 \cdot \beta) = VI \sin \delta = a \cdot CV^4 \sin \delta$$



(61

Figure 7. Relation between repeator voltage, correct and charge for (a) variable de conditions, (b) ac conditions.

When 5 is small, it is expressed in radians and the power loss approximation is

$$P_{\text{Det}} = CV^{2_{A_1}}$$

The losses of the capacitor are also expressed by the dissipation factor, which is defined as

$$tan \delta = \omega R C$$

where R_i is the dielectric resistance or the resistance between the two plates.

Classification of Conventional Capacitors

Capacitors are often classified according to the material used for their diolectric. The main types include air, mica, paper, plastic, and ceramic and are used in electronic circuits where small value capacitors (farade, nanofarade, or profarade) are normally required. Electrolytic capacitors have traditionally hism used for storing large amounts of energy, particularly in electronic power supplies. In power engineering, where more energy storage is required, expanders values are often quoted in farads. More recently, double layer capacitors (supercapacitors) have become available offering the potential for storing significantly larger quotitizes of energy than previous types although they are currently limited to low voltage applications.

Capacitors are generally manufactured to have a fixed value of capacitance but variable capacitors are used to some specific application. Producing capacitance values within close tolerance is quite difficult particularly for larger values.

Air Capacitors. These consist of two metal plates (i.e., aluminimum). The capacitance of such capacitors is generally low, typically 1 pF to 500 pF. This is because their plates are spaced far enough apart to prevent arcing. In variable air capacitors one of the plates is fixed, the other vibriable. Variable air capacitors are used where a variable capacitance and low losses are needed; typical examples are in radius and other electronic circuits.

Mica Capacitors. These capacitors consist of two metal foil plates with a short of this muca between them. In their construction, alternate layers of metal foil and mice are changed tightly together. Usually the while capacitor is impregnated with way, to exclude moisture, and placed in a bakelite case. For larger values, several layers of plates and thin sheets of mice dielectric are used. Mice is a good insulator but is expensive and is not used in capacitors above 0.1 F. In newer types of mice capacitors, is thin layer of silver is sputtered on both sides of the mice dielectric to form the plates. The capacitance of these capacitors is stable and does not change with temperature or age. They have high working voltage ratings. These capacitors can be manufactured as fixed or variable capacitors and are normally used in high-frequency circuits. A typical construction is shown in Fig. 5(a).

Paper Capacitors. A typical paper capacitor is shown in Fig. 8(b): The electronics are layers of metal foil interleaved with gaper. The length of the roll corresponds to its capacitance. The paper is usually impregnated with oil or wax and is placed in a plastic or alumnimum container for protection. These capacitors are commonly used in the power circuits of household appliances. Paper capacitors up to 1 F are made in various working voltages. The capacitance of these capacitors changes



Figure 8. (a) Mica capacitor, (b) Paper capacitor (c) Centrol capacitor

with temperature and they deteriorate faster than most other types of capacitors.

Plastic Capacitors. Plastic capacitors such as polyester, polystyrene, and Teffon are relatively new as expanded dielectrics. They are manufactured in very thin films, and metallized on one side. Two films are then rolled together, similar to the construction of paper capacitors. These capacitors can operate well under conditions of high temperature, have high working voltages rating (i.e., a few theosend volts), and their leakage resistance is high, around 100 MΩ

Ceramic Capacitors. These are made in various shapes and sizes All have basically the same construction. For example, for smaller values, a thin ceramic dielectric is coated on both sides with a metal and they are estually cup or disc shaped (see Fig. 8(c)). Larger values are obtained by stacking up these cerumic layers. Each loyer is separated from the next by more ceramic; these are normally a tube shape. In both arrangements, the plates are connected by electrodes and a final coating of ceramic is then applied to the outside to form a solid device for protection.

Cortain ceramic materials such as compounds of haroum titanate have a very high permittivity, thus enabling a very small separation between the plates and capacitors of high capactance to be made from relatively small physical size. Ceramic capacitors are available in the range 1 pF to 1 F with a high working voltage rating up to a few thousand volts. The leakage resistance is typically 1000 MS2. Ceramic capacitors are used in high-frequency applications.

Polarized or Electrolytic Capacitors. According to the dielectrue used, these capacitors are characterised as wet electrolytic capacitors or solid electrolytic capacitors. Wet electrolytic capacitors are generally made of two metal foil sheets (usually of aluminum) separated by a layer of paper saturated with a chemical liquid, such as announcin burate, called the electrolyte as shown in Fig. %a). The fails and the paper are rolled up together and sealed in a container. To determine the polarity of the capacitor, a do voltage is applied between the two foils. The current flow causes a thin layer of aluminum oxide to develop on one foil sheet forming the positive electrode. The absorbent paper between the two metal foils is a conductor and dues not act as a dielectric. The *exide layer* is the delectric, As the chickness of an exide layer is small, for example for a working voltage of 100 V, only about 0.16 m. a high capacitance. in the range of many thousand microfarads is achievable in a small space. The typical working voltage range is 6 V to 500 V.



Figure 9. (s) Wet electrolytic capacitor (b) Solid electrolytic capacitor

The main disadvantage of this type of topacisor is that she insulation resistance is relatively low and that they must only be used where the applied voltage is direct. The most commonly used type is aluminum electrolytic capacitors. These capacitors are mainly used where a very large capacitance is needed, such as in rectifiers for reducing the fluctuating direct voltages. In ac systems, these can only be safely used if two capacitors [see Fig. 9(b)] are connected back to back, negative to positive and positive to negative.

Presently, solid electrolytic capacitors are much smaller in volue but they do not possess some of the disadvantages of the wet electrolytic capacitors. For tantalium electrolytic capacitors, the wet electrolyte is replaced by layers of manganesis dioxide and graphite. The anode plate consists of pressed, sintered tantalism powder conted with an oxide layer which forms the dielectric and the cathode is made of silver or copper plate. The layers of manganesis dioxide and graphite have electronic conduction rather than the none conduction of the liquid electrolyte in the wet polarized capacitors. In these capacitors, the layer of manganese dioxide is coated on the oxide layer and the layer of graphite forms the connection with the cathode. Normally the whole structure is enclosed in a scaled container. Table 2 shows some advantages and distidvantages of traditional dielectric material used in capacitors.

Intrinsic Capacitive Energy Storage

Where ever an electric field exists, capacitance is formed. Thus the power distribution system itself possesses capacitance. Although the intrinsic capacitance of a assiston of the power supply system is relatively small, the energy stored influences the

Table 2.	Types of	'Capacitor	and	Ratinga
----------	----------	------------	-----	---------

Туре	Capacitance Range	Voltage Kange	Comments
Ceranne	10 pF-1 F	50-1000 V	Small, cheap
Mica	1 pF-0301 F	100-600 V	Genul for RP
Glass	10 pF-1000 pF	100–604 V	Good for signal filter
'Eancalum	$6.1 \ F = 500 \ F$	up to 100 V	Savall, polarised
Electrolytic	01F-02F	up to 600 V	Polarised, MV filtering
Oil	0.1 F - 20 F	200 V-10 KV	Large, HV littering

behavior of the system under fault conditions and cannot be ignored

Capacitance within Cables. Cables may have one or more conductors within a protective shouth. The conductors are separated from each other and from the shouth by insulating materials.

For a single conductor cable, assume that a patential differency V exists between the conductor and the sheath of a cable. If the charge on the conductor and the sheath arc +Q and +QCrin of length according to Coolombia law, the electric flux density at a radius of π (in meters) is

$$D = Q/2\pi x$$

Since from Eq. (5), E = D/*

$$\mathcal{E} = Q/2\pi\epsilon x$$

If the potential gradient at radius x is dr/dx, the potential difference between the conductor with radius R and the sheath with radius r is given by

$$V = \int_{0}^{R} E dx$$

٥r

$$V = (Q/2\pi\epsilon) \ln(R_{eff})$$

where y is absolute permittivity of the insulator.

The capacitance between conductor and sheath is

$$C = Q(Y \text{ or } C = (2\pi \cdot)/[\ln(R)r)] \qquad F/m$$

Three Conductor Belted Cable. As shown in Fig. 10(a), in three conductor belted cables, there are two insulators, one is the conductor insulation with thickness T and the other is the belt insulation of thickness t. Hencies of these two insulators, there are capacitances of C_c between the conductors and capacitances of C_c between each conductor and the sheath as shown in Fig. 10(b). Further derivation of appropriate formulae is beyond the same of this article but can be found in Ref. 16.

Overhead Lines. Calculation of all the parameters for determination of capacitance are again beyond the scope of the present discussion. A single-phase overhead line consists of two identical conductors 1 and 2 with radius r_1 and r_2 respectively, separated by a distance D. With a potential difference V_{12} between the two conductors, and charges of +Q and -Q Concarried by conductors 1 and 2 respectively, the capacitance in furnels per meter the tween conductors is

$$C_{12} = Q/V_{12}$$
 or $C_{12} = 2\pi\epsilon/\ln|D_2/r_1|/r_2|$

If $r_1 = r_2 = r$, then

$$C_{12} = \pi \epsilon / \ln(D/r)$$



Figure 10. (a) Three conductor belted calle, (b) Equivalent circuit, (c) Representation of three phase overhead transmission line.

Figure 10(c) shows a representation of a three phase line with equal spacing D. The line to neutral capacitance is given by

$$C_2 = 2\pi i \epsilon i \ln(D/\epsilon) - F/m$$

If the spacing between the conductors is not the same, D is replaced by $D_{re} = (D_{12} + D_{21} + D_{21})^{p-1}$ in the above equation

Power Capacitors

The reactive power of capacitors is used to improve power factor and voltage, thereby reducing the losses, in power supply systems. If capacitors are connected in series with the line, the reactive power is proportional to the square of the load current whilst for struct (parallel) connected capacitors, it is proportional to the square of the voltage.

The electrodes of power capacitors are usually made of high purity annealed alumnium foil or metal spray. The dielectric is made of paper, mixed paper-plastic film, typically polypropylene, or plastic film. These dielectrics are designed to have a working voltage gradient of 10 to 50 MV·m.

Normally, these capacitors are in the form of backs and can be connected in a number of configurations such as grounded star, surgrounded star, double star with neutral flosting, double star mentral grounded, and delta. For high voltage, star connections are normally used. In star connection banks, the neutral of the suparitors is grounded only if the system or substation transformer is effectively grounded. The capacitors may be of the switched and nonswitched type, depending on the hading, voltage, etc.

On long and heavily loaded 11 kV distribution systems, the shunt capacitors are usually pole mounted. If a number of capacitor banks are used in parallel, it may be necessary to use series reactors to long the inrush current.

With 0.415 kV distribution systems, suparators are ustalled on individual lines or at consomer leads to reduce system losses and improve the system voltage. These also provide a reduction in kilocolt-ampere demand. For example the capacity (kVAR) respond to improve the power factor of an existing kilowalt system, say from easy, to a desired power factor $\cos \phi_0$, can be calculated from the following equation:

$$kVAR = kW(tan \phi_0 - tan \phi_0)$$

Also, where there is variation in load demand, the voltage at various bases must be controlled in order to keep the receiving end voltage ($V_{\rm E}$) at a specific value within a permissible band of voltage variations. To achieve this, a local VAR generator which consists of a bank of three phase static capacitors, as shown in Fig. 11, must be arranged. The VAR balance equation at the receiving end is

$$Q_{\rm R} + Q_{\rm C} = Q_{\rm D}$$

Where Q_R is the a fixed amount of VARs drawn from the line by the load, Q_D is the varying VAR demand of the load, and Q_D is the varying VAR provided to the line to compensate for Q_D .

If $V_{\rm H}$ is the line voltage in kilocolts and $X_{\rm P}$ is the per phase capacitive reactance of the capacitor bank (star connection), the desired reactance of the capacitor bank can be determined by compensating for total inductive reactance of the load and even the transmission line. The expression for the VAR fed into the line can be written as

$$k VAR = k W(tan \phi_{e} - tan \phi_{a})$$

that is

$$-h_{
m f} = /V_{
m H}/\sqrt{3X_{
m f}}$$

$$(Qe(0,\text{phase}) + \partial V_0) = f(0) \otimes 0$$

Therefore $Q_{2}(0|\text{phase}) = V_{\mathbf{k}}^{2} X_{0} \text{ and } C = 1/n X_{0}$



Figure 11: Power expension used as VAR generator in distribution busher.

Local capacitive compensation similar to the one shows previously can be made automatic by using the signal from the VAR meter installed at the receiving end of the bne. Nowadays, the capacitor bank switching is achieved using silicon controlled rechfiers (SCR).

Supercapacitors

The term supercapacitor is commonly used to describe double layer caparitors. These are electrochemical energy storage devices that are able to store more energy per unit weight than traditional capacitors. For capacitance values larger than 1000 F, the term *altrocompactor* is also used. For clarity, the term supercapacitor will be used in the following sections.

In supercopacitors, energy is stored by distributing charges across a relatively larger surface area than in conventional devices. They are also capable of delivering and absorbing onergy at higher power rating than electrochemical hatteries and possess for longer cycle life. Quite early in the development of supercapacitors, in 1994, charge and discharge cycles in excess of 500.000 repetitions were reported by Murphy and Krauner (17), some 500 times greater than a well-developed battery system. This emerging energy storage technology is increasingly being used for pulsed, high-energy, and high-power applications.

In a supercapacitor, an electronic conductor is immersed in an electrolytic solution. Ions from the solution naturally align themselves with electronic charges on the surface of the electronic conductor. This alignment leads in a layer of charges on the surface of the conductor and a layer of charges in the electrolytic solution, hence the term "double layer," In general, positive charges and negative charges are distributed facing each other at an extremely short distance in the noundary between the solid and liquid material (18). The amount of charge stored in the double layer can be increased if a potential is applied between the solution and the conductive material. This can be achieved by placing a second electrode in the solution. When a potential is applied between the two electrodes, charge is absorbed in the furthly layer region on both electrodes. The basic configuration of a double layer capacitor, shown diagrammotically in Fig. 12, resembles a battery construction rather than a traditional capacitor. As shown in Fig. 12, this system is: equivalent to two capacitors in series separated by an internal resistance

Activated carbon figer or powder is the most commonly used electivide material in expercapacities because it is relatively ident and affors a very high surface area of conductive matereal. The manufacturing process of activated carbon can easily be mudified to control the porosity, surface area, density, pone size, and pore volume of the fiber or provider. Control of the manufacturing process allows activated curbon material to be produced to realch particular electrolytic solutions. To prevent short circuiting of the two electrodes, a pamas reparator which is permisable to one but provides electrical insufation is placed however, the electrodes. Both the separator and the electrodes are impregnated with an electrolytic solution "electrolytic solutions determine the maximum withstanding voltage: that is, the voltage at which electrolysis takes place. The separator allows ionic current to flow through the cell while universiing electrical conduction between the two electrodes. On the back of each active electricide, a current collecting plate is often added to reduce obtain losses in the capacitor. If these plates



Figure 12. Basic configuration of a double layer capacitor

are sumporous, they can be used as part of the reparator scal. Voltage is linen applied to the polarized electrodes through the collector.

A supercapacitor is very much the same as a baltery except that the nature of charge storage in the electrode active material is rapacitive: that is, the charge and discharge processes involve only translation of unic and electronic charges through electronically or ionically conducting domains, respectively. Energy is stored in a supercapacitor by charge separation within the micropores of the high surface area materials. These materials typically do not undergo chemical charges as do the materials in batteries. This storage mechanism is the primary reason supercapacitors are regulde of extremely high cycle lives. Energy densities of supercupneitors are much higher than those of ordinary capacitors, but typically lower than those of advanced batteries. Supercapacitors store several hundred times the energy of conventional capacitors.

Supercapacitors can be clussified with respect to the material being used in the electrodes (19). Currently, the materals being used include carbon-metal fiber composites; formed (aerogel) carbon, activated, synthetic, manifoldic carbon; doped randucting polymer films on carbon cloth; and unixed metal exides coating on metal foil (e.g., Ro/Ta-axide). All of these matemals are used with organic electrolyte. Other materials used are conducting polymers, noble metal oxides, or redox polymers (20):

The energy density of supercapacitors employing aqueous solutions (18) is limited by the low breakdown potential of water. In practice, this limits the voltage rating of such devices to jess than 1 V. The low operating voltage also limits the power density of a capacitor stack as more cells must be connected in series to obtain the same operating voltage. Among the other disadvantages of aqueous-based capacitors, the highly corrosive nature of these solutions play necessitutes the osciol very expensive maternals within the structure. Organic based electrolytic solutions offer a much higher operating voltage than aqueous-based systems (21). Cell voltages as high as 2.5 V to 3.0 V are achievable, leading to increases in both energy and power capability. These solutions also allow aluminum to be used in the composite electrodes, current collector, and cell casing, resulting in greatly reduced material cost of the capacitor.

Other research loss focused on a class of materials that combine the characteristics of a capacitar and a hattery (22,23). In *redax* supercapacitors, faradic charge transfer takes piace as in a battery. In these devices, capacitance arises from faradic reaction and is known as *pseudocopacitance*. Redax supercapacitors slore more charge than a conventional double layer capacitor and discharge more quickly than a conventional battery. The versatility of the electronically conducting polymers (ECP) enables different configurations to be used. Arhizanto et al. (24) report three different redox supercapacitor configurations with an increasing charge storage capacity and operating potential range. These are

- A symmetric supercapacitor based on a p-doped EQP.
- An unsymmetric supercapacitor based on two p-doped RCPs which are dopshle at different potential ranges.
- A symmetric supercapacitor with a p- and n-doped ECP.

In the so-called Evans hybrid capacitor, the onthode in an electrolytic capacitor is replaced with a large capacitance value electrochemical cathode. Because the electrochemical requires little volume, available space is used to increase the size of the anode. The resulting capacitor has several times the energy density of the original

Supercapacitor Technology. In 1991, the US Department of Energy ([M)N) established a program to develop and evaluate supercapacitors as an enabling technology for electric, hybrid vehicles. Near-term and advanced goals for energy density (5 Wh/kg and 15 Wh/kg), power density (500 W/kg and 1600 W/kg), and volumetric energy density (11 Wb/L) were set Development, testing, and evaluation activities have been coordinated by the Idaho Nutional Engineering Laboratory (INEL) from where a substantial collection of publications has emerged, particularly from Burke (now Institute of Transport Studies, Davis, University of California) including, for example, Refs. 25 and 26. Progress within the program to 1997 is reviewed by Murphy et al. (27)

A number of industrial groups have supercapacitar development programs including, in Japan, Panasenie (26) and, in the United States, Maxwell Laboratories Inc. (29.30), Arganne National Laboratory (23), and SAFT (21).

Maxwell Laboratories. Inc. has fabricated nonaqueous, carbon-based, 24 V superconnectors. With eight cell, bipolar stacks they have achieved specific energies of 4.5 Wh/kg and specific powers in excress of 1 kW/kg.

At Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, as reported by Burke (19), research on a 3 V cell bas resulted in an energy density of 5 Wh/kg at a constant power density of 2.5 kW/kg. In his paper, Burke (19) suggests that up to an energy density of 200 Wb/kg with low cost and long life cycle can be achieved

Presently, supercoparators are manufactured in the form of single cell (spiral wound) and multicell (prismatic and lopular). The bipular cell arrangement is used to increase the operating voltage of supercapacitors, in which individual cells are stacked in series. Because one side acts as the positive electrode and the other side acts as the negative electrode in an adjacent cell, this type of arrangement is called bigolar (11, 1, Becker, US Patent No. 2.800,616,1957).

The optimum design is to reduce obtain losses. This is usually achieved by separating adjacent cells with only current collector plates. These plates must be nonporous so that no electrolytic solution is shared between cells (18,26).

With the prismatic cell (wound design) arrangement, a tho, large surface area cell forms a continuous winding curve around a central axis in a single cell housing (A. Yoshida and K. Imoto, US Patent No. 5,150,283,1992). Blank et al. (32) report that bipolar design has increased efficiency over the wound design. This is because, in prismatic cell arrangement, cells are stacked in series and the resistance of the lead wires adds to ohmic losses.

In order to increase the *efficiency* of supercapacitors, the contact resistance which is the resistance between the purplets in the electrode structure must be low. Also, the resistance must also be small between adjacent cells in stack structure. These two resistances are called internal renatance.

For large capacitance, a large surface area is needed, whilst to increase the working voltage, a solution with high potential breakdown is necessary. The organic-based electrolytic solutions provide the best performance. These solutions possess a much larger operating voltage range than aquecus-based systems 33).

Researchers at Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory (LLNL) have applied carbon aerogel material to an aerocopic iter Carbon acrogel is one of the world's lightest materials and its large surface area can fulfill the need for compact ultracapactor size. Aerocapacitors are inexpensive and have shown. potential to be easily produced. Because of the large surface area provided by an aerogel, it can deliver at least 50 times more power in a given space than betteries. In addition, its conductivity is higher than that of expanitors made from other forms of carbon and carbon powders because of a honeycombstructure. I.I.NL researchers have developed carbon acrogets the size of grapos with effective surface areas the size of two basketball courts. The aerocapacitors have shown capacities of up to 40 F/cm² and excellent performance at temperatures. as low as -30 C. Power densities have been shown to be more than 7 kW/kg. Aerocapacitors also hold outo stored energy over a period of weeks (21).

Recently, Lasseques and co-workers (21) studied the possibility of replacing the liquid electrolyte by a proton conducting polymer electrolyte. Their main interest was to build an all-solid thin-film device free from problems of leaks and corresion. Their results as far suggest that the lifetime of such a supercapacitor is unlimited. Rudge and co-workers (20) demonstrated that electrochemical capacitors with a combination of high replacitive energy density and low material enst can be constrated using conducting polymers. They have demonstrated that energy densities of up to 39 Wh/kg can be achieved using a combination of both *n*- and p-daped conducting polymers for a capacitance ranging up to 1000 F.

Research suggests (Refs. 11–14 of Ref. '4) that for energy densities considerably greater than 5 Whokg in combination with low resistance (~0.01 Ω_{-} cm²) devices may require pseudocapacitance which requires an active electrode material. Materials could be rathen compassives, mixed Ru/Ta-axide, conducting polymers, redox powders, or fibers or other high surface area materials.

Supercapacitors offer considerable potential for energy storage systems: however, most commercially available supercapactors, designed for much lower power applications, are small and store only several hundred joules (tens of milliwatt hours). The largest commercially available device, manufactured by Panasonic, stores 1.1 Wh of energy (28). For power supply applications, high voltage stacks (many supercapacitors connected in series) capable of much higher quantities of energy must be developed.

Basic Equivalent Circuit of a Supercapacitor. The system of two electrodes on an electrolytic solution represents the basic constituents of a supercapacitor. This system is equivalent to two capacitors in series separated by an internal resistance. The capacitance of each electrode can be represented by the following equation.

$$C = K_{*}/dA$$

Where K_{τ} is the effective dielectric constant in the interface region, d is the distance of charge separation across the double layer, and A is the active interfacial surface area of the solution and electrode. Typically K_{τ}/d is in the range of 10 F/cm^2 to 30 F/cm^2 .

The electric double layer capacitor has a very large caputitance. Hence it cannot be measured by using an LCR (inductance/capacitance/resistance) meter as would be the case for conventional capacitors. To determine the capacitance of a supercapacitor with a maximum usable voltage E. (in volts), the charging time constant c of capacitor C is measured and the capacitance found from

$$C = \epsilon/R_{\rm f}$$

where r represents the time in seconds elapsed until V, reaches a value of $(1 + (1/c)) E_m$ and R_i is the series protection resiston which is fixed for a specified type of the supercapacitor.

Integration of Supercapacitor Energy Storage. In the case of up electrochemical battery, energy is absorbed and delivered at approximately constant voltage. For a supercapacitor, as for any other capacitor, the voltage across the device varies as eqergy is stored or released. A power electronic converter must be used in combination with the supercorpositor in control the flow of charge (correct) into and out of the supercapacitor whilst maintaining the voltage presented to the system within which the energy store operates (35.36). The form of power electronic converter which can achieve budirectional energy flow between a supercupacitor and the main power system and load is shown in Fig. 13. Power devices SW1 and SW2 control the energy flow rule and put of the supercapacitors. Energy is stored in the supercapacitors by appropriate switching of power device SW1 (forward converter mode: 87/Land returned to the link with the main power supply system by appropriate switching of power device SW2 Papaet converter mode (\$7) .

The exact configuration of supercapacitor, power electron ups, and 'nod depends on the application. For example, in an electric/hybrid vehicle, by appropriate control of the power electronic converter, energy from the supercapacitors can be used to accelerate the de motor which draves the wheels. The



Figure 13. Hower electronic converter for indirectional power control in copucitor energy sturage.

motor would be connected to the supercapacitor system by a second power converter. The main system power source would include an internal combustion engine-driven generator in an electric/hybrid vehicle or an electrichemical lattery in a purely electric vehicle. In such a system, regenerated energy can be returned to the supercapacitors during braking. For an uninterroptible power supply application, a second power converter would be required to feed an acloud. The discharge of the supercapacitors can be controlled such that the link between the two converters can be maintained at a set voltage, hence numicking the action of a battery.

Figure 14 shows results from a test to which a supercapacitar converter is controlled to maintain the link voltage at 10 V. The supercapacitors (four 3 V, 60 F devices connected in series) are initially charged to about 8 V (top trace); that is, about 480 J of stored energy. The voltage to the load is maintained at 10 V for about 11 s 'trace 2) and the load draws a current of about 2 A during the 11 s period (bottom trace). The energy reformed from the supercapacitors during this time is 220 J. The system cannot control the link voltage beyond this point and the remainder of the energy is delivered with a reducing link voltage. With optimization of the system, the load voltage can be



Figure 14. Practical domonstration of energy storage doubsige (a) Tup trace, supercapacitor voltage (b) Middle trace; load voltage (c) Battern trace; load correct

maintained at the specified level for longer resulting in a more effective energy storage device. Optimization involves the application of sophisticated control algorithms and reduction in losses in the power converter (38).

SOME APPLICATIONS

Capacitors can potentially be used as primary energy store in applications from portable equipment through low power lighting to moving the problems of fluctuating energy demand in electrical power systems and electric/hybrid vehicles. The need now is to develop high-voltage versions capable of storing much larger quantities of energy.

For electric/hybrid vehicles, supercapacitors could margit and store high-energy pulses recovered from regenerative braking. Other applications would include pulse power sources for starting an i.e. engine or energization of a cuil for the projection of a weapon. Capacitor storage could find application in most of inday's electronic devices for storing electrical energy, for example in communications and medical applications.

When supervapacitors are available which are capable of high-voltage operation and peak power density around 500 W/kg to 700 W/kg, they could be used in power systems. The supercapacitors would receive energy from and deliver energy to a three phase ac electric grid network using a power electronic converter. Overall cost efficiency of the system will be the key to future success of capacitor energy storage.

Capacitor Storage in Transport Applications

Capacitors are already extensively used for voltage smuothing and power factor correction purposes. There is now widespread interest in their use as intermediate energy storage devices in a variety of heavy duty applications, including electric and hybrid vehicles. The reason is their superior power density and cycle life relative to their nearest counterpart, the electrochemjcal battery. The hybrid vehicle provides a good example on an application where such properties are required. In a hybridvehicle, operating under other conditions, un energy storage device is required to provide for the rapidly fluctuating power domands made by the vehicle traction system and, in particplan to provide the capacity to absorb large transient levels. of regenerated power during braking. Such energy storage devices could be subjected to several charge/discharge cycles per minute, which would render electrochemical batteries ansaitable for this purpose.

A disadvortinge of capacitors as energy storage devices in their relatively low-energy density. However, in the intermediate storage applications monthoned here, high-energy density may not be a critical requirement, particularly, as in a hybrid scheme, where it can be combined with a high-energy low-power device, such as a generator set, to give the required ratio between energy and power levels. This ratio, which has the units of time, is a useful parameter in the specification of an energy storage system and is often referred to as the time constant, being the time for which it can deliver its rated power.

In hybrid vehicles, energy atorage is required to provide for vehicle poweleration and develeration, which, in urban conditions, takes place over a period of 5 s to 10 s. This suggests the required time constant and also indicates the unsuitability of electrochemical batteries for this application, which generally have charge times of at least 20 min. The suitability of various



Figure 15. Regard plot showing comparison of various forms of energy storage

types of energy storage for a particular application can be dhistrated by a Ragone plot of specific energy (Wh/kg) versus specific power (W/kg). Figure 15 shows such a plot for batteries and supercapacitors on logarithmic scales (25).

Projected onto this plot is a locus corresponding to a time constant T_{12} of 10 s. The power requirement for a 1 some vehicle is estimated to be 50 kW (supplemented by about 25 kW of primary power). In order that the mass of the energy staage should be no more than 10% of the total rehicle mass, the specific power should be at least 500 W/kg for adequate perfornemes. This indicates that most projected ultranspecifors (i.e., in excess of 1000 F) would meet the specific power and energy requirements for hybrid vehicles and could be manufactured to have the required time constant so as to minimize the overall weight. Electrochemical batteries are shown to be lacking the required specific power and this is particularly the case during charging. Battery-based systems, therefore, tend to suffer a weight penalty, which is a disady antage in mobile applications and can generally increase installation and maintenance costs.

Capacitors as Intermediate Storage

Capacitors compare favorably with other forms of energy storage, as is shown on Fig. 16, where similar data for a variety of forms, including i.r. engine/fuel tink systems, are plotted using linear scales. The line joining two energy sources forms a lorus on the plot for a variable combination of the two. As an example, in conventional vehicle design, a fuel tank is combined with an i.e. engine to give a propolation system with a time constant of about 2 h, representing the time taken to use up the fuel running the vehicle continuously at maximum power. Therefare, by use of a hybrid combination of a primary power supply of high specific energy with an intermediate energy storage system of high eperific power (possibly based on the supercapacitor), power supply units can be designed with a specified time constant, in which weight is minimized.



Figure 16. Design of energy storage systems for given time constant.

The incorporation of supercapacitors as intermediate energy storage, in combination with a primary power source, could load to significant weight reductions, improved performance, and reduced maintenance costs in comparison with other forms of electrical energy storage. Only the flywheel/alternator system can provide comparable power density and cycle life. This has the advantage of a higher output voltage capability and that its ac output permits state of the art power conversion metheds. This form of energy storage is already finding applications in hybrid bus propolation systems. Supercapacitors potentially effer the apportunity for weight reduction but considerable development is required to provide controlled power conversion between the relatively low and varying voltages across the capacitors (typically 1.5 V to 3 V per capacitor) and the prime number, without uncomptable power losses in conversion.

Pulse Power Units

Caparitors are also used for the generation of high-voltage and high-current pulses. In operation these capacitors are under stress of high electromagnetic and electric field strength and therefore need to have the ability to withstand high peak currents and voltages. For this reason they need to possess a high voltage breakdown strength, high dielectric constant, and low desupation factor.

Controlled current palse powers are already bong used for nuclear and conventional firing sets, weapons, laser excitation, communication radar, welding, and for the actuator of air bags thigh-voltage palses are used in rail gons and purticle accelerators. Another application of pulse power is in power engineering, where integrity of equipment such as transformers, switchgears, bushings, and cables which are installed in generation, transmission, or utilization systems are examined. Transient disturbances such as lightning strokes and switching operations are usually followed by a steep fronted travelling wave on the system. For example, if a voltage wave of this type reaches a power transformer, unequal stress distribution could appear along its windings which may lead to break down of the insulation system. The most severe test that equipment used



Figure 17. Simple high voltage pulse generator.

in power engineering will be subjected to during its lifetime results from the superimposition on the system of transient voltages.

There are a number of circuits available for the generation of these pulses. Figure 17 shows the basic circuit of a high voltage pulse unit which primarily consists of two coils. L_5 and L_6 and two capacitors C_1 and C_2 , where $C_2 \gg C_2$. The high voltage subcoil has a larger number of turns. The capacitance C_5 is charged from a direct current and the frequency of the pulse is controlled by MOSFET and its associated triggering circuits. The pulse shape in terms of rise, decay, and duration is controlled by R_1 and R_2 as well as the electronce circuitry shown in Fig. 17.

The approximate voltage relationship is given by:

$$V_2/V_1=\sqrt{gC_1/C_2}$$

where V_1 is the maximum voltage to which C_1 is charged. V_3 is the maximum voltage to which C_2 is charged, η is the efficiency of the energy transfer from the low voltage side to the high voltage side of the circuit, and C_2 and C_3 are the capacitances for C_1 and C_2 , respectively.

SUMMARY

Caparitor storage is widely used for power conditioning where relatively low levels of energy storage are needed, and meetam applications where high power pulses are required. Electrolytic capacitors are available with capacitance up to the order of 1 F Bowever, supercapacitars of up to 1500 F are now under development. Once the problem of internal resistance and voltage rating can be overcome, these devices could well become the prime candidate for primary and intermediate energy storage applications in the future.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- W.M. Somerville, Operating experience of the Fair Jale wind turbine, *Proc. IEE*, Part A, 134 (5), 413–426 (1987)
- 2 T.S. Dacaes and R. M. Mayer, Power quality and the interaction of WTGS with the grid. Proc. Eur. Word Energy Conf., Thessalinika, Granse, 1994.
- T. S. Davies, R. M. Mayer, and H. Naura, Integration of wind turbines into L V networks, Proc. Disc. Proce Eog. Conf., University of Greenwich, London, 1995.
- T.S. Davies, H. Noari, and C. M. Jefferson, Alternative Approaches to Wind Energy Conversion Systems, Wind Eng. J., 19(5):265-271, 1995.
- P. Musgrove and G. Slack, Long-term performance modelling of a world-diseast system with hydraulic accumulator storage. Proc. 3th Brough Wood Energy Assoc. Conf. 1956, pp. 43–50.

- T. S. Davies, U. M. Jefferson, and N. Larsen, A regenerative flywheel drive for energy storage applications, *Proc. 22nd Inter-Soc. Energy Conference Eng. Conf.*, "Energy-Nete Frontiers", Phyladelphys. 1987.
- T. S. Duvies, C. M. Jefferson, and R. M. Mayer. Use of flywhool storage for wind diesel systems, J. Wind Industr. Acrodys., 27, 157– 055, 1987.
- T. S. Havies et al., Experience with the wind turbine Bywheel conductation on Fair Isle, Proc. Eur. Word Energy Conf. Glasgaw, 1969.
- P. A. C. Medlicht: Development of a lightweight low cost flywheelwhergy slottage system for regenerative broking applications. *Proc. 20th Inter-Soc. Energy Concersion Eng. Conf.*, Miami Beach, 1985.
- 10. R. Dettmer, Spinning reserve, IEE Rev., 43 (1), 36-37, 1997.
- P. P. Acercley et al., Design principles for a flywheel energy store for road vehicles. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, **IA-32**: 1402–1406, 1996.
- S. J. Chiang, S. C. Huang, and C. M. Liaw. Three phase multifunctional lattery energy storage system, *IEE Proc. Electric Procer. Applicat.*, **142** (4): 275-284, 1995.
- C. DoWinkel and J. D. Lamorse, Storing power for critical loads, *IEEE Spectrum*, 30 (6): 39–42, 1993.
- 14. H. T. Mutthias, The search for high-temperature semironductors. *Physics Testap.* 24, 23–28, 1971.
- S. Tonoko, Rossenth on high-T_c superconductivity research in Japan, Physics Techy, 40 (12):53-57, 1967
- H. Z. A. Yamnyee and J. L. Bola, Electronic charlent Energy Devices and Bound Systems. New York: Wiley, 1994.
- T. C. Murphy and W.E. Kramer, US Dept. of Energy altracepactor development program for load leveling electric vehicle propulsion systems, Proc. 4th Int. Seminar Double Layer Capacitors Similar Energy Storage Desires, Fuenda Educational Seminars, 1994.
- 18 M. Aoka, K. Sata, and Y. Kobayashi, Long-term reliability testing of electric double-layer capacitor-, *IEICE Trans. Fundament.* E77-A (1): 208–212, 1994.
- A. F. Burke. Characterisation of electrochemical caparitors for electric-hybrid vehicle applications, AIAA-94-375, 1994, pp. 784-789.
- A. Rudge et al., Conducting polymers as active materials in electrochemical raparitans. J. Prover Sources, 47: 69-107, 1994
- J.-C. Lassegues et al., Supercaparitor using a proton conducting polymer electrolysic Social State Lances 77 (1): 311–317, 1995.
- U. Arbitzzon, M. Mustragnation, and L. Mep-ghelle, Performance of polymer-based supercapacitors, *Proc. Mat. Roy. Soc. Symp.* 369: 1995.
- D. R. Vissers et al., Materials for electro-chemical energy storage, Electr Hybrid Veb. Technol. 39.
- 24.11 Arbuzzani, M. Mestragration, and I. Moneghello, Performance of polymer-based supercapacitors, *Proceed. Mat. Res. Soc. Symp.*, 369: 505-612, 1995.
- A. F. Hurke and E. J. Dowgraffo, Ultracapacitors for electric and hybrid volucies. A sectnology update, *Proc. 11th Int. Elect. Veh.* Symp. Physicae, 2022.
- A. F. Burke. Electric/hybrid super car designs using ultracapacitors. Proc. Intro Soc. Energy Concertaion Eng. Conf., 1986.
- T. C. Murphy, W. E. Krumer, and R. B. Wright, Electrochemical espacitor developments, *Electr. Hybrid Veh. Technol.* 96
- Pennsone Tentative specification, December, 1993.
- B. Blauk, C. J. Parabarandi, and A. P. Trippe, Ultracapacitors The much needed boost, *Electr. Hybrid Web*, Trans. 95.
- 30. E. Blank, C. J. Furahmandi, and J. Disperioelle, Material and proresses of altracopacitors for high energy and high power applications, Proc. 27th Int. SAMPE Tech. Conf., 1995.

- G. Chagnen, SAPT supercapacitors: Design and Performance, SAPT presentation, 37th Paster Summer Conf. 1996.
- E. Blank, C. J. Farahmandi, and J. Dispennette. Materials and procerses of altracepacitors for high energy and high power applications, 27th Int. SAMPS Treb. Conf., 1995, pp. 769–780.
- 33 J. C. Lawregues et al., Superrapacitor using a proban conducting polymer electrolyte, *Proc. Solid State Protocol. Constant.*, VII: 1994, 311–317.
- E. J. Dowpoullo, Ultracapacitors for electric and hybrid vehicles—A rechnology apdate. Proc. 11th Int. Electric Veh. Symp., Florence, 1892.
- M. Schmid, Electric double-layer capacitors in a hybrid vehicle. Proc. 30th Int. Symp. Autom. Tech. Automation, Florence, 1997.
- 36. T.S. Dovies et al., Do-de power conversion for superconductor energy storage system. Proc. Universities Proce. Eng. Conf., Conte., 1986.
- N. Mohan, T. M. Undeland, and W. P. Robhins, Power Electronics-Convertexs, Applications and Design, New York: Wiley, 1995.
- T. Contier and M. D. Mayer, Automory schemens of a lead-and battery EV-obracopacitors contribution: A simulation study, *Proc.* 30th Int. Symp. Astron. Tech. Automation. Florence, 1997.

ELASSAN NOTRE THERY S. DAVES COLLY M. JURPERSON University of the West of England. Bristol

DIAGNOSTIC IMAGING

Radiology is divided into diagonatic radiology, interventional radiology, and radiotherapy Diagnostic radiology encompasses not only X-ray imaging but all modes of noninvasive human imaging, which are listed in Table 1. Of these, the procipal includes used since 1970 are planar X-ray methods (e.g. fluoroscopy, angiography, gastrointestinal contrast series, urography, myelography), X-ray computed tomography (CT).

Table I. I	Vingnostic.	(meging	Method	in Summar
------------	-------------	---------	--------	-----------

Method	Information
 X-ray treatment, X-ray CT, elec- tron boots CT, spiral CT; 	Electron density Alexandro composition Vascillar functions
(2) Ultrassund (1'S) Dappler Ultrasound	Acoustic imposhions inis- morphis, Molien
(4) Emission Tomography PET SPECT.	Eladionuclide concentration -metaludism, recoptor des- cities)
 (4) Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI), Spectrosinapy (MRS), Angingruphy (MRA) 	Spin density, selaxatisa, diffusion, Clement corre- pontion
(5) Flictrical Source Imaging (ESI)	Brain and heart current sources
 6) Magnetic Supro Imaging (MSD: Magnetic-net-philogen- phy: (MED) 	Brain current sources
(7) Electrical Impedance Rootgra- phy (EIT)	Risstness conductivity
 Optical Interrup (Spectroscop) (Attenuation is a floring. molecular state-
— ăauu a≼ BST	



Figure 1. This, a guide in the second half of the saturde, gives selected imaging results to demonstrate applications of the major diagnostic methode.

ultrasound (US), techniques of praitron emission tomography positron emission tomography (PET) and single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT)], nuclear magnetic reaonance methods of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), imagnetic resonance angiography (MRA), and magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) also known as rhemical shift imaging. Currently 70% of all the conventional radiological procedures use X rays About 60% of the initial diagnostic procedures are X-ray based with only 8% nuclear medicine emission, 8% altrasound, and S¹⁵ MRI. Advances in imaging speed, resolution, and data processing are rupidly changing the relative importance of these modalities particularly in areas such as MRI, fast X-ray CT, ultrasound, and emission tomography. These many methods are described in general terms below with more cochment details presented in (1.2) and elsewhere in this encyclopedial Following a description of these methods, major medual applications are highlighted for all of the major organ systems. along with selected radiologic images (Fig. 1)

X RAY

Presently the most widely used imaging modality as the Xray transmission intensity projection, most commonly known as "the X ray." The difference between the X ray, a simple 2dimensional projection image, and the X-ray computed tomograph. "the UT," is that the latter is the result of mathematically reconstructing an image of a slice through the body from mulliple X-ray transmission projection images taken at multiple angles (usually equal) around the loxly

X rays one generated by the interaction of accelerated electrons with a target material such as tangeton. The electrons are produced by a heated cathode and accelerated by applying a wiltage of about 100 keV between the cathode and a tangeton or molybdenum anote contained or a vacuum container called the X-ray tube ar X-ray gun. The electron beam colliding with the anode releases X rays characteristic of the target materials.

.N6 DIAGNOSTIC IMAGING

K-shell X rays from tungston are about 70 keV and these as well as other X rays or plottons are emitted from the X-ray tube placed one or more motors from the patient. The X-ray radiograph is usually a film, not unlike a photographic negative. which is darkened due to the interaction of the photons with the solver babile granules of the film. To enhance efficiency, a screen containing a phosphor is justaposed with the film. The electrons which interact with the phosphot release thousands. of photons in the visible wavelength. The image reflects the number or intensity of photons reaching the film, and as is the case for a conventional negative, the greater the intensity, the darker the X ray. The intensity of photons transmitted through the borty is mortulated by the processes of Compton scattering and photoelectric absorption in tissue which are dependent. on electron density and tissue elemental composition respectively. These modulation processes are lamped into a simple attenuation coefficient. The intensity (or number) of photons arriving at a particular position, (x, y), on the X-ray film is given as

$$I(x, y) = I[e^{-x^2}]$$
(1)

where I(x, y) is the photon intensity at position (x, y), I_0 is the intensity from the X-ray tube, μ is the attenuation coefficient tunits of length [1], and z is the path length through the patient to the image position x, y. This equation applies to a situation of constant attenuation along z. The attenuation coefficient of lung, water tissue, and bone differ. Thus the intensity arriving at the fibre is more generally.

$$I(x, y) = I_0 e^{-\frac{y}{2} - x(x) + z_0 \lambda t_0}$$

$$(2)$$

where we doubled the path z into intervals Δz_i . Here we assume parallel X-ray paths and no magnification; otherwise the image coordinates would be different from the object coordinates. The contrast or intensity difference between a long tumor region and the surrounding normal tissue, as recorded on a conventional projection X-ray, is related to the difference in number of photons projected through the tumor and through the parallel paths surrounding the tumor. This difference in number of photons would be about 23% for a 3-cm tumor, but the contrast visualized will depend on the image detector to g , silver halfde film, solid state detector).

Recall the fact that as the mindler of photons decreases the less the exposure of the X-ray film and the "whiter" the image in that region. X-ray unaging is mainly an anatomical procedure. The absorption of X rays due to differences in elemental composition has an insportant effect for imaging bone or calciom deposits because this absorption process is proportional to the atomic number. To provide image contrast between the blood vasculature and surrounding tissue, a dense fluid with elements of high atomic number (e.g., indire, horium) can be injected or swallowed during the X-ray expositres. The movement through the body vasculature of a "contrast agent" such as an indimitted compound can be visualized by acquiring a sequence of X rays. The jodine or barium agent absorbs photons. more than blood and taske because the density is higher and the elements adding and harrown have a high stonic number giving rise to more propoelectric chaorption.

X-RAY CT

X-roy transmission computed tomography (X-roy CT) gives anatomical information of the tiasuea mainly based on the density and elemental composition in specific regions as derived by manipulation of the projections of X rays through the body at multiple angles. It is useful to examine the log of the ratio of incoming intensity to the exiting intensity to parameterize these projections

$$P(x, y) = \ln \frac{L_0}{I(x, y)} = \sum_{i \in I(0, i, \infty)} p(x_i y | z_i) \Delta z_i$$
(3)

Note the logarithm of the intensity ratio which we designate a projection $P(\mathbf{z}, y)$ is simply the line integral of attenuation esefficients along the path orthogonal to x_i y if she Δz_i 's approach zero. Thus for each angle:

$$P_{x,y} = \int_{cours}^{cours} \mu(x, y, x) dx$$
(4)

This summation is called a ray sum and the projection position is called a bin. The usefulness of this manipulation is that we can work with projections in a bnear fashion to reconstruct the 3-dimensional distribution of linear attenuation coefficients and thus create an X-ray computed tomograph using linear operations discussed below. The denser the electrons, the more the X-ray bears are scattered or attenuated. In addition, the absorption of X-rays due to the photoelectric effect has important effects. Indeed the reason there are small differences between gray from white matter in the brain in CT images is that the H. C. N. O. P content for gray and white matter, differ slightly resulting in about dS changes between gray and white matter.

The 3-D reconstruction in X-ray CT is the composite of a stack of 2-D transverse planes. A single 2-D transverse plane or tomograph consists of pixels whose values are proportional to the attenuation coefficients (i.e., scuttering from electron density and photoelectric absorption). Individual solid state detectors are used for X-ray CT wherein the photon intensity is recorded as current generated in the detector for a given line interval. To perform the reconstruction, many onedimensional projections are acquired from multiple angles. The idea is shown as the "1st generation CT" in Fig. 2. From thesimultiple projections the map or image of the anotomy in a particular silce is mathematically reconstructed using a computer, thus the word CAT for computer assisted tomography. The main method of reconstruction involves. Fourier transformation of each projection, application of a ramp filter, inverse Fourier transformation, and back projection. This process is equivalent to back projection of each projection after each has been convolved with a kernel which is the Fourier transform of a ramp in spatial frequency space, thus the terminology "convolution method" (3). The contemporary trend for X-ray CT is to acquire finer resolution at high speed. These murvations have application to maying organs wherein data ran be collected during 10 s to 16 s of breath holding.

In spiral CT slip-ring technology provides continuous 360 rotation of the X-ray gentry for up to 40 s (4). Because the table centinuously moves the patient through the gentry during scanning, the projection data are collected along a continuous spiral path instead of as parallel transaxial slices in conventional X-ray CT The simultaneous table movement and continuous gartry rotation (gantry rotation period is 1 s) without an interscon delay allow data to be collected very rapidly. When using intravenously admaistered indinated contrast, images of the abdomen can be coptured when the contrast is in the arterial or venous phase of the circulation. A typical high resolution (-3) min collimation spiral examination of the abdominal aorta can be performed in 30 s covering 9 to 18 cm of volume. A conventional CT scan may take several minutes to cover the same column and therefore cannot precisely image during the arterial contrast phase. This mode has brought X-ray CT applications to hing and abdominal scanning including data acquisition for virtual bronchoscopy and virtual colanoecopy.

Electron Beam Computed Tomography (FBCT)

Another made of fust X-ray scanning with or without contrast injection employs an accelerated electron beam that strikes an anode target consisting of a large are of tangsten encluding about 225 degrees transaxial to the patient (Fig. 2). The purpose is to avoid motion blorring from heart motion and to achieve an unage sampling idelity sufficient in evaluate the flow of contrast through the vascular and extracellular spaces mainly for heart, lung, aorta, kidney, and sometimes brain studies. EBCT applications are mainly for evaluation of mominary calcium and usually involve acquisition of 40 contiguous 3-mm thick sections extending from the right pulmonary artery to the heart apex. Each section is timed for acquisition during late diastole using EUG triggering and breath holding to minimize heart motion effects.



Figure 2. X-ray computed tomography has evolved to rapid scanning systems over the last 25 years. Electron beam techniques can scan a few transverse sections without dislottons from heart metion, and spiral X-ray CT can even the obdomen with 2 breath-holds at 1 s per orthonors are sector.

Digital X-Ray Systems and Digital Radiology

Though the present standard detector is X ray film wherein the efficiency is enhanced by a phosphur which converts X rays to light photons for subsequent film exposure, there is a major technological development to deploy flat-panel imaging systems using solid-state detectors for direct electronic readout to supplant the screen-film based systems. This is part of the conversion of diagnostic imaging centers to an all digital electromy-basist imaging and information communication confor All of the radiological imaging methods with the exception. of the most commonly used X ray are digitally based. It is estinuated that approximately 70,000 radiographic units in the United States will be retrofitted by digital detectors in the next. few years. The present number of mammagraphy units in the United States is approximately 11,000 and there is currently a major effort to create a digital system capable of providing a resolution at least as good as 50 mm (10 line pairs per mm) which is one-half as good as the contemporary server film analog mammography systems. The hencifts anticipated for digital manningraphy systems are great if the systems can meet the design criterno including resolution, image acquisition time, and heat loading of the X-ray tube (5). The technologues now he ing evaluated range from miniators 200 µm or less pixel-based, direct X-ray electronic detoctors. A proposed made uses complementary metal axide semiconductor (CMOS) electronics mated with selenium for real-time readout of electrons generated by the X rays striking the detector. Another mode uses commindule scutalizators coupled to silicon photodicdes or amorphous silicon solid state two-dimensional arrays to allow direct electrome readout rate computer systems. These are developments which go beyond the charged compled devices (CCDs) which have been limited to waters (12,cm diameter) which are too small for general radiographic replacement without chabinate methods to expand the field of view using optical systems and multiple waters.

A new concept in X-ray imaging embodied in the digital delector is known as reverse geometry imaging which matches a large X-ray source to a small solid state detector. The X-rays are created using an electron beam which scans a 2-dimensional anode through magnetic deflection. A cone of X-rays are focosed onto a small solid state detector which records the atternation through each patient pastion. The ideal detector for this application is cadming and telleride (FWT) which is too expensive to make into panels for large field of view digital (adiography. The concept of reverse geometry overcomes the size limitations and though designed for fluorascopy, this in invision has other applications including breast mainingraphy. Digital radiology systems facilitate image enhancement, calibration, distortion removal, and communications including storage, discommation, consultation, and teleradiology

ULTRASOUND

Ultrassund, as currently practiced in medicine, is a real-time tomographic imaging modulity. Not only does it produce realtime timograms of the position of reflecting surfaces (internal organs and structures), but it can be used to produce real-time images of tissue and blood motion due to the Doppler effect.

Ultrasound uses longitudical compression waves generated by the voltage-induced oscillations of a piezoelectric crystal which is typically a ceramic disk consisting of lead zirconium titinate (PZT). The oscillations are at frequencies of 0.5 MHz to 20 MHz. The ultrasmind is a coherent pressure wave which is reflected from surfaces of varying acoustic impedances. Z (Z = tissue density × velocity of sound in tissue). Loss of ultrasmind energy dissipated as heat is at about 2 dB per confor 2 MHz. This dissipation is due to bass of coherence. The ultrasound scatters from surfaces and this scattering is proportional to frequency. The attenuation amounts to 1 dB per confusion depth for each MHz. Thus at 3 MHz the loss at 2 cm of tissue penetration is 6 dB or a halving of the signal strength. Thus for imaging the heart in children 5 MHz can be used but for imaging an edult abdonien frequencies are usually 1 MHz.

The major uses of ultrasound are in the examination of the carotid orteries, heart value function, heart wall motion, gull bladder, and examination of the pregnant abdomen including the anatomy of the fetus.

The technique is to sumcate taskies with a transducer coupled by Vaseline to the skin surface over the area of study (e.g., carotid arteries, heart, gall bladder, aterus in pregnant woment. The location of surfaces within taskies is determined by measuring the time interval between the production of an ultrasonic pulse and the detection of its echo resulting from the pulse reflected from these surfaces. By measuring the time interval between the transmitted and detected polse, we can calculate the distance between the transmitter and the object.

$$d = \frac{1}{2} f \cdot c \qquad (5)$$

where c is the speed of sound in tissue, ca. 1450 m/s^{-1} . The ultrasound pulses are both produced and detected by the pursue electric crystal or transducer. The reflected ultrasound imposes a distortion on the crystal, which in turn produces an ascillating voltage in the crystal. The same crystal is used for both transmission and reception. Types of ultrasound instruments are shown in Fig. 3. In addition to imaging (discussed under organs



Figure 3. Modes of altrosound imaging which allow direct 2-Devaluetion by mechanical scanning infor electronic standing at frequencies between 1 to 5 MHz (b-d). Cechoter-typ transducers are niso available for vescular we listudies using 10 to 20 MHz frequencies.



Figure 4. A major use of ultrasound is evaluation of blood flow an susticular in the carotid amories of the neck. The frequency changes associated with moving blood collision give speed and direction of moving blood collision give speed and direction of moving blood colls toward or every from the transducer.

below), ultrasound is being used for monitoring therapy methods such as hyperthermia, cryosurgery, drug injections, and as a guide during biopsies and catheter placements. Tossue accustic impedance changes with temperature, the material being injected, and the metal or plastic surfaces of the catheters.

Doppler Ultrasound

If a structure is stationary, the frequency of the reflected wavewall be identical to that of the impinging wave. A moving structure will cause a backscattered signal to be frequency shifted higher or lower $(\pm \Delta f)$ depending on the structure's velocity toward or away from the sound generator or transducer. The Doppler equation is

$$\Delta f = \frac{-2f_{5}t\cos\theta}{c+v} + \frac{-f_{5}t\cos\theta}{c}$$
(6)

where f_0 is the transmission frequency, (i) is the velocity of the moving cells, (c) the velocity of sound, and θ the angle between the transducer axis and the flow axis.

For example, when an impinging sound pulse passes through a blood vessel, scattering and reflection occurs from the moving red cells (Fig. 4). In this process, small amounts of cound energy are absorbed by each red cell, then reradiated in all directions. If the cell is moving with respect to the source, the backscattered energy returning to the source will be shifted an frequency, with the magnitude and direction proportional to the velocity of the respective blood cell. Thus, if we use ultrasound to image the cross-sectional area of the blood vessel, the volume of blood flow can be calculated from the area of the vesasl and the average velocities of the blood cells. The frequency shift data are color coded (e.g., carotid arteries in red and veins in blue) to form 2-D images. Image positional data are provided by the range (distance) of the signal whose frequency shift gives the speed at that range. Obstructions to blood flow are readily evaluated by this method using band-held scanning devices.

Power Doppler is a relatively new method of imaging the partial volume of moving blood. The sum of the square power of all frequency shifts gives information about the number of moving surfaces independent of direction. A local increase in vascularity as seen in breast cancer and lymph node metactases will give a relatively high power doppler signal.

MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has evolved into one of the most priverful noninvasive techniques in diagnostic imaging



Figure 5. Megnetic resonance imaging is based on detersion of the net magnetism of nuclei which have magnetic spin such as the hydrogen nuclei (protons) of visaue water. The detection is facilitated by RF pulses which stimulate signals from the oriented nuclei.

and biomedical research MRI uses the principles of a wellknown analytical method of chemistry, physics, and molecular structoral biology. However, this biase method busheen slightly modified by applying relatively small spatial magnetic field gradients of varying amplitudes and directions to achieve spatial information of the density and characteristics of nuclei with magnetic spins. MRI is primarily used as a technique for producing unatomical images, but us described below, MRI also gives information on the physical-chemical state of tissues. flow, diffusion, and notion information. Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) gives chemical composition information.

Must elements have at least one reasonably abundant isotope whose nucleus is magnetic. In biological materials, the magnetic nuclei of ¹H, ¹¹C, ²¹Na, ¹¹P, and ²⁸K are all abundant. The hydrogen nucleus (a single proton) is abundant in the body due to the high water content of nonlocity tissons. When the body is immersed in a static magnetic field, slightly more protons become aligned with the magnetic field than against the static field (Fig. 5). At 1 T (10,000 gauss) and 25 °C the difference between these aligned populations of about one proton in a million produces a net magnetization. The net magnetization precesses around the static field at a frequency.

$$a_i + 2\pi y + \gamma B \qquad (7)$$

where Ω is frequency, γ is the gyromagnetic ratio particular to each nuclear species, and B is the field.

A capidly alternating magnetic field at the resonant frequency Ω , applied by a coil near the subject or specimen in the static magnetic field, changes the orientation of the net magnetization relative to the direction of the static magnetic field.

These changes are accompanied by the absorption of energy throm the alternating magnetic field) by nuclei which undergo the transition between energy states. When the alternating field is turned off, the nuclei return to the equilibrium state, emitting energy at the same frequency as was previously absorbed. The nuclei of different elements, and even of different isotopes of the same element, have very different resonance frequencies. For a field of 1 T (10,000 gauss), the resonance frequency of protopes is 42 MHz and that of phosphoros is 17 MHz. Thus, the magnetic nuclei in the body, when placed in a static magnetic field, can be thought of as toned receivers and transmitters of RF energy. The governing relation is Eq. (7). Unlike its X-ray counterparts. MRI is not a transmission technique. Rather, similar to PET and SPECT, the material imaged is in itself the signal source (i.e., the polarized nuclear spins). The motion of the macroscopic nuclear spin magnetization, M is conveniently described in terms of the phenomenological Bloch equation.

$$\frac{d\mathbf{M}}{dt} = \gamma \mathbf{M} \times \mathbf{B} - \frac{\mathbf{M}_{ty}}{T_2} - \frac{\mathbf{M}_t - \mathbf{M}_0}{T_1}$$
(8)

where M_P is the equilibrium magnetization, and T_1 and T_2 are relaxation times. T_1 is the characteristic relaxation time for longitudinal magnetization to align with the magnetic field; following a perturbation such as an RF pulse or a change in magnetic field, the longitudinal magnetization typically returns to its equilibrium value, M_0 , with a time constant T_1 . T_2 is the characteristic time for decay of coherent magnetization in the transverse plane: the transverse magnetization decays expomentially with time constant T_2 to its equilibrium value, M_{xy} = 0. For proton MRI, both relaxation times are determined by interaction of water with macromolecules in tissues. The dependence of image contrast on these parameters is appreciated by the equation components of the argnal from a typical spin echo experiment:

$$S(t) = f(t)\rho(1 - \exp(-TR/T_1))\exp(-TR/T_2)$$
 (9)

where f(v) is a flow function, ρ is the density of ¹H (protons). TR the pulse sequence time interval, and TE the time to detect the echo from a 180° pulse applied TE/2 after the 90° RF pulse. Tissues have **T**₁ values which vary from 600 ms to 3000 ms (ccrebral spinal fluid) and **T**₂ values of 20 ms to 40 ms, except tumors whose values can be greater than 60 ms. The time needed to acquire MR mages was thought to be probability for functional studies such as done with X-roy angiography; however, when it was discovered that flip angles less than 50° for the RF pulse could be used for MR1 with acceptable agnal to noise ratios and tissue contrast, a major horizon for contemporary studies was discovered (6). Now single slices can be obtained in less than 40° ms.

The principal components of the MRI machine are the magnet, radio frequency (RF) coils, and the gradient coils. The gradient coils are used to acquire spatial information. Note that if Eq. (7) is modified by superposing a spatial gradient $\Delta B/\Delta x$ on the large static field, there will be a frequency shift in accord with

$$(\omega + \Delta \omega | \pi) = \gamma \left(B - \frac{\Delta B}{\Delta x} x \right)$$
 (10)

It can be seen that the frequency for any nuclei of position x will be

$$\omega + \Delta \omega(x)$$
 (11)

The received signal for all the nuclei in the space being imaged will be the linear superposition of the respective frequencies with amplitudes and individual signal decay characteristics i.e., T_1 and T_2 ; determined by the local tissue biophysics at each spatial gosition. Three-dimensional information is gleaned by varying gradients in the $x_1 y_2 x$ directions. The Fourier transform of this complex signal gives directly the image projections of intensities of nuclear magnetization. Reconstruction is implemented by back projection of these projections with appropriate filtering as is done in X-roy CT. An alternate reconstruction strategy involves use of phase alterations to encode



Magnel designs

Figure 5. Magnets used for homen measure us, superconducting wire in liquid helpum systems or permanent magnet elements arranged around the subject fur fields of about 0.5 °C. Technological advances have allowed upon designs for fields up to 1.6 °C using superconductor wire

information related to spatial positions of the nuclei. The RF couls used to excite the nuclei usually are quadrature coils which surround the head or body, but small (e.g., 6 to 10 cm) flat couls placed on the surface of the head or body are also used. Besides being the essential element for spatial encoding, the gradient-coul subsystem of the MRI scanner is responsible for the encoding of specialized contrast such as flow information, diffusion information, and modulation of mognetization for spatial tagging.

Magnet types in current use are of the superconducting, resistive, and permanent magnet designs ranging in strength from 0.06 to 4 T and have evolved from 2-m-long rylinders to more open designs for patient access and acceptability (Pig. 6). The majority of MR systems use superconducting magnets which provide fields of 1.5 T. Most currently produced magnets are based on niobium-titenium (NbTN) alloys, which are remarkably reliable, but require a liquid belium cryogenic system to keep the conductors at approximately 4.2 K = 268.8 C.

MRI Contrast Agents

MRI contrast agents are used to demonstrate perfusion and vasculature of organs. The usual contrast agents are watersoluble chelptes of gadalinium. The chelates distribute in the vasculature and interstitial spaces much like the indine contrast agents used for X-ray CT. Gadolinium causes an increase in the relocation rates of the tissue water, thus, a decrease in T_1 and T_2 . Presence of the gadoirmum results in a signal enhancement on the images produced by pulse sequences which are designed to give higher signal for tissues with short $T_{\rm e}$ [e.g., short TR in Eq. (9) Manganese complexed to a chelate accontrates intracellularly in some tissues and also rauses T_{1} shortening which lends to signal enhancement. Other types of contrast agents used by MRI are colloidal iron oxides (e.g., magnetite/couted with doutran which cause a MRI signal decrease. in the region of their accumulation or a transmut signal decrease as they perfose through tissue due to the increase T_{z} relaxivity (short T_2 times of Eq. (9) of local tissue protons.

Magnetic Resonance Spectruscopy (MRS)

The nuclei constituting compareds in the human body have a resonance frequency goverand by Eq. (7) relative to the imposed magnetic field. A nucleos of hydrogen will be in a slightly different magnetic field than the imposed magnetic field from the magnetic resonance magnet because adjacent spinning. nuclei generate a small local field that shifts the frequency a few parts per million. Thus the protons of lactate are shifted in frequency by a few hundred hertz from the resonance frequency of water protons of 64 MHz at 1.5 T. This shift is known as the chemical shift and the resulting mignetic resonance spectrum gives specific information about the concentration of compounds in tissue noninvasively. Thus by manipulating the MRI gradients, selected regions can be sampled to determine the concentrations of tissue constituents containing hydrogen-1, carban-13, physphorus-31, and other NMR nuclei. As the spectra change with discusse states, MRS has an important rule in diagnoses of discusses, particularly brain canter, prostate concer, epilepsy, and brain trauma

The sensitivity of MRS is very low, thus only tissue constatuents with concentrations in the millionolar range are evalnated in selected volumes usually greater than $0.2 \text{ mL}/6 \times 6 \times$ 6 mm; for proton spectroscopy and greater than 1 mL for phosphorus spectroscopy. The sensitivity increases with field strength and MRS imaging, though feasible for low-resolution imaging of protons for maps of choline-containing compounds, N-acetylaspartate, lactage, and lipids.

Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI)

Though 25 years ago nuclear medicine methods demonstrated flow changes associated with mental activity in humane, it was not until the less invasive (i.e., no radioactivity) methods of MRI showed a magnetic resonance signal associated with stronglation of the brain that the merical sciencests embraned IMRI as a method for mapping brain function. Methods that reflect brain activity currently use the fact that in response to a stimutus tegy, light flash, sound, touch, physical novement), there is an increase in local blood volume and blood flow in arder to supply that region of the brain with oxygen and nutrients. The local blood flow in areas of 5 mm or more around the part of the brain being stimulated is in response to an increase in inetabolism and electrical activity. Radionetive tracers have shown this functional response and MRI measurements can also show flow changes using injected contrast material such as Gd-EDTA or Gd-alburnin ar other methods of detecting flow (see above: However, the principal method now employed by fMRI relies on an intrinsic change in the local magnetic field associated with a change in the partial valume of oxygenated hemoglolna (dismagnetic) and deoxygenated hemoglobin (paramagnetic). The process is known as the BOLD (blood exygen level dependent). effect

The presence of paramagnetism from deoxylumoglubar in rapillaries, arterioles, and venules causes a magnetic field gradient across the imaging pixel sufficient to lower the MR signal. The positive BOLD signal is due to the effective decrease in paramagnetism and associated magnetic gradients over ranges less than 1 mm due to an increase in the partial volume of deamagnetism associated with more oxylumoglobin in the region of activation. The fMRI is a map of the result of subtraction of the MRI before the activation from the MRI obtained by fast amaging methods performed during the networkion. The more paramagnetism or deoxylumoglobin the lower the signal and when one subtracts the MRI image taken before the activation from that taken after the activation the region of activation will appear relatively darker (a negative BOLD signal).

The almost universal findings from studies done at 1.5 T show a positive BOLD signal to g , a 2% changet, and until

recently, this was thought to represent an in-flow of diamagnetic anyhomoglahm because the brain was not extracting metabolic oxygen, however, using fields of 4 T it has been shown that the positive BOLD signal is preceded by a negative BOLD. signal which corresponds to an initial decrease in blood oxygen. more paramagnetism) within 0.5 s of the activation followed. by an over-compensation of blond pich in oxygen to the activated. region of the brain. Thus there is initially an increase in exygen extraction, local blond volume passibly first of the capillary hed and then a compressatory increase to the regional flaw of exvgenated blood leading to less local magnetic field distortion. and thus a positive signal when the before providen image is subtracted from the activation image. The positive BOLD signal, though not precisely positioned at the area of activation due to the overflow phonomenon, is used in closed medicine to aid in epilepsy and tumor surgery by showing the neurosurgeou which vital areas of the brain to avoid in the surgical procedure. Magnetic-nephalography is also used for this ourpose and the combination of fMRI and MEG can give improved functional brain activity maps.

RADIONUCLIDE EMISSION IMAGING (NUCLEAR MEDICINE IMAGING)

Nuclear medicine imaging, also known by the terms emission imaging, radio-isotope imaging, scintigraphy (i.e., making pictures of the scinthilations from crystals), is the technique of making images of the distribution of radioactive compounds. The two major elements of this method are the type of radiopharmaceutical which is injected into the patient and the type of science or camera (e.g., Anger camera, PET, SPECT) used for detection of gamma radiations from the radioactive isotope in the injected compound (Fig. 7). The particular diagnostic application relies on the fact that radiopharmaceuticals go to different organs in varying annuals depending on the disease state and the type of radiopharmaceutical. An example of this technique is the use of radiopharmaceutical. An example of this activity of the human thy roid gland in the neck. As about 250 of the ingested or injected radios accumulates in the thyroid

Table 2. Selected Kadionuclides and Associated Imaging Targets

Radiuactive Compound	Organ
and aloging	Thyroid
lotine composida	Tuntors
	Broan neuroncerptoes
CITE PNBL (1916)	Heart muscle
×™Te	
Pyrophosphote	Hum
DELLA	Kidney
HMPAD	Bruin
Perindex	White blood cells sort platelets
Нем опо ра	Head
Syllin golde	Laver
the isomponands	Tuosore
"Ga	i vasas
-9F	Вилан
"F Georgefactive	Braun, heart, tumor
- neuroreceptor lipsuids	Broat neororeceptory
·O: - H_0	Brain blood flow
0,	Brain, heart, tumer

JAMADOO COMDES-

within 24 b as part of the process of making thyrind hormone, it is possible to detect truce amounts of radioactive iedine by use of nuclear detectors, and to make images of the thyroid. These are not anotomic images but are images reflecting the spatial distribution of metabolic netwity.

The majority of contemporary nuclear medicine studies are for brain blood flow, heart flow with and without induced stress by exercise or a pharmacologic agent, hone tomor scanning, thyrvid scanning and cancer detection. Specialized studies such as the detection of internal bleeding by injection of the patient's red blood cells after labeling with Te-99m and a host of other applications are mabled by use of specific tracers. The radiation dose to the patient is about equivalent to that from background radiation of one year (i.e., 0-5 cGy) with a maximum to any organ equivalent to a back X-ray examination (i.e., 1 cGy). Table 2 itsts a few of the contenunly used agents and their applications.



Figure 7. The three commonly used instruments for imaging radiumcilides (motion medicine imaging). Relative sensitivity is detertioned by the area of detector material to which in source is exposed. For conventional general casria (maging the sensitivity is related to the solid angle $(a^2n/4\pi)^2$) provided by the detector or proportional the resolution decided by the distance squared between the solution and the detector. For PET the sensitivity is related to area (and reolution of [detector] in sterial divided by $4\pi^2$.

Positron Emission Tomography (PET)

Whereas most radicactive isotopes decay by release of a gamma ray and electrons, some decay by the release of a positron. A positron is similar to an electron but has a positive charge. PET imaging begins with the injection of a biological molecule that carries with it a positron-emitting isotope (for example, ¹¹C, ¹³N, ¹⁵O, or ¹⁸F) Within minutes, the asotope accumulates. in an area of the body for which the molecule has an affinity. As an example, glucose labeled with $^{11}\mathrm{C}$ (half-life, 20 min), or a glucose analog labeled with ¹⁸F (half-life, 1.8 h), accumulates m the brain, where ghouse is used as the printary source of energy. The radioactive nuclei then decay by positron emission. The emitted positron collides with a free electron usually within 1 mm, from the point of emission. The interaction of the two subatamic particles results in a conversion of matter to energy in the form of two gamma rays, each with an energy of 511 keV (note: $E = mc^2 = 511$ keV for the mass of each particle). These high-energy gamma rays emerge from the collision point. in opposite directions (180 \pm 0.25), and are detected by an array of detectors which surround the patient (Fig. 8)

When the two photons are recorded simultaneously by a pair of detectors, the nuclear decay that gave rise to them must have occurred somewhere along the line ronneoting the detectors. If one of the photons is sestered then the line of councidence will be incurrent. After 500,000 or more annihilation events are detected, the distribution of the positron coulting tracer is calculated by tamographic reconstruction procedures. PBT usually reconstructs a two-dimensional image. Three-dimensional reconstructions can also be done using 2-D projections from multiple angles (7).

The sensitivity of PET to detect nanomolar concentrations of tracers distinguishes this medality and its applications from those of MRI and MRS. MRI has exquisite resolution for anatomic studies and for flow or angiographic studies. In addition, magnetic resonance spectrescopy (MRS) has the unique attribute of evaluating chemical composition of tissue but in the millimolar range rather than the nanomolar range. Since the nanomolar range is the exacentration range of most receptor prateins in the body, positron emission temography is ideal for this type of imaging.

Single-Photon Computed Tomography (SPEC1)

SPECT, like PET, acquires information on the spatial distribution of radiomuclides tojected into the patient. As in X-ray, CT, SPECT imaging involves the rotation of a photon detector. array around the body to acquire data from multiple angles. Because the environm sources (injected radionuclides) are inside the body cavity, the reconstruction tomography task is farmore difficult than for X ray CT, where the source position and strength (autside the body) are known at all times. In X-ray CT the attenuation is measured, not the source strength. In PET and SPECT the reconstruction problem requires determination of the source position and strength (concentration) which is a much more difficult problem than simply determining the attenuation coefficient distribution. To compensate for the attrouation experienced by emitted photons from rejected tracers. in the body, contemporary SPECT muchines use mathematical. reconstruction algorithms more complex than those needed for X-ray CT (6).

SPECT sensitivity is inferior to PET thus the attainable resolution of SPECT is lumited due to a statistical limitation associated with acceptuble amounts of injected radionuclides. Radionuciides used for SPECT imaging emit a single photon (e.g., 140 keV for ³⁶"Tc, 160 keV for ⁽⁶¹] (but the position emitters (e.g., ¹⁴C, ¹⁹N, ¹⁵O, ¹⁵F) result in two 511 keV photons for PET detection. Because only a single photon is emitted from the radionuclides used for SPECT, a special lens known as a collimator is used to acquire the mage data from multiple views around the bady. The use of a collimator results in a significant decrease in detection efficiency as compared with PET in PET. collimation is achieved naturally by the fact that a pair of detected photons (gamma rays) can be traced to a line after being produced. In PbT, there might be as many as 500 detectors that could "see" a PET isotope at any one time where as in SPECT. there may be only 1, 2, or 3 collimators; thus, only 1, 2, or 3 detectors are available to each resolution volume in the subject. The statistics meeted for reliable images and practical radioactive dose limitations limit the useful resolution of SPECT. The resulting useful resolution (about 7 nm) for SPECT is inferior to PET resolutions of about 4 mm for contemporary commercial systems and 2 mm for current research instruments.



Figure 8. The PET isotopes usually have more protons than nontrons and when a proton becames a mentron, the positron (positive electrony is released which encounters no electron Positron and electron pair masses annihilate creating two photons that disperse at 180 to be detected by PET services Although SPECT imaging resolution is not that of PET, the ready availability of SPECT radiopharmaceuticals, particolarly for the brain and head, and the practical and economic aspects of SPECT instrumentation make this mode of emission tomography attractive for clinical studies of the brain, heart, bone, and tumors li.e., comor metastases!

ENDOSCOPY

Endoscopy (i.e., visualization of the lumon of human conduits such as blood vessels and intestines) ranks among the most important advances in imaging over the last few decades. Unlike ultrasound, X-ray CT, and MRJ, however, endoscopy has not in general been embraced by radiologists, being largely performed by other specialists and often viewed as competitive with wellestablished radiologic techniques.

The modern endoscope is a complex instrument requiring considerable previous in its construction. The shafts are circulur in cross section with diameters dependent on the function of the instrument. Upper gastrointestinal instruments vary in diameter from 6 to 13 mm, side viewing duadenoscopies are 10 to 13 mm, and colonoscopies can be 15 mm in diameter.

There are two principal forms of the endoscope: the fiberoptic endoscope and the video endoscope. In the former the shaft carries a fiberoptic-optic bundle to transmit light, and a secand filteroptic-optic hundle (the viewing hundle) transmits an image to a lens system in the evopiece of the endoscope. The fibers in this bundle retain their spatial relationship to each other throughout their length in order to transmit the image. Video endoscopes are now becoming the preformal type. The viewing bundle is replaced by a high-resolution video "chip" at the tip of the endoscope. The image is displayed on a color monitor which is more comfortable for the endoscopiet, facilitates image storage and manipulation, and aids framing by dynamic image access by multiple viewers. The shaft of both types of endoscopes accommodates a "working channel" (up to 4.2 mm m the largest side-viewing duodentescopes) for the passage of accessaries such as biopay forceps, baskets, balloons, source, and stents.

INTERVENTIONAL RADIOLOGY

For many years a wide range of diagnostic and therapeutic promotores have been performed by fluoroscopic-aided catheter or device insertion. Currently, ultrasound, X-ray CT, and MRI are used in addition to fluoroscopy to guide the placement of probes with minimal disruption of tissue. The procedures include drainage of fluid from the pericardium, lungs, and abdumen; minimally invasive neurosurgical treatment of arterowonous malformation of cerebral vessels, treatment of vertebraidisk pathology; guided placement of radiation sources; and amage controlled freezong or hyperthormia ireatment of cancer. The percotaneous approach to surgical treatment depends on contemporary advances in 3-D amaging nurthodologies and new includes of visualization including virtual reality. Three technological advances that have enabled interventional radiology to replace many surgical methods include the 3-D capabilities of MRI, incrufabrication methods for developing miniature surgical tools, and image manipulation and visualization methods

DIAGNOSTIC RADIOLOGICAL IMAGING

Below the applications of the main methods of diagnostic imaging in human health care are presented under the cutogories of the body most commonly studied, brain, chest and lung, heart, abdomen, loven kulneys, female reproductive organs, breast, prostate, and the skeletal system. Some illustrative images are presented as catalogued by Fig. 1. Medical background material and patient-based radiological procedures are found in (9).

BRAIN

Two of the most widely used imaging modulities in the study of the brain, cranial nerves, and spine are X-ray CT and MRI. As X-ray CT is well suited to imaging of bone, calcifications, and hemorrhage, it is still a mainstay of imaging in the emergency room particularly in the eviduation of head and face traums and in suspected subarachnoid hemorrhage of the brain. With the advent of X-ray CT and MRI, the uses of plain film X rays and injection of air for demarcating the ventrules (i.e., pneumosccephalography) have disappeared. Though ultrasound study of the infant brain is possible because of less attenuation from the infant's underdeveloped shall bane, even applications of ultrasound have been supplanted by X-ray CT and MRI in infants.

Cerebrovascular Diseases (Hemorrhage and Stroke)

A major application of X-ray CT in the emergency room is the evaluation of subarachnoid hemorrhage which is associated with frauma to the head but also occurs spontaneously. Of the spontaneous types 75% occur from the runture of an arterial aneurysm and 25% occur due to leakage from an arteriovencius malformation. X-ray CT is the diagnostic mode which gives an increased signal from blocd in the cerebral spinal fluid spaces Intracerebral hemorrhage which can accur in hypertension is also best evaluated by X-ray CT which has well known temporal changes in signal intensity with time after the episode

Stroke is the result of a disruption of the nutrient blood flow to part of the brain and is a major cause of brain malfunction, particularly in the elderly. A transient stroke known as the transient ischemic attack lasts for 24 h or less, the stroke in evolution causes a progressive neurological defact, and the completed stroke is one in which the neurological defect appanes fixed with no or very slow return to some function. MRI if available is the procedure of choice at the unset of symptoms using diffusion-weighted imaging methods. Later due to the cytogeous and then extracellular edoma MRI and even X-ray CT can perpoint the tissues involved. Frequently, the usual MRI study will not reveal the stroke territory until 8 h after the event but the nathology can be detected by diffusion weighted imaging within 15 min of the event. Use of fast unaging methoils such as echo-planar MRI will, with a MRI contrast agent, show decrease in regional blood flaw.

PET and SPECT techniques can in principle intert is stoppage in flow to regions of the brain at the time of the event because these techniques measure tissue blood flow directly by following the distribution of a flow tracer. The lack of day and night availability of a flow tracer for PET has limited its application to stroke. As PET and SPECT have a major importance in determination of vascular reactivity of compromised regions of the brain they are useful in the staging of patient treatment after the acute phase

Brain Angiography

The use of contrast X-ray studies in evaluation of the brain vascular system (i.e., cerebral angingraphy) has to some extent been replaced by magnetic resonance augiography (MRA) though digital subtraction angiography still provides higher resolution images of the vascular tree when very high resolution is diagnostically important. MRA need not require any contrast medium injection as the method uses intrinsic properties of magnetic resonance of moving protons to attain contrast between flowing blood and stationary protons. The phasesensitive technique uses a bipolar flow encoding gradient to cause a phase shift for a moving proton but a zero phase shift. or canceled phase shift for a stationary spins. By reversing the pularity of the flow encoding gradient on alternate acquisitions and subtracting the data from these acquisitions the movement. of the protons provides the signal. The time-of-flight method relies on magnetization of spins flowing into an excited volome whereas the stationary spins have been saturated; thus the unsaturated flowing blood will have a detectably higher signal compared with the autrounding previously saturated parenchyma. In addition, recently developed intravascular can tract agents such as a gadolinium-albomin complex have been used with MRI to improve definition of the cerebral vascular system.

Brain Tuniors

The prevalence of primary brain tumors in the population is lower than most turners and other diseases (about 23) of autopsies) yet the importance in diagnosis is vital to health care decisions particularly for metastatic tumors, which constitute 20% of britin tumor duignoses. The majority of primary tumors are glioblastoma multiforme (25%) and the prognosis for these tumors is poor: however, therapy guided by presurgical and postsurgical MRI does aid in prolonging his with good quality for a few years. The prognosis for merungionia, putaitary udenoma, and acoustic neuroma, which together constitute 02% of brain fumors is very good if detected early, and both MRI and CT have played a major role in the presurgical planning for treatment. Tuniors are usually hypermittice on T_2 weighted MRI with a large region of vasogenic edema surrounding the main tumor site (Fig. 9). Though MRI studies provide a wealth of data in brain tumor detection, X-ray CT can in some cases. (e.g., meringiomation as valuable, MRI sequences designed to show blood valume have been useful in defining turnar locations and response to therapy.

PET and SPECT have played a major role to the posts orgical followup of treated tumors. PET imaging following glioblastoma surgery for completical distinguish recurrent tumor from radiation necrosis (Fig. 9): however, recently use of magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) has shown that in alreas of recurrent tumor there is an elevated choline signal representative of an increase in one in more of the choline-containing compounds in a tumor

Brain Neurodegeneration (Alzheimer's Disease and Multiple Scierosis)

The most common form of neurodegeneration is Alzheimer's disease. As this disease is associated with the atrophy of the hippocampus and the parietal lobe during the early course of the disease, X-ray CT and now more recently MRI have been



MRI

PET

Figure 9. Comparison between MRS spin echo and PET glucose netabolism of a brain turnor MRI shows increased water and longer Tyreloxotron or and around tedema) the turnor. PET shows increase in glucose metabolism typical of brain turnors. Detection of probable islands of turnors outside the bright spot forms i depends on the resolution of the PET sonnors.

used to demonstrate the extent of loss of brain mass. Unfortuoately, the atrophy of Alzheimer's disease is not dissimilar to that found in normal aging as shown in Fig. 10. PET patterns of a decrease in the partent lobe ghoese metabolism are very characteristic of Alzheimer's disease as is a decrease in blood flow as revealed by either PET or SPECT. The quantification of





Figure 10. MILL using the 3-D method of gradient recall shows brain attrophy during normal aging of an 86-year old athlete (lower left) compared with that of a 77-year-old path of with Alzheimer's discose flower right). The atruphical areas look like two weatherses forming each other on either cole of the central brain stem. These avalianselike structureare the happedampi and are responsible for some memory functions.
changes in glucose metabolism do correlate with the progression of the disease and can be used to monitor any efficacy of proposed therapies.

Huntington's and Parkinson's diseases are generally detested by neurological examination but in these two diseases of neurodegeneration of parts of the brain, the X-ray ("I" and MRI patterns usually appear normal. However, the metabolic data of PET give specific and diagonstic patterns of decreases of glucose metabolism of the caudate nucleus in Huntington's patients and decrease in the dopamine neurochemical system. in the central gray matter of Parkinson's patients.

Demyelinating Disorders (Multiple Sclerosis)

MRI is the method of choice in the diagnosis of multiple acterosis which appears as diffuse lesions of the white matter in the brain of the middle-aged adult. The areas of increased water content are associated with demyelination in regions usually surrounding the ventricles but lesions are found also in the spinal cord and optic nerve. The other demyclinating diseases such as the congenital leukodystrophics have the common charactematic of increased water content of regions of the cerebral. while matter.

CHEST (LUNG) RADIOLOGY

The major uses of radiological imaging methods has been in the diagnosis of diseases of the chest or thorax. The major conditions for which radiologic imaging is resential is detection and evaluation of pneumonia (bacteria), fungal or viral), cancer, pulmonary embolism, and chest trauma.

Pneumonia (infective consolidation of the lung) is detected as increased density by the standard X ray reducting but the specific diagnosis is not usually mude (e.g., 30%) to 50% of pneumonias have no causative diagnosis). The most commonly identified organism is Strep, preumonae (30%) followed by Hemophilius influenzae. Legionella, Chiamydia, and Mycoplasma paramonios. Viral preumonias are uncommon inadults but do predispose to bacterial pneumonias. The standard radiograph usually shows blotchy densities in localized areas sometimes involving both large.

Tuberculous is a basterial arfection with an ansignificant incidence until the early 1990s when an increase in incidence occurred related to HIV infections. Departies around the central thorax (i.e., paratrachea) and trachenimmetrial ademopathy), effusions and patchy and multifical oparities in the appropriterror segment of an upper lobe or the apical segment of a lower lobe are common X-ray putterns in tuberculosis.

Long Cancer

Lung cancer is usually classified into squamous cell careinoma. adenocurginama, and undifferentiated carcinomas which are further divided into small (oat)-cell and large-cell types. Squamous cell carcinoma and adencearcinama are found most often. The peak incidence age group is 50 to 60 years old. Once a terror as suspected, three modalities of imaging are brought to bear: X-ray CT, MRI, and PET (or SPECT). The plant X ray does show patterns which help distinguish bronchiologlycolar carcinoma from the other cell types, and the pattern of size, localization. and numbers of opacities can dictate treatment. Most patients still require an invasive procedure to distinguish a borrigo from a malignant lesion. Bronchascopy, percutaneous needle biopsy, thorescopy, and open lung biopsy have associated risks and dunot always provide a definitive answer.

A solicary pulmonary mass or nodule is the single most common presenting sign of bronchial cancer in 40% to 60% of long concers. But the majority of diagnosed solitary nodules are not. malignant and even the malignant solitory nodules less than 20 mm in diameter can be successfully removed with a 5-year. survival of 50%. X-ray CT, MRI, and PET can assist in a major way in staging these patients as these modalities allow evaluation of whether there is disease in the mediastinum in which case survical resection would not be done as there is extended ส้นระเทศษะ

Unfortunately most lessons remain undiagnosed and patients usually proceed to biopsy or surgery, which frequently reveals beings processes. In a recent study of radiographically indeterminute thiranssequically resected spherry polynomy nodules, 6214 were benign (10). Thus, indeterminate lemons remain a dilemma with significant cost and numberly. FDG PET imaging of thoracic neoplasars has been successful in distinguishing beingn from malignant focal pulmonary abnormalitics (11), in staging treatment for known malignarcies, and in following patients after treatment for neeplasm (Fig. 11).

Once the diagnosis of malignancy has been established, radiographic staging is usually performed using various modalitics such as radionuclide bone scanning thoracic X-ray CT and, if available, "FDG PET. The overall sensitivity and specificity of X-ray CT in detecting intrathoracic lyingh nisle metascases in most series is only about 60%. FDG PET appears to be more sensitive although less specific for malignancy. Surgically proven nuclastases to hilar and methastical lymph noises as small as 5 mm in diameter have demonstrated increased FDG uptake. After radiotherapy, residual abnormabiles inted on chest radiographs can be differentiated as recurrent neoplasm or fibroxis using PET scattring (12).

Pulmonary Embolism

Blood clots in the lung circulation represent one of the most serious threats to life in both seriously ill pottents, healthy potients in the postsurgical period, and in healthy patients reight fravelere in sedentary positions, leg fracture and spranied ankle cases in adults and youths). Postmortem studies have shown that up to 65G of hospitalized patients have emboli lixigod in their pulmonary arteries (13) though only 1% have the clinical diagnosis. No single diagnostic test can be regarded as completely rebable in confirming or excluding the

Pre-Suramin

Suramin @ 1 week







Suramin in 8 weeks

15.81 µg/gm/min

12.04 µg/gm/min

0.86 µg/gm/min

Figure 11. Metabolic response of metastatic prostate concerto Suramin therapy measured by ¹⁶F-fluoroder-sygnosic ¹⁹FDG positron emission tomography (PET). Note also the assume? appace of ⁴⁸FDG in the left heart muscle whose bightness depends on the numtional status of the patient toourtesy of C. Holi, UCLA).

diagnosis of pulmonary embolism. In 90% of the cases block clots arise from thrombosis of the deep veins in the legs. Blood stagnation is the major predisposing cause with only 15% or less of the pulmonary embolism patients having some blood clotting disorder.

Radiological imaging techniques are used in to detect deep vein thrombosis and also to detect the existence of palmonary embolism by direct radiographic examination of the hings. Actual detection efforts commence when a patient has some signs. of leg thrumbosis (e.g., leg pain, swelling). It is important to very ify if deep year thrombusis exists as half of these patients may have had silent journary emission and a diagnosis leading to therapy (i.e., anticongulation) is imperative. A second situation is the patient who presents symptoms of pulmonary embolism (e.g., coughing up blond). The deep years of the legs and possibly pelvis are involved and thromhosis can be detented by injection of X-ray contrast material or a radioactive tracer into the peripheral veins (e.g., foot) and subsequent X ray or radionuclude imaging can detect blackage. But these techniques are imperfect as there are problems in venous access, incomplete filling, and discomfort to the patient. Indeed the patient can have thrombasis induced by the procedure. Of all the methods explored, magnetic resonance angiography seems now to have the potential for detection of deep vein thromhusis (34). Spiral X-ray CT has shown a 90% sensitivity and similar specificity for detection of polynomary embols relative to the gold standard of pulmonary angiography ([5). More dots are detected with spiral X-ray CT that with palmonary angiography Though now considered to be a potential solution to the accurate, noninvasive diagnosis of judmonary embalism, spiral X-ray CT shows great variability in detecting subsegmental emboli which have a frequency of 69. This limitation is shared with the gold standard, how-yet.

BREAST CANCER

The incidence of breast cancer has been using at 3% per year over the last 10 years to a provalence level of about 0.1% of women in the United States. Since the mid-1980s when Xray maninegraphy became a readily available screening proreduce, 44% of adult American women have had at least one procedure. The mortably rate of breast tomors remains lighhowever, at a rate mi25 per 100.000 per year. There are approximately 11,000 dedicated mormography units in the United States. The consensus is that better methods of verification of suspicious lesions detected on X-ray maninography are norshed (only 1 in 4 are biopsy gositive). In addition, a method is needed to evaluate (screen) patients with radiographically dense breasts. Even the most advanced methods of digital image processing of high resolution maninograms fail to give speenfic diagnosis in a large fraction of cases (Fig. 12).

Early breast randors are often identified by planar X-ray mammography. The cost of this examination is law, the spateal resolution high (> 100 µm). X-ray mammography is an elfactive scheduling technique for detection of cancerous growth in early stages. However, the complexity and heterogeneity of tissue within normal breasts makes mambguous identification of malignant tumors difficult, as benign tumors and other breast structures can be similar in appearance to cancerous lesions. As a result, a large fraction (50%) to 75% of the suspicious structures identified in mammograms are nonconcerned



Figure 12. High resolution digitized mammogram which shows miconcalenteers which could represent breast tumor but confirmation responses a high-y tocortesy of D. Lio, Conversity of Pattaburgh)

(16) and, thus, further diagnosic is necessary before determining that the patient should be treated for cancer.

This further diagnosis is often obtained by hopesy. The biopsy can determine whether the structure is concernus, and if sucan also determine the type of concer and so suggest a coarse of treatment. The biopsy is time consuming for the physician, often uncomfortable for the patient, can increase the patient's radiation exposure and, unless some by a cylinpathologist at the bedside, takes several days before the results of a full assay for tumor type are available.

Should the tumor prove to be cancerous, it is desirable to know before performing surgery whether the cancer has spread to the axillary nodes, as this affects the treatment selection and prognosis 1603 to 90G of patients without nodal involvement have no further breast cancers detected in their lifetimes: (16). Nodal involvement is difficult to determine before surgery from an X-ray CT or MRI scan. Nodes can be enlarged for a variety of benign reasons and small tumors difficult to observe by can temporary radiologic imaging methods.

Contrast enhanced MRI has demonstrated a high sensitivity to detection of small (~1 cm) lesions in the breast; however, the specificity is less than 40%. The specificity improves slightly when dynamic techniques are used to measure the rule of contrast agent optake during the notial montes after contrast injection (17), but this specificity increase comes at the expense of spatial resolution or full imaging coverage of the breast. The axillary nodes are puorly evaluated with MRI mainly because of the inghility to separate involved and uniovalved nodes based on contrast enhancement, as contrast enhancement occurs for both normal and pathological nodes.

Dappler-ultrasound using offer to encode velocity or blood volume (power) is another included of evaluating X-ray mammagraphically detected suspicious lesions before biopsy (16).

Conventional gamma camera breast integióg



Figure 18. A major problem to breast imaging with conventional gamma remeras is to get close to the probable cancer site. Compact solid state imaging systems currently being designed for the breast end overcome this problem

This method is noninvasive and inexpensive, but it requires a skilled operator and is not envisioned as a screening method. Doppler-ultrasound imaging has been surressful in showing which of the suspicious tesions are cancerous and has value in determining lymph inde involvement (19) in preliminary detection studies, parlicularly in those with contrast agents (20).

Positron emission tomography (PET) and the tracer P-18fluorodeoxyglucose (¹⁶FDC) can provide excellent sensitivity for malignant breast turnors and axillary node involvement. Hecause of the expense and limited availability of PET, single photon methods (SPECT, Gamma camera imaging, somtimammegraphy) on play a major role in the differential diagnosis of suspicious X-ray mammography lesions. The specificity of the radiopharmaceutucal ²⁴⁴Tc-sestambility at X27 to 867. This specificity, though better than X-ray mammography, could be increased by an improved detector system. It is believed that the 8% to 20% of tumors that are not revealed by ²⁴⁴Tc-sestambili and those below 1.5 cm in diameter could be detected if the limitations of contemporary gamma cameras are overcome.

Contemporary scintimammography and SPECT studies use large field of view gamma cameras which use a scintiblator block coupled to a bulky array of photomoltipher tubes. By nature of their large size, these instruments are inudequate in most clinical situations because imaging of small organs such as the breast is usually awkward due to the fact that close access to the breast and axillae is prevented by the camera bound; maging system (Fig. 13). Solid state cameras have the premitial to avercome these boutations.

HEART

There are multiple methods used for examination of the horizon beart: ultrasmind, X-ray coronary angiography, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), magnetic resonance angiography (MRA), and nuclear medicine imaging methods (PET and SPECT). Ultrasmind is used in the cardiologistic office for evaluation of valvular function using the M-mode method wherein mation of the valves is recorded as reflected signal distance versus the temporal sequence of the cardiac cycles. Using the 2-D imaging mode, the surface of much of the heart muscle can be imaged ordene, thus abnormalities in the synchronous mation of the contracting and expanding heart can be visualized by the cardiologist and changes of the heart muscle tinckening during infusion of mild pharmatological stress can give evidence of the health of the heart. Ultrasound contrast agents using microbubbles have been introduced recently to aid in imaging the heart chambers and flow dynamics.

Magnetic resonance imaging can also image the motion of the walls of the heart during each heart beat and though currently more combersome to operate, MRI has more complete coverage of the heart than ultrasound particularly on obese patients or patients with large breasts. MRI concilors show fine detail of wall motion by specifically showing the muscle motion. A grid of saturated image pixels is placed over the heart slice using a saturating RF pulse sequence. The heart is then imaged during the cardiac cycle and the saturated pixels move with the pixel elements thus allowing determination of muscle motion and calculation of strain. Alternatively, the motion of each pixel can be deducted by phase changes associated with motion and the trajectories of muscle displacements

Noticer modicine methods are employed in the evaluation of ischemic heart disease. The most common test is evaluation of the difference in perfusion between rest and stress induced by treadmall exercise or a pharmacological agent. In the absence of flow from an obstructed coronary artery, or tracer will reach part of the heart muscle fed by that artery and a hole will appear on the image. Frequently, when there is some but diminished flow to part of the heart, this difference between accural and low flow can be amplified by stressing the heart which increases the flow to normal tissue by as much as fourfold without any significant increase in flow to the comprehensed tissue. The difference between rest images and stress images is used to diagnose viable from infarcted tessue.

As excession methods do allow specific chemical and metabolic processes to be detected, PET has been used to show glucuse uptake (see heart uptake in Fig. 11), faity acid metabolism, and neurinformulations of the heart. It has been discovered that the viable but jeopardized flow coronary flow) regions of the heart accumulate an analogue of glucose labeled with ¹⁶F and this fact hus been used to show that patients with a seeming absence of flow by perfusion methods but an accumulation of FDG do have score viable tissue and are candidates for meascolurization surgery.

Coronary Angiography

The major use of X-ray imaging of the heart other than the rontine chest X-ray is coronary catheterization performed for the



Figure 14. Upromary angiography using invasive catheters is expected to be replaced by noninvasive MRI using spiral imaging methods and intravascular contrast material. This is a carmon of the commany arternal tree

detection of coronary atherosclerosis. The procedure involves inserting a catheter in the ferrioral artery of the groun and feeding this catheter into the opening to the left and right coronary arteries which are at the airta near the base of the heart. Contrast material buying a high concentration of iedine is injected selectively into each coronary artery. Separate catheters are usually used for each coronary and the procedure is carried init by the curdiologist or radiologist in a hospital setting. This proredure, though considered the gold standard for definitive diagnosis of coronary atherspectensis, is uncontfortable and costly, thus alternative methods for evaluation of the heart have been sought.

MR angiography with or without use of MR contrast material is used to show the lumen of vessels just as is done with Xray arteriography but presently with less resolution. In theory it is possible to image the commany artery down to about 0.5 mm using intravascular contrast material and fast imaging methods and this modality could replace the commonly performed commany catheterization (Fig. 14).

Coronary Artery Calcification Detection

Calcification of the commany arternes accreases with age in the asymptomatic nopulation, but the quantity of coronary artery calcification is high in patients with chnically aymptomatic coronary artery disease. Calcification is detected by intraromnary ultrasound and noninvasively by last CT or electron beam CT (EBCT) wherein 100 ms duration scan times and EKG gating minimize motion blurring, which have hindered fluoroscopic and conventional CT for detection and quantification of calcium deposits. The fact that 85 of the asymptomatic subjects have calcium quantities above the 75th percentile for age and sex has led to the recommendation that idder patients with mak factors (e.g., high cholesterol) for a coronary event have an EBCT (21).

GASTROINTESTINAL

Liver

Two major radiological applications of ultrasound have been detection of primary and secondary cancer of the liver and gall-

stones in the gallbladder. The principal radiological diagnostic problem in the evaluation of the liver is the detection of curcer inelastases from cancers elsewhere in the body and the difficronliation of solid termor masses from cysts, abscesses, and hemangiomos. Liver imaging is also valuable in evaluation of cirrhosis and fatty infiltration. X-ray CT with contrast agents, ultrasound, radionuclude methods, MRI, and most recently spiral X-ray CT have been compared in their accuracy to detect and differentiate liver issions (22). The accuracy of US and CT is generally behaved to be about 60% to 80%.

A major problem of liver imaging in the past has been blurring and artifacts from normal liver motion during the tomographic scan. Motion, until recently, has rendered MRI lisss valuable than ultrasound or X-ray CT. But since 1994 methoils of compressation for motion and faster imaging strategies of MRJ and spiral X-ray CT have resulted in significant improvement in diagnoses, X-ray CT is the most widely used cross-sectional method for liver tumor evaluation in the United States, However, with the introduction of different MRI contrast agents which have specificity for normal parenchymal Kupler colls, extracellular space or blood pool, the diagnostic potential of MRI might compete with spiral X-ray CT and possubly avoid needle biopsy frequently required to make the diagnosis of liver masses. MRI is the best trobnique for evoluating facty infiltration and both MRI and ultrasound are effective in evaluating liver vasculature.

Colorectal Tomors

Colorectal tumors are usually suspected from symptoms of pain and blesding with confirmation by ronventional borium enema and colonoscopy. Since 1990, spiral X-ray CT (see above) has been utilized for the study of the abdimen and pelvis bisconsithe rapid coverage avoids motion artifacts from respiratoryhased organ motion. Spiral X-ray CT data from the au-filled colon has been used effectively and is the basis for virtual colonoscopy. A major diagnestic problem is the evaluation of tumor therapy. PET was found to be superior to pelvia X-ray CT in detecting local disease recurrence (23). The accuracy for local disease recurrence was 95% for 1997 and 65% for pelvis CT No significant difference was found for the accuracy in detecting lesions in the liver, 98% for PET and 93% for CT or US.

GENITAL AND URINARY

Fetus and Pregnancy

Ultrasound using either an abdominal probe or a transvaginal probe is used to confirm the presence of intrauterine pregnancy at 4 to 5 works of gestation, the heart beat at 6 works, and subsequently the normal or abnormal development as well as the gestational age by the length of the embryorietus.

Abdominal scoography has a vital role in deciding whether amniocentesis should be performed for genetic purposes and for detection of lung maturity. The electronic control of data from modern ultrasound transducers (Fig. 3) allows threedimensional data extraction such that the fune and other surfaces of the fetus can be visualized in utero (Fig. 15)

Other uses of altrasound relative to pregnancy are evaluation of causes of infertibity, facilitation of embryo transfer, and investigation of causes of abdominal pairs and masses, because X-ray methods are not used due to concern of exprising the fetus to ionizing radiation. MRI procedures are not in widespread accepted use at least in the first 2 transfers though there is no known reason not to take advantage of MRI diagnostic expabilities throughout pregnancy.

Female Reproductive Organ Cancer

Ultrasound of the female pelvis is routinely used to depict the normal pelvic anatomy and to demonstrate both physiological and pubblogical changes of the ovaries, oteros, and cervix. Whereas ultrasound at 3.5 to 5 MHz provides diagnostic information of clinically suspected disease, X-ray CT and MRI are used to provide accurate lacalization for both inopsy and radiotherapy.

Carcinoma of the oterine cervix is the second most common malignancy in women and accounts for two-thirds of malignant tumors found in the female genetal tract. Neither oltrasound ner X-ray CT are choically useful in the diagnosis of early



Figure 15. Three-donest-coval offra-cound on spelof the face and hands of a normal fetus in the mother's steries (couplesy of Alnka Go, Ltd.)

disease, but X-ray CT can show local spread in more advanced disease. MRI is now established as a highly occurate method of demonstrating invasive cervacal carcinoma but in early disease MRI underestimates superficial cervical carcinoma. These moslalities are also of limited effectiveness in detection of carcinoma of the aterns which is one-third as common as cervical carcinoma. X-ray CT for uterine cancer requires use of intravenous contrast which enters the normal myometrium better than into the cancer. A common hering but chrocally important condition of the aterns is fibroids which are usually areurately detected by ultrasound

Both ultrasound and X-ray CT are used in the definition of ovarian tumors and cysts but the differentiation is frequently difficult. The accuracy of MRI in distinguishing benign from malignant ovarian cancers remains controversial. Overall imaging techniques currently have a limited supportive role in the initial assessment of ovarian cancer but MRI appears to be superior in depicting local tumor infiltration of the bladder, pelvic fat, and other tissues including metastases to the liver and local invasion of the myometrium. Although MRI is superior to X-ray CT, X-ray CT is currently preferred for the assessment of the entire abdominoperitoneal cavity as it is more widely available, less expensive, and is a method with which there is a visit experience.

Kidney

The major diseases for which radiological procedures are needed include, kidney injury, kidney artery stenosis (e.g., atherosclerosis), kidra-y fadure, kidney carcinoma, and kidray transpluint rejection. X-ray CT, ultrasound, radionuclide procedures, and MRI all have a role in the diagnosis of kidney disease. X-ray CT is the procedure of choice in evaluation of the patient with suspected kidney trainina. Use of spiral X-ray CT with breadth holding and contrast agents provides a comprehensive evaluation for many attrations, however, equivalent and in some cases supplemental information can be gleaned frion use of fast MRI methods with injected contrast material. wigh, Gd-DTFA) as shown by the comparison in Fig. 16. Ultrasound methods provide a convenient approach to determination of dilation of the collection system in order to determine the presence of obstruction which can be caused by obstruction of an ureter or even benign prostatic hypertrophy.

Prostate

The two mujor discusses of the prostate gland are benign prostatic hypercrophy and prostate cancer. Prostaticis is an acute or chronic bacterial infection diagnosed and treated medically. Prostate cancer is the second communicaticause of cancer death in American men over age 55. It is the commonest human cancer found at autopsy in 30% of men at age 50 and in 90% at age 90 but usually as a latent disease. The best techniques for early diagnosis are measurement of prostatic serum antigen (PSA). and the rectal exam. The radiological procedures are transrectal ultrasound (TRUS) and transrectal MRI. Though neither technique can definitively separate prostatitis from carcinoma. in all cases, both techniques can help define the likelihood of cancer and TRUS as well as X-ray CT are used to goide biopsy medles to confirm concer and metastases. Both techniques help define whether the cancer has invaded the capsule or tissues outside the prostate and therefore aid in the therapeutic choices. When cancers are confined to the prostate gland they are corable by surgical removal of the prostate gland, X-ray

Figure 16. Past MRI with contrast materul (left—courtesy of GE Medical Systems) reveals major vessels as well as kidney function through visualizations of the uncorr because the contrast material is excreted into the oreters by the hidney X-ray CT (right courteay of Siemens Medical Systems) using contrast material shows vessels and the presence of severe atherosclerosis revealed by multiple large valcourt deposits in the aorta.



CT is and now used for routine turnar staging but is useful in advanced cancer when lymph nodes are enlarged

PET and SPECT are not useful in defining the primary disease because radionuclide accumulation in the bladder interferes with imaging the adjacent prostate. The priostate tumor metostases have low avidity for static accumulation of fluoradeaxyglucose (FDG) in bone but soft tissue metastases are detected by PET (Fig. 11). Recently, MRS (magnetic resumance spectroscopy) superposed on MRI has been effective in detection of prostatic tumors and in evaluation of therapy using an image of the ratio of chalme containing compaunds to citrate obtained from spatial maps of spectral information or cheerical shift imaging. The normal prostate shows a high concentration of citrate on proton MRS and tumors have a relatively high signal from the trimethyl groups of cholice-containing compounds.

SKELETAL SYSTEM

Joint Disease

The three main categories of joint disease are injury, rheumatoid arthritis, and nateoarthritis. The important tissues of the joint are the synoxial mombrane, which is like a sheeve around the joint; the cartilage material on the surfaces of the articulating bones, which provides a low coefficient of friction surface allowing smooth joint motion; and the ligaments and tendons, which attach the articulating surfaces or are attached to these surfaces.

Athletic injuries to shoulders and knews are common adjuries which require diagnostic methods of X-ray (T and MR). MRI has provided a major advance in the diagnostic imaging of the shoulder (rotator cuff) and knew (menuscus, cartilage) injuries (Fig. 17) Meniscal MRI, however, has a unique role in many commistances it substitutes for other techniques that are either less accurate (physical examination); largely operator dependent, anddly invasive and expensive (i.e., arthrography and diagnostic arthroscopy). MRI of the knew menusci is one of the most efficient uses of this technology. Although MRI certainly has a role in evaluating muscle, tendon, and ligament pathalogy in the knee, clinical assessment determines therapy.

Rheamatoid arthratis is a systemic disease and at the joint level major pathophysiological mechanisms include immune, inflammatory, and healing or remixtleling reactions. This disease starts as an inflammatory reaction of the synovium from an unknown cause. This reaction attracts white blood rells with a resulting swelling, edona, and soft tissue laxivity, thus weakening the joint and causing dysjunction between opposing longes. The nutrient supply to the cartilage is from nonvescular diffusion into and out of the synovium; thus, processes which influence the function of the synovium will inevitably affect functioning of cartilage which depends on a balance between collagen, protein polysaccharide matrix, water, and ions for its health.

Uncontrolled inflammatory responses of the white cells break down collagen and components of the cartilage with eventual destruction of the cartilage, a narrowing of the joint sparand destruction of the adjucent surfaces of the bone of the joint. There also occurs a loss of bone early in the disease due to the inflammatory reaction which causes increased local destruction of the bone. The pattern of rheumatoid arthritis is also associated with some general disorders such as systemic lupus erythematosis, ankylosing spondylitis, acleroderma, and juvenile chronic polyarthrites but there is a high prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis of the extremities with on known etiology.

The radiological pattern of rhoumatoid arthritis is that of progressive changes in the joint tissue symmetry, hone alignments, and patterns of swelling which can be chronic or intermatent. Osteopenia clocal regions of loss of hone mineralization; inevitably cour in space of the treatment. These patterns are readily observed by plane X-ray examination of the hands and other joint spaces. MRI now can give exquisite details of synovium and cartilage changes (Fig. 17) particularly using sequences such as magnetization franction.

Osterarthritis is the most common joint disease and is characterized by noninflammatory cartilage loss accompanied by new bone formation. Joint trauma and joints undergoing repeated stress (knees and ankles of athletes (Fig. 17) and



Figure 17. Different types of information provided by X-ray CT and high resolution **MR1** of the human know inght—contrasts of S. Majumdar, University of Coliference. See Francisco: The difference in magnetic surgeptibility between trabsculae of some and marries allows high resolution and high resolution.



Figure 18. MRI of joints can demonstrate defects in cartiloge, ligaments, and bose with greater specificity then possible by other methods including arthrescopy. This image shows a lateral meniscus tear and cost of the knew countersy of D. Rubin. University of Pittshurgh .

taburers) are probably the major causes of what is known as secondary osterarithmis. The primary osterarthmitis currently of unknown etiology is believed to be the result of an intrinsic abnormality of cartilage leading to its degeneration. Both types have the radialogical pattern of joint space narrowing and sclerosis of the opposing surfaces of subchondral bone. Deviations and subluxations between articulating bones develop slowly particularly in the fingers and knees. The abnormal bone growth in the fingers is often noted in the elderly as joint prommences known as Heberberks noted in the elderly as joint promnences known as Heberberks noted in the elderly as joint prommences known as Heberberks noted in the elderly as joint prommences known as Heberberks noted in the elderly as joint prommences known as Heberberks noted in the elderly pattern of narrowed joint spaces is easily visualized by the standard X-ray, but MRI can give much more detail of the pathology. Figure 15 shows a comparison of spiral X-ray CT and high resolution MRI of the knee, thus and patella.

Vertebral Spine Diseases

Degenerative disk disease is the most common pathology of the vertebrae and may occur anywhere in the spine but is most dominant in the lower cervical and lower limbar spins 1) is characterized by disk-space narrowing, sclerosis of the vertehrul budy endplates, generation of esteephytes (here spors). The basis for much of lumbar spine discuse is from the disk cartilage degeneration due to abnormal physical stress-related biamechanical factors but also narrowing of the spinal column-(spana) stemasis: by abhumnal lone growth during oging plays. an important tole in progressive low back spinal cord symptoms. Abnormally high or sustained loading on the human disk cartilage results in water absorption from the nucleus pulposaby adjueent vertebrae, usmotic pressure change in the cartilage, stress on the collagen fibers of the disk annulus, bulging of the disk, and subsequent energy/ment of disk material on the nerve roots. Congenital or acquired narrowing of the spinalcanal (spinal stemais) through abnormal hone growth is frequently associated with disk disease. Spors of the bony process of the joints of Luschka in the cervical spine result frequently to neurological compressive symptoms. Comprehensive evaluation of detailitating symptoms of spinal column and herve mot compression is now provided by MRI examination of the cervical and humbar regions (Fig. 19).



Figure 10. MRI of capittal view through the cervical spine shows a disk deficit which is impinging on the spinel coal MRI of the spine is also the optimum diagnostic maging method for low back pairs.

Bone Tumors

Bone tomore and tumorlike lesions are most commonly detected by conventional radiography. MRI and X-ray CT are used to determine the extent of the turnor. MRUs capability to distorguish general tissue types has been valuable in differentoting benign from malignant tumors. Radionuclide imaging is used to evaluate metastases of numbras furnors (e.g., lung, prostate, and breasts to home. For this purpose conventional gamma camera planar imaging (scintigraphy) is one of the most often performed nuclear medicine procedure after injection of ^{wea}Tc-phasphate complex (e.g., pyrodiasphate, diphasphate salt). The ⁹⁹⁰ Teconoplex is readily available at all baspitals with a gamma camers and after injection 50% of these bone seeking radiatracers is deposited in the body skeleton as a technotiom-calcium-phosphate complex me hour after mjection. Whole body planar images are obtained. The amount of local aptake reflects the metabolic state independent of the amount of home numeralization. The increase in bland flow accompanying the presence of increased metabolism is the major cause for increased uptake in comors and areas of rapid bane turnover(e.g. asteoarthritis).

Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is the most common metabolic hone disorder begimming in the fifth or sixth decade in women and the sixth or seventh decade in men. The loss of hone mineral is 33 to 10% per decade. The prevalence of estroporosis in the aged is high and usually evades routine diagnosis because as much as 60% of bone mineral loss will occur before the estenpenin is detected on conventional X-ray examination. Postmenopausal esteoporosis is identified by a fracture pattern involving vertebra) bodies and frequently the wrist (distal induct). Simile esteoporosis presents by fractures involving the hip and vertebrae. There is bone loss of both trabeculae and cortex but in the main

362 DIAGNOSTIC MAGING

the loss is of secondary trabeculae. Fractures in the elderly fullowing minimal trauma as well as back pain frequently had to diagnostic examination of bone density quantitation using two energy bands of photons either from a dual gamma ray emitting radionuclide such as gadobnium-153 or a single Xray source operated with filters or different energies to provide two energy bands such that the differential absorption between calcium and the elements of soft tissue can be measured. The bone density is interpreted as a percentage change from a normal or from that expected for a given age. Recent advances in MRI high resolution imaging show promise of providing architectural information of trabecular bone undergoing changes as shown by a comparison between high resolution X-ray CT and high resolution MRI of the knee (Fig. 18).

Vascular System

Radiological methods of imaging the arteries and veins of the body generally have used injection of jodinated contrast matereal followed by rapid imaging using plane X-ray film or digstat subtraction methods. These methods modeled meeting catheters in arteries and though precise in diagnostic specificity, they have some morbidity. Yet they remain the major methods for identification of atherosclerosis in brain, carotid. coronary, renal, aorta, and log arteries. There are three method s of visualizing these arteries using MRI. The phase-sensitive technique uses a bipolar flow encoding gradient to cause a phase shift for a moving proton but a zero pliase shift or canreled phase shift for a stationary spin. By reversing the pularity of the flow encoding gradient on alternate acquisitions. and subtracting these acquisitions the movement of the protonprovides the signal. The time-of flight method relies on magnefization of spins into an excited volume wherein the spins have been saturated thus the unsaturated flowing blood will have a detectably higher signal compared to the surrounding previously saturated parenchyma.

A third method which will replace much of the conventional X-ray angiography uses injected contrast material which unlike previously used MRA contrast material stays in the blood pool untravascular contrast. This material is gadolinum complexed to albumin which does not diffuse into tissues due to the large molecolar size of albumin. The new contrast material overcomes limitations of the past related to lompural changes of contrast material which diffuses through the extracellular space. Image acquisition from moving organs and an imaging time not dependent on the rapidly changing concentration of the injected bolus allows high-resolution ungiography. This method has promise to visualize most of the important elements of the arterial blood prol including the cormary arteries down to less than 1 mm before year 2000 (see Fig. 14).

Flow quantitation particularly in the carotid arteries has been provided by Doppler ultrasound techniques which are in widespread use and when combined with ultrasound imaging the method is known as duplex stanning. Doppler images in color denoting direction (red for artery and blue for venous) with intensity related to speed are superposed on the gray level 2-D image which for the carotid shows the vessel and surrounding soft basines. A new technique known as Power Doppler superposes the intensity of the Doppler signal cather than direction and speed thus this image represents the volume of moving red cells. This technique has been applied with success to a number of problems including detection of malignant lymph nodes from breast cancer and evoluation of kidney disease.

Picture Archiving and Communication System (PACS)

A major component of diagnostic radiology is the digital databased image storage, transfer, and processing systems embodied in software and hardware of PACS (picture archiving and communications system). PACS, developed many years ago for archiving and digitally transferring surventional radiographs after digitization, has established the methodologies and formote needed for the management of digital data acquired by contemporary radiologic imaging devices (e.g., MRI, PET, SPECT, USI (25). The very high handwidth data currently being baselled by PACS includes rardius angugraphy image sequence involving 512×512 (mages taken at 30 frames per second. For transmission and display, optical fiber-based networks based on asynchronous transfer mode (ATM) are used. Workstations for review of these data can bundle a complete or full injection sequence in "loop KAM (random access memory)" using the 512 × 512 format interpolated to 1024 × 1024 while displaying at 30 frames per second.

A common standard for image transfer, storage, and retroeval is the DICOM (digital imaging and communications in medicine) standard. Standards for interfacing image data acquired by different modulties (PACS) with radiology information systems (RIS) and hospital information systems (HIS) will allow integration of patient images with the radiologist's interpretation, clinical data, and demographic information for ready access by authorized health-care personnel. These capabilities enable a new dimension in teleconferencing and lacel workstation-based image processing for 3-D visualization, segmentation, and contrast enhancement. This technology not anly enables rapid access to patient information but expedites consultation, education, and research

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Office of Health and Environmental Research of the U.S. Department of Energy ander contract DE-AC03-76SF00098 and National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Dr. Kathleen Brennan assisted in the manuscript

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- E. Krestel (ed.), Imaging Systems for Medical Diagnostics, Berlin and Munich Stemens, 1990.
- J. D. Bronzino, ed.), The Bromedical Engineering Hundlevik, Bocs Ration, CRC Press, IEEE Press, 1995.
- 3 T. P. Bodruger et al. (ed.), Mathematics and Physics of Emerging Biomedical Imaging, Washington, IX⁺ National Academy Press, 1996.
- 4 W. A. Kalender et al., Spiral volumetric ("T with single-breath-hold technique, continuous transport, and continuous scanner rotation, *Rodon*, 176 (1): 181-3, 1980.
- S. A. Feig and M. J. Yaffe, Digital insumugraphy, computer-aided diagonsis, and telemanmegraphy. *Radiol. Clinics North Amer.*, 33 (6): 1205–30, 1935.
- A. Hease et al., FLASH unaging Repid NMR imaging using low flip angle pulses, J. Magn. Resonance, 67: 258, 1996
- S. R. Cherry and M. E. Phelps, Positron Emission Tomography: Methods and metromentation, in M. P. Sandler et al. (eds.), Dr agreester Nuclear Methome, Bullion to Williams & Wilkins, 1986, pp. 121-133.

- I. P. Boderger, Single Photon Recision Computer Tomography, in M. P. Sandler et al. (eds.), *Biagnostic Nuclear Medicine*, Baltimore: Vulliants & Wilkins, 1995, pp. 121–138
- 9. J. B. Wyngaardan and L. H. Smith Jr (eds.), Textboot of Medicines, Phylodelphia: Sounders, 1989.
- 10 M. J. Mark et al., Thoracoscopy for the diagonate of the indeterminate solitary pulmotary indule, Ann. Theracic Surg. 56(4) 825-30, discussion 800–2, 1993.
- E. F. J. Psix and P. C. Goodman. Paratron emission transgraphy imaging of the theorem. *Harbort Charas North Amer.*, 32(4), 411–21, 1994.
- F. F. Kim et al., Differentiation of residual or recurrent turners from post-frequencies with F-IN FDG PET, Radiographics, 12 (269-279, 1092)
- D. G. Freiman, J. Suyemoto, and S. Wessler, Frequency of Unronboombolism in man, Nuc. England J. Med., 272: 1278–1280, 1965.
- 14. C. E. Spritzer et al., Detection of deep volume thrombosis by magnetic resonance imaging. *Chest.* **104** (1): 54–60, 1993.
- M. Remy Jardan et al., Diagnosis of pulmanary embolism with sparal CT: Comparison with pulmonary angiography and startigraphy. *Redsol.*, 200 (2), 699–706, 1996
- Institute of Medicine (ed.), Strategies for Managing the Breast Galcer Research Program, Washington, DC: National Academy of Sciences Instatute of Medicine, 1993.
- 17 S. H. Heyweng et al., Dynamische kontrastmittehanteruschungen um FLASH bei kernspiritoriographie des mainma, Diginsk Rikdiegn. 8, 7–13, 1988.
- R. P. Kodar et al., Automated quantilication of color Doppler sigtuals: A prehramory study to bootst turners. *Rodust*, 197: 39-43, 1995.
- C. J. Perze, V. C. M. Kunt, and P. de Hooge. Colour Doppler ultrasonography in the diagonsis of axillary lymph node metastases in human cancer. *The Birosof.* 5: 10–12, 1996.
- 20. R. P. Kedar et al., Microbiolskie contrast agent for color Doppler US: Effect on breast masses. Work in progress. *Biologi*, 3, 676–696, 1996.
- R. B. Kaufmann et al., Quantity of coronary artery calcium detected by electron laser compared to majoriphy in asymptomatic subjects and angiographically studied patients. *Major Char. Proc.*, 70: 223– 232, 1995.
- R. E. Larson et al. Hypervascular malignant liver locants. Comparison of various MR imaging polae sequences and dynamic CT, *Rathel.*, 182 (2) 303–9, 1994.
- C. Schiepers et al., Contribution of PET in the diagnosis of recurrent colorectal concern Comparison with conventional imaging, *Eur. J.* Supp. One al., 21 (1): 517-522, 1995.
- 24.13 Restance al., Charles I value of while-budy position ortisism turning spilly, with 19F(floorisflexy) (large at a constant columntal cancer, Serie J. Surg., B1 (11), 1666–1670, 1994.
- H. K. Huang, PACS, Basic Principles and Againstonic New York: Wiley, 1998.

THOMAS F. BUDINGES University of California at Berkeley

FREQUENCY CONVERTERS AND MIXERS

An essential part of most microwave receivers is the frequency converter, a device that converts the frequency of an meaning signal to another frequency. The output frequency may be *downconcertwi*, *appointerted*, *multiplied*, *wr divided*. Important and common is the *minute*, which downconverts a high-frequency input signal *f*, to a nucle layer and more man-

ageable signal f_{10} , preserving information concerning the amplitude, frequency, and phase of the input signal. The devices used are nonlinear (i.e., the relationship between current and voltage is not linear). The devices may have either two terminals (duodes) or three terminals (transistors).

Mixers are important for very high frequencies, where amplifiers are not available and direct amplitude or phase detection is difficult. A mixer can be used to downconvert, say, a tenabertz frequency signal to a microwave frequency use, where electrome methods are readily available for amplification and any kind of demodulation. In fact, in almost any radio set or mohile telephone receiver or base station, there are several mixers and other types of frequency converters.

Both two-terminal devices (diodes) and three-serminal devices (transistors) are used in mixers. The frequency conversion is accomplished by using the *nonlinear* properties of the device. Virtually all semiconductor devices, such as duodes and transisters, show nonlinear properties in certain bios ranges. Common devices for microwave mixer applications are the Schottky diode, the field-effect transistor (FET), and the bipolar transistor. There are many other devices available as well, for example, the superconducting tunneling device (SIS) and the superconducting inst electron device for low-noise thigh-sensitivity (millimeter and submillimeter wave receivers. For infrared wavelengths, metal insulator metal devices and, for optical frequencies, photoenducting devices have been used. Note that ordinary resistors, capacitances, and inductances are linear components.

Figure 1 gives an example of how mixers are used in a receiving system. The antenna is connected directly to the mixer. For example, in a TV-satellite receiver, an amplifier is placed just after the antenna to increase the signal amplitude. In reality there are many other systems to g, radar, radio, measurement systems, where mixers are used to frequency downconvert the input signal.

To give a simple illustration of how a diade mixer may work, consider the detector circuit shown in Fig. 2 using an ideal diade (zero resistance in the forward direction and infinite resistance in the backward direction). If a sinusoidal voltage $V(t) = V_{10} \cos(2\pi f_{10}t)$ is applied, it will be "rectified" (detected) by the diade. The voltage over the resistance $r_R(t)$ will be a constant devoltage proportional to V_{10} . Next, add else infinite resistance $m_s(t)$ will be a constant devoltage proportional to V_{10} . Next, add else infinite voltage $m_s \cos(2\pi f_s t)$ that is, $V(t) = V_{10} \cos(2\pi f_{10} t) + \delta v_s \cos(2\pi f_s t)$. Assuming that $\delta c_s / V_{110} \ll 1$, the resulting voltage V(t) will become amplitude modulated, as shown in Fig. 2. The detected voltage $r_B(t)$ over the load resistance R will be proportional to the envelope $V_R(t)$ (assuming $\tau = RC \ll 1/m_0$) (see Fig. 3), that is,

$$r_{g}(t) = V_{\rm LO} \left(1 + \frac{\delta t_{\rm r}}{V_{\rm tr}} \cos(2\pi f_{\rm sp}^{\prime} t) \right)$$
(1)

where $f_{12} = f_{12} - f_{3}$ is the intermediate frequency (IF). The dc part of Eq. (1) is the "detected local oscillator (LO)" and the alternating part is identical to the IF voltage and, in this example, is equal in amplitude to the input signal. This IP signal is fed into an amplifier as described in Fig. 1.

Note that in the simplified example above we have not correctly accounted for a number of parameters, such as the impedances of the LO and signal sources. This means that the IF voltage will not become equal to k_{\perp} . A more detailed desomption of a more correct calculation is given in the section





Figure 1. Typical mixer block diagram. At the input there is a high pass filter that will prevent any low-lrequency IF power from escaping to the mixer input (left). The low pass filter will stop may input signal or LO power from going to the IF errorit right). Part no shows a luyout for a two-terminal device (diode) and (b) for a threeterminal device (transition).

entitled "Schottky Diode Mixers." For details concerning microwave mixers, see Refs. 1 and 2.

GENERAL PROPERTIES OF TWO-TERMINAL NON-UNEAR DEVICES

Below we describe some general results obtained when a twoterminal device such us the Schuttky diode is excited with a sinusoidal signal. The impedance of the Schuttky dode is voitage dependent. The speed of this device is indeed high. It shows a nonlinear behavior up to several terahertz.

Frequency Multiplication

Consider a nonlinear diode device exposed to 100 (or pump) power yielding a large voltage swing $V(t) = V_{1xt} \cos(\omega_{xx} dt)$ over the diode. (Note: Below we use $\omega = 2\pi f$). Since the relation between current and voltage is not linear (i.e., $I \neq \text{const.} \times V$), the resulting current will not have a subusidal shape like the input voltage. However, the current in this case is still a periodic function, versus time with the same periodicity, $z = 2\pi/\omega_{10}$, as the LO frequency and can consequently be expressed as a Further series with harmonics of the LO, m_{20} .

$$I(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} i_k \cos(n\omega_{1k})t + \varphi_k, \qquad (2)$$

$$V(t) \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{i_k(t)}{t} = \frac{i_k(t)}{t} + \frac{i_k(t)}{t}$$

Figure 2. A rectifying diode crossel. If the capacitance C and the resistence H are large enough: $c_0(t)$ will follow the envelope of C(t) (see Fig. 3: The component l_0 is the dc component. To obtain power at a particular barmonic, for example, the third harmonic, it is required that the correct component at $3\omega_{1/4}$ be passing through a resistance R_1 delivering a power of $1/2/r_2^2/R_3$. To avoid any power being delivered at other harmonics it is necessary to ensure that the device is reactively terminated at these barmonics.

out

In reality, the impedance of most nonlinear devices is complex with both the *real* and the *imaginary* parts voltage (or current) dependent. For a more detailed theory, see the section entitled "Large Signal Analysis by Harmonic Balance."

Frequency Conversion

If two signal voltages at w_{00} and w_i are simultaneously interacting with the nonlinear choice impedance, the resulting current



Figure 3. An example with a drive vultage $c(t)/V_{LO} = cost_{0LM}t + (\delta v_s/V_{LO}) cost_{0LM}t$, where $cv_s/V_{LO} + 0.2$ and $cost_{0LM} = 1$ 16. The IF as 0.19 co_{LM}



can be expressed in a more complex Fourier series,

$$I(t) = \sum_{m=-\infty}^{+\infty} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{+\infty} i_{mn} \cos((m\omega_{0,n} + n\omega_{n})t + \varphi_{m,n})$$
(3)

In the case when both the signal voltage and the local oscillator voltage are large, a large number of frequency oniversion products are iditatined. Obviously it is possible to generate power at any frequency $m_{\rm MeV} \pm m_{\rm VeV}$ if for m = n = 1 the required output frequency is higher than the signal frequency, one has frequency approximation, and if the output frequency is lower than the signal frequency, one has frequency downconcersion.

Linear Mixing

As already mentioned, a more receiver usually handles "small signals." We have a small signal case if the amplitude of the signal at w_i is much smaller than the LO amplitude at w_{11i} . In this case only harmonics of w_{11i} are important and we are left with

$$I(t) \approx \sum_{m=-\infty}^{+\infty} c_m \cos[(m_{mq,m} + m_m)t + \varphi_m]$$
(4)

In most mixer applications, we are interested in the "intermediate frequency," $\omega_{\rm IF} = (\omega_{\rm eff}) - \omega_{\rm eff}$. An IF load resistance in the sincent will allow power at the IF frequency to be extracted compose Fig. 2). Equation (4) suggests that power may go not only to the IF but also to harmonic sidehands, as disstrated in Fig. 4. The only way to prevent this power loss is to make sure that the harmonic sideband current components are facing impedances that are purely reactive.

Note that an IF signal (Fig. 4) will be created if either $m_{ei} = m_{H} + m_{eff} \cos \omega_{ei} = \omega_{H} + \omega_{eff}$. The former frequency m_{H} is called

Figure 4. Power flow in a lower sideband mixer. The unput signal power is distributed not only to the IF but also to the humancie sidebands

the upper sideband, and the latter ω_n the lower sideband. For a lower sideband more the upper sideband is denoted the image (requency, and vice versa for an upper sideband more. For a lower or upper sideband case, some signal power may go to the image frequency. In an image open more a filter prevents the image frequency from entering the mixer. In the image enbanced mixer, the image terminal is terminated reactively so that the conversion loss is reduced.

At high signal powers, there may be confusion because the mover may produce purpor signals in the IF band (see intermodulation below) for

$$m\omega_{1/2} = m_{2/2} + \kappa_{\rm AF} \qquad (5)$$

Harmonic Miver

In a harmonic and small signal linear mixer one has $\omega_{\rm F} = \mu_{\rm WOI} = \omega_{\rm s}$. A spectrum analyzer always uses a harmonic mixer to analyze the signal, and the harmonic number *a* can be very high (>10). The power flow in a harmonic maxer is shown in Fig. 6.

Intermodulation

All mixer products created by two or more signals are called intermodulation (IM) products. Most IM products are unwanted.

For example, if two signals at slightly different frequencies $m_{\rm eff}$ and w_{22} and with a power of the same order of magnitude as the LO are collected as with the nonlinear device, the current will contain frequency products as shown in the following equation:

$$F(t) = \sum_{m=-\infty}^{+\infty} \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{k=+\infty}^{\infty} i_{mk} \cos^{k}(m\omega r_{t1} + n\omega_{k1} + k\omega_{k2}K + z_{m,n,k})$$
(6)



Figure 5. Power llow in a second harmonic lower solehend in re-

366 FREQUENCY CONVERTERS AND MIXERS

All signals at frequencies fulfilling the requirement

$$m_{e_1} \approx \mu_{\rm Restrict} + n_{\rm Rest} + m_{\rm Res} + m_{\rm Rest} + m_{\rm Res} + m_{\rm R$$

may create IM products in the IF band. Indeed, intermodulation must be considered a potentially serious problem of all applications where strong signals may occur.

SYSTEMS ASPECTS

In a system, the following properties are impurtant: (1) conversion loss, (2) noise properties, and (3) intermodulation properties.

Conversion Loss

An organization property of a maxer is the conversion loss *L*, defined as

$$L = \frac{P_{\rm c}}{P_{\rm fy}} = \frac{\text{Signal power available at the oput}}{1\text{F power delivered to the 1F load}}$$
(8)

In most proctical mixers the conversion loss is larger than one However, it is possible to obtain gain owing to paramet an amplification caused by a nonlinear capacitance. In certain configurations using transistors (see Refs. 1 or Ref. 4) conversion gain can be obtained. Superconducting mixers, however, due to quantum phenomenal can show stable conversion gain.

There are several loss mechanisms causing the conversion loss:

- Losses due to absorption in the nonlinear device
- 2. Losses due to power lost to harmonic sidebands.
- 3. Losses due to reflection at the input part
- d. Losses due to reflection at the UF output port

See also the section ontitled "Schottky Diade Mizers."

Mixer Receiver Noise

The important noise measure in practical applications is always the total receiver noise temperature. The contributions approximately in order of importance are: (1) mixer device noise, (2) the JF amplifier noise. (3) thermal noise from the mixer circuit, and (4) LO noise. There are two different noise measures usually cited in the literature the single sidehand (SSD) noise temperature and the double sidehand (DSB) noise temperature.

When calculating the noise temperature of a mixer, it is advisable to always start adding up all noise controlutions at the IF amplifier input (see Fig. 6). The temperature then becomes

$$T_{n} = \frac{T_{1}}{L_{2}} + \frac{T_{1}}{L_{2}} + \sum_{h=2}^{N} \left(\frac{T_{1}}{L_{h}} + \frac{T_{1}}{L_{h}} \right) + T_{M,n,h} - T_{0}, \qquad (9)$$

where L_{n} , L_{n} , L_{n-1} and L_{n-1} are the conversion basis at the signal, image, and upper harmonic sidebands and lower harmonic sidebands, respectively. T is the noise temperature of the input resistance, T_{Mon} is the noise from the mixer dicke entering the



Figure 6. Receiver configuration for calculating the receiver mass. For the value intervalue was to determine the mass temperature at the reput of the 15 amplifier, T_{in}

IF amplifier. As the next step, identify the signal to noise ratio:

$$\frac{P_c}{P_{00}} = \frac{P_a/L_c}{kT_c M_f^2} = \frac{P_a}{kT_c m M_f^2}$$
(10)

where T_{stat} is by definition the system noise temperature for a single sideband receiver. It is assumed that the useful and interesting signal enters only one sideband. Hence

$$T_{\text{SyMNSB}} = T_{\text{in}} I_{\text{in}} = T_{\hat{1}} \left[1 + \frac{I_{\text{in}}}{L_{1}} + \sum_{j=2}^{n} \left(\frac{L_{j}}{L_{in}} + \frac{L_{j}}{L_{in}} \right) \right] + T_{\text{MXR,NSB}} + I_{in} T_{\text{in}}$$
(31)

where we have defined the equivalent noise temperature of the more riself, $T_{\rm MARSER} = T_{\rm Mon} I_{\rm ec}$.

For the double sideband case, one assumes a useful signal to enter both the upper and the lower sidebands. Elence the signal to mise ratio for this case should be defined as

$$\frac{P}{P_{\mu}} = \frac{P_{c}(1/L_{c} + 1/L_{s})}{kT_{\mu}\Delta f} = \frac{P_{c}}{kT_{s,\alpha}\Delta f}$$
(12)

that is.

$$T_{\text{restDSR}} = \frac{T_{n}}{1/L_{n} + 1/L_{n}} = T_{1} \left[1 + \frac{L_{n}L_{n}}{L_{n} + L_{n}} \sum_{\nu=2}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\frac{1}{2\pi \nu} - 1}{L_{n}} \right) \right] + T_{\text{RNR}(\text{SP})} + \frac{L_{\nu}L_{\nu}}{L_{\ell} + L_{\nu}} T_{\text{RV}}$$
(13)

where the double sideband noise temperature of the maxer itself is defined as

$$F_{03,8,030} = T_{0,000} \frac{L_0 L_0}{L_0 + L_0}$$
(14)

Note that if $L_s = L_n$ both the single sideband mixer and system noise temperatures are twice as large as for the double sideband case. The LO noise (if important) can be taken into account by adding a certain amount at the input port. Also note that the noise entering the number at the harmonic sidebands may considerably influence the total receiver performance.

SCHOTTKY DIODE MIXERS

The Schoolky duale interns the must common type of mover for frequencies from megahertz to terahertz.



Figure 7. Simple design of a GeAs Schuttky borner double and the corresponding equivalent rincuit. The higher the frequency the smaller the doubles required.

Schottky Diode for Mixer Applications

A solutional diagram of a common design of millioneter wave Schuttky barrier ducks is shown in Fig. 7. Note that the radua frequency (RF) current is flawing from the diode contact at the surface of the duck chip to the back contact. Hence the RF series resistance is slightly larger for RF than for do The current-voltage (I-V) characteristic of the junction itself can be calculated from

$$u_{d} = I_{0} \left[\exp\left(\frac{q V_{1}}{n k T}\right) - 1 \right]$$
(15)

where T_i is the saturation current, V_i the junction voltage, η the charge of the electron, k Bukamann's constant, T the physical temperature, and η the ideality factor, which for good dicdes at room temperature is between, say, 1.03 and 1.10.

The small signal RF parction properties of a Schuttky doubt can be modeled as a number resistance r_i in parallel with a nonlinear capacitance C_0 .

$$r(i_{d}) = \frac{aV_{j}}{ai_{d}} = \frac{kv_{i}T}{qi_{d}} - C(V_{i}) = \frac{C}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{V_{i}}{v_{i}}}}$$
(16)

where C_{2} is the zero bias capacitance and V_{0} is the built in voltage of the diode. For more details, see Ref. 3.

A commun measure of the high-frequency properties is the cutoff frequency, which is defined for the diode at zero bias,

$$f_{i} = \frac{1}{2\pi R_{i}C_{p}}$$
(17)

where R_i is measured using the de I. V characteristic. For good mixer performance this cut-off frequency must be much larger than the signal frequency. The series resistance uses up agrial power and should for obvious reasons be mude us small us possible. For the conversion efficiency the nonlinear resistance, the diode is typically designed as a thin *n*-doped active layer of 1000 Å (Mott diode), which leaves one with a diode with reduced capacitance variable, and a minimum series resistance.

GaAs is preferred for millimeter wave diades. The main reason is that the high mobility of GaAs yields a law series resistance and consequently a high cutoff frequency. Another advantage(lo silicon) is that carriers do not freeze out when the diode is cooled to cryogenic temperatures in order to unprove the mixer mose properties [see Eq. (7)].

The noise performance and the conversion efficiency are the prime properties of the doide when used in moter applications. Noise properties are discussed next.

Shot Noise. The shot noise is due to fluctuations in the electron particle current between cathode and anode of the diode (see Ref. 8). The motomean-square trms) fluctuations in the current are $\delta f = -2rt \Delta f$, where Δf is a small trappency interval. The noise power of the Schottky diode can then be calculated as

$$P_{0} = \frac{h\ell^{2}}{4\frac{dI_{0}}{\sigma V_{0}}} = \frac{1}{2}k\eta T\Delta f \qquad (1\bar{e})$$

Identifying this equation with the ordinary Johnson noise expression, $P_n = hT \Delta f$, it is seen that the equivalent noise temperature of the Schuttky dude is

$$T_{\rm sh} = \frac{1}{2} \eta T \qquad (19)$$

Note that the noise temperature decreases linearly with decreasing physical temperature. However, the charge transport at nom temperature over the Schottky barrier is due to thermionic emission and decreases when the temperature is lowered. Hence for temperatures on the order of 50 K to 100 K and hence, temperature-independent tunneling becomes the dominant process for electrons passing the barrier, and the equivalent temperature of 6 Eq. (6) becomes

$$T_{\rm conv} = \frac{qh}{h} \sqrt{\frac{N_0}{4\epsilon m^2}}$$
(20)

where N_1 is the doping concentration in the epitaxial layer, r the dielectric constant of the semiconductor, and m the effective mass of the electron. In practice, T_{maxel} is 50 K for $N_z = 3 \times 10^{16}$. This doping concentration is recommended for masses operated at 15 K or 20 K, a typical temperature for commercial cryogenic cooling machines.

1/f Noise. There is excess noise at low frequencies (of the order 100 kHz and lower for a good diode), which is related to surface phenomena at the metal-semiconductor interface. This noise is normally not important in mixers for millimeter wave receivers. However, it is an unportant limiting factor for certain radar and communications systems.

Thermal Noise. The series resistance is essentially an ordinary resistor and consequently causes ordinary thermal dobnsoul mose. The main mose contribution of this type mores from the substruct (corresponding resistance $R_{\rm orb}$) and is denoted as $T_{\rm orb}$.

Hot Electron Noise and Intervalley Scattering Noise. Since the diode area is very small in order to make the capacitance reasonably small, a high current density is required to make r_j . *R*., This means that electrons may obtain energies larger shan

the energy related to their thermal movement and hot electron noise is obtained. The increase in energy also means that electrons can be transferred from the main T valley in the E-k diagram (for defauls see Ref. 3) to the upper L valley, causing fluctuations in the electron velocity and *intervalley scattering* noises occur essentially in the undepleted part of the epilayer (resistance R_{ep}) and are denoted as T_{ep}

Large Signal Analysis by Harmonic Ralance

When the nuclinear device is pumped by the LO, hormonic currents are created/e.g., sor Refs. 4, 5, or 6). The equivalent circuit of a Schottky diode mixer is shown in Fig. 8. Note that the series resistance is assumed to be linear and will be included in the embedding circuit.

The current $I_{i}(t)$ contains harmonics of the IA pump frequency. $h_{W(t,t)}$ For a Schottky diode, this current consists of two parts: one that is associated with the nonlinear resistance $I_{i}(t)$, and one with the parallel nonlinear capacitance $I_{i}(t)$. We have [using now the complex notation; compare Eq. (2)]

$$I_{\mathbf{r}}(t) = i_{1}(t) + i_{4}(t) = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{k=\infty} I_{kk} e^{i^{k_{1}}(t)} - I_{r_{1}} = I_{r_{1},k}^{*}$$
(21) — 2

This current $I_i(t)$ flows through the embedding circuit, creating voltages at harmonic frequencies at $k\omega_{FF}$: namely,

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{k} e^{i k t_{k}} = V_{k} - V_{k}^{*}$$
(22)

The boundary conditions set by the *embedding circuit* require that

$$V_{\mathbf{k}} = -l_{\mathbf{x}}[Z_{i,\mathbf{r}}(k_{0,\mathbf{L}0}) + R_{i}(k_{0,\mathbf{L}0})] - \mathbf{k} = -12, -13, \dots, -1\infty$$
 (23)

$$V_{x1} = V_{122} - I_{ex1} [Z_{ex2} (1 \ln x_1) + R_1(1 \omega_{122})]$$
(24)

$$V_0 = V_{\rm er} - I_{\rm eb}[Z_{\rm e}(0) = R_{\rm e}(0)]$$
(25)

where $V_{1,0}$ and V_{de} are the 1.2) and defines voltages, respectively. The frequency dependence of P_n is due to the skin effect. If $V_1(t)$ is known, $t_0(t)$ and $t_0(t)$ (see Fig. 8) can be calculated from Eqs. (15) and (16). We now have a nonlinear problem to colve in order to determine T_{cb} and V_{cb} . Several iteration type methods have been suggested. See Refs. 4 and 5 for more details. Having determined the components I_k and V_k , we have V/t; and $I_k(t)$, and we can determine $(_d(t), (_d(t), g_d(t), and C_f(t), t)$

$$g_{\delta}(t) = \sum_{\tau=+\infty}^{\lambda=\infty} G_{\delta} e^{i \omega_{\Lambda,0} t} - G_{\delta} = Gr_{\Lambda}$$
(26)

$$C_{\mathbf{j}}(t) = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{k=\infty} C_{k} e^{i k v_{ij} t} \quad C_{k} = C^{*}{}_{k}$$
(27)

These equations together with the embedding impedance $Z_{i}(\omega)$ allow us to determine the small signal projectors of the mixer

Small Signal Analyses

The relation between the small signal current and voltage vectors $\delta |I|$ and $\delta |V|$ can be expressed in a more general form as

$$3I = Y d I$$
 (28)

where

$$Y_{nn} = G_{n-n} + g(\alpha_0 + m\omega_{1,0})G_{n-n}$$
⁽²⁹⁾

where for convenience we use ω_0 for ω_{00} . It is convenient to form an augmented Y matrix, Y, as indicated in Fig. 9. This augmented network contains the whole mixer; including diade and embedding network, but does not contain signal sources associated with these terminations. Since we define the signal sources as current sources, the augmented network in this case is open-circuited. For the augmented network

$$M = Y dV$$
(30)

ສາເພື່

$$Y = Y + \operatorname{diag}\left[\frac{1}{Z_{so} + R_{so}}\right]$$
(31)

Inverting Eq. (23) yields

$$31 = Z' dI$$
 (32)



Figure 8. Equivalent circuit of n maxer. For the antransic divide, C_1 and g_2 are achimest and are characterized in the time domain, while the divide series resistance R_1 and the embedding 10_1 +dence Z_2 are linear and can be described in the frequency domain.



tion of the mixer as a multifrequency listear multiport network. Notice that R₂ is included in $Z_{\mu\nu} = Z_{-\nu} + R_{\mu}$ In a more exact model, R, is frequency and bias dependent in this test we use $R_{\rm e2}$ for the armes resistance at the input frequency (fundamental mixer) and Rep for the serice resistance at the IP Index 0 (nd)cates parameters at the LF, on its the JF.

where

$$Z' = \frac{1}{Y} = \begin{bmatrix} \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \cdots & Z_{i_1} & Z_{i_2} & Z_{i_3} & \cdots \\ \cdots & Z_{i_1} & Z_{i_2} & Z_{i_3} \\ \cdots & Z_{-11} & Z_{-11} & Z_{i_{1-1}} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \end{bmatrix}$$
(33)

Miser Port Impedances

The part impedance Z_n m, defined in Fig. 9, can be determined if the corresponding embedding impedance is open-incuried. that is,

$$Z_m = Z_{max}$$
 (34)

where the subscript \sim means that Z non is evaluated for $Z_{co} = \infty$. The LF output impedance becomes

$$Z_{\rm opt} = Z_0 + R_{\rm opt} = Z_{\rm opt} + R_{\rm eff}$$
 (35)

Conversion Loss

The conversion loss of a mixer is defined as [compare Eq. (8)]

$$L = \frac{\text{Power available from source } Z_{e}}{\text{Power delivered to load } Z_{e}}$$
(36)

yielding the conversion has

$$L = \frac{1}{4(Z_{\rm sc})^2} \frac{|Z_{\rm sc}| + R_{\rm sd}|^2}{|R_{\rm s}(Z_{\rm s0})|} \frac{|Z_{\rm sc}| + R_{\rm sc}|^2}{|R_{\rm s}(Z_{\rm sc})|}$$
(37)

where Z_{ik} is defined in Fig. 9 (see figure raption) and Z_{ik} is the DI diagonal element of Eq. (33), A more general expression for the conversion loss from any sideband j to any other sideband i is

$$L_{0j} = \frac{1}{4|Z_{0j}^{*-1}|} \frac{(Z_{0j} + R_{0j})^2}{R_{0j}Z_{0j}} \frac{(Z_{0j} + R_{0j})^2}{R_{0j}Z_{0j}}$$
(3b)

Equivalent Noise Temperature of the Mixer

The equivalent input noise temperature of the mater, T_M , is defined as the temperature that the real part of the Z_{et} (lower sideband) must have in order to generate the same nuise voltage

370 FREQUENCY CONVERTERS AND MIXERS

as the diode itself generates during mixer operation. It is

$$T_{M} = \frac{\langle k V_{N0}^{2} \rangle}{4k\Delta f} \frac{|Z_{Pl} - R_{Pl}|^{2}}{|Z_{Pl}|^{2}R_{Pl}|Z_{Pl}|}$$
 (39)

where (\$V 2 yoNO) is

$$\langle \delta V_{M0}^{I} \rangle = Z_{0}^{*} \langle \delta I_{g}^{*} \delta I_{g}^{*} \rangle Z_{0}^{*} + Z_{0}^{*} \langle \delta I_{g} \delta I_{g} \rangle Z_{0}^{*}$$
 (40).

where

$$\langle M_{1m}\delta | q_m \rangle = \frac{4kT_{m}R_{m}\Delta f}{(Z_{m} + R_{m})^2} \quad m \neq 0$$

$$\frac{4kT_{m}R_{m}\Delta f}{(Z_{m})^2} \quad m = 0$$
(4)

and

$$\langle \delta I_{an} \delta I_{an}^{a} \rangle = 2\rho I_{m,b} \chi_{I}^{\mu} \qquad (42)$$

 I_{m-n} is the current component at the harmonic (m-n) and Z_{p-n} is the zero row of the matrix Z'_{n} Eq. (50) Z_{c1} is defined in Fig. 9.

The mose temperature as defined in Eq. (42) is the single sidehand noise temperature for the lower sidehand.

Knowing the divde parameters, the Schottky mixer can be analyzed with high accuracy using commercial software

DIODF MIXER TOPOLOGIES AND MIXER DESIGN

There are a number of different approaches one may consider in designing mixers. Symmetry properties are one way of definitie basic types of mixers, namely,

- The single conted unixer with one diode and a communipput port for the signal and the LO.
- The single balanced mixer with two dixles and separate ports for signal and LO.
- The double balanced mixer with four diodes and separate parts for signal and LO.
- 4 The double-double balanced unxer with eight diedes and separate ports for signal and 6.0

For millimeter and submillimeter wave applications, types 1 and 2 have been implemented experimentally and are described in the literature, while all four types are common in microwave frequency applications.

The performance of either mixer depends on the *impedances* seen at the signal, at the IF and at the harmonic sidebands. The LO should experience a reasonably good match in order to reduce the LO power requirement. In practice, the impedances at the harmonics of the LO and at the harmonic sidebands are very difficult to control. The exception is the impedance at the image frequency, which can often be controlled. The impedance is illustrated by referring to properties of a typical broadband mixer (when $L_s = L_0$ used in a single sideband application. In such a mixer a considerable amount of the signal power (* 25%) may end up at the image frequency.



Figure 10. Example for a single ended mixer configuration. Note that the discriptional complex used for injecting the 1.0 couples only 105 of the 1.0 power to the mixer duole, and that the couplex consequently attenuates the signal by a factor of 0.9

It is also advices that the *mase* entering the material the image port will be converted with the same efficiency as the 11 signal at the signal port, adding to the system noise.

Single Ended Mixer

A single ended mixer has one input port, used for both the signal and the LO. Hence it is necessary to incorporate a circuit in front of the mixer itself for injecting the LO. This circuit should not significantly alternate the signal. For example, using a 10 dB directional cooper will alternate the signal $\sim 10^{\circ}$ and add noise (see Fig. 10). A common way of introducing the LO in microwave and multimeter wave mixers is to use a narrow band diplexer, for example, a filter structure in the input waveguide or a quasa-optical interferometer in the signal path in front of the mixer (e.g., see Ref. 10).

Single Balanced Mixers

(n single balanced mixers, the signal and the LO enter the mixer through different ports, isolated from each other. Either 90 or 160 hybrids or balans are used (Fig. 10(a)) see Ref. 1 for details). Figure 11(b) shows a low-frequency equivalent circuit



Figure 11. Basic design of the sing of bolanced mozer (a) and equivalogr encount of the table hybrid mixer (b).



Figure 12. A double balanced miner configuration, the mag mixer.

of a single balanced maxer. The paths of the signal current i_{μ} and the LO current $i_{L'}$ indicate that they add in one diode and subtract in the other. This causes an imbalance in A, which will slowly cycle at a frequency equal to the IP. Hence the IF power can be subtracted between A and ground. Note that if the LO is more, this will not cause any output noise at the IF port.

The use of two diodes rather than one means that the mover can handle twice as much power for the same intermedulation as for the single ended mixer. In summary, for the single balanced mixer

- The signal, LO, and D^r parts are isolated from each other.
- The LO muse cancels at the IF port.
- The power handling is superior to the single ended mixer.

Double Balanced Mixers

Essentially, a double balanced mixer is constructed from two single balanced mixers, coupled in parallel and 160 out of phase. The doubles can be arranged in either a star of ring configuration (see Fig. 12). The ring can be arranged very conjust as a monolothic circuit.

If the doddes are perfectly identical, the symmetry ensures perfect isolation between the signal and the LO ports. The tapology also yields cancellation at the IF port of the even harmonics of both the signal and the LO frequencies. This also means that intermodulation is reduced as compared to the mixers mentioned above. Hence the advantages of the double balanced inter are

- Excellent isolation between the signal, LO, and IF parts.
- 1.0 noise concellution at the IF port.
- Superior power handling compared to the double balanced nuxer
- Superior intermolulation properties compared to the double balanced mixer

Double-Double Balanced Mixers

Double-double balanced mixers are constructed using two double balanced mixers. Eight doides are used, leading to further power bandling capacity and still better intermodulation properties.

Image Rejection and Image Bohancement

The system properties of a single stdeband nuiser receiver can be unproved by introducing a proper curruit at the image fre-



Figure 13. A single sideband mixer using two balanced movem and two 90. hybrids. Note that at one output port the approxideband appears, while at the other output part the lower sideband oppears.

quency. It is of particular importance to reactively terminate the image frequency is that an aignal power is last at the image frequency and no noise for any other unwanted signal) at the image frequency can be converted to the IF frequency Furthermore, if the reactance at the image frequency is chosen properly, the "signal will be reflected back into the mixer," such that the inniversion is *enhanced* and/or the noise properties are improved. A stephand filter can be udded in the input transmission line to prevent one sideband from reaching the diod. The distance to the diade is chosen to optimize the mixer conversion loss. The conversion loss becomes several decibels lower than the typical 5 dB for a summon broothand merowave mixer.

A most elegant method to realize a single sideband mixer is shown in Fig. 13. By using two balanced mixers and two 90 hybrids, it is possible to arrange that the upper sideband and the lower sideband exit the mixer at different ports (see Ref. 1 or 4 for details).

HARMONIC MIXERS

In a harmonic mixer a harmonic of the LO frequency, n_{OLO} , is used for mixing: that is, the LF is obtained as

$$|\omega_0\rangle = |a_0\rangle_D - n_s \tag{48}$$

Harmonic mixers are practical when it is difficult to realize LLP power at a frequency near the signal frequency. They are particularly useful as millimeter and submillimeter waves.

Large harmonic numbers *n* are often used when maximum sensitivity is not required. For example, in spectrum analyzers large harmonic numbers may be used.

two Diode Subharmonically Pumped Mixers

If two diades are used in an antiparallel configuration (see Fig. 14), the small signal conductance will vary with twice the LO frequency. Hence the mixer will convert signals located near 2 f_{10} , and no conversion will occur near f_{10} . The advantage of the two diade to single doxle subharmonically jumped mixers is that no conversion can occur at the fundamental frequency. Moreover, the LO noise will contribute less, since the frequency difference between the signal and the LO is of the order f_{10} . Another advantage is inherent self-protection against large peak reverse voltage burgant.

PARAMETRIC FREQUENCY CONVERSION

In a parametric frequency converter, a continuear reactance, such as a back based Schuttky dude, is used. Common parametric components are frequency downconvectors, frequency



Pigure 14. Subharosonically pumped mixer using antiparallel dindes: (a) the surver varcuit, (b) the de *l*-*V* characteristic, and is) the resulting wavefurms for the LO voltage and the time-dependent small signal conductance.

opconverters, and frequency multipliers, in a frequency downsonverter, a strong pump signal f_{2D} and signal f_3 (strong or weak depending on application) are applied to the device. The subpat frequency is

$$f_{mn} = (f_{111} - f_{21} - \text{frequency downconversion} - - \cdot 44)$$

For a frequency apconversion, we have

$$f_{\text{curr}} = (f_{1,0} + f_{1} - f_{2})$$
 frequency opening crossing (45)

The signal frequency in this case may be much lower than the LO (or pump) frequency, that is, the output frequency is not far from the LO frequency.

Note that if the device has an resistave parasities, no power is last in the device itself, and 100^{cs} efficiency is theoretically possible. However, power may go to harmonics or harmonic sidehands and there are always some parasitic resistances present, for example, the series resistance in a Schottky diodo.

If we select a large ratio $f \cdot \alpha/f_{\alpha}$ the frequency upconverter may have high gain. This is possible since, by proper choice of the circuit parameters, parametric amplification is achieved (e.g., see Ref. 7). In the case of pain, one has negative resistance in the circuit and one may face stability problems. However, it is very difficult to make a broadband parametric upconverter, since proper impedances have to be realized at f_{α} , f_{10} , and f_{acc} . Parametric converters are used much less today than a few decades ago. The mason is that the quality of mixer divdes and FETs has improved significantly and it is much easier to make duale (or FET) mixers very broadband. This is the reason why resistive invers are preferred in most applications. Note that FET mixers can be designed for a conversion guin greater than one

A classical reference concerning variator circuits is the book by Penfield and Rafuse (7). A parametric downconverter, like the Schottky mixer, can be analyzed using commercial software.

NEGATIVE RESISTANCE DIODE MIXERS

In the current-voltage (l-V) characteristic of, say, the Esaki tunnel doxle or the resonant tunneling doube, there is a region that has a differential negative resistance. This means that the mixer can have conversion gain. Thenel doube mixers have been built and tested. However, a large junction capacitance made the frequency range quite limited, which together with propower handling, stability problems, and less favorable noise properties means that these mixers have very lattle practical use today.

SELF-OSCILLATING MIXERS

The negative resistance devices can us well promote an oscilation. Hence it is possible to design circuits where the LO is delivered by the same device that is performing the mixing Besides the devices mentioned already Gunn diodes have also been used in self-oscillating nuxers. The sensitivity of such nuxers is limited. The advantage may be in applications where the best performance is less important and the lawest price is required, as, for instance, in low price Deppler rador applications.

BOLOMETER MIXERS

Bolometer mixers have been constructed since the 1950s. Since the electromagnetic absorption in bolometer devices can be esscattally frequency independent, it should be possible to do mixing to several terahertz. In this type of mixer, one is using the fact that when two signals at slightly different frequencies are superimposed the resulting signal can be described as a signal which is amplitude modulated with the difference frequency. The first useful bolometer mixer was based on InSh devices cooled to temperatures of a few kelvin. When the device absorbs the modulated signal, the electron temperature becomes modulated, leading to a modulation in the device resistance. The theory is described in more detail in the section entitled "The Hot Electron Bolameter Mixer" and by Arnms et al. (8).

However, the thermal time constant for the InSb device is long, allowing a maximum iF of only about 2 MHz. A numrement balanceter mixer is based on a two-dimensional electron gas in HEMT materials allowing an IF to about 1 GHz (see Ref. 9). However, the most successful hot electron balanceter maxer so far is the superconducting hot electron balancemixer.

MIXERS BASED ON SUPERCONDUCTING DEVICES

Roam temperature mixers for frequencies from about 100 CHz to a few THz frequencies use only Schottky diodes. However, if sensitively is an asue le.g., as in radio astronomy:, there is a better alternative in mixers based on superconducting devices cooled to a few kelvin. Low mise superconductor-maulator-superconductor (SIS) mixers have excellent performance up to



Figure 15. Schematic description of typical deviar setup for a submit limeter wave SIS or HEB mixer. The LO and the signal are entering a gether through the dewartworkow. The radiation is focused on the arterna using a hyperhemicpherical lens, downkorive ited to the IF in the nonlinear device and finally amplified by the IF emplation. In this figure the antenna is illustrated as a spiral antenna. There are mony other possible planar antenna structures available (see Ref. 9 for details).

about 1 THz (see Ref. 10). Superconductor bot electron bolometer (HEB) mixers are the best alternative for frequencies above 1 THz.

In Fig. 15 is shown a schematic of a receiver (except for the the input quasi-optics) based on superconducting devices

The SIS Mixer

The SIS mixer is also called the "quasiparticle mixer." Due to the extremely strong numbrearity in the I/V characteristic of the SIS device, quantum effects are important. Indeed, for terlain characteristic of embedding impedance network, shis can result in a conversion gain (see Ref. 11 for details).

In a superconductor and at a temperature below the superconducting transition temperature, electrons form pairs, called Conject pairs. When they do so, the energy of the electrons near the Fermi energy is lowered by a certain amount Λ . Hence to break up a Cooper pair, an energy of 2Δ is required. This can be described in terms of a bandgap with the energy 2Δ , as shown in Fig. 16.

In the SIS numer, a functing preparation is used. In the device, two superconducting films are separated by a thin 1~20 Å: layer of insolator. Under bias, Cooper pairs on one side of the isolator break up into two electrons (quasiparticles) that



Figure 17. Typical *I-V* characteristic of a SIS element. The thin line inducates the shape of the pumped *I* – *V* characteristic, where $f_{1,0}k \in 1.4$ meV ($f_{1,1} = 325$ GHz), while the thick line is for the unpumped device.

individually tunnel through the isolator and recombine on the other side of the insulator. This is allustrated in Fig. 16. It is interesting to note that the density of states near the band edges becomes "moment." This is one important reason why there is such a sharp increase in the current when the device is biased to p voltage $V = 2 \Delta/e$ (e is the charge of the electron). The I/V characteristic is shown in Fig. 17. Note that the voltage scale is in mV, and that the *V* corresponds to 240 GHz. The steps in the I/V course correspond to de bias voltages, where exactly $eV = 2\Delta - hf/V \approx 1.35$ mV. Since the I-V characteristic is strongly annlinear within a fraction of a millioult, the mixer is operating in the quantum regime. Compare also Fig. 18, where the I-V characteristic of an SIS device is compared with a Schattky duxle.





Figure 16. The SIS device order has (s_i) or bias, (b) for a voltage bask $V \sim 2.5/n$ electrons will tunnel from right to the left: c) submelline is assisted by a photon with energy $hI_{(1)}$ for the bins voltage $V = (A - hI_{(1)})/n$.





Figure 19. Current voltage (*J.V.* characteristic of a HEB with and without a LO. At the operating point, $V_{CV} I_{CI} = R_{CI}$. For large bias voltage, the whole strip is normal conducting ($R = R_{CI}$), I_r is the crucial market, the maximum current in the completely superconducting state

The Schottky diole abranaly is not very nonlinear within a voltage interval of 1 mV and is therefore operating fully as a classical mixer for frequencies up to several torahortz. It should also be mentioned that the required LO power is very low, on the order nanowatts. This is of great importance for submillimeter wave mixers, where substantial LO power is difficult to obtain.

The best SIS devices are realized in so-called Nb trilayer technology (see Ref. 11). The device structure is Nb/Al₂O₃/Nb, where the ≈ 20 Å thick Al₂O₃ serves us the insolution in the SIS device. For frequencies above about 700 GHz, one is trying to develop devices based on NbN, which has a higher bandgap (≈ 1.2 THz; then Nb. So far these attempts have not been very successful

The basic noise in the SIS miver is shot noise. Comparing the I V characteristics of the SIS device and Schottky diode and using the classical theory described in the section entitled "Schottky Diode Movers," one can see that the the mixer noise and the conversion loss are essentially lower for the SIS mixer. However, the theory must include quantum effects (see Ref. 11 for more details). This loads to a conversion gain that is possibly larger than one, a fact that has been demonstrated in practice.

Hot Electron Bolometer Mixer

A bolometer consists of an absorber that is heated by radiation and a temperature-dependent resistance as a "thermometer." The bolometer has a thermal time constant r_0 briting the maxmum detectable modulation frequency of the absorbed power This means that the maximum feasible IF is $f_{\rm IF} = 1/(2\pi)_{\rm O}$.



Figure 21. Equivalent circuit of bolumeter with load.

When the UO and signal are added together, the instantaneous power variation is described by $|V_{11}, \cos(\omega_{10}t) - v_{*}\cos(\omega_{10}t)|^2$ $(1/R_{\rm RF})(\sec Fig. 3)$. If the bolometer can respond to ω_{12} but not to $(\omega_{10} + \omega_{1}), 2\omega_{10}$, and $2\omega_{11}$ the bolometer temperature and the resistance will be approximately propurional to $P_{122} + P_{1}$ $= 2\sqrt{P_{10}/P_{10}}\cos(\omega_{10}t)$. Note that the "slow" response of the bolometer device means that there are no harmonics of the LO created and no signal power is transformed to the rm age frequency, as is the case for both the SIS and Scholtky mixers.

A superconducting his electron belowerer (HEB) consists of one or several superconducting thin the strips in parallel, de posited on a substrate, for example, silicon, single crystalline quartz, or supplier. The strips are cooled to the superconducting state and then heated by de and nucrowave power to temperatures near the superconducting to normal transition temperature, where the superconductor will gradually become normal (Fig. 19).

The maximum IF is determined by the electron temperature relaxation time r_0 , that is, $f_{1F} < 1/(2 \pi r_0)$, and a major issue is to find ways of making the time constant r_0 short enough. Figure 20 indicates how cooling accurs in the so-called phonon-cooled and the diffusion-rooted bolometer, respectively (compare Refs 10 and 12).

When operating the inner, the device is absorbing LO power $(P_{1,i})$ and signal power (P_{ij}) as well as power from the de bras supply $(P_{4i} - V_{1i}I_{ij})$. When the power increases, alwoosly the electron temperature increases and the resistance of the device increases as $\Delta R = (dR_{ij}, dP) \ \Delta P = C_0 \ \Delta P$. Figure 21 shows a simple equivalent circuit of the mixer, where the device is biased by a constant de current. Consequently, the modulation at the P of the resistance will cause an IP voltage to appear across the device, causing an IF current through the IP load



Figure 20, Two types of bolometer devices: (a) phonen cocled and (b, diffusion-cooled,

resistance R_0 . The IF current ΔI is superimposed on the dobias current through the mixer device $R_0(P)$ and will cause a "modulation" of the dc power $\Delta P_{cc} \cosh(n)$. The total power dissipated in the device is then

$$\begin{aligned} P(t) &= P_0 + \Delta P(t) \\ &= P_{0t} + \Delta P_{0t} \cos(\alpha_0 t) + P_{0t} + P_t + 2\sqrt{P_{1t}P_t} \cos(\alpha_0 t) \\ &\qquad (46) \end{aligned}$$

Assuming that do and RF power affects the resistance by the same arount, the IF modulation of the device resistance becomes $C_0 |\Delta P(t)|$. There is a resulting bias point of the device $V = V_0$ and $I = I_0$. Defining the device do resistance R_0 as the time average of $R_0(P)$, that is, $R_0 = V_0/I_0$, one obtains (8) the conversion gain,

$$G = \frac{P_{1F}}{P_{1}} = 2C_{0}^{2} \frac{P_{20}P_{0}}{(R_{1} + R_{2})^{2}} + \frac{R_{1}}{R_{2}} \left(1 - C_{0}\frac{P_{0}}{R_{0}} + \frac{R_{1}}{R_{0}} - \frac{R_{0}}{R_{0}}\right)^{2}$$
(47)

where $C_0 = dR_0/dP$, R_0 is the IF load resistance, P_{12} , P_3 , P_{120} , and P_A , are the IF, signal, LO, and dc power, respectively, dissipated in the device.

The commonly assumed fundamental limit of -6 dB gain for hot electron mixers is not valid if a negative differential resistance of the unpumped I-V curve is available (see Ref. 13 for detailat. The load resistance for maximum gain is equal to the differential resistance of the I-V curve at the boas point of the pumped mixer.

Experimental Results

In experiments on phonon-cooled NbN HEB mixers, noise temperatures of about 400 K (DSB) have been obtained at 600 GHz, and 1000 K (DSB) at 900 GHz. At 2.5 THz a mose temperature of about 1400 K has been obtained. The renversion loss is typically 10 dB, including losses from the optics in front of the mixer

The noise of these mixers is caused by thermal fluctuations in the balometer device (causing resistance fluctuations) and by Nyquist noise. For diffusion-cooled mixers a noise temperators of 650 K DSB at 533 GHz was measured by Skalare et al. (14). These experiments indicate that an IF bandwidth of at least 3 GHz is achievable. Later experiments show that it should be possible to obtain at least 50% higher IF bandwidths in practical mixers. A crucial number is the maximum IF bandwidth. For a phonon cooled HEB mixer, a 3.7 GHz IF bandwidth (1.3 dB reduction in conversion gain) has been measured and for diffusion-cooled between 2 and 6 GHz. While this bandwidth is defined for a *conversion laws* increase of 3 dB, the bandwidth defined for when the *noise temperature* has increased by 3 dB is about 1.5 times larger (~5.5 GHz for the phonon-cooled one).

The LO power needed is less than 100 nW, which is much lower than needed for Schuttky diade mixers.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1 S. A. Masse. The RF and Microcase Circuit Design Confederate Netwood. MA: Artech Hause, 1996.

- F. L. Kollberg, Mixers and detectors, in K. Chang (ed.), Handback of Microware and Optimal Components. New York: Wiley, 1990.
- K. S. Yngresson. Microwate Semiconductor Devices, Norwell, MA Kluwer 1991.
- 4 S. A. Maaa. Misrowaw Mixers, 2nd ed., Norwand, MA: Artech House, 1990.
- S. A. Muass, Nonlinear Maximum Creation, Procataway, NJ (IEEE Press, 1997).
- D. N. Held, Conversion loss and noise of microwave and millimeterwove mixers, Part 1 Tacasy, and Part 2—Experiment, IEEE Trans. Macros. Theory Tech., 26, 49–61, 1978.
- 7 P Peofield and R. P. Kaluse. Variation Applications, Cambridge, MA MIT Press, 1962.
- F. Arams et al., Millumeter mixing and detection in bulk InSb, June, IEEE, 54: 308–316, 1966
- J.-X. Yang et al., Wide-bandwidth electron belometric mixers. A 2DEG prototype and potential for law noise THz incrivers, *IEEE Trans. Micros. Theory Tech.*, 41: 541-589, 1990.
- R. Blandell and C. E. Tong, Submillimeter receivers for radio astranomy, *Proc. IEEE*, **90**: 1702–1720, 1992.
- M. J. Wengler, Sohmillimeter wave detection with superconducting tunnel diodes, Phys. JEEE 80 (1810–1826, 1992)
- J. E. Carlstvan, and J. Zuradernas, Millimeter and submittimeter rechargoes, in W. R. Stone (ed.), *Reviews of Radio Science 1985* 7995, London: Oxford Univ. Press, 1996.
- H. Ekstrom et al., Conversion gain and maise of ambian superconducting hat-electron-enisers, *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.* 43: 939–947, 1995.
- 14 A. Skenisce et al., A heterodyne receiver at 503 GHz using a diffusion cooled superconducting hot electrics mixer, *IERE Disus. Appl. Supercond.*, 5, 2236–2240, 1995.

LECHO ANGELOV EIUX L. KOLAGERG HEIQURGE ZHATH Chalmers University of Technology

FUSION REACTORS

NUCLEAR FUSION

The fission plants which now provide about 20% of the world's electricity accomplish this feat through neutron-driven chann reactions in which heavy atomic nuclei, such as 11²²⁵, split apart into lighter nuclei, releasing large amounts of energy (on the order of 180 million eV) in the process, Beginning about 1951. when now of the first fusion programs was begun at Prince ton University by Lyman Spitzer, Jr., many of the world's developed nations, as well as some developing ones, have pursold research to eventually produce a fundamentally different. type of nuclear reactor. Since 1958, when research on peaceful uses of middan energy was declassified, these many countries have shared their research and op-nly collaborated, even during decades when some of the principal contributing mations wore political adversaries. This new type of reactor is a fusion reactor, and the very great progress which has been made in the decades since 1951 stands as a landmark to what may be the most universal and long-lived collaborative effort in human history.

Fusion reactors, like fission reactors, will use exothermic nuclear reactions to release energy. The fusion reactions themselves, however, are very different in character than are those in fission reactors, and they require entirely different conditions in order to proceed at an acceptably high rate for power plant applications. Due to these differences, fusion reactor designs will look very different from those of fission reactors. Moreover, many of the problems that have had to be surmounted in the pursuit of fusion power are of a fundamentally different nature than those encountered in making fission reactors practical

Nuclear fusion is a reaction in which two atomic nuclei merge to form a heavier element. If the reaction is an exothermic one, then the fusion process will result in the release of energy. This energy is carried as kinetic energy by the reaction products, consisting of the product nucleus (which is positively charged) and another particle, such as a neutron (which is electrically neutral) or a proton (which is positively charged) and other, with the result that fusion reactions can proceed at sigoificant rates only at very high temperatures which give the nucles sufficient energy to overcome their repulsion and approach each other close enough to merge. Alternatively, this same end may be achievable by using somewhat lower temperatures, but at high densities achieved by compressing the fusion fuel with high symmetrically applied pressures.

The electrostatic repulsive force between two nuclei is proportional to the product of the positive charges (and thus to the atomic numbers) of the two reactant nuclei. This gives rise to a potential barrier, referred to as a coulomb barrier, which the approaching mudei must overcome in order to merge. Due to quantum mechanical tunneling, some pairs of nuclei can fuse even when their combined kinetic energy is less than that required to exceed the coulomb barrier. However, the likelihood of this turnucling occurring declines very rapidly as the kinetic energy of the reactants fails further below the Coulomb barrier. height. For most nuclear reactants, the reaction rate drops to inconsequential levels if the approaching nuclei do not have kinotic energies of at least 70% to 80% of the barrier height. For heavier nuclei, the height of the Coulomb barrier becomes several to many millions of electron volts (MeV), where an electron volt is a unit of energy corresponding to the energy one electron games when it falls through a potential difference of UV A temperature of 1000 eV (1 keV) corresponds, in more conventional units, to about 10,640,000 C.

Thus, in order to fuse most of the elements in the periodic table, one would need to cause them to approach each other at energies of several to many MeV. This can be accomplished with particle accelerators for nuclear physics research purposes, but is not practical for producing net power with significant quasiticies of thermal reactants. As a consequence, only the lightest elements in the periodic table have sufficiently large probabiities (also called reaction cross sections) of undergoing nuclear fusion for them to be considered as fuels for fusion reactors.

Fosion reactions drive the core of the sun at a temperature thought to be roughly 10 million to 11 million. C. Fusion also powers all the other stars, and thos supplies most of the universe's observable energy. Our sun, is common with other main sequence stars, obtains its energy through a number of nuclear fusion reactions, beginning with the fusion of 2 protons into deutemain. The deuteron is accompanied by a positron and a neutrino, and together they carry 1.44 MeV of energy. The reaction probabilities (or cross sections) for this and the succeeding solar nuclear reactions are much the small to be of any use to a commercial fusion reactor on the earth's surface. The sun is able to produce enormous annunts of energy with these reactions only because it is very large compared to the carth. The sun has a diameter of about 897,000 mi and, because of its size and its gravity, has excellent energy confinement. The time for energy produced in the sun's fusion driven core to reach the sun's surface is estimated to be of the order of thousands of years or more.

Because a practical fusion reactor for electricity production needs to be much smaller than the sun, it will have to rely upon different nuclear fusion reactions with larger cross sections, and it will also need to aperate at temperatures that are at least 10 to 20 times those of the sun's core. Temperatures in this range were achieved within a mirror confinement device in 1979 and within the Tokamak Fusion Text Reactor (TFTR) at Princeton University in the mid-1980s, and have now also been obtained on the Joint European Torus (JET) tokamak in England, and the JT-60U tokamak of Japan. Ion temperatures as high as 300 million to 500 million. C (ranghly 30 to 50 times the temperature of the sun's core) were mutinely preduced in Princeton University's TFTR over a period of yours.

FUSION REACTOR FUELS

There are a number of nuclear fusion reactions which have cross sections sufficiently large to be potential candidates as fuels for commercial fusion reactors. These are lated below, where D represents a deuteron, the nucleos of ²H. T stands for a triton, the nucleus of ³H, and the energies in parentheses are the amounts of kinetic energy each of the reaction products carries away from a fusion event. At a stands for a neutron, and a p for a proton, the two types of baryons which occur in atomic nuclei

$$\begin{split} D + T &\to {}^{4}\text{He}(3.52 \text{ MeV}) + n(14.06 \text{ MeV}) \\ D + D &\to {}^{-1}(1.01 \text{ MeV}) + p(3.02 \text{ MeV}) \\ D + D &\to {}^{5}\text{He}(0.82 \text{ MeV}) + n(2.45 \text{ MeV}) \\ D + {}^{4}\text{He} &\to {}^{4}\text{He}(3.67 \text{ MeV}) + p(14.67 \text{ MeV}) \end{split}$$

Of these reactions, the D + T reaction has by far the largest cross section at energies of tens of keV, which is the region which should be obtainable in the first generation of commercial fusion reactors, For a fusion reactor with a thermal reacting papalation, the parameter which describes the fusion reaction rate is (σn) , where σ is the nuclear reaction cross section, and ι is the relative speed of the routing nuclei. The angle brackets mean that the product of *ac* is averaged over the Maxwelhan volocity. distributions of the reactants. This forces reactivity parameter is also much larger for the D + T reaction than for the other possible far) mixtures. Due to the importance of the reactions arising from the high energy tail of the Maxwellian velocity distrabutions, the aptimum range for ignition of a D = T fire! mix lies neross a range of about 20 keV to 40 keV, well within the operating range of some of the largest of existing fusion devices. These experimental devices have not actually reached agoition. because, although their temperatures were adequate, the prodact of the density and the energy confinement time was not yet. sufficiently large. The energy confinement time is a measure

of how long is required for energy to look from the plasma. In the 1950s a typical experimental device had an energy confinement time of a few milliseconds for the overall plasma; by the mid-1990s this reached values of as much as 1.4 c.

In addition to the magnitude of the reactivity as a function of temperature, there are also other factors which bear upon the case with which different fusion fuels can be used in a commercially viable reactor. There are two types of radiation loss which take energy from the confined fuel and transport it deracily to the outside, and both of these tend to be more serious for higher temperatures. The first of these is bremsstrahlung. which scales in intensity proportional to the square of the deasaty lines the square root of the temperature. For $D \in T$ fueled. mactors, this would be a relatively tolerable portion of the overall power balance. However, for the other facls it would play a larger role. For approaches to fusion mactors which employ strong magnetic fields, the electron synchrotron radiation becurries a major factor at the higher temperatures (60 keV to 120) keV) required by reactions involving D + D or $D = {}^{0}Mc$. Thus, the appeal of a D + T fuel mix in at least the early electricityproducing fusion reactors arises from two major factors: the fusion reactivity is much higher at temperatures which can be reached by some of today's fusion devices, and the radiation loss rates from bremsstrahlung and synchrotron radiation are lower for likely reactor conditions. Synchrol rop radiation would be less important for alternate plasma confinement schemes which do not use strong magnetic fields, but these approaches have not been developed as far as the strong field path to fusion.

Deuterium Foel

Deuterium is a stable, naturally occurring isotope of hydrogen. On the earth, one out of every 6700 atoms of hydrogen is deuterium. Thus, enormous supplies of deuterium are available from the earth's water. If later generations of reactors operate with the D + D reaction, then there is enough fuel to supply the world's energy meets for bundreds of millions to fullions of years, depending upon assumptions about the future growth of energy usage. The deuterium can be concentrated and extracted from any water by utilizing such enrichment techniques as diffusion through a series of filters or by electrolysis.

The earth's water contains about 4×10^{12} kg of deuterium. If this were used to fuel D = T fusion reactors with an overall operating efficiency of 35%, then this would allow the production of about 10^{52} GJ of electricity, which is close to 3×10^{11} the present annual electricity production of the entire world. As we will see later in this section. The real limit on the annual of energy potentially available from D + T fusion reactors is the supply of feedstock to produce the tritism used in the reaction

If later reactors used D = D as their primary reaction, then, hiscause this reaction is less exothermic that the D = T reaction, and because two deuterium atoms, instead of one, would be required for each reaction, then the estimate of total electricity production if all the deuterium in the waters of the world were used would drop to about 10^{21} GJ, which is still a very large number, and is equivalent to about 3×10^{10} times the world's current annual production of electricity. The cost of deuterium is of the rough order of one dollar per gram (1), with a gram of deuterium being sufficient. In produce 300 GJ of electricity if fusioned with tritium. The cost of the deuterium fuel for a D + T reactor is thus about \$0,003 per gigajoule of electricity. If the deuterium were instead used in a D = D reactor, the cost would rise to about \$0.02 per gigapoole of electricity, which is still small compared to the cost of bolk electricity, which runs in the vicinity of \$20 per gigajoule. The fuel costs would be a negligible partian of the cost of electricity from a fusion plant, which would be dominated by capital costs and maintenance. It is likely that the price of electricity from a fusion reactor would be similar to or perhaps somewhat more expensive than electricity from a fission reactor, at least in the near term, while there is still indequate fuel for the simple ance-through fuel cycles used in most fission power plants.

Comparison to Fossil Fuel Energy Densities

Producing a gigawatt (10° W) of electricity for a year in a fusion reactor would require roughly 1000 kg of deaterium. Producing the same amount of electrical energy from a power plant hurning coal would require about $2 \times 10^{\circ}$ kg of carbon. The actual weight of coal required would of course be greater than this, since coal contains other elements besides carbon. The fact that the mass of fuel which has to be carried from the fuel concentration source to a fusion power plant is more than a factor of a million smaller than for competing fassis fuel plants is a significant advantage. It means that moving the fuel for an entire fusion economy would impose no requirements upon the transportation infrastructure, since the masses being moved would be thousands of kilograms instead of billions of kilograms

The fact that fusion reactors will be able to produce a gigawatt-year of electricity while using fuel which weighs more than a million times less than that required for a fossil fuel burning plant reflects the large difference between nurlear binding energies and electron binding energies. When a reaction occurs between two parent particles, the extra kinetic energy carried by the daughter particles comes from the change in the overall binding energy. This kinetic energy is distributed among the daughters in accordance with the laws of energy and momentum conservation, with the result that the lighter daughter carries must of the kinetic energy.

Burning a fissal fuel as a chemical reaction, which involves exchanges and rearrangements of the electrons outside the nuclei. The outer electrons of atoms typically have binding energies of several to a few tens of electron volts. Thus, the changes in the net binding energy that occur in chemical reactions, such as burning fossal fuels, are typically only a few electron volts. Nuclear binding energies on the other hand, are typically many millions of electron volts. This has the consequence that the changes in binding energy involved in nuclear reactions are also much greater than for chemical reactions. For instance, in the D - T reaction, 17.58 MeV of energy is released as kinetic energy in inverse proportion to the masses of the daughters. Thus, because a neutron weighs about one fourth as much as does an 'He nucleus, the neutron carries four times as much of the kinetic energy.

The disparity in binding energies between nuclear and chemical reactions arises in turn from the fact that the strong nuclear force is much more powerful across nuclear dimensions than is the coulomb force (which binds the negatively charged electrons to the positively charged nucleus) across dimensions typical of atoms. Consequently, the longe difference in the magnitudes of potential energy available per unit of mass available from nuclear, as opposed to chemical reactions, urises from a major difference in the strengths of two of the fundamental forces of nature. Thus, there is no possibility that any chemical reaction involving changes in electron configurations could ever hegen to approach the energy releases available from nuclear reactions

Tritium Fuel

Tritium, the heaviest isotope of hydrogen, is unstable. It decays by emitting a beta particle (an electron) with an average energy of 5.7 keV. This beta particle is easily stopped by even a piece of paper, so it does not pose a hazard unless it is ingested. Even then, unless large amounts (millicaries or more) are taken into the body, it is not very likely to produce ill effects. This is the result of two fuctors. The first is that the ionizing radiation released into the body by each trittum doony is much less than the decay energies of fission products (which are typically at least hundreds of keV) or the energies in the decay chains of heavy elements, which can cup to over 10 MeV). The second factor is that most of any triviam absorbed by the body would enter as water, and water is continuously excreted, with a biological half-life in human bodies of about 12 to 13 days. The absorption rate for tripum breathod into the lungs as gaseous molecular. hydrogen is very law, roughly 20,000 to 25,000 times less than for tritium in water melecules.

Thus, while trition should always be treated with due care, its possible health effects if mishandled do not appear to be significantly worse than shose of mony other chemicals mutinely handled by an industrialized society. Indeed, tritium is already used in conjunction with phosphors to provide light without the need of electricity in several applications such as school exit lights, some airfield landing lights, and some modern if longinated watches. These applications incorporate significant amounts of tratium. Tritoum powered school exit lights typically use about 15 to 25 curies of tritium, and emergency runway landing lights use much more. This compares with an amount on the order of 100 to 150 corries injected into the Tokamak Physica Test Reactor at Princeton University for a high-power fusion shot. This device has operated on a contine daily basis using deuterium and tritium fer experiments over a period spanning three and a balf years without any significant ancideuts involving tritium contamination of personnel or the environment. This demonstrates that tritium can be handled on a large fusion system without unduly impeding the manner in which it is operated, although the total quantities of tritium being handled were orders of magnitude lower than would be required in a power plant. The neutron-induced activation and damage of materials would be much more challenging in a fusion power plant.

While the beta decay of tritum does not result in either undue bazard potential or in excessive constraints upon the operation of fusion reactors, it does have an inconvenient consequence. The hulf-life (the time for half of the nuclei in any assemblage to undergo beta decay) is only 12.3 years. Thus, any promordial tritions that fell into the earth during its formation decayed away bilbors of years ago. Some tritum is continuously produced in the upper atmosphere through nuclear mactions initiated by cosmic rays. However, due to the short half-life of tritium it does not build up, so the equilibrium concentration of tritium in air is very low, and for los small to economically extract as fuel for a fusion fuel.

Consequently, tritium ford for fusion must be manufactured through nuclear reactions. The tritium used for present-day former experiments is made in heavy water portear fission reactors. However, the anumat produced by these reactors would be insufficient to fart a fastion economy Equally important, the long-term goal of fusion research is to produce fusion reactors which supplant fission reactors as we know them, su fusion reactors must produce their own termine. Fortunately, thesis feasible using reactions such as:

Tritlum Production

The incident neutrons that induce these reactions arise from the D - T reactions, and perhaps also from other reactions mitiated by the primary neutrons. The reaction involving ⁸Li has the advantage that it is exothermic, adding another 4.5 MeV of kinetic energy to the 17.58 MeV of kinetic energy released by the D - T reaction that produced the pentron. Moreover, because it is exothermic, there is no threshold energy for initiation of the reaction, meaning that even low-energy neutrons which have undergone many elastic and inelastic collisions can still produce tratium in this way.

The reaction involving 'Li is less advantageous in one sense, in that it is endothermic, consuming 2.5 MeV of kinetic energy in order to occur. This also means that only energetic neutrons above about if MeV (after allowing for center of mass effects among the reactants) can initiate this gradient. On the other hand, the n + iLi has the advantage that is does produce an additional neutron, which may initiate an n - iLi reaction to produce still another future.

Thus, for a fusion mactor using deuterium and trition fuel, the raw material for the production of tritium is lithium. The natural abundances of these lithium isotopes on earth are 7.4% for *La and 92.6% for *La. In order to produce sufficient tritium to at least continuously replenish its ford supply, a deuterium tritium fusion reactor would be surrounded by a lithium blanket which would produce tritium and capture the kinetic energy of the fusion neutrons and neutron-induced reaction products. As these particles slow down by collisions with the lithium blanket, their kinetic energy will be converted to beat. This heat will, in turn, ne used to produce steam to drive electricity producing turbines. This tritium-breeding blanket may also include other materials such as a neutron multiplier primarily through the reaction:

$$n = Be \rightarrow Be + n = n$$

This reaction is modestly endothermus, requiring an input of 1.67 MeV in order to occur, meaning that the threshold energy in the laboratory frame for incident neutrons is around 2 MeV.

If, for inscarre, ¹Li is used to make tritum, which is a fairly good approximation to using natural lithium), then with a systion efficiency of 33% for net electricity production, 1 kg of ⁷Li would be sufficient to produce 7×10^4 GJ of electricity from a D + T fusion power plant. At the present cost of roughly \$20 per kg (1) for natural lithium, the lithium in a tritium breeding blanket would nontribute only about \$0.001 per GJ of electricity of about \$20 per GJ. Thus, the price of breeding lithium could rise many fold before it had a noticeable impact upon electricity costs. In fact, if it appeared advisable to use an isotopurally coriched blanket, it would be possible to do so with only a modest effect open the price of electricity. The energetics are such that the electricity produced with a 1.5° blanket might be slightly changer than with a natural Li blanket, because the energy 4.8 MeV from the $n + 1.5^{\circ}$ reaction is much larger than the amount of energy required to enrich the littium

The United States has large reserves of easily extractable hthinm, mostly in dry salt lakes and saline lakes, which coold he produced at prices not greatly different from the 320 per kg of today. This reserve is estimated to be about 5×10^8 kg (1). With an electricity production efficiency of 33%, this would yield about $3 \times 10^{12}\,{
m GJ}$ of electricity, an amount that is of the order of 300-1000 times the primary energy consumption of the world. in the early 1990s, Inasmuch as the United States comprises only 6% of the earth's land area, it is reasonable to assume that the total world reserves of cheaply extractable lithium might be a few times greater than these United States reserves. Thus, the reserves of easily obtainable lithmin are sufficient to run. an economy powered by D + T fusion matters for a period of several to many centuries. There is a much greater amount lof order 10"; of lithium dissolved in the world's accors than in land deposits (1). This could be extracted at somewhat greater cost than from the saling lakes and dry salt heds. However, this cost prominent might be relatively modest. Dikes could be built across tida] flats to isolate snawater which could then be treated the same as saline lakes and salt flats after it had undergone sufficient solar evaporation.

Reduced Activation Fuels

The high-energy neutrons produced by fusion reactors using deuterium or deuterium + tritumn as faels undergo nuclear renctions with the materials forming the structure of the reactor. Some of these reactions result in the production of radioactive nuclei with a variety of half-lives. This activation of structural components, and particularly of those components close to the fusion core, makes maintenance more difficult, and also will require at least short term storage of removed components, or possibly longer term, depending (as will be discussed in a later section) upon the materials used to build the reactor. In addition, the energetic neutrons can introduce lattice deficits as they scatter, which in ture reduce the lifetones of components, requiring more frequent replacement.

In order to reduce these deleterious effects of the neutrons upon fusion reactor effectures, studies have been carried out to evaluate the feasibility of alternate fuels which would preduce fewer neutrons per unit of fusion energy released. These reactions include the D + "He + "He + p reaction and the p + ¹⁴B + 8 ⁴He. As discussed earlier, the first of these reactions requires higher temperatures than are presently obtainable, and is more subject to bremsstrahlung radiation losses, and is much magnetic fields than is a D + T fuel mixture. Due to have fusion cross sections and the higher to sume difficult for a seactor using the $\mu + {}^{1}B$ reaction.

A reactor using the $D + {}^{3}He = {}^{4}He = p$ reaction would have the advantage over a D - T reactor that both components of the first would be stable. It would still produce some 3.51 MeVunitrons from D + D reactors, and it would produce some 14.1MeV neutrons from the burnup of trittum produced in one of the two branches of the D = D reaction. However, almost all of the tritium produced would be consumed in D + T fusion reactions, and thus would not have the reactor. If the temperature and fueling profiles of such a reactor could be optimized appropriately, the neutron production rate could be reduced by a factor of 100 compared to a D = T reactor (2).

Unlike all the other potential fusion fuels, which occur in abundant commercially attractive concentrations on or near the earth's surface, ⁸He is extremely rare in the earth's crust. The small supplies that are available arise from the beta decay of tritian. This tritian, in turn, has to be bred through nuclear reactions of one sort or another. At the present time, all substantial production of tritian is carried out through neatmon capture reactions on centerion in heavy water nucleated fission reactors. In the future, tritium might be bred through other nuclear reactions either by fusion reacture or high-energy particle accelerators. However, if one must first produce tritions in order to obtain the "He fuel for a "He + D fusion reactor, then much of the rationale for using "He disappears.

What is needed in order that "He - D fusion reactors have the possibility of commercial viability is a naturally occurring source of "He in concentrations and quantities sufficient for conomic exploitation. As it happens, while no ²He deposits occur on earth, they do occur in abundance on the surface of the moon.

Lunar ¹He

Because the moon, unlike the earth, lacks both an atmosphere and a magnetic field, its surface is taked by the solar wind, a flux effenergetic particles driven outward from the sun-Among other constituents, this wind carries "He, which embeds itself in the lunar surface when it strikes. The moon, unlike the earth, does not have enough internal heat to drive place tretonic motions of its surfact now, nor for a very long time into its past. For similar reasons, much of its surface has not experienced fresh outpoorings of lays or ash since the internucoaled. The early moon probably possessed an atmosphere, but this long ago escaped into space because of the meon's weak gravity. Consequently, there has been no weather and no water. to erode and rearrange the lunar surface in billions of years. When our solar system was young, the moon, in commun with the earth, was subjected to an intense bombordment by jurge and small fragments of matter left over frum the formation of the planets. The ejecta arising from this bombardment deposited new layers of material over much of the moon's surface, barving pre-existing surface layers. However, most of the solar system debris was swept out of the planetary orbits long ago through the direct interception of fragments by the planets. and moons, and through deflections of the orbits of fragments aroung from close encounters with the gravitational fields of the much larger planets and means. The evidence of this early bombardment has evoded away on earth due to the offects of weather, wates plate tectoric movements of the land, and volcances. On the moon, however, which last these processes in the distant past, many large eraters still stand from the later periods of the bombardment.

As a result of these differences between the histories of the lunar and terrestrial surfaces, much of the lunar surface has remained rolatively undisturbed for perhaps billions of years. During all this time the solar wind has continued to deposit "He into the lunar surface, so that it now exists there at a concentration of about 10 parts per billion. A study of the feasphility and companies of collecting and concentrating the 'Hefrom the dust which covers much of the lunar sorface found that, even after including the high transportation costs of carrying equipment to the moon and sending the ⁷He back, this would be economically feasible if a commercially visible 'He + D reactor could be developed (3). As discussed earlier, however, the parameters required for a ³He + D reactor to be visble are algorificantly more doubling than for a D + T reactor.

Thus, although there are a number of light element isotopes which might someday he soutable as fuels for advanced fusion reactors, the remainder of this article will concentrated oncepts for fusion reactors fueled by deuterium concentrated from water, and by tratium which would be produced by fusionproduced neutrons from lithium in blankets surrounding fusion reactors.

POSSIBLE TYPES OF CONFINEMENT FOR EVISION REACTORS

Recause temperatures much higher than those to which we are accustomed are required for any fusion reactor with a useful reaction rate, it is important that there be some method for keeping the reacting fusion fuel out of direct contact with material abjects which would quickly coul the fuel to temperatures below which fusion reactions were negligible. The prior cipal mechanism responsible for this rapid cooling would not be conduction into the intruding material, but rather radiation josses from the fuct this to enhanced bronsstrablung and line radiation from atomic transitions due to beaver imporities cotering the fuel. Thus, a reactor requires some sort of restraining force which balances the outward pressure of the fusioning foel, which, since it is absorbing part of the energy it releases, is also producing pressure. There are a number of restraining forces one might imagine, not all of which are practical in a power plant.

Gravitational Fields

Gravitational fields produce suitably high restraining forces only for very large assemblages of mass, because the gravitational force is much weaker than the other known fundamental forces of nature. Thus, while all the successful fusion reactors we can see, namely stars, use gravitational fields for confinement, this is impractical for a connectial reactor by an enormous factor.

De Electric Fields

If the maching fusion fuel possessed a strong net electrical charge, then it might be possible to confine it with de electric fields. However, in the types of fuel assemblages so far used in fusion research, any net imbalance in charge which developed on the fuel was much too weak to permit confinement solely through the forces that could be applied through de electric fields. Significant electric fields do develop under some conditions inside the fuel using the magnetic field confinement approach discussed later, and they may play a role in altering the quality of the confinement when they do accur.

Radio Frequency Electromagnetic Fields

At the legh temperatures required for a practical fusion reactor, motion exists not in any of the three states with which we have everyday experience, solid, liquid, or gas, but rather in a fourth state known as a plasma. In this state, the orgatively charged electrons have been stripped away from positively charged nuclei which they otherwise normally encircle to form electrically neutral atoms. The plasma consists of unbound electrons and these nuclei, called ions. This has the result that both the ones and the electrons are highly mobile, and can repiely rearrange themselves to counter external electric fields applied to the plasma. Because electrons are much lighter than ions, they have far higher velocities if they are at a temperature roughly similar to that of the ions. Thus, the higher electron mobility normally accounts for most of the charge rearrangement which takes place in a plasma to shield out externally applied electric fields. Plasma will be discussed in more detail later in this article.

An upproach which has been considered for contining a fusioning plasma is to counter the outward pressure of the plasma with the inward radiation pressure of a radiofrequency electromagnetic field. However, for plasmas that would produce fusion power densities appropriate in this type of fusion reactor, the overall outward plasma pressure would be one atmosphere or more. In order to produce a countering inward radiation pressure of about an atmosphere, the electric field strongth in the applied wave would need to be about 1 million V/cm. This is difficult to achieve without inducing electrical breakdowns, and eddy current losses due to image charges in nearby walls might be large.

Inertial Confinement

Inertial confinement is the method used in fusion bombs, more commonly called hydrogen hombs, it works well under these conditions when the radiation from the explosion of a fission bomb, usually called an atomic bomb, is used to produce soft X-rays, which isoentropically compress a fuel mixture of deuterrors and tratium. The goal of mercial confinement research for fusion reastor applications is to reproduce this effect on a much smaller amount of fuel, and with a far less energetic driver than an atomic bomb. This approach is referred to as mertial confinement because it is snoply the mertia of the assemblage which confines the fuel while a is fusioning. The fuel is confined for a time approximately given by the time required for the hot ions, with a mean velocity of about 101 cm/s, to traverse the radial dimension of the fuel, which is much less than 1. cm. Thus, the confinement time is in the sub-nanosecond range. The fusion output is proportional to the product of the density, the ion temperature, and the confinement time. This is more conveniently referred to as $\pi \tau T$, where π is density, τ is confinement time, and T is the ion temperature. For realistic ion temperatures of a few tens of keV, the very short confinement time of the inertial approach requires compression of the fuel to very high densities, 40 to 460 times the normal density of the soluš deuteroum and tritium fuel (4), in order to produce fusion energy releases relevant to a reaction.

Confinement by Magnetic Helds

An alternate strategy for maximizing the $n\pi T$ product of density, confinement, and non-temperature is to use a much lower density, but a correspondingly longer confinement time. The technique which most naturally fits this approach is to place the plasma in a magnetic field. Since the plasma is composed of electrically charged particles, they are constrained to move in helical paths along the lines of magnetic force, with the negatively charged electrons spiraling in one direction, and the positively charged ions in the other direction. In the aimplest instance of a uniform magnetic field, and in the absence of collisions, a charged particle remains tied to its line of force, although it is free to move along it. Consequently, the overall effect of a uniform magnetic field is to restrict the outward incluos of particles across magnetic field in to restrict the outward incluos of particles across magnetic field unimpeded. For a plasma with a pressure perpendicular to the magnetic field lines of 100 kPa (1 atm)(univeral) pressure that is of the general order required for a fusion reactor), a countering perpendicular magnetic force of 100 kPa (1 atm) can be produced with a field strength of about 5000 Oersteds, which is guite readily achievable.

Principal Confinement Approaches of Fusion Research

Research toward the goal of a foscon reactor began in a significant way in 1951 at Princeton University, and has since spread to many different laboratories in a large number of nations. The overwhelming majority of this research has followed either the low-density, high-confinement time approach using magnetic fields, or the high density, low-confinement time path of inertial confinement. Accordingly, the remainder of this article will cover only magnetic confinement and inertial confinement, with an emphasis on magnetic confinement because this has profited from the most research, and is presently closer to practicality.

MAGNETIC CONFINEMENT FUSION

Physics of Plasmas

Debye Longth, Because a plasma is made up of positively charged ions and negatively charged unbound electrons, these two populations of particles interact strongly with each other through the coulomb force. Any substantial displacement of one species relative to the other leads to a large electrostatic potential, which would require some countering force to maintain. In the absence of any externally applied countering force, there is always an intrinsic force available from rondom thermal fluetuntions in a plasma. The electron thermal energy density perdegree of freedom is 0.5#,T, in a plasma with an electron decsity of n_0 and an electron temperature of T_{n_1} . This energy is available to drive charge separations between the positive consand the negative electrons. The restoring form is provided, in torn, by the electrostatic energy density associated with the electric field established by the charge separation. For a charge separation length of d, the electrostatic energy density E scales. approximately as:

$$0.5\epsilon_0\mathbf{E}^2 \approx 0.5\epsilon_0(\kappa_0)(t_{eq})^2$$

where ϵ_0 is the permittivity of free space, and r is the fundumental charge of an electron. If this electrostatic energy density is compared to the thermal energy density, then it is apparent that substantial charge separations within the plasma can only take place over distances not significantly greater than $d \approx \lambda_0$, where the value of λ_0 is given by:

$$\lambda_{\rm D} = \ln_{\rm e} T_{\rm e}^2/m^2/^{0.5}$$

This is called the Debye length, because it was first calculated theoretically for electrolytes by Debye and Huckel in 1923. This equation is the one most commonly used for λ_{0} , although a more precise definition would include a term $(1 + ZT_{e}/T_{e})$ in the denominator to account for the ion effects. Here T_{e} is the ion temperature and Z is the ionization state of the plasma ions. It is of most importance for plasmas with high charge state ions, which is not the case for the fuel components of a deuterion and triticum fusion reactor, although there is usually some admixture of light importies such as earbox and perhaps small amounts of oxygen in the plasma of today's experimental fusion devices. This ion term can also be of importance of T_{e} is much greater than T_{e} . However, in plasmas of interest to fusion work, T_{e} rarely exceeds T_{e} and is often lower than it

Since both the jons and electrons in a plasma can move freely, they will tend to move as as to neutralize the electric fields arising from charge imbalances, with electrons positioning themselves to shield the electrostatic field from positive uses, and the ions moving to cancel the field from the negative electrons. The electrons, being much lighter and therefore much more mobile than the ions for all plasmas of interest to fusion, account for most of this charge shielding

The Debye length is one of the fundamental parameters of any plasma. Charge imbalances can occur over distance of the order of the Debye length, but over distances much greater than the Debye length the plasmo will not sustain a net electric field unless there is some additional countering force to support it. Similarly, over distances much greater than a Debye length, a plasma will shield out externally applied electrospite fields. Thus, the electric potential is normally the same throughout a plasma, unless some other force due, for instance, to rotation, alters the balance.

The two criteria for defining an assemblage of ions and electrons as a plasma both involve the Debye length. The first critorion is that the spatial extent of the plasma should be much greater than a Debye length. The second enterior is that their should be many charged particles within a Debye sphere (with a radius λ_D) so that the statistical treatment underlying the defination of the Debye length is valid. The Debye length is usually small for the plasmas used for laboratory or industrial applications. For a 3 eV are discharge with an electron density of 10^{19} m⁻², the Debye length is about 3×10^{-8} m, with about 10^9 charged particles within a Debye sphere, sufficient to validate the underlying statistical treatment (5).

A plasma more characteristic of those produced in fusion research devices might have a density of 3×10^{17} m⁻⁰, $T_c = 10$ keV. $T_c \approx 0.5T_c$ and $Z \approx 1.2$, with the fact that Z is not unity arising from light contaminants in the deuterium and trition fuel. For these conditions, the Debye length is about $\lambda_D \approx 8 \times 10^{-5}$ m, where almost all of the increase relative to the arc discharge is due to the much higher temperature of the fusion plasma. Since the characteristic dimensions of fusion plasmas are usually of the order of a meter or meters in magnetic confinement devices, it is always the case that they are much greater than a Debye length.

The plasmas found in electric arcs, lightning, or fluorescent lights are usually only weakly ionized, with perhaps one to a lew percent of the gas molecules ionized. On the other hand, plasmas with the much higher temperatures needed for magnetic confinement fusion research are highly ionized, with thermal neutrals only penetrating into the outer few centimeters of the plasma **Cyclotron Motion in Magnetized Plasmas.** If a magnetic field is applied an arises within a plasma, then the motion of the constituent electrons and ions is significantly altered, becoming more ordered along a preferred axis. The equation of contrast of a particle with charge Z_i vector velocity v and mass m in a magnetic field of vector strength **B** is given by:

$$ratdo/dt = eZ(o \times B)$$

If we choose the *z* axis to be along the magnetic field, then, in rartesian coordinates, the components of the particle motion are as follows:

$$dv_{x}/dt = -\omega_{x}v_{y}$$
$$dv_{x}/dt = -\omega_{x}v_{x}$$
$$dv_{x}/dt = 0$$

with $w_i = (rZB)/m_i$ and with *B* the scalar magnitude of the magnetic field. The fact that the particle velocity is constant along the magnetic field arises from the fact that, as shown in she vector cross product above, magnetic fields have no effect on a velocity component parallel to the field. The *x* and *y* components are both perpendicular to the magnetic field. The time derivatives of a particle in these dimensions correspond to circular motion with a frequency of m_i , which is called the cyclotron frequency. The combination of this circular motion perpendicular to the magnetic field of the magnetic field of the magnetic field is called the cyclotron frequency. The combination of this circular motion perpendicular to the magnetic field and the uniform velocity parallel to the field (for uniform magnetic fields) give rise to a net helical particle orbit spiraling olong the magnetic field, as shown in Fig. 4.

In a plasma with an isotropic Maxwelban visionity distribution, the temperature perpendicular to the magnetic field is equal to the temperature parallel to it. However, because the perpendicular motion encompasses two degrees of freedom while the parallel motion has only one, for these conditions the perpendicular motion of the plasma particle distribution carries twice the energy content of the parallel motion. It is not always the case that the plasma temperature is isotropic with respect to the magnetic field direction. Some heating mechamisms transfer energy preferentially into either the parallel or the perpendicular motion of the particles with respect to the magnetic field direction. Similarly, some particle loss processes involving collisions preferentially deplete either the perpendicclar or the parallel energy, depending upon whether the process is stronger for large perpendicular energies or large parallel energies

Larmor Radius in a Magnetized Plasma. The radius of the perpendicular motion around the field line is called the Lamor radius, denoted as p. It is given by the ratio of the perpendicular velocity to the cyclotron frequency, and scales for a particle coving at the thermal velocity as:

$$|\mu| = |(2)^{0.6} \phi_1|/||Ze(B)|$$

where c, is the thermal velocity, and the absolute value of the charge is taken to ensure a positive length. The factor of square not of two arises from the two degrees of freedom in the perpendicular motion. For any plasma, whether Maxwelkan ar not, there will clearly be a range of values of the Larmor rudius corresponding to the perpendicular velocity distribution. Inserting the values of electron and baryon masses leads to the following more specific formulas for the cycloton frequencies and Larmor rank of thermal particles in plasmos: For an electron:

$$\omega_{\rm e} = 1.76 \times 10^{11} B \, {
m s}^{+1}$$

 $\rho_{\rm e} = 1.07 \times 10^{-4} T_{\rm e}^{1/2} / B \, {
m m}$

For an ion of charge Z and a mass of A atomic mass units:

$$w_t = 0.55 \times 10^5 (Z/A)B s^{-1}$$

 $\rho_t = 4.57 \times 10^{-5} (A^{0.5}/Z)T_t^{0.5}/B m$

In these equations the electron and ion temperatures are expressed in keV. For comparison, room temperature is about 0.025 eV. The magnetic field is given in units of testa, where a testa is equal to 10.000 gauss, or roughly 25,000 times the average strength of the earth's surface magnetic field.

In a 5 T magnetic field, which corresponds to a typical field strength on the plasma axis of the Tokamak Fusion Test Reactor at Princeton University, a deuteron would have a cyclutrum frequency of $m_1 = 2.4 \times 10^5$ per second. A plasma electron in the same field would have a cyclutron frequency of $m_1 = 8.79 \times 10^{11}$ per second. The much higher frequency of the electron cyclutron metion is a consequence of the much smaller mass of the electron relative to a deuteron. For the same reason, the Larmor radius of an ion is much larger than that of an electron. For the case of a 5 T magnetic field confining a plasma



Figure 1. Charged particles gyrotong along a magnetic field line. For electrons and protons with the same energy, the Larmor radius for the electrons would be 1/43 of the proton's. The overage motion can be described by the grading center, so long as the parameters change significantly across a Larmor orbit. Drawn by T. Stevenson.

with central temperatures of 40 keV for the ions and 12 keV for the electrons, which is reasonably representative of higher performance plasma parameters on Princeton's Tokamak Pusion Test Reactor, the Larmor rudius of an electron with the thermall energy would be $n_c = 0.0073$ cm, and for an ion with the thermal energy it would be 0.58 cm. The full range of Larmor radii would include values ranging from a bit smaller than this up to a few centimeters (on the full of the Maxwelben distribution) that would be a factor of 2 or more larger. These Larmon rado are small compared to the dimensions of the fusion devices in which they presently occur. The position of a charged particle averaged over its cyclotron motion is called the guiding center. In the absence of perturbations such as collisions. the guiding center of an electron or ion moves along a line of magnetic force (with the cleatron guiding conters moving in one direction, and the positive ion guiding centers in the other). So long as the gradient scale lengths for plasma properties such as density, temperature, and magnetic field strength are much larger (usually a factor of a few is sufficient) then it is a good approximation to model must types of particle behavior by following the guiding centers rather than the detailed gyramotion. which is more complicated computationally, and requires more computer time.

Plasma Diamagnetism. The cyclotron orbits of particles in a plasma each enclose small volumes of magnetic flux. As a consequence of Lenz's Law, the directions of rotation of both the electrons and the ions are such that the tiny solenoidal carrents they represent produce magnetic fields in the opposite direction from the field they are enclosing. Thus, the gyrometion at the cyclotron frequency reduces the total strength of the field inside a particle orbit. This is referred to as plasma diamagnetism. Its importance increases as the plasma pressure increases or the externally applied magnetic field decreases. For high ratios of the plasma pressure to the applied magnetic field strength, this diamagnetism can bollow out the magnetic field and produce a region in the central plasma with a magnetic well, that is, a region which is everywhere surrounded by increasing magnetic field strength. This approach has been suggested as a technique for confining plasmu, but its practicality is not yet clear.

Magnetic Moment. A particle gyrating around a magnetic field line constitutes an electric current $I = (Zq) m_{e}/2\pi$, which encompasses an area of $A = mr^{2}_{1,2}$ where Z is the ionization state, q is the fondamental charge, m_{e} is the cyclotron frequency, and r_{1} is the Larmor radius. The product of the current and the conclosed area is called the magnet moment of the particle orbit, and is generally denoted as a. Thus,

$$\rho = IA = m c_s^2/2B = W_0/B$$

Here i_{s} is the volucity of the gyrating particle in the plane perpendicular to the magnetic field line at as following, and W_{p} is the kmetic energy associated with this perpendicular velocity. It can be shown (6) that, in the absence of collisions or electric fields, the magnetic moment p of a particle orbit is an invariant. This has far-reaching consequences for plasma confinement schemes utilizing magnetic fields. The invariance of a particle orbit's magnetic moment means that as the particle guates along a line of magnetic force into a region of stronger magnetic field, the perpendicular velocity increases so that the



Figure 2. The simplest form of mirror confinement. The trapped pertion of the particle vehicity distribution reflects from the strenger magnetic fields at each end of the cell, forming a confined plasma in the region between the mirrors.

energy of resultion perpendicular to the field line increases by the same factor as the magnetic field strength. Inastnuch as the particle's total kinetic energy is also constant in the absence of collisions or electric fields, the increase of the perpendicular energy as a particle gyrates into an increasing magnetic field implies that the kinetic energy of the particle parallel to the field line decreases, and thus that the velocity along the field line also decreases. Thus, for a particle orbit which has a finite energy of perpendicular rotation along any part of its path, there can exist some magnetic field strength at which its velocity parallel to the field line gres to zero. When this happens, the particle is reflected back into the region of weaker magnetic field. This is referred to as magnetic mirroring, and plays a significant role to every form of magnetic confinement. If a region of weaker magnetic field is bounded by a stronger magnetic field at each end, then particles can be reflected back and forth browsen the regions of stronger magnetic field, producing a trap, as shown in Fig. 2. This works for both posdively charged particles (most ions) and negatively charged porticles (for example, electrons). For a particle with parallel velocity r, and total kinetic energy W., the parallel velocity will vary as.

$$n \mathfrak{a}_{2}^{2}/2 = W_{0} - \mu B$$

Clearly there is one class of particle orbits for which magnetic microring would have no effect at any magnetic field strength, no matter how string. Particles which are everywhere moving entirely parallel to the local magnetic field have no gyro-orbit, and thus n = 0. As a consequence, their parallel velocity is unaffected by changes in the magnetic field strength, and these particles are not reflected.

Magnetic Mirror Confinement. More generally, for finite ratios of magnetic field strengths in a plasma confinement device, a considerably broader range of particle arbits is not mirror confined. If we define the minimum magnetic field strength along a line of force to be $B_{\rm m}$ and the maximum to be $B_{\rm M}$, then the constancy of α and W_i lead to the condition that all particle orbits with $\mu \sim W_i/M_{\rm M}$ are trapped by the magnetic field reach the point of maximum field strength with their perpendicular kinetic energy greater than their total kinetic energy, which is

not possible. Applying this principle to determine the boundary between mirror trapped and untrapped particles, one finds, the conditions for marginally trapped particles, where $W_p(\min B)$ is defined as the energy of perpendicular rotation when the particle is in the region of minimum magnetic field strength, and $W_p(\min B)$ is defined as the parallel energy of the particle at the minimum magnetic field:

$$\begin{split} W_{\mu}(\min B) &= \mu B_{\mu} = W_{0}B_{\mu}/B_{M} \\ W_{0}(\min B)/W_{0} = (1 - B_{\mu}/B_{M}) \end{split}$$

These conditions can also be written in terms of the ratus of the perpendicular and parallel velocities evaluated at the minimum magnetic field with respect to the total velocity, *v*, of the particle, giving:

$$v_p(\min B)/v = (B_n/B_0)^{0.5}$$

 $v_p(\min B)/v = (1 - B_n/B_0)^{0.5}$

These equations define the boundary between mirror trapped and untrapped particles in the space of parallel versus perpendicular velocities. Thus, charged particles with a velocity ratio $c_i(\min | B) c_i$ which is sufficiently low will be trapped. On the other hand, charged particles will promptly escape along the mirror field if they satisfy the criterion:

$$(\sqrt{\min B})/c > (1-B_{c}/B_{m})^{0.5}$$

This can be rewritten in terms of the ratio of the parallel and perpendicular velocities evaluated at the minimum magnetic field strength:

$$v_{
m s}({
m min}|R)/v_{
m s}({
m min}|R) > (B_{
m S}/B_{
m n} + 1)^{0.5}$$

This condition defines two regions in velocity space, in which particles with higher ratios of $v_p(\min B)/v_n(\min B)$ are trapped, and ones with lower values of this ratio are lost. Since the perpendicular velocity corresponds to rotation in two dimensions, the boundary between trapped orbits and less orbits in a threedimensional velocity space forms a zone. Thus, particles with orbits that have ratios of parallel velocity to perpendicular velocity which are too great for tropping are said to fall zoto the loss cone, depicted in Fig. 3.

A mirror trapped plasma can never be isotropic in velocity space. This is been use the transit time along a magnetic field base is very fast, so particles with velocity ratios that fall within the loss cone will rupidly escape through the mirror throat (region of maximum B). Thus, the average perpendicular energy



Figure 3. Schematic sample of loss cones in the perpendicular versus usuallel velocity space of a magnetic mirror-confinited plasma. Particles which undergo collesions such that their v_{μ}/v_{μ} drops into the loss endergo hand the field lines at the magnetic mirror threat

in a unrear-confined plasma is larger than the parablel energy by more than the factor of 2 one would expect just from the relative number of degrees of freedom involved.

Note that neither the charge nor the mass of the particles enters directly into the criteria for trapping. In an entershy colbisopless plasma, the particles within the loss cone would be entirely lost within a transit time (the time required for the slowest particles to travel the length of the region enclosed by the magnetic mirrors). After this very rapid loss, the remainder of the plasma would remain confined for as long as the magnetic field configuration was maintained.

In all systems of interest to fusion research, this static condition never arises because coulomb collisions between mirrorconfined particles after their ratio of perpendicular to parallelvelority, creating a dynamic loss due to particles which scatter from trapped velocity ratios to untrapped ratios. Once in the loss cone, these newly scattered particles will rapidly escape the confinement device unless their ratio of perpendicular to parallel velocity is scattered back into the trapped region by a subsequent collision or collisions. Accordingly, although the loss cone is the same for different types of particles in a plasma, the particle species which collides most frequently, and thus will most rapidly scatter into the loss cone, is the one which is preferentially lost.

For a plasma in which the temperatures of the electrons and the ions are of the same order, the electrons are the more collisional species, so they initially escape through the mirror. throats more rapidly than the ions. This immediately gives rise to a net negative charge leaving the mirror throats, and a net positive charge remaining in the central cill of the mirrur confinement device. This charge includence produces an electric potential which is positive in the central cell, and thus an electric field which retards the loss of electrons along magnetic field lines through the mirror throats. This electric field causes lower energy electrons to be contined which would otherwise be lost, and, correspondingly, it slightly increases the parallel velocities of positive ions as they approach the mirror throats. Thus, the electric field strength will rapidly build up only to the strength at which it impedies the loss of lower energy electrons. sufficiently so that the net electron loss just balances the loss of positive ions. In a mirror-confined plasma is will be the more energetic elections which are able to escape over the electrostatic potential full formed at the mirror throats, so the energy balance of mirrors is dominated by these electron thermal losses. The equilabrium rate at which electrons and positive ions escape from the mirror-confined plusmu is governed by the rate at which the less-collisional ions scatter into the loss cone, so ion collisions set the rate of particle loss.

During the early decades of fusion research, devices incorporating magnetic mirrors as their primary confinement mechanism: were extensively investigated. In their simplest form these machines consisted of a central cell permeated by a uniform solenoidal magnetic field, bounded by a stronger magnetic mirror field at each end. These mirror machines were examples of "open" confinement devices because their magnetic field lines left the region of plasma confinement through the throats of the unirrors. This geometry had a practical appeal bocuse it is mechanically simpler to build a linear device than one with some more complex shaps. Moreover, mirrors are devices which do not require a time varying field, and thus are intrinsically capable of continuous operation if the engineering systems are designed accordingly. In a practical inirror fusion reactor the magnetic field coils would be superconducting in order to avoid alonic dissipation.

Simple mirror confinement machines encountered difficultics due to macroscopic instabilities which rippled the plasma surface and greatly augmented the bass of plasma particles and energy. These problems were addressed by confinement schemes which added additional current-carrying conductors to alter the magnetic field in the central cell so that it increased toward the edge of the plasma. The intrinsically anisotropic velocity distribution residing wathin a mirror drives another smaller scale length microinstability, called the loss-cone instability, which increases particle and energy loss. Finally, of course, there is the overroding bioisideration that even if all losses across the magnetic field were channated, the loss of plasma particles and energy along the magnetic field lines through the mirror throats would remain.

Even in the absence of macroscopic or microscopic instabilities, the theoretical limit on the energy gain of a simple mirror with a single confinement cell is relatively modest. We can define Q as the ratio of the modear power (thermal) produced by the plasma to the amount of power supplied via external means to the plasma in order to head it to the high temperatures required for fusion reactions. Assuming a conservative efficiency for converting thermal energy to electricity of about 33%, and keeping in mind that a practical reactor must produce considorably more electricity than it uses, an energy multiplication factor of Q = 15 to 20 or more is often considered to be sufficient for an economic fusion reactor using a fusion-heated steam cyrie to drive the electricity-producing furbices.

Due to she end losses along the magnetic field lines, it would be difficult even in principle to achieve an economically acceptable Q with a simple mirror machine. For a simple mirror, free of any uistabilities, and using as fuel deuterium and tribum, the energy multiplication would be at best $Q = 2 \log (B_{\rm M}/B_{\rm m})$ The logarithm in this expression can never be greater than an order of unity (that is, with a value of one to at the very most a few). This is because the mirror ratio, the ratio of the maximum to maximum magnetic field in the device, cannot be mode arbitrarily large. Such practical considerations as mechanical forces and the maximum corrent densities superconductors can carry limit the maximum field strength that can be produced in a morror of useful size, while the minimum field. strength caunal be reduced for much without allowing instabilities and diffusion neross the magnetic field in the central cell to increase

In order to circumvent these builtations, researchers contrived more sophisticated mirror confinement schemes such as tandem mirrors. In this approach, the central confinement cell is enclosed by an additional mirror cell at each end which accepts particles escaping through the velocity loss cone of the inirror field of the central cell. The plusma in these end cells, and particularly the electron component, is heated to very high temperatures to increase the magnitude of the electrostatic field plugging the mirror throat from the central cell. Increasing this negative potential in the throat means that more energetic electrons are confined in the central cell, thus reducing the parallel heat loss, and permitting the theoretically obtainable Q to be greater than for a simple mirror

Maintaining the proper velocity distributions of particles in tandem mirrors without driving instabilities proved quite daunting so that, in the mid-1960s the experiments with the mirror approach to fusion were largely abandoned. Since that time almost all magnetic confinement fusion has gone into the other general class of devices colled closed field systems, in which the magnetic field lines pervading the central confinement region do not leave the plasma, but instead circle around to eventually reconnect with themselves.

Closed Magnetic Field Line Confinement Devices. Experimontal confinement machines with closed magnetic fields have in most rases used a topology which is basically ternidal, or forculs clongated with straight sections. Such devices were planeered in weatern countries by Professor Lyman Spitzer at Princeton University in 1951, and at about the same time by researchers at the I. V. Kurchatov Institute in Miscow. Although similar in many respects, the approaches which these laboratories pursued in the 1950s and early 1960s differed in some important ways.

Rotational Transform. All closed field confinement systems. are defined by the fact that their magnetic field lines wrap around to reconnect with themselves after some angular translation along the major circumference of the device. The simplest topology for a closed system, and the one which has been most often used for large fusion experiments, is a turus. In this approach, current-carrying cols are arranged around a variour vessel so that they produce a foroughl, or denut-shaped, magnotic field along which the confined plasma ions and electrons can gyrate. This geometry is the topological equivalent of deforming a linear magnetic solenoid into a turus by bending it rate a circle such that the ends touch. In a toroidal geometry, in contradistinction to the case for a linear system, each of these toroida) field coils has an inner leg and an outer leg with respect to the vacuum vessel and the plasma it contains. It is clear shap the inner logs of the stroid of field colls carry the same current. as the rater legs, but the outer legs on a torus are much fartheir apart from each other than are the other logs, which are often suzed so that they about or nearly about each other. This gives rise to an asymmetry between the average current density flowing along the inner circumference of the coil system where the colls nestle near each other compared to the other coil circumference when- the coils are widely separated. This assymptry in turn produces a gradient in the strength of the magnetic field produced by the coils, the field is stronger on the inside of the torus, and weaker on the outside.

A taroidal geometry is must naturally described by two dimensions, the major and minor radii of the plasma toroid, where the major radius, R_0 , is the distance from the central axis of the coil arrangement to the axis of the confined plasma. The minor radius, r_0 is the distance between the plasma axis and the outside of the plasma cross section. For circular coil systems and plasmas where the ratio of the perpendicular plasma pressure to the inward magnetic pressure is fairly low, the effective major and minor radii are quite similar to what one would get from simply looking at the plasma as a domat. For elongated coils and plasmas, and fin high-pressure plusmas which rearrange flux surfaces, these effective radii are somewhat modified.

If the only magnetic field threading a plasma torus is the toroidal field, then the plasma will be only momentarily confined, no matter how strong the toroidal field is made. This arises as a result of the fact that there is a gradient in the toroidal magnetic field strength conolog from a high level on the inside to a lower level on the outside. This magnetic

grashent causes the negatively charged electrons to doff transverse to the gradient in one direction, and the positively charged ions to do the same thing in the other direction. These appositely directed vertical drifts produce an ambalance in the net neutrality of the plasma above the midplane, compared to the plasma under the midplane. One side will have excess pasitive charge, while the other will have excess negative charge. These charge accumulations will establish a vertical electric field which is perpendicular to the toroidal magnetic field. In turn, the combination of this electric field and the magnetic field drive a type of particle drift with a drift velocity of v = (E B(/B^{*}) For toroids as described here, the direction of this drift is radially outward along the direction of the major radius. This mechanism drives both the negative electrons and the positive rans out tage ther, so no electric field is established which would limit this drift. As the plasma drifts out to larger major radii () quickly runs into the material boundary of the containment device, and is extragaished as impurity influx leads to large line transition radiation losses. Reference 5 contains excellent descriptions of the two types of particle drifts mentioned here, as well as other sorts of drifts which occur in magnetized plasmas.

The fact that a simple toroidal magnetic field cannot confine a plasma is a consequence of the field gradient that necessarily arises from the geometry of any teroid. Thus, there is nothing which can be done to prevent the oppositely directed drifts of the electrons and ions perpendicular to the magnetic gradient.

What can be done instead is in short out the charge imbalance which would otherwise develop by adding a helical twist to the magnetic field lines so that particles gyrating along these lines of magnetic force will speak half of their time above the tokaniak midplane and half below the midplane. Since the vertical drift of each species is independent of whether the particle is above or below the midplane, this means that the unidirectional drift of each particle is outward half of the time, and inward the other half, so there is no net change of position.

The belical twist in the confining magnetic field lines is described by the rotational transform, which is the amount a field line moves in poloidal angle (the angle around a cross section of the plasma donut) as it traces itself around the plasma in toroidal angle. The inverse of this quantity called the sufety factor, and denoted as q_i is commonly used in describing toroidal magnetic confinement systems

The local value of q will in general be different for each magnetic flux surface within a toroidal plasma, but it will be uniform on any given flux surface. For flux surfaces with a minor radius significantly smaller than the major radius, which is the case for all of the large devices so far built, the value of the dimensionless quantity q can be well approximated as.

$q = (rB_{o})/(B_{c}B_{o})$

Here **r** is the minner radius of the flux surface being described, B_0 is the toroidal component of the magnetic field, B_0 is the plasma major radius, and B_0 is the poloidal component of the magnetic field (the component which imparts the behral twist to held lines on the flux surface). If a field line returns to its starting position after exactly one circuit of the torus, then q = 1 on that flux surface. If, for example, 2.7 transits around the torus are required for a field line to return to its initial poloidal location, then q = 2.7. For values of q > 1 in a circular cross section to radius, a particle gyrating along a field line experiences.

a net magnetic well when avi-raged along its orbit, which tends to abet confinement.

Within a confined plasma of a device of the tokamak type to be discussed shortly, there are arbitrarily many local values of q associated with flux surfaces. However, the class of surfaces with rational values of glotten play a special rule eithen in the large-scale internal stability or the gross stability of the plasmal Rational magnetic surfaces are ones for which the safety factor can be represented as q = mn, where m and nare integers, and a field line comes back to its original position. after w toroidal and v poloidal rotations around the torus. Rational magnetic surfaces have proven particularly susceptible. to magnetulividual vicanue) MHD: instabilities, which are largescale fluid-like perturbations of the plasma and the field lines. within it. If they occur on rational flux surfaces well inside the plasma, they can increase the radial lass of energy and particles: if they open neur the outside of the plasma, they can cause the plasma to disrupt.

The magnetic surfaces with low values of rational q tend to be the most pathological, since they are most susceptible to current-driven instabilities. Monly researchers found that it was usually easier to maintain gross plasma stability if the surfaces with low rational values of q were buried well inside the plasma, which meant that the q value of the outside was large tas much as 8 to 10 or sai. Thus, the dimensionless quantity q came to be called the safety factor, since it was easier to maintain the overall stability of most sorts of toroidal plasmas of the edge q was larger.

Ways to introduce Rotational Transform. The pioneers of fustop research in 1951 realized from the heginning that a mincional transform would be needed in the field lines of a toroidal or semitoroidal confinement device. Where they differed in the mechanisms they used to produce the rotational transform. The group at Princeton University imposed the rotational transform externally by applying magnetic fields from helical coals spiraling around the vacuum vessel inside the much more proerful toroidal field coils. Alternatively, in some early experiments restarchers obtained the rotational transform without the helient coils, and instead with an elongated racetrack type of design distorted so that the two straight sections crossed over each other. These closed field devices in which the rotational transform areas from the external configuration or special coils were named stellarators because of the astrophysics background of their inventor, Lyman Spitzer, Jr., of the Princeton University astrophysics department.

Stellarotors had two particularly appealing characteristics. One was that they did not recover any not current in the plasma to mandiam the rotational transform, making them less susceptible to duringing disruptions and obviating the need to flud a way to drive the current. Since the required fields were static, a stellarator was intrinsically capable of steady-state operation if the coils were designed for this. The other major desirable feature was that, with the magnetic fields all imposed by external coils, position control was relatively straightforward, so the plasma could be kept out of contact with material surfaces. This meant that keeping the plasma fairly free of imparities, which would denote the first and increase energy losses through radiation, should be feasible

A disadvantage of stellarators was that the helical coils producing the rotational transform crossed the toroidal field bres produced by the encircling toroidal array of calls. This produced

large mechanical stresses which were difficult to accommodate in the 1950s. Partly as a result of this engineering difficulty, no stellarators with large minor radii were built during that period. These early small-cross-section stellarators (typically with minor radii of order 10 cm or even less) achieved. disappointing results, which may have been in some part because they were so small and relatively cool (compared to a stellar core: that low-energy neutral particles could penetrate throughout the plasma, undergoing charge exchange with the hotter conflued particles which, once neutralized, would escape the confinement. In the late 1960s the stellarator approach was largely abandoned in response to more favorable results obtained at the I. V. Kurchatov Institute in Moscow using the tokamak approach, to be discussed next. In later years, as the understanding of both the physics and the engineering of fusion devices improved, some researchers have returned to the stellarator approach and variations thereon. Better performance was obtained with larger plasma cross-section stellarators built in Germany by the Max Planck Institute, and a much larger stellarator variant is being built outside Nugova, Japan, by the National Institute of Fusion Studies. These later stellarators have mostly employed magnetic field only with complex shapes. which fulfill the role of both the terridal field coil and the helical cuils of the early stellarators

Tokamaks. Soviel scientists chose another way to introduce the required rotational transform which employed the toroidal field coils of the stellarator concept, but no helical coils to introduce the poloidal magnetic field component. They instead drave an electric current which flowest toroidally through the plasma. This current produced an encirching poloidal field which vectoradded to the soroidal field from the rois to produce a spiraling field with different values of the rotational transform, and thus of q, on each flux surface. The value of the noter sorface q_i and consequently of the inner sorface q's could be easily altered by driving different amounts of plasma current for a given value of the toroidal field. This device was named the tokamak, which means something like "magnetic bottle" in Russian. Figure 4 shows the basic schematic of a tokamak.

Inductively Driveo Plasma Current in Tokamaks. In all the early tokamaks, and in many later ones, all or nearly all of the plasma current was driven inductively. This was accomplished by adding a transformer solenoid to the tokamak, with the plasma acting as a one-turn secondary winding. As with any transformer, current would continue to be driven in the secondary, that is, the plasma, only so long as the flux produced by the primary winding was changing. Since there is always a practical limitation on the volt-seconds available to drive such a flux swing, and since there also bond atoms upon the current densities which conductors can carry, inductively driven tokamaks are intrinsically pulsed devices.

In the present generation of tokamaks, these pulse lengths range from a few seconds to a minute. Inductively driven fusion power reactors of the future might have much longer pulses, genhaps of many hours, but they would still have to pause at some regular interval to reset the current in the primary transformer winding. The resulting period during which the fusion plasma was turned off would be short compared to the time when it was making power. Depending upon the thermal inertia of the heat Market surrounding the tokamak, where heat exchange and in time breeding take place, the transformer



Figure 4. Basic components of a tokain sk magnetic confinement configuration. The coils surrounding the plasma produce a conidal magnetic field, while the current in the plasma creates a weaker poloidal magnetic field. The combination of the two makes field brass which spiral as they are followed around the torus.

recharge interval might produce either relatively little or significant fluctuation in the electricity output. Perhaps more significantly, pulsed thermal and magnetic field loads are expected to increase the stress on components near the plasma, thereby reducing their lifetimes. As will be discussed later, much progress has been made in finding noninductive ways to drive the plasma current, allowing steady-state operation of future power concurs.

Plasma Limiters in Tokamaks. Another possible disadvantage of tokamaks in their simplest form is that, since the plasma is a current carrying loop, if trues to expand in major radius. This tendency can be consistered, however, by adding cole which produce a vertical magnetic field. A more serious concern of early researchers was that simple circular-cross-section tokamak plasmas required contact with a maternal limiter in order to stabilize their position. This could act us a source of impurities, and would require large amounts of cooling in a power reactor. Most of the more recent tokamak experiments such as DIH-D at General Atomics in San Diego loave replaced the limiter with divertors, to be discussed later, which appear to be much more suitable for reactars.

MAJOR COMPONENTS OF A TOKAMAK FUSION REACTOR

Plasma Confinement System

The quality of energy confinement that can be achieved within a tokamak design is the single most important factor in determining the most feasible design for a fusion power plant. If the rate at which energy leaks out of the plasma is too high, then prohibitively large amounts of power will be required to hvat and maintain the plasma at the temperatures required to produce useful amounts of fusion energy. The confinement time is characterized by a quantity, *z*, which gives the time required for the energy content of the plasma to decline by an *e*-folding. At the down of fusion research, energy confinement times were typically much less than a millisecond. Today they are commanly hundreds of milliseconds, and in some high-confinement plasmas the confinement time is more than a second.

The basic components of the confinement system are the various current-carrying coils which produce three magnetic fields that are externally applied. In addition to the toroidal field coils and vertical field coils, there are coils arrayed around the plasma to alter its cross-sectional shape, and in some cases additional coils might be added to control gross matabilities. More recently, the systems which deposit energy, momentum, and additional correct into the plasma have also become important in improving confinement.

The coils used to produce magnetic fields for nuclear fusion experiments have usually been made of copper. While, in a few cases, they were cooled to reduce their electrical resistance at the start of an experimental pulse, these were, nonetheless, ordinary resistive coils. Actual commercial fusion reactors are likely to rely heavily upon superconducting coils, both to improve the overall electrical efficiency and to permit long pulses at high magnetic field strengths.

As fusion experiments have grown more autotious over the decades, and as efforts to develop the engineering basis for Sasion have progressed, superconducting coils have gradually became more common in operating and planned experimental devices. In the early 1970s a magnetically levilated superconducting coil was used to confine plusmas at the Princetian University Plasma Physics Laboratory. A tokemok at the Kurchatoy Institute in Moscow has used superconducting coils since about 1975, and the Large Hebral Device, a stellarator at the National Institute for Pusion Studies in Japan, began, operations with superconducting colls in the late 1990s. Superconmeeting tokamaks capable of plasma pulses of 100 seconds or more are presently under construction in South Kan-a and India. An upgrade to the large JT-60U tokamak in Japan which would use superconducting coils to allow plasma pulses of 100 seconds or more is being proposed, and the next very large international fusion experiment is also expected to incorporate superconducting coils.

Collisions among Confined Particles. Getting to the high levels of energy confinement that can be obtained in today's tokamaks has been a long journey. The lokantak confinanceat configuration is characterized by a magnetic field topology which guides the confined ions and electrons along helical field lines. on toroidal flux surfaces. A single ion or electron could travel along such field lines forever if there were no imperfections. In practical applications, there are always some magnetic field inperfections, and, much more impartantly, there are many ions and electrons instead of ane. The mus and electrons each collide among themselves and with each other. Sometimes when the jons collide they fose, releasing the energy which is the purpose of the tokamak, but much more often they scatter from each other. The scattering within and among the different confined spears gives rate to transport of energy and particles across the confiring magnetic field lines, and thus eventually out of the plasma. If this scattering by Coulomb collisions between pairs of particles were the only mechanism by which energy leaked from the plasma, then achieving the quality of confinement necessary for a fusion power plant would have been a dounting, but nonetheless conceptually stronghtforword, undertaking

Anomalous Diffusion. The reality has been that the early plasma confinement experiments encountered energy loakage rates much greater than, would be expected of the energy joss were primarily due to diffusion arising from two-particle collisions. This type of two-body collisional diffusion was somewhat. understood, and could be calculated with modassical theory. which tank account of effects prising from toroidicity. The excess energy leakage was called anomolous diffusion, and was presumed to be driven primarily by collective instabilities in which great numbers of ions and electrons moved together to form waves and large-scale plasma deformations that transparted energy much more rupidly out of the plasmu than could. two-particle collisions. The early years of fusion research were plagued by anomalous energy leases so large that the confined plasmas could not be successfully heated to and maintained at the very high temperatures necessary for practical fusion power.

Enhanced Confinement. During the decades stretching from the 1970s through the 1990s, progress accurred as successive generations of tokamaks led to a better understanding of how the anomalous energy leakage could be reduced by varying such factors as the dimensions of the plasma loroul and the magnisode of the current flowing within it. At the sume time, modes of tokamak operation were discovered with improved confinement: that is to say, significantly reduced anomalous energy herkage. These enhanced confinement regimes were characterized by different profile shapes for the density and temperature. than were found in the usual tokamak plasmas, and also by redactions in the rate at which neutral gas was recycling from the walls into the outer part of the plasma. Some of these enhanced modes also involved changes in the current density profile, and in the relative speed at which different portions of the plasma rotated

The improved modes were usually called by phenomenological names because they were mostly discovered experimentally. rather than first being predicted theoretically: fusion research makes progress by building new tokamaks. Two of the most fomous confinement modes were the H-Mode, which was discovered in Germany, with the H standing for high confinement to distinguish it from low confinement, and the Supershot Mode, discovered at Princeton in 1986 in the Tokamak Fusion Test Reactor. A supershot plasma was distinguished by having a regionin its core with very good energy confidenced, and by temperatures much higher than had previously been achieved. Supershot plasmas were also the first ones in a tokamak to exhibit the phenomenon of bootstrap current. The bootstrap current arises from a dynamic effect within the plasma as the charged particles press across magnetic field lines. Finding the houstrap current enhanced the economic visibility of future fusion power plants because its existence means that must of the electric current needed to sustain the poloidal component of the magnetic field can be supplied at little or no extra cost by the plasma itself. Somilar sorts of plasmas were subsequently produced in Japan's JT-601) tokumak and in Britain at JET, the principal tokamak of the European Union. It was the Supershid made which was selected as the best route to follow in the Tokamak Posion Test Reactor to produce fusion thermal power levels of ap to 10.7 MW.

Enhanced Reversed Shear Mode. In the mod-1990s, an even better operating mode was found at Princeton's TFTR as well as at the European Union's JET, and subsequently at Genera) Atomics in San Diego, and Japan's JT-60U. This descovery. grew out of a study of reversed shear plasmas which had been pursued on several tokamaks. Shear is the rate of change of the intertional transform of the magnetic field lines in passing from one nested flux surface to the next one. It is governed by the shape of the current within the plasmo, which produces the poloidal field component that determines the transform Most tukamak discharges have current profiles that yield shear which is always in the same direction in passing through sucressive flux surfaces. Techniques were found in mount years. which modified the plasma correct profile in such a way (by putting more current in the outer portion of the plasma) that the mognetic shear was reversed in the plasma interar. In the central plasma the rotational transform changed oppositely. from what it did in the outer plasma in going through successive flux surfaces.

In many cases this reversed shear magnetic field configuration did not produce dramatic improvements in confinement. However, in some cases, the confinement in the central region of the plasma improved markedly in terms of ion energy leakage, and particle confinement of bath the ions and electrons. Named the enhanced reversed shear mode by resourchors as Princeton University's TFTR, who were the first to observe the abrupt transition to this mode with high levels of energetic particle heating power at was quickly produced on other tokaniaks. In retrospect, it was found to be very similar to a type of confinement mode which had been studied earlier in the European Chion's JET tokaniak with a different heating technique.

Enhanced reversed shear plusmus have nearly perfect particle confinement in their cores, and the rate of energy loss through ion-ion collisions is for the first time down to the thearytical minimum due to two-body collisions. In fact the conduction is so low that it required a revision of the neoclassical theory, which had previously not taken account of orbit effects in regions with very steep gradients in plasma parameters.

At present this enhanced reversed shear regime can only be achieved transiently for periods of roughly 0.2 s to 1 s because the required plasma current profile is produced by rapidly increasing the total plasma current in an already hot plasma. Berause the plasma is hot, its electrical conductivity is high. so the extra current takes handreds of milliseconds or more to diffuse into the central plasma. During this period, the current density in the autor plasma is clevated. It is expected that in the future it will be possible to maintain the required reversed shear profile with active current profile control using injected beams of energetic particles or injected waves. This confinement mode may lead to fusion power plants which are physically smaller and cheaper than had been previously envisioned, but much work remains to be done in understanding how to control the mode, and in how to fue, and remove belium ash fram it.

Plasma Heating Methods

Alongside these improvements in energy confinement, equally significant progress occurred in technologies for heating the confined plasma. There are finir general ways of heating a magnetically confined plasma. One is with the fusion reactions themselves. When a deuterium nucleus and a tritium nucleus fose, 50% of the released energy is connectiately carried out of the plasma by a neutron which, being electrically neutral, is not confined by the magnetic field that holds the plasma. In an actual fosion power plant, the neutron will be captured in a special blanket where is produces heat for electricity production and new tritium for fuel. The remaining 20% of the energy is borne by the nucleus of a belium atom, called for historical reasons an alpha particle. Since this nucleus does not have any negative electricity bound to it, it carries a net positive electrical charge, and is confined by the magnetic fields in the plasma.

Consequently, the alpha particles produced by fusion reactions remain in the plasma, giving up energy to the plasma particles through collisions until the alphas are thermulized, that is, until they cool down to the temperature of the plasma. The energy transferred from the alpha particles, which are initially much laster than the plasma, beats it. In an ignited fusion reactor, such as wid one day be used to produce electricity, this will be the principal source of plasma heating, in fact the definition of ignition is that the alphas supply sufficient energy to maintain the plasma temperature. However, some other technique will be needed to heat the plasma of even a future electricityproducing reactor to the ignition conditions under which alpha particle heating can take over, and, in any event, the expermental tokamaks in operation today are of too modest a size and copability to reach ignition conditions.

The other three types of plasma beating technologies are called ohmic heating, wave heating, and neutral beam besting. Of these, obtain heating is the most readily implemented, since it unises outomatically from the electric current that flows through the plasma to maintain the polosial component of the magnetic field which confines the plasma. In much the same way that an electric current flowing through a ropper wire heats it us the electrons carrying the current scatter as they move along it, the current moving through the tokamak plasma also heats it.

There is, however, an important difference in how an ordinary electrical conductor and a plasma behave when heated. In an ordinary conductor, such as a copper wire, the electrical resistance rises as the wire's temperature moreases, which is to say that the scattering of the electrons appreases. Thus, in an ordinary conductor, if the current passing through it is kept constant by raising the driving voltage as the conductor's tenperature increases, then the correct will become progressively. more effective in heating it until the wire eventually metry. In the sorts of plasmas of relevance to fusion, the behavior is just the apposite. The frequency of scattering decreases as the tenperature increases, so the electrical resistance drops. This has the consequence that, as the plasma gets bottor, more and more current must be run through it to achieve smaller and smaller additional increases in the temperature. Is would be extremely difficult to heat a plasma to thermoniclear ignition temperatorus in this way, and even if one could handle the large current. required, the poloidal field it would produce might be greater than the optimum for manufaring plasma stability and confinement. In light of these limitations, obmic heating serves only as the initial locating mechanism in tokamaks, typically raising the temperature to 10 million to 20 million | C, modest by fusion standards, during the startup phase of a tokamak pulse

One at both of the other two heating techniques—waves or neutral beams—most be used to further raise the temperature to the point where significant numbers of fusion reactions can exten. Wave heating works in much the same way that a microwave oven does, except that instead of heating food by causing molecules to vibrate, the waves increase the energy of the ions or electrons gyrating along the magnetic field within the tokamak plasma. Various forms of wave heating have been used in many tokumak experiments, and it is expected that wave heating will be important for future reactors. However, so far the highest temperature and fusion power results in tokamaks have been brought about with the other technology: neutral beams

Neutral Beam injection. Most montral beams in use today are been in inn sources where the negatively charged electrons are surpped from the positively charged atomic nuclei to produce ions. These nois are then accelerated by passing them between grids with different electric voltages upplied to them. This forms a beam of energetic ions moving toward the tokamak, in much the same way that the electron source in the back of a television picture tube forms a beam of energetic electrons moving toward the physicle screen to form the unage. The nois in a beam at Princeton University's TFTR tokamak, however, have more energy than the electrons in the beam of a picture tube—120,000 V instead of a few tens of thousands of volts. In addition, the electric current in the ion beam is thousands of times greater than the current in a picture tube.

The electrically charged ions that emerge from the accelcruter grids would not be able to enter the tokamak plasma in their charged state. This is because the very magnetic field which confines the plasma would bend the ion beam out of its path and prevent it from entering the plasma. To circumvent this difficulty, the ion beam is passed through a neutralizer cell filled with low pressure gas, where a portion of the ions each pick up an electron from the gas molecules. After picking apan electron, a beam non becomes electrically neutral, and thus once again an ordinary atom. Unlike an ordinary atom, which at room temperature has an energy of about one fortieth of a volt, these atoms in what is now a neutral beam have energies of 120,000 V. The renaming ions in the beams are hent out of it with a magnet, and then the purely neutral beam is able to pass unimpeded across the tokampik's magnetic fields to enter the plasma. Once inside the plasma, the neutral atoms of the beam are again united through collisions with the plasma particles which detach the electrons from the loam atoms. The resulting 120,000 V iuns, being electrically charged, are confined by the magnetic field of the tokomok. They circulate along the magnetic field, colliding with the plasma particles. Since the hearr ions are much more energetic than the plasma electrons and ions, they transfer energy to them, and thereby heat the plasma. Eventually the heara ones slow down and become part of the bulk plasma. At this point they are said to have been thermalized because their energy is similar to that of the bulk, or thermal ions.

In 1973, when neutral beams were selected as the principal beating technique for the Tokamak Fusion Test Reactor, this technology had reached the point of development where it could inject a few tens of thousands of walts of power into a tokumak plasma. In the experiments which took place at Princeton University in the 1990s, the neutral beams injected a maximum of forty million walts of power into the Tokamak Pusion Test Reactor, an increase of also r a thousand fold in the power expability of the technology from the time when the decision was made to use it. The fact that the beam ions do become part of the confined thermal plasma means that it is unportant only that they carry in energy to heat the plasma, but also that they be the right hydrogen isotopes to fuel it as well. Thus, the TFTR plasma heating systems inject high-energy neutral beams of both tritium and deuterium in order to maintain the correct fuel mix in the reacting core of the plasma.

As the plasmas in successive generations of tokamaks become larger and denser, there is a corresponding increase on the beam energy required to ensure that most of the energy and fuel are deposited to the central plasmal flowover, the efficiency with which positive ions can be converted back to neutral atoms is a strong function of the ion velocity. For velocities corresponding to a beam energy above 120 keV for deuterium or 180 keV for tritium, the neutralization efficiency is steeply declining into unacceptably low values.

In response to this limitation, a new technology is being developed based upon ion sources which produce negative ions, or cass which have one more electron than the neutral atom would have. Production of negative ions of deuterium or tritium is much more difficult than is producing their positive ions, but the neutralization efficiency of high-energy negative ions is nearly independent of energy across a range of several inflion electron volts, with neutralization efficiencies of 58%to 59% being quite feasible. The first generation of a negative ion hearn system began operating on the JT 50U tokarnak at Naka, Japan, in 1996. When it reaches full power it will inject 10 megawatts of 500 keV neutrals. Another large negative ion system will go into operation in the late 1990s on the Large Helical Device, a type of stellarator, outside Nagnya.

Current Drive. All of the tokamaks which have been operated through the and-1990s an maily drove must or all of their plasma current inductively. However, as discussed earlier, this technique moessarily requires that the tokamak playmus operate in pulses. In order to run future takamaks steady state or in very long pulses, other techniques must be used to drive the correct. Over the years, a number of techniques have been demonstrated to drive substantial amounts of plusma current. preven all of it in some special cases. The methods have used either the high-energy neutral beams which also heat the plasma, or waves which either transfer numeritum pri-feriotially to one of the confined species in one direction along the magnetic field. lines or, alternatively, waves which preferentially heat the electrons or ions in the direction perpendicular to the magnetic field, thus changing their collisionality. The different current drive methods lead to drive current in different regions of the plasma, meaning that appropriate combinations of them can modify the shape of the current profile to achieve better stabil ity and less energy leakage.

Bootstrap Current. All of the continuous direct current drive techniques described above have in common that their effitiency for driving current is significantly less than the efficiency of neutral beams or some sorts of waves in heating the plasma. Thus, it would be more appealing if much of the plasma current could be driven by the thermal energy of the plasma, rather than being driven by a less efficient externally applied drive. A thermal energy drive would be fed primarily by the efficient motiral beam or wave systems heating a sub-ignified plasma, or by the energy of the fusion-produced uppha particles in an ignited plasma.
A current drive mechanism ansing from the bulk thermal plasma was theoretically predicted in the 1970s, and was first identified in the early 1960s on the octupate in type of magnetic confinement device) at the University of Wisconsin. It was named the Superstrap current because it was generated by the plasma itself through a sort of dynamo effect as particles. press against magnetic field lines. The strength of this effect depended upon the plasma pressure gradient. Thus, it was not until 1986 that boutstrap current was found experimentally in a tokamak when high confinement plasmas with steep gradients were produced on the TFTR tokamak at Princeton. The existence of the bootstrap current was subsequently verified on the other major tokamaks of the world, and it is now exproceed to supply much of the current for future tokamaks. One or more of the other threat-current drive techniques may also be needed to provide lesser amounts of localized current drive to produce the optimum profile for confinement and stability.

Because the strength of the total magnetic field in a tokamak numeness sharply as one progresses towards in major radius, particles with sufficiently small ratios of parallel velocity to perpendicular velocity with respect to the field will become trapped in local magnetic murrors, much as happens to the main plasme in mirror confinement machines. These particles are referred to as trapped particles, in distinction from the passing particles. which circulate freely along field lines around the tokamak. Their orbits, when projected onto a plasma cross section, resenble bananas, with the tips corresponding to mirror reflection. from higher magnetic field strengths. In the Seviet Union, these were conveximes referred to as sickle orbits. In lower temperature collisional plasmas, the trapped particles often scatter out of trapped velocity space before they complete a mirror bounce, and thus have relatively little effect on the plasma behavior. At the high temperatures typical of today's tokamaks, the particle collisionality is much reduced, and trapped particles may complete many boundes. It is these trapped particles which are particularly important in the production of hootstrap current. Trapped particles in a tokamak are an effect which arises from the toroidicity, since this is what creates the higher magnetic field at smaller major radius. Thus, the fraction of the total particles which are trapped is propertional to r/ff, ratio of the minor radius to the major radius, which is the inverse of the aspect ratio. Thus, in order to maximize biotstrap current, which is in some sense free, reactor designs are sometimes driven toward lower aspect ratios, in the general vicinity of about 3 or less. However, this is somewhat offsel by the fact that the frac-(ion of the current that can be driven by bootstrap effects is in part determined by (Riv)⁰⁵. In addition, there are also other constraints, such as the scaling of confinement in some plusmaregimes, which may drive the optimum aspect ratio to larger. values (6,7).

Comprehensive design studies of a number of variants of tokamak reactors for power plants have been carried out at the University of California at Los Angeles, resulting in a number of designs dubbed with the name Aries (8). These for the most part anticipate providing much of the plasma current with the bootstrap effect, and the balance with one or more of the directcurrent drive techniques.

Plasma Exhaust System. A long pulse or steady-state tokamak reactor requires something better than a simple lumiter to handle the power coming out the edge of the plasma, and to despuse of the belium ash which results from fusion reactions.



Figure 5. Example of tokantak plasma with top and bottom diverters. The divertor colla produce open flux surfaces after the separatrix field line, allowing the noter plasm to leave the non-chaother to service reger planes. The reduces the influx of coportities to the main plasma, allows the power density statisming the target plates to be reduced through the expansion of flux to best and may allow further power density reductions through radiation in the divertor region.

This is done by oltering the closed field line topology of the normal tokamak configuration. By placing an additional shaping coil in the vicinity of the plasma top, bottom, or in both locatanns, it is possible to redirect the outer field lines so that a thin layer of the plasma on the edge of the plasma cross section is diverted out of the main plasma chamber into a divertor chamber where the plasma, and the belium osh it entrains, are converted to original through a combination of encountering a region of higher moutral particle density and of directly striking plates of carbon or some other material. The divertor region is baffled from the main chamber to reduce robox, and much of the neutralized plasma outflow ran be pumped oway us gas. Figure 5 displays one possible divertor configuration.

Ensuring that the divertor plates have an economically at tractive lifetime is a significant engineering problem which is nut yet fully solved for fusion power reactors: the power density in the scrapeoff plasma flowing toward the devertor will be high, causing thermal problems, and the energetic particle flux can cause high sputtering rates on the divertor plates. Some of the approaches being pursued to anticherate these problems include reducing the incident power density by reducing the angle of incidence, and by expanding the flux envelope of the diverted plasma, and reducing the sputtering rate by introducing strongly radiating heavier impurties such as noble gases into the divertor chamber plasma to lower the temperature of the ions so they will produce less sputtering. This deliberately enhanced radiation can also be used to disperse energy at reducent intensity over a larger expanse of material. Tritium Breeding and Thermal Conversion Blanket. About 80% of the energy produced in a deuterinm-Intimu fusion reactor immediately leaves the plasma in the form of 14.1 MeV newtrons, since plasmas with dimensions and densities appropriate to reactors are almost perfectly transparent to high-energy neutrons. The remaining 20% of the energy carried by the fit sion alpha particles heats the plasma, and eventually either leaks from the plasma as electromagnetic radiation that will be absorbed and converted to heat by the first wall, or it flows in the scrapcoff plasma to the divertor, where it heats surfaces. Thus, all of the alpha particle energy is ultimately collected on surfaces. These surfaces will be coaled with some fluid or gas, of which lithing or helium are examples of possible choices. This extracted heat will then he used to produce electronicy, probably by generating steam to drive a conventional turbine.

The neutrons, which carry the other 80% of the fusion power, will be showed down and captured in a blacket surrounding the tokamak. In the process, their kinetic energy will be converted to heat, which will be further augmented by exothermic nuclear reactions with ⁴Ls. This heat can then be removed from the blanket to produce electricity, either through steam turboxes, or possibly by more efficient techniques taking advantage of the fact that the blanket may contain a liquid metal.

This blanket must also breed enough tritium to at least replace the amount consumed in nuclear reactions by the plasma, and it is preferable that it produce somewhat more in order to start up additional fusion power plants. The machines of neutrons with lithium isotopes which produce tritium were distured in an earlier section. Proposed blanket designs have of necessity included either natural lithium or FL, but they have differed in what neutron multipliers were added to the mix. The most commonly assumed multiplier is berythium, which undergoes an (a.2a) repetion, but heavy multipliers such as lead have also been considered. The chief difficulty with some heavy multipliers is that they tend to produce radioactive daughter nuclei with undesirable balf-lives. Beryllium does not pose this difficulty.

Maintenance and Materials. Developing techniques in main tain and repair fusion power plants is an area which still requires substantial engineering development. It may be somewhat simplified by the time commercial plants begin operating some decades from now by advances in rabitics. Present tokamarks are commonly made of stainless steel alloys or inconcl, primarily because they are relatively inexpensive, and can be machined and formed by drawing upon a large body of fabrication experience. These materials, however, would stay significantly radioactive for many years after removal from a fusion plant, meaning they would require storage. They would not be valuable or very reactive, so there would be little threat of contaminating water or uir.

However, one of the advantages of fusion relative to fission is that one has some degree of freeduce to choose materials which reduce activation. This is not possible with fission, since the nuclear waste products are produced by the fissioning of the fael itself. Accordingly, fasion power plants probably will use different materials which will have lower initial levels of radioartivity per gigawait year of exposure, and shorter half-lives which decrease the storage time required for removed components. Two of the low activation materials which have been considered by studies of the Aries group (5) include a vanadium alloy with small amounts of chromium and fitanium, and silicon carbide. In their mactor models, they found that the total radioactivity per watt of reactor thermal power remaining in a fusion power plant one year after shutdown would be a factor of 10^2 lower than for a comparably rated fission breeder reactor, if the fusion plant was built of HT-9, a ferritic steel. If the plant were instead constructed of the variadium alloy, the one year radioactivity was depressed to a level about 10^5 less than for a factor, then the one-year radioactivity of the fusion reactor, then the one-year radioactivity of the factor breeder, and if silicon carbide was used for the fusion reactor, then the one-year radioactivity of the factor breeder. If D ³He reactors ever proved feasible through lunar mining, then the silicon carbide design would give a one-year radioactivity that would be more than 10^{50} less than for a factor breeder.

These and other low-activation materials require engineering validation through tests exposing them to large neutron fluences. In addition, some materials, especially silicon carbide, require progress in fabrication technology. The structures norneally make of silicon carbide are significantly smaller than would be required for a reactor

INERTIAL CONFINEMENT

Parameter Regime

A practical fusion power plant fusing deuterium-trittum fuel requires temperatures of over 10 keV, with a fuel density n_i and an energy confinement time, τ_i such that their product lies in the range of $n\tau = 10^{14}$ to 10^{15} s/cm³. A practical fusion reacter using the magnetic confinement approach discussed earlier will likely operate in a regime with a density of about 10^{14} fuel nuclei/cm³, and a confinement time of ahmit a second or so. Inertial confinement operates at the other extreme of the parameter range. Because the small nuclear explosions in an inertial confinement reactor would occur with high-velocity fuel particles traversing very small distances, the confinement time would be of the order of 10^{-12} s, requiring that the target fuel be compressed to about 10^{15} fuel particles/cm³

This compression must be carried out by a strong implosion. A typical inertial confinement target capsule is a small sphere formed of an aidator material which is lined with solid deoterium tritium fuel. The central spherical cavity thus formed, which composes must of the target capsule's volume, as filled with deuterium-tritium gas. The implosion occurs when the ablation shell is illuminated with a brief burst of extremely high-energy density, on the order of 10 TW/cm2. This causes the auter portions of the ablation shell to leave it with high momenturn which, on the average, will be directed radially outward from the shell. Conservation of momentum requires that an equal inward-directed momentum be imparted to the remaining target, driving the collapse. For a reactor to have energy gains of economic interest, it is also nowssary that this implosion proceed iscentropically, with as little preheating ahead of the compression wave as possible. This, in turn, requires that the compression be uniform to a level of about 13 over the entre sphere. Figure 6 shows one possible design for a target rapsule

Direct and Indirect Drive

The most obvious way to compress a target sphere is to altimthe driver energy directly onto the ablation sphere. The driver might be an array of lasers, light ion accelerators, or heavy ion arreletators. One of the principal challenges in implementing



Figure 6. Target expenden for inertial confinement fusion are compressed in ablation from the outer shell. After ignitions in the center, the fusion burn region will need to spread outward to produce argeincant energy gain.

this approach is that obtaining the required high degree of uniformity in the driver power at the sphere has proven very difficult. In addition, with some types of drivers there muy be preheating of the fuel due to penetration by driver ions, and laser-driven instabilities may degrade the symmetry of the compression. Ways of unclibrating these problems are being studied.

The other implosion method is indirect drive. In this approach the finel capsole is not struck by the primary driver beams (4). Instead, the reporte is placed mode a Hohlraum which is of considerably larger dimensions than the capsule, as depicted in Fig. 7. This Hohlraum is made of a high atomic number material, and has openings through which the driver beams can enter so as to directly strike the inner wall of the Hohlraum, but not the fuel capsule. A portion of the driver energy striking the Hohlraum is converted to soft X rays, and they in turn drive the implesion of the fuel capsule. An advantage of this method compared to drive is that quive uniform irradiation of the capsule with the soft X rays can be achieved even with anisotropic primary driver beams, enabling favor beams to be used. In addition, there is a large body of



Xireys ID-F target

Figure 7. Target placement for indirect drive mental confinement lusion. High-power loser beams strike the inner surfaces of the Hohlmann producing X rays which compress the target repsule. A variant of this would use heavy non-beams striking absorbers at the ends of the Hohlmann. Indirect drive recurses much less perfect symmetry in the drivers than does direct drive. experience available with this cort of indirect drive from the nuclear weapons program. The majority of research being conducted on inertial confinement in the US today follows the indirect drive approach.

Inertial Confinement Drivers

Laser Drivers. Over recent decades, a number of classes of drivers have been considered, and in some cases tested, for inertial confinement applications. Experiments have been driven by neodymium-glass lasers, and krypton fluoride gas lasers have been studied as possible primary drives. Most of the laser drivers suffer from low efficiencies for conversion of electricity juto layer light. In the case of KrF this efficiency is about 6% to 3% (9). This would require that the target capsale produce 140 to 160 times more energy than was in the driver in order to make a power plant feasible. Such high gains are vastly beyond current achievements, but may, in principle, be achievable. Laser dirdes have much higher efficiencies of as much as 60%. If the prices of these can be reduced by a large factor, and if techniques can be found to interface them with the thermonuclear environment of a reactor cell, then these may become attractive.

Ion Drivers. The other classes of drivers are light ions and browy ions. In the light on approach, extremely high currents of lithium ions are produced by an array of dasks sources and accelerated to energies of hundreds of keV to p few MeV. Lathaum deade drivers have been studied at the Sandia National Lahoratory. The other method would use lower currents of ions from the high mass and of the periodic table such as zenon or cesium, which would be accelerated to energies of 2 GeV to 10 GeV. About 10° A of beam at these energies would be required to achieve the necessary illumination intensity. Although the required pulse duration is very brief, such currents are well beyond the capabilities of existing high-energy accelerators. Highcurrent accelerator concepts such as inductive links are being studied.

Both of the loss drive techniques have the major advantage, relative to most of the laser approaches, that their efficiency for conversion of electricity to ion energy can be quite high, 25% to 30%. With the heavy ion approach a target energy gate of a factor of 40 might be sufficient for a leasible plant, which is roughly a factor of 4 below that required for a KrF laser driver. On the other hand, for either technology the final path of approach of the ion beams toward the Hohlraum will be after the final focusing elements of the ion oplical system. Maintaining the necessary illumination intensity and uniformity will be difficult as these high space charge density beams converge teward even lagher concentrations of space charge. Spare charge effects, which arise because of the coulomb repulsion between blue charges, are strongly defocussing.

Inertial Confinement Plant Systems

An mertial confinement fusion power plant would consist of a target chamber, the driver system of ion accelerators or insers, and a target fabrication system introducing several capsules (and fightraoms if medical) per second into the chamber A lithium layer would breed tritium and would convert the fusion energy to heat, which could then be converted to steam to drive turbines. Concepts for this future layer have included liquid metal flowing over the inner surface of the target chamber, as well as jets of liquid metal around the target.

PROGRESS IN FUSION ENERGY

Over the past quarter century, large advances have been made in understanding the physics of plasmas suitable for a magnetically confined reactor, and the technologies for heating the plasmas have similarly progressed. In this period the power released through fusion reactions has increased a factor of 10", with over 10 MW produced by the TFTR tokamak funded by the US Department of Energy at Princeton University Similarly the energy leakage of the ions has dropped from being many times higher than that theoretically predicted to values which in some cases are at or near the theoretically best confinement that could over occur. Temperatures in takamaks have climbed from a few hundred electron valts to as much as 40 keV to 45 keV in TFTR and in JT-60U in Naka, Japan, Energy runfooment times have grown from a few milliseconds to a second or more on Japan's JT-60U and Europe's JET tokamaks. The power of neutral beam systems heating the plasma has climbed from the tens of kilowatts prevalent a quarter century ago to 40 MW on TFTR and 4T 6011

Inertial confinement fusion has made advances in understanding the physics of matter at the very high pressures and densities required for this approach, and understanding has been gained about the ways in which energy and numeritors are transferred to the target repsule. A major new lacer-driven test bed, named the National Ignition Facility, is to be constructed to further these studies, and investigations continue on ways to make more efficient drivers.

Producing an economically attractive fusion power plant will require more work for either the magnetic or merical confinement approaches. Based upon the present state of these fields, it appears that the magnetic confinement approach enjoys a clearer path forward to a reactor, but this could change in the future depending upon progress in inertial confinement.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- J. Wesson, Tokamaks, Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1987.
- J. G. Cordoy, R. J. Goldston, and R. R. Parker, Progress toward a Tokamak fusion reactor. Phys. Reduc. 22-30, 1992.
- 3 L J Wittenberg, J. Y Santartus, and G. L. Kolcinski, Lonne source of ³He for commercial fusion power, *Pusion Technol* 10, 167, 1986.
- J. Lindl, Development of the indirect-drive approach to merital confinement fusion and the Lerger physics basis for ignition and gain. *Phys. Plasmas*, 2 (11): 3933–4024, 1995.
- H. J. Goldston and P. H. Hutherford, Introduction to Plasma Physics, Bristol and Philadelpia: Institute of Physics, 1985.
- L. R. Grishnm et al., The scaling of coefficient with major radius in TFTR, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 47: 66–69, 1991.
- L. H. Grisham et al., Scaling of chronoworgy coefficients with major reduce in the Tokamax Jusium test reactor, *Phys. Plasmas*, 1 (3996) 4001, 1994.
- R. W. Cronn et al., Economic, safety, and environmental aspects of fusion reacture, Nucl. Fasion, 30: 1919–1934, 1990.
- W.J. Hogan, R. Bongester, and U. L. Kulchiski, Energy from inertial fosion, *Phys. Today*. September, pp. 42–80, 1992.

LARRY R. GRISHAM Proceeding University

GYROTRON

The gyrotron is a vacuum tube capable of delivering high levels of radio-frequency (RF) power at frequencies from several gigaberts to more than 300 GHz, which covers most of the microwave and millimeter wave band. Because of the structure of the RF fields in the cavity, the magnitude of the electric fields and the RF losses in the cavity walls are much lower in gyrotrons than in most microwave and millimeter wave vacuum tubes. As the RF increases, it is not necessary to reduce the size of the cavity and output waveguide. For these reasons, the gyrotron is the principal RF device for delivering high levels of RF power at frequencies between 30 GHz and 200 GHz.

Gyrotrons typically require a very high magnetic field to provide the evolution electron motion for power extraction, and most gymtrans above 30 GHz require a superconducting magnet. This significantly increases system cost and complexity, limiting applications for these devices, however, morel advances in magnet technology are reducing this problem. Gyzolcons also have a norrow RF bandwidth, typically less than 13, although gyrotron amplifiers are capable of wider band widths. Gyro-TWTs with 20% bandwidth have been demonstrated, and octave bandwidths are predatted with more complex circuits. Gyrolron oscillators produce more average or CW. power levels since gyro-amplifiers are much more difficult to develop at higher frequencies due to the invermoded nature of the circuits. Still, gyra-amplifiers have significantly more capahility than conventional tubes at millimeter-wave frequencies, and development of high-power gyroamplifiers is in progress at several locations around the world for use as high-power RF sources for accelerators and high-resolution radar.

Gyrotrons are used for electron cyclotron resonance heating (ECRH), electron cyclotron correct drive (ECCH), and dingnostic measurements in fusion plasma devices. They are also being used for industrial heating applications such as ceramic sintering. Figure 1 is a photograph of Dr. Howard Jory, one of the pioneers in gyrotron development, holding a 28 GHz, 10 kW continuous wave (CW) hurmonic gyrotron used for industrial heating. Behand him is a 110 GHz gyrotron rated at approximately 450 kW CW and 1 MW for pulses less than 1 s, that is used for electron cyclotron resonance heating. Communications and fower Industries. Inc. in Palo Alto, California manufactures both devices.

Research on gyro-type devices began in the 1950s when the astrophysicist R. Q. Twiss described an amplifying mochanism for monochroniatic radiation of angular frequency & from stinulated emission of an ensemble of electrons (1). Twiss' formula predicted amplification for Cerenkov radiation and for cyclotron radiation. Working independently, Schwader described the stimulated emission of radiation from electrons in a magnetic field in 1959 using a quantum mechanical model (2). Also in 1959, Caponov described this mechanism using a waveguide analol (3).

The first experimental results describing a fast wave cyciotena interaction were reported by R. H. Pantell in 1959 (4). His device produced radiation between 2.5 and 4.0 GHz from a 1 kV, 3 μ A electron beam. In the former Soviet Union, Gaponov and others were performing experiments in 1959 using a belical beam in a longitudinal magnetic field, but the efficiency was low. In 1963, M. Petelin presented the first theory involving belical beams at a conference in the Ukraine, which led to an



Figure 1. Dr. Sloward Jury holds a 28 GB2, 10 kW CW harmonic gynation used for industrial heating. Behind him is a 110 GB2, 450 kW CW, 1 MW pulsed, gynatron used for electron cyclotron heating of fusion plasmas.

experiment in 1964 that produced 200 W. In 1966, the power level reached 1 kW. A number of additional experiments were reported during the early 1960s (5–6), but the experiment that continued the cyclotron maser interaction was performed by J. L. Hirschfield and J. M. Wachtel in 1964 (9).

During the mid- to late 1960s, major advances were made by scientists in the Soviet Union, though much of this work went anreported in the Western World due to the political dimntent the time (10). Soviet scientists embarked on a major program to develop megawart gyrotrons and made major advances in electron mode selection, open resonators, and waveguides (11), ray tracing to optimize the interaction between the electron beam and the RF wave in the circuit, and large cross-section cavities utilizing whispering gallery modes (12). Whispering gallery modes are transverse electric modes where the number of azimuthal field variations significantly exceeds the number of radial field variations. Use of these modes was further facilitated by the development by S. N. Vlasov et al. of a quasi-optical device for converting the whispering gallery waveguide mode into a Gaussian mode that can be propagated in a narrow wave beam without waveguides (13). An equally important Soviet development was the magnetron operation gun, which generates the required electron beam for efficient gyrotron operation.

For a more complete historical description of gyratron development, the reader is referred to three publications that cover the subject in more detail (14–16). The reader is also referred to a listing of journals in the hoblingraphy that contain most of the published work in this area.

BASIC THEORY OF OPERATION

Gyrotrona exploit the negative mass instability to obtain azimutical banching of a cycluiding electron beam. A transverse electric field in the ravity modifies the energy of the electrons such that higher-energy electrons gyrate more slowly around the magnetic flux base than do lower-energy electrons. A schematic cross section of a gyrotron beam is shown in Fig. 2. The beam is hollow with individual electrons rotating at the cyclotron frequency around magnetic field lines with orbit diameters equal to twice the Larsuour radius. The Larsour radius is given by

$$R_{\rm f} = rac{
ho n_{\rm f} c_{\rm s}}{e B_{\rm c}}$$

where $\gamma = (1 + c_{\perp}^2/c_{\perp}^2 + a_{\perp}^2/c_{\perp}^2)^{-1/2}$ is the relativistic factor, *m* is the rest mass of the electron, u_{\perp} is the velocity of the electron in the plane perpendicular to the direction of the magnetic field, *c*, is the electron velocity in the direction parallel to the magnetic field, *v* is the charge of the electron, and B_0 is the applied magnetic field strength.

Figure 3 more closely examines the effect of the electric field on the individual electrons in a cyclotron orbit when the frequency of the electric field is equal to the cyclotrum frequency. The cyclotrum frequency is given by

$$\Omega = \frac{eH_0}{\gamma m_0}$$

Most gyrotrons employ an interaction circuit that can be approximated by a right-cylindrical cavity. In the gyrotron interaction, only electron beam energy that is transverse to the axis



Figure 2. The sylandrical electron beam of the gyzotron consusts of electrons orbitally account assignstic flat, lines



Figure 3. The covity electric field interacts with the electrons orbiting around the magnetic flux lines. Each diagram is an integral number of cyclotron periods beter in time as the electrons traverse the cavity. The force on the electrons is given by $\vec{F} = -e\vec{E}$.

of the cavity is extracted from the beam, so that the interaction is with the transverse (TE) modes of the cavity. For this geometry, the electric field components have the form

$$\begin{split} E_{n} &= E_{n}J_{\mu}(k,r) \sin(k,z) \cos(n\theta) \\ E_{n} &= \frac{m}{k_{n}r}J_{\mu}(k,r) \sin(k_{n}r) \sin(n\theta) \end{split}$$

where E_r and E_r are the azimuthal and radial components of the electric field, respectively; J_m and J_m^* are the Bessel function and Bessel function derivative, respectively: mis the azimuthal anote number of the electric field; $k_z = X'_{res}/r_d$, where X'_{rm} is the *s*th root of the corresponding Bessel function derivative, and r_b is the circuit radius; and $k_s = p_T/L$, where p is the axial mode number of the circuit field (typically = 1), and L is the cavity length.

In Fig. 3, such successive image is an integral number of RF periods later in time as the electrons traverse the cavity. Electrons accelerated by the electron field gain energy and, as a result of the relativistic mass increase, their angular velocity decreases as ν increases. Conversely, electrons decelerated by the electron field luse energy and gain angular velocity. This causes azimuthal bunching of the electrons, sometimes referred to as the cyclorion resonance moser (CHM) instability.

If the frequency of the electric field, ω , exceeds the cyclotron frequency, Ω , the bunch will eventually fall back in phase and more electrons will undergo deceleration than acceleration, as shown in Fig. 4. This will result in transfer of energy from



Figure 4. When $w > \Omega_0$, more electrons will be decelerated than accelerated, resulting in transfer of energy 1-) the electric field. the electrons to the electric field. Optimized performance of gyrotrons responses careful design of the circuit geometry and control of the magnetic field. The circuit geometry affects the frequency and choice of the mode for the electric field, as well as the strength and profile. The magnetic field affects frequency of the interaction, and the magnetic field affects frequency of the interaction, and the magnetic compression ratio affects the size and location of the beam as well as the transverse energy. In many cases the magnetic field is tapered; that is, it is modified in strength through the cavity, to optimize the efficiency of power extraction.

Harmonic gyrotrons operate at a multiple of the cyclotron frequency. As the harmonic number increases, hear placement becomes more critical, and the theoretical efficiency decreases. The advantage of harmonic gyrotrons is that the magnitude of the magnetic field is 1/n times that required for nonharmonic operation. This can eliminate the need for a superconducting magnet.

For a more complete description of gyrotron theory, both lincar and nonlinear, the reader is referred to several excellent publications on the subject (16–18).

BASIC COMPONENTS

Figure 5 shows a echematic layout of a typical gyretron oscillator. Basic components consist of an electron gun, input beam tennel, sircent, output taper, collector, window, and magneta. There are numerous variations of each of these components, depending on the operating characteristics of the gyretron. The discussion that follows describes the most common types of components, including their purpose and performance characteristics.

Electron Gun

The function of the electron gun is to produce the electron beam required for interaction with the desired operating mode in the circuit. The gun must produce an electron beam that will be located at the proper radius for efficient interaction with the cavity electric fields and must contain most of its energy in cyclotron motion. Most gyrotrons employ a magnetron enjoction gun (mig) that emits electrons from a cathode placed in a region of crossed electric and magnetic fields. This geometrical configuration causes the individual electrons to spiral around the magnetic field lines as they are accelerated by the electron.



Figure 6. The basic components of a typical gyrotroci are the electron gun, beam tunnel, cavity, output beam tunnel, collector, window, and magnet solenoids.

field toward the circuit. This development was pioneered in the Soviet Union in the 1960s and made rapid development of gyrotrons possible (19)

Gyrotron cathodes typically operate temperature-limited, which means that the amount of current emitted from the cathode is primarily determined by the temperature of the emitting surface. The reader is referred to the excellent treatment of cathode emission mechanisms presented by A. S. Gilmour, Jr. (20). Typical cathode temperatures are between 950°C and 1000°C.

Gymtron gons come in two basic types, mod anode and diods. A mod anode gun contains an electrode near the emitting surface to module the electron beam, that is, it uses an applied voltage to modify the characteristics of the beam. This electrode is maintained at a voltage between the cathode and ground and can have a significant effect on the beam characteristics and, hence, the performance of the gyrotron. By varying the voltage on this electrode, the user can control the output power by varying the amount of transverse energy that is present in the electron beam. Most commercially available gyrotron oscillators using mod anode guns operate at cathode voltages between -60 kV and -80 kV with mode anode voltages ranging from 15 kV up to about 30 kV above cathode potential.

A diode gun possesses no intermediate electroite, so the eachorie voltage or the magnetic field controls gyrotron operation Because the cathode power supply must also supply the current in the beam, it cannot be modified as easily as a mod anode supply, so diode guns typically operate where RF power is turned on or off by pulsing of the catholic power supply. For applications where it is not necessary to modify the operating characteristics of the tube, this represents a lower-cost gyrouron and power supply configuration.

Magnetic Solenoids

The circuit requires an electron beam where the electrons are orbiting the magnetic field lines at a frequency near that of the RF frequency of the cavity. For gyrotrons operating at frequencies above 30 GHz, this typically requires a superconducting aslenoid to generate the required magnetic field in the circuit An exception can occur if the circuit is operating at a harmonic of the cyclotron frequency. The requirement of a superconducting solenoid limits applications for gyrotrons to those where the additional weight and complexity do not present a severe burden; however, advances in superconducting magnet design and technology are rapidly reducing this publics. Gyrotrons are now broag considered for mobile or airborne applications that were previously considered impractical

In addition to the solenoids required to produce the cavity magnetic field, other solenoids can be present around the electron gun and collector regions. Solenoids around the electron gun modify the amount of transverse energy in the beam or its size in the circuit. These calls are typically operated at room temperature because the fields in the electron gun are typically a few hundred gauss. The ratio of strength of the magnetic field in the circuit to that in the electron gun is referred to as the *beam compression*. This value plays an important role in the design of the electron gun and the combination of electric and magnetic fields required for efficient circuit interaction. Beam compressions of 10 to 20 are typical.

Solenoids around the collector are used to distribute the power deposated by the electron beam exciting from the circuit. The fringing magnetic fields from superconducting coils impose a magnetic field in the collector that is higher than in other linear beam takes. This field prevents the electrons from spirading due to space charge and results in a relatively thin beam of electrons impacting a small region of the collector. This can result in excessive localized heating of the surface and possible destruction of the gyrotron. The collector coils are used to "back" the field from the main solution and spread the electron impact area over a larger region of the collector. In some more advanced applications, an oscillating power supply drives one or more solenoids to sweep the beam back and forth along the collector surface.

Beam Tunnel

The hearn tunnel most perform two important functions. First, it must prevent RF fields from the circuit from traveling back toward the electron gun. RF fields in the electron gun can severely affect the electron beam and cause excessive current on the body of the tube or the mod anode. It can also result in heating of the cathode emitter, which will affect the beam current. Enter condition will adversely affect tube operation.

The second function of the beam tunnel is to prevent parasilic oscillations between gun and circuit. Parasilic oscillations result in excessive body or mod anode current and can prevent tube operation. In some cases, dielectric material with a high RF loss is used to load out any electrontagnetic fields present.

Circuil

The KF corror typically consists of a right circular cylinder whose radius v₂ is chosen such that

$$c_{0} = \frac{c X_{in}}{2\pi f'}$$

where X'_{ini} is the *i*th root of the Bessel function derivative for the TE_{co} cavity mode, c is the speed of light, and f is the operating frequency. The gyndrine operates near the cut-off frequency of the circuit, and the equation for the circuit radius is the equation for the cut-off frequency for a waveguide of radins r_0 . The cavity mode depends primarily on the desired **RF** frequency and output power level. The application for the tube can also play an important role. The first commercial gyrotrous used TE_{00} , TE_{02} , or TE_{03} modes because they were reasonably close to the fundamental mode, did not couple to nonsymmetrie modes that could travel down the beam tunnel loward the electron gan, and had very low RF loss in the circuit walls More than 100 gyrotrons at frequencies between 28 CHz and 100 GHz and power levels up to \$40 kW CW were produced by Varian Associates, Inc. (now Communications and Power Industries. Inc.) from 1978 through 1990. These tubes were used for electron cyclutron resonance heating (ECRH) of plasmas in magnetic confinement fusion research. Gyrotrons of this type have also been developed in Germany, China, Japan, France, and Russia (21)

As the domand for higher-power tubes increased, gyrotrons that used whispering gallery nuclea were developed. Whispering gallery modes allow the electron hearn to be larger and mincurve mode competition from other circuit modes. These modes also have reasonable RF power dissipation in the circuit. This work was pronvered in the former Soviet Union beginning in 1968.

Designers of high-power gyrotrons must balance a largenumber of factors to achieve a circuit configuration that will provide the power and frequency required with reasonable officiency white avoiding parsitic mode competition, instabilities, and excessive RF power densities on the circuit walls. For additional information on the design of high-power gyrotron circuits, the reader is referred to Ref. 22.

Output Taper

Most all gyretron circuits are open-model toward the collector, and the RF power diffracts into the cutput taper. The output taper is usually a shallow, tapered section of waveguide that terminates the circuit interaction and transmits the RF power toward the collector. The waveguide radial dimensions must be increased in such a way that the purity of the output mode is not compromised. For gyrotrons where the RF power is extracted along the axis of the tobe, the output taper continues to increase the radial dimension until the desired collector radius is achieved. The requirement to maintain mode purity often conflicts with the necessity of achieving the collector radius within a reasonable distance. The size of the collector is driven by the necessary to dissipate the spent electron heam without incurring excessive power densities on the walls, which could lead to melting or loss of vacuum integrity. For gyrotrons with average RF power levels exceeding 200 kW, particularly those employing whispering gallery circuit modes, it is neare expedient to extract the RF power radially to allow more freedom in collector design. For these tubes, the output taper transmits the circuit power to an RF launcher for eventual extraction from the vacuum envelope. This removes further requirements on the output tuper to monitain mode purity and allows the designer more freedom in transitioning to the collector region.

Collector

Typical linear heart devices rely on termination of the magnetic field and space charge depression to spread the spens electron beam in the collector. Most of these devices employ an iron polepiece to terminate the magnetic field at the entrance to the collector. While this works well for solid electron berans at does not apply to gyrotrons. Because of the high magnetic fields. required in gyrotrons, this is often not practical, particularly when superconducting solenoids are used. Forces imposed by nearby iran on the superconductang only would dramatically increase the complexity and cost of the magnet. As a result, sufficient magnetic fields exist in the collector to limit spreading of the electron hears from space charge forces. In addition, the hearn used in gyrotrons is typically a thin cylindrical hearn with high current density. This also exacerbates the problem of beam dissepation in the collector. Power densities up to 500 W/cm² are typical: 1000 W/cm² is considered the upper limit.

For gyrotrons at lower average power levels, these complications may not be a critical issue. For three devices, the intput taper conducts the RF power to the collector with high mode purity, and the collector also serves as the output waveguide. In some cases, a downtaper is employed at the end of the collector in reduce the tube diameter before the output window. For these devices, the designer must also be concerned about nucles that can be trapped in the collector between the uptager from the circuit and the downtaper to the window.

For gyrotrons exceeding 500 kW of average power, radial HF power extraction allows the designer more (zeedom in collector design. The size of the collector can be based on the dissipation requirements of the epont beam alone. As a result, collectors far-high-power gyrotrons often constitute a major portion of the device to Fig. 1, the collector of the 500 kW CW gyrotron behind Dr. Jory begins above the output window. The designer most balance low power densities with the increasing size, wright, and cost of large collectors.

RF Launcher System

The RF lanncher system converts the circular covity/ waveguide mode to a quasi-optical Gaussian mode. This development was pioneered in the Soviet Union and allows transmission of the beam with very low loss using a series of metallic mirrors. Modern computer endes and integration with computer numerically controlled (CNC) mills and lattice allow precise control of the power in the RF beam. Modern designs convert the power from the circuit into the desired Gaussian mode with greater than 95% efficiency. The conversion of the waveguide mode to a quasi-optical Gaussian-type mode size results in a more convenient RF mode for most user applications.

Figure 6 shows a typical RF launcher configuration consisting of a waveguide launcher and two mirrors internal to the gyrotron. The cast angle of the RF power from the launcher is



Figure 6. The Gaussian mode launcher converts the wavegoode mode to a quasi-optical heam, and the internal micross shape the KF beam profile.

at the waveguide bounce angle, and the mirrors concentrate the power into a small circular beam and tailor the distribution of power within the beam as required by the output window.

Output Window

A deductric window is used to extract the RF power from the vacuum envelope of the gyrotron. Common window materials are alumina and sapphire, however, berllia exide, boron nitride, silicon nitride, and other materials have been used in special devices. At higher average power levels, the thermal characteristics of standard materials is such that the heat deposited in the ceramic cannot be adequately removed by cooling around the edges as in most linear beam devices. Figure 7 shows a schematic dagram of a double disk window that uses a dielectric fluid to convectively fore-cool the disks.

The power-handling capability of the window is the major factor limiting output power for high average power gyrotrons. For tabes utilizing Gaussian mode mapat, internal increas are carefully designed to shape the beam profile for optimum window performance. In addition, new materials, such as chemically vapor deposited (CVD) diamond, are being studied to pravide extremely high thermal conductivity and low dielectric loss.

Coolani Vectoriari Vectoriari Vectoriari Ain Goolani Goolani Goolani Goolani

Figure 7. In the double-disk window, a dielectric fluid flows between the renamic disks for enhanced cooling

AMPLIFIERS

While must gyro devices are usuallators, research is in progress to develop gyroamplifiers as drivers for linear accelerators (23) and for high frequency, high-resolution radar (24). While oscillator design is relatively straightforward, amplifier design presents several challenges. Since the circuits are typically overmoded, it becomes more difficult to prevent RF backage through the drift regions between cavities. Also, the high ravity Q fuetors characteristic of gyrotron output cavities limits the bandwidth that can be achieved. While several amplifier configurations have been studied, the gyroklystron and the gyro-TWT traveling wave tablet have achieved the most success.

The gyroklystron consists of two or more cavities separated by drift spaces cut off for the operating mode. An azimuthal drift is imposed on the electrons by a sinusoidal energy modulation in the first cavity. These drifts are enhanced by intermediate buncher cavities, and the output cavity extracts the power from the azimuthally bunched electron beam. Must gyroklystrons employ cavity modes that are above the fundamental TE₁₁ cirrular waveguide mode. Extreme care most be used to ensure that any RF power converted from the cavity mode to the TE₁₁ mode is not allowed to propagate through the drift spaces and cause sportnus oscillations. This also binds the circuit nucles that can be used to those close to the fundamental (typically TE₁₁ or TE₁₂) circuit modes. Bandwidths for gyroklystrons are typically less than 1%. Operating efficiencies greater than 30% are common, and gams range from 20 to 40 d.R.

In the gyro-TWT, an azimuthally bunched helical beam interacts with a traveling wave. If the periodicity and velocity of the electron bunches are such that synchronism means between the electrons and the traveling wave, complutive bunching and energy extraction can occur. These amplifiers have considerably larger bandwidths than gyroklystrons; however, they operate at lower efficiency (<20%) and generally produce less power.

Research has also hern performed on gyro backward wave oscillators, gyrocwystrons, and gyropeniotrons. The reader is referred to the additional reading list for information on these devices.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

Most gyrotron research is focused on increasing the output power of the device, primarily for ECRH and ECCO of fusion plasmas. It is anticipated that several hundred megawaits of RF power will be required for heating these plasmas. It is desirable to maximize the output power of the individual gyrotrons to reduce the number of gyrotrons required. The current goal as to devidop gyrotrons producing 1 MW of CW power at frequencies between 100 GHz and 170 GHz (27-29). Much of this research is focused on individual rumporents, such us the RF window (S0) and depressed collectors for energy recovery (31-33). Other researchers are investigating alternative cavity configurations (33-35).

Amplifier research is focused on developing gyrocomplifiers for high-resolution radar and for high-power linear accelerotors. Current research goals for radar applications include bandwidth cohorcement, increased efficiency, increased output power, and gains excreming 30 dB. It is anticipated that peak powers approaching 100 kW and average powers exceeding 10 kW will be required. Accelerator applications do not require large bandwidths, but peak powers exceeding 100 MW at frequencies between 11 GHz and 20 GHz will be needed High efficiency and reasonable gain will also be major goals. Advances in gyrotron components, such as windows, electron guns, humcher systems, and depressed collectors, will also be applicable to emplifier development.

Research is also in progress to develop gyrotrons for industrial heating applications, particularly for sintening of fine grain ceramics. Studies indicate that microwave and millimeter sintering can produce extremely high heating rates or selective heating in multiphase systems leading to novel ceramic materials with compositions and microsurusmes not possible using standard techniques (36). Several experiments are in progress to develop sources for these applications (37.38). It is anticipated that other applications will materialize when efficient, nost-effective sources are available.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- R. O. Twies, Rediction consister and the possibility of negative electropic or radia estremony, *Austr. J. Phys.*, 11: 564-579, 1958.
- J. Schneider, Stimulated emission of radiation by relativistic electrons in a magnetic field, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 2: 504-505, 1959.
- A. V. Gapunov. Interaction between electron fluxes and electromagnetic waves in waveguides, *Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zeved. Badiofizika*, 2 450–462, 1969.
- H. H. Puntell, Electron beam interaction with fsat waves. Proc. Symp. Millimeter Waves, Microso, Res. Inst. Symp. Sec. 0, 1959.
- K. K. Chow and R. H. Pantell. The cycletran resonance backward wave oscillator. Proc. IRE, 48(11): 1960.
- B. Butt. Two-ble sources of multimeter and submillimeter waveradiation, Proc. IEEE, 52, 830-331, 1964.
- I. B. Batt, A powerful anurce of millimeter wavelength electromagnetic vadiation, *Phys. Lett.* 14 (4) 293–294, 1965.
- J. Fernstein, Research on electronic attensions with the fields of micros resonators. In Proc. Int. Congr. Manuar. Talses 5th, 1964
- J. L. Hirschlield and J. M. Wachtel, Electron cyclotron maser, Phys. Rev. Lett. 12 (19): 533-536, 1964.
- M. I. Petelini, Relativising a microwave electronics. In Proc. Twenty-Second Int. Conf. Infrared Multimater Works, Wattergreen, VA, July 1997.
- L. A. Vaynshtevn, Open resumators and open waveguides. Societskoye Rodio 1966.
- Y. V. Bykov et al., presented at the VII Inter-ordinginte Conf. on SHF Electron., Turnsk, 1972.
- 13 S. N. Vla-ov, J. 1. Zagryadskoya, and M. I. Petelin. Transformation of a whispering gallery mode, propagating in a circular waveguide, into a beam of waves. *Radio Eng. Electron*, Phys. 20: 14-17, 1975.
- [4] V. A. Flyngin et al., IEEE Trans. Microsc. Theor. Tech., M17425, 512–521, 1977.
- J. L. Hirshfield and V. L. Granatstein. The electron cyclotran maser—an historical survey. *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, MTT-25: 522–527, 1977.
- J. L. Hirshfield, Gyrotrons, In Infrared and Million ter Wook, Vol. 1. New York: Academic Press, 1979, Chapter 1, pp. 1–54.
- 17 B. S. Symmons and H. R. Jury, Cyclotran resonance devices. In Advances in Electronics and Electron Physics. Vol. 55, New York, Academic Press, 1981, pp. 103–185.
- J. Mark Buird, Gyrotrup theory. In V. L. Granatstein and I. Alexeff.

(eds.), High Pauro Microscience Sources, Norwood, MA, Artech Humae, 103-145, 1987.

- 19 V. A. Flyagan et al., The gyrotrun, IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory and Tech., MITP25: 514–521, 1977.
- A. S. Gilmann, Proceeders of Database Wave Tales, Boston, MA: Artech House, 1994, pp. 103–149.
- 21 M. Thumm, State-of-the-Art of High Power Gyro Devices and Free Electron Masers, Update 1995, Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe, ITP, Association, FZK-Eurocom Postfach 3640, D-6/76021 Karlsruhe, Germany.
- 22 K. B. Kreischer et al., The design of mepawatt gyrotrona, IEEE Trans. Physica Sci., PS-13: 364–373, 1985.
- V. L. Grannistein and W. Lawson. Gyre-simplifiers os candidate RP drivers for ToV linear colliders, *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.*, 24: 648– 666, 1996.
- B. Danly et al., Development of W-band gyraklystron for radia: applications, Proc. Twenty Second Int. Conf. Infrared Millimeter Waters Wintergreen, VA, July 1997
- 25 M. Black et al., Experimental study of a high power W-band gyruklystron amplifier, Proc. Taionry Second Int. Conf. Infrared Millingter Waves, Wintergreen, VA, July 1997.
- J. Chou et al., Experiments on high power 36 GHz gyroklystronamphiliets, Proc. Towary Second Int. Conf. Informal Multimeter. Writes, Writergreen, VA, July 1997.
- V. E. Myssnikov et al., Long polse operation of a 110 GHz 1 MW gyrotran, Proc. Twenty Second Int. Conf. Infrared Millimeter Waves, Wavergreen, VA, July 1997
- K. Sakamoto et al., Development of high power 170 GHz pyratron for ITER. Proc. Twenty Second Int. Conf. Infrared Millimeter Waves, Wintergroon, VA, July 1997.
- 29. V. E. Zapovolov et al., Development of 1 MW output power level goration for ITER, Proc. Twenty Second Int. Conf. Infrared Millimeter Waves, Wintergreen, VA, July 1997.
- M. Thuman. Development of output window for high power long pulse gyratrons, Proc. Tuvnity Second Int. Conf. Infrared Millioneter, Writes, Wrate (green, VA, July 1997).
- A. Singh et al., Integrated design of depressed collectors for gymtrons, IEEE Trans. Piasma Sci., 25: 480–491, 1997
- R. L. Ives et al., Development of a multi-stage dispressed collector for a 1 MW CW gyrotron, Proc. Twenty Second Int. Conf. Infrared Millioneter Works, Wintergreen, VA, July 1997.
- V. A. Flyagin et al., Investigation of coasts1 gyrotrons at IAP RAS, Proc. Townty Second Int. Conf. Infrared Millimeter Waves, Wintergreen, VA, July 1997.
- 34 B. Pursezyk et al., Operation of a maxial gyrotron with a dual RFbeam magnet, Proc. Transity Second Int. Unit, Infrared Millimeter Waves, Wintergreen, VA, July 1997.
- 35 R. Piosneyk et al., A 1.5 MW, 140 GHz, TE25.16 Coaxial Cavity Gyrolnon, IEEE Trans. Plasma Soc., 26: 461-469, 1997
- 36 J. P. Calame et al., The nurrowave antering of veranics. New insights, models, and applications based on realistic certainic microstructures. Proc. Tecnty Second Int. Conf. Infrared Millimeter Wates, Wintergreen, VA, July 1997.
- A. W. Flullet et al., Millimeter-wave sinteeing of versitie compacts Proc. To enzy Second Int. Conf. Infrared Millimeter Waves, Wintergreen, VA, July 1997.
- 36 A. W. Ficher et al., Pulsed 35 GHz gyrotron with overcooked spinratur for sinterine ceramic compacts, *IKEE Int. Oxof. Plasma Net*. (1996, pp. 105–106)

Reading List

The following journals contain most of the publications related to gynotron research and development. IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci IEEE Trans Microw Theory Techn Int. J. Electron. Int. J. Infrared Millimeter Waves Proc. Int. Conf. Infrared Millimeter Waves yearly. Proc. Int. Conf. Plasma Sci. Specify, Ize. Vesch. Cohebn. Zurea, Badioficika

Additional sources of information are listed below.

- R. B. Miller, An Introduction to the Physics of Intense Charged Particle Beans, New York: Plenum Press, 1982, pp. 238–249.
- H. R. Joey, F. Lien, and R. S. Symmon. Final Report of Millioneter Wave Study Program, performed for Oak Ridge National Laboratory on Order No. Y-12 11Y-199433V, Varian Associates, Inc., Pale Alto, CA, 2975.
- K. R. Cha, Theory of Electrics Conferent Master Interactions in a Carity at the Harmonic Frequencies, NRI, Memorandum Report 3672, Washington, DC, Naval Research Usbaratory, 1977.
- K. S. Symous and H. R. Jory, Small-signal theory of gyrotruns and gyroklystrucs. Proc. Symp. Eng. Prob. Fasion Res. 7th, 1977.
- H. R. Jary et al., Gyrotrons for high-power multimeter wave generation, Proc. Symp. Roy. Prob. Fusion Res. 7th, 1977.
- V L. Bratmen et al., Theory of gyrocrons with a nonlined structure of the high frequency field, *Izv. Vysab. Vichetin. Zared.*, Radiofiz. 16 (4), 1973.
- A. V. Gaponov et al., Induced synchrotron radiation of electrons in cavity resonators, Soc. Phys. JETP Lett., 2 (9): 1965
- M. Caplan and C. Therington. Improved computer modeling of magnetron injection gaps for gymerons, Int. J. Electron. 51: 415-426, 1981.
- J. Neil an et al., Determination of the resonant frequency in a complex cursty using scattering matrix formulation. *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, 37: 1165–1171, 1989.
- V. A. Flyager and G. S. Nosmavich, Gyration and Inters. Proc. IEEE, 76 644-655, 1995.
- K. Felch, H. Huey, and H. Jury, Gynetrons for ECH applications, J. Fusion Energy, 9 (1): 59-75, 1990.
- Y. V. Bykoviet al., Experimental investigations of a gyrotron with whispromy gallery makes, Ize. Vysat. Unitedim. Zuced., Radiofec., 18(10): 1544–1546, 1975.
- J. B. Mead. Millimeter wave radius for atmospheric remote sensing Proc. Twenty Second Int. Conf. Infrared Millimeter Works, Wastergreen, VA, July 1997.

Penindrons

G. Dobler, Int. J. Electron , 56, 617-627, 1984.

- P. Vilelle, IEEE Trans. Micros. Theory Tech., 32, 917-921, 1984.
- L. Zhuo et al., Int. J. Electron. 67, 1065-1075, 1984.

Amplifiers

- K. R. Chu and A. T. Drobot. Theory conclusion of the gyratron traveling wave surplifier operating at ryciotron harmonics. *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, MTT-28, 313-317, 1980.
- K. R. Cho et al., Characteristics and optimum operating parameters of a gyrotron traveling wave amplifier. IEEE Trans. Marries. Theory Tech., 27: 178–187, 1979.
- G. G. Denisov et al., Gyrt-TWT with a helical operating waveguide: New possibilities to enhance efficiency and frequency bandwidth. Proc.

Twenty Second Int. Conf. Infrared Millimeter Wates, Wintergreen, VA, July 1997.

- Q. S. Wang, D. B. McDermott, and N. C. Lubmann. Operation of a stable 200 kW second-harmonic gyro-TWT amplifier. *IEEE Trans. Physica* Sci., 24: 700–706, 1996.
- E. V. Znsypkin et al., Study of X-hand three stage gyrawystron simplifiet, Proc. Threaty Second Int. Cond. Infrared and Multimeter Waves, Wintergreeen, VA, July 1997.

R LAWRENCE IVES Calabazas Creek Research Inc.

HALL EFFECT TRANSDUCERS

Hall effect transducers belong to a family of somiconductors that produce on output voltage proportional to a magnetic field or magnetic induction. Initially, the Hall effect was a cuciosity comparable to the Seebeck or Peltier effects, but som it was realized that it could be used for the study of conduction mechanisms in someonductors. Firm 1960 on, the first technical Hall effect applications were introduced—for example, the magnetic field measurement probe, magnetic multiplier, and current-to-voltage transducer. At present, a range of powerful Hall integrated circuits are available for magnetic field measurement purposes, the position control of objects, and angle position of wheels. The latest development was the discovery of the quantum Hall effect. This correctly has no technical applications, but it has permitted electrical metrology to make considerable advances.

In 1879, E. H. Hall made the remarkable discovery (1) that a magnetic field perpendicular to a conducting foil deviates the charge carriers in a conductor in such a way that a voltage is generated transversally to the fail. The use and exploration of this effect was, however, severely restricted to research parposes due to the shortage of good materials. Pavorite materials during the exploration period were bismuth and even gennanium, but the stability obtained with these elements was very disappointing due to their temperature characteristics. With the expansion of research on semiconductors after World War Hall measurements were refined with success for the determination of resistivity, carrier concentration, carrier type, and mobility in semiconductors. This research led to still better semiconductor materials, sons, the first industrial instruments for magnetic field measurements with sensitive calibrated Hall effect sensors were introduced on the market,

With the development of integrated circuits (IC) the applications domain of Hall devices was further extended because it became possible to integrate an amplifier with the Hall sensor in one unit. Such an IC can be used for several purposes; position detertion, measurement of current, and electronic compass. In 1980, the German acientist Klaus von Klitzing (2) discovered a new effect that was strongly related to the classical Hall effect: the quantum Hall effect. By studying a two-dimensional electron gas at low temperatures in the presence of a very strong magnetic field (74.6 T), it was found that the ratio of the Hall voltage to the device current depends only on the Planck constant k (6.626 x 10⁻¹⁴ Js) and the elementary charge e of the electron (1.6021 × 10⁻¹⁸ C). The you Khizing effect was very important to electrical metrology because it became possible to replace the material ohm standard in the same way as the volt stundard was replaced by the Josephson junction.



Figure 1. (a) Hall bridge-type sample with four voltage contacts (2, 3, 5, 6) and content contacts (1, 4); (i) down2000 of content lines one to an opplied *R*-field. The contacts 1 and 4 are supposed ideal, and i_1, i_2 , and i are much larger than the width W of the sample. The corrier deforty si the left and right side will differ due to the Lorenty force F_i .

HALL EFFECT

For the derivation of the classical Hall effect (3), a rootangularly conducting sample (Fig. 1) with width $i\sigma$, length L, and thicknear traconsidered. At the four side planes, the contacts 1.2, 6 how, been added for the connection of a current source I (1, 4) and for potential measurements (2, 3, 5, 6). It is supposed that the width of the contacts is small in comparison with the distance i between (2, 3) and (5, 6). Also, the distances I_1 and I_2 are much larger than the width $i\sigma$. The sample is placed in a magnetic field with induction B perpendicular to its largest plane. Figure 1(b) shows that this plane is associated with a rectangular coordinate system with the *x*-axis in parallel with the length exis of the sample. As long as B = 0 on this syssem. Discharge corriers in the sample move along the dotted straight bries between contracts 1 and 4

The particular shape has the advantage that it can also be used for the determination of the classic resistivity of the sample material. The resistivity ρ_{uv} in the *x*-direction of the sample is determined with B = 0, by measuring the potential difference V_{20} (or V_{00}) between the contacts (2, 3) or (5, 6). It follows that

$$r_{\rm M}=rac{V_{\rm NL}}{I}(at/i)$$

If the contacts are symmetrically placed around the length axis of the sample, then we expect the voltage between contacts 2 and 6 (or 5 and 6) to be zero and in this case we also have $V_{23} = V_{33}$.

In the presence of a *R*-field, the moving charge carriers deviate from the straight lines due to the Lorentz force that the field exercises on the carriers. If the current flows in the c-direction, the carriers with an elementary charge q have a velocity c_n and the corresponding force will be in the y-direction. The absolute value F_n of the Lorentz force is:

$$F_{i} = Bc_{i}q$$

As a result, the carrier concentration will be somewhat higher at the left-hand side than at the right-hand side of the sample (Fig. 1(b)). It means that internality an electric field K_i counteracting the effect of the Lorentz force is generated. This field exercises a repelling Coulomb force $qE_{\rm v}$ on the carriers and in a steady-state situation both forces are equal and thus

 $E_i = B v_i$

The currier concentration π (number of carriers per (π^d) and the velocity r_i are related to the device current I_i because the amount of charge displaced in $1 \sin r q \sin t$ is the product $artiq r_i$. Therefore we have

 $v_i = 1/wing$

Because the field E_i is constant for all points between contacts (2, 6) or (3, 5), it follows immediately that the voltage V_{i_i} between (5, 5) or (2, 16) is equal to $i_i \neq K_i$

$$V_{\rm b} = B I_J t n q + R_B B I_J t, \text{ with } R_{\rm H} = 1/n q \qquad (1)$$

The constant R_0 is the Hall coefficient (independent of the width w), and it has the dimension $m^2 C^{-3}$. For the sensitivity of the device to be large, it is thus required that the sample is thin and the carrier concentration not too large. If these conditions are fulfilled, the mobility of the carriers (proportional to the carrier reduct) has to be large in order to give a reasonable conduction in the x direction. This explains why in ordinary conductors the Hall effect is extremely small. From the foregoing derivation we can deduce some important facts.

2. Measurement of the Hall voltage permits determination of the average polarity of the charge carriers. It was indeed only supposed that the direction of the current was known, but this current could as well be established with holes or electrons depending on the type of semiconductor used. In the first cuse the left-hand side of the sample will have an excess positive charge and point 2 will become positive with respect to 6 for 3 to 5). In the second cuse, 2 will be negative with respect to 6 for 3 to 5). In the second cuse, 2 will be negative with respect to 6 for extransic *p*-type materials we find from $R_{\rm H}$ the currier charge density (in C/m^2 , $nq = 1/R_{\rm H}$ and for the *n*-type this becomes $-1/R_{\rm H}$.

2. From Eq. (1) of the Hall voltage we obtain the Hall resistance $R_{\rm rs} \sim V_{\rm H}/I$

$$R_1 = R_1 B \cdot t$$

This quantity increases linearly with the applied field *B*. The Hall effect device is also called a Halt transducer because it converts the value of the magnetic field into a voltage.

3. It can be seen that the current lines in the sample are slightly longer when the field is applied than when it is not it can therefore be expected that the longitudinal resistivity μ_{re} increases when the field increases, this is the magnetaresistance effect. In the Hall sample, however, the magnetaresistance effect is of minor importance because the ratio Law is large.

Until now it has been supposed that the contact pairs are symmetrically placed with respect to the sample. If this is true, no Hall voltage can be generated between the contact pairs when the field is zero. In practice there always remains a slight asymmetry and, because of the finite resistivity in the r-direction, a small offset voltage $V_{i,j}$ will add to the Hall voltage. This offset voltage can only be eliminated by reversing the direction of *B* or by rotating the Hall device over 180 around its x-axes and combining the two resulting Hall voltages. The two voltages corresponding to this procedure are, respectively, $V_1 = V_{i,j} + V_{ij}$ and $V_2 = V_{i,j} - V_{ij}$. The Hall voltage thus is found from $(V_1 - V_2)/2$. For an measurements, the offset can be eliminated by blocking the decomponent of the output voltage of the Hall device.

QUANTUM HALL EFFECT

In order to observe the quantization of the Hall resistance, several conditions have to be fulfilled: the charge carriers have to heliave like a two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG), temperature has to be very low (e.g., heliow 4.2 K) and a very strong magnetic induction has to be applied (4,5,6).

A two-dimensional electron gas is the special condition that occurs in strong inversion or accumulation layers at planar semiconductor-insulator interfaces. In the high electric field at the interface, the electrins are only allowed to move likely in a very thin layer in porollel with the interface. When a magnetic field is applied perpendicular in the interface, the electrons will tend to move along circular paths doe to the interaction of the field and the electron charge c. The frequency $m_{\rm el}$ of this rotation is called the cyclotron frequency and it can in a classic way be derived from r, B and the cyclotron effective mass $m_{\rm el}$ by equating the centrifugal force and the centripetal force due to the B-field. From this it follows that

$$w_i = v B/m_i$$

Under normal conditions the electrons are scattered before a full revolution means. However, if the electron mubility is very high, a number of revolutions can exist, and the effect is that an angular momentum quantization occurs that influences the density states of the 2DEG. The net effect is that the resistivity p_{xx} shows an oscillating hebavior as a function of the magnetic induction (Shubbikov-Haus effect). A necessary condition is that the product of the cyclutrum frequency and the scattering tune τ of the electrons is much larger than one: $\alpha_i \tau \gg 1$. Because the scattering increases with temperature and α_i is proportional to B, the experimente have to be performed at low temperatures (~40 K) and in the presence of a high field (e.g., 15 T) in order to observe quantization. Figure 2



Figure 2. Hall resistance R_{π} , and longitudinal magnetoresistivity $r_{\pi\pi}$ at an achitrary scale and as a function of the induction R. The datted bars correspond to remperatures above 44 K while the full lines are for less than 4.2 K. The Hall resistance shows quantized plateaus in this rate

shows the resulting Hall resistance R_{ij} and the magnetoresistivity ρ_{ij} as a function of B under these conditions. As derived in the precoding, the Hall resistance increases linearly with B as long as the temperature is high, for example, above 40 K, and the magnetoresistance also increases with B. B temperature is law enough (about 1 K), ρ_{ij} , becomes very small for certain ranges of B and the Hall resistance R_0 becomes quantized following the relation.

$$R_{\rm H}(r) + \hbar_{\rm c}(r^2 - r = 1, 2, 3)$$
 (2)

In the special case l = 1, the Hall remetance becomes the von Klitzing constant $R_{\rm K}$

$$H_{\rm K} = H_{\rm P}(1)$$
 (3)

For practical applications, the 2D gas can be implemented in Stmetal-oxide semiconductor field-effect (mansisturs (MOSFET) or in a beterostructure with layers of GaAs and AlGaAs

Heavies the quantified Hall effect is used in metrology, scientists have tried to detect deviations from the theoretical behavfor by experiments or by extending the models for the samples in order to see whether or not $R_{\rm eff}$ is universally valid.

Dependence on the Semiconductor Material

As the 2D gas can be implemented in MOSFET structures as well as in AlGaAs/GaAs structures, both materials have been carefully investigated (7.5). Measurements have confirmed that the value of R_0 is with certainly independent of the material. The precision obtained with these measurements was at a relative error level 3×10^{-10} . A small number of researchers have found mornalies, but it has been shown that these can always be attributed to bad samples (9). It was possible to develop a test for the samples, in order to see in advance if the correct conditions for observing the quantized Hall effect are fulfilled.

Dependence on the Sample

Several heterostructure samples of the same material but with very different carrier mobilities have been studied (5) and it appears that the differences for $R_{\rm H}$ all fall within the uncertainty range of the measurement setup. On the other hand, the measurements also show that $R_{\rm H}$ varies as predired with the integer *i*.

Width of the Sample

It is predicted by some theories (e.g., 10.11) that there could exist a relation between the width of the sample and $R_{\rm H}$. However, studies performed on samples with widths of between 10 μ m and 1 mm did not reveal deviations larger than the measurement precision (12).

Contact Resistance

For connection of the Hall sample to the outside world, metailic contacts are required. Goal contact resistances are of the order of a few milliohns, but in some samples values in the kilcohin range have been observed. If the latter is the case, relative errors of the order 1×10^{-7} can be observed. The effect of bad contacts can not be predicted due to their microscopic nature. The experiments (13,14) show that this behavior is strongly influenced by the device current or temperature. It is estimated that the error caused by a good contact lies in the range 1×10^{-17} . It has to be noted that the errors encountered for samples with bad contacts are not due to the loading of the device by the voltmeter circuit. If the device is bad, there is always a measurable longitudinal voltage V_{sy} associated with it. Finally, the most important electrical altributes of a good quantized Hall resistor can be found in Ref. 15

APPLICATIONS OF THE CLASSICAL HALL EFFECT

The Hall effect can be used in semiconductor research as well as in technical applications.

Research Applications

The Hall effect is used intensively in semiconductor research for the determination of carrier concentration (n) and mobility (p) in combination with the determination of conductivity (n)or resistivity (p). In the first instance, it is assumed that the layers under study are uniform. If the magnitude of the carrier charge is q, then Eq. (1) for R_0 gives the concentrations for p-type and n-type semiconductors, respectively.

$$\rho = 1/qR_{\rm H} \, \text{and} \, \sigma = 1/qR_{\rm H} \qquad (41)$$

For the case where two carrier types are involved, the general relation between the conductivity mobilities u_p , u_n and the conductance σ is given by

$$\sigma = q(a\mu_0 + p\mu_0) \tag{5}$$

and, if $\rho \gg \pi$, this reduces ω

$$\pi = pq\mu_{\rm p} = \mu_{\rm p}/R_0 \tag{6a}$$

For electron carriers the corresponding equation is:

$$\sigma = \alpha q \mu_n = \mu_n / R_0 \tag{6b}$$

In principle, it is possible to determine the multility μ_p from this equation by measuring σ and R_0 . Nevertheless, some problems that can arise require corrections.

A first problem is the occurrence of carrier scattering mechanisms that require a correction factor to be introduced when a_p or a_i are calculated from Eq. (6). A scattering factor r has to be introduced in Eq. (6a) and its equivalent Eq. (6b) for the electrons as follows:

$$p \rightarrow r t q R_{\rm H}$$
 or $n = r/q R_{\rm H}$ (7)

Depending on the scattering mechanism, the scattering factor beam the range $1 \dots 2$. Therefore, the values of the conductivity mobilities derived from R_3 have to be corrected with r

$$\mu_{\mu} = \alpha_{10}/r \text{ or } \mu_{\mu} = \mu_{10}/r \tag{8}$$

The mobility μ_{31} is derived from the Hall voltage and σ is the Hall mobility and μ_{μ} and μ_{μ} are the ordinary conductivity mobilities. Although the latter are more important, the Hall mobility is easier to determine and can still give comparative information about the material.

Second, H_d depends also on the *H*-field and, when both types of carriers are present as well as a B-field, the Hall coefficient bestures rather complex. In Ref. 16 the following reportion is given:

$$R_{B} = r \frac{(p - b^{2}n) * (p, B)^{2}(p - n)}{q(p + bn)^{2} + (p, B)^{2}(p - n)^{2}}$$
(9)

The coefficient b is equal to the ratio of the mobilities μ_n and μ_n or $b = \mu_n/\mu_n$

For $B \rightarrow 0$ and $B \rightarrow \infty$, the general expression [Eq. (9)] can be simplified to a low-field and a high-field expression, respectively. Depending on the mobilities it is possible to have semiconductors which obey either the low- or high-field expression, or the general equation (Eq. (9)]. The low-field expression will be valid when $B\mu_n \ll 1$ if $p \ll n$ or $B\mu_n \ll 1$ if $p \ll n$. Likewise, the high-field limit is valid when $B\mu_n \gg 1$ if $p \gg n$ or $B\mu_n \gg 1$ if $p \ll n$.

For some semiconductors the conduction mechanism changes with temperature. For example, in HgCdTe one finds that for T < 200 K ... 300 K electrons are the main carriers. At the lower temperatures a mixed carrier conduction occurs and, as a result, $R_{\rm H}$ eventually can change its sign. Therefore, Hall measurements are always performed at different temperatures and induction in order to extract the necessary information from the measured data. An extra complication is the dependence of r on B

In order to be able to determine the spatial resistivity and mobility profiles in nonuniform layers, it is necessary to remove small layers from the sample so that Hall coefficients can be measured as a function of thickness. This can be done by etching or, preferably, by anodic exidation. In another method used for layers on an isolator, a *po-junction*, a MOSFET of a moscapacitor is formed at its opper surface. If, for example, a metal gate layer is used, the prostration depth of the spacecharge region can be controlled by means of the reverse bias of the junction and accurate measurements of the mobility and narrier concentration are the result.

In Ref. 3 one can find a review of the most common sample shapes used, and the precautions to be taken for the reduction



of errors. Especially, if parameter estimation techniques are used the results can deliver much information about the material. Hall measurements on irregular sheets are also possible, provided some conditions are met. The theory for such samples was derived an 1958 by van der Pauw; see Ref. 17

Technical Applications

Because it became possible to integrate the electronics and the Hall effect transducer on the same substrate, a number of moportant industrial applications have been demonstrated. The Hall transducer can be used for direct measurement of magnetic induction and power, switching applications, position control, and so on. A Hall device will not be destroyed by strong magnetic fields and when semiconductors of the HI-V type (GaAs, InSb) are applied, it is possible to enhance the sensitivity and the allowable temperature range. With ton-implanted GaAs a temperature range of -40 to +250. C is obtained. The advantage of using silicon lies in the fact that the integration of an amplifier with the Hall element is easy. However, sensitivity is lower due to the low mobility of the carriers in silicon

In combination with magnets fixed on moving parts, the Hall transducer effectively becomes a position sensor. By monitoring the output, one can get an idea about the velocity of the acceleration of a moving object. Such a transducer will never wear out because there is no friction. Aging will also be very low because of the large mean time between failures (MTBF) of an integrated arcoid. In contrast with optical devices, the operation of this transducer will not be disturbed by monstore. dust, or dirt except when the dust contains iron particles. The Hall device is also relatively fast, the rise and fall times are of the order 0.2 (is and magnetic ac fields with frequencies of up to 100 kHz can be detected. The substrate conjuging the transducer is either a ceramic material or a ferromagnetic substance. The latter is used if it is necessary to decrease as much as possible the permeability of the magnetic circuit in which the device is mounted

Linear Hall Effect Transducers. The output of a linear Hall effect device is proportional to the product of the induction *B* and the device current *l*: in this way, it performs an analog multiplication. It is also obvious that such an element can be dedicated to the measurement of magnetic fields of *l* has a constant value.

Measurement of Magnetic Fields. The instrument using Hall effect sensors for the determination of magnetic induction

Figure 3. (a) Component normal to Hall device for an arbitrary direction of the field and (b) actup with three elements for the determination of magnitude and direction of field.

(18/22) is called a gaussmeter although it should be termed a testameter, as the unit of induction is seala (T) in SI units.

From the preceding it follows that the Hall voltage is due to the component of the field normal to the main sheet plane of the device \mathbf{H} the angle between the field B and the normal is u[Fig. 3(a)], then the normal component is B cos a. For maximum sensitivity if is required that $\alpha = 0$ and if the field has an unkausea darectum it is necessary to search for maximum output. by rotating the device in space. If three separate Hall devices are onthogonally arranged [Fig. 3(b)] so that their main planes coincide with the planes of a rectangular axis system, the outputs will be projectional to the spatial components B_{\bullet}, B_{\bullet} and $B_{\rm r}$ of B. The magnitude and direction of the vector **B** in space can then be derived from the three autouts. It is, however, required that the probes be carefully ordibrated. This can be done by adjusting the individual device currents, or by measuring the three sensitivity factors and storing them in a memory for further use with the software calculations. If large spinal gradents exist in the field, then the device output represents a kind of average. This error can be reduced by using very small. elements mostly it is possible to adapt the magnetic circuit to minumize this effect.

As sensitivity depends on *I* it seems appropriate to take *I* as large as possible. However, this also increases both device dissupation and current consumption. Therefore the advantage gained by increasing I is rather marginal and it is better to amplify the Hall voltage electromodily if a higher sensitivity is required. For spatial magnetic field measurements it is preferwhile that the Hall device has a ceramic substrate as this ensures. that the field is not disturbed by the device. Due to the large field of applications of gaussmeters, several types of probes with a calibrated built on Hall element are available on she market. For nurasurement of fields in air gaps, for example, in electrical machines or relays, thin profiles are preferred but these probes are very sensitive to incchanical stress. The Hall device is mounted at the end of a long flat isolating stylus so that less accessible points can be probed as well. The transverse probe is sensitive for fields perpendicular to the stylus plane. The axial probe is cylindrical and the Hall device is mounted perpendicufar to the axis of the cyloider; it measures fields parallel to the probe uxis. Full-scale sensitivity can be as large as 15 T and rms readings of ac fields are also possible.

Measurement of Flectrical Current. Although dot strictly neovisiony, a magnetic circuit is commonly used with the Half device for current measurement (19,23) purposes [Fig. 4(b)]. This



Figure 4. (a) The radial field around a concept-carrying conductor depends on the position of the Hall element. (0) magnetic orccut with a Hall device in the air gap. At low saturation all field lines in the correction with (1). When saturation occurs, some of the field lines (2) are lost for the air gap.

has two advantages: the sensitivity of the measurement is increased, and the position of the current carrying conductor becomes miniportant. The magnetic field at a distance *d* of a straight conductor. Fig. 4(a)] carrying a current *I*, has a value $H = I/2\pi d$ and this is position sensitive. A Hall device at this position will give an output proportional to $\mu_0 H$. If the current encirtles a magnetic cirruit, the force lines (e.g., 1 in Fig. 4(b)] will concentrate in the magnetic material (mean length *L*, magnetic permeability μ) and in the air gap with width λ . The value B_c of the magnetic induction in the air gap becomes, with Ampère's law and because of the constant flux in the core and air gap section,

$$H_{\mu} = \mu \mu_{\mu} I / (L + \mu \delta) \qquad (10)$$

For $\mu \sim 10^4, L=0.1$ m, $\delta=1$ mm (10 8 m) the value $\mu\delta=$ 10 and J. can thus be neglected. It means that in the range where $\rho\delta \gg L_s$ the gap induction B_s can be approximated by $\mu_0 I/\delta$ and the sensitivity becomes independent of α and yet can be very high because 5 is so small. If the wire encircles the magnetic group N times, then B_{e} also becomes N times larger. The material properties of the same material harely influence the precision of the measurement, but a very stable air-gap width δ is required. Also, when the current increases, the core induction increases and the material bas a tendency to saturate. As a result, some of the magnetic field lines can loave the legs of the core and pass through the window area (e.g., hne 2 in Fig. 4(b)] Because a part of the flux is lost, the sir-gap induction becomes too low and a nonlinearity is introduced in the transducer characteristic. The existence of an air gap is favocable in this respect because it reduces the core induction at the cost of a lower sensitivity. The design of such a circuit is therefore a trade-off between sensitivity and full-scale behavior. The nonlinearity can remain below $\pm 1\%$ with ordinary core materials such as forrite. Besides the electrical offset of the Hall device, a magnetic offset is mused by the core material. This is due to the remanent magnetism that remains after a heavy magnetization of the core. The remanent field gives an additional electrical output offset. Reduction of the remanent magnetism is done by choosing a very saft magnetic material. It is not possible to correct for this remanent field using software

because its value depends on the history of magnetization and, as precise models for the core behavior are lacking, a precise offset error correction is uppredictable. In Ref. 24, one can find how the problem of the intrinsic Ifall plate offset voltage can be alleviated by combining the output of several elements. The simple circuit can still be very useful if the highest precision is not required because it requires only a Hall IC and a magnetic vircuit, and power consumption is very low.

Closed-Loop Hall Effect Current transducer. The linearity and effset problems can be reduced considerably by applying feedback (25) to the simple circuit (Fig. 5). In this case, the Hall vidtage amplifier drives a second winding N_i coupled with the core and a resistor R. The voltage drop Rl_i over this resistor is taken as the new autput voltage. By choosing the correct winding, the coupled couplet current l_i can counternot the effect of the unknown current l_i . The number of ampere turns generating the field is now equal to the difference of the ampere turns of the current and feedback windings. Equation (10) for the magnetic circuit bocomes, with H_i and H_g , respectively, the magnetic field in the magnetic circuit and in the air gap

$$HI_{1} + H_{2}\delta = H(\delta - L_{1})t) = N_{1}I_{2} - N_{2}I_{2}$$
 (11)

The amplifier output voltage \mathcal{L}_0 is proportional to the air-gap induction and with an induction-to-voltage gain K, we obtain

$$E_0 = K / m H_p / R$$

As the corresponding current I_2 is E_2/R , the air-gap field becomes

$$H_{2} = N_{1}I_{1}/(3 + L/\mu + N_{2}K\mu_{2}/R)$$

If the amplifier gain K is made very large, it is seen that $H_r \rightarrow 0$ and the field in the air gap disappears due to the feedback. It follows that $N_1I_1 \rightarrow N_2I_2$ and

$$V_0 \approx (N_1/N_2)I_1$$
 (12)

As is the case in every feedback system, the static error can be neglected if K is high enough. The output V_2 is a very accurate



Figure 5. Closed-loss Hall effect device in magnetic direct. If the imppain is very large the primary and secondary surpers torus will center and V₀ becomes proportional to I₁.

image of I_1 because the winding resistances, leakage inductances, and losses in the core, have no effect on accuracy. If the material is initially sufficiently demognetized, the permeability will be very high and the magnetic offset error is reduced. In contrast with the open-loop system, the length of the gap barely influences the measurement precision, as a result, the temperature behavior is also enhanced. When the current I_1 exceeds the output correct supphility of the amplifier, for example, under short-circuit conditions, the core is likely to be saturated. and, therefore, a means for demagnetizing the core is standard. in such an instrument. Demagnetization is obtained by driving temporarily the winding N₂ with an exponentially damped oscillating (e.g., sinuoidal) current. If the initial value of this mirrent drives the core into strong saturation, eventually the core will be demognetized. For current probe applications the core is divided into two parts, which can be separated in such a way that the conductor can be enclosed by the core window without breaking the electric circuit. Especially, in this case it can be appreciated that the possible instalidity caused by imperfect erro halves contact is climinated by the feedback. The required current output capability of the amplifier depends onturely on the winding ratio $N_U N_1$ and the full-scale current I_1

$$J_2 = I N_{12} N_2$$
 (13)

For practical reasons, the winding ratio has to be limited. This means that the amplifier as general will have to deliver a much larger current then in the open-loop system and its power consumption will be large. Another problem is that additional circustry is required for wideband measurements because the frequency response of the Hall device is limited to about 100 kHz. A solution is to split the circuit into two parts. First, the frequency response of the Hall amplifier will deliberately be limited to a few kilohertz by first-order lowpass filtering of the autput V_0 . The purpose is to reduce the effect of the piles in the open loop transfer of the Hall device. Next, for the higherfrequency part of the spectrum, the two windings can be made to operate as a current transformer. The signal obtained from this current transformer is also first-order high passed, with the same 3 dB cut-off irequency and transfer gain as for the Hall device. By combining the two filter outputs a flat frequency characteristic is then obtained. Typical probes show a flat frequency response from do to 20 or 100 MHz and have full-scale ranges from 1-10 A with a full-scale output voltage of 50 200 mV.

Multiplier Applications of the Hall Effective Device. Although ac power can be measured by sampling the current and the voltage of a consumer, in general, the potential drop, and, hence, the dissipation in the current shunt, are relatively large. Further, it is difficult to protect the electronics unconditionally against a show-circuit at the consumer side. On the other hand, when the load current flows through the magnetizing roll of Fig. 4, a short will not harm the Hall device or the magnetizing coil. because the coil is very rugged. As suggested by Eq. (1) the Hall device output is proportional to the product of B and F. In fact, one of the first applications of the device was as an analog multiplier (19.20). Although this application has been supersided completely by the use of the Gilbert cell analog multiplier ICs. the device still has attractive features for power applications. For example, for determination of the power an actinal consuccess, the product of the momentary voltage city and current i(t) has to be calculated. The former current-measuring circuit can easily be adapted for this purpose. It suffices to vary the Hall current *I* proportional to the voltage c(t) so that the output voltage $c_0(t)$ of the device becomes proportional to the momentary power. By filtering this voltage, a measure for the average power is obtained. If $c_0(t)$ is fed to a voltage-to-frequency converter followed by a counter, the counter output will represent the energy consumed by the load. For household applications the preferable counter is a mechanical one because it gives a clear indication and holds the current value, even during a power loss. The advantage of using the Hall device loss in the fact that the current scale for the instrument can be adapted through a change of the winding N_t in the same way as a classical Watt-hour meter with a rotating disk induction motor

Clinical Hall Effect Devices as Position Sensors. A number of industrial applications require knowledge of the position of a mechanical part; the Hall effect ICs have been developed especially for this task (23). For example, in broshless de anotors the ongular position of the rotor hus to be known in order to activate the drive electronics of the field coils. More recently the Hall sensor has been applied in magnetic bearings (26) for magnetic levitation purposes.

If there is no magnetic field available, the Hall devices will be used in combination with permanent magnets (27). Suppose the rotation angle a of a permanent magnet has to be determined (Fig. 6tai). If a linear second H_1 is positioned in a zone between the pole shoes, where the field of a rotating magnet is homogeneous and has a value B the output V_{AB} will be proportional to



Figure 8. (a) Hall device used as an angle sensor: a magnet is fixed on a turning axis and the Hall device (smounted between the pole shoes of the magnet. The output of $V_{\rm HI}$ is proportional to aim a because for $\alpha = 0$ its plane coincides with the plane of the magnet, (b) A second device is necessary in order to remove all possible ambiguity from determination of α from the Hall voltages.



Figure 7. Internal curcuit of a Hall DT with Schuntt-Imgger and linear output. A comparator output is also useful for first detection.

the cosine of the angle of rotation u on the condition that the rotation axis coincides with the length-axis of the Hall senser plane. From output $V_{\rm H1}$ it is, however, impossible to obtain a_i as there are two angle solutions for every voltage $[u_1$ and a_2 in Fig. 6(b)]. This ambiguity can be resolved by placing a second transducer H_2 toutput $V_{\rm H2}$ perpendicular to H_1 . From $V_{\rm H1}$ and $V_{\rm H2}$, and taking into account the signs of both outputs, the position of the magnet can be determined in the whole u-range $(0, 2\pi)$.

A digital output can be obtained by including a Schnitt trigger circoit (Fig. 7), driven by the analog output. Mostly, an open-collector transistor forms the output as this permits adaptation of the IC to the logic level of the system connected to it. Sometimes a small magnet is mounted clase to the sensor in order to provide for a magnetic bius. The output can be made to react in two ways as shown in Fig. 8. In Fig. 5.8., the purpose is to discriminate between the presence or absence of a magnetic pole. Without field the output is at the logical level "1" (line 1). When the magnet approaches the device its analog output increases. At the trip point of the Schmitt-trigger corresponding to a field B_{13} the digital mappin falls to the logical level "0" (line 2) In a shird phase, the magnet is removed from the device but output remains low (line 3) as long as R lies above the lower trip point B_2 . In Fig. 8(b), the lower trip point corresponds to a negative field, that is, the other pole of the magnet. Operated in these two ways, the Hall device acts like a switch. The bysteresis of the Schmitt-Engger reduces the effect of bouncing and noise. There exist three common ways for detecting the position of a moving magnet: Fig. 9(n-c). It is assumed that the magnet moves along the indicated x-axie in all three cases. In Fig. 9(a), the magnet moves in a direction perpendicular to the Hall device plane. The analog output falls continuously with increasing displacement v, and a digital action is possible if

the circuit is followed by a comparator. In Fig. 9(a), the comparator switches from low to high if the Hall voltage concerts reference voltage V_d . The main drowbook is the poor linearity of the analog output with respect to the movement of the magnet. In Fig. 9(b), the movement is along an axis in parallel with the device plane and the south pole is near the magnet. The output will be at maximum when the south pole is posicioned at x = 0. The system can be used as a mechanical window detector, if the magnet is positioned within the range $(-x_0, +x_0)$, the comparator output is low and vice versa. The sensitivity is controlled by adapting the distance d between the magnet and the device. Linearity can be acceptable to a small part of the displacement curve around the point of the curve where the second derivative with respect to R vanishes. In the third case of Fig. 9.c), the magnet is turned over 90 and a linear device sensitive for negative and positive fields is used. Sensitivity can be controlled as in the former case and linearity can he extremely good but the sensitivity control will also influence the bnearity. In the setup of Fig. 9%), sometimes both magnet and Hall device are fixed but a high permeability screen moving between them can interrupt the field. Such a system can detect the teeth of a cogwheel or it can replace the mechanical breaker of the ignition in a car.

Quantum Hall Effect in Electrical Metrology. In the International System of Units (SI) the four base units are the meter (length), kilogram (mass., second (time) and the ampere (curreng). The ampere is the current that generates a force of 1 N per length between a pair of very thin and infinitely long conductors. This definition is artificial and of little practical value, but it ensures that the mechanical and electrical units of force are the same. Apart from this, some of the mechanical units derived are introduced for practical purposes, for example, the Henry, contomb. These secondary quantities can always be expressed in the base units. The magnitude of magnetic permiability in the SI system is fixed to $4\pi \times 10^{12}$ H $_{\rm eff}$. The second is defined by means of the period of a well-defined transition in Cestum 133. The velocity of light (c) has a fixed value and the meter is the distance traveled in a vacuum by light during 1/299 792.458 s. This makes the use of the material standard meter obsolete. All electrical units can be defined in this system if two of them, for example, the volt and the ampere, are related to the mechanical units meter, second, kilogram. This comparison can be implemented via a kelvin correct or volt balance. In practice the ampere has been replaced by the ohm as the latter is related to the umpere by Ohm's law.

Because the realization of physical standards requires complex instruments, national instrology laboratories still possess material standards such as Weston cells and L Ω resistors for



Figure B. (a) Schmitt-trigger output for a ampular sensitive Hall IU: (b) output for hipplar sensitive IC.



Figure 9. Three ways to detect a magnet movement: (a) magnet axis and movement normal to Hall place and resulting linear (Va) and comparator (V_{C}) output voltages: (b) movement axis parallel with Hall place gives a wordow function for V_{C} is contrast over a large displacement range

their electrical measurements. These standards are considered to be a kind of flywheel in which an image of the physical nort is conserved for a limited time. By regularly comparing the physical standards with the material standards, the correction for each of these is determined. The national volt ($V_{1,NR}$) and obta (Ω_{LAR}) of a nation is then defined from the average values of these material standards. Before the invention of the Josephson junction and the quantified Hall effect, it was imperative to perform regularly combinsome international congarisons in order to determine the corrections between the national standards $V_{1,NR}$ and $\Omega_{2,NR}$ of the different countries

In 1956. Theorem and Lampard (28.29) derived a striking theorem concerning a special cylindrical four-electrode capacitor structure. It was proved that for the structure of Fig. 10(a), independently of the shape of the cross section of the electrodes A, B, C, and D, the capacities C_1 and C_2 per unit length (1 m) of opposite electrodes obey the expression

$$\exp(-\pi C_1 \ge q) + \exp(-\pi C_2 \ge q) = 1$$
(14)

with \bullet , the permittivity of the absolute vacuum. The value of r_0 is known because, in vacuum, the vehicity of light is r

 $(\mu_0)_0 \stackrel{0.5}{\to}$ and c us well as μ_0 are fixed. For a symmetrical capacitor Fig. 10(b), $C_1 = C_2 = C$ and from Eq. (14) we obtain e. 1.95/1549043 pF/m. In practical applications, a capacitor with finite length is used and this length is varied by inserting a guard tube S in the space between the four electrodes (30-(12). By careful construction it is possible to reduce the effect. of the fringing fields at both ends of the capacitor. In this way, the physical length of the capacitor is changed by displacing the guard take from t_1 to l_2 and the corresponding variation of capacity is 1.953549043 $\theta_2 = l_1$) pF. The enpheity variation in this system is shorefore, only determined by one dimension, the displacement $l_2 > l_1$ of the guard tube can be measured very accurately with a laser interferometer. The very complicated setup for this system has been called the calculable capacitor. because of its capacitance formula. By employing a chain of se comparator bridges the material ohm standard can be related to the impedance of the calculable capacitar, and thus with the mechanical units.

The quantum Hall effect has opened the door to a new material uhm stundard, which is solely dependent on the universal physical constants v and h. On the other hand, it is generally accepted (33) that the you Khizing constant R_{k} , that is, the



Figure 10. (a) Calculable rapation structure with four electrodes, the simplified system with four cylindrical electricies **A**. **B**. C and **D**. The effective length is varied by moving a screen S in the opening between the cylinders. Not shown are a similar but fixed screen at the left side, the screen surrounding the cubes, interferometer, and truncture screen. The smaller part of the wheen is the isplical II can be shown that this spike reduces the effects of coeparates in the cores section of the coparate (Ref. 32).



Figure 11. Putentiometric setup for comparing the quantified flaff resistance with the laborakny standard resistant

value of $R_{\rm H}$ for r = 1, can also be calculated from μ_0 , r and the dimensionless fine structure constant σ . This constant can be derived via complex quantum electrodynamic calculations from measurements of the anomalous magnetic moment of the electron. The relation between $\mu_0, r_1 = h$ and r is given by

$$R_{\rm ff} = R_{\rm ff} (i=1) = \hbar/e^2 = l_{\rm ff} c/2 \ln^{-1}$$
(15)

with a value $\alpha = 1/137.0359595$. Since μ_0 and c have well-defined values, the accuracy of $R_{\rm b}$ and σ is the same in Eq. (15).

As it became right that the quantum Hall effect could be used for definition of the unit of resistance, metrologists succeeded in refining the measurement procedures so that $R_{\rm K}$ could be expressed in $\Omega_{\rm LAB}$. It also became possible to compare the existing material ohm standards with a relative error of 10⁻⁸. At that moment the reproducibility of the quantum Hall measurements was better than the implementation of the material ohm in the International System of Units (SD).

In 1990, the Comité Consultatif d'Electricité (CCE) decided, based on an analysis of all the known international comparisons of the material resistance stundards by the Borean International des Poids et Mesures (BIPM), to sitach a conventional value to the vinc Khizing constant.

$$H_{\rm K, 192} = 25812.807~\Omega$$

The relative uncertainty for this value is 2×10^{-1} and this definition makes it possible to replace the muintained standards with the quantum Hall effect device. At the same time, for the second quantum effect used in metrology, that is, the Josephson effect, a conventional value K_{245} has also been assigned to the Josephson constant. The material standards for the volt and ohm are now replaced by the Josephson junction and the quantum Hall device; the outputs of these devices are independent of the site on earth and the shape or materials used for their construction. Intercomparisons are therefore no longer as critical.

Measurement Setup. Comparisons of the Hall resistance with standard resistors can be performed in different ways: potentiometric or with a cryogenic current comparator bridge ICCC... Figures 11 and 12 show generic and simplified diagrams representative for various measurement setups. In the potentiometric method (Fig. 11) a reference resistor R_r of the same nominal value of $R_0(r)$ is used. As the plateau r = 1 is difficult to obtain with reasonable fields, often the integers r = 2 or r = 4 are preferred. Superconducting magnets that generate an induction of 15 T between its poles are commonly used. The value I of the dc current source is in the 50 μ A range and this alleviates the work of the temperature controller because of the low power dissipation in R. Measurement of the voltage V_{q_1} permits inspection if the current excitions for the ecourtement



Figure 12. Copygenic correct comparison setup for comparing the quantified flatt resistance with the laboratory standard resiston

à t s

of the quantum Hall effect are met. The Hall photeaus will appour when V_{ax} is very small. A zero detector is lacking and, instead, a high-gain amplifier followed by a digital volumeter (DVM) is used. A compression source V_C is derived from a potentiometer fed with a second correct source T_1 . By those ing the position of S_2 , two voltage differences are measured; Δ_1 v_{i} , $V_{ij} = V_{ij}$ and $\Lambda_{ij} = V_{ij} - V_{ij}$. From the Δ -values measured it is possible to encodate the current I and V_{II} and thus V_{II} . To eliminate the drifts of the current sources and the thermal ends it is necessary to perform measurements over a longer period, for example, an hour, and calculate averages. Because all current sources can change direction thy turning over S-1. the effect of thermal voltages can be eliminated. If the CCC is used as shown in the simplified circuit of Fig. 12, it is possible to compare $R_{\rm H}$ with smaller resistors, for example, 100 Ω because the corns ratio $N_{\rm e}/N_{\rm e}$ can be varied. In Fig. 11, there are two balance conditions to be met: $V_{11} = R_r I_2$ for the zero deterto balance, and $N_1 I_2 = N_2 I_2$ for the zero flux condition in the rore. The magnetic flux is measured by the very sensitive superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID), and the output of this device controls the current source I_2 or such a way that the core flux becomes almost zero. If the balance of D is obtained by varying N₀, then we find with $V_{11} = R_0 I_{10}$ the guantum Hall resistance $R_0 = R_0 N_0 N_0$. In order to increase the precision to the level 10 9 or better, a fixed ratio $N_{12}N_{2}$ is more appropriate. In this case a third correct winding N_0 is added to the comparator and a balance current I_0 derived from the detector output performs the automatic halancing. This halance correct is measured by means of a shunt resistor's and a DVM. The balance current is much smaller than the main current and, therefore, the limited precision of the digital voltmeter does not impair the measurement accuracy.

If the two methods are compared (Ref. 5), it can be calculated for a specific case that the potentiumetric method generates more system noise than the CCC. In a typical case the CCC method is therefore almost 45 times faster than the potentiametric method. As μ result, the measurement time is reduced to a few monutes and the random uncertainty still is at the level $2 \le 10^{-5}$.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- E. H. Hall, On a new action of the magnet an electrical currents, Amer. J. Math., 2 (287-283, 1379).
- K. van Klitzing, G. Dorda, and M. Popper, *Physical Rev. Lett.* 45: 494–497, 1960.
- D.K. Schröde & Scottwordweter Device Characterization, New York: Wiley, 1990.
- G. Landwehr, The discovery of the quantum Hull effect, M. Isotogra-22, 115, 127, 1966
- A. Hartland, The quantum Hall effect and the resistance standards, Methologies, 29: 175–190, 1992.
- 6 B device/or and B dearmeret. Application de felfet Hall quantique à la metrologie, Swiss Federal Office of Metrology info (OFMET info: 4 (2), 8-14, 1997.
- 7 B deconvict of all Comparison of the quantized Hali resistance in different GaAs ALGas. As heterostructures, *IERE Trans. In*space. Mode. 40: 331-235, 1991.
- 8 B Jeckel mourn, A. D. Lights, and B. Jeanmeret, Material, device and step independence of the quantized Hall resistance. *IEEE Trans. Inversion. Medic.* 44, 269-272, 1995.

- B. Jockelmann, A. D. Inglis, and B. Jeanneret, Are anomalous values of the quantized Hall resistance really anomalous? *Metrologia*, 33: 489–502, 1996.
- 10 A. H. MacDonald and P. Streda, Quantized Hall effect and edge currents, Phys. Rev. B, 29, 1616–1619, 1984.
- 11 B. Shapuro, Funite-size excision in the quantum Hall effect of Phys. C, 19: 4702-1721, 1986.
- B. Jeanmeret et al., Influence of the device-width on the accuracy of quantization in the onleger quantum Bull effect, *IEEE Trans. Institute Mater.*, 44, 254–257, 1995.
- K. C. Lee, Heading wires to quantized Hall resistors, *IKKE Treas. Insurum, Mans.*, 44: 249–253, 1995.
- 14 B. deannetet and B. Jockelmann, Influence of the voltage contonia on the homoteromousl quantized Hall resistance on the moducous regime. *IEEE Prims Instrum. Meas.* 44: 276–279, 1985.
- A. D. Inglis and I. Minowa, Fabrication of precision quantized Hall devices, IEEE Trans. Instrum. Man., 46, 205–205, 1997.
- R. A. S-mith, Semiconductors, Chapt. 5, Paral-ridge UK, Cambridge University Press, 1959.
- L. J. van der Pauw. A method of measuring specific resistivity and Hull effect of discs of orbitrary shape. *Phil. Res. Rep.* 18, 1-9, Feb. 3054
- C. L. Chien and C. R. Westgate, *The Hall Effect and Its Applications*, New York: Plenum (1940)
- E. Schwarhold, Der Halleff-kt und seine technische Anwendung. Archiv für Technisches Messini V943-2, 3, 1956.
- E. Schwarbeid, Habieiter Bauelemente is der Messtechnik, Berlin, VDE Verlag, 1904, pp. 201–213.
- J. Jameke, Parting the Hall effect transmeter to work, in: Electrace 33-37 February 1965
- H. P. Balte- and R. S. Populur, Integrated semiconductor magnetic field sensors, Proc. IEEE, 74: 1107–1132, 1998.
- P. J. Oliver, Proceeding Instrumentation Parashevers, New York Hayden Back Company, pp. 46, 106, 138, 249, 287-288, 1971.
- A. Bilotti, G. Munreal, and R. Vig, Mnoshthic magnetic Hall sensurusing dynamic quandrature offset consolitation, *IEEE J NeurINState* Consults, 32: 829–836–1997
- Z. L. Worska, Hall effect feedback transducers and their application. Acta Iniska 1976, Elsevier, 7th IMEKO Congress, Landon 552, 659, 10, 14 May 1976.
- J. Buchin, R. Gudwa and N. R. C. Kiley, Sensor- for magnetic bearings, *IEEE Trans. Magn.* 29 (2962) 2062. 1093.
- 27. J. Spinster and M. Perkins, Hall-effect works in two-state switches, *Electron Theoger* 125–127, July 5, 1980.
- D. G. Lampard and A. M. Thompson, A new theorem in electroscalics with application to entrainble standards of connectance, *Network* 107, 868, 1866.
- 29. D. G. Lampard, A new theorem in electrostatics, J. IEE, 1040, 271-280, 1997.
- W. K. Cluthier, A calculable standard of capacitory, *Metoologic*, 1: 36–35, April 1965
- N. Kinékawé, An absolute rieterminiation of the obm based on enhanlable standard enpantors, *EUROMEAS* 77, Process Electrical Measurement Conference publication into 152, *IEE* 1977; 53–57, 5–9 Sept. 1977.
- G. H. Raynier, NPL calculable capacitor, <u>IEEE Trans Instrum.</u> Mean. 21: 361-965, 1972.
- B. W. Polley, The fundation and physical constants and the fraction of measurement, Bristol. Adam Hilger, 1985.

DANIEL H. J. BAEER University of Chent

HIGH-ENERGY PHYSICS PARTICLE DETECTOR MAGNETS

THE DEVELOPMENT OF DETECTOR SOLENOIDS

The discovery of type two superconductivity in 1961 (1) was relebrated by the particle physics community. Suddenly it appeared to be possible to create a large volume of magnetic field at an induction out heretofor considered to be economical using conventional magnets. In 1960, one of the largest operating particle detectors using a magnetic field was probably the 72 inch bubble chamber at Berkeley. Within days of the announcement of the discovery of niobium tin as a high field superconductor, particle physicists at Berkeley and other locations set up research groups to make superconducting magnets for particle detectors. There was excitement and constant communication between groups in both the United States and Europe. The cryogenic expertise for the development of the new superconducting magnets came from the people who had developed the cryogenic systems for hydrogen bubble chambers.

The hype and hopes of type two superconductivity soon faded with the realization that the ninhium tin then available was not a usable superconductor for large magnets. Early on the experimental work shifted to Nb–Ti and Nb–Zr alloys. Before 1964, Nb–Zr was the alloy of choice because it was more stable than Nb–Ti. The alloy superconductors that performed well is short samples would reach only 30% or 50% of their critical correct in a magnet (2). Wires plated with copper appeared to perform somewhat hetter than have wire (3). Degradation due to flux jumps was the topic of the day. Improvements in magnet performance were not spectacular because there was no general understanding of what was happening within the superconductor. By 1964, the construction of large superconducting particle detector magnets appeared to be nearly hop-less.

Early Superconducting Detector Magnets

The paper on cryogenic stability of superconductors by Stekly and Zar (4) caused excitement in the particle physics commucity. The paper stated that if the superconductor was put in a low resistivity matrix, it didn't matter whether the superconductor flow jumped as long as the matrix remained at a temperature below the superconductor critical temperature. The discovery of cryagenic stability led to the first large detector magnets being built for particle physics. The first of these magnets was the 12 foot hubble chamber magnet at Arganne in 1969 (5,6). The 12 foot bubble chamber was followed by a 7 foot bubble chamber magnet at Brookhaven in 1970 (7), a 15 foot bubble chamber at the Fermilab 1973 (8), a 3.8 meter bubble chamber at CERN 1973 (8,9), the LASS magnet at SLAC 1974. (10), and a number of smaller devices. In 1972, M. Morpago tested a hollow conductor, forced-cooled, cryostable submoid for the OMEGA experiment at CERN (11,12). Cryostability solved the scale problem for large soperconducting magnets, but magnots built in this way operated at low current densities and were for from being thin from the standpoint of particle cronsmission through the magnet

Low Mass Thin Detector Magnets

Truly thin detector solenoids required a superconductor that could operate at higher current densities without Hux jumping. Work by Bean et al. (13). Hancox (14). Chester (15), and Smith et al. (16,17) paved the way to understanding the intrinsic stalahty of superconductors, which led to the development of modern, twested multifilamentary conductors with a low malrex metal to superconductor ratio. Increasing the current density in the magnet winding was one way of making the magnet more transparent to particles.

In addition, this superconducting solenoids had to be cooled in a different way. Helium bath cryostats contain too much material for them to be transparent to particles. In order to reduce the mass of the cryostat, it was found that this solenoids had to be cooled indirectly by conduction to takes that contain belium. Experimental work in the 1970s suggested that twophase belium cooling would result in a lower operating temperature than supercritical belium cooling (18).

The first experiment calling for a thin soluoid was at the ISR at CERN (19). In 1975 a thin solenoid was proposed for the MINIMAG experiment proposed by the Lawrence Berketry Laboratory in 1975 (20). This experiment required a one meter diameter sciencid that was 0.35 radiation lengths thick, including the cryostat. Two 1 m diameter test coils were built and tested in 1975 and 1976 (21,22). The conductor in the test coils was operated at matrix plus superconductor current densities as high as 1250 A mm⁻². The MINIMAG experiment was not built, but a larger detector for an experiment at PEP cellid. ing beam ring at the SLAC was embarked upon. This detector, required a clear bare diameter of 2 m with a gap of 3.3 m between the iron poles. A uniform 1.5 T induction (better than 1 part in 1000 within a 2 m diameter, 2 m long volume) was required. The coil and cryostat had to be less than 0.7 radiation lengths thick so that calorimeters and muon detectors could be loopted outside of the magnet. Work began as a 2 m drameter test coil in late 1976. This coil was tested in 1977 and 1978. (23). The thin coil experimental work at Berkeley led directly to (he CLEO-1 detector at Cornell University (19) and the PEP-4 detector (24,25) at the PEP colliding beam facility at the SLAC.

A group at CEN Spelay outside Paris idended to build their detector magnet using a conductor that had a low ropper to superconductor ratio soldered to very pure aluminum high residnal resistance ratio (RRR) matrix. The advantages of the aluminum matrix were as follows: The minimum propagation zone was longthened so that the energy needed to induce a quench in the magnet was increased by over three orders of magnetude, and the quench propagation velocity along the win- was faster than for a comparable copper matrix conductor. The 2 m diameter CELLO detector magnet was first tested in 1979. (26) A conductor made with the ropper matrix superconductor. snextruded in pure aluminum (RRR > 1000) was developed in a number of locations at about the same time (27). This type of conductor was used on the CDF detector magnet at Fermilah (28), on the VENUS detector (29), the TOPAZ (30) detector, and the AMY detector (31) of KEK in-Japan, on the ALEPH (32) and DELPHI (33) detectors at CERN, on the H-I (34) and ZEUS (35) detectors at DESY in Germany, on the GSI solenoid (36) at Darmstadt, on the CLE0-2 detector (37) al Cornell University. and on the CLOE detector at Frascata A thin solenoid SDC experiment test call was tested before the SSC was canceled (38). The Japanese flow a 1 \mathfrak{m} diminiter balloon saleoud (39.40) that used a low matrix to superconductor ratio $\mathrm{RRR} \ge 1000$ aluminum matrix conductor to achieve a very low radiation thickness (about 0.25 radiation lengths) for a cosmic ray experment. Detector solenvids for the Batter (41) experiment at the

Table	1.	Parameters !	fur '	Various	' n tin	Supercour	luctiat	g I	Detector	Soleno	ld6
-------	----	--------------	-------	---------	----------------	-----------	---------	-----	----------	--------	-----

Magnet	Central Induction (T)	Warm Bore Diameter (m)	Cryostat Leogih (m)	Matrix Material	Conductor Location	Rodintion Thickness (Kad Leo)	Stored Energy (MJ)	Matrix J (A mm ¹)	Type of Cooling
CLEO-1	15	2.0	. 82	Cu	Clutside	0.7	LO.II	350	Posted
PEP-4	15	2.04	3.84	Cu	Outside	0.83	10.9	645	Forced
CELLO	13	15	4.02	AL	Outside	0.6	5.0		Forced
CDF	1.5	2.85	5.4	പ	Inside	0.64	30	64	Forced
TOPAZ	1.2	9.72	5.4	ম	Inside	0.70	20	56	Forced
VENUS	0.75	3.4	ā.6	AJ.	Inside	0.52	12.0	?	Forced
ALEPH	1.5	4.96	70	AJ.	Inside	1.6	186	-30.8	Natural
AMY	3.0	2.39	2.11	치	Outside	>2	40	5D	['oo]
GSI	0.6	2.4	83	AJ	Inside	-1.0	3.4	-	Natural
ZEUS	1.6	1.72	29	AI	Inside	>2	15	Ÿ	Forced
DELPHI	1.2	5.2	7.4	AL	Inside	1.7	103	46.3	Forced
8 L	1.2	5.2	60	AJ	-bient	1.8	130	16	Forced
CLEO-2	1.5	2.9	2.9	AL.	Inside	22	25	41.3	Natural
ų-2	1.45	L4 15	0.16,	AJ	Inside	>2	5.5	918	Forred
KEK Balloon	1.2	0 852	20	A1	Loaide	0 21	0.815	361	Pool et End
SDU Test Coll	1.5	Lī	2.4	AL	Inside	12	45	63 +	Forced
BaBar	1.6	2 76	3.85	AL	Inside	<14	23	87 🌢 67	Natural
CMS	4.0	6.0	12.5	AL	Inside	.>2	2500	15.4	Natural

"Beam orbit dismeter, outer solenoid coll diameter - 15.1 m, miser solenoid coll diameter - 15.4 m.

Total gap between the iron poles (the iron return path is C staped, the total gap in the irot, is about 0.23 m.

B factory at SLAC, the ATLAS (42.43) toroidal magnet detector at the LHC, and the CMS (44) solenoidal detector at the LHC are currently under development or construction. All of these magnets will use a pure aluminum matrix superconductor that will be wound on the inside of a hard aluminum support structure.

The use of this solenoid magnet construction techniques has proven to be less costly even; when thisness was not required. As a result, the this detector solenoid construction techniques were used to build two 13.4 m diameter and one 15.1 m diameter solenoid for the g-2 experiment at the Brookhaven National Laboratory (45). These solenoids were successfully tested to full field in the summer of 1996 (46). Table 1 summarizes the design parameters for a number of the this superconducting detector magnets.

THE DEFINING PARAMETERS FOR THIN SOLENGIDS

In the biterature, thinness is defined in terms of interaction lengths, absorption lengths, and radiation lengths. In highenergy physics detectors, there is no one universal definition of chimness. Thus, discussion of interaction lengths must identify the particle, and absorption lengths must identify the particle and its energy. The most common definition of thinness uses radiation lengths as a defining parameter. One radiation length neurs when 63 2%/1 = 1/e; of the neutral particles have formed charged particle pairs. This definition is appropriate in many experiments because the calorimeters and muon detectors are the only detectors that are located outsule the magnet

The physical thickness of a material that is one radiation length thick is a function of the material atomic number Z and the material specific density γ . In order for a superconducting magnet to be thin, it must be made from low-density, low-Zmaterials. The radiation thickness of a detector magnet is the sum of the radiation thicknesses of the windings, the coil suppart structure, the cryostal, and the intermediate temperature shoulds. The radiation thickness X_0 of a magnet component can be estimated using the following expression:

$$X_0 = \frac{l}{L_c \cos(a)} \tag{1}$$

where X_1 is the radiation thickness of the magnet component (given in radiation lengths), r is the physical thickness of the material in the magnet component, L_r is the thickness for one radiation length of the material in the magnet component, and α is the particle angle with respect to a line perpendicular to the component. In most cases, radiation thickness is defined when $\alpha = 0$.

The value of L_r used in Eq. (1) can be obtained from Table 3 (47,46) or it can be estimated using the following expression:

$$I_{\gamma} = 158 \frac{Z_{\gamma}^{-0.72}}{\gamma}$$
 (2)

where Z is the atomic number for the beaviest element in the compound that makes up the component and ν is the mass specific density for the material in the component. For pure elements, Eq. (2) yields a good estimate of L_i , except for ordinary hydrogen, which has no neutrons in its nucleos. For components made from compounds, the use of the Z for the heaviest element in the compound will tend to overestimateradiation thickness whereas using an average value of Z will often underestimate the radiation thickness. For components made from alloys or composites, the method of nucleos can be applied to achieve a good estimate of L_i .

THIN DETECTOR SOLENOID DESIGN CRITERIA

The strategy for minimizing the radiation thickness of a superconducting detector magnet requires the following steps: (1) Massive parts such as current hus bars, gas-confed electrical leads, cold mass support structures, vacuum services, and

414 HIGH-ENERGY PHYSICS PARTICLE DETECTOR MAGNETS

The second	ТаМе	2. T	he i	Nadiation	Thickness of	Various	Materials
---	------	------	------	-----------	--------------	---------	-----------

		Mass Density	Due Barlistinn Length $L_{\rm eff}$	
Morectal	Z	ing m	kg m	
Pure elements				
Hydropen	1	70.8e	530.3	9,900
Deut-riony	1	16:1-	1.261.0	7,640
He itan	2	1251	943 2	7,530
Lithearn	а	504	827 G	1,560
Baryllaum	4	1.645	651.9	353
Beron	5	2.370*	558.9	234
Carbon	б	1.550	127.0	275
Nitrogen	7	3081	375.9	470
Oxygen	4	1,142	344.6	302
Neur	111	L.207	299.4	240
Magaesian	12	L 746	254.6	L46
Aluminum	10	2,700	266.1	63.9
Алдол	18	L.100-	195.5	140.0
Titunum	32	4,548	198.3	87.2
Chrosenere	24	7 (200	146.2	20.4
Sus)	26	7.870	136.4	17.6
Niekci	28	6.902	131.9	L4.9
Ссрвег	29	8,960	126.6	14 4
Nichium	11	8,370	-1111	-108
Tin	50	7,310	49.6	121
Tungsten	74	19,300	67.6	2.5
Lead	82	11,350	461.5	5.6
L'rammen	92	18.950	80.0	4.2
Forquisticals, Alloys and Differ Materials				
Water		1,0001	360 8	360.4
Pelvethylene		-350	4+7 N	470
Epoxy resin		1,450	4005	290
Gluss fiber epoxy		1,750	530	-169
Carbon Sher epoxy		1.800	-+18	-261
Buryo alamatan (45% B)		2,850	-381	-149
Mylar		-1,390	395.5	267
Sodium vodide		3,670	94.9	25.9
Lithian Ileride		2.640	392.5	149
304 Stamle-e stast		7,900	197.0	17.4
N6-475 Tr		6.520	132.0	20.4

- fuguet state

'Graphite or parton liber.

cryogenic services should be located at the ends of the magnet away from the region that is supposed to have a minimum. radiation thickness. (2) The superconductor should have a minimum amount of capper and islobium titanium. The stabilizer matrix material for the supersonal octor should be made of a lowresistivity, low-Z material such as ultrapure alumnium, (3) The support structure on the outside of the coil, which will carry the hoop forces in the solenoid, should be made from a strong, ductile, low-Z, low-density material with a high thermal conduccivity (4) The magnet should be cooled indirectly with belium in tubes that are attached to the coil support structure, (5) Intermodiate temperature shields for the cryostat should be made of a low-Z, low-density, high thermal conductivity material such as aluminum, (6) The inner cryostat vacuum vessel should be made from a strong low-Z, low-density material, (7) The opter cylinder of the cryostat vacuum vessel should be made from a material with a low-Z, a low density, and an elastic modulus that is masmuhly high.

The typical physics detector solecoul is usually between (we unsaturated iron poles that have an average relative permeability that is greater than 20. The magnetic flux generated by the solenoid winding is returned by an iron yake that carries the magnetic flux from one pole in the other. The relative permeability of the iron in the return yoke is usually above 50 Figure 1 shows a typical thin detector solenoid within an experment located around the collision point of colliding beam storage ring. The number of surgers turns needed to generate a uniform magnetic induction within the detector solenoid can be estimated by using the following expression (49.:

$$M = \frac{B_0 L_g}{\mu_0} \tag{3}$$

where *M* is the total number of ampere turns in the detector spheroid call needed to generate a magnetic induction B_2 in a solenoid that has unsaturated iron poles that are a distance L_c apart, μ_0 is the permeability of air $0\mu_0 = 4\pi \times 10^{-6}$ (1 m⁻¹).

Equation (3) indemsionates the impere turns needed to generate the magnetic induction in the solenoid hore anywhere from 3% to 30% depending on the design of the magnetic exclusand the central induction within the solenoid. The equation underestimates the required ampere turns because the relative permeability of the iron in the poles and the return yake is not infinite and the iron in the pole pieces is often segmented, with detectors between the segments. Often the extra impere turns are put at the ends of the solenoid so that the desired



Figure 1. A quarter section they of a typical colliding beam physics detector with the solenoid crystetal shown. (The thin and thick sections of the superconducting magnet are shown.)

field uniformity within the solenard can be achieved. Computer codes such as EOISSON (50) and OPERA2D (51) can be used to determine the number of ampere turns needed to generate the desired central induction and the desired field uniformity within the detector volume.

The amount of superconductor needed to generate the magnetic field is quite small. When Nh–Ti with a critical current density of 2500 A mm⁻² at 4.2 K and 5.0 T is used, about 0.3 mm of Nh–Ti is needed for every tesla of control magnetic m-duction produced (52). The copper to superconductor ratio for the conductor can be as 'rw as 0.8. The amount of subligger usually annealed 0.99999 pure RRR > 1000 alumnum(in the conductor is dictated by the type of quench protection chosen.

The physical thickness of the superconducting coil is deterioned by the thickness of stabilizing matrix material in the conductor. The overage conductor correct density J_m is determined by the safe quench condition for the coil. For safe magnet quenching through a damp resistan, the magnet E_0/P_0 bund conbe estimated using the following regression (5),54 c

$$F_{0}\beta_{m}^{c} = VI_{0}F^{*}(T_{m})\frac{\tau}{\tau+1}$$

$$(4)$$

where E_0 is the magnet stored energy when it is operated at its design current I_{in} V is the discharge voltage for the magnet during the quench (for large magnets V is limited to about 500 V), I_0 is the magnet design current (I_0 is typically greater than 3000 A), i is the matrix to superconductor ratio, and $F(T_0)$ is the integral of J_0^n (if modeled to raise the stabilizer adiabatic hot spot temperature from 4 K to a maximum het spot temperature T_m (For RRR = 1000 alumnum, $F(T_0) = 6 \times 10^{16}$ Å² m⁻⁴ when $T_m = 300$ K.)

The magnet stored energy E_0 can be estimated if one knows the solenoid coil diameter D, the central induction B_0 , and the gap between the iron poles L_0 . An approximate expression for the magnet stored correct is as follows:

$$E_0 = \frac{\pi D_0^T B_0^T L_0}{\mathbf{e}_{0,1}}$$
 (5)

If the $E_0 d^2_{\mu}$ limit for the magnet is increased, then the magnet design current I_0 or the magnet discharge voltage V must be increased as well. Quench back from the coil support structure can be helpful in improving the quench protection for the magnet. Magnets that employ quench back (22.55) as the priorary means for quench protection can be operated at a much higher $E_0 F_m$ limit, but the typical solenoid that is protected with a domp resistor across the leads has the $E_0 d^2_m$ limit given by Eq. (4).

From Eqs. (4) and (5), one can determine the thickness of the superconducting cod t, using the following expression:

$$U = \left(\frac{\pi D_0^T B_0^T T_W}{8 \mu_0^T V I_0 F^* (T_0) \frac{r}{r+1}}\right)^{1/r}$$
 (6)

In order for the coil thickness to be thinner than the value given by Eq. (6), quench back must turn the whole coil normal in a time that is significantly faster than the L over R time constant of the coll and down resistor circuit.

In virtually all of the large detector salenoids, the superconducting coil is wound inside the support cylinder (56). When the coil is inside the support cylinder, the joint between the coil and the support structure is in congression as the magnet is charged. An additional advantage is that the coil package cools down from the patside. Thus, the support cylinder shrinks over the coil. A few of the smaller detector magnets were wound with the coil on the outside of a hobbin or support cylinder. In all these cases, the conductor was designed to carry all of the magnetic hoop forces and the helium cooling tokes were at tacked to the outside of the coll. The superconducting sulenoid will can be wound in one or two layers. A two-layer coil has the advantage of having both leads from the call come out at the same end of the coll package. There are a number of accepted ways of wording only so that they have more correct per unit. length at the solonoid ends than in the center. One approach is to make the matrix current density higher at the ends by making the conductor thinner along the coil axis.

The thickness of the support shell initiale the superconducting coil is governed by the magnetic pressure on the coil windings (49). Total strain of the coil should be binited to prevent plastic deformation of the conductor matrix. If the conductor has a pure alumnoun matrix, the strain limit for the coil should be set to ubout 0.1% (57.56). A conservative view assumes that virtually all of the magnetic forces are carried by the support shell, and the calculated shell thickness is given by the following expression:

$$t_i = 250 \frac{B_0^2 D_i}{n_0 E_i}$$

$$(7)$$

where t_i is the design thickness for the support shell, D_i is the inside diameter of the support shell, and E_i is the modulus of elasticity of the material in the support shell. If the superconductor is included in the overall strain calculation, the thickness of the support shell can be reduced.

Table 3. A Comparison of Four Thin Solenoids

Cumponent	fla⊱e I	Cose 2	Case 3	Case 4
Central induction B ₁ (T)	15	1.5	0.75	1.5
Solenced real districtor (in)	20	4 ()	40	4.0
Gap between the iron poles (m)	83	66	66	4 B
Length of the sulenuid then section (m)	33	66	6.6	3.15
Cryostat analde diameter (m)	1.84	9.80	9.80	3 80
Cryostat cutside dinmeter (m)	2 :24	4 29	4 122	4 '26
Cryostat overall length (m)	9 85	7 30	7.30	8.85
Magnet ampere turns (MA)	3 94	7 89	2.94	3 94
Magnet sacred energy (MJ)	9 29	74 25	18 56	.37-13
Magnet design current (A)	5000	5000	5000	5000
Mognet self inductance (E):	0.74	5.04	L 40	2.97
Number of conductor levers	2	2	2	2
Number of col turns	738	1576	796	798
Gweixh discharge voltage (V)	500	500	500	500
Malrox correct density (A torn 1)	127.1	619	F8 8	63.6
Nb-Ta plus copper thickness (rom)	0.90	0.90	0.45	0.90
Total real thickness (com)	9.39	26.58	13.26	16 75
Coil appoint structure thickness (ana)	12.97	25 95	649	25 95
Inner cryostet (Inckness (2020)	L.24	2.57	2.57	2 57
Outer crycetat thickness (ami)	13.11	25-23	25.22	18.12
Magnet radiation thekness (Rad Len)	6.495	0.974	0.589	0 829
Magnet cold masa trustric tons!	2 12	L4 4	6 16	7.00
Magnet overall mass (metric 1-08)	4 00	23 5	15.3	11.8

The coil cryostat is primarily the vacuum vessel that provides the insulating vacuum for the magnet. The two primary cryostot elements are the outer cryostat vacuum vessels and the warm bare tube. The multilayer insulation and shields make up only a momer part of the cryostat's radiation thickness. A design thickness of a solid outer cryostat wall can be calculated using the following expression, which has been derived from the equation for elastic buckling of a cylinder under external pressures (59,60):

$$t_{c} = 1.08 \left(\frac{P_{c}L_{c}D_{c}^{1.8}}{E_{0}}\right)^{0.2}$$
(8)

where t_0 is the thickness of the outer cryostat wall, P_c is pressure on the outer wall of the cryostat (usually $P_0 = 1$ atm = 1.013 × 10⁵ P_0), t_0 is the length of the thin unsupported section of the outer cryostat wall, D_c is the diameter of the outer cryostat wall, and E_0 is the elastic modulus of the material in the outer wall of the cryostat.

The minimum thickness of the inner wall of the cryostat can be derived if one knows the design ultimate stress for the material in the inner wall (58,61). The margin of safety normally applied to a pressure vessel wall, such as the cryostat inner wall, is usually four (62). An expression for the minimum more cryostat wall thickness is given as follows:

$$t_{\rm f} = 2 \frac{P_{\rm f} D_{\rm f}}{\sigma_{\rm f}} \tag{9}$$

where t_i is the minimum wall thickness for the more cryostat wall, P_i is the dissign internal pressure on the inner cryostat wall, D_i is the diameter of the inner cryostat wall, and a_0 is the ultimate stress for the maternal used in the inner cryostat wall. Sometimes, the cryostat inner wall thickness is greater than the thickness given by Eq. (9) so that one can mount particle detectors and other equipment on this wall.

The material thicknesses calculated using Eqs. (6)-(9) can be used to estimate the radiation thickness of the detector solenoid. Table 3 compares four cases where the cod diameter, the gap between the iron poles, and the central induction are varied. In all four cases, the cryostat walls and coil support structure are made from solid aluminum. The superconductor is Nb-Ti with a thick aluminum stabilizer. The assumed insulation system inside and outside the cold mass consists of 60 Jayers of alumnized mylar and netting with a single 1 mm. thick aluminum shield on other side of the coil. Figure 2 shows a cross section of a coil and oryestat for CASE 2 given in Table 3. In order to make a significant reduction in the radiation thicknesses shown in Table 3, quench back must be the primary mode of quench protection and the outer cryostat vacuum vessel must be made from a cellular thoneycombi composite structure that is physically thicker than a solid pluminum vessel (68,64).

MAGNET POWER SUPPLY AND COIL QUENCH PROTECTION.

The power supply parameters are set by the call charge time t_{tr} and the design operating current I_{1} for the solemoid. The charge time for a detector solenoid is rarely an issue. Charge times as long as one hour are acceptable. The charge voltage $V = L_{1}$ di_{1}/dt , where L_{1} is the self-inductonce of the magnet circuit, and di_{2}/dt_{1} is the magnet current charge rate. (For a typical magnet, $di_{2}/dt_{1} = I_{0}/t_{th}$.) To determine the power supply voltage, one must add the IR voltage drop of 0.9 V should be allocated to the power supply hack wheeling diodes and a current shunt.

The Quench Protection Dump Resistor

Most large detector magnets are protected by a dump resistor across the gas-cooled electrical leads. When a quench is detracked, the power supply is disconnected and the dump resistor



Figure 2. A cross section through the end of a 1.5 T than solenoid with a 4.0 m cml diameter. A self-centering support struct is shown along with the stiff end ring for the superconducting coll parkage (See Case 2 m Table 3.)

is put across the leads. The design of a magnet dump resistor -a circuit is determined by the following relationship (54):

1

asfollows:

$$F^{*}(T_{n}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} j(t)^{2} dt = \frac{r}{(r+1)} \int_{t_{0}}^{T_{T}} \frac{C(T)}{\rho(T)} dT$$
 (10)

where f(t) is the current density in the magnet superconductor errors section as a function of time t, C(T) is the superconductor volume agecific heat as a function of temperature T, $\mu(T)$ is the superconductor matrix material electrical resistivity as a function of temperature, and r is the ratio of matrix material to superconductor in the magnet conductor. T_n is the starting temperature of the magnet (about 4 K), and T_n is the maximum allowable hot spot temperature for the magnet conductor (usually 300–350 K). For a conductor with a very pure aluminum matrix with an RRR of 1000, the value of $F(T_n)$ is around 6.0 $\times 10^{16}$ A² m ⁺s when T_n is 300 K

When the magnet is discharged through a dump resistor, the current decay is exponential with a decay time constant $r_1 = L_1/R_{er}$, where R_{er} is the resistance of the external dump resistor). The value of $F(T_{tr})$ at the magnet could be spot is given as follows.

$$F^{*}(T_{0}) = f_{0}^{2} \frac{(r+1)}{r} \left(\frac{t_{1}}{2} + t_{0}\right)$$
(11)

where t_{ab} is the time needed to detect the quench and switch the resistor across the magnet coil (in most cases t_{ab} is less than one second) and f_b is the starting current density in the coil superconductor plus matrix material) I_b divided by the conductor cross-sectional area). If a constant resistance domp resistor is used, the value of the resistance R_b that results in a bot spot temperature less than or equal to T_b can be expressed

The design value of
$$R_r$$
 should be larger than the value calculated by Eq. (12). For a constant resistance dump resistor, the maximum discharge voltage across the leads $V = R_s I_s$ will accur when the doma resistor is just put across the marnet.

 $|\mathcal{R}| \geq \frac{\beta_0^2 - (r+1)}{2F(T_{re}) - r}L_2$

(12)

Figure 3 shows a circuit diagram of the coil, its power supply, and the magnet dump circuit. A quench detection system is also shown. The values for inductances and R given in Fig. 3 would apply to CASE 2 in Table 3. The quench detection system shown in Fig. 3 compares the voltage neroes the superconducting coil with the dB/dt voltage due to changes in flux in the coil. If a voltage is measured across the coil and there is no corresponding dB/dt voltage, there is a minimal region in the coil. The normal region detected by the quench detector will open the awatch, putting the dump resister neroes the coil. Other methods can also be used to detect short normal sections within a magnet (65).

The Role of Quench Back

It has been observed in must of the thin detector solenoid magnets that when the dump resistor is put across the electrical leads, the entire magnet becomes normal through the process of "quench hack" (22). Quench back ensures that the coil current will decay faster than is predicted by the L over R_{γ} time constant. As a result, the magnet hol spot temperature is reduced.

There is a maximum time t_{it} before which quench back must occur in order to have quench back be a fail-safe method of

Matual industance 2.0.78 off



Figure 3. A schemotic circuit diagrain for the coal, power supply and quench protection circuit for a large detector solenced with a support cylinder "See Case 2 in Table 3.1

quench protection (55,67) (f) be resistance of the external resistor induces quench back in a time less shan the time $t_{\rm q}$, then the hot apot temperature is less than $T_{\rm w}$, the maximum allowable hot spot temperature. The maximum allowable quench-back time $t_{\rm w}$ is the quench-back time required for fail safe quench-hing $t_{\rm f}$ minus the time required for a heat pulse to cross the insulation between the quench back circuit (usually the coil support structure) and magnet coil $t_{\rm H}$. (For a layer of ground plane insulation that is two millimeters sheek. $t_{\rm H}$ vories from 0.3 to 0.5 seconds depending an a number of factors.) For large detector solenoids, $t_{\rm H}$ is usually small compared $r_{\rm T}$. The value of $t_{\rm f}$ can be determined using the following expression:

$$\psi = \frac{r}{r-1} \left[\frac{F^*(T_{\alpha}) - F^*(T_{\alpha})}{j!} \right]$$
(13)

where r and j_0 are previously defined. $P(T_n)$ and $P(T_n)$ are defined by the right-hand term in Eq. (10) for the maximum hat spot temperature T_n and the maximum temperature the collocation of the entire coil quenched instantaneously T_n . The value of T, depends on how the stored energy of the magnet is split between the bard aluminum support shell and the coil. For deficient submodes it is usually safe to split the magnet stored energy between the support shell and the coil according in their masses.

Once t_0 has been determined, it is possible to calculate the resistance of an external resistance meeded to cause the coil to quench back from the support lube in a time that is less than t_0 . The minimum resistance needed for quench back R_n can be galeplated using the following relationship for a sciencid coil that is well coupled inductively to its quench-back curroit (66):

$$R_{\rm m} = \left(\frac{I_{\rm q}}{\tau_2} \frac{N_2}{N_{\rm f}} \frac{A_2}{I}\right) \left(\frac{\gamma H_2}{\sigma_2 I_{\rm Q}}\right)^{0.5} \tag{14}$$

where L_1 is the magnet coil self-inductance, N_2 is the number of torus in the quench-back circuit $(N_1 = 1)$ when the support shell is the quench back circuit, N_1 is the number of torus of the magnet coil, A_2 is the cross-sectional area of the quench back circuit, I_0 is the coil current, ΔH_2 is the enthalpy change per unit volume needed to raise the quench-back circuit temperature from 4 K to 10 K (for elemanom, $\Delta H_2 \approx 13,200$ J m⁻¹), p_0 is the resistivity of the quench-back circuit material, and r_2 is the *L* over *R* time constant for the quench back circuit (the support tobe).

If the minimum quench-back resistance R_n is less than the resistance of the quench pratection resistor R_n quench back will always occur during a magnet dump. Therefore, the hot spot temperature of the coil is lower than T_{nr} . When quench back is present, one can use a variator (a resistor where the voltage across the resistor is nearly independent of current) as a dump resister to spred up the quench process without increasing the coil voltages during the guench (68).

DESIGN CRITERIA FOR THE ENDS OF A DETECTOR SOLENOID

The previous sections have dealt primitrily with the center section of a detector solenoid. Much of the engineering for a detector solenoid is in the ends of the magnet, where thinness is not an issue. For example: (1) The support system for the submoid outdimass is attached to the ends of the magnet, (2) The outside ends of the cryostat vessel are often where physical connections are made between the magnet and the rest of the detector (3) The current leads and voltage taps into the coil will come out of the coil package at its ends. Gas-cooled electrical leads that contact the coulto the room-temperature auteide world may also be located inside the magnet insulating vacuum vessel in the end region, (4) Cryagenic cooling is usually fed into the solenoid coil from the ends. Cooling should also include the intermediate temperature fluid wither liquid mitrogen at 80 K or behum gas at 50 to 80 K) used to cool the shields, (6) cryostat vacuum pumping ports will be located at the ande of the solenoid, (G) Room-temperature feed throughs. for voltage taps, quench detection coils, temperature sensore. and pressure transducers will enter the magnet at the cods.

Cold Mass Support System

The cold mass supports to round temperature must carry gravity forces, seismic forces, magnetic forces, and shipping forces. Must detector solenoids are designed to be at a neutral magnetic force point when the coil is at its operating temperature, so the cold mass support system must have a spring constant that is higher than the magnetic force constant.

Solencols that are surrounded by ron are usually, but not always, in stable equilibrium in the radial direction and in unstable equilibrium in the axial direction. In the tortional direction (about the solenoid axis), there are almost no magnetic forces in a well-built solenoid, although asymmetric holes in the min can introduce sume of these forces. Stable equilibrium indicates that the magnetic forces will act in a direction that reduces a placement error; unstable equilibrium indicates that the magnetic forces will act in a direction that increases the placement error. In the direction of stable equilibrium, the spring constant of the support system is not a critical issue except when determining how the magnet responds to vibration. In the direction of unstable equilibrium (visually the axia) direction) she spring constant of the support system must be larger than the force constant for the magnet at its maximum design field. In genend, the magnel force constant is linear with the location error and it increases with the magnet current squared. The magnetic force constant is a function of the design of the coil, the iron return yoke, and the pole pieces. Magnetic force constants will change as the iron in the magnetic circuit saturates.

Two types of cold mass support systems are commonly used in detector solenoids. The first is the self-centering support system where the position of the center of the solenoid cold does out change during the magnet cooldown or as the magnet is powered. The second support system carries axial forces with push-pall rods at one end of the magnet while the radial forces are carried by gravity support rods at both ends of the magnet. Both types of support systems must be designed to handle magnet shrinkage during the cooldown. A coil that is 6.6 m long and 4 m in drameter will shrink almost 28 mm in the axial direction and the radius will decrease about 8.4 mm. The external repostal support system should be in line with the cold mass support system in order to avoid bending within the crynetar. The spring constant for the combined internal and external support systems must be greater than the magnetic force constant.

The solf centering support system has several advantages: (1) the position of the magnetic center is the same both warm and cold. The PEP-4 soleonod magnetic center changed less than 0.4 mm during the magnet routdown. (2) The rudipl and axial supports can be combined using either tension or compression rods. Two of the rods can also carry the tortional forces about the solenoid axis (tortional forces). The angle of the support rods can be set so that rod stress is not changed during the coil cooldown. (3) Since the axial spring constants must be high, the apring constant will be high in all directions. The self-centering support system will have a relatively high first made vibration frequency. (4) The self-centering support system is robust in all directions, so earthquake and transportation forces should not be a problem.

The two disadvantages of the self-centering support system are as follows: (1) As the magnet coil coals down, it will move with respect to the ends of the cryostat vacuum vessel at both ends of the magnet. This movement must be considered when designing electrical leads, cryogen fixed throughs, and other atlaritments to the coil. (2) Flexure of the coil package (at the ends of the support cylinder) will affect the spring constant of the support system. The stiffness of the ends of the coil package and the number of radial axis) supports are the determining factors for the spring constant of this type of support system. Finite element stress and strain colculations can be used to determine the spring constant of the cold mass support system. A description of the design of a self centering support system can be found in Ref. 69. A location of a typical self-centering support compression struct for a detertor solennid is shown in Fig. 2. The strue rotates in its sockets as the solenoid cold mass contracts. The distance between the ball sockets does not change as the solenoid cools down from more temperature to 4 K. The angle of the struct with respect to the solenoid axis changes us the colend of the struct moves toward the center of the solenoid

The Solenoid Support Structure, the Cryogenic Heat Sink

The support cylinder outside the superconducting winding serves the following functions: (1) The outer cylinder carries the magnetic pressure forces that are generated by the coil. (2) The outer cylinder transfers magnetic, gravitational, and seismic forces from the coal structure to the cold mass support system (3) The outer cylinder carries the helium cooling tubes and acts as the heat sink for the coil and all attachments to it. This means that the outer support cylinder must be made from instemal that conducts heat well in both the radial and axial directions.

The end ring of the support cylinder should be as shift as possible in bending. End-ring stiffness can be increased by making the ring thicker, thus increasing its moment of inertia, or one can inbricate a laminated end ring with a high elastic modulus material such as 304 stainless steel (elastic modulus of 200 GPa as compared to 69 GPa for alominum) on the outside and the inside of the ring with aluminum in the center. The need for stiff end rings on the support cylinder is reduced as the number of cold mass supports per end is increased for a given coil diameter (69).

Coil Electrical Connections and Leads to the Outside World

Connections to the superconducting coil that come through the end ring should be mounted on copper hos hars that are electrically insoluted from the end rings. These bus bars should be coiled in liquid behum in order to avoid heat from outside the coil being deposited directly into the superconducting windings. Heat leaks down pulsed current leads, which are usually not gus cooled, can be particularly troublesome. The cooling circuit used to cool bus bars at the ends of the coil should be part of the magnet belian cooling system. Since much of the cooling circuit is electrically grounded in-line electrical insulators will be required in the cooling lines that cool the electrical bus bars connected to the superconducting coil.

Most detector solenoids have gas-cooled electrical leads that are fed from a liquid hebuin put lucated somewhere near the solenon). The current bases between the lead pot and the coil ore often cooled by conduction, a practice that has led to a number of failures. All current bases should be beham-cooled. The lead pos commonly used in detector magnets can be climinated. by using gas-couled electrical louds that are attached to the ends of the coil structure. The behum used to cool these leads comes directly from the liquid belium cooling circuit. Gas-cooled leads attuched to the end of the magnet are located within the cryostat vacuum, so these loads must be completely vacuum tight and they must withstand any increase in pressure that neglit scour in the cooling circuit during a queuch (70). The bundled nested tube leads that were used on the PEP-4 experiment (71) and the g-2 soleroids (72) can be operated at any origitation within the cryssful viewum vessel. Properly designed gas-cooled leads are stable and they are capable of operating for more than 30 min without gas flow.

CRYOGENIC COOLING OF A THIN DETECTOR SOLENOID

Must of the detector salenoids shown in Table 1 are cooled by belium in tubes attached to the superconducting call or the support cylinder outside the coil. This technique has the following advantages over the bath cooling used for early cryastable detertor magnets (73): (1) Tubular cooling eliminates the cryostat helium vessels. As a result, the solenoids are thinner and less masaive. (2) The volume of hebum in a tubular cooling system is small. Once this behaviors evaporated during a quench, it is expelled from the tube dange quantities of helium gas are not. produced during a magnet quench. The helium expelled during a magnet quench can be returned to the refrigerator where it is proveral, (3) Tubes can withstand high pressures during a quench, fielief values for the system can be moved from the magnet cryostat to the helium supply system, which out he outside the detector. (4) Magnet cooldown can be done directly using the helium refrigerator. (5) Recovery from a quench can be simplified using a well-designed to bolor cooling system.

Detector magnets are moled with two-phase belium rather than supercritical behum for the following reasons: (1) The eperating temperature for the superconducting solenoid is lower (18). As two-phase belium flows down the cooling circuit, is gets ender as its pressure goes down. The temperature of a anglephase cooling circuit increases as one gives along the cooling circuit. (2) The mass flow through the cooling circuit is minimized. As a result, the pressure drop along the flow circuit is lower (3) There is no need for auxiliary belium pumping in 8 two-phase flow circuit. Helium flow can be provided directly by the J-T circuit of the refrigerator (4) A properly designed twophase belium flow system can be operated at heat loads greater than the capacity of the refrigerator for a period of time. Thus fluctuations in the heat load can be tolerated by two phase flow circuits that are designed for the average heat load. The most often stated disadvantage of two-phase cooling is the potential existence of flow and pressure fluctuations in the cooling tube. This has not been a problem in detector magnets when the twophase helium cooling circuit is properly designed. Experiments with extensively looped cooling tubes that are hundreds of meters long have shown that proper design of the flow circuit can nearly eliminate the flow oscillation problem (73,74).

The types of two-phase belium flow circuits are commonly used in detector solenceds are the forced two-phase flow system and the natural renvertion two-phase flow system. Forced twophase flow is appropriate when the flow circuits are long and when the control dewar is below the top of the magnet. Natural convection two-phase flow is appropriate when there is a large vertical head between the belium dewar and the head and when there are many parallel flow circuits so that the mass flow in any one circuit can be kept low. Either type of two-phase belium flow circuit can be made to work in must detector solenoids.

The key to stable operation of forced two-phase beham cooling circuits is the control dewar and heat exchanger (25,73). Flow for the magnet cooling circuit comes from the J-T circuit of the helion: refrigerator. Cooling flow can also come from a positive displacement beliam pump (75), but allowances must be made for the pump work heating generated by such a pump. Two phase flow from the refrigerator J-T circuit flows through a heat exchanger that is cooled in a bath of liquid beham at the suction pressure of the rold end of the refrigerator. The temperature of the helium bath is the lowest temperature in the two-phase flow circuit. Within the heat exchanger, helium in



Figure 4. A schematic representation of a forced two-phase helium cooling system for a large detector schemald while the schemald is cutd. *None:* Open valves are unshaded, closed valves are shaded. Dark lines carry flow, shaded lines carry no flow.)

the gas phase is condensed to liquid so that the helium leaving the heat exchanger either is on the saturated liquid line or isslightly subcooled. As a result, the average density of the he-Jum in the flow circuit is maximized, which will couse the flow pressure drop through the flow circuit to be reduced a factor of two or three as compared to the same flow circuit without a heat exchanger in the helium both. The use of the heat exchanger in the control dewar allows the operation of the cooling circuit with a heat flow into the magnet that exceeds the capacity of the refragerator by as much as 50%. Under this condition, the magnet can be kept cold as long as the heat exchanger in the control dewar is kept covered with liquid helium. The cantrol dewar enhances flow circuit stability. Figure 4 shows a schematic representation of a forced two-phase belium realing circuit in its simplest form. The valves in Fig. 4 are shown as they would be when the magnet is operating at 4 K.

The advantages of forced two-phase conling are as follows: (1) The entire detector solenoid can be cooled using a single helium flow circuit. As a result, the cooldown of the magnet is straight forward because all of the sensible heat of the behum can be employed during the coaldown process. (2) The operating temperature for a two-phase cooled magnet is lower than it would be for any supercritical helium-cooled magnes. (3) The control dewar with its heat exchange can be located flexibly with respect to the magnet coil. Transfer lines to and from the coil can be long, if desired, (4) Gas-cooled electrical leads and shields can be cooled directly from the two-phase cooling cocuit. The connections for leads and shields can be made inside the magnet cryostat vacuum vessel. (5) Since the liquid helium inventory in contact with the magnet is limited to the belium in the cooling tube, the around of belinin gas produced during a quench is small, (6) The liquid belium in the control dewar can be used to speed up the recovery of the superconducting magnet after a quench. The primary disadvantage of forced two-phase cooling is that when the refrigerator stops, the magnet cooling staps. The magnet will quench within minutes after



Figure 5. A schematic representation of a natural convertion two-phase below cooling system for a large dotector sclenoid while the solenoid is cold. (The meet at the lower right shows the physical arrangement of the natural convection society system.)

the refrigerator stops running. For some users this is a serious consideration.

The natural convection two-phase cooling system overcomes the primary disadvantage of a forced two-phase cooling system in that she magnet will remain cold and operating even when the refrigerator is not in operation. The evoluting for a natural convection conling system comes from the belium that is stored in a tank that is above the top of the cod. The greater the head between the storage sunk and the top of the mugnet, the better the natural convection two-phase flow system operates. In order for the natural convention flow system to operate effeccively, the following conditions must be present: (1) The pipe from the bottom of the belium storage dewar to the manifold at the hottam of the magnet should be short and well-insulated. There should be no builting in helium transferred to the lower manifold on the call package, (2) in order to reduce the flow ereast pressure drop, there should be many short up-flow circonts in parallel going on and around the coil to the manifold at the top of the magnet. Boiling should over in these takes, This increases the helium flow through the cooling system (3). The pipe from the manufold at the top of the coil package should dump two-phase beliam into the top of the storage tank, where phase separation occurs. This pipe should be insulated from the helium that is in the storage tank. The difference in helium donsity in the pipe connecting the tank and the lower manifold and the two-phase helium in the cooling tubes orthog the magnet provides the driving force for the flow circuit. Figure 5 shows a schematic representation of a natural convection two-phase holium moting cirruit in its simplest form. The upper part of Fig. 5 shows a schematic of how the refrigerator, its compressors, and the magnet would be hooked up. The lower part of Fig. 5 shows the physical arrangement of the behum storage tank (phase separator) and the detector solenoid. The storage Lank shown in Fig. 5 is 500 liters, but that tunk could be much. targer if needed. The valves in Fig. 5 are shown as they would be when the magnet is operating at 4 K.

Natural convection flow has some disadvantages, which are as follows: (1) Cooldown of the magnet is not as straightforword as with the forced two-phase cooling system. This difficulty out he overcome by having a separate forced flow circuit for the magnet cooldown (2) In a natural convection cooled magnet system, all of the hebum that is in the starage tank may be toiled during a magnet quench. This can be overcome by installing an automatic shut-off valve, which is triggered by the quench detector, in the pipe between the storage tank and the liquid helium manifold on the bottom of the magnet (3) The thin section of the solenoid has a larger radiation thickness top and bottom in the regions where the liquid helium and two-phase belium manifolds are located. (4) The belium storage tank for natural convection cooling must be located directly. above the magnet coil, and the transfer lines between the storage rank and the coal should be as short as possible. The physics experiment must accommodate these transfer lines.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- J. E. Kunzler et al., Phys. Rev. Lett., 6, 99, 1961.
- 2 R. C. Wnigast et al., Superconducting cultical curvents to wree samples and some experimental coils, in Advances in Cryogener Engineering, Vol. P. New York: Plenum Press, 1962, p. 38

- C. Laverick. The performance characteristics of small superconducting colls. in Advances in Croogenic Engineering, Vol. 10, New York: Plenum Press, 1994, p. 105.
- Z. J. J. Stekly and Z. L. Zar. Stable superconducting reals, *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, NS-12, 367, 1935.
- 5 J. R. Porvell. The 1.6 testa, 4.9 m bubble character magnet, Proc. 1968 Summer Study Superconducting Decrees Accelerators. BNL 50155 (C-55), p. 785, 1968.
- R. E. Jones et al., Construction of the 12 fax: bubble chamber superconducting magnet ergostor, in *Advances in Cryogenic Engineering*, Vol. 15, New York, Plengin Press, 1969, p. 141
- D. P. Brown, R. W. Burgess, and G. T. Mulliolland. The superconducting magnet for the Brookhaven National Eaburatury 7 foot bubble chamber, in *Proc. 1908 Nummer Study Superconducting Divises Acceleration*, BNL 50165 (C-55), p. 794, 1968.
- E. G. Pewatt, Superconductivity in high energy physics, in Advances in Objegence Engineering, Vol., Hi, New York: Plenum Press, 1970, p. 1911a review of hitge tragin act.
- E. V. Haebel and F. Wittpenstein, Proc. Int. Conf. Magnet Technol., Homburg, Germany, 1970.
- T.H. Freidz, Superconduction sity applications in high energy physics, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAC-11, 113, 1975.
- M. Morpurga, Construction of a superconducting test coil cooled by holiam forced circulation, Proc. 1968 Summer Study Superconducting Detices Acceletation, BNL 50(1567C-55), 950, 1966
- M. Morquergo, Proc. Int. Conf. Magnet Technol. Howburg, Germany, 1970.
- C. P. Bean et al., Research Investigation of the Factors that Alfect rise Superconducting Properties of Material, AFML-TR-65-431, Air Force Materials Laboratory, Wright Potterson Air Porce Base, Ohm, 1965.
- R. Hancox, Phys. Lett. 16, 209, 1965.
- P.Y. Chester, Rep. Prof. Phys. 30 (2) 361, 1967.
- P. F. Smith and J. D. Lewin, Pulsed superconducting symbolic and Nucl. Instr. Methods, 52: 246, 1967.
- M. N. Wilson et al., Experimental and theoretical studies of filumentary superconducting composities, Part 1, Basic ideas and theory, J. Phys. Appl. Phys., 3, 1517, 1970.
- M. A. Green Cooling intrinsically stable superconducting magnets with super-critical helium, *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, NS-18: 664, 1971
- H. Desportes, Superconducting magnets for notelerators, beam lines and detectors, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAC-17, 15191, 1981.
- M. A. Green, Large superconducting solenoid for the MINIMAG experiment on Advances in Cryspical Engineering, Vol. 21, New York Plenoin Press, 1975, p. 24.
- P. H. Eberhard et al., Tests on large diameter superconducting sciencids designed for colliding beam accelerators, *IEEE Trans.* Magn. MAU-13: 76, 1977.
- M. A. Graan, The Development of Large High Current Density Superconducting Solution Magnets for Use in High Energy Physics Experiments, LBL-5000 discord dissectation. UC Barkeley, May 1977.
- M. A. Green. Large superovaduoring detactor rangents with ultrathin calls for use in high energy accelerators and storage comp-Proc 6th Int. Conf. Magnet Technol., Bratislava, Crechoslovakia, p. 429, 1977.
- P. B. Eherhard et al., A magnet system for the time projection dismober of PEP, *IEEE Trans. Magn.* MAG(15: 126, 1979).
- M. A. Green, W.A. Burns, and J. D. Taylor, Porced two-phase belown contingeoffarge superconducting magnets, in *Advances on Crysgenet* Engineering, Vol. 25, New York: Plenum Press, 1979, p. 420
- 26 J. Benichov et a). Long form experience on the superconducting

magnet system for the CEULO deterior. IEEE Treas. Magn., MAG-17, 1967, 1991.

- 27. J. M. Royet, J. D. Seudiere, and R. E. Schwall, Aluminum stabilized multifilamentary Nb-Ti conductor. *IKEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-19, 261, 1993.
- E. Leong et al., Design of an indirectly cooled 3-m diameter -uperconducting sciencial with external support cylinder for the Fermi'ab collider detector facility. *IKEE Trans. Maga.*, MAG-19: 1366, 1983.
- A. Wrike et al., A integer superconducting this science in magnet TRIS-TAN experiment (VENUS) at KEK, JEEE Trans. Magn. MAG-21 494, 1985.
- H. Hirabayashi, Detector magnets in high energy physics, IEEE Trans. Magn., MAG-24: 1256, 1984
- 31 K. Teochiya et al., Testing of a 3 testa superconducting inspiret for the AMY detector at Tristan. in Advances in Crysteinic Engineering, Vol. 30, New York, Plenum Press, 1987, p. 33.
- J. M. Baze et al., Design, construction and test of the large superconducting solenoid ALEPH, *IEEE Trans. Macn.*, MAG-24: 1260, 1988.
- R. Q. Apsey et al., Design of a 5-5 meter diameter superconducting submode for the DELPHI part do physics experiment at LEP, IEEE IYank, Maga., MAG-21: 490, 1985.
- P. T. M. Cice, Rotherford Appleton Laboratory, Didrot, United Bangdam, private communication
- 35 A. Bunth Ohve et al., Zena thur scienced Test results analysis, IEEE Trans. Mapp., MAC-27: 1954, 1991.
- D. Andrews, Oxford Technology Ltd., Oxford, Phytod Xingdom, prosure communication.
- C. M. Monroe et al., The CLEO II Magnet—design, manufacturiand tests, Proc. Tic. ffth Int. Crosgenic Eng. Canf., Southampton, United Kangdom, Guildfurd, United Kangdom, Butterworth, 773, 1989.
- A. Yamainoto et al., Development of a prototype thin supersonducting solenoid magnet for the SDC detector. *IEEE Trans. Appl.* Supervond., 5: 649, 1995.
- T. Mito et al., Protectype thire superconducting submitle for particle astrophysics in space, INEE Trans. Magn. MAG-25: 1663, 1989.
- Y. Makuda et al., Hallmining of a thin superconducting submodular particle astrophysics. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supersing.* 6: 656, 1985.
- P. Pablettobure et al., The superconducting magnet for the BaBar detector of the PEP-II B factory at SLAC, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-32: 2210, 1996.
- J. M. Baze. Progress in the design of a superconducting turoidal magnet for the ATLAS detector on LHC, INSE Trans. Magn., MAG-82, 2047, 1996.
- 43 D.E. Baynhamet al., Design of the superconducting radiospheriods for the ATLAS experiment at EHC. *IEEE Trans. Maga.*, MAG-32 2055, 1996.
- F. Kircher, H. Departes, and R. Gellet et al., Conductor developmonis for the ATLAS and CM-5 magnets. *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAC-52, 2870, 1996.
- G. Burre et al., The large superconducting selected: for the p-2 moon storage ring, IEEE Treas. Appl. Supercond., 5: 853, 1995.
- 46. 45. Bunce et al., Test results of the g-2 superconducting colonomi insegnet system. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 826, 1997
- Review of Particle Properties, compiled by the Particle Data Group. Rev. Mod. Phys. 48 (2) Part II: 50, 1978.
- 48 Y. S. Tsay, Pair Production and Bremsstrahlung of Charged Leptons, SLAC PUB-1065, Table III 6 (1974)
- W. R. Snythe, Static and Dynamic Electricity, 2nd ed., New York McGraw-Hill, 1950.
- POISSON/SUPERFISH Reference Manual, LANL Publication LA-UR-97-126, 1997

- 51 Part of the TOSCA series of programs produced by Vector Fields Ltd., Oxford, United Kingdom
- M. A. Green. Calculating the J., B. T surface for mobilian tilenium using the reduced state model. *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-25: 2119, 1949.
- 58 B. J. Moddock and C. B. James, Protection and stabilization of large superconducting cods, Proc. IEE, 115 (4): 543, 1966.
- 54 P. H. Eherhard et al., Quenches in large superconducting magnets, In Proc. 6th Int. Conf. Magnet Technol., Bratislava, Czechoslovakia, 864, 1977
- 55 M. A. Green, Quench hack in thin superconducting inferred magratis, Cryogenees, 24: 3, 1984.
- 56 A. Ysanomiko et al., A thin superconducting solenced with the internel winding method for collider beam experiments. Proc. 8th Int. Conf. Magnet Technol., September 1983.
- 57 A. Yamamoto et al., Design study of a third superconducting solernoid for the SDC detector, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, **9**, 98, 1993.
- R. J. Ronzk and W. C. Young, Formulae for Stress and Science, 5th ed., New York: McGraw-Hill, 1975.
- S. Tunowhenko, Theory of Flater and Shells, New York: McGraw-Hill, 1940.
- 60 II. E. Sauders and D. F. Wittenberg, Strength of theorybridges) shells under enternal pressure. ASME Physics 58 (207) 1931
- E. P. Popov, Michanics of Materials, Englewand ChEs, NJ: Prentice, Hall, 1959.
- 62 ASME Bailer and Pressure Vessel Code, Section 4, Davision 1, ANSI/ASME BPV-V11-1.
- R. Fust et al., Isogrid vacuum shell for large superconducting solernids, in Advances in Cryogenic Engineering, Vol. 39, New York: Pforum Press, 1993, p. 1991.
- 64 H. Yamaoka et al., Development of a brazed aluminum-honeycomh vacuum vessel for a thin superconducting salebaild magnet, in Adrances in Cryosycan Engineering, Vol. 33, New York: Plearant Press, 1993, p. 1993.
- 65 M. N. Vulson, Superconducting Magnets, Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford Clarendon Press, 1980, p. 219
- 66 M. A. Groon. The Pole of quench back in the quench protection of a superconducting solemnid, *Crypgenics*, 24: 659, 1964.
- 67. M. A. Green, PEP 4 TPC Superconducting Magnet, A Comparison of Mensured Quench Bock True with Theoretical Culculations of Quench Beck True for Four Thin Superconducting Magnets, Eawrence Beckeley Laboratory Report I.BID-771, August 1983, unpublished.
- 68 J. D. Taylor et al., Quench protection for a 2 MJ magnet. IEEE Trans. Magn. MAC-15 835, 1979
- M. A. Green, PEP-4, Large Thin Superconducting Salenoid Magner, Cryogenic Support System Revisited, Lawrence Derkeley Laboratory Engineering Note M5855, March 1982, unpublished).
- M. A. Green. Culcularian of the processive rise in the cooling tube of a two phase cooling system during a quench of an indirectly cooled superconducting magnet, *IAEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-80: 2427, 1994.
- R. G. Smithet al. Gas-readed electrical 'reads for use on forced cauled superconducting magnets. Advances Urgagenic Eng., Vol. 27, New York: Plenum Press, 1981. p. 169
- 72 M. A. Green et al., A design method for multi-tube gas could obstracal leads for the g-2 supersonducting magnets, in *Automates in Computer Regimerring*, Vol. 41, New York: Plenum Press, 1996, p. 573.
- M. A. Green et al. The TPF Magnet Cryogenic System, Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory Report LBL 10552, May 1980, unpublished
- J. D. Taylor and M. A. Green, Garden Hose Test, Lawrence Serveley Laboratory, Group A Physics Note 857, November 1978, unpublished.

 W. A. Burns et al., The construction and testing of a double-acting hollows liquid holium pump, Proc. 8th Int. Cryogenics Eng. Conf. Genover Italy, Guildford, United Kingdom, IPC Science and Technology Press, 343, 1966

> MICHAEL A. GREEN LOWYOTZE DERKELEY NOTIONAL Laboratory

INFRARED DETECTOR ARRAYS, UNCOOLED

Infrared imaging has demonstrated itself to be a vical aspect of modern warfare. Infrared (IR) imaging has been used for surveillance, targeting, and night vision. The civilian applications of infrared imaging for security, thermography, and right vision in transportation are becoming increasingly widespread The key factor limiting the adoption of widespread rivilian applications of infrared imaging is the high cost associated with cryogenically moted IR detector arrays. More recently, thermal imaging arrays capable of operating at or near room temperature without castly cryagenic refrigeration have been developed. These systems are less expensive than their cryagenic counterparts; however, they are not yet inexpensive enough to lx: feasible for mass consumer applications. However, as uncooled infrared imaging technology develops, low-cost systems will be developed, enabling night vision in automobiles, siginficantly improving automobile safety by allowing the driver to see beyond the range of the headlights and enabling other mass maisumer applications in transportation, security, and medicine to be realized.

Infrared detectors can be generally classified as belonging to one of two types. There are photon detectors and thermal devectors. Photon detectors generally operate using the photoyoltaic effect or photoconductivity. In either case, a photoa detector relies upon the absorption of a quantum of light by an electron. The electron then may be excited to a state where it can be transported over a barrier; or, more commonly, it results in the generation of electron-hole pairs, allowing for moreased conductivity (photoconductivity) or a shift in the quasi Fermi levels (photovoltaic). Photon detectors do not possess a high detectivity at room temperature due to the noise associated with the dark correct. To minimize the dark current, photon detectors are generally cooled to cryogenuc temperatures by submersion in liquid helium or liquid introgen or by couplaying a closed cycle refrigerator. The necessity of cryogenic cooling significantly increases the system cost and the complexity of an infrared camera. Most infrared photon detectors are based upon HgCdTe devices or silicon Schottky barrier doubes.

In contrast, thermal detectors operate by utilizing the heat generated by the obsorption of the photon flux to change temperature. The change in the temperature is associated with a change in a measurable electrical property of the material such as the electrical resistance (bolometer), symparized from (pyroelectric detector), or Fermi love? (thermocoopie). To maximize the response of a thermal detector, it is important to maximize the response of a thermal detector, it is important to maximize the response of a thermal detector, it is important to maximize the response of a thermal detector, it is important to maximize the temperature change with respect to the energy absorbed by the photon flux. To this end, it is important that a numeral amount of heat be lost through conduction away from the detector. The detector is, therefore, usually thermally isolated from its surrounding as much as possible to achieve a large responsivity. This can be achieved in microdetectors by micromachining the detectors to be suspended above the substrate and placing the detector in vacuum, thereby minimizing the amount of heat lost to the substrate by conduction. Typically, a thermal conductance of 10⁻⁷ W/K is achieved. In addition, microfabrication allows detectors with a very low thermal mass (specific heat) (10⁻¹⁶ J/K) in he fubricated, again providing large temperature changes in the detecting element with respect to the incident photon energy. Thermal detectors do not suffer from noise associated with dark current, therefore, highdetectivity detectors ($D \approx 10^{12}$ cm-Hz¹⁻²/W) operating at room temperature are possible.

BOLOMETRIC DETECTORS

theory of Bolometer Operation

A bolometer operates through the temperature-dependence of the resistance of the sensitive element or thermometer. As the temperature of the holometer changes with the energy carried by the incident photon flux, the resistance changes, thereby giving a measurable signal when current biased. The relative mightarie of the change in the electrical resistance is known as the temperature coefficient of resistance (TCR). The TCR is given by

$$TCR = \rho = \frac{1}{R} \frac{dR}{dT}$$
(1)

Performance improves with the magnitude of the TCR Metals (1,2) were originally used as bolometers; however, their TCR is limited to 0.5% K \approx thereby limiting their responsivity and detectivity. At present, practical microbolometers are based upon semiconductors such as germanium (3), amorphous silicon (4), and vanadium oxide (5–9). In addition, more recently, semiconducting YBoCoO has been proposed (10–18).

The responsivity of a bolometer—that is, the output signal voltage per unit incident infrared power—is given by (14)

$$R_{\ell} = \frac{\hbar R \delta n}{G(1 + m^2 \epsilon^2)^{1/2}}$$
(2)

where T_A is the bias current, H is the direct current (dc) resistance. γ is the absorptivity, G is the thermal conductance between sensitive element and the substrate, ϕ is the angular modulation frequency of the incident radiation, and γ is the thermal response time which is given by C/G/C is the heat capacity (thermal mass) of the sensitive element. Therefore, for high responsivity, high dR/aT, low G, and low w (or $\ll 1$) are required. Silicon micromachining techniques can be employed to create an air-gap bridge order the detector to provide low thermal conductance and heat repacity (15–17):

The detectivity D is determined by the ratio of the responsivity R_V in the noise voltage V_A :

$$D^{*} = \frac{R_{0}\sqrt{\Delta f A}}{V_{a}}$$
(3)

where Δf is the amplifier frequency bundwidth, V_n is the total noise voltage of the detector, and A is the area of the detector (thermometer:

The noise voltage, V_{π} is determined by the sum of the contributions due to she background noise produced by the blackhody emissions of the surroundings, the temperature fluctuation noise due to thermodynamic fluctuations in the isolated thermal mass, and the mose generated by the thermometer or sensitive element. The noise generated by the thermometer or sensitive element. The noise generated by the thermometer ter includes Johnson noise and the low-frequency noise of the material. The respective mose contributions may be calculated from the following relations

The temperature fluctuation noise is due to temperature fluctuations resulting from the exchange thermal conduction of isolated thermal detector with the substrate. The temperature fluctuation noise voltage, ΔV_{TF} , is calculated from:

$$\frac{\Delta V_{W}}{\sqrt{\Delta f}} = \frac{2k_{W}^{2} I_{a} H \rho T_{b}}{f l^{1/2} (1 + 4\pi^{2} f^{2} \tau^{2})^{-2}}$$
(4)

where T_B is the detector temperature and k_B is Boltzmann's constant. The background voltage noise, ΔV_{PG} results from the radiative exchange of the detector with the surroundings. For a detector surrounded by a uniform blackbody at temperature T_B the background voltage noise may be calculated from

$$\frac{\Delta V_{0si}}{\sqrt{\Delta f}} = \frac{I_{\theta} R t (18 A_{0} c k_{\theta} (T_{0}^{s} + T_{0}^{s}))^{2/2}}{G(1 + 4c^{2} f^{2} c^{2})^{1/2}}$$
(5)

where A is the total surface area of the detector and σ is the Stefan–Beltzmann constant.

The voltage noise generated by the sensitive material or thermometer occurs due to the Johnson noise associated with the resistance of the detector plus the 1.7 f noise of the material. The Johnson noise voltage is given by

$$\frac{\Delta V_d}{\sqrt{\Delta f}} = \sqrt{4k_0 T_0} R \tag{6}$$

The 1/t' noise may originate due to a variety of physical procosses. The magnitude of the 1/t noise must be determined empirically for a given material used as the thermometer. The 1/t' noise is often determined by material processing parameters because it often relates to the number of traps throughout the volume or at the surface of the thermometer layer. In general, the Hooge formula (18) provides a relation for the voltage spectral density associated with the 1/t' noise. The noise voltage is taken as the square root of the voltage spectral density. The Hooge formula is given by

$$S_{V} = \frac{aV^{2}}{fN} - \frac{\Delta V_{V}^{2}}{\Delta f}, \qquad (7)$$

Here, α is Hooge parameter which provides the relative magmude of the 1/f noise, V is the devoltage, and N is the total number of independent fluctuators. The fluctuators are the southering conters creating the noise. In bulk materials, the fluctuators are often distributed evenly throughout the volume of the material; however, in the case of thin films, as employed in microbelometers, the dominant scattering mechanism is often associated with sorface states (19) and the fluctuators are distributed over the surface of the thin film.

The corner frequency occurs where the 1/f mass merges with the Johnson noise floor. The power-normalized corner frequency reflects the inherent noise in the bolometer and is a useful comparison for the noise in different types of holomoters. By equating the Houge formula to the Johnson noise, the power-normalized corner frequency is given by

$$\frac{f_{\rm c}}{I_b^2 R} + \frac{\kappa}{4k_B T_D N} = \frac{1}{4k_B T_D} \left(\frac{\Delta V_{\rm CC}}{V}\right)^2 \frac{f}{\Delta f} \qquad (8)$$

The initial noise voltage V, is provided by the sum of squares of the contributions due to temperature fluctuation noise, background noise, Johnson noise, and 1/f noise.

$$\frac{V_{\eta}^2}{\Delta f} = \frac{\Delta V_{1/f}^2}{\Delta f} + \frac{\Delta V_{2y}^2}{\Delta f} + \frac{\Delta V_{BG}^2}{\Delta f} - \frac{\Delta V_{Q}^2}{\Delta f}$$
(9)

The relative magnitude of the different noise components is plusted in Fig. 1. As can be seen by the plot, the 1/7-noise component dominates the noise voltage at low frequencies, while at high frequencies the Johnson noise dominutes. A material with lower 1/f noise would see the contributions due to temperature fluctuation noise and background annee play a greater rale at intermediate frequencies. It is important to note that the magnitude of the 1/f noise, temperature fluctuation noise, background noise, and responsivity are propartionate to the bias current I_h . At zero bias, the noise voltage is determined by the Johnson poise. However, there is no responsivity. As *I*, is increased, the responsivity is increased as well as the contributions due to background, temperature fluctuation, and 1/fnoise. While the magnitude of these noise components remain much less than the Johnson more, the detectivity increases at the sumpling frequency of interest, until the magnitude of these noise components starts to dominate over the Johnson noise. At this point, both the responsivity and the device noise are increasing with the correct bias, thereby leading to a saturated. maximum detectivity. In imaging arrays, image quality dictates operating the balameters in the Johnson noise regime where the contributions from the temperature fluctuation, beckground. and 1/f noise are small, resulting in an operating detectivity less than the maximum. The background and temperature fluctuation noise components have the same entuff frequency due to



Figure 1. A plot of the noise components and total noise for a unistabilized system of sampling frequency. The following parameters were used in constructing the plot: $\beta = 3.5\%$ K⁻¹, R = 235 km, $\gamma = 1, C = 0.7$ mJ, K, G = 70 mW, K, $\gamma = 0.01$ s, $T_C = 300$ K, A = 50 µm, $\gamma = 50$ nm, $\alpha \cdot N = 10^{-12}$, and $I_A = 1$ µA.



Figure 2. A plot of typical microbolometer responsivity and detectivity of sampling frequency using the same parameters described in Fig. 1

the thermal time constant as the responsivity, while the Johnson nuise continues to high frequencies. To decrease the total Johnson noise voltage contribution, a low-pass filter is used

The corresponding responsivity and detectivity are plotted vecaus sampling frequency in Fig. 2. The plot shows that the responsivity is constant at low sampling frequencies and decreases at higher frequencies due to the thermal time constant of the thermal isolation structure. The detectivity is reduced slightly at low frequencies due to the presence of the 1/f noise, and it reaches a maximum as the 1/f noise merges with the Johnson noise before decreasing with the thermal time cunstant of the bridge structure. Detectivities in the range of 10^6 cm $Hz^{1/2}/W$ are achievable with state-of the-art uncooled microbolometers.

The signal-to-noise ratio of the bolometer is often expressed on terms of a noise equivalent power (NEP), which is the incident photon power required to produce a voltage signal equal to the total noise voltage. The NEP can be calculated from the rate of the total voltage noise divided by the responsivity. The NEP of uncoded incorbolometers is typically ligher than could 1R detectors simply because of the operation at elevated temperatures:

$$\mathbf{NEP} = \frac{V_{\mathrm{c}}}{R_{\mathrm{c}}} \tag{10}$$

When the microbolometers are integrated into arrays, the ability to have high detectivity is important, but the most important figure of ment is the ability to resolve small temperature differences in the field of view. This figure of merit is expressed as the noise equivalent temperature difference (NETD). The NETD is given by

$$\mathbf{NETD} = \frac{4}{\tau} \left[\frac{(F/\hbar)^2 \sqrt{\Delta f}}{D * (nL/nT)_{e_f \to e_f}} \sqrt{A_d} \right]$$
(11)

where, F/# is the F number of the optics, $\partial L/\partial T$ is the rate of change of the radiance of the object with temperature, and A_d is the area of the detector. Most thermal imaging systems operate either in the 3 μ m to 5 μ m etmospheric window or the 8 μ m to 14 μ m atmospheric window, where $(\partial L/\partial T)_{a_1} - \lambda_2$ can be shown to be equal to 3×10^{-5} W/cm²-K and 2.6 $\times 10^{-5}$ W/cm²-K, respectively.

Evaluating Eq. (11) in the case of temperature fluctuation noise limited detectivity, the NETD is given by

$$\mathbf{NETD}_{\mathrm{TF}} = \frac{\theta}{\pi} \left[\frac{T_{\mathrm{D}} (\delta/\hbar)^2 \sqrt{G \hbar_{\mathrm{D}} \Delta f}}{\sqrt{(dL/\sigma T)_{i_1 \dots i_d} A_d}} \right]$$

The NETD₁₀ therefore decreases as the square root of the thermal conductance away from the bolometer and is directly proportional in the detector temperature. As the thermal conductance of the bolometer is decreased, the temperature fluctuation noise decreases below the background noise. In this case, the NETD would be limited by the background noise associated with the radiative energy exchange between the bolometer and its sorroundings. The NETD in this case is given by

$$\text{NETD}_{\text{ID}_{4}} = \frac{8}{\pi} \frac{(F/\Psi)^{2}}{(\delta L/\delta T)_{0}} \int_{0}^{1} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi k_{0}(T_{0}^{0} - T_{0}^{0})\Delta f}{\eta A_{0}}}$$

The NETD_{BC} is independent of the thermal isolation but depends upon the temperature of the detector and background. At room temperature, the NETD_{BC} is calculated to be 5 mK in the 0μ m to 5μ m band and 0.4 mK in the 8μ m to 14μ m band. In performing these calculations, it is assumed that the system would have F/1 optics, $\eta = 1$ absorptivity, 40 μ m × 40 μ m pixel size, bandwidth $\Delta f = 30$ Hz, device temperature $T_0 = 300$ K, and background temperature $T_0 = 300$ K. NETDs less then 30 mK have been measured with uncooled microbolometer imaging arrays. This result is approaching the background limited noise performance. It is an impressive performance considering the approximations made in the calculations presented here. Reference 30 provides a more detailed discussion on the calculation of NETD and the dependence upon thermal isolation and detector temperature

Vanadium Oxide Microbolometer Arrays

Vanadium oxide (VO_i) microbolometer technology was developed by Honoywell (9) and is currently being used under license by Raytheon-Amber (8). Hughes Aerospace (5). Rockwell International (7), and Lockbeed-Martin (6). The technology employed by those companies varies mainly in terms of the readout cercuitry employed to operate the microbolometer arrays, the method of fabricating the thermal isolation structures, and the geometry of the detector arrays fabricated. A description of the VO₁ ficial plane array (FPA) technology at Hughes Santa Barbara Research Center (SBRC: follows

SBRC has been developing uncooled microbolometer FPAs since Hughes Aircraft Company licensed the nucrobulometer detector technology from Honeywell (5) in 1993 SBRC has focused on developing high-performance readout integrated circuits (ROICs) and improving the microbolometer detector structure and fabrication process. These improvements have included increases in pixel thermal isolation, optical fill-factor, and temperature coefficient of resistance. Simultaneously, the fabrication process has been simplified to achieve better yields and faster cycle times.

A scanning electron micrograph of the microbolometer pixels fabricated with the dry sacrificial etch process and the optimized Si_3N_4 is shown in Fig. 3. A self aligned leg etch process is being used to reduce the microbolometer support leg width to less than 2 μ m. This has increased the thermal isolation by


Figure 3. Scanning electron marzograph of microbolometer pixels folaccuted at SBRC using polyanucle sacrificial etch process. From Highes Sacht Barbara Research Center with permission. v. 1997. Santa Barbara Research Center.

a factor of two while allowing area for increased detector fillfactor. A polyamide sacrificial layer has been implemented in place of the baseline SiO_2 sacrificial layer. The polyamide material allows the use of a dry sacrificial each rather then the wet EF-based orth used in the baseline process. The elimination of the wet each has dramatically simplified the microbolometer fabrication process. The dry etch process has an essentially zero etch rate of (a) the Si_2N_3 used for the bridge and (b) the oxides and metal layers used in the readout substrates.

The dry sacrificial etch process also facilitated performance improvements in the microbulometer responsivity. The thickness of the Si₀N₄ layers has been reduced without sacrificing device yield. Si₀N₄ bridge thicknesses as thin as 360 nm have been successfully doministrated using the dry etch process. The deposition process of the Si₈N₄ process has been optimized for throughput and thermal properties. The nitride deposition process can complete a 20-wafer lat in about 1 b. The deposition process has also been optimized to produce films with low stress and low thermal conductivity. The thermal conductivity of the SicN₄ is only about 0.8 W m⁻¹ K⁻¹. This represents over a factorof two reduction of thermal conductivity compared with the baseline material

An advanced microbolometer fabrication process has been employed to build high-image quality IR FPAs. These FPAs have 0.320×340 format with 50 µm $\times 50$ µm pixels and are based on a complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) read-out integrated circuit (ROIC). The ROIC uses on-chip clock and bias generation to provide a simple electrical interface requiring only three clocks and five heas levels. The FPA has a single video output and can operate at frame rates up to 60 Hz. The SBRC-151 ROIC operates in an electronically scanned format and pulse biases each pixel. It performs two levels of on-chip offset correction to minimize spatial nonuniformity of the FPA pixels. The on-chip correction allows the use of a high detector bias (4 V) and on-chip gain without saturation of the output range. The readout utilizes a differential architecture throughout the signal chain in order to minimize sensitivity. to bias fluctuation and external noise sources. These features give the SBRC-151 very high responsivity and good extraneous noise immunity. The ROIC also incorporates an on-chip temperature compensation copubility in order to minimize temperature stabilization requirements. The various operational and test modes of the chip are controlled through a 32-bit serial programmable interface. The ROIC was specifically designed to accommodate a wide range of detector impedances without any degradation of sensitivity. The ROIC will operate with pixel impedances ranging from 10 k Ω in 200 k Ω with little degradation in performance

The microbolometer FPAs are mounted in vacuum packages with a single-stage thermoelectric emder for temperature stabilization. An antireflective-coated germanium (Ge) window is used to achieve high transmission in the d µm to 14 µm spectral region.

The SBRC-151 FPAs have been integrated into several rameta systems including the long-wavelength starting sensor (LWSS) developed by Hughes Sensors and Communications Systems (SCS). The LWSS is a prototype inilitary IR camera for portable applications. The camera was designed to achieve low-power consumption in order to maximize battery life. The camera utilizes a 50 mm focal length //0.7 Ge losis assembly with a broadband AR coarting. The LWSS camero provides memory for the coarse on-chip correction terms as well as the gain and offset nonuncformity correction terms.

The LWSS sensor has been used for imaging doministrations and radiometric testing of the SBRC-151 FPAs. The Hughes LWSS curves was independently evaluated at the US Army Night Vision and Electronic Sensors Directorate (NVESD). The NVESD performed measurements of NETD, minimum resolvable temperature (MRT), and three-dimensional noise. An NETD of 24 mK was measured with the f/0.7 optics while an NETD of 24 mK was measured with the optics stopped down to f/1.0. Figure 4 presents MRT measurements obtained by NVESD using the f/0.7 optics. The vertical MRT ranged from 48 mK at the Nyquist frequency (f_N) to 16 mK at low spatial frequency (0.80 f_N . The horizontal MRT ranged from 59 mK at the f_N to 17 mK at 0.30 f_N . The NVESD measured apatial camcits was less than 50% of the temporal noise. Further optimization of the FPA and camera is expected to produce NETD



Figure 4. Minimum resolvable temperature data taken as US Army NVESD on Hughes LWSS manportable uncooled sensor NVESD measored on NETD value of 24 mK on the sensor. From Hughes Santa Barbara Research Conter with permission. § 1997, Sania Barbara Research Conter.)



Figure 5. Single frame of anglet unogers of Mission Santa Barbara obtained with Hughes LWSS portable uncoded sensor. (From Hugher Santa Barbara Research Center with permission, 3, 1997, Santa Barbara Research Center 1

values of < 20 mK for //1.0 apertures 'The scene dynamic range of the camera is greater than 50 K with the //0.7 optics and greater than 100 K with the //1.0 optics.

The pixel operability for the same FPA was measured to be 99.2%. An operable pixel is defined as one with an f/0.7NETD less than 50 mK. The instantaneous scene temperature dynamic range of the pixels is typically about 50 K with f/0.7optics and about 100 K with f/1.0 optics. A single-frame example of night imagery obtained from the LWSS camera is shown in Fig. 5.

Prospects for Semiconducting Yttrium Barium Copper Oxide (YBaCuO) Microbolometer Arrays

Although VO, technology has obtained impressive performomen, there are difficulties associated with the deposition of the material across the wafer with uniform resistivity and TCR across the wafer. This, combined with the relatively low TCR which necessitates a large current hius and thereby power dissipation, has made the search for an alternative material. In general, the bolometric material should be easily deposited. and patternish using standard semiconductor processing equipment. The processing of the bolometer material must also be compatible with Si micromachining processes and be compatible with the CMOS readout circuitry, which is typically fabricated underneath the bolometer array. These criteria require that the nuterial he deposited uniformly over the wafer with only small spatial variations in the resistivity and TCR. Furthermore, all the processing would ideally be conducted at temperstures less than 300 C so the underlying CMOS readout. circuitry is not degraded. In addition, the holometer material should have a high TCR to allow for small bias currents and, hence, low power dissipation and long battery life for the IR camera, YBaCuO is one material that satisfies these criterna.

YBaCnO is best known as a high-temperature superconductor. The optical and electronic properties of YBa₂Cu₃O_{5-x} are determined by its oxygen stoichiometry. For $x \ge 1$, YBaCuO possesses an orthorhombic crystal structure, exhibits metallic conductivity, and becomes superconductive upon cooling below its critical temperature. As x is decreased to 0.5, the crystal

Table 1. Selected Properties of Semiconducting YBaCuO

Parameter	Valor
Conductivity activation energy (main mom- temperature)	<i>E.</i> ≈0.2-0.3 eV
Relative dielectric constant (T = 298 K)	z. = 87-500
Typical resistivity (T = 298 K)	р – 1 100 Ω-сш
Hall carrier consecution $n_{X}(T = 298 \text{ K})$	10 ¹⁶ -10 ³⁰ cm ³ p-type
dR/dT (T = 298 K)	6 × 10°Ω/Κ
Temperature coefficient of resistance (7 = 298 K)	3.9% K ⁻¹
Valtage nouse at 1 uA current bias and 30 Hz (1/f noise regime)	$V_{\star}/\Delta f \le 0.76~\mu V/\mathrm{Hz}^{12}$

 The order mage in some of the permaneters is due to the varying waygen containt.

structure undergoes a phase transition to a tetragonal structure and it exhibits semiconducting conductivity characteristics because it exists in a Fermi glass state. As \mathbf{x} is decreased further below 0.3, YBaCuO becomes a Hubbard insulator with a well-defined energy gap on the order of 1.5 eV (20). The unit cell consists of three CuO planes in the α -b plane conducted between two planes containing BaO and one plane containing Y atoms along the c-direction. Each layer consists of cornersharing CuO, polyhedra held together by the Y plane. As \mathbf{x} is increased. O is randomly introduced to the O(4) sites creating carriers and simultaneously results in disorder, leading to formation of localized states in the CuO planes

Several reports exist in the literature on transport, Hall effect, and dielectric measurements of the semiconducting YBaCuO thin films (21–24). A brief summary of results is presented in Table 1.

In the semiconducting state, YBaCuO exhibits a relatively large TCR (~d) in 4% K⁻¹) over a 60 K temperature range near room temperature. The large TCR, combined with the case of thin film fahrication that is compatible with CMOS processing, makes YBaCuO attractive to microbolometer applications.

The VBaCoO thin films, whose data are reported here, were deposited by radio frequency (RF+magnetron sputtering in a CVC-601 sputtering system at ambient temperature using commercially available $YBa_2Cu_3O_{0.12}$ sputter targets (10–13). Mumbulometer array test structures were fabricated by depositing the YBaCuO IR-sensitive element onto a suspended bridge A scanning electron micrograph of a typical array is shown in Fig. 6. In this case, the bridge structures were fabricated removing the Si underneath a 1500 nm thick SiO₂ by eithing with a HF:HNO₀ solution through trench cuts in the oxide layer, A 40 nm thick MgO buffer layer was deposited by KF+ magnetrum sputtering, followed by the 200 nm thick YBaCuO film. The MgO buffer loyer was used to art as a barrier against any interaction between YBaCuO and the substrate because some evidence of Co diffusing into silicon had been observed earlier. In addition, lower noise characteristics have been observed in YBaCuO films deposited on MgO. The effect of encapsulating YBaCaD in MgO or other passivating films has yet to be tried. The YBaCuO and MgO was then patterned to define IR-sensitive areas by the wet etching. A 300 nm thick Au film was spotter-deposited and etched to form the contact gads and leads.

The two-probe resistance values for array pixels were found to vary mughly from 2 MΩ to 10 MΩ depending on geometry for these devices. The TOR (or β) was calculated from the resistance versus temperature characteristics. For pixel #2 of the same array, β was found to vary from ~2.99% to 3.37% in the



Figure 6. Stanning electron micrograph of a one dimensional YBaCuO microbolumeter array inbracted on an axidized Si substrate. The YBaCuO IR-sensitive element wavepended on the micromochined SiG₂ bridge and is contacted by gold leads romning along the arms of the bridge. The pixel size is approximately 40 μ m \times 40 μ m.

282 K to 312 K range with a room temperature value of 3 25%The wafer average value of β was 3.5% and varied less than 10% across the wafer.

The optical response of the YBaCuO microbolometer arrays was measured by using a 1450 K blackbody source. The net usable range of this broad-hand system was ~0.8 µm to 12 μ m. Narrow-band spectral analysis was performed with an Oricl MS-257 monochromator/spectrograph. The samples were characterized under both front-side and backside (through the substrate) illumination with mechanically chopped infrared light. Room lengemature measurements of the responsivity, $H_{\rm b}$, and detectivity, D, were performed in air. The temperaturedependent measurements were performed in a cryssiat evacuated to a pressure of 30 mTorr. The response of the YBaCuO devices was calibrated against a pyroelectric detector with $R_{\rm F}$ 1000 V/W. In Fig. 7(a), typical room-tomperature responsivity $R_{\rm c}$ is displayed at different bias levels of 0.126 $n{\rm A}$ to 0.79 μA. The responsivity was linear with respect to the bias correat implying a true bolumetric behavior. At high frequencies, R_0 decreased in accordance with Eq. (2). A thermal time constant, $\tau \sim 0.7$ ms, was obtained by fitting this relation to the measured response. A room-temperature value of $G/r = 2.6 \times$ 10 5 W/K was computed using Eq. (1) and the values of measured β and R computed τ and the applied leas current h_i . The thermal conductance G of the suspended structure was measured by the resistive or Jude heating method to be 7.41 × 10⁻⁸ W/K. From the measurement of the thermal conductance and time constant the thermal mass C was calculated to be $>10^{-6} J/K$. Using the value of G_{10} calculated from the responsivity data and G from Joule heating, a value of absorptivity q for the YBaCuO film was estimated to be about 29%. However, in order to obtain a more realistic figure, a direct measurement. of absorptivity and reflectivity characteristics for this material needs to be performed.

Noise characteristics were also investigated to evaluate the performance of the balometer in terms of detectivity D, D is displayed in Fig. 7(b). At zero-bias of very low currents $(I_n < 0.1 \ \mu \Lambda)$, the noise spectrum showed essentially the Johnson for 4kTR level. A 1/f acces was observed at low frequencies



(b)

Figure 7. (a) Responsivity and (b) detectivity of 40 µm > 40 µm YBaCoO microbolumeter pixel as a function of IR shapping frequency at different current biases

 $(>2 \mu V/Hz^{1/2}$ at (0 Hz for 0.79 μ A), which caused *D* to decline slightly. At higher frequencies (above ~300 Hz for 0.79 μ A), the excess noise spectral density merged with the Johnson nume floor of ~0.4 μ V/Hz^{1/2}. From the point of view of detectivity, the aytomoto cauge for chopping frequency was found to be about 70 Hz to 200 Mz, above which the cutoff due to *t* caused R_V and, hence, *D* to fall below their maxima. A plausible cause of 1/*f* noise was the contact resistance between gold metallization and the YBaCuO film. If this is true, then decreasing the contact resistance would bring the low-frequency noise down to the Johnson noise level, improving the performance of these devices by an order of magnitude.

It is unpartant to note that the measured thermal conduclance of the YHaPuO microbolometer test structures is approximately two orders of magnitude larger than the state-of-theart obtained elsewhere for amorphous-Si and VO, bolometers. This would imply that detectivities in the range of 10^9 to 5 \times 109 cm Hz12/W are achievable if state-of-the-art thermal isolation structures were employed. This is comparable to VO. and amorphous Sudevices. It is also important to note that the top surface of the YBaCuO bolometers was not passivated and likely suffers from a larger 1/f noise component then if the YBaCuO film was totally encapsulated. VO, technology uses Si_3N_4 encapsulation, in part to invitive the 1/f noise present in the film. For YBaCuO, it has been observed that utilizing the MgO buffer layer reduces the 1/f noise present in the film, and it is likely that MgO encapsulation would further reduce the 1/f noise and lead to higher detectivities. The different miembalometer technologies are compared in Table 2 with respect to the TCB and corner frequency.

Table 2. A Comparison Between Uncooled Bolometer Technologies

Material	108 97 K ()	77967 (Ex/W)	
voj	1,5-4	1.2 × 10 ×	
Antorphotal St	1.8	4 × 10 ·	
Semiconducting YBaCuO	31	4 × 10 *	

· From Refs & 10-10, and 25

PYROFLECTRIC IR DETECTORS

Theory of Pyroelectric Detector Operation

A pyroclectric detector operates through the temperature dependence of the spontaneous polarization of the material. As the polarization changes with temperature, the surface charge on a pyroclectric capacitor changes, resulting in a measurable pyroclectric correct.

$$I = pAdT/dt$$
 (12)

where p is the pyraclectric coefficient, A is the capacitor area, T is semperatore, and t is time. The pyraclectric capacitor is connected to a preamplifier. A typical pyraclectric detector element of area A and dielectric thickness d connected to a read-out amplifier is shown in Fig. 6. Radiation with power $\Phi(t)$ modulated at frequency w is incident on surface of the element. The absorptivity of the detector is η . The detector element has a thermal capacity C and a thermal conductance to the substrate G. Thus, the temperature change, ΔT_i resulting from the incident radiant flux can be expressed as

$$C\frac{d\Delta T}{dt} + G\Delta T + \eta \Delta \Phi(t) \tag{13}$$

where the temperature of the detector element is $T(t) = T_{-1} + \Delta T(t)$, modulated by the radiation flux

$$\Phi(t) = \Phi_{eq} + \Delta \Phi(t) = \Phi_{eq} + \Phi_0 e^{2\pi t}$$
(14)

The solution to Eq. (13) as

$$\chi T = T_0 e^{-t/t}$$
(15)

with

$$T_0 = \frac{\eta}{G} \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + \omega^2 z_0^2}} \Phi_1$$
(16)

The thermal time constant r_{th} is defined as $\tau_{tr} = C/G$.



Figure 8. The equivalent circuit depicting the detector and the readant amplifier

The response is usually read out by an amplifier that can be shown as a combination of conductance G_A and explicitance C_A in parallel with the detector conductance G_B and capacitance G_B (Fig. 8). If the induced pyraelectric current I is read out as voltage V_i then

$$C_E \frac{dV}{dT} + G_E V = I = \mu A \frac{dT}{dt}$$
(17)

Here, $C_E = C_B + C_A$, and $C_F = G_B + G_A$ are the equivalent electrical capacitance and conductance of the arount in Fig. 1. Solving Eq. (17) with Eq. (15), we find

$$\Delta V(t) = V_{ab} e^{it}$$
(18)

and

$$V_{0} = \frac{pA}{C_{E}} \frac{\omega r_{e}}{\sqrt{1 + \omega^{2} r_{e}^{2}}} T_{0}$$
(10)

The electrical time constant, v_{ij} is expressed by $v_i = C_{S'}G_{S'}$. Combining Eqs. (16) and (19), voltage responsivity R_V can be obtained as (26–29).

$$R_{\rm c} = \frac{V_{\rm c}}{\Phi_{\rm c}} = \pi \frac{\mu A}{GG_F} \frac{\omega}{\sqrt{1 + \omega^2 \tau_{\rm ch}^2} \sqrt{1 + \omega^2 \tau_{\rm ch}^2}}$$
(20)

It should be nated that in solving Eqs. (13) and (17), phase terms were ignored.

To achieve a high responsivity, the detector is usually fabricated in a micromachined thermal isolation structure, minimizing *G*. As discussed before, the detectivity, $D = R_0 (A \wedge f)^{1/2} / V_{\gamma}$, gives the area-normalized signal-to-noise ratio in the frequency bandwidth Δf for the detector with *V*_i, the total noise voltage. Pyroductric detectors experience during noise, background noise in the photon flux, and temperature fluctuation noise. In practical cases, temperature fluctuation noise includes the background noise contributions and should be ideally the domimant noise source (S0). The respective noise contributions may be calculated from the following relations (31).

Temperature or Radiation Noise. Even if the pyrorheetric detector is in thermal equilibrium with its sourcoundings, it will experience agitation of charges due to (a) fluctuations in the incoming radiation and (b) exchange of heat due to convection and conduction. The temperature noise can be expressed as (26)

$$\frac{\Delta V_{\rm TE}}{\sqrt{\Delta f}} = \frac{R_{\rm F}\sqrt{4kT^2G}}{6}$$
(21)

If the temperature fluctuations due to convection and our duction are eliminated so that the only interchange of energy with the surroundings is by radiation, the detector is said to be background-hunded, representing the highest achievable detectivity $D_{\rm bulk}$ at a particular temperature (26,28).

$$D_{BLIP}^{*} = \left(\frac{2}{16r}\frac{1}{kT^{*}}\right)^{1/2}$$
(22)

Here, < is Stefan's constant. At moon temperature, for $\eta < 1$, the background-limited detectivity is 1.8×10^{10} cm Hz^{1/2}/W.

Johnson Noise. Johnson noise includes the thermal noise of the parallel conductances of the amplifier resistance and the alternating current (ac) conductance of the detector and is given by (26)

$$\frac{\Delta V_s}{\sqrt{\Delta f}} = \frac{\sqrt{4kTG_F}}{G_K\sqrt{1 + \omega^4 z_K^2}}$$
(23)

Since $G_k = G_k + G_0 = G_k + \omega C_0$ tank, depending on the frequency-dependence of the detector conductance, the spectral density of the Johnson coise in pyroelectric detection systems can take several shapes including 1/f and Lorentzian forms. The term tank refers to the lass tangent of the material.

Johnson noise frequently dominates in pyreplectric detectors. For high frequencies such that ac conductance of the detector is much higher than the amplifier conductance, $w \gg (C_B \tan b/G_A)^{-1}$, $w \gg \pi^{-1}$, and $C_D \gg C_B$, the Johnson noise can be written as

$$\frac{\Delta V_{f}}{\sqrt{\Delta f}} \sim \left(4kT \frac{\tan\delta}{C_{Ir}}\right)^{1/2} e^{-1/\delta}$$
(24)

Consequently, for this specific case, the detectivity is given through Eqs. (3), (20), and (24):

$$D' = \frac{gl}{\sqrt{4kT}} \frac{1}{w^{1/2}} \frac{p}{\sqrt{4kn \tan b}}$$
(25)

Here, c_i is the volume specific heat, d is the thickness of the pyroelectric element, c is the relative permittivity of the pyroelectric material, and c_p is the permittivity of free space. Therefore, in order to maximize the detectivity for this region, it is desirable to maximize the last term in the above expression, which is sometimes referred to us F_p , one of the figures of mean for a pyroelectric detector (26,32).

The reader should be cantioned, however, that the enditions assemed in calculating Eq. (24) are frequently not applicable to small-area imaging detectors operating at camera frame frequencies (50 Hz or 60 Hz). As an example, consider a pyroelectric detector with $C_D = 5$ pF and with $\tan \delta = 0.01$, coupled to an amplifier with $C_D = 10$ pF and $H_A = 10^{-9}$ G $^{-1}$. In this case, the Johnson noise is determined by the amplifier arcust cananciance and has a value of about $0.4 \text{ eV} \text{ Hz}^{1/2}$ at 30 Hz. **Amplifier Noise**. An amplifier noise is produced in the electronic amplifier used in the read-out circulary. It can be due to 1/f noise, generation recombination noise, or shot noise arising from the field effect transistor (FET) gate leakage current. At camera frame frequencies, we expect this component to be less than the detector noise (26).

The total equivalent noise voltage is given as the squared sum of individual noise components, $V_{i,c}^{i}/\Delta f = \Delta V_{i-c}^{i}/\Delta f + \Delta V_{i-c}^{i}/\Delta f = \Delta V_{i-c}^{i}/\Delta f$. One of the nust important issues in systems integration of pyradictic detectors is to minimize the noise sources by careful matching of the amplifier to the detector, adjusting pyroelectric and dielectric properties of the systelectric material, and careful designing of the suspended structure and therefore thermal characteristics of the detector element

A more relevant figure of merit for a complete IR campro, which takes into arcount the optics, focal plane array performance, and read-out electronics, is the noise equivalent temperature difference (NETD), as discussed earlier (30).

A list of commonly used materials for pyroelectric application include triglycene sollidie (TGS), lithium tantalate (LiTaO₄), Ba₁ [Sr₂TiO₄ (BST), Pb₁], La₂(Zr₁ (Ti₀)₁₋₁)₄O₅ (PLZT), and PbTiO₃. In addition, the semiconducting phase of yttrium barium copper oxide (YBaCuO) is a new pronusing pyrochectric material. Pyriodectric detectors can be operated without a loss helow their Curie temperature thormal pyroelectrical or at Curie temperature with bias (phase transation materials). The latter requires strungent hias and temperature stabilization requirements. Next generation uncooled pyraelectric detectors are required to operate without bias and temperature stabilization in a wide range of environmental conditions, and therefore should belong to the normal pyroelectrics family. In addition, it is desired to have a thin-film pyroelectric detector to be able to fully utilize the state-of-the-art micromachining technology for fabrication of focal plane arrays. Table 3 lists some of the commandy used pyroelectric parterials and their pyroelectric coefficients.

The following sections will summarize some of the most commonly used pyroelectric detector technology for IR local plane arrays.

I cad Titanate-Rased Detectors

Research groups led by Polla (36) and Takayania (41) independently developed techniques for depositing PhTiO, thin films with high pyroelectric coefficient, detectivity, and fast response time. PhTiOs is a pyroelectric material with a Carie temperature of about 490 C. It is usually operated with no applied electric field and well below its transition temperature exploiting

Table 3. Room Temperature Pyroclectric Coefficients, of Most Commonly Used Pyroelectric Materials

Material	ي C/om/Ki	Comments	Reference	
TGS	0.028	Single crystal, bulk, normal pyracleatric	83	
LithO	N. 3 M	Single crystal, holic, anamol pycoelectric	:14	
KTN KTA NUOP	0.01	Pulyrry-talling, thin, but, with has	85	
PoTiO, sul -gel	6 095	Polycrystalling, thin Jm. normal pyroelectric	96, 37	
PScT : Pb Sc., Taz, 10,	0.5-06	Polycrystalling, thin Jm. phase transition material	¥8. 39	
BS7 (Bar, ScTiO)	23	Cecame, bulk, phase transition material	32, 40	
PLT (Plong & MOG)	0.065	Polycrystalling, thus Im, normal pyroelectric	4]	
PLZT (Po; .La Zr, .li, O)	0.14 0.15	Certaine, holy, normal pyroelectric	42, 43	
YHaCuO	16	Polycrystalline, thin Im. normal pyroclerine	44, 45	

the normal pyraglectric effect where the rate of change in the spontaneous polarization with respect to temperature is measured. The latest-generation pyroelectric devices are thin films deposited on Si air-gap bridge structures for low thermal mass, low thermal conductivity, and hence increased responsivity. Since these devices are made on adicon, they can be directly integrated into silicon signal processing circuitry without the used of pump-bonds or wires. PhTiO₂ is typically deposited using sol-gel processing techniques with titanium-platinum (Ti-Pt) or Pt electrodes. Investigations carried out by Polla's group revealed a pyroelectric coefficient p of 95 nC/cm² K, a relative dielectric coefficient ϵ_s of 200, responsivity R_s of 10⁴ V/W, and noise voltage V, of 10⁻⁴ V/Hz^{1/2} at 50 Hz for thin film PbTiO₂. These values compare favorably over the cases for other pyroelectric thin films like ZnO and PbZrO₀₅₆Ti_{5.66}O₀ (PZT) 'Test arrays of 64 x 64 PbTiO₂ elements, each 30 \times 30 μ m² in size, have been fabricated by surface micromachining techniques, on an NMOS readout circulary, resulting in 1.2 × 10* V/W responsivity and 2×10^{6} cm Hz^{1/2}/W normalized detectivity at 30 Hz (37). The measured response for a single pixel element was 90 nC/cm² K, while the response due to the combined effect was 60 nC/cm² K. Although this is far from background-limited operation, it shows promising progress toward lead titanate-based PPAs. There are, however, some problems. Reproducibility of PbDO₃ thin-film deposition is low, requiring special attention to the deposition conditions and the chemical stability of elestrade interfaces.

Barium Strontium Titanate Pyroelectric Detectors

Another state-of-the-art pyroelectric detector technology is Bas., Sr, TiO₁ thick films. Unlike PbTiO₂, Ba₃₋₂Sr, TiO₂ is operated near the paraelectric-ferroelectric phase transition which can be adjusted to a temperature between 20 C and 30 C, depending on the value of x. The rate of change in the dielectric permittivity with respect to temperature is monsured with an applied electric field. These detectors are also sometimes referred to us dishedric balameters. Research groups at Raytheon-TI Systems fubricule IR conserve made of 245 \times 328 pixel arrays with an array-average NECD of 0.070 C with [/1.0 optics (29,40). However, the present Ba₁₊₂Sr₂TiO₃ technology is a combensione bulk certainic technology which requires grounding and pulshing of ceramic wafers sliced from a boule, laser retignation of pixels, multiple throwing, and planarization steps. The array is connected to the silicon readout sircuit by compression bonds. The process suffers from (a) thermal isolation problems due to the thick mesa structure and (h) Ba- ,Sr,TiO₂ surface degradation due to flucthing og procedure.

Prospects for Semiconducting Yitrium Barlum Copper Oxide Pymelentric Delectors

As discussed in the bolometer section, $YBa_2Cu_0O_{c,r}$ belongs to a class of copper exides well known for their superconducting properties. Its conduction properties can be changed from metallic (0.5 < x < 1) to insulating ($0 \le x \le 0.5$) by suitably decreming the oxygen content (20). Pyraelectric YBaCuO thin films have been fabricated by RF sputtering from a commercially available superconducting target on top of suspended SiO₂ bridges, using an HF.HNO₃ etch to remove the underlying Si (44). Detectivities as high as 10° cm-Hz¹⁻¹/W have been measured for a thermal conductance $G \sim 10^{-6}$ W/K. TypicaDy, $G \approx 10^{-7}$ W/K is achievable with the state-of-the-art surface incromachining techniques, indicating that detectivities of 10^{10} cm-Hz^{1/2}/W are possible using semicondurting YBaCoO. For a focal plane array made of 40 × 40 µm⁴ pixels, operating in the 6 µm to 14 µm atmospheric window $|(\Delta P/\Delta T)_{0,1} - \lambda_2| = 2.6 \times 10^{-4}$ W/cm⁵-K], employing f/1 optics with a transmittance close to 1, and chopped at S0 Hr chopper frequency. NETD values of 2 mK are achievable (Eq. (11)). This performance is comparable to the background noise limited performance calculated for the microbolometer. YBaCuO combines an ease of fabrication that should lead to a reduction in cost. Pyroelectric coefficients as high as 18 µC/cm⁴-K have been measured (45). The ability to pole the devices to obtain pyroelectric coefficients in this range was also demonstrated.

Strong pyroelectric effect in nonmetallic YBaCaO has also been confirmed by many resourchers (46-48). Although the exact angin of the observed pyroelectric effect is not fully known at this time, it can be attributed to the noncentrosymmetric nature of the material with sufficiently long-range Coulomb ordering to give a net dipole moment (47). Pyroelectricity has been shown to exist in both metallic and insulating phases of YB₂Cu₂O_{5.65} (44,49). Despite some controversy (49) with regard to the origin of pyroelectricity in YBaCuO, it is believed to be associated with symmetry-breaking in the unit cell due to the anharmonicity of the apex O(4) oxygen site which is present m the branch connecting the CuO_2 and basal planes of the $YB_2Cu_1O_{6,\alpha}$ indexide (50). The cause of this behavior is probably due to the randomly filled O(5) defect site. The nonsymmetric displacement of O(4) mode results in a net polarization in the molecule with domains of dipoles scattered throughout the balk of the material. This microscopic polarization appears at the macroscopic level when either strain by an externally applied electric field or mechanical strain acquired during the fabrication process provides the impetus for the domains to be



Pigure 9. (a) Percelectric response of YBCO planar experient from 230 K to 240 K, $p > 400 \text{ nC}_{\odot}$ cm² K $^{\circ}$ (b) Pyrnelectric response of the same device after polog at 5000 V, cm at 320 K for 1 h, p < 18 nC cm² K).



Figure 10. Voltage responsivity $R_{\rm c}$ detectivity D, and noise $V_{\rm c}$ for a suspended Nb/YBsCuU/Nb pyroelectric detector versus chapper frequency at mum temperature. Theoretical fit to $R_V = \pm \alpha A R_C / G |U| + \alpha^2 \tau^2 / (31 + \pi^2 t_{1/2})|^{1/2}$ is shown as the dashed line.

lined up in one direction. In the *strain-poled* case, a sample would show pyroelectric behavior without the application of any poling bias.

Pyroelectricity is often associated with changes in individual crystal symmetry, leading to a net pularization. Militailovic et al. (47) suggest this as a possible mechanism in their measurements on different stoichiometries of single-crystal YBCO. They found that the pyroelectric response increases with added oxygen content, applied electric field, and prior poling. Another repart by Kumar et al. (51) examined the effects of temperature cycling on the properties of metallic YBCO fain films as measured by the photopyroelectric effect. Most relevant to this esperiment is the changing of the charge carrier properties with respect to temperature, caused by thermal minealing at 325 K. At this temperature, the oxygen organization in the CuO planes changes as does the density of carriers near the Fermisurface. Furthermore, the changes in these properties do not reverse with respect to temperature for an extended period of tume. The result is annealing induced hysteresis in the thermal and electronic characteristics with respect to temperature.

Figure 9(a) shows the pyroelectric response of a YBaCuO planar capacitor from 230 K to 240 K. $p \approx 400 \text{ nC/(cm^2 K)}$. Figure 9(b) is the pyroelectric response of the same device after pelong at 5000 V/cm at 320 K for 1 h. $p \approx 18 \mu \text{C}/(\text{cm}^2 \text{K})$.

Voltage responsivity $R_{\rm C}$ detectivity D, and noise $V_{\rm e}$ versus chopper frequency as room temperature is shown in Fig. 10 for a semiconducting YBaCaO layer sandwiched between two Nh electrodes, fabricated on top of a thermally isolated SiO₂ bridge Theoretical fit to Eq. (20) is depicted as the dashed line.

SUMMARY

The recent accomplishments in the development of oncrobolometer and pyroelectric delector arrays for uncooled infraced have demonstrated that high-performance cameras that are more economical for consumer applications are a reality Although the detectivity of uncooled cameras will always be lower than their cryogenic counterparts, the schievement of NEDTs of 30 mK or less is superior to correct HgCdTe technology. The performance of these uncooled cameras is suitable for a large number of consumer applications for right vision in transportation, policing and security, as well as for thermal imaging in medicine. The consumercial revenue for uncooled infrared cameras was expected to grow to be in excess of \$100 million by the year 2001 (52). With the growth of the market and consumer demand, the cost of the comeras is expected to fall to be within reach of the mass consumer application of automative night vision. As the market grows, new materials that offer fubrication and performance advantages over the current technologies will be developed

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to express our thanks to Walliam Radford of Hughes Santa Barbara Research Center, Churles Marshall of Lackheed Martin Infrared Systems, and Charles Hanson of Raytheon-TI Systems

BIBLEOGRAPHY

- K. C. Liddiard, Thin-lifth resistance bolometer 18 detecture 11, Infrared Phys., 26: 43-49, 1986
- A. Tannkn et al., Infrared focal plane erray memoryaring silicon IC process morpatible tokonseler, IEEE Trans. Electron Dences, 43: 1644–1850, 1996.
- 3 T. A. Enuka et al., Amnephnus silicon and germanium films for unconfed microholometers, Tech. Phys. Lett., 23, 504–506, 1997.
- 4 V.Y. Zerrov et al., Bolometric properties of silicon thun-film strucbures febricated by plasmachemical vapor-phase deposition, Trei-Phys. Lett. 23: 481-483, 1997.
- W Hadfurd et al., 320 × 240 silican resembaiantator uncooled IKF-FAs with nucleip affect correction. Proc. SPIE, 2746: 32–92, 1996.
- C. Matehall, et al., Uncover infrared sensor with digital focal plane array, Proc. BPUS, 2746: 23–31, 1996.
- R. J. Herring and P. E. Howard, Design and performance of the IIITRA 320 × 340 uncooled local plane array and sensor. *Proc.* SPIE, 2746: 2-12, 1995.
- W. Meyer et al., Ambers's preceded microholometer LWIB camera, Proc. SPIE, 2744, 13–22, 1996
- R. A. Wood, High performance infrared thermal imaging with anomalythes aftern total planes operating at room temperature. Int. Electron Devices Meet., Washington, DC, 1993, pp. 176–177
- P. C. Shan et al. Sermiconducting YBaCuO flux films for uncooled bolometers, J. Appl. Phys. 78, 7834, 1995.
- P. C. Shan et al., The accessigation of semiconducting YBaCuO thin films: A new room temperature bolometer, J. Appl. Phys., 80, 7118-7123, 1996.
- C. M. Travers et al., Enhrichting of semicondusting YBsCoO surfree microarbuned bolometer arrays, IEEE, ASME & Microelectrasperts System 5 (271-276, 1997)
- 13 A. Jahanzeb et al., A semicunductor YBaCcO microholometer for room temperature IR imaging, *IEEE Trans. Riverim Decrees*, 44, 1795–1801, 1997.
- 14 J. D. Vuisent, Fundamentals of Infrared Detector Operation and Testing, New York: Wiley, 1990, chap. 1
- B. R. Johnson et al., YBe₂Co₂O₂ superconducting metroholometer arrays fabricated by silicin micromochining, *IEEE Trans. Appl.* Supercond., 3: 2656, 1993.
- 16 J. P. Bier et al., High T, superconducting nuterina coupled international coupled international coupled international coupled and an analysis of the second s
- R. T. Howe, Surface uncommechinging for mieroscess and mierosctautors, J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B6: 1909, 1989.
- 16 F. N. Hooge, 177 Nuise is no surface effect. Phys. Lett., 29A: 109, 1969.

434 MAGNETIC SENSORS

- 19 A van der Ziel, Plicker nerse in semirendactors. Not a true bulk effert, Appl. Phys. Lett., 33: 680, 1976.
- For a zeroew article see G. Yu and A. J. Heeger, Photoinduced charge corriers in insulating coprates. Fermi glass mendator, metalinsulator transition and superconductivity. Int. J. Mod. Phys. B, 7: 3751, 1993.
- 21. 2. Ciefik-Butler, W. Yong, and D. P. Burler, Measurements of noise and temperature coefficient of resultance in YBs12nO thrus films or magnetic field, Apol. Phys. Lett., 80, 246, 1992.
- A. Jahanzeb et al., Studies and implications of the Hall-effect in superconducting and semiconducting YBa₂Cu₃O₅ , thin films, J. Appl. Phys., 76 6658, 1995.
- Z. Cesik-Butter et al., Charge transport in amorphous and tetragonal semiconducting YBCO litras, *Solid State Electron*. 41:895-699, 1997.
- P.C. Shan et al., Hall-effect to semiconducting epiraxial and antorubous Y-Ba-Co-O (hun films, J. Appl. Phys. 81, 6666–6673, 1997)
- D. I. Craig et al., Anisotropic extension noise within a Stiff. Solid State Electron., 39 (6): 807-612, 1996.
- K. W. Whatmure, Pyrcelectric devices and materials, *Rep. Prog.* Phys. 49: 1335–1366, 1986.
- A. Hossnin and M. H. Rashid, Pyroelectric detectors and their apphysications, *IKEE Trans. Inst. Appl.*, 27: 824–829, 1991.
- D. E. Marshall, A review of pyroelectric dytector technology, Proc. SPIE, 132: 110-118, 1979.
- C. M. Hanson, Dyhrid Pyrnelectric, Ferroelectric Bolometer Arays, _B D. Skatnid and P. W. Krase rols, *I Semiconductors and Scimmer* _{rfs}, San Diego, CA: Academic Press, Vol. 47, 1997.
- P. W. Kruse, A comparison of the limits to the performance of theroral and photon descetor imaging arrays. *Infrared Phys. Technol.*, 36: 669–982, 1995
- M. C. Foote et al., Transition edge YBo₂Co₂O_{2, x} nonrob-dometers for infrared storing arrays, Proc. SPIE, 2159: 2, 1994.
- B. M. Kulwicki et al., Pyroelectric insaging, IKEE Synep. Appl. Ferroelectr. Aug. 1992
- J. M. Herbert, Ferracientic Disorducers and Science, New York Gordon and Breach, 1982, pp. 266–200
- 34 R. I. Byer and C. B. Roundy. Pyrnelectric coefficient direct measurement technique and application in a rased response time detector. *Neuroscientum*, 8: 333–338, 1972.
- J. Mantese et al., Infrared imaging using normalized food place atrays of unreticulated, 10 p potassium (antation) moleculation, *IERE Trans. Electron Decision* 40: 320–325, 1903
- C. Ye, T. Tamagawa, and D. L. Palla, Reperimental studies on unmary and secondary pyrocles (*in vCont*) in Ph/Zz, Tit. 105, Ph/EO; and ZnO (thin films, J. Appl. Phys., 70, 5538-5543, 1991.
- Phantiet n., Surface micromachaned pyroelectric offerred imaging array with vertically integrated signal processing circuity. IEEE Trans. Ultreson. Forwarded r. Prog. Control. 44: 552–555, 1994.
- k. Watton and M. A. Todii, Induced pyraelectricity in spatiened lead scandium tests but flows and their mexic for Di detectur arrays. *Permehertnes*, 118: 279, 1991.
- C. Bjørmander, A. M. Grishin, and K. V. Hao, Pyroelectric PhSetATapp(), YBa₂Co₃O₇, then film structures. Appl. Phys. Lett., 61: 58, 1995.
- C. M. Hanson et al., Uncooled thermal imaging at Texas Instruments, Proc. SPIE Int. Soc. Opt. Eng., 1992, pp. 1-10
- R. Takayama et al., Pyraelectric properties and application to cofrared sensors of PhTiO₃, PhLaTiO₃ and PaZrTiO₃ lecturelectric thin films, *Francelocicus*, 118, 325-342, 1991.
- S. T. Liu, J. D. Hezps, and Ü. N. Tofte, The pytochorare properties of the lanthanum-doped ferrulectric PLZT constructs, *Forces by Des-*3: 251–295, 1972.

- K. K. D.b. Investigation of pyroelectric characteristics of modifiel PhTiO₃ ceramics for improved IK detector performance. *Ex*roelectrics, 83: 187–176, 1986.
- 44 A. Jahamash et al., Strong pyroclectric response of semiconducting Y-Ba-Co-O and its application to uncooled infrared detertion. Appl. Phys. Lett., 70: 3495–3497, 1997.
- J. F. Gray, Z. Çelik-Builer, and D. P. Butler, Dielectric and gyr-sciectrue response in Nh/YKaCuU, Nh in-termstructures, *Economicana*, 1998
- D. Miliailovic and A. J. Heecer, Pyroelectric and piezo-lectric effects in single crystals of YBa₂Cu₂O₇₋₁, Solid State Commun., 75: 319– 323, 1990.
- 47 El Muhachavie, I. Polaeriej, and A. Mertedj, Characterization of the pyreelectric effect in YBa₂Cu₂O₁₋₁, *Phys. Rev. B* 48 16,634–16.640, 1993.
- 48 A. I. Grachev and I. V. Picshukav. Pyrochastric voltages in YBCO. Unit films, Solid State Commun. 101, 507–512, 1997.
- I. Poberaj and D. Michailovic, Pyroelectric effect incusarements in YBa₂Cu₀O_{6.15} and La₂Cu₀O₅ materials. *Europelectrics*, 128: 197–200, 1992.
- 50 D. M.hartozic and C. M. Foster, Anharmonicity and frequency shift of the apex oxygen O(4) Saman mode in YBs₂Cu₂O₂ + a- a function of deping. *Solid State Commun.*, 74: 753, 1990.
- 51. S. Kumar et al., Effect of thermal cycling on normal state thermal properties of VBa₂Cu₂O₇., films, 12(part of C, 215) 286-290, 1993.
- 52. E. Cochran, Research Technologo s, private conormaniation

ZEYNER ÇETIK BUTLER Lowrence Berkeley National Laboratory DONALD P. BUTLER Southern Methodist University

MAGNETIC SENSORS

Magnetic sensors find many applications in everyday life and in industry. They provide convenient, noncontact, simple, ragged, and reliable operations compared to many other sensors. The technology to produce magnetic sensors involves many aspects of different disciplines such as physics, metallurgy, chemistry, and electronics.

Generally, magnetic sensors are based on sensing the properties of magnetic materials, which can be done in many ways. For example, magnetization, which is the magnetic moment pervolume of materials, is used in many measurement systems by sensing force, induction, field methods, and superconductivity However, the majority of industrial sensors make use of the relationship between magnetic and electric phenomenon. A typical application of the phononasian is the computer memory requiring the reading of the contents of a disr without making any contact between the sensor and the device. In other applications, the position of objects sensitive to magnetic fields (e.g., the metals in the ground) can be sensed magnetically. Magnetic sensors find must sensitive applications in medicine to diagonse human illnesses, as in the case of superconducting guantum interference devices (SQUID) and nuclear resonance magnetic (NMR) magnig.

The magnetic elements in sensors are used in a wide range of forms, toroids, rods, films, substrates, and coatings. Some elements are essentially free standing, whereas others are an integral part of more complex devices. In order to obtain maximum

Table I. List of Maoufacturers

Arisen Tech, Inc. 18310 Bedford Circle Lo Poente, CA 91744 Fax: 816 854 2776

Anning Devices, Inc. 1 Technology Wny P O Box 91065 Norwood, MA 02062-9102 Tel: 800-252-5663 Frac: 781 326 8700

Dynalco Cantrals 3690 N. W. 53rd Street Pt Lauderdate, FL 33509 Tel: 305-739-4300 & 900-363-6666 Fax: 305-454-3376

Electre Corporation 1845 57th Street Snroonta, FL 34243 Tel: 815-356-3411 & 900-446-5762 Fax: 813-355-3120

Honeywol! Dept. 722 U West Spring Street Freeport, IL 61622 Tel. 900-597-6945 Fax: 815 235 5984

Kaunan Instrument Company 1500 Garden of the Gods Road Colorado Springs, CO 60907 Tel: 719-599-1132 & 906-562-6267 Fax: 729-599-1923

Kawher, Durp no tonn 14501 Los Arageles Avenue Moorpark, CA \$3021 Tel: 805-523-2000 Fax: 805-523-(12)

Lacas 1097 Lacas Way Hompton, VA 29666 Tel: 500-745-8008 Fax: 900-745-8004 Motion Sensors, Inc. 786 Pitts Chapel Rond Alizabeth City, NC 27909 Tel: 919-331-2080 Fox 919-331-1666

Rection / Electronics Industries, Inc. 8651 Buffalo Avenue Niagara Palls, NY 14304 Tel: 800 544 6106 Fex: 716-293-2127

Reed Switch Developments Company, Inc. P. O. Drawer 085297 Racine, WI 53409 Tel: 414-637-8846 Fax: 414-637-8866

Smith Resentch und Technology Inc. 205 Sution Lane, Dept. TR-95 Coloredo Springs, CO 80907 Tel. 719-634-2259 Fax: 719-634-2201

Smath Systems, Inc. 6 Mill Creek Drive Hox 667 Roward, NC 29712 Tel. 704-584-3490 Fax: 704-877-3109

Stander Electronics 4639 Comberwell Road Dept. 3011, Uniconati, OH 45209 Tel. 513 671 3779 Fua. 513-671-3729

Torek, Inc. 3000 Campus Drive Minneapolis, MN 55441 Tel: 012-553-7300 & 400-544-7769 Pag: 612-553-0709

Xolox Sensur Products 6832 Gettysburg Pike Pt. Wayne, IN 46804 Tel: 800-949-0744 Pag: 210-492-0929

material response in magnetic sensors, the relative orientation and coupling between injuit measurand and magnetic properties are very important, and they are optimized at the design stages.

Many different types of magnetic sensors are available. These sensors can broadly be rinsorfied us primary or secordary. In primary sensors, also known as the magnetometers, the parameter to be measured is the external magnetic field. The primary sensors are commonly used in biological applications and graphysical and extratornestral measurements. In scientidary sensors, the external parameter is made from other physical variables such as force and displacement. In this article, both the primary and secondary sensors will be discussed. These sensors include inductive, eddy current, transformative, magnetoresistive, Hall-effect, metal-oxide-senuconductor (MOS) maguetic field, and magnetic optical sensors, magneticities and magnetodoole sensors, magnetometers, superconductors; semiconductors; and magnetic thin films. They are offered by many manufacturers as listed in Table 1

INDUCTIVE SENSORS

Inductive sensors make use of the principles of enagratic circuits. They can be classified as passive sensors and selfgenerating sensors. The passive sensors require an external power source: hence, the action of the sensor is restricted to the modulation of the excitation signal in relation to an external stimule. On the other hand, the self-generating types generate signals by utilizing the electrical generator principle based on Faraday's Law of Induction. That is, when there is a relative motion between a conductor and a magnetic field, a voltage is induced in the conductor. Or a varying magnetic field birking a



Figure 1. A basic inductive sensor consists of a magnetic circuit made up from a ferromego-to core with a coli would on it. The coll acts as a source of much which drives the flux through the magnetic coron () and the air gap. The presence of the air gap causes a large increase in circuit relationary and a corresponding discusse in the flux. Hence, a small variation in the air gap causes a pressurable change in inductance.

stationary conductor produces voltage in the conductor, which can be expressed as

$$e = -d\Phi/dt (V)$$
 (1)

where Φ is the magnetic flux.

In instrumentation applications, the magnetic field may be varying in time with some frequency, and the conductor may be moving at the same time. In many cases, the relative motion between field and conductor is supplied by changes in the measurand, usually by means of a mechanical motion.

In order to explain the operation of the basic principles of inductive sensors, a simple magnetic circuit is shown in Fig. 1. The magnetic circuit consists of a cure, made from a ferromagnetic material, and a coil of a number of turns wound on it. The coil acts as a source of magnetometive force (mmf), which drives the flux Φ through the magnetic circuit. If we assome that the air gap is zero, the equation for the magnetic circuit may be expressed as

$$mmf = Flux \times Reluction = \Phi \times A^{+}(A-turns)$$
 (2)

such that the reluctance of limits the flux in a magnetic dircuit just us resistance limits the current in an electric circuit. By writing the magnetomotive force in terms of correct, the magnetic flux may be expressed as

$$\Phi = n i / \lambda / (Wh)$$
 (3)

In Fig. 1, the flux linking a single turn is expressed by Eq. (3). But the total flux linking by the entire n number of the turns of the coil is

$$\Psi = \pi \Phi = \pi^2 r / \beta^2$$
 (Wb) (41)

Equation (4) leads to self-inductance L of the coil, which is inscribed as the folal flox per unit current for that particular coil. That is.

$$L = \Psi/I = n^2 I \ll \langle (\mathbf{H}) \rangle$$
(5)

This inducates that the self-inductance of an inductive element can be calculated by magnetic circuit properties. Expressing , c^2 in terms of dimensions us

$$\vec{n} = l/\mu_{BM} A - (A-tarns/Wb)$$
 (6)

where *i* is the total longth of the flux path (meters), μ is the relative permeability of the magnetic circuit material, μ_0 is the permeability of free space $t = 4\pi \times 10^{-1} \text{ H/m}$, and *A* is the cross-sectional area of the flux path.

If the air gap is allowed to vary, the arrangement illustrated in Fig. 1 becomes a basic inductive sensor. In this case, the ferromagnetic core is separated in two parts by the air gap. The total reluctance of the circuit now is the addition of the reluctance of the core and the reluctance of the air gap. The relative permeability of air is close to unity, and the relative permeability of the ferromagnetic material can be on the order of a few thousand, indicating that the presence of the air gap couses a large increase in circuit reluctance and a corresponding decrease in the flux. Hence, a small variation in the air gap causes a measurable change in inductance. There are many different types of inductive sensors as will be discussed next.

Linear and Rotary Variable-Reloctance Sensors

ź

The variable-reluctance transducers are based on change in the reluctance of a magnetic flux path. These types of devices find applications particularly in acceleration measurements. However, they can be constructed to be suitable for sensing displacements as well as velocities. They are constructed in many different forms, some of which will be described in this article

Single-Coil Linear Variable-Reluctance Sensor. A typical single-coil variable-reluctance displacement sensor is illustrated in Fig. 2. The sensor consists of three elements: a ferromagnetic core in the shape of a semicircular ring, a variable air gap, and a ferromagnetic plate. The total reluctance of the magnetic circuit is the sum of the individual reluctances.

$$\dot{\gamma} = (\dot{\gamma}_{1}^{2} + \dot{\gamma}_{2}^{2} + \dot{\gamma}_{3}^{2})$$
(7)

where M_{C_1} , M_{C_2} and M_{A} are the reluctaouses of the core, are gap, and armature, respectively.

Each one of these reluctances can be determined by using the properties of materials involved as in Eq. (6). In this particular tase, \mathcal{L}_T can be approximated as

$$\vec{n}_{\rm T} = \frac{R}{\mu_{\rm C} \mu_{\rm P} r^2} - \frac{2d}{\mu_{\rm O} \pi r^2} + \frac{R}{\mu_{\rm A} \mu_{\rm O} r t}$$
 (8)

In obtaining Eq. (8), the length of the flux path in the core is taken as πR , and the cross-sectional area is assumed to be uniform with a value of πr^2 . The total length of the flux path in air is 2q, and it is assumed that there is no fringing or bending of the flux through the air gap, such that the cross-sectional area of the flux path in air will be close in that of the cross section of the rore. The length of an average central flux path



Figure 2. A typical single-coli variable-reluctance displacement sensor. The sensor consists of three elements: a ferromagnetic cure in the shape of a semicircular ring, a variable oir gap, and a ferromagnetic plate. The reluctance of the coli is dependent on the air gap. Air gap is the single variable, and the reluctance increases numbership with the increasing gap.

in the annature is 2*H*. The calculation of **an appr**opriate cross secsion of the armature is difficult, but it may be approximated to 2*rt*, where *t* is the thickness of the armature.

In Eq. (8), all the parameters are fixed except the only one independent variable, the air gap. Hence, it can be simplified as

$$\beta_t = \beta_0 + kd \tag{9}$$

where $\mathcal{I}_{0} = R/(\mu_{0}r(1/(\mu_{0}r) + 1/(\mu_{A}t)))$ and $k = 2/(\mu_{0}\pi r^{2})$

By using Eqs. (5) and (9), the inductance can be written as

$$L = \frac{n^2}{N_c + hii} = \frac{L_b}{1 + \alpha \bar{d}}$$
(10)

where k_0 represents the inductance at zero air gap and $\alpha = k/|s_0|$

The values of L_i and α can be determined mathematically. They depend on the core geometry, permeability, and the like, as already explained. As it can be seen from Eq. (10), the relationship between l_i and α is nonlinear. Despite this nonlinearity, these types of single-coil sensors find applications in many areas, such as force measurements and telemetry. In force measurements, the resolution change in inductance can be made to be a measure of the magnitude of the applied force. The coil usually farms one of the components of an fA oscillator whose output frequency varies with the applied force. Hence, the coil modulates the frequency of the local oscillator.

Variable-Differential Reluctance Sensor. The problem of the nonlinearity may be overcome by modifying the single-roll system into variable-differential reluctance sensors (also known as push-pull sensors), as shown in Fig. 3. This sensor consists of an armature moving between two identical cores separated by a fixed distance of 2d. Now, Eq. (10) can be written for both



Reference line

Figure 3. A variable-differential reloctance sensor consists of an ermature aboving between two identical cures separated by a fixed distance. The armature moves at the saryap in response to the mechanical input. This movement alters the relaxance of costs [and 2 thus altering their inductive properties. This arisingement overcomes the problem of nonlinearity information single-cost sensors.

coile as

$$L_1 = \frac{L_{0,1}}{1 + \alpha(d - x)}, \quad L_2 = \frac{L_{0,2}}{1 + \alpha(d + x)}$$
(11)

Although the relationship between L_1 and L_2 is still nonlinear, the sensor can be incorporated into an ac bridge to give a linear output for small movements. The hysteresis error of these transducers is almost entirely limited to the mechanical components. These sensors respond to static and dynamic measurements. They have continuous resolution and high indiguts, but they may give erratic performances in response to external neighbor fields. A typical sensor of this type has an input span of 1 cm, a coll inductance of 25 mH, and a coll resistance of 75 Ω . The resistance of the coll must be carefully considered when designing ascillator circuits. The enaximum nonlinearity may be limited to 0.57.

In typical commercially available variable-differential sensure, the iron core is located half way between the two E-shaped frames. The flux generated by primary calls depends on the relactance of the magnetic path, the main relactance being the air gap. Any motion of the core increases the sir gap on one side and decreases it on the other side. Consequently, the reluctance changes in accordance with the principles explained previously, thus inducing non-stolage on one of the coils than the other. Motion in the other direction reverses the action with a 180 phase shift or or ring at null. The output voltage can be modified depending on the recurrements in signal processing by means of rectification, demodulation, or filtering. In these instruments, full-scale motion may be extremely small, on the order of few thousandths of a centurieter.

In general, variable-reloctance transducers have small ranges and are used in specialized applications such as pressure transducers. Magnetic forces imposed on the armature are quite large, and this limits the application severely.

Variable-Reluctance Tachogenerators. Another example of the variable-reductance sensor is shown in Fig. 4. These sensors are based on Faraday's Law of Electromagnetic Induction; therefore, they may also be referred as discrimingnotic sensors.



Figure 4. A variable-relations inchagenerator is a sensor based on Paraday's Law of Electromagnetic Induction. It consists of a ferromagnetic toothed, wheel attached to the rotating shaft and a call wound onto a permanent magnet extended by a soft iron pole piece. The wheel rotates in close proximity to the pole piece, thus causing the flux (noted by the cort to change. The change in Plux causes an output in the coil similar to a square waveform whose frequency depends on the speed of the rotation of the wheel and the number of tooth.

Basically, the induced electromagnetic firme (canf) in the sensor depends on the linear or angular velocity of the motion

The variable-reluctance tachogenerator consists of a ferromagnetic trothed wheel attached to the rotating shaft, and a cul wound into a permanent imagnet, extended by a soft rom pole piece. The wheel moves in close proximity to the pule piece, causing the flux linked by the coil to change, thus inducing an emf in the cul. The reluctance of the circuit depends on the width of the air gap between the rotating wheel and the pule piece. When the tooth is close to the pole piece, the reluctance is at a minimum, and it increases as the tooth moves away from the pule. If the wheel rotates with a velocity or, the flux may mathematically be expressed as

$$\Psi(n) = \Psi_{\mathbf{m}} + \Psi_{\mathbf{l}} \cos n\theta \qquad (12)$$

where Ψ_n is the mean flux, Ψ_f is the amplitude of the flux variation, and w is the number of to th

The induced emf is given by

$$E = -\frac{d\Phi(s)}{dt} = -\frac{d\Phi(s)}{ds} \times \frac{d\theta}{dt}$$
(13)

OI.

$$E = \Psi_1 m_2 \sin m_2 t$$
 (14)

Both the amplitude and the frequency of the generaled voltage at the coil are proportional to the angular velocity of the wheel In principle, the angular velocity ∞ can be found from either the amplitude or the frequency of the signal. In practice, the amplitude measured may be influenced by loading effects and electrical interference. In signal processing, the frequency is the preferred option because it can be converted into digital signals easily.

The variable-reluctance tachagenerators are most suitable for measuring angular velocities. They are also used for valume flow rate measurements and the total volume flow determination of fluids

Microsyn. Another community used example of variablereluctance transducer is the microsyn, as illustrated in Fig. 5.



Figure 5. A nucrosyntix a variable-reluctance transducer that consists of a ferromagnetic rotor and a stator carrying four calls. The stator cells are connected such that or the null position, the voltages induced in softs 1 and 2 are balanced by voltages induced in colls 3 and 4. The inotion of the rotor in one direction increases the reluctance of two opposite culls while devreasing the reluctance in others resulting in a net output voltage $v_{\rm e}$. The movement in the opposite direction reverses this effect with a 180 phase shift.

In this arrangement, the coils are connected in such a manner that at the null position of the ratary element, the voltages induced m coils 1 and 3 are balanced by voltages induced m coils 2 and 4. The motion of the rotor in the clockwise direction increases the reluctance of coile 1 and 3 while decreasing the reluctance of coils 2 and 4, thes giving a net output voltage $v_{\rm c}$. The movement in the sounter-lockwise direction causes a similar effect in coils 2 and 4 with a 180 phase shift. A direction-sensitive output can be obtained by using phase-sensitive demodulators.

Moreover transducers are extensively used in applications involving gymeropes. By using microsyns, very small motions can be detected giving an output signal as low as 0.01 of changes in angles. The sensitivity of the device can be made as high as 5 V per degree of rotation. The nonlinearity may vary from 0.5% to 1.0% full scale. The main advantage of these transducers is that the rotor does not have windings and slip rings. The magnetic reaction torque is also negligible.

Synchros

The term synchronic associated with a family of electromechanical devices. They are primarily used in angle measurements and are commonly applied in control engineering as parts of servomechanisms, machine tools, antennas, and the like.

The construction of synchros is sumilar to that of wound-rotor induction motors, as shown in Fig. 6. The rotation of the motor changes the motoal inductance between the rotor coil and the three stator coils. The three voltage signals from these coils define the angular position of the rotor. Synchros are used in connection with a variety of devices, such as control transformers, Scott T transformers, resolvers, phase-sensitive demodalators, and applied-obgital (AD) converters.

In some cases, a control transformer is attached to the autputs of the states coils such that the output of the control transformer produces a resultant musi aligned in the same direction as that of the rotor of the synchro. In other words, the synchro rotor acts as a search coil in detecting the direction of the stator field of the control transformer. When the axis of this coil is



Figure 6. A synthesis similar to a would reter induction motor. The relation of the rotor changes the mutual inductance herweep the rotor onl and the three statements. The Voltages from these soils define the unputar position of the rotor. They are printpricy used in angle measurements and are commonly applied in control engages-ring as parts of servemechanisms, muchine tools, notecones, and the like.

aligned with the field, the maximum voltage is supplied to the transformer.

In other cases, ac signals from the synchros are first applied to a Scott T transformer, which produces ac voltages with amplitudes proportional to the sine and cosme of the synchro shaft angle. It is also possible in use phase sensitive demodulations to convert the output signals to make them suitable for digital signal processing.

Linear Variable Inductor

There is very little distinction between variable reluctance and variable-inductance transducers. Mathematically, the principles of break variable transducers are very similar to the variable-reluctance type of transducers. The distinction is mainly in the sensing rather than principles of operations. A typical break variable inductor consists of a movable non-core to provide the mechanical input and the two coils forming two legs of bridge network. A typical example of such a transducer is the variable coupling transducer

The variable-coupling transducers consist of a former holding a center-tapped coil and a ferromagnetic plunger, as shown in Fig. 7. The plunger and the two coils have the same length *l*. As the plunger moves, the inductances of the coils change. The two collectances are usually placed to form two arms of a bridge circuit with two equal balancing resistors. The bridge is then excited with ac of 5 V to 25 V with a frequency of 50 Hz to 5 kHz. At the selected excitation frequency, the total transducer impedance at null conditions is set in the 200 Ω to 1000 Ω range. The resistors are set to have about the same value as transducer impedances. The load for the bridge output must be at least ten times the resistance *R* value. When the plonger is in the reference position, each coil will have equal inductances of value *L*. As the plunger moves by *M*, changes in inductances



Figure 7. A typical linear variable inductor consists of a movable iron core insule a farmer holding a center-tapped rol. The core and both cuts have the same length i. When the core is to the reference position, each coil with have equal inductances of value L. As the core moves by M_i changes in inductances i of and -iL create values intrust from the calls.

 $\pm \delta L$ and $\pm \delta L$ create a voltage output from the bridge. By constructing the bridge carefully, the nulput voltage may be made as a linear function displacement of the moving plunger within a sated range.

In some transducers, in order to reduce power losses resulting from the heating of resistors, center-tapped transformers may be used as a part of the bridge network. In this case, the circuit becomes more inductive, and extra case must be taken to avoid the mutual coupling between the transformer and the transducer.

It is particularly easy to construct transducers of this type, by simply winding a center-tapped coil on a suitable former. The variable-inductance transducers are commercially avaiable in strokes from about 2 non to 500 cm. The sensitivity ranges between 1% full scale to 0.02% in jung-stroke special constructions, These devices are also known as linear displacement transducers or LDTs, and they are available to various shapes and sizes.

Apart from linear variable inductors, rotary types are also available. Their cores are specially shaped for rotational applications. Their nonlinearity can vary between 0.5G and 1G full scale over a range of 90 motion. Their sensitivity can be up to 100 mV per degree of rotation.

Induction Potentionneter

A version of rotary-type linear inductors is the induction potentioniteter, as shown in Fig. 8. Two concentrated windings are would on stater and roter. The roter winding is excited with an ac, thus inducing voltage in the stater windings. The amplitude of the autput voltage is dependent on the intual inductance between the two cods, where motionl infinctance itself is dependent on the angle of motion. For concentrated coll-type induction potentiometers, the variation of the amplitude is sinusaidal, but innearity is restricted in the region of the null position. A lower distribution over an angle of 180 may be obtained by carefully designed distributed colls.

Standard commercial induction pots operate in a 50 Hz to 400 Hz frequency range. They are small to size from 1 cm to 6 cm, and their sensitivity can be in the order of 1 V/1 of rotatum. Although the ranges of induction pots are limited to leasthan 60 of rotation, it is possible to measure displacements in angles from 0 to full motation by suitable arrangements of a number of induction pots. As in the case of most inductive sensors, the output of the induction pots may need phasesensitive demodulators and suitable filters. In many inductive



Figure 8. An induction potentionizater is a knear variable inductor with two concentrated windings wound on the stater and music. The totur winding is excited with an inducing voltage in the stater windings. The amplitude of the output voltage is dependent on the relative positions of the code determined by the angle of voltation. For encountent code, the variation of the amplitude is sub-coded, but "meanity is tostructed in the region of the null position. Different types of induction potentiameters are available with distributed coils, which give linear voltage- over an angle of 180. of rotation.

pols, additional dummy coils are used to improve linearity and accuracy.

EDDY CURRENT SENSORS

Inductive transducers based on eddy currents are matchy probe types containing two cods, as shown in Fig. 9. One of the cods, known as the active cod, is influenced by the presence of the conducting surget. The second coil, known as the balance cod, servee to complete the bridge circuit and provides tooperature.



Figure 9. Eddy concern transfacers are inductive transducers using probes. The probes contour one nerve and one balance coil. The active coil zesponds to the presence of a conducting target, whereas the balance coil completes a bridge circuit and provides temperature compensation. When the probe is brought close to the target, the Bax from the probe links with the target producing eddy corrects within the target, which alter the inductance of the active coil. This change in inductance is deterted by a bridge circuit.

compensation. The magnetic flux from the active coil passes into the conductive target by means of a probe. When the probe is brought close to the target, the flux from the probe links with the target, producing eddy corrects within the target.

The oddy current density is greatest at the target surface and become negligibly sntall about three skin depths below the surface. The skin depth depends on the type of material used and the excitation frequency. Even though thinner targets can be used, a minimum of three skin depths may aften be necessary to minimum of three skin depths may aften be necessary to minimum the temperature effects. As the target comes closer to the probe, the eddy currents become stronger, causing the impotence of the active coil to change and altering the balance of the bridge in relation to the target position. This unbalance voltage of the bridge may be demodulated, filtered, and linearized to produce a de output proportional to target displacement. The bridge oscillation may be as high as 1 MHz. High frequencies allow the use of thin targets and provide a good system frequency response.

Probes are commercially available with full-scale ranges from 0-25 mm to 30 mm with a nonlinearity of 0.5% and a maxmum resolution of 0.0001 mm. Targets are usually supplied by the clients, involving noncontact measurements of machine. parts. For nonconductive targets, conductive materials of sufficient thickness must be attached onto the surface by mouns of commercially available adhesives. Because the target material, shaps, and the like influence the output, it is necessary to calshrate the system statistically for a specific target. The recommended measuring range of a given probe begins at a standoff distance equal to about 20% of the stated range of the probe. In some cases, a standoff distance of 10% of the stated range for which the system is cabhrated is recommended as standard. A distance greater than 10% of the measuring range can be used. as long as the calibrated measuring range is reduced by the same amount.

Fiat targets must be the some doameter as the probe or larger of the target diameter is smaller than the probe do ameter, the output drops considerably, thus becoming unreliable. Curved-surface targets may behave similar to dat surfaces of the doameter exceeds about three or four diameter of the probe. In this case, the target essentially becomes an infinite plane. This also allows some cross-axis movement without affecting the system output. Target diameter comparable to the sensor could result in detrimental affects from cross-axis movements.

For curved or inregularly shaped targets, the system needs to be calibrated using an exact target that may be seen in the operation. This tends to eliminate any errors caused by the curved surfaces during the applications. However, special multiprobe systems are available for orbital motions of rotating shafts. If the curved (shaft) target is about ten times greater than the sensor diameter, it acts as an infinite plane and does not need special calibrations. Special care must be exercised to deal with electrical monoit resulting from factors such as inhomogeneities in bardness, purticularly valid for formus targets. However, nuclearous targets are live frum electrical runout concerns.

TRANSFORMATIVE SENSORS

Transformative sensors make use of the principles of transformer action, that is magnetic flux created by one coil links



Figure 10. A linear variable-differential transformer is a passive inductive transducer consisting of a single primary winding positioned between two identical secondary windings wound an a tubular form magnetic former. As the core inside the former moves, the magnetic paths between primary and secondaries place, thus going secondary couples proportional to the movement. The two secondaries are made as similar as possible by having equal sizes, shapes, and number of turns

with she other coil to induce voltages. There are many different types, such as linear variable transformers, rotary variable differential transformers, and this gate magnetometers.

Linear Variable-Differential Transformer

The linear variable-differential transformer (LVDT) is a passive inductive transducer that has found many applications. It consists of a single primary winding positioned between two identical secondary wouldngs wound on a tobular ferromagnetic former, as shown in Fig. 10. The primary winding is energized by a high-frequency 50 Hz to 20 kHz ac voltage. The two secondaries are made identical by having an equal number of turns. They are connected in series opposition so that the induced output voltages oppose each other.

In many applications, the outputs are connected in opposing form, as shown in Fig. 11(a). The output voltages of individual secondaries v_1 and v_2 at null position are illustrated in Fig. 11(b). However, in apposing connection, any displacement in the care position x from the null point causes implitude of the voltage output v_1 and the phase difference w to change. The output waveform v_2 in relation to core position is shown in Fig. 11(r). When the core is positioned in the middle. there is an equal coupling between primary and secondaries, thus giving a null point or reference point of the sensor. As long as the core remains near the center of the cod arrangement, output is very linear. The linear ranges of commercial differential transformers are clearly specified, and the devices are solution used outside this linear range.

The ferromagnetic core or planger necess freely inside the former; thus altering the mutual miluctance between the primary and accordances. With the rore in the center, or at the reference position, the induced cents in the secondaries are equal, and because they oppose each other, the output voltage is zero. When the core moves, say to the left, from the center, more magmeter flux links with the left hand cuil them with the right-hand coil. The voltage induced in the left-hand coil is therefore larger than the induced cuil on the right-hand coil. The magnitude of the output voltage is them larger than at the null position and is equal to the difference between the two secondary voltages. The net output voltage is in phase with the voltage of the left-hand coil. The output of the device is them an indication of displacement of the core. Similarly, movement in the opposite direction to the right from the conter reverses this effect, and the output voltage is now in phase with the emf of the right-hand coil.

For mathematical analysis of the operation of LVDTs Fig. 11(a) may be used. The voltages induced in the secondary colls are dependent on the motual inductance between the primary and individual secondary colls. Assuming that there is no cross coupling between the secondaries, the induced valtages may be written as

$$t_1 = M_1 si_p \quad \text{and} \quad t_2 = M_2 si_p \tag{15}$$

where M_1 and M_2 are the mutual muluctances between primary and secondary coils for a fixed core position, s is the **Loplace** operator, and t_p is the primary current

In the case of opposing connection, no load output voltage v_n without any secondary current may be written as

$$e_0 = e_1 - e_2 = 0M_1 - M_2 m_p$$
 (16)

writing

$$n_e + i_p(\boldsymbol{R} * s \boldsymbol{L}_p) \tag{17}$$

Substituting r_p in Eq. (16) gives the transfer function of the transducer as

$$\frac{v_z}{v_t} = \frac{(M_1 - M_2)_0}{R - sL_0}$$
(18)

However, If there is a current resulting from output signal processing, then describing equations may be modified as

$$|v_n = R_n i|_{1}$$
 (19)

where $t_s = (M_1 + M_2)m_p/(R_1 + R_m + st_s)$ and

$$\approx -i_p (\boldsymbol{R} + \kappa \boldsymbol{L}_p) - (\boldsymbol{M}_1 - \boldsymbol{M}_2) \boldsymbol{v} (.$$
 (20)

Eliminating (pand), from Eqs. (19) and (20) results in a transfer function.

$$\frac{r_p}{r_s} = \frac{R_n(M_1 - M_2)s}{((M_1 - M_2)^2 + L_s L_p)s^2} \frac{R_n(M_1 - M_2)s}{(L_p(R + R_n) + RL_s)s + (R_s - R_n) - R}$$
(21)

This is a second-order system, which inducates that with the offect of the numerator the frequency of the system changes from 190° at low frequencies to -90° at high frequencies. In practical applications, the supply frequency is selected such that at null position of the core the phase angle of the system is θ .

The amplitudes of the output voltages of secondary coils are dependent on the position of the core. These outputs may direelly be processed from each individual secondary coils for slow



Figure 11. The voltages induced in the scenndaries of a linear variable differential transformer (a) may be processed in a number of ways. The output valtages of individual scenadaries (1) and by at null position are illustrated in (b). In this case, the valtages of individual colls are equal and (1) phase with each other. Summarines the outputs are connected opposing each other, and the nutput waveform c, becomes a function of core position c and phase angle *x* as in (c). Note the phase shift of 190, as the core past the change's above and below the pull position.

movements of the core, d'the direction of the movement of the core does not bear any importance. However, for fast movements of the core, the signals may be converted to de, and the direction of the movement from the null position may be detected. There are many optimis to do this, however, a phose-sensitive demodulator and hiter are commonly used as shown in Fig. 12(a). A typical catput of the phose-structive demodulator is illustrated in Fig. 12(b), for core positions as in Fig. 12(c), in rotation to output voltage c_{cc} displacement x_{c} and phase angle x.

The phase-sensitive demodulators are extensively used in differential-type inductive sensors. They basically convert the ac outputs to de values and also indicate the direction of movement of the core from the null position A (ypical phasesensitive demodulation circuit may be constructed, based on diodee shown in Fig. 13(a). This arrangement is used of for very slow displacements, usually less than 1 or 2 H2. In Fig. 13(a), bridge 1 acts us a rectification, circuit for scoredary 1, and bridge 2 acts as a rectifier for secondary 2. The net output voltage is the difference between the outputs of two bridges as in Fig. 13(b). The position of the core can be worked out from the amplitude of the do output and the direction of the anovement of the core can be determined from the polarity of the dividage. For rapid movements of the core, the autput of the diode bridges need to be filtered, and this passes only the frequencies of the movement of the core and filters all the other frequencies



Figure 12. Phene-sensitive demodulator and filter (a) are commonly used to obtain displacement-proportional signals from LVDTs and other differential-type inductive sensors. They entire the neoriputs from the sensors into de values and also indicate the direction of movement of the core from the coll position. A typical comput of the phase-sensitive demodulator is shown in (b) The relationship between output voltage (a and phase angle or is also shown against core position) is a sketched in let.

produced by the modulation process. For this purpose, a suitably designed simple *RC* filter may be sufficient.

In the marketplace, there are phase-sensitive dominicator chips available, such as AD598 offered by Analog Devices, Inc. These chips are highly versatile and flexible to suit particular application requirements. They offer many advantages over conventional phase-sensitive demosfulation devices: for exomple, frequency of excitation may be adjusted to any value between 20 Hz and 20 kHz by connecting an external capacitor between two pins. The amplitude of the excitation voltage can be set up to 24 V. The internal filters may be set to required values by external capacitors. Connections to analog to digital converters are made easy by converting the bipolar output to a unipolar scale.

The frequency response of LVDTs is promarily limited by the merical characteristics of the device. In general, the frequency of the applied voltage should be ten times the desired frequency. response. Commercial LVDTs are available in a broad range of sizes, and they are widely used for displacementmeasurements in a variety of applications. The displacement sensors are available to cover ranges from ± 0.25 cm to ± 7.5 cm. They are sensitive enough to be used to respond to displacements well below 0.0005 mm. They can have operational temperature range from ± 265 to 600 C. They are also available in radiation-resistant designs for operation in prolear reactors. For a typical sensor of range ± 25 mm, the recommended supply voltage as 4 V to 6 V, with a nominal frequency of 5 kHz and a maximum nonlinearity of 16 full scale. Several commercial models, which can produce a voltage output of 300 mV for 1 mm displacement of the care, are available.

One important advantage of the *INDPTs* is that there is no physical contact between the core and the coil form, hence there is no friction or wear. Nevertheless, there are radial and longitudinal magnetic forces on the core at all times. These magnetic



10-1

Figure 19. A typical phone-sensitive demodulation circuit based on diode bridges as in (u). The bridge 1 acts as a rectification circuit for secondary 1, and bridge 2 acts as a rectifier for secondary 2 where the net output vultage is the difference between the two bridges as in (b). The position of the core can be worked out from the amplitude of the domuput, and the direction of the movement of the none can be determined from the polarity of the volrage. For rapid movements of the core, the output of the dode bridges need to be filtered. For filters, a suitably designed simple *R*C filter may be sufficient.

forces may be regarded as magnetic springs that try to displace the core from its null position. This may be a critical factor in some applications.

One problem with LVDTs is that it may not be easy to make the two holves of the secondary identical; their inductance, resistance, and capacitance may be different, causing a large unwanted quadrature ontput in the balance position. Precision coil-winding equipment may be required to reduce this problem to an acceptable value.

Another problem is associated with null position adjustments. The harmonies in the supply voltage and stray capacitances result in small null voltages. The null voltage may be reduced by proper grounding, which reduces the capacitive effects and the center-tapped voltage source arrangements. In center-tapped supplies, a potentionetter may be used to obtain a minimum null reading.

The LVDTs find a variety of applications, which include jet engines controls that are in close proximity to exhaust gases, and controls that measure roll positions in the thickness of materials in hot-slob steel rolls. After some mechancel conversions, LVDTs may also make force and pressure measurements.

Rotary Variable-Differential Transformer

A variation from the linear variable-differential transformer is the rotary core differential transformer, as shown in Fig. 14 Here the primary winding is wound on the center leg of an E core; the secondary windings are wound on the outer legs of the E core. The primature is rotated by an externally applied force about a pivot point above the center leg of the core. When the armature is displaced from its reference or balance position, the reluctance of the magnetic circuit through one secondary cal is decreased; simultaneously the reluctance through the other coil is increased. The induced emfs in the sociality which ings, which are equal in the reference position of the armature. are now different in magnitude and phase as a result of the applied displacement. The induced emfs in the secondary coils are made to oppose each other, and the transformer operates in the same manner as LVDTs. The rotating variable transformers may be sensitive to vabrations. If a de output is required, a demodulator network may be used, as in the case of LVDTs.

In most retary locar-variable differential transformers, the rotor muss is very small, usually less than 5 g. The nonlinearity



Retational offerential transformer

Figure 14. A rotary core differential transformer has an estimature rotated by an externally applied force about a pivot point above the centerleg of the core. When the environments displaced from its reference or balance position, the reluctance of the magnetic encout through one secondary roll is decreased; simultaneously the reluctance through the other cost is increased. The induced emfs in the secondary windings are different to magnitude and phase as a result of the applied displacement.

in the output ranges between $\pm 1\%$ and $\pm 3\%$, depending on the angle of rotation. The motion in the radial direction produces a small output signal that can affect the overall sensitivity But this transverse sensitivity is usually kept less than 1% of the longitudinal sensitivity.

MOS MAGNETIC FIELD SENSORS

The technology of integrated magnetic field sensors, also called semiconductor magnetic uncrosensors, is well developed This technology uses other high-permeability (e.g., for romagnetic) or low-permeability (e.g., paramagnetic) materials. The integrated circuit magnetic techniques support many sensors, such us magnetionisters, opticlectronics, Hall-effect sensors, magnetic semiconductor sensors, and superconductive sensors.

At the present, silicon offers an advantage of inexpensive batch fabrication for magnetic sensors. Most of the integrated circuit magnetic sensors are manufactured by following the design rules of standard chip manufacturing. For example, MOS and complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) technologies are used to manufacture lightly sensitive Halleffect sensors, magnetotransistors, and other semiconductor sensors. Since of the magnetic semiconductor sensors are dis cussed in detail in the following sections.

MAGNETOMETERS

Magnetometers are devices that are produced to sense external inagoetic fields mainly based in Faraday's Law of Induction There are many different types of magnetometers including search call magnetometers. SQUIDs, flux-gates, nuclear, and optical magnetometers. The live most commonly used types are the flux-gate and the search coil magnetometers.

Flux-Gate Magnetometers

Flux-gate magnetometers are made from two coils wound on a ferromagnetic material, as illustrated in Fig. 15. One of the



Figure 15. A flux-gate magnetameter consists of two coils wound on a formmagnetic core. The driving coil is excited with a sinuscodal curcent, which drives the core into a saturation state. When successed, the reluctance of the cure to external magnetic field increases, thus repelling the external flux and hence reducing the effect of the external field on the second coil. The hermonics of the induced values in the sensing coil to an indication of the magnitude of the external magnetic field.

conts is excited with a sourceidal current, which drives the core into a saturation state. At this stage, the reductance of the core to external magnetic field increases, thus repelling the external flux and so reducing the effect of the external field on the second coil. As the core becomes unsaturated, the effect of the external field increases. The increase and reduction of the effect of the external field on the second coil is sensed as the harmonics of the induced voltage. These barmonics are then directly related to the strength and variations in the external field. The sensitivity of these devices is dependent on the magnetic properties and the shape of the saturation curve of the core material. The ineasurement range can vary from 100 pT to 10 mT operating in the D kHz to 10 kHz frequenty range.

Search Coil Magnetometers

Search coil magnetometers operate on the principle of Faraday's Law of Induction. A typical search roll magnetometer is shown in Fig. 16. The flux through the coil changes if the magnetic field varies in time or the coil is moved through the field. The sensitivity depends on the properties of the core material, dimensions of the coil, number of turns, and rate of change of flux through the coil.

Scorch cull magnetometers are manufactored from 4 cm m dimensions to 100 cm. They can sense weak fields as low us 100 pT within the frequency range of 1 H2 to 1 MH2. The upper hand is dependent on the relative magnitudes of resistance and inductance of the cuil. During the signal processing, they can be used as part of a budge or resonant circuits.



Figure 16. A search coll magnetometer uses Forodoy's Law of Induction. The changing magnetic flux induces an emfire the coll. The sensitivity of the magnetometer depends on the properties of the core insteaded dimensions of the coll, number of turns, and rate of change of flux through the coll. They can sense weak fields as low as 160 pT within the frequency range of 1 Hz to 1 MHz.



Figure 17. A SQUID consists of a superconducting role. When subjected to an external field, the convent is indexed in the role which flows licever. The current in the ring is measured by using the dosephson effect and by creating a weak link in the role. This weak link making the superconducting current oscillate as a function of the external magnetic field intensity.

SQUID Magnetometers

Superconducting quantum interference device, SQUID, sensors are used in many diverse applications from medicine, geophysics, and nuclear magnetic resonance to nondestructive testing of solid materials. The SQUID affers high sensitivity for the detection of weak magnetic fields and field gradients. They are made from conventional superconductors such as niobium operating at liquid helium temperatures. They are manufactured by using integrated circuit technology, as illustrated in Fig. 17.

The principle of operation is the Josepheon effect. If a magnetic flux links to a ring-shaped superconducting material, a current is induced in the ring. This current flows forever due to the lack of any resistance. The intensity of current is proportional to the intensity of the field. The current in the ring is measured by using the Josepheon effect wherein a weak link in the superconducting mag causes the superconducting current to oscillate as a function of magnetic field intensity. These is cultations can be sensed by many techniques such as coupling in a radio-frequency circuit and other resonance techniques.

The SQUIDs are extremely sensitive devices, with sensitivicies ranging from 10 fT to 10 nT. The SQUID sensors can be arranged to measure magnetic fields in three dimensions in x. y, and z directions of Cartesian coordinates, as in the case of high-sensitivity gradiometers. One desadvantage of SQUIDs is that they need supercooling at very low temperatures. Much research is concentrated on materials exhibiting superconductivity properties at high temperatures. SQUIDs are used in gradiometers, voltmeters and amplifiers, displacement sensors, geophysics, gravity wave desertion, and nondestructive testing, to name a few.

MAGNETORESISTIVE SENSORS

In magnetoresistive sensors, the magnetic field causes a change in resistance of some materials such as permathoys. In these materials, correct passing through the material magnetizes the material in a particular magnetic orientation. An external field perpendicular to the correct, as illustrated in Fig. 15,

External magnetic lisid.



Figure 18. A range corresistive sensor's resistance charges to response to on external magnetic field. Magnetic domain an existing of the mater of as a function of external field and corrent flowing through it. The resistance is highest when the magnetization is parallel to the current and lowest when it is prependicular to the current. These sensors are

manufartured as this films, and they have good linearity.

causes the magnetic orientation to be disturbed. The resistance is highest when the magnetization is parallel to the current and lowest when it is perpendicular to the current. Hence, depending on the intensity of the external magnetic field, the resistance of the permalloy changes in proportion.

Magnetoresistive sensors are manufactured as that films and oscally integrated to be part of an oppropriate bridge circuit. They have good linearity and low temperature coefficients. These devices have a sensitivity ranging from 1 μ T to 50 mT. By improved electronics with suitable feedback circuits, the sensitivity can be as low as 100 pT. They can operate from do to several gigabertz.

Magnetotransistor and Magnetodiade Sensors

Magnetotratisiston and magnetodiode sensors are integrated silicondievices. They contain n-doped and n-doped regions forming ps, npn, or pnp junctions. In the case of magnetotransistors, there are two collectors, as shown in Fig. 19. Depending on the direction, an external magnetic field deflects electron flow between emotier and collector in favor of one of the collectors. The two collector voltages are sensed and related to the applied magnetic field. These devices are more sensitive than Hall-effect sensors.

In the case of magnetochodes, *p* and *n* regions are separated by an area of endopied silicon containing the sensor. An external magnetic field perpendicular to the flow of charges deflects the holes and electrons in the opposite directions, resulting elfectively in a change in the resistance of the undoped silicon layer.



Figure 19. A magnetotronsistor is an integrated silieon device that contains non-on-ong-junctions. The electron flow between constant and a flector is auflicenced by the external magnetic field in favor of one of the collectors. The two collector voltages are sensed and related to the applied magnetic field.



Figure 20. A Hall effect sensor makes use of Lorentz force. The response of electrons to Lorentz force creates the Ball voltage, which is μ -sponteols: to both the external magnetic field and the direction of current flow. If the correct is do, the voltage has the same frequency as magnetic flux.

HALL-EFFECT SENSORS

In Hall-effect sensors, the voltage difference across a thin conductor carrying current depends on the intensity of the magnetic field applied perpendicular to the direction of current flow, as shown in Fig. 20. An electron moving through a magnetic field experiences. Lorentz force perpendicular to the direction of motion and to the direction of the field. The response of electrons to Lorentz force creates a voltage known as the Hall voltage. If a current *i* flows through the sensor, the Hall voltage can mothematically be found by

$$V = R_0 I B_0 I$$
 (22)

where H_{0} is the Hull coefficient (cubic meters per degree Celsius), B is the flux density (testa), and t is the thickness of the sensor (meters).

Therefore, for a specified current and temperature, the voltage is proportional to B. If the current is do, the voltage has the same frequency as magnetic flux

Hall-effect sensors can be made by using metals or silicon, but they are generally made from semiconductors with high electron mobility such as indum automorphe. They are usually nonudactored in the form of probes with a sensitivity down to 100 μ T. Silicen Hall-effect sensors can measure constant or varying magnetic flux having an operational frequency from do to 1 MHz, within the range of 1 μ T to 100 μ T. They have good temperature characteristics from 200 C to near absolute zero.

MAGNETO-OPTICAL SENSORS

In recent years, highly sensitive magneto-optical sensors have been developed. These accounts are based on fiber-optics, polarization of light. Moire effect, and Zeeman effect, among others. This type of sensors leads to highly accentry devices and w used in applications requiring high resolution such as human brain function mapping and magnetic anomaly detection. Here, because of the availability of space, only the pularization effect will be discussed briefly. Interested readers can find further information in the Refs. 1–6.

In the polarization effect, a plane of polarized light in a strong magnetic field rotates its plane of vibration. The perunit angular rotation is related to the per-unit magnetic field in a given length of material by the Verdet constant. For example, terbnini gallium demonstrates a Verdet constant of 50 min/ μ T-cm, whereas bismuth-substituted iron garnet conhave up to 0.04 min/T-cm. This polarization effect was first neticed by Faraday in 1545; hence, it is generally known as the Faraday effect. Recently, this principle was applied to semiconductors and crystals, which have different physical properties such as interband effects, intraband free career effects, and absorption of magnetism by impurities.

MAGNETIC THIN FILMS

Magnetic thin films are an important part of superconducting instrumentation, sensors and electronics in which active devices are made from deposited films. The thin films are usually made from anorphous alloys, amorphous gallium, and the like. As an example of this use of thin-film technology a thinfilm Josephson junction is given in Fig. 21. The deposition of thim films can be done by thermal evaporation, electroplating, sputter deposition, or chemical methods. The choice of technology depends on the characteristics of the sensors. For example, thin-film superconductors require low-temperature operations, whereas common semiconductors operate at count temperature.

The magnetic thin films find extensive applications in memory devices where high density and good sensitivities are required. In such applications, the magnetic properties of the coaling are determined by the magnetic properties of the partiriles that can be controlled before couring. The choice of available materials for this purpose is extremely large. Thin-film technology is also developed in magnetic-optics applications whereerasable optical media for high-density magnetic storage is possible. The miniature magnetoresistive sensors for magnetic recording and pick-up heads, the Hall-effect sensors, and other magnetic seniconductors make use of thin-film technology extensively.

AMORPHOUS MAGNETIC MATERIALS

The antorplants magnetic materials can be classified as amorphone alloys (Fe, Co, Ni), amorphons rare earths, and amorphone superconductors. Amorphons alloys have good soft magactic materials and are extensively used in mpgnetic beads. They have high submotion magnetization, high permeability.



Figure 21. The magnetic thin films are made from deposited than films from an urphons alloys such as galloom. This figure illustrates thin film technology to form a loss-plasm. The deposition of thin films can be done by the mode evaporation, electroplating, sputter deposition, or chemical methods.

and flat high-frequency dependence. An arphnus alloys are produced in the form of 20 μ m to 50 μ m thick ribburs using rapid solidification methods. Nevertheless, thermal stability of these alloys is the major drawback preventing the wider applications. Many of the emorphous metallic films are based on rare earth 3D transition metal alloys, such us Gd₂Co₂. They are used in bubble domain devices.

On the other hand, the amorphous superconductors are a class of superconducting materials such as busineth and gallium. They are manufactured in the form of powders, ribbons, or flakes by using evaporation methods, ion mixing or ion implantation, or liquid quenching. The vapor deposition technique is used in semiconductor-type sensors. These materials are used in high field magnets, memory devices, and other computer applications.

SHIELDING AND SENSITIVITY TO ELECTROMAGNETIC INTERFERENCE

Magnetic fields are produced by currents in wires and more strongly by the code. The fields produced by coils are important as a result of magnetic coupling, particularly when there are two or more coils in the circuit. The magnetic coupling hetween code may be controlled by large spacing between coils, the orientation of code, the shape of the coils, and shielding.

Inductive sensors come in different shapes and sizes. Even though some sensors have closed cores such as toroidal shapes, others have open cores and air gaps between cores and code. Closed cores may have practically zero external fields, except small leakage fluxes. Even if the sensors do not have closed cores, most variable-inductor sensors have a rather limited external field, as a result of two neighboring sets of code connected in opposite directions, thus minimizing the external fields. Because the coductive sensors are made from closed conductors, a current will flow, if the conductor mayes in a magnetic field. Alternatively, a magnetic charge produces current in statemary closed conductor. Unless adequate measures are taken, there may be external magnetic fields linking (interference) with the sensor coils, thus producing currents and unwanted responses

Because of inherent operations, inductive sensors are designed to have a high sensitivity to magnetic flux changes. External electromagnetic interference and external fields can affact the performance of the sensors seriously. It is known that moderate magnetic fields are found near power transformers. electrical motors, and power lines. These small fields produce opment in the inductive sensitive elements. One way of eliminate ingexternal effects is accomplished by magnetic shielding of the sensors and by grounding appropriately. In magnetic shielding, one or more sholls of high-permeability magnetic materials surranind the part to be shielded. Multiple shells may be used to abtain a very complete shulding. Ends of each individual shell are separated by insulation so that the shell does not act as a single shorted turn, thus accommedating high current flows Similarly, in the case of multiple shielding, shells are isolated from each other by proper insulation.

Alternating magnetic fields are also screened by interposing highly conductive metal alterts such as copper or alternation on the path of the magnetic flux. The eddy currents induced in the shield give a counter mmf that tonds to cancel the interfering magnetic field. This type of shielding is particularly effective at high fraquencies. Nevertheless, appropriate grounding must be observed.

In many inductive sensors, stray capacitances may be a problem, especially at null position of the moving inre. If the capacitive effect is greater than a certain value, say 1% of the full-scale output, this effect may be reduced by the use of a center-tapped supply and appropriate grounding

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- J. P. Bentley, Principles of Mersurement Systems, 2nd ed., Burnt Mills, UK: Longman Scientific and Technical, 1988.
- E. O. Doebelin, Measurement Systems, Application and Design. 4th ed., New York, McGraw-Hill, 1980.
- J. P. Holman, Experimental Methods for Engineers, 5th ed., New York, Mefiraw Hill, 1989
- J. E. Leviz, A review of megnetic service, Proc. *IEE*, 78(16): 973–989, 1980.
- W. Gonel, J. Hessel and J. N. Zentel. Sonsors—A Comprehensive Surrey. Weinheim, Germany. WCH, 1989.
- 4. Events: Consider Encyclopedia of Magnetic and Superconducting Materials, New York, Pergamon, 1993.

HALLT ERFN Correct Degreening of Technology

MAGNETIC SEPARATION

Commercial applications using the principles of magnetic separation have been around for more than one bundred years. Magnetic separators have been used since the time of Joseph. Henry (1797-1878), when electromognets were used to remove usids from horses' feed (1). Principles of magnetic separation are widely used in commercial applications today. Typical uses range from the simple removal of coarse transpiron and steel from garbage, to more sophisticated separations, such as the removal of weakly magnetic mineral contaminants from papercoating clays. Technical advances in magnetic separator design have led to the commercial use of high gradient magnetic separators (HGMSs). These devices are capable of removing weakly. magnetic particles and processing tons of material jear book This organize progress has greatly breadened and enhanced the commercial magnetic separations market. For example, it is estimated that the introduction of HGMS into the parification of kaolin day has nearly doubled the worldwide useful kaolin reserves (2) by making lower grade ores economically attractive.

Until the development of HGMS, magnetic separation techniques had been confined to multipulating mixtures that contained one or more of the three strongly magnetic (ferromagnetic) elements: iron, nickel, and cobalt. High gradient magnetic) separators are potentially applicable to many more elements, mixtures, and compounds. For example, there are more than 56 weakly magnetic elements (diamagnetic and paramagnetic) bated in the periodic table. Perhaps of even greater potential bated in the periodic table. Perhaps of even greater potential bated in the periodic table. Perhaps of even greater potential bated is the possibility of manipulating nonmagnetic substances, for example, pollutants in water—using appropriate magnetic (seeding) (redniques (The term *num magnetic* is typically reserved for materials that display extremely weak paramagnetic or diamagnetic properties.) Recently HGMSs, fabricated with superconducting coils, have been introduced into the kaohn industry. Superconducting HGMS devices can produce even higher magnetic fields and operate with less than one fifth the total power consumption of conventional resistive units. Higher magnetic fields translate in better particulate selectivity and increased productivity by processing more material per unit canister volume. For a more complete description of the history and development of high gradient magnetic separation, see Ref. 3.

PRINCIPLES OF MAGNETIC SEPARATION

Magnetic Phenomena

All materials passess magnetic properties to some extent. Their relative strength varies widely among materials. Materials are typically classified into four categories based on the strength of their magnetic properties: (1) ferromagnetic, (2) strongly magnetic, (3) weakly magnetic, and (4) nonmagnetic. With the exception of the ferromagnetic, the boundary defining the difference between strongly magnetic, weakly magnetic, and noninagnetic materials is arbitrary and typically applicationdependent. Any particle exposed to a magnetic field will become magnetized. The magnetic moment of an atom results from the electron spins, their orbital angular momentum, and the change induced in the orbital angular momentum (4). Materials that exhibit positive magnetization when placed in an external magnetic field are described as paramagnetic. Materials that exhibit negative magnetization are described as diamagnetic. All materials will display some degree of diamagnetisin owing to fair moment induced by an applied magnetic field; however, this type of diamagnetism is relatively weak and can be negligible if other forms of magnetism are present le.g., paramagnetism or ferromagnetism). Paramagnetism results from the electron spins and their orbital angular mementum. Atoms with unpaired electrons typically exhibit paramagnetism. Paramagnetic materials are further classified as strongly or weakly paramagnetic depending on the strength of Use magnetization (magnetic moment per unit volume) when placed in on external magnetic field. Many elements and their compounds exhibit paramagnetism; some common examples are hematite (Fe-O₃) and pyrite (FeS₂). Ordered arrays of magnetic numerits result in phenomena such as ferromagnetism. antiferromagnetism, and ferrimagnetism. When domains of paramagnetism are created in some materials such that longzonge order is established, the magnetization can be quite large, and the materials are described as ferromagnetic. These materials include iron, nickel, and cabait and a relatively small number of compounds of these elements. An example of a ferconsequences on is magnetize (Pe₂O₄).

Basic Electrodynamics

A magnetic field and magnetic field graduent can be produced in a variety of ways, typically by current-carrying conductors (electromagnets) or by residual magnetization of ferromagnetic materials (permanent magnets) or a combination of these. The magnetic induction **B** in teslas (**T**) is a vector quantity defined in terms of the sideways force $F_{\rm N}$ in newtons (**N**) acting on **a** test particle with charge $g_{\rm S}$ in coulombs (**C**) and moving with a velocity v in meters per second (m/s) such that where $e \times B$ is the inder for cross) product between the vectors v and B (5). The space around a magnetic field. The site of the magnetic field. The site of the magnetic field is the space through which its influence extends and is mapped by base of magnetic form. A magnetic field is said to be uniform and homogeneous when these lines are parallel and equally spaced. Using the International System of Units (SI), the magnetic flox density or simply the magnetic field in testas is calculated by

$$B = \rho_0(H + M) \qquad (2)$$

where μ_{+} is the permitability of free space equal to 4.4×10^{-7} N/A², H is the magnetic field intensity measured in amperea per meter (A/m), and H is the induced magnetization measured in amperes per index (A/m). The magnetic quantities **B**, **H**, and **M** are often described in many textbooks using centimetergram-second (eqs) units. In eqs units, the magnetic induction **B** is expressed in gauss (G), the magnetic field intensity **H** in orrsteds (Oe), and the magnetization **M** in electromagnetic units per cubic centimeter (emu/cm³). To convert between the two systems of units, several reference tables have been published elsewhere (6). One convenient conversion factor to recall is 1 T $\sim 10,000$ G.

The magnetic susceptibility χ_n (volume susceptibility) of a material is a dimensionless parameter and is often used to describe the relative nugnetic strength of the material. The magnetic susceptibility is defined as the ratio of the induced magnetization to the magnetic field intensity and a given by

$$\chi_{m} = M/H$$
 (3)

The magnetic induction can now be expressed in terms of the magnetic susceptibility

$$B = \mu_0 R (1 + \chi_0) \tag{4}$$

Table 1 shows the magnetic susceptibility of some common minerals and elements. Paramagnetic materials have positive susceptibilities, and induced moments enhance the magnetic induction. Diamagnetic materials have negative susceptibilities and reduce the magnetic induction. Perromagnetic materials have very large positive susceptibilities but become magnetically saturated above certain applied magnetic field intensitios; thus, a forther increase in magnetic field intensity does not produce a further increase in magnetic induction. Figure 1 shows the magnetic induction of some ferromagnetic materials us a function of the applied magnetic field intensity (4).

Magnetic Separation Dynamics

Magnetic Forces. Several magnetic separation concepts have been proposed over the years, but they all rely on the same electromagnetic principle: a particle exposed to an extendal spatially varying magnetic field (i.e., a magnetic field gradient) will experience a force in newtons (N) equal to

$$F_{21} = q_0 r + R$$
 (1)

$$F_{\mathbf{M}} = V M(B) \mod 0$$
 (5)

Table 1. Magnetic Susceptibility of Some Common Elements and Minerals

Substance	Susceptibility (10ª egs)	Sobetance	Susceptsbalsty :10* cgn)
Aluminum	180.5	Ferberite	139.3
AL ₀ O ₅	237	Galena	20.4
Apatite	11.0 to 118.0	Garnierite	130.7
Aregonito	20.4	Gold	228.0
Asbulan	1150.0	Timenite	116 46 to 170 0
Azurite	1 32.2 to 119.0	Load	228
Anslant	10.96 to 15.60	Malachite	110.6 tu 114.5
Beryl	10.4	Millerite	10.21 to 13.9
Braunite	135.0 to 1150.0	Molybdenate	14.9 to 17 1
Biotitz	140.0	Molybdenum	189.0
Barite (pure)	271.8	Ristila	10.85 to 14.76
Brannenile	13.5	Scheelite	10.13 to 10.27
Cheanium	1380.0	Siderile	165.2 la 1103.8
Chromse	1126 6 to 1450.0	Titenium	11.60.0
Cobalt	Ferrumagnetic	Tungssen	159.0
Cobaltina	12.0	Unenium	1395.0
Cobaltite	10. 34 to 10. 64	Vanadium	1255.0
Calambite	187.5 to 187.2	Vanadanite	20.2 to 10.27
Copper	20.1	Wolframute	142.2

where Y is the volume of the particle in cubic meters (m^{0}) . M(B) is the magnetic field dependent magnetization of the particle in ampores per meter, and grad B is the gradient of the magnetic induction in testas per meter. The magnetic force acting on a particle can be rewritten in terms of the magnetic susceptibility where $M(B) = \chi_{0}(B) H$ such that

$$F_{\rm M} = \chi_{\rm m}(B) V H \cdot \operatorname{grad} B \tag{6}$$

The implications of Eq. (6) are that in order to have large magnetic separation forces, not only is the porticle's magnetic



Figure 1. Magnetization convex of four ferromagnetic materials: (A) ensuined, (B) cast steel, (3) subconsisteel, and (4) Nickel iron alloy. Courties, of John Wiley & Sons

susceptibility important, but a combination of high magnetic field intensity and magnetic field gradient determines the magnitude of the magnetic force.

Fluid Dynamic Effects. For many magnetic separation proeessing techniques (i.e., wet processing), the particles are often mixed in an aqueous fluid (slurry) that moves past the high gradient collector. Typically, the high gradient collector is a mesh fabricated from this ribbons or wires of highly permeable. stainless steel, which concentrates the magnetic field lines. In general, magnetic field gradients are large near sharp edges ar carners. Thus, the magnetic force (given in Eqs. (5) and (6)) acting on the particle can be quite large. The mesh acts as a filtering mechanism by trapping magnetic particles attracted to the wire and allowing nonmagnetic particles to pass freely. While traveling within this fluid, however, each particle in the mixturn is acted on by several other competing forces, and adarg magnetic force (F_M) , fluid viscous drag force (F_D) , gravitational. force (F_0) , and fluid huoyant force (F_0) . If the buoyant force of the particle is ignored. Newton's law of motion for a particle in a fluid is given by (7).

$$pV(d^2r/dt^2) = F_M + F_0 + F_0$$
(7)

where pris the particle density in kilograms per cubic meter, V is the particle volume in cubic meters, r is the position coordinate in maters, t is the time in seconds, and the magnetic force is as defined in Eqs. (5) and (6). To a first-order approximation, the viscous drag force is given by

$$\hat{F}_{\rm B} = 3\pi \eta m$$
 (2)

where $\sigma = fluid$ velocity $(m/s)_0 = particle diameter (m)_0 = fluid viscousty (N/s/m²).$

Figure 2 illustrates the forces acting on a magnetic particle as described in Eqs. (5) and (6). For a magnetic particle to



Figure 2. Schemmar representation of a magnetic fiber of a bigh gradient magnetic separater and the forces arting on a magnetic porticle Courtesy of Plenum Publishing Company

be collected at the surface of the wire within the magnetized volume of the separator, the following condition must be met.

$$|F_N| \ge F_D + F_D$$
 (9)

In this analysis, both the density and particle size (domeler) are extremely important in the magnitude of the magnetic and viscous drag forces. The magnetic force varies as the cube of the particle diameter (a^3) . The viscous drag force varies linearly with the particle diameter. This implies that separations between particles with similar magnetic susceptibilities are possible only when significant size and density differences exist

Open Gradient Magnet Systems. The large magnetic field gradients used in separation devices are typically created using two different methods. The first method is known as the open gradient magnet system (OGMS). The second is the matrix/fater method. Open gradient devices separate pactacles with different magnetic susceptibilities by preferentially directing them into open spaces using magnetic forces. In the open gradient technique, the conductor geometry or suitably designed pole pieces generate magnetic field gradients and lience the magnetic forces on the particles. The magnetic forces are often in competition with other forces such as gravity, electrostatics, drag, and buoyancy. A significant shortcoming of open gradient systems is that the magnetic field gradients that can be generated are typically less than 2 T/cm. Typically, these low magnetic field gradients limit the use of OGMS devices to the separation of strongly magnetic moterals and metal scrap.

Open gradient systems have an advantage in high-volume. processing. No magnet matrix or filter is required to trap the magnetic particle mechanically. In standard operation, the particle stream is passed down the bore, and magnetic particles are either poshed radially inward or outward depending on whether they are diamagnetic or paramagnetic. The particles can then be physically separated further down stream. For example, a quadrupole (four pole) magnet could be used in an open grudwat system. The conductor windings in a quadrupole magnes generate a magnetic field that is near zero at the center of the bore and increases radially ontward. The magnet has four distinct muxtrack-shaped windings located within each quedrant at the perimeter of the bore. These racetrack-shaped windings generate the four poles of the magnet (see Fig. 3). Shown in Fig. 3 is a two-dimensional cross-sectional view of a superconducting quadrupole magnet with a 40 mm hore. In Fig. 3, the direction of the particle stream flow is into the page. The plus (- Esymbol inducates current flow into the page, and the minus Esymbol andicates current flow out of the page. The arrows in the figure represent the relative magnetic field strength generated by the conductor windings and dilustrate the magnetic field gradient. The longer the arrow, the higher the magnetic field strength. The conductor windings are fabricated with a high aspect ratio (width/thickness) superconductor. In order to match the rectangular-shaped conductor with the cylindrical geometry of the magnet, V-shaped metal wedges are placed at strategic locations within the cross section. The magnetic field within the hare is periodic and fourfold symmetric and can be described mathematically by a cos(20) function.

Matrix/Filter Systems. The second most often used method for generating magnetic field gradients in separation devices



Figure 3. Two-dimensional cross-sections, even of a quasi-topole magnot with a 40 mm bare. The size of the arrows denote the relative magnetic field strength. The plus $i \neq i$ symbol denotes current flaw into the page, the minus (-) symbol denotes current flaw out of the page

is by use of a magnetic matrix or filter. Frantz patented the conceptual basis for the modern ferromagnetic filament-typecollector matmx (8) in 1937. The Frantz magnetic fifter (Frantz. Ferrufiller⁵⁹) used a matrix of ferromagnetic type 430 statuless steel screens fabricated from thin sharp ribbons. In general, magnetic field gradients are large near sharp edges or curners. The introduction of a large number of spheroids, wires, or a mesh of wires will similarly create regions of high grathents near the wires. The magnetic field gradient near the viciality of the wire can be as high as 10,000 T/cm. A magnetic particle involving past the wire will experience two magnetic fields: one from the background ambient field (B_0) of the magnet and the other from the collector wire (\mathbf{R}_i) , where the total magnetic field is the vector sum of the two conscibutions. namely, $\mathbf{B}_i = \mathbf{B}_i + \mathbf{B}_i$. A more detailed analysis of how matrix shape affects the capture cross section of a particle can be found elsewhere (9).

One method to increase the separation efficiency is to increase the magnetic field gradient. To obtain the highest possible field gradient, it is important to use the finest possible matrices (filumentary type). The must cost-effective separations occur when the filament diameter of the matched with the diameters of the magnetic field gradient is matched with the diameters of the particulates being processed. If the particle is much larger than the range of the gradient, then only a small portion of the particle will feel the effect of the force. On the other hand, if the particle is small compared with the range of the gradient, then the difference of the magnetization across the particle will not be large. If the difference in magnetization across the particle is small, then the resulting magnetic force acting on the particle will also be small.

By increasing the magnetic field gradient using a high permeability matrix, the required magnetic field intensity (H) is correspondingly reduced. Reducing the required background magnetic field intensity has a twofold positive impact on the cost of the separation system. First, it lowers the initial capital cost of the magnet system by requiring a lower ambient field. Second, it lowers the operating cost of the separations systems by reducing the amount of electricity required to power the electromagnet. In a resistive electromagnet, the magnetic field intensity that is generated is proportional to the square root of the electric power. Therefore, as the magnetic field intensity increases, the amount of electricity required to power it increases rapidly.

A significant disadvantage of the matrix/filter system is the problem of magnetic particle build-up. A magnetic separation device that uses a matrix/filter to mechanically trap magnetic particles must be periodically cleaned to prevent clogging. This means that during the cleaning of the matrix/filter, the magnetic field must be reduced to zero (or near zero) to minimize the magnetic trapping force. Periodically cycling the magnetic field or removing the matrix/filter from the magnetic field in order to clean it reduces processing efficiency.

CHARACTERISTICS OF HIGH GRADIENT MACNETIC SEPARATION

The efficiency of a magnetic separation device is typically expressed in two ways (10). First, at may be characterized by the so-called grade, which is defined as the percentage ratio of the desired component's mass relative to the total muss of the magnetic fraction (mags). Second, the separation efficiency can be characterized by the so-called recovery, which is defined as the percentage ratio of the amount of magnetic material recovered relative to the total amount of magnetic material in the feed. The two measures are independent quantities and together determine the officiency of the separation. For must separation devices, there is a relation between the grade and the neavory of the processed material. By adjusting the operating parameters of the separator, for grade can be increased at the expense of the recovery, and view versu. For example, Fig. 4 shows



Figure 4. Grade and recovery of a nonmagnetic tion on monitager versus shorry flow velocity at a constant applied field of 2 T. Courtesy of Plenum Publishing Company

processing data for the magnetically trapped product of a taconite are. The percent recovery and grade is plotted as a function of the alurry flow rate at a constant applied field of 2 T. As the recovery of the magnetically trapped product decreases with increasing flow rate, the grade correspondingly increases.

KEY PROCESSING VARIABLES

The key process variables in paramagnetic mineral separations are (a) magnetic field strength, (b) high gradient matrix, (c) retention time, and (d) minimizing the competing forces acting on the particle (31, 12).

Magnetic Field Strength

The magnetization M(B) [see Eqs. (5) and (6)] of a particle is a general function of the ambient magnetic field. Maximizing the magnetic field in a separator also increases the magnetic attractive force. For ferrinnagnetic materials, this effect generally saturates at fields above 2 T (see Eq. 1). For paramagnetic materials, the magnetic moment increases with increasing magnetic field well beyond 2 T. For these materials, larger magnetic fields enhance the magnetic trapping force.

Magnetic Field Gradient

The magnetic field gradient is the sputial variation of the magnetic field strength over the microdistance adjacent to the filamont) collector surface. The key factor in the generation of the magnetic field gradient is the transition of the magnetic flux from the highly permisable magnetic medium, typically type 430 stainless steel wool with a permeability > 500, to the surrounding medium containing the particulates, typically air or water with a permealn'ty of 1. The geometry of the conductor (e.g., sharp points), also plays a significant rule is establishing the magnetic field gradient. The greater the number of such mu-faces, the more effective the collecting power of the matrix. The smaller the diameter of the filament, the higher the magnetic gradient, but the shorter the range of its influence. []igh collection efficiencies have been demonstrated by a variety of magnetic fibtrs and small magnetic spheres. Stainless steel woal is an exceptionally efficient low-cost collector and is widely used in the commercial processing industry. In particular, 430 standess steel is often used because it is magnetically. "soft" and does not have a high residual field. Having a low residual field is necessary during the cleaning/floshing process of the matrix, where the magnetic trapping force on the particle. must be as small as possible. The advantage of this type of filter is that it has a high collection surface but occupies a relatively. small portion of the total magnetized volume, leaving the remainder of the space for material to be proceesed. The amount of stainless steel per magnetized volume is application-specific but typically varies between 6% and 12%.

Retention Time

The retention time is a measure of how long a particle contained within a storry is influenced by the magnetic field. The retention time is calculated by dividing the consister length by the velocity of the fluid flow or alternatively by dividing the consister volume by the flow rate per minute (11, 12). The concept of retention involves control of the flow rate in the consister



Figure 5. Recovery nercent of descree component of magnetic fraction (mags) relative to feed material versus upplied magnetic field for three different voltoes of slorey flow rate

volume to balance the magnetic force of attraction to the filanuml collector surface with the viscous drag of the medium of suspended particles. Refention time influences both product quality and production rate. The retention time used in commercial processes is application-specific and is usually chosen by a trial and error approach with many factors such as system hock pressure and signify flow distribution through the conisten also being considered. Typically, commercial slurry feed times used in the purification of kaohn clay vary between 2 min and 4 min. Experimental results demonstrating the effects of retention time and applied magnetic field are shown in Figs. 5 and 6. Figure 5 is a plot of the percent recovery for the magnetic fraction versus the applied magnetic field for three different values of flow rate. The test material consisted of 10 am cupric exode and aluminum exide powder sharried in water, where the magnetic material being separated is the cupied code. Figure 6shows the recovery of treat for a noninagaetic faconite are versus.



Figure 5. Recovery of commagnetic iron over norminage, versus applied field at two different values of sharry flow rate

the applied magnetic field for two different values of flow rate. In both Figs, 5 and 6, at constant flow rates the percent recovery increases with increasing applied field. This can be attributed to the increase in the magnetic force using on the particle in the fluid [see Eq. (6)]. At constant applied magnetic field, the percent recovery decreases with increasing flow rate. This can be attributed to the increase in the viscous drag force, which is propertional to the velocity of the slurey [see Eq. (8)]. The trade-off between the magnetic field and the flow capacity is ultimately dictated by the conomics of the application. Higher magnetic fields translate to higher particulate recovery, but at a higher capital equipment cost. Higher flow rates translate to increased capacity, but at lower particulate recovery

Minimizing Competing Forces

Many magnetic separators that process minerals supported in fluids try to minimize the competing gravitational and fluid dyname forces. As seen from the right-hand side of Eqs. (7) and 191, minimizing the viscous drag force and gravitational ferreincreases the chances for magnetic capture and correspondingly increases the separation efficiency. To minimize the unwanted gravitational effects, unprocessed shurry is typically fiel upward the limiteduced from the bottom of the canister?

As seen from Eq. (7), the viscous drag force is proportional to the product of the viscosity and linear flow velocity. To reduce the viscous drag force, a considerable effort is made to select a suitable dispersant to add to the slurry in order to minimize the fluid viscosity. For example, kaolin clays are typically dispersed in water with 0.2% tetrasodium perophosphate in order to provide deflocational sharries. To further manimum the viscoue drag force, the slurry is fed at as low a linear velocity as mactical while maintaining ailswable commercial processing rates user also the previous section entitled "Retention Time"). A final consideration in the reduction of the viscous drag force is the percent solids content of the slurry itself. Slurries with high solids content are more viscous, which decreases partiche capture. Hawaver, shurnes with law solids content process. less material per canister volume and have much quicker partioulate settling times, which can lead to dogging in the feed. transfer, and distribution piping. Typically, trial and error is used to find the optimal processing conditions to accommodate these two competing effects. In kaplin casys for example, the percent solids content of the sharry typically varies between 20% and 40%.

MAGNETIC SEPARATION EQUIPMENT

Several terms are often used to characterize magnetic separation devices. These include permanent magnetic electromagnet, high gradient, open gradient, etc., but the devices themselves basically fall into two separate rategories: (1) butch type and (2) continuous type. Table 2 summarizes some common types of magnetic separators and their ranges of potential applications. The following information concerning commercial magnetic separations units can be found in more detail in Ref. 1.

Batch Type

Batch-type separators are most useful when the unprocessed feed materials contain a relatively small amount of magnetic

Table 2.	Potential	Applications	of Magnetic	Reparators
----------	-----------	--------------	-------------	------------

Device	Magnet	Mascoura Field (T)	Matrix	Maximum Gradient (T/cm)	Required Susceptibility	Particle Size (mm)
Grate	Permanent	0.05	Roda	0.05	Personagnetic	.12
Pulley	Permanent	0.02	-	0.0120.1	Ferrumagnetic	,50
Drum	Periosideot	0.05 ± 0.1	-	0.65±0.1	Ferrumagnetic	0.02±20
Belt	Electromagnet	0.01±0.1		0-00±0.1	Farmmagnetic	0.15 ± 30
Induced roll	Electromagnet	2	-	20	Paramagnetic	00323
Сагрео	Electromagnet	2	Steel belle	4.5	Paramagnetic	0.01±1
C-frame; Jones	Electromagnet	2	Grooved places	20	Parsunagneter	0.01 ± 2
Marston Sala	Electromagnet Superconducting	2±5	Steel wool	2500	Paramagnetic weak	0 0001±2

material to be trapped in the collection volume. This allows for a convenient duty cycle for the device. Batch-type separation devices are most often fabricated using con-bound solenoid elecimmagnets surrounding a cylindrical conster. The cross section of the canister is circular in order to minimize the unusing of conductor used to magnetize the collection volume. Utilizing a long coil where the height of the coil exceeds the canister height further maximizes the efficiency of a batch-type solenoid electromagnet. Iron pole pieces of the magnet are then designed to extend into the top and bottom of the solenoid. Batch-type separators operate on the principle of cycling the magnetic field from a maximum value down to zero applied field. It is important to have a magnetically soli material with a low remanent field as the collection matrix, so that when the applied field is reduced to zero the force acting on the magnetic particles is minimized. In normal operation, typical duty cycles for mineral separations vary between 10% and 80% and consist of five basic steps (see Fig. 7 for illustrative purposes). (1) The correct in the magnet is increased to obtain the desired operating magnetic field level. During this step the collection matrix (typically

compressed 400 stainless steel wool) is magnetized. (2) While maintaining the desired operating magnetic field level, the appropriate valves are opened/closed and the improcessed rlay (feed) as introduced and flows through the magnetized collection volume. The nonmagnetic material which passes through the magnetized volume is collected separately, whereas the magnetic material remains trapped on the 430 stainless steel collection matrix, (3) By shutting off the appropriate valves, the flow of the unprocessed feed material into the collection volume. is stopped, and the collection volume is subsequently displaced with water, (4) The current in the magnet is decreased to zero (or near zero). This step demagnetizes the collection matrix and minimizes the magnetic force acting on the captured magnetic particles, (5) Appropriate valves are spened/closed, and the (now demographized) collection matrix is subjected to a high velocity water rinse/flush and the magnetic hy-product that is liberated from the matrix is collected separately. The steps of the process are then repeated based upon some established procedure. A schematic representing this process is shown in Fig. 7 (13)



Figure 7. Schematic of batch type process used in magnetic separation. Courtesy of Aqua6ne-Corp

Induced-Pole Separators. In undoced-pole separators the magnetic field gradient is generated by the application of background magnetic field to a ferromagnetic filter matrix. The word "induced" is somewhat misleading because there are no ac fields present. The name "induced-pole" refers to the magnetic poles that are induced around the ferromagnetic matrix/filter edges by the application of the background magnetic field. The orientation of the magnetic field in the edge of the matrix determines whether the device is a parallel or perpendicular fieldto-flow. These batch separators are manufactured in two basic configurations. (1) C-frame and (2) sciencid. Sciencid electromagnets represent a major area of development in magnetic separation and are described in detail in the following three sections of this article.

C-frame magnets employ a ferromagnetic matrix placed between two poles of an electromagnet. The ferromagnetic material used to transfer the magnetic flux from pole to pole typically occupies between 40% and 80% of the magnetized volume. A disady antage of this type of device is the nonumformity of the background ambient field. With even the smallest amounts of ferromagnetic particulates present in the feed material, these devices are subject to clogging in the flush region where the fringe field is the highest.

Resistive Solenoid Electromagnets

Installed Systems In March 1973, the first large-scale HGMS was installed at Freeport Kaolin Company in Gordon, Georgia (2). The separator was a 2.1 in diameter resistive electromag net fabricated by Pacific Electric Motor Company, The separafor could generate magnetic fields up to 2 T and process nearly. 3800 liters of sharry per minute or 60 metric tons per hour (dry basis). The central magnetic field was 2 T, with an electric power consumption of nearly 500 kW. The conductor consisted of 16 hollow water-cooled copper coils surrounded by a vaultlike steel. enclosure that was 3.65 m \times 3.65 m \times 2.44 m (13). For its day, this magnet represented a 13-fold increase in process capacity over the largest previous commercial magnetic separator. Contimied improvements in magnet design have led to similarly sized units operating at 2 T with less than 300 kW of electric power consumption. In 1982, the first 3 m diameter resistive electromagnetic separator went into operation. This enormous unit could process 130 tons of kaolin per hour with alimit 400 kW of electric power consumption. To date, there have been 29 resistive electromagnets (2.1 m and 3 m diameter) instailed in the United States and 8 others in the rest of the world for the purification of kanten chey-

Low-Temperature Superconducting Solehold Electromagnets

Background. In a low-temperature superconducting (1)[3] magnet, the magnetic field is generated in exactly the same way as in a conventional resistive electromagnet. The only real difference between the two is that the conductor in the LTS magnet must be maintained at a suitably low temperature in order to remain in its superconducting state. The key benefits affered by superconducting magnets are (1) very low power consumption, resulting from zero resistance in the conductor windings (see next section), and (2) much higher magnetic fields resulting in better selectivity of particles and higher separation efficiency. However, the zero resistance property of μ superconductor to only true for direct current (dc). For applications where the electromagnetic field is changing in time (act

a superconducting material no longer operates with zero electric resistance. Therefore, for batch-type magnetic separators, which periodically cycle the magnetic field, there is a practical limitation on the maximum allowable magnetic field ramp rate for these devices.

Several LTS materials have been studied, but the most prominent in terms of conductor fabrication and commercial implementation is an alloy of molerum and titamum (NhTi). In order to enhance electric and thermal stability of the superconductor, the NbTi is typically embedded in a normal metal matrix. of enpoer or alumnum. This allows for greater heat transfer through thermal conduction and also provides a low-resistance electric path in the event that the superconductor comes out of its superconducting state. One disadvantage of the normal metal matrix is in an applications. In an applications, additional Joule heating is caused by the generation of induced currents. in the normal metal matrix. To fabricate these composite superconductors, fine filaments of NbTi are either drawn or extruded with the aluminum or cooper. The filament size of the NFTi convary between about 6 ho m and 30 $m \mu m$ depending upon the application. Copper and aluminum-clad superconducting windings using NUTi conductor are now commonplace in the research community and have been used in applications such as mators. generators, transformers, and magnets.

An important aspect of the design of an LTS magnet is the choice of refrigeration or eryogenic cooling system that will be used to coal the conductor windings. There are two hasic refrigeration routes that have been used successfully. The first and must prevalent route is the use of light or gaseous cryagens. The NbTi conductor windings are typically cooled by either immersion in a bath of liquid hebum or by forcing cold, two-phase (liquid-vaper: belium gas around the conductor. Hebum gas will liquely at 4.2 K at atmospheric pressure. The helium gas that is boiled off or heated by ac-lass is recuculated through a liquefier, cooled, and recondensed into liquid or a two-phase (vapor-liquid) mixture. The second method, used to cool superconducting windings is through indicart anding using a refrigerator. These refrigerators are commonly referred to as cryocoolers. Oryocoolers, pased on various thermedynamic cycles, allow cooling to extremely law temperatures. One such device commonly used in the cryagenic industry is the Gifford-McMahon (G-M) cryocooler. Recent advances in G-M cryocooler technology permit three units to generate temperatures of 4 K or lower. The units enable superconducting windings to be cooled indirectly and without the presence of liquid or goseous cryogens and are particularly advantageous in small-scale systems where the cost of a liqueber cannot be justified. The two major drawhurks to these systems are: (1) the constant supply of electrical power that is essential for reliable operation and (2) the relatively small conlong capacity of cryocoders () varially a few watts; at 4 K.

Energy Efficiency. One of the major drawbacks of conventional resistive-type magnetic separators using water-cooled copper conductor windings is Baar high operating cost owing to their large electrical power consumption. The power consumption in a conventional copper magnetic separator can be as high as 400 kW in a 3 m diameter unit. In a superconducting unit, the primary source of power consumption is the mfrigoration unit. An equivalent 3 in diameter LTS unit is rated at about 50 kW. In production environments, these units operate approximately 6000 h/yr with an expected lifetime between 5



Figure 8. Low-temperature superconducting batch-type magnetic separator with a 3 m bare. Note the liquid helium refrigeration system to the right of the magnet. Courtesy of Eriez Magnetics.

and 10 years. In the southern United States, where cost of the processing plants are located, the present average prim of electricity is approximately \$50.05%Wh. This translates to an annual rost saving of about \$140,000 with a lifetime saving of \$1.4 million for a superconducting magnet over its resistive counterpart. For processing plants located in nonindustrialized countries, the savings in annual operating cost is even more substantial as prov and availability of electrical power is at a premium.

Installed Systems. The first large-scale LTS magnetic separator went into operation in 1986. The device had a 2.1 m diameter bore and was fabricated by Ericz Magnetics of Eric, Pennsylvania (14). The device was installed at the J-M. Hober Company in Georgia and is used for the benefaction of kaolin clay (see Fig. 8). The installed cost of this device was around 32 million. To date, 12 batch-type LTS magnetic separation systems have been installed in the United States. Eight of the 12 LTS systema installed have been replaced with superconducting windings. Worldwide, five other batch-type LTS magnetic separation systems have been installed for the benefaction of kaolin clay in Australia. Brazil, China. England, and Germany Lowtemperature superconducting magnetic separation systems appear to be displacing their conventional resistive counterparts.

High-Temperature Superconducting Solenoid Electromagnets. In 1986, Bednorz and Mueller (15) discovered a ceranic exide compared that would superconduct at higher temperatures than the proviously well-studied LTS materials. Before this discovery, the highest recorded superconducting transition temperature was about 23 K. Since 1986, several more ceramic exide materials, which superconduct at even higher temperatures, have been discovered. This close of occords exide materials hasheen given the name high-temperature superconductors (HTS). At the time of this writing, the highest recorded superconducting transition temperature of an BTS material at atmospheric pressure was approximately 140 K. High-temperature superconducting materials may offer substantial benefits in the practical commercialization of superconducting devices because of the higher temperatures at which these materials superconduct. Higher superconducting transition temperatures translate to higher (Carnot) refrigoration efficiencies. For example, an LTS material operating at 4 K m a bath of legoid helium would require more than 20 times the amount of electric power for every watt of cooling versus its HTS counterpart apprinting in a bath of legoid introgen at 77 K.

Presently magnetic separation represents use of only two industrial applications of large-acale superconducting devices; the other is magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Consequently, one of the first protatype ordustrial devices fabricated using HTS wire was an HGMS. In 1996, the first successful demonstration of kaolin benefaction using an HDS magnetic separator was reported (16). In this report, five different types of knohnclaye representing major worldwide deposits were processed in a 5 cm diameter warm bure HTS magnet in fields up to 2.5 T. Results inducated brightness improvements varying from one to five GE brightness units, depending on the particular day. processed. Most likely, HGMS will be one of the first industrial areas impacted by HTS technology and may represent the future migration of HGMS to this technology. However, because of the higher cost of the HTS wire per ampere-meter compared to its 1378 counterpart, it is nuclear at this time if the economic benefite from increased refrigeration officiency will outwork the additional capital cost of the HTS wire.

Continuous Type

One of the primary shortcomings of the batch-type separators for is processing efficiency. Batch-type separators operate on a duty cycle, so there is a period of time where material is not being processed. Continuous-type separation devices are designed to maximize the duty cycle and minimize the processing time. Continuous-type separators are advantageous when the magnetic fraction of the unprocessed first material is relatively high.



Figure 9. Conventional publicy-type supervisor Courtesy of McGrow-Holl Publishing Companies

Drum and Pulley Magnets. In the earliest magnetic separators, and in many that are still applicable for attracting strongly magnetic materials, permanent magnets were used in an open single-surface device. These devices consisted of suggended magnets, policys, conveyors, or drums. These devices produced fields in the neighborhood 0.06 T and gradients of the order of 0.05 T/cm. Drum and pulley type magnetic separation equipment has been used since the time of Thomas Edison who used a magnetic pulley for the concentration of nickel are. These are among the most common types of magnetic separators in the world today. They can be made from either permanent or electromagnets and process either wet or dry feeds. Dry magnetic drains can be designed to perform as filling magnets or pulleys. Magnetic dram devices have stationary magnets, whereas pulley drums rotate. Schematics for these types of devices are shown in Figs. 9 and 10.

Grate-Type Magnets. Grate-type magnets consist of a series of standess steel takes packed with commic magnets that are mounted in a trup perpendicular to the flow of the material Grate magnets are used in both wet and dry processing for the



Figure 10. Conventional care carch permanent megnet dourn-type separator Concress of Corport by

removal of both coarse and fine tramp iron. Various types of designs such as self-cleaning grates, permanent magnets, vabrating grates, and rota-grates, have been proposed and implemented. These trap-type separation devices come in a variety of shapes and sizes and have been used in such applications as floid processing, chemical processing, paper and plastic processing, and recycling. Grate magnets are most often implemented in production have to prevent accidents or contamination from shape iron where dry or wet pulverized material is processed.

Lifting Magnets. Lafting imagnets are used in both confirmious and batch operation depending upon the particular application. Continuous devices typically carry the unprocessed material along a conveyor belt that is located directly under the lifting magnet. The lifting magnet itself has a belt that moves over its lifting magnetic poles. The magnetic material is lifted from the first belt carrying the unprocessed material to the second belt moving over the magnetic poles of the lifting magnet. The magnetic maternal on the second held is then carried away to a region of low magnetic field where it is cleaned. These devices can be either high or low intensity depending upon the design of the pole pieces. Lifting magnets are used primarily in the removal of transpuron. The lifting magnet is typically positioned. about 5 cm to 30 cm from the highest point of the convor transporting the unprocessed material. Typical conveyor speeds vary between 1.75 m/s and 2.5 m/s depending in the application and whether the device is self-eleaning or not

Plate Magnets and Magnetic Humps. Plate magnets operate by recovering trainip iron from materials moving pneumatically or by free falling gravity flow. The trainp iron is removed by attaching iteelf to a magnetized plate that is periodically scruped and cleaned. Chule angles of 45 are recommended, and the magnetic plate should be located as close to the feed point as possible to minimize velocity effects of the incoming stream. Plate magnets are fabricated using both permanent and electromagnets. For permanent magnet versions of this device, plate widths can extend up to 1.23 m; electromagnet versione of this device can increase plate widths to 2.85 m. The capacity of these devices varies as function of the chute angle and the size of iron particulates being removed.

induced Roll Separators. Induced roll separators have been in commercial use since 1890. These devices can only handle dry gradulated weakly magnetic material and are similar to drum separators with the primary difference being that the cylinder rolates in the gap of an electromagnet. An example of an induced roll separator is shown in Fig. 11. The magnetic field gradient is created by making sharply edged ridges of the surface of the cylinder or by constructing a cylinder of alternating magnetic and noninagnetic disks. Industrial devices are built with multiple cylinders that operate in either series or parallel. By varying the configuration, these devices can be used as rither concentrators or purifiers. Typical cylinder widths vary between 0.25 m and 0.75 m. Installed cost for these devices is relatively low compared with other units with similar capacity.

Wet Drain Magnetic Separators. Wet dram separators are used exclosively for the processing of wet feed material for the separation of strongly magnetic coarse particles. The key processing variables that determine the size and processing capactly of the device are slorry volume, percent magnetics and



Figure 11. Conventional induced-pole separator Courtesy of Carpon. Inc.

solids in the slurry, and the required recovery and concentration of magnetic particles. Several vendors manufacture these devices. Typical drum sizes vary from 0.023 m to 1.2 m in diameter with heights op to 3 m. Wet drum devices can come in either a single- or concurrent-type arrangement (see Fig. 12). A concurrent arrangement is where two or more drums are placed in series. Unprocessed feed material is introduced into the first drum, which is used to remove the strongly magnetic coarse particles. The processed material is then fed into the second drum for the removal of finer magnetic particles. Units with single drums can process slurry with magnetics up to 20% by weight and units with two drums can process slurry with up to 45% magnetics by weight. Recommended maximum particle size as 6 mm. Concurrent devices can process finer partscles down to about 0.8 mm (20 mesh) with an optimum solids content of about 30% by weight. Wet drum separators have the advantage of being able to process muterial with a wide variation of particle size and throughput. The installed cost of a single wel druin-type separator can vary between \$25,000. and \$75,000 per meter of magnet width. Multiple drum cost increases in direct proportion to the number of drams required.

Carousel Electromagnets. One of the first high-intensity continuous-type separators was developed around 1963. This device was a rotating carousel version of the wet high-intensity. magnetic separator (WHMS) developed earlier by Jones in 1957 (18) This device consists of a cylinder subdivided into equally spaced compartments that rotate about a vertical axis. Each compartment is packed with 430 stainless steel wool. The magnetic field is generated using an electromagnet that produces a magnetic field in the axial direction perpendicular to the rotating compartments. Unprocessed feed material is introduced into the compartments in the low field regular lises Fig. 13:. These compartments are then rotated into the highfield region. In this region, the magnetic particles are trapped in the cells, and the nonmagnetic particles are washed out. Once the compartment cell has rotated to a region of low field, the magnitu: particle is then washed out with a high-velocity rinse (19).

LTS Reciprocating Magnet System

Background. As early as 1975, studies were curried out an p new type of magnetic separator design that benefits from the zero resistance property of superconducting coils (20). In 1989. Carpco introduced the first commercial reciprocating magnetic separator. Unlike its LTS batch-type produces or that cycles its magnetic field, this magnet maintains the field at a constant. level and instead cycles the matrix/filter canister in and out of the active magnetic field region. This design allows for semioutmuous processing and risluces ac bases by not cycling the magnetic field. The magnet operates in what is known as the persistent mode. Below the superconducting transition temperature, a superconducting magnet can be energized and then disconnected from the power supply, and current will continue to flow without additional power input. The basic processing cycle for the reciprocating magnetic separator is shown in Fig. 14. The key feature is that while one matrix canister is processing material in the central magnetic field region; the other material canister is being cleaned/flushed in the low field region (21).

installed Systems. In 1989, the first LTS reciprocating magnetic separations unit used in the purification of kaolin clay went into operation in Cornwall in the United Kingdom. This unit consists of a NoT) conductor winding operating in a bath of liquid helium. It has a warm bure diameter of about 0.28 m with a maximum central field of 4 ${f T}$ and can process between 2 tons and 5 tons of kaolin per hour. In 1992, the second LTS reciprocating magnet system was installed in southern Germany for the purification of kaolin clay. This unit has a 0.26 m warm bore diameter with a maximum central field of 5 T and can process up to 5 cans of knobn per hour. To date, 15 more industrial-scale LTS reciprocating magnetic separators have been installed worldwide. Reciprocating systems with warm bore diameters up to 1 m and central fields of a T are presently in operation (see Fig. 15). Ten smaller-diameter LTS reviprocating units, operating in research laboratories and pilot-scale production lines, have also been installed. One might expectthat the complexity of superconducting technology would rearciet the commercial viability of these units to developed and industrialized areas. In reality, the simplicity and reliability of the low lass cryagen technology coupled with the reciprocating consistor principle has coabled operation of these units in Mongoho and Rio Capram (21), which are recoole areas of the Amazon rain forest.

HIS Reciprocating Magnetic Separator. Similar to its batchtype counterpart, it is possible to fabricate a reciprocating magnetic separation system using HITS coils. The commercial advaptage of such a system would be the elimination of the use of liquid and gaseous cryngens even for very large scale systems. It is fan early to speculate on the commercial viability and technical feasibility of such a device.

APPLICATIONS OF MAGNETIC SEPARATION

Background

There are several commercially available mineral separation technologies that use specific gravity, magnetic separation, electrostatic separation, and column flotation, among others. All of these techniques exploit various discernable properties



Slurry inlet



(C)

Figure 12. Wet drum magnetic separator errangements (of counter-rotating-type, (b) concurrent double-drum-type, and (c) rouncersurrent double-drum-type. Courtesy of Svedela Indoutnes AB Points and Process

among mixtures of immerals. A comparison of different separation methods as a function of particle size range is shown in Fig. 16. Each separation technology has its own particular strength; however, typically a combination of techniques provides the best industrial minerals separation processes. Commercial magnetic separators come in a variety of shapes and sizes depending upon the required application. To select the most appropriate magnetic separator for a specific application requires an evaluation of several variables including the type of material being processed, wet or dry processing, particlosize, magnetic characteristics, and processing rate.

Kaolin Processing. Kaolin is a naturally occurring white clay consisting of microscopic platelets of alumanum silucate. The United States is the largest producer and exporter of kaolin in the world, with over 10 million tons valued at over \$1.3 billion





produced in 1993 Georgia generates 80% of the tonnage and 90% of the value of kaolin in the United States (16). Kaolin is used in the manufacture of fine porcelain and as a base filler in the manufacture of high-grade paper.

One of the most widely recognized industrial applications of high gradient magnetic separation is in the particulation of kanlin day. Magnetic separation has been used in the kaolin industry for over 25 years. The primary benefit is increased whiteness or brightness of the kaolin product in paper or ceramic applications. Magnetic separation has offered additional benefits to kaolin processing such as improved viscosity or cheology. Magnetic separation is used primarily to remove small para magnetic impurities of fitanium and iron compounds that discolor the day. The impurities centent typically makes up between 25 and 53 of the weight of kanlin. The quality of the processed day is determined by the resulting brightness. The industrial association that establishes the brightness standards for the kaolin industry is the Technical Association of the Pulp and Paper Industry (TAPPI). Brightness is typically measured using a reflectance technique, and the results are compared with industry standards (e.g., TAPPI 7 645 on-94 for polverized material with 45 /0 [geometry] (22). The improvement

CRYOFILTER OPERATING CYCLE



Figure 14. A schematic representation of a receptuotating-type operating cyclo. Conttery of Carpon, Inc.



Figure 15. A 5 T low-temperature superconducting reciprocating magnet with a 0.5 m home installed in Georgia. This magnet can process 20 tons of kaolin clay per bour Courtesy of Carpon, Inc.

in lengthness after magnetic separation depends upon many processing variables such as the initial quality of the onprocessed clay, magnetic field strength, mesh size and density and retention time. Typical improvement between 1 and 5 brightness units can be expected as a result of processing kaolin in a magnetic field. Essentially all kaolin is processed through magnetic separators. The most common separator size in current use can process kaolin slurry at typically 70 m³/h to 120 m^{4/h}, which translates to a production rate of approximately 23 metric ton/h to 45 metric ton/h (dry basis). Most of the magnetic separation devices used in the purification of kaolin clay are resistive magnets that operate in batch mode. However, bath batch-type and reciprocating-type superconducting magnets are guickly displacing their resistive counterparts.

Jitanium Dioxide, Rutile and anatase are naturally occurring area containing microscopic particles of titamum diaxide (TrO₂), which is the most effective white pigment used in the paint, paper, and plastics industries. It is widely used hecause it efficiently refracts visible light imparting whiteness, brightness, and opacity when incorporated in a huge variety of fabricated products. Titanium doxide is chemically inert, insoluble, and thermally stable under the harancet processing conditions. Titanium dioxeie is produced commercially in two crystal forms-anatase and ratile. Ratile-based pigments are preferred because they refract light more efficiently, and are more stable and less photoreactive. Worldwide, over 2.2 million metric tons of TiO₂ are produced annually. The United States is both the largest exporter and consumer of TrO_{2} ; however, the United States is also a net exporter of TiO_2 . Asia is the factest growing segment for both production and consumption of TiO₂. DuPont is the largest producer of TiO₂ in the world. A

typical method for the separation of fitanium diaxide is shown in Fig. 17. Magnetic separation is used in both the front-end arriening process us well as the final processing of the "fines" of the product. As shown in Fig. 17, both ilmenite (FeTiO₂) and rutile (TiO₂) are electrically conductive: however, successful separation is possible because ilmenite is strongly paramagnetic and rutile is very weakly paramagnetic.

Chemical Processing

Reports of substantial improvements in material properties of polymers, particularly the spatial orientation of polymers, during the polymerization pricess by the application of a negretic field, any intriguing to chemical and polymer manufactorers even though the reports do not represent typical magnetic separation techniques. For instance, Dow Chemical Company has reported an enhancement in the orientation of synthetic fibers extruded in the presence of a strong magnetic field (23). Significant increases in epiny tensile strength of 80%, microlitardness of 25% , and benching strength of 35% have been reported when mutorials of A-giveidyl ether are extruded in applied magnetic fields (24). In addition, increases in electrical conductivity and unlymorization rates have been reported for conducting polymers of polyacetylene processed in magnetic fields. This has the implication of improved product quality as well as productivity increases. However, the benefits and feasibility of controlling spatial orientation in a molecular level while conducting high volume manufacturing are presently unknown.

Water Treatment

Various studies have been performed demonstrating the successful treatment and clean up of wastewater using magnetic



Figure 16. A comparison of separation methods as a function of particles the Courtesy of Carper, Inc.

separation techniques. One study performed by Harvard University and Sala Magnetics showed that HGMS was highly effective in the removal of suspended solids, turbidity, coliform. color, viruses, and heavy metals from wastewater that had been treated with solloidal magnetite (25). In this study, ferromagnetic magnetite (Fe₂O₄) was chorncally combined with traditionally nonmagnetic materials (i.e., pollutants in water). Using this "seeding" technique with magnetite and aluminum sulfate as a floculent, conform bacteria and other solids were successfully removed. For example, Table 3 shows the feed and magnetically processed data for surface and bottom samples. from the Charles River and the Deer Island Stwage treatment. plant in Boston, MA (10). Dissolved ions can also be separated from water systems in a similar manner. Another study (26) involved the evaluation and optimization of magnetic filters on boiler water. In this study, it was shown that magnetic separation was a highly effective technique for the removal of bravy. metal contaminants of gron and copper oxide from boiler water. Results indicated that an expanded metal filter provided the highest efficiency, coupled with the lowest clogging incidences. Flow velocities up to 800 liters per minute were studied in magnetic fields of 0.5 T. Furticle capture up to 98% was achieved under optimal conditions

In terms of commercial activity, two companies in the United States, Aqua Magnetics International (27) and Fluid-Tech International Corporation (28) self magnetic equipment for the descaling of boiler water as well as conventional filtration. Note that extensive research has been ronducted in the former Seviet Union on the magnetic treatment of wasterwater and that several thousand installations use the magnetic treatment of water from steam boilers.

Solid Waste Remediation

Magnetic separation techniques have received new interest in two specific areas of solid waste clean up. The first is in the area of ferrous metallic recovery (for recycle) from municipal solid waste. The Boreau of Mones reports that approximetely 3% of municipal solid waste is comprised of ferromagnetic metallics. Each year up to 11 million tarts of ferrons metallics are discarded domestically. Using magnetic separation techniques, the present recovery rate is about 180,000 time per year (24).

Another orea that has generated recent interest is the removal of aranium compounds from contaminated soil. Successful removal of granium compounds from contaminated soil
Table 3. Effect of Magnetic Treatment on Water Quality

	Charles River			Deer Island		
	Surface Control	Treated	Battenn Contral	Treated	Cuntrol	Treated
Colifum Bocketto, per 190 ml	16.000		16,DJŰ	300	$2.9 \times 10^{\circ}$	18.000
Teladity (JTU units)	20	2	1,700	1	50	3
Culor culor anits:	105	я	3,700	L	150	20
Suspended Solids (mg/L)	2	5	696	5	45	9
· · · · · · · · · ·					· · · · 	

using magnetic separation techniques in a superconducting magnetic separator has been reported (29). This research has been limited to laboratory-scale quantities. The commit feasibility of using HGMS in large-scale solid waste cleanup (e.g., a government-qualified superfund site) has not been determined.

Coal Purification

Coal is the largest fossil fuel resource in the United States, with approximately 180 Sidian time of currently recoverable reserves (30). One of the major difficulties with widespread coal use is the pollution problem, particularly with sulfur oxide emissions. Sulfur in coal occurs in three forms, pyritic, sulfate, and organic. Pyritic sulfur (FeS₂) accounts for 40% to 80% of the total content of most coals. In the hituaring s coals from Ulinois, for example, the mean total sulfur content is 3.57% of which 2.06% is pyritic sulfur. Pyrite occurs in coal as discrete particles varying in size from tens of micrometers to the submicron level.

Coal is diamagnetic, and pyrite is paramagnetic in nature. If coal is crushed and pulverized fine soungh to liberate the



Figure 17. Dry mill separation process of rutils and dimension Courtesy of Corpea, Inc.

pyrite, then separation by magnetic means is possible. High gradient and open gradient separators have been shown to remove between 80% and 90% of the pyritic suffix and between 20% and 50% of the ash. The economic feasibility of magnetic separation of suffur from coal is however highly questionable, compared with conventional processes

SUMMARY

Magnetic separation has been used in the processing of materiale for more than one hundred years. Magnetic separation has a variety of modern uses surging from the simple removal of trump iron to the highly sophisticated removal of weakly paramagnetic minerals from clays. Several different types of magnetic senaration devices are available. The choice and type of magnetic separator hest suited for a particular application depends on several variables such as wet or dry processing, magnetic susceptibility of the materials present, nugratic fraction of the feed movemaly, particle size, and processing rate. The introduction of high gradient magnetic separation greatly expanded the role that these devices play in the mining of miner als. It has been estimated that the introduction of HGMS has meanly doubled the worldwide useful reserves of kacho clay, by allowing the mining of lower grade material. It is clear that in large-scale high gradient magnetic separators, low temporal are superconducting technology is displaying conventional water could apper magnets. With the recent discovery of high-temperature superconductivity, it remains to be seen if these new ceramic-node superconductors will replace the traditional intermetallic law-temporature superconductors

Magnetic separation techniques are being explored in many nontroditional applications such as wastewater cleanup, the removal of pyritic sulfur and ash from pulverized coal, chemscal processing, and the removal of improve-oxide compounds from contaminated soil. The use of magnetiseeding techniques on nonmugnetic materials may open an entirely new area of herefits and applications. As more research and development is being performed, magnetic separation techniques continue to find new areas of periodical environmental and commercial herefit

BIRLIOGRAPHY

- F. Knub, D. Green, and J. Maloney (eds.), Solid-solid operations and equipment, *Porcy's Character Engineers' Humblook*, 17th ed., New York: McGraw-Hull, 1997, pp. 19-40-19-49.
- 2. J. Jannirolli, and S. Malghan, tell : Paramego-tic separation in oftrafine industrial minerals and coal, Ultrafine Granding and Separation of Industrial Measures, New York: American Institute of

Mining, Metallurgical and Petroleum Engineers Inc., 1983, p. 105, 3. B. Kolm, J. Obertenffer, and D. Kelland, Soc. Am., 289 (5), 46–54, 1975.

- 4. R. M. Bezurth, Forromagnetism, New York: IEEE Press, 1993.
- D. Holliday and R. Resnick, Fundamentals of Physics, 2nd ed., New York, Wiley, 2970.
- J. D. Jackson, Character Electrolynamics, 2nd ed., New York, Wiley, 2975.
- 7. F. C. Moon, Magneto Solid Mechanics, New York: Wiley, 1984.
- B. S. G. Frantz, US Paropt 2,074,085, March 16, 1937
- 9 Z. J. Stekly and J. V. Minervini, *IEEE Trans. Magn.* 12(5):474–479, 1976.
- S. Faner and B. Schwartz (eds.), Supermutation Machines and Decrees, New York: Plenum Press, 1974, pp. 581–594.
- J. Jannicelli, Paramagnetic separation in ultrafine industrial minarals and coal, presented at the AIME/SME Morting, Atlanta, GA, 1993. Reprinted by Aquafice Corporation Branswick, GA
- J. Iannicelli, Clays and Clay Minerals, 20, Great Britain: Pergamon Press, 1976; pp. 64–68.
- 13. Aquatine Corporation. Products Catalog. Branswick, GA, 1996.
- Eriez Megnetics, Phylacts Catalog. Erie, PA, 1997.
- J. G. Bednors and K. A. Mueller, Z. Phys. B: Condexs. Matter, 64 (2): 169–193, 1986.
- J. Jannicelli et al., IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 7 (2): 1061–1064, 1997.
- C. M. Rey and K. Sote. Conceptual design of a 0.8 m diameter HIS magnetic separator presented as the Applied Superconductivity Conference, Palm Desert, CA, Sept. 1998.
- G. H. Junes, US Patent 3,846,471.011, October 10, 1967.
- 19. J. Innuicelli, IEEE Trans. Magn., 12 (5): 1976.
- 20. Z. J. J. Suekly, IEEE Trans. Maga., 11: 1594–1596, 1975.
- 21. Carpee, Products Catalog, Jacksonville, PL 1996
- 22. TAPPI Test Methods, Atlanta: TAPPI Press, 1997.
- H. J. Schneider-Muntnu (ed.), High Magnetic Fields, River Edge, NJ, World Scientific, 1997, p. 31
- S. Dalet, S. Wolff, and T. Schnieder, *Basing Applications of High-Temperature Superconductivity*, 2, 1976.
- R. Mitcheil and D. Allen, Industrial Applications of Magnetic Sepneutron, (EEE Catalog No. 79CH1447-2, 1979, p 142.
- J. Tannicelli and "C. Webster, Electric Power Research Institute Grant No. NP 3273, research project S106-1, 1983.
- AQUA Magnetics International, Products Catalog. Safety Harbor. PL 1998.
- 29 Fluid-Tech International Products Cotalog, Ft. Wayne, IN, 1988.
- L. A. Worl, et al., Magnetic separation for problem meterial and surveillance, to be published in *Emerging Technologies in Haz*ardian Weiler Management, Proc. 21(1), American Chemical Society Conference, Buston, MA, 1996
- J. Ionnizelle and H. Murray, Nucleutal Science Fuundation Grant Nu INSP GT 44219 and NSP ISP 74-21921, 1949

CHURSTOPHER M. REV Duffent Superconductivity

MAGNETIC SOURCE IMAGING

More than 200 years ago, it was discovered that biological processes are accompanied by electrical currents. Since then, measurements of bioelectric signals have become widespread procedures of great importance in both biophysical research and medical applications in clinical use. These studies include, for example, measurements of electric potential differences arising from human heart [the electrocardiogram (ECG)], brain [the electrocorrephalogram (EEG)], and other organs

The same bioelectric activity that generates electrical potentials also generates weak magnetic fields. Because these biomagnetic fields measured outside the bixly arr extremely low in magnitude (~10 fT to 100 pT), it was not ontil 1963 that the first successful detection of the magnetic field arising from human heart was performed (1). This was the beginning of magnetocar diography (MCG). Magnetoencophalography (MEG) was introduced in 1968 when magnetic signals due to the spontaneous u-rhythm in the brain were detected (2). However, it was only after the development of ultrasensitive superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) detectors in the beginning of the the 1970s (3) that casier detection of homagnetic signals became possible. In addition to the magnetocardiogram and the magnetoencephalogram, various biomagnetic fields arising from the bixly have been studied since then

Biomagnetic measurements offer information that is very difficult to obtain with other imaging methods (4-8). MEG and MCG are generated by the electric currents in neurons or myocardial cells, and therefore the in-assurements provide direct real-time functional information about the brain or the heart, respectively. The time scale of the detectable signals ranges from fractions of a millisecond to several seconds or even longer periods. The biomagnetic measurements are totally noninvasive and the body is not exposed to radiation or high magnetic fields. Mapping of biomagnetic signals at several locations somultaneously is easy and fast to perform with multicharmed systems.

The metabolic processes associated with the neural or myocardial activity can be studied with positron emission tomography (PET), but the imaging times are several minutes, and the spatial resolution is about 5 mm. Better spatial resolution is obtained from functional magnetic resonance imaging

Estimation of bioelectric current cources in the body from humagnetic measurements is often called magnetic source imaging (MSI). To relate the functional information provided by MSI to the underlying individual anatomy, other imaging methods are employed, such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), computer tomography (CT), and X ray. In this article, we focus on MEG and MCG, followed by a brief discussion of other fields of biomagnetism. Forthermore, instead of a comprehensive review of MEG and MCG applications we provide a few illustrative examples of recent MSI studies

MEG AND MCG STUDIES

During recent years. MEG and MCG have attained increasing interest. The ability of these methods to larate corrent sources combined with precise timing of events is valuable both in basic research and in clinical studies.

One common type of an MEG experiment is to record the magnetic field associated with a sensory stimulus or a movement. Since these fields are usually masked by the orgoing background activity, signal averaging is routinely employed to reveal the interesting signal component. Recordings of neuromagnetic fields have provised a wealth of new information about the organization of primary cortical areas (9). Sensor arrays covering the whole head have made studies of complicated phenomena involving simultaneous or sequential processing in multiple cortical regions feasible. Because MEG is a unique tool to study information processing in healthy homans, several language-related studies have recently been conducted (10–12).

It is also possible to record the ongoing rhythmic spontaneous broin activity in real time and follow its changes under different conditions (13,14). In addition to the well-known 10 Hz a-rhythm originating in the vision-related cortical areas, similar spontaneous signals actor, for example, in the somatosensory system MEG measurements have provided new information about both the generation sites of these rhythmic activities and their functional significance (15).

Both evoked responses and spontaneous activity recordinga can be utilized in clinical studies (16). For example, the locations of the somatisensory and motor cortices deduced from evoked MEG signals can be superimposed on threedimensional surface reconstructions of the brain, computed from MBI data. The resulting individual functional map can be a voluable aid in planning neurosurgical operations. Encouraging results have also been obtained in locating epileptic foci in candidates for epileptic surgery.

High-resolution MCG recordings have been applied both in basic cardiac research and in clinical atudies. In the first MCG atudies in the 1970s and 1960s, only single-channel devices were available, which limited the use of MCG to subjects and patients with normal sinus rhythm. Introduction of multichannel recording systems in the 1990s made the technique more suitable for routine clinical atudies and for analysis of best-tobest variations. Currently, MCG is being used at some hospitals to test and further develop its chained use

Multichannel MCG studies are particularly promising in two clinically important problems: (1) in locating noninvasively abnormal cardiac activity critical for the arousal of lifethreatening arrhythmins and (2) in evaluating the risk of such arrhythmias in different cardiac pathologues, especially after myocardial infarction. Successful MCG results have been reported, for example, in locating abnormal voluricular preexcitation sites associated with the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome, the origin of ventricular extrasystehe beats, and the origin of focal atria) tachycardias (17-21).

Furthermore, MCG localization accuracy has been tested with artificial sources, such as a pacing ratheter in the heart (20,22). The localization accuracy reported so far, ranging from about 5 mm to 25 mm, is sufficient to provide valuable infornution for preablative evaluation of the patients. In addition to localization studies, MCG has been applied to retrospective identification of patients proof to malignant arrhythmias with about 90% sensitivity and specificity (23).

INSTRUMENTATION

Detection of Neuromagnetic Fields

The detector that offers the best sensitivity for the measurement of these tiny fields is the SQUID (24.25), which is a superconducting ring, interrupted by one or two Josephson junctions (26). These weak links built the flow of the supercurrent, which is characterized by the maximum critical current I, that can be sustained without loss of superconductivity. Direct-current (det SQUIDs, with two junctions, are preferred because the noise level is lower in them than in radio-frequency (RF) SQUIDs (27-29).

The magnetic signals from the body are extremely weak compared with ambient magnetic field variations (5) Thus, rejection of outside distorbances is of utmost importance. Significant magnetic noise is caused, for example, by fluctuations in the earth's geomagnetic field, by moving vehicles and elevators, and by the compresent powerline fields.

For rejection of external disturbances, biomagnetic measurements are usually performed in a magnetically shielded room. To make such an enclosure, four different methods exial. Ferrimagnetic shielding, eddy-current shielding, active compensation, and the recently introduced high- T_r superconducting shielding. Many experimental rooms have been built for biomagnetic measurements utilizing combinations of these techniques (34–36). Commercially available rooms orilized in biomagnetic measurements usually employ two layers of aluminum and ferromagnetic shielding, possibly combined with active compensation. The inside fluor area is usually 0 m by 4 m, and the height around 2.5 m.

In addition, the sensitivity of the SQUID measuring system to external magnetic noise can be greatly reduced by the proper design of the flux transformer, a device normally used for bringing the magnetic signal to the SQUID. For example, an axial first-order gradiometer consists of a pickup (lower) coil and a componention coil with identical effective area and connected in series but wound in opposition [see Fig. 1(a)]. This system of



Figure 1. Left: Chil configurations for (a) an axial and (b) a planar gradiometer Right The corresponding sensitivity preserves lead fields (see section entitled "Distributed Source Models") The pluts show the load fields no a spherical sourface. The gradiometer coil is located above the construct each pattern. The direction and asce of the arrows indicate the magnitude and direction of the load field at the center of the arrow. coils is magnitude to a spatially uniform background field, but it responds to inhomogeneities. Therefore, a source near the lower coil, which will cause a much greater field in the pickup imp than in the more remote compensation coil, will thus produce a net notput.

Most biomagnetic measurements have been performed with axial gradiometers. However, the off-diagonal planar configuration of Fig. 1(b) has some advantages over axial coils. The double-D construction (30) is compact in size, and it can be fabricated easily with thin-film techniques. The locating accuracies of planar and axial gradiometer arrays are essentially the same for superficial sources (31–33). The spatial sensitivity pattern, lead field, of off diagonal gradiometers is narrower and shallower than that of axial gradiometers. These sensure thus collect their signals from a more restricted area near the sources of interest, and there is leas overlap between lead fields of adjacent sensors in a multichannel array.

Nevertheless, distant sources can often be detected more easily with axial gradameter or magnetometer sensors. Therefore, many experimental and commercial systems include these call configurations, possibly in combination with planar gradimeters.

Multichannel Magnetometers

The first biomagnetic measurements were performed with single-channel instruments. However, reliable localization of current sources requires mapping in several locations, and this is time-consuming with only one channel. Besides, unaque spatial features present in, for example, brain rhythms coursel be studied. Fortunately, during the past 15 years, multichannel SQCID systems for homognetic measurements have been developed in provide reliable commercial products. A detailed account of this development can be found in Ref. 5.

A state-of-the-art multichannel MEG system comprises more than 100 channels in a helinet-shaped array to record the magnetic field distribution across the beam simultaneously. The latest MCC systems contain 60 to 80 detectors in a flat. or alightly curved array to cover an area about 30 cm in diameter over the subject's chest or back. The dewar containing the sensors is attached to a gamery, which allows easy positioning of the dewor shows the subject's head or chest. The passtion of the dewar with respect to the subject's head or turso is typically determined by measuring the magnetic field arismg from an ac current fed into small marker coils attached to the skin (37,08) and by calculating their locations with respect to the sensor array. The locations of the marker coils with respect to an anatomical frame of reference are determined before the hiomagnetic measurement by a three-dimensional digitizer.

As an example of an MEG installation we describe the Neuromag 122 system (Neuromag Ltd., Helsinki, Finland) (00). This device employs planar first-order two-gradiometer units to measure the two off-diagonal derivatives, $\partial B_c/\partial x$ and $\partial B_c/\partial y$, of B_c , the field component normal to the dewar bottom at 64 locations. The thin-film pickup coils are deposited on 28 x 28 mm² solution clops, they are connected to 122 de SQUIDs attached to the coil clop. The separation between two double-sensor units is about 43 mm. The system is depicted in Fig. 2.



Figure 2. Left The Neuromag 122^{1N} MEG system Right The 67-channel MCG system (Photographs conversely of Neuromag, Idd.)

The MCG system from the same company shown in Fig. 2 comprises 67 channels arranged on a slightly curved absface with diameter about 30 cm. The magnetic-field component (B_r) perpendicular to the sensor array surface is sensed by seven large-coil axial gradiometers and 30 two-channel planar gradiometer units identical to those described in the previous paragraph.

GENERATION OF BIOELECTROMAGNETIC FIELDS

Cellular Sources

To interpret the measured signals, one has to understand how electric and magnetic fields are generated by biological tissue. In this article, we consider homognetic signals generated by the electric currents in excitable tissue. These magnetic fields are linked to bioelectric potentials, and it is useful to consider both the magnetic field and the electric potential together.

Living cells sustain a potential difference between intra- and extracellular media. In a state situation, most cells use, as seen externally, electrically and magnetically silent. Excitable cells can produce electric surface potentials and external magnetic fields, which can be detected from outside.

The Quasi-Static Approximation

The total electric current density in the body J_i is timedependent, and the electric field (E) and the magnetic field (B)produced by J can be found from Maxwell's equations. However, the variations in time are relatively slow (below 1 kHz) (8.39), which allows treatment of the sources and the fields in a quasistatic approximation. This means that inductive, capacitive, and displacement effects can be neglected. In the quasi-static approximation Maxwell's equations thus read.

$$\nabla |\mathbf{B}| = \rho k_0$$
 (1)

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E} = 0$$
 (2)

$$\nabla \cdot B = 0$$
 (3)

$$\nabla + \mathbf{B} = m_0 \mathbf{J}$$
 (4)

where p_0 and s_0 are the magnetic permeability and electric permittivity of the vacuum, respectively.

Primary Current

It is useful to divide the total current density in the bady, Jr, into two components. The passive volume or return current is proportional to the conductivity $\sigma(r)$ and the electric field E:

 J^{μ} is the result of the macroscopic electric field on charge carriers in the conducting medium. Everything else is the primary current $J^{\mu_{1}}$

$$J(\mathbf{r}) = J^{\mathbf{p}}(\mathbf{r}) + \sigma(\mathbf{r})E(\mathbf{r})$$
(6)

This definition would be meaningless without reference to the length scale. Here our us the macroscopic conductivity, cellularlevel details are left without explicit attention. The division in Eq. (6) is illustrative in that neural or cardiac activity gives meeter primary current mannly insude or in the vicinity of a cell, whereas the volume current flows passively everywhere in the medium

It should be emphasized that J² is to be considered the driving "hattery" in the macroscopic conductor; although the conversion of chemical gradients to current is due to diffusion, the primary current is largely determined by the cellular-level details of conductivity. In particular, the membranes, being good electrical insulators, guide the flow of both intrarellular and extracellular currents.

If the events are considered on a cellular level, it is customary to speak about the impressed rather than primary current (39)

Neurons

Signals propagate in the brain along nerve fibers called asous as a series of action potentials. During an action potential, the primary current can be approximated by a pair of current dipoles corresponding to a local depolarization of the cell membrane, followed by repolarization. This source nurves along the axon as the activation propagates. Although the model is a simplified one, the experimental magnetic findings are in reasonable agreement with this concept (40,41).

The axials connect to other neurons through synapses, in a synapse, transmittler molecules are released to the synaptic cleft and attoch to the receptors on the postsynaptic cells. As a result, the ionic permeabilities of the postsynaptic membrane are inslified and a postsynaptic potential is generated. The postsynaptic current can be adequately described by a single-current dipole.

The dipolar field produced by the postsynaptic current flow falls off with distance more slowly than the quadrupolar field associated with the action potensials. Furthermore, the postsynaptic currents last tens of milliseconds, whereas the duration of a typical action potential is only about 1 ms. On this basis, it is believed that that the electromagnetic signals observed outside and on the surface of the head are largely due to the synaptic current flow.

The two principal groups of neurons on the surface layer of the brain, the cortex, are the pyramidal and the stellate cells. The former are relatively large, their apical dendrates from above reach out parallel to each other, so that they tend to be perpendicular to the cortical surface. Since rearrans guide the current flow, the resultant direction of the electrical current flowing in the dendrites is also perpendicular to the cortical sheet of gray matter.

Myocardium

In heart tissue, there are three main types of cells: pacentaker cells in the sinus and atrioventricular nodes, cells apecialized far rapid conduction of the excitation along the bundle of His and Durkinge network, and, finally, muscle cells that perform mechanical work. Cardiac muscle consists of a large number of individual cells, each about 15 μ m in diameter and 100 μ m long. The intracellular spaces of adjacent muscle cells are interconnected, which makes the three dimensional structure very complex.

An action potential in myocardial cells lasts 300 ms to 400 ms, which is over 100 times longer than a typical moral action potential. Provided that we observe a single myocardial cell at some distance from the membrane, the depolarization and

repularization can be mixteled, respectively, by an equivalent deputarization and repularization dipole

Ventricular depolarization or repolarization propagates as about 1 num thick wavefronts in the heart. A commonly used model to describe such propagating fronts is a uniform double (ager (39). It consists of dipoles with equivalent strengths (as suming a constant dipole density), oriented perpendicular to the wavefront. The model is more suitable than a single current dipole on characterizing an excitation taking place simultaneously in a spatially large region, but it rannot account for possible holes in the wavefront (e.g., necrotic tissue). In addition, the classical concept of a uniform double layer is not valid if the unisotropic nature of myacardia) tissue is to be included.

Calculation of the Bioelectromagnetic Fields

In the quasi-static approximation, the electric potential globeys Poisson's equation.

$$\nabla_{\gamma}(\sigma \nabla \phi) = \nabla_{\gamma} J^{0}$$
(7)

while the magnetic field due to the total current density, *J*, is obtained from the Ampère-Laplace law:

$$\boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{r}) = \frac{\mu_{r}}{4\pi} \int_{V} \frac{d(\boldsymbol{r}') \times \boldsymbol{R}}{R^{0}} d\boldsymbol{r}$$
(8)

where the integration is performed over a volume V containing all active sources, $\mathbf{r} \in V$, $\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}$.

It can be shown that the volume currents in an infinite homogeneous volume conductor give no contribution to the electric potential or the magnetic field, which are solely due to she primary currents, J^{p} (42).

Next, we assume that the body consists of homogeneous subvolumes ε_{n} , k = 1, 2, ..., M, bounded by the surfaces S_{k} . The electrical conductivity within ε_{A} is constant. ε_{A} . Usually, the body is surrounded by air, and thus the conductivity outside the body surface is zero. In this case, the surface prioritial, $\phi_{S_{k}}$ can be obtained from an integral equation (43)

$$(a_{1}^{*} + a_{1}^{*})\phi_{n}(r) = 2\sigma_{n}\phi_{n}(r) + \frac{1}{2\pi}\sum_{k=1}^{H}(a_{k}^{*} - a_{k}^{*})\int_{S_{k}}\phi_{n}dS_{k} - \frac{R}{H^{2}}$$
(9)

ı

where σ_n is the conductivity at the source location, σ_n is the conductivity inside and σ_n is the conductivity outside the surface selement vector perpendicular to the boundary. The term σ_n denotes the electric potential in an infinite boundencous medium (in the absence of the boundaries S_n), and the surface integral accounts for the contribution of the coundaries the boundary to the boundary S_n .

The external magnetic field is then evaluated by substituting the total current density J_i into Eq. (8). It can be shown (44) that the result can be transformed to the form

$$\boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{r}) = \boldsymbol{B}_{n}(\boldsymbol{r}) + \frac{4\pi}{4\pi} \sum_{k=1}^{M} (\sigma_{k}^{n} - \tau_{k}^{n}) \int_{S_{0}} \phi_{n} \boldsymbol{d} \boldsymbol{S}_{k} \times \frac{\boldsymbol{R}}{\tilde{R}^{n}} \qquad (10)$$

where the term B_{∞} is the magnetic field in the absence of the boundaries, S_{0} . Again, the surface integral seconds for the contribution of the counductivity change on the boundary S_{0} .

Analytic Solutions. Analytic solutions of Eqs. (9) and (10) exist only in a few simple symmetric geometries. If we approximate the head or the torso by a layered spherically symmetric conductor, it is possible to derive a simple analytic expression for the magnetic field of a current dipole (41).

$$\boldsymbol{B}(\boldsymbol{r}) = \frac{\mu_0}{4\pi} \frac{F\boldsymbol{Q} \times r_{\boldsymbol{Q}} \cdots \langle \boldsymbol{Q} \times r_{\boldsymbol{Q}} \cdot \boldsymbol{r} \rangle \nabla F(\boldsymbol{r}, \boldsymbol{r}_{\boldsymbol{Q}})}{F(\boldsymbol{r}, \boldsymbol{r}_{\boldsymbol{Q}})^2}$$
(11)

where $r_{\mathbf{Q}}$ is the location of the current dipole, \mathbf{Q} is the dipole moment vector, $F(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{Q}}) = a(ra + r^2 - rq - r)$, and $\nabla F(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{Q}}) = (r^{-1}a^2 + a^{-1}\mathbf{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{r} + 2a + 2r\mathbf{r} - a + 2r + a^{-1}\mathbf{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{r})\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{Q}}$, with $\mathbf{\sigma} = (\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{Q}}), a = |\mathbf{a}|$, and $\mathbf{r} = |\mathbf{r}|$.

An important feature of the sphere model is that the result is independent of the conductivities and thicknesses of the layers; it is sufficient to know the center of symmetry. The calculation of the electric potential is more complicated: The results can be expressed only as a series expansion of Legendre polynomials, and full conductivity data are required (45). Furthermore, radial currents do not produce any magnetic field outside a spherically symmetric conductor. Thus MEG is, to a great extent, selectively sensitive to tangential sources, and EEG data are required to recover all components of the current distribution.

The obvious edvaringe of a simple forward model is that a fast analytical solution is available. It has also been shown (46) that a sphere model fitted to the local curvature of the skull's inner surface (4) provides accurate enough estimates for many practical purposes. However, when the source arises are located deep within the brain or in the frontal lobes, it is necessary to use more accurate approaches.

In the first MCG localization studies the body was approximated as a homogeneous semi-infente space, which can be regarded as a generalization of a spherical model with the rudius extended to infinity (47,48).

However, later computer studies have shown that the semiinfinite approximation is oversceptified, and a more accurate description of the thorax shape is needed in the inverse studies (21,49). A slightly more accurate description of the thorax geometry can be obtained by using cylindrical or spheroidal models. However, the analytical expressions for arbitrary dipolar sources become substantially more complex than in the spherical case (50), and only a few studies to apply spheroids have been reported.

Numerical Approaches. When a realistic geometry of the head or the thorux is taken into account, numerical techniques are medied to solve the Maxwell equations. When applying the boundary-element method (REM), electere potential and magnetic field are calculated from the (quasi-stotic) integral equations (Eqs. (9) and (10)), which can be discretized to linear matrix equations (46,49,51).

In most BEM applications to the bioelectromagnetic forward problem, the surfaces are tessellated with transgular elements, assuming either constant or linear variation for the electroc potentral on each triangle. However, the accuracy of the magneticfield computation may suffer if a dipole source is located near a triangulated surface. The accuracy can be unproved, for exangle, by applying Galerkin residual weighting instead of the standard collocation method and by approximating the surfaces with curved elements instead of plane triangles (52).

Realistically shaped geometrics of each subject are usually extracted from MRI data. The regions of interest (e.g., the heart, the lungs, and the thoras, or the brain, the skull, and the scalpneed to be segmented from the data first (see section entitled MR1). The volumes or the surfaces are then discretized for numerical tulculations. The segmentation and tossellation problems are shill technons and contrivial (53).

The relatively law conductivity of the skull greatly facilitates the modeling of MEG data. In fact, a highly accurate model for MEG is obtained by considering only one burnogeneous compartment bounded by the skull's inner surface (46). With suitable image processing techniques it is possible to isolate this surface from high-contrast MRI data with little or no user intervention.

The boundary-element model is more complex for EEG, because three compartments need to be considered; the scalp, the skull, and she brain. While the surface of the head can be easily extracted from the MRI data, it is difficult to construct a schable algorithm to automatically isolate the scalp-skull boundary. In addition, special techniques are required to circumvent the numerical problems introduced by the high conductivity contrast due to the low-conductivity skull.

It is also possible to employ the finite-element method (FEM) in the finite-difference method (FDM) in the solution of the forward problem. The solution is then based on the discretization of Eq. (7). In this case, any three-dimensional conductivity distribution and even anisotropic conductivity can be incomparated (54). However, the solution is more time-consuming than with the BEM, and therefore the FEM or FDM has not been used in routine source modeling algorithms which require repeated calculation of the magnetic field from different sourcedistentiations.

SOURCE MODELING

The Inverse Problem

The goal of the biodectric (EEG, ECG) and biomagnetic (MEG, MCG) inverse problems is to estimate the primary cource carrent density underlying the electromagnetic aignals measured autside or on the surface of the body. Unfortunately, the primary current distribution cannot be recovered uniquely, even if the electric potential and the magnetic field were known precisely everywhere at the surface and outside the body (56). However, it is often possible to use additional anatomical and physiological information to constrain the problem and facilitate the solution. One can also replace the actual current sources by equivalent generators that are characterized by a few parameters. The values of the parameters can then be uniquely determined from the measured data by a least-squares fit. The solution of the forward problem is a prerequisite for dealing with the inverse problem requiring repeated solution of the forward problem.

The Current Dipole Model. The simplest physiologically sound model for the neural in myocasidial current distribution comprises one in several point sources, current dipoles. In the simplest case the field distribution, measured at one time instant, is modeled by that produced by one current dipole. The hest-fitting equivalent current dipole (ECD) can be found by asing standard least-squares optimization methods such as the lawenberg-Murquardt algorithm (56).

In the time-varying dipole model, introduced by Scherg and von Cramon (57,58), an epich of data is modeled with a set of dipoles whose orientations and locatories are fixed but whose amplitudes vary with time. Each dipole corresponds to a small patch of corebra) cortex or other structures activated simultaneously or in a sequence. The precise details of the current distribution within each patch cannot be revealed by the measurements, which are performed at a distance in crocess of 3 cm from the sources.

As a result of the modeling, one obtains the locations of the sources and the prioritation of the dipole component tangential to the inner surface of the overlying skull. In addition, traces of the evolution of the source strengths are obtained. Again, the optimal source parameters are found by matching the measured data collected over a period of time with chose predicted by the model using the least-squares criterion.

From a mathematical point of view, finding the best-fitting parameters for the time-varying multidipule model is a challenging task. Because the measured fields depend nonlinearly on the dipole position, the standard least-equares minimization routines may not yield the globally optimal estimates. Therefore, global optimization algorithms (59) and special fitting strategies (60), taking into account the physiological characteristics of particular experiments, have been suggested. For each candidate set of dipole positions and orientations it is, however, straightforward to calculate the optimal source amplitude waveforms using linear least-squares optimization methods (61).

In cardiac atoms, an ECD is applicable for approximpting the location and strength of the not primary current density confined in a small volume of tissue. Myocardial depolarization initiated at a single site spreads at a velocity of about 0.4 mm/ms to 0.8 mm/ms, and the ECB) can be thought to be moving along the "center of mass" of the excitation. In practice, localization based on a single ECD is meaningful only during the first 10 ms to 20 ms of excitation.

Because both numlinear fits for spatial coordinates and lincar fits for dipole moment parameters need to be searched at every time instant, the use of even two EUDs becomes very complicated in cardinal studies. Alternatively, cardine excitation can be modeled with a set of spatially fixed stationary or rotating dipoles, but attempts to define the time causes of the dipole magnitudes usually result in physiologically unarreptable results.

The Current Multipule Expansion. It is often convenient to present the electric potential and the magnetic field as multipule expansions. In the current multipule expansion the field due to the primary current. B_{∞} in Eq. (10), is expressed as a Taylor series (62). Thus, more complex source current configurations can be described as higher-order multipale moments, such as quadrupole moments.

Different source models can be built by combining dipole and quadrupole moments. A current dipole is actually the lawest-order term in a general current multipole expansion (62); higher-order terms, such as quadrupoles and octupoles, can be used to account for more complex primary current configurations (48).

Distributed Source Models. Another approach often taken in source modeling is to relax the assumptions on the sources and use various estimation techniques to yield a distributed image of the sources. These methods include, for example, the minimum norm estimates (63), magnetic-field inmography (MFT) (64), and low-resolution electromagnetic formography (LORETA) (65).

The source images can privide reasonable estimates of complex source configurations without having to resort to complicated multidipale fitting strategies. However, one must keep in mind that even if the actual source is pointlike, its image is typically blorred, extending a few centimeters in each linear dimension. Therefore, the size of the blobs" in the source images does not directly relate to the actual dimensions of the source but rather reflects an intrinsic limitation of the imaging method.

The basic concept relevant to all distributed source estimation methods is the lead field. The signal h_k detected by the kth sensor on the sensor array is a linear functional of the primary current distribution \mathcal{P} and can be expressed as

$$b_{\theta} = \int_{M} L_{\theta}(r) \cdot J^{\theta}(r) dr \qquad (12)$$

where the integration extends over the source region G, which can be a curve, a surface, or a volume. The functions L_{k} are often called lead fields, which can be readily obtained by solving the forward problem for dipole sources.

The minimum-norm estimate (63) is the current distribution that has the smallest norm and is compatible with the measured data. Here, the usual is defined by

$$\|\boldsymbol{J}\|^2 = \int_{W} |\boldsymbol{J} \boldsymbol{r}|^2 dv \qquad (10)$$

The minimum-norm estimate of car, be expressed as a weighted sum of the lead fields, $J = \Sigma_{n-1}^{N} w_{k} I_{dn}$. The weighting coefficients are found by fitting the data, computed from the minimum-norm estimate with those actually measured. Since the lead fields in a large array are almost linearly dependent, regularization techniques are predict to produce stable estimates.

Another type of a distributed source model was developed for reconstructing the sequence of ventricular depolarization by van Oosterom et al. (66). Their model is based on a uniform double layer of constant strength. Load fields for MCG and ECG sensors are evaluated at each node on the endo- and epicardial surfaces of the lacart. These transfer functions are weighted by the Heaviside time step function to define the coset of excitation at each surface node. Physiological constraints and regularization are then applied to limit the number of solutions,

Regularization and Constraints

The bioelectromagnetic forward problem can be written as b = Lx - e, where vector x represents the unknown (linear and nonlinear) source parameters, vector b consists of the measured 'MEG/EEG or MCG/ECG) signals, vector e contains the rontribution of measurement noise, and matrix L is effectively the transfer (lead field) function between the sources and the measurement sensors. Even small contributions of the naise e make the solution x very ill-posed 'Therefore, regularization techniques are needed to stabilize the solution (67).

In binelectromagnetic studies dealing with source distribations, the most frequently applied techniques include the transated-sigenvalue singular value decomposition (63) and the L curve method (67). Another new upproach is based on Wiener filtering and orthogonalized lead fields (68). In addition, spatial weighting can be applied to improve the solutions (21,69). Futher improvements are achieved by applying more than one constraint at the same time (70).

One can also make explicitly the additional assumption that the activated areas have a small spatial extent. For example, the MFT algorithm obtains the solution as a result of an iteration in which the probability weighting is based on the previous current estimate (64). According to the authors, this procedure produces more focal images than the traditional minimumaorm solutions. Another possibility is to use a MCSIC-type probability weighting (61) combined with cortical constraints to focus the image (71).

An approach that incorporates the desire to produce focal source images is to use the L^2 norm, that is, the sum of the absolute values of the current over the source space, as the criterian to select the best current distribution among those compatible with the measurement (72–74). In curtrast to the traditional L^2 -norm cost function, see Eq. (184), the L^4 -norm criterian yields estimates focused to a few small areas within the source space.

The most powerful way to constrain the bioelectromagnetic inverse problem is to apply anatomical and functional *n* priori information. For example, accurate reconstruction of the cortex surface or myocardial tissue from MRI data limits the spatial extent and amentation of the sources (75). Solutions can also be made more robust by requiring temporal smoothness. Invasively recorded signals such as intraoperative potential recordings from the cortex or from the heart can also be very valuable indeveloping proper physiological and temporal constraints for distributed sources.

The Relation between Bioelectric and Biomagnetic Signals

Both bicelectric and harmagnetic fields are generated by the same activity. As a consequence, there must be a correlation both in the temporal waveforms and in the spatial mups of the measured signals. Therefore, it is evident that bioelectric and biomagnetic measurements reveal partly redundant information. However, neither one can be used to uniquely reproduce the other; there are correct configurations that produce either electric or magnetic field, but not both. A practical example of a magnetically select source is a radial dipole in a spherically symmetric conductor. On the officer hand, solenoidal currents do not produce any electric potential. This may become important, for example, in cardiac exercise studies (76). Therefore, a combination of magnetic and electric recordings seems appealing to obtain more complete information about the current distributtons. Still, few attempts to combine electric and magnetic data have been reported (21,58,77,78).

In the previous considerations it was assumed that the volume conductor is homogeneous or purcewise homogeneous. However, many biological tissues are organized directionally, and the electronal conductivity depends on the direction of the fibers. For example, the conductivity in myocardial fibers is also three times higher in the man fiber duration than across the fibers. Colli-Franzene et al. (79) showed that a classical uniform dipole layer, as representing the myocardial wavefront, should be revised to take into account the anisotropic nature of the tissue. They were able to explain experimentally measured

potential distributions with an oblique dipole layer, where the dipoles may also have tangential components in addition to the normal component.

Wikswo (80) studied isolated animal preparations and employed microSQUIDs and micromocrashes to measure magnetic and electric fields during and after applying a current stimulus. According to their results, the magnetic field is more sensitive to the underlying anisotropy that the electric potential. With such combined electric and magnetic recordings, at is at least in principle possible to determine the intru- and extrace lular conductivity values.

The anisotropic graphetics of the heart are especially evident near the ventricular apex, where the spiral arrangements of the myccardial fibers can be observed on the epirardial surface. It has been argued that this kind of vortex geometry leads to electrically silent components in magnetic field. However, van Oosterom et al. (66) arrived at the emplosion that the anisotropy does not play a significant role in the ECG or MEG during the normal ventricular depolarization. On the other band, the findings of Brackmeier et al. (76) in pharmacological MCG stress testing indicate that the anisotropy may cause larger regularization changes in multichannel MCG signals than in the simultaneously recorded ECG maps.

The tissue is directionally oriented also in the brain. For example, the conductivity of the white matter in the direction of the fibers may be 10 times higher than the conductivity across the fibers. In the cerebral cortex, the corresponding factor is about two. In general, the anisotropy influences the body surface potentials and magnetic fields. However, in the sphere model a difference between the radial and the two tangential conductivities does not affect the magnetic field, while the influence on the electric potential is still substantial.

INTEGRATION WITH OTHER IMAGING MODALITIES

First high-field MBI devices provide precise unatomical data Besides reconstruction of accurately shaped volume-conductor models, anatomic MRI data on the heart and the brain are necessary to combine the inverse solutions with the anatomy in a climically useful presentation. Examples of source displays of both MRI slices and three-dimensional surface reconstructions are shown in the section entitled 'Applications."

Segmentation of the structures of interest from unage data is presently the most time-conscioung part in constructing individualized boundary element models. In the medical imaging field, accurate extraction of anatomic structures from image data sequences is still an open problem. In proctice, manual extraction of the objects of interest—for example, from MRI spices—is often considered the most reliable technique.

Recently, automated region-hased and boundary-based segmentation and triangulation methods have been developed, for example, for extracting the lungs, heart, and thorax, or the brain and shall. In region-based methods, some features based on the intensity of the images are used to merge voxels. The boundary-based methods, in turn, rely on an intensity gradient detector. Both methods have limitations, but the utilization of prior geometrical knowledge, such as triangulated surfaces generated from data or other subjects, provides useful additional information. For example, a deformable generated round mixel can then provide automatic segmentation and triangulation of the anatomic objects (58:81). MRI is still fourly expressive, especially for large patient populations. Thus, methods are being developed to use other imaging methods for reconstructing individualized triangolated sonfaces. In cardiac studies, two orthogonal thorax X-ray projections, or ultrasuuml images of the heart combined with threedimensional (3D) digitization of the thorax surface, can be utilized to acquire patient-specific geometry models.

In principle, CT images could be used instead of MRI to construct a boundary-cleanent model of the head. The skull is particularly casy to isolate from these data. However, the classification of soft tissues is often easier from MR images and the radiation head imposed by a CT scen is generally considered too high for healthy subjects.

To present the MEC/MCG inverse solutions accurately on the individual anatomy, special care needs to be taken with regard to combining the different coordinate frames. Prior to hiomagnetic recordings, one has to fix some marker points, for example, with RB-D digitization system. During MRI or X-ray imaging, specific markers clearly visible and identifiable, such as vitamic pills or tubes filled with MgCI solution, are attached on the reference points. Three or more markers are usually required to achieve sufficient accuracy in the data fusion.

Functional MRI perfusion studies of ischemic or infuncted beart are parlicularly voluable in developing physiological constraints and in validating the MCG/ECG localization results of ischemia or arrhythmingenic tissue. In brain studies, new possolutions are opened by combining the millimeter-level spatial resolution of functional MRI and the millimeter-level spatial resolution of functional MRI and the millisecond-scale temporal resolution of MEG and EEG. Weighting of minimum-morm solutions by functional MRI voxel information has been applied, for example, in visual stimulation studies (82).

However, at must be taken into account that fMRI and biamegnetic measurements are not always detecting common activity. Very clear changes of electric and magnetic signals can be easily massed by fMRI if they occur rarely or are very tranment thus producing relatively small average changes in the metabolic level. Furthermore, all experimental setups cannot be easily used in likely biomagnetic and fMRI studies. It may thus be necessary to often compare the final results of the analysis of each modality rather than aiming at a combination during the source reconstruction.

It is also possible to utilize positron emission tomography (PET) studies in combination with the electromagnetic methoils. However, PET imposes a radiation load on the subject, and therefore the possibilities to verform multiple studies on a given subject are limited. Furthermore, PET is available only in a few centers, whereas MRI systems capable of functional imaging are generally available in modern hospitals.

APPLICATIONS

Brain Studies

Auditory Evoked Fields. Fig. 3abows the results of a typical auditory evoked response study performed with a whole-head MEG instrument (53). The responses were elicited by A0 ms tones delivered every 4 s to the subject's right rar. The data were averaged over about 100 repetitions with the stimulus unset as a trigger.

The signals were modeled with two correct dipoles in a spherically symmetric conductor. The optimal locations,



Figure 8. Left. Authory evolved magnetic fields recorded with a 122-channel magnetometer (3), to 50 m_☉ 1 kHz times presented to the solgent's right excence every 4 s. The head is viewed from above, and the helmet surface has been projected onto a plane; the cose points up. Hight, above: The pattern of the field encodence normal to the helmet surface, B_{ci} shows the peak of the response. White indicates magnetic flux into and gray out of the head. The locations of the season doors are indicated with squares. The positions and gray out of the head two correct dipoles modeling the data are projected to the helmet surface. Middle, Time dependence of the dipole strengths, indicating the time helicities of the networks are indicates for modeling the left (LH) and right (RH) hemispheres. Q denotes the helpele indicates the dipole strength indicates the helpele indicates of the dipole strengths, indicating the time helicities of the networks of R_1 or model agrees with the measurement. Right, helpeles projected on an MKI surface rendering, viewed from above. To show the supratemporal surface, frontal lubes have been removed from the images. (Modified from Ref. S).

urientations, and time courses of the dipoles were determined with a least-squares search. Fig. 3 shows the averaged data, the distribution of the magnetic field composent normal to the measurement surface of the peak signal value, the time courses of the source amplitudes, and the locations of the source superimposed on a 3-D surface rendering computed from the subject's MRI data. The locations of the sources agree nicely with the known site of the auditory cortex on the supretemporal place. Furthermore, the time courses of the source amplitudes show that the source in the loc hemisphere, opposite to the storulos, is stronger and peaks about 20 ms earlier than the source on the right.

Characterization of Cortical Rhythms and their Reactivity. Since the advent of *KEG*, the rhythmic uscillations of various cortical areas have been described and also utilized in clinical diagnosis, but their functional significance has remained unclear. With the whole-scalp neuromignetonicters, studies of cortical rhythms have become feasible. Because these thythms do not repeat themselves, it is mandatory to record them simultaneously over the whole scalp.

The neuromagnetic brain rhythms in healthy adolts have been recently characterized in (84) and their reactivity has been quantified during different situations. An efficient way to reveal task-related changes in the level of different frequency components is to filter the signal to the frequency passbands of interest, rectify it, and finally average the rectified signal with respect to the event of interest, like the onset of a voluntary movement (85)

Such an analysis has unraveled new features—for example, of the well-known rou rhython, which is seen in the REG records over the somatomotor cortices of an immobile subject. The comb shape of the inu rhythin already indicates the coexistence of two or three frequency components, strongest around 10 Hz and 20 Hz. The sources of the magnetic mu rhythm components cluster over the band somatomotor curtex, with slightly more anterior dominance for the 20 Hz than for the 10 Hz closter (see Fig. 4) (85). This difference suggests that the 20 Hz rhythm receives a major contribution from the prescultal motor curtex, whereas the 10 Hz component scems mainly postcentral (somatisensory) in origin.

Further support for the functional segregation of these rhythms comes from their different reactivity to movements (15). The level of the 10 Hz rhythm starts to dampen 2 s before a voluntary movement and then returns back within 1 s after the movement. Suppression of the 20 Hz rhythm starts later



Figure 4. Reactivity of spontaneous activity over the somatomotor hand region in susceilation with voluntary right index finger movements. The time dependencies of the 30 Hz and 20 Hz activities are indicated by the two traces showing the temporal spectral evolution (64) of the signal recorded over the left somnitomotor hand area. The breatises of sources corresponding to 10 Hz and 20 Hz activity are indicated on the 3 D surface condition of the sobjectly magnetic resonance images. The site of the source for electrical stimulation of the methan nerve at the wrist is shown by the black dat.

and is relatively smaller, and the "rebound" after the movement is earlier and stronger than in the 10 Hz band.

Locating Epileptic Foci. Many patients with drug-resistant epilepsy soffer from services triggered by a small defective brain area. In preoperative evaluation of these patients, it is important to know whether their epileptic discharges are focal and how many brain areas are involved, what is the relative timing between the foci, and how close they are to function ally irretrievable locations such as the motor and speech areas. MEG recordings have been able to answer some of these questions (26,67). The patients cannot be studied with MEG during major scizures, owing to movement artifacte, but in many cases the foci can be identified frum interictal discharges occurring during the periods between the seizures.

As an example of a recording during an actual sectore Fig. 5 depicts MES signate from a patient who suffered from convulsions in the left side of his face (88). He was able to tragger the sectore by touching the left-side lower gum with his tongue.

The recordings show clear epileptic spikes which appear only in the right hermsphere at first, but later start to emerge in the corresponding areas of the left hemisphere as well. After the 14 statistic discharges ended abroptly Figure 5 also depicts locations of the spike ECDs, superimposed on the patient's MRI surface rendering. The sources are clostered along the anterior side of the central sulcus, extending 1 cm to 3 cm lateral to the SI hand area, as determined by somatoscosory median-nerve control responses. The sources of the epilep-



Figure 5. Epileptic distharges after volumery triggering (86). The trace on the top illustrates MEG activity from the right beotophete during the while 14 a seizure. In the middle and lower parts of the figure, selected periods (a, b, c) are expanded and signals generated by the corresponding area in the left hemisphere are shown for enparison. Lower right corner. Loent-one of ECDs for real and interactal spikes (white cluster), and for auditory (AEF) and constonancy (SEF) evolved lields, superimposed on the patient's MHI surface rendering. The rourse of the Rolandic and Sylvian fissures are indicated by the white dashed lines. (Adopted from Ref. 98.)

tic spikes thus agree with the free representation area in the precentral primary motor cortex and are in accord with the patient's clinical symptoms. Spikes generated by the focus in the left beausphere lagged behaud the right-sided spikes by about 20 ms and probably reflected transfer of the discharges through corpus callosum from the primary to the secondary focus. Identification of secondary epileptogenesis is reportant for presurgical evaluation of patients because the secondary fixe may with time become independent, and zemoval of the primary focus would then no longer be efficient in preventing the seizures.

Cardiac Studies

Ventricular Preexcitation. Ventricular preexcitation associated with the Wolff-Parkmain White (WPW) syndrime is caused by an accessory pathway between the atria and the ventricles, which may lead to supraventricular tachycardias and life-threatening arrhythmias refractory to drug therapy. Intervention therapy, such as catheter ablation, is then needed, but a necessary condition for successful elimination of the premature conduction is the reliable localization of the accessory pathway.

Catheter ablation techniques have significantly decreased the need for cardiac surgery, but simultaneously increased the need for accurate noninvusive localization techniques. Noninvasively obtained prior knowledge of the site of the accessory pathway can improve the result and shorten the time needed in invesive ortheter mapping, and thus diminish patient disconfort and surgical risk. In addition, shortening the time meded in invasive catheterization also reduces rudiation exposure due to fluorescopy montaring of eatheter positions.

474 MAGNETIC SOURCE IMAGING

Several MCG studies have been reported on larahoung the ventricular pressolution site in patients with the WPW syndrome (17,20.89,90). The reported accuracy of MCG localizations ranges from 5 mm to 25 mm, which is sufficient to be useful in preablative or presurgical consultration of the patients.

Ventricular Tachycardia. Generally, malignant ventricular tachycardia (VT) is much more difficult to locate for ablation treatment than the ventricular preexcitation. It is estimated that the lesion produced by the application of RF current is about 6 mm in diameter and about 3 mm in depth. Currently, chrocal practice for precise localization introduces several catheters through arteries and voirs into the ventricles for invasive recordings of cardiac activation sequences. This procedure can be very time-consuming, and ouninvasively obtained information could shorten the procedure from several hours even to less than 1 hour.

VT patients include gostinyocardial infarction patients, patients with different cardiomyopathies, and patients with numerorphic VT. MCG studies reported so for have attempted to locate the origin of ventricular extrasystoles or arrhythmias that have occurred spontaneously during the MCG recording (17,19,20). The results have been compared to the results of successful catheter inhations, presented over X-roy and magnetic resonance images when available. In such comparisone the average MCG locations were found to be within 2 cm from the invasively determined sites.

Examples of such studies are displayed in Fig. 6. These results were obtained with an individualized boundary-element torso model; an example is displayed in Fig. 7(a).



50 pT 500 ms

1



(C)



- (d)

Figure 6. (a) MCG curves recorded from a patient suffering from vector data tachycardia (VT). The series axial gradianeters show (1) a normal sinus-rhythm beat and (2) an arrhythmogene ventricolar expressively (VSS) (b) Escentians of the rangmetic field comparent perpendicular to the sensor array (see Fig. 2) The field values were interpolated from the measured data with the measurem norm estimation (56). Solid and dashed lines here indicate, respectively, respect flux (owards) control (b) classing BCD (d) Vastmentar activation sequence reconstructed from the VES by the method reported in Ref. 93



Figure 7. (a) An example of a boundary element torso model constructed from MRI data. The surfaces of the body, the longs, and the board are travellated into triangulated person's The total number of triangles here is about 1500, (b) An example of MCG localization of tachyrardias. The patient was suffering from continuous atrial tachycardia, with the heart rate of over 140 bears per minute. BCD inclusion was performed from 65 channel MCG data at the onset of the Power, and the BC blocations were supering seed on the MRI data. Catheter ablation performed later at the location proported by the MCG result terminated all arrhythmias.

Cardiac Evoked Helds. Artificial dipole sources inserted in the heart with catheters (e.g., during routine electrophysiological studies, have been tested to verify the MCG localization accuracy (17,20,32). For example, Fenici et al. (22) studied five patients in whom a nonniagoetic pacing catheter (16) was used. to stimulate the heart during MCG recordings. In general, the MCG localization results at the peak of 2 ms catheter sumub and at the onset of paced myocardial depolarization were within 5 mm from each other. Because these are two playsically different sources, the study provided further support for the good localization accuracy of the MCG method. In another recent study (91), simultaneous MCG and ECG mapping recordings were performed during pacing in 10 patients. The local izations were compared to catheter positions documented in fluaroscopic X-ray images. MCG results were, on the average, within 5 mm from the documented eatheter position, while the ECG showed somewhat worse accuracy.

Reconstruction of Distributed Sources. For comparison of MCG and ECG mapping results, sumifianeously resulted MCG and ECG data were applied in reconstructing ventricular depolarization confirmers on the endo- and epicardial surfaces of the brart of a healthy normal subject (92). The results showed almost identical isochrones from both magnetic and electric data. An example of the MCG isochrone reconstructions is shown in Fig. 6/d).

The minimum-norm estimates (MNE) have been applied in estimating the primary current distributions underlying measured MCG signals. An intrinsic problem associated with MNE is that it has a poor depth resolution of the sources without proper regularization and physiological constraints. Various regularization and depth weighting methods have shown promising results (21.69).

Recently, depth weighted MNE reconstruction has been applied in MCG data recorded in patients with chromosl mycardial ischemia (18.93). Chrocal validation for the results was provided by SPECT maging. In general, the site of smallest current density, i.e., the missing depolarization component, was in good agreement with the SPECT result.

OTHER APPLICATIONS

Until now, magnetic source imaging studies have been focused in the brain or the heart. However, other applications are being developed as well.

Studies of rempound action fields (CAF) from peripheral nerves require a very high sociality, because the signal amphilodes are below 10 fT (94-97). In addition, signal averaging of hundreds of stimulated sequences may be required to find the CAF waveforms. Analysis of the waveforms demonstrates the quadropolar nature of neural activity, provided that the observations are performed at a distance from the depolarized segment (96). Multipole analysis has been applied to model the depolarization process; digole terms reveal the location and intensity of the source, while actupolar terms are related to its longational extension along the nerve fibers. In addition to studying propagation of the nerve impulses, multichannel measurements can reveal abnormabilies such as proximal conduction blocks in the spinal nervous system (97)

High sensitivity and specific signal processing are also needed to detect low-frequency (0.05–0.15 Hz) magnetic sigoals from gastrointestinal system (98,89). Distinguishing between gastric and small lowel signals may provide a new tool to study abnormalities in the gastrointestinal system (98). Multuchained recordings allow feasible and continuous constaring of magnetically marked capsules within the gastrointestinal tract with a temporal resolution on the order of milliseconds and a spatial resolution within a range of millimeters (99).

DISCUSSION

Modeling

Despite the inevitable analogothes in source analysis, very useful information has been obtained by using relatively simple models. For example, the localization of functional handmarks in the brain using the current dipole model and a spherically symmetric conductor in the forward calculations has idready been developed to the extent of being a reliable clinical tool (16). The results of these studies have also been often verified in direct introoperative recordings.

The focal source analysis methods are sometimes criticized for being too extreme simplifications of the actual current distributions, which renders them rather useless in the study of complicated functions performed by the human brain. This intuitively appealing opinion is not well backed up by experimental data. Rather, recent fMRI data may be taken to indicate that the significant changes in metabolic activity associated even with complicated cognitive tasks might well be relatively facal.

Reconstruction methods to deal with source distributions are under development, but there are still difficulties in interpretation of the results obtained from measured data. Inplementation of available physiological information and constraints is probably needed to obtain a reasonable correlation with actual physiological events in the source regions. If the assumptions of the source model are not compatible with the characteristics of the actual electrophysiological sources, misloading estimates may ensue. As discussed in the section entitled "Distributed Source Models," the distributed source model may produce a distributed estimate oven for a focal source. Only very recently have there been attempts to reliably estimate the actual extent of the current source using Bayesian parameter estimation (100) in conjunction with reasonable physiological and anatomical constraints

Invasively recorded cardiac signals, such as potentials measured during electrophysiological studies on epi- and endocardial surfaces, provide the golden standard for validation of the MCG/ECG inverse solutions. Even though patient populations studied by MCG before or during invasive catheterization are still relatively small, the localization studies of various cardiac arrhythmias have shown encouraging results. Multichannel systems and accurate combination of the results with cardiac anatomy have suppoved the accuracy to the order of 5 mm to 10 mm, which as sufficient to and in glanning the curative therapy of arrhythmia patients. Further validation for the MCG localization accuracy has been obtained by locating artificial dipule sources, such as pacing catheters inserted into the heart during electrophysiological studies.

Future Trends

The arrhythmogenic substrate is not manifested in all normal sinus rhythm recordings, and interventions may be needed during MCG to stimulate controlled arrhythmas to locale them. Thus, MCG should be available in a catheterization laboratory, but the demand of magnetical shielding and liquid belium is, in practice, limiting the use of MCG mapping in guiding investve arrhythmas localization. For this purpose, compact-size higher-order magnetomolor arrays operated without external shielding would be required.

MCG mapping mater exercise is a promising tool for noninvasive characterization and localization of myocardial ischemia (76) Improved source modeling and localization methods are under test, especially in patients with caronary artery disease (93).

Despite over 20 years of MCC and MEG research, common standards of necessarement techniques, data processing, and presentation are still lacking. Suggeshoots for such standards are emerging, but it is clear that there is and will be large differences between sensors and their arrangement in multichannel magnetometers. Fortunately, tools such as MNE (63,68) have been developed to interpolate signal morphologies and isocontone maps that are directly comparable to studies performed in other centers

The field of magnetic source imaging may expand during the next few years with the implementation of low-noise high- T_z SQUID arrays that can be operated at the temperature of liquid nitrogen (101–103). The higher noise level of the high- T_r SQUIDs is, particularly in MEG studies, partly compensated by the smaller distance between the sensors and the body. At present, however, the low T_z SQUIDs are easier to produce and thus cheaper than the high- T_z ones.

The future of MEG, with commercial whole-head instruments now available, looks promising. The capability to monitor activity of several cartical regions simultaneously in reak time provides a unique window to study the neural basis of human cognitive functions. Important information can be obtained bath from evoked responses and from spontaneous mgoing activity.

Effective signal processing and source modeling software is going to be increasingly important to extract all available functional data from the electromagnetic signals emerging from the brain and the heart. The widely discussed issue of whether the electric or magnetic technique is superior to the other is not of primary importance. Rather, one should apply a suitable alliance of different types of imaging methods, taking into account the characteristics and aims of the experiment being performed to yield optimal information about the functions of the biological system.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- G. Baule and R. MtFee. Detection of the magnetic field of the heart, Am. Human J., 66, 95-96, 1960.
- D. Cohen, Magnetoencepholograpy: Evidence of ningnetic fields produced by alpha-rhythm corrents. Science, 140: 784–786, 1968.
- D. Cohen, E. A. Edelsack, and J. E. Zimmerman. Magnetocar- *diagrams* taken inside a shielded room with a superconduct- ing point-contact magnetometer, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 16: 276-280, 1970
- R. Hari and R. Furamaran, Cerebral asognetic fields. CRC Crit. Rev. Biomed. Eng., 14: 93-126, 1986
- M. Harmalainen et al., Magnetuenrephalography—theory, austramentation, and applications to noninvestive studies of the working human brain. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 65: 413–497, 1993.
- J. Nemmer, Solving the inverse problem in magnetocardingraphy. IKEE Eng. Mod. Biol., 13: 487–496, 1294.
- K. Näätänen, R. Hommerni, and K. Albo, Magnetoencephalography in studies of human registive brain function. *Trends Neu*rosci. 17, 389–385, 1994.
- W. Andrae and H. Nowek (eds.). Magnetism in Medicine, Berlin: Wiley VCH, 1999.
- R. Ham, Magnetoencephalography as a Tunt of Christel Neurophysiology, in E. Niedermeyer and F. Lopes do Silva (eds.), Electroporephalography: Basic Principles, Clinical Applications, and Related Fields, 3rd ed., Bultimore, MD: Williams and Wilkins, 1993, pp. 1035-1061
- R. Salmelin et al., Dynamica of brain activation during prilors naming, Nature, 368: 463–465, 1994.
- B. Salatelia et al., Impaired visual word processing in dyslexia revealed with magnetic complexingraphy. Ann. Neurol., 40: 157– 162, 1996.

- B. Nastanen et al., Language-specific phonome representations revealed by electric and magnetic brain responses. Nature, 305 432–434, 1997
- R. Hari and R. Salmelin, Human cortical cardiations: A neuromagnetic view through the skull, Trends Neurosci., 20: 44–49, 1997.
- C. Teache et al., Characterizing the local oscillatory content of spontaneous corrucal activity during mental imagery. Cogr. Brain Res., 2 (243-249, 1985).
- K. Salmelin et al., Functional segregation of onwement-rolated rhythmac activity in the Juman brain, NeuroImage, 2 (207-243, 1995.
- 16 J. D. Lewine and W. W. Orrison, Magnetics complialography, in W. G. Bradley and G. M. Bydder (eds.), Advanced MR Imaging Techniques, London: Martin Dunitz, 1897, pp. 333–354.
- R. Fenici and G. Melillo, Magnetocardiography: Ventricular archythmics, *Rus. Heart. 7*, 14 (Suppl. F. 53-60, 1393).
- 18 M. Miskipärvi et al., New Irends in clinical magnetocardiography, in C. Anne et al. (eds.), Advances in Biomagnetism Research: Biomag98, New York, Springer Verlag, 1998 (in press).
- M. Oeff and M. Burghoff, Magnetocardiography: localization of the origin of ventricilar ectopic beats. PACE, 17: 617-522, 1994
- 20 W. Mushage et al., Evaluation of the non-invasive localization of cardine archythmias by multichannel magnetocondungraphy (meg), Int & Conduct Imaging, 12: 47-59, 1996.
- G. Strenck, R. Lamothe, and M. Gardner, Magnetocardiographic and Electrocardiographic Mapping Studies, in H. Weinstock (ed.), SQU3D Sensors: Fundamentals Pabrication and Applications, Amsterdam Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1996, NATO ASI Ser., pp. 413–444
- R. Fenici et al., Non flouroscopic localization of an amogenetic stim ulation catheter by multichannel magnetocorrdingraphy, PACE, 1998, in press.
- 23 J. Montonen. Magnetocardiography in identification of patients prone to malagnant arribythmias, in C. Bourngartner et al. (eds.), *Biomagnetism: Funcionsental Research and Clinical Applications*, New York: Springer-Verlag, 1995, pp. 606-611.
- 24. 0. V. Lounssinsa, Experimental Principles and Methods Bolow IR, London Academic Press, 1974.
- 25 T. Ryhnnen et al., SQUID magnetometers for low-frequency appheations, J. Low Temp. Phys., 76 387-336, 1999.
- 26 B. D. Josephson. Pessible new effects in superconductive tunrelling. Phys. Lett., 1: 251–253, 1962.
- J. Clarke, A superconducting galvanometer emphasing Jasephson tunnelling, *Philos. Mag.*, 12: 115, 1966.
- J. Clarke, W. M. Gouhou, and M. B. Ketchen, Transel junction de SQUSD fabrication, operation, and performance, *et Low Temp.* Phys., 26: 99-144, 1976.
- C. D. Tesche et al., Practical de SQUIDs with extremely low 1. f. noise, IEEE Trans. Magn., MAG-21: 1032–1035, 1965.
- D. Cohen. Magnetic measurement and display of our cert generators in the brain. Part J: The 2-D detector, Dig. 12th Int. Conf. Med. Hiol. Eng. Jerusalem, p. 15, 1979 (Petah Tituta, Israel, Beilinson, Medical Confert).
- 31. S. N. Erne and G. L. Ramani. Performances of Higher Order Planor Grediometers for Biomagnetic Source Localization. in H D. Hahlbohm and H. Lubbig (eds.), SQUID35 Superconducting Quantum Interference Divises and their Applications, Berlin, de Bruyter, 1995, pp. 951–961.
- 32 P. Carelli and R. Leoni, Localization of biological sources with arrays of superconducting gradiometers, J. Appl. Phys., 59, 645-850, 1986
- [33] J. E. T. Knoultike et al., A 122-channel whole-cortex SQUID system.

for measuring the brain's magnetic fields. *IEEE* Trans. Magn., 29: 3315–3320, 1993

- D. Cohen, Low-field room built at high-field magnet lab. Phys. Toxlop, 23, 56-57, 1970.
- S. N. Erne et al., The berlin magnetically shielded room (BMSR) Section B—performances, in S. N. Erne, H. D. Haldbolm, and H. Lubling (eds.), Biomogenetism, Berlin: de Grayter, 1981, pp. 79-87.
- V. O. Kelhä et al., Design. construction, and performance of a large valuene magnetic shield. *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-18: 260-270, 1982.
- J. Knowthalet al., Design considerations for multichannel SQUID magnetameters. in H. D. Hubbohm and B. Lubbig (eds.), SQUID'85. Superconducting Quantum Interference Decares and their Applications, Berlin de Grayter, 1985, pp. 939-944.
- S. N. Erné et al., The positioning problem in binmagnetic measurements: A solution for narrays of superconducting sensors, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-23, 1319-1322, 1997
- 30 R. Plonsey, Broetestric Phenomena, New York: McGraw-Hill, 1959.
- J. P. Wikswu, Jr., J. P. Berech, and J. A. Freeman, Magnetic field of a nerve impulse: First measurements, *Science*, 208, 53–55, 1980
- J. P. Wikswo, Jr., Cellular magnetic fields. Fundamental and apphed invessorements on merve axons, peripheral nerve bundles, and skeletal muscle, J. Clin. Neurophysical. 8: 170–168, 1991.
- J. Survus. Basic mathematical and electromagnetic concepts of the biomagnetic inverse problem. Phys. Mec. Biol., 32: 11–22, 1987.
- A. U. E. Barnard, I. M. Duck, and M. S. Lynn, The application of electromagnetic theory to electrocondiclogy. J. Derivensor of the integral equations, *Ringbys. J.*, 7, 443–468, 1967.
- 14 D.B. Geselowitz. On the magnetic field generated outside an infinmogeneous volume conductor by internal current sources. *IEEE* Trans. Magn., MAG-8, 346-347, 1970.
- Z. Zhang, A fast method to compute surface potentials generated by dipoles within multilayer anisotropic spheres. *Phys. Med. Biol.*, 40, 335–349, 1925.
- M. S. Hamalainen and J. Sarvos, Realistic conductivity geometry model of the human head for interpretations of neuroinagenetic data, *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Kng.*, 36: 165-171, 1959.
- & N. Erné et al., Modelling of the His-Parkinje Heart Conduction System, in H. Weinberg, G. Stronck, and T. Karila (eds.). Biomogactions, Applications & Divory, New York, Pergamon, 1965, pp. 126-131.
- J. Nuonen et al., Magnetoenzthagraphic functional localization vaing current nullipole models, *IEEE Trans. Remov. Eng.*, 30:648– 657, 1991.
- J. Nermonen et Al., Magnetocardiographic functional localization osting & current dipole in a realistic torsu, *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Bog.*, 38: 655-664, 1991.
- B. N. Cuffin and D. Cohen. Magnetic fields of a dipole of special volume conductor shapes. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, BME-24 372-381, 1977
- B. M. Horstek, Digstal model for studies in magnetic ardiography. IEEE Trans. Magn., MAG-9, 440-444, 1973.
- C. Brebbia, J. Teller, and L. Wrobel, Boundary Kiement Inchniques. Theory and Applications in Engineering Berlin Springer-Verlag, 1984.
- J. Lötjenen et al., A triangulation method of an arbitrary point set selected from medical volume data, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 34, 2229-2233, 1909.
- H. Buchner et al., Inverse Inteliancent of electric dyale current sources in finite element models of the human head. Electroconregulatings Class Neurophysical., 102: 267–278, 1997.
- 55 H. Holmholtz. Ueber einige Gesetze der Vertheilung nick trischer Streme in kurperlichen Leitern, mit Anwendung suf die

thierisch-elektrischen Versurhe, Ann. Phys. Chem. 89: 211–233, 253–377, 1953.

- 56 D. W. Marquardt, An algorithm for least-squares estimation of nonlinear parameter. J. Soc. Intl. Appl. Math., 11 (431-144) 1968.
- 57 M. Seberg and D. von Cramon, Two balateral sources of the lateory as deconfied by a spirantempotal dipole model, *Electoscie* exploriogn Clin. Neurophysical, **62**, 232-244, 1985.
- 58. M. Scherg, R. Hari, and M. Hamulumon, Frequency Specific Sources of the Auditory N19-P30-P50 Response Detected by a Multiple Source Analysis of Broked Magnetic Fields and Potentials, in S. J. Williamann et al. (eds.), Advances in Biomagnetism, New York: Phenum, 1959, pp. 97–100.
- K. Untels, M. Hamalouren, and R. Salmelan, Global eprimization in the localization of neuromagnetic suprices. *IFEE Trans. Housed. Log.*, 45: 716–723, 1996
- 60. P. Berg and M. Scherg, Sequential Brain Source Imaging: Evaluation of Localization Accuracy in C. Ogura, Y. Cuga, and M. Sjurnekovin Tests i, *Reveal Advances in Event-Related Brain Protonical Research*. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1906.
- J. C. Masher, P. S. Lewis, and R. Leaby. Multiple dipole modeling and localization from sparodemporal MEG data, *IEEE Trans. Brownel. Eng.*, 80, 541–557, 1992.
- T. E. Katala, On the current multipule presentation of the primary current distributions. Nature Concenter 2D: 680–664, 1963.
- M. S. Hsimilauren and R. J. Donomouth Interpreting magnetic fields of the brain: Minimum-norm estimates. *Med. Biol. Eng. Comput.*, 32, 35, 42, 1994.
- A. A. Iounmiles, J. P. R. Bolton, and C. J. S. Clarke. Continuous probabilistic solutions to the bierosymptic inverse problem, *Increase Problems*, **9**, 523–542, 1990.
- R. D. Pascual-Marqui, C. M. Muchel, and D. Lehmann, Low relation electromagnetic tumography: A new method for localizing electrical activity in the brain, Int. J. Physiologyscial, 18:48–65, 1904.
- A. van Oosterom et al., The magnetoxardiogram as derived from electrocomographic data. Cinc. Res., 67: 1503–1509, 1990.
- B. Hausen, Nonernal tasks for enalysis and solution of fredholointegral equations of the first kind. *Incerse Problems*, 8, 949–872, 1992.
- J. Numminon et al., Transformation of multichannel magnetovarde graphic signals to standard grid form, *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eug.*, 42, 72–77, 1985.
- K. Peaula et al., Comparison of regularization on theds when applied to epicardial manimum norm estimates, *Biomed. Tech.* 42 (Suppl. 1): 273-276, 1997.
- R. MacLond and D. Brooks, Recent progress in inverse problems in electrocarding apply, IERE Eng. Mod. Biol., 17: 73–83, 1998.
- A. M. Dale and M. I. Sereno. Improved localization of cortical activity by conducing EEG and MRG with MRI cortical surface reconstruction. A linear approach. J. Cog. Neurower. 5, 162–176, 1991.
- 72 K. Matsuura and Y. Okabe. Selective monimum-norm solution of the homogenetic inverse problem. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Ecg.*, 42: 604–616, (2025).
- 72 K. Mutauura and Y. Okabe. A robust reconstruction of spinree hismagnetic sources, IEEE Trans. Biomud. Eng. 44, 720–726, 1997.
- 74 K. H. Uurels, M. S. Hémaninisten, and E. Samersalo, Spatial and temporal visualization of magnetoencolphalographic data using minimum-current estimates. *NeuroJourge*, 5, 5434, 2997.
- 75 M. Fuchs et al., Possibilities of functional heatin imaging using a combination of MEC and MRT, in C. Pantev (ed.), Oscillatory Econt-Related Brain Dynamics, New York, Plennin Press, 1994, pp. 435-457.

- K. Bruckmond et al., Magnetosardiography and 92-lead potential respiner. The repolarization in module subjects during pharmacologically induced stress. J. Cardiocust. Electrochemol., 6: 615-626, 1997.
- D. Cuben and R. N. Cuffer, A method for combining MEG and REU to determine the sources, Phys. Matl. Bud., 32: 85–89, 1987.
- M. Fuchs et al., Improving source reconstructions by combaring bioelectric and biomagnetic data. Electrochemph. Clin. Neurophysial 107: 93–111, 1994.
- 70. P. Colli-Franzone et al., Potential fields generated by oblique dipole layers modeling excitation wavefronts in the anisotropic myocardium. Comparison with potential fields elisited by paged dag hearts in a volume constructor. *Univ. Res.*, 51, 330–346, 1982.
- 80 J. P. W. Kawo, Jr., Towee Amontropy, the Cardiac Bidomain, and the Virtual Cathode Effect in D. Zipos and J. Jalife (eds.), *Cardiac Biocraphysiology: From Cell in Bedvide*, 2nd ed., Orlanda, PL: 1994, Saunders, pp. 346–361.
- P. Reissman and L. Mugam, Modeling 3d deformable algert with the active pyramid. Int. J. Pattern Recognition & Acta Intell., 11: 1129–1139, 1997.
- 82. G. Simpson et al., Spatial emporal Mapping of Brons Activity Underlying Visual American Through Integrated MEG. EEG. PMRI and MRI on C. Aine et al. (eds.), Advances in Biomagnetism Research, Biomagnet, Springer Verlag, New York, 1996.
- 8.3. J. P. Makela, Europhonel differences between auditory currents of the two beinjaphones revealed by whole-head neuromagnets, recordings, *Hum. Brane Maga*, 1: 43–55, 1993.
- R. Salmelin and R. Harr, Characterization of spontaneous MEG rhythms in healthy adults, *Electronnerphalogr Clin. Neurophys*iol., **91** 237-248, 1994.
- R. Sahnehn and R. Harr. Spectrotempored characteristics of sensocimeter neuromagnetic rhythmis related to thumb inovement, *Neuroscience* 66, 527–550, 1994.
- W W Surherling and D S Barth Neccordical propagation in temporal labe spike feet on mangetis-neephalography and electrocicephalography. Ann. Neurol., 25 373–381, 1969.
- B. Poeran et al. Magnetoercoepholographic localizations of epideplic contex---empart on surgeof treatment, Ann. Neural., 82 (108-109, 1982).
- N. Forsk et al., Tripenninally triggered eppleptic hemifacial concolsons, NeuroReport, 6 913-920, 1985.
- J. Nenanen et al., Noninvasive magnetocordingraphic lucalization of verticipality precocutation in walf-parkinsun-white syndrome using a realistic latsu model. *Ear. Heart J.* 14, 164–174, 1893.
- M. Möleginve et al., Magnetowardingrophy, Supressenzicular arrhythemas and preceduation synchronics. *Eur. Heart J.*, 14 (Suppl. E): 45–53, 1983.
- 81 B. FRANK et al., Choical validation of these-dimensional cardian magnetic source imaging accuracy with simultaneous magnetecardiagraphic mapping, manaphase action patential recordings, and magnetic conduct pacing. *11th Int. Conf. Recorderizati, Biomap98*, Abstracts, Sendai, 1998, p. 119.
- 32 T. Oostendorp, J. Nenonez, and G. Butskamp, Comparison of inverse solutions obtained from ECG and MCG maps, Proc. 18th Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Kog, Med. Biol. Soc., pp. CD-rum, 1996.
- C. Lacher of al., Non-inversive biomagnetic imaging in company actery disease based on individual current density imaps of the heart. Int. J. Constat., 64: 83–92, 1996.
- 94 L. Trabus et al., Boundgrotic functional localization of a peripheral nerve in mon. *Brighys. J.* 55, 1145–1153, 1989.
- R. Hari et al., Multichannel Detection of Magnetic Compound action Fuelds of Median and Ulnar Nerves, Electroenceph. Clin. Neucophysical., 72, 277–280, 1989.

- H. Hashimoto et al., Visualization of a moving quadrupole with magnetic measurements of peripheral nerve action fields. *Elec-Inventoph Clin. Neurophysiol.*, **93**: 459–467, 1994.
- H.-M. Mackert et al., Mapping of tibiol herve evolved magnetic fields over the lower spine, *Electroscoph. Clin. Neurophysiol.*, 104, 322–327, 1997.
- 95 W. O. Richards et al., Non-invasive magnetometor m-asorements of human pastric and small bowel electrical activity, in C. Baumgortoet et al. (eds.), *Biomagnetism: Fundamental Bisearch and Clipped Applications*, New York, Springer Verlag, 1995, pp. 743– 747.
- 99 W. Weitschies et al., High-resulution monitoring of the gastrointestinal transit of a magnetically marked topsule of Pharm. Sci. 86: 1214-1222, 1997.
- E0. D. M. Schmidt, J. S. George, and C. C. Wood, Bayesiser inference applied to the electromagnetic inverse problem. Tech. Report. Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, LA UR 97 4810.
- 101 D. Drung et al., Integrated YBa₂Cu₂O₇, programmer for biomagnetic measurements, Appl. Phys. Lett. 68, 1421–1429, 1996.
- 102 M. Burghoff et al., Diagnostic application of high-temperature SQUIDs, J. Chu., Eug., 21: 62-465, 1996.
- 103. J. M. ter Broker (p), A -- ven-charactel high-T. SQUID-based heart scattner, Mean Sci. Techn., 8, 327-001, 1997.

Reading List

- H. Weinberg, G. Stronk, and T. Katila, Burnagnetism, in J. G. Webster (ed., Encyclopedia of Medical Decays and Instrumentation, Vol. 1 New York: Wiley (1998, pp. 303–322)
- S. J. Williamson et al., Advances in Biomegnetism, New York: Plenous, 1969.
- M. Unke et al., Buoinguenous, Chinesel Aspects, Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1992.
- C. Boumpartner et al. Biomognetism: Fundamental Research and Climical Applications, New York: Springer Verlag, 1995.
- C. Aine et al., Advances in Biomagianesia Research: Recordphi, New York, Springer-Verlag, 1994

M. S. HÄMMLÄ INEN DuPont Superronductivity J. T. NENONEN Helsinki University of Technology

MAGNETS FOR MAGNETIC RESONANCE ANALYSIS AND IMAGING

Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) was discovered in 1946 by Purrell (2) and Bloch (2). Classically, it is the precession of the spins of nuclei with magnetic moment, subjected to a transverse radio frequency (RF) field in the presence of a longitudinal magnetic field. Nuclear species of biological interest having nonzero magnetic moment are listed in Table 1 together with their Larmor precession frequency-field dependence.

Experimentally, NMR is performed as follows (3,4): model are immersed in a static field R_0 , which results in the development of a net pointization along the field direction, occurring with a time constant τ_1 . Transitions among their spin states are excited by a high-frequency field B_1 , oriented perpendicular to the static field. In a rotating frame of reference instating at the Larmon procession frequency), the magnetization vector of the spin is tilted from a longitudinal direction (along B_0) toward the transverse plane. The angle of procession depends on

Table 1. The Larmor Precession Constant for Various Nuclides

Nurlide	Atoms Number	NMR Proquency (MHz/Testo)		
Hydropen		\$2,5759		
Here to ritage	2	8.6357		
Cadata	19	10,705		
UX) (MD	17	5 77%		
Sudsam	23	11 362		
Physphorus	31	17.296		

the strength and duration of the applied RF field ann is given by

$$\dot{v} = v B_{11} \tag{1}$$

where r_{γ} is the pulse width and p is the gyromagnetic ratio.

Following the polse, the magnetization decays transversely with a time constant z_2 , the spin-spin relaxation time. The polarization develops (or decays) slong the field with a time constant z_1 , the spin-lattice relaxation time.

NMR is the presentation method for the identification of chemical species in weak solution. It also has useful applications in solid materials. The most exacting specifications for an NMR magnet are imposed by high-resolution NMR. The resonant frequency of a nucleus depends not only on B_0 but also, to a small extent, on the shielding provided by the electronic structure of the chemical compound. This effect is the chemical shift and is distinctive for each chemical species. Thus the resonant frequency of the H nucleus in water is different from that in benzene (C_6H_6) or in the methyl in nucleus in frequency are typically a few parts per million and provide a means to identify the components of a complex molecule.

Early NMR spectrometers used continuous wave (CW) inschools in which the frequency of the B_1 field would be changed slowly and the absorption of a tank circuit enclosing the sample would be recorded as a spectrum of power absorption versus frequency. At the resistant frequency a sharp increase in absorption would be observed. The width of the peak depended, aroung other things, on the magnification Q of the tank circuit.

In motorn NMR, a palse of RF of sufficient strength and duration is applied to the sample so that all the spins are excited. The palse is then switched off, and the signals emitted at varous frequencies by the sample during relaxation of the spins are monitored. A Fourier analysis of the signal then transforms the time-dependent spectrum into a frequency-dependent signal, thus revealing the resonance peaks associated with the chemical shifts (3.4).

The uniformity of the static field B_5 is the key to highresolution NMR and to sharp images in magnetic resonance imaging (MR1). A uniform field allows large numbers of nuclei to precess at exactly the same frequency, thus generating a strong signal of nerrow bandwidth. The underlying theory and practice of high-homogeneity superconducting magnets is described in this section. MRI magnets differ from those used for NMR analysis in that spatial distribution of either signal strength of c_3 or c_3 relaxation times are incasured over a volume far greater than that of a sample for chemical analysis. In MRI, the predominant nuclear species examined in hydrogen in water. Density or τ_1 or τ_2 is measured on planes throughout. a body and reconstructed as two-dimensional maps.

The field strengths of NMR magnets are higher than those of MRI magnets. From the discovery of NMR, in 1946, to 1967, magnetic fields were limited to 2 T that could be generated by electromagnets. A 5 T superconducting magnet was introduced. in 1967, and slow improvements led to the 20 T magnetic field. available in NMR magnets today. The driving forces for the inprease in field strength are the chenucal shift (separation of the nuclear species which is linearly proportional to field strength). aignal strength (which is propertional to the square of the field, strength), and signal-to-noise ratio (which is proportional to the 8/2 power of the field strength: Although various experimental techniques have been applied to improve signal-to-noise ratio, including tailural pulsu sequences, signal averaging, cooled. conventional receiver coils and superronducting receiver coils, increased field strength is still desirable for increased chemical shift. Magnets for high-resolution NMR are now almost exclusively superconducting, and it is only that type that is described. here.

The optimal field strength for MRI is determined by a number of factors, including reduction in imaging time, reduction in chemical shift artifacts, and reduction in cust, and by limits to the exposure of a patient to electromagnetic radiation, as set by regulations. Even though most MRI magnets have field strongths up to 1.5 T, a few experimental magnets have been built or designed for functional MRI studies with field strengths up to 2 T. In order to achieve the desired combination of field strength, working volume, and stability, superconducting magnets represent the principal type employed. However, buth water-cooled resistive magnets, iron-cored electromagnets, and rare earth permanent magnet MRI systems have been used or pre in use for special applications. The superconducting magnet is here considered exclusively.

DESIGN PRINCIPLES

NMR Magnets

The analysis of weak solutions imposes several requirements on the magnet. In order to obtain usable signal-to-noise ratios. a large volume of sample must be used. This immediately demands good field uniformity so that variations in background field strength do not give rise to different frequencies, which would, of course, mask the small chemical shifts being sought. High field strength is desired as detailed above. Even if these requirements are met, the dilution of the sample may be such that repeated pulses are required. The final signal-to-noise that can be obtained from a number of polyes is proportional to $\sqrt{N_{c}}$ A minimay take many hours or even days to accomplish. Doring that time not only must the spatial homogeneity of the background field he excellent, but the magnitude of the field also must be constant, or al least must change only very slightly. The reason that any change is permitted is that a frequency. (oc); can be used to adjust the frequency of the RF to motch a slow and slight change in the background field.)

To summarize, the NMR magnet should have high field strength and great uniformity, and the field must be stable.

MRI Magnets

The essential principles for MRI magnets are identical to those for NMR magnets, but the volumes of homogeneity are much

greater, whereas the homogeneity is somewhat lower. Despite field strengths inwer than those of NMR magnets, the stored magnetic energies of MRI magnets are greater by reason of the large bare, which must be sufficient to house correction coils, pulsed gradient coils, and a patient. The MRI system differs sigmficantly from that of the NMR system by including means to superimpose linear field gradients on the background homogeneous field. These pulsed gradients define thin planes in which the field is known but different from that elsewhere. Thus the frequency of molene magnetic resonance is spotially encoded. so that the signals generated by the relaxing nuclei have frequencies which define their position. As in NMR for chemical analysis, the MRI signals may interrogate either the density of nuclei or the T₁ or z_2 relaxation times.

THEORETICAL DESIGN

Almost all superconducting NMR and MRI magnets are solenoids. The reason for that is the relative simplicity and ease of manufacture and design of solenoids, compared with, for instance, extended dupoles. Although the generation of the RF field could be simpler with a transverse background field, the difficulty of manufacture of a high-background field magnet would far outweigh any advantage in the RF coil. The construction of a high-homogeneity selenoid amoveds in three parts: a winding array is designed, based solely on the analysis of the axial variation of the field of a sclenoid, the magnet is wound and the spatial variation of its actual field is mousured; and the unwanted errors in the field arising from manufacturing imperfections are removed by shimming.

The center field of a solecoid is given by

$$B_0 = \mu_0 J a_0 \left[\alpha / (\alpha^2 + \beta^2)^{1/2} \right] / (1 + (1 + \beta^2)^{1/2})$$
(2)

where J is the overall winding current density, a_0 is the inner radius, a is the ratio of outer to inner radii, and p is the ratin of length to more diameter (5). Because SI units are used. throughout, μ_0 is the permeability of free space, $4\pi imes 10^{-7}\,{
m H/m}_{\odot}$ a_2 is in meters, and B_2 is in Toslo.

The field strength decreases at points on the axis uway from the center of the solenoid. The axia) variation of field strongth on the z axis is expressible as a Taylor's series

$$B(z) = B_0 + (a^2 B/dz^2) z^2/2 + (a^2 H/dz^2) z^2/4^2 - (a^2 B/dz^2) z^2/6! + \cdots$$
(3)

Only even terms appear because the center of the solenoid coincides with the ongin-

Figure 1 illustrates the geometry of a thin solonoid, of radius a_0 and extending a length z_0 to the right of the origin. For such a thin solenoid, the derivatives of the field of the origin are as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} H_{2} &= \frac{1}{2} \mu_{0} t x_{0} (n_{0}^{2} + z^{2})^{-1/2} \\ dB/dz &= -\frac{1}{2} \mu_{0} t \alpha_{1}^{2} (z_{0}^{2} + z_{0}^{2})^{-3/2} \\ d^{2} B/dz^{2} &= -\frac{1}{2} \mu_{0} t \partial x_{0} \alpha_{1}^{2} (\alpha_{0}^{2} + z_{0}^{2})^{-5/2} \\ d^{2} B/dz^{3} &= -\frac{1}{2} \mu_{0} t \alpha_{0}^{2} (3a_{0}^{2} - 12z_{0}^{2}) t \alpha_{0}^{2} + z_{0}^{2})^{-1/2} \end{aligned}$$

$$(4)$$

where c is the sheet current density in amplitums per meter and a_0 and z_0 are as illustrated in Fig. 1.

ł



Figure 4. Geometry of a thin solenoid showing the coordinate system used to define courseut geometries.

The field of a solenoid symmetric about the center plane has even symmetry and on odd disrustives. So, by evaluating the even derivatives of the field at the center, the axial variation of field generated by a solenoid can be calculated to an accuracy determined by the number of derivatives used and by the distance from the center. The derivatives can be treated as coefficients of a Cartesian harmonic series so that

$$B_2 = B_0 + b_2 z^2 + b_3 z^* + b_3 z^6 +$$

in which

$$b_{\ell} = \mu_{0} t [Az_{0} a_{0}^{2} (u_{0}^{2} + z_{0}^{2})^{-5/2}]/4$$

$$b_{4} = \mu_{0} t (45 a_{0}^{2} z - 60 z^{5}) (a_{0}^{2} + z_{0}^{2})^{-5/2}]/48$$

$$b_{6} = -\mu_{0} t (i \hbar a_{0}^{4} z - 20 a_{0}^{2} z^{3} + 8 z^{5}) (a_{0}^{2} - z_{0}^{2})^{-11/2}]/1440$$
(5)

For coils of odd symmetry, such as chim coils described later, the corresponding harmonics are

$$\begin{aligned} b_1 &= \mu_0 t [(a_0^2 + z_0^2)^{-1/2}]/2 \\ b_2 &= \mu_0 t_0 (3a_0^2 - 12z^2) (a_0^2 + z_0^2)^{-1/2}]/12 \end{aligned} \tag{6}$$

Notice that the magnitude of any harmonic mefficient is multiated by the denominator of the expressions that each include the term $(a^2 + a_0^2)^{1/(2/2)}$, where *n* is the order of the harmonic. Thus, the generation of high-order harmonics requires coils with large values of current tampere-turns) or small radius. This is significant in the construction of shim coils, as is noted later.

Associated with an axial variation of field is a radial variation, arising from radial terms in the solution of the Laplace scalar potential equation. For instance, even-order axial variations are accompanied by axisymmetric radial variations (6) of the form

$$\begin{aligned} B_{\xi}(x, x, y) &= b_{\xi}(x^{2} - \frac{1}{2}(x^{2} + y^{2})) \\ B_{\xi}(x, y) &= b_{\xi}(x^{4} - 3(x^{2} - y^{2}) + \frac{1}{5}(x^{2} + y^{2})^{2}) \end{aligned} \tag{7}$$

These equations show that if b_2 or b_4 are zero there will be no axisymmetric radial variation of field



Piguee 2. Proceeding of hormonic compensation. Created solenoids gencrating field hormonys of opplicate sign

Figure 2 illustrates a set of mested solenoids. Solenoid 1 gives rise to nonzero values of the harmonic coefficients b_2 , b_4 , b_7 , etc. If dimensioned correctly, solenoid 2 by contrast can produce equal values for some or all these coefficients but with opposite polarity. Then at least b_2 and b_4 will have not zero values, and the first uncompensated harmonic to appear in the expression for axial field variation will be the sixth order. A mineroum, but not necessarily sofficient, isonilition is that as many degrees of freedom are needed in the parameters of the coils as there are coefficients to be zeroed.

This method can be extended to as many orders as desired, for must high-resolution NMR magnets, the required uniformity of the field at the center is achieved by nulling all orders up to and including the sixth. That is, the solenoid is of eighth order. In the design of the solenoids, no odd under appears, of course. The first residuel harmonic will have a very small value close to the center, ulthough at greater axial distances, the field will begin to vary rapidly. Thus, the design of a high-homogeneity solenoid requires only the colculation of the field or the field harmonics on axis, and those harmonics may be easily calculated using only Cartesian coordinates.

MANUFACTURING ERRORS

The theoretical design of a high-homogeneity magnet can be simple because only axial terms in the a field need to be considered. However, the manufacturing process introduces errors in conductor placement which generate both even- and add-order axial and, most significantly, radial field gradients. Further, the materials of the coil forms, the nonisotropic contraction of the forms and windings during coal-down to beliam temperature and the effects of the large forces between the windings may also introduce inhomogeneity. Typically, the homogeneity of an as-wound set of NMR solenoids is not better than 10 hover n 5 mm diameter spherical volume (dsv) at the new ter. For high-resolution NMR, an effective homogeneity of 10⁻⁸ over al least 5 nm day is required. The improvement of the raw homogeneity to this level is achieved by three steps, soperconducting slam colls, room temperature shim colls and, in NMR magnets only, sample spinning, (Additionally, in cases of pour raw homogeneity, ferromagnetic shims may be used occasionally in NMR magnets and routinely in MRI magnets to compensate for large errors or significant high-order harmonica.) The presence of radial field gradients necessitates a more comprehensive field analysis than is convenient with Cartesian coordinates

LEGENDRE FUNCTIONS

The expression of the harmonics of the field in terms of Cartesean coordinates provides a simple maight into the source of the harmonics. However, us the order of the harmonic increases, the complexity of the Cartesian expressions renders manipulation very combensories, and an alternative method is needed. The Laplace equation for the magnetic field in free space is conveniently solved in spherical coordinates. These solutions are spherical harmonics, and they are valid only in the spherical region around the center of the solenoid, extending as far as, but not including, the nearest current element. Figure 3 illustrates the coordinate system for spherical harmonics. The convention followed here is that dimensions and angles without subscripts refer to a field point, and with subscripts they refer to a current source.

The axisymmetric z field generated by a coaxial circular current loop can be expressed in the form of a Legendre polynomial, thus.

$$R_{\rm c} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} g_k r^k P_d(\cos\theta) \tag{8}$$

where r and θ define the azimuth of the field point in spherical coordinates, and u is $\cos(\theta)$, $P_{0}(u)$ is the zonal Legendre polynomial if order n and g_{n} is a generation function given by

$$g_{0} = \mu_{0} (P_{n+1} \cos(\theta_{1}) \sin(\theta_{0})/(2) e^{n/2})$$
(9)

where u_c and ρ_0 define the position of the current loop in spherical coordinates. In this text, it is the convention that u = 0represents a uniform field. The field strength given by Eqs. (8) and (9) is constant with azimuth at constant radius r.

Equations (8) and (9) are equivalent in spherical roordinates to those of Eqs. (4), (5), and (7) on the 2 axis but additionally predict the z field off axis. In the design of the main coals Eqs. (8) and (9) offer no more information than Eq. (5). However, in the calculation of the off-axis z fields, they provide important additional information that can be used in the optimization of coal design when fringing fields must be considered

The harmonic components of the z field can also be expressed in the form of associated Legendre functions of order *n*, *m*(7). These functions define the variation of the local z field strength at points around the center of the magnet and include variation of the field with azimuth ϕ . Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} R_{\rm s}(n,m) &= r^n(n+m+1)P_{n,m}(n) \\ &\times [C_{n,m}\cos(m\omega) + S_{n,m}\sin(m\omega)] \end{aligned} \tag{10}$$

where $C_{n,n}$ and $S_{n,n}$ are the harmonic field constants in testa per meter", $P_{n,n}(n)$ is the associated Legendre function of order *n* and degree *m*, and *n* is $\cos(\theta)$. The order *n* is zonal, describing the axial variation of *z* field. The degree *m* is tesseral, describing the variation of the *z* field in what would be the x = -y plane in Cartesian coordinates $|\phi|$ is the azimuth to the point at radius *i* from an x = -z plane, *n* is the elevation of the point from the *z* axis. Tables of the values of the Legendre polynomials can be found in standard texts on mathematical functions (8)

In Eq. (10), in can never be greater than n. For example, if n = m < 0, **B**₂(0,0) is a uniform field independent of position. If $\pi = 2$ and m = 0, $R_i(2.0)$ is a field whose strength varies as the square of the axial distance line. B_i of Eq. (7). If n = 2 and $m = 2, B_i(2.2)$ is a field that is constant in the axial direction Init increases linearly in two of the orthogonal radial directions. and decreases linearly in the other two. Figure 4 shows a map of the contours of constant field strength of a $B_i(2,2)$ field havmonic for which $S_{2,3} = 0$. The $B_i(2,2)$ field has zero magnitude at the origin and along the x and y coordinate axes. Of course, the direction of the zero values of the S/2,2 harmonic will not generally lie in the Cartesian x and y planes. Depending on the relative values of $C_{n,n}$ and $S_{n,n}$ in Eq. (10), the zero harmone planes will lie at an angle other thun $\phi = 0$ or $\sigma \sigma/2$ The constant field contours of $B_j(2,2)$ extend to infinity along the z axis and represent, arbitrarily in this figure, values for $H_{2}(2,2)$ of 10 4 , 10 5 , and 10 5 , for example. Within the indecated cylinder centered on the ziaxis, the value of the hermonic is everywhere less than 10⁻⁶. For higher values of *m*, there are more chances of zero value. Thus, B/(4,4) has eight planes of zero value, $B_i(8,8)$ has 16, and so forth. A harmonic $B_i(4,2)$ defines



Figure 3. The system of spheroial coordinates specifying field points and current acurees.



Figure 4. Solvians of constant magnitude of a D(2.2) hurmonic field. showing that the tensoral bacomore is zero when the azimuth ρ is a multiple of σ (2.



Figure 5. Surfaces of constant magnetude of a S(3,0) harmonic field, showing that the zonal harmonic is zero when the elevation μ is 38 or 90

a field in which the second-degree azimuthal variation itself varies in second order with amal distance.

The zonal harmonics $B_i(2,0)$, $B_i(3,0)$, $B_i(4,0)$ have conical surfaces on which the value of the field is zero. Thus, for instance, $B_i(3,0)$ has contours of zero value such as are shown in Fig.5 to lie at $n = 39^\circ$ and 90° .

The four hyperbolas are actually surfaces of rotation about the *z* axis, and each represents a constant value for $B_i(3,0)$ of, say, 10⁻⁵ [the uniform field, $B_i(0,0)$ at the origin having unity value]. Within the indicated ellipsoid, centered on the origin, the value of the $B_i(3,0)$ harmonic is therefore everywhere less than 10⁻⁹.

The contours of the zero values of the spherical harmonics are analogous to combinations of Figs. 4 and Fig. 5. The zero values new lie on straight lines reducting from the origin. The surfaces of constant value look like the spines of securchins. As fur the zonal harmonics, ellipsoidal surfaces roughly describe boundaries within which the magnitudes of the spherical barmonics do not exceed a given value. These error surface diagrams are often used in the design of an MRI magnet to identify the maximum calculated field error within a central volume caused by the highest uncompensated harmonic.

Thus, in general, the deviations from the ideal uniform solenoidal field can be expressed as the sum of a large number of harmonics tach described by the associated Legendre function of order *n* and degree *m*. Although the Cartesian expressions of Eq. (4) can be used for the design of a coil system to generate a uniform field, the associated Legendre functions must generally be used for the unalysis of the measured field and the design of shim coils or of ferromagnetic shines to compensate for harmonics with conzern values of r_i (9).

Optimization Methods

With the recent rapid increase in the speed and size of computers, an alternative technique for the design of uniform field magnets has been developed. Not only is a uniform field of specific magnitude required but that should be combined with other criteria. For instance it could be accompanied by the smallest magnet, that is, the minimum of conductor, or by a specified small fringing field. To achieve these ideal solutions, an optomization technique is now generally used. The field strength of a set of coils is computed at points along the axis. and, if fringing field is a consideration, at points outside the immediate vicinity of the system. The starting point may be a call set determined by a harmonic analysis as described enlion Now however, mathematical programming methods are employed to minimize the volume of the windings satisfying the requirement that the field should not vary by more than the target homogeneity for each of the chosen points. Again, for purposes of homogeneity, only field on axis is considered because the radial variation of axisymmetric components of field is zero if the axial component is zero. The field strengths at points outside the magnet will be minimized by inclusion of a act of coils of much larger diameter than the main coils but carrying current of reverse polarity.

All design techniques, but particularly that of optimization, are complicated by the highly nonlinear relationship between the harmonic components generated by a coil and the charar teristics of the coil. Thus the reversal in sign of the harmonic components occurs rapidly as the dimensions or position of a coil are changed. In the example of an NMR magnet shown in Fig. 6, the value of the second harmonic changes by 4 ppm for an increase in the diameter of the wire in the small coil 4" of only 0.1 mm. The optimization of the ampere-turos, shape and position of a coil thus affects the various harmonies in highly nonlinear and often conflicting ways

Design optimization involves the computation of an objective function which contains all the elements that have to be minimized, subject to a set of constraints (10). For example, it may be required to minimize some combination of winding volume or magnet length subject to constraints on the field error at a number of points without the hore and on the fringing field at some point outside the magnet. The objective function would then be of the form

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \mu V_i + L_i$$
(11)

where V_i is the volume of a coil. N is the number of coils, and L is the length of the magnet. The factor p weights the relative



Figure 6. Coil profiles of an artical 8th order compensated NMR solenoid. The graded sections a through g produce axial hermanics of which orders 3.4, and 6 are compensated by actions k and 1 Layers 4 and view shift coils.

importance of the volume and of the length. This objective function is then minimized subject to the following constraints:

$$\left[\sum_{i=1}^{N} B_{i,r} - B_0\right]^i < \Delta R^i$$
(12)

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} |B_{i,j}| < B_{ij}$$
(13)

In Eq. (12) $B_{r,p}$ is the field at point p due to coll r. The equation represents the constraint on uniformity of field. It could also be expressed in terms of harmonic terms; for example, each even term up to $P_{17,0}$ being less than 10 ⁴⁴ B_0 , the center field. (The inclusion of the squared terms in Eq. (12) allows for either positive or negative error field components.) Equation (13) expresses the condition that the fringing field should be less than, say, 1 mT (10 gauss) at a point, outside the magnet system. The 10 gauss criterion frequently represents the maximum field to which the public may be exposed in accessible areas around an MRI system.

The minimization of the objective function is performed by a mathematical programming algorithm, whereas the solution of the constraining Eqs. (12) and (13) will require a nonlinear technique (such as Newton-Raphson), in order to deal with the extremely nonlinear variation of the harmonics as they change with coil geometry (11)

SHIELDING

The minimization of the external fraging field is becoming increasingly important for the siting of MRI systems, so the active shielding of MRI magnets with center fields up to 2 T is new almost universal. (Active shielding of MRI magnets with center fields above 2 T is uncommical and is not generally attempted. (Active shielding is generally achieved by the inclusion in the coll array of two reverse polarity coils at dismeters cypically (wice that of the main colls. Because of the large dipole moment of an MRI magnet, the unshielded forging field will extend several increasion the boundary of the cryostal. Consequently, active shielding is applied to many MRI magnets with central fields of over 0.5 T (12). The effect of the shielding on the harmonics of the center field must, of conree, be included in the design of the compensation coils.

SHIMMING

The harmonic errors in the field of an as-built magnet divide into purely usial variations (assignmenters zonal harmonics, which are accompanied by radial variations dependent on the elevation θ from the *z* axis, but independent of ϕ) and radial variations (resserve) harmonics, which depend on ϕ , where ϕ is the angle of azimuth in the x = -y plane).

In order to compressue for the presence of various unwanted harmonic errors in the center field of the as-built code, additional code capable of generating the opposite harmonics are applied to the magnet. For each set of n and n in the associated Legendre functions, a correct array can be designed to the form of a set of area of varying azimuthal extent and symmetry and with various positions and extents along the z axis. The magnitude of the harmonic field that an array generates can be controlled by the current. This is the principle of variable harmonic correction for both MRI and NMR magnets. (Correction by means of ferromagnetic shims is not variable.)

The shimming of the unwanted harmonics is a process in two independent parts. First, there is the design of as many sets of code as are needed to generate the connersating harmanics. Second is the measurement of the actual field errors to determine the magnitudes of the various harmonic components and the application of currents to the previously designed code to provide the compressation. In fact, because superconducting shims must be built into the magnet prior to installation in the cryostat and cooldown, the sange of harmonic errors in the field of the as-built magnet must be largely anticipated. Typically it might be assumed that the level of harmonic error. decreases by a factor of shree for each unit increase in *n* or *m*. Therefore, as a rough guide it has been found that compensation of up to B(3,0) for the zonal harmonics and up to B(2,3)for the tesseral harmonics is satisfactory in most cases for the superconducting shims of small bare NMR magnets. There will also be a set of room temperature shims in a high resolution. NMR system. Those will compensate for errors typically up to B(6,0) and B(A,S) in many cases. Typically there may be up to 28, but exceptionally up to 45 independent shims in all. They will be constructed according to a different principle from the superconducting shuns. The shuntaing of MRI magnets is accomplished by current shims, typically up to n = 3 and m = 2, and by ferromagnetic chims

Superconducting Axial Shims

These will be simple circular coils combined in groups so as in generate a single harmonic only (13). Thus, a coil to generate B(3,0) must generate no B(1,0) nur B(5,0). Because the superconducting shim calls need to generate only a small fraction of the field due to the main coil, they generally need only comprise one to three layers of conductor. For that reason the harmonic sensitivities can be calculated directly from Eqs. (4) and (5). A set of axial shims providing correction of B(n,0) harmonics for n = 1 through 3 are shown in Fig. 7. Note that, for n fixed linear current density, only the angles defining the start and end of each coil are needed, together, of course, with the corrent polarities, either side of the center plane of the magnet, odd for n < 1, 3, 5, ..., and even for 2, 4, 6,



Figure 7. A set of axial shim cails for harmonic currection up to B13.01 These code generate small harmonics of 4th order and higher.

The set of coils illustrated in Fig. 7 generate negligible harmonics above the third order, B(0.0). The individual coils of each harmonic group are connected in series in sets, there being in each set enough coils to generate the required axial harmonic but excluding, as far as is practical, those harmonics that are unwanted. Thus, in the figure, coils labeled 2 generate secondorder B(2,0) but no fourth order. However, they do generate higher orders. The first onwanted order is B(6.0) but that as small enough that it may be neglected. So also with all higher orders because the department in the expressions of Eqs. (4) and (5) strongly controls the magnitude of the harmonic. Also illustrated in the figure is the effect on harmonic generation of the angular position of a circular current loop. Each of the dashed bases lies at the zero position of an arcal harmonic. Thus, at an angle of 70.1 from the z axis, the B4.00 harmonic of a single loop is zero. Two loops carrying currents of the same palarity and suitable magnitude may be located on either side of the 70.1 thus to generate up fourth-order harmome yet generate a significant second order harmonic. Similarly, a coll for the generation of only a first order axial harmonic is located on the line for zero thank order. The zero first order harmonic larging at 90 , the plane of symmetry. In order therefore to generate a third order with no first, two coils must be used, with opposing polarities. The coils are all microred about the plane of symmetry, but the current asymmetries are add for the oxid harmonics. and even for the even harmonics. The loops may be extended axially as multiturn coils while retaining the property of generating no axial harmonic of a chosen order, if the start and end angles subtended by the coils at the origin are suitably chosen.

The principles described earlier can be applied both in the resign of shim coils and in the selection of main coil acts. A further observation from the zero barmonic lines of Fig. 7 is that the higher harmonics reverse sign at angles close to the phase of symmetry of the system. This implies that, to produce single, high-order harmonics, coil positions close to the plane of symmetry must be chosen because the other coil locations where the sign of the harmonic reverses are too far from the plane of symmetry to be pushlet the only lying a long way from the plane of symmetry generate weak high-order harmonics.

Superconducting Radial Shims

The radial shims are more complex than those for purely axial harmonics because the finite value of *m* requires a 2*m* field symmetry in the azonothal distribution of current arcs, the polarity of current always reversing between justaposed area in one 2. plane (6,9). For instance, m = 2 requires four area, as shown in Fig. 8. However, as for m = 0, the set of current arcs shown in Fig. 8 will generate $B(n_in)$, where n is 2, 4, 6, etc., or 1, 3, 5, etc., depending on even or odd corrent symmetry about the z = 0 plane. So, the positioning of the area along the 2 axis is again crucial to the elimination of at least one unwanted order, n. Fortunately, the azimutical symmetry generatos unique values of the fundamental radial harmonic m. (Eight equal ares cannot generate as m = 2 harmonic (However, depending on the length of the ure, higher radial harmonics may be generated For the shim coil configuration of Fig. 8, the first unwanted radial harmonic is m = 6. The higher tesseral harmonics are much smaller than the fundamental because of the presence in the expression for the field of a term $(r/r_0)^2$. Generally, the are length is chosen to chomo all the first higher-degree radial havmanic. As an example, if the are length of each shim coil shown



Figure 8. Schematic of a set of radial shim coils for correction of a *B*(2.2) harmonic showing the positioning necessary to eliminate *B*(4,2) and *B*(4,4).

in Fig. 3 is 90 the B(6.6) harmonic disappears. The B(10.10) harmonic is negligible.

The superconducting shows are shows invariably photed around the outside of the main windings. Although the large radius reduces the effective strength of the harmonics they generate, the shim windings cannot usually be placed nearer to the center of the coil because of the value of winding space near the inner parts of the coil and because of the law critical current density of writes in that region due to the high field. A comprehensive treatment of shim coil design may be found in Refs. 6 and 9. Those references also include details of superconducting coil construction. If should be noted, however, that some expressions in Ref. 6 contain errors.

Ferromagnetic Shins

Ferromagnetic abarming is accasionally used in high field, small bore NMR magnets, but its principal use is in MRI magnets. It is in that application that it will be described. The principle invoked in this kind of abimming is different from that of abim coils. The shime new take the form of discrete pieces of ferromagnetic maternal placed in the bore of the magnet. Each proce of steel is subjected to an axial magnetizing field at its position sufficient to saturate it. It then generates a field at a point in space that is a function of the enass of the shim and its saturation magnetization *H*, with little dependence on its ahape. For ease of example, a solid cylinder of steel will be assumed. The axis of the cylinder is in line with the field, as showr in Fig. 9. (In Fig. 9 the axis labeled z is that of the shim, not that of the MRI magnet itself. In fact, the shim will occully be placed at the magnet, for either hore of the MRI magnet.)

The field A_i caused by the ferromagnetic shim, contains both axial and radial components. The axial component B_i is the connecting field required, and it adds arithmetically to the field of the magnet. The radial component adds vectorially to the field and produces negligible change in the magnitude of the axial field. Therefore, only the axial component of the align field must be calculated. If the saturation flux density of the short is B_i , the axial shim field is given by

$$B_{\ell} = B_{\ell} V [(2 - \tan^2 \eta)/(\tan^2 \eta + 1)^{2/2}]/(4\pi \epsilon^3)$$
 (14)

where V is the volume of the shift and 2 and 5 are as shown in Fig. 9.



Figure 9. Field vectors generated by a formorphyter shim in the barof an MRI magnet, B_z adds unithmetically to the more field, B_z adds vectorially and so has negligible influence on the field.

The practical application of ferromagnetic shims involves the measurement of the error fields at a number of points, and the computation of an influence neutrox of the shun fields at the same points. The required volumes (or masses) of the shims are then determined by the inversion of a U, W matrix, where U is the number of field points and W is the number of shirus. In an MRI magnet, the shims are steel washers for equivalent) holted to rails on the inside of the room temperature bare of the ergistat. In the occasional ferromagnetic shimming of an NMR magnet, the shims are compone of a magnetic full pasted over the surface of a nonmagnetic tube inserted into the room temperature hore or, if the cryagenic arrangements allow, onto the thermol shield or hebum hore tube. As in the design of the magnet, linear programming can be used to optimize the mass and positions of the ferromagnetic shims (e.g., to manimize the mass of maternal).

Resistive Electrical Shims

The field of an NMR magnet for high resolution spectroscopy must be shimmed to at least 10 \pm over volumes as large as a 10 mm diameter cylinder of 20 mm length. If, as is usually the case, substantial unhomogeneity arises from high-order harmonics to and m greater than 40, superconducting shims are of barcly sufficient strength. This arises because of the large radius at which they are located, as least in NMR magnets (e.g., as the regions x and y of Fig. 6). In general, the magnitude of a harmonic component of field generated by a current element is given by

$$B_{\rm e} \propto r^{n-1}/r_{\rm e}^{n+1}$$
 (15)

where r is the radius vector of the field point, and p_{f} is the radius vector of the source. Thus, the effectiveness of a remote cource is small for large n

In order to generate useful harmonic corrections in NMR magnets for large n and n_s electrical shaps are located in the warm bare of the cryostat. Although in older systems those electrical shaps took the form of coils tailored to specific harmonics, modern systems use matrix shaps. Easentially, the matrix shim set consists of a large number of small saddle coils mounted on the surface of a cylinder. The fields generalized by unit current in each of these coils form an influence matrix, similar to that

of a set of steel shime. The influence matrix may be either the fields produced at a set of points within the magnet bore, or it may be the set of spherical harmonics produced by appropriate sets of the coils.

FIELD MEASUREMENT

The accurate measurement of the spatial distribution of field in the us-wound magnet is essential to shimming whigh homogeneity. Sometimes, measurement of the field is possible at very low field strengths with tray currents flowing in the wordings at room temperature. That may allow mechanical adjustment of the positions of the main compensations colls (k - k in Fig. 6) to reduce the B(1,0), B(2,0) and B(1,1) harmonics. Major field measurement is made with the magnet at design field strength and in persistent mode. The methods of measurement in NMR and MRL magnets are generally different.

In NMR magnets, because of the small hore, the field is measured by a small NMR probe on the surface of a cylindrical region about 6 mm diameter and over a length of up to 10 mm. The measurements are made at typically 20- azimuthal intervals. From these field measurements, the predominant harmomes can be deduced, using a least-squares fit, and alumined by means of the superconducting shim coils, both axial and radial. With subsequent measurements, as the harmonic content becomes smaller, the higher barronaics become evident and m turn can be showingd. The field measurements are usually reduced to harmonic values because the shim sets are designed to generate specific harmonics. The correcting current required in any particular shim set is then inmediately determined. Measozement and shimming is always an iterative process, generally requiring several iterations to achieve homogeneities of better than 10 ⁶ over 5 nm day.

Field nonsumment in an MRI magnet is usually performed differently because much more space is available and because knowledge of the magnitudes of the harmonics in associated Legendre polynomial form is an advantage in the shimming process. In this case, the measuring points will lie on the surface of a sphere. Typically, the diameter of this sphere may be 500 mm. The field is measured at intervals of ϕ , often 20°, around each of the circles of intersection with this spherical surface of several z = const planes, called Gauss planes. From these measurements and by the property of orthogonality of the associated Legendre functions, the values of the constants $C_{n,n}$ and $S_{n,n}$ in Eq. (10) can be deduced by the following methodology.

The double integral

J

$$\int_{-1}^{10} \int_{0}^{2\pi} P(n,m) u((\cos(m\psi))P_{ij}(n)(\cos(j\psi)) du d\phi$$

is nonzero only if i = n and j = m. Then, for m > 0, its value is

$$2\pi(n+n)^2/(2n+1)(n-m)^2$$

So, if both sides of Eq. (10) are multiplied by $P_{i,j}(u)|\cos(|\phi|)$ or $P_{i,j}(u)|\sin(|\phi|)|$ and double integrated, the right-hand side will

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\pi^1} \int_{0}^{2\pi} B_t(n,n) P_{t,s}(u) [\cos(j\phi)] du d\phi$$

= $C_{n,n} \pi^5 (n+m+1) 2\pi (n+m)! \partial 2n+1) (n-n)!$

and

$$\int_{-1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} B_{r}(n,m) P_{r,p}(n) \sin(p) dn d\phi$$

= $S_{r,m} r^{n}(n+m+1) 2\pi (n+m) dn 2n + 1/(n+m)^{n}$ (16)

Equation (16) are realized in gractice by the measurement of the field at each of 60 points (for example) and the multiplication of each value by the spherical harmonics, $P_{i_1}(u) \cos(j\varphi)$ and P, $(n) \sin(p)$ at that point. The integration is numerical. The method usually employed is Gaussian quadrature, some lar in principle to Simpson's rule for numerical integration in Cartesian coordinates, but in which the z = const planes are the nots of the Legendre pilvnanial and the weights assigned to the values measured on each of these planes are derived from the Lagrangian. Tables of the roots and weights are found in standard texts on numerical analysis (14). For the purposes of example, assume the number of planes p = 5, and the number of azimuthal points per plane q = 52, for a total of 60 points on the surface. The planes are at z/r = 0, $z/r = \pm 0.5385$, and z/r $= \pm 0.9062$, r is the radius of the spherical surface. The corresympling weights are 0.5689, 0.4736, and <math>0.2369. The measurements are made on the circles of intersection and two numerical integrations of Eq. (16) performed, one for the costwip...) terms and the other for the sinimple terms. Then the values of $C_{n,m}$ and S_{1 m} are obtained from

$$C_{n,n} = \left[\sum_{\mu}^{n} \sum_{\sigma}^{n} w_{\sigma} B(\mu_{\mu}, \phi_{\mu}) P_{n,n}(\mu_{\mu}) \cos(m\phi_{\sigma})\right]$$

$$\times \left[12n + 1.6n - m^{10} (d2\pi P^{0}(\mu - m + 1)^{2})\right]$$
(17)

$$S_{nn} = \left[\sum \sum w_q B(u_q, \phi_q) P_{nn}(u_q (\sinh(m\phi_q)) \right]$$

$$\times \left[(2n+1)(n-\alpha)! \right] / (2\pi r^n(n-\alpha)+1)!$$
(15)

where $B(u_p, \phi_q)$ is the field at the point p, q, the subscripts p and q denote each of the 60 points, and w_q is the Gaussian weighting for the plane q.

NMR MAGNET DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION

Practical issues peculiar to the design and construction of NMR magnets include the following:

The wire diameter must be such that Jayers of windings near the inner radius of the solenoids do not generate discrete field fluctuation of a size comparable to the desired homogeneity. For example, if the wire diameter is very large, say, greater than 3 mm, the field will develop a fine structure away from the z axis. If the winding lay of a large diameter wire is helical in each layer, a helical structure may arise in the amplitude of the field with consequent problems in the correction of the resulting high harmonics.

Nonmagnetic coil forms must be used because the presence of discrete regions of ferro- or strong paramagnetism will generate large harmonics of high order (large n and possibly also m), which would be very difficult to shim.

The ordex of the ware unust he high. All high-resolution NMR requires high field stability, with a decay not exceeding about 10 ¹⁴ per hour. To achieve that, the magnets operate in persistent mode. A superconducting switch is closed across the winding after energization so that the current flows without loss in a resistanceless circuit. The superconducting switch consists of a small coil tuspaily noninductive) of a superconducting wire equipped with a resistance heater. When the heater is energized, the temperature of the coil is raised above the critical value, and the coil becomes remattive. The charging voltage applied to the magnet then causes only a small correct to flow in the switch. When the magnet has been charged, the switch brater is turned off, the coil cools, and the magnet current can then flow through the switch without loss. If a magnet does not need frequent resetting, its rate of field decay must be small. The joints between wire lengths and the switch and the magnet must be superconducting, and the wire must be without resistance. Although the joints can indeed he made so that their critical currents exceed the operating current, the effective resistance of the wire, owing to its index, may be high enough that decay in persistent mode exceeds acceptable levels for NMR. The resistance of the wore, manifest as a low value of the index, arises from variation in the critical current along the length of the wire. If a short region exists where the superconducting filaments are thin or have low princing strength, a fraction of the correct transfers between superconducting filaments through the copper (or bronze) matrix, giving rise to the resistance. The voltage associated with this resistance appears in critical prereal measurements on samples of the wire.

Figure 10 shows the typical trace of voltage gradient along a superconducting wire in a fixed field as a function of correct. The defined critical current is that ist which a voltage gradient of, typically, 0.1 a V/cm is measured. As the current is increased beyond the critical value, that voltage gradient increases. An



Figure 10. Voltage predicat along a composite superconductor as a function of aready current, showing the effect of order.

approximation to the gradient near to the entirel current is

$$v \sim i(r_t)^q \tag{19}$$

where t/t_{e} is the ratio of actual current to entitled current and N is the index of the wire. The higher the value of N, the sharper is the superconducting to normal transition. Clearly, for values of *i* below the critical value, the voltage gradient will be small; the larger the index, the smaller the gradient. So, for NMR magnets, an appropriate combination of index and the ratio of the must be chosen. The index of most mobium-titanium (NbTy) wires suitable for MRI and NMR is typically 50. However, for mobium-tin (Nb₃Sr.) wires, the index is lower, typically around 30, and the matrix is the more resistive bronze. So, for high field NMR magnets using Nb₂Sn oner sections, lower ratios of *i*/*i*, are necessary. The concept of the index is only an approximation to the behavior of voltage us a function of current. In fact, theory and measurement indicate that the effective index moneases as i/i_c decreases below 1 (15.16). Field decay arising from the index is constant and is distinguished from that caused by flux creep. The latter is a transient effect. It dies pwpy with a logarithmic time dependence after a stagget has been set in persistent mode.

Protection of the magnet from the consequences of quenching must be compatible with the electrical and thermal isolation of the magnet from momentum systems. Quenching is an spreading increversible transition from the superconducting to the normal resistive state in the winding. The conrgy released during quenching in an NMR or MRI magnet must be dissipated as heat in the winding. In order to heat the energy and hence heat dissipated in any part of the winding, the magnet must be electrically divided into sections, each of which is provided with a short, often in the furm of diades. This subdivision limits the energy that can be transferred between sections and thereby minimizes the temperature rise and voltage generated within a section during quenching (17).

NMR Magnet Design

Figure 6 illustrates the winding array of a typical 750 MHz NMR magnet (18). Table 2 specifies the donensions and winding specifications of the sections.

At a current of 307.86 A, these windings generate 17.616 T at the center; that corresponds to 750 MHz proton resonance frequency. The total inductance is 109.2 H, and the stored energy is 5.17 MJ. The first nonzoro lumnomic of the design is the J2th. The coals s, t, n, r, and n, and their mirror images are the axial shim coils located in the annular space x. The radial shim coals are located in the space y.

The winding of the Nb₈Su sections of high field NMR magnets presents particular problems. The wire is wound in the annacted state after which it must be heated at about 700 C for up to 200 h to transform the separate mobium and the components into the superconducting compound. The wire is insulated with S-glass hmill, with a softening temperature of about 1000 C. (An alternative is E-glass. Although the E-glass may start to soften during the heat treatment, it is stronger in the prefired state than S-glass and therefore better survives the exigencies of winding.) After the heat treatment the winding is consolidated by impregnation with epoxy resin.

The forms on which the Nh₂Sn ware is wound must also endure the heat treatmont without distortion. Stainless steel is the universal choice for the coil forms although titannai alloys have been used. The alloy 316 L is generally preferred because of its very small magnetic susceptibility. If the form is assembled with welds, those must be made with nonmagnetic filler, if used. The inner lare of the form must be quite thick if distortion is not to occur. The reason for that lies in the expansion coefficients of the wire and of stainless steel. The unreacted Nb₈Sn wire consists of bronze, mobium, tin, tantalum, and topper. Unring reaction, the copper and bronze have negligible strength, and the mechanical properties of the mobium and tantalum dominate. Their coefficients of thermal expansion are smaller than that of stainless steel with the consequence that, as the temperature rises during the heat treatment, the bore of the form will expand faster than the inner diameter of the winding. If the bore tube is thin, it can buckle against the constraint of the windag.

The need for thick bore tubes leads to windings of several wire diameters an one form. The thick bore tube occupies space that could otherwise be used by field-generating winding. In order to minimize the diluting effect of the hore tube, large winding builds are used. However, in the high field regions of Nh₅Sn windings, the wire diameter must be graded to optimize the cross section of Nh₅Sn corresponding to the local field. An alternative to the thick scapless steel have tube is the transfer of the reacted winding to an aluminum form before improgration with epoxy resin. This has been used orensionally, as in the example of Fig. 6 (1)8).

MRI Magnet Design

The design construction of MRI magnets follows the principles involved in the construction of NMR magnets (19). The forces and energies are generally greater. For example, the force tending to center each large and coil of the MRI magnet illustrated in Fig. 11 is 1,339.000 N (150 tans). NbTi conductor is used exclusively in MRI magnets because, to date, center fields of no more than 5 T are used. The No'Fi filaments in the copper matrix of composite NbTi wires are twisted to approximate transposition. Because of the low fields in MRI magnets, wires with few NhTi filmments can be used. Those filmtents can then be arrayed as a single circular layer within a copper matrix. The filaments are then fully transposed and are magnetathermally very stable. Mechanical perturbation is nevertheless a protolem, and attention has to be paid to the interface between a winding and the coil form against which it presses. Because of the high stored energies, large copyer cross sections are needed



Figure 11. Call profile of a 1.5 Transhielded MRI magnet i lowtrating typical call piacement

Seraino Number	Prok Field	Ware Type	Wire Diameter (mini)	luner Diaπæter (mm)	Outer Diameter (mm)	Winding Length (com)	Number of Turns
a	17.62	Nb ₅ Sp	2.4	40	52.2	600	1000
b.	16.97	Nb _i Sn	2.22	52.2	66.3	600	1629
r.	16 (0)	NiqSix	164	64 X	79.9	650	1770
9	14.8	NbiSc	1.63	894	92.5	650	1760
c	13 83	Nb ₂ Sn	1.63	99.0	115-2	700	3870
1	11.60	Nh ₂ Sr.	1.61	121.7	134.6	760	4194
R	9.83	NBTY	1.41	141.3	149.5	FOA	3396
λ.	6.31	NED	1.90	155.0	171.0	1000	6949
	5 70	NET	1.14	176.0	186.2	1000	6992
Ł	2/13	NhTi	1.30	194/2	212.5	88 T	1020
I/l	3 14	NBTS	1.30	194/2	818.5	377.1	4110 (each)

Table 2. Dimensions of the Windings of a 700 MHz NMR Magnet

At a content of 9% 86 A these windings generate 15 d16 T at the center; that corresponds to 550 MHz proton resonance Sequency. The total and othere is 109.2 H and the slored energy is 5-17 MJ. The best moments harmans of the design is the twelfth

in the conductor to avoid over heating during quenching. Currents are typically up to 500 Å. A common form of conductor is a composite wire embedded in a copper carrier. The latter frequently has a grooved rectangular cross section into which the composite wire is pressed or soldered. Insulation may be cotton or kapton wrap instead if enamel, and was may be used as an imprognant as an alternative to epoxy.

Most whole-body MRI magnets used in clinical applications have room temperature bares of between 1 and 1.0 m, with fields up to 2.7. An example of the profile of the windings of \mathfrak{v} whole-body MRI magnet is illustrated by the simple five-coil system of Fig. 11.

The center field is 1.5 T and the dimensions of the windings are listed in Table 3. The compensation is to tenth order (10 ppm over a 500 mm sphere). The current is 394 A for a 1.5 T center field. The inductance is 78 H and the stored energy 6 MJ.

The fringing field of this magnet extends a long way from the cryostat in which the coils are housed. The 1 mT(10 gauss)line is at an axial distance of 11.3 m and at a radial distance of 8 8 m from the center. Access to the space within these limits must be restricted because of the dangers to the wearors of pacemakers, the attraction of ferromagnetic objects, and the distortion of video monitors.

This may be an expensive restriction in a crowded hospital. Therefore, methods of shielding the space from the fringing fields are frequently used. Three methods are generally available, close that, remote iron, and arrive shielding. The use of true close to the coals has been used in a few instances. However, the iron must be at room temperature, to avoid atherwise sevece cryogenic penalties. That leads to difficulties in balancing the forces between the cuils and the iron in order to minimize the loads that the cryogenic supports must resist.

Table 3. Example of a 1.5 T Whole Body 1	MRI Magnet
--	------------

Cuil Number	fnner Hadius :mmi	Outer Rodius Orach	Leit Rođ Vaisy	Right Ead Tamu	Numher of Turns
1	741.9	897.L	-977.0	724.9	3030
2	742.2	745.7	591.9	- 244 6	1160
3	792.1	727.0	+74.9	74.9	960
+	762.3	765.7	244.6	191 9	1160
5	761.9	807.1	724.9	975.0	30.30

Remote iron takes the form of sheet, typically several milbineters thick, placed against the walls of the MRI room. This involves cather awkward architectural problems but is used frequently where the restricted space can still extend several meters from the cryostat.

The third form of chielding is by superconducting only, built around the main coils, operating in series with the main coils as part of the persistent circuit, and in the same cryogenic envitonment. Thuse chield coils generate a reversed field to cancel, or reduce, the external fringing field. Typical of the resulting magnet is the eight-coil configuration shown schematically in Fig. 12

Particular aspects of the illustration follow. The intrwardly directed budy forms in unshielded MRI windings are supported in tension in the conductor. However, in the shielded version, those forms are too large to be supported by the conductor alone, and a shell is applied to the outside of the winding against which the accumulated body forms act. Thus, the body forces on mais S and 4 are supported on their outer surfaces by a structural cylinder. Coil 4 provides the compensation of the dipole mement of the three inner windings so that the finging fields of the magnet are much reduced from these of the anshielded



Figure 12. Schematic of an netively shielded MBI magnet showing the large scale monded to generate a main field while the shield coils generate an opposing field

magnet. The reduction in the volume of the restricted space is about 93%. The magnet is much heavier tood more expressivel than the simple unchielded type and the structural design of the cryostat and the suspension system is accordingly stronger. The highest fields generated at the center of chielded wholebody MRI magnets as 2 T. See also Ref. 12.

CRYOGENICS

As for NMR magnet systems, the economic operation of superconducting MRI magnets demands cryngenic systems with low heat in-leak. The evolution of MRI cryostats has been signifirant over the past 15 years. They have changed from simple liquid helium, liquid nitrogen shielded reservoirs with relatively high cryogen evaporation rates to single or multi-cryoscoled cryostats. In one embodiment, no refrigerant is used in some types of cryoccolers and refrigerants provide a zero evaporation rate. Demountable current leads are an essential feature of any magnet system with low refrigerant evaporation rate, and have been a standard feature of MRI magnet systems since 1974. An implication of demountable current leads is the need for the MRI magnet to be self-protecting during quenching, just as an NMR magnet must be.

PULSED GRADIENT COLLS

In addition to the uniform background field, which it is the function of the MRI magnet to generate, pulsed gradient fields must be superimposed on that field in order to create the spatial encoding of the resonant frequencies of the protons (or other species) within the body. Those pulsed gradient fields are gencroted by three sets of room temperature coils, each set being driven by a powerful ramped current source. The pulsed field gradients are linear (*dB/dz, dB/dx, dB/dy*), as for as it is possible to design pore first-under gradient coils. Two problems arise in the overall design as a consequence of these palsed gradient fields. The first is the effort on the superconductor of the periodic incident fields. Although the thermal shields and coil forms lie between the gradient colls and the superconductor. the incident pulsed field would still be significant there. Those small fields would cause a lass within the conductor through the mechanisms of hysteresis and coupling.

The second is the distortion of the gradients unising from operate induced in adjacent structures, such as the thormal shields and belium vossel, also sometimes the room temperature have take, if that is metallic. This distortion is provinced by locating sets of shield muls near the room temperature bore tube. These active shield coils are energized in opposition to the main pulsed gradient only. They serve to confine the recurs flux of the gradient coils to flow in the space between the main gradient coils and the shield coils. The eddy currents induced in the surrounding structures are thereby minimized. The shield coils reduce the efficiency of the pulsed gradient system, that effect becoming more primouncial as the diameter of the main coils becomes a large fraction of that of the shield coils. At a diameter ratio greater than about 0.85, the officiency is so reduced that the driving power required for useful gradient fields becomes prohibitively large. Figure 13 illustrates the form of the shielded dB/dx or dB/dy pulse coils. The dB/dZ coals are simple solutions surrounded by shielding solenoids.



Figure 13. Schemaric of actively shielded pulsed gradient chils for the dB_s/dx gradient showing the spacing between the mean and shield coils.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- E. M. Furcell, H. C. Forrey, and R. V. Pound. Resonance absorption by nuclear magnetic moments in a sulid, Phys. Rev. 69, 37, 1946.
- 2 F Bloch, W. W. Hensen, and M. Packard, Nuclear induction. Phys. Rev. 69, 127, 1946
- E. Becker, High renderion NMH, Theory and Applications, New York: Academic Press, 1980.
- R. R. Fenst, G. Bodenhmisen, and A. Wokaun, Principles of Nu-Physic Megazia: Resonance on One and Two Dimensions, Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1987.
- D. B. Mantgomery, Solenaid Magnet Design, New York: Wiley-Intervenence, 1969, p. 4.
- M. D. Sauvade and S. K. Kan, High resolution nuclear magnetic spectroscopy in high magnetic lisids. *Adv. Electron. Electron Phys.*, 34 (1-93), 1973.
- W.R. Smythe, Static and Dynamic Electricity, New York: McGraw-Hull, 1950, pp. 147-148
- M. Abramowitz and I. A. Steguro eds., Handbook of Mathematical Functions, Washington, DC, US Dept. of Commerce, Natl. Bur, of Standards, 1984.
- F. Romeo and D. I. Huult, Magnetic field profiling: Analysis and correcting oil decage, Magn. Resonance Med., 1: 44–65, 1934.
- M. R. Thumpson, H. W. Brown, and V.C. Srivastova, An inverse approach to the design of MRI most magnetics, *IEEE Traces. Magn.*, MAG-30: 195-112, 1994
- W. H. Press et al., Numerical Recipes, The Art of Scientific Computing, Cambridge, UK, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1987.
- F. J. Davies, R. T. Elliott, and D. G. Hawksworth, A 2 Tesla active shield magnet for while body amoging and spectroscopy, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-27 (1677-1690, 1991)
- R. S. Robrov and W. F. B. Funchard. A general method of design of asist and radial sham only for NMR and MBI magnets, *IAEE Trans. Magn.* MAG-24, 583-586, 1986.
- P. Davis and P. Rubinowitz, Abeviewee sud-weighte for Gaussian quadrature of high order. J. Res. NHS, (RE2645), AMS (55): 35–37, 1956
- Y. Iwasa, Case studies in Superconducting Magnete, New York: Plenum, 1994, pp. 306–307.

- J. E. C. Williums et al., NMR magnet technology at MIT IEEE DT Traces Maga., MAG-28 627-630, 1992
- R. J. Muddock and G. B. James, Protection and stabilisation of Intge superconducting code, Proc. Inv. Blents Eng., 316, 543-546, 1968.
- [A. A. Zhukovsky et al., 750 MHz NMR magnet development, IEEE Trans. Mapr. MAC-28: 644-647, 1982
- D. G. Hawksworth, Superconducting magnets systems for MHI, Int. Symp. New Develop: in Appl. Superconductivity, Singapore: World Scientific, 1989, pp. 731-744.

JOHN E. C. WILLIAMS Massichusetts Institute of Typhiadogy

MICROWAVE FERROELECTRIC DEVICES

Centrol of tractance in microwave circuits, devices, and systems is a common method by which the response of a microwave circuit such as a filter, resonator, or phase shifter can be tuned. Devices based on a class of voltage-dependent nonlinear dielectrics known as ferroelectrics provide an alternative to semiconductor variator duides and ferromagnetic components which are the most common devices of this type.

After an overview of she relevant materials issues, this article describes microwave devices that exploit the variation of the ferroelectric's permittivity with applied de electric field. The main feature of these "microwave devices is the change of their capacitance, impedance, or phase velocity. We will describe varactors, oscillators, tonable filters, and phase shifting invoces.

FERROEI FCTRIC MATERIALS

Even though they do not contain iron, the name ferroelectric was selected because they piecess a respinse to an electric field that, alshough not the dual, is analogous to a ferromagnetic material's response to a magnetic field. Ferroelectrics are a subgroup of nonlinear dielectrics. The complex permittivity of a ferroelectric material is a function of both the temperature and an applied do electric field.

Perroelectric materials possess spontaneous polorization helow a temperature referred to as the Curie temperature, at which point they undergo a phase transition. Above the Curie temperature, they are in a paraelectric state where spontaneous pularization disuppears, but they still retuin a number an dielectric constant with applied electric field. In this article, we will use the term ferroelectric to describe these materials even of they are being operated at temperatures where they are in the paraelectric phase. Unlike ferromagnetic materials. ferroelectric materials in either the ferroelectric or paradectric state are reciprocal; that is, the transmission coefficient through these devices is the same for different directions of propagation. Until recently, the dielectric basses in ferroelectric materials excluded them from being used at microwave frequencies. However, the continued improvement of fermolectric materials suitable for use at microwave frequencies has resulted in the design of many microwave devices.

Turability can be defined for a ferroelectric as the fractional change in the dielectric constant with applied de bias voltage

$$Tunability = \frac{r_{max} - r_{min}}{r_{max}}$$
(1)

where r_{cons} is the dielectric constant when no bass voltage is applied, and e_{rma} is the dielectric constant when maximum debias is applied. The dielectric constant of a ferroelectric decreases as the bass voltage is increased. Although larger tanability is a desirable feature for most microwave applications, a ferroelectric material with larger tanability usually has a relatively larger dielectric loss. Optimizing material transhility and loss to meet the needs of a particular microwave application remains a challenging task.

Ferroelectrics are inherently broadband. That is, they do not have a low frequency limit like ferrites. Switching time for these materials has been measured to be less than a number and (1), which is sufficient for most microwave applications. Also, these materials are radiation-hardened. Ferroelectrics can be manufactured in bolk, thick-film, and thin-film form

Like other ceramics, bulk ferroelectric ceramics can handle high peak powers. The limit on the average power is determined by the loss tangent $(\tan \delta)$ of the ferroelectric. There are many known ferroelectrics, but the most widely used ferroelectric at microwave frequencies is barium strontium titanate. $Ba_{1-}Sr_{1}TiO_{1}(BSTO)$. BSTO with x = 0.5 is frequently used for memorave applications since the Correstemperature is well below norm temperature yet a reasonable tunubility is retained. Bulk ceramics of this composition typically possess relative dielectric constants in the order of 1000 and loss tangents of 0.02 at 10 GHz (2,3). BSTO's Curie temperature can be controlled by varying the barium to strontium ratio. A bulk composite material can be engineered by adding nonferroelectric oxides to BSTO to reduce the dielectric constant and the loss tangent (2.3). For mom-temperature operation of these composites in the paraelectric phase, tunability, ϵ_{ij} and $\tan k$ decrease with decreasing barium content; they also decrease with increasing exide content. Tunability increases been ly with an increase in bias voltage. Bulk ceramics can be produced using usual ceramic processing techniques.

Thin films are compatible with integrated circuits, and they need lower has voltages than does hulk material. Thin films can be nonufactured by any of the common thin-film deposition (reduing), polsed-laser deposition, sputtering, metal organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD), and so on. In thin films, control of the ferroelectric composition and incorporation of doping is also possible to reduce losses at microwave frequencies (4). Thin films can potentially be less costly and easier to manufacture, but they cannot handle high power levels. Thin films of the ferroelectric struction titanate, SrTiO₁ (STO), are used at microwave frequencies because of their compatibility with the high-temperature superconductor (HTS) yteriam barium cuprate (YBCO).

Botween bulk and thin-film ferroelectrics lies the realm of thick-film ferroelectrics, which can be produced via tape casting

Throughout this article, it will be assumed that the ferroelectric is homogeneous and that it is linear with respect to a small, time-varying electric field. The dielectric strength of these ferroelectrics is relatively high. Large do electric fields (in the range of a few MV/m) can be applied to STO and BSTO before dielectric breakdown occurs. Assuming that a particular fermelectric composition meets the tunability x_r and $\tan \delta$ requirements of the application, the next two sections describe the various issues that need to be addressed before designing a microwave ferroelectric device

MICROWAVE DEVICE CONSIDERATIONS

Must microwave devices can be categorized according to their physical size in relationship to the wavelength at their upper frequency of operation. Those devices that are very small compared to their operational wavelength are called "electrically small" and can be modeled with discrete circuit components. The term "Rumped-element" model is often employed. For devices whose dimensions are larger, it is usually necessary to take into account the frequency-dependent effects. Such devices are described by distributed networks of common circuit elements such as inductors and capacitors. The most common distributed device is the transmission line which is modeled by a hubber network of series inductors and shunt capacitors. As a lumped element, a capacitor which uses ferroelectric material yields a tunable circuit reactance.

Transmission lines can usually be described by their phase velocity and characteristic impedance, which are given by

$$\nu_{e} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{DC}}$$
(2)

and

$$Z_{r} = \sqrt{\frac{L}{C}}$$
(3)

respectively, where L is the inductance per unit length and C is the capacitance per unit length. By introducing a material whose dielectric constant, e_r , is controlled (or tuned) by a direct current (det bias voltage, the phase velocity and characteristic impedance can be varied by changing capacitance.

An issue to consider when choosing a microwave device topology as the power-handling requirements. For high-power applications, the number of device topologies that are appropriate is limited. Further discussion is offered in the next section

In any nonlinear material, device, or system, another important practical consideration is the strength of signals generated at other than the desired frequency. Since most systems are bandwidth-limited, the most troublessome condition arises when two desired signals, f_1 and f_2 , both within the passband produce signal at frequences $2f_1 - f_2$ and $2f_2 - f_1$, also within the passband. A plot of the signal strengths of f_1 , f_2 , $3f_1 - f_2$, and $2f_2 - f_1$ is often used to determine the third-order intercept point (IP3), which is an important figure of metric.

Since ferroelectrics have a high dielectric constant, the circuits that employ these maternals tend to have very low importance. Therefore, impedance matching is also another material jor issue to be addressed when using ferroelectrics. A consequence of a voltage-dependent capacitance being utilized to tone the phase velocity of a transmission line as given by Eq.(2) is that the characteristic impedance of the transmission line is also tuned per Eq. (3). This further complicates the impedance matching problem.

MICROWAVE GUIDING STRUCTURES

At microwave frequencies, ferroelectrics can be introduced into many different types of rectilinear structures that are used to guide electromagnetic waves. These guiding structures include paralle) plate and rectangular waveguides, which can be loaded tor filled) with ferroelectric material. There are also many planar structures that use the ferroelector material us a tunable substrate, like microstrip, slotline, coplanar strip, and coplanar waveguide. Each structure has a different set of advantages and disadvantages. For applications where fermelectrics are used to provide bias-dependent propagation properties, if is convenient. to divide the guiding structures into two cutegories: (1) groups. tries that can handle high microwave power but require large hus voltages (paralle) plate and rectangular waveguide(and(2) those which are compatible with small microwave power levels. and require only modest bias voltages (planar structures). Note that the fermelectric permittivity is a function of the electric field. In a planor structure, the bias voltage is applied across a thinner ferroelectric, and so smaller bios voluge will produce the same variation of the permittivity as a larger bias voltage (which mentes a similar electric field intensity) would produce in a parallel plate or rectangular waveguide.

Planar waveguiding structures contain the metallization defining the waveguiding structure definested on one or more plane. Often this metallization layer is on the top surface of a dielectric substrate. Rence, these grometries are compatible with photolithographic processing, Since the metallization delineating the waveguide is at the interface of two regions (usually dielectric), the guided wave is propagating such that a portion of the field is in each region. The choice of the currect planar transmission line is determined by many foctors including (1) orientation of the bias field and microwave field with the ferroelectric region, (3) Blickness of the ferroelectric material, and (3) compatibility with other circuit elements. Planar structures are compatible with ferroelectric thin films and with semicunductors for microwave monolithic integrated circuits. However, planar structures require a do block to isolate the radio frequency (RF) from the high do valtage that is used to tune the ferroelectric permittavily (ā).

Microdrip

The most common planar transmission line is merostrop. As shown in Fig. 1, both the base and the dominant mode microwave electric field are oriented proparily normal to the interface. It should be noted that although microstrip is the most widely used planar transmission line, when using thinfilm ferroelectrics deposited on a substrate with the delineated metal layer on top as shown in the Fig. 1(b), the high dielectric constant of the forreelectric results in decreased tuning efficiency. This can be seen by considering the repartance per unit length to be a series combination of the ferroelectric capactor and the substrate capacitor. The suparitance contribution from the thin-film ferroelectric is much smaller than that from the substrate, and the tunability of the phase velocity and the characteristic impedance of the dominant mode are reduced accordingly.

Tunable filters employing parallel-coupled microstrip resonators do not suffer from this mefficiency since the coupledline mode (6) possesses a significant electric field component parallel to the surface. This coupled-line mode is similar to



Figure 1. Microsterip planer transmission line cross section with (a) a homegoneous bulk substrate and (b) a thin film on a bulk substrate. The electric field between the metal strip on the tup surface and the metal ground plane is primarily normal to the surface.

the coplanar strip transmission line (discussed below) with a ground plane. Practical design equations for microstrip on layered dielectric substrates are based on a quasi-static analysis (7).

Coplanar Waveguide, Coplanar Strip, and Slotline

Other planar transmission lines such as coplanar waveguide, coplanar strip, and slotline have two or more conductors on the patterned surface. Hence the electric fields of both the dominant microwave mode and the bias are tangential to the substrate surface as shown in Fig. 2. The dominant mode of these planar transmission lines can be efficiently toned with a bias field whether a bulk ferrorlectric substrate or a thin-film ferroelectric on bulk dielectric substrate is employed. In the later case, good tunability is retained since the thin-film capacitance and substrate capacitance are in parallel. Design equations for a coplanar waveguide on multidayered dielectric substrates are available (7). Similar analyses using a partial-capacitioner conformal-mapping approach can be applied to other geometries to account for the ferroelectric thin film.

For the coplanar waveguide, the narrower the gaps between the center conductor and the ground planes, the higher the electric field intensity (and tunability) for a given hors voltage. Although coplanar waveguide is one of the simplest transmission lines, the microwave current density is sharply peaked at the edges of the strips enosing large conductor losses. The problem is enhanced by the high dielectric constant and small thekness of the fermelectric (8).

Parallel Plate and Rectangular Waveguide

A purpliel-plate waveguide is a two-conductor guiding structure that supports transverse electromagnetic (TEM) waves. Thus, the electric and magnetic field are orthogonal to each other and to the direction of propagation. Figure 3 shows how this type of waveguide can be loaded with a ferroelectric medium to provide













di.

Figure 2. Coplanat waveguide (CPW) transmission line case section with taim farmingeneous bulk substrate and the altern film on a bulk substrate and replanar storp (CPS) transmission line cross section with for a homegeneous bulk substrate and (d) a third film on a bulk substrate. The electric field between the metal strips on the top surface is primarily parallel to the surface.



Figure 3. Parallel plate waveguide phase shifter (propagation into or not of paper).



Figure 4. Rectangular wavegarde phase shifter thropagatato into an out of paper...

a variable phase vehicity, which is given by

$$r_{\rm p} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{t^2}} \qquad (4)$$

where μ and ϵ are the permeability and permittivity of the ferroelectric. Both the dc and the RF electric field are vertical. The ferroelectric is inforcated with an electrode that is used to upply the dt hins with respect to the grounded wavegund- walls.

Rectangular waveguides are popular in the microwave region. They are single-conductor guiding structures that confine the electromagnetic wave in the interior of the waveguide. Typically, the waveguide is operated in the dominant TE_{10} mode. Figure 4 shows how a ferroelectric can be used in this type of waveguide to provide a variable phase velocity, which is given by

$$r_{\rm p} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mu \epsilon} \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{\epsilon}{\epsilon_{\rm s}}\right)^2}} \tag{5}$$

where λ_c is the cotoff wavelength. Again, both dc and RF electric field are vertical, and the ferroelectric is bifurcated by an electrode. Unlike the parallel plate waveguide (which has no sidewalls), rectangular waveguide has eidewalls. Therefore, a slat needs to be tut into a sidewall to connect the electrode to a de power supply. The area of the slot opening must be small to prevent the uncrowave energy from leaking out of the slot.

APPLICATIONS

In this section, we will describe several applications of ferro electrics at microwave frequencies. These include varactors, voltage-controlled oscillators (VCOs), tunable filters, and phase shifting devices.

Varactor

Varactors are variable-reactance circuit elements. They are used in switching or modulation of a microwave signal, for the generation of harmonics in an applied microwave signal, and in the mixing of two microwave signals of differont frequency. As a discrete tunable capacitor, ferroelectricbased capacitors are applicable in a number of microwave circuits including VCOs, tunable filters, and resillators. Parallelplate configurations have not been successfully implemented (due to high required processing temperatures) in producing a high-quality ferroelectric thin film on a low-surface resistance metal. Interdigitated capacitors (9), where the metal electrades are deposited on top of the ferroelectric feither thinfilm or thick-film) or bulk substrate, have proven to be a more practical option. A typical interdigitated capacitor is shown in Fig. 5 Although strongly dependent on the ferroelectric material involved, Figs 6 and 7 show the level



Figure 5. Photograph of a typical interdigrated expansion as charfilm for considering covered substrate. The gap between fugers in the metal electrodes is 6 μ m. A microwave probe is shown contacting the device from the left.



Figure 6. Capacitonon versus bias voltage of a $St_{0.5}Da_{0.5}Db_{2.5}Db_{3.5}$ thinlium interdigitated capacitor on an MgD substrate for frequency values of 1.3. and 5 GHz. The data represents bias awept from -40 V to 40 V and book tail 40 V.



Figure 7. Interdigitated reporter quality factor as a function of frequency for a $Sr_{0.5}Ra_0.eTiO_2$ thus film on an MgO substrate with basi voltages of 0 V, -30 V, -20 V, -30 V, and -40 V

of performance available from thin-film ferroelectric interdigitated capacitor technology Losses in ferroelectric interdigitated capacitors arise from the losses in the ferroelectric material as denoted by the dielectric loss tangent and from resistive losses in the initial electrodes. Using a low-surfaceresistance metal such as silver at (in some custo) superconductors minimizes the electrode loss component, and in most cases the unboaled quality factor of the ferroelectric variation is given by

$$Q_{\pm} = \frac{1}{\tan b}$$
(5)

Design and modeling of layered interdigitated lamped element capacitors is based on a conformal mapping approach (10).

Voltage-Controlled Oscillator

Resonant circuits are used in oscillators and tunable filters. An oscillator provides a sinusoidal signal, and it is used as a source of morewaye energy. The oscillator output should be clean inciscless; and stable ifrequency and power should not change with time). A high-Q resonator is used in an oscillator circuit to obtain good frequency stability and low mose. The tunable capacitance of a formelectric-based capacitor is partieularly applicable to a class of devices called a valtage-cantrolled. oscillator (VCO). The bias-controlled change in reactance varies the oscillation frequency of an active element such as a transsister. Although there are many different esculator topologies the designer can choose from, to first order the oscillation frequency can be varied in proportion to the square root of the hias-dependent capacitance. In principle, there is no difference in the design of a VCO using a ferroelectric capacitor and a semiconductor varactor diade (11). A VCO employing a ferroelectric tunable ring resonator has demonstrated 3% frequency tunability at 17 GHz (12). Phase noise is one of the primary limstations of any VCO application. Although several methanisms contribute to phase noise, in many cases the Q factor of the tunable element is the limiting factor. As can be seen from Leeson's formula, we have (11)

$$Af_{\mathbf{n}} t \approx \frac{1}{2} \left[1 + \frac{1}{f_{\mathbf{n}}^2} \left(\frac{f}{2Q_{\mathbf{n}}^2} \right)^2 \right] \frac{FkT}{P_{\mathrm{exc}}} \left(1 - \frac{f_{\mathbf{n}}}{f_{\mathbf{n}}} \right) \qquad (\mathrm{dBe}/\mathrm{Hz})$$
(7)

where f_{μ} is the offset inequency, f is the oscillation frequency $P_{\mu\nu}$ is the power level, F is the noise figure, f_{μ} is the 1, f noise corner frequency, and Q_{0} is the loaded quality factor which is rejeted to the unloaded device quality factor Q_{0} by

$$Q_{12} = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{Q_{12}}} - \frac{1}{\frac{1}{Q_{122}}}$$
(8)

where Q_{EXT} is the external quality factor. As can be seen in Leeson's formula, the quality factor of the variable capacitor, which is, to first order, the reciprocal of the dielectric loss tangent, has a major impact on the phase noise of the VCO.

Tunable Filter

A filter is any device or croast which exhibits frequency selectivity; that is, the amplitude and phase of the output signal are functions of frequency. A simple example is a bandpass filter where, ideally, all frequencies in a certain range are passed without change to the signal, whereas at any other frequency no signal appears at the output. There are many different ways to realize a nucrowave filter (13). Many of these rely on resonators which are coupled together in a carefully controlled fashion to realize the desired filter transfer function. Tunability of the filter transfer function can be achieved with fermelectrics. (14,15). It has been demonstrated that the center frequency of a microwave filter can be tuned by approximately 10% using ferroelectrics. In practice, there are many filter topologies that lend themselves to turning with ferroelectrics. Conceptually the simplest to envision is turning the center frequency of a bandpass filter composed of coupled half-wavelength resonators by varying the phase velocity of the resonant elements and hence their resonant frequency. From Eq. (2) it can be seen that the phase velocity is proversely proportional to the square root of the capacitance. Since many filter topologies rely on capacitive coupling of resolutions, utilizing tunable roupling between resmators allows the design of tunable bandwidth filters.

Phased Array Antenna

Phased array antennas can steer transmitted and received signals without mechanically rotating the antenna. Each radiating element of a phased array is normally ronnected to a phase shifter and a driver, which determines the phase of the signal at each element to form a beam at the desired angle. The most commonly used phase shifters are ferrate and diode phase shifters. Former phase shifters are preferred at microwave frequencies, but they are expensive. The cost of a phase-il array mainly depends on the cost of phase shifters and drivers, and thus lower-cost phase shifting devices need to be developed to make the phased array antenna affordable for more applications. In this accuma, three different applications of fermelectrics to phased array antennas will be described.

Ferroelectric Lens Antenna. The cust of a phased array depecula nationly on the cost of phase shifters and drivere. A typical array may have several thousand elements as well as several thousand phase shifters and drivers; hence, it is very expensive. Therefore, reducing the cost and complexity of the phase slufters, drivers, and controls is an important consideration in the design of phased arrays. The fermelectric less phased array uniquely incorporates bulk phase shifting (2,3,16,17); the array does not contain individual phase shifters but proper uses ferroelectric nutherial. This will reduce the number of phase shifters from $(n \in n)$ to $(n \in m)$, where n is the number of columns and mis the number of rows in a phased array. The number of phase shifter drivers and phase shifter controls is also significantly reduced by using row column beam steering. The ferroelectric lens has the advantages of small lens thickness, high power bandling capability, and snuple beam-steering controle, and it uses very low power to control the phase shift. Thus, it leads to low-cost phased arrays. However, it should be noted that the use of row column steering may limit the level of side lobes that can be achieved.

Description of Ferroelectric Lens and its Operation. The ferroelectric lens is shown in Fig. 5; each column of the lens is a set of conducting parallel plates that are loaded with bulk ferroelectric material. The material is bifurcated by a center conducting plate that is used to apply the de bias voltage to



1E).



Figure 8. Perroelectric lens.

the ferroelectric. The separation between the parallel plates at the input and outpus end is $\lambda_0/2$, where λ_0 is the free space wavelength. Since only the TEM mode is desired, the separation between the purallel conducting plates is reduced to avoid higher-order mode propagation in the dielectric build section of the waveguide. Specifically, the separation between the center bias plote and either conducting plate is less that $\lambda/2$, where λ is the wavelength in the ferroelectric. Quarter-wave dielectric unpedance transformers are used to match the empty waveguide to the ferroelectric baded waveguide.

For scanning applications, a phase shifting device ioust provide 360 - differential phase shift. The amount of the fermelectric material needed (in the direction of propagation) to obtain 360 - differential phase shift is (16)

$$t = \frac{\lambda_0}{\sqrt{t_{equiv}} + \sqrt{t_{equiv}}} = \frac{\lambda_0}{\sqrt{t_{equiv}} \left[1 - \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_0}{1 - \tan b(ht)}}\right]} \quad (0)$$

where $e_{i_{final}}$ is the dielectric constant when no base voltage is applied, and $e_{i_{finin}}$ is the dielectric constant when maximum de bias is applied. Tonability is the fractional change in the dielectric constant as defined earlier. Thus, the thickness of the ferroelectric maternal meeded is a function of the dielectric constant and the timability of the ferroelectric, and the wavelength. Also, it can be shown that is arder to obtain 360 phase shift, the dielectric lass through the ferroelectric is (16)

$$(dH) = \frac{27.3 \tan \delta}{1 - \sqrt{1 - \tanh b hty}}$$
(10)

It may be noted that the lens loss is independent of the ferroelectric permattivity and depends only on its loss tangent and tunability.

In general, the ferroelectrics with higher dielectric constant offer higher tunability, which is desired to reduce the lens tlackness. However, matching the lens to free space is easier for smaller $*_r$. Therefore, a compromise is needed between reducing the lens thickness (to reduce overall lens size) and achieving reasonable impedance match to reduce reflections from the lens

surface. For a typical value of $\epsilon_c \sim 100$, it is possible to obtain a tunability of 20%, which results in a reasonable lens thickness of ϵ_{λ_0} (e.g., 3 cm at 10 GHz). From Eq. (10), it can be seen that the tan δ must be less than 0.005 to limit the lens loss to loss than 1 dB. The easting ferroelectric materials are a bit more lossy (tap $\delta = 0.005$ at 10 GHz).

Phased Array Configurations Using Ferroelectric Lens for Two-Dimensional Scanning. The ferroelectric lens offers electronic scanning in one plane. The lens proposed here can be fed by a nonscanning planar erray, like a slotted waveguide array. A combination of slotted waveguide array with phase shifters and the lens proposed here can be used as a phased array that can scan in two planes. A space feed can be used with the combination of two lenses proposed here (with a polarization rotator in between) to scan the beam in two planes. The default of these alternatives are discussed elsewhere (16.17).

Theoretical and Experimental Results. For the theoretical analysis of the ferroelectric lens, an individual section between (we conducting parallel plates of the lens can be considered as one column of a phased array. The column can be analyzed as a two-dimensional (2-D) parallel-plate waveguide with electric field of the TEM mode normal to the plates as shown in Fig. 6. A matching network was designed using mode matching technique assuming that the dielectric constant of the ferroelectric varies from 120 to 80 (33% tumbility) over a frequency range of 8 GHz to 12 GHz (40% bandwidth) and that $\kappa_0 = 0.8$ in, and $\lambda = 0.1$ in The computed results are shown in Fig. 9. The matching network parameters are $l_1 = 0.2956$ in, $l_2 = 0.1860$ in, $l_3 = 0.0505$ in, h = 0.2345 in, $r_2 = 2.54$, and $\kappa_0 = 35$ (see Fig. 8)

Experiments were performed with the formedectric composition $Ba_{0.25}Sr_{0.45}TrO_3$ with 60% axide. This material offered u good compromise among ϵ_r , tan δ_r and tunability. At 10 GHz, for this composition, $\epsilon_r = 100$ and tan $\delta = 0.0079$. The fermelectrics were 1 in long (in the direction of propagation), 0.05 in high and 5 in $1 \sim 4\lambda_2$ at 10 GHz) wide Figure 10 shows the measured transmission and reflection coefficients at zero hose. The reflection coefficient is sufficiently small over a wide frequency band us the theory had predicted in Fig. 9. Figure 10 also shows that the loss increases with frequency; this is due to two reasons. First, tan \sim increases with frequency, which is



Figure 9. Theoretical reflection coefficient for $r_r = 80$ to 120

expected for ceramics, second, the electrical length (in terms of wavelengths) of the ferroelectric in the direction of propagation increases with frequency since the physical length is kept constant (1 in.).

Figure 11 shows the measured phase shift as a function of the bias voltage for various firspiencies. As expected, the phase shift increases linearly with frequency because the electrical length of the material increases with frequency. Since ferroelectrics are good insolators, the do current requirements are very low. For example, at 10 kV bias voltage, the do current drawn was 0.05 mA, and thus the do power dissipated is only 0.5 W. The bias voltage can be reduced by further bifurcating the ferroelectrics (using interdigical electrodes).

Figure 12 shows the reflection coefficients as a function of frequency for various bias voltages. The standing wave ratio



Figure 10. Measured reflection and transmission coefficient at zero bias voltage.

(SWR) is less than 2 for frequency range of 8 GHz to 12 GHz as theoretically predicted earlier (see Fig. 9).

Traveling Wave Antenna. Another type of phased array antenna that also uses bulk phase shifting is a traveling wave antenna, as shown in Fig. 13. The antenna is a slab of ferroelectric insternal with conducting strips on the top sole of the slab and a ground plane on the bottom. This type of antenna is well-suited for millimeter-wave applications when a low-loss dielectric (not a ferroelectric) is used as a substrate, and frequency variation is used to scan the antenna beam electronically. Instead of changing the frequency, the dielectric constant of the fermetectric substrate can be changed to electronically scan the antenna beam in the E plane (17–19). It can be shown (18) that the radiation angle of the antenna beam is given by

$$\theta = \sin \left[\lambda \right] \left(\frac{1}{\lambda_{\kappa}} - \frac{1}{d} \right)$$
 (11)

where λ_{γ} and λ_{γ} are the free space and gode wavelength, respectively, and d is the spacing between the conducting strips. The gode wavelength and thus the scan angle changes as the dielectric constant of the substrate changes. The main advantage of this type of antenna is that only a single depower supply



Figure 11. Measured differential phose shift.



Figure 12. Measured reflection coefficient for various has voltages (0.9/13/5/kV).

is medici to scan the beam, and it is a very simple structure However, this antenna has a major disadvastage that makes it quite impractical. Since the physical size of most microwave antennasis at least a few wavelengths (if not a few tens of wave lengths), the loss that the electromagnetic wave would suffer as it travels down the antenna is enormous. Also, the instantaneous bandwidth of this antenna is very small because it is a frequency scan antenna. That is, the beam pointing direction changes as the frequency changes. Like the ferroelectric lens, the traveling wave antenna offers electronic beam scanning in one plane. Electronic scanning in the other plane (azimuth plane in Fig. 13) can be achieved with phase shifters in the linear array ford for this meterna.

Discrete Phase Shifter, Fermelactrics have also been proposed for discrete phase chifter applications at microwave frequencies. There are several advantages of using ferroelectrics over fermices in phase shifters. First, since ferroelectrics are voltage-driven devices, the dc control power requirements are small. However, oplike latching ferrite phase shifters that only require current pulses, the bias voltage needs to be applied to



Figure 18. Ferroelectric traveloog-wook Antenno

the fermelectrics during the entire transmit and/or receive cycle. Second, ferroelectrics provide reciprocal phase shift. Third, the high dielectric constant of the ferroelectric bas the effect of decreasing the overall size of the phase shifter. At the present time, however, the dielectric loss in ferroelectrics is higher than that in ferrites at microwave frequencies.

The basic design equations for a discrete phase slutter are the same as those for the fermelectric lens. For the same electric field applied in the lens, the discrete phase shifter should provide similar phase shift using the same ferroelectric. Phase shifters have been designed using ferroelectric-baded rectangular waveguides as well as planar transmission lines, like microstrip and explanar waveguide, on a ferroelectric substrate (5,20,21).

For the rectangular waveguide, impedance matching techniques similar to the ones used in the formulactic lens can be applied. For the microstrip line, several impedance matching techniques have been tried (5) including quarterwave transformers, open circuit stubs and rufful stubs. For the coplanar waveguide, usually the lines are tapered to provide a 50 Ω impedance (21).

High Temperature Superconductors and Ferroelectrics

The discovery of high temperature superconductors (HTS) has generated many funable device designs (22) using both thin films and bulk ferroelectrics. One of the main incentives is the primise at the low conductor loss associated with HTS. In addition, both STO and BSCO are closely lattice matched with the HTS yttriam barium cuprote, YBa₂Cu₁O_{5,k} (YBCO), meaning that the ferroelectric and YBCO can be epitaxially grown on top of each other to form imilitaries thin film structures. This has been done with STO and YBCO to take advantage of the low microwave lasses, operation must be below the critical temperature for YBCO. Most of the research has been done at 77 K. the liquid nitragen boiling temperature. In BSTO, the barium to structure ratio can be adjusted so that BSTO can be operated in the paraelectric phase at 77 K, and STO remains paraelectric down to the lowest temperatures.
BIBLIÓGRAPHY

- P.K. Larsen et al., Nanosecond evolcting of thin formelectric films, Appl. Phys. Lett., 59(5) 611-613, 1991.
- J. B. L. Rao, D. P. Patel, and L. C. Sengupta. Physical array untermebased on bulk phase shifting with ferroelectrics. *Integr. Formelectr.* 22: 307–316, 1996.
- J. B. L. Rooser al. Percoelectric materials for phased array applications, *Dig. IEEE Antonians Propage Soc. Int. Symp.*, 4, 2284–2287, 1997.
- 4 J. S. Horwatz et al., Structure Pronerty relationships in ferroelectric than films for frequency agile microwave electronics, *Integr. For* regierp., 22, 279–289, 1999.
- R. W. Balthitt, E. E. Koscica, and W. C. Drach, Planet moeniwave electric aptit phase shifters, *Microwelle J.*, 35 (6): 63-79, 1992.
- K. C. Gupte, R. Garg, and J. Bahl, Microscrip Loss and Site Laws, 2nd ed., Buston, MA: Artech Huuse, 1996.
- J. Svacina, A simple quasi-static determination of basic parameters of multilayer microstrip and captanet waveguide, *IEEE Microso-Guided Wave Lett.*, MGWL-2 395-387, 1992.
- S. S. Gevorgion et al., HTS/lemmelectric devices for microwave applications. *IEKE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, ASC-7 (2): 2453–2461, 1997.
- J. M. Perid et al., Microwiew properties of ferroelectric thin films. Integr. Ferroelectr., 22, 917–928, 1998.
- S. S. Gevorgian et al., CAD models for multilavered substrate anterdigital connectors, *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, MIT-44 (6) 836–804, 1906.
- G. D. Vendelin, A. M. Pavne, and U. L. Hohde, Marroware Circuit Design, New York: Wiley, 1990.
- R. R. Romanufsky, F. W. Van Kaels, and F. A. Maranda, A cryogena GaAs PHEMT, forms former Kashand transfer scallsfor, 2nd European Workshop on Los: Temperature Electronics, San Manato, Italy, June 29–26, 1998.
- G. Matthaei, L. Young, and E. M. T. Jones, Microscare Filters, Impedance Matching Networks, and Compling Structures, Norword, MA Artech House, 1980.
- 14 S. S. Gevorgian et al., Turable superconducting band-stop Siters, *IEEE MTT'S 1996 Int. Microsc. Symp. Dig.*, 2: 1027–1030, 1998.
- 15 G. Subisimonyson, P. Ven Kente, and F. A. Mirande, A movel K-band turnible microstrip bandpass filter using a thir film HTS-lennelectric/dielectric multilayer configuration. *IKEE MTT* S 1898 Int. Micross. Symp. Dig., 2:1011–1014, 1998.
- J. B. L. Stan, D. P. Putel, and V. Krichevsky, Voltage controlled ferroelectric lens phased across, accepted for publication in *IEEE Trans-Astronoms Propage*
- 27 J. B. L. Ban, G. V. Tronk, and D. P. Patel, Two low-cost phased arrays, Proc. 1796 IEEE Int. Symp. on Phased Array Systems and Yielandogy, 119-124, 1997.
- V. K. Varadan et al., Electronically steezable leaky wave antenna armga tomoble letroelectric material. Smart Mater. Struct., 3: 470– 475, 1994.
- 19 T. W. Bradely et al., Development of a voltage variable dislocation (VVD), electronic scan antenna, Proc. Rodor 97, IEE Pub. 449 (39)-385, 1997.
- V. K. Varadan et al., Ceranne phase shifters for electronically steerable antenna systems. *Machine J.*, 85 (1) (16-127, 1992.
- C. M. Jackson, New phase shifters for smart systems, in V. K. Varadan (ed., Smart Structures and Materials 1996, Souri Phystrans. Proc. SPIE 2448, 216–225, 1995.

- O. Vendik, I. Mirunenko, and L. Ter Murtinsvan. Superconductors Spar Applications of Permelectric Pilms. Microscience and RF, 23 (7): 67-70, 1984.
 - D P PATEL J. M. POND J. R. L. RAD Navel Research Laboratory

PELTIER EFFECT

It has been known for more than 150 years that the trans port of electric charge in conductors is accompanied by flow of heat/energy. In conducting materials there are three types of reversible effects that arise when both electric currents and temperature differences are present: the Seebook effect, the Peltier offect, and the Thomson effect. These phenomena are known as the invelectric effects, and they have been proven to be very fundamental for the advance of our understanding of the properties of metals and semiconductors. Studies of thermaelereric effects provide information about the electronic structure and the interactions between electrons and both phonons and imporities. In addition, they have significant applications to industrial authoplagy such as energy conversion, power production, and refrigeration. Today a great variety of thermoelectric generators and thermoelectric infrared detector coolers exist.

The history of the Pelticr effect started in 1834, when a French watchmaker and amateur scientist named Jean Charles Athanase Peltier discovered that when an electric current (*I*) is forced through a junction between two different materials, which are initially at uniform temperature, heat flows from one material to another. The amount of heat that is liberated (junction heats up; or absorbed (junction cools down) per unit of time (Q) is proportional to the correct. The coefficount of proportionality. Π_i is called the Peltier coefficient, Q= ΠI , where the sign of Q (plus for heating and minus for cooling) depends on the direction of the current. The Peltier Justing/realing is a reversible phonemenon in the sense that it depends linearly on the current, and it should be distinguished from the irreversible Joule heating (quadratic dependence) that takes place in any single conductor. Namely, if heat is released when current flows from one conductor to the other conductor, then upon current reversion heat will be absorbed. The simple physical principle that describes all the thermoelectric effects is as follows: As electrons travel through the junction between the two different conductors, on overage, they will either lose or gain energy, since their electronic states in these conductors have different energies. For example, if a temperature difference is maintained across the junction, in the absence of external flow of current, electrons will diffuse from the hot conductor to the cold one where they can find states of lower energy Eventually, more electrons will be arrumulated an the cold side of the junction, and this results in the appearance of a voltage difference (Seeheck effect).

Although the Peltier effect is usually the effect that takes place when two different materials are in contact, the Peltier coefficient II can be defined for each individual conductor and at is an intrinsic property of the conductors. The same is true for all other thermoelectric coefficients, and generally they are strongly temperature-dependent. However, it is difficult to measure π for individual conductor experimentally, and usually the Seeleck coefficient can be measured rather readily and pecurately. In order to calculate Π , the Kelvin relations can be employed. In 1857 Lord Kelvin, using equilibrium thermodynamics, derived two very simple equations that relate the three thermodectric coefficients (Kelvin relations):

$$a_1 = T \frac{dS}{dT} \tag{2}$$

where S is the thermopower or Seebeck coefficient and μ_T is the Thomson coefficient. More rigonously, these relations follow from the theory of irreversible thermodynamics, as it was shown by Onsager almost a concury later

The temperature dependence of H can be easily estimated for metals, using the free-electron gas model. The Thomson coclicient has the meaning of specific transport heat capacity (1) per unit of electric charge. In metals, only a small fraction of conduction electrons contribute to transport, approximately $T_{F_{\rm F}}$, where $T_{\rm F}$ is the Fermi temperature of the electrons, typically of the order of 10⁴ K, and we have $\mu_{\rm T} \simeq k_{\rm B} T_{e} T_{\rm F}$). Kelvin's relations then immediately give us

$$|1\rangle \simeq \frac{k_{\rm B}T^2}{vT_{\rm F}} \qquad (3)$$

It is worth mentioning the value of the ratio of the Boltzmann constant to the electric charge of the electric, $k_3/c = 86.4 \mu V/K$, since it helps to understand the order of magnitude of the thermoelectric effects. The above estimate of the Peltier coefficient holds practically in must cases of pure nonmagnetic metals and can be derived using the kinetic theory of electrons in metals. Both the Peltier coefficient and the Secbeck coefficient in superconducting materials are equal to zero for temperatures below their critical temperature.

PELTIER EFFECT IN METALS AND SEMICONDUCTORS

The thermoelectric coefficients are defined in the context of lincar response theory: The temperature gradient or the electric field induce small perturbations from the equilibrium state of the conductor so that the electric charge current and the heat current are linear functions of these gradients. The heat current density J_h is analogous to the electrical current density J_h ; but instead of measuring electric charge, it measures thermal energy being carried. The formal definitions are:

$$d_{\mathbf{k}} = \int eu(\mathbf{k})f(\mathbf{k})d\mathbf{k}$$
 (4)

$$J_{\mathbf{h}} = \int \langle \mathbf{x} (\mathbf{k}) - \mu \langle \mathbf{p} (\mathbf{k}) / (\mathbf{k}) d\mathbf{k} \rangle$$
 (5)

where $c(\mathbf{k})$ is the velocity of the electrons, μ is the temperaturedependent chemical guarantial, and $f(\mathbf{k})$ is the distribution function of the electrons. For metals that are in equilibrium, $f(\mathbf{k})$ is given by the Fermi-Dirac distribution function $f'(\mathbf{k}) = (1 - \exp(|c(\mathbf{k}) - \mu|)/k_{\rm B}T))^{-1}$. In addition, in the equilibrium state (i.e., absence of "external formes" such as electromagnetic fields or temperature differences) both current densities are zero. The dynamics of the electron transport is hidden in the distribution function since it carries information about the scattering of electrons by importies or lattice vibrations. Canally it is determined by the solution of Holtzmann transport equation with appropriate boundary conditions. Upon linearization with respect to the electric field E and temperature gradient $\forall T$. Eqs. (4) and (5) provide the mathematical connection between all the thermoelectric coefficients:

$$J_r = \sigma(E - SVT) \qquad (6)$$

$$J_b = \sigma \Box E - x \nabla T \qquad (7)$$

where σ and ε are the electrical conductivity and the thermal conductivity, respectively

For a degenerate metallic conductor, the Politier coefficient is given by the celebrated Mott formula:

$$\Pi = \frac{\pi^2}{3\epsilon} \frac{(k_B T)^2}{\epsilon_F} \left(\frac{\partial \ln \sigma(E)}{\partial \ln E} \right)_{E \to e_F}$$
(5)

where $\sigma(E)$ is the conductivity that would be found in a metal for electrons of average energy $E, \sigma(E) = e^2 n(E) e^2 (E) r(E)$, and ϵ_F is the Fermi energy. When the scattering of electrons is mainly due to impurities and is isotropic—as in dillute alloys the mean free path *l* is constant. Consequently, the relaxation time is $\tau(E) \in I/r(E) \propto E^{-1/2}$, since the average electron velocity v(E) is proportional to \sqrt{E} . The electron density of states for a free electron gas is $n(E) \propto \sqrt{E}$. As a result, Eq. (6), reads

$$\Pi = \frac{\pi^2}{3\sigma} \frac{(k_{\rm B}T)^2}{\epsilon_F}$$
(9)

In pure mutals and for temperatures above a few degrees k_0 (vin, the relaxation time is determined primarily by electronphonon scattering. Approximately, $r(E) \propto E^{0.4}$ and

$$\Pi = \frac{\pi^2}{r} \frac{(k_{\rm B} T)^2}{\epsilon_{\rm F}} \tag{10}$$

The Poltier coefficient for metals is of the order of 50 μ V at room temperatures, and for a wide range of temperatures it is quadratic in temperature. Moreover, because of the smallness of the *degeneracy factor* $k_0T/\epsilon_{\rm F}$, the thermselectric effects in metals are very weak. This is not true in semiconductors, where this factor is absent.

For a semiconductor with relatively few conduction electrons that are characterized by the Bultzmann distribution, the Policer coefficient has the following form (1).

$$\Omega = \frac{k_{\rm B}T}{e} \left(\frac{5}{2} - \frac{\partial \ln \tau(E)}{\partial \ln E} - \frac{\mu(T)}{k_{\rm B}T} \right)$$
(11)

where

$$\mu = k_{\beta} T \ln \left(\frac{1}{2} N_{\rm c} \left(\frac{2\pi \hbar^2}{m' k_{\rm F} T} \right)^{1/2} \right) \tag{12}$$

m is the effective mass of the carriers in the semiconductor and N_{c} is the carrier concentration – the number of charge carriers per unit volume—which has a strong temperature dependence. Generally, the relaxation time can be written as

$$\tau(E) = g(T)E^{\epsilon} \tag{13}$$

where g(T) is a function of temperature only and ϵ is a constant that depends on the type of scattering that is dominant. Usually sit in the range from -2 to 2/2) Consequently, the second term in Eq. (11) is equal to s, whereas the last term is at least of the order of unity. From the above analysis, it is clear that the order of magnitude of the Peltier coefficient is of the order of i V, which is much higher than that of metals, and varies linearly with the temperature. The simplicity of the above expression for \square is restricted only to extinusic semiconductors. When the carriers are holes (i.e., in p-type semiconductors), II has apposite sign. For antrinsic semiconductors, where both type of carriers are present, the Peltier coefficient takes a more complicated form and its magnitude, generally, is smaller.

PELTJER REFRIGERATION

The most important applications of the Peltier effect lie in the possibility to create efficient cooling solid-state devices that can operate at mon-temperatures. The bare essentials of the operation of the Peltier cooler (or heater: are straightforward: Two different materials, usually a *p*-type and an *n*-type semiconductor, are brought in contact. Sometimes *p* and *s* refer to the positive and negative thermoelements, respectively. Let T_c be the temperature of the junction which is in thermal equilibrium with a reservoir that we want to cool down. The other two ends remain at a temperature $T_c > T_c$ and are connected to a haltery that produces an electric current *I* that passes through the junction. A diagram of this type of solid-state thermoelectric device is presented in Fig. 1. There are three types of processes (one reversible and two irreversible) that transfer thermal energy from the cold to the list reservoir:

- The rate of Peltier heat absorption $Q_1 = \prod_{m} I$, which is determined by the Peltier coefficients of the two semiconductors $\prod_m = \prod_n \prod_n$ and the current I.
- The rate of heat generation $Q_2 = K_{\alpha}T_{\alpha}$ due to existence of a temperature difference between the two reservoirs $\Delta T = T_{\alpha} T_{\alpha}$. It is characterized by the sum of the thermal conductances of the two semiconductors $K = K_{\alpha} + K_{\mu}$.
- The rate of Joule heat production, which is delivered to each reservoir – that is, Q₈ = (1/2)*PR*, where *B* is the total resistance of the two semiconductors. The junction resistance is assumed to be negligible compared to the bulk resistances of the two thermoelements.

In order to evaluate the efficiency of the cooling device, one has to calculate the coefficient of performance, which is defined as the ratio of the rate of heat removed from the cold reservoir to the total electrical power supplied by the hattery. Upon maximization with respect to the electric current (2), the coefficient of performance for the Peltier cooling unit is

$$\phi = \frac{T_c}{T_c} \frac{\Omega - T_{t_c} T_c}{\Omega + 1}$$
(14)



Figure 1. Schematic of the solid state refrigerator. Due to the Feltier effect the concreat drives been out of the cold reservoir, which is in thermal equilibrium with the n-p junction, lowerde the dark region. The maximum temperature difference that can be achieved is given by Eq. (17). Upon current reversion, the inverse process takes place.

where $\Omega = \sqrt{1 + xT_A}$ and $T_A = (T_z + T_z)/2$ is the average temperature of the two reservoirs. The figure of merit *z* of the coupled system is a function of the thermopowers, electrical conductivities (π) , and thermal conductivities (x) of the two materials:

$$z = \left(\frac{S_{10}}{\sqrt{\kappa_{0}/\sigma_{0}} + \sqrt{\kappa_{0}/\sigma_{0}}}\right)^{2}$$
(15)

The optimal value of the current is

$$l_{\alpha\sigma} = \frac{S_{\alpha}^{*} \Delta T}{R(\Omega - 1)}$$
(16)

where $S_{r^4} = S_r - S_r$ is the difference between the thermopowers of the two components. The maximum value of the coefficient of performance is limited by the Carnot cycle coefficient of performance $\phi_r = T_r/\Delta T$. The second factor in Eq. (14) is between zero and unity and describes the reduction of the efficiency due to observe able processes of thermal conduction and Jaule brat generation that exter in the device. The maximum temperature difference that the Peltier refrigerator can achieve is obtained by setting the optimal coefficient of performance, ϕ_r equal to zero—that is, $\Omega = T_{br}/T_{b}$ —or

$$\Delta T_{tree} = \frac{\epsilon T_t^2}{2}$$
(17)

To get a sense of the operation values of the parameters, say that the figure of merit is $x = 2 \times 10^{-6} \text{ K}^{-1}$, the hot reservoir is kept at approximately from temperature $T_h = 300 \text{ K}$, and the cold reservoir is kept at the temperature, shout $T_r = 270 \text{ K}$; then $\Omega = -1.253$, the efficiency is $\phi = 0.56$, and $\Delta T_{max} = 73 \text{ K}$.

A unique property exists in the thermoelectric devices that is based on the reversible nature of the effects. For example, the subd-state refrigerator can set as a heating device theat pump) by reversing the direction of the current. The enefficient of performance for the heat pump φ_p is equal to $\phi_p = \phi + 1$, and it is greater than unity. The optimal values for the operation of the heating device are the same as for the cooling device. Also, if the battery that provides the current is replaced by a resistance load R_0 and we exchange the temperatures of the two reservoirs in Fig. 1, then upon heat deposition in the heat junction the device can act as a power generator fourrent is generated in the basi, due to the Secheck effect). However, depending on the type of operation, the design of the thermoelectric device has to be adjusted so that it provides the optimal performance. For a thermoelectric power generator it can be shown (2) that under optimal conditions of operation, the efficiency, defined as the rubb of the output electric power on the resistance load to the input heat at the hot junction is

$$\varphi_{\rm p} = \frac{\Delta T - \Omega + 1}{T_{\rm s} - \Omega + T_{\rm c}/T_{\rm b}} \tag{18}$$

The optimal resistance load is $R^{\mu\nu}{}_{1}=\Omega R$ and the output power is

$$P_{\text{out}} = \frac{\Omega}{R} \left(\frac{S_{\text{in}} \Delta T}{\Omega + 1} \right)^2 \tag{19}$$

The above equations indicate that the figure of merit is the most fundamental quantity for thermoelectric refrigeration and provides us with a quality criterion for the selection of the materials to be used for thermoelectric devices. As a matter of convenience, the quantity that is most slubbed in the literature is the dimensionless figure of merit ZT, which is defined for an individual conductor as

$$ZT = \frac{\Pi^2}{TRK} = \frac{TS^2}{RK}$$
(20)

To a good approximation, the total figure of merit can be taken to be the average of the two individuals figures of merit. It is evident from the above expressions that the efficiency of the Peltier cooler depends on the temperatures T_{τ} and T_{h} (sometimes called the ambient temperature) and also on the transport properties of the materials through the figure of merit. It is also clear that fae figure of merit should be as large as possible. This is actually the central problem in the thermoelectric refrigeration and, although some success has been attained in the past, is still an open problem. In order to obtain an effective Feltier coder, the Seebeck coefficients of the two components should have opposite signs and should be large. Moreover, we need notherwise with high electrical conductivity and low thermal conductivity. Furthermore, the strong semperators dependence of the figure of merit, which usually peaks at some temperature and then decreases quickly, must be consudered, since it is not easy to find good positive and negative thermoelements that have the same properties within the same temperature withdow.

A pair of thermoelectric materials usually performs well within some temperature range, as determined by Eq. (17), but might not fit our requirements. One way to resolve this problem is to design a multistage cooling unit or refrigeration coscade At each stage the thermoelectric materials can achieve some

fraction of the total temperature difference that is of interest. Thus, in order to get a large temperature difference, a variety of materials have to be chosen so that they operate optimally within some temperature window. The caseades have the form of pyramids of pairs of thermo-lements that are electrically in series, and the hat junction of the first stoge acts as a cold junction for the second stoge, and so on. For multilayer refrigeratong devices the heat cooling capacity of each layer is required. to be larger than that of the previous stage ance, at each level of operation, not only the anicum of heat absorbed from the previous cold junction, but also the electrical power put into the prending scage, has to be removed. Therefore, for each extra stage the number of Peltier elements has to be larger than that of the previous one. In a cascade type of arrangement, not only the attainable temperature differences are larger but also the coefficient of efficiency increases significantly. Therefore, cascades are certainly superior to single-stage thermoelectric devices. However, there are some technical limitations related to thermal isolation of cuch unit, and only two to three stages are used in practice.

Using metals as thermoelectric components is not preferable, in space of the favorable small values of the ratio x/x: From the Wiedemann Franz law we have

$$\kappa_{CD} = LT = 2.45 \times 10^{-8} T(\mathbf{K})$$
 (21)

where the Lorenz number is

$$L = \frac{\pi^2}{3} \left(\frac{k_0}{v}\right)^2 \tag{22}$$

This is due to the fact that the Peltier effect in metals is very weak (as was shown in the previous section) at all temperatures, and, as a result, typical values of the figure of merit. 2T, for metals at room temperatures is approximately 0.05. The performance of a metal-based cooler is approximately 1% and has no practical value. Furthermore, the metals do not meet the requirements for efficient confing at liquid aitrogen temperatures. For lawer temperatures, the Peltier coefficient in metals can be increased substantially by adding certain magnetic impurities (e.g., inn) to pure metals. A ropid increase in the density of states at energies close to the Fermi level occurs, related to the Kondo effect. From the Mott formula, one then can see that this change in the density of states would increase the Peltier coefficient.

Semiconductors have more advantages than metals, since the Pelkier coefficient is larger. Also, by varying the concentration of the importances (doping) a further optimization of them mopower, electrical conductivity, and thermal conductivity is possible. This flexibility of carrier concentration adjustment made the semiconducting materials the most favorate among researchers for the past 50 years. Usually higher doped semiconductors are preferable, but the doping impurities that determine the carrier concentration must be so chosen, to maximpre S^{*}/R . However, highly doped semiconductors have large phonon thermal conductivity in addition to the electronic case. At room temperatures, typical values of ZT for semiconductors are near unity. The semiconducting compound BigTe₃ and other solid solutions such as bismouth selenide or antomony telluride were extensively studied in the past (8) for thermoelectric refrigeration at room temperatures. They can provade a maximum temperature difference of the order of 40 K, and the efficiency is of the order of 10%. At cryogenic temperatures, the carriers in the semiconducting materials are frozen, which limits their potential use for refrigeration in this temperature range.

The performance of a Peltier refrigurator is much smaller than the one of conventional vapor-compression-type systems that are used for domestic refrigerators. The astamable scoling power is approximately 10 W, and there is a need for substantial improvement in the figure of merit of the Peltier thermomaterials. The use of reduced dimensionality systems was recently suggested (4) in order to increase the figure of merit of conventional bulk semiconducting thermoslectric materials which for the past 20 years seemed to mach their maximum potential performance. Hased on the latest advances in nano-lithography and fabrication sechnology, it is possible to confine electrons in a very narrow, one-dimensional region and thus create quanture attractor on ane-dimensional conductors. In such exotic systents, lattice thermal conductance appears to dominish due to increased phonon scattering from the surface. The results show a very drastic change in the figure of merit at room temperatures: for a bulk three-dimensional bismuth-telluride alloy ZT = 0.67, whereas for a ware with 5 Å diameter ZT14141

For Peltier refrigeration at and below liquid-nisrogen terrperatures (77 K), Bi-Sb alloys are promising candidates for the *n*-type material with individual figure of merit about 7 \times 10⁻² K⁻¹ at 80 K. On the other hand, traditional g-type thermoelectric materials, like bismuth-antemony-tellurides, have low individual figure of merit and would significantly degrade the potential performance of solid-state refrigerators. That is, the total figure of ment is less than the figure of meril of the neganve thermoelement. If we use a superconducting material in which the Seebeck coefficient is zero and the ratio of the thermal to electrical conductivity is significantly smaller than that of the semiconductor, the efficiency will be restored. The use of hugh(T) superconductors like YBCO, with high critical current density, as a p-type material offers this alternative solution (5). A maximum temperature drop of 7 K with the hot junction at 78 K was reported recently (5).

In spite of their low cooling power, there are certain advantages that make Politics refrigerators more desirable. For example, they have a smaller size, they use no refrigerant, and they look moving mechanical parts. Also among their features are low weight, maintenance-free operation, and extreme silence, which make them of major interest for military applications. Another application is related to the property that it is very simple to control the rate of cooling by adjusting the current, while reversal of the current direction transforms the cooling device into a heater. Thus makes Politier moders/heaters. very useful units for temperature control system. Adjusting the correct within some range of values, heat can either beremoved or added to one of the junctions that as in contact with the device whose temperature we want to be stabilized. In general, thermoelectric units can be part of miniature electronic and optoelectronic devices. For example, incorporation of a Poltion conlergheater was suggested to stabilize the output wavelengths of a scanning laser duide with bried thermal scanning range (6.,

As a final comment, at should be mentioned that the matathonian search for more exciting and excitio thermoelectric materials at room temperatures still continues (7).

PELTIER REFRIGERATION IN THE MILLIKELVIN TEMPERATURE RANGE

At very low temperatures—below a few hundred millikelvin the coupling between electron and phonons is metals is very poor, and as a result the heat-energy flow between the phonon system (lather; and the electron gas can be negligible. Therefore, electrons and phonons can be viewed as almost independent thermodynamic systems with well defined, but different lemperatures. The energy transfer between lattice and electrons can be derived quantum mechanically by calculating the rate at which electrons exchange (absorb or emit) energy with phonons. The final result is calculated to be (8)

$$P_{res} = \Sigma U(T^{n} - T_{0}^{n}) \qquad (23)$$

where D is the volume of the metal. Σ differs from metorial to insterial, but it is a constant and in general depends on the strength of electron-phonon coupling. When the electronic temperature $T_{1x}P_{r,y}$ vanishes at it should, since then electrons and phonons are in thermal equilibrium, and therefore there is no energy flow from one system to the other Most notably, the minimum electronic temperature that can be achieved when some small incident fould heat P_{vel} is deposited in the metal, possibly due to some external voltage source. is

$$T_{\rm frm} = (P_{\rm sp} / \Sigma D)^{1/5}$$
 (24)

Traditionally, in order to achieve such low temperatures, the metals are into used into liquid helium, a rather indirect procedure because the lattice is could first. A novel technique was suggested repeatly (9) that exploits the thermal transport properties of a normal-metal-insulator-superconductor (NIS). tunnel junction, in order to decrease the electronic temperature of the metal (usually called normal metal because of the absence of superconductivity which can be suppressed by an applying magnetic field). The principle of the Peltier cosing in hydrid superconducting structures can be understood as follows. At zero temperature, electrons in the normal metal are distributed among the energy levels in a way that all levels with energy below the Fermi energy are recupied and all states with higher energy are empty. Namely, their distribution function is a step function. At very low temperatures the occupational probabilities of the energy states are determined by the Ferror-Dirac distribution function: approximately a step functum with a thermal smearing of $k_0 T$ about the Ferrm energy. The electronalying in a strip of energy k_0T above the Fermi energy carry more energy than the rest. If we manage to extract only those electrons from the normal metal, then the smeared distribution function will be sharpened. Consequently the electroug temperature will be lowered. This effect can be achn-yed with the help of the adjacent superconductor, which processes a gap in the excitation spectrum. When the biased voltage of the NIS tunnel junction is close to the superconducting gap A and the tunnel barrier between the sormal metal and the superconductor is very strong, only the hot electrons of the normal metal can tunnel effectively to the superconductor, since for the rest there are no states available in the superconducting electrode. Figure 2 illustrates the highlights of refrigeration m



Figure 2. Energy-space diagram for the NIS junction. Biasing the junction of voltages about the superconducting gap, the highly statisfield electrons from the normal metal formel to the superconducting rogion where unoccupied electronic states are available. The horizontal arrow describes the tunneling process. (Based on Ref. 9.)

an NIS junction. In this space-energy diagram, all energies are measured from the chemical potential of the superconductor. When the junction is biased about the superconducting gap, only electrons from the tail of the distribution of the normal metal can tunnel to the superconductor where they can find available empty states (shown by the arrow).

Mathematically, the heat transport through the NIS posetion can be formulated along the lines of conneling Hamiltonear theory. Under the condition that the tunneling probability through the barrier (insulating region as small, then the heat carrent P out of the normal electronic and the electric current through the junction are

$$P(V) = \frac{1}{e^2 R_c} \int_{-\pi}^{+\infty} dE N(E) (E - eV) |f(E - eV) - f(E)| = (25)$$

$$I(V) = \frac{1}{eR_1} \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dE N'E(|f(E - eV) - f(E)|)$$
(26)

where R_7 is the resistance of the tunnel junction when both electrodes are in the normal state (9–11). It is assumed that the two electrodes (N and S) have the same temperature. f(E) denotes the equilibrium distribution function for the electrons:

$$f(E) = \frac{1}{1 + \exp(E/k_0 T)}$$
(27)

N(E) denotes the density of states in the superconducting region, given by the BCS theory

$$\mathcal{N}(E) = \frac{E}{\sqrt{E^2 + \Delta^2}} \mathbb{P}(E^2 - \Delta^2)$$
(28)

and taken to be zero within the gap region.

Several properties can be deduced from Eq. (25) for the heat current. First of all, it is a symmetric function of the voltage, P(-V) = P(V); that is, the heat flows out of the normal metal regardless of the direction of the electric current. Second, it is inversely propartional to the resistance of the junction. Namely, the cooling power will be increased if the junction area or the conductivity of the unsulating barrier is increased. One then would expert that when transmission probability through the contact between the normal metal and the superconductor increases, the cooling power will be magnified.

However, as was demonstrated (10), at larger transporencios coherent two-electron tunneling (And reev reflection) begins to dominate the electron transport and suppresses the flow of heat from the N region to the S region. And new reflection is a special mechanism of transport in which a quasiparticle from the normal metal with energy below the superconducting gap combines with a Cooper pair from the superconducting electrade to produce a hole in the normal metal that travels in the opposite direction of the incident electron. It can be also visualized as a Cooper pair breaking that creates an electron and a hole that travel coherently in the normal metal. Andreev reflection process dominates the transport in microcontacts (NS) interfaces), and as an amminent result from its existence, electrons with all energies, including those with energies below the superconducting energy gap, can tunnel to the S electrode. Thus, it lumits the cooling power of the NIS junction. Moreover, the heat current exhibits a nonmonotonic dependence on the interface transparency: It increases at small transparencius and decreases at larger ones. The interplay between the single-electron tunneling process and the Andreev reflection type of transport determines the crossover value for the transmission probability which maximizes the cooling power (10). At low temperatures the transition value of the transparency is propartional to the ratio $(k_0 T/\Lambda)^{1/2}$

Figure 3 shows the heat current as a function of the bins voltage for different temperatures calculated numerically using Eq. (25). The optimal value of the heat current is obtained for voltages about the gap $V \perp \Delta/c$ and has a numeronormous behavior with respect to the temperature. When the applied



Figure 3. The heat current for a N15 junction as a function of the bias voltage. From top to bottom the curves correspond to temperature $T \neq 0.3, 0.2, 0.15, 0.1, 5$. The inset since since the normalized heat current $P(V_{ab}|e^{2}R_{1}, \Delta^{2})$ under extrapl heat voltage conditions, as a function of the temperature $\hat{g}_{0}\Gamma(\lambda)$ (From Ref. 10.5).

voltage is less than the gap, heat is extracted from the normal metal and dissipated in the superconducting region through electron phonon collisions, but for higher voltages *P* becomes negative and the normal metal is heated. The inset of Fig. 3 shows the heat current at the optimal heat valtages as a function of the temperature. The maximum value of the optimal heat current $P \simeq 0.06 \Lambda^2/e^2 R_f$ is reached at $k_B T \simeq 0.3 \Lambda$ and decreases at lower temperatures as $(k_B T / \Delta)^{5/2}$ (10). In particular, for temperatures smaller than the gap, $k_B T \ll \Delta$, we can obtain from Eq. (25) the following result for the coding power of the junction:

$$P(\alpha, \nu) \simeq \frac{\sqrt{\pi}(\sqrt{2} + 1) \varphi(3/2)}{4} \frac{\Delta'}{e^2 R_{\rm F}} \left(\frac{k_B T}{\Delta}\right)^{1/2} \tag{29}$$

The power supplied by the voltage source is $P_{\phi}(V) = V B(V)$. The electric current at the optimal bias, for low temperatures, can be calculated in a similar way as the heat current. As a result, the supplied power at the optimal voltage is

$$P_{0}(\Delta_{1}x) \simeq \frac{\sqrt{\pi}(\sqrt{2}-1)}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{C(1/2)}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\Delta^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{h}{h_{T}} \left(\frac{k_{0}T}{\Delta}\right)^{1/2}$$
(30)

If we introduce the efficiency at the optimal point of operation of the device, $\eta = D(\Lambda/\nu)/P_c(\Lambda/\nu)$, Eqs. (29) and (30) read

$$u = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{4} \frac{\xi(3/2)}{\xi(1/2)} \frac{k_{\rm B}T}{\Delta}$$
(31)

For typical values of the gap for conventional lowtemperature superconductors $\Delta \approx 2$ K and T = 200 mK, the estimated efficiency is of the order of 7%.

In the initial experiment (9), a small metallic film of copper with volume U = 0.4 μ m³ and ambient temperature of T = 100 mK was couled down to 85 mK. The barrier resistance R-10 kΩ was much larger than the maistance of the metallic us land, approximately 10 Ω. The cooling power was about 7 fW at the ambient temperature. The refrigerating device was consisted of a tunnel junction between Cu (normal metall, and an alumnoon superconducting electrode (NIS). The current was driven through the system with another superconducting electrode (Pb) which was in metallic contact (SN) with the normal thin film.

A dramatic improvement of the performance of the NIS increte frigerator was achieved recently (11). Leava et al. (11) combined two NIS junctions in series to form a symmetric SINIS hybrid superconducting structure. Because the heat power is a symmetric function of the voltage, when the junction is biased symmetrically at the optimal points, that is, V = e A/w, even though the current passes torough the normal metal in one direction, the heat flows out of the metallic island through both junctions. Moreover, one of the advantages of this structure is the efficient thermal isolation of the metallic island that we desire to refrigerate. The junction resistances were appreximately 1 k Ω , and the volume of the metallic island was about 0.05 μ m². Starting from 300 mK, a 75% decrease in the electronic temperature was obtained. The gebieved cooling power k.5 pW was three orders of magnitude larger than before.

A schematic diagram of the SINIS microrefrigerator is depicted in Fig. 4. The two superconducting electrodes on the



Figure 4. A schematic of the SINIS Pointer refrigeration A metallic island (N) is connected via this insulating regions (1) to superconducting electrodes (S₂. The two junctions are characterized by the same resistance, R_2 . The symmetrically biased junctions effectively reduce the electron temperature of the island, which is recorded via the their mometer. (Based on Ref. 11.)

top of the metallic island can be used to measure its temperature. The current voltage characteristic (I - V) is recorded, from which the temperature of the metal can be calculated. It should be mentioned that in the tanneling limit the (I-V) characteristics depend only on the electronic temperature. Figure 5 shows the performance of the SINIS Peltier refragerator at various ambient temperatures (value of *T* when V = 0). The value of the bias voltage at the temperature dips is approximately $V \simeq 2\Delta/\nu$; each junction is biased symmetrically vV/2 with respect to the metal. Namely, the superconducting gup of the aluminom is $\Delta = 180 \ \mu \text{eV}$. The voltage dependence of the temperature can be calculated from the energy balance equation.

$$P(V) = P_{cop} = \Sigma U(T^{*} - T_{0}^{*})$$

$$(32)$$

For V = 0 we have $T_L = T$. For the SINIS system, one has to calculate in a self-consistent way the electric current and heat current because there is a voltage drop across the normal metal which shifts the chemical potential of the nortalin island. The temperature dependence of the maximum cooling power is plotted in the sist of Fig. 5.

When comparing the NIS Peltier microrefrigerator to conventional millikelvin refrigeration schumes like adiabatic demagnatization or dillution prosents, there are many advantages and disadvantages. Some of the advantages are, smaller size and weight fcon operate even at zero gravity', faster cooling: easier to construct, operate, and maintain, reliability. One of the major drawbacks is the small cooling power: the superconducting electrodes can remove only some proceets of power. and the cooling is basically efficient only for small volume conductors. The cooling power of a dillution refrigerator at term peratures below 100 mK is in the range of tens to hundreds of microwatts. In addition, the cooling properties of the NIS junctions are related only to the electronic temperature. Attempts to cool down the lattice based on tunneling principles show even smaller cooling power. However, the NIS Peltier microrefrigerators are of importance for devices that dissipate small amounts of power lie x-ray or infrared detectors. Purthermore, cryogenic NIS junctions can be used as sensitive bolometers to detect parlucles and radiation. When some incident radiation is absorbed by the metal, if affects mostly the electronic temperature due to



Figure 5. Definition of the SINIS cooling device. By varying the bias voltage the temperature of the metallic island is recorded. Each curve corresponds to different numbers temperature. Solid lines represent the theoretical fit with one fitting parameter Σ . In the most the optimal cooling power is plotted as a function of the airbient temperature. Asterisks represent the experimental result, and the solid line is twice the result of Eq. (25). (From Ref. 11.)

weak coupling of lattice with the electrons. The extra energy is deposited in a form of highly exergetic thermal excitations that tunnel to the superconductor. Temperature increments can be detected via changes in the I-Y characteristics of the device (12). As a final remark, Peltier microrefrigerature can serve as an alternative solution for the cooling of holometric detectors (which operate best below 100 mK) and as temperature sensors that are carried by satellites for astronomical observations

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- D. K. C. MacDunald, Thermoelectricity: An Extroduction to the Prinsiples, New York: Wiley, 1962.
- R R Heikes and R W Ure, Jr., Thermoschertricity: Science and Engineering, New York Interscience, 1961.
- H. J. Goldsmid, Thermocloctric Refrigeration, New York, Plenum, 1964.
- L. D. Hicks and M. S. Dresselhaus, Thermuelectric figure of ment of a one-dimensional conductor, *Phys. Rev. B* 47, 16601, 1990.
- El. J. Coldsmid et al., High-T, superconductors as passive thermoelements. J. Phys. D.21, 344, 1966. T. Nakaro and T. Hashmoto, Refrigeration character of new-type Peltier refrigerator using high-F, BiPb₂: Sr₂Ca₂Cu₂O₂ superconductors. Jon. J. Appl. Phys., 33, 1725, 1994.
- D. Li, N. J. Howmang, and J. G. Baker, A scanning temperature control system for laser diodes. *Mean. Sci. Technol.* 4, 1111, 1993.
- C. Mahan, B. Salas, and J. Sharp, Thermoelectric materials: New approaches to an old publicm. *Phys. Today*, March, 42, 1997.
- F. C. Wellstond, C. Urbina, and J. Flacke, Hol-stertron effects in metals, *Phys. Rev. B* 49: 5942, 1994.

- M. Nahum, T. M. Eiles, and J. Martinus, Electronic microsofragerator based on a normal insulator-superconductor, Appl. Phys. Lett. 65, 3123–1994
- 10 A Baldan and D Averia. Peldier effect in normal metalsuperconductor (NS) microcontacts. Phys. Rev. B,52: 12973, 1995.
- M. M. Leivo, J. P. Pokola, and D. Averin. Efficient Police refrigeration by a pair or normal metal/insulator/sequerconductor punctions, Appl. Phys. Lett. 68, 1996, 1996.
- 12 M. Nalman, J. M. Martinis, and S. Castles, Hot electron mutrucalorimeters for X-ray and phonon detection, J. Low Temp. Phys., 90: 703, 1993; A. Berait, M. Martin, and B. Pannether, Tuncel protocol used as thermometer for ions detection. J. Low Temp. Phys., 93: 727, 1993.

ATHAMASSIDS BARDAS State University of New York et Stony Brook

POWER QUALITY

Society is becoming more and more reliant on machines, devices, and processes that are sensitive to the quality of the electrical power they use. At the same time, the generation and distribution system for electrical power is becoming more and more complex and vulnerable to internal and external perturnations that disrupt the quality of power available to the end user. For these reasons, there is a large market developing for high-quality power, and several technologies that can provide such power have been or are being developed. In this article, we discuss some of these power quality issues and provide some insight into one of the technologies proposed to provide high-quality power. The first part of the article focuses on power quality issues and how microSMES (Superconducting Magnetic Energy Storage) seehoology is inserted into the power flow stream. The second part is devoted to a discussion of the fine points of microSMES technology from a design and performance point of view

POWER QUALITY

The term power quality encompasses a bread range of technical issues that concern everyone, from the casual computer user to the equipment manufacturer, the industrial plant manager, and the utility transmission engineer. The technical issues associated with power quality at all these levels are complex, and they are often disguised behind misconceptions, vague definitions, and misopplied solutions. The lack of a consistent vacabulary, difficulty in fully characterizing power quality at the ultimate point of use, and confusion over the applicability of available solutions often encourages an adversarial relationship between the user, the equipment manufacturer, and the utility provider.

The technical community as well as the general public is increasingly concerned about power quality factors for a number of interrelated reasons. Some of the issues behind this growing apprehension include:

 Increasing levels of automation and flexibility have mused a proliferation of microproressor-based controls and power electronic systems that are more sensitive to power quality variations than older electromechanical devices.

- Utility operating procedures designed to minimize suctained interruptions have increased the frequency of shortduration interruptions through wider use of line reclosers and instantaneous breaker operations
- A growing emphasis on energy conservation has encouriged greater use of high efficiency adjustable-speed motor drives and nonlinear power supplies that generate high levels of harmonics and heating of neutral conductors.
- The ourceasing sophistication of ordustrial processes and their reliance on expensive raw materials have greatly multiplied the cost of recovering from disruptions caused by poor power quality.

These factors combine to place a tremendous economic burden on industry, particularly in high-tech operations such as semiconductor wolfer fabrication. Estimates of this economic impact on US industry alone range from \$13.3 billion to \$25.6 billion per year (1).

Power Quality Standards

The definition of power quality terms and standard methods for measuring and characterizing electromagnetic pheacomena have received considerable attention in recent years from numerous standards badies. The principal bodies involved in establishing international power quaiity standards are the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) and the International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC). Other North American standards organizations involved with power quality issues include the American National Standards Institute (ANSI), National Electrical Manufacturers Association (NEMA), Underwriters Laboratory (UL), Canadian Standards Association (CSA), and Semiconductor Equipment and Materals International (SEMI). European organizations involved in similar activities include the European Union Standards Organization (CENELEC) and the International Conference on Large High Voltage Electric Systems (CIG(R))

The electromagnetic disturbances defined in the standards and recommended practices produced by these organizations can be classified in several ways, depending on the perspective of the defining body. Table 1 is an example of a particularly comprehensive classification system that not only defines a generally accepted term for each type of disturbance but also gives typical values for spectral context, duration, and magnitude where appropriate 12).

Power Quality Data

The most frequently referenced method of representing power quality data and equipment compatibulity information is the CBEMA curve, originally developed by the Computer Business

Table 1.	Changi cation	of Process Decelity	Disturburger
	CINERAL CHEROID	OF LOWAL PURNING	LUBITLE DRUCES

	Typical		Турісяі	
	Spectral	Typical	Voltage	
Calegonez	Content	Durntion	Magnitode	
1.0 Fransients				
1.1 Impaleise				
1.1.1 Nanasecond	5 ns rise	< 50 os		
1.1.2 Microsecond	Juan rise	50 0st 1 ros		
1 L3 Millisecond	0.1 ms row	·1 (ps		
1.2 Osrillatory				
3.2.1 Low frequency	 A kHz 	0.8 -50 ma	04 pc	
5 2.2 Medium frequency	5-500 kHz	au (30	0-8 pc	
3 2.3 High frequency	0.5-5 MHz	5 µs	Ա4 դու	
2.0 Short-duration variations				
2.1 Instantempola				
2 1.1 Interruption		0.5 -30 cycles	<0.1 pu	
2/1/2 Sog (d-p)		0.5 - 33 sycles	ຟ] ຟ 9 ວມ	
2.1.9 Swej		0.5-30 cycles	l. J - I. 8 pu	
2.2 Momentary		-		
2 ≥ 1 3riterroption		30 cycles (9.8	<0.1 pu	
2 2 2 Seg thept		30 eyebes- 3 s	01 9.9 pu	
2 2 3 Swoll		Strephones 3 8	L) L4 pu	
2.3 Tempurary				
2.3.1 Loterruption		2 er Lonin	• 0.1 pu	
2/3/2 Sag Mip)		3 6-1 1000	0.1 0.9 pu	
2.3 3 Swell		3 s 1 min	1.5 12 pa	
3.0 Long-duration variations				
3.1 Interruption, sustained		י ג ובו א	0.0 pu	
3.2 Endervoltages		∴L miπ	0.8-0.9 (.0	
3.3 Overvel tages		•L min	1.1 1.2 pu	
4.0 Voltage unheimme		Steady state	0.5 25	
5.0 Waxelong detection				
5-1 dk olfset		Stendy state	0 0.1.1%	
ā 2 Harmonics	0. 100rg harmonic	Strady state	o- 20%	
5.3 Interharmonies	0 6 kHz	Steady stone	0.25	
5.4 Notching		Steady stone		
5.5 Nouse	Broadband	Sheedy store	0.14	
6.0 Voltage Florentations	23 Hz	Intermitting	01-7-2	
2.0 Power (requests) variations		1.10 -		



Duration of disturbance in cycles (c) and seconds (s)

Figure 1. Revised voltage tolerance envelape developed by CBEMA to characterize compatibility at the users's load in terms of the automatic voltage insignatode and doration of the disturbance. This de lamo standard was intended to provide a benchmurk for measuring the ride-through capability of sensitive electronic equipment against the quality of the available electric supply.

Equipment Manufacturers Association. This organization, now known as the Information Technology Industry Council (FPIC). approved a revised version of the CBEMA curve in 1996. The revised curve, shown in Fig. 1, specifies an envelope of acceptable power quality defined in terms of voltage magnitude and duration. The curve assumes that equipment will ride through disturbances falling within the envelope without any molfunetions. It is assumed that disturbances that fall below the envelope may cause the load equipment to drop out because of a tack of energy, whereas disturbances that fall above the envelope may lead to overvoltage trips, insulation breakdown, and other problems. Unfortunately, the actual voltage twierance of electronic equipment varies guite widely and rarely appriximates the CBEMA curve. Nevertheless, she CBEMA curve has become a de facta reference for evaluating the quality of the electrical supply and the tolerance of sensitive equipment to voltage distorbances.

Figure 2 shows a plot of voltage sag data collected from 15 semiconductor manufacturing sites overlaid on the lower partion of the CBEMA covelope. The disturbance data are a subset of the data collected as part of the EPRI Distribution Power Quality (DPQ) study (3). The DPQ study collected data on a representative sample of utility distribution feeders, with monitors placed on 100 different feeders at 24 geographically dispersed utilities even a period of approximately 2 years. The data shown in Fig. 2 was restricted to data acquired at semiconductor plants to characterize the electrical environment faced by large industrial customers served by dedicated substations. These sites generally have fewer distorbances than the average substation serving a mix of commercial and residential loads. Even so, the semiconductor plants experienced 1076 disturbances, with 166 of the events lying below the CBEMA curve This resulted in an average of 5.4 sags and interruptions per



Figure 2. Scatterplat of EPRI DPQ study data overlayed or the relevant portion of the revised CBEMA curve. The 1076 di-to-base events were acquired at 15 semiconductor manufacturing plants over a period of approximately 2 years. The number of disturbances that fell on or below the CHEMA curve was 166, giving an average of 5.4 events per vear period enduce the veloge tolerance envelope.



Figure 8. Contour plot of EPRI DPQ study data. The contour lines represent the average number of distorbance events per site that are more severe (having a lower voltage and longer duration) then the magnitude and duration values along the contour line. For example, there were 15 events per year with a magnitude less than 60% of nominal voltage and a duration longer than 20 ms

year at each site that fell outside the CBEMA voltage tolerance envelope.

The DPQ disturbance data is shown in contour format in Fig. 3 to display the frequency of occurrence for sags and interroptions as a function of their magnitude and duration valnes (4). This visualization method clearly indicates that the vast majority of the disturbances are relatively small amplitude sags of short duration. Statistical analysis of the DPQ data reveals:

- The average interruption rate was 0.6 per month per site;
- $^\circ$ The average sag rate was 4 per month per site $109 < V^{*}$ 90% (
- The rates of voltage sags to interruptions was approximately 10:1;
- Most voltage sage had a duration of less than 167 ms (10 cycles at 60 Hz).

From this data, we can conclude shas power conditioning equipment providing ride-through protection times of at least 1's can protect sensitive industrial loads against the vast majority of the electrical disturbances they will encounter

Superconducting Magnetic Energy Storage Configurations

The acronym SMES was coined in the 1970s at the University of Wisconson. It stands for superconducting magnetic energy storage, a concept whereby energy is stored in the form of a magnetic field. The field is created by a superconducting magort, which has virtually no electrical resistance when cooled to the boiling point of helium. The tack of electrical resistance means that there are an storage losses; so in principle SMES is a very efficient means of storing energy.

The basic energy storage element of a uncroSMES system can be connected to the utility and the protected load in a number of ways to maximize protection capabilities for differcut applications. The operating requirements for the magnet subsystem are fairly similar for these various configurations, whereas the power electronics interface is quite specific to the target application. Several patential application classes will be briefly discussed in the following sections.

Shund-Connected System. A simplified block diagram of a shuntconnected microSMES application is shown in Fig. 4. This configuration can be used to protect virtually any type of sensitive ac load or industrial process. The lond is initially fed from the ubility source through the normally closed mechanical disconnect switches on either side of the solid-state isolation switch. When a voltage say or interruption accurs on the utility source. the solid-state isolation swatch is opened to isolate the load from the unreliable utility power. The microSMES unit instantly begins to discharge through the inverter so that the load is seamleasily insusformal from the utility source to the energy storage system of utility power is restored during the discharge, the mocroSMES unit is synchronized to the grid, and the solid state isolation switch transfers the load back to the utility source. The microSMES and is then recharged to full-energy storage casacity in preparation for additional protection cycles.

Series-Connected System. A series-connected microSMES unit is shown in the simplified block diagram of Fig. 5. In this application, the microSMES and is configured to compensate for voltage sugs by providing a voltage boost in series with the load. Because the microSMES out does not support the full load as at does in the short-connected configuration, the same amount of energy storage can support a larger electrical load for an equivalent time or the same size load for a longer time. The load is normally fed from the utility source through the solid-state isolation switch hypersing the injection transformer. When a voltage sag is detected, the solid-state switch opens, and the load current flows through the negation transformer. The inverter theo injects just enough energy into the transformer to maintain the desinal voltage level at the load. The isolation switch closes when nominal utility voltage is restored and the



Figure 4. Simplified likely diagram of a short-connected microSMES system This configuration protects sensitive ac londs against dips and interruptions by discustering from the utility service during a disturbance and supplying the head with energy stored in the superconducting magnet

microSMES unit is recharged and placed in standby mode in preparation for the next event.

Motor Drive System. In adjustable speed motor drive applications, the microSMES unit supplies a devoltage rather than the ac voltage supplied in shant- and series-connected applications. As shown in the block diagram of Fig. 6, the devoltage from the microSMES unit is fed into the delink ketween the restation and inverter of the motor drive itself. This configuration climinates the need for a separate inverter for the MicroSMES system. The valuage regulator in the microSMES system simply ensures that the dc link capacitor remains fully charged in the event of a loss of utility power feeding the rectifier.

Bybrid UPS System. A second configuration requiring deputput from the microSMES is shown in Fig. 7, where the microSMES unit is integrated with a conventional battery Uninterruptible Power Supply (UPS) system. The microSMES voltage regulator monitors the definit of the UPS and supplies enargy from the magnet whenever the link voltage drops because



Figure 5. Simplified black diagram of a series-connected concroSMF5 system. This configuration protects sensitive so loads against voltage dips by horsting the voltage series the injection transformer to comparison for low voltages at the utility source.



Figure 6. Snaphfied block disgram of a uncroSMES system protecting an adjustable speed mater drive. This configuration eliminates the incortect in the openoSMES system because the stored energy in the magnet is supplied directly to the de lank of the motor drive.

of a loss of power at the input rectifier. If the loss of input power persists, the batteries gradually begin to supply energy to the inverter as the stored energy it, the microSMES is depleted. This configuration allows the microSMES unit to support the loss completely during short disturbances and to slow down the rise time of the battery discharge for longer disturbances. This hybrid configuration can significantly enhance battery performance because battery lifetime is decreased by deep discharges with fast rise times.

Micro5ME5

The remainder of this article concentrates on the system that provides the energy to fide through a power disturbance. In particular, energy stored in a magnetic field is discussed. Magnetic energy storage systems are described in general and compared with other forms of storage. Details of the design are discussed, with the purpose of identifying the design drivers that affect the economy of such systems. Finally, a generalized algorithm to arrive at a design that minimizes the cost required to slove a unit of energy is developed to further illuminate the design issues related to microSMES.

What is *µ*SMES?

Designs for SMES systems have been proposed at several sizes and stored energy scales. Early SMES studies focused on very large systems, which stored thousands of megawatt-hours of energy and were designed to provide peaking power for large utility baseloads. SMES systems storing tenths of megawatthours have been proposed to provide stabilization of power distribution grids subject to transients that can disrupt the delivery of power over transmission lines. Some applications in the utilitary and elsewhere require hundreds of megawatt-seconds of energy delivered at very high power that can be supplied by SMES systems. Finally, SMES systems storing on the order of 1 MW-e to 10 MW is of energy are proposed to provide shortterm high-quality power to equipment and processes sensitive to voltage sags and/or power notages. The latter set of systems as a group is referred to as microSMES, or #SMES.

A typical block diagram of a μ SMES system is shown in Fig. 8. There is a power electronics subsystem that provides an interface between the energy storage system (the magnet) and the power source/had. Depending on the application, there might be an anxiliary stand-by power source included in the system to handle long power outages. Ancillary subsystems support the magnet. It operates at liquid helium temperature and requires refrigeration and insolating vacuum systems to maintain operating conditions. The heart of the system is a superconducting magnet. This is an electromagnet wound with superconducting wire. When the wire is operated at liquid helium temperature (4.5 K, or -450 F), it will carry an electric current with no resistance. Thus there are no resistive losses, and the storage of energy in the form of a magnetic field becomes possible.

The economics of α SMES are determined by these three major subsystems. Unlike battery storage, where all the cost is in the power electronics, or coparitors, where all the cost is in the energy storage system. α SMES costs are split between the power electronics and the storage, with contrivial standby power needed to run the refrigeration system. Each of these subsystems must be opticized for maximum performance at minimum cost for ρ SMES to be successful in the marketplace.

licentise the power electronics are somewhat common to all types of energy storage, the magnet system and refrigeration system must be optimized for SMES to be competitive with other technologies. For the magnet system, the maximum stored energy must be obtained using the minimum amount of material (superconducting wire). For the refrigeration system, minimizing the heat leaking into the cold space is the key to optionin performance. These issues will be discussed in greater detail later.

How Dues JISMES Compare to Other Forms of Energy Storage?

Before describing a µSMES system in greater detail, some points about the trabuology should be made, with the purpose



Figure 7. Simplified block diagram of a hybrid microSMES/battery UPS system. In this configuration, the superconducting magnet supplies energy to the load during short-duration disturbances, and the batteries must be discharged only during sustained outages. The lewer number of cycles and lower discharge depth required from the batteries significantly increases their life time.

of driving out those applications where pSMES makes sense and where it doesn't make sense. A discussion of the desirable and undesirable qualities of SMES follows.

Positive Attributes. SMES technology has many virtues. It can provide power at an arbitrary level and do so virtually instantaneously. Furthermore, the life of the device is not limited by the power level or depth of discharge. A SMES system will provide power pulses throughout its design lifetime of up to 30 years with no degradation in performance.

The conversion from magnetic energy to electrical energy is very efficient. Because the magnetic field is created by an electric current circulating in a magnet, it is very straightforward to extract the energy All that is needed is a voltage applied across the terminals of the magnet. The only loss is in the form of hear dissipated in the leads and electronic devices in the power electronics system (PCS), which is minimal.

A large fraction of the stored energy can be extracted from the system. The only hontation is that the voltage must be applied to maintain the delivered power. As will be discussed in further datail later, the voltage must rise as the current drops during a discharge. Eventually the voltage will rise to a level where it can break down the insolution on the coil. The discharge must be stopped just before this happens. With proper design, it is possible that this limit is not reached until only a few percent of the original stored energy remains.

The storage system itself requires no mandenance. The only moving parts are in the refrigerator. Maintenance is required on the refrigeration system, but it is possible that it can be performed while the remainder of the system is operating.



Figure B. Block diagram of a microSMES storage system, showing major subsystems. Each subsystem is a major cost driver for SMES technology and must provide optimium performance.

Thus SMES has the potential to have no down time for maintenance

SMES is generally environmentally benign (see the discussion of fringe magnetic fields). If does not employ bazardous or toxic materials. There are no components requiring recycling or disposal during or at the end of its life.

Finally, the state of charge of the system is easily determined. A simple current or magnetic field measurement is all that is needed to ascertain that the system is charged and ready to deliver power.

Negative Attributes. SMES has some undesirable characteristics as well. Some are real, and some are falsely perceived by the market, but nonetheless have prevented SMES from being an overwhelming success to date

First. SMES is an expensive technology. The superconducting wire used in the magneta is expensive to begin with. The cost of the labor and materials to fabricate the structure of the magnet, the belium containment vessel, the rayistat, and the supporting refrigeration system is and will always be an order of magnitude greater than the cost of batteries storing the same amount of energy.

The technology is esutence and is perceived to be risky Superconducting magnets are esoteric for several reasons. Because they operate at such cold temperatures, vacuum insulating technology and behave refrigeration technology are a necessary. part of the design. Furthermore, it takes a trivial amount of energy to dostroy the superconductive properties of the wire (e.g., the frictional heat generated of two adjacent wires rolitogether through the distance of 4/100ths of a mil, or the heat generated. by the creation of micmonacks in an newsy-impregnated coil. when it is energized). If the superconductive property is lost, systems must be in place to protect the wire from overheating and borning out from the excessive resistive heal that is generated. In addition, there can be very high internal voltages in a superconducting magnet that has gone resistive, which can potentially are through the electrical manlation around the work and tender the magnet useless at worst, or have much reduced capacity at best. These problems are usually encountered when n magnet is first energized, but rately afterwards. A magnet might require several attempts before it can be fully ramped to its design current and field, but once it has been operated at design conditions, the risk of an unwanted quench virtup[]y vanishes. The risk inherent in the technology is to the producer because if a magnet is not properly designed and fabricated, it accornes apparent only after it has been built. Then it must be scrapped. The risk to an end user is negligible more a magnet has been operated at design conditions. Over the years, the potential problems have come to be understood, and although they connot be climinated, they can be mitigated by paying close at tention to proper design practice and quality control during fabrication. Indeed, superconducting magnets have reached a mature state of reliability for commercial applications: refer to magnetic resistance imaging (MRI) systems routinely operating in hespitals throughout the world.

It is possible that a SMES system will have fairly large fringe fields (i.e., the magnetic field will extend well beyond the physical limits of the magnet system). This can lead to siting problems or restrictions that can add to the cost. An alternative is to use foundal magnet systems, where the field is confined totally within the bore of the toroid. This essentially eliminates the fringe field, with the penalty of requiring more superconducting wire to produce the same amount of energy as a splenoid.

The maintenance required for the refrigeration system can be expensive. Depending on the size of the refrigerator required, maintenance can vary from requiring a simple seal replacement to rebuilding a compressor periodically. The cost of this maintenance must be factored into the life cycle cost of the installed system. Typical practice is to provide redundant components such as compressors, with an associated penalty of additional capital cost.

Finally, pSMES suffers from a penalty imposed by the Second Law of Thermodynamics. In order to operate at temperatures close to absolute zero, large amounts of power are required to operate the refrigerator Typical helium refrigerators require from 500 W to 5000 W of compressor power to remove a single watt of heat load from a helium bath. Thus there are large parasitic power requirements to operate a system. In addition, the current that circulates through the magnet most also virculate through the power electonics system, creating waste heat that must be removed. This waste heat becomes an air conditioning load that represents additional parasitie power.

Because µSMES will always be more expensive than batteries, it should be considered only for applications where basteries cannot compete: power levels higher than 2 MW or so and situations requiring many repetitive discharge cycles lasting on the order of two or three accords or less. These conditions exploit the positive attributes of µSMES to best advantage

What Does the Storage System Look Like?

The storage subsystem of a ASMES unit consists of a magnet and a cryogenic system. The magnet is a superconducing conor array of coils. The cryogenic system includes a cryosial that insulates the cold belium vessel from the ambient surroundings, and a helium liqueder

The magnet may be a single coil or an array of coils. [t may be wound in a solenoul configuration or in a toroid. The advantage of a solenoid is that it produces more stored energy per unit conductor than a toroid does, and it is much simpler to fabricate. The advantage of a toroid is that the magnetic field is confined almost completely within the bore of the torus.

It is not within the scope of this article to discuss the art of designing and fabricating superconducting magnets. However, insofar as they relate to the technology of µSMES, the main components of a magnet will be discussed. A superconducting magnet consists of a conductor, wound on some structure, with the conductor isolated from adjacent turns and the supporting structure by some insulation system.

The conductor represents the major materials rost of a μ SMES system. It will be other a single monolithic wire, or a cable of smaller wires. At currents up to 2000 A to 3000 A, a single wire will do the job and is caster to fubricate and wind. At higher currents (higher powers), a cable is the preferred approach. The primary reason is that, as the size of wire increases, the ac losses during discharge berome significant. These losses are reduced in a cable because of the resistance created at the many contact points between individual wires.

The structure must support the winding against the Lorentz loads created when a conductor is placed in a magnetic field. In a simple solenoid, the structure is trivial bornuse the net force on the call is zero (coupping its own weight). The forces act to expand the coll radially outward and compress the coll axially. The winding itself is the structure. It submodal arrays, or toroids, there are significant forces that act on the individual colls, which must be reacted with structure. The nature of the forces depend on the geometry and arrangement of the colarray. For a toroid, a centering force acts to compress the toroid into as small a diameter as possible.

The insulation system is key to the economic viability of ρ SMES because it determines the maximum allowable voltage at which the coil can be discharged. The voltage level determines how much of the stored energy can actually be delivered at a given power level, and the higher the voltage, the lower the current can be, which reduces the refrigeration load. The largest voltages appear across the terminals of the coil, and also from cool to ground. The insulation in these areas must be designed to withsland high voltage stresses for many cycles. The voltages between layers of the coil, and between torns, are generally much less because the terminal voltage gets divided essentially evenly over each layer and turn.

The cryogenic system maintains the operating environment for the superconducting coil, which is at the normal boiling point of liquid beliam, or approximately 4.5 K. The components are the beliam refrigerator and the cryostat. A key part of the cryostat that affects the economics of μ SMES are the leads that connect the cold magnet to the warm power conditioning system.

The complexity, size, and cost of the refrigerator depends on the size of the heat load to the refrigerated space. Lorger beat loads, on the order of tens of watts, require a refrigerator based on the Collins cycle. These are communically available and consist of a compressor and a cold box. The compressor produces a high-pressure stream of gas, which is passed through the cold hos. Inside the cold box are counterflow beat exchangers, which cool the high pressure gas with cold, low-pressure gas returning from the old spare. At several temperature stages, part of the gas stream is diverted through an expansion engine to produce additional cold caoling gas. Only a portion of the gas char is compressed actually is used to refrigerate the magnet. One of the problems with hebma referentiators is that any other contaminants in the gas stream condense out on the heat exchanger surfaces. This includes the oil that must be used to lubricate the compressor. One of the reasons holium refrigenators are so expressive and hard to maintain is that the gas cleaning systems require periodic cleaning.

At smaller heat loads, newer cryacoder technology is preferred. These are small refrigerators based on the Gifford McMahon cycle, which employs a regenerator heat exchanger to cool the high-pressure gas stream. These devices are also subject to degradation resulting from fouled heat transfer surfaces, but they have the advantage of not requiring cold expansion engines that can wear out, and the regenerator tends to be self-cleaning to some degree. Cryacoolers still require periodic maintenance, but the system can be designed to accommodate a changeout of the cold head without having to shut down the magnet. The disadvantage of cryacoolers is that they are not as efficient as the Collicis machines, which is why they are not used for large heat loads.

The crystat provides a vacuum enclosure for the behavior vessel and supports the vessel with low conductivity supports A thermal shield is placed between the vacuum vessel and behavior vessel to intercept heat radiated from the warm surface. The thermal shield is moled either with liquid nitrogen or by conduction to a cryoccoler. Multilayer insulation is used to further reduce the best leak. As long as the vacuum is maintaneed at a pressure of 10^{-2} Pa or lower, the heat leak into the helium vessel can be made very low, with proper design practice.

The current leads to the cull will always be the largest single source of heat into the magnet. The connections or power leads, cannot be made from materials with low thermal conductivity because they would then have a bigh electrical resistance. More electrical resistance means more resistive heating, which then ends up in the cold magnet system. The fundamental tradeoff for power leads is the balancing of the heat conducted down the lead against the heat generated by resistance within the lead. Whatever one dows to make one component smaller increases the other by roughly the same amount. All is not lost, however; there are three things that can be done to minimize the heat input.

- The first is surply to reduce the current the leads have to carry. The required refrigeration power is directly proportional to the amount of current in the leads. A good magnet design, then, will use the least amount of current possible. The drawbacks are threefold. First, less current. in the conductor means more turns of conductor are required to provide the same stored energy Depending on how the conductor is priced, this can mean additional capital cost for the magnet system. (Note that the total volume of conductor stays about the same, so if the cast of conductor is dominated by bulk material cost, the cost is about the same regardless of current; if the conductor cust is primarily the result of processing, longer lengths of smaller wire will cost more.) The other two drawbarks are risk related. More turns of conductor make it harder to protect the magnet from overheating in the event of a queuch. Also, as the current is decreased, it requires more valtage works. the coil terminals to extract the same amount of power. As the voltage increases, so does the risk of damaging the colinsulation us a result of voltage breakdown.
- The second way to reduce the heat leak is to employ a hightemperature superconductor for a portion of the leads. The construct materials are an exception to the general rule that thermal conductivity goes up as electrical resistivity goes down. Although still a developing technology, hightemperature superconductor (IITS) leads have been built and have demonstrated a fourfold reduction in heat leak over conventional leads. They are complex and lack design maturity at the present time but offer a promising path to reduced heat leak.
- The final way to reduce the heat load caused by the power leads is to short the coil leads with what is called a persistent switch. This is a length of superconducting wire stabilized with copper-nickel alloy instead of pure copper, so it is more resistive when normal. The switch is opened by driving it normal. Allowing it to coll to belium temper atoms nakes at superconducting. When superconducting, the current circulates entirely within the helium vessel. The leads only carry current during a corrent palse when the energy is extracted from the *p*SMES device. As a consequence, the leads can be nated for transient operation only, resulting in a much smaller crosssection and a reduced heat leak.

What Drives the Design?

The design of a *p*SMES storage system is fundamentally driven by the need to minimize the cost necessary to provide a specified amount of power for a specified span of time. The cost includes the cost of materials (primarily superconductor), the cost of labor to manufacture the magnet system, and the bfe-cycle operating cost of the system (the cost of electricity to run the refrigerator dominates). In this section, the design issues and tradeoffs are discussed, and a generic algorithm for producing an optimized design is outlined.

The obtimate design drivers for a μ SMES device are the power P it is required to deliver and the time duration P_i the power is needed. It is then basic to SMES that the energy stored in the magnet system he at least equal to the product of the required power and the time duration. Other considerations force the total stored energy to exceed this amount.

There are constraints to the design as well. The fact that the voltage must rise as energy is extracted from the magnet, has been mentioned. The muximum allowable voltage is one constraint on how much energy can be extracted.

Another constraint to the efficiency of the design is the fact that heat is produced in the wonlings when the coil is discharged. This is the result of what are commonly referred to as at losses. They arise when a magnetic field changes with time in a conducting medium. If the at losses heat the conductor to the point that superconductavily is lost, some of the stored energy is lost to heat dissipated in the windings and cannot be extracted as electrical power.

Another constraint is the stress level in the roll pack. The factors that make a coll efficient in terms of cost are the current density in the conductor, the field that the coll produces, and the size of the coll. Making any of these three larger to improve cost efficiency also increases the stress level in the conductor. Thus there is an upper limit to the economics resulting from the strength of the materials

The behavior of superconducting material in a magnetic field also places a limit on the performance of μ SMES. There is a hant to the amount of current a conductor can carry at any given field. This is called the critical current. The critical current density in the niobium-titamum superconducting alloy is limited to about 3×10^9 A/m² at 5 T and drops to zero at about 9.5 T.

Finally, although one would like to make the current in the magnet as large as possible so that the discharge volume is small, the heat leak associated with the current leads gets larger as the current increases. The commits of refrigeration places an upper limit in the volue of current.

What Are the Design Tradeoffs?

The constraints on the design load to tradeoffs between various cost and risk elements. Quantification of these tradeoffs is the first step toward an algorithm that can be used to produce an optimized dosign. The ultimate goal of a μ SMES design is to provide the necessary power for the necessary time at minimum cost. The cost will include materials, fabrication labor, and life cycle support and maintenance costs. The primary material cost will be cost of the superconductor. The main labor cost will be to wind the costs and assemble the structure and vessels. The largest life cycle cost will be the cost of electricity to run the helium refrigerator and coslong for the power electronics. Excess Storage (Cost) vs. Current. There is a tradeoff between the east of excess storage in the coil and the cost of refrigeration to remove the heat load resulting from the current loads. The system cost can be represented in a simple fashion by the expression

$$C = a \cdot U_0 + b \cdot L \qquad (1)$$

The coefficiens a represents the material and labor cost per unit megajoule of stored energy to build the unit, and b represents the cost of electricity to refrigerate the heat load due to the correct leads.

As energy is extracted from the magnet, the voltage must always rise to maintain constant power as the current in the magnet drops. At some point before all the energy is extracted, the voltage reaches the maximum allowable value V_{ne} and the discharge must stop. If P is the power extracted from the unit, V is the forminal voltage, and I is the current in the coil, then

The energy U stored in the magnetial any time is

$$U = \frac{1}{2}LI^2 \tag{3}$$

where *I*, is the inductance

During a discharge, the energy stored in the magnet is reduced from the original amount U_0 by the product of power and time Pt. Thus

$$U = U_{\sigma} + Pt$$
(4)

Note that for a discharge, the sign of P is negative (p negative voltage must be applied to the coil to extract energy). If t_1 is the duration the power is needed, then the ratio of the energy extracted to the energy initially stored in the SMES unit can be expressed as

$$-\frac{P_{R}}{G_{c}} = 1 \cdot \left[\frac{P}{V_{n}f_{n}}\right]^{2} \qquad (6)$$

Equation (5) was developed by noting that ut any time the ratio of U to U_n is equal to the square of the ratio of I to I_1 and that at the coul of the discharge, when the current is a autonoum, the voltage is at its maximum value (in a negative sense). Note that, for a given allowable maximum voltage, power level, and time duration, as the initial current increases, the required initial stored energy decreases. Depending on the relative values of the cost coefficients a and 5, there will be a maximum in the total cost that should be sought.

Excess Storage vs. Power (ac Losses). The discharge can also be lamited by ac losses. If the losses cause the magnet to quench before the end of the discharge time t, the energy remaining in the magnet is lost to heat deposited in the workings. The foctors that determine this limit can be determined as follows.

The ac lass brating Q is proportional to the square of the field decay rate B. For the purposes of this proces, this can be written as

$$Q = \alpha B^2$$
(6)

Now, the field is proportional to the current of B_p is the operating field at the operating current J_p , then it can be shown that the total heat Q that is deposited in the conductor during a discharge is equal to

$$Q = \sigma \int_{0}^{0} H^{2} d\theta = \sigma \frac{B_{p}^{\prime}}{4} \frac{P}{U_{0}} \ln \left[\frac{U_{0}}{U_{0} + Pl_{0}} \right]$$
(7)

At some value of Q, the magnet will quench. This equation defines the parameters that can reduce Q. Operating at a lower field will reduce Q but will mean the magnet will be larger (stored energy is proportional to the square of the field integrated over all space). A larger magnet in turn will most likely mean higher costs. Increasing the stored energy also reduces Qwith more cost. The tradeoff here is to determine the minimum size and stored energy which allows a total energy Pt_{f} to be extracted before the magnet quenches tif it does at all).

How is the Design Optimized?. Given all these issues related to cost and performance, how does one go about finding the optimum design for a pSMES unit? The ideal approach would be to set down the end requirements P and t_0 derive the required initial stored energy $U_{\rm s}$, apply all the constraints, and end with the geometry of the coil defined. Unfortunately, the relationships between field, current density, inductance, and colgeometry do not lend themselves to closed form solutions, which can be manipulated to provide such an approach. Instead, an iterative process must be followed, whereby a trial geometry is selected first and then the resulting #SMES system is checked. to see that it satisfies all requirements and constraints. If not, the process is iterated until it does. Then cost is determined as a function of the geometry, and the geometry is varied again until a minimum cost is attained. It is worthwhile to outline in a little more detail the steps involved because it helps to illuminate a little botter the design issues that affect the cost performance of µSMES.

This algorithm finds the minimum wire cost per unit stored energy for a μ SMES device. The variables that are free to adjust are the descriptors of the coil geometry, the length, the coil pack thickness, and the radius of the coil. It is common to use the nemerolature shown in Fig. 9, where σ_i is the inner radius of the coil pack, μ is the ratio aforder to inner radius, and ρ is the ratio of coil pack length to diameter. The optimized design will satisfy the constraints that

 the hoop stress in the conductor will be equal to or bess than some allowable value a_k,



- the absolute value of voltage at the end of a discharge of duration t- and power level P will be equal to or less than an allowable value $V_{\rm m}$

- the critical current density in the superconductor will be equal to or less than the critical current density *J*, at the point where the field is highest in the coil pack, and
- the coil will not quench as a result of at lasses before the energy extraction is complete.

The first step is to pick trial values for a and β . (It is assumed that a submond design is being pursued. In the case of a toroid, there will be some relationship between the "length" of the coil and the major radius of the torus. Therefore, the major radius becomes a free parameter instead of β .)

The next step is to determine the resulting magnetic field, with an assumed value of $J_{c}\sigma_{c}$. It doesn't matter what the value is at this stage, just something convenient. One of the reasons for computing the field is to compute the stress level in the conductor subsequently. Exactly what detail is needed for the field distribution is a function of the detail needed for the stress calculation. In every cose, however, the field at a particular point can be expressed as

$$B = \alpha_n d_t u_t F(a \mid \beta)$$
(8)

The value of F depends on where it is evaluated, but the point is that B anywhere is proportional to the overall coil pack current density J_n and the coil radius n_i .

The stress is proportional to the product of radius, field, and correct density. It can always be written us

$$\sigma = a_0(d, a_0)^2 S(a_0, \beta) \tag{9}$$

The function S will depend on the level of complexity in the stress analysis. For this solenoide with an approximately linear field profile through the winding. Wilson provides a closed form expression (5). Given a stress allowable σ_{w} , the product of current density and radius is then determined:

$$J_i a_i = \sqrt{\frac{\delta a^{ii} \kappa}{S(\alpha_i \beta_i)}}$$
(10)

Now the field at any point is known. In particular, the peak field in the onl pack is now determined, using Eq. (8).

The next step is to find the value of correct density that minimizes the amount of superconductor needed. This value is the retaral current density of the superconductor at the peak field. In any coil winding, there is space needed for material other than superconductor, and prudent design calls for some temperature margin for the conductor. If ϕ is the ratio of non-superconductor to superconductor in the wise, λ is the fraction of the coil pack actually or anjoind by wire, and $\Delta T_{\rm m}$ is the temperature margin of the superconductor, then

$$d_{\rm o} = \frac{\lambda}{1 + \phi} \, d_{\rm c} (B_{\rm pc} | T_{\rm o} + \Delta T_{\rm m}) \tag{11}$$

Once J₂ is known, a₁ is known.

Given a complete description of the generatry and the corrent density, the stored energy can be found. Usually the value of $(1/n^2)$ is determined, either from tables, or from a computer

Figure #. Identification of nomentlinuize used to describe magnetize ometry.

exte. In general, it will be proportional to a, and a function of the shape of the coil; thus,

$$(L/a^{\lambda}) = a_i G(a, |B)$$
(12)

Once (L/n^2) is known, the stored energy is found from

$$U = \frac{1}{2} \frac{L}{\kappa^2} (d_{\mu} A)^2 = \frac{1}{2} a_{\nu} G(\alpha, \beta) [d_{\mu} 2a^2) \alpha - 1(\beta)^2$$
(13)

Note that U is proportional to the lifth power of the coil radius.

At this point, it must be determined whether (a) the energy stored is sufficient to provide the required power for the required time and (b) the aclasses hand the energy extraction or not. If not, a new trial geometry must be selected and the process begun again. If both requirements are met, the algorithm proceeds. The next step is to determine the current, from Eq. (5). Then the cost of wire is determined. Usually, conductor can be estimated at some fixed rate per kiloamp meter. Thus it is straightforward to scale cost data from a single point

Once the cost as a function of stored energy is established, it is straighforward, at least in principle, to apply some optimization routine to the algorithm to find the optimum prometry that minimizes cost. The advantage of this algorithm is that, to the extent possible, it automatically finds the conditions of magimum stress and current density for a given field to minimize the amount of conductor needed. The current as set to the minimum value allowed by the valtage limit and the available stored energy (for a given configuration) to minimize the heat linad.

SUMMARY

We have seen how the economics of μ SMES are affected by the power conditioning system, the storage system, and the parasitic power required to maintain operating conditions. There are certain power quality application that benefit most from the advantages of μ SMES. These are high-power situations with many repetitive cycles lasting a few seconds or less. The primary design driver for the magnet system is producing the maximum amount of stored energy for minimum cost, subject to constraints that available materials impose. A systematic algorithm to produce a cost-optimized design was developed. It maximizes the efficiency of the superconductor, while satisfying the constraints of stress, as has heating, commune voltage, and allowable current density in the superconductor

As the market for high-quality power develops and the relative benefits of a SMES as an option become better understand, it is expected that magnetic energy storage will make a major impact on the commiss of power quality sensitive processes.

BIBLICKGRAPHY

- C. DeWarkel and J. D. Lamarae. Storing power for control lands. *IEEE Spectrum*, 30 (6): 38-42, 1993.
- R. C. Dugna, M. F. McGroonghan, and H. W. Besty. Elsetwood Procee-Systems Quarkey, New York, McGraw-Hill, 1906.
- T.E. Grehe, An Assessment of Instribution System Power Quality, EPRI Projects RP 3098-1 and 3797-03, April 1995.
- 4 Draft Standard, Electric Power System Compatibility with Electronic Process Equipment, IEEE P1346 Working Group.

 M. N. Walson, Superconducting Magnets, Oxford, UK: Clorendon Press, 1983, pp. 41–47.

> Scort D. PECK State University of New York at Stony Brook John C. Zeigler Houston Advanced Research Center

SQUIDs

Since the development of the Superconducting QUantum Interforence Device (SQUID) in the late 1960s and its commercial introduction in 1970, SQUID-based instruments have proved to be the most sensitive measurement devices not only for magnetization measurements but also for a number of other electrical measurements. Their device noise (well below 1 mK), frequency response to de, and low drift permit electromagnetic measurements at levels for below those of numerical techniques.

SQUID instruments consist of a SQUID implifier or sensor and a detection circuit that transforms the signal of interest into a magnetic flux that is detected by the SQUID sensor. Associated control electronics transform this signal into a room temperature voltage that is available for additional signal processing if needed. The SQUID amplifier and the detection colls are superconducting devices. Thus some type of refrigerant (e.g., liquid belium or nitrogen) or refrigeration device is needed to maintain the SQUID (and detection coil) in the superconducting state. Additional signal-conditioning electronics may be needed to improve the signal to-noise ratio.

THE JOSEPHSON EFFECT

SQUIDs combine two phenomenal flux quantization where the flux $\phi = \theta$. A penetrating a superconducting loop is quantized in steps of $1\phi_c = \hbar/2e = 2.068 + 10^{-15}$ Wb, and the Josephson effect (1) (electrons tunneling from one superconducting region to another separated by a resistive barrier). Currents smaller than a critical current $t_{\rm Ci}$ can penetrate the barrier (usually colled a weak link) with no voltage drop (Fig. 1).

This tuned circuit is driven by a constant current RF accilater that is weakly coupled to the SQUID loop. The detected RF output is found to be the periodic function (Fig. 3).

A typical weak link might have a critical current of 10 μ A. If the loop has a filameter of 2 mm, this is equivalent to several flux quanta. In a superconductor loop interrupted by a weak



Figure 1. JV curve of a Josephson tunnel junction.



Figure 2. Block diagram of SQUID input and electronics for lockedloop operation.

hnk Josephson junction, magnetic flux threading through a superconducting hop sets up a current in the loop. As long as the current is below the critical current, the complete loop behaves as if it were superconducting. Any changes in the magnetic flux threading through the loop induce a shielding current that generates a small magnetic field to oppose the change in magnetic flux. The weak link can be a togion in which the surrent flowing is greater than the current needed to drive the superconductor normal I_C . Details on the Josephson effect and the theory of SQUIDs can be found in References 2, 3, and 4.

SQUID OPERATION

SQUIDs are operated as either RF (rodio frequency) or do SQUIDs. The profix RF or do refers to whether the Josephson junction(s) is biased with an alternating current (RF) or a do current

The RE SQUID

For the RF SQUID (5), flux is normally (inductively) coupled into a SQUID loop containing a single disception junction via an input coil (which connects the SQUID to the experiment) and an RF coil that is part of a high-Q resonant circuit to read out current changes due to induced flux in the SQUID loop (Fig. 2).

One way to measure the change in input coil current is to simply count the number of periods it produces in the detected RF nutput. A more commonly used mode of operation is a feedback scheme (Fig. 2), which locks in ou either a peak or a valley in the triangle pattern output from the RF peak detector. A



Figure 3. Triangle petition showing detected output voltage as a function of flux in the SQUID.



Figure 4. Block diagram of a typical de SQUID.

feedback flux is applied to the SQUID through the RF coil that just cancels the change in flux from the input coil.

The de SQUID

The de SQUID (Fig. 4) differs from the KF SQUID in the manner of biasing the Josephson junction (de rather than ac) and the number of junctions (two rather than inte).

The dr SQUID is board with a dc current approximately equal to twice L and develops a dc voltage across the junctions. A change in the flux penetrating the SQUID loop enhances the current through one Josephson junction and reduces the current through the other, driving one junction normally and the other superconducting. This asymmetry, which is periodic in ϕ_0 , is used to provide a feedback current that nulls the flux penetrating the SQUID loop. Although total flux within the SQUID loop is in roultiples of ϕ_0 , by measuring the voltage drop across the feedback resistor, resolutions of external flux changes at the 10 \pm level can be achieved. The linearity of flux-locked loop SQUID systems are typically better than 1 ppm. Like the RF SQUID, this feedback current (presented as a voltage at the output) is a direct measure of changes in flux applied to the SQUID.

Control Electronics. The system output voltage is the voltage drop across the feedbark resistor in a negative feedbark loop controlled by the SQUID electronics. The feedback signal is generated in response to changes in the output signal of the SQUID sensor. The output of the SQUID sensor is periodic in the field roupled into the SQUID hoop. Negative feedback (similar to a phase-locked loop technique) is used to maintain the system operating point at a particular (and arbitrary) flux quantum. When operated in this mode, the system is in a flux-locked loop.

One important factor of SQUID design is such that the foedback electronics be able to follow changes in the shielding currents. If the shielding current changes so fast that the flux in the SQUID loop changes by more than $\phi_0/2$, it is possible that the feedback electronics by more than $\phi_0/2$, it is possible that the feedback electronics will lag behind the rapidly changing flux. When the electronics finally "catch up." they can took on an operating point (Fig. 3) different from the original. In this case, the SQUID has "lost look" because the SQUID has exceeded the maximum slew rate of the electronics. This places on upper luration the bandwidth of the system. The typical bandwidth of commercially available SQUID systems is do to 50 + kHz. Costom electronics have been built extending bandwaiths above 5 MHz. Typical slew rates for SQUIDs are in the range of $10^{\circ}-10^{8}$ ϕ_{07} s.

Even shough one may not need or want to observe rapidly. changing signals, situations may arise when ambient mose (e.g., 60 Hz) may determine the slew rate requirements of the system. To neaver a signal from such interference, the system must be able to track all signals present at the pipot, including the noise. When system response is sped up to handle very fast signals, sensitivity to RF interference and sportous transients. is also increased. Because the ability to remain locked while subjected to strong electrical transients is greatest when the maximum slew rate is limited (slow), whereas ability to track rapidly varying signals is greatest when the maximum slew rate is greatest (fast), it is desirable to be able to match the maximum slew-rate capability to the measuring situation. As a matter of convenience, many commercial SQUID systems offer user selectable slew rates along with high-bass and low-pass dilters for noise reduction.

Sensitivity

Because of the varying input impedances of SQUID sensors, the sensitivity of SQUID devices is best discussed in terms of the energy sensitivity.

$$E_{\rm N} = L_{\rm r} I_{\rm N}^2 = \frac{\phi_{\rm N}^2}{I_0}$$
 (1)

where *L*, is the input inductance of the device, L_8 is the current noise, and ϕ_8 is the flux sensitivity. E_8 is often expressed in terms of Planck's constant $h = 6.6 \times 10^{-34}$ d/Hz.

The major limiting factor in the noise of a RF SQUID is the bias frequency f_0 used to excite the tank circuit and that RF SQUID more is proportional to $1/\sqrt{f_0}$ (6). As f_0 increases, the complexity of the electronics also tends to increase.

The minimum noise energy for a do SQUID is given by (7).

$$E_{\rm N} = k_{\rm B} T \sqrt{L_{\rm kee}} C \tag{2}$$

where $k_{\rm V}$ is Boltzmann's constant, L is the nullertance of the SQUID loop, and C is the capacitance of the junction. Substituting appropriate numbers inducates that the minimum noise energy $E_{\rm S}$ for a de SQUID is on the order of h/2. Devices with sonsitivities of $\sim h$ have been constructed. These extremely low noise levels are achieved by biniting dynamic range and avoiding feedback. The most for practical usefull devices requires that feedback be used and that the SQUID have a reasonable dynamic range. Commercially available RP SQUIDs figure noise levels of 10⁻²¹ J/Hz, commercial de SQUIDs are typically $\sim 10^{-31}$ J/Hz.

In addition to the frequency independent (white) component of system noise, there exists a low-frequency isotradiution that increases as the frequency decreases. The onset of this 1/fnoise can be dependent on the ambient magnetic field when the SQUID sensor is cooled. When could in the earth's magnetic field, the point at which the 1/f noise equals the white threspanney independent) noise is typically \sim 1 Hz. Cooling the SQUID sensor in low ambient magnetic fields these than $1/g^{(2)}$. may improve the 1/f performance by as much as an order of magnitude. A large contribution to this noise in same de SQUIDs can arise from the presence of the decurrent bias. By chopping the de bias in combination with the conventional flux modulation techniques, it is possible to reduce this added 1/fnoise. This ac bias reversal approach (8) separates the original signal waveform from the noise associated with the de bias and can reduce 1/f noise at very low frequencies.

The major difference between RF and de SQUIDs is that the de SQUID offers lower noise. From a historical viewpoint, although the de SQUID was the first type of SQUID magnetometer mode, the early development was with RF SQUIDs because of the difficulty in fabricating two nearly identical Josephson junctions in a single device. With misleric thin fibrication techniques and improvements in control electronics design, the de SQUID offers clear advantages over the RF SQUID for many applications.

Limitations on SQUID Technology

It is important to bear in mind several fundamental limitations in designing SQUID-based meaurement systems and data reduction algorithms.

-). A fundamental humation of SQUIDs is that they are sensitive to relative (field or current: changes only. This is a consequence of the fact that the output voltage of a SQUID is a periodic function (Fig. 3) of the flux penetrating the SQUID loop. The SQUID is "flux locked" on an arbitrary maximum (or minimum) on the $V = \Psi$ curve, and the SQUID dotput is sensitive to flux changes relative to this lock print.
- 2. A second limitation exists on the system bandwidth, Although the SQUID has an intrinsic bandwidth of several gigaheriz, when operated with standard flox-locked loop electronics using an flax modulation, the maximum bandwidth is typically 50 kHz to 100 kHz. Another limitation is the presence of 1/f noise. High Temporature Superconducting (HTS) SQUIDs (and early commercial Low Temporature Superconducting (LTS) de SQUIDs) exhibit excess 1/f noise due to critical correct fluctuations of the Josephson junctions. This issue can be reduced by reversing the dobas voltage fur bias). This limits the maximum handwidths less than half the bias reversal frequency. If the bias reversal frequency is too high, noise can be mduced due to voltage spikes in the transformer coupled preamplifier input circuit. Because of this, the maximum bandwidth of present day HTS SQUIDs is >30 kHz, If megahertz bandwidths are required, the ac bias is not used, however, there will be excess noise below 1 kHz
- 3. Finally, SQUID magnetometers are vector magnetometers. For a pure magnetometer operating in the earth's magnetic field, a 180 rotation will sweep out a total field change of ~100 μ T. If the magnetometer has a sensitivity of 10 fT? $\sqrt{112}$, tracking the tota's field change requires a dynamic range of 100 μ T/10 fT = 200 dB, well beyond the capabilities of current electromets. In addition, the rotational speed must not cause the current flowing through the SQUID sensor to exceed its show rate binitations. An ideal gradiometer is magnetices to a uniform field and would not suffer this dynamic range limitation.

INPUT CIRCUITS

Whether an RF or de SQUID, a SQUID system can be considered as a black box that acts like a current- (or flux-) to-voltage amplifier with extremely high gain. In addition, it offers extremely low noise, high dynamic range (>140 dB), excellent linearity (>1:10⁵), and a wide handwidth that can extend down to de

Today, SQUIDs are fabricated as planar devices. In this configuration, the superconducting loop, Josephson junctions and coils (input, feedback, and modulation) are patterned on the same device. Multilayer deposition techniques are used (primarily in LTS devices), and coils are normally in the form of a square washer. The planar configuration leads to quite small devices, occupying only a few cohie millimeters compared to 5 ($cm^3(1.2 \text{ cm diam.} \times 5 \text{ cm})$ for older toroidal RF SQUIDs (9). Another advantage of the planar device is that it is possible to have the detection coils as part of the SQUID sensor, channeting the need for separate (three-dimensional) detection coils. Such an integrated sensor has the potential to reduce the complexity of multichannel systems argonicantly.

Although it is possible to couple magnetic flox directly into the SQUID loop, environmental noise considerations (see Fig. 9) make this difficult, if not impossible, in an unshielded envaronment. In addition, the area of a typical SQUID loop is small ($<0.1 \text{ mm}^2$), and its resulting sensitivity to external flux changes ($\Delta \Phi = A \cdot \Delta B$) is also small. Although a larger loop diameter would increase the SQUIDs sensitivity to external flux, is would also make it much more susceptible to environmental noise. For this reason, external flux is normally inductively coupled to the SQUID loop by a flux transformer.

Conceptually, the easiest input circuit to consider for detecting changes in magnetic fields is that of a SQUID sensor connected to a simple superconducting coil (Fig. 5)

Because the total flux in a superconducting loop is conserved, any change in external field through the signal cal will induce a current in the flux transformer that must satisfy

$$\Delta \Phi = NA\Delta B = (L_{eul} + L_t)\Delta I \qquad (3)$$

where ΔH is the change in applied field: $N_i A_i$ and L_{ini} are the number of turns, area, and inductance of the detection coil; L_i is the inductance of the SQUID input coil, and ΔI is the change in current in the superconducting circuit. If the lead inductance is not negligible, it must be added to L_{ini} and L_i

To calculate the sensitivity and noise level of a simple detection call system, the inductance of the detertion call must be known. The inductance of a flat, tightly wound, circular multi-



Figure 5. Schematic diagram of typical SQGID input vircuit.

form loop of superconducting wire is given by (10).

$$4 \times 10^{-1} N^{9} \mathrm{x} \, r \left[\ln \left(\frac{8r}{\nu} \right) - 2 \right] - \frac{\mu \mathrm{H}}{\mathrm{cm} \mathrm{turn}^{3}} \tag{4}$$

where r is the radius of the detection coil and ρ is the radius of the (superconducting) wire. Knowing the coil inductance $L_{10^{+6}}$, we can rewrite Eq. (3) as

$$\Delta B = (L_{m_s} + L_t) \Delta I/NA \qquad (5)$$

Because the SQUID system has an output proportional to the input cordent, maximum sensitivity is obtained by using the input cordini that provides the maximum current into the SQUID and subsfiles all other constraints of the experimental apparatus. For a pure magnetometer, the maximum sensitivity will occur when the impedance of the detection call matches that of the SQUID sensor $(L_{\rm eff}-L_{\rm eff})$.

Detection Coils

Several factors affect the design of the detection costs (11). These include the desired sensitivity of the system, the size and location of the magnetic field source, and the need to match the inductance of the detection coil to that of the SQUID. The ability to separate field patterns caused by sources at different locations and strengths requires a good signal-to-noise ratio. At the same time, one has to find the coil configuration that gives the best spatial resolution. Unfortunately, these two tasks are not independent. For example, increasing the signal roll diameter improves field sensitivity but sacrifices spatial resolution. In practice, system design is restricted by several constraints: the impedance and noise of the SQUID sensors, the size of the dewar, and the number of channels, along with the distribution and strength of noise sources.

It is extremely important for dc response that the detection onlist his superconducting. Resistance in the detection circuit has two effects: (1) attenuating the signal and (2) adding Nyquist noise. Resistive attenuation is important only below a frequency f_0 , such that the resistive impedance is equal to the sum of the inductive impedances in the circuit (e.g., $f_0 \approx R/L_0$, where L_0 is the total inductive impedance of the circuit). Resistive moise is important only if it becomes comparable to other nuise sources or the signal (<10⁻²⁶ J/Hz for geophysics). For a SQUID with $E_N \approx 10^{-26}$ J/Hz, the total resistance of the circuit, *uncluding any joints*, must be less than 1.4 × 10⁻¹⁸ Ω /12). Thus it is very important that all solder joints, press-fits, or connections have as low a paul resistance as possible.

Figure 6 displays a variety of detection (vi)s. The magnetionator (Fig. 5(a)) responds to the changes in the field penetrating the coil. More complicated coil configurations provide the advantage of discriminating against unwanted brokground fields from distant sources while retaining sensitivity to nearby sources.

Because of the present inability to make flexible wire or make true superconducting joints in HTS materials, threedimensional HTS coil structures (e.g., Figs. 60a,d-fi) are not possible. Present day BTS magnetometers are fabricated as planar devices and are available only as pure magnetometers (Fig. 60a)) and planar gradiometers (Fig. 60a). As a result, commercially available BTS devices are currently in



Figure 8. (a) cognetometer, (b) first derivative gradiometer, (c) planar pradiometer, (d) second derivative gradiometer, (e) first derivative asymmetric gradiometer, (f) second derivative asymmetric gradiometer, contrasty of S. J. Williamson

the form of magnetic-seasing rather than current sensing devices.

Gradiometers

Magnetometers are extremely sensitive to the outside environment. This may be acceptable if one is measuring ambieot fields. If what is to be measured is close to the detection coil and weak, include interference may prevent measurements at SQUID sensitivities. If the measurement is of a magnetic source close to the detection coil, a gradiameter coil may be preferred. The field of a magnetic dipole is inversely proportional to the cube of the distance between the dipule and the sensor. It follows that the field from a distant source is relatively uniform in direction and magnitude at the sensor. If we connect in series two identical and exactly parallel loops wound in opposite senses, separated by a distance *b* (the baseline), we obtain a coil [Fig. 6(b)] that will reject uniform fields

Because the response of a single coil to a magnetic dipole goes as $1m^3$, an object that is much closer to one coil than the other will couple better to the closer coil than the more distant. Sources that are relatively distant will couple repully into both coils. For objects that are closer than 0.3 b, the gradiometer acts as a pure magnetometer, while rejecting more than 9893 of the influence of objects more than 300 b distant (Fig. 7). In essence, the gradiometer acts as a compensated magnetometer. It is possible to use two gradiometers connected in series apposition (Fig. 6(d)) to further minimize the response of the system



Figure 7. Response of gradient calls relative to magnetometer response 11/r⁴ supprised:

to distant sources. This can be extended to higher orders by connecting in series opposition two second-order graduaneters, etc. Doing so, however, reduces the sensitivity of the instrument to the signal of interest and may not significantly improve the signal-to-noise ratio.

Rejection of distant noise sources depends on having a precise match for balance as it is sumatimes referred to) between the number of area-furns in the coils. A symmetric gradiemeter (Fig. 6(b) requires that $N_s A_s = N_s A_s$ where N is the number of turns and A is the area of the signal and compensation coils, n-spectively. An asymmetric design (Fig. 6(c,f)) has the advantuge that the inductance (L_s) of the signal coil(s) is much greater than the compensation coils (L_s) greater sensitivity is achieved than with a symmetric design. Another advantage is that the signal coil diameter is reduced, leading to potentially higher spatial resolution. The optimum conditions for the number of turns in an asymmetric signal coil is given by (18):

$$(I_{\infty} + L_{y} + L_{y} + L_{z}) - N_{z} \frac{\partial}{\partial N_{y}} (L_{y} + L_{y} + L_{y} + L_{z}) = 0$$
 (6)

If the gradiometer is perfectly made (balanced), it will reject uniform fields. However, if one coil has a larger effective diamother than the other, the response will not be that of a perfect gradumeter, but that of a gradiometer in series with a magnetometer. Mathematically, the balance, β can be defined as $V_0 \neq \mathbf{G} \neq \mathbf{\delta} - \mathbf{H}$, where V_0 is the system response, \mathbf{G} is the coll's response to a gradient field, and H is the applied uniform fields. Typically, coll forms used to wind gradiometers can be muchined (grooved) to achieve balances β that range from 0.01 to 0.001. Planar devices, through plottalithingraphy, can achieve lower levels—a factor of 10 or better. Superconducting trim take placed within the detection coils can improve β in the parts per million level. High degrees of balance can allow a SQCID gradiometer to operate in relatively large (millitesla). umbient fields while maintaining sensitivities in the toos of femtotesla.

For multichannel systems (such as are used in biomagnetism), it is not possible to use externally adjustable trim, tabs -cach tab tends to interfere with the others. The use of electronic balancing (14) can provide balance rutios at the parts periodilion level. In this substitution, portions of indictional) magnetoneter reference channel response are summed electronically with the gradiometers' input to balance out its effective. magnetometer response. The use of eight-element tensor asrays as reference channels can further improve external noise rejection. The major advantage of electronic balancing is significant improvement in immunity to low-frequency environment mase.

REFRIGERATION

The superconducting nature of SQUIDs require them to operate well below their superconducting transition temperature (9.3 K for Nb and 93 K for YBa₂Cu₁O_{2.3}). The thermal environment for the SQUID sensor and detection coll has typically been liquid helium or liquid nitrogen contained in a vacuummsulated vessel known as a dewar (Fig. 8). The cryogen hold time depends on the boil-off rate (heat load) and the mass vessel volume.

The major heat load on dewars is the result of thermal conduction down the neck tube and a magnetometer probe along with black body radiation. The space between the inner and outer walls is evacuated to prevent thermal conduction between mum temperature and the cryogen chamber. Within the vacour space, a thermal shield (anchored to the neck tube) acts to reduce heat transfer by thermal (black body) radiation. The thermal shield either can be vapor cooled—using the onthalpy of the evaporating belium or introgen gas—or have the shield thermally connected to a liquid introgen reservoir. Dewars with remoable sections use liquid-nitrogen-cooled shields.

If the experiment involves measurements interior to the dewar, then a metallic dewar is preferable. Metallic dewars offer significant shielding from environmental noise at firstprencues above 10 Hz to 100 Hz. If the system is to measure magnetic fields exterior to the dewar, the dewar must be magnetically transporent, and metallic construction is not appropriate.



Figure 8. Typical design of a liberglass dewar used for biomagnetic measurements.

Deware for external field measurements are normally constructed of nonmetallic, low-susceptibility materials to minimize their magnetic interactions with the SQUID sensors and detection coils. Materials used are typically glass-fiber epoxy composites such as G-10. In an effort to get the detection coil(s) as close as possible to the object being measured, a "tailed" design is often used. This decreases the forces on the bottom of the dewar and allows the use of thinner end pieces (closer tail spacing). Dewars for biomagnetic measurements often have curved tails to get closer to the head.

The major advantage of high-temperature superconductivity is the simplified cryagenics and reduced spacing between cryagenic regions and main temperature. The thermal load (due to conduction and block body radiation) is less, and the heat capacity of what needs to be coaled is larger (implying smaller temperature variations for a given heat load). Because the latent heat/unit volume of liquid ratiogen is 60 times larger than liquid helium, held times become months rather than days for an equivalently sized dewar.

Closed Cycle Reirigeration

As an alternative to the use of liquid cryogens, closed cycle refrigeration would be desirable for several reasons. These include reduction of operating costs, use in remote locations, operation to nonvertical orientations, avoiding interruptions in rryogen deliveries, safety, and the convenience of not having to transfer every few days. Although one mechanically cooled SQUID system has been built (15), the inherent vibration and magnetic signature of present day closed cycle refrigerators prevent them from widespread use. The development of pulse tube refrigerators (16) offers promise for magnetometer operation without cryogens.

Environmental Noise

The greatest obstacle to SQUID measurements is external noise sources. If the object being measured is within the cryostat (such as is typical in most luboratory experiments), metalhe shielding can minimize external noise (e.g., act as a lowpass eddy current shield). Superconducting shields essentially eliminate all external field variations. This assumes that any electrical inputs to the experimental region have been appropriately filtered. Powerline or microprocessor clock frequencies can severely degrade performance.

When measuring external fields, the SQUID magnetometer must operate in an environment—the magnetic field of the earth – that can be ten orders of magnitude greater than its sensitivity (Fig. 9). The magnetic field at the surface of the earth is generated by a number of sources. There exists a background field of ~50 μ T with ν duily variation of 1.0.1 μ T. In addition, there is a contribution (below 1 Hz) from the interaction of the solar wind with the magnetic fields are primarily main made. These can be caused by structural steel and other localized magnetic materials such as furniture and instruments that distort the earth's field and result in field gradients; moving vehicles that generate transient fields; electric materix; elevators; radio, television, and microwave transmitters; and the ever-present powerline electromagnetic field and its harmonics



Figure 9. Ros field once spectre in various environments as a function of frequency. Courtesy of S. J. Williamson.

Noise Reduction

One method to attenuate external noise sources is with an eddy current shield that generates fields that act to cancel the externally applied fields within the conducting material. The shielding effect is determined by skin depth λ . For a sinusoidal varying wave

$$\lambda = \sqrt{\rho/\pi\rho_0 f} \tag{7}$$

where f is the frequency of the applied field, ρ is the electrical resistivity, and μ_0 is the magnetic permeability of free space. In situations where the wall thickness $t \ll \lambda$, external fields are attenuated by

$$\frac{H}{H_{\star}} = \frac{1}{1 + (2\pi f L/R)^2}$$
(8)

where L is the inductance of the enclosure and R is the resistance along the path of current flow. Unfortunately, induced currents in the should generate noise. For a cylindrical shape,

$$B_{\rm rms} = \frac{\sqrt{64\pi\,k_{\rm B}Tl}}{\hbar\,d_{\rm P}} \tag{9}$$

where h is the length and d is the diameter of the can. The cut-off frequency is given by $f_{-3,dR} \geq \rho/4\pi dt$. Because of noise considerations, eddy current shields that are to be placed near the detection coals should be made from relatively poor conductors such as BeCu.

Shielded Rooms

Another approach is to use eddy current shielding to shield the entire measurement system. An eddy current room constructed with 2 cm high pority aluminum walls can achieve shielding >40 dH at 60 Hz with improved performance at higher frequencies. The equivalent field noise is less than 200 fT/ \sqrt{Hz} at frequencies above 1 Hz.

The need for shielding at lower frequencies has led to the use of magnetically shielded rooms (MSR). In the situation where $t \gg \lambda$, the attenuation goes as $(r/\lambda)e^{t/2}$. Using pure eddy correct shielding would require wall thicknesses that could exceed 1 m or more thelow (102). For a ferromagnetic material, the permeability of the material $(\mu = \mu_0/1 + \chi)$ replaces μ_2 in Eq. (8). The shielding is due to the fact that flux prefers the path with the highest permeability. Because magnetically "soft" materials (e.g., mu-metal³) can have permeabilities that exceed 10°, the external magnetic flux is moted around the walls, avoiding the interior. The use of multiple shields can get to further shield the interior of a MSR. For the six-layer Berlin MSR (Fig. 9), shielding factors exceeded 10° at frequencies abave 0.01 Hz with noise levels below 3 tT/\sqrt{Hz} .

APPLICATIONS

A large number of applications (Fig. 10) configure the SQUID as a magnetometer. SQUIDs can also be configured to measure a wide variety of electromagnetic properties (Fig. 11).

The state of the art in materials processing limits the variety of superconducting input circuits that can be used with HTS SQUIDs. As already mentioned, there is no existing method for making superconducting connections to SQUIDs with HTS wire. As a result, commercially available HTS devices are currently in the form of magnetic sensing [Fig. 6(b)] rather than current sensing devices [Fig. 6(a,e-fi)].

Laboratory Applications (4,8,17)

Table 1 shows typical capabilities of commercially available SQUID-based instruments. The number in the parenthesis refers to the corresponding Fig. 11.

Current. One common use of a SQUID is as an ammeter [Fig. 11(a)]. The separt can be connected to an experiment at liqnic helium temperatures or to room temperature. If the signal is to be inductively coupled to a detection call that is commented to the SQUID input, then the circuit must be superconducting if de response is desired.

If the measurement is of a current that passes through the detection coil, a toroidal geometry for the detection coil has the advantage of extremely good coupling to the source while rejecting contributions due to external sources. Berause the measurement is inductive, there is no loading of the currentgenerating elements.



Figure 11. (a) ac and do current, (b) magnetic field, (c) do voltage, (d) do resistance, (c) ar resistance/inductionce bridge, (f) ar mutual inductance (susceptibility bridge)

Table 1. Typical Capabilities of SQUID-based Instruments

Measurement	Sensitivity
Current [Fig. 11(a)]	IO ∼ A/∨Hz
Magnetic fields (Fig. 11(b))	10 % T/V/Hz
de voltage (Fig. 11(c))	30 4 V
de resistance (Fig. 11:d)	10 ¹ R
Mutual/self inductance [Fig. 11(e)]	10 A H
Magnetic moment (Fig. 11(f.)	10 ~ emu

Voltage. Typically the majority of applications use superconducting circuits. There are, however, a number of applications where resistive circuits are used. One example is the detection of extremely small voltages or resistances (Fig. 12).

When a vultage V_1 is applied across the input terminals, a current is generated in the SQUID input coil. In this situation, the feedback current (I_V) that would normally be applied to the SQUID loop is fed back via R_V through r_v until the vultage drop across r_v is equal to V_1 and there is no net current through the SQUID V_D measures the voltage drop across R_0 and r_v with $V_1 = V_0 r_v / (R_F + r_v)$. The voltage gain of the system is determined by the ratio of R_V/r_v . Typical values for R_V and r_v are 3 and 80 $\mu\Omega$, respectively, giving a voltage gain of 10⁸. The standard resistor r_v is typically at 4.2 K. The voltage source, however, may be at a completely different temperature.

The input noise of a SQUID picovoltimeter (~10⁻¹⁴ V) is a function of the source resistance and temperature $(R \propto T_{\rm e})$, the inherent voltage noise (due to $r_{\rm e}$), and the inherent current noise of the SQUID. Measurement of the Johnson nuise in a resistor (V^2) = 4 $k_0 TR \wedge f$ where $\wedge f$ is the bandwidth of the measurement) can be used to determine absolute temperature. Commercially available LTS SQUIDs have equivalent device temperatures <1 α K and are suitable for noise thermometry.

With the addition of an appropriate current source [Fig. 11(d)], it is possible to measure resistance. Resolutions of $10^{-12} \Omega$ can be achieved for $R_s < 10^{-2} \Omega$. Other applications of picovolumeters include measurements of thermoscophes), and infrared balanceters.

Ac Suxceptibility (4). The SQUID can also be used as the null detector in an ac bridge circuit (Fig. 13) to measure both re-



Figure 12. Block disgram of SQUID picovolt measuring system. Negative feedback is applied to the veryogenic input circuit through the voltage divider formed by $R_{\rm f}$ and $r_{\rm s}$.



Figure 13. Block diagram of ac bridge

sixtive and reactive components of a complex impedance. The unknown impedance Z is excited by a current generated by an oscillator voltage, which is alternated by a precision ratio transformer λ . The difference between the voltage developed across the unknown impedance Z and that developed in the secondary of a nulling mutual inductor m is applied to the input of the SQUID circuit. The primary current in m is proportional to the oscillator voltage and defined by the setting of the ratio transformer α . An additional reactive current is supplied by a second ratio transformer β , which causes the primary current to be passed through a capacitor rather than a resistor, thus generating a 90 phase shift in the voltage applied to m. The amplified off-balance signal, which appears at the output of the SQUID control electronics, can be displayed by means of a lock-in amplifier tuned to the oscillator frequency.

As mentioned earlier, the sensitivity is limited inherently by Johnson noise in the resistive components of the unknown including the parameter connections; and by the device noise of the SQU(I) sensor Assuming $I_N \approx 1 \text{ pA}/c/\text{Hz}$, such a system is impable of measuring *R* between 10⁻¹⁰ to 0.5 Ω and *L* (self and motual) between 10⁻¹² and 10⁻¹⁸ H. Using a correct comparison as the bridge excitations V, a 0.1 ppm resistance bridge can be constructed.

SQUID Magnetometer/Susceptometers (16). Instead of using a secondary ac excitation coll [Fig. 11(0), a dc field can be used to magnetize samples. Typically the field is fixed, and the sample is moved into the detection coll's region of sensitivity. The change in detected magnetization is directly proportional to the magnetic moment of the sample. Because of the superconducting nature of SQUID input circuits, true dc response is possible.

Commonly referred to as SQUID insquetometers, these systems are properly SQUID susceptometers. They have a homogenous superconducting magnet to create a very uniform field over the entire sample measuring region and the superconducting pick-up loops. The magnet induces a moment allowing a measurement of magnetic susceptibility. The superconducting detection loop array is rigidly mounted in the center of the magnet (17). This array is configured as a gradient coil to reject external noise sources. The detection ceil geometry determines what mathematical algorithm is used to calculate the net magnetization. Oppositely paired Helmholtz, first and second derivatives have all been successfully used. Coupling two axial channels of differing gradient order can significantly improve noise rejection.

Sensitivities of 10⁻¹ continues been achieved, even at applied fields of 9 T. Placement of secondary excitation coils can allow ac susceptibility measurements to be made in the presence of a significant de bias field. Variable temperature capability (1.7 K to 800 K) is achieved by placing a reentrant cryostat within the detection coils.

Other Laboratory Applications. NMR signals (18) can be measured by placing a sample (e.g., protons or ¹⁴)(in the center of SQUID detection coils and either sweeping the external field ar appying an rf excitation to the sample. The same experimental concept can be used to measure electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) signals. SQUIDs have been used for more esoteric applications including temperature measurements with resolution near 40 K to 12 K. SQUIDs have also been used to measure position for gravity wave detertors with sub Anystrom resolution and tests of Einstein's General Theory of Relativity Because SQUID magnetometers are vector devices, they can detect intations better than 10-2 arc-seconds in the earth's magnetic field. SQUIDs have been used in searches for dark matter such as Wesk Interacting Massive Particles (WIMPs) along with attempts at detecting magnetic monopoles and free avarks.

Geophysical Applications (19,20)

SQIIID magnetometers are used to measure the earth's magnetic field (Fig. 9) at frequencies ranging between 1 kHz and 10⁻⁴ Hz. A technique known as magnetotelluries (21) can be used to determine the electrical conductivity distribution of the earth's crost by measuring the earth's electric and magnetic field. Because the earth is a good electrical conductor compared to the air, the electrical field generated in the ionosphere (as a result of solar wind) is reflected at the earth's surface, with components of both the electric and magnetic field decaying as they preserve into the earth. The decay length or akin depth 3 = $500\sqrt{\rho r}$, where ρ is the electrical resistivity of the earth and r is the period of the electricity wave

In magnetotelluries, the electric field cas a function of frequency (is related to the magnetic field via an impedance tensor where $\mathbf{E}(m) = \mathbf{Z}_{qd'} | \mathbf{H}(m)$. The impedance tensor $\mathbf{Z}_{qd'}$ contains four complex elements $\mathbf{Z}_{re}, \mathbf{Z}_{re}, \mathbf{Z}_{re}$, and \mathbf{Z}_{re} and is related to the resistivity by $pag = 0.2 | \mathbf{Z}_{q}(m)|^2$, where \mathbf{Z}_{ref} has onits of mV/km-nT.

Magnetic anomaly detection uses the five unique spatial components of ∇B to locate a magnetic dipole uniquely. This has potential uses in mineralogical earways and detection of unexploded ordnance

Nondestructive Test and Evaluation (22.23)

Magnetic-sensing techniques such as eddy current testing have been used for many years to detect flaws in structures. A major limitation on their sensitivity is the skin depth (Eq. (7)) of metallic materials. Because SQUID sensors have true de response and superior sensitivity, they can see "deeper" into metallic structures, de response also means that they can de-

Table 2. NDE Measurement Techniques.

Imaging	
Intransic currents	
Remnant magnetization	
Flaw-induced perturbations in applied currents	
Johnson poise on metals	
Eddy corrects in an applied ac field. (flaws-	
Emoudded magnetic sensors	
Hysteretic magnetization due to:	
Cyclic stress (strang)	
Simultaneou - de & ac magnetic lields	
Magnetization of purariagnetic, diamagnetic and ferrori materials in its magnetic lights	agnetic

tect remnant magnetization—without the need for externally applied magnetic fields. Their flat frequency response and zero phase distortion allows for a wide range of applications. One poleotial application of SQUIDs is in detaction of stress or corrosion in reinforcing most used in bridges, and raft runways, or buildings. Table 2 shows some of the measurement techniques that can be used with SQUID sensors.

SQUID magnetometers have been used to make noncontact measurements of timing circuits (24)—one instrument has better than 10 µm resolution (26). Such instruments with MHz bandwidths could be used for circuit heard and integrated circuit (10): mapping.

Medical Applications of SQUIDs (23,26-29)

The use of binelectric signals as a diagnostic tool is well known in modicine [e.g., the electrocardiogram (ECG) for the heart and the electrocorrephologram (EOG) for the brain!. The electrical activity that produces the surface electrical activity that is measured by EEG and ECG also produces magnetic fields. The analogous magnetic measurements are known as the magnetocardiogram (MCG) and the magnetic-neephologram (MEG-Other physiological processes also generate electrical activity with analogous magnetic fields (Fig. 14).

Magnetic fields from active electrical sources in the body can be measured passively and external to the body by placing the magnetometer in close proximity to the body's surface. It has been shown that a population of neurons in the brain can be



Figure 14. Typical amplitudes and frequency ranges for various bio magnetic signals

Table 3. Medical Applications of SQUIDs

Studies of the brain-neuronnagnetien)
Epilepsy
Pressinglest control function mapping
Drug development and restors
Stroke
Alcheimeris
Neuromusratan disordera
Prenatal brain disorders
Performance evoluation
Studies of the heart magnetocardiography
Arrhythmia
Heart muscle damage
Petal cardingraphy
Other medical applications
Studies of the stumach gastreenterclogy
Intestinal ischemia
Noninvasive in vivo magnetic liver loopsies
Lung function and clearance studies
Nerve damage assessment

modeled as a current dipole that generates a well-defined magnetic field prafile. Mapping of these field profiles can be used to infor the location of the equivalent active dipole are region to within millimeters. Using evoked response techniques, the location of signal pathways and information processing centers in the brain can be mapped at different delay times (latencies) following the stimulus

There are also mugnetic measurements for which there are no electrical analogs. These are measurements of static magnetic fields produced by ferromagnetic materials ingested into the body and measurements of the magnetic susceptibility of materials in the body. In particular, information on the quantity and depth of diamagnetic or paramagnetic materials (such as iron started in the liver) can be obtained by using magnetizing and detection coils of differing sizes in the same instrument and measuring the induced field as a function of distance. This technique is already being used to monitor patients suffering from iron overload diseases such as thalassemia and hemschroinatosis.

The development of the SQUID has allowed the development of noninvasive clinical measurements of biomagnetic fields. The use of gradiometers can allow measurements to be made in unshielded environments at sensitivities below 20 (T) \sqrt{Hz} . Typically, however, neuromagnetic measurements are made in non-sized MSRs that will allow measurements of the magnetic field of the brain over the entire surface of the head (>150 pasitions simultaneously). Table 3 gives some of the areas in which SQUID magnetometers are currently being used in medical resourch.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- B. D. Josephson, Possible new effect in superconductive cunneling. Phys. Lett., 4: 251–253, 1982
- J. Clarke. SQUID fundamentals, in H. Weinstock (ed.), SQUID Sensors: Fundamentals, Fabrications and Applications, Twodecht Wower, 1997.
- T. Van Buzer and C. W. Turnez, Principles of Superconductive Decases and Countils, New York: Elsevier, 1981.
- T.P. Otlando and K. A. Delto, Franktions of Applied Superron dusticity, Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley, 1991

- P. P. Orffard, R. A. Webb, and J. C. Wheatley, Principles and methods of low-frequency electric and magnetic measurements being an of-biased point-contact superconducting device, J. Low Temp. Phys., 6: 503–610, 1972.
- R. J. Prance et al., Eully engineered high performance UHP SQUID magneticmeter. Crockenses, 21: 501–506, 1931
- C. D. Tesche and J. Charke, DC SQUID: noise and optimization, J. Lev. Troop. Proc. 29 301-331, 1982.
- M. H. Sommunds and R. P. Gollard. Appearatus for reducing low frequency noise in division of SQUIDs. US Patient Nuc 4,069,612, 1980.
- R. J. Fagaly, Superconducting magnetometers and instrumentation. Sov. Prog. Oxford, 71: 195-201, 1987.
- F. W. Grover, Inductance Calculations, Working Formulas and Tables, New York: Dover, 1962.
- J. P. Wekswa, Jr., Optimization of SQUID differential magnetizators, AIP Conference Proc. 44: 145–149, 1978
- R. B. Stephens and R. L. Façaly, High temperature superconductors for SQUID detection custs, Cryogenics, 31: 968–992, 1991.
- 13 R. Hinsemern et al. Multi-SQUID devices and their applications, in D. F. Brower (ed.), Programmer Low Temperature Physics, vol. XII, Amsterdam. Elsevier, 1989.
- 14. J. Vebs, SQUID guideoneters in real environments, in H. Weinstors, ed.), SQUID Sension: Fundamentals, Fubrications and Applications, Durdecht: Klawer, 1997.
- D. S. Buchanan, D. N. Paulson, and S. J. Williamson. Instrumentation for choicel applications of neuromagnetism, in R. W. Fastrock, *Actematics in Cryptomic Engineering*, vol. 33, New York, Plenum, 1963, pp. 97–106.
- C. Heiden, Pulse tube refrigerators: A rooling option. in H. Weinslock left i, SQUID Sensors, Paradicinearity, Palacingtons and Apphantonic, Deriecht: Kluwer, 1997.
- R. E. Sarwanski, Superconducting instrumentation, Cryopenes 17: 671-609 (1977)
- R. A. Webb, New technique of improved low-temperature SQUID NMR measurements, *Rev. Sci. Instrum.*, 48: 1585, 1977.
- J. Clarke. Geophysical Applications of SQUIDs, IEEE Trans. Mag. MAG-19, 289-295, 1983.
- H. Weinstock and W.C. Overton, Jr. (eds.). SQUID Applications to Geophysics, Tulsa: Soc. of Exploration Geophysicists, 1981.
- K. Vozoff, The magnetotellurie method in the exploration of sedimentary basins, *Graphysics*, 37, 98–114, 1972.
- 23. G. B. Donaldson, SQUIDs for everything else, in H. Weinstock and M. Nisenuff (eds.), *Superconducting Electronics*, New York: Springer Verlag, 1989.
- J. P. Wekswo, Jr., SQUIII) mego-tonodous for biomego-tism and monohostroctive testing Important questions and initial answers, *IEBE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 74–120, 1895.
- R. L. Fagaly, SQUID detection of electronic circuits, IEEE Trans. Magn. MAG 25, 1216–1214, 1969
- J. Kuthey. Imaging magnetic fields, *IEEE Spectrum*, 33, 124;40–49, 1996.
- 26. S. J. Williamson and L. Kaufman. Biomagnetism, J. Mags. Mag. Mat., 22 (129-202, 1981).
- G.L. Remani, S. J. Williamson, and L. Kaufman, Binningnetic instrumentation, *Ber. Rel. Instrum.* 68 (1816–1846), 1982.
- 24 R. L. Fagaly, Neuromagnetic instrumentation, in S. Sato (ed.), Advances in Neurology, Vol. 54: Magnetoencepholography, New York, Raven Press, 1990.
- C. Aanvet al., Advances in Biomagnetism Research, Riamag96, New York, Springer-Verlag, 1997

ROBERT L. FAGALY Triston Technologies

SUPERCONDUCTING CAVITY RESONATORS

A key component of the modern particle accelerator (59) is the device that imparts energy to the charged particles. This is an electromagnetic radio frequency (RF) cavity restorating at microwave frequencies typically between 50 MHz and 3000 MHz. Traditionally, accelerating devices are normal conducting cavities typically made from copper (59). One of the main increatives for using superconducting cavities is that the dissipation in the walls of the copper structure can be substantially reduced. This is especially beneficial for accelerators that operate in a continuous wave (CW) mode or at a high daty factor (e.g., >1 percent). Superconducting cavities economically provide high CW operating fields. Another benefit is that superconducting cavities can be designed to have a large beam uperture which reduces the beam cavity interactions, allowing higher beam quality and higher beam current

There are two distinct types of superconducting cavities, depending on the volocity of the particles. The first category is for accelerating charged particles that move at nearly the speed of light, such as electrons in a high-energy linear accelerator [e.g., at TJNAF (1) at Jefferson Lab in Newport News, VA] or a storage ring [e.g., LEP (2) at CERN in Switzerland]. The second type is for particles that move of a small fraction (e.g., 0.01 to 0.3) of the speed of light, such as the heavy ions emerging from



Figure 1. (a). An accelerating structure for velocity of light particles. The resonant frequency for superconducting structures is typically between 350 MHz and 3000 MHz. The cell length is half a wavelength $\lambda/2$ (long. The phase of the electric field on the own of each cell is shown for the increherating mode. Forts outside like cell region are for upput power couplers and higher order mode power output couplers. (b) many applications, the power induced by the beam in higher order modes take to be removed by couplet couplers. (b) An accelerating structure for line velocity particles, such as heavy rore. The Resonant frequency is typically heavers 50 MHz and 150 MHz. The accelerating gaps so β_{172} in length, where $\beta = w_{10}$ and γ is the velocity of the heavy rore.



(•)



(**b**)

Figure 2. (a) Free-cell 1.5 GHz mobilin covity developed at Cornell, now used at TJNAF (b) A quarter-wave resonator from mobilion developed for the JAERI (Tokai, Japan) heavy for lines.

a de high-voltage Van de Groaff necelerator, ATLAS (3) at Arganne National Lab, Argonne, IL is the longest-running heavy ion arrelevator facility. Figure 1(a) is a sketch of the typical superconducting accelerating structure of the first type, and Fig. 2(a) is a corresponding photograph (4). There are five acreferating rolls that resonate in the TM₀₁₀ mode of the cylindrical cavity. As the particle traverses each half-wavelength $(\lambda/2)$ accelerating gap in half a radio-frequency (RF) period, it sees a langitudinal electric field pointing in the same direction for continuous acceleration. Figure 1(b) is a sketch for a structure for low velocity particles, and Pig. 2(b) is a corresponding photograph (5). A coaxial scanemission line a quarter wavelength long resonates in the TEM mode. A drift tube is suspended from the end of the hollow center conductor. The structure has two accelerating cells between the ends of the drift tube and the beam hale agenings located in the outer conductor of the coax. The accelerating gap is $p\lambda/2$, where $\beta = clc$. Since β is small, λ must be chosen to be large, to achieve a useful acceleration. Therefore a low resonant frequency is chosen. typically 300 MHz. The

wavelength also sets the height of the quarter-wave resonator. The example of Fig. 2 has a manageable height of less than one meter

Large-scale application of superconducting cavities to electron and up accelerators is now established at many laboratories around the world (6). These accelerators provide high energy electron and positron beams for elementary particle research, medium-energy electron beams for nuclear physics research, low-energy, heavy ion beams for nuclear research, and high-quality electron beams for free electron lesers. Altogether more than 500 meters of superconducting cavities have been installed worldwide and successfully operated at accelerating fields up to 6 MV/m to provide a total of more than 2.5 GV for a variety of accelerators.

The two must solient characteristics of an accelerating cavity are its overage accelerating field, E_{tot} , and the quality factor Q_1 . The typical accelerating field at which $\beta \approx 1$ superconducting cavities are now operated routinely is $E_{wit} = 5$ MV/m, and the typical Q_0 value is 2×10^3 . The corresponding numbers for low velocity structures are 3 MV/m and 10°. Accelerating fields as high as 40 MV/m and Q_1 values as high as 10^{10} have been reached in high-performance $\beta \approx 1$ superconducting test cavities.

The strongest incentive to use superconducting cavities is in accelerators that operate in a convinuous-wave (CW) mode, or at a high duty factor (> 1%). For CW operation, the power disarpation in the walls of a structure built from normal conducting material (such as copper) is substantial. Therefore the typical CW operating field for a copper cavity is usually kept below 1 MV/m. The microwave surface resistance of a superconductor is typically five orders of magnitude lower than that of copper, and therefore the Q_0 is five orders of magnitude higher. For applarations demanding high CW voltage, such as increasing the energy of electron storage rings, the advantage of superconducting cavities becomes clear. Since the discipated power increases with the square of the operating field, only superconducting cavities can economically provide the needed voltage. For example, LEP requires 2.5 GV to double its energy from 50 GeV to 100 GeV per hearn. If ropper cavaties were in he used, both the capital cost of the klystrons and the ac power operating cost would become prohibitive at the higher accelerating field. Soveral MW/m of ac power would be required to operate a copper cavity at 5 MV/m. There are also practical funits to dossipating high power in the walls of a copper cavity. When more than 100 kW is dissipated in a copper cell, the surface temperatures exceeds 100 fC, causing vacuum degradation, stresses. and metal fatigue due to thermal expansion. High accelerating fields (* 100 MV/m) can be produced in capper cavities, but only for microseconds, and the peak RF power needed (59) becomes enormous (many 100 MW).

Apart from the general advantages of reduced RF capital and reduced RF associated uperating costs, superconductivity offers contain special advantages that stem from the low cavity will losses. Because of the low power dissipation at high accelerating field, one can afford to make the beam hole of superconducting ravity much larger than for a normal conducting cavity. The large beam hole substantially reduces the beam cavity interaction for wake fields (593), allowing better beam quality and higher current for improving the precision and reaction cates of physics experiments. For the intense proton linkes, where scraping of the proton heam tails is a major worry because of radia activation of the accelerator, the wide beam hole greatly reduces the risk of beam-loss-induced radioactivity.

RF Superconductivity Basics

The remarkable properties of superconductivity are attributed to the condensation of charge carriers into Copper pairs, which move frictionlessly. At T = 0 K, all charge carriers are condensed. At higher temperatures, some carriers are appaired; the fraction of unpaired carriers increases exponentially with temperature, as $e^{-X/t}$, until none of the carriers are paired above T_t . Here 2Δ is the energy gap of the superconductor, the energy needed to break on the pairs. In this simplified poture, known as the London two-fluid model, when a dc field is turned on, the pairs carry all the carrient, shielding the applied field from the normal electronic. Electrical resistance vanishes

In the case of RF currents, however, dissipation does occur for all T > 0 K, albeit very small compared to the normal conducting state. While the Copper pairs move friction)essly. they do have inertial mass. For high-frequency currents to flow, forces must be applied to bring about alternating directions of flow. Hence an ac electric field will be present in the skin layer, and it will continually accelerate and decelerate the normal carriers, leading to dissipation proportional to the square of the RF frequency. The two-fluid model provides a simple explanation for the quadratic frequency and the expanential temperature dependence of the RF surface resistance. The power dissipated is proportional to the internal electric field (proportional to the RF frequency) and to the coronal component of the correct The "sourceal" component of the current, being proportional to the interior electric field, gives another factor propertional to the RF frequency. The normal component of the current also depends on the number of carriers thermally excited across the gap 2Δ and is given by the Boltzmann factor $e^{-\Delta m^2}$

Besides the phenomenally low RF surface resistance, other important fundamental aspects are the maximum surface fields that can be tolerated without moreowing the microwave surface resistance substantially or without causing a breakdown of superconductivity. The accelerating field, E_{exc} is proportional to the peak surface RF electric field (E_{exc}) as well as the peak surface RF magnetic surface field (H_{exc}) .

The oltimate limit to the accelerating field is the RF critical magnetic field. Theoretically, this is equal to the superheating critical magnetic field. In the Ginzburg Landou phenomenological theory of superconductivity (7), surface energy considerations lead to estimates for superheating critical field in terms of the thermodynamic critical field. H_r , and the Ginzburg-Landou parameter, s., as follows.

$$\begin{aligned} H_{\rm th} &\approx \frac{0.69}{r^2} H_{\rm t} & \text{for } \kappa \ll 1 \\ H_{\rm th} &\approx 1.2 H_{\rm t} & \text{for } \kappa \approx 1 \\ H_{\rm th} &\approx 0.75 H_{\rm t} & \text{for } \kappa \gg 1 \end{aligned} \tag{1}$$

For the anal commonly used superconductor, niobians, H_{sle} is about 230 mT, which translates to a maximum uncelerating field of 55 MV/m for a typical $\beta = 1$ niobium structure and roughly 30 MV/m for a $\beta < 1$ niobium structure.

Typically, cavity performance is, however, significantly below the theoretically expected surface field. One important phenomenon that limits the achievable RF magnetic field is "thernial breakdown" of superconductivity, originating at subcullimeter-size regions of high RF loss, called "defects." When the temperature statistic the defect exceeds the superconducting transition temperature, $T_{\rm eff}$ the losses increase, because large regions become normal conducting. Several measures have been developed to overcome thermal breakdown, such as (a) improving the thermal conductivity of mobilum by purification or (b) using this films of mobilum (or lead) on a copper substrate cuvity.

In the early stages of the development of superconducting cavities, a major performance limitation was the phenomenon of "multipacting." This is a resonant process in which a large number of electrons builds up within a small region of the cavity surface due to the fact that the secondary electron emission coefficient of the surface is greater than unity. The avalanche absorbs RF power, making it impressible to raise the fields by increasing the incident RF power. The electrons impact the cavity walls, leading to a large temperature rise and eventually to thermal breakdown. With the invention of the aphenical cavity shape (8) (and inter the elliptical cavity shape (9)), multipacting is no longer a significant problem for velocity of light structures. Multipacting is still an impediment for structures for low-velocity particles but can be reduced by long periods of exposure to high RF power, called conditioning, during which the secondary electron emission is reduced by long-term cleotree hombardment

In contrast to the magnetic field limit, there is no known theoretical hant to the tolerable surface electric field. Continuous wave electric fields up to 145 MV/m (10) and pulsed electric fields up to 220 MV/m (11) have been imposed on a superconducting niobium cavity surface without any catastrophic effects. However, at high electric fields, an important limitation to the performance of superconducting cavities arises from the emission of electrons from high-electric-field regions of the cavity. Power is absorbed by the electrics and deposited as heat when electrons impact the cavity walls. If the emission grows intense, it can even initiate thermal breakdown. There have been extensive studies about the nature of field conscion sites as well as development of techniques to avoid emission sites and to destroy them (12).

For low-velocity accelerators, there is an important additional performance consideration. Ambient acoustic noise (incrophonics) excitee mechanical vibrational modes of the cavity, causing the resonant frequency to vary. The resonant cavities are extended, loaded structures (e.g., drift tubes supported by pipes) and generally have reduced mechanical stability. The cavity RF phase must be synchronized with an RF clock. This requires rapidly tuning the cavity to cancel the effects of acoustically induced mechanical distortions (33).

Figures of Merit for a Superconducting Cavity

We show how to calculate the important physical quantities, such as resonant frequency, accelerating field, peak electric and magnetic fields, power dissipation, the quality factor Q_0 , and shout impedance for a simple court, the cylindrically symmetric pillbox. The treatment is basic to both normal occducting and superconducting courties [see CAVITY RESONATORS]. We also work out illustrative values. Similar analytic calculations can be carried out for a coaxial TEM quarter wave resonator, as illustrative of an accelerating structure for lowvelocity particles. Only simple structures can be calculated analytically. For real structures with beam holes, it is necessary to use field computation rodes, such as (a) URMEL (14) for cylindrically symmetric structures and (b) MAFIA (15) for 3-D geometrics. For a cylinder of length d and radius R, the electric (E) and magnetic (H) fields for the standing wave TM_{10} mode are

$$\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{r}} = E_{0} h_{\mathbf{r}} \left(\frac{2}{r} \frac{405\rho}{R} \right) e^{i\omega t}, \qquad H_{\mathbf{r}} = -i \sqrt{\frac{\epsilon_0}{\mu_0}} E_{0} h_{\mathbf{r}} \left(\frac{2}{r} \frac{405\rho}{R} \right) e^{i\omega t}$$
(2)

where all other field components are 0, J_0 and J_1 are Bessel functions of the radial coordinate. The angular resonant frequency $\omega = 2\pi f$ is given by

$$\alpha_{\rm DBC} = \frac{3.405 \, \rm c}{R} \tag{3}$$

Note that the resonant frequency, f, is independent of the cavity length.

Assume an electron traveling nearly at the speed of light (c). It enters the covity at time t = 0 and leaves at a time t = d/c. To receive the maximum kick from the cavity, the time it takes the particle to traverse the cavity is to equal one-half of an RF period, that is

$$t = \frac{d}{c} = \frac{1}{2}T_{\mathsf{HF}} = \frac{\pi}{\omega} \tag{4}$$

Under this condition, the electron always sees a field pointing in the same direction. The accelerating voltage (V_{ver}) for a cavity is

$$V_{\rm are} = \left| \int_{-\pi\pi^{-1}}^{\pi\pi^{-1}} \tilde{K}_{\rm el} d\pi \right|$$
 (5)

For an electron accelerator with energy > 10 MeV, it is sufficiently accurate to use v = c, so that f(z) = z/c. Thus

$$V_{\text{max}} = \{\int_{x=0}^{x=0} E_{z}(y) = 0, z x^{1/2-x} dz$$
 (6)

$$V_{ac} = E_0 \left| \int_{\tau=0}^{\tau=0} e^{i\omega c \cdot \tau} dz \right| = dE_0 \frac{\sin\left(\frac{\omega d}{2c}\right)}{\frac{\omega d}{2c}} = dE_0 T \quad (7)$$

Here *T* is referred to as the "transit time factor ¹ A) 1.5 GHz we have $d = c\pi/w^2 + 10$ cm, and Eq. (7) simplifies to

$$V_{scr} = 0.064 \text{ m} \cdot E_0$$

The average accelerating electric field (E_{act}) is given by

$$E_{\rm par} = \frac{V_{\rm par}}{d} = \frac{2E_{\rm p}}{\pi} \tag{6}$$

Here E has the dimensions of V/m

Peak Surface Fields

To achieve a high accelerating field in a cavity, it is unpartant to minimize the design ratios of the peak fields to the accelerating field. For the TM_{ate} mode in a pullbox cavity we have

$$E_{\rm pk} = F_{\rm c}, \qquad H_{\rm pk} = \sqrt{\frac{r_0}{r_{\rm pp}}} J_0(1.841) E_0 = \frac{E_0}{647\Omega}$$
 (9)

Thus we obtain the following ratios:

$$\frac{E_{\rm rk}}{E_{\rm ner}} = \frac{\pi}{2} = 1.6, \quad \frac{H_{\rm pk}}{E_{\rm ner}} = 2430 \frac{\rm A/m}{\rm MV/m} = 3.05 \frac{\rm mT}{\rm MV/m} \qquad (10)$$

The units for magnetic field used are Tesla.

Power Dissipation and Q_0

In order to support the electromagnetic fields, currents flow within a thin surface layer of the cavity walls. If the surface resistance is R_s , the power dissipated/unit area (P_s) due to-fould heating to

$$P_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2}R_{\mu}H^{\mu} \tag{11}$$

The quality, Q_0 , is related to the power dissipation by the definition of Q_0 :

$$Q_{\nu} = \omega \frac{\text{Energy stored}}{\text{Power disspated}} = \frac{\omega l l}{P_{\rm c}}$$
(12)

where U is the stored energy and P_r is the dissipated power. The total energy in the cavity and the power dissipated are

$$U = \frac{1}{2} \mu_0 \int_{c} (H^{12} dc) \qquad P_c = \frac{1}{2} R_c \oint_{c} (H)^2 ds$$
(13)

where the integral is taken over the volume of the cavity. Thus

$$Q_{0} = \frac{\omega \mu_{0}}{R_{e} \int_{0}^{1} (H^{\frac{1}{2}} ds)}, \qquad Q_{0} = \frac{G}{R_{e}}, \qquad G = \frac{\omega \mu_{0}}{\int_{0}^{1} (H^{\frac{1}{2}} ds)}$$
(14)

Here G is called the geometry factor II only depends on the cavity shape and not its size. For the TM_{210} mode in a pillbox ravity, we obtain

$$U = \frac{\tau \epsilon_0 E_0^2}{2} J_1^2 (2|405) dR^2$$
(15)

$$P_{1} = \frac{\pi R_{0} E_{0}^{2} \epsilon_{0}}{\epsilon_{0}} J_{1}^{2} (2.405) H(R + \delta)$$
(16)

$$G = \frac{453Rd}{(R^2 + Rd)}\Omega$$
(17)

Combining Eqs. (3) and (4), we find that in order to obtain the maximum accelerating voltage from the cavity, we require

$$\frac{R}{d} = \frac{2}{\tau} \frac{405}{\tau}$$
(18)

so that $G = 257 \ \Omega$. A typical observed surface resistance for a well-prepared superconducting Nb cavity is $R_s = 20 \ n\Omega$. Thus we have a Q_2 value of

$$Q_0 = \frac{G}{R_c} = 1.3 \times 10^{10}$$
 (19)

For a typical cavity length of d = 10 cm (at 1.5 GHz), we obtain R = 7.65 cm. For an accelerating voltage of 1 MV, we obtain the

following results.

$$E_{0x} = \frac{V_{ext}}{d} = 10 \text{ MV/m}$$

$$E_{yx} = E_0 = \frac{\pi}{2} E_{xxx} + 15.7 \text{ MV/m}$$

$$H_{yx} = 2430 \frac{A/m}{MV/m} E_{ext} = 24.3 \text{ kA/m} = 30.5 \text{ mT} \qquad (20)$$

$$(i = \frac{\pi \epsilon_0 E_0^3}{2} e_1^2 (2.405) e_1^2 f_1^2 = 0.54 \text{ J}$$

$$P_y = \frac{wU}{Q_0} = 0.4 \text{ W}$$

The performance of a superconducting cavity is evaluated by measuring the Q_0 as a function of the ravity field level. This gives information on the average behavior of the RF surface.

Thermametry Based Diagnostics

To resolve the local distribution of RF losses from various mecheniems described above, temperature mapping is used as a diagnostic technique. A clisin of rotating carbon thermometers. or an array of fixed thermometers, samples the temperature of the outer wall of the cavity. Temperature mapping with carbon thermometers has played a key role in improving the onderstanding of mechanisms that lead to residual resistance. multipacting, thermal breakdown, and field emission. Carbon makes a sensitive thermometer at liquid helium temperatures because, as a semiconductor, its resistance increases exponentably with decreasing temperature. Above the superfluid temperature (2.17 K), temperature increments of the cavity wall of a few mK can be easily detected. A single rotating arm bearing 10 to 20 thermometers per cell is appropriate for locating stable field emitters or thermal defects in sizable structures, such as a multicell cavity. For temperature mapping in superfluid helium, thermometers need to be isolated from the superfluid bath so that movable elements do not provide good sensitivity. A large array of fixed thermometers is preferred. These are brought in intimate contact with the cavity wall by the use of spring loaded contacts. Grease applied between the cavity wall and the the mometer element improves heat transfer and keeps the superfluid away. Due to the large number of thermometers and leads, the fixed mothod is suitable for investigations with single cell cavities. An example of a fixed thermomcury system is shown in Fig. 3, and a typical temperature map is shown in Fig. 4 (16).

Refrigerator Requirements

Although the power dissipated in the superconducting cavity is very small, the losses will be dissipated in the liquid He bath. Together with the static heat leak to the cryostat, these bases comprise the cryogenic loss. Typically the ar power needed to operate the refrigerator is larger than the dissipated power in 2K liquid the by a factor of 750. One part of this factor comes from the technical efficiency (n) of the refrigerator, typically y = 0.2 for a large system, and the other part comes from the



Figure 3. (a) A single cell niobium cavity surrounded by an array of \approx 700 cartor, there one encourters that make close contact with the outer wall of the envity. (b) There are 19 thermometers placed on each radio dual based (but is contacted to closely follow the cavity profile. It is hold by a spring-loaded profile of a 100 Ω carbon resistor embedded in an epoxy toosing. It is hold by a spring-loaded profile into holes in the board. The surface of the thermometer is ground so that the carbon element is exposed and subsequently covered with a thin layer of variant to provide electrical insulation. The leads an mode of a low-thermal-conductivity alloy, such as manganin.



Figure 4. Temperature map al 40 mT of a single-soll 1.5 GHz cavity showing heating at a defect site near the cavity equator labeled 10 and field emission sites (labeled 2, 3, and 4) near the cavity tris

Cannot efficiency nr. which at 2 K is

$$\frac{1}{m} \frac{300 - 2}{2}$$
(21)

At 10 MV/m the required refrigerator at power due to the RF loss would be 300 W for the case of a single-cell 1.5 GHz cavity. For a copper cavity of the same geometry, with a typical $R_{\rm e}=3$ m Ω , the RF power dissipation in the cavity would be 60 kW for an accelerating field $E_{\rm wr}=10$ MV, m. Furthermore, the at wall power will be a factor of 2 higher because of the typical klystron efficiency. Thus the ac power cost of maximum a copper cavity in CW made would be several bundred times higher than the cost for an Nb cavity.

Shunt Impedance

An important quantity used to characterize the losses in a cavity at a given accelerating voltage is the shunt mopedance (R_{λ})

SUPERCONDUCTING CAVITY RESONATORS 533

Table 1. Figures of Merit for the Cornell/CEBAF 6-Cell Cavity

c	290-11	
R/Q (per S-cell cavity)	\$60 A	
E., /K.,	2.6	
Halfer	4.7 MPT/: MPV/200	
 · · · · · · · · ·		-

Data raken from Ref. 4

as typified by a parallel RLC circuit:

$$R_a = \frac{V_{tos}^2}{P_t}$$
(22)

in which case $P_c =$ power dissipated and V_{sc} is the acceleration voltage. Hence the shunt impedance is in Ω .

Ideally the short impedance should be large for the accelerating mode so that the dissipated power is small. This is particularly important for copper cavities, where the wall power dissipation is a major issue and we wish to have as large an accelerating field as possible. For the TM_{210} mode pillbrx cavity and $R_{\rm s}$ of 20 n Ω we have

$$R_{\rm c} = \frac{4\mu_0 d^2}{\pi^2 R_{\rm c} n d_{\rm b}^2 (2.405) R[R-d]} = 2.5 \times 10^{12} \ \Omega \qquad (23)$$

Note that the ratio of R_d/Q is given by

$$\frac{R_{\rm s}}{Q_{\rm n}} = \frac{V_{\rm srg}^2}{nU} \tag{24}$$

which is independent of the surface resistance. For the pillion $\mathrm{TM}_{\mathrm{bio}}$ mode we have

$$\frac{R_{\bullet}}{Q_{\pm}} = \frac{150 \Omega}{R} \frac{d}{196 \Omega} = \frac{125}{R}$$
(25)

By applying computer codes to determine electromagnetic fields, the computed figures of merit for the Cornell/TJNAF 5-cell cavity are given in Tuble 1. Note that due to the presence of the beam holes the shunt impedance is reduced and the peak sortice fields are enhanced, relative to the pillbox case. For a realistic cavity shape, R/Q_0 is lowered due to the presence of the beam holes, typically by a factor of 2.

RF Surface Resistance

Hased on the very successful BCS theory (17), expressions for the superconducting surface impedance have been worked out by Mathe and Bardeen (18). These expressions involve material parameters, such as the London penetration depth λ_{1i} the coherence distance z_0 the Fermi velocity V_{1i} , and the electron mean free path *l*. They are in a rather difficult form to obtain general formulus to work with. Computer programs have been written—for example, by Turneaure (10) and Halbritter (20). Figure 5 gives the results from Halbritter's programs for niohourn and lead and Nb₅Sn. Table 2 gives the material parameters used for the calculations. Calculations from the theory agree well with experimentally measured R_i for $T/T_i > 0.3$. At lower temperatures the residual resistance term dominates.

A simplified form of the temperature dependence of Nb for $T_0/T > 2$ and for frequencies much smaller than $2\Delta/h \approx$

Table 2. Meterial Parameters Used for the Calculations of Fig. 5

Material Parameter	Ρ'n	Nb	Nh Sn
Т. "КІ	7.19	9.20	18/00
Brienzy gap, 3/67.	2.10	1.86	2.25
Penetration depth a IÅ;	260	360	600
Coherence length & [Å]	\$110	640	63
Mean free path é (Ál	10,000	500	10

)0¹² Hz is

$$R_{\rm s} = A(1/T_0)f^2 \exp(-\Delta(T)/k_0T) + R_0$$
(26)

Here $k_{\rm B}$ is Boltzmann's constant. The second term, $R_{\rm c}$ is called the residual resistance. Typical R_0 values for Nb cavities fall in the range from 10⁻¹ to 10⁻⁸ Ω . The record for the lowest surface resistance is 1.-2 × 10⁻⁹ Ω (21). For comparison, the surface resistance of copper at 1.5 GHz is 3 m Ω .

The operating temperature of a superconducting cavity is usually chosen so that the first term in Eq. (26) is reduced to an economically tolorable value. Repreferred to as the residual resistance, is influenced by several factors. Sume of the sources are extraneous to the superconducting sortions -for example, lossy joints between components of the structure. Other factors origonate at the suppression ducting surface. A well-understood and controllable source of residual loss is trapped de magnetic flux from insufficient shielding of the earth's magnetic field. or other do magnetic fields in the vicinity of the cavity. To get the loghest Q , a superconducting cavity must be well-shielded. from the earth's field. Typically, at 1 GHz, $R_{\rm b}$ is 10 $\mu\Omega/mT$ (33). Another important residual loss mechanism arises when the hydrogen desolved in bulk mobium precipitates as a lossy hyrivide at the BF surface (23). This residual lose is a subtle effect. that depends on the cate of cooldown and the amount of other interstitial inquisities present in nichtiam. The effect can be severe enough to lower the Q_0 to 10^{\circ} depending on the amount of hydrogen dissolved and the couldown rate of the cavity. More than 2 ppm wt of hydrogen can be dangerous.



Figure 6. Theoretical surface resistance at 1.5 GHz of load monitor and Nb₃Sn as calculated from Halbretter's program (20). The colorused for the initial parameters are given in Table 2.

Cavity Fabrication and Surface Preparation

Niobium cavities can be constructed from sheet molerum using the techniques of forming (e.g., deep drawing or spinning) followed by electron beam welding (24). Another method is to deposit a thin mobium film onto a preformed copper cavity substrate (25). The copper cavity is mode in essentially the same way as the sheet mobium cavity, except for surface preparation before film deposition. If the cavity has more than one cell, the cells need to be tuned relative to each other, by adjusting the dimensions, so that the underrating field is the same for each cell. Dimensional variations between cells are sufficient to alter the field profile substantially. Typical fabrication tolerances are in the range of a few tenths of a con-

The gurity of niebium used is important, both in terms of bulk impurity content and in terms of inclusions from manufacturing steps, such as rolling. Inclusions on the RF surface glay the role of normal conducting sites for thermal breakdown Dissolved impurities serve as scattering sites for the electrons not condensed into Cooper pairs. These impurities lower the thermal conductivity, impede the heat transfer to the beham, and limit the maximum tolerable surface magnetic field before the onset of thermal breakdown. The accompanying decrease in electrical conductivity, or the *RRR* value, serves as a convement measure of the purity of the metal. The formal definition of *RRH* is

$$RRR = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\text{resistivity at S00 K}}{\text{residual resistivity at low}} & ----- \end{pmatrix}$$
(27)

Here low temperature means the temperature at which the do resistivity in the normal state becomes residual. A convenient relationship between thermal conductivity and *RRR* for niobian is

$$k \approx 0.25 \ RRR\left(\frac{W}{mK}\right)$$
 (28)

This relationship can be derived from the Weedemann-Franz Law (26) and from the ratio of the superconducting to normal conducting state thermal conductivities (27). To achieve the optimum RF performance, the surface of the cavity must be prepared to approach as close as possible the ideal. Microscopic contaminants can limit the performance, either by thermal breakdown or by field emission (28). A clean RF sorface is orbiteved by chemically etching away a surface layer, rinsing thoroughly with altractean water, and then taking precombines so that no contaminants come in contact with the clean RF surface. The resistivity of the water should be close to theoretically pure (18 MΩ-cm), and the water should be filtered to elaminate particles larger than 1 µm. After etching, water is recurrentiated for several bours through the cavity in series with the water purification system so as to continuously and thoroughly remove any chemical and particulate residue from the motion surface. For a revuly of cavity fabrication and preparation procedures, see Ref. 28.

Many laboratories have found that the RF surface can be made even cleaner if chemistry is followed by high-pressure rinsing (HPR) of the cavity with ultrapure water (29). At TJ NAF for example, water at a pressure of 70 bar to 60 bar is sprayed through stainless steel nozzles each having a 0.3 mm diameter prifice (30). The patent jets of water are scanned across all parts of the RF surface to disloring and sweep away microscopic contaminants that have adhered to the surface

After rinsing, the cavity is transported into a dust-free clean room where the water is drained. The cavity surface thus only comes in contact with filtered are. The level of cleanliness required is comparable to that in the semiconductor industry where a clean room environment of Class 10–100 is routine. Class 10 refers to the number of particles of size 0.5 microns or larger in one cubic foot of air. The surface of the cavity must be dried before the cavity is evacuated, placed maile a cryastat, and cooled down for RF tests. During final assembly, the laboratory workers in the vicinity need to wear special particulatefree clothing and follow strict protocols to reduce particulate generation.

During these various stages of cavity production and preparation, there are many opportunities for defects to enter the cavity. Therefore great care must be exercised during the manoficitary of sheet metal, drep drawing of cups, electron branwelding, chemical etching, rinsing, drying, and insertion of coupling devices, as well as in the final attachment of the cavity to the vacuum system of the test stand or the accelerator. Two examples of defects that caused thermal breakdown are shown in Fig. 6 (31). On a statistical basis, we expect that the number of defects increases with envity surface prepa

Overcoming Field Emission

The temperature mapping diagnostic technique for superconducting cavities shows that emission arises from particular spots, called "emitters," located in high-electric-field regions.

Figure 6. SEM matricesples of defects that consert diversal breakdown (a) A chemical or drying stam 440 gap or disorder. The small crystal on the right side contains K. Cl. and P. This defect quenched at $E_{we} = 3.4$ MV (m. (b) A 50 gap crystal containing S. Co, C), and K. This defect quenched at $E_{we} = 10.7$ MV/m. These defects were located by temperature image (Courtesy of CERN.)






Figure 7. Upbulated electron trajectories in a 3-cell 1.5 GHz cavity operating at $E_{ph} = 50$ MV im. The smitter is located in the end cell, where the surface electric field is 44 MV/m. Note that a significant number of field-emitted electrons bend back and strike the wall near the emitter observation concentrated through the cavity structure and could produce our cavetor "that may be accelerated in objector cavity-

The electrons that emerge from the emitters travel in the RF fields of the cavity and impact the surface (Fig. 7). Some electrons may be captured in the axial fields and accelerated along with the beam. These produce unwanted 'dark current,' which may spoil the beam quality or input the walls of adjacent cavities. The pattern of temperature rise as a function of position along a given meridian contains implicit information about the location and characteristics of the source. The power deposited by the impacting cloctrons depends on the trajectory as well as on the intrinsic properties of the emitter.

In their basic theory of field emission (32), Fowler and Nordhour (FN) showed that in the presence of an electric field, electrons tunnel out of the metal into the vieuum because of their quantum wave-like nature. However, a comparison with the observed corrects reveals that, at a given field, emission is substantially higher than the FN predictions. Traditionally, the excess has been attributed to a "field enhancement factor." which is believed to be related to the physical properties of the emitter discussed below. Both RF and do studies reveal that emitters are micron- to sub-micron-size contaminant particles (13). Figure 8 shows an example of a region of emotting particles. found in a moluum cavity (33). The properties of the emitter that lead to enhanced emission are (a) the microgeometry of the particle (04), (b) the nature of condensed gases or adsorbates on the surface of the particle (35), and (c) the interface between the particle and the underlying metal RF surface (36). Accordingly, a high level of closed mess is processary for cavity sorface preparation. Field emission free performance has been achieved with HPR (S0). Recently, many 9-cell 1/3 OHz structures were prepared at DESY by using KPR (37). A sample of their results is shown in Fig. 11.

When raising the RF electric field in a superconducting cavity for the first time, the field emission often decreases abraully: the cavity is said to "process" or "condition." There has been much progress in characterizing processed emitters at a microscopic level using techniques such as SEM, EDX, Auger, and AFM. These studies reveal that emitter processing is an explosive event that accompanies what we usually refer to as a "spark" or a "discharge." or the "electrical breakdown" of the





Figure 3. (a) SFM maxagraph of field emitting particles. Note the obstant of small spherical balls which indicate that a part of the site malted, EDX analysis shows that the particles are stimuless steel. Note also the jagged mazagramerzy of the particles believed sesponsable for field enbancement (b). The melted cluster is expanded.

insulating vacuum (38). Figure 9 shows a typical SEM micragraph of an exploded emitting site (39).

To reach the highest accelerating fields, the highest thermal constructivity is essential to avoid thermal breakdown, and a high-break of cleanliness is essential to avoid field emission. High-pressure water rinsing is a very successful cleaning technique to avoid field emission. In multicell structures with large surface-invalither is always a significant probability that a few emitters will eventually find their way on to the cavity surface. There is also the danger of dust fulling into ravities during installation of power coupling devices as well as during installang of the structure into the accelerator.

A inclusion that eliminates field emitters in sala is high pulsed power RF processing (HPP) (40). The essential idea is to raise the surface electric field at the emitter as high as possible, even if for a very short time (* milliseconds). As the field racs, the emission current rises expanentially to the level at which melting, evaporation, gas evolution, plasma formation, and ultionately a microdischarge (RF spark) take place. The ensuing





 (\mathbf{b})

Figure 4. SEM parameters of the processed site found at the location predicted was temperature maps. (a) how magnification, thillingh magnification of craster region within the starburst of (a). The molten spissbes in the crucer region were found to contain indianal presumably from the indiana ware scale used to make vacuum points.

explosive event destroys the emitter. An important benefit of HPP is that the technique can be applied to recover cavities after their final installation. It can also be used to recover the performance of cavities which may be accidentally containizated, as, for example, in a vacuum mishap. To ochieve emission-free



Pigure 11. High performance of several Secold 1.3 GHz revolves achieved by high-pressure moving

performance at a desired \mathcal{S}_{exc} processing must be carried out at $\approx 2 \times \mathcal{E}_{exc}$. Figure 10 shows the improvement in performance achieved by **HPP** (41). [Recently, many 9-cell 1.3 GHz structures were prepared at DESY by using HPR techniques (37). A sample of their results is shown in Fig. 11. Occusionally it is possible to achieve field emission free performance, as shown by the best curve of Fig. 11].

Overcoming Thermal Breakdown

The most effective cure for thermal irreakdown scosed by nim to sub-mm size defects is to (a) use better quality material that is free of such defects or (b) to raise the thermal conductivity of the mobiom so that remaining defects will be able to tolerate more power before driving the neighboring superconductor into the normal state (42). A simple analysis of the thermal breakdown shows that the maximum magnetic surface field is given by

$$H_{\rm max} = \sqrt{\frac{4k(T)}{aR_{\rm e}}} \frac{T_{\rm e}}{T_{\rm e}}, \quad \text{i.e., } H_{\rm max} \approx \sqrt{\xi} \propto \sqrt{RRR}$$
(29)

Here k is the thermal conductivity, T_{α} the superconducting transition temperature, T_{β} is the bath temperature, α is the radius



Figure 10. Performance of a 5-cell 1.3 GHz atoleton covely improved by LBPI. Before HPP, the manufacture field was broked by beavy field emission to $E_{\rm ave} = 22$ MV/m. After applying 1 MW of power and reaching $E_{\rm pb} = 90$ MV in an the polacel mode, the field emission was processed away and $E_{\rm tot} = 28$ MV m was possible in the CW mode.



Figure 12. A summary of the results of multurell coveries [039–431 showing the paramturce of high *RRR* coupled with emission reduction techniques such as HPU and HPR. The line shows ov *RRR* dependence expected from the simple theory of thermal breakdown

of the defect, and R_n is the surface resistance of the defect. This dependence on *RRR* is supported by detail numerical simulations of thermal breakdown, as well as by experiments on cavities made from Nb of different *RRR* (Fig. 12).

Figure 13 shows the thermal conductivity of three samples of nichran that have different histories of heat treatment (43). The common feature of all three curves is the sharp drop below $T_r = 9.2$ K, as more and more electrons condense into Cooper pairs. At the higher temperatures (4 K < $T < T_c$), a significant, though small, fraction of electrons is not frazen into Cooper pairs and can carry heat effectively, provided that the electron imparity scattering is low. Since the temperature and T_c , the high-temperature thermal conductivity is the most important and has the strungest effect in thermal breskdown. The higher the *HIR*, the higher the thermal conductivity in this temperature range.

Below 4 K, as electrons condense into Cooper pair, electronphonon scattering also decreases. As a result, the thermal conductivity from phonons hegges to increase, heading to the phonon peak near 2 K. With discreasing temperature, the number of phonons decreases $\propto T^3$. The value of the phonon conductivity maximum is limited by phonon scattering from lattice imperfections, of which the grain boundary density is the most important. If the crystal grains of nishrum are very large (e.g., because of annealing at high temperature), one observes a large phonon peak, as shown in the thermal conductivity behavior of the sample with RRR = 250, which was annealed at 1400 C. Since the phonon peak is at about 2 K, it does not help to thermally stubilize defects that heat up in the RF field

The light, interstitially descolved unparities have the strongest effect on the *HHR*. Among these, oxygen is dominant. The other interstitials are carbon, nitrogen, and hydrogen. Among the metallic imporities, tantalum is found in the

highest concentration (typically 500 ppm by weight) since all naturally occurring ones contain some tantahum. This impurity level is not a problem since tuntofum is a substitutional impurity and does not substantially affect the electronic properties. However, T, can become a problem if clostering corners. The



Figure 13. Thermal conductivity (4) of niobium with RRR = 90 (as received). RRR = 400 after post-purification with yttrains, and RRR = 250 after annealing the post purified sample for 6 hours at 5400 C. (Courteev of Wappertn).)

Table 3. Expected RRR for Eppm will of Major Impurities

Element	RRR
н	2610
N	42:30
c	43461
0	5580
Ta (1000 ppm wt)	1340

"Note that the effect of Taba given on terms of 1000 ppm wi

Nh used to fabricate a cavity has been checkes), for example, by an eddy current scanning technique (44) to look for large defects such as $T_{\rm e}$ clusters. Next in abundance are the higher-temperature, refractory elements, such as tangsten, zirconium, hafnium, and tranium, usually found at the level of 10–50 ppm wt. The electron-scattering effectiveness of the various imporities are shown in Table 3 in terms of their effect in the *RRR* (45).

To obtain the net *HRR*, one must add the resistance contributions for each impority element in parallel. The contributions of the phonons is always present, so that the highest theoretical *HRR* for niobium is 35,000 (46). Experimentally, the highest *RRR* ever achieved in a niobium sample was 28,000 (47)

The most convenient method to obtain high-purity niobium for superconducting cavitals is to remove the interstitials during the electron-beam melting stoges of the inget. Multiple melta and progressive improvements in the furnace chamber vacuum have led to a steady increase in the *RRR* of commercial niobium over the last decade from 30, typical of commonly available "reactor grade" niobium, to 300 (48). The *RRR* of commercially available Nb continues to improve. Recently, niobium sheet of *HHR* - 509, 700 became available from a Russian source (49).

If RF surface magnetic fields higher than 50 mT are designal in a consistently reproducible basis, the thermal conductivity of the niobium must be improved to RRR > 300. In one method called post-purification, the purity of the pulpion is in creased by solid-state gettering of oxygen using yttrium (50-or Infamium (51) at high temperature. The foreign metal is vapordeposited on the midburn surface. In the same step, the high temperature decreases the diffusion time of the oxygen in the bium. Over a few hours, exyren is supped in the deposited getter layer. If yttrium is used, the best temperature is 1200-1250 C because both the vapor pressure of ythrum and the diffusion rate of oxygen in mishiom are sufficiently high. If titanium is used, temperatures of 1050-1400 C are required because of the lower vapor pressure of titanium. Typically during post-purification, the RRR unproves by a factor of two in a few hours. An important disadvantage of the post-purification is that the yield strength of niohum falls substantially due to the high-temperature treatment. Also, titanium diffusion into the bulk along grain boundaries demands additional etching

Nb/Cu Cavilies

As we mentioned, thin Nb films on higher-thermal-conductivity copper is another way to avoid thermal breakdowe. The technique of sputter coating niohum has been developed by CERN for 350 MHz structures and applied successfully to bundreds of structures (25). In the most successful conting method to dote, thin film deposition is carried out by cylindrical magnetron sputtering. Before the coating slage, the copper cavity

is degreased, chemically pulsified (≈ 20 pm), runsed with high parity, dust-free water and alcohol, and dried under clean laminur air flow. After bakeput of the copper cavity to reach a good vacuum, a typical coating time is 4 hours. The coating thickmess is a few maximum at a substrate temperature of 180-200 \odot The RRR of the deposited mobium serves as one of the monitors of film quality. The sputtering rate and substrate temperature are optimized to reach an RRR greater than 20. Note that the low *RRR* relative to balk mobium is not a problem because the film is very thin. The rod-like groins of the niobium film are up. to 1 µm long and 10-150 nm in diameter. When studied with transmission electron microscopy, the individual grains show a high density of defeats, consisting of dislocations and point defect agglomerates (52). The distance between two defects varies from 2 to 20 nm. The onset T, of a deposited film is 9.6 K, but the transition width is larger than for bulk nichtum (typically a few tenchs of K). The large transition width (5 K in some cases) is indicative of poor film quality.

Although Q_0 values $\approx 10^{19}$ are obtained at low fields, the RF losses of Nb/Cu cavities increase steadily with field. This effect is attributed to intergrain losses in the niobium films, which become more severe at higher frequency. Recently (53), there is evidence to show that impurities buried in the films can also account for increased losses at high fields.

Future Directions, New Materials

Desed on the fundamental aspects, for a material to be useful in accelerators, the primary requirements are a high transition. temperature and a high superheating critical magnetic field. Among the elemental superconductors, niobium has the highest T_{c} . While lead, costed on to a copper cavity, has been very useful in early studies and heavy-ion accelerator applications, the higher T_i and H_i has made subjum the more attractive choice. Technical considerations, such as ease of fabrication and the ability to achieve uniformly good material properties over a large surface area, have also proven favorable for nichtum The realm of superconducting compounds has been much less explored herause of technical complexities that govern compound formution. In looking at candidates, such as Nb₃Sn. NbN, and the new high-temperature superconductors (HTS), such as YBa₂Cu₂O₇, it is important to select a material for which the desized compound phase is stable over a broad composition range With this criterion, formation of the compound may prove more tolerant to variations in experimental conditions, which in turn would make it possible to achieve the desired angle phase over a large surface area. With a T, of 16 K, Nb₃Sn is the most sucressful compound explored to date (54). At low fields, residuat resistance values comparable to niohunm have been achieved. However, the maximum fields reached to date are far lower than those for sheet ninbium cavities. The new HTS are even further from the performance level desired for application to accelerators. Pigure 14 compares the measured RF surface resistance at low fields of several superconductors: HPS, Nb₈Sr., and Nh (55). The surface resistance of Nb at 1.3 K. Nh, Sn at 4.2 K, and copper at 77 K are included for comparison.

Early enthusiasm over the remarkable strates made in the transition temperature of NTS are now tempered with drS cultures in achieving useful properties, such as a high critical current density. The coherence lengths of the cuprates are very short (17 A within the copper to xygen planes and 3 Å perpendicular to the planes, respectively). There is nise a large anisotropy



Figure 14. Measured surface resistance of HTS compared to the same for Nb (1.3 K) and Nb₂Sn (4.2 K). In the case of HTS the resistance is quoted at 77 K if it is already residual: if the resistance is still decreasing with temperature, the residual is obtained at 20 K. The solid kess show the calculated surface set stance of copper at 77 K. Nb₂Sn at 4.2 K and Nb st 1.3 K.

of the magnetic and electrical properties between the classis and the *ab* planes, with superior behavior when the current flow is in the *ab* plone. To produce good-quality HTS films, it is therefore necessary to orient the grains so that the class is normal to the RF surface everywhere. This restriction will be a significant challenge for realizing HTS in mosting apprlorating cavity shapes. It is also essential to have the right stoichigmetry and oxygen content. Because of the short coherence length, transpurt properties are excremely sensitive to minute defects, such as grain boundaries and their associated imperfectious. Decouplong of superconducting grains is believed to accur because. the coherence lengths approach the scale of the grain boundary. thickness, forming only werk links between individual grains. As a result, the intergrain critical current is two to three ordees of suggritude lower than intragram critical current. Even at a clean grain boundary, the scale of the disorder that exists. from breaking up of a unit cell can exceed the coherence length. especially in the direction of the claxis (56).

CONCLUSION

Even at the modest fraction of the ultimate potential impiny attractive applications are now in place, and new ones are forthcoming. As our understanding of field limiting mechanisms continues to improve, new techniques emerge to further advance gradients, such as high-purity mobium to raise the thermal conductivity, high-pressure rinsing to provide cleaner, field emission free surfaces, and high pulsed power processing to destroy residual conters. The new techniques for bulk nishoun cavities have demonstrated that gradients can be improved to between 20 and 30 MV/m in multicell structures. If such gradients can be reliably achieved exciting new applications on the horizon, such as the TeV electron-positrun linear collider (57) or a multi-TeV muon collider (58).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- J. Posole, os H. Bonne (ed.), Proc. 7th Workshop HF Supercond., Gilso-Yvette, France, CEA/Sociay 96 080; 1, 1995, p. 173.
- G. Geschonke, in B. Bonin (ed.), Proc. 7th Workshop RF Supervised, Gif sur Yvette, Prance, CEA:Sariny 96 08071 (1986), p. 143.
- L. M. Boltroger, Annu. Rev. Nucl. Pretate Sci., 36, 475, 1987.
- R. Soudelin, IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., NS-32: 3570, 1965.
- S. Takeuchi, in K. W. Shepard (ed.), Proc. 3rd Workshop RF Supercond., Arganate National Laboratory, Arganae, U., ANL-PHY-89-1, 1998, p. 429.
- 6 H. Padamsee, K. Shepard, and R. Sundelin, Annu. Rev. Nucl. Particle Sci., 43: 635, 1993.
- V. L. Ginsburg and L. D. Landau, Zh. Eksperine, 1. Theor. Fizike 20: 1064, 1950.
- U. Elem. and D. Proch, in J. S. McCurthy and R. R. Whitney reds.: Proc. Conf. Factor: Possibilities Electron: Accelerators, Churlattesville, University of Verginia, P. NJ-17, 1979.
- P. Kneise, H. Vinovi, and J. Ralbritter, Nucl. Instrum. Meth., 188: 560, 1981.
- 10. D. Meffat, in Y. Kryima (ed.), Pres. 4th Workshop RP Supervised , KER, Taukuba, Japan, Rep. 89-21, 1990, p. 445.
- J. Delayou and K. W. Shepard, Appl. Press Lett. 57 (5): 514, 1990.
- H. Padamsee, in Figh Voltage Vacuum Insulation, Latham (ed.), New York Academic Press, 1985, p. 431
- J. Duinyen to Y. Kaputa (ed.), Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on HF Superconductors, KEK, Tsukuba, Japan, Bep. 29-21, 1980, p. 249
- U. Luustreer, U. van Riemon, and T. Wieland, DESY M-87-05, 1989.
- 15. R. KIAD, DESY M-85-67, 1967.
- 16 J. Knobloch and H. Meller, Rev. Sci. Instrum. 65 (11): 3521, 1994.
- 17. J. Bardwen, L. N. Comper, and J. R. Schrieffer, *Phys. Rev.*, 109 (1175) 1957.
- D. C. Mattis and J. Bardeen, Phys. Rev., 111 (412) 1953.
- J. P. Torneoure, Ph.D. Cossis, Stanford University, 1967; see also: J. M. Poece, ed. J. Marton (ed.), *Methods of Experimental Physics*, Vol. 11, 541, 1974.
- J. Balbritter, Z. Physik, 238, 466, 1970.
- See the survey of low field residual resistance values u. J. P. Parneaure Proc. Appl. Supercond. Conf. Annapolis, 1972, p. 621.
- 22 C. Vallet et al., m.E. H. Henke et al. (eds.), Prist 1992 Range an Particle Academics Conf., Editions Frontières, 1992, p. 1295
- B. Bonn, and R. Roeth, or D. Proch (ed.), Proc. 5th Workshop RF hopernood., DESY, Hamburg, Germany, DESY:M-92-01, 1991, p. 210
- 24. J. Kirchgesson (1997), W. W. Shepard (ed.), Proc. 3rd Warkshop RP Supercond., Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, IL, ANL-PHY-88 1, 1964, p. 533.
- 25. C. Benvernuri, in D. Pissch (ed.), Proc. 5th Workshop RF Supervised , DESY, Hamburg, Germany, DESY M 92-01, 1991, p. 199

540 SUPERCONDUCTING CYCLOTRONS AND COMPACT SYNCHROTRON LIGHT SOURCES

- See Aschroft and Mermic. Solid State Physics, W. B. Saunders Campany, 20, 1976.
- 27 L. P. Kadaooff and P. C. Marrin, Phys. Rev. 124, 670 (1961)
- H. Padamisee, J. Knobloch, and T. Hays, *HF Supercond. Accelera*tars, Wiley (1998).
- P. Dernard et al., in H. Henke et al. (eds.), Free. Sed Kur. Particle Accelerator Conf., Editions Franciens, 1992, p. 1269.
- P. Kneisel, B. Lewss. and L. Turlington, in R. M. Sondelin (ed.), Proc. 6th Workshop RF Superconductivity, CERAF, Newport News, VA, 1994, p. 628
- H. Padamase, J. Tockmantel, and W. Weingarten, *IERE Trans.* Magn., Mag 19 (1905) 1983.
- R. H. Fowler and L. Nardheim, Proc. R. Soc. London. A118: 173, 1924.
- J. Knoblech et al., in Proc. 1995 Periode Acceleration Conf., Dallas, 1995, p. 1623.
- M. Jiminez et al., J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 27, p. 1036 (1994).
- 35. Q.S. Shu et al., in *IEEE Trans. Magn.* 25, 1869, 1989.
- N. S. Xu, in High Voltage Vacuum Invalutum. Ed. B. V. Lethem, p. 116. Academic Press 1995.
- 37 W. D. Moeller and M. Pakeler, in S. Myers et al. (ed.), Proc. 5th European Particle Accelerator (Just Europiano, Spain, IUPP Publishing, Bristol, 1996, p. 2015.
- D. Moffini et al., Particle Accel., 40: 85, 1992.
- 39 J. Graber et al., Nucl. Instrum. Meth. Phys. Rev., A 350: 582, 1994.
- 40. J. Graber et al., Nucl. Instrum. Math. Phys. Rev. A 860, 572, 1994.
- 41. C. Crowford et al., Particle Accel , 49: 1, 1995
- 42 H. Padameon, Proc. 1st Workshop RF Supercond., KPK, Karlaruhe, Germany, KFK-3019, 1980, p. 145.
- 43 G. Mueller, in K. W. Shepard ted J. Proc. 3rd Workshop RF Supercond., Argonne National Laboratories, Argonne, IL, ANL-PHY-68-1, 1966, p. 331.
- 44 W. Singer, in Proc. of the htt Workshop on RF Supervised Abano Terms, Italy, Ed., E. Pulmieri 1997 in press
- 45 K. K. Schulze, J. Metals, 33: 33, 1961.
- K. Scholze, Nucleon in H. Stuarcied "Proc. Int. Symp. San Francisco, The Metallurghoal Society of AIMF, 1991, p. 163.
- 47. A. Gladun et al., J. Low Tomp. Phys., 27: 373, 1977.
- H. Padamsee, in R. M. Sundelin (ed.), Proc. 6th Workshop RF Supercond. CEBAP, Newport News, VA, 1994, p. 515
- A. V. Elyntin, et al., in D. Proch and J. Proc. 5th Workshop RF Supercond., DESY, Hamburg, Generating, DESY-M-92-61, 1991, pp. 354, 525.
- El Padamsee, in H. Lengeler (ed., Proc. 2nd Workshop KF Superco.ed., CERN, Geneva, Switzerland, CERN, 1934, p. 339.
- P. Kneisel, J. Less Common Metals, 139: 179, 1968.
- 52 C. Durand and W. Weingarten, IEEE Ibans Appl. Supervised 5 1107, 1995
- S. Culatruni, in *Proc. 89: Workshop RF Supercond*. Abana Terme, Iroly, Ed., E. Palmier, 1997 in press.
- 54 M. Peingger, m.K. W. Shepord (ed.), Proc. 3rd Workshop RF Supercond., Argonne National Laboratory Argonne, IL, ANL-PHY-98-1, 1998, p. 593.
- 55 D. Busch et al., in R. M. Sundelin (ed), Phys. 6th Workshop RF Supervised., CEBAF, Newport News, VA, 1994, p. 173.
- 56 G. Moeller, in Y. Kigima (a) Proc. 4th Workshop RF Supervised, KEK, Tsukuba, Japan, Rep. 83-21, 1990, p. 267
- R. Brinkmann, in Proceedings of the 1995 Particle Accelerator Conference, Col. No. 950(H35845, 1995, p. 674)
- 56 July Cullider A Freisbiltety Study, BNI-52503, 1996
- 59 P. Wilson, In Physics of High Energy Particle Accelerators (Frendah

Summer School, 19811, no. 37, American Institute of Physics 1982.

> HASAN PADAMBER Cornell University

SUPERCONDUCTING CYCLOTRONS AND COMPACT SYNCHROTRON LIGHT SOURCES

Superconducting magnets are the enabling technical component of the highest-energy particle accelerators ("atomsmashers") constructed and planned. These accelerators require both brute force and precision in the magnetic fields, which guide the particle beam on a roughly eircular orbit, sametimes many kilometers in diameter, in order to return it to a radio-frequency accelerating structure for repeated energy basis. The tera-electron volt (TeV) energy regime winkl nut have been reached without a terhnology able to produce magnetic fields in the 5 T to 10 T range, accurate to about 1 part in 10,000, and economical enough to build in kilometer lengths. In this regime, superconducting magnets are the elear technology of choice

The ability of superconducting magnets to produce strong. accurately shaped magnetic fields over large volumes also motivates their use in lower-energy accelerators, namely cyclotrons. and electron synchrotrons, where normal magnets are also an option. Cyclotrons, because of their continuous beams, are usue ally the technology of choice for nuclear research in the hundred mega-electron wilts per nucleon range. Such cyclotrons involve large magnets, in the 1000 ton range for magnets of room temperature design. Cyclotrons are also widely used in the commercial production of radionucleides and are used to a small degree for cancer therapy. The weight-reducing, costsaving advantage of superconducting magnets (to the 100 ton range) has made them the design of choice in most recent nuclear physics projects. Superconducting magnets have also been used in a few situations for cartispe production and for cancer therapy but have thus far not been widely adopted for either of these sophentions.

The short wavelength optical radiation emitted by electron synchrotrons has in the past two decades become a centrally important element in many research fields and in potentially important industrial applications. The need for sources compathle with on-line use in production facilities has led to the development of compact synchrotron light sources, whose compactness is enabled by the strong magnetic fields available from superconducting magnets.

SUPERCONDUCTING CYCLOTRONS

The cyclotron was the earliest of the circular particle accelerators, earning a Nobel prize for E. O. Lawrence in 1936. First the cyclotron and then the synchro-cyclotron provided the beams for "energy-frontier" physics atudies in the 1930s and 1940s. In the late 1950s, the intrinsic cost advantage of the ring geametry of the synchrotron (versus the pancake geometry of the cyclotrun) shifted energy-frontier studies to the newly evolving synchrotron. However, because of a series of significant technical innovations (sector and spiral-ridge focusing and superconducting magnets), the cyclotron has retained



Figure 1. Conceptual drawing of the original cyclotron. The constant (magnetic field is into the page. (Whereas the beam sparals cauward in a cyclotron, in the synchrotron discussed later the beam slays at a constant radius and the energy increases as the magnetic field increases.)

several important regions of superiority and has not fided from the same in the fashion of a number of other pioneering accelerator systems (e.g., the synchro-cyclotron and the betauron).

Figure 1 shows the key features of the classic cyclotron, the essence of which is quite eloquently summed up by is child's description. "They (the apps) start at the center and go round and round and come out at the edge " The "round and round" is the result of the transverse force exerted on the ions by the magdetic field, and the spiral path is the result of acceleration provided by a radiofrequency voltage applied to the "dees." The "eyclotron equation $a_i = qB/m = 2\pi f$ gives the orbital frequency fof a particle in a magnetic field *B*, where *q* and *m* are the charge and mass of the arcelerated ion. The cyclotron equation reveals u gift of network taking q, B, and w as constant, the orbital frequency f does not depend on the speed of the non because the radius of the orbit increases just in proportion to the speed, sp that the lime per rotation is constant. Limits to the cyclotron process resulting from frequency errors from the relativistic increwse in ion mass as the speed approaches the speed of light as well as deviations from the constant frequency ("isochronous"). magnetic field shape in order to provide stabilizing ("focusing". forces to keep ions on the design trajectory were realized at an early time, and modifications were introduced. First the radiu frequency (RF) was modulated to give the frequency modulated or synchro-cyclotron. Later strong and weak primuthal regions in the magnetic field thills and valleys or sectors) were intraduced to provide both focusing to hold the cars near the design path and isochronism so that the ions remain in step with the accolorating voltage and can be accelerated to high energies limited only by the bending power of the magnetic field. The energy hout of the cyclotron thus evolved into a cost limit, and a very natural further evolution of the cyclotron developed. As superconductors lowered the cost of magnetic heading power, the superconducting cyclotron pushed the cost limit to higher Energies.

The start-in-the-center-anal-go-to-the-oniside character of the cyclotron books, in fact, to an exceptionally large benefit from the use of high magnetic fields. The field must be provided over the complete pole of area πR^2 , where *H* is the maximum radius. The magnetic flux 4: which determines the cross-solutional area of the return path steel, is field x area (i.e., $\varphi = B_A R^2$, E_X pressing the flux in terms of the bending power *BR* then gives

$$\Phi = BaR^2 = a(BR)^2/B$$

(i.e., for fixed bending power, total magnetic flux varies as 1/B). The length of the magnetic return path also varies as 1/B, giving $1/B^2$ scaling for the total volume of steel. Superconducting cyclotrons are then lighter by a very large factor (\times 10 to \times 20) than room temperature cyclotrons with the same maximum bending power.

Table 1 lists the present superconducting cyclotrons of the world, including several now (1998) under construction. Accelerators of this type have assumed a centrally important role in medium-energy nuclear physics—the 5 T in bending power of the K1200 cyclotron at the National Superconducting Cyclotron Laboratory at Michigan State University, for example, makes it currently (1996) the world's highest-energy cyclotron, whereas its 300 ton weight is minor compared to the 4000 tons of the largest room temporature cyclotron (Many beams from the K1200 reach energies in excess of 10 GeV/ion making it also the highest-energy continuous wave (CW) accelerator of any type.] The large superconducting cyclotrons at Catania, Chalk River, Gruningen, and Texas A&M form, together with the K1200, a central core of overall world research capability in medium-energy nuclear physics.

The 1.5 \mathbf{T} - in cancer therapy cyclotron at Detroit's Harper-Hospital and the twelve 0.5 \mathbf{T} - in PET (positron emission tanography) cyclotrons manufactured by Oxford Instruments for loading medical centers in many countries have also demonstrated the feasibility and effectiveness of the superconducting cyclotron in structions where sophisticated technical support is much less available than in a major physics research center

The coils used in must superioritheting cyclotrons are cylindrivally symmetric so that the very high "hoop stress" caused by the high field density and high current density are largely uniform with azimuth except for variations caused by the sector. structure of the cross Earlier superconducting cyclotrons used "cryogenically stuble" beham-bath-cooled coils u.e., coils with liquid belium in direct contact with each strand of conductor and with sufficient copper in the conductor so that if a section of conductor ceases to superconduct, the resistive power loss in the copper is accertibuless low enough for the conductor to recoil as a result of the presence of the liquid helium rather than go into a runaway thermal excursion). Two of the more recent superconducting cyclotrons, at Harper Bospital and at Groningen, in contrast, use an "intrinsically-stable," epoxy-potted winding where cooling is supplied only at the external surfaces of the coil. In this type of coil, it is very important to have a tightly packed, fully impregnated winding because sudden wire motion at the scale of 20 μ m to 40 $\mu{\rm m}$ will release heat sufficient to drive the conductor normal.

The last two cyclotrone in the Table 1 list (Monich and Riken) are under construction; bath attempt to carry superconducting technology an additional step by introducing noncircular code, which preferentially strengthen the hills in the magnet compared to the valleys. Such a cod configuration is necessary if the cyclotron is to operate at particle velocities whrie 0.6, where axial focusing becomes a critical limiting parameter and open, low field regions are necessary between the balls ("separated sectors" to obtain sufficient axial focusing. The cyclotron at Riken is to produce hearing up to 460 MeV/nucleon/whr = 0.7; therefore, the technology of superconducting sector magnets is a central element of the project.

The superconducting cyclotron project at Monich also involves the feature of noncircular coils, but the dominating novel characteristic of this cyclotron is its superconducting RF system

Name	Lenning	Parpose	Magnes Bendung Power (T + m)	First Benm	Sector V	Тург
K500	NSCL, Michigan State University,	Notieae research	3.2	4/92	 a	Compart
	East Lansing M5					
TASSC	Chulk River, Ontario Canada	Not conresearch	.3.3	9785	4	Compart
K500	Texas A&M, College Station TX	Nuclean research	32	6/68	ч	Compact
X1200	NSCL, Michigan State University East Lansing MI	Norðvar research	4.9	\$ /68	а	Compact
K100	Harper Hospital, Detroit MI	Cancer (becap)] 4	4769	ч	Compart.
OSCAR	(Julied Instruments, Oxford, UK	Isotope product- in	0.6	6790	ч	Compact
ACOR .	Gronogen, Netherland:	Nuclear research	3,5	1684	Я	Compact
KEOD	Coronia, Daly	Nuclear research	4.2	5/93	я	Compact
Tru:	Mun ch, Decmany	Prototype SOC	1.1		12	Separated sector
SRC	Riken, Japan	Nuclear re-carelo	6.4		ĥ	Separated sector

Table J. Superconducting Cyclotrons

(in addition to superconducting sector magnets). Superconduct, ing RF is not only very attractive conceptually because the RF system is normally the dominant power dissignation element in a cyclotron but also very difficult because superconducting RF. currents will quench in the presence of de magnetic fields or the level of about 10.5 T. It is very difficult to achieve an almost field-free region in close proximity to magnets of the field. strength meeded in cyclotrons. The Munich project thus uses ar unusual cyclotron structure known as a separated orbit evelotron, which has been discussed in the literature for many years but previously never built. In such a cyclatron, sufficient, RF voltage is provided to achieve some structured separation. between the last and next-to-last othits so that extraction of the beam is facilitated. In the Murnch example, superconducting cavities provide sufficient energy goin per turn to give a 4 cm separation between final turns, and the covity system has performed impressively. The magnet in such a cyclotron is. however, quite complicated, with a series of N separate magnots on every turn, where N is the sector number. This gives 240 magnets for the case of the 12 sector, 20 turn Munich prototype. The problem of appropriately adjusting the current in all these magnets without inducing quenches caused by misaligned beam, has lead to a prolonged, presently incomplete period of debugging of the Munich system.

APPLICATIONS AND CHARACTERISTICS OF SYNCHROTRON RADIATION

A relativistic charged particle beam deflected by a magnetic field emits electromagnetic radiation known as synchrotron radiation. The radiation from a light electron is more intense than from a heavier proton. Therefore practical synchrotron light sources are electron (or positron) storage rings. These machines are the brightest continuous sources of vacuum ultraviolet and X-roy radiation available.

The total power P radiated by an electron beam of energy E and current I when deflected in a magnetic field B is, in practical units,

$$P[kW] = 26.6E^{\circ}[GeV]B[T]I,A]$$

A must useful attribute of synchrotron radiation is its high degree of natural collimation. The power is emilted within a cone of width 1/2 around the direction of the electron beam. where y is the energy of the electron divided by its rest mass. 0.511 MeV Hence for a typical source with energy 1 GeV, the synchrotron radiation is confined to a fun in the plane of the electron orbit, diverging with an opening angle of less than 1 mr. Practical devices that store ~1 GeV electron beams of • 100 mA and deflect them in magnetic fields of ~1 T therefore produce tens of k-lowards of collimated nutilition, entanaty ing from a line source that can be less than a millimeter in drameter. Large facilities for the production and use of synchrotrop radiation have been constructed at research centers. in most of the industriplized countries of the world. Compact machines allow use of this radiation to be extended to industrial applications.

Different applications of synchrotron radiation require flux from different parts of the electromagnetic spectrum. The spectrum emotied by a synchrotron source is characterized by the enriced energy ϵ . Half of the power radiated from the source is within a broad spectrum below the critical energy, and half is within an explorentially falling spectrum above ϵ_{ϵ} . The critical energy is related to the electron energy and deflecting field by

 $\epsilon_{\rm [keV]} = 0.665 \Delta^2 [{\rm GeV}[B]^{+}]$

Thus, through proper selection of the electron bears energy and deflecting field strength, the catpat of a synchrotron source can be centered in the spectral range of inducest.

The hand radius *a* of an electron in a magnetic field is given by

$$\rho(\mathbf{m}) = E[G_{\mathbf{n}}V]/(0.8B[\mathbf{T}])$$

Combining these expressions leads to an expression for the bend radius in terms of the critical energy and magnetic field

$$p[m] = 4.05 \epsilon_{e}^{1/2} [keV]/B^{3/2} [T]$$

This formula makes explicit the utility of choosing a magnet technology that can produce a high value of B in order to produce a compact synchrotron light source with output of kilovelt X rays. Good-quality normal conducting electromagnets constructed from copper windings and iron pole pieces are limited to about 1.5 T by the saturation properties of the iron. Superconducting megnets using niohiom-titunnum allay superconductors operated at liquid beliens temperature can produce accurate fields several times larger, and reduce the radius of the synchrotron source by an order of magnitude

Amme the industrial and medical applications of synchristran radiation for which deducated machines have been proposed are coronary angiography, protein crystellogruphy, and X-ray lithography. Coronary angiography with synchrotron radiation uses an abrupt change in the absuration of X rays. by ordine at 33.17 keV. By injecting an ordine-rich contrast agent, exposing the subject in two beams that straddle this energy, and subtracting the images generated, vascular structure can be clearly visualized. The diffraction of X rave has long been used to determine crystal structure. The superior brightness of synchrotron sources compared to alternative Xray sources have made crystallographers major users of large synchrotron research centers. Despite continuing interest, as of this writing up deducated compact synchrotron has been onestructed for either angiography or crystallography. However, several have been made to enable the development of X-ray hthography.

X-ray lithography is a candidate to become the successor to optical hubography for the patterning of semiconductors in the highest-density integrated circuits. For 30 years, advances in optical hthography's ability to print fine features has led to geometrically increasing circuit densities and chip performance. a phenomenon characterized by Mnore's Law, which observes that the number of transistors that can he put on a chip has been doubling about every 18 months. However, as the size of circuit features is reduced to values comparable to the wavelength of the altraviolet radiation used to priot the pattern the, to 248 and and below), diffraction effects limit the resolution, and the challenge of maintaining this trend becomes more difficult. X rays with energy near 1 kV, wavelength near I nm, diffract much less, and have been used to fabricate transstature with dimensions of 100 nm and below. Lithography of complex, high-density arounts using X rays has progressed to the pilot line stage, using compact synchrotron X-ray aburces developed for this purpose. A related technology using higherenergy X rays to fabricate micromachine parts also has much promise.

TECHNICAL DESCRIPTION OF A COMPACT SYNCHROTRON

Compact synchrotrons have the same major subsystems and are designed according to the same principles as larger synchrotrons, although innovation has occurred in the design of the superconducting magnets for compact light sources. Figure 2 shows a photograph of the Helits 1 compact synchrotron manufactored by Oxford Instruments. Other machines include Anrora by Sumitoms Heavy Industies. COSY by COSY Meretech. MELCO by Milsubishi and SuperALIS by NTT. The major subsystems on all these machines are

- an RF accelerating structure.
- the magnet system,
- an injector and pulsed injection magnets on the ring.



Figure 2. The first Helms compact synchrogram, built by Oxford testrumends. The two superconducting magnets can be seen at either and of the structure. X-ray loants emerge from the parts on the soles of the magnets.

- a vacuum system.
- ¹ hears diagnostics and controls, and
- ancillary power supplies and utilities

The accelerating structure is a resonant radiofrequency eavity producing a longitudinal electric field imparting energy to the beam particles with each revolution. The energy gain serves both to raise the average beam energy during the acceleration cycle and to compensate for energy losses to synchrotron radiution. Synchrotron operation is based on the principle of phase stability. Particles with small deviations from the central beam energy follow slightly different orbits and arrive at the cavity at slightly different times. They automatically receive more or less energy according to their phase. The result is effectively a restaring force causing the heart to coolesce into bunches, with individual purples executing longitudinal synchrotron osrdinvious about the center of the hunch. Phase stability puts a constraint on the circumference of the orbit, which must be an integer multiple of the radiofrequency wavelength. The choice of radiofrequency is largely dictated by convenient RF sources. Rightron-based sources at 500 MHz have been used, as have solid-state sources at 50 MHz.

The must common compact light scores layout has been a racetrack using a pair of superconducting magnets each prodorang a vertical magnetic field to deflect the beam by 180 . This configuration allows other machine functions to g , the RF structure, optical elements, pulses magnets for injection, and vacuum components) to be distributed in the two straight sections. It still takes advantage of the small band radius that can be achieved with a superronducting magnet to produce a dewere that can be factory assembled and delivered to a user as a complete unit. The magnetic field is more ased during the acceloration cycle because the poart maintains a constant orbit in a synchrotron, unlike the autward spiralog orbit of the beam in a cyclotron. In the case of the Helios system, the superconducting magnets produce a field of 4.5 T at full energy, which allows a 700 MeV beam to be bent into a semicircle of radius 51 cm. The enture device, exclusive of the injector and ancillary systems, weighs about 20 tons and comfortably fits on the back of a truck.

544 SUPERCONDUCTING FAULT CURRENT LIMITER5

In order to allow a beam particle with small deviations from the ideal orbit to survive for perhaps 10¹⁹ revolutions without being lost, some form of focusing is required. All compart synchrotrons built save one have been strong focusing, alternating gradient machines. (The Autora 1 compact light source built by Sumitomo Heavy Industries was a weak focusing machine). Focusing in one of the transverse planes can be accomplished. by a magnetic field gradient. However, if a magnetic field gradient focuses in the horizontal plane, it mentably defocuses in the vertical plane, and vice versa. The alternating gradient concept uses the principle shat pairs of lenses acting together. one focusing and one defocusing, have a net focusing effect. The gradients necessary for producing stable orbits to a conpact synchrotron can be produced by independent quadrupole lenses, as in a separated function machine, or by gradients built into the deflecting field, as in a combined function machine. The Helios source shown uses both Precise placement of the superconducting wires is necessary to achieve the field quality required.

Most compact light sources have been designed with lowenergy injectors. The purpose of the injector is to deliver to the ring an electron beam that is already relativistic and that is high enough in energy to hear the dynamic range required of the synchrotron's magnet system. Because the injection process is inefficient and produces radiation from particles that are not captorial by the synchrotron, the energy of injection also determines the thickness of shielding required. Both linear accelerators and racetrack microtrons are in use as injectors for compact light sources. Rings designed for operation at 700 MeV to 1 GeV have successfully used injection energies from 50 MeV to 200 MeV. Pulsed magnets within the ring are required to deflect the monning beam from the injector onto a stable orbit.

Ultra-high vacuum technology is required in a compact synchrotron because the lifetime of the beam can otherwise be henuted by losses from collisions between the electrons and residual gas atoms, especially those liberated by collisions between synchrotron radiation and the vacuum chamber walls. The presence of a cryogenic system for the superconducting magnets makes cryopumping a natural choice. The Helios source has achieved beam lifetimes in excess of 50 h with 200 mA of circulating electrons. Herause the injection and acceleration cycle require only about 10 min, a high utilization factor is possible.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- J. Cornell, Cyclosions and Their Applicasians, Singapore: World Scientilic, 1996.
- 2 F M Russel, A fixed frequency, fixed field, high energy accelerator. Numerar Instrum. Methody, 28: 229, 1963.
- 3 E. Weihrener, Compart Synchrotron Light Sources, Simpapore, World Scientific, 1996
- J. M. Warlaumoni et al., IBM J. Res. Dec., 37 (3): 268-446, 1993.

DAUD F. ANDREWS Oxford Instruments, Inc. HENRY BLOSSBIC Michigan State Conversity

SUPERCONDUCTING FAULT CURRENT LIMITERS

The outrol of fault currents in electrical transmission and distribution networks is a major challenge. Short-circuit current levels are considerably larger than the rated current. All electrical equipment exposed to the short-circuit current must be designed to withstand in particular the mechanical forces under fault conditions, which are generally proportional to the square of the current. Circuit breakers that isolate the fault must be capable of absorbing the fault energy, as well as be proportional to the square of the fault current at the instant. of breaker operation. Consider an infinite bus feeding a load through a transmission line and transformer with 8% combined. impedance. In the event of a short arout across the had, the short-circuit current is limited only by the line and transformer impedance. The steady-state short-circoit current will be 12.5 times larger than the rated current, and the initial transient current can reach a value about twice the peak steady-state fault current, resulting in short-circuit electromagnetic forces that are 625 times higher than the peak forces under rated condilions. To survive such a fault, all circuit components must be designed to withstand the peak forces.

A fault current limiter restricts the current fed to the fault to a lower value than with the limiter absent. Unlike mechanical breakers, where the prochanical inertia in the mechanism delays any effect on the fault corrent during the first few cycles, fault current limiters insert an impedance already in the first half cycle, thus limiting the peak current transient of the shortgrout event. Then all the network electrical equipment, such as lines, transformers, and circuit breakers, could be designed for smaller fault current amplitudes, which would result in a reduction of material and cost. In many transmission and distribution networks, load growth, distributed generation, and interconnections have produced increased fault levels that exceed the capability of the installed circuit breaker base to interrupt prospective fault corrects. In some actuations, the fault levels exceed the available ratings for circuit breaker replacement or upgrading, and economically or operationally attractive interconnections cannot be made. With the introduction of a fault current limiter, a system could use breakers with a smaller interrupting rating than the system fault level. Thus electrical grids can be interconnected to produce staffer, more reliable systems without upgrading existing breakers to higher inderruption ratings.

No fault current limiter technology is widely accepted or used today. Superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL/form) one class of fault limiting technology under active development. After several technical generations of development, niobiumbased low temperature superconductor (LTS) technology is mature enough for consideration by the electric utility industry. However, nurket penetration of LTS devices has been impeded by high east and the use of liquid helium (LHe) cooling. The 1996 discovery of a new class of ceramic high temperature superconductors (HTS) (1) and the subsequent active development of HTS raised hopes for inexpensive superconductor (SC). applications due to cheaper HTS conductor and significantly reduced refrigeration requirements. The discovery stimulated reevaluation of all previously proposed SC applications, including several SFCL embodiments, and prompted many innovative SPUD, concupts and designs.

Many SPOL programs are active, ranging from the proofof-concept stage all the way to precommercial prototype development. These programs are pursuing several distance types of SFCLs, and it is not yet clear which approaches will ultimately be both technically and economically viable (2). Alpresent there is no off-the-shelf SFCL product available in the marketplace, and even the most advanced of the several SFC1, commercialization programs are not expected to be ready to affer utility-qualified products for some years to come. Here we obtline the key issues of SFCL technology and application to give a basis for evaluating present and future developments.

Almost all SFCL development is targeted to power frequency. grid applications. Conceptual studies of utility generation and transmission systems with a large propurtion of SC generators, transformers, and srunsmission cable have looked to SF-Clis to bouit the higher fault levels inherent in the lower fault impedances of the SC system components. SFCLs would also he useful in high voltage direct current (HVDC) transmissure, where currently the challenges of do fault current interruption have not been solved. More specialized applications can be considered in high-power radio-frequency systems, magnet energization circuits associated with high-energy physics, and nerospace and shipboard systems. This article will focus on the electric utility, power-frequency type of application. Several surveys have been carried out of the applicability of SFCL technology for electric utility needs (8.4), and some studies have projected SFCL costs (5)

The most important characteristics for the user is the limting current level. As discussed later, for most utility grid applications, a fault level reduction of 10% to 50% is needed to coordinate with existing protection, whereas for industrial end users more aggressive reduction may be appropriate. Other parameters are the trigger level for the outlation of locating and the reset time for the limiter to resurm after limiting operation.

Most SPCLs may be classified into (1) quenching SPCLs, which rely on the superconducting-normal phase transition to switch from a low to a high impedance; (2) desaturating SPCLs where ferromagnetic material switches between saturated and unsaturated states and the SC biases the quiescent operating point to the low-impedance unsaturated state; and (3) semiconductor SPCLs where the semiconducting elements switch to a high-impedance operating point from a low-impedance point defined by bias applied from the SC. Superconductivity is essential only to the quenching SPCL, but it is useful in desaturating and semiconductor fault limiters to reduce the bias system low-set and improve system compactness.

ELECTRIC LITILITY GRID APPLICATION

To be useful, the SFCL most operate quickly enough to limit the first half-cycle of the fault so that the interrupter peak current duty is reduced. This imposes a fast SFCL traggeney requirement. Most concepts are cell-triggering, with the instantaneous fault current driving the SFCL transition to high impedance Otherwise, external triggering driven by state-of-the-art relaying (detection time $\ll \frac{1}{2}$ cycle) is used. A tunable self-triggering level is a very attractive SFCL feature. After SFCL traggering, a series power curvit breaker interrupts the fault at one of the line current zeros, with an operating delay from $1\frac{1}{2}$ to 5 cycles. The SFCL must endure the limited final current until the maximum backup breaker opening time, as determined by the utility's projection coordination. Triggering selectivity should also be considered to ensure that the SFCL does not trigger on transformer inrush and motor-starting transients.

We can distinguish between a trimming SFCL (where the effective SFCL impedance $Z_1 < Z_n$ the system cource impedance), which reduces the prospective fault current by 0-50%, and a dominant SFCL ($Z_L > Z_n$), which achieves reductions significantly over 50%. In existing networks that have incrementally grown to high fault levels, utilities require only trimming hunders so that the existing selective relay equipment can be retained. In fact, dominant limiters would require major reconfiguration of system protection coordination, which is always unaltractive. Limiting the short-circuit current to values three to five-times the rated current is a typical requirement in many cases. In some specific applications, a dominant SFCL, such as to protect a complete new installation for an industrial customer, may be used.

The possible locations for a fault current limiter in a substation are shown in Fig. 1. Two transformers feed two separate buses, providing power to several feeders. Interconnecting the two buses by closing the bus tie breaker will improve load voltage regulation and overall system reliability, at the cost of increased fault levels, because both transformers can now feed into a fault. Fault current limiters are installed in series with all breakers. In the case of a hos funit (shown us FB), the fault current lemiter in series with the B transformer secondary side breaker limits the short-circuit current. In the case where the bus the breaker is closed, the foull current limitor in the bositie reduces the short-circuit current contribution from the A transformer Should a feeder experience a fault (shown as FF), the braiter in the feeder arount reduces the abort-siront current. If the A transformer was a later installation and the parallel conmeetium of both buses is desirable, the instaliation of the fault correct limiter in the bus tie connection rould enable continued. safe operation of the system with the original breakers.

For an SFCL device to be accepted in an electric utility system, it most most general safety, reliability, availability, basic



Figure 1. Superconducting fault limiter application in a substation.

moulation impulse level (BIL), and overload requirements and ratings comparable to other utility components like transformers or circuit breakers. Currently there are no standards for SFCL application to utility systems. Pertinent sections of standards for other system components can be adapted to meet the fault current limiter design requirements. The efficiency should be above 99%. The SFCL must operate for reclosure duty and must be fault safe. Under all operating conditions, stray field hevels accessible to personnel should be no higher than levels generated by other equipment. The exposed field levels must be limited to avoid personnel barm and projectate effects on ferromagnetic tools (and also typical debris such as discurded nots and bolts):

In addition, the utility user must be reassured about new issues raised by the introduction of SC technology. Operational expension with utility system integration of SC is very limited. A 30 MJ/10 MW superconducting magnetic energy storage (SMES) system was installed in 1963-1984. Failures in the LHe refrigeration took the system down, but the SC coil did not fail. The operation of a small number of commercial LTS-LHe 1-3 MJ "micro-SMES" units in 480 V uninterruptable power supply systems in industrial power system covironments since 1993 has demonstrated reliability matching battery systems. In addition, reliable cryogenic referigerators have been developed for commercial application in medical magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) All of the above experience points to the webeycal feasibility for an LTS-LHe SC system to achieve the same rebability as a conventional system in an electric utility enviconment, but such rehability has not yet been demonstrated. The origing testing of a 1.2 MVA HTS-liquid microgen $(1.N_{\odot})$ SFL system at a Swiss hydroelectric power station (6), followed by the planned 1998 demonstration of a 21 MVA HTS SFCL system at a distribution substation (2), will provide much-needed utility environment operational experience and reliability data, particularly for HTS_LN₂ systems.

The cryogenic system of the SFOL may present the utility with a new anfamiliar consumable, the liquid cryogen. It is very unlikely that LHe will be acceptable, because of its cost and specialized handling procedures. Liquid nitrogen $(1, N_2)$ might be accepted because it is much chapter, widely available, and already in utility use in some transmission cable applications, where it is used to freeze the oil dielectric in the course of maintenance procedures. Closed cryogenic systems are the most attractive, where limited anomats of cryogen boiloff are reliquefied, or where no liquid cryogen is used at all.

QUENCHING TYPES

The size of the SC element, which changes from a very low impedance state to a finite resistance to quencht is based on the material properties of critical current J_i and normal resistance f_n and the system requirements of creat trigger current I_n and normal state SFCL resistance R to give a conductor cross sectional area of I_{i0}/J , length RI_{i0}/J a_{in} and volume $RI^2{}_{in}/J^2{}_{elm}$ in general, high $J^2{}_{elm}$ is desirable to nonincize superconductor requirement.

The fault transient is divided into three time regimes: a prolimit regime (period 1) where $I \ll I_A$ and the limitsr is not yet active, a resistance growth regime (period 11) where the SFCL is in a partially resistive state below the critical temperature T_c and the limiter effective resistance $R_c = V_1/I/V_0$ is limiter voltage: is rising from 0 to H_c and a full-resistance regime (period III) where the SFCL temperature is above T_c and all superconductivity has quanched. Period I behavior depends on $V_{cs} L_c$ and L_n alone

The electrical performance in period UI is analyzed in terms. of an RL circuit transient, and the average temperature transient follows from the resulting energy absorption $R/l^2 dt$ divided by the SFCL mean heat capacity C (including all materia) compled by thermal diffusion to the SC element over the limiting time). The behavior in period II is more complex and is hest solved numerically (7). It is asofal to describe the SPCL as weak an strong, based on whether R is less or more than V_s/T_{ro} . With a strong limiter, the limiter valtage will averconte the source. voltage during period II at which time the fault current will peak. It is still possible that there will be a subsequent higher. current peak due to the power-frequency variation of V_{e} . It is also useful to describe the SFCL resistance growth as fast or slow, depending on whether the honotong carrient at the end of period II is more or less than the quasiconilibrium fault correct. $I_{\rm s} = V_{\rm s}/{
m R}$. The fast weak SFCL will not force a current peak. in period II, because always $V_U < V_C$. The slow weak SFCL will force a current peak in period II because period II, extends so long that the limiter current grows until the voltage acress L reverses and limiter dI/dt changes sign. It should be noted that the relative strength and speed of the SFCL depend on the power system parameters as well as the SFCL parameters $R_{\rm c}$ C, I_{cb} and the difference between critical and quiescent temperatures.

Four simplified cases are considered in Fig.2 with low (weak) and high (strong) H and slow and fast $dH_i dt$. The first strong limiter gives the lowest peak let-through current and $P^2 dt$ to interruption, but it also will produce SFCL terminal overvoltage. Weakening a fast limiter will reduce the overvoltage at the cost of higher let-through current and $P^2 dt$. Slowing down a fast strong builter will increase the let-through current and $P^2 dt$ and may increase the overvoltage. Clearly SFCL strength and speed are both desirable for the primary function of current binsting, but they will produce overvoltage. If only weak limiting is desired, the hunter overvoltage can be controlled by speed adjustment, and in fact all overvoltages can be suppressed by keeping speed below a particular threshold.

Period 10 continues until either the primary or backup circuit breaker interrupts the fault. Here the normal state SC eloment carries a large current and dissipates high power, which dominates total SFCL heating. For example, a resistive quenching SFCL that trims the fault level of a 345 kV transmission system (with X: R ratio 15) by 10% from 70 kA to 63 kA will dissipate 4.6 GW per quenching SFCL phase during period III. The main challenge in quenching SFCLs is SC energy management under fault conditions.

Quenching SPCLs are *m*-line (line current flows in the SC element) or transformer-compled. In all in-line quenching SFCLs, SC heating (and thus the amount of SC and cryogenic system size and capacity) is reduced by a parallel fault current bypase resistor (S), inductor (S) or variator (D) with lower effective impedance than R. The SFCL-britting impodunce is of course reduced, but the symmetrical SC current is also reduced. The bypass element is large with significant (but not prabibilitie) cost. Both SC and conventional (copper conductor: hypass inductors have been proposed. There is little to recommend the SC variant begause it would need to be rated to the fault current level for both currents and forces. A conventional reactor



Figure 2. Four types of quenching SPCL performance depending on limiter strength and speed. Direct source voltage is applied; hence, power frequency effects are absent.

could be quite modestly sized to achieve the necessary transient duty, and a hypess resistor would also be reasonably sized. In weak current limiting applications, when designing for the same peak SC element temperature limit, significantly more SC material will be required for the resistive bypass design A hypess variator would have the additional benefit of limiting the SFCL transient overvoltage, but it has a high-energy capability requirement.

All in-line SFCLs require cryagenic current leads to connect the line current to the cryogenic system. These leads must be thermally rated for the SC element fault transient current and will become the dominant heat leak into the cryogenic system. Respectably rated distribution-level in-line SFCLs have been built with both inductive (9) (6.6 kV/1.5 kA) and resistive (8) hypass (7.2 kV/1 kA). Both used relatively short lengths (or the order of 100 m) of expensive power frequency capable ultrafore filament NhTi superconductor with high-resistivity cupronickel stubilizer matrix, operating with LHe cryogen at 4 K. Important design assues mehude ac derating of multistranded conductor from single-strand de values of I₂, inimidulization of the conductors is avoid spontaneous quench due to conductor movement, and use of cryacoalers to produce zero behambailoff systems. Heat besses from induced currents in the metalbe cryostal and us losses in nonstronded current leads and leadto SC wire joints were a problem. It is expected that limiting will deposit several megajoules in the cryostar, heading to significant I.He vaporization, which must be vented or captured and reliquefied. Open-cycle operation (venting the boiloff) will drive the LHe replenishment requirement, when as the reliable reliquefaction required for a closed system is technically challenging.

HTS materials have been applied to in-line SFCLs, but at a more modest scale than the NbTr devices because of the difficulty in producing transposed multifilamentary conductors for low ac lose. An advantage of HTS materials is the relatively high a_c , which can exceed 10 $\mu\Omega m$. Modeling studies (10) suggest that J_c of at least 10 100 MA/m² (1 10 kA/cm⁴) is required. The high ρ , drives designs to relatively low SC volumes and high peak temperatures. Extra heat capacity may be added (11) by using that $(0.2-2)\mu m$ HTS films deposited onto sapphine or YSZ (ythria-stabilized ziroxinia) substrates, which provide much-needed heat capacity. It remains to be seen whether the preferred in-line HTS element geometry will be wrund multifiament or than film.

In the shielding SFCL, the SC is coupled to the line corrent by transformer action (Fig. 3(a)) and forms a shorted winding. A preferred geometry is a single turn of HTS material: Jli-2212 material is commercially available in tubular sizes up to 40 cm diameter (12). The thermal transient can be analyzed by the previously derived equations after the device circuit is transformed by the turns ratio to a Trequivalent coregit. The insertion impedance will be the lookage inductance between the line and SC windings (13), and the limiting impedance will be the magnetizing inductance in parallel with the SC winding normal *R*. Desizable features of the shielding SFCL include the isolation of hite current and potential from the SC element and no requirement for cryssial current leads. Several groups (14-16) are actively pursying this promising approach and 6 months of operating experience protecting a hydroelectric plant annuliary transformer circuit has lusar reported for a 1.2 MVA 10.5 kV Bi-2212 LN₂-could shielding SFCL (6). Design challenges include the reduction of cryostat circulating currents by the use of nonmetallic cryostate, thus minimum circulating currents in the metalized multilayer usulation; the mechanical support of transient bursting or compressive forces on the HTS shield, the omehoration of transient thermal inhomogeneity; and optimization of recoil time. Must designs utilize nonlyminated ferromagnetic cures. Aircore devices will have larger leakage impedance. Control of shielding SFCL trigger level has been proposed by using a tertiary winding (16).

A quenching-type SFCL operation may be self-initiated by the fault current as discussed previously, or some quenching mechanism (17) may be externally triggered by a fault detection relay Digital microprocessor-based relaying is now capable of giving subcycle fault detection, so that detector delay is no longer a barrier. Several trigger methods have been proposed. including discharging a copacitor to give a magnetic field pulse from an auxiliary coll, discharging a capacitor to add an extra overcurrent component, triggering heaters on the SC, or sending a warm cryagen burst into the cryastat. Currently, most SFCL development is simed at self-triggering using fault overcurrent alone. However, in later generations, commercial SF-CLs will be differentiated by the triggering system to maintain trigger level control independent of SC property variations and cryagenac operating point variability and to give flexibility in setting the SPCI, tragger level.

Under foult hmiting, some parts of the SC element will enter the lossy period II regime before others as a result of local



Figure 5. Proceptes of shielding and sensconductor SFCLs: (a) shielding SPCL, (b) senseanductor bridge SFCL.

variations in material quality, temperature, and magnetic field. The concern is whether such locations will bear a disproportionately large part of the complete limiting burden, in terms of temperature, electric field, or mechanical stress. This has been observed in both analysis and experiment (7,18), and significant thermal damage has been reported (14). For HTS systems, quench propagation is so slow (continueters per second) as to be meffective during power-cycle time periods, whereas LTS syssems' faster propagation in stens per second to knowleters per second) may overcome inhomogeneous initiation. This inhomogeneity is most critical when the peak fault current is close to the snigger nurrent, leading to a prolonged period II with mcomplete fault current commutation to the bypass element (if present). Thus every quenching SFCL will be vulnerable when the fault occurs at the system phase corresponding to the lowest prospective fault current and should be designed to be capable of withstanding inhumogeneous initiation until the interrupter opens on a current zero.

After operation, a quenching SFCL must recoil to its operating temperature before becoming available again. The cryogenic system temperature profile is inverted, with a "bol" SC and "cool" thermal shield. A high beat copacity shormal bullast to level the recool system: thermal load is attractive. No matter what the recool system, the SC element reset time is seconds or langer, a major shortcoming for reclose-type fault relaying systems. Multiple parallel SFCL elements are a conmon solution, so that a cold element is available immediately after SFCL operation; the drawback is increased system complexity and cost from duplication of the SC element, thermal decoupling between elements, and a switching subsystem.

FERROMAGNETIC TYPES

An SFCL using the principle of ferromagnetic desaturation was built in the early 1980s (19). A cod wound on a closed iron core will have a very high ac impedance when unsaturated 10 however, the iron core is saturated, the same coil will exhibit a very low impodance. Two cores are used per phase, each with an ac winding carrying the line current and also an SC do has winding. The do bias windings are connected to saturate the two cores in opposite directions. The ac windings are series connected so that instantaneous line current adds to one core's bias MMF and substructs from the MMF of the other core. Under

normal operation, both cores are so heavily saturated by the do bias current that the MMF contribution of the ac does not bring either europut of saturation, and the impedance of the care is small. Under short-circuit conditions, however, each half wave of the higher ac fault current brings each core out of saturation in turn, thus inserting a high impedance into the circuit and Smitting the current. At the fault current peak, the cores' resularation (in the opposite polarity to the quiescent state) must be hmited. In a three-phase system, six cores are necessary, two for each phase, but a single SC do bias winding (and cryostatenclosure) passing through all six core windows can be used. A single phase, 3 kV, M6 A prototype using an LTS coil was built and tested with mark short-circuit currents of close to 15 kA. Although the device performed as producted, so commercial anits were even built because of the large size of a transmission. system sized unit. The total core volume required corresponds to a transformer rated at twice the fault volt-amperes. The desaturating SPCL does not necessarily quench during limiting. so that it has no reset time delay, and the limiting level can be valued by adjusting the de bias current.

The impedance of a series line reactor can also be changed by inoving annature methods that vary the effective gap of the reactor magnetic rinorit. One approach under construction (20) uses a mechanically balanced disk (hypercouled to 50–70 K for enhanced magnetic and conductivity properties) to rotate magnetic and nonmagnetic sectors in and out of the gap, in times below $\frac{1}{4}$ cycle. The rotation is induced by inverter-fed HTS rolls, controlled by line overcurrent relaying. Using SC in the rotation control coils significantly reduces device quiesrent losses.

SEMICONDUCTOR TYPES

The nonlinear resistance of semiconductor junctions is used in the bridge-type fault current limiter, which combines power electronics and an SC cuil (21). Figure 3(b) shows the circuit of a single phase. A hins power supply provides a current in all four semiconductors. As long as the load current is less than the bias current, all four semiconductors are forward biased, and the aclosed current flows unimpeded by the bridge circuit, assuming negligible losses in the semiconductors. In the quiescent condition, each thyristor conducts half the bias current superimposed with half of the line current. When a short circuit occurs, one pair of semicunductors is turned on, and the other pair is turned off in each half cycle, automatically inserting the bridge inductor into the circuit. The inductor brits the fault current. Because the inductor carries a bias current under normal condition, use of an SC coil reduces the overall system Insses. The bridge-type fault current limiter has several attractive features, such as automatic insertion of the currentlimiting reactor, reduction of the first half-cycle short-circuit correct, precise control of the amplitude of the short-circuit current, complete current interruption in loss than a cyclo if desired, operation with multiple fast reclosures, and high efficiency. In addition, due concervable to use the controlled throusfor bridge for other transmission or distribution network functions such as var control. For distribution and transmission system semiconductor SFCLs, the equivalent thyristors indicated in Fig. %b/arc series strings of thy ristors, similar to these used in static var compensators or electromy transfer switches. A 2 4 kV, 2.3 kA single-phase fault current limiter was successfully tested in 1995 and a 15 kV, 500 A, three-phase unit is being designed to be tested in 1998 (2).

OTHER TYPES

SFCL designs where the limitation arises from magnetic circuit uphalance under fault coulitions have been proposed - for example, with a three-phase SC winding on a common core (22). The positive and negative sequence inductances equal the device leakage inductance, whereas the zero-sequence inductance equals three times the self-inductance. Single line-ta-ground faults, which are the most common, are then britted by the magnetics alone, without duench or thermal recovery delay. whereas the rarer two- and three-phase faults will be limited by in-line SC winding quench. Thus, the SC winding thermal performance must be designed as for all in-line quenching SP-CLs. An HVDC transmission SFCL (23) has balanced positive and negative line currents canceling in the magnetic circuit. whereas ground faults will unbalance the SPUL. Under these conditions, the SFCL inductance limits the fault current dFdluntil the core saturates.

SUPERCONDUCTOR REQUIREMENTS

Either mobium-based LTS or ceramic HTS materials may be considered. LTS conductor technology is relatively mature, with kiloampere rated commercial conductor optimized for either ge or de operation available in long lengths from several vendare. Operating J, s are in the gigampere per square meter range and operating temperatures are up to 6 K (NbTi) or 14 K (Nb₁Sn) To produce the required normal-state resistance in quenching SFCLs, the LTS conductor must have high values of effective $\rho_{\rm m}$ which is governed by the stabilizer resistivity. The highest values (in available conductors) of about 30 m2m (300 K) are achieved with CuNi alloy. Elementary power frequency conductor strands have 10, 100A *l*, and pass through two levels of cabling and twisting to achieve the required kiloampere-class $I_{\rm e}$ At each level of cabling, the strands are grouped around a copper core, which enhances quench propagation. Current sharing is a problem that is further accentuated when kilosimpore-class. conductors must be paralleled to operate at 10+100 kA-class. transmission network-rated currents. Such an ac conductor is more expensive than a deconductor. Desalurating and somicon

ductor SFCL types do not need the same high ac performance and use more economical do LTS conductors. The major drawback of LTS conductors is the refrigeration and cooling required to maintain the required operating temperature.

Bulk, film, or wirestage HTS conductors can be used in SF-Cl.s. Bulk rings or tubular cylinders, particularly useful for shielding SPOLs, have been manufactured from Ri-2212 (12), Bi-2223 (24), and YBCO (9). All the materials have T_c above 85 K, effective J_c in the 0.1–0.5 GA/m² range at 77 K, and $\mu_{
m s}$ around 10 $\mu\Omega$ m. Even through bulk Bi-2212 parameters are overall no better than the competing materials, Bi-2212 has the most promose because there are practical manufacturing techniques to produce technically useful cylinders with up to 8 mm wall thickness and 40 cm diameter. Bulk forms are also used as current leads operating between T_c and T_0 . HTS materials show significantly higher $d_{c}s$ in this films. For example, 200 anothick YBCO on a CeO--buffered supplies substrate exhibited $J_{e} = 30 \text{ GA/m}^{2}$ and was investigated for guenching SFCL. designe (11). The substrate heat capacity and heat transfer to LNs cryagen limits the temperature rise. Such high J_c requires using a stabilizer parallel layer to prosect against catastrophic local overheating, so that the high intrinsic p_0 is not used. YBCO thin film panels up to 20×20 cm have been tested. which could be used in arrays to produce quenthing SFCLs Thick 14-2212 films are also useful, an array of MgO substrate cylinders (45 cm diameter, 12 cm long), each supporting an 0.5 nun Bi-2212 Jayer, has been used in a 6.6 kV, 400 A shielding SFCL (25). Thick film Je's are similar to bulk HTS material

The throat of HTS wire and tape development is to develop stabilized conductor for magnet applications. Bi-2223 conductor, produced by the powder-in-tube (PT) process, is currently closest to commercialization but limited to low operating magnetic field levels. The silver stabilizer of PIT conductor (with ρ around 4 nRm at 100 K) hypasses the much higher intrinsic Bi-2223 ρ_{μ} . Multillamentary twisted conductors are under development to produce lower at lasses. The manufacture of wire from other HTS materials such as Bi-2212 and VBCO is also under active development, and it is premature to predict which material will be most applicable to SPCLs.

The main attraction of HTS materials over LTS for SFCLs is higher operating temperatures and lower refrigeration costs. Present HTS T_i 's point to useful operating temperatures in the 40-60 K range. As in other HTS applications, tradeolfs must be made between the advantages of using cheap LN₂ cryagen (77 K operation), larger amounts of HTS, more exotic cryagens (e.g., liquid neon, boiling at 27 K), or none coupled with better use of the HTS (lower operating temperatures).

CRYOGENICS

Cryostat thermal design is of paramount importance because the required inning power is an important part of the operating cost. The quiescent cryostat heat budget consists of SC ac losses, ambient-to-cryogenic current lead heat leak, dielectric losses, and other conduction and radiation to the cryostat. Even though the design and selection of superconductor for low losses have been already discussed, and cryostat and current leads design is well understood, dielectric ac losses present a less-appreciated heating mechanism. The heat dissipation for insulation deployed in high ac electric field regions should be determined from cryogenic loss tangent. Transmission and distribution-rated in-line SPCLs using HTS may have quieacent heat loads 400 W and up as a result of acloss and current lead penetrations. In all cases, a closed system needs refrigeration expanity to extract the significant heat leak. When refrigerator power is interrupted, the cryostat temperature will rise ut a rate governed by aclosses, resistive losses, heat leak, and heat capacity, and ultimately the SC system will lose superconductivity. Acadhary power interruptions are quite blody in an electric utility setting, and an SFCL must have some thermal ride-through capability. Electric utilities will find the cooldown time to operating temperature an important parameter. Liquid cryogen-based cooldowns may take as little as a few hours, whereas refrigerator cooldown may take many hours to days.

SPCL cryostats muy use liquid or gasenus cryogen for heat. transfer and storage or may operate under vacuum. Cryogen consumption must be kept low to avoid repletishment servicing any more often than annually, so refrigeration must have the capacity to meet the quiescent heat leak. In the typical power and temperature range for LTS systems, two-stage Gillord-McMahon (GM) cycle crystroders (with possibly a -foule-Thompson (JT) valued are typical, whereas for BTS systems, one- or two-stage GM or Stirling cycle cryocoolers are candidutes. The energy efficiencies of these refrigerators are well below the Carnot cycle limit, and typically a 7 kW netium compressor will be required for 2-3 W conding at 4 K or 100-200 W at 80 K. The maintenance interval of cryocoolers depends on internal seal wear, oil mist freeze-out, and JT valve clogging. Use of a good oil-free high-pressure amhient temperature helium compressor gives maintenance intervals longer than one year.

CONCLUSION

SFCL is an emerging technology that is being driven by the confluence of superconductor capability developments and electrie utility need. Fault corn-nt limiters would enable utilities to reap the economic henefits of operating transmission lines. at the highest possible power transfer levels and the operational herefits of transmission system interconnection. Hightemperature superconductor developments may soon become commercially available to enable productization of some of the many SFCL approaches under development at present. The utility requirements of equipment robustness and reliability oresent a challenge for SFCLs which can be technically met. A number of utility demonstration projects of SFCLs are erther underway or close to being underway, which will provide much-needed operational, robustness, and reliability data. A yet unresolved issue is ultimate SFCL cost resulting from the interent costs of high-technology cryogenic and superconducting systems. There is scope for significant inventions and onprovements in fundamental SFCL concepts and their implementation and integration into electric transmission and distribution systems and components.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- J. G. Bednorz and K. A. Müller, Possible high-Temperconductivity in the BalaCuO system, Z. Phys. B, 64: 189-193, 1996
- F. Leung Suzze protection for power grids. *IEEE Spectrum*, 34 (7): 28–30, 1997

- R. P. Giese and M. Runde, Assessment study of superconducting fault-current limiters operating at 77 K. IEEE Trans. Proceedied 8: 1134-1147 (1993)
- G. C. Damstra et al., Superconducting technology for current limsters and switchgear, *URRE*, 1990.
- b. b. Solassonet Al., Comparison of superconducting fault current himther concepts in electric utility applications. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5, 1079–1082, 1995.
- W. Paul et al., Test of 1.2 MVA high-T_r superconducting field conrent limiter. Applied Superconductory 1997, Proc. ECCAS 1997, Third European Conference on Applied Superconductivity. The Netherlands, June 30 July 3, 1997, 2: IOP, Bristol UK, 1997.
- M. Landmayer, High competature superconductors as interest lumiters—An alternative to contacts and area in account breakers?, *Proc.* 390(1255) Robin Conference on Electrical Contacts, Pittsburgh 1993, pp. 1–10.
- T. Verbaege et al., Experimental 7.2 kV rms-1 kA rms-2 kA peak current houter system JEEE Trans. Appl. Supervised. 3: 574–577, 1993.
- T. Hara et al., Development of a new 6.6kV/1500A-class superconducting fault current braiter for electric power systems. *IEEE Trans. Process Univ.*, 8: 192–192, 1903.
- M. Lindmaver and M. Schubert. Resistave foult current limiters with HTSC - Measurements and simulation. *IEEE Trans. Appl. hepernucl.*, 8, 984–898, 1993.
- B. Gronnoll et al., Resistive correct functors with YBCO films, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 828–831, 1997.
- J. Buck, S. Elschner, and P. F. Hermann, MCP BSCCO 2212 tubes for power applications up to 10 kA, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supr. co.od.*, 5: 1400–1412, 1995.
- K. Kajikawa et al., Design and current-limiting simulation of magnetic-shield type superconducting fault current limiter with high T_c superconductors. *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 32 (2667-2670), 1986.
- J. R. Cave et al. Testing and madelling of inductive superconduct rag fault current houters. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.* 7, 1832– 835, 1997
- L. S. Fleishman et al., Design consideration for an inductive righ-T_c superconducting fault current limiter *IEEE Trans. Appl. Super*cent., 3, 570–574, 1980.
- M. Justand T. K. Ko, The analysis of fault currents according to core automation and fault origins to act industrie high-Te superconducting fault current hubber *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 8 82–67, 1996.
- H. J. Boomg et al., Anisotropic high temperature superconductors as verified resistors and switches. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 1040–1043, 1995.
- V. Meernvitch et al., Development of high-T₂ superconducting inductive convent bracker for power systems. Cryogenics, 84 (ICEC supplement): 757–750, 1994.
- 19 R. P. Roja, K. C. Partan, and T. C. Bartram, A current limiting nevice using superconducting do bias. *IEEE Trans. Procer Appar. Syst.*, **PA5-101**: 3173–3177, 1962.
- S. B. Koznetsov, Superconducting fault correct limiters. Superconductor ladiestry, 10 (1): 20-53, 1997
- H. J. Buenig and D. A. Paice. Fault-current limiter using a superconducting cuil. JEEE Trans. Magn., 19: 1051–1053 (1983)
- S. Shimizu et al., Equivalent cirruit and leakage reactances of superconducting 3-phase fault current lemiter. *IKEE Trans. Appl. Su*percond., 3: 578–591, 1993
- T. Ishigahka and N. Susaki, Fundamental test of new de superconducting fault current limiters *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-27: 2341-2344, 1991.
- 24. M. Ichikawa and M. Okuzaki, A magnetic shielding type supercon-

HTS Films	YBCO	TBOCO
Critical Temperature (T _c)	90 K	105 K
Surface resistance (H _s) at 77 K and 10 GHz (f ² dependence)	0.2-0.5 mΩ	0.2-0.5 mΩ
Film thickness	400–800 nm	600-1000 am
Critical de corrent density $\langle J_c \rangle$ at 77 K	10 ⁴ A/cm ²	10" A/cm²
Penetration depth (nm)	200 am	200 nm
Substrates	LaAlO, (LAO)	 MgO
Relative dielectric constant (e _r) at 77 K	23.4	9,7
Dissipation factor (tan 8) at 77 K	<10**	<10 *
Typical dimensions	5, 7.5. and 10 cm disoreter; 260 κnd 500 μm thick	5 and 7.5 cm diameter; 250 and 600 متبر thick

Table 1. Basic Characteristics of the Most Used HTS Thin Films and Dielectric Substrates for Microwave Applications

Both types of HTS Films can be grown in either substrate.

The most important characteristics or these two HTS materials and their substrates are given in Table 1. The properties hated are those a microwave designer would want to know if engaged in an HTS device design project.

Device Processing

Enhrication of microwave devices using either Y1000 and TBCCO follows relatively straightforward photolithographic techniques. Patterning of the superconducting layer is typically accomplished by Arion milling. The processing must include the deposition and patterning of low resistivity endocts for interbring with other devices or instrumentation. These are typically made by depositing a thin 1200 nm to 300 nm; layer of gold or silver followed by an annealing step at 500°C to 600°C (7). Interfacing with other devices via coaxial connectors or drrectly to other substrates, superconducting or otherwise, can be accomplished using gold wire or rubbed attached to the lawresistivity contacts by ultrasmue thermal compression bonding or gap-welding (ribbons - Fabrication detuils of filters and delay lines made at Narthrop Grumman can be found in (8). Other institutions follow similar procedures.

Microwave Packaging of High-Temperature Superconducting Devices

Proper packaging of cryogenic nucrowave devices is critical to the sourcess of the technology. In general, planar microwave devices are made up of a dielectric or semiinsulating substrate, typically mounted on a metallic package or corrier by means of conducting epoxy or soldering. The mounted device their interfaces with other devices or incasurement instrumentation mest commonly via coaxial connections. In this case, the metallic carrier forms part of the ground terminal by connecting to both the outer jucket of the coaxial interconnection and the ground plane defined on the substrate. This means that incrowave currents flow into the planar device through the center conductor of the coaxial interface and back out through the ground plane on the substrate, the metallic carrier, and its connection to the coaxial connector outer jacket. This current flow into the packaging assembly must occur without appreciable impedance mismatch or discontinuity. Figure 2 diastrates these points schematically with an example for a microstrip device

The criticality of these connections between substrate, carrier, and connectors is exacerbated when cryagenic cooling of the nucrowave package is required because a large thermal mismutch between the various components may cause cracking of the substrate or degradation of the interface between substrate and carrier or accrector. Forthermore, the quality of the interface between the cryselectronic substrate and the outside world must be preserved through many temperature cycles between ambient and covogenic temperature to allow for repeated testing of the device and an operational environment. which may require that the device warm up to room temperstore while not in use. Suitable microwave package designs must therefore include one or more of the following elements: (1) the use of thermally matched materials, (2) adhesives that rmusin sufficiently pliable at cryogenic temperatures, and (3) configurations that allow the various parts of the package to contract and expand freely while maintaining good electrical contact.



Figure 2. Morrows we prockaging of HTS devices is challenging because mechanical and electrical integrity must be maintained when the device is cycled from ambient to cryagonic temperatures. Special attention must be paid to the ground-current return path so as dot to prireduce parasitic reactiones that could weight affect the performance.

ducting fault correct limiter using a Bi-2212 flack film cylinder. IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 5: 1067–1070, 1995.

 H. Kashi and M. Jebikawa, Performance of a high-Te superconducting fault current limitor. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7:993–096, 1997.

> LEMBIT SALASCY) General Electric Company HEINRICH J, HOENIG Los Alamoa National Laboratory

SUPERCONDUCTING FILTERS AND PASSIVE COMPONENTS

The advent of high-temperature superconducting (BTS) materials has enabled a number of applications in passive mucrowave electronics. Superconductors exhibit very low losses at microwave frequencies and, although finite, at the practical operating temperature of 77 K (boiling point of nitrogen), these lasses are more than two orders of magnitude lower than nurmal conductors at frequencies of 10 GHz and below. This has allowed the possibility for high performance planar microwave. components since high-quality spitaxial films can be deposited an both sides of low incrowave loss, single-crystal substrates allowing the fabrication of components in planar configurations. such as microstrip, stripline, and coplanar waveguide. These configurations are widely used throughout the microwave commonity in a variety of technologies ranging from GaAs outenswave monolithic integrated circuits (MMIC) to integrated circuits using ceramic and laminated substrates. Figure 1 shows a schematic cross-section of all three most common planot microwave structures. The use of HTS in these circuit configurations results in passive devices such as resonators, filters, and delay lines with performance far superior to conventional planar technology and with the attractive feature that many well-established design techniques can be used for HTS circuits as well.

The discussion in this article will focus on HTS microwave technology with the understanding that conventional lowtemperature superconductors (LTS), for example, Nh or NbN, can also be used in the same fashion. Practice/ LTS materials



Figure 1. HTS technology lends itself to the fabrication of moreowave planar devices such as those schematically depicted here in crosssection. One advantage of coplexiar waveguide (and its variant slotline, not shown is that only one potterned HTS film is needed. One disadvantage of scripting is that it is difficult to package. HTS devicehave been demonstrated in all three structures.

operate typically at 4.2 K, the boiling temperature of liquid He. Furthermore, it should be kept in mond that a larger variety of substrates can be used in UTS terhnology because it does not require single-crystal epitaxial films. For example, Nb microwave and digital circuits have been demonstrated on St and single-crystal sapphire (1).

HIGH-TEMPERATURE SUPERCONDUCTING FILM PROCESSING TECHNOLOGY

The basic elements of HTS thin-film technology from the point of view of microwove applications will be discussed here briefly. Only epitaxial thin films will be addressed because, to date, significantly better properties can be obtained from epitaxial material than from polycrystalline, nonepitaxial techniques. Most, if not all, of the developments covered in this article, however, are valid for the cose of polycrystalline materials. The main advantage of these materials is cost and coating of nonplanar surfaces like the inside of a cylinder to form a high-Q cavity resonator (2).

Among the various high-temperature superconductors there. are two that have achieved a level of maturity and acceptance. in the industry: (1) YBa₂Cu₂O₇, usually referred to as YBCO, and (2) Tl₂Be₂CaCu₂O₈ or TBCCO. High-quality epitaxial thin films of these materials can be deposited on both sides of a variety of low microwave lass, single-crystal substrates by physical vapor deposition techniques, mainly sputtering (3) and laser ablation (4) and also by metal-organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) (5) and coevaporation (6). The two most common substrates to date are LaAlO₀ (LAO) and MgO. Circuits on sapphine have been demonstruted but the crystal lattice mismatch. between HTS and sapphire is large enough to restrict the film. thickness to below desirable values of at least 500 nm. Both LAO and MgO substrates are available connercially from a variety of suppliers around the world and can be readily obtained in circular wafers up to 7.6 cm in diameter and 250 pm to 500 µm in thickness. At 77 K and for frequencies between 1 GHz and 10 GHz the loss factor (tan 5) of LAO and MgO is less. than 10^{-5} . This is 10 to 100 times smaller than most practical. microwave substrates and is compatible with the low conductor. loss of HTS.

YBCO is typically grown in situ as an epitaxial single-crystal film with thickness ranging from 400 nm to 600 nm. This means that the desired crystalline phase of the material is formed as the film grows because the growth conditions can be adjusted to obtain such results. In contrast, an amorphous film of TBCCO is deposited first and then the film is subjected to a postileposition annealing treatment to form the right cryscalling phase. One advantage of the most in deposition of YBCO. fline is the ability to deposit other crystalline layers such as insulators or normal conductors, needed for the fabrication of Jasephani junctions. HTS microwave technology can leverage the research on Josephson junctions by making use of insulating layers in other ways such its himped cloneat capacitors, for example. TBCCO films have the advantage of a higher critand temperature (Table 1) and are typically grown with thicknees close to 1 µm. Those are advantages because practical devices must be made with thicknesses two or chron times greater. than the London penetration depth (200 nm to 300 nm) at 77. K TWCO films thus offer a greater operating margin than YBCO films.



Figure 3. Measured relative thermal contraction of several materials of interest in HTS technology, including Si and GaAs. These at similar data should be used to the selection of corner materials and the packaging of hybrid HTS-semiconductor components. If a good thermal match hetween parts that must remain in intimate mechanical and electrical contact connect be obtained, sufficiently pliable conductive adhesives may be adequate for some applications, particularly of the missionched parts are small

When considering materials that are thermally matched to HTS substrates the important parameter is the total contractim between more temperature and the operating temperature, for example, 77 K, and not the thermal coefficient of expansion 10 gure 3 shows the relative thermal contraction for several materials, including LAO and MgO, in genzem (i.e., at a given temperature, a 1 cm-long piece of material shrinks so many join from its length at 300 K). As can be seen, the slope of this curve, that is, the thermal eacliment of expansion, varies greatly with temperature over the range of interest, making it a juactically useless parameter for the selection of appropriate materials. Although there are some differences in the rate of contraction as the materials shrank from room temperature. the key parameter is the total contraction at 77 K. For example. No and LAO are fairly well matched at 77 K, even though their rule of construction us a function of temperature is slightly. different. This is borne out by extensive experimentation (6). Other substrate/carrier material pairs have been successfully used as well.

PASSIVE SUPERCONDUCTING MICROWAVE DEVICE FUNDAMENTALS

The key reason for developing a microwave HTS technology is the exploitation of the low ices afforded by HTS compared with conventional metals like gold and copper. High-performance, low-loss devices using conventional materials can generally be made at the expense of high volume, usually in the form of hollow or partially dielectric-filled waveguide components. The potential of HTS is to enable components with the same or better performance in a much reduced volume which must include the cryocooler. Figure 4 shows a comparison between calculated losses in several common types of transmission line, including HTS microstrip on LAO, for the parameters listed in Table 2. For calibration, included in this comparison is An microstrup al 77 K, also on LAO. For the microstrip cases only the conductor and dielectric bases were calculated; radiation losses in caupling to spurtiaus surface modes write ignated, Also included are the losses in X-Band waveguide, which are lower than HTS for the parameters chosen, although HTS microstrip offers the



Figure 4. Calculated attenuation comparison for various transmission line types including HTS and peld microstrip on 500 gm-thick LAO substrates. The line impedance for each line was 50 th All microstrip substrates were associated to be 600 gm thick. Notice that Xband waveguide has lower loss than HTS microstrip (for the parameters chosen). However, HTS microstrip has broader bandwidth and the parameter values because it for lighted the integration of several microwave comparents.

advantage of much wider bandwidth and ready integration of several components into a small volume. Notice that the useful frequency range for X-band waveguide is typically only & GHz to 12 GHz. Integration capability combined with low loss are key elements of HTS technology because most systems insertion opportunities will arise for applications offering significant are advantages with respect to conventional approaches.

A different and also useful way of getting insight into the advantages of HTS planar circuits is from the point of view of resonant structures, which form the basic building block of passband filters. This can best be discussed in terms of quality factor Q, which is the ratio between stored and dissipated energy.

$$Q = \frac{\text{Stored energy}}{\text{Dissipated energy}} \tag{1}$$

For empty electromagnetic cavity type resonators, this is, in essence, a figure of morit measuring the degree of compromise between volume (stored energy) and surface area (microwave losses on the conducting surfaces). In general, both stored and dissipated energy depend on the dislectric constant and the geometric configuration used, the dissipated energy depending also on the surface resistance of the / supericonducting surfaces and the losses in the dielectric. In practice, there could be other types of losses such as radiation, which, for simplicity, will be neglected in this discussion. In principle, the performance of any passive device can be projected from the Q of the type of structure used to make up the device. For example, a resonator made up of a section of microstrup line can be calculated from well-known expressions (9). The insertion less of a filter can, in turn, by estimated from the Q of the resonators that make up the filter (\$0).

Figure 5 is a plot comparing the Q and volume, as a function of frequency, of resonators made up of a microstrip line section and an coupty metallic cube, respectively. Since the dimensions of the resonator are specified at each frequency, the volume



Figure 5. Calcolated comparison of quality factor (Q) and volume for two types of resonators: 50 Ω HTS microstription 500 µm-thick LAO and a metallic rule. The Q of a guid-on-LAO microstrip at 77 K was also calculated as a reference. The metallic rule is representative of a simplecavity resonator and was chosen because its Q is easy to calculate (12). The volume for the increasing was chosen as a device with the crosssection shown as the figure with w/k = 10, d/h = 20, and a length of (x)2 < 4h. This assumed cross section is independent of wavelength and basis its miniming at the higher frequencies platted, where the substrate would, in program be thinner, making the microstrip playay smaller than the waveguide

calculated is that of the smallest cobe capable of resonating at a given frequency. The microstrip HTS resonator volume was calculated assuming it is in an enclosure with cross-section as shown in the figure, where the walls and the hill are sufficiently far away from the superconducting strip that their contribution to the loss is negligible. The Q of HTS microstrip, although higher, is within the same order of magnatude as the Q of the cube resonator. However, the estimated volume can be two or more orders of magnitude smaller, expectally at the lower microwave frequencies.

Although to first order the main fouture distinguishing HTS from conventional planar microwave passive devices is low loss, other important differences exist and are discussed in the following sections

Surface Impedance and Penetration Ocpth

The surface or internal impedance of a conductor is the characteristic impedance seen by a plane wave incident.

perpendicularly open a placer (soper conducting surface. For both normal (e.g., copper, gold) conductors and superconductors, the surface impedance per unit length and width is given by (11,12):

$$Z_{\rm S} = R_{\rm S} + j X_{\rm S} = \sqrt{\frac{j m_0}{\sigma}}$$
(2)

where ω is the angular frequency, μ is the permeability, and σ is the conductivity, σ is real for normal conductors but is complex for superconductors. In both cases the RF fields decay expanentially inside the material, defining a field penetration depth. In the case of superconductors, however, this parameter is independent of frequency and is orders of magnitude smaller than the normal conductor penetration depth cusually referred to as the skin depth.). The reasons are derived from the perfect diamagnetism of superconductors, the so-called Meissner effect, and are explained by the Corter-Casimer and London two-floid model of superconductivity (11,13):

Table 2 summarizes the differences between normal and superconductors from the point of view of their incrowave surface impedaper. Notice that the surface resistance of superconductors, R_0 , has a frequency-squared (f^2) dependence. In contrast, normal conductors depend on the square root of frequency (\sqrt{f}) . Figure 6 shows the difference between copper at 300 K and 77 K, and HTS at 77 K. This must be taken into consideration, especially when designing wide-band components. The figure also highlights the large difference between copper and HTS at frequencies below 1 GHz.

As with planar microwave devices using normal conductors, best performance control is obtained when the geometric inductance of the tricont dominates the kinetic for internall inductance of the superconductor. That is, from a practical point of view, the thickness of the superconductor must be at least two to three times larger than the penetration depth at the temperature of operation. The genetration depth is a strong function of temperature and for HTS it is given approximately by (11,13).

$$u_{i}(T) = \frac{\lambda_{i}(0)}{\sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{T}{T_{i}}\right)^{2}}}$$
(3)

where $\lambda_i(0)$, the penetration depth at 0 K, is a fundamental parameter of the material, *T* is the temperature and *T*, is the critical temperature. For YBCO, $\lambda_i(0) \approx 150$ nm, which results in $\lambda_0(77 \text{ K}) \simeq 214$ nm. The HTS film must be at least 500 nm.



Figure 6. Surface resistance of HTS at 72 K and copper at 72 K and 300 K as a function inffrequency. The surface resistance of copper scales with frequency as $f^{1/2}$: for HTS it scales as f^{4} .

$Z_{3} = R_{\delta} - jX_{\delta} = \sqrt{\frac{\sigma}{\sigma}}$							
Normal Conductors	Superconductors						
$\sigma = Real$	σ - Complex						
Penetration (skin) depth:	Penetration depth:						
$B = \sqrt{\frac{l}{v/\mu \sigma}}$	$\lambda_{t}(T) = rac{\lambda_{t}(0)}{\sqrt{1-\left(rac{T}{T_{c}} ight)^{4}}}$						
	$\lambda_0(0) \simeq 150 \text{ cm for YB}(X)$						
$R_2 = X_3 = \frac{1}{\pi \delta} \approx \sqrt{f}$	$R_{A} \propto f^{2}$						
••	$X_{s} \simeq 2 \pi f \mu \lambda_{c}$						
Copper at 300 K:	VBCO pt 77 K :						
$\delta = \frac{2.1}{\sqrt{r}} \mu m$	$\lambda_0(77) \cong 0.2 \ \mu m$						
R ₂ = 8.24√fmΩ	$R_S = \delta f^4 \mu \delta 1$						
Cupper at 77 K:							
$\ddot{\sigma} = \frac{0.9}{\sqrt{r}}$ µm							
$R_{A} = \frac{3.4 \sqrt{f m \Omega}}{100}$							

Table 2. Microwave Surface Impedance Comparison Between Normal Conductors and Superconductors

1.

to 600 nm thick for operation at 77 K, in order for the kinetic inductance effects to be negligible with respect to the total inductance of the circuit.

For practical microwave design purposes, this allows treating the superronductor as a normal conductor with a surface resistance that can be obtained from measured values and a frequency-squared scale factor. It has become customary for workers in the field to normalize the surface resistance to 10 GHz and 77 K, even though measured data may have been taken at a different frequency. Devices where the kinetic indictance is allowed to dominate have been demonstrated (14). However, they are body, difficult to fabricule, and quite dependent on temperature because of the strong temperature dependence of the penetration depth.

LaAIO; (LAO) Substrate Properties

The relative dielectric constant of LAO, one of the preferred HTS substrates, is $\epsilon_1 = 23.4$ at 77 K. This is a higher value than most common microwave substrates whose dielectric constants usually do not exceed 10 ($\epsilon_r = 9.7$ for MgO, mother preferred HTS microwave substrate). The significance of this is that common planar component design techniques are based on empirical circuit models whose validity may not extend to the relatively high dielectric constant of LAO. For example, the design of microstrip parallel-coupled-line filters involves the use of quarter-wave coupled-section models that generally are not valid for $\epsilon_r > 18$. This requires that more suphisticated design techniques be developed, making use of electromagnetic field solvers, for example, or constraining models.

LAO has a cubic crystal structure above about 450 C. Below that temperature it transitions to a rhombohedral structure, which is only a slight distortion from the cohor structure consisting of a very small stretching of the cubic unit cell along its diagonal. In order to release stress, the crystal will form twin structures, symmetrically related regions oriented in different directions. Noncubic crystals are anisotropic and, as a result of this twinning, the LAO substrate is made up of slightly anisotropic regions randomly distributed throughout the substrate (11). The net result is an average dielectric constant with a uniformity of approximately 1%. This means a 2% variation in the resonant frequency of a planar resonator and there are many filter applications, for example, where this is not asceptable. In contrast, MgO, which is cubic, has a uniformity of 0.1%(15).

Dynamic Range Considerations: Noise Figure

An important consideration for any electronic device is its dynamic range, or range of signal power levels over which the device will operate properly. In the case of passive HTS devices, they are expected to be linear over a certain dynamic range, limited below by noise and above by the onset of nonlinear behavior.

Starting at the lower end, the noise generated in a passive device will generally be of a thermal nature. A measure of how much noise any device generates is given by the noise figure (16), which is, by definition, related to the excess noise generated in the device when a matched resistor at 290 K (umbien) temperature() is placed at the input. Thus the unise figure would be equal to 1 (or, equivalently, 0 dB) if the device were perfectly noiscless or if it were an ideally losaless passive device. The accepted noise figure definition as a function of device temperature is (16)

$$P_{\rm dR} = 10 \cdot \log \left[1 - (L - 1) \cdot \frac{T}{290} \right]$$
(4)

Here, L is the insertion loss of the device as a number greater than or equal to 1 (i.e., $10\log(L) \ge 0$ dB) and T is the temperature in degrees Keivin. For a passive, lossy device at 290 K,



Figure 7. Noise figure of a tryopentrally choled passive device as a function of insertion loss. Notice that the nuise figure equals the loss at 290 K (by definition), but it is lower fer devices operating at a lower temperature.

the noise figure turns out to be equal to its insertion loss, a rule that system designers commonly use when dealing wish passive components such as filters or lengths of transmission line. HTS devices, however, because they operate at cryogenic temperatures (77 K, typically), will have a lower noise figure, according to the accepted definition (16). Figure 7 shows this expression graphically as a function of the insertion loss of the device for 77 K and 290 K turnhient temperature). Thus, in considering the dynamic range of HTS devices, the lower end of the range will tend to be lower than for conventional devices, not only because of their inherent low loss, but also because they operate at cryogenic temperatures. Measurements reported in the literature (17) confirm, to first order at least, that the noise in HTS passive devices is indeed thermal in nature.

Dynamic Range Considerations: Nonlinearity and Power Handling

The dynamic range of BTS passive devices is limited above by nonlinearities in the superconductor. This is in contrast to conventional technology, for which this upper limit could be orders of magnitude higher, generally limited by such phenomend as the voltage breakdown of air or the dielectric used, or melting of the metallic pattern due to high corrects. HTS, on the other hand, is fundamentally limited by the critical magnetic field, above which the material losse its superconducting properties. Nonlinear behavior occurs as the RF magnetic field approaches its critical value. Furthermore, in practical devices the microwave fields will generally tend to be nonuniformly distributed so that critical values are exceeded first in selected areas of the device. For example, a microstrip line has much higher current density near the edges of the line than along the center. Thus, as the signal power level is increased, the current density at the line edges will approach critical state first. generating nonlinearities and increased losses, degrading the performance of the device.

When a device is nonlinear it produces intermodulation distortion; that is, two signals of different frequencies applied to the device will generate mixing products. In general, the largest mixing products are those of the third order. The upper end of the dynamic range is then reached when the power level of the applied signals is such that the third-order products rise above the noise floor and can be mistoken and processed by the system as real signals. The nonlinear behavior in a device is characterized by the third-order intercept point (TOL) 181.

A system dynamic range can, in turn, he determined from that of its components. An important example is that of a microwave receiver front-end, asually consisting of a low-noise amplifier (LNA) placed after the antenna, which is then followed by one or more downconversion stages. The dynamic range of the recover is greatly determined by the noise figure, gain, and TOI of the LNA, with the components that follow having much less influence. Many applications demand a presidector filter between the antenna and the LNA to reject strong interforing signals that could generate unwanted mixing products due to the nonlinearity of the LNA (17). The preselector filter must not significantly degrade the receiver dynamic range and so it must have low insertion loss (i.e., low noise figure) and a TOI sufficiently higher than the UNA's with respect to both in-band signals and the rejected out-of-band interfering signals. This is an important example because HTS filter technology is a strong candidate for this type of preselector in some applications like wireless communications base station. receivers (19)

The linearity condition, which may be a relatively mmorassue with conventional filter technology is, in contrast, very key in BTS filter technology Specific developments in this area will be discussed in the section on HTS Filter Technology.

A fundamental characterization of the nonlinear behavior and power handling in HTS materials is through the surface impedance and its dependence on the RF magnetic field $H_{\rm RF}$ (20–25).

$$Z_s(H_{\mu\nu}) = R_s(H_{\mu\nu}) + jX_{st}(H_{\mu\nu}) \qquad (5)$$

The essence of the nonlinear dependence of the surface impedance on signal power level or, equivalently, $H_{\rm Rr}$ is readily understood by observing the response of a microstrip resonator, shown in Figure 8. As the input power is increased the resenator Q degrades (R, dependence on $H_{\rm Rr}$) and the resonance shifts to lower frequencies (X, dependence on $H_{\rm Rr}$). Several



Figure 8. Effect of increasing the input power level on a superconducting microscrip resonator. This measurement (courtesy of Dr. M. Gulosovsky Hebrew Euroversity of derivalem) captures the essence of the number of X power dependence of the surface inspedence $Z_* = R_* - /X_*$. As power level increases so does R_* and the resonance Q decreases. On the other hand, the effect of increased power level on X, manifests itself on a shift of the resonance toward hower frequencies (21.

regimes have been identified in the study of nonlinear phenomena in HTS (22). A linear region at sufficiently low power levels, a weakly nonlinear region where nonlinear behavior is dominated by grain-boundary weak links (diseptesion-junctionlike defects in the crystalline make-up of the HTS film) and a strongly nonlinear region dominated by hysteretic vortex penetration. Above this regime breakdown of the superconducting state occurs, with the surface resistance increasing obruptly due to heating and the formation of normal-state domaina (22).

If the magnetic field exceeds its critical value the material becomes a normal conductor and designates heat which must be removed by the ergenoling system and can even damage the device. The device ceases to operate as a superconducting device and, if no damage has occurred, must recover after the high-power source has been removed. The related topic of intentionally provoking a superconducting-to-normal transition as a switching mechanism has been studied extensively 126–281.

Systematic studies of intermodulation distortion in HTS samples and devices have been reported in the literature (21,29-32), TOI values in excess of +70 dBm at 1.3 GHz and 80 K have been obtained (29) for HTS planar transmission lines a few millimeters long. This is well above most semiconductor low noise amplifiers, for example. However, is must be kept in mind that intermodulation distortion is a function of the stored energy in the device, that is, the group delay. This is important when considering the performance of HTS passhand filters he cause filters have a delay characteristic that is lower near the center of the passband and higher toward the edges, depending on the filter order and type of response. Thus, in a practical estuation, if a passband filter is intended to protect the system from a relatively high-power interfering signal, this signal may lay on the filter skirts at a given rejection level in a region of relatively high delay. The intermodulation of this interferer with a desired signal in the middle of the possband irelatively low delay) will produce spure that define the dynamic range of the filter from that specific system's perspective. To give a quantitative example, such dynamic range might be specified as a third-order intermodulation spurilevel of - 90 dBm for an interfering signal of +40 dBm maximum power at ± 15 MHz from a desired signal at possband center that has a maximum power level of +5 dBm. In a case like this it would be difficult to talk about TOL, which is usually defined as resulting from the intermodulation of two signals of the same power level. Such a definition would apply to a spur-free dynamic range specification for the straightforward case of two in-band signals undergoing the same group delay.

HIGH-TEMPERATURE SUPERCONDUCTING FILTERS

One of the must important applications of HTS microwave techaology are high-performance passband filters because they can be made in planar configurations. Filters are often the dominant contributor to system volume, in particular when banks of low-loss filters are required. As discussed earlier, high-Q structures can be obtained at the expense of high volume. HTS planar configurations like microstrip or coplanar waveguide have Q comparable to cavities at a much smaller volume (see Fig. 5) and sn HTS is an attractive approach to reducing the volume of high-performance filters.

A straightforward way of thinking of bandpass filters is as coupled resonators. The performance of a resonator is characterized by its quality factor Q_i defined in Eq. (1) When the resonator forms part of an electrical circuit, the circuit delivers and takes back energy from the resonator, affecting its characteristics. The unbiaded Q of a resonator, Q_{μ} is its intrinsic quality factor, without the effects of an external circuit. A firsturder filter consists of a single resonator. Its bandwidth can be adjusted by the degree of coupling into the resonator by the external circuit. In a lightly coupled resonator, little disturbance is introduced by the input and output circuits and its resonant conditions and bandwidth are close to these of an ideal, unloaded resonator. When coupling into the resonator is strong, the disturbance is large and the Q is now dominated by both the resonator and the external circuit, making the total or loaded Q lower than the uleal, unloaded Q, and therefore the filter bandwidth is now wider. For a higher-order filter made up of various resonators coupled together, the idea is the same. Narrow-band filters require that the resonators he loosely outpled in each other and the manimum bandwidth is limited by the unloaded Q of the resonators. Wider bandwidth filters will have tighter coupling among resonators. Clearly, then, narrow hand filters are a desirable application for HTS because its inherent high Q enables narrow bandpass filters with low loss and small volume. This was illustrated in Fig. 5, which helps to understand the significance of the lass-volume trade-off from the point of view of using HTS and metallic ravity resonators to make filters. There is also a trade off between bandwidth, filter order (number of resonators), and insertion loss. The following is an approximate expression for the nul-band insertion bass of a filter (10), in dB, which reflects this trade-off-

$$t_{\text{AB},\pi} \cong \frac{4.34}{B} \cdot \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{B_k}{Q_{ok}}$$
(6)

Here, *a* is the filter order, g_k are the normalized series inductance and shunt capacitance values of the low-pass prototype filter (10). *B* is the filter bandwidth as a fraction of the center frequency, and Q_{ik} is the unloaded *Q* of the *k*th resonator. For the purposes of estimation, it is reasonable to assume that all the resonators in the filter will have the same Q_0 . Figure 9



Figure 4. Estimated intertion loss of fourth- and lifth-order Cheby chev passbund filters of LS and 0.1% fractional bandwidths g_{i} a function of the unlanded Q of the resonances that make up the filter. It was assumed that all the resonances have the same Q. The chart shows the because of investion have caused by increasing the filter order by one and by reducing the fractional bandwidth by a factor of ten.



Figure 10. Parallel coupled microstrip or stripline fiber topology The lands are a "2 resonators coupled as 4.4 backword-coupled sections. This is a well-known configuration solution for fractional handwidths offless than 1953, early demonstrations of HTS filters made use of it. However, control of the weak coupling required for bandwidths less than 195, which the low lass of HTS allows is very difficult and results in designs that are very sensitive to material and geometrical colorators.

illustrates the trade-off between insertion loss bandwidth, and filter order as a function of resonator $Q_{\rm e}$. It shows how expression (6) can be used to estimate the potential of a certain filter technology, in this case EUS, and understand its brutations. The insertion loss was estimated for Chebychev-type filters (10) of the fourth and fifth orders, respectively, and for 1% and 0.1% fractional bandwidths. The purpose of this chart is to point out the difference in loss caused by increasing the filter order by one and by increasing the fractional bandwidth by a factor of ten. Figure 9 complements Fig. 5 by helping to make a connection between the insertion loss of a hiter of a given order and bandwidth and a specific structure and its volume. The information provided by these two figures can readily be extended to cover other structures and technologies.

Design Considerations

As discussed above, some of the most important applications of superconductors are in narrow passband filters because they can be realized in planar technology, which lends itself to small structures that can be readily integrated with other filters and circuitry. It was also discussed that the coupling between the resonators that make up a narrow-band filter needs to be weak. The mechanism for implementing weak coupling between resongtors must allow for its control and predictability so that robust filter designs which are relatively intolecant of external spurious coupling mechanisms can be implemented. An example illustrating this point can be found in the penallel coupled line filter topology. Figure 10 shows this topology, which is well known as being suited for microstrip filters with relative bandwidths below 15% (10). An analysis based on Figs 5 and 9, however, shows that if HTS is used then bandwidths below 19 are possible from the less stundpoint. Indeed, this structure was used by several research groups to make initial HTS filter demonstrations with 15 to 2% fractional bandwidths (33.44 Table 3 shows the occiplings required to arbieve a 1.25% bandwidth, fourth-order Chebychev filter with 0.1 dB ripple at 4 GHz as well as the distance between resonators (see Fig. 10). This distance was calculated using commercial software based on coupled microstrup line circuit models and a simple look up. table technique (8) generated using a swa-dimensional electromagnetic field solver as a tool to refine the results of the circuitmodel-based software. The effectiveness of this technique was demonstrated experimentally (8). Notice in Table 3 that two of the three required couplings are less than +30 dB and that the error in estimating the coupled-line distances given by the circust-model software increases as the coupling gets weaker. For narrower bandwidths, weaker couplings are needed, which would result in larger apparation between resonators and hence increased difficulty in accurately predicting and controlling the required coupling. Randwidths of less than 1% with this filter topology could probably be achieved with great difficulty and very lew yield because of the practical issues associated with controlling the weak couplings required (35).

Workers in this field have realized this fundamental problem and have identified structures which allow significantly hetter control of weak interresonator coupling. Recognizing that in microstrup backward-coupled resonators, such as those in Fig. 10, the problem is compounded by the presence of sparnous forwardcoupling, researchers have demonstrated good coupling tontrol using forward-coupling alone in microstrup (S6) and backward coupling alone in struphne (47). Also, the use of planar lumped elements (08), and inductive coupling in coplanar lumped elements (08), and inductive coupling in coplanar lume (49,40) have been demonstrated successfully. Today, 1175 filters are being made with bandwidths of 1% or less by dedicated commercial comparises for the base-station wireless market as preproduction prototypes (19,41).

Complex Structures

The patential for filters with performance similar to bulkier waveguide components but at significantly smaller sizes can be most readily fulfilled for the case of banks of filters, whether switched or multiplexed. Recouse HTS technology is planar, a relatively high level of integration is possible so that, as opposed to waveguide or dielectric resonator filter technology a bank of N filters each occupying a volume V occupies a volume < N < V, where V is significantly smaller than for conventional technologies for the some performance. HTS filter banks have been demonstrated by several groups in the form of bandpuss multiplexers (8,42–44) or banks of switched band-reject filters (45).

Table 3. Comparison Between Conventional and Look-Up Table Approaches (see Fig. 10)

Parameter	Required Coupling (dB)	Conventional Tran	Luck-Up Table (mm)
5.	-176	0 572	0.530
S,	-35.8	2 367	1,991
5.	87.8	2 772	2.161

 $f_0 = 4$ GHz, M' = 0.196 mm; $L_0 = L_0 = 1.1 = 4.788$ mm



Figure 11. Multiplexer architecture used to demonstrate a fourrhannel HTS microstrip device. This configuration has the advantage of allowing as many channels as the bandworlth covered by the 90-byland. Each filter is remonstration 60.02 and is essentially toolated from the others. Other schemes require that the impedance termination in each lifter be adjusted to account for the presence of all the fibers in the meltiplexer, practically limiting the maximum number of rhannels to 560 or 56-be.

Example: Frur-Channel Pass-Band Multipleaer. Figure 11 shows a diagram of a multiplexer architecture (8,42). It can accommodate as many channels as the bandwidth of the 90, hybrid coupler covers. Input microwave energy is equally split at the first coupler. If the frequency is within the passband of the two identical filters connected to the coupler, it passes through the filters and adde in phase at the autput port of the output hybrid coupler for Channel 1. If the frequency is not within the passband of the Channel 1. If the frequency is not within the passband of the Channel 1 filters, the signal is n-flected back to the input coupler where it recombines such that it is out-of-phase at the input port and in-phase at the input of the second channel hybrid coupler. The process then repeats itself until the signal exits the device through the uppropriate channel part Figure 12 presents details of one implementation of this device (5,46) showing one input, four outputs, and a through part



Figure 13. Measured response of the four-channel HTS multiplexer. Further details can be found in Refs. 6 and 46.

terminated in an external toward) load. Additional channels could be connected to this port provided they are still within the bandwidth (about 10%) of the hybrid coupler used in this domonstration. Figure 12 also shows a detail of the assembly, which includes the internal BTS interconnections between filters and the integrated thin-film resistive terminations at the nut-of-phase part of the output hybrid in each channel.

The HTS material used for this work was YBCO than film deposited on 500 µm-thick LAO substrates. The package included an aluminum frame holding the external coaxial connectors and mobilitin carriers onto which the LAO substratepieces were mounted. Nichium is a good thermal expansion match to LAO, so the electrical and mechanical integrity of the device was preserved when cycling front ambient temperature to near 77 K. The substrate-carrier assemblies were mounted on the aluminum frame using a berylliom-copper spring arrangement. Figure 13 shows the measured performance. The low-frequency skirts of Channels 2, 3, and 4 show some level of interaction between channels that can be chiminated using a wider guard-band between channels. Refs. 6 and 46 include a full discussion of the design, fabrication, and measurements on this device.

This unit was one of a series of demonstration devices delivered to the US Navy's High-Temperature Superconductivity



Figure 12. Photo montage of a four-channel VBCO-op-LAO concreativity analyticlesen demonstrated under the US Navy's High-Temperature Superconductivity Space Experiment II (HTSSE-II). Details of the design, fabrication, and assembly of this device cenbe found in Refs. 8 and 46.

Experiment II program by several contractors for inclusion into the space package (47).

High-Power Handling Designs

The promising applications of HTS require that HTS filters bandle sufficient signal power levels as to maintain linearity over a significant dynamic marge. As explained earlier, current, crowding along the edges of typical planar transmission lines (e.g., microstrip, striptine, and coplanar waveguide) ultimately limits the maximum power level that can be handled. Increasing the quality of the material and improving the design of filter. structures has been a major endeavor at several institutions. Improved filter designs are based on planar structures which avoid the effects of significant current crowding at the edges, as is the case of low-impedance microstrip lines (48). Most significant is the work employing planar resonator structures based on the circular TM₅₁₀ mode (29,49,50). The most salient featores of this approach are shown in Figs. 14(a) and (b), which show the electromagnetic fields and current profile in a microstrup and a disk resonator, respectively. In the latter the RF magnetic fields do not close above the substrate but within it, under the disk. Thus the current density does not peak at the edges of the resonator and its distribution is more uniform. The only possible drawback of this approach is that the fields are more confined to the disk resonator, and intercoupling between resonators to form a filter may be more difficult, perhaps requiring three-dimensional structures for proper control of the coupling. This would eliminate some of the planar integration advantages. Fully planar filters using this concept, however, have been excreasfully demonstrated (29).

HIGH-TEMPERATURE SUPERCONDUCTING DELAY LINES.

Work on superconducting delay lines started at Lincoln Laboratory well before the advent of high-temperature superconductivity, and concentrated mostly on linearly dispersive delay. lines for analog signal processing. Linearly dispersive delay bies have delay characteristics which vary biearly with frequency over a certain operating bandwidth and can be used to perform pulse compression, a technique to process and detect small signals which may be below the receiver noise floor (1). The monearing work at Lincoln Laboratory in this area using LTS and, more recently, HTS thin-film technologies has been extensively documented in the literature (1.51).

Nondispersive delay lines have a constant delay versus frequency characteristic and use typically used as analog memory elements that can store a signal for, say, up to a few hundred. nanoseconds while the system is engaged in other processing steps. Work on HTS nondispersive delay lines has also been significant (52-55). Including two recent instantaneous frequency measurement subsystems based on banks of delay lines (62,55). Clearly, the advantages of superconductivity are that a long length of line can be fabricated in a small volume by defining a iong, planaz transmission ling on a water. Ref. 54 compares conventional nondispersive delay lines, which require amplifiers between sections of transmission line (e.g., coaxial), with HTS delay lines using projections based on measurements made on relatively short (22 ns) delay lines. Key delay-line parameters are delay, bandwidth, insertion loss, and third-order intercept point. Conventional delay lines that must resort to amplification to boost the signal are limited in dynamic range by the amplifiers.

CRYOGENIC PACKAGING

Key to the insertion of superconducting microwave circuits into electronic systems is the integration of the HTS components with a cryogenic refrigerator and its associated control electronics. Clearly, for HTS technology to be ultimotely successful, the



Figure 14. Diagram courtesy of Dr. 2-Y Shen, E. I. do Pari de Nensairs and Co.) (29), showing the magnetic field and current distribution or a 3.2 phenostrip resonator (a) and a TM_{DM} printed disk. resonator (b). In the disk the magnetic field lines are member and remain on the plane of the disk, so the current is not highly contactions as is the case of the regular microstrip resonator. The advantage of the disk is that it can handle much higher power levels (29,49.50).

(b)

J,

(8)

Figure 16. Schemotic diagram of the cryogenic package for a hypothetical HTS device showing conducted heat inputs through asput/instput. RF and de control lines and the mechanical support of the cold head. as well as the radiated heat input from the (warm) wall of the vacuum housing. The purpose of this diagram is to show the main elements that affect the design of the crysgoria parkage.

Table 4. Sample System Requirements That Will Affect the Chuice of Couler and Cryogenic Packaging Approach

Requirement	Comments
Size and weight	Strongent in almost all applications
Coul-down time	Some applications may require very fast turn on time (e.g., a few minutes). They would be a driver to- ward higher cocker power and lower HTS device thermal mass.
Vihration	For example, a minute amount of mechanical desorrion on a consist revised by school on the cooler- may generate a please modulation. that degrades the sizeful performance
Power consumption and power supply type	E g., 120 V ac
Mede of operation	${f E}$ g., continuous, intermationt, short missions and then mostly idle lete
Temperature stability and control	While any fine-temperature feedback control loop (< 0.00 K) tends to be done using heaters and a tem- perature sensor, some applications may require a certain degree of coaling engine control (< 2.65 K)
Unattended lifetime	Some applications e.g., sparel may require a lifetime on the order of 14 years or more
Vneuum lifetime	All-weided construction use of getters to a clean, well-conditioned (baked) evident

user most be rendered able to ignore the fact that eryogenics are used at all, by providing long-lifetime cryocoolers and optimally small cryogenic packages with standard envelop characteristics and interfaces (e.g., 19 in rack nonints and buck-plane block-mate connectors).

Many important considerations enter into the decign of a cryogenic package suitable for a microwave HTS subsystem. Figure 15 is a schematic representation of this package, showing its main elements and the various heat inputs that must be considered for an appropriate thermal decign. Ref. 41 provides specific details on the cryogenic package for a communications filter subsystem.

The choice of a cryocoler will depend on the system and the cooling requirements. An airborne military application may require the use of a small Stirling-cycle cooler because of volume restrictions. On the other band, a communications ground station on a remote location that needs to operate unattended for a long time may require a larger, more reliable refrigerator of the Gifford-McMahon type. Cooling requirements are imposed by the composent or subsystem to be cooled and will determine the amount of cooling power required at the operating temperatory. Typical sample system and cooling requirements and some comments as to their significance are given in Tables 4 and 5, respectively.

Cryoccolors likely to be used in microwave HTS technology will typically have from 1 W to 5 W of cooling capacity. A promary concern systems designers have is the reliability of cryogenic refrigerators, which varies greatly depending on their



Figure 16. Photograph of a HTS filter assembly for commercial wireless applications (courtesy of Superconductor Technology, Inc.).

type and size. Leveraging developments in other fields, such as infrared detectors, the reliability of small, military tactical cryocoders has sheadily increased in recent years, with some manufacturers claiming up to 20,000 h of mean-time to failure (MTIF). On the other hand, larger laboratory or industrial units and specialized coolers for ierospecie applications operate for 5 years to 10 years and require minimal servicing. Table 6 lists some of the cryocoaler types of interest. The intent here is not to be all-inclusive but to provide a basic reference to the type of coolers must likely to be employed in HTS microwave technology. Reference 56 is a good source of the latest developments in tryoccoler technology. Figure 16 is a photograph of a

Table 5. Cooling Requirements That Will Influence	the Cooling Power (Heat Lift) Rec	juired for a Given Application
---	-----------------------------------	--------------------------------

Jequirement	Contracts
Pewez dissipated in the devale	A filter with a 0.5 dB insertion loss that must pass a 20 W signal will dissipate 2 W of heat that must be re- actived by the oryocouler. Also, semiconfluctur devices such as low-mise antiphiters, which improve in noise and pain performance when cooled, always dissipate a certain amount of heat which must be taken into consideration.
Number of microwave and de controù leuds	These are the electronal interface between the oryocholed device and the outside world. For example, a filter neight require two microwine leads (input and output) and two pairs of decented lines for the heat sensor and a small heater to keep the temperature constant. These conductors represent a heat least has the couler must overteen heaters they connect the outside ambient temperature with the fold device. While the decented lines are typically used of this law thermal conductivity, high-resistoring wine to gauge 32 marging on the untroposed leads must object of the temperature in the sensor.
Surface aren	Red atom loss is unother form of heat loss that the inviter must overcome and therefore must be minimized. The total surface area and their released radiation eranjoivity are important design parameters. Low-on- m south radiation shields are typically used between the water success wall and the rold device.
Therrow Lingua-	For these applications that have a prototown tune requirement, the thermal mass of the device to be cooled is important and will be afforded by the monotowave packaging material and its shape

Դոնի	е Ә,	Some	Cryugenic	Refrigerator	Турез	Likely to	Be	Used	iπ	нту	Technolo	ρgy
------	------	------	-----------	--------------	-------	-----------	----	------	----	-----	----------	-----

Capler Type	Hoat-Lift Range Available at 80 K	Comments
Sphi Storbog	05-3W	Aver able from mony manufacturers: new) preparity in the factical onlyary infrarest detector m- dustry. Has a cold bend separated from a compressor by a metallar transfer incomp to 15 cm long
Integral Storling	0.8 -5 W	 Also used on infrared dotectors: at least one version is being used on an HTS development proto- type. The compressor and cald forger, are integrated into one unit.
Gifford McMakon	2 ×200 W	Widely used in the support of viceouni systems for serinconductor industry; highly zeliable and verifie. The compressor and cold head are reportate units connected by fund lines that can be several meters long
Throttle-cycle	1 W	 Reliable and low cost. The comprover and odd beed are operate units connected by fluid 1 new that can be several meters long.
Joale-Thomson	0.5 2 W	Generally used as an open-cycle cooling system for short factical massile iii detertor applica- tions
Palae tobe	05-2 W	Energing technology, low resolvered submittee and long lifetance precential

commercial HTS filter subsystem, showing the cryocooler and associated electronics in their open package.

CONCLUSION

High-temperature superconductor microwave technology offers unique advantages derived from the low microwave lass of HTS materials and the inherent low thermal noise in cryogenically cooled components. The main applications to date are related to increased manusave receiver asomitivity, and this is most likely to have an impact on wireless military and commercial communications systems. The reason is that receiver sensitivity and dynamic range must be preserved in the presence of a large number of sportous signals which, if unfiltered, degrade receiver performance. Generation of clean transmitted signals requires filtering in the transmitter and this, coupled with the need to reject unwanted high-power signals at the receiver, has sporred work on high-power handling in HTS filters. Great interest in the United States and abroad exists in the windexs commercial communications market and several companies are testing base-station receiver front-ends consisting of gryagenically cooled filter-LNA subassemblies.

HTS microwave filters are therefore a promising technology, especially at frequencies below 3 GHz where the loss in conventional microwave materials force high performance filters to be very large in order to achieve the required low insertion bases and selectivity. Leveraging developments in infrared imaging detector technology and perhaps new developments of cooled semiconductor components for fast computer workstatens, cryocooler technology is progressing to the point where long lifetimes and small-size, low weight coolers are now widely available.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- R. S. Withers and R. W. Halston. Superconductive analog signal price ssing devices. *Proc. IEEE*, 77: 1247-1263, 1998. This paper sortains many references to earlier work by the authors.
- P. A. Smith et al., YRCO thick films for high Q resonators, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 7 (763-1766, 1997.
- D. W. Fner et al., Large area YBogUveD: films for high power mostrong set applications. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 1561–1566, 1995.

- A. Peque et al., Microwave compatible YBas/LugOv., films on ferranagreetic geneel sub-trates, Appl. Phys. Lett., 47: 1778-1790, 1995.
- E. J. Smith, J. Musolf, and E. Soares. Composition controlled MOUVD as a route to high Q HTS thin film devices, Proc. 2nd 31 ISTEC/MRS Int. Workshop Supermani, Sumathe Mater Prises HTS Appl. Towards Next Decade, 1997, p. 145
- B. Drz et nl., Deposition of YBCO and NBCO films on areas of 9 suches in distorter, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 1272-1277, 1997.
- J. W. Kkon, A. J. Panson, and B. A. Blankenslop, Method for making low-resistivity romans to high T_i superconductors, *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **52**, 331–335, 1994.
- S. H. Julian et al., High-temperature superconducting sparscushtied multiplexets and delay holes. *IEEE Trans. Manual. Theory*, *Tech.*, 44: 1229–1229, 1998.
- R. K. Hoffmann, Handbook of Microwave Integrated Curvaits, Nurwood, MA Astroch House, 1987.
- G. L. Matthaei, L. Young, and F. M. T. Janes, Microwrow Poliets Impedance Matching Networks, and Graphing Structures, Dedustr. MA, Actech House, 2980.
- Z.-Y. Shen, High-Temperature Superconducting Microwaw Carcuits, Network, MA: Artech Human, 1994
- S. Rarm, J. H. Whinnery, and T. Van Hoyer, Fields and Waves of Communication Effectionics, New York, Wiley, 1965.
- 13. I. Vendik and O. Vendik, in E. Kullberg (ed.), *High Temperature Superconductor Decision for Microarace Signal Processing*, St. Petersburg, Bussia: Seladen, 1997. 3 parts.
- K. B. Carroll, J. M. Pond, and E.J. Cuknuskas, Superconducting ing kinetic inductance inter-wave filters, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Su*percond., 3 8, 16, 1993.
- Unpublished dots obtained jointly by Northrop Grumman, NASA Lewis Research Center and Superconductor Technology, Inc.
- W. W. Mumford and F. H. Scheibe, Nulse Derformance Fratures in Communication Systems, Deethom, MA: Horizon House-Magnowave, 1969, UMI Out of Print Books on Detroand.
- S. H. Taliza et al., Dynamic carge considerations for hightemperature superconducting lifter applications to receiver frontends, *IEEE MTTPS Int. Micron. Symp. Dig.*, 1994, pp 397–1000
- J. B. Y. Tom, Microscow Born research: Electronic Warfore Applicontast, Malapar, FL, Krieger, 1994.
- G. Kaepf, Superconductors improve coverage in wireless activorks. *Macrosc. RP*, 37, 44, 63, 74, 1998.
- D. E. Oates et al., Nonlinear surface resistance in YEbgCu₁O₇, thin films, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supervised.*, 3, 1114–1119, 1993.
- 21 C. Wilker et al., Nonlinear effects in high-temperature

superconductors. 3rd order intervept from hermonic generation, IEEE Trans Appl. Supercond., 5, 1966–1970, 1995

- 22 M. Golusovsky, Physical mechanisms cousing nuclinear microwave Insees in high-T, superconductors. Ath Workshop RF Supercond. Abano Terme, Italy, 1997, Invited Paper.
- S. Sudhar. Non-tinear microwave response of superconductors and an response of the collical state, Appl. Phys. Lett., 85, 1054-1056 1994.
- 24 J. H. Oates et al., A number at transmission line model for superconducting stripline resonators, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 7 17-23, 1993.
- D. E. Oates et al., Microwave power dependence of YBa₂Cu₃O₅ thin-film Jusephson edge junctions, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 68: 705–707, 1996.
- Vendik and O. Vendik, High Temperature Supermultining Detime for Multimate Superint Processing, St. Petersburg, Russia Skladen, 1997, Part 2, Chap. 7.
- B. S. Karasik et al., Subnanosecond awitching of YBaCeO filmbetween superconducting and normal states induced by current paties, *J. Appl. Phys.* 77 (4064–4070) 1995.
- J. Vendik et al., The superconducting microwove devices based on S.N. transition in HTS films, 27th Eur. Margine Conf. Proc. 1907 pp. 909-914
- Z.-Y. Sheri et al., Power handling capability improvement of high temperature superconducting microwave circuits, *IEEE Trans.* Appl. Supercond., 7: 2446-2453–1997
- Z. Ma et al. RF power dependence study of large area YBCO than films, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 7: 1911-1916, 1997.
- T. Dahm and D. J. Scalapino, Theory of intermodulation in n superconducting microstrup resonator, J. Appl. Phys., 81: 2002–2081 1997.
- 32 O. G. Vorduk, J. B. Vendik, and T. B. Samoslova. Nonlinearity of superconducting transmission line and microstrip resonator, *IEEE Trans. Microsc. Theory Tech.* 45, 173–178, 1997.
- S. H. Talisa et al., Low- and high-temperature superconducting mucrowave litters, IEEE Trans. Microsc. Theory Tech., 38: 1444–1454, 1991.
- W. G. Lvons et al., High-T, superconductive mero-wave filters, *IEEE Trans. Magn.* 27, 2507–2739, 1991.
- (b) W.G. Lyons and L. H. Lee, Accuracy insues and design techniques for superconducting untrowave filters. Comput. Aided Des Supercond. Microw. Components Workshop, IEEE Int. Microw. Symp., 1994. The authors are with Lincoln Laboratory, Massachussetts (gstatute of Technology.
- D. Zhang et al. Compact torward-coupled superconducting microssrop filmes for cellular communications. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Na*percent., 5: 2656–2659, 1995.
- G. L. Matthaei and G. L. Hey-Shipton. Novel stagg-red resonator array superconducting 2.3-15Hz bandpass filter IEEE Trans. Meeran. Theory Tash. 41, 2545-2552, 1993.
- 38 D. G. Swonson, R. Forse, and H. J. L. Nilsson. A 16 GHz (bin film jumped element high temperature superconductor filter, *IEEE MIT S Int. Microw. Symp. Dig.*, 1992, pp. 1191–1193.
- [19] D. G. S.Karsson and R. Fierse. An HTS end complet CPW filter at 35 GHz. IEEE MTT S Int. Microsc. Symp. Dig., 1994, pp. 190–202
- A. Voge and W. John, Ar. HTS narrow bandwidth coplanar shunt inductively coupled microwave bandpiss filter on LuAIO₁, *IEEE* Trans. Microw. Theory Teck., 46: 483–487, 1997.
- M. J. Scharen et al., Pilter subsystems for wireless communications, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 7, 3744–3749, 1997.
- 42 R. R. Marsson et al., Design considerations of superconductive raport multiplexers for satellite applications. *IEEE Trans. Macage* 72,eop. *Biob.*, 44: 1213–1228, 1996.
- 43 C. Rauscher, J. M. Paul, and G. B. Tait, Uryageore microwave

channelized seceives. IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech., 44: 1240-1247, 1996

- S. J. Fiedzioszku et al., Low loss multiplexers with planar dual mode HTS resonators. *IEEE Track Marries Theory Tech.*, 44: 1248– 1257, 1996
- N. O. Fenzi et al., An optically switched bank of HTS bandelop filters, IEEE MTT-S Int. Micros. Symp. Dig., 1994, pp. 195-198.
- S. H. Telise et al., High temperature superconducting four-channel filterhanks, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5 (2079–2082, 1995).
- T. G. Kewerki et al., The high temperature superconductivity space experiment (HTSSE-II) design. *INEE Trans. Microa. Theory Tech.*, 44: 1198-1212, 1998.
- G.-C. Linng et al., High-temperature superconducting memory p filters with high power bandling capability. INNE MTT-S Int. Microw Symp. Dig., 1995, pp. 191-194.
- H. Cheloupke et al., Superconducting planar disk resonances and filters with high power handling supercluty, *Revenue Lett.*, 32, 1736–1736, 1996
- S. Kelesov et al., Planar HTS structures for high-power applications in communication systems J. Supercoad., 10: 179-187, 1997.
- 50 W. G. Lyons et al., High temperature superconductive wideband compressive receivers. *IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech.*, 44: 1256–1276, 1996.
- G. C. Liang et al., Space-qualified superconductive digital matantaneous frequency-measurement subsystem, *IEEE Trans. Micros. Theory Tech.*, 44 (1289–1290, 1996).
- N. Fenzi et al., Development of high temperature superconducting 100 nunosecond dolay line, SPIE Proc. 2158 143-451, 1994
- 54. S. H. Talisa et al., High-temperature superconducting wide band dolay lines. IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond. 5: 2291–2294, 1995.
- M. Biehl et al., A 4-bit instantaneous frequency meter at 10 GHz with coplanar VBCO delay lines, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 5: 2279–2242, 1995.
- B. G. Ross, Jr (ed.), Crossoolers 9, A Publication of the Interactional Cryssociety Conference, New York, Physical 1997.

SALVATION H. TALLES Northerap Groundsen Corporation

SUPERCONDUCTING LEVITATION

The levitation of a permuteent magnet over a superconductor is one of the basic tests of superconductivity, and it is a sight that has inspired the investigation of applications on possible with any other technology (1–5). In this article, I briefly review the fundamental physics of superconductor levitation, discuss basic invitational phenomena and the features of superconductor levitation pertinent to bearings, and moniton some possible applications of superconductor levitation, with emphasis on high efficiency flywheel energy storage.

STABLE LEVITATION

In its simplest form, a superconducting levitational system comprises a permanent magnet levitated in a stable position over a superconductor. This stability is in stark contrast to most magnetic systems, which are statically unstable. Earnshaw showed that there is no stable, static 3-D arrangement of a collection of poles telestric, magnetic, or gravitational) whose magnitudes do not change and which interact via a $1/r^2$ forcelaw (6). Braunbek extended the result to show that no stable static configuration exists when paramagnetic or ferromagnetic material is included in the urrangement (7). These results collectively are often referred to as Earnahaw's theorem. Earnshaw's theorem is grasped intuitively by most people when they release a permanent magnet next to the ferromagnetic door of their refrigerator. The magnet moves to stick to the door, or in falls on the floor. It does not hover in space near the point where it was released.

Dramagnetic materials, such as superconductors, are not governed by Earnshaw's theorem, and they enable the passibility of creating stable levitation systems. One of the fundamental properties of superconductors is their tendency to exclude magnetic flux from their interiors. This exclusion of magnesic flux (the Meissner effect), makes them behave like strong diamagnets. Accordingly, a superconductor with a permanent magnet, positioned close above d., as shown in Fig. 1(a), develops a chielding current, which excludes flux so that the actual magnet 'sees' its mirror image

More specifically, if the magnetization of a permanent magnet is in the vertical direction, with its north pole down, the image is also vertically magnetized, but with its north pole up,



Figure 1. Schematic disgrams of levitation busics: (a) diamagnetic response (b) flux plannag; (c) flux trapping

exerting a repulsive force on the real magnet. The closer the magnet moves to the superconductor, the stronger the repulsive force. The farther away the magnet moves, the weaker the force. In fact, if the magnet flaps over so that the opposite (south) pole faces the superconductor, the according currents in the superconductor will reverse an as to reverse the magnetization of the image in the superconductor, maintaining the repulsave interaction. This setup yields levitation stable in the vertical direction. Horizontal stability is obtained if the superconducting walls are formed around the magnet, as first demonstrated by Arkadev using lead, a Type I superconductor, in which magnesic flux is totally excluded from the interior (8).

From a technological viewpoint, the most neeful experiondurtors are usually Type-II superconductors, in which, above a first critical field. H_{et}, it is energetically fovorable for magnetic flux to enter the interior of the superconductor in discrete inradized regions that became normal (i.e., not superconducting) with each region of flux surrounded by a small vortex of superconducting shielding current. In Type-II superconductors, the stability of the levitational phenomena resulting from the diamagnetic response is greatly enhanced by the additional phenomena resulting from flux priming, shown in Fig. Uhl. A flux pinning center is a nonsuperconducting region, such as an inclusion, crack, or other crystalline defect. Because the superconducting region surrounding the nonsuperconducting center. is strongly inclined to exclude magnetic flux, a magnetic flux line through the center often becomes trupped there. When a sufficient number of flux lines is trapped in the superconductor, the permanent magnet remains levitated in position, even over a flat surface. The flux lines between the permanent magnet and the superconductor act in an imperfect analogy to mechanscal springs with attachments on the permanent magnet and in the superconductor. If the magnet moves a small distance laterally, so that the flux lines remain in their punking centers, the flux lines hend and produce a laterally restoring shear force, according to the Maxwell electromagnesic stress tensor. If the magnet moves vertically or horizontally, the "springs" pull the magnet back to us equilibrium position. If the flux proving is sufficiently strong, the magnet is stably suspended below the superconductor (9) or even along its side (10).

If the magnet moves for enough laterally that the flux basis move from their original pinning centers to new ones, then an additional stabilizing force, involving trapped flux, begins to act. Trapped flux consists in regions of addiced magnetization in the superconductor of the same pole arrestation as the levstated magnet and results from movement of flux lines from their pinning centers that decreases the local flux. As shown in Fig. 1(c), this results in an attractive interaction that reduces the levistation force but provides a lateral restoring force

SUPERCONDUCTOR LEVITATORS

Interest in the patential of superconductor levitation in various applications greatly ancreased with the discovery of auperconductors whose critical temperatures (i.e., temperatures at which they transit from the normal state to the superconducting state, exceeded the bailing point of nitrogen. Although one could create a superconducting wire magnet for levitation, most of the present efforts involve the use of hulk superconductors or thm-film superconductors. Unlike superconductors or thm-film superconductors. Unlike superconducting wire applications, in which the supercurrent must pass from grain to grain along quite a distance, the supercurrent for levitation applications needs to circulate only within individual grains.

The present material of choice for superconducting levitation is Y-Ba-Cu-O (YBCO) because it exhibits a high magnetic irreversibility field at inpuid ratrogen temperatures and has the ability to grow large grains. In addition in the two temperature-dependent phase-transition fields, H_{c1} and H_{c2} . all superconductors have a magnetic irreversibility field, H_{her} that has between H_{ei} and H_{ei} . H_{ei} is the field at which the magnetization M as a function of applied field H is no longer double-valued (11., For the low-temperature superconductors NBTi and Nh₂Sn, $H_{\rm trr}$ is extremely close to $H_{\rm CD}$ and there is no important distinction between them. At higher temperatures, thermal activation is much greater, which leads to easier flux motion near H_{cr} for HTSs. H_m marks a phase transition between the region where magnetic flux is solidly partied in the superconductor and the region where flux may mave. Sometimes the curve is said to denote the boundary between the region where flux is frazen and the region where flux is melted. Of all the known HTSs. YBCO has a relatively law critical temperuture of 92 K, but it has the highest inteversibility curve at 77 K and lower temperatures. For stable levitation, it is important that the flux be frozen in the superconductor. Otherwise, the permanent magnet would slowly lose levitation height.

The magnetization of the superconductor is proportional to the product of the critical current density and the grain diameter. Large grain diameters are important to achieve sufficiently large magnetizations for useful levitation forces. In bolk materials, the grains grow to diameters of several centimeters when made by a melt-texturing process (12). In the present state of the art, the upper limit of the grain diameter produced by this process is about 10 cm. The ability to produce good quality YBCO this films is also limited to phout this size

LEVITATIONAL PHENOMENOLOGY

If the permanent magnet is pulled hard enough to the side or vertically, it is possible to move one or more of the trapped flux bases into new pairing centers and so change the equilibrium position. Such a change results in a hysteretic effect in the levitutional force and an associated energy loss if it occurs in a cyclic pattern. To explore the hysteretic effect, it is convenient. to divide the behavior into two processes. The first is called field-coaled. It occurs when the superconductor is capled below its critical temperature while there is a substantial magnetic field present, that is, for permanent magnet is close to the superconductor. Field cooling produces less repulsive levitation force but can be used to make an attractive-force hearing. The second is called zero field-cooled. It occurs when the superconductor is couled below its critical temperature in the absence of a magnetic field, that is, when the permanent magnet is far from the superconductor. Zero-field cooling results in the largest repulsive farce but may be practically inconvenient, hecause it requires the cooling of the superconductor prior to the assembly of the bearing.

The hysteretic nature of the levitational phenomenon for movements in the vertical direction is illustrated in Fig. 2. In this example, a cylindrical, vertically magnetized permanent magnet was kept with its bottom surface at a height of 10.0 mm above the top surface of a cylindrical YBCO superconductar



Figure 2. Levitation force versus distance between the permanent magnet and superconductor.

while the YBCO was cooled, essentially a zero field-cooled emdution. Then the magnet was slowly brought down to a position. 1 mm above the superconductor, and the force was measured. at various points along this first descent. Then the magnet was moved away from the superconductor, back to its original zerofield-cooled position. Then it followed a second descent during which a minor reversal of 0.4 mm was made at a distance of 2.0 man. A second ascent was identical with the first, and a third descent was identical with the second, etc. As seen in Fig. 2, the force during the first descent is always larger than the force during the second. Upon reversal from 1 mm during the first ascent, the force drops very quickly and even becomes negative, indicating an attractive farm. A combination of the first ascent. and second descent forms a major hysteretic loop, and the area under the curve is equivalent to the hysteretic energy loss. The width of the minor biop is much smaller than that of the major loop. Thus, the superconductor acts as a nonlinear damper, and the damping coefficient increases with amphtude. From Fig. 2, it is also clear that the slope of the much loop, which represents the magnetomechanical stiffness of the system, is considerably higher than that determined from the major loop.

A feature of the first deecent is that over several multimeters above the superconductor surface, the force is exponential with distance, as shown in Fig. 3. In practice, it is difficult to measure the force immediately above the superconductor, partly because surfaces are not flut, but mainly because the surface is usually envered with liquid nitrogen. The exponential behavior shown in Fig. 3 allows extrapolating the force to the surface, and various superconductors can be compared this way by using a permanent magnet of known strength

In the examples shown in Figs. 2 and 3, the superconductar was cooled while the permanent magnet was far from its surface, that is, zero-field-cooled. In the field-cooled case, the levitational force is approximately zero after the superconductar is cooled below its critical temperature. However, the magnetomechanical stiffness is approximately the same as for the zero-field-cooled case at the same separating distance. The stiffness is dependent on the amplitude of vibration (13,14). For small amplitudes, the stiffness is constant, but, ofter some critscal amplitude that depends on height, the stiffness begins to decrease as the amplitude increases. The higher the current density of the superconductor, the higher the critical value for the onset of stiffness decreass.



Figure 3. Levitation force versus distance on first descent between reference magnet and several superconductors, showing the levitation force extropolated to zero height

The levitational force that the superconductor provides is proportional to its average magnetization, which is proportional to the product of its grain diameter times its critical current density. The critical current density in typeol melttextured YBCO samples at 77 K is about 40 kA per cm², which, together with a diameter of several cm, allows the levitational pressures between the YBCO and an NdFeB permanent magnet to be as high as about 260 kPn 1–40 psit. Such pressures have been measured in the author's laboratory with the very hest YBCO samples. However, this pressure occurs at zero separation distance. In a practical system with a finite separation, the pressure will be at least a factor of 2 to 3 times lower

Thur-film YBCO often has critical current densities that excord 1 MA per cm². Because the thickness of these films is only about 1 micron, they do not provide much levitational force. However, the stiffness of such films is often of the same order as that produced by bolk materials of greater thickness (15).

THEORETICAL MODELS

Various theoretical models account for different aspects of superconductor behavior when a permanent magnet approaches. In many cases in which hysteretic behavior is not important, the superconductor is a pure diamagnet and the magnet is a set of magnetic dipoles (16). A "frozen" morror image may be used to conjunction with the diamagnetic mirror image to describe the elastic properties and energy lass in a field-couled system (17). The Bean model, which assumes that the corrent circulating in the superconductor is either at its critical value or zero, is often used in efforts to address the hysteretic behavior (18).

SUPERCONDUCTING BEARINGS

If the azimuthal homogeneity of the magnetic field of the permanent magnet is high, for example, if the magnet is a cylinder with uniform magnetization throughout, the levitated magnet maters fright above the superconductor. As long as the distribution of magnetic flux in the superconductor dues not change, rotation encounters no resistance. If the magnet is spinning, the hysteretic loss in the superconductor decreases the totational rate

In an electromechanical system, such as a magnetic bearing, the parameters of interest are the levitational force, stiffness, damping, and instational loss. The 280 kPa levitational pressure is lower than that achievable in a conventional electromagnetic bearing $(\sim 1 \text{ MPa})$ and significantly lower than that typically achieved to inschanical roller hearings ($\gg 10 \text{ MPa}$). The uniount of mass levitated directly depends on the number and size of permanent magnets and superconductors available. In the present early period of technological development for superconducting hearings, several laboratories have stably levitated masses groater than 100 kg

In practical superconductor bearings, the low levitational pressure available in the interaction between the permanent inagnet and the superconductor is often augmented by various hybrid schemes in which interactions between pairs of permanent magnets provide the bulk of the levitational force. These interactions are unstable, as Earnshaw's theorem predicts, but the inclusion of a properly designed superconducting component in the bouring is sufficient to stubilize the complete hearing. Augmentation takes the form of an Evershed-type design, in which a pair of permanent magnets is in attractive levitation, or uses active magnetic bearings (5).

The hysteretic nature of a superconducting bearing also makes damping of translational motion amplitude-dependent. For low-amplitude volcations, damping is small, but quickly increases as the vibrational amplitude increases. This hysteretic nature of the HTS bearing thus contributes to the robustness of the system. The hysteretic nature also results in a larger uncertainty of the equilibrium position of the rotor than is typical in most intaing mochinery. This uncertainty requires larger running gaps between moving and stationary parts.

The ease with which a permanent magnet spins, when levitured over a superconductor, and the absence of contact between the surfaces, produce the illusion that the rotation is frictionless. In reality, small magnetic losses gradually slow the rotation. The losses are primarily the result of azimuthal inhomogeneities in the magnetization of the permanent magnet, which produce hysteretic loss in the superconductor. Typically, in permanent magnets with the best homogeneities, at a fixed radius above the rotating surface, the amplitude of the accomposite of the magnetic field is of the order of 1% of the average field at that radius. Although small, this inhomogeneity is sufficient to cause a detectable decay in rotational rate when the magnet spins in vacuum.

A figure of note for the rotational decay of a bearing is the coefficient of friction (COF), defined as the rotational drag force divided by the levitational force (weight of the levitated rotor). The COF for a mechanical roller bearing is of the order of 10⁻⁴. The COF for an active magnetic bearing is about 10⁻⁴ when parasitic bases for the feedback circuits and power for the electromagnets are factored in. Monsured COFs for simple superconductor bearings are as low as 10⁻⁵. The parasitic bases of a superconductor bearing are the power required to keep the superconductor rold. For refrigerators that operate at about 30^o af Carnot efficiency (the theoretical maximum; about 14 W of electricity are required to remove 1 W of heat at liquid nitrogen temperators. Thus, the equivalent COF for an HTS bearing is about 2 × 10⁻⁶, about two orders of magnitude lower than the best alternative bearing.



Figure 4. Conflicient of fraction versus rotational frequency for a 25.4 turn dis., 9.6 mm high cylindricol permanent mogova levirated 10 mm shove a YBCU cylinder

Two magnetomechanical resonances occur in a magnetically suspended rotor with a polar moment of meritia greater than the transverse moment (i.e., a disk geometry); one is versical and one is radial. In practice, the vertical resonance has a minimal affect on the COF in most superconducting hearing systems. The radial resonance occurs when the rotational frequency is close to that of the natural radial frequency of the rator's vibration. If the rotor has a transverse moment of inertia greater than its polar moment, then there is an additional resonance, baying the farm of a conical vibration, that is, with the top of the rator moving to ano side while flue bottom of the rotor moves to the upposite side. Because superconducting bearings have low stiffness, the resonances occur at low frequencies on the order of several hertz. This, together with the large clearances posable with superconducting bearings, leads to a robust bearing system.

Figure 4 shows the COF as a function of rotational frequency. for a cylindrical permanent magnet levitated 10 mm above a single YBCO cylinder and spirining in a vacuum chamber. One may divide the hobavior into three regions; below the resonance, the radial resonance, and above the resonance. Below the resonance (f < 3 Hz), the losses are caused by the inhomagentity of the permanent magnet's field. The resonance ne gion (3-20 Hz), shown in Fig. 4, is relatively broad. In some systems, especially those with well-balanced rotors, the resonance is very partney. Above the resonance (>20 Hz), the losses are affected by an additional fusion which is caused by the rotation of the magnet about its center of mass rather than its under of geometry or center of magnetism. As shown in Fig. 4, above and below the resonance, the losses are mostly velocity-independent. However, detailed studies of losses in superconducting bearings show that small velocity-dependent offects are present which are intrinsic to the superconductors. (19, 21)

Because of size biolitations encountered when highperformance bulk superronductors are produced, a large hearing system needs an array of superconductors. In the rase of a single magnet levitated over an array of superconductors, an additional less arises from magnetization of the individual superconductors upon levitation. The magnetization of the array heads to an up magnetic field seen by the ortalizing permanent magnet and eddy current losses that depend on the electrical conductivity of the permanent magnet.

Some alternative hearing concepts that involve superconductors exhibit even lower COFs. The Evershei-type hybrid has a COF of just over 10⁻³ (22). The velocity-dependent losses associated with superconducting arrays are also greatly reduced with this hearing design. A mixed μ (where μ is the magnetic permeability) bearing (23) has a COF of just over 10⁻⁴. In this bearing, a soft ferromagnetic cylinder ($\mu > 1$) is levitated in attractive levitation between two permanent magnets and stabilized by a superconductor ($\mu < 1$) placed between the rotor and each of the permanent magnets.

APPLICATIONS

The availability of superconducting bearings that are so nearly friction: free naturally loads to their consideration for flywheel energy storage. Flywheels with conventional bearings typically experience high-speed iding (i.e., as power input or output, losses of the order of about 1G per hour. With superconducting bearings, it is helieved that losses as little as 0.1G per hour are achievable. When coupled with efficient motors/generators and power electronics (capable of losses as low as 4G on input and output), the patential exists for constructing flywheels with diurnal storage efficiencies of 90G. Probably only one other techinlogy is capable of achieving such high diurnal storage efficiencies: large superconducting magnetic energy storage, which employs superconducting calls hundreds of meters in diameter.

Electric utilities have a great need for inexpensive energy storage, such as flywheels, because their inexpensive baselinad capacity is typically underablized at hight and they most use expensive generating sources to most their peak loads during the day. A distributed network of diarnal-storage devices could also make use of underutilized capacity in transmission long at night and add robustness to the electric grid. These factors are expected to become more important in the coming deregulation of the electric utility industry. Efficient energy storage would also be beneficial to renewable energy technologies, such as photovoltaics and wind turbines.

With modern graphete fiber/epuxy materials, the inertial section of a flywhool rotates with rim speeds well in excess of 1000 m/s and achieves energy densities greater than those of advanced batteries. The kinetic energy in a (large) Frishossized flywheel with this run speed is about 1 kWh, and a personsized flywheel could store 20-40 kWh. Although design concepts for flywheels that employ superconducting bearings with up to 10 MWh have here proposed, the most advanced experimental versions at present pre in the 100 Wh to 1 kWh class.

Because superconducting levitation is versatile over a wide range of stiffness and damping, it has been suggested for nomerons applications. Superconducting bearings, like magnetic bearings, do not require a lubricant, which could be a major advantage in borsh chemical or thermal covironments. Superconducting bearings are particularly interesting for cryogenic turbopumps. The low friction of the superconducting bearing allows its use in high-precision gyrascopes and gravimeters. The hysteretic nature of superconducting levitation has suggested its use in discharg vehicles in space. As one vehicle approaches another it would experience a decelerating repulsive force. Affor the relative velocities have disappeared at a small separation distance, the vehicles would experience an attractive force if their distances tend to separate. The stable levitotional force suggests application in magnetically levitated conveyor systems in clean-room environments where high punty requirements mandate no mechanical contact. Trapped-field HTSs have been suggested for constructing vehicle magnets to be used in electrodynamic levitation of high-speed trains (see Magnetic Levitation).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. F. C. Moon, Superconducting Lecotation, New York, Wiley 1994
- J. R. Hull, guest editor, Applied Superconductivity, 2 (7/8) 1994. Contains several state-of-the-art papers on superconducting levitation and HTS flywheels.
- 3 T. D. Rossing and J. R. Hull. Magnetic levitation. The Physics Teacher, 29 (9): 552-552, 1991.
- E. H. Brandt. Rigid levitation and suspension of high-temperature superconductors by magnets. Am. J. Phys., 56: 43-49, 1990.
- J. R. Hull, Flywheels on a roll, IEBE Spectrum, 20+25, July 1997.
- S. Earnshow, On the nature of molecular forces which regulate the constitution of huminous other, Trans. Cambridge Phylos. Soc. 7: 98-112, 1842
- W. Braunbek, Freischwebende Körper im elektrischen und magnetischen Pold. Zeit. Physik, 112:753–763, 1939.
- Y. Arkedove, A floating magnet. Nature, 160, 350, 1947.
- P. N. Peters et al., Observation of enhanced purpleties in samples of silver oxide doped YBa2Cu3Ox. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 52, 2066–2067 1988.
- W. G. Harner, A. M. Hermann, and Z. Z. Shong, Levitation effects involving high Tethallinia based superconductors. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 53: 1119–1121, 1969.
- T. P. Sheahnn, Introduction to High-Temperature Superconduction II3, Chap. 14, New York. Plenum. 1994.
- M. Murakami, Melt Processed High-Temperature Superconductors, Singapore: World Scientific, 1992.
- 13 S. A. Dasanger, J. R. Bull, and T. M. Mulcahy. Amplitudedependence of magnetic stoff-tess in bulk high-temporature superconductors. Appl. Phys. Lett., 57, 2342–2344, 1990.
- J. R. Hull et al., Magnetic invitation and suffices in facilit centured, Y-Ba-Cu-O. J. Appl. Phys. 72, 20830-2080, 19892.
- P. Schenhuber and F. C. Moon, Levitation forces, stiffness and honestreep in VBCO high Te superconducting thin films, Appl. Supercond. 2, 523-564, 1984.
- [16] Z. J. Yeng, Lifting funces onling on magnets placed above a superconducting plane, J. Supermust., 5 (3): 259–271, 1992.
- A. A. Kordyuk, Magnetic levitation for hard superconductor-, J AppJ Fkys 88 (1) 610-612, 1998
- A. B. Riise, T. H. Juhansen, and H. Bratslaurg. The vertical magnetic force and stifferess here conincylindrical magnet and a high T_c superconductor. *Physics* C, 234: 108–114, 1994.
- Z. J. Yang and J. R. Bull. Energy associal superconducting bearing systems, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.* 7, 318–321, 1997.
- A. A. Kordvak and V. V. Nemeshkalenko, High-speed magnetic reture with HTS bearings for precision energy losses investigations, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.* 7: 926–931, 1997.
- C. E. Rassman, J. J. Budack, and B. R. Weinberger, Contribution of frictional losses of spinning levitated magnets with accorreptibility to high-temperature superconductors. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **70**, 255– 257, 1097.
- J. R. Hull, T. M. Mulcahy, and J. F. Lohots (he. Weberry dependence of rotational loss in Everyhed type superconducting bearing?, Appl. Phys. Lett. 70, 655-657, 1997.

 J. R. Hall et al., Low friction in mixed-mu superconducting bearings, J. Appl. 1968, 78: 6523-6638, 1995

> JOHN R. HULL Argonne National Luburatory

SUPERCONDUCTING MAGNETS FOR FUSION REACTORS

The magnetic confinement of plasma is the most promising option to use controlled nuclear fusion as a power source for future generations. A number of different magnetic field configurations have been proposed to achieve plasma ignition, all requiring high field strength over a large volume. Most of the experimental machines use conventional, copper windings operated in pulsed mode, to investigate the plasma physics. The advanced plasma experiments, as well as the future fusion reactors, call for long confinement time and high magnetic field, which can be reasonably maintained only by superconducting coils.

Unlike other applications of superconductivity, for fusion magnets there is no "aerinal conducting" alternative: whenever a magnetic confinement fusion power plant will operate, it will have superconducting windings. For this reason, fusion magnets are an unportant, long-term factor in the market of superconducting technology. Today, for NbTr based conductors, fusion is a nonnegligible share of the market, with over 5D t of strand recently used for the LHD and about 40 t committed for W7-X. For Nb₃Sn technology, two large devices, the T-16 tokamak and the ITER model coals, have used most of the conductor ever produced seach about 25 t of strand), being the driving input for the development of high performance Nb₃Sn strands.

The first use of superconducting coils in experimental fusion devices dates back to the and-1970a. In the last twenty-five years, six sizable devices for magnetic plasma confinement have been built with superconducting coils (see Table 1): T-7 and T-15 in the furmer Seviet Union, MPTF in the United States, TRIAM and LHD in Japan, and Tore Supra in France. In Germany, Wendelstein 7-X is under construction. Moreover, a number of developmental and prototype coils have been tested in the scope of [arge_international collaborations (large_coil task, demanstration poloigil coils, ITER model coils).

The operating requirement for fusion magnets may vary aver a broad range, depending on the kind of confinement and One size of the device (1), for example, from medium-field, pure de mode in the behead coils of the stellarators, to the high-field, fast rate in the central solenoid of the tokamaks. There is no general recipe for the magnet design, but a few contents issues can be identified. Long-term reliability calls for a conservative component design and generous operating margins. The maintenance by remote handling in a nuclear environment imposes strong restrictions to either repair or replacement of individual parts. Safety regulations are also a major issue for superconducting magnets in a fusion reactor: the design must account for any likely or less likely follow mode of the coil system and provide that it will not turn into a nuclear-grade accident. Last but not least, the cost of the magnets, which is a large fraction of the reactor cost, must be contained to be commercially competitive with other power sources

Only low-temperature superconductors have been considered to dote for use in fusion magnets at field amplitudes up

Table	1.	Summary	F al	Supercond	lucting	ΗI	gnei S	lystems	for .	бивіов	Devices
-------	----	---------	------	-----------	---------	----	--------	---------	-------	--------	---------

	Steand Weight (1)	Conductor Cooling	Stored Energy (MJ)	Peak Field (T)	Opernung Operent (kAt
Tokerask T-7	1	NhT#FF	20	5	6
Tukumuk T-15	25	Nb.Sa/FP	795	9.57	ьer
MFTF (all coils)	74	No.Sc (NbW/pool	1.000	2-32.73	1.5 ± 5.9
TRIAM	2	Nb Sn/osol	76	12	62
Tare Supra	13	NuTe/pool 1.3 K	600	9	14
LHD-Helical (2 coils*)	10	NhTi/pool 4.5(1.8 K	930 (1.650)	68.9.21	18.17.37
LHD-Prinidal (6 tools)	4.1	NETWEF	1 986	5-6.5	20.8-31 25
Wendelsten, 7-X	47	NETGEF	600	6	18

1 FT - Jurnel Bow

"Operation at superfluid beliefs is planned at a later stage.

Treating values, athreved on single tool sed

to 13 T. A substantially higher field, which would make actractive the use of high-temperature superconductors, is not likely to be proposed as the electromagnetic loads, roughly propostions) to the product of field, correct and radius, already set a practical limit for structural materials. It may sound surprising that the actual superconducting material cross-section is mustly smaller than 5% of the overall cod cross-section. The choice between NbTi and NigSn conductors is dictated by the operating field. The upper critical field of NbTh conductors is $\approx 10\,{
m T}$ at 4.5 K and $\approx 13\,{
m T}$ at 1.8 K. According to the design curreat density and the temperature margin, the operating field is set at least 3 T to 4 T below the upper critical field. In the conservatively designed fusion magnets, the peak field for NbTi conductors is up to > 9 T for coils cooled by a superfluid hehum bath (e.g., Tore Supra and LHD belical conist and up to >> 6 T for supercritical helium forced flow (e.g., W7-X and LHD) poloidal coils) At a higher operating field, the choice of Nb₁Sn conductors is mandatory to obtain adequate temperature margins and high current density. The increasing confidence in Nb₈Sn trobnology, as well as its slowly decreasing cost, tends to move down the field threshold for the NbT'i versus Nb₂Sn. Conductors based on Nb₁Al are in a developmental stage and may become an alternative to Nb₃Su for selected high-field magnets. teg,, the D-shaped toroidal field onlyt, hypanse of the better tolerance to bending strain

The wording packs may be either potted in epoxy resin or laid out as a spaced matrix of noninsulated conductors in a liquid belium bath. This last option offers the advantages of constant operating temperature and potential high stability due to the bath cooled conductor surface. The drawbacks are the pion stiffness of the winding and the limited operating volunges (the insulation relars on the helium as dielectric). The potted coils with forced-flow conductors have superior mechanical performance and may operate at higher voltage, as a rule of thumh. they become a mandatory option for stored energy in excess of 1 GJ to 2 GJ. The cable-in-conduct conductors became, in the last decade, the most popular option for forced-flow conductors because of the potential low relass and the good heat exchange due to the large wet surface. To withstand the mechanical and electromagnetic hads, the only are fitted in thick walled steel cuses, either welded or bolted. More structural material may be added, if necessary, both in the conductor cross-section and in whichng substructures, for example, places and cowound strips

The magnetic stored energy is very large, up to 130 GJ for the proposed magnet system of ITER. In case of a quench (local transition from superconducting to normal state), the stored energy must be dumped into an outer resistor to avoid an overheating and damage of the winding. A large operating current is needed to reduce the number of turns, that is, the winding inductance, and extract quickly the stored energy at a moderatly high voltage tup to 10 kV to 20 kV). The operating current density in the superconducting cross-section (NbTi or Nb₃Sn filaments). J_{20}^{μ} , is selected according to the specific design or isena to be a fraction of the rintical current density, J_{20} at the highest operating field. Typically, J_{20}^{μ} is in the range of 200 A/mm² to 700 A/mm², and $J_{10}^{\mu}/J_{10}^{\mu} = 0.3$ A/mm² to 0.6 A/mm³. The current density over the coil cross-section is over one order of magnitude smaller.

In the non-steady-state tokamak machines, the normal operating cycles and the occasional plasma disruption set additional, challenging requirements, in terms of mechanical futigue of the structural materials and pulsed field loads on the superconductors.

REVIEW OF SUPERCONDUCTING COILS FOR FUSION

Mirror Devices

In the last decade interest in the magnetic confinement in linear machine (mirror fusion) has strongly declined, but they were very popular in the 1970s. At the Kurchatov Institute in Moscow, a plasma trap named LIN 5 was hull in 1970 by a split solenoid system with 0.2 m enner diameter and 5.8 T peak field at 1 kA. In 1975, for the LIN-5B machine, a 5 tonne, bath-cooled baseball type coil was wound with 6 km of square, monolithic NbTi conductor, $6.2 \times 6.2 \text{ mm}^{-1}(2)$, at an operating current of 2 kA 175% of the shurt sample current), the peak field at the conductor is 5.6 T. The basic coil and emdocar design is very similar to the US Baseball II-T winding (see below).

In the United States, a superconducting magnetic morror apparatus (SUMMA) consisting of four coils with 0.9 m outer diameter, 8.6 T peak field, and 16 MJ stored energy was built by NASA in the early 1970s. At Livernum, the first superconducting baseball coil (Baseball II-T) was wound in 1971 with a square monolithic NeTi conductor, 6.35 × 6.35 mm²; the peak field in the peak boling cooled winding is 7.5 T at 2.4 kA, with a stored energy of 12 MJ.

The Mirror Fusion Test Facility (MPTF) (see Fig. 1) was assembled at Lawrence Lovermore National Laboratory in 1985 (3). It is the largest set of superconducting magnets for fasion,



Figure 1. The You-Yang coits being assembled at one end the nurror fusion test facility (courtesy of C. H. Henning, Lawrence Levermore National Laboratory)

with a total mass 5 1200 t and about 75 t of strand. It consists of S C-type couls, 12 low-field, and 4 high-field solenoids, including the A2 colls with a Nb₅Sn insert (see Fig. 2). All magnets are pool cooled at 4.5 K by natural convection, with two-phase contant outlet (>5% gas). The outs are all wound in the onl case, which acts as a cryostat, with ground insulation applied before wonding. In the Ym-Yang cods, the winding form is fitted into the thick case by a copper bladder filled with urethane. The turn insulation is provided by G10 spheers, the layer insulation by perforated G-10 plates. The conductors for the solenoids (two types of NbTi and one Nb₃Sn) consist of a thick multifilament composite soldered to the copper stabilizer (see Fig. 3). The joints are made by cold-welding of the composite. For the Yin Yang coils, the conductor is a square No'Fi monolith with a perforated Culstrip wrapped around and soldered to increase the wetted surface. The conductor for the pancake-wound No.5n insert, A21, is a flat multifilamentary composite soldered in the Cultousing after heat treatment (react and wind); the nator copper surface is axidized to prevent solder wetting. All the conductors are designed to be cryostable. The fraction of $L_{\rm in}/I_{\rm r}$ is always smaller than 2/3. After cool-down and successful commissioning of the magnet system, the project was discontinued in 1985. In 1990, the A2 rolls were extracted and reassanbled in the FENIX conductor test facility, which operated for three years at field levels as high as 13 T.

Tokamaks

The toroidal arrangement of plasma is the most promising confinement geometry, with the largest number of experimental devices, including the pinch and reverse pinch, the stellarator group of machines, and the tokamaks, where a torondal plasma corrent is initiated and sustained by a pulsed ohmic beating coil (central solenoid). Most of the superconducting magnets for fusion belong to the tokamak family, including four plasma experiments (Te7, Te15, TRIAM, Tore Suprat and a number of sizable technology demonstration devices (LCT, TESPE, DPC, Polo, ITER Model Coils:

The very first superconducting tokamak, named T-7, was Inult at the Kurchatov Institute. Moscow in 1975–1976 and first cooled down in 1977 (see Fig. 4). The toroidal winding system consists of 48 circular double pancakes, in aluminum case, with 60 turns in each coil. The average cell diameter is 1 m. the overall cold mass is 12 t and the stored energy 20 MJ at the nominal operation point. The torus was preaseembled into eight segments, individually tested before final assembly. The forced flow conductor (see Fig. 5), is made from a strip of nine copper pipes, 2 mm inner diameter, with 16 multifilamentary and 32 single-core NbTi strands sitting in the grooves between the proces and hunded to them by electroplating a 0.6 mm cooper layer up to the final size of 28×4.5 mm. The cooling is by two-phase helium at 4.5 K, with all the paneukes connected in parallel. A 15-mm-thick copper shell corrounds each coil and acts as an eddy currents shield for the poloidal field variations. The strands are not transposed and the conductor suffered from severe flux jumps, triggering quenches, during ramp up and ramp down. However, 80% of the design corrent (6 kA at 5 T peak field) was achieved. Operation of T-7 was discontinued at the Kurchutov Institute in 1987 Later, T-7 was transforred to the Chinese Institute of Plasma Physics, where it has been sperating since 1996.

The forcedal field code of the T-15 tokamak, first operated in 1986 pt the Kurehatev Institute in Moscow, are the largest worldwide application of Nb₂Sn conductors (see Fig. 6) (5). The 24 circular coils, with average diameter 2.4 m. consist each of 12 single pancakes, cooled in parallel, with the He inlet at the inner radius joints. The turn mendation is obtained by wet winding to believe the uneven conductor contour. Two stacks of six pancakes are vacuum impregnated in two-halves steel cases, eventually bolted together. The react and wind method was applied. The forced-flow conductor (see Fig. 5), is a flat cable of LL nonstabilized Nh-Sn strands, bonded after heat treatment to two ropper pipes by an electroplated Cu layer, 1.2 mm thick. Over 100 km of conductor have been manufactured, an units of 200 m. Each will was tested before assembly and wheread the specification, although a steady-state voltage was observed, by far larger than the junt valtage, in the range of $2.5~{
m mV}$ to 10mV/coil The design current in the tokamak is 5.6 kA al 9.3 T peak field. The limited size of the envoplant (allowing a mass flow rate of only 0.38 g/s conductor) and the large radiation loss limited the operating temperature to the range of 9 K to 10 K. The highest operation point was 3.9 kA at 6.5 T. 7 K to



Figure 2. The Axical roll configuration for the MFTF, with the Yor-Yang coils at the ends


Figure 3. Conductors for the MFTP rongnets from left to right: NbTi square conductor with enhanced wet surface for the M. T A1, and A20 cods, NhTi conductor for the S solenuids, react and wind Nh5Sn conductor for the A21 unstat. (See Fig. 2 for ead identification.)



Figure 4. The 24 double panetakes of 197 in the final assembly courtesy of V. Keilin, Kurchatav Instatutes.

 δ K, in agreement with the single-coll test and in excess of the original strand specification. The field transports due to plasma discuption, up to 40 T 's, were withstood without querieb, with an increase of the outlet temperature by 0.25 K. The design ground valtage is 1.5 kV. For fast discharge, 250 V was applied as the terminals, with a time constant of 104 s.

The TRIAM device at the University of Kyushu, Fukuaka (Japan), is a compact, high-field tokamak, first operated in 1986. The superconducting 16 D-shaped torondal field coils, with ~-1 in average perimeter, are cooled by a pressorized liquid become bath at 4.5 K. The poloidal field coils, would with



Figure 6. The 24 Nb₂Sa code of 7-15 assembled with the 12 herizantal parts to outery of V. Keilin, Kurchatay Institute:

normal conductor, are placed inside the TF coils. The magnet cold mass is 30 t. The toroidal field conductor (see Fig. 7), expsists of a large Nh₂Sn bronze sumposite (10.5 × 0.3 mm for high grade, over a half million filamental soldered after heat treatment in a copper bousing with roughened side surfaces to improve the heat exchange. Beside the copper bousing URRF = 900, a Cu clad high-purity Al profile (IRRF = 3000) is used as a stabilizer Each coil is a stack of six double paneakes, housed on a steed case. Three conductor grades, with the same width and decreasing height, are used with soldered joints for the doubit paneake. The conductor is designed to be cryostable and can withstand an energy input op to 7.8 J/rm^2 of the operating conditions: in case of plasma disruption, a normal zone



Figure 5. The formed flow conductors for T-7. Jeff and T-15 tokemaks, bouded by copper electroplating



Figure 7. Subleved monolithic conductors, stabilized, with high-purity eluminum profiles, for TIMAM (left) and the helical calls of LHD (right)

may locally excer ind is recovered within 0.8 s. At 6.2 kA, 11 T, the ratio L_m/l_s is 0.6. No quench event has been reported ofter three years of operation, including plasma disruptions (6).

The Inkamak Tore Supra has been assembled at Cadarache, France, in 1987 (7) The poloidal coils are wound from suppor conductors. The 18 pool coaled circular TF coils, wound from NUTi superconductor operating at superfluid beliam, are the largest magnet mass, 160 ton, cooled at 1.5 K. Each coil is made out of 26 double pancake, with an average doameter of 2.6 m (see Fig. 8). A cowound prepreg tape, 0.16 mm thick, is used for the turn insulation. The pancake spacers, 2.2 mm, are built by a performed prepreg thin plate with glued glass-epoxy bottoms. The ground insulation is obtained by overlapped prepreg plates. A 2-mm-thick steel case is shrink-fitted to the winding and contains the atmospheric, 1.8 K He bath. A thick steel case,



Figure 6. Wording pack toyout for the pool-cooled. NbTi tozoida) field coils of Tore Supra toxortesy of B. Torek, Tore Suprat

with thermal insulation, is shrink-fitted and cooled at 4.2 K. The conductor is a rectangular NbTi/Cu/CuNi multifilament. composite, 2.8×5.6 mm, wound on the short edge to minimize the ac loss from the poloidal field variation. The temperature margin is \sim 2.5 K, with $T_{\rm eff}$ = 4.25 K at 1400 A, 9 T peak field Little copper cross section is used in the conductor: for stability, the He bath enthalpy up to the < point is avoilable, due to the very high thermal conductivity of He II. The heat exchanger is placed undermeath the coil case, open only at the bottom. In case of quench, a He gas pressure builds on the top of the case/cryoscat, and siphons the whole He volume within 3 s through the bottom opening, providing a very fast quench propagation and limiting the hot spot temperature below 50 K. In 1988, about six months after first operation, an interpancake short occurred at one coil during a fast discharge, with 1.5 kV across the coil and ~60 V across pancakes, well below the expected Paschen minimum for belium. The damaged coil was later replaced with a spare coil and the dump vultage was decreased to 500 V in order to limit the pancake voltage to ~20 V, which was experimentally assessed as the safe threshold to pyoid interportative discharge. The poloidal field variations and the plasma disruption result in a componeture increase in the He]| bath as small as 0.01 K.

Besides the four above described tokamaks, a number of pmtotype superconducting coils have been built under national or international auspices. The demonstration coils provide valuable opportunities to learn about magnet and conductor technology in such projects, the pressure for a conservative design is less strong and the performance margins can be bet. ter explored than in a plasma experimental device. In the IEA Large Cod Task at the Oak Ridge National Laboratory (6), six large D-shaped magnets, 3×3.5 m bore, have been built to the same common specification using substantially different design. approaches (see Table 2). The coils, assembled as a tokamak (see Fig. 9), operated (1984–1985) all the same design part (8 T peak field (with margins ranging from 120% to 140%. For the first time, a calde in conduct Nb₂Sn conductor (react and wind cal manufacture) was used in a large-scale application and, despite the broad resistive transition observed in selected coil. sections (similar to T-15 behavior), the coil reached BT with T_{cs} = 8 K. The crypstellic conductors for the bath-moded coils (GD). GE, JA) could be easily graded (both layer and pancake windingstand, using soldered copper profiles as stabilizers, achieved impressive results in terms of effective use of strand: from 1.4. I of strand in the CE conductor to 8.2.1 in the forced-flow conductors of EU (NbTi) and WH (Nb₃Sn), cooled by supercritical

	-		· <u> </u>			
	GD	GE	WH	CH	ЕĽ	JA
Winding type	14 Inyers 3 gredes	7 double pan- enke 3 grades	4-in-band, 12 double pon cekee	22 pancakes	2-m-hand, 7 dou- hie pansakes	20 double pan- cake, 2 grades
Cooling method	Pool ooi ling	Pool Uniting	Rared Raw	Forced flow	Forced flow	Pool builting
Conductor	Soldered flot coble, no edge	Divided flat cable	Nb,Su cable-us- conduct	Square, soldered rable	Divaded, flat cable-un- canduat	Suldered list cable, us edge
Non-Cu J.,	596 A/mm²	525 A/mm ²	266 A/mm ²	302 Name	3953 Azmon ²	327 A/mm ²
Winding J.	27.4 A/mm ²	24.7 A/mm/	20 1 A/mm ²	89.5 A/meri	25 7 A/inin ⁱ	26.6 A/mm²
He inventory	2.320-1	1705 1	440 J	1.10-1	660 1	£495 J
Total weight	43.9 r	36.61	33.7 c	4171	39 r	રસ દ
SC strand	2 :	141	8.2 t	8.5 L	3.2 t	2.5 L
Test voltage	2 kV	2.5 kV	9.2 kV	JA KV	12 kV	0 kV
		-		-		

Table 2. Summary of the LCT Coil Characteristics

helium at 3.6 K. 10 bar to 15 bar. However, two out of three pool coded coils could not be dumped to the design voltage of 1 kV. The nuclear heat load was simulated by heaters on the inner radius. The poloidal field coil variations were reproduced by a pulsed coil traveling inside the torus the pulsed field test, with $\Delta B = 0.1$ T, $\Delta B_1 = 0.14$ T, $t_r = 1$ s, could be completed only for three coils (JA, CH, EU). Over 90% of the stored energy could be dumped in the external resistors, except for the WH coil, with short circuited radial plates.

At the same time of the LCT project, two small-size experiments with D-shaped coils were carried out at the Forschungszentrum Karlsrube (Germany) and at Toshiba (Japan). The six toroidal coils of TESPE at Karlsruhe (9) have a 0.5×0.6 m bare and are pool coded at 4.2 K (8 t Intal cold mass). The coils are wound as double parentices, shrink-fitted in steel housings insulated by glass spoxy laminate. The steel case is electron-beam welded and serves both as liquid belium container and mechanical remformment. The conductor is a soldered hat cable of 24 multifilament NoTi strands $\varphi = 1.45$ mm, operating at 7 kA, with a peak field of 7 I. The TESPE torus was first operated in 1984 with a test program facused



Figure 9. The six Dishaped 13°T code assumbled as a torus in the vacuous tank (courtesy of M. Lubell, Oak Ridge National Lubershry)

on mochanical load and high-voltage safety issues. The double pancake built by Toshiba (10) in 1983 had a Nb₃Sn cable-inconduit conductor, 18.3 \times 15.7 mms, with 486 strands, encased into a 1-mm-thick 316L street jacket. The D-shaped coil, 1.1 <0.9 m, was wound after heat teatment and tested at 10 kA, in a peak background field of 10 T, provided by a small split coil. The test included hydranice fraction factor and stability.

The most recent development project for tokamak's toroidal field coil is the ITER TF Model Coil, to be tested at the Forachungszontrum Karlsrube by the end of 1999 in the background field of the EU-LAT coil (11). The race-track-shaped coil, with 2.5 \times 1.4 here, has an overall weight of 31 t and a stored energy of 60 MJ at 70 kA (compared to >400 t and >4 GJ in an individual foll size ITER to main goal of the ITER TF Model Coil) are described to 12.5 T in ITER. The main goal of the ITER TF Model Coil is to demonstrate the winding technique, which uses precision-machined steel rabal plates where the pancake would Nb₂Sr rable-in-conduct conductor is encased after the Leat treatment (reset and transfer method).

The Demonstration Poloidal Coil (DPC) project at JAERI, Naka (Japan), amod at comparing conductor design options for pulsed-field coals. Three Nb₃Sn react and wind winding models. with $\phi_m = 1.3$ m. DPC-EX (12), US-DPC (13) and DPC (7.) (14) were tested in the DPC facility in polsed mode op to about 7 T to 8 T kandwiched between two pulsed NbT's solenoids (DPC-U). connected in series. The conductors are all forced-flow cable-inconduit (see Fig. 10). The jacket material is Jacoloy for the US-DPC model for the first time). The DPC-TJ had a double jacket. the outer one is 3-D machined without bending and fitted by spot-welding to the conductor after the heat treatment. The strand surface is bare copper for the DFC 13, and the coupling loss is 1000 times larger compared to the US-DPC and DPC-EX conductors, with Criplated strands (2 ms). Ramprate limitation was abserved in the US-DPC, probably due to transposition or rors in the cuble. The NbTi strands in the cable-in-conduit of the background coils were insulated to avoid interstrand coupling loss: the conductor surned to be unstable due to the inability to redistribute effectively the current among the strands.

The Polo col, a NbTi circular winding with $\phi \sim 3$ m, has been tested in 1994 as the Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe (Germany) (15). The cable-in-conduit conductor (see Fig. 10), has two separate hydraphic circuits: stagnant, supercritical He et 4 bar in the annular cable region and forced flow, 2 grs, two-phase He at 4.5 K in the central pipe. This design allows a homogeneous temperature along the conductor with a small pressure drop.



Figure 10. Selection of coole-m-conduct superconductors, drawn or the same scale. The strategie of Polo, LHD-OV and W7-X are NbTi, all the other are Nights attands. The jacket minterial is steel except for LTER (heroiog) and W7-X (abarmous) alloy).

The strand is a NbTi/Cu/CuNi composite and the subcables have CuNi or insulating barriers, resulting in very low cougling loss, $\tau = 210$ as. Four stainless-steel corner profiles are inser-welded around the cable. Phase resolved partial discharge was first used at 4 K to assess the integrity of the gluss-epixy insulation. A indpoint electrical connection in the winding enables to create very-high-field transients in a half coil by a fast discharge of the other half coil. The coil has been tested up to 15 kA, 3.6 T. A degradation of $I_{\rm c}$ by 30% in de operation hus been observed compared to the strand performance. Polo does not have ramp rate limitation, the stability criterion being the anly limiting reiterion. Very-fast field transient, up to 1000 T/s are withstood without quench. High-voltage operation, up to 23 kV, has been demonstrated.

The most recent paired-coll development for tokaniak is the ITER CS Model Coll (16), a layer-wound, two-in-hand solenoid to be operated at 46 kA, 13 T with 0.4 T/s field rate, schedaled to be tested at Naka (Japan) in 1999. The stored energy is 641 MJ, compared with 13 GJ in the full size central solenoid. The rondinetar is a Nb₂Sn coble-in-conduit with a thick-walled Incolog 905 jackrt, minufactured as excluded and drawn-down bars, assembled by hutt-wolding into a oversize pipe, up 10 250 m long the strand bundle is pulled into the jacket and eventually relied to the final size. The conductor is insulated by prepreg glass fabric with interleaved kopton foil, applied after the heat treatment by controlled unspringing of the individual layers.

Stellaratory

The plasma confinement can be achieved in stellarators by a number of winding configurations. The two Jarge projects using superconducting cods are the Large Helical Device (LHD). at Taki, Japan, and the Wendelstein VII-X (W7-X), in he assembled at Greifswald, Germany. The superconducting magnet system of LHD operates in do mode and consists of a two belical cods (17) wound around the toroidal vacuum vessel and threesets of circular polaidal calls (18). The helical coils are poolcooled, initial operation will be at 4,2 K, 6.9 T, 13 kA and, at a later stage, at 1.8 K, 9.2 T, 17 3 kA. A precision tool with 13 numerically controlled driving axes has been used to wind in situthe two helical coils (see Fig. 11). The turn and layer insulation is provided by glass epoxy spacers graded across the wording sack to provide the hest mechanical support in the stressed area and the largest wet conductor surface at the peak field the highest field and the highest mechanical stress are not at the same winding location). The conductor (see Fig. 7), is a NbTr flat cable soldered to a CuNr-cladded Al stabilizer into a copper housing, eventually scaled by two electron beam welds. The conductor is designed to be cryostable, with $I_{20}(I_c = 0.55)$. The forced-flaw conductor for the puloidal rule (see Fig. 10), is a NbTr cable-in-cenduit with 486 strands ($\phi = 0.76$ mm or 0.89 mm), 38% (and fraction. To improve the current sharing amoun strands, the surface is not casted, with a coupling loss constant of 000 ms. The temperature margin is 1.2 K to 1.6 K, I_{eq} , I_{e} 0.33. The joints between the conductor sections are realized by filament joining, resulting in 0.14 m2 resistance at full current. The OV coil, $\phi = 11.5$ m (see Fig. 12), has been wound an the site, with property furm mandatum. The first operation of the LHD was specessfully started in March of 1998.

The magnet system of the W7-X torus consists of 50 nonplanar and 20 planar code associated in five modular segments (19). A first marplanar model cril was completed in 1997 and tested in 1995. The completion of the marking is scheduled by the year 2003. The forced-flow conductor to be used for all the code (see Fig. 16), is a N9Ti cable-m-conduit with 243 strends, $\varphi = 0.57$ mm, 373 void fraction. The square jacket is made of a hordenable Al alloy, coextructed around the rable: it is soft after extruction and during the winding process. After handening at 170 C, it provides the required stiffness to the wording park. The temperature margin is >1 K and $I_{ee}/I_{e} = 0.5$



Figure 11. Winding tool with 13 numerically controlled axes for the helical control the L5DD (courtery of K, Takabata, NIFS).



Figure 12. The OV poloidal field call of the LHD countriesy of K. Takabata, NIFS (

CRUCIAL ISSUES FOR THE DESIGN OF FUSION MAGNETS

Electrical insulation

The very high level of neutron and gamma radiation at the vacuum vessel of a fusion reactor must be acroened to limit. the nuclear heat load and the radiation damage at the winding components. The size of the shuld (up to 1 m thick in the 1 FER project) may have a substantial impact on the size and cost of the superconducting magnets. After screening, the radiation damage on the metallic components of a superconducting col-(steel, appen NHTi and Nb₈Su), is not critical and partly recovtrate E, for opport upon warming up at mora temperature. The actual weak link for radiation damage is the organic fraction of the electrical insulation. In putted windings, the glass-epoxy is breadly used, either as laminates or prepreg wraps or vacuumimpregnated fabrics, to hand together the winding turns and to provide the required dielectric strength. The neutron and gamma act on the long nodecular chaig of the resm, irreversibly, breaking the atomic links. The mechanical strength of the composite, mostly the shear strongth, is affected and macroscopic cracking may occur under operating hads, eventually usading to a short circuit between winding sections. To brait this risk, the magnets must be designed to have low stress in the insulation, that is, limit the mak of enrok propagation. Another design, approach is to separate the mechanical and electrical functions, for example, including a redundant electronal insulation layer. either interleaved or overlapped to the glass-opexy to stop the crack propagation in the resin. The free radicals originated from the broken organic polymers are chemically active and evolve into gasenus molecules. The most severe consequence of indistion induced chemical reactions at 4 K is the anonumla-Los of frazen gas bubbles/ mostly hydrogen (1) pon warming-up of large windings, the internal pressure of the evolved gas increases dramatically due to the little permeation and may head eventually to swelling in the insulation (20). A possible cure against postimatiation hazards of organic insulation is to reduce the reain volume fraction and select the resin composition. to minimum the gas evolution rate. On the other hand, there is a broad relactance to start an expensive and time-suproming task for the industrial development of innovative insulation systems, which will be actually needed only when a fusion reneter will work at full power on a time scale of several years. The full replacement of organic insulation systems by commit materials with adequate mechanical properties may be the allimate, long-term goal to solve the issue of the electrical insulation in the heavily irradiated fusion magnets.

Quench Protection

In case of quench, the huge amount of energy stored in a fusum magnet must be actively dumped in an outer resistor. If a quanch fails to be detected, the ohmic power locally dissipated in the slowly expanding normal zone is sufficient within meminute or less to mell the conductor and start a chain of scrimis failures (vacuum break, clertric are, mechanical collapse). A number of quench detectors have been developed and are currently applied in superconducting magnets, from the casy mes (voltage balance of different winding sections, manitoring of outlet mass flow rate) to the most sophisticated, including the laser interference on optical fibers used as distributed there numeter, transmission, and reflection of super high-frequency waves in the coulant channel, accustic emission, magnetization change at the normal zone (21). However, a redundant and m trusive instrumentation is not welcome in a fusion repeter, as it may increase the risk of leaks and insulation failure, due to the large number of feedthrough required. Whatever the quench detector is, the oltimate question always arises. What happens if the active quench protection fails? The design approach for an actual fusion magnet (i.e., not for an experimental device). will need to offer both a reliable and robust quench-protection. system and a conductor/magnet layout that intrinsically limits the damage in case of failure of the protection system, for example, enhancing the quench propagation and the entiry by at internediate temperature.

Cost Optimization

In several applications of the superconducting magnets (e.g., accelerators, detectors, high-field magnets, probatypes), the achievement of the technical goal is the main care of the designed, while the cost of the device does not play a major role. However, after completion of the demanstration phase for the fusion magnets, the cost optimization will be a key issue for the connectual success of fusion. On one side, the behavior of the superconductor needs to be mastered by the designer (e.g., ac loss, stability, mechanical properties), in order to set the design margins at a sofe but reabstic level and make effective use of the expressive superconductors. On the other hand, the choice of the manufacturing methods and looling may have a very strong impact on the cost of the coil and should be included as a driving factor in the design. Two examples are given to show how a design choice may affect the cost

A high electrical conductivity material (stabilizer) needs to be added to the superconductor cross-section, to allow effective current-sharing and fast recovery for small thermal disturbances. The required stabilizer cross-section may be much larger than the superconductor. In cable-in-conduit conductors, the straight choice is to equally distribute the stabilizer cross-section in each superconducting strand, specifying a high Cultion-Cultatio, However, the cost of the Nb₂Sn strand is and cpendent of the copper ratio. If the designer masters the mechanism of the current-sharing among strands and knows the operating values of the interstrand resistance, he or she may select a much smaller Connon-Cullratio in the Nb₃So strand and add extra copper wires in the strand bundle. Keeping the same superconductor cross-section, that is, without affecting the operating margins, the amount of Nb₂St strand can be significantly reduced with a large cost saving.

A Nb₂Sn conductor needs a brait treatment at 650 $\,{
m C}$ to 700 $\,{
m C}$ to form the brittle intermetallic composite by solid-state diffusum. If the designer does not master heat resistant electrical insulation systems, he or she will conservatively choose to first heat-treat the conductor and then insulate it and wind in the final shape (e.g., react and wind or wind and react and transfer methods) As the Nb₃Sn after heat treatment is degraded for permanent deformation as large as 0.2% to 0.3%, the handling for post-beat treatment insulation and final assembly requires sophisticated tooling and continuous adjustment (e.g., shimming of each turn) to achieve the required tolerance with munmun strain on the conductor. If a reliable insulation system is scleated, compatible with the heat treatment procedure, the coil can be wound in the final form and to the final tolerance before the heat treatment (wind and react method), saving the cost of a large number of tools and manufacturing steps and avoiding the risk associated to the post-heat-treatment bandling

Risk and Quality Assorance

Large superconducting magnets are usually unique items for which a thorough quality assurance program cannot be convenjently established in advance, as as the case for series production, due to the lack of sterative suprovements in the manufacturing procedures. The global acceptance tests of the magnets tend to replace the quality assessment of the individual procedures, achievable only on the basis of a broad statistical database. However, an individual acceptance test of a fusion magnets cannot reproduce all the actual operating conditions, for example, mechanical loud and peak field from other coils, nuclear radiation, mechanical and thermal cycling. Moreover, a global acceptance test should not be pushed to the failure limit. that is, the operating margin cannot be assessed. The lack of confidence may push the designer in a circle of overconservative choices, for example, assuming minimum performance for maternal properties, welds, assembly tolerances, which adversely, affect the cost and the effectiveness of the design. To avoid this trend, the designer should identify the critical area for quality assurance and schoot a low risk design and procedure. For example, the resistance of a joint between conductor sections. cannot be checked during the manufacture. In this cuse, the

designer should aim for a joint layout where the resostance performance is only marginally affected by incorrect assembly proredure.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. E. Teller (ed.), Fusion, New York: Academic Press, 1981.
- N. A. Chernopleinv. Superconducting magnet systems for plasma physics research in the USSR, Proc. Magnet Technology Coof, MT-6, 3 Bratislava, Czechoslovakas, 1977
- T. A. Kozman et al., Magnets for the mirror fusion test facility: Testing of the first Yin-Yang and the design and development of the other magnets. *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 19: 859, 1993.
- D. P. Ivanov et al., Test results of "tokamak-7" superconducting imagnet system (SMS) sections. *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 16: 550, 1979.
- E. N. Bondarchuk et al., Tukamuk-15 electromagnetic system: Design and test results, *Plasma Device Oper*, 2 (1), 1992.
- Y. Nakaoutra et al., Beliable and stable operation of the high field superconducting lokannik TRLAM-1M, Proc. Magnet Technol. Conf. M7411, 767 Tuskuba; New York, Elsevier, 1900.
- B. Turck and A. Tornsatan, Operating experience of Ture Supra superconducting magnets, Proc. 15th IEEE (NPSS SOFE, Hyannis, MA, 1994, p. 303
- 8. The IEA Large Call Task, Fasion Eng. Des., 7 (1-2) (1-229, 1988.
- K. P. Jacogst et al., Superconducting torus "TESPE" at design values, Proc. Magnet Technol. Conf. MT-9, 36 Zurich, 1985.
- M. Yamaguchi et al., Development of a 12 Threed-cooling turoidal field coil, Proc. IEEE 10, Helsenki, 1984, p. 169.
- E. Salpretro et al., Construction of a nomidal field model coil. (TPMC) for ITER, Proc. Magnet Technol. Conf. MT-15, Benjug, 1967.
- Y. Takahashi et al., Experimental results of the Nb₃Sn demupoleidal corl (II)PC-EX), Cryogenics, 81: 640, 1391.
- M. M. Sterves et al., Teat results from the No-Sn US-domonstration pulcidal cuil. Adv. Cryog. Kog., 37A: 545, 1982.
- 14 M. One et al., Charging sext results of the DFC-TJ, a high currentdensity large superconducting coil for fusion machines, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 3: 490, 1993.
- M. Darweschsad et al., Development and text of the poloidal field prototype call POLO at the Forschungszentrum Karlsrube, *Fusion Eng. Des.*, 86: 227, 1997.
- 16 N. Mitchell et al., ITRR CS madel coil project, Proc. 16th JCEC/JCMC, Kitakyusha, New York: Elsevier, 1997, p. 763.
- S. Imagowa et al., Helical cods for UID, Proc. Symp. Cryogenic Syst. for Large Scale Superconducting Applications, Toks. NIPS-PBOC-26, 1996, p. 112
- K. Takahata et al., Lopoidal coils for the Large Helient Device (LHD), Proc. Symp. Cryogenic Syst for Large Scale Superconducting Applications, Taki, NIFS PROC 28, 1996, p. 118.
- J. Sapper, The superconducting magnet system for the Wondelstran 7-X stellarator, Proc. Annu. Meeting Amer. Nuclear Soc (ANS), Beau, NV, 2006
- D. Evans, R. P. Reed, and N. J. Simon, Possible hazards following gradiation of superconducting magnet insulation, *Proc. 16th* (CEC/ICMC: Niteleytishin, New York: Elsevier, 1997, p. 2017.
- A Anghel et al., The quench experiment on long length. Final report to ITER, Villigen PSI, 1997.

Piraturiot Brotzone Centro de Becherches en Poysique du Plasma

SUPERCONDUCTING MAGNETS FOR PARTICLE ACCELERATORS AND STORAGE RINGS

LYPES OF PARTICLE ACCELERATOR

Accelerator Systems

One of the main activities in nuclear and high-energy physics is the study of internal structures of charged particles. The research is curried out by smashing particles into pieces and then analyzing the nature and characteristics of the pieces. The particles are broken by accelerating them to high moments and either blasting them against a fixed target or colliding them among themselves. To increase the event rate, the particles are borched into a high-intensity beam. The more elementary the particles, the higher the energy needed to smash them. Experiments at the proton scale require beam energies of the order of 1 TeV or more.

The bourns of charged particles are produced by accelerator systems made up of several stages, which progressively raise the energy. In the largest machines, the last stage of the accelerator chain, usually referred to as main ring, on have a viroumference of several tens of kilometers and is installed in an underground tunnel. Such a ring is operated in three phases: Disspection, during which the beam, which has been prepared. in various proceedierators, is injected at low energy, (2) accelleation, during which the beam is accelerated to numinal energy. and (3) storage, during which the beam is circulated at nominal energy for as long as possible (typorally up to 24 h) and is made available for physics experiments. As mentioned above, there are two types of experiments. (1) facil-target experiments, for which the beam is extracted from the main ring to be blasted against a fixed target, and (2) colliding beam experiments, for which two counterrotating beams are blasted at each other. The broakage products are analyzed in large detector arrays surrounding the targets or collision pairits.

A main ring of a large accelerator system is designed as a synchrotron type accelerator, and the beam is circulated on an ideally circular orbit, which remains the same throughout injection, acceleration, and storage (1). The charged particles are accelerated by means of electrical fields and are guided and focused by means of magnetic fields. The electrical fields are provided by RF cavities. In large machines, the bending and focusing functions are separated; the former is provided by dipole magnets, whereas the latter is provided by pairs of locosing/defocuting quadrupole magnets (see the discussion that follows). The magnets are arranged around the ring in a regular lattice of cells, which are made up of a facusing guadrupple, a set of bronking dipples, a defocusing quadrupple, and another set of bending dipoles. During acceleration, the field and field gradient of the magnets are ruised in proportion to particle concertum to maintain the beam on the design orbit. and to preserve its size and intensity.

Broking and Focusing Magnets

Coordinate System Definitions. Let (O, μ, v, w) designate a rectangular coordinate system, and let (C) be a circle of center O, located in the (μ, v) plane and representing the design orbit of an accelerator ring. Furthermore, let P be a given point of (C), and let (P, x, y, z) designate a rectangular coordinate system associated with P, such that x is a unit vector parallel to (OP).

y and to are one and the same, and z is tangent to (C) at P. The z axis defines the borrzontal direction, the y axis defines the vertical direction and the z axis corresponds to the main direction of particle motion.

Normal Dipole Magnet. A normal dipole magnet is a magnet, which, when positioned at P_{n} produces within its aporture a magnetic flux density parallel to the (x, y) plane and such that

$$B_i = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad B_i = B_i \tag{1}$$

where B_i and B_j are the x and y components of the flux density and B_j is a constant

According to Larentz' law, a charged particle traveling along the direction of the z axis through the operture of such a magnet is deflected on a circular trajectory parallel to the horizontal (x, z) plane. The trajectory radius of curvature z can be estimated from

$$\ell \approx \frac{E}{0.3 q B_1}$$
 (2)

Here, y is in moters, B_1 is in teslas, φ is the particle charge in units of electron charge, and E is the particle energy in gigarlectron-vults (GeV). The effect of a dipole magnet on a beam of charged particles is similar in some respects to that of a prism on a light ray.

Equation (2) shows that, to maintain a constant radius of curvature as the particle is accelerated, the dipule field most is ramped up in proportion to particle energy.

Normal Quadrupole Magnet. A summal quadrupole magnet, is a magnet, which, when positioned at P, produces within its aperture a magnetic flux density parallel to the (x, y) plane and such that

B, gy and
$$H_{\lambda} = gr$$
 (3)

where *µ* is a constant referred to as the *quadrupole field gradi*ent (in testos per meter).

According to Lorentz' law, a hear of positively charged particles traveling along the direction of the z axis through the aperture of such a magnet is horizontally focused and vertically defocused when g is positive, and vertically focused and horizontally deformed when g is negative. In reference to its action along the voxis on a beam of positively charged particles traveling in the z direction, a magnet with a positive gradient is called a *focusing* quadrupole, while a magnet with a negative gradient is called a *deforming* quadrupole. To obtain a net focusing effect along both x and y axes, focusing and deforms ing quadrupoles must be alternated in the magnet lattice. For either type of quadrupole magnets, the focal length f can be estimated from

$$l \geq \frac{E}{0.3qg \zeta_1}$$
(4)

Here, f is in meters, E is in GeV, q is in units of electron charge, g is in testas per meter, and l_q is the quadrupole magnetic length in meters. The effect of focusing/defocusing quadrupoles or a beam of charged particles is similar to that of convex/oncave lenses on a light ray.

Equation (4) shows that to maintain f constant as the particle beam is accelerated, the quadrupple field gradient must be ramped up in proportion to be an energy.

PARTICLE ACCELERATORS AND SUPERCONDUCTIVITY

Why Superconductivity?

Throughout the years, the quest for elementary particles has promoted the development of accelerator systems producing beams of increasingly higher energies. Equation (2) shows that, for a synchrotron, the particle energy is directly related to the product χB_1 . Hence, to reach higher energies, we must increase either the accelerator radius or the dipole field for both). Increasing the accelerator radius means a bigger tunnel. Increasing the dipole field above 2 T implies the use of superconducting magneta. The trade-off between tunneling costs, magnet devel opment costs, and accelerator operating costs is, since the late 1970s, in favor of using superconducting magnets generating the highest possible field and field gradient (2).

Superconductivity is a unique property exhibited by some materials at low temperatures when the resistivity drops to zero. As a result, materials in the superconducting state out transport current without power dissipation by the Joule effect. This offers at least two advantages for large magnet systems such as those needed in accelerator main mags: (1) segnificant reduction in electrical power consumption and (2) the possibility of relying on much higher overall current densities in the magnets emis. There are, however, at least three drawbacks in using superconducting magnets: (1) the superconductor generates magnetization effects that result in field distortions that have to be corrected (see section on field quality), (2) the magnets must be coaled down and maintained at low temperatures. which requires large cryogenic systems (see section on magnet cooling), and (3) it may happen that an energized magnet, initially in the superconducting state, abruptly and arreversably switches back to the normal resistive state in a phenomenon referred to as a guench (see section on quench performance).

The occurrence of a quench causes an instantaneous beam loss and requires that all or part of the magnet ring be rapidly ramped down to limit conductor beating and possible damage in the quenching magnet (see section on quench protection). Once the quenching magnet is discharged, it can be cooled down again and restored into the superconducting state, and the machine operations can resome. A quench is soldon fatal but is always a serious disturbance. All most be done to prevent it from happening, and all continues must be taken to ensure the safety of the installation when it does hoppen

Review of Superconducting Particle Accelerators

Tevatron. The first large-scale application of superconductivity was the Tevatron, a proton synchrotron with a triaumforence of 6.3 km built at Fermi National Accelerator Laboratory (FNAL) near Chicaga, IL, and commissioned in 1988 (3). The Tevatron now operates as a proton/antiproton collider with a maximum energy of 900 GeV per beam. It relies on about 1000 superconducting dipole and quodrypule magnets, with a maximum operating dipole field of 4 T (4).

HERA. The next large porticle arcelecator to rely massively on superconducting magnet technology was HERA (Hadron Electron Ring Anlage) built at DESY (Deutschee Elektronen-SYnchrotron) near Hamburg, Germany, and commissioned in 1990 (5), HERA is an electron/proton collider with a circumference of 6.3 km. It includes two large rings; (1) an electron ring, relying on conventional magnets (maximum energy: 30 GeV), and (2) a proton ring, relying on superconducting magnets (maximum energy: 820 GeV). The maximum operating field of the superconducting dipole magnets is 4.7 T (6).

UNK. Since the early 1980s, the Institute for High Energy Physics (IHEP) located in Protvino, near Moscow, Russin, has been working on a proton accelerator project named UNK (Uskoritelina-Nakopiteliny Komplex). The circumference of the UNK main ring (s 21 km for a maximum energy of 3 TeV in a fixed target mode (7). The maximum operating dipole field is 5 T (8). A number of superconducting dipole and quadrupole magnet prototypes have been built and cold-tested, and the tunnel is almost completed, but, given the present (1998) economic situation in Russia, the future of the machine is undecided.

SSC. In the mid 1980s, the United States started the Superconducting Super Collider (SSC) project, a grant proton-proton collider with a maximum energy of 20 TeV per beam (9). The last stage of the SSC complex would have been made up of two identical rings of superconducting magnets installed on top of each other in a tunnel with a circumference of 87 km. The maximum operating dipole field was 6.8 T. The project was eventually canceled in October 1990 by decision of the US Congress, after 12 miles of tunnel had been dug near Dallas. TX, and a successful superconducting magnet R&D program had been carried out (10)

RMIC. Hroukhaven National Eaboratory (BNL), heated on Long Island, NY, will complete the construction in 1999 on its sate of the Relativistic Honey fon Collider (REIIC). REIIC is designed to collide beams of nuclei as heavy as gold, accelerated in two identical rungs to energies between 7 and 100 GeV per beam and per unit of atomic moss (11). Each ring has a circumference of 3.6 km; the maximum operating dipole field as 3.4 T (12).

IHC. In December 1994, the European Laboratory for Particle Physics (Cl6RN) approved the construction of the Large Hadran Callider (LHC) in its existing 27-km circumference tunnel located at the Swiss/French border, near Geneva, Switzerland (13), LHP will be a proton/praton collider with a maximum energy of 7 TeV per beam. It will have a single ring of so-called *neur aperture* superconducting magnets, housing within the same mechanical structure, the pipes for two counternating proton beams (14). The maximum operating dipole field is set at 8.36 T. Commissioning is planned for 2005.

Prominent Features of Superconducting Accelerator Magnets

Selected parameters of the major projects of superconductoug particle accelerators are summarized in Table 1, whereas Fig. 1(a e) presents cross-sectional views of the 'Devacion, HERA, SSO, RHIC, and LHC dipole magnets (15).

The magnets rely on similar design principles, which are detailed in the following sections. The field is produced by suddle shaped coils that, in their long straight sections, approximate cos m distributions of conductors with n = 1 for dipole magnets.

The restriction of the second s								
Laboratory	FNA).	DESY	1HEP	SSCL	BNL	CERN		
Nome	Tevatron	HERA	UNK	SSC	RHIC	LHC		
Circumference (km)	63	63	21	57	3.8	27		
Particle type	ផុធ	CP.	P P	₽₽	heavy ions	pp		
Energy/beam (TeV)	0.9	0.62	3	20	up to 0.14	7		
Number of dipoles	774	416	2168	7944	264	12325		
Aperture (nun)	76.2	75	70	50	80	50		
Magnetic length (m)	£.1	8.6	5.8	15	9.7	14.2		
Fashd (37)	4	4.68	5.9	6 79	3.4	6.3		
Number of quadrupoles	218	256	322	1696	276	386'		
Aperture (mm)	98 Q	75	70	50	30	56		
Mugnetic length((m)	17	19	3.0	4.7	1.1	3.1		
Gradient (T/m)	7ä	91.2	97	194	71	221		
Constraissoning	1984	1999	undecider	cancelled	1999	2005		

Table 1. Selected Peremeters of Major Superconducting Perticle Accelerators

Per unit of atomic mass.

¹ Two insults: magnetics.

Qualtupoles come in several lengths.

and n = 2 for quadrupple magnets). The cods are wound from Rutherford-type cables made of NbTi multifilamentary strands. and are merbanically restruined by means of laminated collars. The collared-coil assembly is placed within an iron yoke providing a return path for the magnetic flux. In the case of the Tevaluun, the collared conl assembly is cold, whereas the iron yoke is warm. Storting with HERA, the iron yoke is included. in the magnet cryostat, and the cold mass is completed by an outer shell delimiting the region of belium circulation. The cold mass of the LHC magnets includes two collared-coil assemblies within a common voke, Tevatron, HERA, UNK, SSC, and RHIC magnets are coded by building belium at 1 alm (4.2 K) or supercritical helmin at 8 atm to 5 arm (between 4.5 K and 5 K).



50 14.2 6.36

Superconducting Accelerator Magnet K&D

A number of laboratories are presently involved in R&D work on high field or high field gradient accelerator magnets. Among them is Twente University, located near Enachade in the Netherlands, which, in 1995, cold-Lasted at CERN r short model. dipole magnet (made with Nb₂Sn cable), which reached 11 T on its first guench at 4.4 K (16). Soon after, in early 1997, Lawrence. Berkeley National Laboratory (LBNL), located in Serkeley, ('A., cold-tested a short dapole magnet mixlei tatsi made with Nb₈Sn cable), which, after a number of training quenches, reached a record dipole field of 13 5 T at 1.8 K (17).

CONDUCTOR AND CONDUCTOR INSULATION

Superconducting Material

The must widely used superconducting material is a metallic alloy of mobium and titanium (NbTi), with a Ti content between 45% and 50% in weight (18). NbTi is easy to mass-produce and has good mechanical properties. It is a type-II superconductor, with a coherence length s of 5 nm, and a London penetration depth & of 300 nm (chapter 2 of Ref. 2).

The upper orderal magnetic flux density of NbTi, Bey, can be estimated as a function of temperature T using

$$R_{\rm C2}(T) = R_{\rm C20} \left[1 - \left(\frac{T}{T_{\rm C0}} \right)^{1/2} \right] \tag{5}$$

where B_{c2n} is the upper critical magnetic flux density at zero. to operatore (about 14.5 T) and T_{10} is the critical temperature at zero field (about 9.2 K).

The critical current density of NhTi, $J_{\rm Ci}$ can be parametrized. as a function of temperature, magnetic flux density, B, and



Figure 1. Cross-sectional views of superconducting dipole magnets for large particle accelerators (15) (a) Tevatron, (b) HERA (a) SSC (d), RHIC, and (e) LHC.

critical current density at 4.2 K and 5 T, $J_{\rm CDP}$, using .199

$$\frac{d_0(B,T)}{d_{0+1}} = \frac{C_0}{B} \left[\frac{B}{B_{12}(T)} \right]^2 \left[1 - \frac{B}{B_{12}(T)} \right]^4 \left[1 - \left(\frac{T}{T_{01}} \right)^{1/2} \right]^2 \quad (6)$$

where C_0 , σ , β , and γ are fitting parameters. (Typical values for LHC strands are $C_0 = 30$ T, $\nu = 0.6$, $\beta = 1.0$, and $\gamma = 2.0$.) Since the time of the Tevatron, a factor of about 2 has been gained on the critical current density at 4.2 K and 5 T, and values in excess of 3000 A/mm² are now obtained in industrial production (20).

The highest dipole field reached on a NbTs magnet is 10.54 T at 1.77 K (21) Magnet designers consider that this is about the limit for NbTi and that to produce higher fields, it is necessary to change the material. The only other material that is readily available at (small) industrial scale is an intermetal. lie compound of niobium and tin (Nb₃Sn) belonging to the A15 crystallographic family (18). Nb₂Sn presents interesting superconducting properties (e.g., its opper critical field at zero temperature and zero strain is in excess of 25 TV (22). However, its formation requires a heat treatment as temperatures up to 700 C for times up to 300 h. Furthermore, once it is reacted, it becomes very brittle, and its superconducting properties are strain-sensitive Hence, Nb₃Sn calls for special fabrication techimpues, which, so far, have limited its use. In recent years, sigmilicant R&D work has been carried out to suprove the performance of Nb₂Sn wires, thanks to the international Thermonia clear Experimental Reactor (ITER) program (20.24).

Although great progress has been made in the development of so-ralled high temperature superconductor (HTS), such as bismuth copper oxides, $Bi_2Sr_2CaCu_2O_2$ and $(Ri_1Pb_2Si_2Ca_2Cu_1O_2)$ and $yitrium copper oxides, <math>YBa_2Cu_1O_3$, these materials are not ready yet for applications requiring low-coat, mass-production, and high-critical correct density (25).

Rutheriord-Type Cable

Superconducting accelerator magnet coils are wound from socalled Ratherford-type cables. As illustrated in Fig. 2(a), a Kutherford type cable consists of a few tens of strands, twisted together, and shaped into a flat, two-layer, slightly keystoned opble (26). The strands themselves consist of thousands of soperconducting filaments, twisted together and embounded in a matrix of normal metal (18). Except for the cubics used in a few R&D model magnets, the filaments are made of NbTi, and



(**b**) (

Figure 2. Rotherfund-type rable for accelerator magnet (a) cable shetch and the cross-sectional view of a cable strand

the matrix is high-purity copper. The strand diameter ranges from 0.5 mm to 1.3 mm, and the filament diameter ranges from 5 μ m to 15 μ m. Figure 2(b) presents a cross-sectional view of a typical SSC strand.

The small radii of curvature of the coil ends preclude the use of a monolithic conductor because it would be too hard to bond. A multistrand cable is preferred to a single wire for at least four reasons: (1) it limits the piece length requirement for wire manufacturing to coil wound with a N-strand cable requires piece lengths which any 1/N shorter than for a similar coil wound with a single wire), (2) it allows strand-to-strand current redistribution in the case of a localized defect or when a querich originates in one strand (27,28), (3) it limits the numberof turns and facilitates coil winding, and (4) it limits coil inductance (the inductance of a coil wound with a N-strand cable is $1/N^2$ smaller than that of a similar coil wound with a single wire). A smaller inductance reduces the voltage requirement on the power supply to romp-up the magnets to their operating current in a given time and limits the maximum voltage to ground in case of a quench (see quench protection section). The main disadvantage of using a cable is the high operating correct lover a few thousand unperest, which requires large current supplies and large current leads.

The manusaues for strand design and manufacturing are (1) exper-to-superconductor ratio, which should not be too small to limit conductor heating in case of a quench while achieving a high overall critical current, (2) filament size, to limit field distortions resolting from superconductor magnetization at low field (see section on field quality): (3) superconductor entired current density, which can be improved by improving pinning and filament uniformity (15) and (4) piece length.

The main issues for cable design and fabrication are (1) compaction, which should be large enough to ensure good mechanical stability and high overall correct density while lowing enough void (typically a few percent in volume) for liquid helium cooling; (2) control of outer dimensions to achieve suitable ceil geometry and mechanical properties; (3) limitation of critical correct degradation due to strand and filament deformations at the cable edges (29,30), and (4) control of interstrand resistance, which should not be too small to hunt field distartions induced by coupling currents while comping (see accuration field quality) and should not be too large to allow current redistribution among rubbe strands.

The interstrand resistance can be madified by oxidizing an by ceating the strand surface (31.32). Also, a thin, insulating foil (such as standless steel) can be inserted between the two-strand layers of the cable (30). The strands used in HERA and LHC cables are coated with a silver-tin solder, called *stabric*. Unlf of the strands of the Tevatron cable are coated with atabrite, whereas the other half are insulated with a black copyer or ide, called *chand*. UNK, SSC, and RHIC cables rely on natural oxidation. Up to now, no foiled cable has been used in a magnet.

Note that at the end of cabling, the high purity copper of the strand matrix is heavily cold worked and that it may require an annealing procedure.

Cable Insulation

The main requirements for cable insulution are (1) good disloctric strength in a helium environment and under high transverse pressure (up to 100 MPa), (2) small thickness (to maximize overall current density in the magnet call) and good physical uniformity (to ensure proper conductor positioning for field quality), (3) retention of mechanical properties over a wide temperature range (from lachum temperature to coll curing temperature—see the discussion that follows), and (4) ability to withstand radiation in an accelerator environment. In addition, the insulation system is required to provide a means of landing the coll turns together to give the roll a cemirigid shape and facilitate its manipulation during the subsequent ateps of magnet assembly. It is also desirable that the insulation be somewhat persus to beliant for conductor cooling. Note that the dedective strength of behaving as at 4.2 K is far worse than that of liquid holium and that it degrades agenficantly with increasing temperature (34)

The insulation of Tevatron, HERA, and UNK magnets, of most SSC magnets, and of the early LHC models is made up of one or two inner layers of polyamide film, wrapped helically with a 50% to 60% overlap, completed by an outer layer of resin-impregnated glass tape, wrapped helically with a small gap. The inner layer is wrapped with an overlap for at least. two reasons: (1) the polyimide film may contain pipholes that must be covered (the probability of having two superimposed pur holes in the overlapping layer is very low) and (2) the Tevatran experience has shown that it was preferable to prevent. the resin impregnating the glass wrap from entering in contact with the NhTi cable (the energy released by cracks in the resinis believed to be sufficient to mittale a quench) (Ref. 4, p. 784). The outer layer is wrapped with a gap to set up behum cooling channels between coil turns. The resin is of a thermosciting type and requires heat to increase cross-link density and cure into a rigid bonding agent. The curring is realized after winding complexion in a mold of very becurate dimonsions to control collgeometry and Young's modulus (35).

RHIC magnets and the most recent LHC models use a socalled all-polynmide insulation where the outer glass wrap is replaced by another layer of polyimide film with a polyimide adhesive on its surface (36). The all-polyimide insulation has a better resistance to puncture, but the softening temperature of the adhesive can be higher than the temperature needed to cure a conventional resin (225 C for RHIC-type all-polyimide insulation compared to 135 C for SSC-type polyimide/glass insulation).

MAGNETIC DESIGN

Field Produced by Simple Current-Line Distributions

Single Corrent-Line in Free Space. Let (O, x, y, z) designate a rectangular coordinate system, and let (-I, R, v) designate a current-line of intensity (-I), parallel to the x axis, and lo intend at a position $z = R \exp(i\theta)$ in the complex (O, x, y) plane, as represented in Fig. 3(a). (The current-line intensity is chosen to be negative to end up with a positive factor in the right member of Eq. (S).) The magnetic flux density **B**, produced by this current-line in free space, can be computed using fluid and Savart's law. It is oriform in x and parallel to the (x, y) plane it can be expanded into a power series of the form (S7)

$$B_{\mathbf{z}} + (B_{\mathbf{z}} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (B_n + iA_n) \mathbf{z}^{n-1} \quad \text{for } \mathbf{z} = \mathbf{z} + i[\mathbf{z}_{-1}\mathbf{z}] < R - (7).$$



Figure 3. Representations of a single current-line: (a) in a vacuum and (b) south a circular man yoke.

where B_i and B_i are the x and y components of **B** and A_i and B_i are constant coefficients, referred to as skew and normal 2n-pole field coefficients, given by

$$B_{n} + iA_{n} = \frac{\mu_{0}I}{2\pi R^{n}} \left[\cos(n\theta - i\sin(n\theta)) \right]$$
(8)

Single Current-Line within a Circular Iron Yoke. Let us now assume that the current-line of Fig. 3(a) is located inside a circular iron yoke of inner radius R_{ci} as represented in Fig. 3(b). The contribution of the oran yoke to the magnetic flux density can be shown to be the same us that of a mirror current-line, of intensity $1-I_{ci}$; and position s_{ci} in the complex plane, where

$$I_m = \frac{\mu - 1}{\mu + 1} l \quad \text{and} \quad s_m = \frac{R_s^2}{\kappa^2} \tag{9}$$

Here μ designates the relative magnetic permeability of the iron yake, and a designates the complex conjugate of s. Note that the mirror image method is applicable only if the iron yoke is not saturated and as long as its permeability is uniform.

Quadruplet of Current-Lines with Dipole Symmetry. Using these expressions, the magnetic flux densitity produced by the quadruplet of current-bases $(-I, R, \theta), (+I, R, \pi - \theta), (+I, R, \pi + \theta)$ and $(-I, R, -\theta)$, represented in Fig. 4(a), can be estimated from the power series expansion

$$B_{j} + zB_{j} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} B_{2k+1} \mathbf{z}^{2k} \quad \text{for } \mathbf{z} = \mathbf{z} + i \mathbf{y}_{j+1} \mathbf{z} + \mathbf{z} \quad (10)$$

where

$$B_{2k+1} = \frac{2\mu_{2}I}{\pi R^{2k+1}} \cos(2k+1)\theta$$
 (11)

The first term k = 0; of the series corresponds to a pure normal dipole field parallel to the y axis. The B_{2k+1} coefficients are called the *allowed* multipole field coefficients of this current distribution.

Octuplet of Corrent-Lines with Quadrupole Symmetry, Simdurly, the magnetic flux density produced by the octuplet of current-lines represented in Fig. 4(b) is given by

$$B_{i}^{-} + iR_{i}^{-} + \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} B_{ik+2} \mathbf{z}^{(0,+)} - \text{for } \mathbf{z} + \mathbf{z} + i\mathbf{y}, \ \mathbf{z}^{-} < R^{-}$$
 (12)

where

$$B_{4k+2} = \frac{4\mu_0 I}{\pi R^{2k+2}} \cos[(4k+2)\epsilon]$$
(13)

The first term (k = 0) of the suries corresponds to a pure normal quadrupole field whose axes are parallel to the first and second bisectors. For this current distribution, the allowed multipole field coefficients are the normal $14k \neq 25$ pole field coefficients.

Two-Dimensional Geometry

Symmetry Considerations. The field computations presented in the previous section showed that current distributions with the symmetries of Fig. 4(a) (i.e., even with respect to the v axis and odd with respect to the y axis) were suitable for generating dipule fields, whereas current distributions with the symmetries of Fig. 4(h) (i.e., even with respect to the x and y axes and odd with respect to the first and second bisectors) were suitable for generating quadrupole fields. Starting from these premears, the coil geometry can be optimized to obtain the required dipole or quadrupole field strength within the magnet aperture. In addition, in most accelerator designs, it is required that high-order multipole field coefficients be as small as possible. Hence, the coil geometry optimization is also curried not to minimize the contributions from nondipole or nonquadrupole terms.

 $\cos n\theta$ Coil Designs. The coil geometry most commonly used for a dipole magnet is composed of the cylindrical current shells shown in Fig. 5(a). The magnetic flux density produced by such shells can be computed by dividing them up into quadruplets of current-lines having the symmetry of Fig. 4(a) and by summing their contributions over a shell quadrant. It follows that the magnetic flux density is again given by Eq. (10), but the expressions of the multipole field coefficients become

$$B_0 = \frac{2g a_0 J}{\pi} (R_0 - R_0) \sin \theta_0 \tag{14a}$$



Figure 4. Examples of current-line distributions with selected symmetries to quadruplet of current-lines with an even symmetry about the x axis and an odd symmetry about the y axis and the occupies of current-lines with even symmetries with respect to the x and y axes and odd symmetries with respect to the first and second bisector-



Figure 5. Correct shell approximations for the generation of multipole fields: (a) dipole field and (b) quadrupole field.

and

Here, B_i and B_i are the inner and with radii of the shells, θ_0 is the pole angle, and J is the overall current density, which is assumed to be uniform. Note that B_0 (first allowed multipole field roefficient after B_1 in a current distribution with a dipole symmetry) is nil for $h_0 = \pi/3$.

Similarly, the coil geometry most commonly used for a quadrupole magnetic made up of the cylindrical current shells shown in Fig. 5(b). The magnetic flux density is here given by Eq. (12), where

$$B_2 = \frac{2\mu_0 d}{\pi} \ln\left(\frac{R_0}{R_0}\right) \sin 2\kappa \tag{15a}$$

and

$$B_{2k+2} = \frac{\alpha_0 J}{\pi k (4k+2)} \left(\frac{1}{R_1^{2k}} - \frac{1}{R_2^{2k}} \right) \sin[(4k-2)\alpha_0] - \log k, k \ge 1$$
(15b)

Note that B_2 corresponds to the quadropole field gradient g and that B_8 (first allowed multipole held exefficient after B_2 in a current distribution with a quadropole symmetry) is nit for $\theta_0 = \pi/6$.

By reference to the conductor distribution around the calcular inner hore, such coil geometries are referred to as $\cos \theta$ and $\cos 2\theta$ designs. They are very compact and make the most effective use of conductors by bringing them close to the useful aperture.

Current Shell Approximations. In practice, the current shells of Figs. 5(a) and 5(b) are approximated by stacking into an arch the slightly keystoned cables described in the conductor section. High field dupole or high-field-gradient quadrupole magnets usually rely on two coil layers whose contributions add up Also, wedges are introduced between some of the coil turns to separate the conductors into blocks. The blocks angles are then optimized to climinate high-order multipole field coefficients (37).





Figure 4. Conductor and Lorenzz force distributions in a quodescil of a 50-mm-aperture SSU dipole assgrint coll (35)

In the case of Tevatron, HERA, and UNK magnets, the cable keystone angle is large enough to allow the formation of an arch with the desired aperture. Purthermore, each coil turn hesalong a radius vector pointing towards the aperture center. In the case of SSC and LHC magnets, the coil aperture is reduced to minimize the volume of superconductor. This results in a keystone angle requirement dremed unacceptable from the point of view of cabling degradation. Hence, in these magnets, the cables are not sufficiently keystoned to assume an arch shape, and the wedges between conductor allocks must be made asymnutrical to compensate for this lack (36). Also, the coil turns end up being nonradial, as illustrated in Fig. 6, which shows the conductor distribution in a quadrant of a 50-mm aperture SSC datale magnet call the vectors represent the components. of the Lorentz force discussed in the section on mechanical design).

Note that the magnetic flux density produced by the coil of Fig. (6) can be accurately computed by dividing each turn into two rows of elementary current-lines parallel in the z axis and approximately equal to nonsher to the number of cable strands (Ref. 39, p. 226).

from Yoke Contribution. The coils of particle accelerator magnets are usually surrounded by an iron yoke, which provides a return path for the magnetic flux while enhancing the central field or field gradient.

As an illustration, let us place the cylindrical current shells of Fig. 5(a) within a circular iron yoke of inner radius $R_{\rm e}$. The contribution of the iron yoke to the normal (2k + 1)-pole field coefficient B^{*}_{2k+1} can be estimated as (Ref. 2, p. 53).

$$B_{kr+1}^{v} = \frac{n-1}{n-1} \left(\frac{R_{c}R_{c}}{R_{c}^{2}} \right)^{2k+1} R_{2k+1}^{c}$$
(16)

where μ is the relative magnetic permeability of the orresponse, R and R, are the current shell once and outer radii, and B_{2k+1}^{*} is the (2k + 1)-pole field coefficient produced by the current shell alone.

Equation (16) shows that the smaller H_0 the larger the field enhancement. However, there are two limitations on how class the iron can be brought to the code: (1) room coust be left for the support structure, and (2) mm saturates for fields above 2 T. resulting in undesirable distortions (see section on field quality).

As already mentioned, the Tevatron magnets use a warm iron yoke ville, placed outside the helium containment and vaccum vessel), but starting with HERA magnets, the iron yoke is included within the magnet cold mass. For SSC dipole magnets, the field enhancement due to the iron yoke is of the order of 2077. In LHC magnets, two coll assemblies (powered with opposite polarity) are placed within a common iron yoke. This two-aperbase design results in left-right asymmetries in the yoke surrounding each coll assembly taken individually. These asymmetries must be taken into account when calculating the field quality.

Operating Margin. Equations 14(a) and 15(a) show that, to achieve high fields and high field gradients, it is desirable to maximize the overall current density in the magnet coil. This can be done by three means: (1) maximizing the superconductor performance. (2) minimizing the copper-to superconductor ratio in the cable strands, and (3) minimizing the turn-to-turn insolation thickness. As explained in other sections, there are lower bounds on the values of copper to superconductor ratio and insulation thickness in order to limit conductor heating in cose of quenching and to ensure proper electrical insulation. As for the superconductor, the opper limit is the critical current density at the given temperature and magnetic flux density.

The magnetic flux density to which the conductor is exposed is account form over the magnet coil, but the maximum currentcarrying capability of the conductor is determined by the section where the magnetic flux density is the highest. In most cases, this corresponds to the pole torn of the innermost coil layer. Let $B_p = f(I)$ designate the peak magnetic flux density on the toil us a function of supplied current I, and let I_C f(B) designate the supposedly known rable critical current as a function of applied magnetic flux density B. The intersection between these two curves determines the maximum quench current of the magnet I_{am} .

In practice, magnets must be operated below I_{qw} so as to ensure that the superconductor is in the superconding state and to limit the risks of quenching. Let I_{qw} designate the operating current. Then, the current margin of the magnet m_1 is defined as

$$m_1 = 1 - \frac{I_{zp}}{I_{qp}}$$
 (17)

The excellent quench performance of the HERA magnets (6) suggests that the current margin can be set to as little as 10%, but it is safer to aim for 20%.

In comparison to other superconducting magnets, such as solenoids for magnetic resonance imaging, a current margin of 10% to 20% is quite small. This implies that accelerator magnets are operated very close to the superconductor critical surface and that they are very sensitive to any kind of disturbances that may cause the magnet increas the critical surface and lead to a quench

A peculiarity of a two layer, row *u* dipole magnet coil design is that the peak field in the outermost layer is quite a bit lower than in the innermost layer. Hence, when using the same rable and current for both layers, the outer layer is operated with a much higher current margin than the inner layer, which can be considered as a waste of costly superconductor. SSC and LHC dipole magnet coils use a smaller conductor for the outer layer than for the onner layer. This results in a higher overall current density in the outer layer and reduces the difference in current margins. Such action is referred to as conductor grading. The main disondvatage of grading is that it requires splices between inner and outer layer cables (which, of course, are connected electrically in series and only require one power supply).

Limits of covid Draign. The case a6 cool decays has been very successful until now, with a record dipole field of 13.5 Triviched by the LBNL short dipole magnet model (using Nb₃Sn rables at 1.8 K). However, it has two main drawbacks: (1) the coil ends are difficult to make (see the section on coil ends), and (2) due to the Lorentz force distribution, a stress accumulation in the azimuthal direction results in high transverse pressures on the midplane conductors (see Fig. 6). For very high field magnets, requiring the use of A15 (or oven possibly HTS) superconductors, which are strain-sensitive, these high transverse pressures can result in significant critical current degradation (40).

Alternative coil designs, which may allow better management of the Lorentz stresses within the magnet coil, are being investigated. As an illustration. Fig. 7 presents a conceptual block or window-frame design developed at BNI. for a two-aperture dipole magnet relying only on simple, receiver coils (41). Note, however, that such designs make less effective use of superconductors.

Cail End Design

One of the main difficulties of the cos *n#* design as the realization of coal ends. In the coil straight section, the conductors run parallel to the magnet exis, but, in the coil ends, the conductors must be bent sharply with small radii of curvature to make Uturns over the beam tube that is inserted within the magnet aperture. This confers to the coil a suddle shape as illustrated in Fig. 8.

Suphisticated algorithms have been developed to determine the conductor trajectories that minimize strain energy (42). These algorithms, which often require winding tests to



Pigore 7. Conception) block design developed at BNL for a high field, twin-apertone dipole magnet (41).



Figure 8. Perspective view of a caddle-shaped coll assembly for a dipole mappet

determine correction factors, are coupled with electromagnetic computations to normatize field distortions. SSC and LHC magnets use precisely machined end spacers, designed by the optimization programs, which are positioned between conductor blocks (43). In addition, the iron yake does not extend over the coil ends, to reduce the field on the conductors and ensure that the peak field is located in the coil straight section where the conductors can be better supported.

Sagilla

To hand the number of coil ends and of magnet interconnects around the accelerator ring, the arc depole and quadrupide magnets are made as long as possible. The circulation of a charged beam in a dipole magnet, of magnetic length l_n , results in an angular deflection ϕ of the particle trajectory, which can be estimated as

$$\phi \approx \frac{0.3qR_1l_2}{E} = \frac{l_1}{r} \tag{18}$$

Here, ϕ is in radians and l_2 is in nucleus. B_1 is the dipole magnetic flux density in testas, ϕ is the particle charge in units of electron charge, and E is the particle energy in GeV.

As a result, long dipole magnets must be slightly bent to accompany the particle trajectory. This bending, which is implemented in the fix of plane, is referred to as sogiffa.

FIELD QUALITY

Multipole Expansion

Except near the short call ends, the magnetic flux density produced in the hum of a particle accelerator magnet can be considered as two-dimensional. The power series expansion of Eq. (7)is assuably rewritten in the more convenient form

$$B_{r} \doteq iB_{r} = B_{r}10^{-4} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (b_{n} + ia_{n}) \left(\frac{\mathbf{z}}{R_{r}}\right)^{n-1}$$

$$(19)$$
for $\mathbf{z} = s + iy, |\mathbf{z}| < B_{r}$

where R_r and R_r are the r and γ components of the magnetic flux density, R_r is a reference radius representative of the maximum heam size (R_r was 10 mm for the SSC and is now 17 mm for the $1.14(0, R_r)$ is the absolute value of the dipole or quadrupole component of R_r , σ_n and δ_n are the dimensionless skew and normal 2a-pole coefficients, and R_i is the coil inder radius. Note the presence of the 10⁻⁴ scale factor.

Given the symmetries of current distributions in magnet colassemblies, and as explained in the previous section, only selected normal multipole coefficients are expected to be nonzero. These allowed multipole coefficients can be tuned up by iterating on the electromagnetic design. In practice, however, nonumformities in material properties and manufacturing errors result in symmetry violations that produce unallowed multipole coefficients. For instance, a top/botrom asymmetry in a dipole magnet produces a nonzero skew quadrupole coefficient (x_i) , whereas a left/right asymmetry produces a material quadrupole coefficient (b_i) . These unwanted coefficients can be eliminated only by improving material selection, tooling, and assembly procedures.

Field Quality Requirements

From the arcelerator peopl of view, the beam optics is primarily governed by integrated field effects over the magnet ring The main field quality requirements are (1) suitable dipole field integral and small dipole field angle variations [the former to ensure that the integrated hending angle over the magnet ring is (2π) and the latter to ensure that the particle trajertory is planar). (2) accurate quadrupole alignment and suitable quadrupole field integral (the former to avoid compling of particle motions along the x and y axes and the latter to ensure proper focusing), and (3) small high-order multipole coefficients. (to ensure large beam dynamic aperture). In the case of highorder multipole coefficients. It is customary to specify tables of mean values and standard deviations over the entire magnet population (44). The tables of mean values are referred to as systematic multipole specifications, whereas those of standard deviations are referred to as *random* multipole specifications The specified values are all expressed at the reference radius R,.

In large machines such as SSC or LHC, the dipule and quadrupole field integrals must be controlled with a relative precision of the order of 10⁻⁸. The variations in dipule field angles must be kept within a few millitadians, and the telerance on quadrupole alignement is of the order of 0.1 mm. Systematic and random multipole specifications are given up to the 15th or 20th pole and get tighter with increasing pole order. For SSC magnets at 10 nm, the specifications went from a few tenths of a unit for low-order coefficients to a few thousandths of a unit for higher-order coefficients.

Geometric Errors

Types of Geometric Errors. The specifications on multipole coefficients require that the individual conductors and the yoksurrounding the coil assembly be positioned with a very good accuracy (typically a few hondredths of a millimeter in the twodimensional cross section). Improper positioning results to geometric errors that destort the control field and produce anwanted multipole coefficients.

The geometric errors can be classified in at least five categuries: (1) errors in coil oner and outer radii and in yoke cateradius; (2) errors in coil pole angle, wedge angle, and candictor angular distribution, (3) symmetry violations in coil assembly; (4) centering errors with respect to the cron yoke; and (5) regidual twist of magnet assembly:

Effects of Azimuthal Coll Size Mismatch. A compone cause of geometric error is a mismatch between the azimuthal sizes of the various cods constituting a coil assembly. Such mismatch results in displacements of the coil assembly symmetry planes that produce nonzero, low-order unallowed multipole coefficients (45). For instance, a mismatch between the armothal sizes of the top and bottom ends used in a dopple magnet toil assembly causes an opward or downward displacement of the coil putting planes, which produces a nonzero skew quadrupole coefficient op. Similarly, a systematic mematch between the left and right sides of the cods used in a dipole magnet (oi) assembly causes a rotation of the coil parting planes, which produces u nonzero skew sextupale coefficient a₁. A systematic a₂ can be limited by randomly mixing cal production, whereas the arcurrence of a systematic *n*₁ can be avoided only by correcting troling.

Trun Saturation

When the field in the iron yoke is less than 2.7, the relative magnetic permeability of the yoke can be considered as very large and uniform, and the iron contribution to the central field increases linearly as a function of transport correct in the magnet call. For fields above 2.7, parts of the arm stort to saturate, and their relative magnetic permeability drops. As a result, the iron contribution becomes a less-than-linear function of transport current. This relative decrease in iron contribution appears as a sag in the magnet transfer function (36). (The transfer function is defined as the ratio of B_r to the transport current.) The transfer function sag can exceed a few percent in dipole magnets but as usually negligible in quadrupole magnets.

In the case of a single-aperture magnet with a symmetrical iron yoke, the saturation first occurs in the pole areas producing a practice shift in normal sectopole coefficient b_1 . At higher corrects, the saturation reaches the midplane areas, producing a negative shift in b_0 , which partially compressives for the effects of pole saturation. The nucleane saturation can be forced to occur somer by punching notches (i.e., removing matter) at appropriate locations in the yoke. As an illustration, Fig. 9 presents measurements of b_0 as a function of current in the central part of a SSC dipole inagnet prototype. The measurements above 8 kA clearly show the effect of pole saturation at high currents (the origin of the hysteresis is explained in the parts somethed).

In the case of a twin-aperture dipole, the central part of the yoke saturates before the outer parts, resulting in lefs, right asymmetries in the yoke contributions to each aperture, which affect the normal quadrupole coefficient b_2 . The saturation effects in b_2 are of opposite sign in the two spectures.

In any case, the iron contribution depends on the packing factor of the yoke laminations, which must be tightly controlled over the magnet length. Also, the iron yoke must be carefully aligned to limit magnet assembly twist.

Superconductor Magnetization

Critical State Model. According to the so-called entrical state model, bipolar magnetization currents are induced at the periphory of the superconducting filaments in the cable strands each time the field to which the filaments are exposed is varied (46). The magnetization currents distribute themselves with a density equal to the superconductor critical current density at the given componenture and field J_{12} , in order to screen the



Figure 9. Measurements of normal sextupole coefficient b₁ as a function of current up the central part of a SSC dipole magnet showing the hysteresia resulting from superconductor magnetization and the distortions at high currents resulting from iron saturation.

filament cores from the applied field change. Unlike regular eddy corrents, the magnetization currents do not depend on the rate of field variations. Also, because they can how with zero rematance, they do not decay as soon as the field ramp is stopped. They are called *persistent inequalization currents*.

Effects of Superconductor Magnetization. When an accelerator magnet is cycled in current, the bipolar shells of magnetization current sinduced in the filaments behave as small magnetic maments which contribute to—and distort—the central field. The magnetic moments depend an J_C and are proportional to filament diameter. Their distribution follows the symmetries of the transport-correct field (i.e., the field produced by the transport current in the magnet coll), and, if the superconductor properties are uniform, only the allowed multipole coefficients are affected. Computer models that can accurately predict the field distortions resulting from superconductor magnetization have been developed (47).

The field distortions are the most significant at low transport current, where the transport current field is low and J_1 is large. They are progressively overcome as the transport-current field increases and J_2 diminishes and become negligible at high transport current. They change sign and regain influence as the transport current is ramped down. As a result, the allowed multipole coefficients exhibit aizable by a result, the allowed multipole coefficients exhibit aizable by a result, the allowed multipole current, which depend on magnet excitation bistory. This is illustrated in Fig. 9, which shows measurements of b_1 as a function of current in the central part of a SSC dipole magnet. In Fig. 9, the magnetization effects can be seen at currents helow 3 kA (as explained in the previous section, the distortions at high field result from iron yoke subtration).

The field distortions resulting from superconductor magnetization are one of the major drawbacks of using supeconducting magnets in a partorie accelerator. They can be reduced by reducing filament size (typically, to 5 μ m for SSC and LHC strands), but they cannot be eliminated. The powering cycle of the magnets must be adapted to avoid brutal jumps between the two branches of the multipale coefficient hystereses while the head circulates. Also, elaborate hear optics correction schemes must be developed. This can include superconducting, highorder multipole magnets (chapter 9 of Ref. 2).

time Decay. In addition, the effects of superconductor magnelization are not indefinitely persistent, but exhibit a slow time decay, which, at low transport current, can result in significant drifts of the allowed multipole coefficients (48,49). These drifts are particularly disturbing during the injection phase of muchine operation, where the magnet current is maintained at a constant and low level for some period of time (50). Also, they complicate the carly stages of acceleration, for, as the current is increased at the end of injection, the drifting multipoles rapidly map back to values on the hysteresis curves (51). Part of the observed time decay can be attributed to flux creep in the superconductor (52), but flux creep cannot account for the lorge drifts obverved after a high current cycle (49). The nature of the other mechanisms that may be involved is not well understood.

Caupling Currents

As described in the conductor section, accelerator magnet cuts are wound from Rutherford-type cables, which consist of a few tens of strands twosted together and shaped into a flat, two-layer, slightly keystoned cable. The cable mid-thickness is smaller than twice the strand diameter, which results in strand deformation and large contact surfaces at the crossovers between the strands of the two layers. Furthermore, and as explained in the mechanical design section, the cuts are precompressed azimuthally during magnet assembly. Large pressures that keep the strands firmly in contact are thus applied perpendicularly to the cable. The large contact surfaces and the high pressores can result in low contact resistances at the strand crossovers

In the steady state, the transport current flows in the super conducting filaments, which offer no resistance. When the cable is subjected to a transverse varying field, the network of low interstrand resistances allows the formation of current loops, which are superimposed on the transport current. The loop currents, referred to as *interstrand coupling currents*, circulate along the superconducting filaments and cross over from strand to strand through the interstrand resistances. Unlike persistent magnetization currents, the interstrand coupling currents are directly proportional to the cate of field variations, and they start to decay as soon as the field ramp is stopped.

Interstrand coupling currents have three main effects on magnet performance (39): (1) quench current degradation (for they are superimposed on the transport current), (2) heat dissipation (when crossing the interstrand resistances), and (3) field distortions. This last issue is the most critical for accelerator magnet applications.

The coupling current contribution to the central field does not depend on transport current and increases linearly as a function of current tamp rate. If the interstrand resistance is uniform throughout the coil assembly, the coupling current distribution follows the symmetries of the transport-current field, and only the allowed multipale coefficients are affected. In practice, however, there can be large coal-to-coil differences as well as large nonuniformities within the coals themselves, which resolution scabbe effects in the anallowed multipole coefficients.



Figure 10. Effects of enterstrand coupling currents an multipole field coefficients as measured as a function of camp set to the related part of a SSC dipole magnet 139: (a) shew westupole field coefficient A_2 and (b) normal sextupole field coefficient B_1 . The transport-current cuntribution is subtracted from the data.

This is illustrated in Fig. 10 (a, b), which presents plots of the skew and normal sextupole field coefficients (A_8 and B_5) as functions of current, measured at various ramp rates in the central part of a SSC dipole magnet prototype. (Note that the transport-current contribution has been substructed from the data.) No particular treatment (such as stabulte) was applied to the strands of the cable used in this prototype.

The effects of interstrand coupling currents can be innited by ensuring that the interstrand resistances are not too low However, and as mentioned in the conductor section, the interstrand resistances should not be too large other to allow some possibility of current redistribution among cable strands.

Longitudinal Periodicity

When measuring the field with fine spatial resolution along the axis of an accelerator magnet, all multipole coefficients appear to exhibit periodic oscillations (53,54). The amplitude of the oscillations varies as a function of space, transport current, excitation history, and time, but the wavelength is always approximately equal to the twist pitch length of the cable used in the innermost coil layer.

The longitudinal periodic oscillations are believed to result from imbalances in the current distribution among cable strands. The current imbalances may have at least three origins. (1) nonuniformities in the properties of cable strands. (2) nonumformaties in the solder points connecting the rolls in series to the current leads, and (3) large and long-lasting interstrand coupling current loops cuperimposed on the transport current (55). Such current loops could be induced by spatial variations in the time derivative of the field to which the cable is exposed as it turns around the coll ends or exite toward the current leads (56–58).

The oscillation wavelength is too short to affect beam opties but may be an issue for magnetic measurements. It is recommended that the measurements be averaged over an integer number of cable pitch lengths. Also, the slow decay of the large interstrand coupling current loops accounted with these perudic oscillations may contribute in the drifts of the aboved multipole coefficients observed at low and constant transport current (see the section an superconduction magnetization) (59).

MECHANICAL DESIGN

Support Against the Lorentz Force

Components of the Lorentz Furce. The high currents and fields in an passientator magnet coil produce a large Lorentz force on the conductors. In a dipole coil, the Lorentz force has three main components, which are represented in Fig. 6(38,60): (1) an azimuthal component, which tends to squeeze the coil toward the coil assembly midplane (which, in the coordinate system defined previously, corresponds, for a dipole magnet, to the borizontal (x, z) planel, (2) a radial component, which tends to bend the coil cutwardly, with a maximum displacement at the coil assembly midplane (along the horizontal x axis for a dipole magnet), and (d) an axial component, arising from the solenoidal field produced by the conductor turnoround at the coil ends and which tends to stretch the coil outwardly (along the z axis).

Stability against Mechanical Disturbances. Because accelerator magnets are operated close to the critical current limit of their cables, their minimum quench energy (MQE), defined as the minimum energy deposition meeded to tragger a quench, is very small. As a matter of fact, the MQE of accelerator magnets is of the same order of magnitude as the electromagnetic work produced by minute wire motions in the coil (61). If the motions are purely elastic, no heat is dissipated, and the coil remains soperconducting, but if the motions are frictional, the associated heat dissipation may be sufficient to initiate a quench. This leaves two possibilities: either to prevent wire or coil motion by providing a rigid support against the various components of the Lorentz force or to reduce to a minimum the friction coefficients between potentially moving parts of magnet assembly.

Conceptual Design. The mechanical design concepts used in present accelerator magnets are more or less the same and were developed at the time of the Tevatron (4,62). In the radial direction, the coils are confined within a rigid cavity defined by inminated collars, which are locked around the coils by means of keys or the rode. In the azimuthal direction, the collars are assembled so as to precompress the colls. In the axial direction, the coils either are free to expand or are restrained by means of stiff and plates.

The use of laminated cultars, promeered at the Tevatron, was a real breakthrough in achieving a rigid mechanical support while keeping tight tolerances over magnet assemblies, which are a few meters in length and which must be mass produced. The laminations are usually stamped by a fine blanking process allowing a dimensional accuracy on the order of one hundredth of a cultimeter to be achieved.

Azimuthal Precompression

Preventing Collar Pole Unloading. As described previously, the aximuthal component of the Lorentz force tends to squeeze the coal toward the midplane. At high fields, it may happen that the coil pole turns move away from the collar poles, resulting in variations of the coil pole angle that distort the central field and creating a risk of mechanical disturbances. To prevent conductor displacements, the collars are assembled and locked around the coils so as to apply an azimuthal precompression. The prerompression is applied at more temperature and coust be sufficient to ensure that, after cool-down and energozation, there is still contact between coil pole turns and collar poles.

Precompression Requirement. To determine the proper level of room temperature azimuthal precompression, at least three effects must be taken into account: (1) stress relaxation and insulation creep following the collaring operation, (2) thermal shrinkage differentials between coil and collars during cool down (if any), and (3) stress redistribution resulting from the azimothal component of the Lorentz force. In addition, the collaring procedure must be optimized to ensure that the peak pressure seen by the coils during the operation (which may be significantly higher than the residual precompression/ does not averstensy the insulation (Ref. 60, p. 1326).

The precompression loss during could down, $\Delta \sigma_{s}$ can be estimated from

$$\Delta \sigma \approx E_0(a_1 + a_{\gamma\gamma}) \qquad (20)$$

where E_{cl} is the coil Young's modulus in the azimuthal direction, and u_{cl} and u_{cr} are the thermal expansion coefficients of the coil (in the azimuthal direction) and of the collars, integrated between room and operating temperatures. Note that Eq. (20) is derived with the assumptions that E_{cl} does not depend on temperature and that the collars are infinitely rigid.

Choice of Collar Material. To limit cool-down loss, at is preferable to use for the collars a material whose integrated thermal expansion coefficient matches more or less that of the coll. For NbTi coils with polyimide-glass or all-polyimide ensule tion, this suggests aluminum alloy (see Table 2). However, and as will be described in the next section, it is also desirable that the collars he as rigid as possible or have an integrated thermal expansion coefficient opproaching that of the low carbon steels used for the yoke. This favors austenitic stainless steel, which has a lower integrated thermal expansion coefficient and whose Young's modulus is 195 GPa at room temperature and 203 GPa at 4.2 K, compared to 72 GPa at mum temperature and 30 GPa at 4.2 K for aluminum alloy.

When assessing the respective merits of austenitic stainless steel and aluminum alloy, note that sustenitic stainless steel presents a better resistance to stress cycling at low temperature (63), but that it has a higher density 17800 kg/m³ compared to 2800 kg/m⁵ for aluminum alloy) and is more expensive

There is no ideal choice between stainless steel and aluminum alloy, and magnets with both types of collar materials have been built: HEEA dipule magnets and most LHC dipule magnet prototypes use aluminum alloy collars, whereas Tevatron dipule magnets and most SSC dipule magnet prototypes rely on stainless steel collars. In any case, and whichever collar material is chosen, a thorough mechanical analysis of the structure under the various loading conditions is required.

Radial Support

Limiting Radial Deflections. As described previously, the radial component of the Lorentz force tends to bend the coll outwordly, with a maximum displacement at the cnil assembly midplane. At high fields, this bending results in shear stresses between coll turns and in an ovalization of the coil assembly taking the horizontal \mathbf{x} axis for a dipple magnet), which generates field distortions. To prevent displacements or deformations, the radial deflections of the coil assembly must be limited to, typically, less than 0.05 mm.

Seeking Yoke Support. The main support against the radial component of the Lorentz force is provided by the collars, whose stiffness and radial width must be optimized to brait collared coil assembly deflections. However, in the magnetic design of high field magnets, the field enhancement provided by the iron yoke is maximized by bringing it as close as possible to the coil. This reduces the spare left for the collars, whose rigidity then becomes insufficient to hold the Lorentz force, and the yoke and holium containment shell must also be used as part of the coil support system

The mechanical design of magnets where the yoke is needed to support the collared-coil assembly is complicated by the fact that the collar material (stanless steel or aluminum) shrinks more during coil down than the low carbon steel used for the yoke (see Table 2). This thermal shrinkage differential must be compensated for to ensure that, when the magnet is cold and energized, there is a proper contact between the collaredcoil assembly and the yoke along the axis of maximum potential displacements. Such contact bouts the deformations of the collared-coil assembly and allows a partial transfer (up to 50% in some LHC dipole magnet prototypes) of the radial component of the Lorents force to the yoke and the shell

The aforementioned thermal shrinkage differential Δr can be estimated as

$$\Delta r = R_{\rm m}(a_{\rm m} - a_{\rm yb}) \tag{21}$$

Table 2. Integrated Thermal Expansion Coefficients, between 4.2 K and Room Temperature (101° m/m)

Low carbon stre)	 2.0
Stainless steel (204/006)	2.5
Capter (OFHC)	3.1
Aluminum	4.2
Insulated each (p-lyconde/glass)	5.14
Insulated cable (all polynmide)	5.61

Transverse direction SSU many table

where R_{α} is the collar outer radius and α_{sk} is the thermal expansion coefficient of the yake, integrated between room and operating temperatures.

To limit contact insertine to thermal shrinkage differential, it is preferable to use for the collars a material whose integrated thermal expansion coefficient approaches that of low carbon stor). This suggests the use of austemic stanless steel (see Table 2). However, and as was described in the section in choice of collar material, it is also desirable to limit the cool-down loss of coil precompression, which favors the use of aluminum alloy

Mechanical Design with Fully Mated Yoke Assembly. To facilitate assembly, the yake of dipole magnets is usually split intutwo halves, which are mounted around the collared-coil assembly. The shell, which is also made up of two halves, is then placed around the yoke and welded. If the thermal shrinkage differential between odlar and yoke is not too large (as in the case of stuinless steel collars), it can be compensated for by designing and assembling the structure so that the two yoke halves apply a compressive load over selected areas of the collared-coll assembly. This compressive load is obtained by introducing a shrinkage allowance into the geometry of either the collars or the yoke and by welding the shell so as to press radially onto the two voke halves and as to force them to mate at mom temperature. During cool-down, the collared-coil assembly shrinks away from the two yoke halves, which remain fully mated. This results in a progressive decrease of the compressive load exertest by the yoke, but a suitable contact can be maintained over the designated areas of the collared-coil assembly.

In practice, the compressive load provided by the yoke is directed along a given axis. The choice of the axis drives the choice of yoke split orientation. The SSC dipole magnet prototypes built at BNL use a borizontally split yoke with a yokecollar compressive load directed along the vertical τ axis as shown in Fig. 11(a), while the SSC dipole magnet prototypes built at FNAL use a vertically split yoke with a yoke collar compressive load directed along the horizontal τ axis as shown in Fig. 11(b): (64). Both types of magnets performed very well. Mechanical Design with Yoke Midplane Gap at Room Temperature. For large thermal shrinkage differentials (as in the case of aluminum collars), the yoke-collar compressive load required at room temperature for a full compensation would overstress the collared-coil assembly, and a more cophisticated mechanical design must be used. The twin-aperture LHC dipole magnet prototypes with aluminum collars rely on a two-porce, vertically split yoke with an open gap at room temperature and a welded outer shell made of a material (stainless steel or aluminum) that shrinks more during cooldown than the inw-carinon steel yoke (6h).

In these magnets, the yoke is designed so that, when placed around the collared-coil assembly at room temperature with no pressure applied to it, there remains an opening between the two yoke balves of the order of the expected thermal shrinkage differential. The yoke midplane gap is then closed in two stages: (1) during shell welding, as a result of the compressive load aris. ing from weld shrinkage, and (2) during cool-down, as a result. of the comprossive load arising from thermal shrinkage differential between yoke and shell. The initial gap closure during shell welding is limited to avoid overstressing the collared-coil assembly. The closure is completed during cool-down thanks to the radial pressure exerted by the shell, which forces the two yoke halves to follow the shrinkage of the collared-coil assembly and to manuface contact along the horizontal x axis. The yoke modplane gap must be fully closed at the end of cool-down. to ensure that the structure is very rigid and to avoid any risk. of ascillation during energy ation.

A crucial issue in such a design is the ability to perform the shell welding operation in a reproducible way during mass production so as to achieve the desired yoke midplane gap value at room temperature and to keep a tight tolerance on this value fof the order of 0.1 mm). As we have seen, a gap too close may result in coil overstressing at room temperature, whereas a gap too open may result in contact loss during conl-down.

In some LHC prototypes, the closure of the yoke midplane gap is controlled by means of aluminum spacers located between the two yoke halves (66). The spacers are dimensioned



Figure 11. SSC dipole magnet environmentions (64) (a) BNL-style with horizontally split yoke and (b) FNAL-style with vortically split yoke.

to have a spring rate similar to that of the collared-coll assembly, and they prevent the gap from clusing at room temperature. During cool-down, however, they shrink more than the yoke and cease to be effective.

RHIC Magnets. In RHIC magnets, collar and yoke designs are altogether simplified by replacing the collars by reinforced plastic spacers and by using directly the yoke to precompress the one-layer colls (67). It remains to be seen if this structure could be scaled up to higher-field magnets

End Support

As described previously, the axial component of the Lorentz furce tends to stretch the coil outwardly along the z axis. In magnets where the yake is not needed to support the collaredroil assembly, a clearance can be left between the two. If the axial stresses resulting from the Lorentz force do not exceed the yield stress of the coil, it is possible to let the collared-coil pseembly expand firrely within the upp yoke. This is the case of the quadrupole magnets designed at Commissuriat à l'Energie Atomoque/Saclay for HERA. SSC and LHC (68). However, in magnets where there is contact between collar and yoke, it is essential to prevent stick/slip motions of the laminated collars against the laminated yoke and to provide a stiff supporagainst the axial component of the Lorentz force (60,69). The ends of SSC and LHC dipole magnet coils are contained by thick stainless steel end plates welled to the shell

MAGNET COOLING

Superconductor Critical Temperature

The superconducting state exists only at temperatures below the so-called critical temperature T_{C} . For NbTi, T_{C} can be estimated as a function of applied magnetic flux density D using

$$T_{\rm C}(B) = T_{\rm CO} \left(1 - \frac{R}{R_{\rm CO}}\right)^{1/2} \tag{22}$$

where T_{C_2} is the critical temperature at zero field tabout 9.2 K) and B_{C22} is the upper critical magnetic flux density at zero temperature (about 14.5 T).

Boiling and Supercritical Helium Couling. To achieve low temperatures and ensure stable operations against thermal disturbances, the accelerator magnet code are immersed in liquid helium (70). Helium is a cryogenic fluid whose pressure temperature phase diagram is presented in Fig. 12. Its boiling temperature is 4.22 K at 1 atm (1 atm ≈ 0.1 MPa).

Small superconducting magnet systems usually rely on boiling helium at 1 atm (71). Rolling helium offers the advantage that, as long as the two phases are present, the temperature is well determined. However, in large-scale applications, such as superconducting particle accelerators, the fluid is forced to flow through numerous magnet eryostats and long cryogenelines, where heat leaks are unavoidable. The heat traks result in increases in value contents and create a rick of gas pocket formation that may block eigenlation.

The aforementioned difficulty can be circomvented by taking advantage of the fact that belium exhibits a critical point at a temperature of 5.2 K and a pressure of 0.226 MPa (see Fig. 12).



Figure 12. Preseure-temperature phase diagram of helium (71.

For temperatures and pressures beyond the critical point, the liquid and vapor phases become indistinguishable. The singlephase flow, which is called *supercritical*, can be handled in a large system without risk of forming gas packels. However, its temperature, unlike that of boiling helium, is not constant and may fluctuate as the fluid circulates and is subjected to heat losses.

The cryogenic systems of the Tevatron, HERA, and RHIC, and that designed for the SSC, combine single-phase and twophase behavior (71). In the case of the Tevatron and HERA, the insules of the magnet cold masses are cooled by a facced flow of supercritical behavior, while two phase belians is corculated in a pipe running at the cold mass periphery (around the colluredcoil assembly for Tevatron magnets, in a bypass hole in the iron yoke for HERA magnets). In the case of the SSC, it was planned to only circulate supercritical belian through the magnet cold masses, while *recolers*, consisting of heat exchangers using two-phase belians as primary fluid, would have been implemented at regular intervals along the cryogenic bies. The cryogenic system used for the RHBC is inspired by that of the SSC. In all these schemes, the boiling liquid is used to limit temperature rises in the single-phase fluid.

Superfluid Holium Cooling

A peculiarity of holium is the occurrence of saperfluckly (70). When boiling holium is cooled down at 1 arm, it stays liquid until a temperature of the order of 2.17 K, where a phase transition appears. For temperatures below 2.17 K (at 1 atm) helium loses its viscosity and becomes a superconductor of heat. This property, unique to helium, is called superfluidity. Superfluidity is very similar to superconductivity, except that, instead of electrical conductibility, it is the thermal conductibility that becomes infinite. The transition temperature between the liquid and superfluid phases depends in pressure. It is called the *lambdu temperature* T_{∞}

The LHC magnets are cooled by superfinid bolium, and their aperating temperature is set at 1.9 K (72). Decreasing the temperature improves the current-currying expandity of NhTi dramatically and allows higher fields to be reached. (For NhTi, the curve of current correct density as a function of field is shifted by a about >3 T when lowering the temperature from 4.2 K to 1.9 K.) The feasibility of a large-scale cryogeone isstallation relying on superfluid belium has been demonstrated by Tore Supril, a superconducting tokanish built at Contribusation.

à l'Energie Atomique, Cadarache near Aix en Provence in the South of France and operating reliably since 1986 (73)

Magnet Crynslaf

To maintain the magnet cold masses at low temperature, it is necessary to limit heat losses. There are three mechanisms of heat transfer (74): (1) convection, (2) radiation, and (3) conduction. The convection losses are eliminated by mounting the cold masses into cryostats, which are evacuated (71,75). The radiation losses, which scale in proportion with the effective emissoluties of the surfaces facing each other and with the fourth power of their temperatures, are reduced by surrounding the cold masses with blankets of multilayer insulation and thermal shields at intermediate temperatures. The main sources of conduction losses are the support posts, the power leads, and the cryogenic feedthroughs, which are designed to offer large thermal resistances.

QUENCIL PERFORMANCE

As explained in the operating margin section, the maximum quench current t_{qn} of a magnet of a given operating temperatore can be estimated from the critical current of the cable and the peak field on the coil. It corresponds to the altimate current-carrying capability of the cable and can be runsed only by lowering the operating temperature

When energizing a superconducting magnet, the first quenches usually occur at currents below I_{qq} (chapter 5 of Ref. 76). In coost cases, however, it appears that, upon successive enorgizations, the quench currents gradually increase. This gradout improvement is called the magnet's fractuag. The training often leads to a stable *plottena* corresponding to the maximum quench current.

Quenches below the expected maximum quench current have at least four origins (1) energy deposition in the magnet coil resulting from frictional motions under the Lorentz force, (2) energy deposition from synchrotron radiation and beam losses, (3) heat dissipation from coupling currents in the cable, and (4) current imbalances among cable strands. Quenches of the first anglu reveal flaws in the nuchanoral design or in the assembly procedures that must be analyzed and corrected. The effects of synchrotron radiation can be reduced by implementing an intercepting acreen within the beam tube. Coupling losses and current imbalances are only of concern for fast current cycles.

When operating an accelerator made up of several hundred or even several thousand superconducting magnets, it connect be tolerated that magnets querich at random. Hence, the magnets must be designed with a safe margin above the maximum operating current of the machine. In addition, systematic tests must be carried out before instabiling the magnets in the tunnel to ensure that their querich performance is adequate and does not degrade upon extended correct and thermal cycling (77).

QUENCH PROTECTION

Conductor Heating

Although must R&D programs have been successful in developing magnet designs that can be mass-produced and meet accelerator requirements, quenches do occur in accelerator operations. These quenches must be hundled in order to avoid any damage of the quenching magnet, to ensure the safety of the installation, and to minimize down time.

The most damaging effect of a queuch is that, once a volume of conductor has switched to the normal resistive state, it dissipates power by the Joale effect (Chapter 9 of Ref. 76). Most of this power is consonned locally in heating up the conductor. In a very short time trypically a few tenths of a second), the conductor temperature can reach room temperature, and, if the magnet is not discharged, keep on increasing.

Maximum-Temperature Requirement. The temperature reasubsequent to a quench must be limited for at least three reasons: (1) to restrict the thermal stresses induced in the quenching coil, (2) to prevent degradation of superconductor propertues, and (3) to avoid insulation damage

For most materials, thermal expansion starts to be significant for temperatures above 100 K. The critical current density of NDTi is affected by exposure to temperatures above 250 G. The extent of degradation depends on the temperature level and on the duration of the exposure, at 250 C, it takes of the order of 1 h for significant degradation to occur, while it may take less than a minute at 400 C to 450 C (78). Finally, the polynoide materials used to insolate NbTi cables late most of their mechanical properties for temperatures above 500 C.

It follows that an upper limit for conductor heating subsequent to a quearb is 400 C. Must magnets are designed not to exceed 300 K to 400 K, and whenever passible, the limit should be set at 100 K.

Protecting a Quenching Magnet

The source of conductor heating in a quenching magnet is power desopation by the dould effect. Power kneps being dissipated as long as there is current in the magnet coil. To choinate the heat source and limit the temperature rise, it is thus necessary to ramp the current down.

To discharge a quenching magnet, all its stored magnetic enregy must be converted into resistive power. If the zone where the conductor has switched to the corneal state remains confined to a small volume, there is a risk that a large fraction of the stand energy will be dissipated in this small volume. In the case of a string of magnets connected electrically in series, it may even happen that the energy of the whole string will be dissipated in the quenching magnet. Hence, to prevent burnout, it is necessary to ensure that the normal revisive zone spreads rapidly throughout the quenching coil. This can be done by means of heaters, implemented near the magnet coile and fired as sum as a quench is detected. These heaters are referred to as greated protection heaters.

In comparison with other superconducting magnets, most accelerator magnets require an active quench protection system because of the rapidity of the temperature rise resulting from the high current density and the low fraction of stabilizing ropper in the cable strands. One nutable exception is the RHM dipole magnets, whose one-layer call assemblies are wound from a cable with a high copper-to-superconductor ratio (2.25 to 1), and which do not may on quench protection heaters.

Hot Spot Temperature

Estimating Hot Spot Temperature. The volume of conductor that hosts up the most significantly during a quench is the spot where the quench first originated lit is called the *hot spot* An upper limit of the hot spot temperature, T_{max} , can be determined by assuming that, near the hot spot, all the power dissiputed by the Joule effect is used to heat up the conductor. Integrating the heat balance equation yields

$$S^2 \int_{T_0}^{T_{\rm eff}} dT \frac{C(T)}{\rho(T)} = \int_{T_0}^{\infty} dt I(t)^2 \tag{23}$$

where *C* is the overall specific heat per unit volume of conductor, ρ is the overall conductor resistivity in the normal state. *S* is the conductor cross-sectional area, *T* is the current, t_0 is the time of quench start, and T_0 is the coil semperature at t_0 .

The left member of Eq. (23) depends only on conductor properties whereas the right member depends only on the characteristics of current decay. The right-hand side integral, divided by 10⁴, is called the *MHT integral* (Mega I times I versus Time integral) and its value is referred to as the *number of MHTs*. The maximum temperatures computed from the numbers of MHTs have been shown to be in fairly gived agreement with actual measurements of hot spot temperatures on quenching magnets (79).

Limiting Hot Spot Temperature. The hot spot temperature can be limited by acting on either member of Eq. (23). Regarding the left member, the only conceivable action is to reduce the overall conductor resistivity by increasing the copper-tosuperconductor ratio. However, and as explained in the conductor section, the copper-to-superconductor ratio must also be optimized to ensure a high overall critical current. Regarding the right member, the MHT integral can be minimized by (1) detecting the quench as soon as possible, (2) turning off the power supply trace of a single magnet (case of a magnet string), (3) fring the quench protection heaters, and (4) discharging the quenching magnet or the magnet string.

Quench Detection

The magnets are connected to quench detection systems that monitor the occurrence of a resistive voltage in the coil windings or the coils loads. The resistive voltage must be discriminated from inductive voltages arising from migned ramping. The inductive components are cancelled out by considering voltage differences across two identical coil assemblass or two identical parts of a given coil assembly (e.g., the upper and lower half coils in a dipole magnet). When the resistive voltage exceeds a preset threshold over a time exceeding a preset duration, the detection system generates a larger that signals the occurrence of a quench.

Protection of a Single Magnet

Current Decay. Let us first consider the case of a angle magnet, and let us assume that, once a quench is detected, the power supply is turned off and the magnet is switched to an external dump resistor. R_{co} . The current decay is determined

by,

$$L_n \frac{\mathrm{d}I}{\mathrm{d}t} + \left[R_{\rm f}(t) + R_{\rm ray}\right]I = 0 \tag{24}$$

where L_p is the magnet inductance and $R_q(t)$ is the developing resistance in the quenching coils. Furthermore, the total voltage across the magnet V_m is given by

$$V_{0i} = R_i P_i i$$
 (25)

where I is the current intensity.

To limit the number of MITTs, it is desirable to have a fast current decay. Equation (24) shows that fast decay rates are obtained either by means of a large $R_{\rm e}$ or by ensuing that $R_{\rm q}(t)$ increases rapidly. For some magnets, an external resistor can be used to extract a significant fraction of the stored magnetic energy. However, it is also required to keep V_0 to a reasonable level (typically less than 1 kV) to avoid insolution breakdown. Given the order of magnitude of I (up to 15 kA), this imposes a small $R_{\rm e}$ (typically a few hundredths of an ohm), which, during a quench, is soon overcome by $R_{\rm q}(t)$. Hence, for accelerator magnets, the current decay is largely dominated by the resistance development in the quenching calls, and the decay rate can be increased only by speeding up $R_{\rm q}(t)$.

Maximum Voltage to Ground. The developing resistance in the quenching cull separates the cull impedance into several parts (Ref. 2, p. 137): unquenched parts across which the voltage is mainly inductive and quenched parts across which the voltage is mainly resistive. The resistive and inductive voltages compensate each other partially so that their sum equals V_m . The voltage distribution with respect to ground depends on the respective sizes and locations of these various parts. The more uniform the quench development, the lower the maximum voltage to ground. As an illustration, Fig. 13 shows the voltage distribution in a quenching magnet. Here, V_m is assumed to be call, and R_q is assumed to be concentrated near two-thirds of the magnet length.

Quench Protection Heaters. As described earlier, in spred up and aniformize quench development, most accelerator magnets rely on quench protection heaters, which are fired as soon as a quench is detected. The heaters are usually made of stainless stack strips, which are copper clad at regular intervals along their lengths and which are placed on the outer surface of the coil assemblies. Note, however, that the heater firing unit relies on a expandite bank and that it takes some time for the energy to be released. Note also that the heaters must be electrically insolated from the coil and that this electrical insulation introduces a thermal barrier. As a result, there is a nonneglegible delay between the firing of the heaters and their effect on the coils, during which we must rely on natural quench propagation (80). The heaters and their implementations in the magnet assembly are optimized to reduce this delay.

Protection of a Magnel String

In an accelerator, the magnet ring is divided into several sectors made up of semes-connected magnets. The sectors are powered independently and are electrically independent. Once a quench is detected in a magnet, the power supply of the sector to which



Figure 13. Vultage distribution in a quenching inequel. The total voltage errors the magnet is assumed to be nil and the developing resistance is assumed to be encentrated near two-thirds of the megnet length (2).

the magnet belongs is curned off and the sector is discharged over a dump resistor.

Unlike in the case of a single magnet, the current decay rate in the sector must be limited for at least two reasons: (1) to prevent the induction of large coupling currents in the magnet coils (which may quench the remaining magnets in the sector, resulting in general warming and significant helium venting) and (2) to avoid the occurrence of unacceptable valtages to ground (because of the large overall inductance of the sector). A two slow decay rate, however, creates the risk that a significant fraction of the total energy stored in the sector be dissipated in the overching magnet, resulting in destructive overheating

These contradictory considerations can be reconciled by foreing the current to bypass the quenching magnet and by ramping the current down at the desired rate in the remaining unquenched magnets. The bypass elements consist of diodes for they is tors) connected in parallel to individual or small groups. of magnets, as shown in Fig. 14. As long as the magnets are superconducting, the correct flows through the magnets. Once a magnet has quenched and starts to develop a resistive voltage, the main current is bypassed through the diode connected to parallel, and the quenching magnet is discharged over the duxle circuit. The current decay is determined by an equation similar to Eq. (24), except that R_i must be replaced by the reassance associated with the bypass element R_0 .

HERA, RIEC, and LHC rely on silicon diodes that are mounted inside the belium cryostata and operate at cryogenic temperatures. The main requirements for these cold duides are 1810; (1) small forward voltage and low dynamic resistance (to limit power dessipation in the diodes), (2) good radiation bardness, and (3) large backward voltage. In the case of the Tevatron, which has a short current ramp time resulting in large inductive voltages across the hypass elements, the duides are replaced by thyristors operating as fast switches (32). The



Figure 14. Electrical circuit of a quenching magnet on a magnet string (2).

thyristors are located outside the magnet cryostats and require additional power leads and cryogenic feedthroughs.

The protection system of the magnet ring must be carefully designed and thoroughly tested before starting up the machine. The system tests are usually carried out on a cell or a half-cell representative of the magnet lattice, and all failure modes are investigated (83–85).

SUMMARY

As of today, two large superconducting accelerator rings, Tevatrum and HERA, have been built and are reliably operating, and work is under way on two other superconducting colliders— RHIC and LHC. The construction of RHIC is near completion, and the industrial contracts for the mass production of LHC magnets will be awarded in 1999.

Since the time of the Tevatron (late 1970s), a factor of about two has been gained on the critical current density of NbTi at 4.2 K and 5 T, and a dipole field of 10.5 T has been reached on a short magnet model relying on NoTi cables at 1.8 K. In recent years, encouraging results have been obtained on a couple of short dipole magnet models relying on Nb₃Sn cables, which may open the range 10 T to 15 T.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- D. A. Edwards and M. J. Synheits, An Introduction to the Physics of High Energy Particle Accelerators, New York: Wiley, 1993
- K. H. Mess, P. Schmuser, and S. Wolf, Superconducting Accelerator Magnets, Supports, World Scientific, 1996
- H. T. Edwarda. The Tevatron energy doubler: A superconducting accelerator. Annu. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci., 35: 605-660, 1985.
- 4 A. V. Tollestrup, Superconducting magnets, ADP Cool. Proc., B7: 1982, pp. 689-904
- B. H. Wink, The status of HERA, Conf. Rev. 1591 IEEE Port. Acad. Conf. IEEE Catalogue 91CH3933-7, 1991, pp. 2805-2909
- R. Moinke, Superconducting magnet system for HERA. IEEE Trans. Maga., 27: 1728–1734, 1991.
- 7 V. J. Balbekov and G. G. Gonov, HEP accelerating and storage complex. Status and possibility of D-factory, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. Phys. Res. A 333: 199–195, 1993.
- A. V. Ziahar, UNK superconducting magnets assolution. Nucl Instrum. Meth. Phys. Rev., A 333: 196–203, 1993.
- R. F. Schwatters, Policio-hadron collider: The SSC, AB¹ Conf. Proc. 272: 1993, pp. 306–323
- R. J. Schernser, Status of superconducting magnets for the superconducting super-collider, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 30, 1567–1594, 1994.
- 11 H. Freedscholettal, The relativistic heavy ion collider, RHIC, in H. Schopper (ed.), Advances of Accelerator Physics and Technologies, vol. 12, Adv. Ser. Directicos High Energy Phys., Surgapore, World Scientific, 1953, pp. 104–131.
- A. Greene et al., The magnet system of the relate(site beavy ion collider (REIIC), IEEE Trans. Magn., 32 (2041-2046, 1996).
- L. B. Evans, The Large backon collider project, in T. Haravania, T. Mitsui, and K. Yumafun (eds.). Proc. Path Int. Cryoscok, Eng. Conf., Int. Cryoscoke Mater. Conf. London. Elsevier, 1997, pp. 45– 52.
- H. Pertin, Slotus of LHC programme and magnet development, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supersymp.* 6, 199–195, 1995.

- M. N. Wilson. Superconducting magnets for ancelerators: A review. IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 7, 727-732, 1997.
- 16 A. den Oudert et al., Applications of NbySin superconductors to highfield societator imprises. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 733-738, 1997.
- R. M. Scaular et al., Proliminary last condition of a 13 real-ambitum tradicate, *last. Phys. Conf. Sec.*, 159: 1503–1506, 1997.
- 16 E. Gregory, Conventional wire and cable technology, AIP Conf. Proc. 249: part 2, 1992, pp. 1196–1229.
- L. Dottara: private communication, 1997
- 20. D. C. Larbsdeston and P.J. Lee, New development in mobiling tranium superconductors, Proc. 1995 IEEE Part. Actel. Conf., vol. 2, 1995, pp. 1276–1281.
- D. Lezay et al., Design features and performance of a 10 Thesin operate model dipole for LHC, Proc. 10th Int. Conf. Mogn. Technol. MI-151, Peyrog, China, 1997, submitted.
- L. T. Sammers et al., A model for the prediction of Nb₃Sn critical current as a function of field, transportation, strain and radiation changing *TKKE Trans. Maga.*, 27: 2041–2044, 1991.
- R. Avman, Overview of the ITER project, in T. Haruyama, T. Mitsut, and K. Yamafuji (eds), Proc. 16th Int. Crospens, Eng. Canf. Int. Computer Mater. Conf., London. Cosmics, 1997, pp. 54–59.
- P. Bruzzone et al., Testing of inco-trial Nb₂Sn strands for high lie d fusion magnets. *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, 30 (1986–1989), 1994.
- D. C. Larbalestier. The road to conductors of high temperature superconductors. 10 years do nanko a difference?. IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 7, 93-97, 1997.
- J. M. Rovet and R. M. Scanlan, Manufacture of key-toned flat superconducting cables for use in SSC dipules. *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAG-23, 440–480, 1967.
- M. N. Wilson and R. Wolf. Colculation of contour on greated with energyin Ratherfurd-type cubles. *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 950– 953, 1997.
- [29] A. K. Ghush, W.B. Sampson, and M. N. Willon, Maximum quench energies of Ratherland cables and single writes, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Nupercond.*, 7: 954–957, 1997.
- T. Shintara et al., Development of large keystone angle cable for dipole magnet with ideal archistructure, Adv. Cross. Eng. (Match), 35 [4] (329–324) 1940.
- [50] R. M. Scan proparated M. Royer, Recent improvements in superconducting cable for accelerator -hypole magines, *Conf. Rev. 1091 IEEE Part. Accel. Conf.* 1991, pp. 2155–2157.
- D. Richter et al., DC measurements of electrical contacts between stromis in superconducting califes for the LHC magnets. IEEE Draws Appl. Supercond., 7, 786-592, 1997.
- 32. J. M. Depond et al., Examination of contacts between stronds by electrical measurement and topographical and year. *IEEE Trans.* Appl. Supercond., 7: 794–796, 1997.
- J. D. Adam et al., Rathouthord cobles with an seriopic transverse resistance, IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 7, 959–961, 1997.
- 34 R. A. Hourmoni and K. D. Williamson, Jr. Electrical breakdown and tracking character stars of pulsed high voltages in eryogenic helium and nitrogen. Adv. Conver. Eng. 21, 102–108, 1975.
- [55] P. Vedrano et al., Mechanical tests on the prototype LHC lattice quadrupple, IEEE Trans. Magn., 30 2475-2479, 1994
- (3) M. Anorella et al., Improved cable insulation for superconducting magnets, *Proc. 1983 Part. As ed. Conf.* 1990, pp. 2790–2792.
- G. H. Morgan, Shaping of magnetic fields in beam transport magnets. AIP ("onf. Proc. 240: part 2, 1992, pp. 1242–1261.
- 34 R. C. Gapra, S. A. Kubu, and G. H. Margan. SSC 50 mm dipule cross section. in J. Non-totestol, Supercollider 3, New York: Plenam, 1991, pp. 537–539.
- 39. A Devred and T. Ogitsu, Bomp-rate sensitivity of SSC dipole

magner prototypes, in S. I. Kurokowa, M. Month, and S. Turner, feds :, Frontiers of Accelerator Technology, Singapore: World Scientific, 1996, pp. 194–3184

- H. H. J. ten Kate et al. The reduction of the critical current in Nb₃Symphotecurder transverse forme, *IEEE Trans. Maga.*, 28: 715– 718, 1992
- R. C. Gupta, A common coll design for high field 2-in-1 accelerator machenes, Conf. Rev. 1997 IEEE Part. Accel. Conf. in press.
- J. M. Cook. Strain energy minimization in SSC magnet winding. *ISPE Trans. Magn.*, 27, 1976–1980, 1991.
- J. S. Brandt et al., Cuil end design for the SSC rollader dipole magrat, Conf. Rev. 1991 IEEE Part. Acod. Conf., 1991, pp. 2182–2184
- 54. T. Garavagha et al., Application of the SSCBTK momental simulation program to the evaluation of the SSC magnet operators, or M. MacAshini (ed.), Supercollider 2, New York: Plenum, 1990, pp. 59-76.
- 45 T. Ogitsu and A. Devred, Influence of azimuthal colling, connetions in magnetic field harmonics of superconducting particle accelerator magnetis, *Rev. Sci. Instrum.*, 65 (6): 1998–2005, 1994.
- C. P. Benn, Magnetization of high-field suger conductors, *Rev. Miss. Phys.* 38 (1) 31-39, 1966
- H. Brück et al., Field distortions from persistent magnetization currents in the superconducting HERA magnets. Z. Phys. 11 – Pert. Fodds, 44: 385–392, 1949.
- 48 R. W. Hauft et al., Studies of time dependent lield distintions from magnetization currents in Tevatrun superconducting dipole magnets. *IEEE Trans. Magn.* 25 (1647) 1651, 1989.
- 49. A. Dovred et al., The education concentration in the sextopole componeutral of the magnetic field in a doors operture, 17 m lung SSC depolemagnetic prototype, Conf. Roy. 1991 IEEE Part. Accel. Conf., 1991, pp. 2460–2482.
- F. Willieke and F. Zipinisermonin. The interact of persestent correct field errors on the stability of the proton beam in the HERA proton mag. Conf. Rev. 1991 IEEE Part. Acrel. Conf., 1991, pp. 2463–2497.
- L. Bottura, L. Walckiers, and R. Wolf, Field strong decay and "snapback" in LHC model dipoles, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7: 602– 605, (2007)
- P. W. Anderson, Flux creep in hard superconductors, Phys. Rev. Lett. 9 (7): 309–311, 1962.
- B. Brück et al., Observation of a periodic pattern in the persistent contract fields of the superconducting HERA magnets. *Conf. Rev.* 1991 IEEE Part. Accel. Conf., 1991, pp. 2149–2151.
- A. K. Chech et al., Axial vacuations in the magnetic field of superconducting dipoles and quadrupoles. *Proc. 1963 Proc. Acrel. Conf.*, 1993, pp. 2242–2243.
- A. Akhmetes et al., Correct loop decay to Rutherford-type cables, in P. II do too *J. Superconfider 5*, New York: Phenum, 1994, pp. 443– 446
- 56 L. Kreinpanski and C. Schmidt, Influence of a longitudinal cariation of all idea the magnetic field distribution of superconducting accelerator magnetic, Appl. Phys. Lett., 86 (12) 1545–1547, 1995.
- 57 A. P. Verweit, Boundary-induced coupling currents in a 1.1 m Rutherford type rable due to a locally appoint field change, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Superment.*, 7 (270-273, 1997).
- L. Hertura, L. Walckiers, and Z. Ang, Experimental condense of innardary induced coupling contents to LHC prototypes, *IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7 201–304, 1997.
- 59. K. Stiening, private communication, 1991
- A. Duetvel et al., About the nuclearnes of Set dipule magnet proto 19(+*, All? Conf. Proc. 249 (2): 1992, pp. 1709–1774.
- T. Digtsu, K. Tsuchiya, and A. Devred, Investigation of write matrix in superconducting magnets. *IREE Trans. Magn.*, 27 (2132):2135-1891.

- K. Koopke et al., Permilah doubler impression design and fabrication techniques. IEEE Trans. Magn., MAG-15, 653, 661, 1979.
- 63. D. Perom et al., Measurements of the residence to stress cycling at 4.2 K of LHC dipole rollars, *INEE Trans. Magn.* 30, 1754–1757 1994.
- 64 A. Dovred et al., Review of SSC dipole magnet mechanics and guerath performance, in J. Numbe (ed.), Supercodifier 4, New York Plenum, 1992, pp. 113–136
- D. Lerny et al., Superand analysis of the LHC 10 T two separators d pole, in T Schugurin and S. Shumamuto leds.), Proc. 11th Int. Conf. Magn. Technol., Lundon. Elsevier Applied Science, 1990, pp. 159– 164.
- 665 F. Advents et al., These lopure of and fabrication of the first 10 m loop superconducting dipole prioritype for the LHC, *IEKE Trans. Mapn.*, 30: 1794–1796, 1994.
- 67 P. Wanderso et al., Construction and testing of arc dipoles and quadrupoles for the relativistic heavy ian cullider (RHIC) at BNL. Proc. 1995 Part. Acrol. Conf., 1995, pp. 1293–1297
- 66 J. M. Baxe et al. Design and fabrication of the property supermathematic grandrighter for the CERN LHC project, *ISEE Trans. Maga.* 28: 336–337, 1992.
- J. Strait et al., Sees of full scale SSU R&D dipole magnets. IEEE Trans. Magn. 25 (1457-)458, 1989.
- 70. S. W. Vop Sower, Helium Orgagenics, New York, Plenum, 1936.
- P. Lebrun, Cryogenic systems for accelerators, in S. I. Kurokowa, M. Month, and S. Turner (eds.), Frontiers of Accelerator To Analogy Singapore: World Scientific, 1998, pp. 691–700
- 72 P. Leonur, Superfluid helium cryogenics for the large hadron cullater project at CERN, *Urphysical*, ICEC Suppl., 34, 1–8, 1894.
- G. Chaudet and P. Aymor. Task super- and the II cooling of supermodusting magnets. Adv. Cross. Sug., 35 (A): 55-67, 1990.
- 74 W. Frost (ed.), Heat Transfer at Lose Tenerorations, New York: Planum, 1975.
- T.H. Nieul. Czyostat design for the superconducting super collider AIP Conf. Proc. 249: part 2, 1092, pp. 1230–1241.
- 76 M. N. Wilseen Superconducting Magnets, Oxford: Chirendon, 1983.
- P. Wanderer et al., Parcal lifering test of an SSC collider dipole, IEEE Trans. Maga., 30, 1738–1741, 1994.
- 78 T. Senneider and P. Turnwski. Critical current degradation of a NbTi multifilament conductor due to beau recomment. *IEEE Trans. Maga.*, 80: 2391–2394, 1984.
- 79 A. Devred et al., Investigation of Svater induced quenches in a Full-length SSC R&D depoie, in T. Sekseutha and S. Shumamete, eds. *Proc. 11th Int. Conf. Magn. Technol.*, London: Elsevier, 1990, pp. 91–95.
- A. Devreil et al., Quench characteristics of tall-length SSC R&D dipole magnets, Adv. Cryss. Eng. 85 (A) 599-608, 1990.
- L. Coull et al., I.HU magnet-quench protection system. *IEEE Trans.* Vaga. 30, 1742–1745, 1994.
- 82. B. Stieraug et al., A superconducting synchrotron power coply and quench protection scheme, *IEEE Trans. Magn.*, MAC-15, 670-672, 1979.
- K. Keepke et al., Two nell doublen system test. *JEPE Trans. Mapr.*, MAG-17: 715-715, 1991
- W. Burgett et al., Full power test of a string of alognets comproving a buffeel) of the superconducting super colliger, *Part. Accel.*, 43: 41-75, 1993.
- E. Kudraguez Mateos et al., Electrical performance of a strong of magnets representing a boll-coll of the LHC machine. *IEEE Trans.* Magn. 32 (2105):2103, 1996.

SUPERCONDUCTING TRANSFORMERS

In an electrical power system, power is generated for away from the consuming areas. The electric power is transmitted from generating locations to consuming locations through transmission lines. A high voltage is desirable for transmitting large amounts of power in order to minimize the current and the associated I^2R losses, and reduce the amount of conductor used in transmission lines. A much lower voltage, on the other hand, is required for distribution, for various reasons connected with safety and convenience. The transformer makes the reduction in voltage easy and economically possible. Generally, electricity is transformed three or four times between the location of gencration and the location of consumption making transformers one of the basic elements of an electric power system.

The physical basis of the transformer is mutual induction between two circuits linked by a common magnetic field, as shown in Fig. 1. The power transformer transfers electrical energy from one circuit to another, via the medium of the pulsating mutual magnetic field. Magnetic iron enhances the flux linkage between the circuits. The transformer calls are therefore made to embrace an iron core, which serves as a conduit for the mutual magnetic flux, ensuring that the flux links each coil fairly completely. The use of an iron core permits greater friedom in shape and relative position of the primary and secondary coils (Fig. 2), since the majority of the mutual flux is conveyed by the core regardless of the relative positions of the two sets of coils...-primary and secondary

Since transformers are employed extensively in a power system, their efficiency and losses are considered a serious issue. The transformer design selection is normally made on the basis of its lifetime rost which consists of the initial cost plus the cost. of operating it over its lifetime. The lifetime cost of even a small loss could be significant. In addition, most larger transformers employ oil for rooting the windings and the iron core. Although the oil is an excellent cooling medium and is a good high voltage insulator, it has attracted the ire of environmentalists and fire departments due to the presibility of oil spills and fire barards. Moreover, larger units are too heavy and bulky for normul transportation channels. Space in an urban environment is quite valuable. A many compact, light-weight transformer could more easily he sited, possibly even above the ground floor or basement levels. This could be a significant advantage. Some utilities have indicated that they might be willing to pay a premum for such an advantage. These difficulties have inspired



Figure 1. Flux linkage between primary and secondary to are



Figure 2. Flat hology between primity and secondary with iron core.

designers and users to look for alternative transformer soluticus. Superconducting transformers appear to other a solution to most of these problems.

A superconductor only operates within a space bounded by three parameters, current density in the superconductor, magnetic field experienced by the superconductor, and its operating temperature. The maximum operating current of a given superconducting were is a function of these parameters. If any of these parameters is violated, the superconducting wire loses its superconducting property and becomes resistive. Once in the resistive state, it generates joule heating. This heating must be limited to a safe value in order to prevent permanent damage to the windings. The circuit breaker feeding the transformer could be used to disconnect it if the winding temperature exceeds a given upper limit. Since superconductors can sustain large current densities with potentially low losses, a superconducting transformer is expected to be smaller, lighter, and more efficient. In addition, since the superconducting transformer uses cryogenic liquids as dielectric and coolant, it is also free of environmentally unacceptable oil. During the eighties, several groups designed, built, and tested small transformers. employing low temperature superconductors (LTS) Nichtum-Tatamium (NBTi) superconducting windings (1-6) cooled with Jigoid helium to around 4 K. Several problems were observed:

- First, the superconductor must operate in the presence of fluctuating ac currents in a moderately high magnetic field resulting in decreased stability and increased ac losses.
- Second, under system fault conditions, if the critical current of the conductor is exceeded, recovery to the superconducting state is too slow to allow automatic circuit reclosure.
- Third, the mean to cool with liquid helium reduces economic benefits of such a device

The disrovery of high temperature superconductors (HTS) has revived interest in superconducting transformers. Presently, attempts are being made to design, build, and test transformers with HTS windings couled with liquid attrogen at 77 K. These HTS transformers are less likely to have the problems associated with NbTi transformers. For example, the use of HTS material greatly improves stability, the transformer could be designed to provent queaching (i.e., transitioning to the normal state), and the consequences of ac losses could be potentially overcome by developing low-uc-loss HTS conductors and operating it at 77 K. References 7–9 have summarized the evolution of the superconducting transformers. Recently two HTS prototype transformers have been tested—a 630 kVA, three-phase transformer by ABB (10) and a 500 kVA, one-phase transformer by Kyushu University (11). HTS transformers are also being considered for railroad rolling stock in Japan (11A).

The HDS transformer could also be designed to provide fault current limiting functionality and to improve system stability (11B). This article discusses potential system benefits associated with superconducting transformers, and reviews and summarizes the design requirements for such a devoe. It also compares and contrasts the requirements for transformers utilizing LTS and HTS conductors.

SUPERCONDUCTING TRANSFORMER CONFIGURATION

A superconducting transformer operates using the same principles and constituent parts as found in a convensional transformer. Both employ an iron core to contain magnetic flux, and primary and secondary windings to exchange power. However, the construction of the two types of transformers is quite different. For example, in conventional transformers primary and secondary coils are directly wound on the iron core and both iron core and coil assemblies are immersed in a tank filled with oil that couls both the iron core and the coils. On the other hand, in superconducting transformers, the iron core is usually maintained at room-temperature while the superconducting coils operate at cryogenic temperatures. The decision to manifactithe iron core at room temperature is dictated by the fact that the iron core losses, due to hysteresis and eddy-currents, are substantial (almost 1 watt per pound) and they go up when the iron core is operated at cryogenic temperatures (12). The iron core permeability also goes down at low temperature which means more iron core is required to carry the same flux at low temperature than at moni-temperature. The one losses would represent a major load on the refrigerator of the mon-core were operated at cryogenic temperature. On the other hand, the superconducting windings must be copled to cryogenic temperatures (helween 4.5 K and 77 K) which necessitates that these windings be enclosed in containers which could hold vacuum or cryages at both. These containers surround the iron care limbs and take the shape of hollow naturts. Since they surround the iron core, they must be constructed from nonmetallic material lest they form a closed circuit around the iron core and thus form a shorted secondary for the transformer, making the transformer unworkable. It is possible to employ metallic onctamens but a dielectric break must be included in the cimumferencial direction to prevent flow of current in the container walls. The dielectric break makes these metallic cryogen on: fainers muto expensive and less reliable. The superconducting windings must be cooled with suitable cryagen 'liquid helium for NbTi windings, liquid attrogen for HTS B(PhSrCaCuO-2223 (BSCCO-2223) windings, or an intermediate temperature for Nb3Sn or BSCCO-2212 windings). Reference 13 describes the status of the HTS conductor technology and [14) discusses coils made from BSCCO-2212 material. Since these containers hold windings at low temperatures, their walls must be thermally asolating. For low temperature operation of around

4 K. a double wall construction is employed with mobi-layerinsulation (MLI) insulation in the vacuum space between the walls. Additionally, an intermediate temperature (77 K) shield is also inserted between warm and cold walls of the cryssist. This makes the container design complex and expensive. On the other hand, if the windings operate at 77 K then single wall construction rould be used for these containers. This makes design and construction simpler and the cost is substantially lower as compared to those of the low temperature cods. The cost of refrigerator (both capita) and lifetime) is also much lower for devices operating at 20 K to 77 K than those operating at 4 K.

TRANSFORMER DESIGN AND ANALYSIS

The transformer design is obtained with an optimization process which involves varying several significant parameters which are interrelated in complex ways. A transformer is sized on the basis of its power rating, voltage, number of phases, frequency, and short-circont reactance. It is also necessary to pay close attention to transformer type, service conditions, cost of losses, and the relative costs of conductor, iron, insulation, labor, machinery, and configuration. All these factors are considered when designing a superconducting as well as normal transformer.

Design Issues

It is possible in principle to construct a superconducting transformer without an iron care. Such transformers are characterized by a larger radiation in losses, size, and weight than these employing iron core but they require much larger excitation current (15–16). On the other hand, an iron core offers the following benefits:

- The core contains the mutual flux between the windings, and thus, reduces stray field which has adverse impacts on people and other equipment in the vicinity of the transformer.
- The magnetic field experienced by the superconducting worklogs is n-duced, thus reducing the amount of superconductor required.
- The or losses in the windings are reduced, which reduces the size of the refrigeration system

Smoothsses in the iron core are large, it is normally preferable to keep the iron core at room-temperature. This requirement to operate the iron core at room-temperature forces superconducting transformer configurations which differ from those of conventional transformers.

A generic three-phase superconducting transformer is shown in Fig. 4. It has a set of concentric primitry and secondary windings surrounding each leg of a three-leg transformer core. Since the windings operate at cryogenic temperatures, primitry secondary winding pairs are enclosed in individual end containers (identified as cold wall of cryostat in Fig. 3). This cold wall must be made of nonconductive materials in order to prevent a shorted term. A common warm wall encloses off three cold walls—this wall could be metallic.



Figure 8. HTS transformen configuration

Conductor Concepts

Superconductors being considered for transformers could be divided into two broad categories on the basis of their operating temperatures. I.TS operate at liquid helmin temperature (\sim 4.2 K) and HTS operate at temperatures ranging from 20 K to 77 K (the temperature of liquid nitrogen). Two ETS conductor options are available: Niolauon-Titanium (NhTi) and Niobium-Tin (NB₄Sn). Likewise, two HTS conductor choices are available in long lengths, BSCCO-2212 for operation at \sim 20 K to 30 K, and BSCCO-2223 for operation \sim 40K to 77 K. This section discusses characteristics of these conductors and their provision cons for application in a superconducting transformer.

Niobium-Titanium Conductors. Superconducting NbTi wires for 50 Hz to 60 Hz applications require very small diameters in order to minimize ac losses and improve intransic stability (17–19). These NbTi wires are charoctorized by very fine fitaments (0,1 µm or less), high resistance CuNi matrix, and small wire diameter (> 0.2 mm). A practical size conductor, capable of corrying hundreds of amperes, consists of many such wires.

Primary and secondary coils mude with this conductor are generally housed in a common container filled with liquid helium. Since it is expensive to remove heat generated at liquid holjom temperature (4 K) with a refrigerator, designs are always optimized to minimize heat generated at low temperatures. Since the specific heat of metals is very low at the liquid helium temperatures, a small heat input forces the conductor into its normal conducting state. Protection against the consequences of an unexpected quench is interof the most signifteart challenges for superconducting coals-the intensive and localized Jonie Leating can produce catastrophic damage (20). Moreover, the protection of an windings is more oriheral than of de windings, because of high matrix resistivity--it is not permissible for wire to carry its nominal current longer than a few milliseconds, otkerwise permanent damage could occur. Thus, transformers employing NbTi windings roust be designed carefully to avoid these problems. Similar design opproaches must he used for Nb₃Sn conductors. These conductors have higher entical temperature than NbT: and it is therefore possible to operate them at higher temperatures (~10 K) as compared to 4 K for NbTi, Nevertheless, most problems associated with low temperature persist. The lack of economic feasibility and high cost of refrigeration stopped LTS transformer artivities



Figure 4. Highly aspected HTS conductor

BSCCO Conductors: Although BSCCO conductors have a potential of operating at ~77 K and being cooled with environmentally friendly liquid nitrogen, no suitable design of an acconductor exists at this time. The major problem is posed by high aspect ratios (1:10) of such conductors as shown in Fig. 4. Since hysteresis losses are directly proportional to filument diameter (17), losses induced by magnetic field perpendicular to the wide surface of the conductor are high and they pose coil caoling and overall transformer efficiency challenges. Furthermore, since a single strand of 8SCCO wire could only carry line ited current, is is necessary to wind several strands in parallel If these arrands are not transposed they can cause eignificant compling lasses. Iwakuma (21) has proposed a transposition. scheme to minimize these coupling losses (losses due in field parallel to the wide face of the conductor are likely to become amprahle.

The perpendicular field losses only arrur in the end regions (10% of the coil axial length) of coils and with elever winding schemes, it might be possible to minimize these losses. Research is continuing at AMSC and other places around the world but no one has yes published a medible conductor design. Until a credible HTS conductor is developed for an application, the HTS transformer will remain elusive

Since the specific heat of metala is high at higher temperatures, it is possible to absorb larger amount of heat at the higher operating temperatures of HTS for a modest temperature rise of the conductor. Nevertheless or losses in presently available conductors are still unacceptable due to cost/efficiency considerations. ABB has made a 630 kVA transformer (10,22) which employed BSCCO 2223 wire from AMSC but its ac lesses are unacceptably high for commercial deployment. On the other band, this device has demonstrated that if a suitable HTS wire was available then it would be possible to construct a practical transformer. Figure 5 (taken from Ref. 22) shows a Model coil made by ABB, from wire provided by American Superconductor Corporation (AMSC), for the 630-kVA transformer project in Geneva. Switzerland.

Coated conductors employing YBCO films on a substrate are emerging as an alternative to BSCCO conductors. High entited current in HTS films deposited on crystellagraphically oriented substrates has been demonstrated recently by Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL/02) and independently by Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL). Just industry-falseratory propress are underway to scale up this control conductor technology. A number of technological problems must be solved before a practical conductor could emerge. Production conductors are expected by a 2004 time frame.

The coated conductor promises significantly higher performance than the BSCCO, with projected cost/performance below the much discussed \$10/kA-m commercialization.



Figure 5. Model coil made by ABB, from wire provided by American Superconductor Corporation (AMSC), for the 630 kVA transformer project of Concya, Switzerland.

benchmurk. Overall strand current densities of op to 50,000 A/cm² are expected to be achievable. In addition, the costed conductor films may ultimately be engineered to optimize filament dimensions and to eliminate filament coupling through the careful selection of layers within the conductor architecture.

Ac Losses

Losses in a superconducting collare quite small under de operation. However, these losses become significant if the coil current is ramped rapidly or if it corries as as in a transformer. The aclosses are generally quite small, but the refrigeration penalty amplifies their effect. When the applied field is low, superconductor tends to serven penetration of field into interior of the conductor. However, higher fields fully penetrate a conductor. Under such a condition, bysteresis loss (watt) is given by the following formula (17,24) for decoupled filaments:

$$Q_{t} = \Delta H_{t} U_{t} f$$

where

- J_i = critical current density of superconducting filament $(A \cdot m^3)$
- a radius of filament (m)
- f = frequency (11x)

The largest loss component is usually hysteresis has in the superconductor filaments. One way to reduce these losses is to make the superconducting filament diameter (2 a) as small as possible.

Another component of aclosses is due to coupling between filaments. This coupling takes place when the electric field between adjacent filaments is sufficiently large to cause a corrent flow between filaments through the matrix. Filaments are tightly twisted in a helical firshion and are surrounded by high resistivity matrix in order to reduce these coupling corrents and the associated losses. The coupling losses are given by the following equations taken from (25).

$$P_{i} = \frac{1}{144} \left(\frac{c}{d}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{l_{i}^{2}}{d}\frac{\theta^{2}}{h_{i}}\right)$$
(1)

$$P_{i} = \frac{1}{16} \cdot \left(\frac{r}{d}\right)^{2} \cdot \left(\frac{l_{i}^{\prime} \cdot B^{\prime}}{r_{i}}\right)$$
(2)

where

 $P_i = \text{bass per unit volume of the conductor (W/m⁴)}$ c and d - conductor cross-sectoreal dimensions (width and thickness) (m)

 $l_1 =$ twist pitch length (m)

B = rate of charge of magnetic field (T/s)

 $\rho_{e^{\pm}}$ matrix resistivity Q/Ω on ϵ

Equation (1) is used when the field is parallel to the wider face Eq. 2 of the conductor $d \ll r$. Eq. (2) is for the case when $r \gg d$.

It has been shown (26.27) that NbTi coils operating at liqind helium temperature must have a filament diameter on the order of 0.1 juin or less to make these compling losses comparable to the losses in copper windings of a conventional transformer.

Both of these ar loss phenomena also apply to HTS conductors. HTS conductors are currently made in highly aspected tape shapes (1/10) as shown in Fig. 4. The hysteresis losses due to magnetic field parallel to the broad face of the conductor are acceptable since the dimension transverse to the field is small, hut lasses due to magnesic field perpendicular to the broad face of the conductor are excessively large. Although several industrial groups are attacking this problem, no method has yet been published for making a conductor capable of carrying large currents (comparable to those of LTS) while keeping hysteresis and coupling losses low HTS conductors, however, have a couple of significant advantages over the LTS conductors – the temperature rise due to a transient heat input life,, by ranductor movement) is lower at the higher HTS operating temperatures than when operating at liquid beliant temperature, and they have a slow transition from superconducting to normal state which makes them inherently more stable. This advantage may translate into relaxed requirements on the acceptable filament size and other conductor configuration parameters. However, the aclosses in these wires must be low in order to make HTS transformers economically acceptable.

Another significant loss component is the heat conduction through current leads. One end of a current lead is at more temperature and the other rule is at low temperature, and the heat is conducted along the length of the lead from warm to cold regions. In case of LTS transformers, conduction heat can be intercepted at the intermethate thermal shield, which is assoally kept at \sim 70 K. The heat conduction between the 70 K and 4 K winding regions could be controlled by employing HTS current leads. However, in case of HTS transformers operating at the liquid nitrogen temperature '77 K', all of the lead conduction must be couled by the liquid autrogen coolant. A typical 100 A pair of leads conducts 8 W of heat load into the cold region.

Cryoslat

To maintain the low temperature environment essential for operation of LTS and HTS magnets, they must be placed in specul vessels or cryostats. These are vacuum insulated contamers. Designs for LTS and HTS could be widely different: HTS cryostats are likely to be easier to design and fabricate than LTS rryostats. Since the cost of removing losses from low temperatures (4.2 K) is very high, oscially a double or triple wall construction is employed. The innermost space contains the liqout behavior and outermost wall operates at more temperature. An intermediate temperature such as liquid nitringen temperature (77 K). In some applications, even another wall is introduced at 20 K to 80 K in order to emmonize total refrigeration load.

On the other hand, a HTS cryostat operating at 77 K could employ a simple double wall construction. The outer wall as at room-temperature and the inner wall is at liquid nitrogen temperature. The space between the two walls is filled with multi-layer-moulation (MLI) or some other suitable thermal insulation such as various types of feam. Normally this simple construction reduces heat leak to an acceptable level.

Cooling System

Superconducting magnets can be rooled with a pool of liquid cryagen ar ranked by conduction with a cryacobler. The majority of LTS magnets are cooled with liquid behum. Helium has the lowest boiling point (4.2 K) at atmospheric pressure of any known cryngen and has been the crycgenic fluid used in the GTS magnets. On the other hand, cost of helium is very high (~ \$5/liter). Because of its cost, most facilities install a recovery and reliquelying system. A variety of devices are available war'dwide. The choice of device is application specific as the designer must evaluate trade-offs. Primary among these are first-cost versus operating cost: first-cost versus reliability and ease-of-use, and dollar per watt of moling required. Devices are basically two types; open cycle or closed-cycle. The former are the simplest, lowest cost form of refrigeration available today and are quite simply open top "bucket" dewars. Closed cycle systems do not require use of liquefied cryogens but rely on the refrigeration capacities of the gas and the cycle design to achieve the cryagence temperatures desired. Helium is the predominant gas used in these devices. For larger applications such as a transformer, a closed cycle belium system is substantially more economical in long run than purchased liquid holjum. With a closed cycle system, the warm belium returning from the crynstat is reliquified in a refrigerator and returned in the cryostal. A number of conduction cooled magnets which use no Equid cryngen have been built for operation at 4 K and higher temperatures using both HTS and LTS wires.

Economic Considerations

From a utility perspective, a transformer must have low initial and operating costs, and be light weight, compact, and environmontally benigr, with a lifetrank of typically 30 years. To a great extent, a HTS transformer does have a potential to offer these advantages.

Conventional transformers are highly reliable and flexible in terms of their use in an electrical system. However, the dominant component of iasses is the $I^{2}R$ loss in the windings. The capitalized cost of these losses over the life of a transformer could easily exceed its initial cost. The superconducting transformers are attractive because of the potentially lower winding losses. However, there is an energy penalty associated with the input power consumed by the refrigeration system. This energy penalty can be substantial. To remove 1 W of losses at 4 K, 600 W of refrigeration power is required. However, only 20 W is required to remove 1 W from 77 K. This reduction in the refrigeration power has generated a lot of interest in transformers employing HTS conductors. An optimally designed HTS transformer is likely to have lower losses and lower life cycle cost than a conventional unit.

The higher current density capacity of superconductors compared to coppor leads to a more compact and lighter design of transformers. Even for the identical core diameters, the core window width (space between iron legs) could be reduced in propartian to the space saving due to the utilization of superconducting windings. This reduces the iron core weight. Lighter core size also leads to lower core losses. A compact and light weight transformer might see new applications which were toot feasible with the conventional transformers. Lower weight and compact size would make them acceptable for more urban apglications. Smaller core windows also lead to lower leakage inductance which helps to improve dynamic stability of a power system. The low leakage inductance also improves the vultage regulation to the load, and therefore, it might eliminate complex and expensive tap changers.

The environmentally friendly aspect of a superconducting transformer gives additional impetus to application of these devices. They do not have environmental, health, and safety conterns associated with conventional transformers. In orban settings, most transformers are installed in the basement of high rise buildings. Environmental concerns are forcing utilities to employ nil free transformers. In a superconducting transformer, oil is replaced with Equid beliam or Equid mitragen. They are much more benign—nontexic, nonflammable, and noncercinogenic. However, in the event of a quench, a large quantity of beliam or intragen gas could be released which could displace oxygen in the succounding art and present a personnel risk. This risk can be mitigated by controlled release and installation of exhaust fiens.

STATE-OF-THE-ART OF SUPERCONDUCTING TRANSFORMERS

With the advent of HTS conductors, the low temperature transformer design efforts have essentially been abandoned. Several HTS transformers programs are currently advected Japan, Europe, and North America for operation at temperatures ranging from 20 K to 77 K. Both an some and iron-cure options are being pursued. The major HTS programs being pursued are leated helow.

ABB has built (26-30) and tested a 630 kVA. 3-phase transformer in March 1997. This was the world's first demonstration of an HTS transformer, one that was developed and built by ABB with HTS wire that was developed and manufartneed by AMSC. Following the success of this transformer, the Electricité de France (EDF), ABB, and ASC consultium is now developing a 10 MVA transformer (29).

The 10 MVA transformer is a crucial next step on the path to a commercial-scale 30 MVA transformer. The 10 MVA unit will be built by ABB and will be tested by EDF in its grid by the end of 2000.

- Waukesha Electric and Intermagnetic General Corporation (IGC) is building a 1 MVA transformer (8) Waukesha will build the unit using HTS wire supplied by IGC. This unit was tested recently (8A).
- Kyushu University consortium designed, built, and tested a 500 MVA-class single phase HTS transformer (11) in 1996. This was the first transformer couled by liquid nutrogen at 77 K and was operated at a straidy state with a 500 kVA secondary inductive load.

Although BTS conductors are much more tolerant of transight heat input (primarily due to increased heat capacity of materials at higher temperatures than at 4.2 K), the ac lesses are still significant and an attractive ac conductor configuration is still illusive. The highly aspected configuration of HTS wire (width = $10 \times$ thickness) generates excessive hystoresis losses caused by the magnetic field component perpendicular to the surface of the conductor. These losses are sufficiently highthat the total refrigeration power needed to remove them from 77 K environment is comparable to the PR loss in the windings of a conventional transformer. Thus, she efficiency (or birevele cost) advantage is lost. How the ac loss problem will be solved and how the market will value the henefits of a superconducting transformer over conventional transformers is not yet. clear. By the year 2002, a clearer picture might emerge about the feasibility of HTS transformers.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- H. Kiemersina et al., Application of superconducting technology to power transformers, *IEEB Trans. Power Appen Syst.*, PAS-100 3308-3405, 1991
- Westinghouse Electric Corporation: Application of low temperature technology to power transformers, US Department of Energy DOR, ET/20024-1, February 1982
- A. Feyrner et al., Preliminary tests on a superconducting power transformer, *IKKE* Datas. Maga., MAG-24: 1477-1430, 1988.
- 4 S. Hornfeldt et al., Hower transformer with superconducting windings. IKEE Trans. Mag. MAG 29: 3550–3558, 1984.
- M. Iwakuma et al. Quench protection of superconducting transformers. *IEEE Trans. Maga.* MAG-27 2080-2003, 1991
- E. S. Yoreda et al., Tests of a 20 kVA elses superconducting to oneformer, Cruspence, 31: 655–659, July 1991.
- 7 B. F. Green. The status of progress towards high-temperature superconducting transformers. Work sponsored by the International Energy Agency. Argonne. National Laboratory, November 1996.
- S. P. Mehta et al., Superconduction transforming transformers. IEEE Spectrum, 43–49, July 1997.
- 8A. S. P. Mohtniet al., Progression the design of a to-30 MVA close HTM transformer. Presented at the Appl. Supervoid. Conf. Virgania. Beach. VA. Sept. 2009.
- R. C. Jahnson, Status of superconducting power transformer development. *Proc. Anno. Asser. Conf.* Chicago, April 1996, 58-1: 89, subject 05-6, Illinois Institute of Scientology.
- D. Mikulia, HTS transformer for adulty powering. Models Proceet Syst., June 1997

- K. Funnki et al., Preliminary tests of a 500 kVA-class oxide superconducting transformer cooled by subcooled introgen, IEEE Theory Appl. Supercond. 7: 824–847, 1997.
- DA H. Hata et al., Study of superconductivity transformer for Shatkousen toiling -tack, Presented at the Appl Supercond Conf. Virgona Beach, VA, Sept. 2000.
- 11B. N. Hayakawa et al., Study of superconductivity fault current limiting transformer, Presented at the Appl. Supercond. Conf., Virgaus Beach, VA, Sept. 23081
- P.K. Mukhwashnyay et al., Unexpected behaviour of core materials of electrical coals at law temperatures. *Cryogenics*, 34:(3):241, 1984.
- A. P. Malozen off et al., Progress in BISCCO-2225 tage technology, M2S Cunff, Belgine, China, February 26, March 3, 1997.
- M. S. Walker et al. Performance of curls would from long lengths of surface costed, reacted. ISBNO-2212 conductor. *INSE Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 7:889–382, 1997.
- M. Yamamoto, A Study on a Correless Superconducting Transtomer (IEEE Dynas Appl. Supercond., 3, 488), 1993.
- 16 N. Uksua et al., Fabrication and test of superconducting air-core autotransformers. *IEEE Trans. Magn.*. MAG-28, 439–433, 1992.
- M. N. Wilson, Superconducting Magnets, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1983
- T. Verhaege et al., A new classion ac superconducting conductors. IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond., 3: 164, 1993.
- K. Kamisada et al., Research and development of superconductors for commercial fungaency. *IEEN Trans. Appl. Supercond.*, 28: 291, 1992.
- T. Vernege et al., Protection of superconductor gas windings, IEEE ISans. Applicat. Supercond., 29: 751, 1992.
- M. Iwakuma et al., Electromagnetic properties in purollel canductors compused of Bi2220 multifilamentary wires for power transformer workings, Appl. Supercond. Conf. August 25, Patisburgh, PA, 1996.
- 22. A. M. Wolsky. IEA implementing agreement for a culoperative programme for nonsessing the implets of high-temperature superconductivity on the electric power sector, Argonic National Latconvery, Juntury 1980.
- S. Foltyn et al., 35 Spring MRS Meeting in San Francisco, Califormin
- 24 H. Birchne, Superconducting Magari System, Berlin Springer-Verlag, 1978
- K. Kwasnitza, AC losses of superconducting high-Te multifilmmentary Bi-2223/Ag strathed tapes in perpendicular magnetic fields, *Physica C* 233: 423–435, 1994.
- J. H. Murphy Advanced applications of superconductors. Advances in Computer Engineering, 20, 1935.
- 27 Cha Government al., Effect of the longitudinal magnetic field an a 2nd level superconducting cable. Trans. *KIEE*, 46 (1): 52–57, January 1997.
- ABB and American Superconductor Corporation team up to demonstrate the world's first installation of a high temperature superconductor transformer, an ASC press release, Westhomogh, MA, March 12, 1997.
- Electricité de France, ABB, and American Superconductor sign \$15 million part to occoletate HTS ware development for next generation power transformers, un ASC press release. Westhurough, MA, January 12, 1998.
- P. G. Thesond et al., High two persture 680 kVA superconducting transformer, Report 12-302, CIGRE Meeting, Aug. 20 Sept. 5, 1998, Paris.

SWAIN S. KALS: American Superconductor Corporation

TEMPERATURE SENSORS

TEMPERATURE AS A PHYSICAL QUANTITY

Every object or phenomenon existing in the real world may be described by a set of properties. Some of these properties are physical quantities, while others are descriptive ones. Physical quantities must be measurable. In order to make a property, measurable, one has to establish a method with which to detext whether a state of a property is higher than another state, to detect if two states are the same, to propose a measure of the state, and finally to find a scale which transforms a given level of the property into an abstract symbol in the form of a number and a unit of measure. Considering temperature as a property of an object, all the problems mentioned above are rather complicated from both theoretical and practical points. of view. The human sense of touch enables us to distinguish between higher and lower thermal levels, over a limited range of temperatures and with very limited repeatability, but nothing more, and there was a long way to go from our "feeling of brat" to the definition of temperature and temperature scales. The popular and effen-quoted definition of temperature as an "intensity of heat" does not lead directly to solving the problem. because of its lack of charity.

Only the discovery of the fundamental laws of thermodynamics in the middle of nineteenth century allowed us to answer the question. What is temperature? The first law of thermodynamics says that thermal energy transfer is possible only. from a system with higher temperature to a system with lower temperature. By observing the direction of thermal energy transfer, we are able both to tell which system is the one of a higher state of temperature and also to confirm the existence of equilibrium of temperature states when the heat transfer hetwarn two systems declines to zero. Furthermore, the works by Carnot, Lord Kelvin, and Clausius resulted in the formulation of the laws concerning the reversible thermodynamic cycle. called the Carnat cycle. The Carnat cycle consists of two isotherma) heat conversion processes and two adiabatic keat transfer processes as illustrated in Fig. 1. By transferring a heat energy from the system with a higher state of temperature to a system with a lower temperature state, it is possible to transform a part of that energy (although a relatively small one). into mechanical energy. This constitutes a theoretical principle for all heat engines. The theoretical efficiency of a Carnot cycle. engine is

$$\eta = \frac{Q_1 - Q_2}{Q_1} \tag{1}$$

where Q_1 is thermal energy transferred from the system with higher temperature in the isothermal expansion process, and Q_2 is thermal energy transferred to the system with lower temperature in the isothermal compression process. The theory of the Carnet cycle does not depend on the medium used, and Eq. (1) is a universal one. The engine efficiency depends only on the ratio Q_2/Q_1 and this ratio was proposed by Lord Kelvin as the basis of a new "absolute" thermodynamic measure of temperature in the form

$$\frac{T_l}{T} = \frac{Q_l}{Q_l}$$
(2)



Figure 1. The Carnot cycle for an ideal heat engine. The arrows indicale the subsequent thermal processes

Such a measure is independent of the thermal properties of any material and requires only one fixed temperature point to create the temperature scale. Equation (2) indicates very clearly that temperature has no physical xero point. In creating any temperature scale the zero point is to be assumed arbitrarily. That is, temperature, in the same manner as time, can be measured only by the interval scale but not by the metric scale. The point defined as 0 K is only a mathematical point on the scale but not a physical null temperature. Even in outer space we are not able to achieve physical null temperature, hecause the insection of any material budy changes the state of the temperature previously existing.

In Lord Kelvin's filetime the Colsius scale of temperature had been in use for 100 years, and the temperature differences (e.g., between the ice point and the builing point of water) had already been expressed in Celsius degrees. Gay-Lussuc's gas law had also been known for more than 100 years and expressed as

$$V \in |V_0| 1 + \omega(t - h_0)|_{\mu = 0.051}$$
(3)

where *Y* and *V*₀ are the volumes of an ideal gas at temperatures *t* and *t*₀, respectively. Equation (2) proved to give results fitting quite well to the experimental moults, especially for rarefied gases at low pressure, and the numerical value of the coefficient *a* was known with a good accuracy. Taking a Celsius degree as a unit of temperature difference, assuming the ice point of water as a point of $t_0 = 0$, and accepting particularly for these conditions an experimentally obtained value of the methods to = 0.003661.17 C, we are able to create a new temperature scale, with the zero value at the point when an ideal gas volume decreases to zero (Fig. 2). The scale is now known as the absolute or Kelvin scale and is shifted by a value of 1.64 = 273.15 with respect to the Celsius scale. All currently



Figure 2. The meaning of absolute temperature scale and its relation to the ideal gas law. The difference between ice point and triple point of water on the temperature -cale is excessively enlarged in order to enhance clarity.

used temperature scales are in linear relations with each other.

$$T[\mathbf{K}] = t[|\mathbf{C}| + 273|15 - 5t] |\mathbf{F}| + 459|67| \frac{6}{9}$$

$$t[|\mathbf{C}| = T||\mathbf{K}| - 273|15 - 61||\mathbf{F}| + 32| \frac{5}{9}$$

$$t[|\mathbf{F}| = 1.8(t]|\mathbf{C}| - 17.778) = 1.8(T|\mathbf{K}| - 250.37)$$

It is evident that (inv-bassac's law is an excellent basis for developing not only the scale but also a thermometer: a gas thermometer. There is only one problem, albeit a significant one. An ideal gas does not exist. This inconvenience may be average other by the use of gases with properties close to the ideal das ('He, H_g) or by the use of rarefield gases at low pressures and by applying a very special measurement procedure. It has to be posted out that in Eq. (3) there is an implied condition that p = const. In practically split gas thermometers, however, it is easier to fulfill the requirement of t = const and to observe the changes in p, instead of). Therefore the inspirity of gas thermometers work on the constant volume principle.

INTERNATIONAL REMPERATURE SCALE OF 90

In spite of the great progress in measurement techniques achieved since the days of Lord Kelvin, the use of gas theymometers is not a way to establish a contemporary temperature scale because of the great difficulties regarding their performance. Absolute Kelvin temperature according to Eq. (2) remains the theoretical definition of temperature, but the temperature scale is reproduced with the highest accuracy by means of the International Temperature Scale (ITS) established first in 1927 and recently modified in 1990. Most high accuracy industrial temperature measurement requires the production of a reproducible temperature state rather than its value in terms offics absolute temperature value. (TS-90 allows this by setting up it scale that is highly reproducible but only approximates to an absolute Kelvin scale to the fimits of technology avaiable in the late 1980s. Temperatures corresponding to that scale are sontetimes marked using the subscript 90 m order to distinguish the differences with respect to the firmer scales (1927, 1948, 1968) and to the theoretical values of the thermodynamic scale (T [K] and i [C] with no subscripts).

The ITS-90 describes a set of fixed temperature points 117 points and the methods of measuring the temperature between these points. Fixed points are freezing or triple points of selected materials (except Gallium's melting point). The points and the methods have been chosen to ensure, arrording to the actual knowledge and technology, the best conformance in the absolute temperature scale. An additional document, "Supplecientary holorination for the ITS-90," gives a very in depth and exhaustive description of the instruments and the procedures which ensure the highest accuracy and traceability of temperature standard measurements. Figure 3 presents the difference in temperature values expressed by the previous IPTS 68 scaleand by the present ITS-90. In some major, espenalty above 640 C, the differences are really great and are mainly caused



Figure 3. The differences in temperatures expressed by [PTS-68 and [TS-60, (After Ref. 1.)

by the incorrect reference function accepted by the IPTS-68 for the type S standard thermocouple. The correction of that reference function allows us to reduce the differences. Boiling points are rejected by the ITS-90 because of their poor stability and great sensitivity to pressure. The boiling point of water is no longer a fixed point. Some differences in standard instruments and methods have been introduced, too. The most important is that the standard platness resistance thermometer now covers a much wider range of temperatures than previously, extending from about --260 C up to the freezing point of solver +962 C. Above that temperature the Planck radiation law is used us a principle for standard measurements. Thus, the PtRh–Pt thermocouple is no longer a standard thermometer (1)

Extremely complex reference functions have been defined in order to express sufficiently precisely the ratio of the resistance at a given temperature $T_{\rm s0}$ to the resistance at the triple point of water ($T_{\rm s0} = 273.16$ K) and vice versa, to express the temperature as a function of that ratio. The convenience of computerized calculations justify the complex forms of these functions

They are not used, however, for numerical corrections of temperature values in the industrial, microprocessor-bused instruments (e.g., for linearity correction). For that purpose much simpler, yet not so accurate, equations have been developed. Equation (4) is an adequate example

ITS 90 serves as the best approximation of a realized temperature scale to the absolute thermodynamic scale and determines a highest level of the temperature standards are available, which are used for comparisons and to calibrate the thermometere in practical use. The uncertainty is higher as far as the calibration of the technical thermometers is concerned, and at ranges from a few multikelyin or less at the highest accuracy level and in the medium temperature range to the tenths of Kelvin for the case of industrial thermometers and thermometers used in everyday life. The uncertainty of both standard and practical thermometers in the higher temperature range rabove 650. Chis always greater. According to the general idea of the ITS-90, it is evident that some multifications are inevitable in the future.

THE GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF TEMPERATURE MEASUREMENTS

The measurement of temperature differs from the measurement of other fundamental quantities such as mass, force, langitude, or voltage not only because of the lack of physical zero

point of temperature, but primarily because of the anconvenience in direct comparison of the thermal state of the system of onknown temperature with the thermal state of the standard. The temperature is an intrinsic property of a material and hence does not permit scaling in the way of an extrinsic property such as length or mass. To measure temperature it is necessary to find an extransic property that varies in a predictable way with temperature and use this to construct a thermameter. That is why the practical measurements of temperature are always performed indirectly. The temperature sensor interfaces with the system whose temperature is to be measured. The interface may be realized by insertion, by point contact, or by visual contact with the system (Fig. 4). The sensor converts the thermal state of a system to a determined state of another quantity, which is defined as an output signal from the sensor. The output signal is then processed in the transducer T and finally presented in numerical form as a result of the temperatore measurement. However, it is not the only function that contemporary transducers perform. They are more and numfrequently equipped with microprocessors and constitute a systion which controls the measurement process, controls range changes, performs the numerical result correction, presents the results in appropriate units, and controls the standard interfaces such as RS 232, HCC 625, or others. Many control systems work according to the two-wire 4--20 mA standard. Therefore it happens very often that a temperature-measuring transducer provides the 4-20 mA output too, or even has an accurporated PID arms/off controller Sometimes sensors are integrated with transducers ather mechanically only or both mechanically and electrically on the same chin. At a large enough scale of integratian, the term (ategrated sensor (BS) is justified. (The reading of the acronym IS as "intelligent sensor" is a commercial and marketing atouse.)

It is not the aim of this article to describe transducers but sensare. Therefore only input stages of the transducers —those stages which are directly interfaving with the sensars — will be presented. They are usually analog parts of measuring circuits, because all temperature sensars are analog devices. The principle of sensor operation depends on the physical phenomenaused for conversion of temperature in the output ageal. There are a lot of physical phenomena where temperature plays a significant role, but only a few of them are used in temperature sensors because they have to meet some additional requirements. These are as follows:

 The monotonic calibration curve—that is, the relation between the temperature and an output signal over a sofficiently wide temperature mage.



Figure 4. Temperature sensors and transducers The outputs are arbitrarily assigned to the transducers

- Sensitivity to temperature that is much higher than the sensitivity to all other influencing variables
- The output signal casily measurable with sufficiently lowuncertainty.
- Interchangeability of the sensors at least within the same type or the same manufacturing technology.
- Repeatability of the calibration curve over the whole range of operating conditions.

Repeatability is mainly disturbed by hysteresis, relaxation, and aging. Hysteresis is observed when the calibration curve taken for increasing temperatures differs from that taken for decreasing temperatures Relaxation means a delay in approaching the stable value of measured temperature after a rapid change in the sensor temperature. Aging is a long time process which causes the shift of the calibration curve due to many, sometimes unknown, reasons. Recalibration reduces, at least for a limited period of time, the errors caused by aging

The linearity of the calibration curve and a large output signal are no longer essential requirements because of the progress in signal conditioning technology.

In order to produce a good sensor, the above requirements have to be fulfilled, but they are not sufficient to ensure a propertemperature measurement. The quality of temperature measurement depende to a great degree on the design of the sensor adequate to the conditions where the temperature has to be measured and on a proper measurement procedure. These two aspects are general ones, and are valid for all measurement techniques, but for the temperature measurements their unpartance is particularly great. It is due to the fact that every beoperature sensor measures its own temperature and, more precisely, the temperature of its own sensitive part (the theymometric body). The designer and the user of a sensor have to ensure the sameness of that temperature with the temperature which is defined us a measurand (that one which has to be measured in the given particular circumstances). For that purpose the sensor should be brought into as close thermal equiphrium with the measurand as passible without disturbing the measurand's thermal state. It requires a good thermal connection to the thermometric body and a prior thermal connection to the environment. The difference in thermal conductivity between thermal isolating and conducting materials is not very high. This involves some difficulties in design of a good thermometor and leads to measurement errors. Errors and uncertainties in temperature measurements will be discussed in more detail in the last section of this article. The problem of the thermal burdening by a sensor does not exist in radiation thermometry, hat other sources of errors accur in this case.

RESISTANCE SENSORS

In all resistance sensers the change of their resistance follows the temperature changes, but the way () happens is different in metal sensors and in semiconductor sensors. It is therefore reasonable to separate the considerations about those two groups of resistance sensors. Furthermore, within the group of metal resistance sensors there is a great difference in the design of precise and industrial thermometers. This difference justifies further subdivision of the discussion.

Precise Resistance Sensors

The resistivity of almost all metals depends on temperature, but only a few of them are used in resistance thermometers, those which meet the requirements listed in the previous section. Pure platinum is considered the best material for temperature sensors. It has a relatively high resistivity (15 times greater than copper); thus wires needed to form resistors do not need to be particularly thin. Platinum can be obtained in a pure form with few imporities ensuring repeatability and interchangeability of the sensors. However, the most importanreason why platinum is so widely used for temperature sensors is its ability to withstand even severe environmental conditions at high temperatures. For this reason, only pure platinum is used in the standard temperature sensors

The progress in the technology and in the design of platfoun temperature sensors achieved in the past decades made if possible to eliminate the PRRh–Pa thermocouple from the list of standard thermometers, which define temperatures according to ITS-90. Now, the temperatures T_{∞} in the range between 13 K and 1233 K (960 C; silver point) are defined by the standard platinum resistance shormometer (SPRT) SPRTs are situated at the top of the hierarchical system of propagation of standards and are used as a first tre, which links ITS with all other temperature standards. They are used only occasionally for measurement of unknown temperature but more frequently for calibration purposes only. It is evident that to satisfy such high demands the quality of SPRTs must be the highest one. The purity of platinum used is secured by meeting two requirements: $R_{0z}/R_{tr} \le 0.644235$ and $R_{tr}/R_{tr} > 1.11807$. where R_{0a} , R_{0a} and R_{TP} are resistances at Hg point, Ga point, and triple point of water, respectively. These requirements are much greater than those required for industrial thermometers. In order to achieve such high values, the purity of platimum has to be greater than 99.999%. The influence of impurities is much stronger at lower temperatures, limiting the temperature range of SPRTs. The next limitation is a very low resistance at 13 K with respect to the resistance at the triple point of water, R_{1P} (approximately one-thousandth), which makes the calibration process more complicated and results in decreasing sonsitivity.

Standard resisturs are always wire-wound, but the cores diffor according to the temperature range. For the lowest temperatures, resisturs or encapsolated in a hermetically sealed platinum sheath filled with belium under the pressure of 30 kPa. Such a design makes the sensor alust and vacuum-preterted as required for calibration in cryostats used for realization of ITS-90 fixed points. For higher temperatures, SPRT sensors are fixed at the end of long Incorel or quartz glass tubes, because of the necessity of providing a deeper penetration on the caldiration devices. For temperatures above 650 C, some special materials such as silica, alumina, or sapphire must be used. The wire diameter of high-temperature SPRTs is greater, exceeding 0.5 mm, resulting in a lower resistance of 2.5 Ω or even 0.25 Ω as compared with 25 Ω for SPRTs used at lower temperatures and wound from 0.05 mm wire.

Industrial Metal Resistance Thermometers

The industrial resistance thermometers used for measurement and control purposes in manufacturing plants, in the automotive industry, in housekeeping equipment, for environmental measurements, and for many other everyday purposes are much less accurate than standard resistive thermometers. Industrial thermometers differ from SPRTs not only by design, technology, and material used, but also by the idea of its implementation. For the purposes of the ITS and of the calibration performed with SPRTs, the ratio of two resistances at two different temperatures is taken us a measure of the temperature. In "connal," not standard, temperature sensors the value of the resistance of the thormometer becomes a measure of temperature. In other words, the output of a stundard thermometer is the resistance ratio, and the output of an industrial thermometer is its resistance. The abbreviation for industrial thermometers is PRT (without "S") or more frequently RTD (reeistance temperature detectory, indicating that sensors in use are not only platinum. Must of the RTDs all over the world are adjusted to the nominal value equal to 100.00 Ω at 0 C, and hence termed as Pt-100 or Ni-100. The relationship between resistance and temperature for platinum RTDs is much simpler than for SPRTs and may be expressed in the form of the following equation:

$$B(t) = R_{t}(t + At - Bt^{2} + Ct^{3}(t - 100))$$
(4)

where $A = 3.90802 \times 10^{-5} 1/|C, B| = -5.802 \times 10^{-5} 1/|C^2, C| = 4.27 \times 10^{-12} 1/|C^3$ for l < 0 and C = 0 for l > 0. However, it is not the equation but the values of resistances corresponding to appropriate temperatures that are the subject to national and international (IEC) standards, in the form of reference tables. Sometimes a distinction is introduced between "European" sensors with $R_{120}/R_0 = 1.355$ and "American" censors with $R_{120}/R_0 = 1.392$. Furthermore, the uncertainties allowable for these sensors are also set in national standards, which are normally very close to the international IEC standards (Fig. 6). Standardization scences the reproducibility and hence interchangeability of RTDs, which is ont of the most significant advantages of these sensors over all other temperature sensors.

It is a common practice that the repeatability of each individual sensor—especially over a limited temperature span is in fact much better than the standard uncertainty limits. Therefore the individual recalibration of RTD sensors is recammended, because it pllows further improvement of the accuracy. Due to the cost and available technical repipment, such calibration is commonly performed at one or two fixed points only One-point calibratian enables us in take into account an additive component of the difference between the nominal and the actual value of the resistor (i.e., additive error). Two-point calibration enables us to account for the sensitivity difference (i.e., the multiplicative error too). Nonlinearity error remains unknown. If the range of nucleoned temperatures is limited (as is usually the case in practical situations), the nonlinearity of the RTDs has little influence on the total uncertainty and may be neglected. For water temperature ranges the reference tables or appropriate RD equiptions like Eq. (4) are useful for the correction of the measurement result, tagether with the correction of the measurement result, tagether with the correction of the additive and multiplicative errors determined during the two-point calibration.

Besides platinum, some other metals and allows are also used for temperature sensors. Notkel and copper are utilized for temperature inclasurements over a narrow range. The sensitivity of nickel sensors is higher than that of the platinum sensors, but their monlinearity is greater. Copper sensors are known to be extremely linear, but due to their low resistantly, it takes very long and thin writes to produce a 100 Ω resistor. Therefore, lewer nominal values of copper sensors are also allowed by standards.

With the wire wound sensors two designs are usually used. In the first one the wire is bifilarly wound on a glass, quartz, or on amic red or pipe and coated with fired glass layer [Fig. 6(b)]. Glass other than quartz glasses is unsuitable for sensors above phant 250. C as electrical insulation properties begin to deteriorate rapidly. For segants working at temperatures above 600 C, glass is not a proper material and is replaced by alumina (ALO₄). The difference in the thermal expansion coefficient of core and platitum causes stress, which influences the long term stability of the sensors. The second design is stress-free because the helical winding is placed in two bales drilled along the ceramic cord and only sealed at the both ends of the core [Fig. 6(c)]. Often, two independent sensors are placed in four separate holes in the hody. One of them may be replaced by the second in case of damage, or, more frequently, one serves for measurement and recerding purposes while the second serves ps a control. It is also very important to ensure the high shunting resistance from the internal mounting structures of the RTDe.

Sensors are protected from mechanical and chemical influences by metal takes of different length (up to 2 m - made






Figure 6. Interestion type thermometer (a) and four types of sensors: teramit sealed type (b), free work type (c), thick film (d), and this film (c). Types b and s are commonly used in industrial free type (c).

of stainless shed, makel alloys, and surfered alumina and equipped with fixing elements for fastening them to the ubjects where the temperature should be measured (Fig. 6 a). The choice depends on the kind of abject and the range of measured temperatures, pressures, and other environmental conditions. Because the sensor is placed at the bottom of the tube, it is convenient to lead out all the wires from one end of the sensor. In fact, this is the reason why the bifilar winding is used. It protects against the induced noise voltage too. The best thermal cantact between the sensor and the protecting tube is highly recommended.

Besides wire-wound RFDs, a group of sensors exists where a metallic layer is deposited on a flat or cylindrical core. The core material most frequently used is alumna, and a metal layer is deposited either as a thick film .5 μ m to 10 μ m (m a serier printing process IFig. 6(d)) or as a thin film (1) am (by sputtering [Fig. 6(e)]. The laser cutting provides the adjustment to the required resistance value. Sensors are conted with a thin protective layer of overglaze. Short response times of such sensors result from the small dimensions and small mass of the segsors. Long-term stability is a bit worse, and the temperature range is restricted to 500 C, but it probably will change with the advances in technology. Deposited RTDs are used in Jahoratory and service hand-held thermometers and in instruments requiring relatively accurate but small sensors for thermal small trol or correction. Psychronictric humidity sensing instruments also use deposited sensors. The electric signal which is abtained from these sensors is smaller than the one from traditional sensors because of the lower magnitudes of applied supply current

SEMICONDUCTOR SENSORS

Semiconductor material may be used in resistance thermometers such as negative temperature coefficient thermistors, in ear KTY sensors, and germanium resistance sensity used in cryageous temperatures, bot, also in semiconductor devices such as diodes, transistant, and integrated circuits, the operature of which is related to the properties of p is junction being the essential part of each semiconductor device. Classification and terminology are not established, but for the purposes of this article the distinction will be made between semiconductor resistance sensors and semiconductor active sensors.

Thermistors

Negative temperature coefficient (NTC) thermistors are prepared from a mixture of powdered metal oxides such as MgTiO₂ MgO, CuO, NiO, and CoO, along with others sintered at the temperature of 1300 C. During that process, some p-midin type semiconductor centers are created, thus enabling resistancetemperature relations to be described as semiconductorlike. In semiconductors, both electrons and holes are responsible for the conductivity.

$$\mathbf{s} = \frac{1}{n} = \frac{2c^2 t_c}{m_r} + \frac{p c^2 z_p}{m_p} \tag{5}$$

where: *s* is the conductivity, reciprocal to resistivity *n*, *n* and *p* are the numbers of electrons and holes in the valence band, respectively: τ_n and *r*, are their relaxation times; and *m*, and *m*_n are their effective masses. In the semiconductors, τ_n and τ_n remain constant but *n* and *n* values change with temperature according to the relationship.

$$n = \rho = 2 \left\{ \frac{kT}{2\pi \hbar} \right\}^{1/2} (n_b m_p t^{1/4} e^{-E_b/2sT})$$
 (6)

where E_c is the energy of the band gap, and k and h are Bultzmann's and Planck's constants, respectively. From Eqs. (5) and (6) we obtain

$$n = CT^{-5/2} \varepsilon^{K_p/2kf} \tag{7}$$

In the range of temperature in question (250 K to 400 K), the last term of Eq. (7) dominates. This fact loads to the well-known



Figure 7. Calibration curves of an NTC thermistor, a KTY temperature sensor, and the output valtage of linearized circuit according to Eq. 115° for temperature span -25 to +75 C. The sensitivity of linearized NTC schemer is twice the sensitivity of KTY which does not next any linearization procedure.

relationship between temperature and resistance of NTC thermistors in the form of

$$R = R_{n} e^{n \tilde{T}} \tag{8}$$

 R_{∞} has a very small value and no physical interpretation. More practical therefore is the equation

$$R = R_{23} e^{i \epsilon (T - W/2^{2} \kappa)} \tag{9}$$

where $R_{\rm eff}$ is the thermistor resistance value at 25 C (500 Ω to 20 k Ω are typical values), and *B* is a material constant (Fig. 7). The value of *B* does not correspond strictly to $E_{\rm K}/2k$ because many other factors influence the resistivity of the semiconductor, and additionally other michanisms of conduction exist in the thermistor structure. Therefore the value of that constant depends on the material and manufacturing technology of the thermistar, and normally we obtain $B \approx 3000$ K to 5000 K. By describing the relative sensitivity of the thermistor in the same way as for the metal sensors, one obtains

$$S = \frac{1}{R} \frac{dR}{dt} = -\frac{R}{T^{i}}$$
(10)

from which the value of $S \approx -0.03$ K $^{+}$ at 25 C is approximately 10 times greater than that for metal sensors.

There are two principal types of thermistors commercially available. The first is the head type, where the sintered material is formed into a bead of 0.1 mm to 1 mm diameter and scaled in glass stick or epoxy sheath together with two platinum connecting leads. The second and cheaper type is a disk thermistor, where the metal axides are pressed at 1000 C into the forms of disks, toblets, and hors. Disk Type thermostors are less stable and are used for temperature compensation in electronic circuits. Only load type thermistors may be used as temperature sensors because their stability is much botter, and after annealing at 60 C a repeatability level of ± 10 mK may by achieved. Unfortunately, the interchangeability of thermastors is rather poor. Both parameters R_{25} and **B** differ for individual thermistors, even taken from the same batch (3). This is of particular importance because of the nonlinearity of the thermistors calibration curves. The methods of matching the **B**() characteristics are much more complicated for nonhosur characteristics than for the linear ones. The International Stondardization Organization (ISO) has attempted to unify thermal

calibration curves by introducing the so-called ISO curve thermistors. The standardization concerned the R_{25} value (0.5, 1, 2, 4, 15, 100 kΩ), the shape of the colibration curve, and the admissible limits of interchangeability (from $\pm 0.25\%$ to $\pm 5\%$ of resistance span). Such thermistors are much more expensive than the ordinary ones.

Phylippe temperature coefficient (PTC) thermistors are used as switching elements rather than as temperature measuring sensors, because of their bistable calibration curve.

Bulk Silicon Sensors

Extremely low doped bulk school material shows a different. mechanism of conductivity. At temperatures above 100 K, all free electrons become ionized and the temperature influences only the relaxation times, which decrease with the increase of temperature. As a consequence, the resistivity of doped alican increases, creating a positive slope of the calibration curve of a respective sensor. At higher temperatures, however, the process of thermally excited electrons dislocating from the valence band to the conductivity band becames more evident and stops the increase in resistivity. The mechanism described above may be practically used only when no p-n junction is created in the bulk material. This is why a special technique of resistance measurement has to be used. The technique is based on a great difference in size between the electrodes used for the measurement. One electrode is only micrometers in dometer, while the other covers the whole counter surface of the semiconductor piece (Fig. S). This creates a great difference in the electric field density at both electrodes, and therefore only the part of the material with high field density is responsible for the measured resistance R. The relationship between the resistance and the semiconductor resistivity is given in the form

$$\rho = \frac{R}{\pi d} \tag{11}$$

where d is the fine electrode diameter.

The commercially available temperature sensors, which work according to the described principle, are known as KTY linear sensors. In fact there are two small electrodes of 22 μ m diameter, and the "back side" of the bulk silicon material is coated by a conductive layer. Such a design makes the sensor insensitive to the corrent direction. The very precise daping control of the material is realized by means of neutrin implantation in which the silicon atoms are replaced by phosphorus atoms with excellent hamogeneity over the whole bolk material. The resistance of KTY sensors at ambient temperatures is about 1 k Ω to 2 k Ω , their sensitivity is about 1% K, and the operation temperature ranges from -50 C to + 125 C (Fig. 7).



Figure 8. The design of a KTY sensor.



Active Semiconductor Sensors

Active semiconductor sensors are those whose operating principle relies on the potential barrier between the conducting layer and the valence layer in a semiconductor, as in dodes and transistors. The simplest semiconductor device is a diode. According to the Shockley theory, the relationship between current I and valtage V in the forward polarized diode may be expressed as

$$V = V_0 + \frac{\xi T}{\beta q} \ln \frac{l + I_S(T)}{I_S(T)}$$
(12)

where V_E is a barrier voltage, *n* is a coefficient (not considered in the simplest form of the theory), and $I \notin T$ (is reverse saturation current, many times smaller than forward current *1*, but very strongly dependent on the temperature. Every temperature increase by 10 K results in its value doubling, and this behavior determines the temperature properties of the diode. In the temperature range of 150 K to 400 K the thermometric calibration curve of the dinde is nearly linear, with the negative slope of approximately 2 mV/K to 2.3 mV/K. Unfortunately the Is value dependential only on the temperature but also on many factors. bardly controllable in the monoficturing process. Therefore, the diade sensor's interchangeability is poor. A single diade is the cheapest temperature senser, but each one has to be addvidually calibrated at one or better at two paints. Even in chitcase the uncertainty, including nonlinearity and hysteresis, is at the level of 12 K. In order to improve the properties of diode temperature sensors, two integrated diodes fed from two different current sources I_0 and I_2 should be used (Fig. 9). The difference in voltage drop over these discles is:

$$\Delta V = V_1 - V_2 - \frac{kT}{aq} \ln \frac{l_1}{l_2}$$

$$(1.9)$$

and does not depend on the reverse caturation currents because of their similarity due to the integration. Furthermore, the out put valtage bias is significally reduced, which leads to simpler measuring circuits.

Transistors are often used instead of diodes, and the baseemitter voltage difference is the output signal of the sensor. Integrated trebuil (N) technology allows us not only to produce temperature-sensitive pairs of transistors but also to include amplifiers and signal conditioning circuits on the same chip. In this way, integrated sensors with precisely trimmed intput signal can be produced. The most popular are IC temperature sensors with Γ_{DA}/K supput (e.g., Analog Devices AD(92), but sensors with voltage output of 1.5 mV/K or even 10 mV/K are manufactured too. The LM75 temperature (C sensor, produced by National Semiconductor, has a silicon band gap sensing element and is equipped with a sigma-delts A/D converter, Figure 9. Diode and transistor temperature sensure simple diode sensor (a), double diode sensor (b) double transistor sensor (c), and simple integrated circuit (d).

programmable alarms, and a two-wire PC interface. The operating temperature span of diode or transistor-based IC sensors ranges from $-55 \pm 0.1125 \pm 0.0125 \pm 0.000$

THE MEASUREMENT OF SENSOR RESISTANCE

Common Problems

The first stage of every transducer consists of the measuring circuit, directly connected to a comparature censor. A few different measuring circuits are used to transform the resistance changes $R_x(t)$ to the output signal V, $R_y(t)$ forms that part of the sensor resistance which changes its value according to the measured temperature: $R_x(t) = Rt$; R_0 , where R_0 is a constant value of the sensor resistance corresponding to the reference temperature. Three problems assess to be common for all those circuits. These are (1) sensor self-heating, (2) lead resistance, and (3) linearity.

Solf-heating of resistance sensors is unavoidable because the flow of the current creating the output signal causes automatic heat dissupation in the sensor, subsequent increase of its temperature, and consequent measurement error Δt .

$$\Delta t = P k_{\rm g} = l^2 R(t) k_{\rm g} \qquad (14)$$

where k_s is a dissipation factor. The dissipation factor depends on the design of the sensor and on its materials, dimensions, and shape, but it depends primarily on the environment of the sensor. Its magnitude changes dramatically with the kind of medium surrounding the sensor and with the velocity of that medium, as presented in Table 1. Theoretically, the error due to self-heating can be removed from the measurement result by means of a correction procedure, but our knowledge about the value k_x is insufficient to calculate the correction value because of the unstability of the environmental conditions. It is sometimes possible to correct for self-heating effects by measurement at two currents and extrapolating to zero current. The best way, however, is to limit the error due to self-heating.

 Table 1. Dissigntion Factors of Resistance Sensors Without

 Protective Sheath

Setter	Environment	ار‰(m₩/K) 3−1		
Wine-wound RTD*	Still air			
	Aur 1 m/s	10-20		
Thin-film HTD	Still or	2		
	Still water	75		
NTC heart-type theoryastor	Stillair	L		
	Stiered vi2	6		

STD, muistance temperature deserve

NTC, negative temperature coefficient

by keeping the current at the allowable level, but it results in lowering of the output signal.

The second problem is the change of load resistances with temperature. The problem becomes serious when the distance between the account and the transducer reaches up to hundreds of meters and the long leads are exposed to great temperature differences (e.g., outdoor temperatures in summer and winter). For a 10 Ω copper lead the temperature change of 60 K (from

30 C to 130 C) causes a 2.4 Ω resistance change which is observed as a 6 K temperature error if a Pt 100 sensor is used. The best way to avoid this kind of error is to feed the sensor from a current source by one pair of leads and to sense the voltage from the sensor by another pair of leads. This solution is called a four-wire line and is commonly used in transducers with standard analog 4–20 mA output and in all high accuracy transducers. A three-wire line output and in all high accuracy transducers. A three-wire line output and in all high accuracy used, especially in bridgelike measuring circuits. Three-wire usstallation cancels the additive errors caused by the thermal change of lead resistance, but the multiplucative part of the error remains. The higher the sensor resistance, the lower the influence of the lead resistance. There is no need to use four-or three wire lines for thermistors or KTY acosors.

The third problem, linearity, is common for all transducers working with more or less nonlinear sensors. While most transducers are equipped with microprocessor-controlled systems, the linearity corrections are commonly performed aumerically. The look-up table method as preferred. In that method, appropriate corrected values or the values of corrections which have to be added to the directly measured uncorrected results are written in memory. The linearization algorithm consists of a simple readout from the memory. At 0.1% resolution the method requires only 1 kH of memory. Some other methods of numerical linearity correction, utilizing the reduced tables containing only node point correction values, are also used. The correction data for all the results falling in between the node points are gulenlated by linear interpolation.

When the numerical linearization is performed together with other numerical corrections realized by the microprocessor system. the procedure becomes complicated and needs multidimentional tables. In that case the possibility of analog linearization ought to be considered. Two extremely sample methads may be used for that purpose. The methods are different in their principles, but both lead to the same results because of the same mathematical model.

The first method is based on the use of voltage controlled current sources in the structure presented in Table 2, part K. The supply currents depend bhearly on the output voltage $l = l_0(1 + \alpha V)$. Lincorization is performed by the proper selection of the coefficient α according to the sensor nonlinearity. The relation between V and R, is then nonlinear and enables a successful linearization of NTC thermostors and nickel RTD sensors while choosing at positive α coefficient and of platinum RTD sensors while choosing it negative. The magnitude of α coefficient depends in the kind of the sensor and on the temperature range

The second method is even simpler, because it does not require the valuage controlled sources. It depends on the proper choice of the Theoremin equivalent resistance R_0 , seen from the sensor terminals, that is from the virtual terminals of the effective part of the sensor $R_s(t)$. According to such a definition of $R_{\rm th}$, the R_0 component of the sensor belongs to $R_{\rm th}$. The method is based on the theorem that any valuage between two points of

each linear electrical circuit containing one variable parameter $R_{s,2}$ (may be presented in a form

$$U = \frac{U_0 R_{\rm fb} - U_\infty R_{\rm g}(t)}{R_{\rm fb} + R_{\rm g}(t)}$$

$$(15)$$

where U_0 is the voltage at $R_s = 0$, U_{∞} is the voltage at the open circuit $R_s = \infty$. Some examples of linearizing circuits are presented in Table 2, A to D.

The above described methods do not lead to the concerning of the nonlinearity but only to its reduction (11). In practice more complicated circuits are used in integrated temperature measuring transducers like AD1B41 or B-B IXR 100, but the idea of linearization procedure depends on the above given principles.

The Most Popular Measuring Circuits for Resistance Temperature Sensors

Generally the resistance sensors are manufactured with high accuracy Transducers have to be matched to the sensors in order not to increase the total uncortainty. It is evident that for SPRTs the most accurate methods and instruments should be used for measuring the resistance and more exactly the resistance ratio. Costs and compactness are less important. The uncertainty of modern precise resistance ratio measurements is as low as a few parts per inition, but only with very special apparatus used in advanced well-equipped laboratories. Such measurement circuits will be not presented here. However, with conventional temperature measuring transluters the accuracy. of registance measurements has to be high too. Let us note that according to IEC 751 standard, the Pt-100 unterstainty at 0 C is only 10.1 K, which means : 0.04 \$2. In order to protect the sensor ecourary, the ancertainty of the transducer nught to be less than, say, ± 0.01 Ω , which gives 0.01% with respect to a 100 Ω sensor. For resistance-measuring instruments in common use, it is a rather high requirement and a bridge circuit is therefore the one which has to be primarily obusidered as the input stage of the transducer

Balanced bridges are contemporarily used almost only in self-balancing chart recorders or x-y-t recorders. The complicated mechanical design of such instruments together with the need for the precise potentionic ter, makes these instruments rather expensive. Such instruments have been formerly widely used not only in industrial applications, but also in laboratories and research. High cost and the absence of an electrical output signal (which may eventually be obtained from an additional potentionister) make those instruments not very suitable for modern instrumentation systems.

To the contrary, unbalanced bridges are very offen used as the first stages of contemporary transducers working with resistance temperature sensors (Fig. 10(a)). The differential structure of any anisalanced bridge circuit enables only adjustment to the desired temperature range. The output voltage is not strictly propertional to the resistance, because the unbalpotent bridge belongs to the class of the circuite described by Eq. (15) and presented in Table 2 as cases B and C. Therefore, an anbalanced bridge may also be used as a humarraing circuit for some types of sensors. To do thut, an appropriate matching of the bridge branches have to be performed. Unbalanced bridges are supplied either from a voltage scores or from current sources. The constant current supply is preferred.

Table 2. Some simplified examples of linearizing circuits for resistance sensors. Circuit A (potentiometric), B (bridge circuit) and C (active bridge circuit) are for NTC thermistrons or RTD nicke) sensors. Circuit D (positive feedback circuit) is for NTD platinum sensor. Circuit E (with controlled current) can be used for all sensors regarding the proper sign of a coefficient. The balance state of bridge circuits is assumed at $R_x(t) = 0$, $|R_1 = R_2 = R_3 = R_0$).



especially for low-resistance sensors, as Pt-100 or Ni-100, where the three-wire connection between the sensor and the transducer is needed to order to reduce the base temperature error. The reduction is twice better using a current source than using a voltage source.



Figure 10. The measuring rincuits which reduce the unflavore of the lends resistances $R_{\rm L}$ (a) Three-wire bridge circuit makes it possible to connect one lead to the sensur and the second to the resistant in apposite bridge arm and then to radiuse their influence. (b) Pose-wire tirkint with the current source enables converting of the lead resistance circuit provides direct conversion of an A-D converter in the four-wire circuit provides direct conversion of the analog signal to the digital one.

The output voltage from a bridge is led to a direct-current (dc) differential amplifier. The signal is usually high enough for a conventional low noise operational amplifier with a proper compensation of bias currents. In some extremely precise instruments the switched-capacitor-based instrumentation antphilers are used (i.e., Linear Technology LTC 1043). The ann of the umplifier is not only to increase the signal but also to pllow the transition from differential to a single-ended signal. It is a general requirement, especially in the industrial measuring system that the sensor must be grounded. When the three-wire configuration is used, two of them are close to ground potential. but according to the principles of noise protection they must not to be grounded at two points (at sensor's side and at transducer's side) in order to avoid the ground loop which introduces additional unknown voltages. The circuit with floating voltage supply and grounded one-amphfier input is less convenient because of the limitations in scaling the circuit parameters. The greatest comfort in circuit parameters scaling is provided by a four-wire installation because it consists of two almost separated circuits [Fig. 10(b)]. The only problem to solve is the subtraction of that part of voltage which corresponds to the low hand of the measured temperature. It may be done either by a bias voltage or by another differential structure containing a sufficiently stable voltage source. Integrated circuits, which incorporate a controlled gain amplifier, a linearization rirerit, and prolated output (i.e., Analog Devices 1B41), facilitate the design of the measuring system, A₂D converters with reference input may be used for direct four-wire connection to the sensor supplied from the voltage source instead of a more complicated current source [Fig. 10(c)].

Some completely different temperature measuring carcuits—that is, arouts with frequency output, where the sensor resistance influences either the oscillator frequency or the duty cycle of square-wave output voltage—arcalso known. The pratical coplementation of such circuits are limited mostly to those in a form of integrated circuits—for example, the SMT 160-30 produced by Smartec.

RESISTIVE SENSORS FOR LOW TEMPERATURE RANGES

The range of temperatures below 20 K becomes more and more interesting not only for the researchers but also for the technologists. The practical use of the superconductivity requires the procise temperature measurements and control of temperatures as low us 4 K. In some cryogenic technologies the high magnetic fields and nuclear radiation are simultaneously present. Temperature subsors destand for low-temperature applications have to be resistant to those environmental conditions too. It is reasonable to distinguish a special group of sensors working at how temperatures in spite of their different principles of operation and design.

As stated before, a platinum resistance thermometer dues not work properly at temperatures below 10 K. For that range a different alloy has been developed, namely rhodium with 0.5% iron (2.3). The technology of preparing this, 0.05 mm diameter rhodium-iron wires is complicated. It includes chemical iron deposition on powdered rhodium and then a series of metalhingical processes. The behally wound senser is hermetically encapsulated similarly to SPRT sensors. The most useful operuting range is 0.3 K to 30 K; but due to its relatively low slope of resistance versus temperature, it may be used up to the normal ambient temperatures non. The stubility of an Rh. Fe sensor is relatively good, much better than that of low-temperature semiconductor sensors. Semiconductor sensors, however, are much simpler and smaller, and for that reason they are used too.

Some specially prepared and composed thermistors, usually made from iron oxide, are able to measure comportatives as low as 5 K. Assording to Eq. (6), thermistor sensitivity and nonlincurity increases dramatically at lower temperatures, creating problems with covering a wider range of temporatures. This is a common problem of all low-temperature sensors related to the "wmng" representation of temperatures on the linear scale, as discussed in the first section of this article. The greatest advantage of thermistors is their low sensitivity to the magnetic fields. Germanium was previously used in electronic semiconductor devices to the same degree as silicon. The physical principles of its emductivity remain the same as those described for silicon. Germanium temperature sensors have been used for measurement purposes for a much longer time than bulk. silicon sensors. Their operating area, however, is shifted toward the very low, cryogenic temperature range. The bulk germapium with a very small amount of added supporities forms a low-temperature sensor which may be used down to 1.6 K, but due to the very strong dependence of its properties on the amount of the impurities introduced, the individual calibration of each sensor is necessary. The calibration process at extremely low temperatures is always a complicated and expensive one. Other problems related to the use of the germanicus sensor are (1) rapid and unexpected changes in resistance of the magnitude correspondents to a few millskelving, (2) high sensitivity to the mechanical stress, and (3) a strong Pollier effect causing an additional heat distribution along the sensor. The instability exhibited by many low temperature Ge resistance thermometers is thought to be due to the difficulty of altaching leads in a way that defines the resistor without subjecting it to strain effects. A long-lasting experience with this kind of sensor (ance 1960) has resulted in gathering a considerable amount of information, which enables us to reduce the effects of all inconveniences listed above. Specially doped germanium resistors are insensitive to magnetic fields (3).

Individually calibrated diode sensors may also be used in the very low temperature region, down to 10 K. Sensitivity is not the same as at medium temperatures, and it increases rapidly below a certain temperature (approximately 25 K for silicon diodes), but the sensor calibration curve remains repeatable with the uncertainty of ± 10 mK. Commercially available dode sensors are produced with a wider uncertainty span, exceeding ± 0.25 K but with quice good reproducibility of ± 50 mK (4).

THERMOCOUPLE SENSORS

Physical Principles

A temperature difference between two points of a conduct ing wire forces free electron diffusion from the point of higher temperature to the point of lower temperature. Such dislocation of electrons produces a voltage difference, which forces the electron flow in the opposite direction. In the state of dynamic equilibrium, both processes are in balance. A voltage difference caused by the temperature difference is known as thermal electromotive force temp, and it provides a measure of temperature difference between any two points of the wire. Thermal conductivity of the metal wire causes temperature distribution along the wire, and hence the thermal confimaty be considered as continuously distributed along the ware too. The problem of how to measure the thermal emil arises because each electracal contact of the connecting leads with the heated wive is also a thermal contact and generates subsequent thermal emf ennesponding to the temperature difference at the ends of the connecting leads. If the materials of the heated were and conneeting leads are the same, two emfs appear in the loop with the opposite signs and are reduced to zero. However, the magnitode of the thermal emf depends on the material; and it is possible to find a pair of materials (A and B) with essentially different emfs, thereby generating relatively high voltages in the keep (Fig. 11).

By denoting the thermal emf sensitivities to the temperature of both wires as $S_{\lambda}(t)$ and $S_{2}(t)$, one obtains

$$E_{AB} = \int_{0}^{t_{2}} (S_{b}(t) + S_{B}(t)) dt = \int_{0}^{t_{2}} S_{b}s(t) dt$$
(16)

where $S_{5S}(t)$ is the sensitivity of a thermocouple known as a Sectors coefficient or "thermoelectric power." In other words, a temperature difference produces thermal and, and the advnuigeneity of the materials in the loop allows us to detect it. The greatest inhomogeneity appears at the contact points of two different materials. These points constitute "hot junction" and "cold junction," or more properly, a measuring junction and reference junction. Any other material (C in Fig. 11) included in the thermocraple loop but not exposed to the temperature difference does not produce any additional emfinithe loop. Otherwise, each unexpected inhomogeneity, exceed not only by usclusion of any additional material D but also by chemical reactions or annealing processes in the material under temperature difference, is a source of additional thermal end. Therefore the whole of the thermocouple loop ought to be considered as the sensor not just the tip and this makes the consideration of sources of uncertainty much different to most other temperatоғн аноаода.

The thornal conf effect discovered by Seebeck in 1921 is soperposed by two other effects related to the current flow in the



Figure 11. Temperature difference measurement by a thermocruple circuit. Temperature difference $t_{m} = t_0$ corresponds to the emf difference Δemf

loop: (1) Phomson effect and (2) Feltier effect. In the Themson effect an additional emf is induced by current flow in the presence of a temperature difference in the conductor, involving heat liberation or absorption by the conductor at the rate

$$Q = \int_{t_0}^{t_0} S_{T_0} t \, dt \qquad (17)$$

where S_{IA} is a Thomson coefficient of the particular material A. For the same moison as with Seebeck effect, the Thomson emfinities whole loop is different from zero only in a case when two different materials make two branches of the loop. The Peltier effect reveals in the additional heat absorption or heat generation forces by the current flowing through a junction of different materials $Q_{IP} = V_{PAB}I$, where V_{P} is called the Peltier coefficient (Peltier emf).

Three effects described above are interrelated according to the equation

$$E_{AB} = V_{F_{AB}}(t_1) - V_{P_{AB}}(t_2) + \int_{t_1}^{t_2} S_{B}(t) dt + \int_{t_2}^{t_1} S_{B}(t) dt = (18)$$

Because of the low currents flowing in the temperaturemeasuring thermocouple hops, the effects of additional heat contited in the Thomson and Peltier effects may be normally neglected.

Thermocouples

is is evident that a thermocouple has to be composed of thermowires, with very different thermal emfs. In measurement practice, however, a lot of additional requirements are of a great. importance. Most of them stem from the fact that thermocouples are usually used at high temperatures. Therefore the wires themselves have to be resistant to high temperatures. Their melting points must be at least by 150 K higher than the upper to appendure of the measuring range. At high temperatures the atmosphere is usually corrosive and hence much more aggressive than at low temperatures. The degeneration of the lattice structure and the chemical changes observed at the surface of the wires cause the inhomogeneity of the wire materials and lead to the successively arising measurement errors. This is a reason why thermocouple wires are rather thick, and the upper temperature limit for continuous work case depends on their diameters. The cost of wires, especially those made of onble metalls, is important too. Very special alloys have been develaged in order to must the above mentioned requirements. The work in this area is still going on, and the result has been contanzons interovenients and modifications of the thermorrouple wires. Table 3 presents the most popular thermocouples and their essential properties.

The calibration curves of some thermocouples are subject to standardization in the form of reference tables, similar to the corresponding tables for resistance sensors. Worse stability of

Table 3. Thermorouple Data

						Adowable Locertainty (IEP)				
Туре	·Wire -Ware	- Verre	Long-Tota Temperature Span (T1)	Short Train Allowable Temperature + Ci	Thermal en.f Span ot (PC) Reference durstjor ank	Clase L at Off 1 Cu	Class I ot Upper Limit i Ci	Class 2 at OT F)	Class 2 of Upper Limit (-C)	Properties
8	PtRATE	CI	40 to 13600	1760	6.23 to - 14.6	I	29	1.5		Stable, For oxidizing and unsert
Ħ	PLANTS	En	50 (al) 1 6 00	1760	II 23 (n 21	I	2.6	1.5	4	of response. Sensitive to our lamination
Ц	F48630	FuRhó	(160 to +1606	1900	to 13 8				6 97	Nepligable thermal emf op 16 BOT
٢	NiCr Consteè	NiA) Alumel	- 270 to - 1400)	1250	- 6 46 to - 50.6	1.5	4	2,5	9	Most frequently used. Linear Set t > 0.0 For slear exclis- ing and over throught re-
N	MC(S)	Nisi	270 th - 1408	1380	4.3 th - 49.5	1.5	4	2.5	y	More stable then type K at high temperatures
г	ťa	EgNî Enostantên	¥70 tu +350	61H)	6 26 m - 20 9	11.5	1.4	I	26	Por exercising and reducesp atmosphere at low tempera Tores Muistore-resistant
ł.	Pe:	CeNi	910 to - 750	1200	81 to + 69 5	15	з	2.5	66	Por evenning and owner atoms sphere a
Б	NiCr	CuNi	270 to + 709	1900	98 ta + 76 4	15	3.2	2.5	6.75	High theorem end, also at any temperatures.
	WReb	WRe26	9 to - 2400	2760	V ta + 40.9		No standards			For highest temperatures. For restrict and reducing struc- spheres only.
	NiCr	AL.	• 2%5 to 0		-5.3 m 0					Linear for low temperatories, also before 4.2 K

thermocouples results in their much greater uncertainties as compared to resistance sensors (see Fig. 5). When a lower uncertainty is required, the individual calibration of thermocouples is not recommended because the valubity of the results is called short-lived.

Thermocouple Sensors

A great variety of thermocouple sensors with different sizes and designs are destined for a wide range of applications, such as power plants, nuclear plants, metallurgy, chemical reactors, and the glass industry, as well as laboratories, research works, and communal applications (5).

Industrial-immersion-type thermocouple sensors look like thick resistance sensors because they are manufactured in a similar form, with a long protective pipe and a head on one end. The sensor element (wires with the junction) are mounted. inside and may be replaced if necessary. However, the materials used for shields differ consulerably. For high-temperature secsare a conventional carbon steel protective pipe is ansufficient. Either stainless steel (18% Cr, 5% No), inconel (NiCr, 15% Fe), hastelloy, or bronze has to be used depending on the environmental conditions. Sumetimes there is a need for mulybdenum or tungsten sheath (for highest temperatures). Nable metal thermacouples have to be additionally protected by means of an internal ceramic (alumina Al₂O₂) traising, against the contamination of the thermocouple wires by the particles of pipe material that accurs at high temperatures. Some outer perous conduct propertion tokes are used with the seasors for open fire furnaces.

A special type of sensor is produced in the form of a metal shielded double thermowire cable with MgO or Al₂O₂ insulation. These are called shielded thermocouples or mineral insulation or tal sheathed (MIMS) sensors. The same type of insula-

tion is used in resistance beaters. The thermocouple junction is formed by connecting the both wires. The external diameter of the MIMS may be as low as 0.25 mm (more commonly 0.6 mm to 3 mm), and the bonding radius allowed is normally twice shot of the diameter. This constitutes a great advantage of the sensor, heing an ability to principale bardly accessible spots. This kind of sensor is now obtainable in lengths of up to a tenth of a meter, with the sensing junction, as well as the plug on the opposite end, formed and sealed by the manufacturer. Former MIMS were produced in a form simply cut from one pure of cable, but the hygroscopic properties of the insulation material made it very hard for the user to provide the proper hermetic scaling.

The next group of thermocruple sensors are those designated for the measurements of mixing surface temperatures and designed as free thermowires or thermostrups, either suspended on elastic arms or shaped into a form of an elastic arch. The measuring junction is situated in the middle of the free part of the thermostrips and should be pressed to the surface during measurement. The situathness of the thermojunction allows the measurement of the muving or relating elements without heat generating by friction. The elasticity of the sensor ensures a good thermal contact with the surfaces of different shapes (e.g., with rollers of different diameters (

In metallurgy, two kinds of initial eradouty persons are coninouly used for measurement of the molten metals temperature. Both kinds work under the transient state conditions. The construction must be strong enough to pierce the layer of the blast furnace slag. In the first design, two sharp cut thick bars from the more uple materials are placed near each other of the end of a long bandle. The stick is immersed in the molten metal, thereby resoning a pinchon. In the second design the exchangeable cap with very thin thermicouple wires (50 μ m to 100 μ m) and a protective cover is placed at the end of the handle. The



cover is damaged when introcessed to the molton metal, and after each measurement the cop is replaced by the new one.

Many other thermocouple sensors are present on the market ar are custom-designed for particular purposes. The nee of a thermocouple sensor instead of another sensor type is recomended in a case when most important are (1) high temperature range, (2) the small dimensions of the sensor, and (3) relatively low cost.

Thermocouple Measuring Circuits

At a first glance, the task scems to be easy: Create a reference junction and measure a de voltage. However, some problems arise particularly in the industrial environment and at high temperatures. In the large area plants the distance between the sensors and the transducers is long, and at high temperatures the sensor head temperature is usually unstable to such a degree that it is impossible to treat it as a reference junction. Therefore, the thermotopple wires have to be brought to the place where the temperature is constant, say in the transducer (6.7). For evident reasons it is not a good solution, especially of noble metal wires are used. In such a case, extension wires are used as a connection between the sensor head and the reference junction. These are special compensation leads having the same thermal emf as the thermacouple wires, but with a much lower temperature range, namely that expected to occur. at the sensor head (Fig. 12). Compensation leads have to be matched to the theratocouple; and in order to avoid misronoertions, the colors of their modution are subject to standardization. Compensating wires are much cheaper than thermocouple. works A special noble metal thermocouple has been developed. (Type B. Table 3), which does not require any compensation leads because its thermal end at temperatures up to 50 C as practically equal to zero and with temperatures up to 120 C. it is very low. For that thermorouple, neither a reference junction nor the compensating leads are needed, assuming that the ambient temperature of the transducer and the sensor head temperature do not excersi 50 C and 120 C, respectively.

For all other thermocouples, however, the reference junction is necessary. In laboratory practice ice-water baths, and in industrial measurements, thermostats may be used. Both are unpractical. Instead of stabilizing the temperature of a reference junction, it is more convenient to measure it and to introduce a compensating voltage into an emf measurement loop. Such a method is now used in abnost all instruments and transducers. The most commun compensating circuit is shown in Fig. 12. At nominal temperature of the reference junction (say 25 fill, B_{cl}) = R and $V_C = 0$. As this reference temperature increases, R_{cl}) increases accordingly, producing a compensating voltage V_C , equal to the change of the thermal emf currents pinding to the difference between the actual temperature and 25 C. The supply current *I* is matched according to the sensitivity of particular thermocouple. There exist also a great number of integrated circuits for compensation of the reference junction temperature where a dude sensor is used instead of the temperature structive register (i.e., Linear Technology 1025). The amplification of a thermocouple signal, together with the reference junction compensation and with some additional functions, is performed by integrated circuits such as Analog Devices AD594, or Linear Technology LTK001.

A method of reference junction voltage correction instead of compensation is also used. It is based on the measurement of the reference junction temperature (for example, by means of a semiconductor sensor), followed by a numerical calculation of the correction value. There is also a common need for the numerical correction of a result in all instruments working with thermocomples, because of the nonlinearity of these sensors. The correction is usually performed by the look-up tuble method described before.

Another problem caused by the noise superposing on a relatively weak do signal transmitted over long compensating leads in order to avoid the electromagnetically induced voltages, the wires in the compensating leads should be twisted. The protection against the common mode noise is provided by shielding the wires and connecting the shield to a guard terminal of the instrument or transducer. In this way the current flowing through the stray capacitance between the leads and the supply power lines or induced by any source in the grounding icop is should and does not affect the measured voltage. The noise voltage may also be suppressed by filtering of the output signal.

A very successful nucleoid climinating all problems due to long compensation leads is to place the whole transducer in the thermometer's head. The current developments in elertrunic components technology enables design of the compact and temperature-resistant transducers comprising all compensating and linearizing elements and delivering the standard 4–20 mA output signal. Many companies offer such a solution now, and this design seems to be very promising for all immersion-type thermocouple thermometers.

QUARTZ TEMPERATURE SENSORS

The piexuelectric properties of quartz crystal (SiO₂) are applied in the design of extremely precise, stable, and relatively cheap oscillators. The applications of these escillators are very widespread, from counters and frequency meters to precise timers in clocks and computers. The most important requirement for all those purposes is temperature stability. It

Figure 12. Basic thermocouple circuit with compensating leads which eliminate the influence of the head temperature variations and with reference junction temperature compensation occur. Resistances R and supply current 1 are matched acording to the type of the thermocouple.



Figure 18. An equivalent circuit of a piezoelectric resonator, C₂ is a geometrical capacity between two electrodes and L_1, C_2, R_1 are quartz plate parameters which depend on its mechanical properties, C_{1i} is a load enpacity for tuning of the resonance frequency.

is achieved by appropriate cut of the oscillator plate from the quartz crystal. For temperature-invariant oscillators the socalled AT out is used with the outbing plane inclined to a z axis (optical axis) of the cryatal at -36 . Any other cut results in a smaller or greater dependence of the oscillator frequency on the temperature. This very property is used in quartz temperature sensors. A plate obtained by a Y cut with the inclination of -4 called HT out has the highest value of temperature coefficient. The relation between the frequency and temperature may be written as

$$f(t) = f_0(1+90 \times 10^{-6} \Delta t + 60 \times 10^{-9} \Delta t^2 + 30 \times 10^{-17} \Delta t^2)$$
(19)

where f_{D} is frequency at temperature $t = t_{0}$ and $\Delta t = t - t_{0}$ The third and the fourth terms in parentheses introduce nonlinearity, which in this particular case is a great deadyantage because a conventional frequency meter cannot be used as a temperature indicating instrument. Therefore, the LC cut, instead of the EIT out, is used for quartz temperature seasors. The 1.C cut of a quartz crystal with the cot plane inclined at +11 10° to the x axis and at $+9^{-}24°$ to the z axis forms an oscillator with frequency linearly depending on the temperature but with a lower sensitivity (35 \times 10⁻⁵ k/K instead of about 100 \times 10⁻⁶ 1/K with HT cut:

A quartz plate with two electrodes forms a resonator which may be presented in the simplest form as an equivalent electriral circuit, as shown in Fig 13. In the circuit, C₀ is a geometrical capacity between two electrodes and L_1, C_1 , and R_1 are quartz plate parameters, which depend on its mechanical properties Two resonance frequencies exist for this circuit: Senal resonance frequency $f_{i3} = 1/2\pi \sqrt{L_1 C_1}$ and parallel resonance frequency $f_{0} \sim 1/2\pi \sqrt{L_0 C_E}$, where $C_E = C_0 C_0 C_0 + C_1$. Both frequencies have close values, because the suparities C_1 and $C_{\rm F}$ are of the same order. Using of an additional load capacity $C_{1,i}$ the resonance frequency of the plate may be taked as a limited range between f_{2} and f_{3} . Two opposite surfaces of the resonator are coaled with this gold layers. The resonator is monited in a hermetical case protecting is from almospheric

air moisture. Spring contact elements ensure a low level of mechanical damping. The oscillator frequency $f_{\rm e}$ depends on the dimensions of the resonator it is very convenient to adjust that frequency to such a value that the relationship hetween the frequency and the temperature may be obtained by simply shifting a decimal point on the frequency meter. Hence if the sensitivity coefficient α is equal to 35 \times 10 $^{\circ}$ 1/K, the condition is fulfilled for $f_{\gamma} \approx 28.6$ MHz, because in that rese $f_0 \alpha = 1000 \text{ Hz/K}$. The tuning feature of the oscillator allows us to meet the above requirement in spite of some differences in individual plates parameters (3). The connection between the sensor and the oscillator must be performed by high-frequency caencial cable. By the use of frequency meters with high resolution, high resolution of temperature measurements may be achieved too. Much better solution, however, is application of a differential structure of the measuring circuit (Fig. 14) where a mixer forms a low-frequency signal Δf , which corresponds to the difference between the measured temperature I and a reference temperature t_0 : $\Delta f = f - f_0 = f_0 \alpha (t - t_0)$. In such a state the resolution of the frequency meter may be much more effectively used. Taking as an example the temperature range from 0/C to 200/C, the value of f_{02} equal to 1000 Hz, K, and the 61/2 digit resolution of the frequency meter (which is a conman practice), a 0.1 mK temperature resolution is achieved. This extremely high resolution is a reason why quartz thermometers are commonly equipped with two sensors allowing the measurement of temperature difference. In many practical cases, it is not the absolute value of temperature but the difference of temperatures that has to be known with a great accuracy. A double quartz thermometer is an excellent instrument for this purpose. Please note that the meaning of the term "absolute value" is used here differently than "absolute temperature scale." The uncertainty of the quartz thermometers depends primarily on aging and relaxation. Single-point recalibration from time to time and avoidance rupid temperature shocks are therefore highly recommended. With these conditions met, the uncertainty of ±50 mK may be sustained for a long time

RADIATION THERMOMETRY

The principle of radiation thermometry is the measuremony of the thermal energy emitted by radiation from the object under inspretons. It is not the whole energy that is measured but only its very little part, corresponding to the radiation focused on the radiation-sensitive element placed in the thermometer. The essential difference between the radiation thermometry and all other methods of temperature measurements is the lack of the thermal equilibrium between the phiect and the sensor. With radiation thermometry the only way of thermal energy transfer from the object to a sensor would be electromagnetic wave-



Figure 14. The differenced structure of a quarty therrownersed



Figure 16. Spectral best (solution density Dotted has indicates the Wien's law After Ref. 9. The radiance energy declines dramatically with the temperature. It is the main reason why law temperature indication thermometers were developed many years later than high temperatures ones.

propagation in the range from altra-violet radiation (0.2 µm wavelength) through visible spectrum (0.48 µm to 0.78 µm). up to far-infrank) radiation (50 pm). Thermal energy transfer does not used to equalizing of the temperatures but only excites the sensor. The excitation level, and consequently the autput signal of the sensor, depends on the portion of the received energy. Proper design, log-ther with the proper use of a radiation thermometer, ensures a strictly defined dependence of that portion of energy and the temperature of the object. All other object properties and radiation parameters such as emissivity. dimensions, the distance to the sensor, atmosphere composition and temperature, and radiation of other objects including the thermometer body and many others, either have to be kept at the same level as during the thermometer cabhration or must have no influence on the sensor. These requirements seem to be more serious than in conventional thermometers since they are related to the environment in which the measurement is performed, rather shan to the sensor and the instrument themselves

In order to unswer the question of how to meet the above requirements, some essential properties of thermal radiation have to be considered. The spectral density of heat emergy emitted by a black budy is given by Planck's law

$$M(i_{i}) = C_{1}i^{-\alpha}\frac{1}{e^{C_{1}(i_{i}^{\alpha})} - 1}$$
 (20)

or in a simplified (but sufficient for our discussion) form of Ware's law

$$\mathcal{M}(\lambda) = C_1 \lambda^{-2} e^{-\lambda \frac{1}{2} - \beta}$$
(21)

In both equations, $C_1 = 37.4$ mW μ m⁴/cm⁴ and $C_2 = 14,338$ K₁ μ m. The lower the temperature of the radiation source, the longer the wavelength of the emitted radiation (Fig. 15). The product of the temperature and the wavelength corresponding to the maximum of spectral density remains constant, according to Wien's law of displacement. $T_{\rm Max} = 2599$ K μ m The measurement of low temperatures requires the use of the sensors and af the methods which detect the radiation in far-infrared spectrum.

The total thermal energy emitted by a surface of a black hody with the area F is an integral of the Wien's equation:

$$E_{\mu\mu} = F \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} M O(dx)$$
 (22)

The black body is defined as on object which does not reflect thermal radiation and therefore, according to Kirchhoff's law of radiation tabsorptive power = emissive powert, emits the while radiant energy relative to us temperature. The emissivity factor ϵ is a black body is equal to 1. To simplate a black body to g , for the calibration of radiation thermometer), a closed cavity with a relatively small aperture may be used. The inpersurface of the cavity has to be specially shaped. In the radiation thermometry practice, only some objects (such as a hearth of a furnace) may be treated as black cavities. All other objects, and especially all objects in the air, have the emissivity ϵ smaller than 1, and their radiation density has to be multiplied by <. The magnitude of emissivity depends on the material, surface from polycoing, exification, roughening, deadening), its temporature, incident and viewed angles of heat flux direction, and polarization of radiation. Furthermore, the emissivity decends on the wavelength los. Therefore, the whole heat energy emitted by a uniform surface F observed by the radiation thermometer may be expressed as

$$K = F \int_{0}^{\infty} s(\lambda) M(s) d\lambda \qquad (23)$$

where (12) is usually known with a very poor accuracy.

Next we take into consideration the properties of the atmosphere that the radiation is passing through. Application of rarbotion thermometers with high-temperature objects is always distorbed by the presence of smoke and dust particles absorbing the radiation. The blow of purging air is used to clear the optical path between the object and the thermometer and to protect the optical parts from contamination with dust. Nevortheless, the outer surface of the instrument optics has to be cleaned from time to time.

In measurements performed is open air the concentration of absorbing gases is considerably lower, but the distance hetween the object and the instrument is much greater so the absorption plays a significant role too. The contents of CO, CO₂, and water vapor in the air are most significant. The spectral distribution of the absorption caused by these gases is not umform and shows extremely great variations. Only two bands of thermal radiation wavelength may be indicated as almost free from absorption. These are 3.5 cm to 4.5 μ m (near atmospheric window) and 8 μ m to 13 μ m (far atmospheric window). Hol gases distorb the measurement process by their own radiation too. According to Kirchhoff's law, the spectral distribution of emissivity is the same as the distribution of absorption, and it declines in the spectral ranges of atmospheric window. For these two reasons, at is highly recommended that radiation thermometers operate within one of those windows.

Considering the spectral disturbances, two additional aspects must not be overlooked: (1) the spectral transmitance of the materials used for optical parts of the thermometers elenses, windows, and filters) and (2) the spectral sensitivity of radiation detectors. Glass optic elements may be used in the range of visible and near-infraried radiation up to 2 pm wavelength that corresponds to measured temperatures over above 500 C. Quartz lenses enable slight wideming of that range (up to 3.5 µm). For these thermometers, however, which cover a much lower temperature range, very special materials have to be used. These are ZoSe (0.6 are to 16 pcn). GaAs (1.2 pm to)12 μ m), or CdTe (1.7 μ m to 25 μ m) and some other materials, such as Chalcogenid, KRS-5, or specially prepared ZnS. All of them (except ZnSe) are not transparent to visible light, and therefore the optical path for visual radiation must be simultaneously used to aim at the wirget.

Infrared Radiation Detectors

Two groups of initiated (IR) detectors are presently used in radiation thermometry. These are thermal detectors with low but spectrum-independent sensitivity and semiconductor photon detectors (IR diodes and IR photovoltair sensors), much more sensitive but working in the limited spectral zones. Thermogiles, bolometers, and pyrochectric detectors are the thermal detectors.

Thermopoles consists of a large number (of up to 66) of thermacouples with hot junctions concentrated on a small surface and exposed to the thermal radiation flux, along with reference junctions kept at a temperature close to the ambient tempernture (Fig. 16). The thermocomple materials are Bi–Sb or Ag– poly Si, with a bot junction deposited on a very thin (0.7 μ m to 1 μ m) alicon membrane isolated with an SiO₂ layer and with a reference junction deposited on balk silicon material, which forms a frame around the membrane. A low thermal conductivity of the thin membrane secures proper thermal insulation between hot and reference junctions. The detector is fabricated by Micro Systems Technology (MST) and may be integrated with signal conditioning elements or even A/D converters on one chip with dimensions not exceeding a few millimeters. These thermocouples possess a very high thermoelectric power of approximately 100 μ V/K, comparing with a few μ V/K for conventional metal thermocouples. This ensures high sensitivity of the detector expressed in volts per watt of thermal energy.

$$S_{D} = \frac{V_{out}}{E}$$
(24)

Thermal noise is the factor limiting the possibilities of thermal energy measurement. The Johnson noise equivalent voltage is given by

$$V_N = 2\sqrt{kTR\Delta f}$$
 (25)

where k is Boltzmann's constant, *H* is the detector resistance, *T* is the detector temperature, and Δf is the bandwidth of the associated amplifier, determined either by the chopper frequency or by the detector speed. Substituting Eq. (24) in Eq. (25), one achieves the moise equivalent power (NEP) in the form

$$NEP = E_{Nmin} = \frac{2\sqrt{kTR}\Delta f}{S_{\rm p}}$$
(26)



Figure 16. Thermopile manufactured in Micro Machining Technology



Figure 17. Specific - pertoch detectivity of the total and photon informal detectors. The design of low temperature radiation thermometers is more complicated nut only herause of the lower radiance energy but by the lower sensitivity of the photon detectors working in the far III region.

The reciproval of NEP is called detectivity D(x). Hence the sensitivity $S_{\rm D}$ is proportional to the square root of detector area A_i and the frequency band Δf is determined by the amphibier rather than by the detector itstif. The properties of the detector are better described by specific spectral detectivity $D^*(0, \eta)$ defined as

$$|D'O| = D(s, \sqrt{AN})$$
(27)

Thermopile specific spectral detectivity is usually about 10° $cm \cdot Hr^{1/2} W^{-1}$ (Fig. 17).

Belometers with thermistors used as temperature sensing elements have the same detectivity but are less frequently used. Pyroelectric detectors where the electrical charge evoked on the piezoelectric plate follow the temperature changes are a few times more sensitive, but they do not work all steady-state conditions and the chermal flux must be mechanically modulated by means of a rotating disk with slots or holes. Mechanical chopping enables the use of alternating-current (ac) amphifiers, this is more convenient than using direct-current (de) ones and additionally cuts off a large portion of low-frequency noise (red noise), thus increasing the specific spectral detectivity. For this reason, the chopping technique is in common use now.

Photon detectors are much more sensitive than thermal detectors and are mostly used when the limited range of wavelength is preferred. They are manufactured as semiconductor photodiodes or photovoltaic elements. The most sensitive Si detectors $|D^*(\lambda)| = 10^{16}$ cm $|H_Z|^2 |W|^4$] are suitable for visual spectra only: PbS. In As, and InSb detectors $|D^*(\lambda)| = 10^{11}$ cm $|H_Z|^{1/2}$ $|W|^4$] cover the range up to 3 join to 5 juin; and only an Hg-Cd-Tis detector may be used up to the 20 cm range, achieving its maximum detectively $|D^*(\lambda)| = 5 + 10^{12}$ cm $|H_Z|^4 |W|^4$ in the for-infrared radiation region. Cooling of detectors in order to

improve their detectivity by noise reduction results sometimes in shifting of the spectral characteristics toward longer wavelengths. This effect is observed in particular for Ge detectors. Therefore, in comparing the spectral detectivities of various detectors, precise specification of their operating temperatures must be taken into account (5). Detector cooling is frequently performed by single slage or multistige 10/bior coolers, which are compact and easy to use. The only problem to solve in their design is providing quick dissipation of the heat to enable the continuous cooling of the detector. Stirling coolers which require pumps are seldom used. It is quite possible, however, that in the near future, micropumps for that purpose will be produced by Micro Machining Technology.

Wide-Band Radiation Thermometers

Conceptually the simplest method of radiation thermometry is to detect the thermal energy emitted by an object toward a sensor regardless of its spectral distribution. This energy depends on the temperature according to the Stefan-Boltzmann law:

$$E = \epsilon_0 \sigma T^4 - \epsilon_1 \sigma T_1^4 \tag{28}$$

where σ is the Stefan-Boltzman constant, T and T_i are the object and thermometer temperatures, respectively, and r_0 and r_1 are the emissivities of the object and the thermometer, respectively. The exponent 4 in Eq. (26) makes the calibration curve nonlinear and increases the uncertainty at the lower range of measured temperatures where the sensitivity is also low. This form of relationship, however, decreases the influence of the object entissivity ϵ_{∞} . The thermometer calibrated with the use of a black body $(\epsilon_0 - 1)$ always indicates lower temperature: T_m than is actually existent at the observed surface with the emitance ϵ_0 . By the comparision of equal states of the detector output signals during calibration and measurement, and assuming that all other factors are the same, one obtains

$$T = \frac{1}{4\sqrt{\epsilon_0}} T_n \tag{29}$$

(The second term in Eq. (28) has been neglected, which is allowed in case of higher object temperatures.) For example, tak $ing_{PD} = 0.5$, the real temperature is not twice the indicated temperature but only 19% higher, as expressed in kelvins. Nevertheless, such a great difference is not negligible and has to he corrected. The simplest and the most common way is to adjust the emissivity value in the instrument which calculates and introduces the appropriate result correction. Is would be a good method if the values of ϵ_0 were known with sufficient accuracy, but usually this does not take place. Furthermore, •, is used here in the meaning of average emissivity over the whole spectral range. It has been shown before that for many reasons the heat flux incident at the sensor is spectrally disturbed, and hence the averaging should be weighted with regard to all these disturbances. Calculations become complicated to such a degree that their practical usefulness becomes questionable. The only way is then to calibrate the thermometer at the same environmental conditions as its operational conditions. The calibration is more effective when influence variables are stable. Higher stability may be achieved by narrowing the wavelength hand. For this reason the class of wate-band thermometers includes not only total radiation thermometers but also thermometers with intentionally limited spectral bands.

Total radiation thermometers are commonly equipped with thermal detectors and are used for measurements inside closed cavities as tanks or ovens where the emissivity is equal to 1 and the distance to the target is relatively low and stable. For applications in open air the thermometers with nurrowest band and adjuatable emissivity are used. They work in the first atmospheric window (for higher temperatures) or in the second almospheric window (for lower temperatures). For hower temperature ranges the compensation of ambient temperature $|T_i$ in Eq. (26)] is commonly performed. Some of the devices are referred to as "near touch" radiation thermometers, in which an infrared detector is placed inmochately over the surface, and the mirror optic is used to focus the radiant energy at the detector.

The majority of wide band radiation thermometers are produced as hand-held or tripod-based instruments, commonly equipped with optical or laser siming facility. Because of the progress in noiseless amplification of weak electric agnals, the lowest temperature range of the discussed instruments has been pushed down to the level of -60 C or even -100 C. It is no longer true that those radiation thermometers are destined for high temperatures only, as it was in the past. It still remains true, however, that accurate measurements may be inframed only in the case of sufficiently stable conditions. The responsibility for ensuring repeatable conditions is with the user. The accuracy of the measurement depends rather on his skulls and experience than on the quality of an instrument.

Monochromatic Radiation Thermometers

The name for the device derives from the times when radiation thermometers were used in the visual band only and indientes that a very narrow spectral hand A& of equiled losi flux. is used for measurement purposes. In optical pyrometers the narrow hand was being filtered using colored windows. Now the infrared interference filters are used for that purpose, hiterference filters consist of a number of thin transportent layers deposited on a substrate. The optical propertice and the thicknesses of the layers are specially matched to transmit through only a desired wavelength band $\Delta \lambda$ with the middle wavelength equal to λ_{11} as well us to reflect all higher and lower band frequencies. The filter remains cool because the undesired heat energy is reflected and not absorbed. The filtered bands are matched first of all with respect to the temperature range of the Dormonieter, but also with respect to the atmospheric windows. The part of energy emitted in wavelength band $\Delta \lambda$ may be described as

$$E_{c_1} = \epsilon_{c_1} C_1 \lambda^{-5} e^{-C_1 \beta_0 T} \Delta \lambda \qquad (30)$$

where $r_{\rm eq}$ is the emissivity at wavelength λ_0 . The volume of energy incident at the detector is much lower than that in wedehand thermometers, but narrow-band photon detectors with much higher detectivity may be used in the case. Assuming the same calibration procedure as described before for wide hand thermometers, one obtains the relationship between the real temperature T and indicated temperature $T_{\rm in}$ in the form of

$$\frac{1}{T} = \frac{1}{T_{\rm in}} + \frac{\lambda_1}{C_2} \ln c_{\rm in}$$
(31)

and for the small differences between T and T_m in the form of

$$T \approx T_{0} \left(1 + \frac{T_{0} \lambda_{0}}{C_{2}} \ln c_{0} \right)$$
(32)

The differences between real and indicated temperatures are lower than in wide-band thermometers [Eq. (29)]. However, it is more important that the value of 4, he better defined and more stable than an average emissivity ϵ_0 which has been used for calculations in the case of wide-band thermometers. Furthermore, all disturbances such as atmospheric absorption, hot gas radiation, contamination of optical parts by dust particles, and variations in detector properties have no influence on the output signal so far, because they do not concern directly the filtered band $\Delta \lambda$. The maintenance of the monochromatic thermometers is therefore simpler and their stability is much better, but the problem of emissivity correction remains.

Radiation Ratio Thermometers

The idea of radiation ratio thermometers is based on simultaneous measurement of radiation in two narrow wavelength bands followed by calculating the temperature from the ratio of the results. Both bands have to be chosen on the "socreasing" part of the Warp's spectral energy distribution curve (see Fig. 15), and they differ for each temperature range. Denoting the energy ratio at wavelength λ_2 and λ_1 by R one obtains

$$T = \frac{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1}{\lambda_3 \lambda_1} C_2 \left[\ln H \left(\frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_1} \right)^5 \right]^{-1}$$
(33)

for all gray bodies independent from their emissivity. For nongray bodies, like all metals, in which the emissivity is a function of wavelength, a very small correction is needed:

$$T \approx T_{\rm er} \left(1 - T_{\rm er} \frac{\lambda_0 \lambda_1}{C_2 (\lambda_2 - \lambda_1)} \ln \frac{\epsilon_1}{\epsilon_2} \right)$$
(34)

where r_1 and e_2 are emissivities for wavelength λ_1 and λ_2 , respectively. The difference between r_1 and r_2 is very low, even in metals, which causes, according to Eq. (34), a very little difference between T and T_{in} . The ratio thermometers may be considered emissivity-independent instruments. The design of radiation ratio thermometers is much more complicated than other radiation thermometers, and special requirements for low chromatance optic elements have to be fulfilled. Therefore this kind of instruments is rather expensive.

In summary, it is worthwhile to point out that in the last decade an intensive progress in radiation thermometry has been achieved. The basic ideas remain unchanged, an optical pyrometer with disappearing filament remains a prototype of narrow band thermometers, and a two-color pyrometer is an ancessor of the ratio thermometers, but the progress in detector technology, the introduction of interference filters, the possibilities of low noise signal amplification, and numerical result corrections make the use of these instruments simpler and allow moving the operational temperature range toward lower temperatures. The use of fiber optics to transmit the thermal energy from hardly accessible places or through the areas with nuclear radiation or strong electromagnetic fields creates the next step of development which cannot be underestimated. Up to now the optical fibers work at short wavelengths only top to 2.5 μ m), but with low distances the temperatures as low as 100 C may be measured, further progress in that field is expected.

ERRORS AND UNCERTAINTIES

First of all we have to distinguish between errors and uncertainties. According to its definition, an error is a difference between a result of the measurement and o measurand true value. Errors always have certain values and a sign, but they remain unknown. In order to determine an error, we can try to calculate it or to measure it. Errors are measured in the calibration process. A determined error added to the result with the opposite sign as a correction makes the result free from that particular error. Many errors exist which are very hard to desermine, even if their sources are theoretically known. Inradiation thermometry we know exactly how the emissivity influences the result, but we do not know the particular value of the target emissivity. We are only able to estimate the range of results which is affected by more or less unknown sources of errors. It is a range of uncertainty, and the most probable value. of the result is commonly (hat not always) placed in the middle of this range. Therefore, uncortainty is denoted us $\pm \Delta t$, where Δt is half of the estimated range.

All predictable errors in sensors or transducers are normally accounted by the producer by means of compensations and conrections. The accuracy data which are found in transducer specifications or in standards are uncertainty limits. ISO Guide For Expression of Uncertainties (10) distinguishes two kinds of ancertainfues: type A and type B. Type A uncertainfues are easy to detect and estimate by repetition of measurements performed in the same conditions and then by calculating the standard deviation of the results (classical random uncertainties). Type A uncertainties dominate in high accuracy measurements. Hundom effects observed in industrial measurements are caused by measurant instability and environmental variations rather than by measuring instruments (hemselves, Type B unrertaintive are show which remain constant by repetition of measurgments. They may be caused by residuals remaining after confinearity compensation, hysteresis effects, or they may be caused by the influence of variables such as pressure, nuclear radiation, electromagnetic fields, humility, dust, lead temperature variations, ambient temperature variations, velocity of the medium under measurement, aging, and many others. Type B uncertaintics dominate in medium accuracy thermometers. Estimation of type B uncertainties needs some investigations performed either by the manufacturer of the thormomotor or by the user, and some amount of experience too. It is a more complicated task than a type A estimation but the uncertainty data given in thermometer specification may be adequately used here. The calibration of a particular sensor or transducer. transforms some uncertainties into errors, allowing us to ar count for them in a ferm of correction. All the rest remains as a pars of a type B uncertainty Enboratory calibration of temperasure sensors is expensive, but calibration performed at the site of thermometer installation is more expensive and sometimes even impossible. On the other hand, it is intpossible to restore all measurement conditions during laboratory calibration, and thus the improvement of accuracy by the recalibration is always lumitisel.

Two remarks dealing with specification sheets might to be pointed on here. In thermometry the uncertainty data referred to us " \mathbb{R} of reading" or " \mathbb{R} of full scale" (\mathbb{R} K) have no sense because temperature scales have no physical zero, and $\pm 2\%$ of 273 K gives ± 6 K but $\pm 2\%$ of 0 C gives ± 0 C. All uncertainties have to be referred to in temperature units.

The next remark is concerned with resolution. Resolution is not a measure of accuracy and normally has nothing to do with uncertainty. It is only the ability to indicate small differences in temperature. High resolution may sometimes be very useful, but we ought to have in our minds that by the use of normerical result display the resolution is commonly 10 times better than the uncertainty involved.

In the sensor stransducer pair the uncertainty of sensor usually dominates. Excluding standards from our considerations, it may be stated that of all temperature sensors, metal resustance thermometers are the ones with the lowest uncertainty. In the temperature range of -50 C to ~ 150 C, quartz thermometers are much more accurate and stable than all semiconductor sensors (the fact is reflected in their price). Traditional NTC thermistors seem to be less attractive in comparison wish modern linear semiconductor sensors and more and more cheap integrated sensors which have the advantage of standarized calibrated output signal. However, the oncer- ω inty of all semiconductor sensors is not better than $\pm 0.5\,\,{
m C}$ to 1 C. Thermorouples are the less accurate sensors. Their uncertainty is regardly increasing, with the measured temperature reaching up to ± 10 K at temperatures above 1000 C. This is a much higher value than for radiation thermometers where the uncertainty is rather optimistically referred to as ± 1 K to 2 K. The advantage of thermocouple sensors is their lower cost, but the casts of transducers are comparable now. Some radiation sensors are equipped with each a signal conditioning system that their output signal fits to conventional thermorphple transducers. The thermoscoples, however, are the unique sensors which have to be immersed in the high-temperature medium.

The discussion presented above deals with the instrument incertainty, but more serious sources of uncertainty are related to the methods of temperature measurement. Generally, the problem is in the difference between the temperature of a sensor and the temperature which ought to be measured. This problem will be considered separately for stendy-state conditions and for dynamic conditions

Steady-State Errors of Temperature Measurement

In order to provide the same temperature of an object and of a sensor, the conditions for easy heat transfer from the object to the sensor and simultaneously for the difficult beat transfer from the sensor to the umbient environment should be created. For immersion-type sensors the length of the immersed part should be as large as possible because the heat runs away from the sensor through the protective tube, and a higher temperature gradient along the shield facilitates the transfer. Thermal insulation of the tank or pipe line where the temperature is measured lowers the gradient, and therefore the error two. The problem is much more serious in the case of gas media because of their low beat transmission roefficient and the possibility of heat escape to the pipe walls by radiation. The problem weight increases with the measured temperature, not only because of the higher temperature gradient but also due to the need for



Figure 18. The measurement of surface tensoratore. The best is acconsulated in the silver plate with high thermal conductivity in order to equatize the surface and sensor temperatures. The air gap between the surface and the plate night to be filled with silicon gel. The connection leads act as radiators and therefore run along the surface to a distance for enough to avoid the surface temperature disturbance or arthe sensor.

increasing shield thickness and for better thermal insulation of the sensor by protective ceramics.

The measurement of surface temperature is the best case for obtaining a false result. The sources of errors are the same, but the available remedies are very limited. The typical situation is schematically presented in Fig. 16. The sensor ought to have the best thermal contact with the surface but simultaneously should be insulated from the environment. The thermal insulation provides protection from the temperature decrease at the point of measurement, but perinaps it may cause a local increase of the temperature especially when the surface was intensively cooled. Toaching of the surface by the sensor involves thermal effects which are different in each particular case and prartically unpredictable. From this point of view, the advantage of radjation thermometry for surface temperature measurements is evident.

Dynamic Errors

Dynamic errors are caused by the thormal inertia of the sensors and become important while transient temperatures have to be measured. The dynamic properties of a sensor are described by the response time of the output signal after a rupid change of sensor temperature, or by the time constant. The response time is usually defined as the time clapsing between 10% and 90% of the output signal change, but other definitions are also used. The response time depends on the sensor properties such as its material, shope, and dimensions, but depends first of all on the environment surrounding the sensor, characterized by the heas transmission coefficient. That coefficient is a few times greater in liquids than in gases, and it increases with the velocity of the medium. With any comparison of the consor dynamic properties, exactly the same conditions have to be secured.

Assuming the linearity of the thermometer the idea of Laplace transformation and transfer function may be used for describing the thermometer dynamic properties. The simplest model of the dynamic behavior of a sensor may be presented in a form of the first-order transfer function:

$$K(s) = rac{T_1(s)}{T_0(s)} = rac{1}{1+s_{10}}$$
 (35)

where $T_{T}(s)$ is the Laplace transformation of the numeter (emperature, $T_{T}(s)$ is the Laplace transformation of the object temperature, s is the Laplace operator and z_{T} is a time constant. The model is valid for numericladed sensors only, which are rather seldom used. Two other models are also used. The second-order model

$$K_{\rm P}({\rm x}) = \frac{1}{(1 |_{4} |_{8T_1} ((1 + |_{8T_2})))}$$
(36)

accounts for the delay of the output signal and better describes the thermometer with the shielded sensors. A model with the differential action

$$K_{0}(s) = \frac{1 + sr_0}{(1 + sr_0)(1 + r_s)}$$
(37)

may in turn he used for surface temperature thermometers.

All these models may be treated as rough approximations because in fact the dynamic properties of temperature sensors are nonlinear. The experiment has shown that even for a matembedded thermocouple sensor the time constant at 400 C has been three times larger than at that 1200 C (5). Also the warrying turves and quenching curves always differ from one another.

For dynamically module an sensors, it is not so easy to transform the results from one operating condition to other. One of the methods for estimation of dynamic behaviors of a sensor under its operating conditions cases an intentionally generated solf heating impulse in order to recard the thermometer answer and then to coisculate its dynamic parameters.

The dynamic behavior of the radiation thermometers deponds on the dynamic properties of the infrared sensors which are rather slow, with the response time varying from 0.2 s to 2 s, and which are dynamically nonlinear too.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- H. Freedog-Theorem. The order astronal temperature scale of 1993 (ITS-90), Metrologia, 27: 3-10, 1930
- T.J. Quant, Temperature, 2nd ed., New York: Academic Press, 1990. Deep study of Ω(S and high accuracy temperature measurements).
- W. Gapel, J. Hesse, and J. N. Zemel (aix), Newsrey A Compactnesser Survey, Vol. 4, Thermal Sensors, T. Rienlff, J. Scholz (eds.), Weinneury, VCH, 1990.
- The Temperature Handbook, Stanford, CA: Onega Engineering, 1992 A comprehensive review of the market of thermometers and thermal seconds.
- Von Kerträlgessy, *Thernowlement Praxia* 2nd ed., Easen: Volkan Verlag, 1967. In German, Comprehensive work with a lot of practival information.
- J. F. Schooley, Thermometry, New York: CRU Press, 1986.
- L. Michalski, K. Eckorskarf, and J. McGhae, 7-information Measurement, Interf. New York: Weby, 1999.
- D. P. De Watt and G. D. Nutter (eds.), Theory, and Practice of Botharian Thermomyley, New York, Wiley, 1988.

- Die Inferenzi Transsentines Handbassk, Steinfund, CA Uninga Engimeering, 1994.
- Garde to the Expression of Uncertainty in Measurement, ISO, IEC, OJML/BIMP, Printed in Switzerland 1983.
- J. Zakrzewski. Temperature Sensies. in J. G. Webster (ed.), Witey Encyclopedia of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, Vol. 21, New York Wiley, 1999, p. 005.

JAN ZAKRZEWSKI Salesana Technology, University of Poland

THERMOELECTRIC CONVERSION

Thermoelectric effects ailer a means of converting heat to electric power using only solid-state components. By supplying electrical power to a thermoelectric material, it may also be used to produce refrigeration. Because a thermoelectric system has no moving parts, it may be rehable and compact. However, currently available power generators and refrigerators based upon thermoelectric effects are too expensive and inefficient for large-scale applications. Today, thermoelectric generators are used to produce electric power in satellities and thermoelectric refrigerators are used to cost small heat loads or in situations requiring partability.

In this article, we review the physics of the more learne effects and survey some present and potential applications of thermoelectric technology. Then an explanation of the thermoelectric effects and the operation of thermoelectric generators and refragerators is given. There is no attempt to be comprehensive here as the detailed theory of thermoelectric effects has been well described elsewhere (1.2).

Following this, we briefly discuss the present status of therincelectric refrigeration and power generation. These technologies are commercially active, with thermoclectric options dominating several niche markets. We also describe soveral lines of research that attempt to improve the efficiency of thermoelectric materials.

Finally, R new research field, cryogenic thermoelectric reingeration, is described. Here, the officiency can be quite high, so that the temperature may be reduced by a large factor. Also, we describe proposed designs for thermoelectric refrigeration using quantum-scale devices as well as remot experimental verification of these emerges in superior ducting tunnel proclams.

THERMOELECTRIC EFFECTS

Thermoelectric effects occur because electrons and bales (which are vacancies in the electron scattin conductive materials carry energy. Thermal energy at a temperature T (in K or Kelvin, measured from absolute zero) is distributed arong all parts of a conductive material—the atoms making up the crystal lattice, the electrons, and the holes. As a result, electrons and holes have a range of energies: the electronic "energy spread" in a mean is a few times $\hbar_0 T$, where \hbar_0 is Boltzmann's constant. A thermoelectric effect occurs when the most energies: (or "hot") electrons and holes are transported preferentially during correct flow in a conductive material. In a sense, the hot electrons

and holes "evaporate" from one part of a material to another, cooling the region that they heave in the same way as the evaporation of water has a cooling effect.

There are several distinct but related physical effects that arise from this heat capacity of electrons and holes. When an electric current is driven through a thermoelectric material (for instance, by applying a voltage across the thermoelectric material), a heat flow occurs as well. This is called the Peltier effect, which is the basis of thermoelectric refrigeration. When one end of a piece of thermoelectric material is hotter than the other, a voltage develops across the material. This is called the Seebeck effect, which is need in thermoelectric power generation. Finally, when a temperature gradient exists inside a thermoelectric material, a gradient in the electric potential develops due to the Thomson effect. We will not discuss the Thomson effect hore, since at is beyond the sequend this article, but more dotails may be found in fields 1–3.





10)

Figure 1. Diagram of a thermoelectric device. (a) Heat flows vertically and electric current flows from heft to right, (b) Placing multiple thermodements electrically to server and thermally in purallel increases the cooling power (c) Representation of the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) Representation of the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) Representation of the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) Representation of the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) Representation of the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the formation of the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the formation of the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the formation of the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the formation of the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the microscopic michanism of the microscopic michanism of the cooling power (c) and the microscopic michanism of the microscopic microsco

These effects are known in the science of thermodynamics as reversible processes (1), in the sense that they may operate in the forward or in reverse directions. For instance, by reversing the direction of current flow in a thermoelectric refrigerator, the direction of heat flow is reversed, thereby causing heating instead of cuoling. The efficiency of thermoelectric refrigerators and generators is limited by centrin irreversible phenomenu (1). The two main irreversible effects are thermal conduction and electrical resistance.

When a temperature graduent exists in any material, heat flows through the material to minimize the temperature gradient. This is clearly an irreversible process, otherwise ubjects would spontuneously develop cold and hot spots until they cracked or evaporated. Thermal conduction in a thermoelectric refrigerator represents a heat leak. In a thermoelectric generator, it is manifest as a power loss.

The passage of clootneity through a conducting material is accompanied by the generation of heat, as the electrons and holes lose energy to various mechanisms such as the cryatal lattice. Similar to thermal conduction, this resistive process is irreversible. If it were reversible, then a warm object would spontaneously emit electric current and cool itself to absolute zero. Also similar to thermal conduction, resistive fesses represent an arreversible heat look in a thermoelectric refrigerator and a power loss in a thermoelectric generator.

Under some conditions, thermoelectric effects take on an irreversible nature when they are driven past the "small signal" limit (4-6). In the following, we will discuss situations under which these extreme conditions are of benefit to thermoelectric refrigeration.

A generic thermoelectric circont is shown in Fig. 1(a). The thermoelements a and p embody the thermoelectric effects in this generic circuit. In the *positive* thermoelement p, electric current *I* and heat Q flow in the *same* direction. In the *negative* thermoelement a, heat is conducted in the direction opposite to current flow. In the circuit of Fig. 1(a), the thermoelements a and p are said to be thermally in parallel, as heat flows through each in parallel, and electrically in series, because electric current must traverse them sequentially To enhance the thermoelectric performance of this circuit, it can be seen from Fig. 1(b) that many more such elements may be added so that they are electrically in series, and thermally in parallel.

The circuit is completed by metallic elements R. E. and E., which serve as conductors and heat sinks. It is a "reservior" that is attached to a heat source (in the case of a thermoslicotric generator) or to a device to be cooled (in a thermoslicotric generator), E, and E_p are "electrodes" that are used to electrically connect the thermoelectric circuit to an external electric circuit (a correct source to drive thermoelectric refrigeration or an electric load in the case of thermoelectric generation), E_n and E_p also are thermally such to a heat sink to maintain their temperature at T.

When the thermoelectric circuit of Fig. 1(a) is in operation, electric current flows from E_{ab} through n, through R, through p, to E_{p} . Heat Q flows from R, through n and p, to E_{a} and E_{p} . In the case of a thermoelectric refrigerator, a voltage is applied between E_{a} and E_{a} to drive an electric current which causes the flow of heat Q from the host had to the heat sink by the thermopower of n and p. For thermoelectric power generation, a source of heat is applied to R, which causes heat Q to flow down. Due to the thermopower of n and p, electric current *I* flows up through n and down through p, the net result of which is to drive electric current from E, to $E_{\rm p}$ which may be used to drive an electric load

Any thermoductric effect is caused by differences in the energy levels electrons occupy in a material, and hence may be visualized by tracing the path of electrons through these different energy levels. Such a diagram is shown in Fig. 1(c), which represents the energy levels (vertical scale) that electrons occupy when they are traveling through the circuit components of Fig. 1(a).

Several aspects of solid-state physics must be understoad to interpret Fig. 1(c) First, electrons are thermally excited so that they are continually absorbing and emitting energy from other electrons and the crystal lattice. The typical amount of energy exchanged is about $k_s T$, as mentioned earlier. The magnitude of $k_0 T$ is shown in Fig. 1(c) for reference. If we could employ "Maxwell's demm" (3) to capture the electrons when they were excited to a high energy and use their excess energy to perform work, then heat would be extracted from the metal, resulting in a cooling effect. This is how a thermoelectric refingerator works.

Consider an electron in R, at an energy called the "Fermilevel" E_F , which is essentially the average energy for the electrons that participate in electrical transport (3). Because electrons belong to the particle class called Fermions, they fill energy states one at a time until E_F is reached. Thermal excitations occur for energies around E_F , with a range of k_BT . Some states below E_F are vacated by an electron, which has absorbed energy to be excited to an empty state. These vacant states are called holes, and can move about in the same way as electrons. One can imagine this as a percolation process, although in terms of quantum mechanics electrons and holes are described similarly (3). The excitation energy of a hole is opposite to that of an electron; thermally excited holes lie below E_F

To understand the microscopic operation of a thermoelectric circuit, we can trace the path of an electron through Fig. 1(c), (r) First, the electron in R is thermally excited to above E_F . Then the electron may move to the conduction band of the semiconductor n. This hand is shown with a slope because the electrical resistance of n causes a voltage drop with distance (r). Finally, the electron is deposited in the electrode E_{er} where it gives up its featral energy relative to E_F . An analogous path for a hole is shown in Fig. 1(c) as well.

One thing to note is that the direction of current flow for both the electron and hole paths in Fig. U/c) is to the right because the charge of the electron is negative and the charge of a hole is positive. An analogy between electrostatic potential energy (as is shown in this diagram, and gravity might be drawn here: it is as though electrons slide down slopes in the energy bands. and bales percolate up like bubbles. Thus, as "extra" current source must be connected to R for a current to traverse the circuit. It is also reportant to note where the different energyexchange mechanisms are taking place. In Step (i), the electron and hole absorb thermal energy from the other electrons or the crystal lattice of R, which in turn absorbs heat from the heat source in the case of thermoelectric generation or the heat load in the case of thermoelectric refrigeration. In Step (ii), the electron and hole give up heat by Ohmac heating due to the electrical resistance of n and p. Fanally, in Step (in), the electron and hole release their excitation energy to the electrodes E_{n} and $E_{\mu\nu}$ which then release the heat to the heat sink. The heat leak due to the thermal conductivity of a and **p** is not shown here, since it is mostly due to the crystal lastone rather than the elixtrons.

THERMOEUTCTRIC REFRIGERATION

By applying electric current to the thermoelectric circuit of Fig. 1(a), heat is extracted from R. This refrigerator is driven by the Peltier effect. Specifically, if a current *I* is driven through a thermoelectric material, a flow of heat

$$Q = \Pi I \tag{1}$$

accomputies the flow of current; II is known as the Peltier coefficient of the thermoelectric material

For a negative thermoelement such as n in Fig. 1(a., \square is negative. Thus, the electric corrent and heat current flow in opposite directions in n, so that while the current flows up, heat flows down. For a positive thermoelement such as p in Fig. 1(a), \square is positive. In this case, the electric and heat currents flow in the same direction; in Fig. 1(a), both heat and electric current flow downward through p. Thus, heat flows downward through both n and p so that both contribute to coding R.

In a real thermoelectric refrigerator, there are other sources and flows of heat that must be considered when trying to understand the refrigerating behavior. If the thermoelectric refrigerator is cooling a heat load (e.g., a semiconductor diode laser or a solid state intrared detector), which is producing a heat flow Q_{ii} then this heat flowe into R and adds to the heat load that the thermoelements must carry away to accomplish a given amount of refrigeration.

In an ideal thermoelectric material, there would be no electrical resistance, and hence no Ohmic heating. However, this is not the case for real materials. If the electrical resistance of n is R_i and that of p is R_j , then Ohmix haw (3) dictates that the amount of heat I^2R_i is generated on n and I^2R_i is generated in p. Since this heat is generated uniformly throughout the thermoelectric materials, it is generally assumed that half the heat is transmitted up to R, and half goes down to E_n and E_n.

As the inermodectric refrigerator operates, the flow of heat Q causes a temperature difference ΔT to develop horizon R and E_n and E_n in an ideal thermoelectric material, the thermal conductivity would be zero, so that no heat leaked back across to the cold side. However, thermoelectric materials always have a significant thermal conductivity. Assume that the values of thermal conductance for a and p are K_n and K_1 , respectively. Then a heat leak of $K_1\Delta T$ flows upward through n and $K_n\Delta T$ flows through p.

Without a heat load, the net heat that flows from R to E_{n} is

$$Q_n = \Pi_n I - K_n \wedge T + \frac{1}{2} I^2 R_n$$
 (2)

and that flowing from R to E, is

$$Q_{\mu} = \Pi_{\mu} I - K_{\mu} \wedge T - \frac{1}{2} I^{2} H_{\mu}$$
 (3)

The conleng paper of the thermoelectric refrigerator is the sum of Q_n, Q_p , and the heat load $-Q_n$

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{radial} &= Q_{s} + Q_{p} - Q_{b} = (\Pi_{p} + \Pi_{a})I + (K_{r} + K_{p})\Delta T \\ &= \frac{1}{2}I^{2}(R_{s} + R_{p}) + Q_{b} \end{aligned}$$
(4)

 Q_{mome} represents the heat flow that the thermoelectric refrigerator draws from R and the heat load. If Q_{mome} is positive at any temperature, then R will drop in temperature due to

the net cooling action. If Q_{coding} is positive in the absence of a temperature difference ΔT , then R will cool until it sits at a temperature below the "ambient" temperature T

The coefficient of performance ϕ of a thermoelectric refrigerator is defined to be the ratio of the cooling power to the electrical power P required to drive the current I through the refrigerator

$$s^i = \frac{Q_{mat,ijk}}{P}$$
(5)

P is computed by the relationship P = IV, where *V* is the voltage drop across the device. To compute *V*, we need to describe the other major thermoelectric effect—the Secheck effect.

A contact potential $V_{contact}$ generally exists at a junction of desinutar materials. In thermoelectric devices, this contact potential and its temperature dependence are utilized. In particular, the contact potential between a thermoelectric material le.g., o or p) and an ordinary metal (e.g., R, E_n or E_n) is given by

$$V_{chan}$$
 (hermoelectric, metal) = a $T + V_0$ (6)

where V_0 depends upon the particular materials chosen and the text in curly brackets indicates the direction of positive contact potential, in this case from thermoelectric material to metal. The linear temperature coefficient α in the omitaet potential is called the Seebeck coefficient. Because the junctions at **R** and those at E_0 and E_p sit at different temperatures, a net potential drop occurs across each thermoelement

$$V_{n} = V_{\text{preduct}} [\mathbf{E}_{n}, \mathbf{n}] + V_{\text{preduct}} [\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{R})$$

$$= V_{\text{preduct}} [\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{E}_{n}] + V_{\text{preduct}} [\mathbf{n}, \mathbf{R})$$

$$= (\alpha_{n}T + V_{0}) + (\sigma_{n}(T + \Delta T) + V_{0})$$

$$= -\alpha_{n} \Delta T,$$

$$V_{n} = V_{\text{preduct}} [\mathbf{R}, \mathbf{p}] + V_{\text{preduct}} [\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{E}_{p}]$$

$$= -V_{\text{preduct}} [\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{R}] + V_{n-\text{preduct}} [\mathbf{p}, \mathbf{E}_{p}]$$

$$= -(\alpha_{p}(T + \Delta T) - V_{0}) + (\sigma_{p}T + V_{0})$$

$$= \alpha_{p} \Delta T$$
(7)

Due to the electrical resistance of the thermoelements, there is also an Ohmic voltage drop $I(R_a + R_p)$ in the circuit; thus the total power supplied to the thermoelectric refrigerator is

$$P = IV$$

$$= D\sigma_{\pi} - \alpha_{\pi} (\Delta T + I^{2}(R + R))$$
(8)

The coefficient of performance becomes

$$\begin{split} \omega &= \frac{Q_{\text{prime}}}{P} \\ &= \frac{(1)_{\mu} - \Pi_{\mu} (I - (K_{\mu} + K_{\mu}) \Delta T - \frac{1}{2} I^2 (R_{\mu} + R_{\mu}) - Q_{\mu})}{I(\omega_{\mu} - \omega_{\mu}) \Delta T + \frac{1}{I^2} (R_{\mu} + R_{\mu})} \end{split}$$

formerally, one would like to know the best coefficient of performance that a given material system can supply. For this case, we consider the brot with an load) $Q_I = 0$: Also, we consider the case when the thermoelements have similar properties, namely

$$R_n = R_p - R; \quad K_n = K_p - K; \quad -u_n = v_p \equiv u;$$

$$-\Pi_n - \Pi_n \equiv \Pi$$
(9)

so that the coefficient of performance simplifies to

$$\varphi = \frac{((I - K\Delta T - \frac{1}{2}I^2R)}{Ia\Lambda T + I^2R}$$
(57)

We can further simplify Eq. (5); using the Kelvin relationship

$$\Pi = \mathcal{T}_{0}$$
 (10)

which may be derived frin the Obsager relation in the theory of irreversible thermodynamics. Equation (10) is only valid for small V and ΔT . This topic is beyond the scope of this article: more details may be found in Refs. 2–4.

We can find the value of I at which Eq. (5) (eaches its maximum value by taking the derivative of φ with respect to I and setting it equal to zero. After performing this operation and substituting this current value into Eq. (5), we arrive at the aptimal value of the coefficient of performance

$$\psi_{\text{max}} = \frac{T - \Delta T}{\Delta T} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{1} + Z\overline{T} - \frac{T}{T - \Delta T} \\ c \mathbf{1} + Z\overline{T} + 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \psi_{\text{clasted}} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{1 + ZT} - \frac{\psi_{\text{clasted}}}{\sqrt{1 + ZT} + 1} \end{pmatrix}$$
(57)

where $T = 1/2(T + (T - \Delta T))$ is the mean temperature in the thermoelements and $\varphi_{(mot)} = (T - \Delta T)/\Delta T$ is the Carnot thermodynamic maximum efficiency of a refrigerator (1-3). The quantity

$$Z = \frac{a^2}{H\kappa}$$
(11)

is known as the thermoelectric figure of merit, and has the dimensions of inverse temperature. Thus, the quantity

$$ZT = \frac{\sigma^2}{RK}T$$
(12)

is known as the dimensionless figure of merit, which summarizes the thermoelectric performance of a material at temperntore \mathcal{T} . More analytical details of the tifficiency of a thermoelectric refrigerator may be obtained from Refs. 1 and 2. Here, we will restrict ourselves to general comments regarding the status of thermoelectric technology.

The material parameters of the thermodements enter Eq. (5) (only through Z. In this sense, the figure of merit summarizes the thermoelectric performance of a thermoelectric material. Although Eq. (11) includes the electrical parameters Rand K, we can see that it may also be defined in terms of intensive material parameters. For instance, suppose that the their moelements are of uniform cross-sectional area A and length L. Then the thermal conductance and electrical resistance may be written as

$$K = \kappa \frac{A}{L}, \quad R = \mu \frac{L}{A}$$
(13)

where *x* is the likerinal conductivity and *p* is the electrical resistivity of the thermeelements. The figure of marit then becauses

$$Z = \frac{a^2}{\rho c} \tag{11}$$

which contains only intensive quantities, and thus the thermoelectric figure of merit is itself an intensive maternal parameter. The dimensionless figure of merit becomes

$$ZT = \frac{\omega^2}{\rho_s}T \qquad (12)$$

Maximizing ZT is thus seen as the central goal of thermoelectric materials research. In practice, it has been difficult to exceed ZT = 1 (at room temperature). There has even here speculation that ZT = 1 represents a fundamental physical limit (1.2). In any case, ZT must be in the range of 3 to 5 for thermoelectric refrigeration to compete with conventional vagior compression refrigeration (1). Efficiency is important in a refrigerator, both in terms of the economic and environmental costs of power consumption and in terms of the amount of heat rejected for a given amount of cooling. Thus, thermoelectric materials have not yet offered a strong competitor in the area of large-scale refrigeration or air conditioning.

The practical difficulties in maximizing ZT are in a compromise between the material parameters that comprise ZT. For instance, metals have a low electrical resistivity but also a low thermopower and a high thermal conductivity. The least thermally conductive materials are often electrically insulating.

As at turns out, the best thermoelectric materials have been heavily doped semiconductors. Figure 2 shows a summary of the thermal and electrical properties of conductive materia's as a function of electron concentration. It can be seen that electrical and thermal conductivity find to increase with the electron concentration, whereas the thermopower lends to deerense. These factors lead to a peak in thermoelectric figure of ment in the semiconductor range.

The best motorials for thermoelectric refrigeration are compound semiconductors. The most common material is businell tellorine ($BigTe_0$). This material is used in commercially available thermoelectric refrigerators (such as the one shown in Fig. 3), and may attain *ZT* values approaching 1. In fact, thermeelectric refrigerators (such as the one depicted) have a growing market in cooling solid-state electronic devices such as thode lasers and infrared radiation detectors. They are also dominant in areas where compactness or portability are required, such as in portable refrigerated food containers or biological-specimen transport vessels. Also, thermoelectric refrigerators can be operated in reverse to heat a sample; thus active temperature control is possible, as utilized in biologicalapplications.

Another practical aspect of thermoelectric technology is the use of multiple stages in commercial devices. These can offer improved efficiency because the design and materials



Figure 2. Schematic graph of the properties of thermoelectric muterials as a function of electron concentration (1).

properties can be optimized for the operating temperature of each stage. Lower temperatures can be achieved this way in thermoelectric refrigerators.

THERMOELECTRIC POWER GENERATION

The circuit of Fig. Uarmay be used as a thermoelectric generator by heating R. Heat Q_S is supplied from a heat source to the het electrode, which causes a flow of thermoelectric current *I*. The thermal conductance *K* of the thermoelectric current sheat to leak from the het electrode to the umbient-temperature heat sink, and Ohmic heating of the thermoelements discipated some of the generated power. The efficiency η of a thermoelectric trivial conduction to be

$$y = \frac{P}{Q_c} - \frac{IV}{\dot{Q}_c}$$
 (14)

where P is the electrical power supplied to a local through the ambient-temperature electrodes and V is for total voltage drop



Figure 3. Photograph of a commercially available thermodectric refrigerator using Bi-Tes semiconductors as thermodenwells. Product Jutrature from Marlow Industries, Inc.

across the generator. By following a bos of reasoning analogous to the forementioned one for thermoelectric refrigeration, the officiency of a thermoelectric generator may be expressed in terms of the dimensionless figure of merit of the thermoelement materials

$$\begin{split} \eta &= \frac{\Delta T}{T + \Delta T} \left(\frac{\sqrt{1 + Z\overline{T}} - 1}{\sqrt{1 + Z\overline{T}} \cdot \left(\frac{T}{T + \Delta T}\right)} \right) \\ &= \eta_{0,n-m} \left(\frac{\sqrt{1 + Z\overline{T}} - 1}{\sqrt{1 + Z\overline{T}} + (1 - \eta_{0,n-m})} \right) \end{split}$$
(14)

where T and Z are defined in the foregoing and $g_{1,\text{smal}} = \Delta T/(T - \Delta T)$ is the Carnot thermodynamic limit on the efficiency of a generator (1-3). As discussed in the foregoing, ZT is around 1 at hest. For this value, g ranges from $0.2g_{1,\text{smal}}$ to $0.3g_{1,\text{smal}}$. For a temperature difference of 100 C with T = 300 K, $g_{\text{carnot}} = 0.26$ and the thermoelectric efficiency with ZT = 1 would be under 9%. Thus, thermoelectric power generation is not competitive with more conventional means. For comparison, a solar cell may have a generating efficiency of δ^2 , an automobile engine may have 15% efficiency, and a steam-generating plant may achieve 20 to 40% efficiency (1).

What would it take for thermoelectrics to compete in power generation? Suppose for a moment that *ZT* for a given material was optimized over the temperature range 300 to 600 K, and that T = 300 K and the heat-source temperature is 600 K. Then $\eta_{Trans} = 0.5$ and, for ZT = 1, the generator becomes 113 efficient. For ZT = 3, the generator becomes 20% efficient, the point at which it begins to compete. Thus, if thermoelectric materials are to be competitive with more conventional systems for mainstream power-generation applications, *ZT* most be improved by at least a factor of three. For thermore, the materials must be inexpensive, whereas semiconductors tend to be fairly expensive. Thus, the prospects for large scale power generation using thermoelectrics are not great at present.

As in refrigeration, the present applications of thermoelectric power generation take advantage of the compactness and rehability of solid state components. The most prominent appliention is in power generation for catellites, in which a radiation source such us a radioactive reotope is used to supply heat to the generator. The material system of choice is the alloy of silicom and germaniam, which has a lower thermal conductivity than the crystalline forms due to enhanced phonon scattering, and is thermally stable enough to operate at a high hot-electrode temperature. These generators have been found to be extremely reliable, and nuclear power provides sufficient heat to overcome the relatively low generating efficiency (1).

EFFORTS TO IMPROVE THERMOELECTRIC EFFICIENCY

The traditional approach to optimizing the efficiency of litermoelectric conversion has been incremental. For instance, commercial devices today are shill haved upon BigTes and related comprunds, developed in the 1950s and 1960s, with advances mostly coming in the form of material purity or means of attaching thermoelements.

Recently, a number of workers have become interested in revisiting the basic assumptions of the non-hedrog conversion (4-20). Later, we will discuss the new field of cryogenic thermoelectric refrigeration 14,5,7,8. Here, we briefly summarize recept work in thermoelectric conversion at higher temperatures, which could impact the broadest range of applications.

A notable improvement in materials synthesis over the last few decades has been thin-film deposition with high crystalline quality and pointy by using methods such as molecular hearn epitaxy (11). With this capability, traditional semiconducting materials may be formed into attractures not available to the original designers of thermsulectric devaces in the 1950s and 1960s.

Accordingly, several groups have begun exploring the thermodertric properties of multilayer structures composed of layers of the Bi_2Te_1 and related sumpounds traditionally used as thermoelectric elements (9). This activity was initially of a thearetical nature, and it was observed that the thermoelectric figure of moril of these materials in a properly designed multilayer may be increased from its bulk value. This was confirmed experimontably, but the figure of merit of the entire structure, including nonthermoelectric layers, has not been demonstrated yet to exceed the bulk value of the thermoelectric materials.

It has recently been proposed (6) that thermionic effects might be used to overcome involutions imposed by the "knearresponse" regime implicitly useumed in the traditional theoretical understanding of thermivelectric effects as described in earlier. In a thermionic effect, electrons or holes are thermally excited across a large potential barrier and then transparted away. In terms of the microscopic picture of Fig. 1(a), the conduction would become thermionic if the barrier between R and n or powere much higher than k_0T . To overcome the pitential barrier, each electron or hole must absorb a large amount of energy from the crystal lattice; thus a large amount of heal is extracted for a relatively smaller amount of electric current than is the case for a traditional thermiclement. With thermionic effects, there is also the possibility of introducing a vaccom hormer or insulating material between electrodes to reduce heat leaks.

Another exciting area of materials research is along the traditional lines of bulk thermoelectric devices, but in new material systems. The akutteriadites are a new thermoelectric system proposed recently (10). These materials have a complex crystal structure which frustrates heat flow, and can be doped in provide electrical conductivity. Initial measurements of the dimensionless figure of merit in this system have exceeded 1, with values of 1.4 to 1.5 being reported by several groups. Because the skutteriadites family is an explored and fairly extensive, there may exist a skutteriadites thermoelectric material with a sufficiently high figure of merit and adequate thermal and mechanical stability to compete in more large-scale applications.

CRYCIGENIC THERMOELECTRIC REFRIGERATION

At temperatures near absolute zero, the reduction in ambient thermal energy allows quantum-mechanical effects to dontinate the properties of some types of matter, giving rise to extraordinary phenomena. Some metals lose all electrical resistance and fail into the superconducting state (3). The viscosity of liquid helium vanishes, causing at to flow over the sides of a container (3). This superfluidity of liquid helium gives rise to thermodynamic properties, which are exploited in the dilution refrigerator, the most common means of performing experimental work at temperatures between 0.01 and 1 K The low-temperature properties of matter of interest here are related to phonons, the quantum mechanical mannestation of vibrations in the crystalline latter. Phonons are the predominant repository of heat in solids at temperatures more than a few kelvins above absolute zero. Near absolute zero, however, electrons in a metallic solid hold most of the heat, and hence thermal energy. Thus, cooling the electrons in a metal at these low temperatures abault provide an effective means of refrigerating the entire metal

Because it is a vibration or deformation wave in the crystalline lattice, a phonon has a wavelength. At higher temperatures, the predominant wavelength — that of phonons that carry the thermal energy k_0T —is shorter. Near phonon that carry the thermal energy k_0T —is shorter. Near phonon wavelength becomes ≈ 1 long that it barely interacts with electrons in the solid, analogous to the way that broad swells on the sea do not overturn a small heat as do abrupt breakers.

This "decoupling" of the electrons and the phonons in a solid enables the operation of certain devices based upon "ballistic" electron transport (12). It also allows the temperature of the electrons in small devices to be controlled independently of the phonon temperature. This is the basis of the first experimental demonstrations of cryogenic thermoelectric refrigeration. to be discussed in the following

The structure and operation regime of a cryogenic thermoelectric refrigerator are depicted in Fig. 4 (5). In Fig. 4(a), the installic inservoir at the center is cooled by the removal of bot electrons and holes and their deposition in electrodes that reside at the "umbient" temperature, which here may refer to the planon temperature or the true ambient temperature of the medium surrounding the refrigerator structure. Physically, such a refrigerator would probably be comprised of thin metal films or semiconductor layers on a substrate: the diagram of Fig. 4(a) shows electron energies, rather than physical structure.

In this light, the vertical position of an electron in Fig. 4.a) corresponds to its energy. The "Sea" of electrons in the various structures corresponds to the Fermi sea of electrons in a metal. It is at the surface E_F of this Fermi sea that thermal excitations—in the form of thermally excited electrons and hales—are contained. Thus, it can be seen that a hole below the "sea level" of E_F carries the same amount of thermal energy as an electron excited an equal amount above E_F . If this Fermi sea of electrons is at temperature T, the average excitation energy of its electrons and holes from E_F is roughly $k_0 T (A)$. In addition, we use the term "hole" hereafter to refer to a variant electronic state in a metal, which is none general than the definition used for *a*-type semiconductor material (3). This nomenclature simphiles the understanding of a thermoelectric device.

The veltage differences between different pieces of metal, such as the electrodes and the reservoir of Fig. 4(a), are reflected in differences between their Fermi levels. By applying a voltage to this structure, an electric current flows. The structures marked "electron tunneling channel" and "hole tunneling channel" will be explained in more detail in what follows, but the besit idea is the following. Because the temperature of an electron sea is defined by the energies to which electrons and holes are excited from the Fermi levels, removing the excited electrons and holes should not the remaining electrons. The alternative to this selective process is to allow both electrons and holes to move arbitrarily through both interfaces, resulting in a loss of control over the direction of heat flow. The preferential



Figure 4. (a. Energy-level diagram and the temperature regime of operation of a cryogenic thermoelectric refrigerator. Reproduced from Ref. 5.

control over the direction of heat flow during electrical transpart is the basis of thermaelectric refrigeration

Thus, for the moelectric refrigeration to be possible, it is required to preferentially remove excited charge carriers from near the Fermi level. The conventional way of doing this is to use a negative thermoelement, which carries thermally excited electrics away from the reservoir, and a positive thermoelement that removes thermally excited holes. The terms "negative" and "positive" arise from the sign of the charge carriers Another interpretation of these terms is that, for a positive thermoelement, heat and electric current flow in the same direction, whereas the opposite is true for a negative thermoelement.

As was mentioned in the foregoing, an important difference between the thermal properties of matter at monitomperature and cryogenic temperatures is the fact that the electrons hold most of the heat within 1 K of absolute zero. Combined with the fact that electrons and phonons and other degrees of freedom of a metal tend to doesniple at cryogenic temperatures, this gives rise to some exotic passibilities for thermoelectric refrigeration. Figure 4thit shows a diagram of the ambient temperature T vercus the electronic temperature T, for a "generic" thermoelectric refrigerator as shown to Fig. 4.4.5, in which we assume that the electrons are cooled independently of the phonons. There are several temperature regimes of interest.

In the opper left-balf of the \sqrt{T} , $T_{\rm el}$ diagram of Fig. 4(σ_0) the electronic temperature exceeds the ambient; thus this region is not of interest in a discussion of refrigeration. In the lower

right-half, the electrons are conler than the ambient, and there are situations one can image. First, if the ambient temperature T is too high, the electrons will absorb more energy from phonons than can be removed by the electron and hole tunneling channels, and hence the electrons will be heated. This situation is depicted for the bashed region in the lower right corner of the diagram.

The unhashed area to the center of the $\langle T, T_z
angle$ diagram of Fig. 4(b) is thus the region in which the refrigezator is operational. In this region, there are several additional types of behavior, which come into play according to the rate at which the electrons can "thermalize," in other words, refi)! states emptied by the electron and hole tunneling channels. In regime (i), the electron distribution g(E) [shown as a function of electron energy & on the right-band side of Fig. 4(b)], is continuous, and has a form expected for the thermally excited electron distribation near the Fermi level (S). However, as the temperature decreases (mgime (j)), the but electrons and bales are removed. at a rate approaching that at which the electrons scatter among themselves to amouth their energy distribution. Frually, at the lowest temperatures (regime tint), the basis of energy that are abgred with the electron and hole tunneling channels will be fully saturated by the cooling process. In essence, the electrons are not only decoupled from the phonons, but from each other, as far as the refrigeration process is concerned; and individual sets of energy states may be scientizely cooled even when "hot" electrons and holes exist at other energies.

Figure 40bl describes the case when the electrons and phonons are decoupled. To apply such a refrigerator, the "metallic reservoir to be coaled" would have to be able to exchange electrons with any heat lead, which requires integral design and fabrication. Cryogenic thermoelectric cooling would be most useful when the electrons and phonons are coupled and the coubling power is strong enough to achieve bulk cooling. In the following, we will show two examples of cryogenic thermoelectric refrigerators and illustrate the temperature regime over which these limits apply.

THERMOELECTRIC REFRICERATION USING QUANTUM-SCALE DEVICES

The promising nature of cryogenic thermoelectric refrigeration was suggested in 1993 (4), when it was proposed that quantum duts be used as thermicelements. Although this quantum dut refrigerator has not yet been realized in practice, it is a good example because its efficiency can be shown to approach the Carnot hint (5). Figure 5(a) shows the physical structure and Fig. 5 to shows the energy-level diagram of one such quantumdue thermicelectric refrigerator. The individual electronic states of the quantum dots are separated by Δ , and each is lifetimebroadened by s. These are the only important properties of quantum dots for this device—the quantum dats may actually be larger of smaller than the reservoir *R* to be could, depending upon the material system and the temperature range of interest (6).

A quantum dot is a piece of metal so small that the individbal quantum states, which electrons occupy, are separated by an energy comparable to or in excess of the thermol energy $k_{\rm B}T$. In Fig. 5(b), the individual quantum states in the quantum dots are denoted by horizontal lines. One property of such states is that electrons and holes may travel through them from states aligned in energy with them, in a process called resonant lumneling. Thus, if a quantum state of a quantum dot is aligned in energy with the thermally excited electrons above the Fermi sea in R, the electron may undergomesonant tunneling to be removed from R and deposited in the electrode, where its excess energy is dissipated as heat. A similar process occurs for holes resonantly tunneling through the other electrode.

The net effect of these processes is the cooling of R as thermally excited electrons and hales are removed in addition, it can be seen that electric current passes from left to right. Thus, this structure is a Peltier refrigerator with the left-band quantum dot serving as the negative thermoelement and the righthand quantum dot serving as the positive thermoelement. Now, of course, one might wonder under what circomstances such a device produces a significant cooling effect

Most quantum-dot studies have taken place at an below 1 K. although quantum-dot devices have been demonstrated to work at monitormierature as well (13). At 1 K, k_BT is 8.6 × 10 ° eV or 1.6 × 10 ° J. This is the amount of heat one could expect to remove from a piece of metal at 1 K by removing a typical electron that is thermally excited above the Fermi level. Resonant-tunneling through quantum dots typically produces electric currents in the range of 10 ° A, which is equivalent to the passage of 5 × 10³⁹ electroneys. Thus, a cooling power of 5 × 10⁻¹¹ W could be extincted by such a device. Compared to a 100 W light bulb, this seems minuscule. However, the heats exchanged at 1 K are in the process trange, and electrons hold most of the basit at 1 K and below - there simply is not much heat to be spread around so near absolute zero.

The models of Ref. 5 indicate that a quantum-int therinnelectric refrigerator could cool a micrometer-sized metable reservoir of electrons in the 1 K regime; here, such a small collection of electrons is not strongly coupled to the crystal lattice and hence is not heated by the absorption of phonons. Thus, quantum-effect thermiselectric refrigeration might be a viable means of cooling microelectronic components that rely upon sub-2 K material properties (e.g., superconductivity or ballistic



Figure 5. (a) Schematic of the physical structure and (b) energy-level disgrams of a quantum-dot thermoelectric refrigerator. The quantum dots act as thermoelecoents romoving but electrons and balas from the reservoir K by resonant turneling. This cools the remation gelectrons in R. Reproduced from Ref. 5.

transport) in which a temperature difference between electrons and phonons is acceptable.

As it turns out, a thermoelectric refrigerator with quantum dots as thermoelements may be capable of bulk cooling at temperatures a thousand times lower (1 mK) as below (5). Due to the fine scale of the energy levels of quantum dots, this might be an effective means of microkelvin or narokelvin cooling of metals. Such refrigerators have not been tested, however, thus their true performance is an open question. However, the thermoelectric transport properties of various quantum structures have been measured and found to be consistent with the assumptions of the theoretical simulations of Ref. 5. The greatest experimental chall-inge in the realization of a quantum-dot thermoelectric refrigorator remains the accurate measurement of the temperature of the electrons in R.

THERMOELECTRIC REFRIGERATION USING A SUPFROONDUCTING TUNNEL JUNCTION

Although resonant turneling through a single quantum, state is simple to model and may be capable of refrigeration near the Carnot limit, there are other low-temperature phenomenia which may be exploited on the lab to perform refrigeration. One such system is a tunneling junction between a superconducting metal and one in the "normal" state. A normal-insulating-superconductor (NIS) refrigerator was demonstrated (7) shortly after cryogenic thermoelectric refrigeration was originally proposed (4).

The NIS refrigerator is depicted in Fig. 6. In a superconducting netal, electrons form into pairs, which in turn malescentro the superconducting madematic, a macroscopic quantum state of matter from which an energy of 2Δ is required to excite them (3). When the required energy has been applied to an electron or hole, a subtle excitation called a quasi-particle is firmed. This is represented in un energy-band diagram in Fig. 6(b) as a "forbidden gap" of 2Δ about the Fermi energy. Because paired electrons in the superconducting condensate have a lower energy than quasi-particles, one can say that quasi-particles carry heat.

In the MIS structure, refrigeration is accomplished by transpart of thermally excited electrons above the Fermi level in Rinto quasi-particle states in the superconductor (in Fig. 6(b). the aluminum electrode serves this purpose). Quasi-particles are transported through the Al electrode to be deposited (along with the beat they carry (in a heatsink (not shown in the figure). Thus, heat is removed from R to the "external" world through the quasi-particle states and R is cooled by the "negative theirmoelement" Al electrode. In this experiment (7), a lead counterelectrode with a thin, high-conductance tunneling barrier 'to maintain Fermi-level alignment) was used to inject electrons at the Fermi level. However, a second aluminum electrode jdentical to the one shown could be used in its place to extract thermailly excited holes into hole-quasi-particle states, in a configuration analogous to the other thermoelectric refrigerators discussed in this article. In this case, the second aluminum electrode would be the positive thermoelement.

Because tunneling junctions between metal thin films may have a macroscopic surface area, the current and hence the cooling power of such a device may be scaled to larger values than the quantum dot thermoelectric refingerator discussed in the foregoing. A measurable temperature reduction of 10 mK below 100 mK was demonstrated in an initial experiment (7) An extra NIS tunneling junction (not shown) was used as a thermocouple to measure electron temperature. In this experiment, the metal (hir, films comprising the refrigerator were deposited on a balk substrate, and were patterned on the micron scale; thus it was assumed that the electrons were cooled but the phonons remained at 100 mK, due to the incompling of electron and phonon degrees of freedom in small, cold metals

More recently, cooling from 300 to 100 mK was achieved by an improved NIS refrigerator (8). This device was followed on a memorane las depicted in Fig. $6 a^{-1}$. Thus, there was not a strong thermal coupling to the antibient-temperature substrate, and the crystal lattice in the metal fibres comprising the refrigerator would be cooled along with the electrons, thereby reducing the heat look due to phonon absorption. The feasibility of this experiment was theoretically predicted in Ref. (5). These devices are being developed to cool advanced radiation detectors for use in astronomy, but any electronic device that must operate at temperatures below 1 K could benefit from this type of refrigerator.

The significance of this result is that thermoelectric cooling has been achieved in which the kelvin temperature was reduced by a factor of 3. To accomplish this with a bulk material, the figure of merit would have to be in the range of ZT = 2 to 4.



Figure 6. (a) Schematic and (b) energy level diagram of the normalinsulator superconductor (NIS) thermoelectric sefficient of Hor electrons and boles in the Curreservoir R tunnel into quasi-particle states in the Al superconducting thermoelement, cooling R. The Pb contact electrode is used to inject charge into R, but has no net heating or cooling effect. The structure is shown fabricated on a schema hitrade membrane to minimize the heat leak due to substrate thermal conduction Heproduced from Ref. 5.

(1,2) Thus, previous speculations (1,2) that ZT = 1 representate fundamental limit of physics may now be laid to rest.

PROSPECTS AND APPLICATIONS FOR CRYOGENIC THERMOELECTRIC REFRIGERATION

The success of the NIS refrigerator andicates the promise that thermoelectric refrigeration holds for the sub-1 K regime. Any material interface or device structure, which conducts electric current but has a angoificant energy degendence, should be capable of thermoelectric refrigeration at some temperature scale (5). Une particularly interesting material system is the DI/V semiconductors, which may be formed into heterostructures with custom-tacher-i energy hand structures and high carrier mobilities. These structures have been used for power devices, and thus can carry large electric currents, and various structures could be envisioned that would produce a significant conling effect.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Widespread application of thermoelectric energy conversion remains a goal of materials science. While certain niche applications support a healthy, small Peliter-coler industry, thermoelectric energy conversion will not compare remunically with conventional methods until inexpensive, mbost materials with a higher figure of merit are available. However, a good thermoelectric material would be very useful. For instance, as highperformance microelectronics continues to pack more transitors on achip, heat loads are expected to exceed 100 Win several generations (14). This will require some form of direct cooling, and an efficient, low-cost their moelectric alternative is altractive compared to water cooling, which may be hard to maintain reliably in a consumer end product.

One observation that leads to cantions optimism is that the present commercially available thermoelectric systems are based upon decades off materials science developments. Many advances in computational materials modeling, materials synthesis (such as molecular-beam epitaxy), and materials characterization (such as high-resolution (maission electron microscopy and aranning-prohe microscopy) have occurred in the meantime, enabling the exploration of complex material systems such as the high-temperature superconductors and colassal magnetoresistive materials. The skutter utiles discussed in this article are an example of the fruits of mixlern materials science. As further complex material systems are explored, the right combination of low thermal conductivity, high electrical conductivity, and large thermopower may yet be found in an inexpensive, robust material.

New device concepts in thermoelectric conversion may overcome some traditional barriers as well. For instance, by using thermionic effects instead of reversible thermoelectric effects (6), enhanced efficiency might be achieved by high energy barriers and a departure from the traditional linear-response regime of thermoelectric behavior. Therefore, the cooling or power generation process would be far more efficient than would be expected from examination of the material figure of merit.

Cryogenic thermoelectric refrigeration represents a research frontier and, accordingly, applications are still in the research phase. However, although commercial applications remain distant, cryogenic thermoelectric refrigeration may provide an enabling technology for scientific work such as the mK-range radiation detector used in astronomy as discussed in this article. And, of course, if sufficient advantages are realaxial by oryogenic thermoelectric refrigeration, it may give rate to new commercial applications. For instance, liquid nitrogen is used to coal components in cellular-telephone base stations. If a thermoelectric refrigerator could be used to coal from 77 K to tower temperatures, new classes of electrical components could be utilized in widespread applications such as this.

With even greater extrapolation, one could imagine a cascoded series of thermoslectric refrigerators, for which the "hot side" is at room temperature and the "cold sale" is at a cryogenic temperature. An example of an application where such a device might receive widespread commercial application in the future is in quantum computers, which should be capable of massively parallel computations but may have to be kept cold to preserve quantum phase coherence.

Gryogene thermoelectric refrigeration may also lead to unexpected scientific discoveries; for instance, it is not known whether there exists a class of metals incapable of supporting μ superconducting state or if all metals will go superconducting at a low enough temperature. At present, experiments have only been conducted to the range of 10⁻⁵ K (15). Direct thermoelectric cooling may be able to cool metals further, perhaps answering this fundamental question in our understanding of the electronic structure of matter. Perhaps the most fundamental contribution of this field so far is that ZT = 1 is not a universal physical binit, and that there may still be a highly efficient thermoelectric material system waiting to be discovered.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge aseful technical discussions with John Martinis (NIST, Boolder), Michael Nabum (Harvard University), and Paul Warburton (Kings College).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- R. B. Heckes and R. W. Uro, Jr., Thermoschedencity: Science and Engencering, New York, Interscience Publishers, 1961.
- H. J. Goldsmid, Thermoelectric Hefrigeration, New York, Plenten, 1964.
- N.W. Ashmodt and N. D. Mermin, Solul State Physics, Philadelphu: Saundes College, 1976
- H. L. Edwards, Q. Niu, and A. L. de Locanne, A quantum-dm refragmenter Appl. Phys. Lett., 03 (13): 1615–1817, 27, 1993.
- H. L. Edwards et al., Crysgenic cooling using tunneling structures with sharp energy features, *Physical Rev. B*, 52 (8): 5714–5736, 1995
- R. A. Shukeuri and J. E. Bowers, Helenstructure integrated thermionic coolers, Appl. Phys. Lett., 71 (9) 1234-1236, 1997.
- M. Naham, T.M. Beles, and J.M. Mortinis, Electronic microrefriger ator based on a normal insulator-superconductor to one', proceed, *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 66 (24), 1123–3125, 1994.

- M. M. Laivo, J. P. Poko'n, and D. V. Averin, Efficient Pellier refrigeration by a pair of netrol metal, metalsor, imperconductor punctions, Appl. Phys. Lett., 68 (14): 1996–1998, 1996
- P. J. Lat. Chung and T. L. Rennstke, Thermoelectric figure of month of compacts superlattice systems, *Physical Rev.* B, 61 (19): 13244– 15243, 1905; J. O. Solo and G. D. Matan, Thermoelectric figure of merit of superlattices. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 65 (21): 2690-2692, 1994; L. D. Elicks, T. C. Harmon, X. Sun, and M. S. Dresselhaus, Experimental study of the effect of quantum well structures on the thermoelectric figure of merit, *Physical Rev.* B, 53 (16): R10193-R50496, 1996; L. D. Hicks and M. S. Dresselhaus, Effect of quantum-well structures on the thermoelectric figure of merit, *Physical Rev.* B, 47: 12927, 1968.
- B. C. Sules, D. Mutudrus, and H. K. Wilhuma. Filled Skudderite antimonides: A new class of thermoelectric motorials, *Science*, 272: 1325–1326, 1996.
- A. Y. Chu and J. R. Arthur, Molecolar beam epitaxy, Progress in Solid State Chemistry, 10: 157, 1973.
- 12 H. Ehrenreich and D. Turnbull (eds.), Solid State Physics, 44, Semiconductor, Betwardeneys and Nanostenetures, New York, Acadence Press, 1901; Suprior Datta, Electronic Transport in Mesoscopic Systems (Cambridge Scudies in Semironductor Physics and Microelectronic Engineering, D, Cambridge, Combridge, University Press, 1947.
- M. A. Beed et al., Observation of discrete electronic states in a zerodimensional semiconductor converticutore. *Physical Rev. Lett.*, 60 (4): 535–537, 1958.
- 14 The National Technology Regionary for Semiconductors, to be publicated by the Semiconductor Industry Association, Son Jose, CA.
- Frank Pubell, Solid state physics at microkelvin temperatures: is anything left to learn, Phys. Terlag. 48 (1): 34-40, 1990.

Reading List

- R. R. Heikes and Roland W. Use, 37, Phenometerrouty, Science and Engineering, New York: Interscience Publishers, 1965
- H. J. Goldsmid, Thermoelectric Refrigeration, New York: Plenam, 1964
- N. W. Asherofi, and N. D. Mermin, Solid State Physics, Philadelphia: Saundes College, 1976
- H. L. Edwards et al., Cryogenic cooling using to one ting ethnologies with sharp energy leatures, *Physical Rev.* B, 52 (9): 5714–5736, 1995.
- H. Ehrenreich and D. Furnbull, eds., Solid State Physics, 44: Semicondistar Henrostruciums and Nanostructures, New York: Academic Press, 1991.
- C. Wu, A Silent Cool, Science Network 162 (10): 152–153, September 6 1997.
- C. Wood. Materials for thermaelectric energy curversion, Rep. Prog. Phys. 1514 April 1948.
- L. Kouwenhoven, Coupled quantum data as artificial maintain Science, 268: 1440, 1995.
- A. Wushizumi, A superconducting siphon, Nature, 373: 106, 1995.

HAL EDWARDS Texns Instruments, Inc. QIAN NIU ALEX de LOZANNE The University of Texas at Ansuin

INDEX

metallurgy, 188-190 Abrikosov theory, type I and II superconductors, repulsion between vortices, 183-184 Abrikosov vortex lattice, high-temperature superconductor magnetic properties, 261--262 Absorption parameters, capacitor energy storage, 333-334 Accelerating field measurements, superconducting cavity resonators, 529Ac losses, hysteresis in superconductors, theoretical background, 138 Ac magnetic field, magnetic resonance and, 59 - 61Active magnetic bearings (AMBs), magnetic levitation in. 28-29 Active microwave circuits: analog-to-digital converters, 161 detectors and mixers, 161 future applications, 161-162 precision voltage and frequency sources, 161 properties of, 159-160 superconducting digital logic circuits, 160-161 theoretical background, 152-153 Active semiconductor sensors, temperature measurement, 609 Adiabatic conservation, charged-particle motion, magnetic flux, 16 Adiabatic demagnetization refrigerators (ADR): components of, 54-55 historical background, 55 properties of, 53-54 refrigerant construction (salt pill), 56 temperature regulation, 57-58 Adiabatic (potted) magnets, superconducting magnet quenching propagation, 77--78 Adiabatic protection criterion: electromagnetic superconductors, 111 superconducting magnet quenching detection, 76-77

A-15 superconductors. See also B-Tungsten

superconductors

Adiabatic stability: electromagnetic superconductors, 110 flux jump stabilization, 319-320 Air capacitors, properties of, 336 Alnico, hard (permanent) magnets, 39 Alternating current (ac) circuit: capacitor energy storage, 335 magnetic flux, 13–15 rotating magnetic field, 14 sinusoidally wound stators, 14-15 superconductor performance, 21-22 voltage induction, 13-14 magnetic levitation, 24 super-conducting quantum interference device (SQUID) for, susceptibility assessment, 525 Alternating current (ac) Josephson effect: defined, 117 high-temperature superconductors, properties of, 250-251 international volt standard, 118 tunneling devices, 164-166 Alternating current (ac) loss: µSMES (superconducting magnetic energy storage) device, excess storage costs vs., 515-516 superconducting transformer design, 599-600 superconductor metallurgy, critical current density (J_c) , 196 Aluminum conduits, cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 233 Alzheimer's disease, diagnostic imaging, 354-355 Ambient pressure of oxygen (APO), YBCO superconductors, metal-doping effects, 270-271 Ammeter, super-conducting quantum interference device (SQUID) as, 523-524 Amorphous magnetic materials, sensing properties, 447-448 Ampère-Laplace law, bioelectromagnetic field calculations, 468 Ampere's law, critical current density, magnetic flux line lattice, 95-97 Ampere turns, thin detector solenoid design, 414-416

gyrotron technology, 399 pyroelectric IR detectors, noise, 431 Amplitude of magnetization, hysteresis loss, filament diameter, 141 Analog-to-ditigal converter (ADC): active microwave circuits, 161 Josephson junction, tunneling devices, 169-170 Josephson junctions, 119 rapid single-flux-quantum (RFSQ) logic: advanced applications, 135-136 theoretical background, 121-122 Andreev reflection, Peltier refrigeration, 504-506 Angiography: brain imaging, 354 cardiac angiography, 357-358 Angular momentum, electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR), 62 Anisotropic magnetoresistance effect (AMR), read recording heads, 38-39 Anisotropy: ferromagnetic materials, 31–32 high-temperature superconductors, 263 - 264constituents in, 281 hysteresis loss, 140-141 Anomalous energy diffusion, Tokamak fusion reactor, 388 Antenna, passive microwave circuits, 158 - 159Antiferromagnetism, principles, 34 APC process, ductile alloys: characteristics of, 304-305 research background, 295-296 Arc-free current interrupter, superconducting magnet quenching, coil protection circuits, 67 Arrhenius factor, flux creep and FLL melting, 105-106 Auditory evoked fields, magnetic source imaging (MSI), 471-472 Austenitic steel, cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 232-233 Axial gradometers, neuromagnetic fields, 466

Amplifiers:

Azimuthal magnetization: hysteresis loss, transport currents, 143 superconducting magnetics, coil size mismatch, 585 Azimuthal precompression, superconducting magnetics, 588 Bandpass filters, high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), microwave technology, 557-560 Bardeen-Cooper-Schreiffer (BCS) theory: critical current density, 94 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), 260Josephson junctions, 248-249 low-temperature superconductors (LTSs), 260microwave technology materials, 153 origins of superconductivity, 3-4 Peltier refrigeration, 504-506 superconducting electronics development, 117 type I and II superconductors: Cooper pairing, 181 pair-pair correlations, 181-182 phase locking, 182 physical characteristics, 180-181 Barium ferrite, hard (permanent) magnets, 39 Barium strontium titante pyroelectric detectors: ferroelectric materials, microwave technology, 491-492 properties of, 432 Barkhausen effect: Barkhausen jump statistics, 49-50 domain wall-defect interaction, 44-47 equilibrium magnetization distribution, 44 experimental techniques, 50 flux pinning and losses in superconductors, 51-52 irreversible magnetization, 47-48 nondestructive testing, 50-51 principles of, 41-43 stress effects, 48 temperature dependence, 48-49 Barkhausen jump: defined, 48-49 domain wall motion, 43 statistics of, 48-49 Barkhausen noise: defined, 41 stress effects, 48 temperature dependence, 48-49 Barriers, superconductor metallurgy, 195 - 200cabling degradation, 197 stress and strain, 197-200 Batch-type magnetic separator, properties of, 453-454 Bead thermistors, semiconductor temperature sensors, 608 Beam compression, gyrotron systems, 397 Beam tunnel, gyrotron systems, 397-398 Bean critical state model: bulk superconductor structural characterization, 267

critical current density, critical state magnetization, 103-105 hysteresis loss: accuracy of, 144 dc magnetization curve, 139 superconducting levitation, 566 Bean-London model, Barkhausen effect, flux pinning and losses in superconductors, 52 Belted cables, energy storage capacitors, 338 Bending magnets, particle accelerators: coordinate system definitions, 577 normal dipole magnet, 577 normal quadripole magnet, 577-578 Beta decay, tritium fuel, 378 Biaxial texturing, high-temperature superconductors, wire and tape applications, 277 Bicrystal grain boundary junctions, hightemperature superconductors, 251 - 252Bicrystal substrates, Josephson junctions, tunneling devices, SQUID applications, 168-169 Biepitaxial grain boundary junctions, hightemperature superconductors (HTSs), 252**Bioelectromagnetic studies:** bioelectric vs. biomagnetic signals, 470-471 magnetic source imaging (MSI): cellular sources, 467 electromagnetic calculations, 468 myocardium, 467-468 neurons, 467 numerical approaches, 468-469 primary current, 467 quasi-static approximation, 467 regularization and constraints, 470 superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) for, 526-527 Biopsy, breast cancer diagnostic imaging, 356-357 Biot-Savart law, electromagnetic superconductors, winding topology, 112 Bismuth high-temperature superconductors (HTSs): constituents in, 280-281 properties of, 110 structural properties, 284-285 substituents in, 293-294 thermoelectric refrigeration, 626-627 Bismuth strontium calcium copper oxide (BSCCO) superconductor: cryogenic stabilization, 206 Josephson junctions, high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), 249 structural properties, 263 transformer design, 597-599 Black body, radiation thermometry, 617 Bloch equations, magnetic resonance, 61 diagnostic imaging, 349-350 Bohr magneton, magnetic resonance, 60-61 BOLD (blood oxygen level dependent) process, functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), 350-351

Bolometric detection: frequency converters and mixers, 372 hot electron bolometer mixer, 374-375 infrared radiation detector, 619 superconducting electronics and, 117 uncooled infrared detector arrays, 424-430 operating principles, 424-426 vanadium oxide microbolometer arrays, 424-426 YBaCuO microbolometer arrays, 428-430 Boltzmann constant: direct current (dc) super-conducting quantum interference device (dc SOUID), 519 Peltier effect, 500 Bone tumors, diagnostic imaging, 361 Bootstrap current, Tokamak fusion reactor, 388 plasma heating, 390-391 Boulders, high-temperature superconductors, thin film development, 245 Boundary-element method (BEM), bioelectromagnetic field calculations, 468-469 Boundary-induced coupling currents (BICCs), coupling loss, 147 Boundary layers, cable-in-conduit conductor stability: supercritical helium, 309 transient heat transfer, 315-316 Braided bundles, cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 230-232 Brain imaging: magnetic source imaging (MSI): auditory evoked fields, 471-472 cortical rhythms and reactivity, 472-473 elliptic foci, 473 principles and techniques, 353-355 angiography, 354 cerebrovascular disease, 353 demyelinating disorders, 355 neurodegenerative disease, 354-355 tumors, 354 Brandt model, flux line lattice, summation theory, 100 Breast cancer, diagnostic imaging, 356-357 Bridge circuits, temperature sensor resistance, 610-611 Brittleness: β-tungsten superconductor metallurgy, 189 - 190type II superconductors, cryogenic stabilization, 206 Bronze manufacturing process, β-tungsten superconductors, 191 Bronze superconductors, properties of, 194 - 195Bubble memory, intermediate (soft/hard) magnetic materials for, 40 Bulk flux pinning, critical current density, 102Bulk silicon sensors, semiconductor temperature sensors, 608 Bulk superconductors: applications, 277-279 magnetic properties, 267

TBCCO 2212 superconductors, 268-269 Tl 1223 superconductors, 269-270 YBCO (123) superconductors, 267-268 metal-doping effects, 270-271 processing techniques, 264-266 TBCCO2212 and 1223 superconductors, 265 - 266YBaCuO 123 conductors, 265 YBCO 123 bulk conductors, 265 structural properties, 266-267 TBCCO 2212 superconductors, 268-269 Tl 1223 superconductors, 269-270 Bulk thermoelectric devices, thermoelectric conversion, 628 Cable-in-conduit conductors (CICC): comparison with other systems, 238 coupling current loss: interstrand resistance, 148-149 transport currents, 147 electromagnetic superconductors, 109 forced flow design, 228-238 aluminum-based conduits, 233 braided bundles, 230-232 chromium electroplating, 229 coextrusion jacketing, 237-238 conduit materials, 232-233 double conduit jacketing, 238 historical background, 308 incoloy 908 conduit, 233 jacketing methods, 233-238 laser beam welding, 237 pullthrough jacketing, 235-237 stability calculations, 312-313 strand bundling, 229-230 strand coating, 228-229 supercritical helium stability margin, 308-311 superfluid helium stability margin, 311 - 312tube mill jacketing, 234-235 superconducting magnet quenching detection, advanced voltage sensors, 72 - 75superconducting magnet quenching propagation, 78-82 helium breakdown, 82-83 long coil solutions, 80-81 Shajii quench theory, 79 short coil solutions, 80 thermal-hyraulic quenchback (THQB), 81-82 time-dependent normal zone, 79 universal scaling regimes, 81 whole coil normal, 78-79 Cabling degradation, superconductor metallurgy, 197 Cabling techniques: ductile superconductor metallurgy, 304 energy storage capacitors, 338 Cadmium electroplating, cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 229 Cadmium zinc telluride (CZT), digital x-ray systems and radiology, 347 Capacitance: capacitor energy storage theory, 332

rapid single-flux quantum (RFSQ) logic, 133 - 134Capacitor energy storage: applications, 342-344 intermediate storage, 343 pulse power units, 343-344 transport applications, 342-343 capacitor classification, 336-337 electrical power supply systems, 330-331 power capacitors, 338-339 supercapacitors, 339-342 equivalent circuits, 341 integration process, 341-342 principles of, 340-341 theoretical background: connection configuration, 334-335 dielectric material properties, 332-334 fundamental relationships, 331-332 intrinsic energy storage, 337-338 voltage, charge, and current configuration, 335-336 Cardiac imaging, 357-358 coronary angiography, 357-358 coronary artery calcification detection, 358 magnetic source imaging (MSI): distributed source reconstruction, 475 evoked fields, 475 ventricular preexcitation, 473-474 ventricular tachycardia, 474-475 Carnot cycle: Peltier refrigeration, 501-502 superconducting cavity resonators, refrigerator requirements, 531-532 temperature sensors, 602-603 thermoelectric power generation, 627 thermoelectric refrigeration, 626-627 Carousel electromagnets, separation properties, 458 Casting process, electromagnetic levitation, 27Cathode-ray tubes, soft magnetic shields, 39 Cationic compounds, high-temperature superconductors (HTS), structural properties, 282 CBEMA curve, power quality data, 507-509 Cellular structure, magnetic source imaging (MSI), 467 Celsius scale, temperature sensors, 602-603 Ceramic materials: direct-current (dc) super-conducting quantum interference device (dc SQUID), 127-128 energy storage capacitors, 337 high-temperature superconducting (HTS) electronics, 116 Josephson junctions, 249 rapid single-flux quantum (RFSQ) logic circuits, 122-123 superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), 549 Cerebrovascular diseases, brain imaging techniques, 353-354 Charged coupled devices (CCDs), digital xray systems and radiology, 347 Charged-particle motion, magnetic flux, 15 - 16

Chebyshev filter, passive microwave circuits, 157 - 158Chemical process, magnetic separator equipment, 460 Chest radiology, 355-356 lung cancer, 355 pulmonary embolism, 355-356 Chevrel-phase superconductors, chemical composition, 187 "Chirp" filters, passive microwave circuits, frequency agile devices, 158 Circuit assembly, gyrotron systems, 398 Circuit integration, Josephson junctions, 255 - 257fabrication issues, 255-256 groundplanes, 256-257 multilayer circuit requirements, 255 Circular iron yoke current-line distribution, superconducting magnetics, 581 Closed cycle refrigeration, superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID), 522 Closed field cycle, hysteresis loss, filament diameter, 141 Closed-loop Hall effect current transducer, technology of, 406-407 Closed magnetic field line confinement device, nuclear reactors, 385 Coal purification, magnetic separator equipment, 462 Coefficient of friction (COF), superconducting levitation, 566-567 Coercive field, ferromagnetic materials, 31, 33 Coextrusion jacketing method, cable-inconduit coil (CICC) systems, 237-238 Coherence length: critical current density (J_{c}) : flux pinning, 98-99 properties, 92 high-temperature superconductors, 281 Josephson junctions, microbridges, 255 microwave technology materials, 153 superconductivity research. 3 type II superconductivity, magnetic flux, 20 - 21Coil protection circuits: detector magnetics, 416-418 quench back, 417-418 quench protection dump resistor, 416-417 detector solenoid design, connections and leads, 419-420 fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, 569-575 NMR magnets, 487-488 superconducting magnetics, 65-70 cold dump circuits, 68-69 cold dump switches, 69-70 dump resistors, 67-68 end design, 584, 590 external dump, 65-66 internal dumps, 68 interrupters, 66-67 multiple magnets, external quenching, 68 two-dimensional geometry, 582-584

thin detector solenoid design, 415-416

Cold-worked microstructures: ductile superconductor metallurgy, 300-302 niobium-titanium composite superconductor metallurgy, 297 Collar pole unloading, superconducting magnetics, azimuthal precompression, 588 Collective-pinning model, flux line lattice, summation theory, 100 Collector device, gyrotron technology, 398 Colorectal tumors, diagnostic imaging, 358-359 Colossal magnetoresistance, doubleexchange materials, 36 Compact synchrotrons, design and operation, 543-544 Complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS), digital x-ray systems and radiology, 347 Complementary output switching logic (COSL) gate, super-conducting quantum interference device (SQUID), voltage-state logic circuits, 129-131 Composite assembly, ductile superconductor metallurgy: diffusion barriers, 299 stabilizer addition, 298-299 strand geometry and filament spacing, 299-300 Composite dielectric materials, capacitor energy storage, 334 Composite diffusion process, β-tungsten superconductor production, 190 Composite superconductors: cryogenic stabilization, Stekly criterion, 211 - 212technical electromagnetic superconductors, 197 Compositional phase diagram, hightemperature superconductors, thin film development, 242 Compound action fields (CAF), magnetic source imaging (MSI), 475 Computer-assisted tomography (CAT): brain tumor imaging, 354 X-ray transmission computed tomography (X-ray CT), 346-347 Conduction currents, capacitor energy storage, 334 Conduit materials, cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 232-233 Confinement technology: fusion reactors, 380-381 dc electric fields, 380 gravitational fields, 380 inertial confinement, 380 magnetic field confinement, 380-381 RF electromagnetic fields, 380 tokamak fusion reactor: anomalous díffusion, 388 enhanced confinement, 388 enhanced reverse shear mode, 389 particle collisions, 388 plasma confinement system, 387-388 Constant electric field criterion, critical current density, resistive measurement, 93-94

Constant resistivity criterion, critical current density, resistive measurement, 93-94 Contact potential, thermoelectric refrigeration, 625-627 Contact resistance, quantum Hall effect, 404 Continuous electron beam accelerator facility (CEBAF), passive microwave circuit resonators, 157 Continuous-type magnetic separator. properties of, 456-457 Continuous wave operation, superconducting cavity resonators, 528-529 Contrast agents, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 350 Control electronics, direct-current (dc) superconducting quantum interference device (dc SQUID), 518-519 Conversion loss, frequency converters and mixers, 366 Schottky diode mixers, 369 Cooper pairing: active microwave circuits, 159-160 frequency conversion and mixing, superconductor-insulatorsuperconductor (SIS) components, 373--374 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs): microstructures, 287 substituents in, 287-288 Josephson junction, 123-125 metal-insulator-metal (MIM) tunneling, 164 principles of, 248-249 proximity effect, 257-258 passive microwave circuits, transmission lines, 156 Peltier refrigeration, 504-506 superconducting cavity resonators: radio frequency (RF) superconductivity, 529-530 thermal breakdown, 537-538 type I and II superconductors: BCS theory, 181 low-temperature alloys, 179-180 repulsion between vortices, 183-184 Coplanar strip, ferroelectric materials, 493 Coplanar waveguide, ferroelectric materials, 493 Copper materials: flux jump stabilization, 318 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs): La-(Ba,Sr,Ca)-Cu-O and Nd(Ce)-CuO compounds, 282-283 structural properties, 262-263 pipes, flat cable soldering, strand soldering techniques, 223-224 YBCO superconductor substituents, 290 - 291Core interaction, critical current density (J_c) , flux pinning, 98-99 Coronary artery calcification, diagnostic imaging, 358 Cortical rhythms, magnetic source imaging (MSI), 472-473 Cost optimization: fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, 575-576

superconducting transformer design, 600 Coulomb barrier: fusion reactors, 376 Hall effect transducers, 402-403 Counterpulsed circuits, superconducting magnet quenching: external dump circuits, 66 interruption switches, 67 Coupling current losses in superconductors: hysteresis and: anisotropy and variable angle orientation, 140-141 current loss, 144-150 dc magnetization curve, 138-139 dc transport current, 142-143 estimation accuracy, 144, 150 filament diameter, 141 flat cable coupling loss, 147 formulas for, 139-140 interstrand resistance, CICCs, 149 niobium-tin strands, 149 niobium-titanium strands, 149 saturation of coupling current, 146 self-field loss, 143-144 spatially charged magnetic field, 147 - 148steady state coupling loss, 145 target interstrand resistance, CICCs, 149-150 theoretical background, 138 transient coupling loss, 145-146 transport current couplin loss, 146-147 zero field crossing, 141-142 superconducting magnetics, 586-587 Cowound sensors, superconducting magnet quenching detection, advanced voltage sensors, 72-75 Critical current (Ic): active microwave circuits, 159 vs. critical current density, 93 cryogenic stabilization, 205-206 hysteresis loss, dc magnetization curve, 139 Josephson junctions: high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), 257 metal-insulator-metal (MIM) tunneling, 164 principles of, 249-250 superconductor metallurgy, stress/strain characteristics, 197-200 Critical current density (J_{a}) : depairing phenomenon, J_c limits, 94 dissipation effects, high current density superconductors, 105-106 flux flow and resistive transition analysis, 105-106 temperature dependence, 105-106 ductile superconductor metallurgy, precipitation heat treatment, 302 flux jump stabilization: small perturbation, 324-326 transport current equations and calculations, 317-318 flux pinning: interactive forces, 97-99 scaling laws, 100-102 summation theory, 99-100

Current leads:

515

uSMES (superconducting magnetic energy

storage) device, excess storage costs,

high-temperature superconductors (HTSs): bulk processing, 264-266 magnetic properties, 261-262 microstructures, 287 processing techniques, 264 hysteresis loss: anisotropy and variable angle orientation, 140-141 dc magnetization curve, 138-139 filament diameter, 141 magnetic flux line lattice, 94-97 magnetization model, 102-105 particle accelerators, superconductor magnetics, niobium-titanium composite superconductor, 579-580 properties of, 91-92 resistive measurement of, 92-94 superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), 546-548 superconducting magnetics, 586 superconductor metallurgy: cabling degradation, 197 stabilization and barriers, 195-200 β-tungsten superconductors, 188-190 YBCO materials: bulk superconductors, 267-268 superconductor substituents, 292-293 Critical energy, synchrotron radiation, 542--543 Critical magnetic field (H_{a}) : critical current density (J_c) , 91–92 magnetic flux line lattice, 94-97 cryogenic stabilization, 205-206 depairing critical current density, 94 flux pinning, scaling laws, 100-102 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), magnetic properties, 261-262 microwave technology materials, 153 superconducting cavity resonators, radio frequency (RF) superconductivity, 529-530 superconductor metallurgy, stress/strain characteristics, 198-200 β-tungsten superconductors, 188-190 type I and II superconductors: low-temperature alloys, 179-180 surface superconductivity, 184-185 Critical stability curve, flux jump stabilization, 324-326 Critical state model, superconducting magnetics, 585-586 Critical temperature (T_{a}) : critical current density (J_c) and, 91-92cryogenic stabilization, 205 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), magnetic properties, 260-262 microwave technology, theoretical background, 152-153 superconductor magnetic cooling, 590 superconductor metallurgy, stress/strain characteristics, 198-200 thallate superconductors, 268-269 tungsten superconductor metallurgy, 188 - 190YBCO bulk superconductors, 267-268 Cross-bar matrices, Josephson junction tunneling devices, 170

Cryogenic cooling: high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), packaging design, 560-562 MRI magnets, 490 µSMES (superconducting magnetic energy storage) device, 513-514 superconducting electronic components, 122-123, 123 superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), 546, 549-550 superconducting transformers, 600 superconductivity research, 3 superconductor magnetics, 591 thermoelectric refrigeration: applications, 631 future research issues, 632 principles of, 628-629 thin detector solenoid, 420-422 Cryogenic current comparator (CCC) bridge, ouantum Hall effect and, 410-411 Cryogenic heat sink, detector solenoid design criteria, 419 Cryogenic stabilization, superconductors: advanced theory and thermal management problems, 215 early magnet applications, 206-207 electromagnetic superconductors, 110-111 protection criterion, 111-112 flux jump stabilization, 321 forced flow superconductors: perturbation spectrum, 307-308 Stekly criterion, 306-307 historical background, 204-206 instability disturbances, 207-208 distributed heat source, 208 flux jumps, 207-208 mechanical disturbances, 208 safety issues, 216-217 techniques for, 208-215 vs. flux-jump stabilization, 208 Maddock-James-Norris equal-area theorem, 212-213 Stekly criterion, 209-212 Wipf minimum propagation zone (MPZ), 213 - 215thermophysical and heat data, 215-216 Crystalline anisotropy, high-temperature superconductors, 263-264 Curie temperature: ferroelectric materials, microwave technology, 491-492 ferromagnetic materials, 31 ferromagnetic resonance (FMR), 63-64 passive microwave circuits, frequency agile devices, 158 Current decay, superconducting particle accelerators: quench protection, 592 quench protection, magnet string, 592-593 Current dipole model, bioelectromagnetic source modeling, 469 Current drive, Tokamak fusion reactors, 390 Current interruption switches, superconducting magnet quenching, coil protection circuits, 66-67

superconductor technology, 329 Current-line distributions, superconducting magnetics, 581-582 Current measurement, super-conducting quantum interference device (SQUID) for, 523-524 Current multipole expansion, bioelectromagnetic source modeling, 469 Current operating margins, superconducting magnetics, 583-584 Current sharing, cryogenic stabilization, Stekly criterion, 209-212 Current shells: flux jump stabilization and thickness of, 322 - 324superconducting magnetics: approximation techniques, 582-583 radial support, 589-590 Current stability, flux jump stabilization, 324 Current-temperature control equation, magnetic refrigeration, 57-58 Current-voltage (I-V) characteristic: active microwave circuits, 161 active semiconductor sensors, 609 critical current density, resistive measurement, 92-94 flux flow, resistive transition analysis, 105 frequency mixing: Schottky diode mixers, 367-370 superconductor-insulatorsuperconductor (SIS) components, 373-374 hot electron bolometer (HEB) mixer, 374-375 Josephson effect, 251 Josephson junctions, 249-250 edge-geometry weak links, 254 step-edge grain boundary junctions, 252 - 253negative resistance diode mixers, 372 Cyclotron resonance maser (CRM) instability, gyrotron technology, 396 Cyclotrons: magnetic confinement fusion, magnetized plasmas, 382 superconducting cyclotrons, theory and principles of, 540-542 Cylinder model, hysteresis loss, accuracy of, 144 Cylindrical void, superconducting magnet quenching, electrical field integrity, 85 Damage-induced Josephson junctions, link configuration, 253 Debye length, magnetic confinement fusion, 381 Degeneracy factor, Peltier coefficient, 500--501 Degradation phenomenon, cryogenic stabilization, early magnet

applications, 206-207

Delay lines: high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), 560passive microwave circuits, 159 Demagnetization factor: Barkhausen effect, 42 magnetic flux and, 9-10 Demonstration poloidal coil (DPC-EX) coil: fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, 573–574 sheathed flat cable manufacturing. 227 - 228Demultiplexer (DEMUX) circuits, rapid single-flux-quantum (RFSQ) logic, advanced applications, 135-136 Demyelinating disorders, diagnostic imaging, 355 Depairing critical current density $(J_{\rm p})$, properties of, 94 Deposition-interlayer Josephson junctions: edge-geometry weak links, 254 planar/in-line junctions, 255 step-edge SNS junctions, 253-254 trilayer-geometry weak links, 254-255 **Detection circuits:** active microwave circuits, 161 Josephson junctions, tunneling devices, 169superconducting magnet quenching detection, voltage sensors, 71-72 superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID), 520-521 **Detector magnetics:** cryogenic cooling, thin detector solenoid, 420-422 power supply and coil quench protection, 416-418 quench back, 417-418 quench protection dump resistor, 416-417 solenoid development, 412-413 coil electrical connections and leads, 419-420 cold mass support system, 418-419 cryogenic heat sink solenoid support, 419 detector solenoid end design criteria, 418-420 historical background, 412 low mass thin detector magnets, 412-413 thin solenoid design criteria, 413-416 thin solenoid parameters, 413 Deuterium fuel, nuclear fusion, 377 reduced activation fuels, 379 **Diagnostic imaging:** brain imaging, 353-355 angiography, 354 cerebrovascular disease, 353 demyelinating disorders, 355 neurodegenerative disease, 354-355 tumors, 354 breast cancer, 356-357 cardiac imaging, 357-358 coronary angiography, 357-358 coronary artery calcification detection, 358 chest imaging, 355-356

lung cancer, 355 pulmonary embolism, 355-356 digital x-ray systems and radiology, 347 Doppler ultrasound, 348 electron beam computed tomography (EBCT), 347 endoscopy, 353 functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), 350-351 gastrointestinal imaging, 358-359 colorectal tumors, 358-359 liver imaging, 358 genitourinary imaging, 359-360 female reproductive organ cancer, 359 fetus and pregnancy, 359 kidneys, 359 prostate, 359-360 interventional radiology, 353 maganetic resonance imaging (MRI), 348 - 350maganetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS), 350picture archiving and communication system (PACS), 362 positron emission tomography (PET), 352 radiological imaging, 353 radionuclide emission imaging (nuclear medicine imaging), 351-353 research overview, 345 single-photon computed tomography (SPECT), 352--353 skeletal system, 360-362 bone tumors, 361 joint disease, 360-361 osteoporosis, 361-362 vascular system, 362 vertebral spine diseases, 361 ultrasound, 347-348 X-ray imaging, 345-346 X-ray transmission computed tomography (X-ray CT), 346-347 Diamagnetic currents: magnetic flux: conservation, 6-7 type II superconductivity, 21 magnetic levitation, 26 plasma physics, 383 YBCO superconductor substituents, 291 Diamagnetic materials: defined, 30 properties of, 30-31 **Dielectric constant:** capacitor energy storage, 333 thin-film superconductor substrates, 153-154 Dielectric materials, capacitor energy storage: absorption and hysteresis, 333-334 composite capacitors, 334 properties of, 332-333 strength, 333 Diffusion barriers, ductile superconductor metallurgy, composite assembly, 299 **Digital circuits:** active microwave circuits, 160-161 Josephson junctions: application of, 250 development of, 119-120

tunneling devices, 169-170 superconducting electronics: advanced applications, 134-136 rapid single-flux-quantum (RSFQ) logic, 131-134 theoretical background, 119-123 voltage-state logic, 128-131 Digital imaging and communications standard (DICOM), diagnostic imaging storage, 362 Digital voltmeter, quantum Hall effect and, 411 Digital x-ray systems and radiology, principles and applications, 347 Dilution refrigerators, historical background, 55 Diode mixers: negative resistance diode mixers, 372 parametric frequency conversion, 371-372properties, 363-364 topology and design issues: double balanced mixers, 371 double-double balanced mixers, 371 image rejection/enhancement, 371 single balanced mixers, 370-371 single-ended mixer, 370 two-diode subharmonically pumped mixers, 371 Diode temperature sensorws, active semiconductor sensors, 609 Dipole antennas, passive microwave circuits, 158 Dipole magnets, particle accelerators, 577 structure and properties, 578-579 Dipole symmetry current-line quadruplet, superconducting magnetics, 581 Direct current (dc) differential amplifier, temperature sensor resistance, 611 Direct current (dc) electric fields, fusion reactor confinement, 380 Direct current (dc) electric generator: hard (permanent) magnetic materials, 39-40 magnetic flux, 13 Direct current (dc) Josephson effect: defined, 117 high-temperature superconductors, properties of, 250-251 Direct current (dc) magnetization curve, hysteresis loss, 138-139 Direct current (dc) super-conducting quantum interference device (dc SQUID): control electronics, 518-519 historical and theoretical background, 117-118 input circuits, 520-522 Josephson junctions: bicrystal grain boundaries, 252 grain boundaries, 251 tunneling devices, 167-169 magnetometer components, 126-128 operating principles, 518-519 sensitivity, 519 Direct-current (dc) switches, superconducting magnet quenching, external dump circuits, 66

superconducting magnet quenching, 83-85

Direct current (dc) transport current: capacitor energy storage, 335 hysteresis loss, 142-143 Direct exchange, ferromagnetic materials, 31 Direct/indirect drive, inertial confinement, fusion reactors, 392-393 "Dirty limit": critical current density (J_c) , flux pinning, 98 - 99Josephson junction, proximity effect, 257 - 258Discrete phase shifter, ferroelectric materials, 498 Disk thermistor, semiconductor temperature sensors, 608 Dislocations, Barkhausen effect, domain wall interaction. 46 **Dissipation effects:** high current density superconductors: critical current density (J), 105–106 flux flow and resistive transition analysis, 105 temperature dependence, 105-106 temperature sensor resistance, 609-611 Distributed heat sources, cryogenic stabilization, 208 Distributed source modeling, bioelectromagnetic fields, 469-470 Dittus-Boelter form, cable-in-conduit conductor stability, transient heat transfer, 315–316 Divided frequency, frequency converters and mixers, 363-364 Domain wall, Barkhausen effect: dislocation interaction, 46 equilibrium magnetization distribution, 44 inclusions and voids, pinning, 46-47 inhomogeneous stress fields, 45-46 irreversible magnetization, 47-48 jump statistics, 49-50 noise and stress effects, 48 pinning coercivity, 44-45 properties, 42-43 stress field inhomogeneity, 45-46 temperature dependence, 48-49 Doppler radar, passive microwave circuit resonators, 157 Doppler ultrasound: breast cancer imaging, 356-357 principles and applications, 348 vascular system imaging, 362 Double balanced mixers, topology and design, 371 Double conduit jacketing, cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 238 Double-double balanced mixers, topology and design, 371 Double-exchange materials, properties of, 36 Double sideband (DSB) noise, frequency converters and mixers, 366 Downconversion: frequency converters and mixers, 363-364 parametric frequency conversion, 371-372 two-terminal nonlinear mixer devices, 365 Drag force, electrodynamic levitation, 25-26 Drum and pulley magnetic separators, properties of, 457

Ductile superconductor alloys, metallurgical research: APC processing, 304-305 cabling procedures, 304 cold work processing, 300-302 composite assembly, 298-300 conventional processing, 297-298 extrusion, 300 final wire drawing, 303 niobium-titanium alloy system, 296-297, 304 precipitation heat treatment, 302 shaping procedures, 303 theoretical background, 295-296 twisting procedures, 303 Dumping energy, superconducting magnet quenching, multiple magnets, 68 Dump resistors: quench protection dump resistor, 416-417 superconducting magnet quenching, coil protection circuits, 67-68 Dump time constant, superconducting magnet quenching detection, adiabatic protection criterion, 76-77 Dynamic errors, temperature sensors, 622 Dynamic range, high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), passive microwave devices, 555-557 Dynamic resistance, transport current coupling loss, 147 Dynamic stability criterion, flux jump stabilization, 320-321 Dynamo action, geomagnetism and, 10-11

diamagnetic materials, 31 magnetic levitation, 23 superconducting levitation, 564 Eddy currents: Barkhausen effect, irreversible magnetization, 48 magnetic flux conservation, 6-7 magnetic levitation, 23 ac levitation, 24 electrodynamic levitation, 24-25 magnetic sensors, 440 power transformers, 37 super-conducting quantum interference device (SQUID), refrigeration shielding, 523 Edge-geometry weak links, Josephson junctions, 254 Elastic behavior, critical current density, summation theory, flux pinning, 99 - 100Electrical current density (J_z) , Peltier effect, 500Electrical insulation, fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, 575 Electrical machines, magnetic flux, 11-15 ac generators, 13-15 dc generators, 13 transformers, 11-13 Electrical metrology, quantum Hall effect, 408-411 Electric field strength: capacitor energy storage theory, 332

Earnshaw's theorem:

Electric flux density, capacitor energy storage theory, 332 Electric utility grids, superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL) in, 545-546 Electrodynamic levitation, principles of, 24 - 25Electrodynamic systems (EDS): maglev transport, 28 magnetic separation, 449 Electrolytic capacitors, properties of, 337 Electromagnetic interference, shielding and sensitivity devices, 448 Electromagnetic systems (EMS): maglev transport, 28 superconducting electromagnets: forces and stress, 112-115 high-temperature superconductors, 109-110 properties of, 107-108 protection issues, 111-112 stability, 110-111 technical superconductors, 108-109 time-varying operation, 112 Electromagnetic unit, magnetic materals, 30 Electromagnetism, levitation, 23-24 casting applications, 27 Electromotive force (emf): Barkhausen effect, 50 thermocouple temperature sensors, 612-613 Electron beam computed tomography (EBCT): coronary artery calcification imaging, 358 principles and applications, 347 Electron-beam-damaged weak links, Josephson junctions, 253 Electron cyclotron current drive (ECCD), gyrotron technology, 394 Electron cyclotron resonance heating (ECRH), gyrotron technology, 394 circuit assembly, 398 Electron gun, gyrotron systems, 396-397 Electronically conducting polymers (ECP), supercapacitor technology, 340 Electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR): experimental observations, 62-63 principles of, 61-62 Electroplating assembly: cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, chromium electroplating, 229 smooth pipe conductors, 219-220 Elemental superconductors, table, 2 Elliptical inclusions, Barkhausen effect, domain wall pinning, 47 Embedding circuits, frequency converters and mixers, large signal analysis, harmonic balance, 368 Endoscopy, diagnostic applications, 353 Energy balance: cryogenic stabilization, Stekly criterion, 209 - 212stability margin calculations in He-I , CICC conductors, 312-313 Energy density: fossil fuel vs. nuclear fuel, 377-378 magnetic flux and, 6

Energy storage: capacitor applications, 342-344 intermediate storage, 343 pulse power units, 343-344 transport applications, 342-343 capacitor classification, 336-337 electrical power supply systems, 330-331 µSMES (superconducting magnetic energy storage) device: components, 513-514 configuration, 511 design optimization, 516-517 design principles, 515 excess storage (cost) vs. current, 515 excess storage (cost) vs. power (ac losses), 515-516 negative attributes, 513 positive attributes, 512-513 power quality, 511-517 vs. other storage devices, 511-512 power capacitors, 338-339 supercapacitors, 339-342 equivalent circuits, 341 integration process, 341-342 principles of, 340-341 superconducting levitation, 567-568 superconducting magnetic energy storage (SMES) device: capacitor energy storage, 331 high-temperature superconductor materials, 279 power quality, 509-517 theoretical background: connection configuration, 334-335 dielectric material properties, 332-334 fundamental relationships, 331-332 intrinsic energy storage, 337-338 voltage, charge, and current configuration, 335-336 Engineering critical current density (J_s) , properties of, 93 Engineering superconductivity, origins of, 3-4Enhanced confinement technology, Tokamak fusion reactor, 388 Enhanced reversed shear mode, Tokamak fusion reactor, 389 Entropy, magnetic refrigeration, 54 operating principles, 56-57 theoretical background, 55-56 Epileptic foci, magnetic source imaging (MSI), 473 Epitaxy, high-temperature superconductors, thin film development, 242-243 EPRI Distribution Power Quality (DPQ) study, power quality data, 508-509 Equilibrium magnetization distribution, Barkhausen effect, 44 domain wall pinning coercivity, 44-45 Equivalent circuits, supercapacitor technology, 341 Equivalent current dipole (ECD), bioelectromagnetic source modeling, 469 Equivalent noise temperature, Schottky diode mixers, 369-370 Error detection, temperature sensors, 621-622

dynamic errors, 621-622 steady-state errors, 621-622 EU-LCT conductor, sheathed flat cable manufacturing, 224-225 Evans hybrid capacitor, supercapacitor technology, 340 Evaporation techniques, high-temperature superconductors, thin film development, 245-247 Evershed bearings, permanent magnetic levitation, 23 Evoked field imaging: auditory evoked fields, 471-472 cardiac evoked fields, 475 Excess storage costs, µSMES (superconducting magnetic energy storage) device, 515 Ex-situ processing, HTS thin films, 271 External diffusion process, β-tungsten superconductors, 192 External dump circuits, superconducting magnet quenching, 65-66 External quenching, superconducting magnet quenching, multiple magnets, 68 Extrusion process, ductile superconductor metallurgy, 300

Faraday effect: Barkhausen effect, 42 dynamo action and geomagnetism, 11 magnetic levitation, 23 ac levitation, 24 Faraday's law: Barkhausen effect, 50 inductive magnetic sensors, 435-436 superconducting electronics theory, flux quantization, 126 Fast switching matrices, Josephson junction tunneling devices, 170 Fault current limiters: cryogenics, 549-550 electric utility grid application, 545-546 ferromagnetic types, 548 quenching types, 546-548 semiconductor types, 548-549 superconductor requirements, 549 theoretical background, 544-545 FDG positron emission tomography (FDG-PET): breast cancer imaging, 357 chest imaging, lung cancer, 355 Feedback control, electromagnetic leviation, 23 - 24Female reproductive organ cancer, diagnostic imaging, 359 Fermi-Dirac distribution function, Peltier effect, 500-501 Fermi energy: cryogenic thermoelectric refrigeration, 628 - 629Peltier refrigeration, 503-506 thermoelectric effect, 624 Ferrimagnetic materials, 34-35 write heads, 38 Ferroelectric lens antenna, microwave ferroelectric materials, 495-496

Ferroelectric materials, microwave technology: applications, 494-498 design models, 492 guiding structures, 492-494 high-temperature superconductors, 498 phased array antenna, 495-497 theoretical background, 491-492 traveling wave antenna, 497-498 tunable filter, 495 varactor device, 494-495 voltage-controlled oscillator, 495 Ferrofluids, propreties of, 41 Ferromagnetic materials: Barkhausen effect, 43 properties of, 31-32 shielding, 9 shims, magnet design, 485-486 superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), 548 Ferromagnetic resonance (FMR): ferrimagnetism, 35 nonreciprocal materials, 40-41 principles of, 63-64 Fetal imaging, techniques for, 359 Fiberoptic temperature sensors, superconducting magnet quenching detection, 74-75 Field-effect transistors (FET), Josephson junctions, tunneling devices, 172-173 Field emission, superconducting cavity resonators, theoretical background, 534-536 Field measurements: magnetic resonance imaging magnets, 486-487 nuclear resonance magnets, 486-487 Figure of merit: Peltier refrigeration, 502-503 superconducting cavity resonators, 530 thermoelectric power generation, 627 thermoelectric refrigeration, 626-627 Filament diameter: ductile superconductor metallurgy, 299-300 hysteresis loss, 141 β-tungsten superconductor metallurgy, 189 - 190Filters: high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), microwave technology, 557-560 passive microwave circuits, 157-158 frequency agile devices, 158 Finite-difference method, bioelectromagnetic field calculations, 469 Finite-element method, bioelectromagnetic field calculations, 469 Flash evaporation, high-temperature superconductors, thin film development, 245-246 Flat cables: coupling current loss, 147 strand soldering techniques, copper pipe soldering, 223-224 Flip-flop circuits, rapid single-flux quantum (RFSQ) logic, 133-134 Fluid dynamics, magnetic separation, 450-451

Flux conversion, principles of, 10-11 Flux creep: dissipation effects, high current density superconductors, 105-106 electromagnetic superconductor, timevarying field operation, 112 high-temperature superconductors, magnetic properties, 262 superconducting electromagnets, 107-108 Flux dams, Josephson junctions, tunneling devices, 168-169 Flux flow regime: critical current density: flux line lattice (FLL) structure, 97 resistive measurement, 92-94 resistive transition analysis, 105 Flux-gate magnetometers, properties of, 445 Flux jump phenomenon: cryogenic stabilization, 207-208 electromagnetic superconductors, adiabatic stability, 110 stability criteria: adiabatic criterion, 319-320 cryogenic criterion, 321 dynamic criterion, 320-321 equations and calculations, 317-319 general stability criterion, 319 homogeneous composites, 321-322 nomenclature, 327 outer shell thickness and heat transfer, 322-324 sample determinations, 324 small perturbation, critical state model, 324--326 theoretical background, 317 Flux line lattice (FLL): critical current density, 94-97 critical state magnetization model, 103-105 summation theory, 99-100 critical state magnetization model, 102 - 105melting, temperature dependence, 105 - 106Fluxoids, cryogenic stabilization, flux jumps, 207-208 Flux pinning: Barkhausen effect: coercivity, 43-44 domain wall inclusions and voids, 46-47 losses in superconductors, 51-52 type II superconductors, 52 critical current density (J_{a}) : interactive forces, 97-99 scaling laws, 100-102 summation theory, 99-100 superconductivity research, 4 superconductor metallurgy, heattreatment principles, 200-201 Flux quantization: direct-current (dc) super-conducting quantum interference device (dc SQUID), 128 superconducting electronics theory, 125 - 126

Flux vortex, critical current density, flux line lattice (FLL) structure, 96-97 Flywheel energy storage, superconducting levitation, 567-568 Focal plane array (FPC), bolometric detection, 426-428 Focal source analysis, magnetic source imaging (MSI), 476 Focused electron beam (FEB) writing, Josephson junctions, hightemperature superconductor (HTS) materials, 171 Focused ion beam (FIB) junctions, weak link configuration, 253 Forced flow superconductors: cable-in-conduit conductors, 228-238 aluminum-based conduits, 233 braided bundles, 230-232 chromium electroplating, 229 coextrusion jacketing, 237-238 conduit materials, 232-233 double conduit jacketing, 238 historical background, 308 incolov 908 conduit, 233 jacketing methods, 233-238 laser beam welding, 237 pullthrough jacketing, 235-237 stability calculations, 312-313 strand bundling, 229-230 strand coating, 228-229 supercritical helium stability margin, 308-311 superfluid helium stability margin, 311 - 312tube mill jacketing, 234-235 comparison of techniques, 238 historical background, 218 sheathed flat cables, 224-228 DPC-EX JAERI conductor, 227-228 ETL wind-and-react flat conductor, 226 - 227EU-LCT conductor, 224-225 niobium-tin sheathed flat cables, 225 - 226TMC-FF JAERI conductor, 227 smooth pipe conductors, 218-224 electroplating assembly, 219-220 strand soldering, central copper pipe, 220 - 224superconductor pipes, 218-219 stability: cable-in-conduit conductors, 308-314 energy balance, 312-313 He-II stability calculations, 314-315 He-I stability calculations, 312-313 one-dimensional model, 313-314 principles of, 306-308 Stekly criterion, 306-307 transient heat transfer, 315-316 vs. perturbation spectrum, 307-308 zero-dimensional model, 313 Forcing magnets, particle accelerators: coordinate system definitions, 577 normal dipole magnet, 577 normal quadripole magnet, 577-578 Fossil fuels, nuclear fuel, energy density comparisons, 377-378 4 x 4 packet switch, development of, 135

Four-channel pass-band multiplexer, hightemperature superconductors (HTSs), filter design, 559-560 Fourier conduction law, superfluid helium, 311 Fourier transform, magnetic resonance imaging, 349-350 Free energy, Barkhausen effect, 42-43 Free space current-line distributions, superconducting magnetics, 581 Frequency conversion, two-terminal nonlinear mixer devices, 364-365 Frequency-dependent penetration depth, passive microwave circuits, 156 Frequency mixing: bolometer mixers, 372 conversion loss, 366 harmonic mixers, 371 high-temperature superconductors, nonlinearity, microwave interaction, 155 - 156mixer receiver noise, 366 negative resistance diode mixers, 372 parametric frequency conversion, 371-372 Schottky diode mixers, 366-370 applications, 367-368 converion loss, 369 equivalent noise temperature, 369-370 harmonic balance, large signal analysis, 368 port impedance, 369 small signal analyses, 368-369 self-oscillating mixers, 372 superconducting devices, 372-375 hot electron bolometer (HEB) mixer, 374-375 SIS mixer, 373-374 theoretical background, 363-364 topology and design issues: double balanced mixers, 371 double-double balanced mixers, 371 image rejection/enhancement, 371 single balanced mixers, 370-371 single-ended mixer, 370 two-terminal nonlinear devices: frequency conversion, 364-365 frequency multiplication, 364 harmonic mixing, 365 intermodulation, 365-366 linear mixing, 365 Frequency sources, active microwave circuits, 161 Fuel sources, fusion reactors, 376-380 deuterium fuel, 377 fossil fuel energy density comparisons, 377-378 lunar helium, 379-380 reduced activation fuels, 379 tritium fuel, 378 tritium production, 378-379 Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), principles and applications, 350-351 Fusion reactors: confinement technology, 380-381 dc electric fields, 380 gravitational fields, 380 inertial confinement, 380

Fusion reactors (continued) magnetic field confinement, 380-381 RF electromagnetic fields, 380 fuel sources, 376-380 deuterium fuel, 377 fossil fuel energy density comparisons, 377 - 378lunar helium, 379-380 reduced activation fuels, 379 tritium fuel, 378 tritium production, 378-379 future issues. 394 inertial confinement, 392-393 direct and indirect drive, 392-393 ion drivers, 393 laser drivers, 393 parameter regime, 392 plant systems, 393 magnetic confinement fusion, 381-387 nuclear fusion, 375-376 plasma heating with, 389 plasma physics, 381-387 closed magnetic field confinement devices, 385 cyclotron motion, 382 Debye length, 381 diamagnetism, 383 Larmor radius, 382-383 magnetic mirror confinement, 383-385 magnetic moments, 383 rotational transform, 385-387 tokamaks, 387 superconducting magnets: coil structures, 569-575 cost optimization, 575-576 design issues, 575-576 electrical insulation design, 575 mirror devices, 569-570 quench protection, 575 risk and quality assurance, 576 stellarators, 574-575 theoretical background, 568-569 tokamaks, 570-574 tokamak fusion reactor, 387-392 anomalous diffusion, 388 bootstrap current, 390-391 confined particle collision, 388 current drive, 390 enhanced confinement, 388-389 enhanced reversed shear mode, 389 maintenance and materials, 392 neutral beam injection, 390 plasma confinement system, 387-388 plasma exhaust system, 391-392 plasma heating methods, 389-390 tritiuim breeding and thermal conversion blanket, 392

Gadolinium compounds, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 350 Gallium arsenide (GaAs) diodes, Schottky diode mixers, 367 Gallium-doped tunnel barriers, Josephson junctions, ramp junctions, 171–172 Gamma iron oxide, magnetic recording media, 40 Garnet ferrites: ferrimagnetic properties, 35 nonreciprocal materials, 41 Gastrointestinal imaging: colorectal tumors, 358-359 liver, 358 Gay-Lussac's law, temperature sensors, 602-603 Genitourinary imaging: female reproductive organ cancer, 359 fetus and pregnancy, 359 kidney, 359 prostate, 359-360 Geomagnetism, dynamo action and, 10-11 Geometric errors, superconducting magnetics, 585 Geophysical research, superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) for. 526 G function, electromagnetic superconductors, cryostable protection, 111-112 Giant magnetoresistance (GMR): properties of, 35 thin film magnetic materials, 36 Gifford-McMahon/Boreas cryocooler: high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), packaging design, 561-562 superconducting electronic components, 123superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), 550 Ginzberg-Landau theory: critical current density, 92 flux line lattice (FLL), 95-97 flux pinning, 98-99 superconducting cavity resonators, radio frequency (RF) superconductivity, 529-530 superconducting electronics, 3, 117 type I and II superconductors, 182-183 repulsion between vortices, 183-184 YBCO superconductor substituents, 292-293 Graded ground planes, superconducting magnet quenching, helium breakdown, 88-89 Gradiometers, superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID), 521-522 Grad-Shafranov equation, magnetic flux, plasma equilibrium, 16-18 Grain boundary Josephson junctions: bicrystal junctions, 251-252 biepitaxial junctions, 252 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), microstructures, 286-287 high-us. low-temperature superconductors, 249 naturally occurring junctions, 251 step-edge junctions, 252-253 weak link configuration, 250 YBCO superconductor substituents, 292-293 Grate-type magnetic separators, properties of, 457 Gravitational fields, fusion reactor confinement, 380 Groundplains, Josephson junctions, circuit integration requirements, 256-257

Guard vacuum, superconducting magnet quenching, helium breakdown, 88-89 Guiding structures, ferroelectric materials, 492-494 coplanar waveguide, strip, and slotline, 493 microstrip, 492-493 parallel plate and rectangular wave guide, 493-494 Gyroklystron, amplifier design, 399 Gyroscopic action, magnetic levitation, 26 Gyrotron: amplifiers, 399 components: beam tunnel, 397-398 circuitry, 398 collector, 398 electron gun, 396-397 magnetic solenoids, 397 output taper, 398 output window, 399 RF launcher system, 398-399 schematic, 396-397 future research issues, 399-400 operating principles, 395-396 theory and applications, 394-395 Gyro-TWT device, amplifier design, 399 Hall effect sensors: applications: clinical Hall effect devices, 407-408 linear Hall effect transducers, 405-407 research applications, 404-405 technical applications, 405-406 historical background, 401-402 multiplier applications, 407 principles of, 402-403 properties of, 447 quantum Hall effect, 403-404 contact resistance, 404 electrical metrology applications, 408 - 411sample dependence, 403 semiconductor material dependence, 403Hamiltonian tunneling theory, Peltier refrigeration, 504-506 Hard disks, intermediate (soft/hard) magnetic materials for, 40 Hard (permanent) magnets, properties of, 39-40 Harmonic balance, Schottky diode mixers, large signal analysis, 368 Harmonic frequencies: high-temperature superconductors, nonlinearity, microwave interaction, 155 - 156magnet design, 481-484 shimming, 484-486 Harmonic mixing: two-diode subharmonically pumped mixers, 371 two-terminal nonlinear mixer devices, 365 Harmonic sidebands, two-terminal nonlinear mixer devices, linear mixing, 365 Heart imaging. See Cardiac imaging
Heat current density (J_k) , Peltier effect, 500 Heating time scale, cable-in-conduit conductor stability, supercritical helium, 310 Heat leaks: cryogenic stabilization, 208 µSMES (superconducting magnetic energy storage) device, 514 Heat sinks: detector solenoid design criteria, cryogenic heat sink support system, 419 forced flow superconductor stability, 307-308 Heat switch, adiabatic demagnetization refrigerators (ADR), 54-55 Heat transfer phenomena: cable-in-conduit conductor stability: historical background, 308 supercritical helium, 310-311 transient heat transfer, 315-316 cryogenic stabilization, 215-216 flux jump stabilization, shell thickness, 322 - 324forced flow superconductor stability, helium flow, 308 Heat-treatment principles, superconductor metallurgy, 200-201 Helium compounds. See also Supercritical and Superfluid helium (He-II) cable-in-conduit conductor stability: helium-I compounds, 312-314 helium-II compounds, 314-315 supercritical helium, 308-311 superfluid helium, 311-312 nuclear fusion: lunar helium, 379-380 reduced activation fuels, 379 superconducting magnet quenching: breakdown research, 88-89 electrical integrity, 82--83 Hemorrhage, brain imaging techniques, 353-354 HERA (Hadron Elektron Ring Anlage) superconducting particle accelerator: cable insulation, 581 characteristics of, 578 Hexagonal ferrites: ferrimagnetism, 35 nonreciprocal materials, 41 High current density superconductors, dissipation effects: critical current density (J_{s}) , 105–106 flux flow and resistive transition analysis, 105temperature dependence, 105-106 **High-current** electromagnetic superconductors, 109 current leads, 329 High-energy physics particle detector magnetics: cryogenic cooling, thin detector solenoid, 420-422 power supply and coil quench protection, 416-418 quench back, 417-418 quench protection dump resistor, 416-417

solenoid development, 412-413 coil electrical connections and leads, 419-420 cold mass support system, 418-419 cryogenic heat sink solenoid support, 419 detector solenoid end design criteria, 418 - 420historical background, 412 low mass thin detector magnets, 412-413 thin solenoid design criteria, 413-416 thin solenoid parameters, 413 High gradient magnetic separators (HGMSs): historical background, 448-449 properties of, 452 High-power-handling operations, hightemperature superconductors (HTSs), filter design, 560 High pressure of oxygen (HPO), YBCO superconductors, metal-doping effects, 271High pulsed power RF processing (HPP), superconducting cavity resonators, 534-536 High-temperature superconductors (HTSs): anisotropy, 281 applications of, 277-279 bismuth HTSs, 110 coherence and London penetration depth, 281 constituents in, historical background, 280 critical current density: resistive measurement, 93-94 scaling laws, flux pinning, 101-102 cryogenics and, 122-123 cryogenic stabilization, 206 techniques for, 208-209 thermal management problems, 215 thermophysical and heat data, 215-216 direct-current (dc) super-conducting quantum interference device (dc SQUID), 127-128 electromagnetic properties, 109-110, 263 - 264ferroelectrics, 498 film growth: epitaxy, 242-243 flash evaporation, 245-246 historical background, 240-241 laser ablation, 244-245 materials, 241 molecular beam epitaxy, 246 postanneal techniques, 243-244 reactive coevaporation, 246 in situ techniques, 244, 246-247 sputtering, 244 thermodynamics, 241-242 historical background, 260 Josephson junctions, 125 ac and dc Josephson effects, 250-251 applications, 250 circuit integration, 255-257 configurations, 250 damaged-induced junctions, 253 deposition-interlayer junctions, 253-255 grain boundary junctions, 251-253

historical background, 248 microbridges, 255 principles of, 248-249 properties of, 249-250 proximity effect, 257-258 reproducibility limits, 259 SNS resistance, 258-259 SQUID applications, 168-169 tunneling devices, 170-172 vs. LTS materials, 249 YBCO materials, 249 magnetic properties of, 260-262 microstructures in, 285-287 microwave technology materials, 153 cryogenic packaging, 540-562 delay lines, 560 film processing technology, 551-553 filter design, 557-560 future applications, 161-162 nonlinearity properties, 155 passive microwave circuits, 158, 553-557 µSMES (superconducting magnetic energy storage) device, 514 particle accelerators, superconductor magnetics, 580 processing techniques, 264 rapid single-flux quantum (RFSQ) logic circuits, 122-123 recent developments and applications, 116-123 reciprocating magnetic separators, 458 solenoid electromagnetics, 456 structural properties, 262-263, 281-285 Bi-, Tl-, and Hg-based compounds, 284 - 285La-(Ba,Sr,Ca)-Cu-O and Nd(Ce)-CuO compounds, 282-283 YBaCuO compounds, 283-284 substituents in, 287-294 Bi-, Tl-, and Hg-based compounds, 293-294 La-(Ba,Sr,Ca)-Cu-O and Nd(Ce)-CuO compounds, 288-290 oxygen and oxygen vacancies, 288 YBCO compounds, 290-293 superconducting cavity resonators, future applications, 538-539 superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), 544-546 ceramic materials, 549 quenching applications, 547-548 superconducting magnet quenching propagation, 77-78 superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID), detection coils, 520-521 superconductivity research, 4 technical electromagnetic superconductors, 108 thin film magnetic materials: epitaxy, 242-243 flash evaporation, 245-246 historical background, 240-241 laser ablation, 244-245 materials, 241 metal-organic chemical vapor deposition, 273-274

High-temperature superconductors (HTSs) (continued) molecular beam epitaxy, 246 physical/chemical deposition techniques, 271, 273 postanneal techniques, 243-244 processed film characterization, 274 pulsed laser deposition, 273 reactive coevaporation, 246 in situ techniques, 244, 246-247 in situ vs. ex-situ processing, 271 sputtering, 244, 273 structural, electrical, and mechanical properties, 274-276 thermodynamics, 241-242 transformer design, 596-597 alternating current (ac) loss, 599-600 cryostat requirements, 600 limitations of, 598-599 state-of-the-art issues, 600-601 type I and II superconductors, 180 wires and tapes: first generation processes, 276 **OPIT** method, 276 second generation, YBCO conductors, 276 - 277yttrium HTSs, 110 High voltage direct current (HVDC) transmission, superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), 545 Hohlraum, direct/indirect drive, inertial confinement, fusion reactors, 393 Holding magnets, hard (permanent) magnetic materials, 40 Homogeneous composites, flux jump stabilization, 321-322 Hooge parameter, bolometric detection, 425 "Hoop stress," superconducting cyclotrons, 541-542 Hospital information systems (HIS), diagnostic imaging storage, 362 Hot electron bolometer (HEB) mixer, components, 374-375 Hot electron noise, Schottky diode mixers, 367-368 Hot junctions, infrared radiation detector, 618-619 Hot spot temperature, quench protection, superconducting particle accelerators, 592Huntington's disease, diagnostic imaging, 355 HYPRES voltage standard system, development of, 118-120 Hysteresis: Barkhausen effect, 43 domain wall pinning connectivity, 45 irreversible magnetization, 47-48 jump statistics, 50 capacitor energy storage, 333-334 coupling losses in superconductors: anisotropy and variable angle orientation, 140-141 current loss, 144-150 dc magnetization curve, 138-139 dc transport current, 142-143 estimation accuracy, 144, 150 filament diameter, 141

flat cable coupling loss, 147 formulas for, 139-140 interstrand resistance, CICCs, 149 niobium-tin strands, 149 niobium-titanium strands, 149 saturation of coupling current, 146 self-field loss, 143-144 spatially charged magnetic field, 147-148 steady state coupling loss, 145 target interstrand resistance, CICCs, 149-150 theoretical background, 138 transient coupling loss, 145-146 transport current couplin loss, 146-147 zero field crossing, 141-142 critical current density, critical state magnetization model, 102-105 cryogenic stabilization, 208 electromagnetic superconductor, timevarying field operation, 112 magnetic flux: ac conditions, superconductor performance, 21-22 type II superconductivity, 21 niobium-titanium composite superconductor, 109 superconducting levitation, 564-565 temperature measurement, 605 Hysteretic Josephson junction, digital superconducting electronic circuits, 128-131

Ideal transformers, properties of, 12 Ill-cooled regimes, stability margin calculations in He-I. CICC conductors, energy balance, 312-313 Image frequency, two-terminal nonlinear mixer devices, harmonic sidebands, 365 Image rejection and enhancement, mixer topology and design, 371 Inclusions, Barkhausen effect, domain wall pinning, 46-47 Incoloy 908 conduit, cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 233 Indirect exchange, ferromagnetic materials, Induced-pole magnetic separators, properties of. 455 Induced roll separators, properties of, 457 Inductance: magnetic flux and, 6 superconducting magnet quenching, external dump circuits, 65-66 Induction potentiometer, properties, 439-440 Inductive magnetic sensors, 435-440 induction potentiometer, 439-440 linear and rotary variable-reluctance sensors, 436 linear variable inductor, 439 microsyn, 438 single-coil variable-reluctance sensor, 436-437 synchros, 438-439

437 variable-reluctance tachogenerators, 437-438 Inductors, soft magnetic materials, 37-38 Industrial immersion thermocouple sensors, 615 Industrial metal resistance thermometers, temperature measurements, 605-607 Inertial confinement, fusion reactors, 392 - 393direct and indirect drive, 392-393 ion drivers, 393 laser drivers, 393 parameter regime, 392 plant systems, 393 theory and technology, 380 Infinite slab model, hysteresis loss, accuracy of. 144 Infrared detector arrays: radiation thermometry, 618-619 uncooled systems: bolometric detectors, 424-430 pyroelectric IR detectors, 430-433 theoretical background, 424 Inhomogeneous magnetic field, chargedparticle motion, 16 In-line junctions: high-temperature superconductors, 255 superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), quenching operations, 546-548 Input circuits, super-conducting quantum interference device (SQUID), 520-522Insertion loss, high-temperature superconductors, nonlinearity, microwave interaction, 155-156 In situ casting process: HTS thin films, 271 β-tungsten superconductors, 192-193 In situ growth techniques, high-temperature superconductors, thin film development, 244 In situ monitoring, high-temperature superconductors, thin film development, 246-247 Instability sources, cryogenic stabilization, 207 - 208distributed heat source, 208 flux jumps, 207-208 mechanical disturbances, 208 Insulating surface tracking, superconducting magnet quenching, 86-88 Insulation design: fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, 575 particle accelerators, superconductor magnetics, 579-580 cable insulation, 580-581 Integrated circuits: active semiconductor sensors, 609 Hall effect transducers, 401-402 Integrated sensors (IS), temperature measurement, 604-605 Integrated volt-seconds, superconducting magnet quenching detection, advanced voltage sensors, 74

variable-differential reluctance sensor.

Intermediate energy storage, capacitor technology, 343 Intermediate frequency (IF), frequency converters and mixers: conversion loss, 366 theoretical background, 363-364 Intermediate state: magnetic flux, superconductivity, 19 type I and II superconductors, 178 Intermodulation: high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), passive microwave devices, 557 two-terminal nonlinear mixer devices, 365--366 Internal dump resistors, superconducting magnet quenching, 68-70 cold dump circuits, 68-69 cold switches, 69-70 Internally cooled superconductors (ICS), cable-in-conduit conductors (CICC) design. 308 Internal sensor termination, superconducting magnet quenching detection, advanced voltage sensors, 73 - 74Internal tin production process, β-tungsten superconductors, 191-192 International temperature scale 90 (ITS-90), temperature sensors, 603-604 International volt standard, ac Josephson effect, 118 Interrupters, superconducting magnet quenching, coil protection circuits, 66 - 67Interstrand coupling currents, superconducting magnetics, 586-587 Intervalley scattering noise, Schottky diode mixers, 367-368 Intrinsic energy storage, capacitor properties, 337-338 Intrinsic stability property, flux jump stabilization, 317 Inverse problems, bioelectromagnetic source modeling, 469 Ion-beam-assisted deposition (IBAD), hightemperature superconductors: thin film development, 243 wire and tape applications, 277 Ion-damaged weak links, Josephson junctions, 253 Ion drivers, inertial confinement, fusion reactors, 393 Iron core structure, superconducting transformer design, 597 Iron yoke current-line distribution, superconducting magnetics: coil geometry, 583 iron saturation, 585 principles of, 581 radial support, 588-590 Irreversibility field, high-temperature superconductors, magnetic properties, 262Irreversible magnetization, Barkhausen effect, 47-48 Isothermal demagnetization, magnetic refrigeration, 57

Jacketing methods: cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 233-238 coextrusion method, 237-238 double conduit method, 238 laser beam welding, 237 pullthrough method, 235-237 tube mill, 234-235 cable-in-conduit conductors (CICC), historical background, 308 Jelly roll process, β-tungsten superconductors, 192 Johnson noise: bolometric detection, 425 infrared radiation detector, 618-619 pyroelectric IR detectors, 431 Joint disease, diagnostic imaging, 360-361 Joint extraction, superconducting magnet quenching detection, advanced voltage sensors, 73 Josephson effect. See also Ac and Dc Josephson effects active microwave circuits, 159 Bardeen-Cooper-Schreiffer (BCS) theory, 260basic principles of, 123-125 high-temperature superconductors, properties of, 250-251 quantum Hall effect and, 410-411 superconducting electronics, 117 superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) magnetometers, 446 principles of, 517-518 superconductivity research, 3-4 tunneling devices alternating current Josephson effect, 164-165 theoretical background, 163 Josephson junctions: active microwave circuits, 159-160 detectors and mixers, 161 superconducting digital logic circuits, 160 - 161Bardeen-Cooper-Schreiffer (BCS) theory, 260basic principles of, 123-125 digital circuit development, 119-120 direct-current (dc) super-conducting quantum interference device (dc SQUID), 126-128 operating principles, 518-519 fabrication materials, 122-123 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs): ac and dc Josephson effects, 250-251 applications, 250 circuit integration, 255-257 configurations, 250 damaged-induced junctions, 253 deposition-interlayer junctions, 253-255 grain boundary junctions, 251-253 historical background, 248 microbridges, 255 principles of, 248-249 properties of, 249-250 proximity effect, 257-258 reproducibility limits, 259 SNS resistance, 258-259

vs. LTS materials, 249 YBCO materials, 249 hysteretic Josephson junction, digital superconducting electronic circuits, 128-131 low-probability punch through, voltagestate logic, 131 radio frequency superconducting quantum interference device (RF SQUID), 518 rapid single-flux quantum (RFSQ) logic, 131-134 superconducting electronics, theoretical background, 117 super-conducting quantum interference device (SQUID): historical and theoretical background, 117-118 principles of, 517-518 tunneling devices: alternating current Josephson effect, 164 - 166digital applications, 169-170 high-temperature superconductor systems, 170-172 magnetic-field effects, 166 metal-insulator-metal (MIM) tunneling, 163--164 mixing and detection, 169 related superconductive devices, 173 resistively shunted junction (RSJ) model, 166-167 superconducting quantum interference devices (SQUID), 167-169 theoretical background, 163 three-terminal devices, 172-173 Josephson transmission line (JTL), rapid single-flux quantum (RFSQ) logic, 132 - 134Josephson vortex, critical current density, flux pinning, 99 Joule heating: cable-in-conduit conductor stability: supercritical helium, 310 superfluid helium (He-II) stability margin, 314-315 capacitor energy storage theory, 332 cryogenic stabilization, 207, 209 Maddock-James-Norris equal-area theorem, 212-213 Stekly criterion, 209-212 flux jump stabilization, 319 Peltier effect, 499-500 quench protection, superconducting particle accelerators, 591 Jumping ring experiments: Barkhausen effect, flux pinning and losses in superconductors, 51-52 magnetic levitation, ac levitation, 24 Jumpsum, Barkhausen noise, 48

Kaolin processing, magnetic separators, 458–460 Kapitza resistance, cable-in-conduit conductor stability, transient heat transfer, 315–316 Kelvin relations: Peltier effect, 500

Kelvin relations (continued) temperature sensors, 602-603 thermoelectric refrigeration, 626-627 Kerr rotation, magnetic recording materials, 40 Kidney, diagnostic imaging, 359 Kirchhoff's laws: Josephson junctions, 124 radiation thermometry, 617-618 Kramer's law, superconductor metallurgy, 201 - 203KTY linear sensors, semiconductor temperature sensors, 608 La-(Ba,Sr,Ca)-Cu-O and Nd(Ce)-CuO compounds, high-temperature superconductors (HTSs): structural properties, 282-283 substituents in, 288–290 Lambda temperature (T_i) : superconductor magnetic cooling, superfluid helium (He-II), 590-591 superfliud helium (He-II) stability, CICC conductors, 311-312 Landau-Ginzberg theory. See Ginzberg-Landau theory Landau-Lifshitz damping model, ferromagnetic resonance (FMR), 63-64 Langevin equation: Barkhausen effect, jump statistics, 49-50 paramagnetic materials, 31 Lanthanide-aluminum-oxygen (LAO) substrates, high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), passive microwave devices, 555 Laplace transform: magnet design, 482-484 temperature sensor dynamic errors, 622 Large coil task (LCT): fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, 572-574 sheathed flat cable manufacturing, EU-LCT conductor, 224-225 strand soldering techniques, 222-223 superconducting magnets, 115 Large Hadron Collider (LHC): cable insulation, 581 superconducting magnets, 114-115, 578 Large helical device (LHD), fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, stellarator structure, 574-575 Large signal analysis, Schottky diode mixers, harmonic balance, 368 Larmor frequency: charged-particle motion, magnetic flux, 16 electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR), 62 - 63magnetic resonance and, 59-61 Larmor precession: electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR), 62 magnetic resonance and, 59-61 nuclide constants, 479 Larmor radius: gyrotron technology, 395-396 magnetic moment, 383

magnetized plasmas, 382-383 Laser ablation, high-temperature superconductors, thin film development, 244-245 Laser beam welding, cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 237 Laser drivers, inertial confinement, fusion reactors, 393 Latticebraids, cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 230-232 Lattice structure, β -tungsten superconductors, 188-190 LC circuit, magnetic levitation, 26 Lead field, bioelectromagnetic source modeling, 470 Lead resistance, temperature sensors, 610 Lead titatnate-based detectors, pyroelectric IR detectors, 431-432 Leakage flux: capacitor energy storage, dielectric leakage and currents, 334 properties of, 12 superconducting magnet quenching, insulating surface tracking, 86-88 Legendre functions, magnet design, 482-484 Lenz's law: magnetic flux principles, 5 conservation, 6-7 transformers, 11-13 magnetic levitation, 23 plasma diamagnetism, 383 Levenberg-Marquardt algorithm, bioelectromagnetic source modeling, 469 Levitation: magnetic levitation, pressure magnitude, 26 - 27superconducting levitation: applications, 567-568 bearing properties, 566-567 levitational phenomenology, 565-566 operating principles, 564-565 stable levitation, 563-564 theoretical models, 566 Levitron magnetic levitation toy, 26 Lifting magnetic separators, properties of, 457 Limiting operating current (*I*_{lim}): cable-in-conduit conductor stability, supercritical helium, 309-310 stability margin calculations in He-I, CICC conductors, energy balance, 313 Linear Hall effect transducers: electrical current measurement, 405-406 magnetic field measurement, 405 Linearity, temperature sensor resistance, 610 Linear mixing, two-terminal nonlinear mixer devices. 365 Linear variable-differential transformer (LVDT), magnetic sensing, 441-444 Linear variable inductor, magnetic sensing, 439 Linear variable-reluctance sensors. properties of, 436-437 Lines of force (LOF), magnetic flux line and

tube, 8

Liquid helium: cryogenic stabilization, safety issues, 216 - 217superconductivity research, 1 Liquid-phase epitaxy (LPE) garnet film, bubble memories, 40 Lithium, nuclear fusion, tritium production, 378_379 Liver, diagnostic imaging, 358 Local oscillator (LO): diode mixer topology and design, 370-371 frequency converters and mixers: large signal analysis, harmonic balance, 368 theoretical background, 363-364 frequency multiplication, 365 harmonic mixers, 371 intermodulation, 365-366 parametric frequency conversion, 371-372London penetration depth: critical current density, 92 high-temperature superconductors, 281 microwave-superconductor interaction, 154-155 microwave technology materials, 153 passive microwave circuits, 156 London theory: high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), 260Meissner effect, 2 superconducting electronics, 117 London two-fluid model, superconducting cavity resonators, radio frequency (RF) superconductivity, 529-530 Long coil properties, superconducting magnet quenching propagation, cablein-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 80-81 Longitudinal periodicity, superconducting magnetics, 587 Long-wavelength staring sensor (LWSS), bolometric detection, 427-428 Lorentz force: critical current density: flux line lattice (FLL) structure, 96-97 summation theory, 99-100 critical current density (J_c) , flux pinning, 97 - 99flux jumps, cryogenic stabilization, 207 - 208Hall effect transducers, 402-403 high-temperature superconductors, magnetic properties, 261-262 magnetic flux: plasma equilibrium, 16-18 type II superconductivity, 21 particle accelerators, superconducting magnetics: dipole magnets, 577 quadrupole magnets, 577-578 superconducting magnetics: components of, 587-588 radial support, 588-589 superconductivity research, 4 Lorentz number, Peltier refrigeration, 502 Lorentz relation, hard (permanent) magnetic materials, loudspeakers, 39-40 Loss cone, magnetic mirroring, 384-385

Loss curve: capacitor energy storage, 335-336 steady state coupling loss, 145 Loss maximum formula, hysteresis loss, 140 Loss tangent, thin-film superconductor substrates, 153-154 Lossy ferrites, soft magnetic shields, 39 Loudspeakers, hard (permanent) magnetic materials, 39-40 Lower limiting current, cable-in-conduit conductor stability, supercritical helium, 310 Low-frequency noise, Schottky diode mixers, 367 Low mass thin detector solenoids, operating principles, 412-413 Low-noise amplifier (LNA), hightemperature superconductors (HTSs), passive microwave devices, 556-557 Low-probability punch through, voltagestate logic circuits, 131 Low-temperature superconductors (LTSs): active microwave circuits, 160 critical current density: resistive measurement, 93-94 scaling laws, flux pinning, 101-102 Josephson junctions, 125 vs. high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), 249 microwave technology materials, 153 recent developments in, 116 reciprocating magnetic systems, 458 solenoid electromagnetics, 455-456 superconducting digital circuits, 122 superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), 544, 546 niobium-based materials, 549 superconductivity research, 4 transformer design, 596 cryostat requirements, 600 tunneling devices, Josephson junctions, theoretical background, 163 type II superconductors, alloys, 179-180 type I superconductors: alloys, 179-180 properties of, 178 Lung cancer, diagnostic imaging, 355

Macroscopic response, magnetic materals, 30 Maddock-James-Norris equal-area theorem, cryogenic stabilization, 212-213 Maglev transport, magnetic levitation applications, 27-28 Magnet cooling, particle accelerators: cryostat structure, 591 superconductor critica temperature, 590 superfluid helium cooling, 590-591 Magnetic anisotropy energy, ferromagnetic materials, 31 Magnetic bearing, superconducting levitation, 566-567 Magnetic confinement fusion, plasma physics, 381-387 closed magnetic field confinement devices, 385 cyclotron motion, 382 Debye length, 381

diamagnetism, 383 Larmor radius, 382-383 magnetic mirror confinement, 383-385 magnetic moments, 383 rotational transform, 385-387 tokamaks, 387 Magnetic fields: fusion reactor confinement, 380-381 gradient, magnetic separation and, 452 Josephson junction, tunneling devices, 166 strength, magnetic separation and, 452 superconducting magnetics, quality parameters, 584-585 Magnetic flux: charged-particle motion, 15-16 conversion, 10 critical current density, flux line lattice (FLL) structure, 94-97 defined. 5 demagnetization factor, 9-10 dynamo action and geomagnetism, 10-11 electrical machines, 11-15 ac generators, 13-15 dc generators, 13 transformers, 11-13 energy density, 6 ferromagnetic materials and shielding, 9 helicity, 10-11 inductance, 6 Lenz's law and flux conservation, 6-7 line and tube forces, 8 magnetomotive force and reluctance, 9 measurement of, 22 penetration and diffusion, 7-8 plasma equilibrium and flux surface, 16 - 18Poynting flux, 7 principles of, 5-6 superconducting cyclotrons, 541-542 superconductors and, 18-22 ac performance, 21-22 intermediate state, 19 properties of, 18-19 type II superconductors, 19-21 thin detector solenoid design, 414-416 toroidal geometry, 8-9 vector potential, 6 Magnetic forces, magnetic separation, 449-450 Magnetic helicity, defined, 10-11 Magnetic humps, separation properties, 457 Magnetic induction, magnetic materals, 30 Magnetic levitation: ac levitation, 24 defined, 22 Earnshaw's theorem, 23 electrodynamic levitation, 24-26 electromagnetic casting, 27 electromagnetic levitation, 23-24 Maglev transport, 27-28 magnetic bearings, 28-29 magnetic forces in, 22-23 melting applications, 27 miscellaneous techniques, 26 permanent magnets, 23 pressure magnitude, 26-27 superconducting levitation: applications, 567--568

bearing properties, 566-567 levitational phenomenology, 565-566 operating principles, 564-565 stable levitation, 563-564 theoretical models, 566 tuned resonators, 26 Magnetic materials: applications, 36-41 hard (permanent) magnets, 39-40 recording media, 40 soft materials, 37-38 ferrofluids, 41 historical background, 30 magnetic fields and response, 30 nonreciprocal materials, 40-41 taxonomy of, 30-36 antiferromagnetism, 34 diamagnetism, 30-31 double-exchange materials, 36 ferrimagnetism, 34-35 ferromagnetism, 31-32 metamagnetism, 35 M-H loops, 32-33 negative exchange interaction, 33-34 paramagnetism, 31 spin glass state, 35-36 superparamagnetism, 36 thin films, 36 Magnetic mirroring, plasma physics, 383-384 Magnetic moment: ferromagnetic resonance (FMR), 63-64 magnetic resonance and, 59-61 plasma physics, 383 Magnetic noise, Barkhausen effect: Barkhausen jump statistics, 49-50 domain wall-defect interaction, 44-47 equilibrium magnetization distribution, 44 experimental techniques, 50 flux pinning and losses in superconductors, 51-52 irreversible magnetization, 47-48 nondestructive testing, 50-51 principles of, 41-43 stress effects, 48 temperature dependence, 48-49 Magnetic refrigeration: components, 54-55 defined, 53-54 history and current status, 55 operating principles, 56-57 paramagnetic materials, 56 principle of, 54 temperature regulation, 57-58 theoretical background, 55-56 Magnetic resonance: electron paramagnetic resonance, 61--62 observation experiments, 62-63 ferromagnetic resonance, 63-64 nuclear magnetic resonance, 64 principles of, 58-61 Magnetic resonance angiography (MRA): brain imaging, 354 cardiac imaging, 357-358 vascular system, 362 Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI): bone tumors, 361

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (continued) brain imaging: cerebrovascular disease, 353 neurodegenerative disease, 354-355 tumors, 354 breast cancer. 356-357 cardiac imaging, 357-358 chest imaging, lung cancer, 355 contrast agents, 350 female reproductive organ cancer imaging, 359 functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), 350-351 joint disease, 360-361 liver imaging, 358 magnets for, 479-480 cryogenics, 490 design and construction techniques, 488-490 design principles, 480 field measurement, 486-487 pulsed gradient coils, 490 shielding parameters, 484 theoretical design, 480-481 nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and, 64 osteoporosis, 362 principles and applications, 348-351 superconducting magnets, 113-115 vascular system, 362 vertebral spine disease, 361 vs. magnetic source imaging (MSI), 471 Magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS): principles and applications, 349, 350 prostate imaging, 360 Magnetic sensors: amorphous magnetic materials, 447-448 classification, 434-435 eddy current sensors. 440 Hall-effect sensors, 447 inductive sensors, 435-440 induction potentiometer, 439-440 linear and rotary variable-reluctance sensors, 436 linear variable inductor, 439 microsyn, 438 single-coil variable-reluctance sensor, 436-437 synchros, 438-439 variable-differential reluctance sensor, 437 variable-reluctance tachogenerators, 437-438 interference shielding and sensitivity, 448 magnetometers, 445-446 flux-gate magnetometers, 445 search coil magnetometers, 445-446 SQUID magnetometers, 446 magneto-optical sensors, 447 magnetoresistive sensors, 446-447 MOS magnetic field sensors, 445 thin films, 447 transformative sensors, 440-445 linear variable-differential transformer (LVDT), 441-444 rotary variable-differential transformer, 444--445

Magnetic separation: applications, 458-459 chemical processing, 461 coal purification, 463 kaolin processing, 459-461 solid waste remediation, 462-463 titanium dioxide, 461 water treatment, 461-462 competing forces minimization, 453 electrodynamics, 449 equipment, 453-458 batch type, 453-454 carousel electromagnets, 458 continuous separators, 456-457 drum and pulley magnets, 457 grate-type magnets, 457 high-temperature superconducting reciprocating magnet systems, 458 high-temperature superconducting solenoid electromagnets, 456 induced-pole separators, 455 induced roll separators, 457 lifting magnets, 457 low-temperature superconducting reciprocating magnet systems, 458 low-temperature superconducting solenoid electromagnets, 455-456 plate magnets and magnetic humps, 457 resistive solenoid electromagnets, 455 wet drum magnetic separators, 457-458 field gradient, 452 field strength, 452 fluid dynamic effects, 450-451 high gradient separation characteristics, 452 magnetic forces, dynamics of, 449-450 magnetic phenomena, 449 matrix/filter systems, 451-452 minimizing competing forces, 451 open gradient magnet systems, 451 research background, 448-449 retention time, 452-453 Magnetic solenoid, gyrotron systems, 397 Magnetic source imaging (MSI): bioelectromagnetic studies: cellular sources, 467 electromagnetic calculations, 468 myocardium, 467-468 neurons, 467 numerical approaches, 468-469 primary current, 467 quasi-static approximation, 467 brain imaging: auditory evoked fields, 471-472 cortical rhythms and reactivity, 472-473 elliptic foci, 473 cardiac studies: distributed source reconstruction, 475 evoked fields, 475 ventricular preexcitation, 473-474 ventricular tachycardia, 474-475 future trends, 476 historical background, 464 instrumentation, 465-467 multichannel magnetometers, 466-467 neuromagetic field detection, 465-466 MEG and MCG studies, 464-465 modeling issues, 475-476

non-magnetic imaging modalities, 471 source modeling: bioelectric and biomagnetic signals, 470-471 inverse problem, 469-470 regularization and constraints, 470 Magnetocardiography (MCG): analytic solutions, 468 historical background, 464 multichannel magnetometers, 466-467 principles of, 464-465 vs. magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 471 Magnetocrystalline anisotropy energy, Barkhausen effect, 42 equilibrium magnetization distribution, 44 Magnetodiode sensors, properties of, 446 Magnetoelasticity, Barkhausen effect, stress field inhomogeneity, 45-46 Magnetoencephalography (MEG): analytic solutions, 468 epileptic foci, 483 historical background, 464 multichannel magnetometers, 466-467 principles of, 464-465 vs. magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 471 Magnetohydrodynamic (MHD) power generation: rotational transform, 386 superconducting magnets, 113-115 Magnetometers: sensing properties, 445-446 flux-gate magnetometers, 445 search coil magnetometers, 445-446 SQUID magnetometers, 446 superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) as, 525-526 Magnetomotive force, principles of, 9 Magneto-optic sensors: intermediate (soft/hard) magnetic materials for, 40 properties of, 447 Magnetoresistive sensors, properties of, 446 Magnetostriction: Barkhausen effect: stress and noise statistics, 48-49 stress field inhomogeneity, 45-46 ferromagnetic materials, 32 Magnetotransistor sensors, properties of, 446 Magnet stored energy, thin detector solenoid design, 415-416 Magnet technology: adiabatic demagnetization refrigerators (ADR), 54-55 superconductivity research, 4 Main ring, particle accelerators, superconducting magnetics, 577 Mammography, breast cancer diagnostic imaging, 356-357 Manganese, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), 350 Mass flow dependence, cable-in-conduit conductor stability, supercritical helium, 308-309 Matrix/filter systems, magnetic separation, 451-452

Microsyn systems, variable-reluctance

Maximum size of recoverable transition (MSRT) line, cryogenic stabilization, Wipf minimum propagation zone (MPZ), 214-215 Maximum-temperature requirement, quench protection, superconducting particle accelerators, 591 Maximum voltage to ground, superconducting particle accelerators, quench protection, 592 Maxwellian velocity: cyclotron motion, magnetized plasmas, 382 Larmor radius, magnetized plasmas, 382-383 nuclear fusion fuels, 376-377 Maxwell's equations: magnetic flux: Meissner effect, 2 penetration and diffusion, 7-8 plasma equilibrium, 17-18 Povnting flux principles, 7 magnetic levitation: ac levitation, 24 electrodynamic levitation, 24-25 quasi-static approximation, 467 Mean-time-to-failure (MTTF), hightemperature superconductors (HTSs), cryogenic packaging design, 561-562 Mechanical interrupters: cryogenic stabilization, 208 superconducting magnet quenching, coil protection circuits, 67 Medical research, superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) for, 526-527 Meissner effect (Meissner-Ochsenfeld effect): Barkhausen effect, flux pinning and losses in superconductors, 51–52 critical current density, 93-94 critical state magnetization model, 102 - 105magnetic flux line lattice, 95-97 diamagnetic materials, 31 flux creep and FLL melting, 106 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs): microstructures, 285-287 passive microwave devices, 554-555 theoretical background, 260 hysteresis loss, direct-current (dc) magnetization curve, 138-139 magnetic flux and: intermediate state, 19 superconducting properties, 18-19 microwave technology, 152-153 superconducting electronics theory, 116 type I superconductors, 177, 182 type II superconductors, 2-3, 177 Melt-powder-melt growth (MPMG) processing, bulk superconductors, 264texturing process, 265 Melt-texture growth (MTG) process, YBaCuO superconductors, 265 Mercury superconductors: constituents in, 280-281 research background, 1 structural properties, 284-285 substituents in, 293-294

Metal alloys: ductile superconductor metallurgy: APC processing, 304-305 cabling procedures, 304 cold work processing, 300-302 composite assembly, 298-300 conventional processing, 297-298 extrusion, 300 final wire drawing, 303 niobium-titanium alloy system, 296-297, 304 precipitation heat treatment, 302 shaping procedures, 303 theoretical background, 295-296 twisting procedures, 303 Peltier effect in, 500-501 superconductor metallurgy, ternary elements, 201-203 Metal-doping effects, YBCO superconductors, 270-272 Metal-in-gap (MIG) design, write recording heads. 38 Metal-insulator-metal tunneling, Josephson junctions, 163-164 Metallurgical research: ductile superconductor alloys: APC processing, 304-305 cabling procedures, 304 cold work processing, 300-302 composite assembly, 298-300 conventional processing, 297-298 extrusion, 300 final wire drawing, 303 niobium-titanium alloy system, 296-297, 304 precipitation heat treatment, 302 shaping procedures, 303 theoretical background, 295-296 twisting procedures, 303 β-tungsten superconductors, 188-190 Metal-organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD): ferroelectric materials, microwave technology, 491-492 HTS thin films, 273-274 thin-film superconductor substrates, 154 Metal-organic deposition (MOD), HTS thin films, 273-274 Metal oxide semiconductors (MOS), magnetic field sensors, 445 Metal oxide silicon field effect transistors (MOSFETs), quantum Hall effect, 403 Metamagnetism, properties of, 35 Metastability: cable-in-conduit conductors (CICC), 308 niobium-titanium composite superconductor metallurgy, 296-297 M-H curve, ferromagnetic materials, 32-33 Mica capacitors, properties of, 336 Microbridges, Josephson junction, 255 MicroSMES: hybrid UPS system, 510-511 motor drive system, 510 power quality, 511 series-connected systems, 509-510 superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), 546

Microstrip, ferroelectric materials, 492-493

transducer, 438 Microwave technology: alternating current (ac) Josephson effect, 166 electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR), 62-63 ferroelectric materials: applications, 494-498 design models, 492 guiding structures, 492–494 high-temperature superconductors, 498 phased array antenna, 495-497 theoretical background, 491-492 traveling wave antenna, 497-498 tunable filter, 495 varactor device. 494-495 voltage-controlled oscillator, 495 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs): active microwave circuits, 159-162 cryogenic packaging, 540-562 delay lines, 560 film processing technology, 551-553 filter design, 557-560 interaction parameters, 154-156 materials, 153-154 nonlinearity, 155 passive microwave circuits, 156-159, 553-557 theoretical background, 152-153 magnetic materials for, 40-41 MIIT integral, quench protection, superconducting particle accelerators, hot spot temperature, 592 Millikelvin temperature range, Peltier refrigeration, 503-506 Mineral insulated metal sheathed (MIMS) sensors, thermocoupling, 614-615 MINIMAG experiment, low mass thin detector solenoids, 412-413 Minimum norm estimate: bioelectromagnetic source modeling, 470 magnetic source imaging (MSI), distributed sources, 475 Minimum propagation zone (MPZ), cryogenic stabilization, Wipf minimum propagation zone (MPZ), 213-215 Minimum quench energy (MQE), superconducting magnetics, Lorentz force stability, 587-588 Mirror devices, fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, 569-570 Mixer port impedances, Schottky diode mixers, 369 Mixing devices: bolometer mixers, 372 conversion loss, 366 harmonic mixers, 371 high-temperature superconductors, nonlinearity, microwave interaction, 155-156 Josephson junctions, tunneling devices, 169mixer receiver noise, 366 negative resistance diode mixers, 372 parametric frequency conversion, 371-372 Schottky diode mixers, 366-370 applications, 367-368

Mixing devices (continued) converion loss, 369 equivalent noise temperature, 369-370 harmonic balance, large signal analysis, 368 port impedance, 369 small signal analyses, 368-369 self-oscillating mixers, 372 superconducting devices, 372-375 hot electron bolometer (HEB) mixer, 374-375 SIS mixer, 373-374 theoretical background, 363-364 topology and design issues: double balanced mixers, 371 double-double balanced mixers, 371 image rejection/enhancement, 371 single balanced mixers, 370-371 single-ended mixer, 370 two-terminal nonlinear devices: frequency conversion, 364-365 frequency multiplication, 364 harmonic mixing, 365 intermodulation, 365-366 linear mixing, 365 Modeling techniques, magnetic source imaging (MSI), 475-476 Modified variable threshold logic (MVTL): digital superconducting electronic circuits, 121 hysteretic Josephson junction, 129–131 flux quantization, 126 Molecular beam epitaxy (MBE), hightemperature superconductors, thin film development, 246 Molten materials, magnetic levitation, 27 Monochromatic radiation thermometers, operating principles, 620 Monotonic calibration curve, temperature measurement, 604-605 Mott formula, Peltier coefficient, 500-501 Multichannel magnetometers: magnetic source imaging (MSI), 466-467 superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID), gradiometers, 521-522 Multichip module (MCM) technology: microwave applications, 161-162 superconducting electronics applications, 134-136 Multilayer structures, Josephson junctions, circuit integration requirements, 255 Multipacting, superconducting cavity resonators, radio frequency (RF) superconductivity, 530 Multiple sclerosis, diagnostic imaging, 354-355 Multiple stability parameters, cable-inconduit conductor stability, supercritical helium, 310 Multiplexer architecture, high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), filter design, 558-560 Multiplied frequency: frequency converters and mixers, 363-364 parametric frequency conversion, 371-372 Multiplier applications, Hall effect transducer, 407

Multipole expansion, superconducting magnetics, 584 "Mumetal" materials, soft magnetic shields, 39 µSMES (superconducting magnetic energy storage) device: components, 513-514 configuration, 511 design optimization, 516-517 design principles, 515 excess storage (cost) vs. current, 515 excess storage (cost) us. power (ac losses), 515--516 negative attributes, 513 positive attributes, 512-513 power quality, 511-517 vs. other storage devices, 511-512 Mutual flux, properties of, 12 Myocardium, magnetic source imaging (MSI), 467-468 Néel temperature, antiferromagnetism, 34 Negative exchange interaction, ferromagnetic materials, 33 Negative resistance diode mixers, components of, 372 Negative temperature coefficient (NTC) thermistors, semiconductor temperature sensors, 607-608

Neurodegenerative disease, diagnostic imaging, 354–355 Neuromagnetic fields, magnetic source imaging (MSI), 465–466

Neurons, magnetic source imaging (MSI), 467

Neutral beam heating, fusion reactors, 389-390

Next European Torus (NET) project, sheathed flat cable manufacturing, niobium-titanium composite superconductor, 225–226

Niobium-aluminum superconductors: metallurgy, 189–190 production processes, 193 Niobium compounds:

superconducting cavity resonators, 534 Nb/Cu cavities, 538 thermal breakdown, 537-538

superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), 549 Niobium nitride: Josephson circuit fabrication, 122–123 superconductors made from, 187 Niobium technology, Josephson junction, tunneling devices, 170 Niobium-tin electromagnetic superconductor: cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, strand coating, 228–229 coupling current loss, interstrand

resistance, 148 hysteresis loss: anisotropy and variable angle orientation, 140–141 filament diameter, 141 zero-field crossing, 142

metallurgy, 190

NMR magnets, 488 properties of, 109 sheathed flat cable manufacturing, 225-226 strand soldering techniques: flat cables to copper pipe soldering, 224 hollow conductors, 221-222 Niobium-titanium composite superconductor: APC process, 304-305 cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, strand coating, 228-229 coupling current loss, interstrand resistance, 148 hysteresis loss: anisotropy and variable angle orientation, 140-141 filament diameter, 141 zero-field crossing, 141-142 metallurgical research: alloy fabrication, 297-298 APC processing, 304-305 cabling procedures, 304 cold work microstructures, 297, 300-301 cold work processing, 300-302 composite assembly, 298-300 conventional processing, 297-298 extrusion, 300 final wire drawing, 303 metastable phases, 296-297 niobium-titanium alloy system, 296-297, 304 precipitation heat treatment, 302 shaping procedures, 303 stable phases, 296 theoretical background, 295-296 twisting procedures, 303 MRI magnets, 488-489 niobium-titanium-tantalum alloys, 304 NMR magnets, 488 particle accelerators, superconductor magnetics, 579-580 properties of, 109, 187 sheathed flat cable manufacturing, EU-LCT conductor, 224-225 transformer design, 597, 598 Noise: high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), passive microwave devices, 555-556 receiver noise, frequency converters and mixers, 366 Schottky diode mixers, 367-368 super-conducting quantum interference device (SQUID): Josephson junctions, tunneling devices, 168 refrigeration, environmental noise, 522 - 523sensitivity, 519 thermocouple temperature sensors, 615 Noise equivalent power (NEP): bolometric detection, 426 infrared radiation detector, 618-619 Noise equivalent temperature difference (NETD): bolometric detection, 426 pyroelectric IR detectors, amplifier noise, 431

Nondestructive testing: Barkhausen effect, 50-51 superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) for, 526 Nonideal transformer: Barkhausen effect, type II superconductors, 52 properties of, 12 Nonlinearity: high-temperature superconductors, microwave-superconductor interaction, 155-156 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), passive microwave devices, 556-557 temperature sensor resistance, 610 Nonlinear mixer devices, two-terminal nonlinear mixer devices: frequency conversion, 364-365 frequency multiplication, 364 harmonic mixing, 365 intermodulation, 365-366 linear mixing, 365 Nonreciprocal materials, properties of, 40-41 Normal-insulator-normal (NIN) tunneling, Josephson junctions, 163-164 Normal-metal-insulator-superconductor (NIS) tunnel junction: Peltier refrigeration, 503-506 thermoelectric refrigeration, 630-631 Normal resistance (Rn), Josephson junctions, 249-250 trilayer-geometry weak links, 254-255 n-type semiconductor, Peltier refrigeration, 501-506 Nuclear demagnetization refrigerators, properties of, 53-54 Nuclear fusion: fuel sources, 376-380 deuterium fuel, 377 fossil fuel energy density comparisons, 377 - 378lunar helium, 379-380 reduced activation fuels, 379 tritium fuel, 378 tritium production, 378-379 fusion reactors, 375-376 Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR): high-temperature superconductor materials, applications, 278-279 magnets for, 479-480 construction techniques, 487-488 design principles, 480 field measurement applications, 486-487 Legendre functions, 482-484 manufacturing errors, 481 optimization methods, 483-484 shielding, 484 shimming, 484-486 theoretical design, 480-481 principles of, 64 superconducting magnets, 113-115 750 MHz proton frequency, 114 superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) and, 526 Nuclear power ratio, magnetic mirroring, 385

Null-flux geometry, electrodynamic levitation, 26 Numerical techniques, bioelectromagnetic field calculations, 468-469 Nyquist noise, superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID), detection coils, 520-521 Ohmic heating: fusion reactors, 389 thermoelectric refrigeration, 625-627 Ohmic loss, supercapacitor technology, 341 Ohm's law: dynamo action and geomagnetism, 11 magnetic flux penetration and diffusion, 7 - 8microwave-superconductor interaction, 154 - 155**OMEGA** conductor, strand soldering techniques, 220-221 1/f noise, super-conducting quantum interference device (SQUID), 519 One-dimensional model, stability margin calculations in He-I, CICC conductors, 313-314 **Onsager** relation, thermoelectric refrigeration, 626-627 Open gradient magnet systems (OGMS), magnetic separation, 451 Operating current, cable-in-conduit conductor stability, supercritical helium, 309-310 Optimization techniques, magnet design, 483-484 OR gates: complementary output switching logic (COSL) gate, voltage-state logic circuits, 130-131 digital superconducting electronic circuits. hysteretic Josephson junction, 128 - 131rapid single-flux quantum (RFSQ) logic, 133 - 134Osteoarthritis, diagnostic imaging, 360-361 Osteoporosis, diagnostic imaging, 361-362 Output taper, gyrotron technology, 398 Output window, gyrotron technology, 399 Overhead lines, energy storage capacitors, 338 Oxidation pocket, high-temperature superconductors, thin film development, flash evaporation, 245 - 246Oxide layer, electrolytic capacitors, 337 Oxide-powder-in-tube (OPIT) process: cryogenic stabilization, 206 high-temperature superconductors, wire and tape applications, 277 Oxygen stability, high-temperature superconductors (HTSs): thin film development, 241-242 vacancies in, 288

Pair-pair correlations, type I and II superconductors, Bardeen-Cooper-Schreiffer (BCS) theory, 181–182 Paper capacitors, properties of, 336-337 Parallel connections, capacitor energy storage, 334-335 Parallel plate, ferroelectric materials, 493-494 Parallel resonance frequency, quartz temperature sensors, 616 Paramagnetic materials: defined, 30 magnetic refrigeration, 54-55 properties of, 56 properties of, 31 YBCO superconductor substituents, 291 Parameter regime, inertial confinement, fusion reactors, 392 Parametric frequency conversion, topology and components, 371-372 Parkinson's disease, diagnostic imaging, 355 Partial synchronization model, critical current density, scaling laws, flux pinning, 101-102 Particle accelerators: superconducting cavity resonators, 528-529 superconducting magnets, 114-115 bending and focusing magnets, 577-578 coil end design, 584 conductor and conductor insulation, 579-581 cooling mechanisms, 590-591 current-line distribution design. 581-582 field quality issues, 584-587 **HERA**, 578 LHC, 578 mechanical design issues, 587-590 properties of, 578-579 quench performance, 591 quench protection, 591-594 research and development issues, 579 **RHIC**, 578 sagitta, 584 SSC, 578 superconductivity principles, 578 system design, 577 Tevatron, 578 two-dimensional geometry, 582-584 UNK, 578 Particle collisions, Tokamak fusion reactor, confinement design, 388 Paschen curve, superconducting magnet quenching, helium breakdown, 82-83, 88-89 Passing particles, Tokamak fusion reactor, bootstrap current, 391 Passive microwave circuits: antenna, 158-159 delay lines, 159 filters, 157-158 frequency agile devices, 158 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), device fundamentals, 553-557 resonators, 156-157 superconductor materials, surface resistance, 155 theoretical background, 152-153 transmission line, 156 Pauli principle, magnetic materals, 30

Peak surface fields, superconducting cavity resonators, 530-531 Peltier effect: historical and theoretical background, 499-500 metals and semiconductors, 500-501 Millikelvin temperature range, 503-506 refrigeration, 501-503 thermocouple temperature sensors, 613 thermoelectric effect and, 623-624 Pendulum analog: Josephson junctions, 124-125 super-conducting quantum interference device (SQUID), voltage-state logic circuits, 129-131 Penetration depth: high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), 264passive microwave devices, 554-555 Penetration field, hysteresis loss, filament diameter, 141 Permalloy coils: soft magnetic inductors, 37-38 soft magnetic shields, 39 Permanent magnets, levitation of, 23 Permeability, soft magnetic materials, 37 Perovskites: high-temperature superconductors (HTS): Josephson junctions, 249 structural properties, 281-282 YBaCuO superconductors, 283-284 rapid single-flux quantum (RFSQ) logic circuits, 122-123 Perturbation spectrum: flux jump stabilization, 324-326 forced flow superconductor stability vs., 307 - 308Phased array antenna, microwave ferroelectric materials, 495-496 Phase locking, type I and II superconductors, 177 Bardeen-Cooper-Schreiffer (BCS) theory, 182 Phase-sensitive demodulation, linear variable-differential transformer (LVDT), 442-444 Phase shift techniques: ferroelectric lens antenna, 496 resonant-frequency (RF) super-conducting quantum interference device (RF SQUID), 118-119 Phase stability, compact synchrotrons, 543-544 Photon detectors, infrared radiation detector, 619 Physical vapor deposition (PVD): thin film development, high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), 241 thin-film superconductor substrates, 154 Pick-up coils, superconducting magnet quenching detection, voltage sensors, 71 Picture archiving and communication system (PACS), diagnostic imaging storage, 362

Pinning force density (F_p) , superconductor metallurgy, 201–203

Planar junctions: high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), 255 filter design, 558 Planar voids, superconducting magnet quenching, electrical field integrity, 85 Planck's constant: magnetic resonance, 60-61 radiation thermometry, 617 Plant systems, inertial confinement, fusion reactors, 393 Plasma confinement system, Tokamak fusion reactor, 387-388 Plasma equilibrium, magnetic flux surfaces, 16 - 18Plasma exhaust system, Tokamak fusion reactor, 391 Plasma frequency, Josephson junctions, 125 ion-damaged weak links, 253 Plasma heating, tokamak fusion reactor, 389-392 bootstrap current, 390-391 current drive, 390 exhaust system, 391 maintenance and materials, 392 neutral beam injection, 390 tritium breeding and thermal conversion blanket, 392 Plasma oscillation, voltage-state logic punch through, 131 Plasma physics, magnetic confinement fusion. 381-387 closed magnetic field confinement devices. 385 cyclotron motion, 382 Debye length, 381 diamagnetism, 383 Larmor radius, 382-383 magnetic mirror confinement, 383-385 magnetic moments, 383 rotational transform, 385-387 tokamaks, 387 Plastic capacitors, properties of, 337 Plate magnets, separation properties, 457 Platinum compounds, resistance temperature sensors, 605 industrial metal resistance thermometers, 606_607 Pneumonia, chest imaging, 355 "Poisoned" weak links, Josephson junctions, 253Poisson's equation, bioelectromagnetic field calculations, 468 Polar force, magnetic levitation, 22-23 Polarized capacitors, properties of, 337 Polo coil: cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, strand bundling, 229-231 fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, 573-574 Poloidal magnetic flux: demonstration poloidal coil (DPC-EX) coil, sheathed flat cable manufacturing, 227 - 228plasma equilibrium, 16-18 Pool-boiling magnets, superconducting magnet quenching propagation, 78 helium breakdown, 82-83

Position sensors, Hall effect transducers, 407-408 Positive temperature coefficient (PTC) thermistor, semiconductor temperature sensors, 608 Positron emission tomography (PET). See also FDG positron emission tomography (FDG-PET) brain imaging: cerebrovascular disease, 353 neurodegenerative disease, 354-355 tumors, 354 breast cancer, 357 cardiac imaging, 357-358 chest imaging, lung cancer, 355 colorectal tumor imaging, 358-359 diagnostic applications, 352 vs. magnetic source imaging (MSI), 471 Postanneal growth techniques, hightemperature superconductors, thin film development, 243-244 Post-purification process, superconducting cavity resonators, thermal breakdown, 538 Powder metallurgical systems, β-tungsten superconductors, 189-191 Power capacitors, energy storage properties, 338-339 Power devices, soft magnetic materials, 37 Power dissipation, superconducting cavity resonators, 531 Power Doppler ultrasound, principles and applications, 348 Power handling: high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), passive microwave devices, 556-557 thermoelectric conversion, 627 Power quality: data, 507-509 defined, 506 standards, 507 superconducting magnetic energy storage (SMES) configurations, 509-517 hybrid UPS system, 510-511 limits of, 513 microSMES, 511 motor drive system, 510 µSMES, 511-517 series-connected system, 509-510 shunt-connected system, 509 strengths of, 512-513 theoretical background, 506-507 Power supply systems: capacitor energy storage, theoretical background, 330-331 detector magnetics, 416-418 quench back, 417-418 quench protection dump resistor, 416-417 Poynting flux, principles of, 7 Precession, magnetic resonance and, 58-61 Precipitation heat treatment, ductile superconductor metallurgy, 302 Precise resistance sensors, temperature measurement, 605 Precision voltage, active microwave circuits, 161

precompression, 588 Pregnancy, diagnostic imaging, 359 Pressure dependence: cable-in-conduit conductor stability, supercritical helium, 311 superconducting magnet quenching propagation: cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 80-81 pool-boiling magnets, 78 Primary current, magnetic source imaging (MSI), 467 Propagation velocity, cryogenic stabilization, 215Proportional-integral-differential (PID) control algorithms, magnetic levitation bearings, 29 Proportionality coefficient, Peltier effect, 499 - 500Prostate, diagnostic imaging, 359-360 Proton, nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and, 64 Proximity effect, Josephson junctions, 257 - 258Pseudocapacitance, defined, 340 p-type semiconductor, Peltier refrigeration, 501-506 Pullthrough jacketing method, cable-inconduit coil (CICC) systems, 235-237Pulmonary embolism, diagnostic imaging, 355-356 Pulsed gradient coils, MRI magnets, 490 Pulsed laser deeposition (PLD): high-temperature superconductors: thin film development, 244-245 thin film processing, 273 Josephson junctions, resistance control, 258 - 259thin-film superconductor substrates, 154 Pulse power units, capacitor energy storage, 343-344 Pulse-tube cryocoolers, superconducting electronic components, 123 "Punch-through" problem, voltage-state logic circuits, 131 Pyroelectric IR detectors, 430-433 barium strontium titanate pyroelectric detectors, 432 Johnson noise, 431 lead titanate-based detectors, 431-432 operating principles, 430 temperature or radiation noise, 430-431 YBaCuO detectors, 432-433

Precompression phenomenon,

superconducting magnetics, azimuthal

Quadrupole field gradients, particle accelerators, superconducting magnetics, 577–578 Quadrupole magnets: particle accelerators, superconducting magnetics, 577–578 superconducting magnetics, current-line octuplet, 581–582 Quality assurance, fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, 576

high-temperature superconductors (HTSs): filter design, 557-560 passive microwave devices, 553-557 passive microwave circuit resonators, 156 - 157Quantum dots, thermoelectric conversion, 629-630 Quantum flux parametron (QFP), superconducting electronic theory, 122Quantum Hall effect, 403-404 contact resistance, 404 electrical metrology applications, 408-411 sample dependence, 403 semiconductor material dependence, 403 Quantum mechanical exchange energy, Barkhausen effect. 42 Quantum-scale thermoelectric refrigeration, principles of, 629-630 Quantum wiring, Peltier refrigeration, 503 Quartz temperature sensors, properties of, 615-616 Quasi-static approximation, magnetic source imaging (MSI), 467 QUELL system, superconducting magnet quenching detection: advanced voltage sensors, 72-73 fiberoptic temperature sensors, 75 integrated volt-seconds, 74 Quench and melt growth (QMG), YBaCuO superconductors, 265 Quench back, detection magnetics, 417-418 Quench detection, superconducting particle accelerators, 592 Quenching, superconducting magnetics: detector magnetics, 416-418 quench back, 417-418 quench protection dump resistor, 416-417 electromagnetic superconductor protection, 111 fusion reactors, superconducting magnetic protection, 575 NMR magnets, 488 particle accelerators: performance, 591 protection, 591-594 quench detection, 70-76 advanced techniques, 72-75 voltage sensors, 71-72 quench propagation, 77-82 adiabatic (potted) magnets, 77-78 CICC magnets, 78-80 long coil solutions, 80-82 pool-boiling magnets, 78 quench protection: adiabatic protection criterion, 76-77 coil protection circuits, 65-70 dump resistor, detection magnetics, 416-417 heaters, superconducting particle accelerators, 591-592 principles of, 64-65 superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), 546-548

Quality factor (Q):

Racetrack coil design, superconducting magnetics, 584 Radial support, superconducting magnetics, 588-589 Radiation noise, pyroelectric IR detectors, 431-432 Radiation ratio thermometers, operating principles, 620-621 **Radiation thermometry:** infrared radiation sensors, 618-619 monochromatic radiation thermometers, 620 operating principles, 616-621 radiation ratio thermometers, 620-621 wide-band radiation thermometers. 619 - 620Radiation thickness, thin detector solenoid design, 413-416 Radio astromony, superconducting electronics applications, 117 Radio frequency (RF): electromagnetic fields, fusion reactor confinement, 380 launcher system, gyrotron technology, 398-399 Schottky diode mixer applications, 367 soft magnetic inductors, 38 superconducting cavity resonators: superconductivity principles, 529-530 surface resistance, 533 Radio frequency superconducting quantum interference device (RF SQUID): applications, 118-119 characteristics, 518 historical and theoretical background, 117-118 input circuits, 520-522 Josephson junctions, tunneling devices, 168-169 sensitivity, 519 Radiology. See also Diagnostic imaging brain imaging, 353-355 angiography, 354 cerebrovascular disease, 353 demyelinating disorders, 355 neurodegenerative disease, 354-355 tumors, 354 breast cancer, 356-357 chest imaging, 355-356 lung cancer, 355 pulmonary embolism, 355-356 interventional, 353 Radiology information systems (RIS), diagnostic imaging storage, 362 Radionuclide emission imaging (nuclear medicine imaging): bone tumor imaging, 361 diagnostic applications, 351-353 positron emission tomography (PET), 352 single-photon emission tomography (SPECT), 352-353 Ramp junctions. See also Edge-geometry weak links Josephson junctions, high-temperature superconductor (HTS) materials, 171Random access memory (RAM), intermediate (soft/hard) magnetic materials for, 40

Rapid single-flux quantum (RSFQ) logic: active microwave circuits, 161 alternating current (ac) Josephson effect, 166 components of, 131-134 digital superconducting electronic circuits, 120-122 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), 122 - 123Josephson junction, tunneling devices, 170 Rare-earth metals, ferromagnetic materials, 32Rate-damp limit, cable-in-conduit conductor stability, 315 React-and-wind technology: sheathed flat cable manufacturing, ETL prototype, 226-227 strand soldering techniques, flat cables to copper pipe soldering, 224 superconductor metallurgy: stabilization and barriers, 195-196 ternary elements, 201-203 Reactive coevaporation, high-temperature superconductors, thin film development, 246 Read heads, soft magnetic materials, 38-39 Readout integrated circuits (ROICs), bolometric detection, 426-428 Receiver noise, frequency converters and mixers, 366 Reciprocating magnetic separators, properties of, 458 Recording media: Barkhausen noise, 51 intermediate (between soft and hard) materials 40 soft magnetic materials: read heads, 38-39 write heads, 38 Rectangular waveguide, ferroelectric materials, 493-494 Redox supercapacitors, defined, 340 Reduced activation fuels, nuclear fusion, 379 Reduced dimensionality systems, Peltier refrigeration, 503 Reference junction correction, thermocouple temperature sensors, 615 **Reflection high-energy electron diffraction** (RHEED), high-temperature superconductors, thin film development, in situ monitoring, 246 - 247**Refrigeration**: adiabatic demagnetization refrigerators (ADR): components of, 54-55 historical background, 55 properties of, 53-54 refrigerant construction (salt pill), 56 temperature regulation, 57-58 Peltier effect, 501-506 millikelvin temperature range, 503–506 superconducting cavity resonators, 531 - 532superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID), 522-523 closed cycle refrigeration, 522

environmental noise, 522-523 thermoelectric conversion: cryogenic cooling, 628-629, 631 principles of, 625-627 quantum-scale refrigeration, 629-630 superconducting tunnel junction, 630-631 Relative permeability, soft magnetic materials, 37 Relaxation phenomenon, magnetic resonance, 60-61 Reluctance, magnetomotive force, 9 Remanence: Barkhausen effect, 42 ferromagnetic materials, 33 Reproducibility, Josephson junctions, limits on, 259 Residual magnetization, hysteresis loss, 138 - 139**Residual resistance ratio (RRR):** coupling current loss, 148 low mass thin detector solenoids, 412-413 superconducting cavity resonators: cavity fabrication and surface preparation, 534 radio frequency (RF) surface resistance, 533 thermal breakdown, 537-538 Resistance: Josephson junctions, control of, 258-259 temperature sensor resistance, 609-611 Resistance temperature detector (RTD), industrial metal resistance thermometers, 606-607 **Resistance temperature sensors:** industrial metal resistance sensors. 605-607 precise resistance sensors, 605 properties of, 605-607 Resistive electrical shims, magnet design, 486 Resistively and capacitively shunted junction (RCSJ), Josephson effect, 251 Resistively shunted junction (RSJ) model: active microwave circuits, 159-160 Josephson junctions, 124-125 principles of, 249-250 tunneling devices, 166-169 Resistive measurement, critical current density, 92-94 Resistive solenoid electromagnets, 455 Resistive temperature sensors, lowtemperature ranges, 612 Resistive transition analysis, flux flow state, 105 Resonators, passive microwave circuits, 156-157 Retention time, magnetic separation and, 452 - 453Reverse geometry imaging, digital x-ray systems and radiology, 347 Reverse shear mode, Tokamak fusion reactor, 389 Reynold's number, magnetic flux penetration and diffusion, 8 Rheumatoid arthritis, diagnostic imaging, 360-361 **RHIC** particle accelerator:

cable insulation, 581 characteristics of, 578 collar and yoke design, 590 Risk assessment, fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, 576 **RKKY** interaction, ferromagnetic materials, 31 Rolling assisted biaxially textured substrates (RABiTS), hightemperature superconductors, wire and tape applications, 277 Root-mean-square (rms) fluctuation. Schottky diode mixers, 367 Rotary variable-differential transformer, magnetic sensing, 444-445 Rotary variable-reluctance sensors, properties of, 436-437 Rotating magnetic field, ac generators, 14 Rotational transform, nuclear reactors, 385-386 Rutherford cables: coupling loss, 147 particle accelerators, superconductor magnetics, 580 Safety issues, cryogenic stabilization, 216-217 Sagitta bending, superconducting magnetics, 584 Salt pills, adiabatic demagnetization refrigerators (ADR), 56 Saturation magnetization: coupling current loss, 146 ferromagnetic materials, 31-32 Scaling laws, critical current density, flux pinning models, 100-102 Schmitt-trigger circuit, Hall effect position sensors, 408 Schottky diode mixers, frequency mixing, 366-370 applications, 367-368 converion loss, 369 equivalent noise temperature, 369-370 harmonic balance, large signal analysis, 368 port impedance, 369 small signal analyses, 368-369 Schrödinger equation, Josephson junctions, 123 - 124Scintimammography, breast cancer imaging, 357Search coil magnetometers, properties of, 445-446 Second Law of Thermodynamics, µSMES (superconducting magnetic energy storage) device, 513 Seebeck effect: Peltier refrigeration, 502 theoretical background, 499-500 thermocouple temperature sensors, 612-613 thermoelectric effect and, 623-624 Self-field limitation: depairing critical current density, 94 hysteresis loss, 143-144 Self-oscillating mixers, characteristics of, 372

Smooth pipe conductors, forced flow

Semiconductors: Peltier effect in, 500-501 doping techniques, 502-503 superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), 548-549 temperature sensors, 607-609 active sensors, 609 bulk silicon sensors, 608-609 thermistors, 607-608 thermoelectric refrigeration, 626-627 Sensitivity devices: electromagnetic interference, 448 super-conducting quantum interference device (SQUID), 519 Sensor technology, magnetic levitation bearings, 29 Serial resonance frequency, quartz temperature sensors, 616 Series connections: capacitor energy storage, 335 superconducting magnetic energy storage (SMES) device, 509-510 superconducting particle accelerators, quench protection, magnet string, 592-593 Series interleaf protection circuits, superconducting magnet quenching: coil protection circuits, 68 cold dump circuits, 68-69 Shajii quench theory, superconducting magnet quenching propagation, cablein-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 79-81 Shape anisotropy: ductile superconductor metallurgy, 303 ferromagnetic materials, 32 Shapiro steps: alternating current (ac) Josephson effect, tunneling devices, 165-166 Josephson effect, 251 Josephson junctions, grain boundaries, 251Shear model, flux line lattice, summation theory, 100 Sheathed flat cables, forced flow manufacturing, 224-228 DPC-EX JAERI conductor, 227-228 ETL wind-and-react flat conductor, 226 - 227EU-LCT conductor, 224-225 niobium-tin sheathed flat cables, 225-226 TMC-FF JAERI conductor, 227 "Shell effect," flux jump stabilization: dynamic stability criterion, 321 heat transfer coefficients, 322-324 Shielding currents: critical current density, 93-94 magnetic flux line lattice, 94-97 magnet design, MRI systems, 484 MRI magnets, 489-490 superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL), quenching applications, 547 - 548super-conducting quantum interference device (SQUID), refrigeration shielding, 523 Shielding loss, electromagnetic superconductor, time-varying field operation, 112

Shielding sensors, electromagnetic interference, 448 Shields, soft magnetic materials, 39 Shimming, magnet design, 484-486 ferromagnetic shims, 485-486 resistive electrical shims, 486 superconducting axial shims, 484-485 superconducting radial shims, 485 Shockley theory, active semiconductor sensors, 609 Short coil properties, superconducting magnet quenching propagation, cablein-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 80 Shot noise, Schottky diode mixers, 367 Shunt-connected SMES, configuration, 509 - 510Shunt impedance, superconducting cavity resonators, 532-533 Sideband noise: frequency converters and mixers, mixer receiver noise, 366 Schottky diode mixers, 370 Signal analysis, Schottky diode mixers, 368-369 Signal attenuation, superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID), detection coils, 520-521 Signal-to-noise ratio, bolometric detection, 426 Signal transformers, soft magnetic inductors, 37-38 Silicon-iron alloys, power transformers, 37 Silsbee's hypothesis: cryogenic stabilization, 205 depairing critical current density, 94 Single balanced mixer, topology and design, 370-371 Single-coil linear variable-reluctance sensor, properties of, 436-437 Single-electron logic (SEL), Josephson junction tunneling devices, 170 Single ended mixer, topology and design, 370 Single-photon emission tomography (SPECT): brain imaging: cerebrovascular disease, 353 tumors, 354 breast cancer imaging, 357 chest imaging, lung cancer, 355 diagnostic applications, 352-353 Single sideband (SSB) noise, frequency converters and mixers, 366 SINIS Peltier refrigerator, configuration, 505-506 Sinusoidally wound stator, ac generators, 14 - 15Skeletal system, diagnostic imaging, 360 - 362Skin effect, microwave-superconductor interaction, 154-155 Slab models, flux jump stabilization, 318 Slew rate limitation, active magnetic bearings (AMBs), 29 Slotline, ferroelectric materials, 493 Small perturbation, flux jump stabilization, critical current density (J_z) , 324–326 Small signal analysis, Schottky diode mixers, 368-369

manufacturing, 218-224 electroplating assembly, 219-220 strand soldering, central copper pipe, 220-224 superconductor pipes, 218-219 Snoek's law: ferrimagnetism, 35 soft magnetic inductors, 38 Soft magnetic materials: inductors, 37-38 permeability, 37 power devices, 37 properties and applications, 37-39 read heads, 38-39 shields, 39 write heads, 38 Solenoids: detector solenoid design criteria: coil electrical connections and leads, 419 cold mass support system, 418-419 cryogenic heat sink support structure, 419 gyrotron systems, 397 high-energy physics particle detector magnetics, 412-413 coil electrical connections and leads, 419 - 420cold mass support system, 418-419 cryogenic heat sink solenoid support, 419 detector solenoid end design criteria, 418-420 historical background, 412 low mass thin detector magnets, 412-413 thin solenoid design criteria, 413-416 thin solenoid parameters, 413 high-temperature superconducting (HTS) electromagnets, 456 low-temperature superconducting (LTS) electromagnets, 455-456 magnet design theory, 480-481 manufacturing errors, 481 resistive solenoid electromagnets, 455 Solid-state reaction processing, YBCO bulk superconductors, 265 Solid-state refrigeration, Peltier effect, 501 - 506Solid waste remediation, magnetic separator equipment, 461-462 Source modeling, magnetic source imaging (MSI): bioelectric and biomagnetic signals, 470-471 inverse problem, 469-470 regularization and constraints, 470 Spatially changing magnetic field, coupling current loss, 147 Spherical inclusions, Barkhausen effect, domain wall pinning, 47 Spherical void, superconducting magnet quenching, electrical field integrity, 85 Spinel ferrites: ferrimagnetism, 35 nonreciprocal materials, 41 Spin glass state, properties of, 35-36

Spin-lattice relaxation time, magnetic resonance, 61 Spin-orbit coupling, ferromagnetic materials, Spin-spin relaxation, magnetic resonance, 61 Sputtering techniques, high-temperature superconductors: metal-organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD), 273-274 thin film development, 244, 273 Stability criteria: cryogenic stabilization, 209 Maddock-James-Norris equal-area theorem, 212-213 Stekly criterion, 209-212 vs. flux-jump stabilization, 208 Wipf minimum propagation zone (MPZ), 213 - 215flux jump stabilization, 319 adiabatic criterion, 319-320 cryogenic criterion, 321 dynamic criterion, 320-321 equations and calculations, 317-319 general stability criterion, 319 homogeneous composites, 321-322 nomenclature, 327 outer shell thickness and heat transfer, 322-324 sample determinations, 324 small perturbation, critical state model, 324-326 theoretical background, 317 forced flow superconductors: cable-in-conduit conductors, 308-314 energy balance, 312-313 He-I stability calculations, 312-313 He-II stability calculations, 314-315 one-dimensional model, 313-314 vs. perturbation spectrum, 307-308 principles of, 306-308 Stekly criterion, 306-307 transient heat transfer, 315-316 zero-dimensional model, 313 Stability margin (ΔE), cable-in-conduit conductors (CICC), 308 He-I calculations, 312-314 supercritical helium, 308-311 superfluid helium (He-II), 311-312, 314-315 Stabilization methods: cryogenic stabilization: advanced theory and thermal management problems, 215 early magnet applications, 206-207 historical background, 204-206 instability disturbances, 207-208 distributed heat source, 208 flux jumps, 207-208 mechanical disturbances, 208 safety issues, 216-217 techniques for, 208-215 Maddock-James-Norris equal-area theorem, 212-213 Stekly criterion, 209-212 vs. flux-jump stabilization, 208 Wipf minimum propagation zone (MPZ), 213-215 thermophysical and heat data, 215-216

superconductor metallurgy, 195-200 cabling degradation, 197 stress and strain, 197-200 Stabilizer materials, ductile superconductor metallurgy, composite assembly, 298-299 Stable phases, niobium-titanium composite superconductor metallurgy, 296 Standard platinum resistance thermometer (SPRT): curcuit measurement, 610-611 low-temperature resistive sensors, 612 precise resistance sensors, 605 Standing wave ratio (SWR), ferroelectric lens antenna, 497 Steady state coupling loss, formulas for, 145 Steady-state errors, temperature sensors, 621-622 Stefan-Boltzmann constant: bolometric detection, 425 wide-band radiation thermometers, 619-620 Stekly criterion: cryogenic stabilization, 209-212 forced flow superconductors, 306-307 Stellarators: fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, 574–575 rotational transform production, 386-387 STEP-1 prototype, sheathed flat cable manufacturing, TMC-FF JAERI conductor, 227 Step-edge grain boundary junctions, hightemperature superconductors (HTSs), 252Step-edge SNS junctions, high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), 253-254 Stewart-McCumber parameter: active microwave circuits, 159-160 Josephson junctions, resistively shunted junction (RSJ) model, 167 Stirling cryocooler, superconducting electronic components, 123 Stokes' theorem, magnetic flux and vector potential, 6 Strand coating, cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 228-229 Strand geometry: cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 229-230 ductile superconductor metallurgy, 299-300 Strand soldering techniques, smooth pipe conductors, 220-224 flat cable solder to copper pipes, 223-224 LCT conductor, 222-223 niobium-tin hollow conductor, 221-222 OMEGA conductor, 220-221 Stray coil capacitance, superconducting magnet quenching, 85-86 Stress-acceleratedgrainboundaryoxidation (SAGBO), cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, incoloy 908 conduit, 233 Stress cone/stress grading materials, superconducting magnet quenching, insulating surface tracking, 87-88 Stress effects, Barkhausen noise, 48

Stress fields, Barkhausen effect, inhomogeneity, 45-46 Stress/strain characteristics, superconductor metallurgy, 197-200 Stroke, brain imaging techniques, 353 Strong focusing technique: alternating gradient machines, compact synchrotrons, 544 magnetic levitation, 26 Strontium-titanate bicrystal: direct-current (dc) super-conducting quantum interference device (dc SQUID), 127-128 high-temperature superconductors, thin film development, 243 Substituents, high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), 287-294 Bi-, Tl-, and Hg-based compounds, 293-294 La-(Ba,Sr,Ca)-Cu-O and Nd(Ce)-CuO compounds, 288-290 oxygen and oxygen vacancies, 288 YBCO compounds, 290-293 Substrate composition, high-temperature superconductors, thin film development, 243 Summation theory, critical current density, flux pinning, 99-100 Supercapacitors: applications, 342-344 intermediate storage, 343 pulse power units, 343-344 transport applications, 342-343 energy storage properties, 339-342 design technology, 340-341 equivalent circuits, 341 integration techniques, 341-342 Superconducting axial shims, magnet design, 484-485 Superconducting cavity resonators: fabrication and surface preparation, 534 figures of merit, 530 future research issues, 538-539 niobium/copper cavities, 538 overlapping field emission, 534-536 passive microwave circuits, 156-157 peak surface fields, 530-531 power dissipation, 531 radio frequency (RF) superconductivity principles, 529-530 radio frequency (RF) surface resistance, 533refrigerator requirements, 531-532 shunt impedance, 532-533 theoretical background, 528-529 thermal breakdown, 536-538 thermometry based diagnostics, 531 Superconducting critical current. See also Critical current density defined, 91-92 Superconducting cyclotrons, theory and principles of, 540-542 Superconducting electromagnets: forces and stress, 112-115 high-temperature superconductors, 109 - 110properties of, 107-108 protection issues, 111-112

stability, 110-111 technical superconductors, 108-109 time-varying operation, 112 Superconducting electronics: digital electronic principles, 128-134 applications and future research, 134-136 rapid-single-flux-quantum (RSFQ) logic, 131-134 voltage-state logic, 128-131 historical and theoretical background, 116-123 principles, 123-128 dc superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) magnetometer, 126-128 flux quantization, 125-126 Josephson junctions and Josephson effect. 123-125 Superconducting fault current limiters (SFCL): cryogenics, 549-550 electric utility grid application, 545-546 ferromagnetic types, 548 quenching types, 546-548 semiconductor types, 548-549 superconductor requirements, 549 theoretical background, 544--545 Superconducting levitation: applications, 567-568 bearing properties, 566-567 levitational phenomenology, 565-566 operating principles, 564-565 stable levitation, 563-564 theoretical models, 566 Superconducting magnetic energy storage (SMES) device: capacitor energy storage, 331 high-temperature superconductor materials, 279 power quality, 509-517 hybrid UPS system, 510-511 limits of, 513 microSMES, 511 motor drive system, 510 µSMES, 511-517 series-connected system, 509-510 shunt-connected system, 509 strengths of, 512-513 Superconducting magnetics: case histories, 89 cyclotron and synchrotron theory, 540 electrical integrity, 82-89 design allowables, 88 field concentrations, 83-84 helium breakdown, 82-83, 88-89 insulating surface tracking, 86-88 insulation voids, 84-85 stray coil capacitance, 85-86 examples of, 113-115 fusion reactors: coil structures, 569-575 cost optimization, 575-576 design issues, 575-576 electrical insulation design, 575 mirror devices, 569-570 quench protection, 575 risk and quality assurance, 576

stellarators, 574-575 theoretical background, 568-569 tokamaks, 570-574 particle accelerators, 114-115 bending and focusing magnets, 577-578 coil end design, 584 conductor and conductor insulation, 579-581 cooling mechanisms, 590-591 current-line distribution design, 581-582 field quality issues, 584-587 **HERA**, 578 LHC. 578 mechanical design issues, 587-590 properties of, 578-579 quench performance, 591 quench protection, 591-594 research and development issues, 579 **RHIC**, 578 sagitta, 584 SSC, 578 superconductivity principles, 578 system design, 577 Tevatron, 578 two-dimensional geometry, 582-584 **UNK**, 578 quench detection, 70-76 advanced techniques, 72-75 voltage sensors, 71-72 quench propagation, 77-82 adiabatic (potted) magnets, 77-78 CICC magnets, 78-80 long coil solutions, 80-82 pool-boiling magnets, 78 quench protection: adiabatic protection criterion, 76-77 coil protection circuits, 65-70 principles of, 64-65 Superconducting pipes, forced flow manufacturing, 218-219 Superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID): active microwave circuits. 159-162 analog-to-ditigal converter (ADC) applications, 135-136 applications, 523-527 geophysical applications, 526 laboratory applications, 523-526 medical applications, 526-527 nondestructive testing and evaluation, 526bulk superconductor structural characterization, 267 dc SQUID magnetometer, 126-128 flux quantization, 126 high-temperature superconductor materials, applications, 278-279 historical and theoretical background, 117-118 input circuits, 520-522 detection coils, 520-521 gradiometers, 521-522 Josephson effect, 517-518 Josephson junctions, 125 ramp junctions, 171-172 step-edge grain boundary junctions, 252 - 253

tunneling devices, 167-169 limitations on, 519 magnetic source imaging (MSI), neuromagnetic fields, 465-466 magnetometer/susceptometer applications, 525-526 magnometer sensing, 446 operating principles: dc SQUID, 518-519 RF SQUID, 518 sensitivity parameters, 519 principles of, 517 quantum Hall effect and, 411 refrigeration, 522-523 closed cycle refrigeration, 522 environmental noise, 522 noise reduction, 523 shielded rooms, 523 tunneling devices, Josephson junctions, theoretical background, 163 voltage-state logic circuits, two- and onejunction models, 129-131 Superconducting radial shims, magnet design, 485 Superconducting Supercollider (SSC): cable insulation, 581 characteristics of, 578 Superconducting tunnel junction, thermoelectric refrigeration, 630-631 Superconducting upconverting parametric amplifier, development of, 119 Superconductivity: critical magnetic fields and critical temperatures, 1–2 engineering applications, 3-4 historical background, 1 Meissner effect, 2-3 theoretical development, 4 Superconductor-insulator-normal (SIN) tunnel device, Josephson junctions, 164 Superconductor-insulator-superconductor (SIS) tunnel device: active microwave circuits, 161 frequency conversion and mixing, 372-374 Josephson junctions, 125 magnetic-field effects, 166 mixing and detection, 169 properties of, 164-165 ramp junctions, 171-172 resistively shunted junction (RSJ) model, 166-167 Superconductor-normal-superconductor (SNS) tunnel device: alternating current (ac) Josephson effect, 165-166 edge-geometry weak links, 254 Josephson junctions: circuit integration requirements, 255-256 high-temperature superconductor (HTS) materials, 171 proximity effect, 258 ramp junctions, 171-172 resistance control, 258-259 step-edge SNS junctions, 253-254

Superconductors: Barkhausen effect, flux pinning and losses in. 51-52 beta-tungsten, metallurgy, 188-190 bronze conductors, 194-195 heat-treatment principles and conditions, 200-201 magnetic flux and, 18-22 ac performance, 21-22 intermediate state, 19 properties of, 18-19 type II superconductors, 19-21 production methods, 190-194 bronze process, 191 composite diffusion process, 190 external diffusion process, 192 internal tin process, 191-192 ielly roll process, 192 niobium-aluminum production, 193-194 powder metallurgy process, 190-191 in situ process, 192 surface diffusion process, 190 tube process, 193 properties of, 187 stabilization and barriers, 195-200 cabling degradation, 197 stress and strain, 197-200 ternary elements, 201-203 Supercritical helium: cable-in-conduit conductor stability: heating time scale, 310 mass flow dependence, 308-309 multiple stability, 310 operating current dependence, 309-310 operating field dependence, 310 temperature and pressure parameters, 311 superconductor magnetic cooling, 590 Superdirective antennas, passive microwave circuits, 158 Super exchange. See Indirect exchange Superfluid helium (He-II): cable-in-conduit conductor (CICC) stability, stability margin, 311-312, 314-315 superconductor magnetic cooling, 590-591 Superparamagnetism, properties of, 36 Surface acoustic wave (SAW) filters, passive microwave circuits, 157-158 Surface diffusion process, B-tungsten superconductor production, 190 Surface impedance, high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), passive microwave devices, 554-555 Surface resistance/reactance: microwave-superconductor interaction, 154 - 155passive microwave circuits, 156 superconducting cavity resonators, 533 Surface superconductivity, type I and II superconductors, 184 Susceptometers, superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) as, 525-526 Symmetry properties, diode mixers, 370 Synchros, magnetic sensing, 438-439 Synchrotron oscillations, compact synchrotrons, 543-544

543-544 Tachogenerators, variable-reluctance tachogenerators, 437-438 Tape materials: high-temperature superconductors (HTSs): first generation processes, 276 **OPIT method**, 276 second generation, YBCO conductors, 276 - 277β-tungsten superconductor metallurgy, 189-190 **TBCCO** films, high-temperature superconductors, processing technology, 551-553 Technical superconductors: composite superconductors, 108-109 high-current superconductors, 109 niobium-tin, 109 niobium-titanium, 109 properties of, 107-109 Temperature coefficient of resistance (TCR), bolometric detection, 424-425 YBaCuO semiconductors, 428-429 Temperature dependence: Barkhausen noise, 48-49 cable-in-conduit conductor stability, supercritical helium, 311 critical current density, scaling laws, flux pinning, 102 flux creep and FLL melting, 105-106 magnetic refrigeration, 57-58 passive microwave circuits, transmission lines, 156 pyroelectric IR detector noise, 430-431 Temperature sensors: errors and uncertainties, 621-622 dynamic errors, 622 steady-state errors, 621-622 international temperature scale (ITS), 603-604 measurement principles, 604-605 physical properties, 602-603 quartz temperature sensors, 615-616 radiation thermometry, 616-621 infrared radiation sensors, 618-619 monochromatic radiation thermometers, 620 radiation ratio thermometers, 620-621 wide-band radiation thermometers, 619-620 resistance measurement, 609-611 resistance sensors, 605-607 industrial metal resistance sensors. 605-607 precise resistance sensors, 605 resistive sensors, low temperature ranges, 612 semiconductor sensors, 607-609 active semiconductor sensors, 609 bulk silicon sensors, 608 thermistors, 607-608 thermocouple sensors, 612-615

Synchrotron radiation:

applications and characteristics, 542-543

compact synchrotron, operating principles,

Ternary elements, superconductor metallurgy, 201-203 Tevatron superconducting particle accelerator: cable insulation, 581 characteristics of, 578 Thallate superconductors: bulk processing, 265-266 constituents in, 280-281 structural, electrical, and magnetic properties, 268-270 structural properties, 284-285 substituents in, 293-294 Thallination process, HTS thin film production, 274 Thermal breakdown, superconducting cavity resonators, 536-538 Thermal conductivity, flux jump stabilization, 321 Thermal conversion blanket, tokamak fusion reactor, 392 Thermal diffusion, cable-in-conduit conductor stability, supercritical helium, 309 Thermal-hydraulic quenchback (THQB), superconducting magnet quenching propagation, cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 81-82 Thermal noise: infrared radiation detector, 618-619 Schottky diode mixers, 367 Thermistors: low-temperature resistive sensors, 612 semiconductor temperature sensors, 607-608 Thermocouple temperature sensors: circuit measurement, 615 physical principles, 612-613 sensor design, 614-615 thermocouple properties, 613-614 Thermodynamic stability, thin film development, 241-242 Thermoelectric conversion: efficiency technology, 627-628 future research issues, 631-632 power generation, 627 refrigeration: cryogenic cooling, 628-629, 631 principles of, 625-627 quantum-scale refrigeration, 629-630 superconducting tunnel junction, 630 - 631theoretical background, 623 thermoelectric effects, 623-624 Thermoelectric effects: theoretical background, 499 thermoelectric conversion, 623-624 Thermometry-based diagnostics, superconducting cavity resonators, 531Thermophysical data, cryogenic stabilization, 215-216 Thermopiles, infrared radiation detector, 618-619 Thevenin equivalent resistance, temperature sensors, 610 Thin detector solenoids: cryogenic cooling, 420-422

design criteria, 413-416 low mass technology, 412-413 parameter definition, 413 Thin film magnetic materials: ferroelectric materials, microwave technology, 491-492 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs): applications, 278-279 device processing, 552 epitaxy, 242-243 flash evaporation, 245-246 historical background, 240-241 laser ablation, 244-245 materials, 241 metal-organic chemical vapor deposition, 273-274 microwave packaging, 552-553 molecular beam epitaxy, 246 physical/chemical deposition techniques, 271, 273 postanneal techniques, 243-244 processed film characterization, 274 processing technology, 551-553 pulsed laser deposition, 273 reactive coevaporation, 246 in situ techniques, 244, 246-247 in situ vs. ex-situ processing, 271 sputtering, 244, 273 structural, electrical, and mechanical properties, 274-276 thermodynamics, 241-242 properties of, 36 sensing properties, 447 write heads, 38 Thin-film superconductors: microwave technology materials, substrates for, 153-154 thermoelectric conversion, 628 Third-order intercept (TOI), hightemperature superconductors. nonlinearity, microwave interaction, 155 - 156Thomson effect: theoretical background, 499-500 thermocouple temperature sensors, 613 thermoelectric effect and, 623-624 Three-conductor belted cables, energy storage capacitors, 338 Three-terminal tunneling devices, Josephson junctions, 172-173 Time decay, superconducting magnetics, 586 Time-dependent equation, superconducting magnet quenching propagation, cablein-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 79 Time-varying field: charged-particle motion, magnetic flux, 16 electromagnetic superconductor operation, 112 Titanium dioxide, magnetic separation, 460 TMC-FF conductor, sheathed flat cable manufacturing, 227 Tokamak fusion reactor, 387-392 anomalous diffusion, 388 bootstrap current, 390-391 confined particle collision, 388 current drive, 390 enhanced confinement, 388-389 enhanced reversed shear mode, 389

inductive plasma current, 387 maintenance and materials, 392 neutral beam injection, 390 plasma confinement system, 387-388 plasma exhaust system, 391-392 plasma heating methods, 389-390 plasma limiters, 387 rotational transform production, 387 superconducting magnetics: coil structure, 570-574 quenching, multiple magnets, 68 tritiuim breeding and thermal conversion blanket, 392 Toroidal coils: fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, 570-574 sheathed flat cable manufacturing, TMC-FF JAERI conductor, 227 superconducting magnets, 113 Toroidal geometry: magnetic flux and fields, 8-9 plasma equilibrium, 16-18 nuclear reactors, rotational transform, 385-386 Torque, magnetic resonance and, 58-61 Training phenomenon, cryogenic stabilization, 207 forced flow superconductors, 307-308 Transformative sensors, properties of, 440-445 linear variable-differential transformer (LVDT), 441-444 rotary variable-differential transformer, 444-445 Transformers: magnetic flux, 11-13 soft magnetic materials, 37 superconductivity principles: configuration, 597 design and analysis, 597-600 state-of-the-art technology, 600--601 theoretical background, 596-597 Transient coupling loss, formulas for, 145-146 Transient heat transfer, cable-in-conduit conductor stability, 315--316 Transistor sensors, active semiconductor sensors, 609 Transition metals, superconductivity research, 1-2 Transit time factor, superconducting cavity resonators, 530 Transmission line: microwave technology, ferroelectric materials, 492 passive microwave circuits, 156 Transport applications, capacitor storage in, 342 - 343Transport currents: coupling loss in, 146-147 critical current density, 93-94 flux jump stabilization, equations and calculations, 317-318 hysteresis loss, 142-143 processed superconducting thin films, 274Transrectal ultrasound (TRUS), prostate imaging, 359-360

Transverse resistivity, coupling current loss, 144 - 145Trapped particles, Tokamak fusion reactor, bootstrap current, 391 Traveling normal zones (TNZs), cryogenic stabilization, 215 Traveling wave antenna, ferroelectric materials, 497-498 Trilayer-geometry weak links, Josephson junctions, 254-255 Tritium fuel: nuclear fusion: decay, 378 production, 378-379 Tokamak fusion reactor, breeding and thermal conversion blanket, 392 Tube mill jacketing process, cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 234-235 Tube process, 8-tungsten superconductors, 192 Tuberculosis, chest imaging, 355 Tunable filters, microwave ferroelectric materials, 495 Tune resonators, magnetic levitation, 26 β-Tungsten superconductors, metallurgy, 188-190 Tunneling devices, Josephson junction: alternating current Josephson effect, 164-166 digital applications, 169-170 high-temperature superconductor systems, 170-172 magnetic-field effects, 166 metal-insulator-metal (MIM) tunneling, 163-164 mixing and detection, 169 related superconductive devices, 173 resistively shunted junction (RSJ) model, 166 - 167superconducting quantum interference devices (SQUID), 167-169 theoretical background, 163 three-terminal devices, 172-173 Twisting process, ductile superconductor metallurgy, 303 Two-dimensional geometry, superconducting magnetics, 582-584 coil geometry, 582 current shell approximations, 582-583 iron yoke contribution, 583 limits of coil geometry, 584 operating margin, 583-584 symmetry parameters, 582 Two-dimensional scanning, ferroelectric lens antenna, 496 Two-fluid superconductor model, microwavesuperconductor interaction, 154-155 Two-terminal nonlinear mixer devices: frequency conversion, 364-365 frequency multiplication, 364 harmonic mixing, 365 intermodulation, 365-366 linear mixing, 365 Type I superconductors: BCS theory and, 180-181 pair-pair correlations, 181-182 Cooper paring, 181

Type I superconductors (continued) critical magnetic field parameters, 184-185 electromagnetic properties, 107 examples of, 177-180 high-temperature materials, 180 intermediate materials, 178 low-temperature materials, 178-180 Ginzburg-Landau equations, 182-183 hysteresis loss, 138 Meissner flux exclusion, 182 phase locking and wave function rigidity, 182 physical characteristics, 180-184 properties of, 177 surface superconductivity, 184 vortex attraction, 184 vortex repulsion, 183-184 vortex state, 183 zero electrical resistance, 182 Type II superconductors: Barkhausen effect, nonideal structures, 52 BCS theory and, 180-181 pair-pair correlations, 181-182 Cooper paring, 181 critical current density (J_{n}) , flux pinning, 97 - 102critical magnetic field parameters, 184-185 cryogenic stabilization, 205-206 early magnet applications, 206-207 depairing critical current density, 94 electromagnetic properties, 107-108 examples of, 177-180 high-temperature materials, 180 intermediate materials, 178 low-temperature materials, 178-180 Ginzburg-Landau equations, 182-183 hysteresis loss, 138 dc magnetization curve, 138-139 magnetic flux, 19-21 flux flow, 20 flux penetration and jump, 20-21 magnetic properties, 261-262 Meissner effect, 2-3 Meissner flux exclusion, 182 niobium-titanium composite superconductor, metallurgical research, 295-296 phase locking and wave function rigidity, 182physical characteristics, 180-184 properties of, 177 superconducting electronics theory, flux quantization, 125-126 superconducting levitation, 564 surface superconductivity, 184 vortex attraction, 184 vortex repulsion, 183-184 vortex state, 183 zero electrical resistance, 182

Ultracapacitor. See also Supercapacitors defined, 339 Ultrasound: female reproductive organ cancer imaging,

359

fetal and pregnancy imaging, 359 principles and applications, 347-348 Uncertainty measurement, temperature sensors, 621-622 Uncooled infrared detector arrays: bolometric detectors, 424-430 operating principles, 424-426 vanadium oxide microbolometer arrays, 424-426 YBaCuO microbolometer arrays, 428-430 pyroelectric IR detectors, 430-433 barium strontium titanate pyroelectric detectors, 432 Johnson noise, 431 lead titanate-based detectors, 431-432 operating principles, 430 temperature or radiation noise, 430-431 YBaCuO detectors, 432-433 theoretical background, 424 Uninterruptible Power Supply (UPS) SMES system, 510-511 Universal scaling regimes, superconducting magnet quenching propagation, cablein-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 81 UNK superconducting particle accelerator: cable insulation, 581 characteristics of, 578 Upconversion: frequency converters and mixers, 363-364 parametric frequency conversion, 371-372 two-terminal nonlinear mixer devices, 365 Vanadium oxide microbolometer arrays, bolometric detection, 426-427

Varactor, microwave ferroelectric materials, 494–495

VAR balance equation, energy storage capacity, 339

Variable angle orientation, hysteresis loss, 140–141

Variable-reactance circuits, microwave ferroelectric materials, varactors, 494-495

Variable-reluctance sensors: linear and rotary configurations, 436-438 microsyn, 438

variable-differential reluctance sensor, 437

- variable-differential tachogenerator, 437-438
- Vascular system, diagnostic imaging, 362
- Vector potential, magnetic flux, 6

Ventricular preexcitation, magnetic source imaging (MSI), 473-474

Ventricular tachycardia, magnetic source imaging (MSI), 474–475

Vertebral spine disease, diagnostic imaging, 361

Vibrating sample magnetometer (VSM), bulk superconductor structural characterization, 267

Viscous drag force, magnetic separation and, 453

Void fraction: cable-in-conduit coil (CICC) systems, strand bundling, 229-230

resistance, 148 Voids: Barkhausen effect, domain wall pinning, 46 - 47critical current density (J_c) , flux pinning, 98_99 superconducting magnet quenching, solid insulation voids, 84-85 Voltage-controlled oscillator (VCO): microwave ferroelectric materials, 495 temperature sensor resistance, 610 Voltage induction, ac generator, 13-14 Voltage measurement, super-conducting quantum interference device (SQUID) for, 525 Voltage sensors, superconducting magnet quenching detection: advanced techniques, 72-73 conventional taps and bridges, 71 detection circuits, 71-72 fiberoptic temperature sensors, 74--75 integrated volt-second detection, 74 internal termination, 73-74 joint voltage extraction, 73 pick-up coils, 71 Voltage-state logic: 4 x 4 packet switch, 135 digital superconducting electronic circuits: components, 128-131 theoretical background, 120-121 Voltage waveform smoothing, capacitor energy storage, 331 Volumetric heat capacity, stability margin calculations in He-I. CICC conductors, energy balance, 312-313 Von Klitzing constant, quantum Hall effect, 409-411 Vortex attraction, type I and II superconductors, 184 Vortex repulsion, type I and II superconductors, 183-184 Vortex structure: Barkhausen effect: flux pinning and losses in superconductors, 51-52 type II superconductors, 52 critical current density, flux pinning, 98-99 high-temperature superconductors, magnetic properties, 262 type II superconductors: low-temperature superconductivity, 178 - 179physical properties, 183

coupling current loss, interstrand

Water treatment systems, magnetic separator equipment, 460-461 Wave heating, fusion reactors, 389 Weak Interacting Massive Particles (WIMPs), superconducting quantum interference device (SQUID) search for, 526

Weak links:

grain boundary Josephson junctions, 250 Josephson junctions, 253 edge-geometry weak links, 254

triple-geometry weak links, 254-255 Well-cooled regimes, stability margin calculations in He-I, CICC conductors, energy balance, 312-313 Wet drum magnetic separators, properties of, 457-458 Whole coil normality, superconducting magnet quenching propagation, cablein-conduit coil (CICC) systems, 78-79 Wide-band radiation thermometers, operating principles, 619-620 Wiedemann-Franz law: Peltier refrigeration, 502 superconducting cavity resonators, cavity fabrication and surface preparation, 534 Wien's law, radiation thermometry, 617 Winding topology: electromagnetic superconductors, 112 fusion reactors, superconducting magnetics, 568-569 Window-frame coil design, superconducting magnetics, 584 Wipf minimum propagation zone (MPZ), cryogenic stabilization, 213-215 Wire products: ductile superconductor metallurgy, 303 high-temperature superconductors (HTSs): first generation processes, 276 **OPIT** method, 276 second generation, YBCO conductors, 276 - 277NMR magnets, diametric properties, 487-488 resistance temperature detectors (RTDs), 606-607 thermocouple temperature sensors, 613-614 Wolff-Parkinson-White (WPW) syndrome, magnetic source imaging (MSI),

Write heads, soft magnetic materials, 38

473-474

X-ray diffraction (XRD): bulk superconductor structural characterization, 266–267 high-temperature superconductors (HTS),

YBaCuO structural properties, 283 - 284processed superconducting thin films, 274 thallate superconductors, 268-269 thin film structural, electrical, and magnetic properties, 274-276 X-ray imaging: applications, 345-346 breast cancer, 356-357 cardiac imaging, 357-358 synchrotron radiation, 542-543 X-ray lithography, synchrotron radiation, 543X-ray transmission computed tomography (X-ray CT): bone tumor imaging, 361 brain imaging techniques: cerebrovascular diseases, 353-354 neurodegenerative disease, 354-355 breast cancer, 356-357 chest imaging: lung cancer, 355 pulmonary embolism, 356 colorectal tumor imaging, 358-359 female reproductive organ cancer imaging, 359joint disease imaging, 360-361 kidney imaging, 359 liver imaging, 358 principles of, 346-347 prostate imaging, 359-360

YBaCuO superconductors:
bolometric detection, microbolometer arrays, 428–429
pyroelectric IR detectors, 432–433
structural properties, 283–284
substituents in, 290–293
texturing processes, 265
YBCO superconductors:
applications, 277–279
bulk superconductor processing, 264–266
metal-doping effects, 270–271
structural, electrical, and magnetic properties, 265
texturing, 265

YBCO 123 solid-state reaction technique, 265 constituents in. 280-281 cryogenic stabilization, 206 direct-current (dc) super-conducting quantum interference device (dc SQUID), 127-128 high-temperature superconductors (HTS): electronics, 116 thin film processing technology, 551-553 Josephson junctions: bicrystal grain boundaries, 252 circuit integration requirements, 256 edge-geometry weak links, 254 groundplains, 256-257 planar/in-line junctions, 255 properties, 249 reproducibility limits, 259 step-edge grain boundary junctions, 252 - 253step-edge SNS junctions, 253-254 rapid single-flux quantum (RFSQ) logic circuits, 122-123 substituents in, 290-293 superconducting levitation, 564 superconducting transformer design, 598-599 thin film development: high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), 241 oxygen stability, 241-242 wire applications, 276-277 "Ying-Yang" coils, superconducting magnets, 113 Young's modulus, superconductor metallurgy, stress/strain characteristics, 198-200 Yttrium high-temperature superconductors (HTSs), properties of, 110

Zeeman energy, magnetic resonance, 60–61 Zero-dimensional model, stability margin calculations in He-I, CICC conductors, 313 Zero electrical resistance, type I and II superconductors, 182 Zero-field crossing, hysteresis loss, 141–142